

Clinical Descriptions and Diagnostic Requirements for ICD-11 Mental, Behavioural or Neurodevelopmental Disorders

Note: This document is a pre-publication version of the ICD-11 Clinical Descriptions and Diagnostic Requirements for ICD-11 Mental, Behavioural or Neurodevelopmental Disorders. This document will be proofread for typographical errors and consistency with WHO style; edits will be made accordingly. The document will also be formatted for printing prior to its publication.

Table of Contents

| INTRODUCTION | 9 |
|---|----------------|
| Using the CDDR for ICD-11 Mental, Behavioural or Neurodevelopment | al Disorders45 |
| List of Categories | 70 |
| MENTAL, BEHAVIOURAL OR NEURODEVELOPMENTAL DISOR | DERS106 |
| NEURODEVELOPMENTAL DISORDERS | |
| 6A00 Disorders of Intellectual Development | |
| 6A01 Developmental Speech or Language Disorders | |
| 6A01.0 Developmental Speech Sound Disorder | |
| 6A01.1 Developmental Speech Fluency Disorder | |
| 6A01.2 Developmental Language Disorder | |
| 6A01.Y Other Specified Developmental Speech or Language Disorders | 144 |
| 6A01.Z Developmental Speech or Language Disorders, Unspecified | 144 |
| 6A02 Autism Spectrum Disorder | |
| 6A03 Developmental Learning Disorder | |
| 6A04 Developmental Motor Coordination Disorder | |
| 6A05 Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder | |
| 6A06 Stereotyped Movement Disorder | |
| 6A0Y Other Specified Neurodevelopmental Disorders | |
| 6A0Z Neurodevelopmental Disorders, Unspecified | |
| 8A05.0 Primary Tics or Tic Disorders | |
| 8A05.00 Tourette Syndrome | |
| 8A05.01 Chronic Motor Tic Disorder | |
| 8A05.02 Chronic Phonic Tic Disorder | |
| SCHIZOPHRENIA OR OTHER PRIMARY PSYCHOTIC DISORDER | S 176 |
| 6A20 Schizophrenia | |
| 6A21 Schizoaffective Disorder | |

| 6A22 | Schizotypal Disorder | |
|-----------|---|-------|
| 6A23 | Acute and Transient Psychotic Disorder | . 192 |
| 6A24 | Delusional Disorder | |
| 6A2Y | Other Specified Primary Psychotic Disorder | |
| 6A2Z | Schizophrenia or Other Specified Primary Psychotic Disorders, Unspecified | 201 |
| Specifier | Scales for Symptomatic Manifestations of Primary Psychotic Disorders | .202 |
| | ΠΑ | |
| General I | Diagnostic Requirements for Catatonia | |
| 6A40 | Catatonia Associated with Another Mental Disorder | .215 |
| 6A41 | Catatonia Induced by Substances or Medications | .216 |
| 6E69 | Secondary Catatonia Syndrome | .216 |
| 6A4Z | Catatonia, Unspecified | .218 |
| MOOD DIS | SORDERS | .221 |
| Mood Ep | isode Descriptions | .222 |
| Depres | sive Episode | .222 |
| Manic | Episode | .227 |
| Mixed | Episode | .229 |
| Hypom | nanic Episode | .231 |
| | sorder Descriptions | |
| BIPOLAI | R OR RELATED DISORDERS: | .234 |
| 6A60 | Bipolar Type I Disorder | .234 |
| 6A61 | Bipolar Type II Disorder | .238 |
| 6A62 | Cyclothymic Disorder | .247 |
| 6A6Y | Other Specified Bipolar or Related Disorders | .250 |
| 6A6Z | Bipolar or Related Disorders, Unspecified | |
| DEPRES | SIVE DISORDERS: | .250 |
| 6A70 | Single Episode Depressive Disorder | .251 |
| 6A71 | Recurrent Depressive Disorder | .252 |
| 6A72 | Dysthymic Disorder | |
| 6A73 | Mixed Depressive and Anxiety Disorder | .264 |
| | 41 Premenstrual Dysphoric Disorder | |
| | Other Specified Depressive Disorders | .267 |
| 6A7Z | Depressive Disorders, Unspecified | .267 |
| 6A8Y | 1 | |
| 6A8Z | Mood Disorders, Unspecified | .268 |
| | OR FEAR-RELATED DISORDERS | |
| 6B00 | Generalized Anxiety Disorder | |
| 6B01 | Panic Disorder | |
| 6B02 | Agoraphobia | |
| 6B03 | Specific Phobia | |
| 6B04 | Social Anxiety Disorder | |
| 6B05 | Separation Anxiety Disorder | |
| 6B06 | Selective Mutism | |
| 6B0Y | Other Specified Anxiety or Fear-Related Disorders | |
| 6B0Z | Anxiety or Fear-Related Disorders, Unspecified | |
| | E-COMPULSIVE OR RELATED DISORDERS | |
| 6B20 | Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder | |
| 6B21 | Body Dysmorphic Disorder | |
| 6B22 | Olfactory Reference Disorder | |
| 6B23 | Hypochondriasis (Health Anxiety Disorder) | .311 |

| | Hoarding Disorder | |
|----------|---|--|
| | Body-Focused Repetitive Behaviour Disorders | |
| 6B25.0 |) Trichotillomania (Hair Pulling Disorder) | |
| 6B25.1 | 1 Excoriation (Skin Picking) Disorder | |
| 6B25. | Y Other Specified Body-Focused Repetitive Behaviour Disorders | |
| 6B25.2 | Z Body-Focused Repetitive Behaviour Disorders, Unspecified | |
| 6B2Y | Other Specified Obsessive-Compulsive or Related Disorders | |
| 6B2Z | Obsessive-Compulsive or Related Disorders, Unspecified | |
| 8A05. | | |
| DISORDE | RS SPECIFICALLY ASSOCIATED WITH STRESS | |
| 6B40 | Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder | |
| 6B41 | Complex Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder | |
| 6B42 | Prolonged Grief Disorder | |
| 6B43 | Adjustment Disorder | |
| 6B44 | Reactive Attachment Disorder | |
| 6B45 | Disinhibited Social Engagement Disorder | |
| 6B4Y | Other Specified Disorders Specifically Associated with Stress | |
| 6B4Z | Disorders Specifically Associated with Stress, Unspecified | |
| QE84 | Acute Stress Reaction | |
| DISSOCIA | ATIVE DISORDERS | |
| 6B60 | Dissociative Neurological Symptom Disorder | |
| 6B61 | Dissociative Amnesia | |
| Trance D | bisorder and Possession Trance Disorder | |
| 6B62 | Trance Disorder | |
| 6B63 | Possession Trance Disorder | |
| 6B64 | Dissociative Identity Disorder | |
| 6B65 | Partial Dissociative Identity Disorder | |
| 6B66 | Depersonalization-Derealization Disorder | |
| 6B6Y | Other Specified Dissociative Disorders | |
| 6B6Z | Dissociative Disorders, Unspecified | |
| | OR EATING DISORDERS | |
| 6B80 | Anorexia Nervosa | |
| 6B81 | Bulimia Nervosa | |
| 6B82 | Binge Eating Disorder | |
| 6B83 | Avoidant-Restrictive Food Intake Disorder | |
| 6B84 | Pica | |
| 6B85 | Rumination-Regurgitation Disorder | |
| 6B8Y | Other Specified Feeding or Eating Disorders | |
| 6B8Z | Feeding or Eating Disorders, Unspecified | |
| | TION DISORDERS | |
| 6C00 | Enuresis | |
| 6C01 | Encopresis | |
| | Elimination disorders, unspecified | |
| | RS OF BODILY DISTRESS OR BODILY EXPERIENCE | |
| 6C20 | Bodily Distress Disorder | |
| 6C21 | Body Integrity Dysphoria | |
| 6C2Y | Other Specified Disorders of Bodily Distress or Bodily Experience | |
| 6C2Z | Disorders of Bodily Distress or Bodily Experience, Unspecified | |
| | RS DUE TO SUBSTANCE USE OR ADDICTIVE BEHAVIOURS | |
| DISORD | ERS DUE TO SUBSTANCE USE | |

| 6C40 Disorders Due to Use of Alcohol | 407 |
|---|----------|
| 6C41 Disorders Due to Use of Cannabis | |
| 6C42 Disorders Due to Use of Synthetic Cannabinoids | |
| 6C43 Disorders Due to Use of Opioids | |
| 6C44 Disorders Due to Use of Sedatives, Hypnotics or Anxiolytics | |
| 6C45 Disorders Due to Use of Cocaine | |
| 6C46 Disorders Due to Use of Stimulants including Amphetamines, Methamph | ietamine |
| or Methcathinone | |
| 6C47 Disorders Due to Use of Synthetic Cathinones | 410 |
| 6C48 Disorders Due to Use of Caffeine | |
| 6C49 Disorders Due to Use of Hallucinogens | 410 |
| 6C4A Disorders Due to Use of Nicotine | |
| 6C4B Disorders Due to Use of Volatile Inhalants | 411 |
| 6C4C Disorders Due to Use of MDMA or Related drugs, including MDA | 411 |
| 6C4D Disorders Due to Use of Dissociative Drugs including Ketamine and | |
| Phencyclidine (PCP) | 412 |
| 6C4E Disorders Due to Use of Other Specified Psychoactive Substances, include | ling |
| Medications | |
| 6C4F Disorders Due to Use of Multiple Specified Psychoactive Substances, inc | luding |
| Medications | |
| 6C4G Disorders Due to Use of Unknown or Unspecified Psychoactive Substan | ces 412 |
| 6C4H Disorders Due to Use of Non-Psychoactive Substances | |
| Episode of Harmful Psychoactive Substance Use | 419 |
| Harmful Pattern of Psychoactive Substance Use | |
| Substance Dependence | |
| Substance Intoxication | |
| Substance Withdrawal | |
| Substance-Induced Mental Disorders | |
| Substance-Induced Delirium | |
| Substance-Induced Psychotic Disorders | |
| Substance-Induced Mood Disorders | |
| Substance-Induced Anxiety Disorders | |
| Substance-Induced Obsessive-Compulsive or Related Disorders | |
| Substance-Induced Impulse Control Disorders | |
| Substance-Induced Mental Disorders Listed in Other Groupings | |
| Other Specified Disorders Due to Psychoactive Substance Use | |
| Disorders Due to Psychoactive Substance Use, Unspecified | |
| 6C4H Disorders Due to Use of Non-Psychoactive Substances | |
| 6C4H.0 Episode of Harmful Use of Non-Psychoactive Substances | |
| 6C4H.1 Harmful Pattern of Use of Non-Psychoactive Substances | |
| Hazardous Substance Use | |
| DISORDERS DUE TO ADDICTIVE BEHAVIOURS | |
| 6C50 Gambling Disorder | |
| 6C51 Gaming Disorder | |
| 6C5Y Other Specified Disorders Due to Addictive Behaviours | |
| 6C5Z Disorders Due to Addictive Behaviours, Unspecified | |
| Hazardous Gambling or Betting and Hazardous Gaming | |
| QE21 Hazardous Gambling or Betting | |
| QE22 Hazardous Gaming | |
| IMPULSE CONTROL DISORDERS | |

| 6C70 | Pyromania | |
|---|---|--|
| 6C71 | Kleptomania | |
| 6C72 | Compulsive Sexual Behaviour Disorder | .483 |
| 6C73 | Intermittent Explosive Disorder | .487 |
| 6C7Y | Other Specified Impulse Control Disorders | .491 |
| 6C7Z | Impulse Control Disorders, Unspecified | .491 |
| DISRUPTIV | /E BEHAVIOUR OR DISSOCIAL DISORDERS | .492 |
| 6C90 | Oppositional Defiant Disorder | .492 |
| 6C91 | Conduct-Dissocial Disorder | 498 |
| 6C9Y | Other Specified Disruptive Behaviour or Dissocial Disorders | 503 |
| 6C9Z | Disruptive Behaviour or Dissocial Disorders, Unspecified | 503 |
| PERSONAL | LITY DISORDERS AND RELATED TRAITS | 504 |
| 6D10 G | eneral Diagnostic Requirements for Personality Disorder | 505 |
| 6D10.0 | Mild Personality Disorder | 506 |
| 6D10.1 | Moderate Personality Disorder | 507 |
| 6D10.2 | Severe Personality Disorder | 508 |
| 6D10.Z | Personality Disorder, Severity Unspecified | 509 |
| | Personality Difficulty | |
| Specifiers | for Prominent Trait Domains in Personality Disorder | 510 |
| - | Negative Affectivity | |
| 6D11.1 | Detachment | 511 |
| 6D11.2 | Dissociality | .511 |
| 6D11.3 | Disinhibition | 512 |
| 6D11.4 | Anankastia | 513 |
| 6D11 5 | Borderline pattern | 514 |
| 0011.5 | | |
| | IC DISORDERS | |
| | | .520 |
| PARAPHIL | IC DISORDERS | 520 521 |
| PARAPHIL 6D30 | IC DISORDERS Exhibitionistic Disorder Voyeuristic Disorder Pedophilic Disorder | .520 .521 .523 .525 |
| PARAPHIL 6D30 6D31 | IC DISORDERS Exhibitionistic Disorder Voyeuristic Disorder | .520 .521 .523 .525 |
| PARAPHIL 6D30 6D31 6D32 | IC DISORDERS Exhibitionistic Disorder Voyeuristic Disorder Pedophilic Disorder Coercive Sexual Sadism Disorder Frotteuristic Disorder | .520 .521 .523 .525 .527 .529 |
| PARAPHIL 6D30 6D31 6D32 6D33 | IC DISORDERS Exhibitionistic Disorder Voyeuristic Disorder Pedophilic Disorder Coercive Sexual Sadism Disorder | .520 .521 .523 .525 .527 .529 |
| PARAPHIL 6D30 6D31 6D32 6D33 6D34 | IC DISORDERS Exhibitionistic Disorder Voyeuristic Disorder Pedophilic Disorder Coercive Sexual Sadism Disorder Frotteuristic Disorder | .520 .521 .523 .525 .527 .529 .531 |
| PARAPHIL 6D30 6D31 6D32 6D33 6D34 6D35 6D36 | IC DISORDERS Exhibitionistic Disorder Voyeuristic Disorder Pedophilic Disorder Coercive Sexual Sadism Disorder Frotteuristic Disorder Other Paraphilic Disorder Involving Non-Consenting Individuals | .520 .521 .523 .525 .527 .529 .531 .533 |
| PARAPHIL 6D30 6D31 6D32 6D33 6D34 6D35 6D36 6D32 | IC DISORDERS Exhibitionistic Disorder Voyeuristic Disorder Pedophilic Disorder Coercive Sexual Sadism Disorder Frotteuristic Disorder Other Paraphilic Disorder Involving Non-Consenting Individuals Paraphilic Disorder Involving Solitary Behaviour or Consenting Individuals Paraphilic Disorders, Unspecified | .520 .521 .523 .525 .527 .529 .531 .533 .536 .536 |
| PARAPHIL 6D30 6D31 6D32 6D33 6D34 6D35 6D36 6D32 | IC DISORDERS Exhibitionistic Disorder Voyeuristic Disorder Pedophilic Disorder Coercive Sexual Sadism Disorder Frotteuristic Disorder Other Paraphilic Disorder Involving Non-Consenting Individuals Paraphilic Disorder Involving Solitary Behaviour or Consenting Individuals Paraphilic Disorders, Unspecified | .520 .521 .523 .525 .527 .529 .531 .533 .536 .536 |
| PARAPHIL 6D30 6D31 6D32 6D33 6D34 6D35 6D36 6D36 6D3Z FACTITIO 6D50 | IC DISORDERS Exhibitionistic Disorder Voyeuristic Disorder Pedophilic Disorder Coercive Sexual Sadism Disorder Frotteuristic Disorder Other Paraphilic Disorder Involving Non-Consenting Individuals Paraphilic Disorder Involving Solitary Behaviour or Consenting Individuals Paraphilic Disorders, Unspecified | .520 .521 .523 .525 .527 .529 .531 .533 .536 .537 |
| PARAPHII 6D30 6D31 6D32 6D33 6D34 6D35 6D36 6D36 6D37 FACTITIO 6D50 6D51 | IC DISORDERS Exhibitionistic Disorder Voyeuristic Disorder Pedophilic Disorder Coercive Sexual Sadism Disorder Frotteuristic Disorder Other Paraphilic Disorder Involving Non-Consenting Individuals Paraphilic Disorder Involving Solitary Behaviour or Consenting Individuals Paraphilic Disorders, Unspecified US DISORDERS Factitious Disorder Imposed on Self | .520 .521 .523 .525 .527 .529 .531 .533 .536 .537 .537 .539 |
| PARAPHIL 6D30 6D31 6D32 6D33 6D34 6D35 6D36 6D37 FACTITIO 6D50 6D51 6D52 | IC DISORDERS Exhibitionistic Disorder Voyeuristic Disorder Pedophilic Disorder Coercive Sexual Sadism Disorder Frotteuristic Disorder Other Paraphilic Disorder Involving Non-Consenting Individuals Paraphilic Disorder Involving Solitary Behaviour or Consenting Individuals Paraphilic Disorders, Unspecified US DISORDERS Factitious Disorder Imposed on Self Factitious Disorder Imposed on Another | .520 .521 .523 .525 .527 .529 .531 .533 .536 .537 .537 .539 .541 |
| PARAPHIL 6D30 6D31 6D32 6D33 6D34 6D35 6D36 6D37 FACTITIO 6D50 6D51 6D57 NEUROCO | IC DISORDERS Exhibitionistic Disorder Voyeuristic Disorder Pedophilic Disorder Coercive Sexual Sadism Disorder Frotteuristic Disorder Other Paraphilic Disorder Involving Non-Consenting Individuals Paraphilic Disorder Involving Solitary Behaviour or Consenting Individuals Paraphilic Disorders, Unspecified US DISORDERS Factitious Disorder Imposed on Self Factitious Disorder Imposed on Another Factitious Disorders, Unspecified | .520 .521 .523 .525 .527 .529 .531 .533 .536 .537 .537 .539 .541 .541 .542 |
| PARAPHIL 6D30 6D31 6D32 6D33 6D34 6D35 6D36 6D37 FACTITIO 6D50 6D51 6D57 NEUROCO 6D70 Deli 6D70 Gen | IC DISORDERS Exhibitionistic Disorder Voyeuristic Disorder Pedophilic Disorder Coercive Sexual Sadism Disorder Frotteuristic Disorder Other Paraphilic Disorder Involving Non-Consenting Individuals Paraphilic Disorder Involving Solitary Behaviour or Consenting Individuals Paraphilic Disorders, Unspecified US DISORDERS Factitious Disorder Imposed on Self Factitious Disorder Imposed on Another Factitious Disorders, Unspecified GNITIVE DISORDERS rium eral Diagnostic Requirements for Delirium | .520 .521 .523 .525 .527 .529 .531 .533 .536 .537 .539 .541 .544 .544 .545 |
| PARAPHIL 6D30 6D31 6D32 6D33 6D34 6D35 6D36 6D37 FACTITIO 6D50 6D51 6D55 NEUROCO 6D70 Deli 6D70 Gen 6D70.0 | IC DISORDERS Exhibitionistic Disorder Voyeuristic Disorder Pedophilic Disorder Coercive Sexual Sadism Disorder Frotteuristic Disorder Other Paraphilic Disorder Involving Non-Consenting Individuals Paraphilic Disorder Involving Solitary Behaviour or Consenting Individuals Paraphilic Disorders, Unspecified US DISORDERS Factitious Disorder Imposed on Self Factitious Disorder Imposed on Another Factitious Disorders, Unspecified GNITIVE DISORDERS rium eral Diagnostic Requirements for Delirium Delirium Due to Disease Classified Elsewhere | .520 .521 .523 .525 .527 .529 .531 .533 .536 .537 .537 .537 .539 .541 .542 .544 .545 .547 |
| PARAPHIL 6D30 6D31 6D32 6D33 6D34 6D35 6D36 6D37 FACTITIO 6D50 6D51 6D55 NEUROCO 6D70 Deli 6D70 Gen 6D70.0 | IC DISORDERS Exhibitionistic Disorder Voyeuristic Disorder Pedophilic Disorder Coercive Sexual Sadism Disorder Frotteuristic Disorder Other Paraphilic Disorder Involving Non-Consenting Individuals Paraphilic Disorder Involving Solitary Behaviour or Consenting Individuals Paraphilic Disorders, Unspecified US DISORDERS Factitious Disorder Imposed on Self Factitious Disorder Imposed on Another Factitious Disorders, Unspecified GNITIVE DISORDERS rium eral Diagnostic Requirements for Delirium Delirium Due to Disease Classified Elsewhere | .520 .521 .523 .525 .527 .529 .531 .533 .536 .537 .537 .537 .539 .541 .542 .544 .545 .547 |
| PARAPHIL 6D30 6D31 6D32 6D33 6D34 6D35 6D36 6D36 6D37 FACTITIO 6D50 6D51 6D57 NEUROCO 6D70 Deli 6D70 Gen 6D70.0 6D70.1 | IC DISORDERS Exhibitionistic Disorder Voyeuristic Disorder Pedophilic Disorder Coercive Sexual Sadism Disorder Frotteuristic Disorder Other Paraphilic Disorder Involving Non-Consenting Individuals Paraphilic Disorder Involving Solitary Behaviour or Consenting Individuals Paraphilic Disorders, Unspecified US DISORDERS Factitious Disorder Imposed on Self Factitious Disorder Imposed on Another Factitious Disorders, Unspecified GNITIVE DISORDERS rium eral Diagnostic Requirements for Delirium | .520 .521 .523 .525 .527 .529 .531 .533 .536 .537 .539 .541 .542 .544 .545 .547 |
| PARAPHIL 6D30 6D31 6D32 6D33 6D34 6D35 6D36 6D35 6D36 6D37 FACTITIO 6D50 6D51 6D57 NEUROCO 6D70 Deli 6D70 Gen 6D70.0 6D70.1 6D70.2 6D70.Y | IC DISORDERS | .520 .521 .523 .525 .527 .529 .531 .533 .536 .537 .537 .537 .539 .541 .545 .544 .545 .547 .547 .549 .549 |
| PARAPHIL 6D30 6D31 6D32 6D33 6D34 6D35 6D36 6D35 6D36 6D37 FACTITIO 6D50 6D51 6D57 NEUROCO 6D70 Deli 6D70 Gen 6D70.0 6D70.1 6D70.2 6D70.Y | IC DISORDERS | .520 .521 .523 .525 .527 .529 .531 .533 .536 .537 .537 .537 .539 .541 .545 .544 .545 .547 .547 .549 .549 |
| PARAPHIL 6D30 6D31 6D32 6D33 6D34 6D35 6D36 6D37 FACTITIO 6D50 6D51 6D57 NEUROCO 6D70 Deli 6D70 Gen 6D70.0 6D70.1 6D70.2 6D70.2 | IC DISORDERS | .520 .521 .523 .525 .527 .529 .531 .533 .536 .537 .539 .541 .549 .544 .545 .547 .549 .549 .549 |
| PARAPHIL 6D30 6D31 6D32 6D33 6D34 6D35 6D36 6D35 6D36 6D37 FACTITIO 6D50 6D51 6D57 NEUROCO 6D70 Deli 6D70 Gen 6D70 Gen 6D70.0 6D70.1 6D70.2 6D70.X 6D70.Z 6D71 Mile 6D72 Ami | IC DISORDERS | .520 .521 .523 .525 .527 .529 .531 .533 .536 .537 .537 .537 .539 .541 .545 .544 .545 .547 .549 .549 .549 .549 .549 .550 .552 |
| PARAPHIL 6D30 6D31 6D32 6D33 6D34 6D35 6D36 6D35 6D36 6D37 FACTITIO 6D50 6D51 6D57 NEUROCO 6D70 Deli 6D70 Gen 6D70 Gen 6D70.0 6D70.1 6D70.2 6D70.X 6D70.Z 6D71 Mile 6D72 Ami | IC DISORDERS | .520 .521 .523 .525 .527 .529 .531 .533 .536 .537 .537 .537 .539 .541 .545 .544 .545 .547 .549 .549 .549 .549 .549 .550 .552 |

| 6D72.Y Amnestic Disorder, Other Specified Cause | |
|---|---------|
| 6D72.Z Amnestic Disorder, Unknown or Unspecified Cause | 556 |
| Dementia | |
| General Diagnostic Requirements for Dementia | |
| Specific Types of Dementia | |
| 6D80 Dementia Due to Alzheimer Disease | |
| 6D81 Dementia Due to Cerebrovascular Disease | |
| 6D82 Dementia Due to Lewy Body Disease | |
| 6D83 Frontotemporal Dementia | |
| 6D84 Dementia Due to Psychoactive Substances Including Medications | |
| 6D85 Dementia Due to Diseases Classified Elsewhere | 566 |
| 6D85.0 Dementia Due to Parkinson Disease | |
| 6D85.1 Dementia Due to Huntington Disease | |
| 6D85.2 Dementia Due to Exposure to Heavy Metals and Other Toxins | |
| 6D85.3 Dementia Due to Human Immunodeficiency Virus | |
| 6D85.4 Dementia Due to Multiple Sclerosis | |
| 6D85.5 Dementia Due to Prion Disease | |
| 6D85.6 Dementia Due to Normal Pressure Hydrocephalus | |
| 6D85.7 Dementia Due to Injury to the Head | 569 |
| 6D85.8 Dementia Due to Pellagra | 569 |
| 6D85.9 Dementia Due to Down Syndrome | |
| 6D85.Y Dementia Due to Other Specified Diseases Classified Elsewhere | |
| 6D8Y Dementia, Other Specified Cause | |
| 6D8Z Dementia, Unknown or Unspecified Cause | |
| 6E0Y Other Specified Neurocognitive Disorders | |
| 6E0Z Neurocognitive Disorders, Unspecified | |
| MENTAL OR BEHAVIOURAL DISORDERS ASSOCIATED WITH PREGNA | |
| CHILDBIRTH OR THE PUERPERIUM | |
| 6E20 Mental or Behavioural Disorders Associated with Pregnancy, Childbirth o | |
| Puerperium, without psychotic symptoms | |
| 6E21 Mental or Behavioural Disorders Associated with Pregnancy, Childbirth o | |
| Puerperium, with psychotic symptoms | |
| 6E2Z Mental or Behavioural Disorders Associated with Pregnancy, Childbirth of | |
| Puerperium, unspecified | |
| PSYCHOLOGICAL OR BEHAVIOURAL FACTORS AFFECTING DISORDI | |
| DISEASES CLASSIFIED ELSEWHERE | |
| 6E40 General Diagnostic Requirements for Psychological or Behavioural Factor | |
| Affecting Disorders or Diseases Classified Elsewhere | |
| 6E40.0 Mental Disorder Affecting Disorders or Diseases Classified Elsewhere | |
| 6E40.1 Psychological Symptoms Affecting Disorders or Diseases Classified Els 576 | sewhere |
| 6E40.2 Personality Traits or Coping Style Affecting Disorders or Diseases Clas | sified |
| Elsewhere | |
| 6E40.3 Maladaptive Health Behaviours Affecting Disorders or Diseases Classifi | |
| Elsewhere | |
| 6E40.4 Stress-Related Physiological Response Affecting Disorders or Diseases | |
| Classified Elsewhere | |
| 6E40.Y Other Specified Psychological or Behavioural Factor Affecting Disorder | |
| Diseases Classified Elsewhere | |
| | |

| 6E40.Z Psychological or Behavioural Factors Affecting Disorders or Diseases | 577 |
|--|-------------|
| Classified Elsewhere, Unspecified SECONDARY MENTAL OR BEHAVIOURAL SYNDROMES ASSOCIATED V | 3// VITU |
| DISORDERS OR DISEASES CLASSIFIED ELSEWHERE | |
| 6E60 Secondary Neurodevelopmental Syndrome | |
| 6E60.0 Secondary Speech or Language Syndrome | |
| 6E60.Y Other Specified Secondary Neurodevelopmental Syndrome | |
| 6E61 Secondary Psychotic Syndrome | |
| 6E61.0 Secondary Psychotic Syndrome, with hallucinations | 585 |
| 6E61.1 Secondary Psychotic Syndrome, with delusions | |
| 6E61.2 Secondary Psychotic Syndrome, with hallucinations and delusions | |
| 6E62 Secondary Mood Syndrome | |
| 6E62.0 Secondary Mood Syndrome, with depressive symptoms | |
| 6E62.1 Secondary Mood Syndrome, with manic symptoms | |
| 6E62.2 Secondary Mood Syndrome, with mixed symptoms | |
| 6E63 Secondary Anxiety Syndrome | |
| 6E64 Secondary Obsessive-Compulsive or Related Syndrome | 592 |
| 6E65 Secondary Dissociative Syndrome | |
| 6E66 Secondary Impulse Control Syndrome | |
| 6E68 Secondary Personality Change | 596 |
| 6E69 Secondary Catatonia Syndrome | 598 |
| 6E6Y Other Specified Secondary Mental or Behavioural Syndrome | 598 |
| 6E6Z Secondary Mental or Behavioural Syndrome, Unspecified | 598 |
| MENTAL OR BEHAVIOURAL SYMPTOMS, SIGNS OR CLINICAL FINDING | |
| MB20 Symptoms, signs or clinical findings involving consciousness | |
| MB21 Symptoms, signs or clinical findings involving cognition | |
| MB22 Symptoms or signs involving motivation or energy | |
| MB23 Symptoms or signs involving appearance or behaviour | |
| MB24 Symptoms or signs involving mood or affect | |
| MB25 Symptoms or signs involving form of thought | |
| MB26 Symptoms or signs involving content of thought | |
| MB27 Symptoms or signs involving perceptual disturbance | |
| MB28 Symptoms or signs related to personality features | |
| MB29 Symptoms or signs involving eating and related behaviour | |
| MB2A Symptoms or signs involving elimination | |
| MB2Y Other specified mental or behavioural symptoms, signs or clinical findings | |
| RELATIONSHIP PROBLEMS AND MALTREATMENT | |
| Relationship Distress and Current or Past Maltreatment by Spouse or Partner | |
| QE51.0 Relationship Distress with Spouse or Partner | 628 |
| PJ20 Physical Maltreatment, Spouse or Partner or QE51.10 History of Spouse or D | Partner |
| Violence, Physical | |
| PJ21 Sexual Maltreatment, Spouse or Partner or QE51.12 History of Spouse or Pa | |
| Violence, Sexual | |
| PJ22 Psychological Maltreatment, Spouse of Partner or QE51.11 History of Spous | |
| Partner Violence, Psychological PF1B Assault by Neglect or QE51.13 History of Spouse or Partner Violence, Neg | |
| 633 | 1001 |
| Problems in Relationship between Child and Current or Former Caregiver and Curre | ont or |
| Past Child Maltreatment | |
| QE52.0 Caregiver-Child Relationship Problem | |

| PJ20 Physical Maltreatment of child or QE82.0 Personal History of Physical Abus child 636 | e as a |
|---|---------|
| PJ21 Sexual Maltreatment of child or QE82.1 Personal History of Sexual Abuse as | s child |
| 638 | , enna |
| PJ22 Psychological Maltreatment of Child or QE82.2 Personal History of Psychological | ogical |
| Abuse as child | |
| PF1B Assault by Neglect or QE82.3 Personal History of Neglect as a child | |
| FACTORS INFLUENCING HEALTH STATUS OR CONTACT WITH HEALTH | |
| SERVICES PARTICULARLY RELEVANT TO MENTAL HEALTH SERVICES | |
| REASONS FOR CONTACT WITH MENTAL HEALTH SERVICES: | |
| Problems Associated with Relationships | |
| Problems Associated with Absence, Loss or Death of Others | |
| Problems Related to Primary Support Group, Including Family Circumstances | |
| Problems Associated with Upbringing | |
| Problems Associated with Harmful or Traumatic Events | |
| Problems Associated with Social or Cultural Environment | |
| Problems Associated with Employment or Unemployment | 647 |
| Problems Associated with Education | |
| Other Reasons for Contact with Mental Health Services | 648 |
| Problems Associated with Health Behaviours | 649 |
| Hazardous substance use | 649 |
| Hazardous gambling or gaming | 650 |
| Other problems associated with health behaviours | |
| MENTAL HEALTH SERVICES NOT EXCLUSIVELY DIRECTED TOWARDS | |
| MENTAL DISORDERS: | 651 |
| Contact with Health Services for Counselling | 651 |
| Contact with Health Services for Reasons Associated with Reproduction | |
| OTHER FACTORS INFLUENCING HEALTH STATUS: | |
| Problems Associated with Social Insurance or Welfare | 652 |
| Problems Associated with the Justice System | |
| Problems Associated with Finances | |
| Problems Associated with Inadequate Drinking Water or Nutrition | 653 |
| Problems Associated with the Environment | |
| CROSSWALK FROM ICD-11 MBND TO ICD-10 FOR CLINICIAN USE | |
| CONTRIBUTORS | 711 |

INTRODUCTION

The Eleventh Revision of the World Health Organization's International Classification of Diseases (ICD-11) was approved by the World Health Assembly, comprising the health ministers of all World Health Organization (WHO) member states, on 25 May 2019¹. The ICD-11 represents the first major, comprehensive revision of the ICD in nearly 30 years, and incorporates major advances in scientific evidence, best clinical practices, and health information systems². The development and maintenance of international classification systems for health and the standardization of diagnostic procedures are core constitutional function of WHO³. By international treaty, WHO's 194 member states agree to use the ICD as the standard for the reporting of health information to WHO. The ICD is therefore the fundamental global framework for monitoring mortality and morbidity, epidemics and other threats to public health, and disease burden. Reporting of health statistics to WHO based on the new system began on 1 January, 2022⁴.

Member states also use the ICD for other important purposes related to health services, for example to facilitate access to appropriate health care; as a basis for developing clinical guidelines and standards of practice; and to facilitate research into more effective prevention and treatment strategies. Moreover, the governments of member states use the ICD as a part of the framework for defining their obligations to provide free or subsidized health care services to their populations⁵. That is, the diagnosis of a particular health condition typically confers eligibility to receive a specified range of health services. The implementation of the ICD in clinical systems is therefore extremely important because of the way it drives services, costs, and outcomes.

This volume, the *Clinical Descriptions and Diagnostic Requirements for ICD-11 Mental, Behavioural or Neurodevelopmental Disorders* (CDDR) is the culmination of over a decade of collaborative work that took place within the context of the overall development of the ICD-11². The development of the ICD-11 CDDR was led by the WHO Department of Mental Health and Substance Use, and constitutes the most broadly international, multilingual, multidisciplinary and participative revision process ever implemented for a classification of mental disorders⁶. The CDDR was planned, developed, and field tested with the intent of providing mental health professionals, other health professionals, trainees, and students with a comprehensive clinically useful guide to implementation of the ICD-11 classification of Mental, Behavioural, and Neurodevelopmental Disorders. The CDDR is meant to support the accurate and reliable identification of mental health problems as they present in people seeking care in different settings worldwide, based on best available evidence. Timely and accurate diagnosis of mental, behavioural, and neurodevelopmental disorders⁷, thereby advancing WHO's objective of 'the attainment by all peoples of the highest possible level of health'³. p. 2.

The CDDR is an integral part of the ICD-11 but is distinct from the version used by member states for statistical reporting of health information, which is referred to as the linearization for Mortality and Morbidity Statistics (MMS; see <u>https://icd.who.int/browse11/l-m/en#/</u>). The MMS contains brief descriptions (or definitions) that are meant to be used for statistical and health information purposes for most categories in the ICD-11, including all categories in the Mental, Behavioural or Neurodevelopmental Disorders chapter. In contrast, the CDDR, which has been developed specifically for the ICD-11 Mental, Behavioral and Neurodevelopmental Disorders chapter, provides substantially more detailed information needed by mental health and other health professionals to understand and apply this part of the classification in their work with patients.

A Brief History of the CDDR

ICD-6⁸ was the first version of the classification published by WHO, the first to contain a classification of morbidity as well as mortality, and the first to include a classification of mental disorders. In both ICD-6 and ICD-79, the only information provided for mental disorders was the code number and name for each diagnostic category, along with inclusion terms, which specified some of the range of diagnostic concepts meant to be encompassed by the category. Starting with ICD-8¹⁰, the WHO Department of Mental Health and Substance Use (MSD) began to provide additional information to assist with clinical implementation. In 1974, MSD published a glossary of mental disorder terms and additional guidance related to the classification of mental disorders¹¹, indicating that 'unless some attempt is made to encourage uniformity of usage of descriptive and diagnostic terms, very little meaning can be attributed to the diagnostic side of statistics of mental illness based on the ICD and in many other ways communication between psychiatrists will become increasingly difficult^{11, p. 12}. Subsequently, brief definitions were also included in the main, statistical version of the classification for all categories in the mental disorders chapter in the ICD-9¹² and ICD-10¹³. (This innovation in the classification of mental disorders in the ICD-9 and the ICD-10 has now been applied across the entire ICD-11 so that the MMS contains brief descriptions for most categories in the classification.) However, according to MSD these brief definitions were not recommended for use by mental health professionals but rather were intended for use in the health statistics and in the coding of medical records and death certificates¹⁴.

In 1992, MSD published a volume entitled *Clinical Descriptions and Diagnostic Guideline for ICD-10 Mental and Behavioural Disorders* (CDDG)¹⁴ concurrently with the publication of the statistical version of the ICD-10. The CDDG was 'intended for general clinical, educational, and service use'^{14, p. 1}. For each disorder, a description of the main clinical and associated features was provided, followed by more operationalized diagnostic guidelines that were designed to assist mental health clinicians in making a valid diagnosis.

The CDDR for ICD-11 represent an important advance in providing comprehensive practical guidance on diagnosing mental disorders. A major improvement in the ICD-11 CDDR as compared to the ICD-10 CDDG is the consistency of structure and information across major categories based on reviews of the available evidence¹⁵. The development of the CDDR has been guided by the principles of clinical utility and global applicability. The information included is intended to be useful to health professionals in making diagnostic judgments about individual patients, including the features they can expect to see in all cases of a given disorder and how to differentiate disorders from non-pathological expressions of human experience and from other disorders including medical conditions. The CDDR describe additional clinical features that may be present in some cases of a given disorder as well as key information that can assist in evaluating diagnoses across cultures, genders, and the lifespan. More information about the specific contents and approach of the CDDR is provided in the next chapter on 'Using the CDDR for ICD-11 Mental, Behavioural or Neurodevelopmental Disorders'. The reliability, clinical utility, and global applicability of the CDDR has been confirmed through a comprehensive programme of developmental and evaluative field studies^{6,16-18} that involved thousands of clinicians in all global regions. This research programme is described in more detail later in this chapter.

Intended Users of the CDDR

The CDDR are designed to be used by mental health professionals who are authorized by training, scope of practice, and applicable statute to provide diagnostic evaluations of people with mental disorders (e.g., psychiatrists, psychologists in some countries). It is also intended to be useful to non-specialist health professionals (e.g., primary care physicians, nurses), who in many countries provide a substantial proportion of total mental health services. It will also be useful for other professionals in clinical and non-clinical roles who need to understand the nature and symptoms of these disorders even if they do not personally diagnose them. Finally, the CDDR are intended to provide students and trainees in variety of mental health and other health fields with comprehensive guidance and information to support their development as competent diagnosticians or interdisciplinary team members.

It is important to note that the organization of the ICD-11 into chapters is not intended to reflect the scope of practice of specific medical specialties or clinical professions. For example, Mental, Behavioural or Neurodevelopmental Disorders and Diseases of the Nervous System are in separate chapters, but WHO does not intend this as a statement that psychiatrists should not be allowed to assess and treat Headache Disorders or that neuropsychologists should not be permitted to evaluate which disease process may be causing a particular case of Dementia given the pattern of symptoms. Similarly, certain mental disorders (e.g., Neurocognitive Disorders such as Dementia or Delirium, or Dissociative Disorders such as Dissociative Neurological Symptom Disorder or Dissociative Amnesia), frequently come to the attention of a variety of health professionals (e.g., primary care physicians, neurologists) who may be equipped to evaluate and diagnose them using the CDDR as a guide.

Health care professionals using the CDDR to make diagnoses should be qualified to do so by their clinical training and experience and are expected to have the necessary clinical expertise and understanding of mental disorders to identify symptoms and to distinguish disorders from normal variation, from one another, and from transient responses to stress or environmental circumstances. The CDDR are written to as to allow for the exercise of clinical judgment, and it is the diagnosing health professional who is responsible for making a diagnosis in an individual patient, considering the patient's individual, social, and cultural context as well as the characteristics of the health system. It is equally important to note that diagnostic classification is only *a part* of patient assessment. The CDDR are not a guide to patient care, nor a comprehensive textbook of psychiatry, nor a manual of how to conduct clinical assessments and differential diagnoses. The focus of the CDDR is on the classification of *disorders* and not the assessment and treatment of *people*, who are frequently characterized by multiple disorders and diverse needs⁵.

Development of the MMS and the CDDR for ICD-11 Mental, Behavioural, or Neurodevelopmental Disorders

As noted above, WHO MSD led the development of the ICD-11 chapter on Mental, Behavioural, or Neurodevelopmental Disorders, including both the MMS and the CDDR. Over the course of more than a decade, MSD coordinated an intensive, systematic, international process that involved a wide range of key stakeholder groups including scientific and public health experts, clinicians, representatives of WHO member states, scientific and professional societies, service users and their carers, and other nongovernmental organizations.

Formation of the ICD-11 International Advisory Group

In 2007, MSD appointed the International Advisory Group for the Revision of ICD-10 Mental and Behavioural Disorders⁵, comprising scientific experts from all WHO global regions and representatives from relevant international scientific societies. This Advisory Group was tasked with scientific oversight for the entire revision process with the specific functions of advising WHO on the key guiding principles and goals of the revision; the steps involved in the revision; identification of other groups of relevant consultants and stakeholders required to develop the classification of mental disorders and other relevant parts of the ICD-11; and facilitating the implementation of global field studies to assess and improve the revisions to the ICD-11 and the CDDR. The Advisory Group also functioned as one of approximately 30 Topic Advisory Groups for the overall development of the ICD-11, each focusing on a different area or cross-cutting theme— (e.g., Gastroenterology; Ophthalmology; Quality and Safety)— and represented on the Revision Steering Committee—working with the WHO Classifications and Terminology and Data Standards Team responsible for coordinating the overall effort.

Development of the CDDR by ICD-11 Working Groups

The International Advisory Group advised MSD on the appointment of more than a dozen Working Groups tasked with reviewing the relevant evidence and making proposals for changes to the structure and content of the ICD-10 classification of Mental, Behavioural or Neurodevelopmental Disorders. Most of the Working Groups were established in relation to a particular subset of mental disorders (e.g., Psychotic Disorders; Mood and Anxiety Disorders; Personality Disorders). Others were appointed to make proposals regarding how cross-cutting themes (e.g., presentations in Children and Adolescents; presentations in Older Adults; Cultural Factors) would be handled in the CDDR. Members of the Working Groups were expert multidisciplinary mental health professionals with relevant scientific and/or clinical expertise. The Working Groups were constituted such that experts from all WHO global regions were included, with substantial representation from low- and middle-income countries.

The Working Groups' charge included reviewing the extant body of basic science, clinical, public health research relevant to their area of responsibility for use as a basis for their recommendations for revisions to the classification of mental disorders in ICD-10. The Working Groups used these reviews to recommend changes to enhance the validity of the ICD-11 (e.g., addition or deletion of categories, changes in thresholds or diagnostic requirements). Working Groups also reviewed available evidence related to the clinical utility of proposed changes, such as whether the revised diagnostic descriptions would enhance the identification of individuals who need mental health services or their usefulness in treatment and management decisions in a range of global health care settings, particularly in low- and middle-income countries. Working Groups proposed specific changes to: (1) the structure of the classification of mental disorders in ICD-11; (2) what categories and specifiers were included; and (3) the MMS brief descriptions and the CDDR for the area under their purview. Working Groups were asked to provide the rationale, evidence base and expected impact on clinical utility of any proposed change via a structured, documented process¹⁵.

Working Groups were instructed to emphasize considerations of clinical utility and global applicability in developing their recommendations. Clinical utility is important because health classifications represent the interface between health encounters and health information. A system that does not provide clinically useful information at the level of the health encounter will not be faithfully implemented by clinicians. In that case, data aggregated from health encounters will not be optimal and perhaps not even valid, affecting the usefulness and validity of summary health encounter data used for decision making at the health system, national and global level. WHO MSD operationalized the clinical utility of a category in the ICD-11 chapter on Mental, Behavioural or Neurodevelopmental Disorders as depending on: (a) its value in communicating (e.g., among practitioners, patients, families, administrators); (b) its implementation characteristics in clinical practice, including its goodness of fit (i.e., accuracy of description), its ease of use, and the time required to use it (i.e., feasibility); and (c) its usefulness in selecting interventions and in making clinical management decisions. Global applicability was addressed via the diverse global membership of the Working Groups and by the international nature of the field studies implemented as part of the development of the CDDR, and by specific attention to culture as a part of the CDDR (see sections on Public Review and Field Testing and on Cultural Factors below).

In order to generate relatively uniform information and a consistent structure across groupings and categories of the CDDR (see next chapter on Using the ICD-11 Classification of Mental, Behavioural and Neurodevelopmental Disorders in Clinical Settings), Working Groups collated diagnostic information using a standardized template (referred to as a 'Content Form'), with relevant references. This information served as source material for the development of the CDDR, with the final editorial responsibility vested in MSD. The brief descriptions in the MMS and the more detailed Essential Features in the CDDR were developed together in order to be fully compatible, though designed for different purposes. The MMS brief descriptions are typically summaries of the Essential Features for the corresponding entity in the CDDR, although these brief descriptions alone do not provide sufficient information for implementation in clinical settings.

Public Review and Field Testing

Proposals developed by Working Groups were described in the scientific literature ^{e.g.,} ¹⁹⁻²⁵, made available for public review²⁶, and tested via a systematic programme of global field studies (see section on field studies below). Scientific oversight for the field studies was provided by the ICD-11 Field Studies Coordination Group (FSCG)²⁷, comprising global leaders in clinical care, scientific research, and public health representing all WHO global regions, particularly low- and middle-income countries. FSCG members not only lent their technical expertise to the design, analysis, and interpretation of the field studies but also served as essential facilitators by successfully engaging global clinicians to participate in ICD-11 field studies around the world. Many of them directed International Field Study Centres, which conducted field studies in routine clinical settings with real patients. The FSCG and relevant Working Groups were also involved in proposing changes to the CDDR based on the results of the field studies¹⁶. WHO's comprehensive programme of field testing to assess the reliability, clinical utility, and global applicability of the proposed CDDR was a major area of innovation, employing novel study designs and new methodologies for collecting information. Global participation was a defining characteristic of the ICD-11 CDDR field studies, which engaged multidisciplinary clinicians working in diverse contexts across the world and were conducted in multiple languages. A key strength of the research programme was that studies were conducted within a time frame that allowed the results to be used as a basis for further revision of the CDDR prior to publication.

Early in the revision process, two major international, multilingual surveys were conducted, one of psychiatrists conducted in collaboration with the World Psychiatric Association²⁸ and the other of psychologists conducted in collaboration with the International Union of Psychological Science²⁹. These surveys focused on participants' use of diagnostic classification systems in clinical practice, and the desirable characteristics of a classification of mental disorders. These professionals overwhelmingly preferred more flexible guidance to allow for cultural variation and clinical judgment as compared to a strict criteria-based approach and were receptive to a system incorporating a dimensional component. Respondents described a number of categories as having poor clinical utility in practice, while others were recommended for addition or deletion^{30,31}. These data were used in the initial decisions about the content of the CDDR and in the development of diagnostic guidance by Working Groups.

In order to provide data to assist in developing an organizational structure that would be more clinically useful, two formative field studies were conducted to examine the conceptualizations held by mental health professionals around the world regarding the structure of mental disorders and the relationships among them^{32,33}. These data showed a high degree of similarity across countries, languages, and regions, regardless of the classification system participants used in clinical practice, and informed decisions about the structure of the classification.

The proposed CDDR material was then tested in two main sets of evaluative field studies: Case-Controlled (internet-based) and Ecological Implementation (clinic-based) field studies. The Case-Controlled studies assessed the clinical utility of the proposed diagnostic material; most compared how global clinicians applied the proposed ICD-11 material versus the ICD-10 diagnostic guidelines for a given diagnostic area in terms of accuracy and consistency of clinicians' diagnostic formulations, using a scientifically rigorous vignette-based methodology^{16,34}. Other studies examined scaling for diagnostic specifiers³⁵ and how clinicians actually use classifications in their clinical practice³⁶, including how they combine multiple dimensions in making a categorical diagnosis³⁷.

Case-Controlled studies were conducted in up to six languages – Chinese, English, French, Japanese, Spanish and Russian – with participation from thousands of clinicians from across the globe who were members of WHO's Global Clinical Practice Network (GCPN). GCPN field studies have assessed a wide range of disorder groupings^{e.g., 38-44}. Two internetbased studies comparing ICD-11 to ICD-10 were also conducted in German^{45,46}. Overall, these studies have demonstrated incrementally superior—or in some cases equivalent performance of the ICD-11 CDDR as compared to the ICD-10 CDDG in the accuracy of diagnoses assigned to case vignettes by participating clinicians, as well as improvements in ratings of clinical utility. When clinician's diagnoses did not follow the expected pattern, the study methodology allowed for examination of which specific features of the diagnostic requirements accounted for underperformance, which in turn permitted modifications to the CDDR to address points of ambiguity or misunderstanding^{e.g., 38,43}. These studies have also included analyses of results by region and language to identify potential difficulties in global or cultural applicability as well as problems in translation. In addition to refining the CDDR, data from these studies have provided useful information for the development of training programs on the new ICD-11 diagnostic material. For example, the German study examining performance on a coding task suggested a substantial need for training initiatives to support the use of the ICD-11 by professional coders⁴⁶.

Two major Ecological Implementation (clinic-based) field studies were conducted. The first tested the proposed CDDR diagnostic material when applied by practicing clinicians to adult patients receiving care in the types of clinical settings in which the CDDR will be implemented^{17,18}. The study was conducted in 14 countries—Brazil, Canada, China, Egypt, India, Italy, Japan, Lebanon, Mexico, Nigeria, Russia, South Africa, Spain, and Tunisia-via a network of International Field Study Centers. The study assessed the reliability and clinical utility of the CDDR for disorders that account for the highest percentage of global disease burden and use of mental health services in clinical settings among adults: Schizophrenia and Other Psychotic Disorders, Mood Disorders, Anxiety or Fear-Related Disorders, and Disorders Specifically Associated with Stress. A joint-rater reliability methodology, in which two clinicians were present during the patient interview but reported their diagnostic formulation and clinical utility ratings independently, was employed in order to isolate the effects of the CDDR from other sources of variance in diagnosis (e.g., changes over time; inconstancy in reporting). Importantly, the level of training on the ICD-11 CDDR received by participating clinicians was similar to what might be expected in routine clinical setting during ICD-11 implementation. Clinicians were given no instructions on how to conduct their diagnostic interviews other than to assess the areas that were required as part of the study protocol. Overall, intraclass kappa coefficients for diagnoses weighted by site and study prevalence ranged from 0.45 (Dysthymic Disorder) to 0.88 (Social Anxiety Disorder). The reliability of the ICD-11 diagnostic guidelines was superior to that previously reported for equivalent ICD-10 guidelines¹⁷. Clinician ratings of the clinical utility of the ICD-11

CDDR were very positive overall. The CDDR was perceived as easy to use, accurately reflecting patients' presentations (i.e., goodness of fit), clear and understandable, and no more time-consuming than their clinicians' standard practice¹⁸.

A separate study of common child and adolescent diagnoses was conducted in four countries: China, India, Japan and Mexico with children and adolescents from 6 to 18 years of age⁴⁷. The study focused on Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder, Disruptive Behaviour and Dissocial Disorders, Mood Disorders, Anxiety or Fear-Related Disorders, and Disorders Specifically Associated with Stress, using a design that was analogous to the adult study. Kappa estimates indicated substantial agreement for most categories, with moderate agreement for Generalized Anxiety Disorder and Adjustment Disorder. No differences were found between younger (6-11 years) and older (12-18 years) age groups or between outpatient and inpatient samples. Clinical utility ratings for these diagnoses were positive and consistent across the domains assessed, although were somewhat lower for adjustment disorder. Taken together, the results of the Ecological Implementation supported the implementation of the ICD-11 CDDR in clinical settings and suggested that the results of the Case-Controlled studies were generalizable to clinical settings. Another clinic-based field study in three countries examining the novel Behavioural Indicators for the assessment of the severity of ICD-11 Disorders of Intellectual Development (DID) found them to have good to excellent levels of inter-rater reliability, concurrent validity, and clinical utility, supporting their use to assist in the accurate identification of individuals with DID, particularly in settings where specialized assessment services are unavailable⁴⁸.

A separate field studies programme to test the section of the ICD-11 CDDR on Disorders Due to Substance Use and Addictive Behaviours involved field testing centers in eleven countries: Australia, Brazil, China, France, Indonesia, India, Iran, Malaysia, Mexico, Switzerland and Thailand. The main aim of the studies was to explore the public health and clinical utility, feasibility and stability (comparability with ICD-10) of the proposed CDDR for disorders due to the use of psychoactive substances as well as the newly designated subgrouping of Disorders Due to Addictive Behaviours (i.e., Gambling Disorder and Gaming Disorder). The mixed-methods approach used in these studies included key informant surveys and interviews, focus groups, and consensus conferences at each study site. Across sites, more than one thousand health professionals participate in the survey, more than 200 participants were involved in 30 focus groups organized at the study sites, and 42 identified national experts in the field reviewed the draft CDDR.

Overall, this section of ICD-11 was judged to be major step forward as compared to ICD-10 in terms of its utility for meeting clinical and public health and its feasibility for implementation. There was broad support for major innovations in this area. For Disorders Due to Substance Use, this included the expansion of substance classes to reflect evolving patterns in global psychoactive substance use (e.g., synthetic cannabinoids, MDMA or related drugs), the introduction of a new categories to capture Episodes of Harmful Substance Use, and the inclusion of the concept of 'harm to health of others' in the definition of Harmful Substance Use²⁴. There was also support for integrating Disorders Due to Addictive Behaviour in the same overarching grouping as Disorders Due to Substance Use and for the introduction of the new diagnostic category Gaming Disorder. At the same time, the field study results highlighted the overall increase in complexity of this part of the ICD-11 and the need for training of health professionals in order to ensure a smooth transition. The field studies also yielded specific suggestions for better delineation of the boundaries among some diagnostic categories as well as better descriptions of new ones.

In addition, WHO commissioned a study on the concordance among diagnoses for alcohol and cannabis use disorders based on ICD-11, ICD-10, DSM-IV and DSM-5⁴⁹. The results of the study demonstrated high concordance among the populations identified by the

ICD-11 diagnostic requirements as compared to ICD-10 and DSM-IV. Concordance of between ICD-11 and DSM-5 was substantially lower, in large part due to low agreement between the diagnosis of Harmful Pattern of Alcohol Use and Harmful Pattern of Cannabis Use in the ICD-11 and Mild Alcohol Use Disorder and Mild Cannabis Use Disorder in the DSM-5.

Development of the CDDR also included the involvement of mental health service users and carers through two studies in 15 countries representing diverse clinical contexts in multiple global regions^{50,51}. These studies constituted the first instance of a systematic research programme studying mental health service users' perspectives during the revision of a major diagnostic classification system. The studies employed participatory research methodologies to systematically collate service user perspectives on key CDDR diagnoses that contribute to high disease burden, including Schizophrenia, Depressive Episode, Bipolar Type 1 Disorder, Generalized Anxiety Disorder, and Personality Disorder. Findings from these studies provided an understating of how mental health service users respond to diagnostic content of the CDDR and served as a basis for providing recommendations to WHO about potential enhancements of CDDR diagnostic material that may enhance its clinical utility (e.g., its usefulness in communicating with service users) and mitigating potential unintended negative consequences of the diagnostic material, including stigmatization of diagnosed individuals.

Coordination with the Development of the DSM-5

The development of the ICD-11 overlapped with the development and publication of the DSM-5⁵². The Chair and Co-Chair of the DSM-5 Task Force regularly attended meetings of the Advisory Group in effort to facilitate 'harmonization' of the two classifications. This was most successful in terms of the way that mental disorders are divided into groupings and how those groupings are ordered in the two classifications (referred to as the 'metastructure'). In

this regard, the ICD-11 and the DSM-5 are quite similar to one another, though not identical, and substantially different from the ICD-10 or the DSM-IV. Most ICD-11 Working Groups included at least one member of the corresponding DSM-5 Workgroup. ICD-11 Working Groups were asked to consider the clinical utility and global applicability of material being developed for the DSM-5, with the goal of minimizing unintentional or arbitrary differences between the two systems. Intentional conceptual differences were permitted, however, and the Working Groups were asked to provide a justification for such differences where they were proposed. The differences between the ICD-11 (both the MMS and the CDDR), and the DSM-5 are therefore conscious and intentional^{15,53}, and a number of such differences have stimulated valuable research that has enhanced our knowledge about psychopathology⁵⁴. *Key Approaches to Classifying Mental, Behavioural or Neurodevelopmental Disorders*

The ICD-11 chapter on Mental, Behavioral or Neurodevelopmental Disorders begins with the following definition:

Mental, behavioural and neurodevelopmental disorders are syndromes characterized by clinically significant disturbance in an individual's cognition, emotional regulation, or behaviour that reflects a dysfunction in the psychological, biological, or developmental processes that underlie mental and behavioural functioning. These disturbances are usually associated with distress or impairment in personal, family, social, educational, occupational, or other important areas of functioning.

The term 'disorder' is used as a part of nearly all category titles in the chapter. Although 'disorder' is not a precise term, as in the ICD-10 its use is intended 'to avoid even greater problems inherent in the use of terms such as "disease"^{14, p. 11}, which implies greater certainty about etiology and pathophysiology than exists for most mental disorders. Although mental disorders are by definition syndromes, 'syndrome' is a broader term with more variable usage. Its use in category titles in the classification of Mental, Behavioral or Neurodevelopmental Disorders is restricted to the grouping of Secondary Mental or Behavioural Syndromes Associated with Disorders or Diseases Classified Elsewhere, which are conditions with more variable symptoms that are less specified in the CDDR but are judged to be direct pathophysiological consequences of a medical condition. Other conditions referred to as syndromes that are mentioned in the CDDR are classified in other parts of the ICD-11 (e.g., Tourette Syndrome a part of the chapter on Diseases of the Nervous System).

Beyond the issue of terminology, the definition of Mental, Behavioral or Neurodevelopmental Disorders helps to delineate two boundaries. The first is the boundary between Mental, Behavioral or Neurodevelopmental Disorders and diseases and disorders classified in other chapters of the ICD-11 and the second is the boundary between Mental, Behavioral, or Neurodevelopmental disorders and normality. Both of these boundaries represent key issues in diagnosis. The first part of the definition ('clinically significant disturbance in an individual's *cognition, emotional regulation, or behaviour*') indicates that the essential features of the disorders included in the ICD-11 chapter on Mental, Behavioural or Neurodevelopmental disorders invariably involve (although are not limited to) symptoms from these domains of mental and behavioural functioning. The presentation of disorders in other ICD-11 chapters (e.g., Diseases of the Nervous System, Sleep-Wake Disorders) may include disturbances in these domains, but they are not common to all the disorders in those chapters.

The second part of the definition is intended to clarify that in order for a clinical presentation to be diagnosable as a Mental, Behavioral, or Neurodevelopmental Disorder (as opposed to representing normal variation), the symptom must reflect a *dysfunction* in an underlying psychological, biological, or developmental process. For example, the experiences of an individual who has recently been bereaved might include acute feelings of

sadness and emptiness accompanied by disturbances in cognition, emotional regulation, or behaviour. However, symptoms entirely attributable to grief are not in and of themselves indicative of an underlying dysfunction in a psychological, biological, or developmental process. Normal bereavement is not considered to be a disorder despite its potential negative impact on social and occupational functioning. Similarly, behaviour (e.g., political, religious, sexual) that deviates from the accepted standards of society is only considered to be symptomatic of a mental disorder if it is a manifestation of a dysfunction in a psychological, biological, or developmental process.

The final part of the definition ('these disturbances are *usually* associated with distress or impairment in personal, family, social, educational, occupational, or other important areas of functioning') notes that distress in the individual and/or impairment in functioning is commonly a consequence of the symptoms and for many mental disorders is an essential feature. At the same time, it is not always required (e.g., individuals experiencing a Hypomanic Episode in the context of Bipolar Type II Disorder often do not experience distress about their condition and by definition do not exhibit functional impairment), hence the use of 'usually' in the definition.

Structure of the Chapter on Mental, Behavioural or Neurodevelopmental Disorders

The organization of the ICD-10 chapter on Mental and Behavioural Disorders had been dictated partly by the ICD-10 coding system itself. The first character of ICD-10 codes, which indicated the chapter, was alphabetical, thus allowing for up to 26 chapters. The second character, which indicated the diagnostic grouping within the chapter, was numerical, effectively limiting the number of possible diagnostic groupings within a chapter to ten. The use of alphanumeric characters throughout the ICD-11 coding system removes those artificial constraints. Consequently, there are 21 diagnostic groupings in the ICD-11 chapter on Mental, Behavioural or Neurodevelopmental Disorders. A few of the ICD-11 diagnostic groupings are completely parallel to ICD-10 groupings (e.g., Disorders Due to Substance Use; Schizophrenia or Other Primary Psychotic Disorders, Mood Disorders). Most of the other ICD-10 diagnostic groupings were split into multiple ICD-11 groupings. For example, ICD-10 Neurotic, Stress-Related, and Somatoform Disorders was split into five ICD-11 diagnostic groupings: Anxiety or Fear-Related Disorders; Obsessive-Compulsive or Related Disorders; Disorders Specifically Associated with Stress; Dissociative Disorders; and Bodily Distress Disorders.

In one case, three ICD-10 diagnostic groupings (Mental Retardation; Disorders of Psychological Development; and Behavioural and Emotional Disorders with Onset Usually Occurring in Childhood and Adolescence) were combined into a single Neurodevelopmental Disorders grouping in ICD-11, although some of the disorders that were included in the Behavioural and Emotional Disorders with Onset Usually Occurring in Childhood and Adolescence grouping in ICD-10 were placed into other ICD-11 diagnostic groupings based on symptomatic presentations (e.g., Conduct Disorders were placed in the Disruptive Behaviors or Dissocial Disorders grouping in the ICD-11). Disorders of Intellectual Development in the ICD-11 have been reconceptualized from ICD-10 Mental Retardation such that it is assessed based on adaptive behavior functioning in addition to intellectual functioning.

The elimination of ICD-10 diagnostic groupings explicitly linked to onset of the condition during childhood and adolescence is in part related to the decision to adopt a lifespan approach to the description of diagnostic categories in ICD-11. Each category contains a section on Developmental Presentations, which describes the manifestations of the disorder in early and middle childhood, adolescence, and older adulthood, to the extent possible based on available evidence. The ICD-11 CDDR also include descriptions of adult presentations of most disorders described exclusively in terms of children in the ICD-10

CDDG (e.g., Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder, Separation Anxiety Disorder, Conduct Disorder, Pica).

Four diagnostic subgroupings were moved out of the Mental, Behavioral, and Neurodevelopmental Disorders chapter entirely and placed within other ICD-11 chapters: ICD-10 Nonorganic Sleep Disorders were moved to the ICD-11 chapter on Sleep-Wake disorders, ICD-10 Sexual Dysfunctions Not Caused by Organic Disorder or Disease and Gender Identity Disorders were moved to the ICD-11 chapter on Conditions Related to Sexual Health, and ICD-10 Tic Disorders were moved to the ICD-11 Chapter on Diseases of the Nervous System. The movement of Sleep-Wake Disorders and Sexual Dysfunctions to new, separate chapters in no way indicates that these conditions are not appropriately treated by mental health professionals. Rather, it reflects an effort to remove the artificial and scientifically and clinically inaccurate 'mind-body split' embodied in the designation of 'organic' and 'nonorganic' forms of these disorders. The inclusion of ICD-11 Gender Incongruence in the chapter on Conditions Related to Sexual Health reflects the conclusion that these conditions are not appropriately viewed as mental disorders based on a series of international field studies indicating that distress and functional impairment in transgender people is predicted by experiences of stigmatization and victimization rather than being an intrinsic characteristic of being transgender⁵⁵⁻⁵⁷.

Categories and Dimensions

ICD-10 was almost entirely categorical in nature (categories were either present or absent), with the only exceptions being severity-based subcategories for Mental Retardation (Mild, Moderate, Severe, and Profound) and Depressive episode (Mild, Moderate, Severe). The ICD-11 has moved beyond a strictly categorical approach, incorporating dimensional elements in two different ways. First, in addition to Intellectual Developmental Disorder and Depressive Episode, Bodily Distress Disorder, Personality Disorder, and Dementia are subcategorized based on severity (Mild, Moderate, Severe). Second, a number of mental disorders allow for the indication of symptomatic manifestations that are intended to provide dimensional profiles that cut across different disorders in a particular grouping. These include Symptomatic Manifestations of Primary Psychotic Disorders (Positive Symptoms, Negative Symptoms, Depressive Mood Symptoms, Manic Mood Symptoms, Psychomotor Symptoms, and Cognitive Symptoms), which can be further coded as Not Present, Mild, Moderate or Severe, and Prominent Personality Trait Domains in Personality Disorders (Negative Affectivity, Detachment, Asociality, Disinhibition, and Anankastia.) See the following chapter on Using the CDDR for ICD-11 Mental, Behavioural or Neurodevelopmental Disorders for specific examples of how these dimensional specifiers are coded.

Cultural Factors

Because the CDDR will be employed around the world as a basis for diagnosis and treatment selection among people living in diverse social milieus and cultural contexts, a key priority in development of the diagnostic material was to consider and reflect the influence of culture. Cultural factors impact the diagnosis of Mental, Behavioural, or Neurodevelopmental disorders in complex and multifaceted ways. For example, culture can influence how disorders are conceptualized, experienced, and expressed; what is considered normal or pathological; how functioning is impacted; where and how people seek care; and the ways that patients and families participate in treatment. Attention to culture was also in line with the overall priority of the revision process to enhance the clinical utility and global applicability of the CDDR. Information that makes the diagnostic system more relevant and acceptable to clinicians and service users around the world can enhance the CDDR's usefulness as tool for identifying those who require care and connecting them to services.

WHO appointed a Working Group on Cultural Considerations to develop material on culture for the CDDR. This Working Group conducted extensive consultations with experts

from around the world and systematically reviewed the literature on cultural influences on diagnosis and psychopathology for each diagnostic category as well as relevant material on culture from ICD-10 and the DSM-5. Information was also collated from materials produced by other ICD-11 Working Groups as part of their generation of proposed content for their respective diagnostic areas.

On this basis, the Working Group developed a section entitled 'Culture-Related Features' for diagnostic categories in the CDDR. The focus was on providing pragmatic, actionable material to assist clinicians in using the CDDR to evaluate patients in a culturally informed manner and reduce bias in clinical decision-making. This section is meant to be of practical use in the process of engagement, diagnosis, evaluation, and treatment selection and addresses the following areas: a) cultural variation in prevalence and symptoms of disorders; b) information about social contexts and sociocultural mechanisms that may account for this variation; and c) descriptions of cultural concepts of distress (e.g., idioms, causal explanations) that are relevant to diagnosis and treatment decisions, prioritizing cultural variations that may be associated with national or ethnocultural background^{58,59}. The resulting guidance aims to assist the clinician in making informed decisions likely to foster more contextually applicable patient-centered care that is sensitive to the cultural and social milieu of the clinical encounter.

For example, the section on Culture-Related Features of the CDDR for Panic Disorder indicates that the symptom presentation of panic attacks may vary across cultures and describes several notable cultural concepts of distress that link panic, fear, or anxiety to cultural attributions regarding specific social and environmental influences. Understanding these attributions can assist in differential diagnosis and also clarify whether panic attacks should be considered expected or unexpected (as is required for a diagnosis of panic disorder) given the environmental circumstances. The development of the CDDR incorporated cultural considerations in several other ways. First, global applicability of diagnostic material was identified early on as an overarching objective of the CDDR and the development process was led and guided by experts and clinicians representing all major global areas. The Advisory Group, the Field Studies Coordination Group, and all Working Groups included members with diverse geographical and linguistic backgrounds, many of whom had direct experience working in low-resource contexts and within varying cultures.

The design and implementation of ICD-11 field studies also adhered to the principle of enhancing the global and cultural applicability of the CDDR by engaging thousands of clinicians from around the world in a comprehensive research programme to the reliability, clinical utility, and global applicability of the guidelines. For example, the formative studies that helped to shape the architecture and linear structure of the CDDR involved clinicians from over 40 countries and were conducted in multiple languages. The evaluative Case-Controlled studies engaged clinicians in large-scale, multilingual studies related to major diagnostic areas of the CDDR. The clinicians who participated in the Case-Controlled studies were members of the Global Clinical Practice Network⁶⁰, which now includes more than 17,000 mental health professionals from over 165 countries and was established by WHO for the purposes of assisting in the development of the ICD-11 by participating in internet-based field studies. Similarly, there were over 25 study sites for clinic-based field studies testing the implementation of the CDDR with real patients in 14 culturally, lingually and geographically diverse countries. Hundreds of clinicians in these countries directly provided feedback on the CDDR to help enhance its reliability and utility in culturally diverse global settings.

Using the CDDR in Research

In addition to the ICD-10 CDDG, the WHO Department of Mental Health and Substance Use published *Diagnostic Criteria for Research* (DCR) for ICD-10 Mental and Behavioural Disorders⁶¹ as a companion document. The DCR presented fully operationalized criteria for ICD-10 mental disorders entities, specifically intended for use in research. These criteria were designed to replace the 'Diagnostic Guidelines' portion of the corresponding category in the CDDG, which tended to be more flexible and less fully operationalized. The core criteria-based approach taken in the DCR was therefore much more compatible with the approach of the DSM-IV⁶², although substantial differences between the two systems remained⁶³. However, there appears to have been almost no published research using the ICD-10 DCR.

The greater standardization and the provision of a broader and more systematic range of clinically-relevant information in the ICD-11 CDDR as compared to the ICD-10 CDDG¹⁵ was designed to make the CDDR more useful in clinical decision-making and therefore also in education and training. The extremely high ratings of the clinical utility of the CDDR, particularly in international clinic-based field studies with real patients^{18,45} suggest that this objective was achieved. Moreover, the solid reliability results from the ICD-11 field studies^{17,47} indicate that the CDDR would be satisfactory for use in certain kinds of research projects, for example projects focused on individuals with particular diagnoses as these are assigned in health care settings (e.g., patients diagnosed with Recurrent Depressive Disorder receiving services at a particular facility).

However, in other types of research projects, in which obtaining reproducible and precise psychiatric diagnoses is more important, standardized diagnostic assessment procedures are necessary. This is meant to control variability inherent in diagnostic processes that rely on the interviewer's diagnostic interviewing skills (different interviewers may ask different questions to assess the same clinical phenomena) and clinical judgment (different interviewers may arrive at different diagnostic conclusions). For example, studies of the efficacy of treatments for particular disorders require consistency in diagnostic procedures to ensure that the population being studied has been assigned the diagnosis for which the treatment is intended according to consistent and explicit diagnostic rules to reduce random diagnostic heterogeneity. Similarly, epidemiological studies that utilize lay interviewers (i.e., not clinically trained) to apply the ICD-11 CDDR, require pre-scripted questions and strict decision rules because they cannot rely on the clinical expertise of the interviewer to make judgements about which features are present. For these reasons, several WHO-sponsored diagnostic instruments are being developed to facilitate the application of the ICD-11 CDDR in particular research settings.

The Structured Clinical Interview for ICD-11 (SCII-11) is a WHO-sponsored semistructured diagnostic interview that requires experience in clinical interviewing on the part of the interviewer. The SCII-11 is designed to be used in conjunction with the CDDR and provides a standardized set of questions to assist researchers to elicit the information needed to conduct a differential diagnosis in the context of research studies. It will also be useful for training purposes and in clinical settings.

The development of the SCII-11 required extensive decisions about operationalizing the CDDR so that they can be more reliably applied in research settings. The SCII-11 operationalized the CDDR in two different ways: by substituting more precise diagnostic thresholds and by the choice of wording of corresponding interview questions. The CDDR intentionally avoids artificially precise duration and symptom cut-offs, allowing clinicians more flexibility for clinical judgement, The SCII-11 modifies some of the CDDR items, substituting more precise thresholds. For example, the ICD-11 CDDR for Panic Disorder defines a panic attack as follows: 'Panic attacks are discrete episodes of intense fear or apprehension also characterized by the rapid and concurrent onset of **several** characteristic symptoms. These symptoms may include, but are not limited to, the following:' The SCII-11 has modified this item, substituting the word 'several' with 'at least three'. Similarly, the CDDR incorporate many broadly defined diagnostic constructs that could be assessed in different ways. Rather than relying on the interviewer to decide the best way to assess them, the SCII-11 operationalizes diagnostic constructs through the specificity and wording of corresponding interview questions. For example, the CDDR for Schizophrenia require the presence of at least two items from a list of seven, most of the time for a period of 1 month, with one of the seven being 'persistent delusions (e.g., grandiose delusions, delusions of reference, persecutory delusions)'. Since there is no single question that can satisfactorily cover every type of delusion, the SCII-11 divides the assessment of delusions into ten separate sections corresponding to specific types of delusions (e.g., delusions of reference, persecutory delusions, grandiose delusions, delusions of guilt, somatic delusions), each with its own set of questions. Given that it is a semi-structured rather than a fully structured interview, the administering clinician also has the option of following up on particular responses or asking additional questions in order to fully assess the phenomenon in question. The WHO plans to make available a list of the operational decisions implemented in the SCII-11 as a resource in the development of other instruments to encourage greater crossinstrument diagnostic agreement.

The Schedules for Clinical Assessment in Neuropsychiatry (SCAN)^{64,65} is a semistructured clinical interview used by trained clinicians to assess and diagnose mental disorders among adults, originally developed as a part of a joint project of the WHO and the U.S. National Institute of Mental Health. The SCAN comprises a set of instruments, supported by manuals, and was originally built around the Present State Examination (PSE), which assesses a wide range of symptoms likely to be manifested during a psychotic episode. The SCAN is designed to yield both ICD and DSM diagnoses and has been translated into more than 35 languages. It requires extensive training by an approved training center to administer. Its approach is different from that of the SCII-11, which attempts to assess the diagnostic requirements of mental disorders more directly via direct self-report of their essential features. Version 3 of the SCAN is currently being developed and will refer to the SCII-11 operationalizations in the formulation of its diagnostic algorithms, although its assessment methodology will remain distinct.

As noted above, diagnostic interviews with completely operationalized decision rules and cutoffs are an essential tool for conducting epidemiological studies. The WHO World Mental Health Composite International Diagnostic Interview⁶⁶, an instrument originally developed for the WHO World Mental Health Survey, is therefore being adapted to yield operationalized ICD-11 diagnoses compatible with the CDDR, along with DSM-5 diagnoses, and will utilize the operationalizations as a part of this adaptation process.

In addition, instruments focused on particular diagnoses as formulated in the ICD-11 are being developed by WHO as well as by researchers external to WHO. For example, WHO is supporting the development of screening and diagnostic tools for Gaming Disorder⁶⁷. Instruments not sponsored by WHO include several measures of Personality Disorder severity and trait domains based on the ICD-11 developed by different research groups⁶⁸⁻⁷¹. A self-report measure of ICD-11 Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder and Complex Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder has been validated⁷² and translated into over 25 languages (see <u>www.traumameasuresglobal.com</u>). A scale designed to assess ICD-11 Compulsive Sexual Behaviour Disorder has been developed and validated⁷³ and will be made available in up to 30 languages as part of a large, international research project⁷⁴. Ultimately, the use of the ICD-11 classification of Mental, Behavioural or Neurodevelopmental Disorders in research will depend on the development of validated measures for specific purposes, as illustrated by these examples, rather than on the development of a separate classification intended for research use.

 $\ensuremath{\mathbb C}$ WHO Department of Mental Health and Substance Use 2022

Conclusion

As stated by the Advisory Group early in the development of the ICD-11, 'People are only likely to have access to the most appropriate mental health services when the conditions that define eligibility and treatment selection are supported by a precise, valid, and clinically useful classification system'^{11, p. 90}. The ICD-11 classification of Mental, Behavioural or Neurodevelopmental Disorders and the CDDR have taken major steps in this direction. As a part of the first major revision of the ICD in three decades, the new diagnostic classification for mental disorders and the CDDR were developed based on comprehensive reviews of available scientific evidence and best clinical practices using a participative global, multidisciplinary and multilingual process. Clinical utility and global applicability were guiding principles of this work, which was closely linked to a systematic programme of field studies involving thousands of clinicians around the globe.

The overall ICD-11 represents an enormous step forward being based on and designed to be fully integratable with electronic health information infrastructure, dramatically expanding the capacities and flexibility of the classification system. It is likely to be the standard for global health information for some time, perhaps as long or longer than was the ICD-10. A key aspect of WHO's plans regarding the ICD-11 is that regular updates will occur every 2 years, which provide an opportunity to modify the classification to reflect new knowledge and changing circumstances. It is anticipated that a greater number of changes will be made early on as member states gain experience in actually using the classification. This will provide an important mechanism for making refinements or clarifications to the classification of Mental, Behavioural or Neurodevelopmental Disorders should they be justified based on emerging evidence and clinical experience.

References

- World Health Organization. World Health Assembly Update, 25 May 2019. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2019. <u>https://www.who.int/news/item/25-05-2019-world-health-assembly-update</u>
- Word Health Organization. ICD-11 Reference Guide, Geneva: World Health Organization; 2019. <u>https://icd.who.int/icd11refguide/en/index.html</u>
- World Health Organization. Basic Documents (49th Ed), Geneva: World Health Organization;
 2020. <u>https://apps.who.int/gb/bd/pdf_files/BD_49th-en.pdf</u>
- World Health Organization. International Statistical Classification of Diseases and Related Health Problems (ICD). Geneva: World Health Organization; 2022. <u>https://www.who.int/standards/classifications/classification-of-diseases</u>
- International Advisory Group for the Revision of ICD-10 Mental and Behavioural Disorders. A conceptual framework for the revision of the ICD-10 classification of mental and behavioural disorders. World Psychiatry 2011;10:86-92.
- Reed GM, First MB, Kogan CS, Hyman SE, Gureje O, Gaebel W, et al. Innovations and changes in the ICD-11 classification of mental, behavioural and neurodevelopmental disorders. World Psychiatry 2019;18:3-19.
- Rehm J, Shield KD. Global burden of disease and the impact of mental and addictive disorders. Curr Psychiatry Rep 2019;21:10.
- 8. World Health Organization. International statistical classification of diseases, injuries, and causes of death, 6th revision. Geneva: World Health Organization; 1949.
- 9. World Health Organization. Manual of the international statistical classification of diseases, injuries, and causes of death. Geneva: World Health Organization; 1957.
- 10. World Health Organization. International statistical classification of diseases, injuries, and causes of death, 8th revision. Geneva: World Health Organization; 1967.
- World Health Organization. Glossary of mental disorders and guide to their classification. Geneva: World Health Organization; 1974.

- 12. World Health Organization. International statistical classification of diseases, injuries, and causes of death, 9th revision. Geneva: World Health Organization; 1979.
- World Health Organization. International statistical classification of diseases and related health problems, 10th revision. Geneva: World Health Organization; 1992.
- World Health Organization. The ICD-10 classification of mental and behavioral disorders: Clinical descriptions and diagnostic guidelines. Geneva: World Health Organization; 1992.
- First MB, Reed GM, Hyman SE, Saxena S. The development of the ICD-11 Clinical Descriptions and Diagnostic Guidelines for Mental and Behavioural Disorders. World Psychiatry 2015;14:82-90.
- 16. Keeley JW, Reed GM, Roberts MC, Evans SC, Medina-Mora ME, Robles R, et al. Developing a science of clinical utility in diagnostic classification systems field study strategies for ICD-11 mental and behavioral disorders. Am Psychol 2016;71:3-16.
- 17. Reed GM, Sharan P, Rebello TJ, Keeley JW, Elena Medina-Mora M, Gureje O, et al. The ICD-11 developmental field study of reliability of diagnoses of high-burden mental disorders: results among adult patients in mental health settings of 13 countries. World Psychiatry 2018;17:174-86.
- Reed GM, Keeley JW, Rebello TJ, First MB, Gureje O, Ayuso-Mateos JL, et al. Clinical utility of ICD-11 diagnostic guidelines for high-burden mental disorders: results from mental health settings in 13 countries. World Psychiatry 2018;17:306-15.
- 19. Gaebel W. Status of psychotic disorders in ICD-11. Schizophr Bull 2012;38:895-8.
- 20. Maj M, Reed, GM (Eds.) The ICD-11 classification of mood and anxiety disorders: Background and options. World Psychiatry 2012; 11(Suppl. 1).
- 21. Stein DJ, Kogan CS, Atmaca M, Fineberg NA, Fontenelle LF, Grant JE, et al. The classification of obsessive-compulsive and related disorders in the ICD-11. J Affect Disord 2016;190:663-74.
- 22. Kogan CS, Stein DJ, Maj M, First MB, Emmelkamp PM, Reed GM. the classification of anxiety and fear-related disorders in the ICD-11. Depress Anxiety. 2016;33:1141-54.
- 23. Maercker A, Brewin CR, Bryant RA, Cloitre M, van Ommeren M, Jones LM, et al. Diagnosis and classification of disorders specifically associated with stress: proposals for ICD-11. World Psychiatry.2013;12:198-206.

- 24. Poznyak V, Reed GM, Medina-Mora ME. Aligning the ICD-11 classification of disorders due to substance use with global service needs. Epidemiol Psychiatr Sci 2018;27:212-18.
- 25. Krueger RB, Reed GM, First MB, Marais A, Kismodi E, Briken P. Proposals for paraphilic disorders in the International Classification of Diseases and Related Health Problems, Eleventh Revision (ICD-11). Arch Sex Behav 2017;46:1529-45.
- 26. Fuss J, Lemay K, Stein DJ, Briken P, Jakob R, Reed GM, Kogan S. Public stakeholders' comments on ICD-11 chapters related to mental and sexual health. World Psychiatry 2019;18:233-5.
- 27. Guler J, Roberts MC, Medina-Mora ME, Robles R, Gureje O, Keeley JW, et al. Global collaborative team performance for the revision of the international classification of diseases: a case study of the World Health Organization Field Studies Coordination Group. Int J Clin Health Psychol 2018;18:189-200.
- Reed GM, Mendonça Correia J, Esparza P, Saxena S, Maj M. The WPA-WHO Global Survey of Psychiatrists' Attitudes Towards Mental Disorders Classification. World Psychiatry 2011;10:118-31.
- 29. Evans SC, Reed GM, Roberts MC, Esparza P, Watts AD, Correia JM, et al. Psychologists' perspectives on the diagnostic classification of mental disorders: results from the WHO-IUPsyS Global Survey. Int J Psychol 2013;48:177-93.
- 30. Robles R, Fresán A, Evans SC, Medina-Mora ME, Maj M, Reed GM. Problematic, absent and stigmatizing diagnoses in current mental disorders classifications: Results from the WHO-WPA and WHO-IUPsyS Global Surveys. Int J Clin Health Psychol 2014;14:165-77.
- 31. Robles R, Fresán A, Medina-Mora ME, Sharan P, Roberts MC, Mari JJ, et al. Categories that should be removed from mental disorders classifications: perspectives and rationales of clinicians from eight countries. J Clin Psychol 2015;71:267-81.
- 32. Roberts MC, Reed GM, Medina-Mora ME, Keeley JW, Sharan P, Johnson DK, et al. A global clinicians' map of mental disorders to improve ICD-11: analysing meta-structure to enhance clinical utility. Int Rev Psychiatry 2012;24:578-90.

- 33. Reed GM, Roberts MC, Keeley J, Hooppell C, Matsumoto C, Sharan P, et al. Mental health professionals' natural taxonomies of mental disorders: implications for the clinical utility of the ICD-11 and the DSM-5. J Clin Psychol 2013;69:1191-212.
- 34. Evans SC, Roberts MC, Keeley JW, Blossom JB, Amaro CM, Garcia AM, et al. Vignette methodologies for studying clinicians' decision-making: Validity, utility, and application in ICD-11 field studies. Int J Clin Health Psychol 2015;15:160-70.
- 35. Keeley JW, Gaebel W, First MB, Peterson DL, Rebello T, Sharan P, et al. Psychotic disorder symptom rating scales: are dichotomous or multi-point scales more clinically useful? - An ICD-11 field study. Schizophr Res 2018;202:254-9.
- 36. First MB, Rebello TJ, Keeley JW, Bhargava R, Dai Y, Kulygina M, et al. Do mental health professionals use diagnostic classifications the way we think they do? A global survey. World Psychiatry 2018;17:187-95.
- 37. Keeley JW, Briken P, Evans SC, First MB, Klein V, Krueger RB, et al. Can clinicians use dimensional information to make a categorical diagnosis of paraphilic disorders? An ICD-11 field study. J Sex Med 2021;18:1592-606.
- 38. Keeley JW, Reed GM, Roberts MC, Evans SC, Robles R, Matsumoto C, et al. Disorders specifically associated with stress: a case-controlled field study for ICD-11 mental and behavioural disorders. Int J Clin Health Psychol 2016;16:109-27.
- 39. Claudino AM, Pike KM, Hay P, Keeley JW, Evans SC, Rebello TJ, et al. The classification of feeding and eating disorders in the ICD-11: results of a field study comparing proposed ICD-11 guidelines with existing ICD-10 guidelines. BMC Med 2019;17:93.
- 40. Peterson DL, Webb CA, Keeley JW, Gaebel W, Zielasek J, Rebello TJ, et al. The reliability and clinical utility of ICD-11 schizoaffective disorder: a field trial. Schizophr Res 2019;208:235-41.
- 41. Rebello TJ, Keeley JW, Kogan CS, Sharan P, Matsumoto C, Kuligyna M, et al. Anxiety and fearrelated disorders in the ICD-11: results from a global case-controlled field study. Arch Med Res 2019;50:490-501.

- 42. Kogan CS, Stein DJ, Rebello TJ, Keeley JW, Chan KJ, Fineberg NA, et al. Accuracy of diagnostic judgments using ICD-11 vs. ICD-10 diagnostic guidelines for obsessive-compulsive and related disorders. J Affect Disord 2020;273:328-40.
- 43. Kogan CS, Maj M, Rebello TJ, Keeley JW, Kulygina M, Matsumoto C, et al. A global field study of the international classification of diseases (ICD-11) mood disorders clinical descriptions and diagnostic guidelines. J Affect Disord 2021;295:1138-50.
- 44. Evans SC, Roberts MC, Keeley JW, Rebello TJ, de la Peña F, Lochman JE, et al. Diagnostic classification of irritability and oppositionality in youth: a global field study comparing ICD-11 with ICD-10 and DSM-5. J Child Psychol Psychiatry 2021;62:303-12.
- 45. Gaebel W, Stricker J, Riesbeck M, Zielasek J, Kerst A, Meisenzahl-Lechner E, et al. Accuracy of diagnostic classification and clinical utility assessment of ICD-11 compared to ICD-10 in 10 mental disorders: findings from a web-based field study. Eur Arch Psychiatry Clin Neurosci 2020;270:281-9.
- 46. Gaebel W, Riesbeck M, Zielasek J, Kerst A, Meisenzahl-Lechner E, Köllner V, et al. Internetbasierte Untersuchungen zur diagnostischen Klassifikation und Kodierung psychischer Störungen im Vergleich von ICD-11 und ICD-10 [Web-based field studies on diagnostic classification and code assignment of mental disorders: comparison of ICD-11 and ICD-10]. Fortschr Neurol Psychiatr 2018;86(3):163-171.
- 47. Sharan P, Zhao M, Medina-Mora ME, Kanba S, Rebello TJ, Keeley JW, García JA, Reed GM. Results of the ICD-11 clinic-based field study of mental and behavioral disorders in children and adolescents: reliability, clinical utility and implementation characteristics. Submitted manuscript 2022.
- 48. Lemay KR, Kogan CS, Rebello TJ, Keeley JW, Bhargava R, Sharan P, et al. An international field study of the ICD-11 behavioural indicators for disorders of intellectual development. J Intellect Disabil Res 2022;66:376-91.
- 49. Degenhardt L, Bharat C, Bruno R, Glantz MD, Sampson NA, Lago L, et al. Concordance between the diagnostic guidelines for alcohol and cannabis use disorders in the draft ICD-11 and

other classification systems: analysis of data from the WHO's World Mental Health Surveys. Addiction 2019;114:534-552.

- 50. Hackmann C, Balhara YPS, Clayman K, Nemec PB, Notley C, Pike K, et al. Perspectives on ICD-11 to understand and improve mental health diagnosis using expertise by experience (INCLUDE Study): an international qualitative study. Lancet Psychiatry 2019;6:778-85.
- 51. Roelandt JL, Baleige A, Koenig M, Demassiet V, Agoub M, Barikova V, et al. How service users and carers understand, perceive, rephrase, and communicate about "depressive episode" and "schizophrenia" diagnoses: an international participatory research. Soc Psychiatry Psychiatr Epidemiol 2020;55:1201-13.
- 52. American Psychiatric Association. Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders, 5th ed. Arlington, VA: American Psychiatric Association; 2013.
- First MB, Gaebel W, Maj M, Stein DJ, Kogan CS, Saunders JB, et al. An organization- and category-level comparison of diagnostic requirements for mental disorders in ICD-11 and DSM-5. World Psychiatry 2021;20:34-51.
- 54. Reed GM, First MB, Billieux J, Cloitre M, Briken P, Achab S, et al. Emerging experience with selected new categories in the ICD-11: complex PTSD, prolonged grief disorder, gaming disorder, and compulsive sexual behaviour disorder. World Psychiatry 2022;21:189-213.
- 55. Reed GM, Drescher J, Krueger RB, Atalla E, Cochran SD, First MB, et al. Disorders related to sexuality and gender identity in the ICD-11: revising the ICD-10 classification based on current scientific evidence, best clinical practices, and human rights considerations. World Psychiatry 2016;15:205-21.
- 56. Robles R, Fresán A, Vega-Ramírez H, Cruz-Islas J, Rodríguez-Pérez V, Domínguez-Martínez T, et al. Removing transgender identity from the classification of mental disorders: a Mexican field study for ICD-11. Lancet Psychiatry 2016;3:850-9.
- 57. Robles R, Keeley JW, Vega-Ramírez H, Cruz-Islas J, Rodríguez-Pérez V, Sharan P, et al. (2021). Validity of categories related to gender identity in ICD-11 and DSM-5 among transgender individuals who seek gender-affirming medical procedures. Int J Clin Health Psychol 2022;22:100281.

- Gureje O, Lewis-Fernandez R, Hall BJ, Reed GM. Systematic inclusion of culture-related information in ICD-11. World Psychiatry 2019;18:357-8.
- 59. Gureje O, Lewis-Fernandez R, Hall BJ, Reed GM. Cultural considerations in the classification of mental disorders: why and how in ICD-11. BMC Med 2020;18:25.
- 60. Reed GM, Rebello TJ, Pike KM, Medina-Mora ME, Gureje O, Zhao M, et al. WHO's Global Clinical Practice Network for mental health. Lancet Psychiatry 2015;2:379-80.
- World Health Organization. The ICD-10 classification of mental and behavioural disorders: Diagnostic criteria for research. Geneva: World Health Organization; 1993.
- American Psychiatric Association. Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, 4th ed.
 Washington: American Psychiatric Publishing; 1994.
- First MB. Harmonisation of ICD-11 and DSM-V: opportunities and challenges. Br J Psychiatry 2009;195:382-90.
- 64. Wing JK, Babor T, Brugha T, Burke J, Cooper JE, Giel R, Jablenski A, Regier D, Sartorius N. SCAN. Schedules for Clinical Assessment in Neuropsychiatry. Arch Gen Psychiatry 1990;47:589-93.
- 65. Rijnders CA, van den Berg JF, Hodiamont PP, Nienhuis FJ, Furer JW, Mulder J, Giel R.
 Psychometric properties of the Schedules for Clinical Assessment in Neuropsychiatry (SCAN-2.1). Soc Psychiatry Psychiatr Epidemiol 2000;35:348-52.
- 66. Kessler RC, Ustün TB. The World Mental Health (WMH) Survey Initiative Version of the World Health Organization (WHO) Composite International Diagnostic Interview (CIDI). Int J Methods Psychiatr Res 2004;13:93-121.
- 67. Carragher N, Billieux J, Bowden-Jones H, Achab S, Potenza MN, Rumpf HJ, et al. Brief overview of the WHO Collaborative Project on the Development of New International Screening and Diagnostic Instruments for Gaming Disorder and Gambling Disorder. Addiction 2021;117:2119-21.
- 68. Clark LA, Corona-Espinosa A, Khoo S, Kotelnikova Y, Levin-Aspenson HF, Serapio-García G, Watson D. Preliminary scales for ICD-11 personality disorder: self and interpersonal dysfunction plus five personality disorder trait domains. Front Psychol. 2021;12:668724.

- 69. Oltmanns JR, Widiger TA. A self-report measure for the ICD-11 dimensional trait model proposal: the personality inventory for ICD-11. Psychol Assess 2018;30:154-69.
- Bach B, Brown TA, Mulder RT, Newton-Howes G, Simonsen E, Sellbom M. Development and initial evaluation of the ICD-11 personality disorder severity scale: PDS-ICD-11. Personal Ment Health 2021;15:223-36.
- 71. Olajide K, Munjiza J, Moran P, O'Connell L, Newton-Howes G, Bassett P, et al. Development and psychometric properties of the Standardized Assessment of Severity of Personality Disorder (SASPD). J Pers Disord 2018;32:44-56.
- 72. Cloitre M, Shevlin M, Brewin CR, Bisson JI, Roberts NP, Maercker A, et al. The International Trauma Questionnaire: development of a self-report measure of ICD-11 PTSD and complex PTSD. Acta Psychiatr Scand 2018;138:536-46.
- 73. Böthe B, Potenza MN, Griffiths MD, Kraus SW, Klein V, Fuss J, Demetrovics Z. The development of the Compulsive Sexual Behavior Disorder Scale (CSBD-19): an ICD-11 based screening measure across three languages. J Behav Addict 2020;9:247-58.
- 74. Bőthe B, Koós M, Nagy L, Kraus SW, Potenza MN, Demetrovics Z. International Sex Survey: study protocol of a large, cross-cultural collaborative study in 45 countries. J Behav Addict 2021;10:632-45.

Using the CDDR for ICD-11 Mental, Behavioural or Neurodevelopmental Disorders

This chapter provides a basic orientation to applying the CDDR for ICD-11 Mental, Behavioural, or Neurodevelopmental Disorders in clinical settings. As previously indicated, the CDDR are not intended to function as a manual for conducting clinical assessments. Rather, it is to be applied in the context of the clinicians' broader understanding of the disorders they are assessing and the clinical competencies they have gained through appropriate education, training and experience. This chapter also contains information on relevant aspects of diagnostic coding, some of which are the result of important innovations in how ICD-11 categories are represented and relate to one another. These material on coding relates to the entire ICD-11 and is not specific to the chapter on Mental, Behavioural, and Neurodevelopmental Disorders. Coding is discussed here as it affects the implementation of the CDDR.

This chapter includes a discussion of the following issues:

- Components of the CDDR
- Making an ICD-11 diagnosis using the CDDR
- Co-occurring and mutually exclusive diagnoses
- Other Specified and Unspecified categories
- Other ICD-11 chapters relevant to diagnostic formulation of Mental, Behavioural or Neurodevelopmental Disorders
- ICD-11 diagnostic coding

Components of the CDDR

A major improvement in the ICD-11 CDDR compared to the ICD-10 CDDG is the consistency of structure and information across major categories. The information provided

for the main disorder categories in the CDDR is organized under the following headings:

- Essential Features
- Additional Clinical Features
- Boundary with Normality (Threshold)
- Course Features
- Developmental Presentations
- Culture-Related Features
- Sex- and/or Gender-Related Features
- Boundaries with Other Disorders and Conditions (Differential Diagnosis)

The information provided is based on reviews of the available evidence and is intended to be useful in making diagnostic judgments about individual patients. These sections do not provide summary of all available information about the topic in question but rather focus on issues that may be specifically relevant to assigning a diagnosis to an individual patient. If a particular heading (e.g., Developmental Presentations; Sex- and/or Gender-Related Information) is not provided for a specific disorder, this is because insufficient evidence was identified as a basis for making clinically relevant and broadly applicable statements. Following is a brief description of the information provided in each section of the CDDR for the main disorder categories.

Essential (Required) Features

This section provides guidance regarding the features needed to confidently make the diagnosis. The Essential Features represent those symptoms or characteristics that a clinician could reasonably expect to find in all cases of the disorder. In this sense, Essential Features resemble diagnostic criteria. However, artificial precision in diagnostic requirements, such as using exact counts of required symptoms and specific duration requirements as diagnostic cutoffs has generally been avoided unless these have been well established with appropriate

global evidence. This allows for broader exercise of the professional's clinical judgment depending on the characteristics of the patient—including cultural variations in presentation—and local circumstances. For example, it makes little sense to impose a rigid duration requirement of six months for a patient who has been experiencing the required symptoms for five months if the current visit represents the only opportunity that the patient is likely to have for appropriate treatment for the next year. This flexibility in language also allows the clinician to differentially weigh symptoms that are particularly severe and impairing and to consider culturally-specific 'idioms of distress' that may differ somewhat in the way the patient understands and describes their experience but represent the same underlying phenomenon (e.g., somatic expressions of psychological distress).

Additional Clinical Features

This section describes additional clinical features that are not diagnostically determinative but are associated with the disorder frequently enough that they can help the clinician to recognize variations in disorder presentation. This section is also used for alerting the clinician to the likelihood that certain clinically important associated symptoms or cooccurring disorders may be present and require assessment and treatment.

Boundary with Normality (Threshold)

This section provides guidance regarding the differentiation of the disorder from normal variation in characteristics that may be continuous with, or similar to, the Essential Features of the disorder. This section often specifies aspects of the disorder that are indicative of its pathological nature and describes typical false positives (i.e., clinical presentations that are similar in certain respects but are considered to be non-pathological). For many disorders, the differentiation from normality is based on the presence of significant distress or significant impairment in personal, family, social, educational, occupational or other important areas of functioning.

Course Features

This section provides clinically relevant information regarding the typical course of the disorder, which is defined broadly to include information about age of onset, whether the disorder is persistent or episodic, its likely progression or remission over time, and its temporal relationship to life stressors and other disorders.

Developmental Presentations

This section describes how symptom presentations may differ according to the individual's developmental stage. Many disorders traditionally thought of as disorders of adulthood (e.g., Depressive Disorders) can present during childhood and many disorders often thought of as disorders of childhood persist into adulthood, with alterations in their presentation. For example, presentations of Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder (ADHD) in younger children often include excessive motor activity. In adolescents and adults with ADHD, the equivalent phenomenon is experiencing feelings of physical restlessness or a sense of discomfort with being quiet or sitting still. Also included in this section are developmental variations that are more common in older adults, among whom many mental disorders are often under-diagnosed. This section also contains information about different patterns of co-occurring conditions and risk for associated sequelae according to developmental stage.

Culture-Related Features

This section provides information regarding cultural considerations should be considered when making the diagnosis. This includes cultural variations in prevalence and symptoms of disorders, sociocultural mechanisms that may account for this variation, and descriptions of cultural concepts of distress that are relevant to diagnosis and treatment decisions. See section on Cultural Factors in the Introduction for additional information.

Sex- and/or Gender-Related Features

This section covers sex- and/or gender-related diagnostic issues including sex- and/or gender-linked differences in symptom presentation, community prevalence, and presentation in clinical settings.

Boundaries with Other Disorders and Conditions (Differential Diagnosis)

This section lists other disorders that should be considered in the differential diagnosis, particularly those that share presenting symptoms or features. For each of these disorders, this section describes the features that differentiate it from the index disorder, providing guidance to the clinician about how to make this differentiation. Issues related to the concurrent diagnosis of the disorder being distinguished from the index disorder are also discussed in this section. The boundary descriptions generally cover all information conveyed by exclusion terms on ICD-11 MMS platform (https://icd.who.int/browse11/l-m/en#/). Exclusion terms are often confusing to clinicians because they assume that they mean that the excluded condition cannot be diagnosed simultaneously with the index condition, which is not the case. Rather, an exclusion term in the ICD-11 MMS indicates that the condition excluded is not part of the condition described by the category, so that both conditions may be used at the same time if warranted. These considerations are covered more clearly and explicitly in the boundary descriptions found in this section of the CDDR.

Making an ICD-11 Diagnosis Using the CDDR

Consideration of Essential (Required) Features

The diagnostic process starts with a consideration of whether the presentation meets the diagnostic requirements laid out in the Essential (Required) Features section of the CDDR for the diagnosis under consideration. There are two types of essential features: those that must be present for the diagnostic requirements to be met and those that require a consideration of whether the symptoms may be better explained by other mental disorders that share presenting features. This aspect of the diagnostic evaluation includes a consideration of:

- Particular symptoms that must be present (which may be expressed as a minimum number of symptoms from an item list, e.g., 'Several of the following symptoms must be present');
- 2) The minimum amount of time that symptoms need to have been present (e.g., 'present...for a period of at least several months');
- Frequency or proportion of the time that symptoms need to be present during that required period of time (e.g., 'most of the time', 'most of the day, nearly every day', 'for more days than not', 'more than 1 hour per day', 'multiple incidents');
- In some cases, whether the onset of symptoms meets a particular diagnostic requirement (e.g., 'characterized by the rapid and concurrent onset of several characteristic symptoms');
- 5) Whether the symptoms meet any stated requirement regarding their impact on the individual's functioning ('symptoms result in significant impairment in personal, family, social, educational, occupational, or other important areas of functioning') or have resulted in 'significant distress'.

As noted, the CDDR generally avoid artificial precision in quantifying the exact number of items that must be present from a list of symptoms or specifying a precise duration requirement. Too rigidly applied, these can create barriers, for example due to cultural variation or in contexts where an individual may have limited opportunities to access care. The Essential Features attempt to describe the relevant clinical phenomena clearly in order to allow for flexible application of the CDDR in establishing the presence of each diagnostic item. It is up to the diagnosing health professional to make a judgment about its presence of absence considering the entire context of the clinical presentation.

Consideration of Other Disorders That May Share Presenting Features

This aspect of the diagnostic evaluation includes:

- (1) Whether the symptoms are best considered to be a manifestation of a disease or disorder classified outside of the Mental, Behavioral or Neurodevelopmental Disorders chapter (e.g., a Sleep-Wake Disorder, a Disease of the Nervous System, or another medical condition). In cases where the symptoms are judged to be a direct pathophysiological consequence of a medical condition and the mental, behavioural or neurodevelopmental symptoms are a specific focus of clinical attention, a diagnosis of one of the Secondary Mental or Behavioural Syndromes Associated with Disorders or Diseases Classified Elsewhere may be assigned, in addition to the appropriate diagnosis for the etiological medical condition. For example, depressive symptoms similar to those of a Depressive Episode that are judged to be due to Hypothyroidism would warrant a diagnoses of Secondary Mood Syndrome, with depressive symptoms in addition to Hypothyroidism. However, certain disorders are diagnosed regardless of whether they are believed to be caused by a medical condition classified elsewhere, including Neurocognitive Disorders and certain Neurodevelopmental Disorders (i.e., Disorders of Intellectual Development, Autism Spectrum Disorder, Stereotyped Movement Disorder).
- (2) Whether the symptoms are due to the effects of a substance or medication on the central nervous system. If so, a diagnosis of one of the Substance-Induced Mental Disorders (e.g., Alcohol-Induced Delirium, Amphetamine-Induced Psychotic Disorder) is likely to be appropriate. Other categories specifically linked to substances or medications include Catatonia Induced by Substances or Medications; Amnestic Disorder Due to Psychoactive Substances Including Medications; and Dementia Due to Psychoactive Substances including Medications.

(3) Whether there are other ICD-11 Mental, Behavioural, or Neurodevelopmental Disorders that share features with the disorder under consideration and better account for the symptomatic presentation. Whether a particular disorder that *could* account for the symptoms in fact *better* accounts for them is a clinical judgement. For example, the Essential Features of Social Anxiety Disorder, which are characterized by marked and excessive fear or anxiety that occurs in social situations, includes the diagnostic requirement that 'the symptoms are not better accounted for by another mental disorder (e.g., Agoraphobia, Body Dysmorphic Disorder, Olfactory Reference Disorder)'. Each of these listed disorders may also involve the development of anxiety in social situations. For Body Dysmorphic Disorder and Olfactory Reference Disorder, the anxiety involves excessive self-consciousness about perceived defects in appearance or emitting an offensive body odor, respectively. In Agoraphobia, the anxiety is related to a fear of specific negative outcomes in social situations, such as panic attacks or other incapacitating (e.g., falling) or embarrassing physical symptoms (e.g., incontinence). In making the clinical judgement of whether the symptoms of anxiety in social situations are better accounted for by one of these other disorders, the clinician takes into account factors such as the temporal sequence of the symptoms, which symptoms predominate, and the presence of other clinical features.

Boundary with Normality (Threshold)

For the most part, mental disorders occur on a severity continuum with no sharp division separating cases and non-cases (i.e., normality), making the differentiation between a mild case of the disorder and non-disordered normal variation potentially challenging. It is advisable to review this section because, in some cases, what might appear to be evidence of psychopathology may in fact be within the bounds of normality given the individual's developmental stage and cultural context. This section of the CDDR also points out common false positives.

Boundaries with Other Disorders and Conditions (Differential Diagnosis)

This section of the CDDR is an extension and expansion of the 'consideration of other disorders that share features' element of the Essential Features and provides a more comprehensive review of other disorders that should be considered in the differential diagnosis. The clinician should consider whether any of the disorders listed might explain the presenting symptoms.

Co-occurring and Mutually Exclusive Diagnoses

ICD-11 diagnoses are generally assigned for every disorder for which the diagnostic requirements are met; that is, co-occurring diagnoses are typically permitted. However, there are specific situations in which the diagnostic requirements may be met for more than one disorder, typically because of symptom overlap, but the CDDR recommend making only a single diagnosis. In most cases, this is noted in the Essential Features but, in some cases, it is noted in the description of the differential diagnosis for that disorder in the section on Boundaries with Other Disorders and Conditions.

In the CDDR, recommendations against diagnosing two particular disorders together (i.e., co-occurrence) are generally made in one of the following ways:

(1) 'The symptoms do not meet the diagnostic requirements for ...'; 'The symptoms do not occur exclusively during episodes of'; 'The individual has never met the diagnostic requirements for ...': These types of exclusionary statements are typically used if the symptomatic presentation of the disorder in question is already part of the definition of another disorder and that an additional diagnosis of the excluded disorder would be redundant. The first case ('does not meet diagnostic requirement for') prevents the assignment of both diagnoses if the diagnostic requirements for both disorders are met at the same time, and generally indicates that the other disorder should be diagnosed instead. For example, the CDDR for Bulimia Nervosa indicate that the diagnosis should only be assigned if the symptoms do not meet the diagnostic requirements for Anorexia Nervosa, so that individuals who maintain an excessively low body weight by reducing their energy intake through purging behavior would be assigned only a single diagnosis of Anorexia Nervosa rather than diagnoses of both Anorexia Nervosa and Bulimia Nervosa. The presence of bulimia-like behavior is indicated with the specifier 'binge-purge pattern' applied to the diagnosis of Anorexia Nervosa.

The second case ('do not occur exclusively during episodes of') similarly prevents diagnosing the disorder in question if its symptoms only occur during episodes of another disorder. For example, the CDDR for Dissociative Amnesia indicate that it should not be diagnosed if the dissociative memory loss occurs only during episodes of Trance Disorder; the amnestic symptoms are features of Trance Disorder rather than a separate condition.

The third case ('has never met the diagnostic requirements for') prevents a diagnosis from being made if there is currently, or a history of, another disorder. For example, the CDDR for Schizotypal Disorder indicate that, in order to assign the diagnosis, the individual's past symptoms should never have met the diagnostic requirements for Schizophrenia, Schizoaffective Disorder, or Delusional Disorder. Similarly, Recurrent Depressive Disorder is not diagnosed if the individual has ever experienced a Manic, Mixed, or Hypomanic Episode.

(2) **'The symptoms are better accounted for by another mental disorder':** Many Essential Features sections include the requirement that the symptomatic presentation

54

is not better accounted for by another mental disorder. This typically is the case when the symptomatic requirements of one disorder are also a possible manifestation of another disorder. An example is the occurrence of significant anxiety symptoms that develop in anticipation of attending school. If the anxiety is entirely accounted for by fear of speaking in class and/or social interaction with peers, a diagnosis of Social Anxiety Disorder would be most appropriate. On the other hand, if the anxiety is entirely accounted for by fear of being separated from attachment figures while at school, a diagnosis of Separation Anxiety Disorder would be appropriate. However, if the anxiety is related to both fear of negative evaluation by peers and separation from attachment figures and all other diagnostic requirements for both disorders are met, then both diagnoses may be assigned. These distinctions typically require clinical judgment, in this example, about the relevant 'focus of apprehension' or stimuli or situations that trigger the anxiety.

(3) Symptomatic presentations accounted for by another disorder can sometimes be assigned an additional diagnosis if the second diagnosis is a separate focus of clinical attention. Such recommendations may be noted in the section on Boundaries with Other Disorders and Conditions section. For example, stereotyped movements may be part of presentation of Autism Spectrum Disorder. 'Repetitive and stereotyped motor movements, such as whole body movements...' are listed as examples of 'Persistent restricted, repetitive, and inflexible patterns of behaviour, interests, or activities' in the Essential Features of Autism Spectrum Disorder. In the boundary with Stereotyped Movement Disorder in the CDDR for Autism Spectrum Disorder, however, it is noted that 'although stereotypies are typical in Autism Spectrum Disorder, if they are severe enough to require additional clinical attention, for example because of self-injury, a co-occurring diagnosis of Stereotyped Movement Disorder may be warranted.'

(4) Finally, the Boundaries with Other Disorders and Conditions section may contain other recommendations regarding whether or not to diagnose more than one disorder. For example, in the CDDR for Generalized Anxiety Disorder, the boundary with Depressive Disorders states that 'Generalized Anxiety Disorder may co-occur with Depressive Disorders, but should only be diagnosed if the diagnostic requirements for Generalized Anxiety Disorder were met prior to the onset of or following complete remission of a Depressive Episode'.

Other Specified and Unspecified Categories

By default, all groupings in the ICD-11 contain what are called 'residual categories', which include 'Other Specified' categories with ICD-11 codes ending in 'Y' (e.g., 6C7Y Other Specified Impulse Control Disorder) and 'Unspecified' categories with ICD-11 codes ending in 'Z' (e.g., 6A8Z Mood Disorders, Unspecified). Occasionally, residual categories are 'suppressed', or not listed, in the ICD-11 MMS because the other categories contained in the grouping are considered to be exhaustive. For example, the grouping Elimination Disorders contains Enuresis, Encopresis, and Elimination Disorders, Unspecified; the Other Specified residual has been suppressed for this grouping and thus does not appear in the MMS.

The CDDR include Essential (Required) Features for Other Specified categories at the grouping level (e.g., Other Specified Mood Disorders; Other Specified Dissociative Disorders). A particular Other Specified diagnosis should be applied when the presentation is judged to be a clinically significant mental disorder falling within a particular grouping of disorders (e.g., Mood Disorders; Dissociative Disorders) because it shares primary clinical features with these disorders but does not fulfill the diagnostic requirements of any of the other available categories. For example, a presentation that included all of the Essential Features of Schizophrenia except had not met the 1-month duration requirement would appropriately be diagnosed as Other Specified Primary Psychotic Disorder. A presentation characterized by abnormal eating or feeding behaviours that did not correspond to the Essential Features of any of the specific Feeding and Eating Disorders categories but resulted in significant risk or damage to health, significant distress, or significant impairment in functioning could be diagnosed as Other Specified Feeding or Eating Disorder. Sometimes, Other Specified diagnoses may refer to recognizable syndromes that have not been included as separate categories in the ICD-11, for example because they are very rare or are not sufficiently widely recognized as disorders. Ganser syndrome, for example, would be diagnosed as Other Specified Dissociative Disorder and what is sometimes called 'pathological demand avoidance' could be diagnosed as Other Specified Disruptive Behaviour or Dissocial Disorder if it did not meet the diagnostic requirements for Oppositional Defiant Disorder. The characteristics of the presentation in Other Specified Disorders should be *specified* in the clinical record.

Unspecified categories are most commonly used by professional coders when the clinician has provided insufficient information in the clinical record to assign a more specific diagnosis. In clinical situations, Unspecified categories are appropriate only when insufficient information is available to make a more definitive diagnosis and, if possible, should be changed when additional information becomes available. In contrast to Other Specified categories, which are used when the clinician knows what the disorder is but there is no precisely corresponding code. Unspecified categories are used when the clinician has been unable to arrive at a precise diagnostic determination. For example, an individual presenting in a hospital emergency department who is exhibiting hallucinations and delusions in the absence of evidence of substance use, delirium, or dementia might be assigned a diagnosis of

6A2Z Schizophrenia or Other Primary Psychotic Disorders, Unspecified until a more complete assessment can be conducted. Unspecified categories should not be used as an administrative shortcut when a more specific diagnosis can be assigned; this results in a major loss of clinical and statistical information.

Other ICD-11 Chapters Relevant to Diagnostic Formulation of Mental, Behavioural or Neurodevelopmental Disorders

Categories from any of the other 24 chapters in the ICD-11 may be comorbid with a Mental, Behavioural, or Neurodevelopmental Disorder and thus relevant to their diagnostic formulation. However, the following chapters warrant particular attention:

Chapter 07: Sleep-Wake Disorders

The ICD-11 chapter on Sleep-Wake Disorders brings together ICD-10 Nonorganic Sleep Disorders (F51) with 'organic' Sleep Disorders (G47) that were classified in the ICD-10 chapter on Diseases of the Nervous System, as well as categories previously included in several other chapters (i.e., Endocrine, Nutritional, and Metabolic Diseases; Diseases of the Respiratory System; Certain Conditions Originating in the Perinatal Period). Sleep-Wake Disorders previously included in the ICD-10 chapter on Mental and Behavioural Disorders include Nightmare Disorder, Sleepwalking Disorder, Sleep Terrors, and "nonorganic" versions of Insomnia Disorders, Hypersomnia Disorders, and Circadian Rhythm Sleep-Wake Disorders (Disorders of the Sleep-Wake Schedule in ICD-10).

The unified ICD-11 chapter on Sleep-Wake Disorders reflects the fact that the pathophysiology of most of these disorders is complex and includes both physiological and psychological/behavioral components. The ICD-11 abandons outdated and incorrect assumptions about the etiology of Sleep-Wake Disorders, in particular the obsolete distinction between 'organic' and 'nonorganic' disorders. The chapter is intended to enhance patient care and public health by creating a more visible and accurate system that will enhance clinician awareness and improve diagnostic accuracy and treatment. Placement of these conditions in a separate chapter on Sleep-Wake Disorders is in no way intended to indicate that they should not be diagnosed and treated by appropriately trained mental health professionals.

Chapter 08: Diseases of the Nervous System

Diseases of the Nervous System have a close relationship with Mental, Behavioural and Neurodevelopmental Disorders. Disorders in both chapters may affect cognition, emotional regulation, or behaviour and reflect dysfunctions in the psychological, biological, or developmental processes. Given that Mental, Behavioural or Neurodevelopmental Disorders also affect the brain, in some instances the distinction between the two chapters is arbitrary and reflects professional tradition—especially the boundary between psychiatry and neurology—as much as biological or phenomenological differences between the conditions listed in each.

For some conditions, the psychological, behavioural or developmental syndrome is classified in the Mental, Behavioural and Neurodevelopmental Disorders chapter while the underlying etiology may be classified in Diseases of the Nervous System. The includes Disorders of Intellectual Development, Autism Spectrum Disorder, and Stereotyped Movement Disorder in the Neurodevelopmental Disorders grouping and Delirium, Mild Neurocognitive Disorder, Amnestic Disorder and Dementia from the Neurocognitive Disorders grouping, all of which are diagnosed regardless of etiology. If the etiology is known, the corresponding diagnosis should also be assigned, which is often but not always in in the chapter on Diseases of the Nervous System. The other Neurodevelopmental Disorders (e.g., Developmental Learning Disorder, Developmental Speech or Language Disorder, Developmental Motor Coordination Disorder) are generally not diagnosed if the symptoms are fully accounted for by a Disease of the Nervous System. When mental, behavioural or neurodevelopmental syndromes are judged to be a direct pathological consequence of a Disease of the Nervous System and are a specific focus of clinical attention, a diagnosis from the grouping Secondary Mental or Behavioural Syndromes Associated with Disorders or Diseases Classified Elsewhere may be assigned. For example, a psychotic syndrome with prominent visual hallucinations that is judged to be the direct pathophysiological consequence of Parkinson Disease would be diagnosed as Secondary Psychotic Syndrome, with hallucinations along with a diagnosis of Parkinson Disease.

Tic Disorders and Acquired Aphasia with Epilepsy [Landau-Kleffner] were classified in ICD-10 as Emotional Disorders with Onset Usually Occurring in Childhood and Adolescence but in ICD-11 have been moved to the chapter on Diseases of the Nervous System. In addition, Movement Disorders caused by medications (e.g., Drug-Induced Parkinsonism, Tardive Dyskinesia), which are associated with certain medications commonly used to treat mental disorders, are included among the Diseases of the Nervous System.

Chapter 17: Conditions Related to Sexual Health

Analogously to Sleep-Wake Disorders, the ICD-10 classification of Sexual Dysfunctions was based on a Cartesian separation of 'organic' and 'nonorganic' conditions. Sexual Dysfunctions Not Caused by Organic Disorder or Disease (F52), which also includes 'nonorganic' versions of the sexual pain disorders Vaginismus and Dyspareunia, were classified in the ICD-10 chapter on Mental and Behavioural Disorders, and most 'organic' sexual dysfunctions are classified in the chapter on Diseases of the Genitourinary System. These have been brought together in a new unified classification of Sexual Dysfunctions and Sexual Pain Disorders in the ICD-11 chapter on Conditions Related to Sexual Health. This approach is consistent with current, more integrative clinical approaches in sexual health and recognized the large body of evidence that the origin and maintenance of Sexual Dysfunctions and Sexual Pain Disorders most often involves the interaction of physiological and psychological/behavioural factors. Reformulated versions of all Sexual Dysfunctions from the ICD-10 Mental and Behavioural Disorders chapter can be found in the ICD-11 chapter on Conditions Related to Sexual Health, except for ICD-10 Excessive Sexual Drive, a condition most closely related to Compulsive Sexual Behaviour Disorder in ICD-11, which is included in the grouping of Impulse Control Disorders. As with Sleep-Wake Disorders, placement of these conditions in a separate chapter on Conditions Related to Sexual Health is not intended to indicate that they should not be diagnosed and treated by appropriately trained mental health professionals.

The ICD-11 chapter on Conditions Related to Sexual Health also includes Gender Incongruence, which represents a reformulation and renaming of ICD-10 Gender Identity Disorders. There was substantial evidence that the nexus of stigmatization of transgender people and of mental disorders had contributed to a doubly burdensome situation for transgender and gender-variant people and that stigma associated with the intersection of transgender status and mental disorders had contributed to precarious legal status, human rights violations, and barriers to appropriate health care in this population. Although gender identity is clearly distinct from sex, this chapter appeared to offer the most broadly acceptable home for categories related to gender identity while making it clear that they are no longer considered to be mental disorders. This position has been supported by a series of ICD-11 field studies. Gender incongruence was not proposed for elimination in the ICD-11 because in many countries access to relevant health services is contingent on a qualifying diagnosis.

Chapter 21: Symptoms, Signs or Clinical Findings, Not Elsewhere Classified

The categories in this chapter are not considered to be disorders but rather provide descriptions of specific symptoms that may be used to describe the reason for a clinical encounter when a more precise diagnosis has not been established for various reasons. These categories may also be used to describe clinically important aspects of the individual's presentation when a diagnosis has been assigned.

A part of this chapter is a detailed and comprehensive listing of Mental or Behavioural Symptoms, Signs or Clinical Findings, which also includes definitions for each. These often represent important problems in their own right (e.g., avolition, demoralization, apathy, thought blocking). The categories from this section can be used to describe the clinical presentation in the absence of a definitive Mental, Behavioral or Neurodevelopmental Disorder diagnosis. In addition, these categories can be useful when a mental disorder diagnosis has been assigned and the symptom being described has implications for treatment but is not an essential feature of the disorder itself and does not meet the diagnostic requirements for a co-occurring disorder. A listing of Mental or Behavioural Symptoms, Signs or Clinical Findings included in this chapter, with their definitions, is provided as part of the CDDR (p. 598).

Chapter 24: Factors Influencing Health Status or Contact with Health Services

Categories from this chapter may be used when: (1) a person seeks mental health services for a reason other than for symptoms of a mental disorder (e.g., counselling for a problem associated with unemployment), or (2) when the problem influences the person's health status but is not in itself a mental disorder. A number of categories in this chapter are relevant to mental health professionals because they represent a reason for a clinical encounter other than a mental disorder (e.g., Counseling Related to Sexuality; Counseling Related to Procreative Management); a focus of intervention (e.g., Relationship Problems and Maltreatment (see p. 620); are important to consider in the differential diagnosis of mental disorders (e.g., Uncomplicated Bereavement, Malingering); or are factors that may significantly contribute to the initiation or maintenance of disorders in the Mental, Behavioural or Neurodevelopmental Disorders chapter, including recognized social determinants of mental health (i.e., Problems Associated with Finances, Problems Associated with Employment or Unemployment, Target of Perceived Adverse Discrimination or Persecution). A listing of Factors Influencing Health Status or Contact with Health Services that are particularly relevant to mental health and mental health services is provided as part of the CDDR (p. 643).

ICD-11 Diagnostic Coding

Among the most important innovations of the ICD-11 is its ability to capture much more clinical information associated with a particular diagnosis than was possible with the ICD-10. Some of the ICD-11 coding features discussed in this section are designed for optimal use in the context of electronic information systems able to generate and interpret complex, multi-part codes, for example based on checklists completed by the health professional. However, some of these coding capabilities will also be useful to health professionals who are individually responsible for determining and recording diagnoses and diagnostic codes. Even when coding itself is done by professional coders, as in some countries and health systems, it is important for health professionals to understand the information needed to generate the most accurate and useful codes so that they are better able to provide this information as a part of the medical record, even if it is recorded by hand.

ICD-10 codes contained a letter of the alphabet in the first position, which indicated the chapter in which the category was classified. (The codes for ICD-10 Mental and Behavioural Disorders all began with the letter 'F'. This was sufficient for the 22 chapters in the ICD-10. All of the other characters in ICD-10 codes were limited to numbers, which imposed a limit of 10 subdivisions at each level corresponding to each digit in the diagnostic code. Moreover, ICD-10 allowed for the coding of only limited disorder-specific clinical information within a diagnostic code via the provision of specifiers and subtypes that could be codified in the fourth, fifth, or sixth characters in an ICD-10 code. ICD-11, like ICD-10 and its predecessors, also conveys diagnostic information based on the various positions and values of alphanumeric characters within a diagnostic code. The first character of an ICD-11 code indicates the top-level chapter; for example, if the first character is a '6', the code is found in the Mental, Behavioral, or Neurodevelopmental Disorders chapter. The second and third characters taken together indicate the diagnostic class or grouping (e.g., 6A7 for Depressive Disorders, 6B0 for Anxiety or Fear-related Disorders). The fourth character typically indicates the specific disorder within that class (e.g., 6A70 for Single Episode Depressive Disorder, 6A71 for Recurrent Depressive Disorder), but in cases in which these number more than ten, letters of the alphabet are used after the digits 0 – 9 are exhausted. For example, the fourth character in the ICD-11 codes for Disorders Due to Substance Use indicates the substance class. Because ICD-11 recognizes 14 different specific substance classes, the fourth character codes for the last four substance classes required resorting to letters (e.g., the code for Disorders Due to Use of Volatile Inhalants is 6C4B.)

The fifth character (following a decimal point) generally indicates subtypes or specifiers applicable to that diagnosis (e.g., 6A70.0 for single episode, mild; 6A70.1 for single episode, moderate, without psychotic symptoms; 6A70.2 for moderate, with psychotic symptoms, etc.). The ICD-11 codes for some disorders with more complicated systems for specifiers might require the use of a sixth character. For example, the fifth character for Acute and Transient Psychotic Disorder indicates whether it is the first episode (6A23.0) or one of multiple episodes (6A23.1). Indicating whether it is currently symptomatic or in remission requires a sixth character. That is, for 6A23.0 Acute and Transient Psychotic Disorder, first episode, 6A23.00 is currently symptomatic; 6A23.01 is currently in partial remission, and 6A23.02 is currently in full remission. The ICD-11 refers to this method of providing unique codes for all possible combinations of first or multiple episodes and

currently symptomatic or partial remission or full remission for Acute and Transient Psychotic Disorder as 'precoordination'.

ICD-11 offers an additional coding convention that goes beyond just capturing clinical information within the confines of a single diagnostic code by allowing additional codes to be linked to the initial diagnostic code for the purpose of indicating additional clinically significant features. The ICD-11 refers to this method of combining codes as 'postcoordination'. One type of postcoordination used in the chapter on Mental, Behavioural or Neurodevelopmental Disorders involves appending codes that indicate specific symptomatic or course presentations that are applicable only to diagnoses within a particular diagnostic grouping. These include (1) Symptomatic Manifestations of Primary Psychotic Disorders; (2) Symptomatic and Course Presentations for Mood Episodes in Mood Disorders; (3) Prominent Personality Traits or Patterns in Personality Disorders; and (4) Behavioural or Psychological Disturbances in Dementia. For example, the diagnostic codes indicating Symptomatic and Course Presentations for Mood Episodes applicable only to Mood Disorders include the following:

- 6A80.0 indicates the presence of prominent anxiety symptoms during a mood episode;
- 6A80.1 indicates that two or more panic attacks have occurred during a mood episode;
- 6A80.2 indicates that a current depressive episode is persistent;
- 6A80.3 indicates that a current depressive episode is characterized by melancholia;
- 6A80.4 indicates a seasonal pattern of mood episode onset and remission; and
- 6A80.5 indicates a rapid cycling course (applicable only to Bipolar Type I and Bipolar Type II Disorders).

The diagnostic code 6A71.3/6A80.3, for example, indicates Recurrent Depressive Disorder, current episode severe, without psychotic symptoms (6A71.3) *with* melancholia (6A80.3).

Another form of postcoordination is through the use of 'Extension Codes', which are generic codes that can be applied across the categories in the different chapters of the ICD-11. Extension codes for severity—None (XS8H), Mild (XS5W), Moderate (XS0T), and Severe (XS25)—are used in several places in the ICD-11 chapter on Mental, Behavioural and Neurodevelopmental Disorders. Extension Codes are appended to the diagnostic code they are modifying using an ampersand (&). For example, 6D80&XS0T is the code for Dementia Due to Alzheimer Disease (6D80) of moderate severity (XS0T). Extension Codes can also be used to indicate a Provisional Diagnosis (XY7Z) or to designate a Differential Diagnosis (XY75). For example, 6A02&XY7Z is the code to indicate a provisional diagnosis (XY7Z) of Autism Spectrum Disorder (6A02).

The coding for Schizophrenia illustrates how a combination of precoordinated and postcoordinated codes, including extension codes for severity, can be used to characterize course and symptomatic manifestations more fully. Clinical course of Schizophrenia is indicated using a combination of fifth-character codes ('0' for first episode, '1' for multiple episodes, '2' for continuous course) and sixth- character codes ('0' for currently symptomatic, '1' for in partial remission, and '2' for in full remission). Dimensional profiles of current symptomatic manifestations can be indicated by adding codes from the Symptomatic Manifestations of Primary Psychotic Disorders that represent specific symptom domains:

- 6A25.0 for positive symptoms;
- 6A25.1 for negative symptoms;
- 6A25.2 for depressive mood symptoms;
- 6A25.3 for manic mood symptoms;

- 6A25.4 for psychomotor symptoms; and
- 6A25.5 for cognitive symptoms

The above codes for Symptomatic Manifestations of Primary Psychotic Disorders can be used in combination with extension codes to indicate the severity of each symptom domain, respectively, thus providing a symptomatic profile of the presenting symptoms for Schizophrenia for a particular individual at a particular point in time. The web-based browser for ICD-11 for Mortality and Morbidity Statistics (<u>https://icd.who.int/browse11/l-m/en</u>) can be used to construct the diagnostic coding for those disorders with complex combinations of specifiers and extensions. For example, Schizophrenia, first episode, currently symptomatic with moderate positive symptoms, with severe negative symptoms, absent depressed mood symptoms, absent manic mood symptoms, mild psychomotor symptoms and severe cognitive symptoms yields the following combined diagnostic code:

6A20.00/6A25.0&XS0T/6A25.1&XS25/6A25.2&XS8H/6A25.3&XS8H/6A25.4&XS5W/6A25.5&XS25

As indicated, generating and interpreting this type of complex, multi-part code will be most feasible for relatively sophisticated electronic health information systems. It is not expected that such complex codes will be used routinely by individual clinicians recording diagnoses by hand, for example.

Coding of Mental Disorders caused by Health Conditions Not Classified Under Mental, Behavioural, or Neurodevelopmental Disorders

ICD-11, as was the case with ICD-10, requires that two diagnostic codes be given for symptomatic presentations of mental disorders that are judged to be a manifestation of a health condition (i.e., disorder, disease or injury) classified outside of Chapter 06. One code from the Mental, Behavioral, or Neurodevelopmental Disorders chapter indicates the mental disorder diagnosis, and a second code indicates the etiological medical condition. Note that the CDDR often use the generic term 'medical condition' to refer to health conditions that are not mental disorders (i.e., not classified in the chapter on Mental, Behaviour or Neurodevelopmental Disorders). This is only a shorthand; it is not intended to suggest that Mental, Behaviour or Neurodevelopmental Disorders are not medical conditions.

The convention of double coding as it applies to the grouping of Secondary Mental or Behavioural Syndromes Associated with Disorders or Diseases Classified Elsewhere involves assigning the code for the presumed underlying disorder or disease in combination with the code for the phenomenologically relevant secondary mental disorder. The earlier example of presentation consisting of depressive symptoms similar to those of a Depressive Episode that are judged to be due to Hypothyroidism would be indicated by combining the diagnostic code for Secondary Mood Syndrome, with depressive symptoms (6E62.0) with the appropriate diagnostic code from the Hypothyroidism grouping, for example Transient Congenital Hypothyroidism (5A00.03), yielding the combination code 6E62.0/5A00.03. This coding convention also applies to Neurocognitive Disorders such as Dementia due to different types of underlying diseases; for example, Frontotemporal Dementia requires two codes: 6D83 for the syndrome of Frontotemporal Dementia plus 8A23 frontotemporal lobar degeneration from the Diseases of the Nervous System chapter, yielding a combined code of 6D83/8A23. Importantly, the order of the codes being combined is not meaningful in this situation; it is not necessary to list the primary disorder first. That is, 6D83/8A23 has the same meaning as 8A23/6D83.

Secondary Parenting

The ICD-11 classification is divided into 25 chapters, generally based on organ system (e.g., Diseases of the Digestive System), anatomic location (e.g., Diseases of the Ear and Mastoid Process), common pathophysiological process (e.g., Certain Infectious or Parasitic Disorders; Neoplasms), or medical specialty (e.g., separating Diseases of the Nervous System from Mental, Behavioral, or Neurodevelopmental disorders). Many diseases in ICD-11 could have been placed in more than one chapter (e.g., Pancreatic Cancer could have been plausibly placed in either the Diseases of the Digestive System or the Neoplasms chapter). ICD-11 acknowledges this fact by sometimes locating the same disorder in two (or more) chapters, with one of the chapters considered to be the 'primary parent', and other chapter(s) termed 'secondary parent(s).'

For example, the grouping Primary Tics or Tic Disorders is listed in both the Diseases of the Nervous System chapter (within the Movement Disorders grouping) and in the Mental, Behavioural, or Neurodevelopmental Disorders chapter (within the Neurodevelopmental Disorders grouping). They are primary parented in the Diseases of the Nervous System chapter and secondary parented in the Mental, Behavioural, and Neurodevelopmental Disorders chapter. The code number in both instances is the same and corresponds to the primary parent. For example, the code for Tourette Syndrome is 8A05.00. The '8' in the first digit of the code indicates that it is primary parented in Chapter 08, Diseases of the Nervous System. The same code (8A05.00) is retained when Tourette Syndrome appears as a part of the grouping of Neurodevelopmental Disorders in Chapter 06.

List of Categories ICD-11 Mental, Behavioural or Neurodevelopmental Disorders

Note: The following list contains all of the available codes in the ICD-11 chapter on Mental, Behavioural or Neurodevelopmental Disorders.

As described in the section of this manual on 'Using the CDDR for ICD-11 Mental, Behavioural or Neurodevelopmental Disorders' (p. 45), the ICD-11 uses *secondary parenting* to cross-list categories from other parts of the classification that share important primary clinical features or other linkages with the disorders contained in a particular grouping. This most commonly involves Substance-Induced Mental Disorders and Secondary Mental or Behavioural Syndromes Associated with Disorders or Diseases Classified Elsewhere, which are also classified in Chapter 6. In several cases, however, this involves categories from other chapters of the ICD-11 (e.g., the inclusion of primary Tics or Tic disorders from the Disorders of the Nervous System chapter with the Neurodevelopmental Disorders). These secondary-parented categories also appear in the list below with the groupings to which they are cross-listed, in grey font.

In the ICD-11, postcoordination is a mechanism for allowing additional codes to be linked to the initial diagnostic code to identify additional clinically significant features of the clinical presentation. See section on 'Using the CDDR for ICD-11 Mental, Behavioural or Neurodevelopmental Disorders' (p. 45). Postcoordination options for each disorder grouping appear also appear in the list below, in boxes.

In some cases, ellipses (...) are used to improve the readability of the list by avoiding repetition of the disorder name. When used, ellipses signify the category name that appears in the level immediately above. For example, below 6A01.2 Developmental Language Disorder, the title for 6A01.20 appears as '... with impairment of receptive and expressive language' rather using the full name of the category, '6A01.20 Developmental Language Disorder with impairment of receptive and expressive language'.

NEURODEVELOPMENTAL DISORDERS

6A00 Disorders of Intellectual Development

Specify severity:

- 6A00.0 Disorder of Intellectual Development, Mild
- 6A00.1 Disorder of Intellectual Development, Moderate
- 6A00.2 Disorder of Intellectual Development, Severe
- 6A00.3 Disorder of Intellectual Development, Profound
- 6A00.4 Disorder of Intellectual Development, Provisional
- 6A00.Z Disorder of Intellectual Development, Unspecified
- 6A01 Developmental Speech or Language Disorders
 - 6A01.0 Developmental Speech Sound Disorder
 - 6A01.1 Developmental Speech Fluency Disorder

| 6A01.2 | Developmental Language Disorder | | |
|--------|--|--|--|
| | Specify areas of language impairment: | | |
| | 6A01.20 with impairment of receptive and expressive language | | |
| | 6A01.21 with impairment of mainly expressive language | | |
| | 6A01.22 with impairment of mainly pragmatic language | | |
| | 6A01.23 with other specified language impairment | | |
| | | | |

6A01.Y Other Specified Developmental Speech or Language Disorders

6A01.Z Developmental Speech or Language Disorders, Unspecified

| 6A02 | Specify w | utism Spectrum Disorder <i>pecify</i> whether there is a co-occurring Disorder or Intellectual Development and level of inctional language impairment: | | |
|-------------------------------|---|--|--|--|
| | 6A02.0 | without Disorder of Intellectual Development and with mild or no impairment of functional language | | |
| | 6A02.1 | with Disorder of Intellectual Development and with mild or no impairment of functional language | | |
| | 6A02.2 | without Disorder of Intellectual Development and with impaired functional | | |
| | 6A02.3 | language with Disorder of Intellectual Development and with impaired functional | | |
| | 6A02.5 | language with Disorder of Intellectual Development and with complete, or almost complete, absence of functional language | | |
| | For all the above Autism Spectrum Disorder (6A02.x) categories, specify | | | |
| | | whether: 6A02.x0 without loss of previously acquired skills | | |
| | | 6A02.x1 with loss of previously acquired skills | | |
| | | Other Specified Autism Spectrum Disorder Autism Spectrum Disorder, Unspecified | | |
| 6A03 | Specify a | 2 with impairment in written expression 3 with other specified impairment of learning | | |
| 6A04 | Developr | velopmental Motor Coordination Disorder | | |
| 6A05 | Attention Deficit Hyperactivity DisorderSpecify characteristics of clinical presentation:6A05.0 with predominantly inattentive presentation6A05.1 with predominantly hyperactive-impulsive presentation6A05.2 with combined presentation6A05.Y with other specified presentation6A05.Z presentation unspecified | | | |
| 6A06 | Stereotyped Movement Disorder Specify presence of self-injurious behaviours: 6A06.0 without self-injury 6A06.1 with self-injury 6A06.Z Unspecified | | | |
| 6A0Y | Other Sp | ecified Neurodevelopmental Disorders | | |
| 6A0Z | Neurodev | velopmental Disorders, Unspecified | | |
| Secondary-Parented Categories | | | | |
| From c | From chapter on Diseases of the Nervous System: | | | |

8A05.0 Primary Tics or Tic Disorders

- 8A05.00 Tourette Syndrome
- 8A05.01 Chronic Motor Tic Disorder

8A05.02 Chronic Phonic Tic Disorder

8A05.03 Transient Motor Tics

8A05.0Y Other Specified Primary Tics or Tic Disorders

8A05.0Z Primary Tics or Tic Disorders, Unspecified

From Secondary Mental or Behavioural Syndromes Associated with Disorders or Diseases Classified Elsewhere:

6E60 Secondary Neurodevelopmental Syndrome

6E60.0 Secondary Speech or Language Syndrome

- 6E60.Y Other Specified Secondary Neurodevelopmental Syndrome
- 6E60.Z Secondary Neurodevelopmental Syndrome, Unspecified

SCHIZOPHRENIA OR OTHER PRIMARY PSYCHOTIC DISORDERS

| 6A20 | Schizophrenia |
|------|----------------|
| | Specify course |

| <i>Specify</i> c | ourse: |
|------------------|------------------------------|
| 6A20.0 | Schizophrenia, first episode |

| 01120.0 | zemzepmenne, met episeue |
|---------|----------------------------------|
| | Specify current presentation: |
| | 6A20.00 currently symptomatic |
| | 6A20.01 in partial remission |
| | 6A20.02 in full remission |
| | 6A20.0Z unspecified |
| 6A20.1 | Schizophrenia, multiple episodes |
| | Specify current presentation: |

⁶A20.10 ... currently symptomatic

- 6A20.11 ... in partial remission
- 6A20.12 ... in full remission
- 6A20.1Z ... unspecified
- 6A20.2 Schizophrenia, continuous *Specify* current presentation: 6A20.20 ... currently symptomatic 6A20.21 ... in partial remission 6A20.02 ... in full remission
 - 6A20.2Z ... unspecified
- 6A20.Y Other specified episode of Schizophrenia
- 6A20.Z Schizophrenia, episode unspecified

6A21 Schizoaffective Disorder

Specify course:

6A21.0 Schizoaffective Disorder, first episode Specify current presentation: 6A20.00 ... currently symptomatic

- 6A20.00 ... currently symptomatic
- 6A20.01 ... in partial remission
- 6A20.02 ... in full remission
- 6A20.0Z ... unspecified
- 6A21.1 Schizophrenia, multiple episodes
 - *Specify* current presentation:
 - 6A21.10 ... currently symptomatic
 - 6A21.11 ... in partial remission
 - 6A21.12 ... in full remission
 - 6A21.1Z ... unspecified
- 6A21.2 Schizoaffective Disorder, continuous *Specify* current presentation:

- 6A21.20 ... currently symptomatic
- 6A21.21 ... in partial remission
- 6A21.02 ... in full remission
- 6A21.2Z ... unspecified
- 6A21.Y Other Specified Schizoaffective Disorder
- 6A21.Z Schizoaffective Disorder, Unspecified
- 6A22 Schizotypal Disorder
- 6A23 Acute and Transient Psychotic Disorder

Specify course:

6A23.0 Acute and Transient Psychotic Disorder, first episode *Specify* current presentation:

- 6A23.00 ... currently symptomatic
- 6A23.01 ... in partial remission
- 6A23.02 ... in full remission
- 6A23.0Z ... unspecified

6A23.1 Acute and Transient Psychotic Disorder, multiple episodes Specify current presentation:

- 6A23.10 ... currently symptomatic
- 6A23.11 ... in partial remission
- 6A23.12 ... in full remission
- 6A21.Z ... unspecified
- 6A23.Y Other Specified Acute and Transient Psychotic Disorder
- 6A23.Z Acute and Transient Psychotic Disorder, Unspecified

6A24 Delusional Disorder

- Specify current presentation:
- 6A24.0 ... currently symptomatic
- 6A24.1 ... in partial remission
- 6A24.2 ... in full remission
- 6A24.Z ... unspecified
- 6A2Y Other Specified Primary Psychotic Disorder
- 6A2Z Schizophrenia or Other Primary Psychotic Disorders, Unspecified

Postcoordination for Schizophrenia or Other Primary Psychotic Disorders:

For all above categories in the Schizophrenia or Other Primary Psychotic Disorders grouping, *specify* Symptomatic Manifestations of Primary Psychotic Disorders to describe current clinical presentation:

| 6A25.0 | 6A25.0 Positive Symptoms Specify severity: | |
|--------|---|------------|
| | 6A25.0&XS8H | None |
| | 6A25.0&XS5W | Mild |
| | 6A25.0&XS0T | Moderate |
| | 6A25.0&XS25 | Severe |
| 6A25.1 | Negative Sympto <i>Specify</i> severity: | oms |
| | 6A25.1&XS8H | None |
| | 6A25.1&XS5W | Mild |
| | 6A25.1&XS0T | Moderate |
| | 6A25.1&XS25 | Severe |
| 6A25.2 | Depressive Mood <i>Specify</i> severity: | 1 Symptoms |
| | 6A25.2&XS8H | None |

| | 6A25.2&XS5W 6A25.2&XS0T 6A25.2&XS25 | Mild Moderate Severe |
|--------|---|----------------------------|
| 6A25.3 | Manic Mood Syn | nptoms |
| | Specify severity: | - |
| | 6A25.3&XS8H | None |
| | 6A25.3&XS5W | Mild |
| | 6A25.3&XS0T | Moderate |
| | 6A25.3&XS25 | Severe |
| 6A25.4 | Psychomotor Syr | nptoms |
| | Specify severity: | |
| | 6A25.4&XS8H | None |
| | 6A25.4&XS5W | Mild |
| | 6A25.4&XS0T | Moderate |
| | 6A25.4&XS25 | Severe |
| 6A25.5 | Cognitive Sympton | oms |
| | Specify severity: | |
| | 6A25.5&XS8H | None |
| | 6A25.5&XS5W | Mild |
| | 6A25.5&XS0T | Moderate |
| | 6A25.5&XS25 | Severe |
| | | |

Secondary-Parented Categories

From Disorders Due to Substance Use:

Substance-Induced Psychotic Disorders *Specify* substance class:

| 6C40.6 | Alcohol-Induced Psychotic DisorderSpecify clinical presentation:6C40.60 with hallucinations6C40.61 with delusions6C40.62 with mixed psychotic symptoms6C40.Z unspecified |
|--------|--|
| 6C41.6 | Cannabis-Induced Psychotic Disorder |
| 6C42.6 | Synthetic Cannabinoid-Induced Psychotic Disorder |
| 6C43.6 | Opioid-Induced Psychotic Disorder |
| 6C44.6 | Sedative, Hypnotic or Anxiolytic-Induced Psychotic Disorder |
| 6C45.6 | Cocaine-Induced Psychotic Disorder Specify clinical presentation: 6C45.60 with hallucinations 6C45.61 with delusions 6C45.62 with mixed psychotic symptoms 6C45.Z unspecified |
| 6C46.6 | Stimulant-Induced Psychotic Disorder Including Amphetamines, Methamphetamine or Methcathinone <i>Specify</i> clinical presentation: |

- 6C46.60 ... with hallucinations
- 6C46.61 ... with delusions
- 6C46.62 ... mixed psychotic symptoms

| | 6C46.Z unspecified |
|--------|---|
| 6C47.6 | Synthetic Cathinone-Induced Psychotic DisorderSpecify clinical presentation:6C47.60 with hallucinations6C47.61 with delusions6C47.62 with mixed psychotic symptoms6C47.6Z unspecified |
| 6C49.6 | Hallucinogen-Induced Psychotic Disorder |
| 6C4B.6 | Volatile Inhalant-Induced Psychotic Disorder |
| 6C4C.6 | MDMA or Related Drug-Induced Psychotic Disorder |
| 6C4D.6 | Dissociative Drug-Induced Psychotic Disorder including ketamine or PCP |
| 6C4E.6 | Psychotic Disorder Induced by Other Specified Psychoactive Substance |
| 6C4F.6 | Psychotic Disorder Induced by Multiple Specified Psychoactive Substances |
| 6C4G.6 | Psychotic Disorder Induced by Unknown or Unspecified Specified Psychoactive Substance |
| | |

From Secondary Mental or Behavioural Syndromes Associated with Disorders or Diseases Classified Elsewhere:

- 6E61 Secondary Psychotic Syndrome
 - Specify clinical presentation:
 - 6E61.0 ... with hallucinations
 - 6E61.1 ... with delusions
 - 6C41.2 ... with hallucinations and delusions
 - 6C41.3 ... with unspecified symptoms

CATATONIA

- 6A40 Catatonia Associated with Another Mental Disorder
- 6A41 Catatonia Induced by Substances or Medications
- 6A4Z Catatonia, Unspecified

Secondary-Parented Categories

From Secondary Mental or Behavioural Syndromes Associated with Disorders or Diseases Classified Elsewhere:

6E69 Secondary Catatonia Syndrome

MOOD DISORDERS

BIPOLAR OR RELATED DISORDERS

| Bipolar 7 | Type I Disorder |
|------------|---|
| Specify ty | ype of current or most recent episode and/or remission: |
| 6A60.0 | Current Episode Manic, without psychotic symptoms |
| 6A60.1 | Current Episode Manic, with psychotic symptoms |
| 6A60.2 | Current Episode Hypomanic |
| 6A60.3 | Current Episode Depressive, Mild |
| 6A60.4 | Current Episode Depressive, Moderate, without psychotic symptoms |
| 6A60.5 | Current Episode Depressive, Moderate, with psychotic symptoms |
| 6A60.6 | Current Episode Depressive, Severe, without psychotic symptoms |
| | <i>Specify</i> tr 6A60.0 6A60.1 6A60.2 6A60.3 6A60.4 6A60.5 |

- 6A60.7 ... Current Episode Depressive, Severe, with psychotic symptoms
- 6A60.8 ... Current Episode Depressive, Unspecified Severity
- 6A60.9 ... Current Episode Mixed, without psychotic symptoms
- 6A60.A ... Current Episode Mixed, with psychotic symptoms
- 6A60.B ... currently in partial remission, most recent episode Manic or Hypomanic
- 6A60.C ... currently in partial remission, most recent episode Depressive
- 6A60.D ... currently in partial remission, most recent episode Mixed
- 6A60.E ... currently in partial remission, most recent episode unspecified
- 6A60.F ... currently in full remission
- 6A60.Y Other Specified Bipolar Type I Disorder
- 6A60.Z Bipolar Type I Disorder, Unspecified

Postcoordination for Bipolar Type I Disorder:

For all above Bipolar Type I Disorder categories, *specify* additional features of current presentation or course by using additional code(s) if applicable:

- 6A80.0 with prominent anxiety symptoms
- 6A80.1 with panic attacks
- 6A80.2 current Depressive Episode persistent
- 6A80.3 current Depressive Episode with melancholia
- 6A80.4 with seasonal pattern of mood episode onset
- 6A80.5 with rapid cycling

For all above Bipolar Type I Disorder current or most recent episodes, *specify* if episode onset was during pregnancy or within 6 weeks after delivery by using additional code:

- 6E20 Mental or Behavioural Disorders Associated with Pregnancy, Childbirth or the Puerperium, without psychotic symptoms
- 6E21 Mental or Behavioural Disorders Associated with Pregnancy, Childbirth or the Puerperium, with psychotic symptoms
- 6E2Z Mental or Behavioural Disorders Associated with Pregnancy, Childbirth or the Puerperium, unspecified

6A61 Bipolar Type II Disorder

Specify type of current or most recent episode and/or remission:

- 6A61.0 ... Current Episode Hypomanic
- 6A61.1 ... Current Episode Depressive, Mild
- 6A61.2 ... Current Episode Depressive, Moderate, without psychotic symptoms
- 6A61.3 ... Current Episode Depressive, Moderate, with psychotic symptoms
- 6A61.4 ... Current Episode Depressive, Severe, without psychotic symptoms
- 6A61.5 ... Current Episode Depressive, Severe, with psychotic symptoms
- 6A61.6 ... Current Episode Depressive, Unspecified Severity
- 6A61.7 ... currently in partial remission, most recent episode Hypomanic
- 6A61.8 ... currently in partial remission, most recent episode Depressive
- 6A61.9 ... currently in partial remission, most recent episode unspecified
- 6A61.A ... currently in full remission
- 6A61.Y Other Specified Bipolar Type II Disorder
- 6A61.Z Bipolar Type II Disorder, Unspecified

Postcoordination for Bipolar Type II Disorder:

For all above Bipolar Type II Disorder categories, *specify* additional features of current presentation or course by using additional code(s) if applicable:

- 6A80.0 with prominent anxiety symptoms
- 6A80.1 with panic attacks
- 6A80.2 current Depressive Episode persistent
- 6A80.3 current Depressive Episode with melancholia
- 6A80.4 with seasonal pattern of mood episode onset
- 6A80.5 with rapid cycling

For all above Bipolar Type II Disorder current or most recent episodes, *specify* if episode onset was during pregnancy or within 6 weeks after delivery by using additional code:

- 6E20 Mental or Behavioural Disorders Associated with Pregnancy, Childbirth or the Puerperium, without psychotic symptoms
- 6E21 Mental or Behavioural Disorders Associated with Pregnancy, Childbirth or the Puerperium, with psychotic symptoms
- 6E2Z Mental or Behavioural Disorders Associated with Pregnancy, Childbirth or the Puerperium, unspecified
- 6A62 Cyclothymic Disorder

6A6Y Other Specified Bipolar or Related Disorders

6A6Z Bipolar or Related Disorders, Unspecified

DEPRESSIVE DISORDERS

6A70 Single Episode Depressive Disorder

Specify severity or remission of current episode:

- 6A70.0 ... Mild
- 6A70.1 ... Moderate, without psychotic symptoms
- 6A70.2 ... Moderate, with psychotic symptoms
- 6A70.3 ... Severe, without psychotic symptoms
- 6A70.4 ... Severe, with psychotic symptoms
- 6A70.5 ... Unspecified Severity
- 6A70.6 ... currently in partial remission
- 6A70.7 ... currently in full remission
- 6A70.Y Other Specified Single Episode Depressive Disorder
- 6A70.Z Single Episode Depressive Disorder, Unspecified

Postcoordination for Single Episode Depressive Disorder:

For all above Single Episode Depressive Disorder categories, *specify* additional features of current presentation or course by using additional code(s) if applicable:

- 6A80.0 with prominent anxiety symptoms
- 6A80.1 with panic attacks
- 6A80.2 current Depressive Episode persistent
- 6A80.3 current Depressive Episode with melancholia
- 6A80.4 with seasonal pattern of mood episode onset

For all above Single Episode Depressive Disorder current or most recent episodes, *specify* if episode onset was during pregnancy or within 6 weeks after delivery by using additional code:

6E20 Mental or Behavioural Disorders Associated with Pregnancy, Childbirth or the Puerperium, without psychotic symptoms
6E21 Mental or Behavioural Disorders Associated with Pregnancy, Childbirth or the Puerperium, with psychotic symptoms
6E22 Mental or Behavioural Disorders Associated with Pregnancy, Childbirth or the Puerperium, unspecified

6A71 Recurrent Depressive Disorder

Specify severity or remission of current episode:

6A71.0 ... Current Episode Mild

- 6A71.1 ... Current Episode Moderate, without psychotic symptoms
- 6A71.2 ... Current Episode Moderate, with psychotic symptoms
- 6A71.3 ... Current Episode Severe, without psychotic symptoms
- 6A71.4 ... Current Episode Severe, with psychotic symptoms
- 6A71.5 ... Current Episode, Unspecified Severity
- 6A71.6 ... currently in partial remission
- 6A71.7 ... currently in full remission
- 6A71.Y Other Specified Recurrent Depressive Disorder
- 6A71.Z Recurrent Depressive Disorder, Unspecified

Postcoordination for Recurrent Depressive Disorder:

For all above Recurrent Depressive Disorder categories, *specify* additional features of current presentation or course by using additional code(s) if applicable:

- 6A80.0 with prominent anxiety symptoms
- 6A80.1 with panic attacks
- 6A80.2 current Depressive Episode persistent
- 6A80.3 current Depressive Episode with melancholia
- 6A80.4 with seasonal pattern of mood episode onset

For all above Recurrent Depressive Disorder current or most recent episodes, *specify* if episode onset was during pregnancy or within 6 weeks after delivery by using additional code:

- 6E20 Mental or Behavioural Disorders Associated with Pregnancy, Childbirth or the Puerperium, without psychotic symptoms
- 6E21 Mental or Behavioural Disorders Associated with Pregnancy, Childbirth or the Puerperium, with psychotic symptoms
- 6E2Z Mental or Behavioural Disorders Associated with Pregnancy, Childbirth or the Puerperium, unspecified

6A72 Dysthymic Disorder

- 6A73 Mixed Depressive and Anxiety Disorder
- 6A7Y Other Specified Depressive Disorders
- 6A7Z Depressive Disorders, Unspecified
- 6A8Y Other Specified Mood Disorders
- 6ABZ Mood Disorders, Unspecified

Secondary-Parented Categories

From Disorders Due to Substance Use:

Substance-Induced Mood Disorders *Specify* substance class:

- 6C40.70 Alcohol-Induced Mood Disorder
 Specify clinical presentation:
 6C40.700 ... with depressive symptoms
 6C40.701 ... with manic symptoms
 6C40.702 ... with mixed depressive and manic symptoms
 6C40.70Z ... unspecified
- 6C41.70 Cannabis-Induced Mood Disorder
 Specify clinical presentation:
 6C41.700 ... with depressive symptoms
 6C41.701 ... with manic symptoms
 6C41.702 ... with mixed depressive and manic symptoms
 6C41.70Z ... unspecified
- 6C42.70 Synthetic Cannabinoid-Induced Mood Disorder Specify clinical presentation:
 6C42.700 ... with depressive symptoms
 6C42.701 ... with manic symptoms
 6C42.702 ... with mixed depressive and manic symptoms
 6C42.70Z ..., unspecified
- 6C43.70 Opioid-Induced Mood Disorder *Specify* clinical presentation: 6C43.700 ... with depressive symptoms 6C43.701 ... with manic symptoms 6C43.702 ... with mixed depressive and manic symptoms 6C43.70Z ... unspecified
- 6C44.70 Sedative, Hypnotic or Anxiolytic-Induced Mood Disorder Specify clinical presentation:
 6C44.700 ... with depressive symptoms
 6C44.701 ... with manic symptoms
 6C44.702 ... with mixed depressive and manic symptoms
 6C44.70Z ... unspecified
- 6C45.70 Cocaine-Induced Mood Disorder
 Specify clinical presentation:
 6C45.700 ... with depressive symptoms
 6C45.701 ... with manic symptoms
 6C45.702 ... with mixed depressive and manic symptoms
 6C45.70Z ... unspecified
- 6C46.70 Stimulant-Induced Mood Disorder including Amphetamines, Methamphetamine or Methcathinone
 Specify clinical presentation:
 6C46.700 ... with depressive symptoms
 6C46.701 ... with manic symptoms
 - 6C46.702 ... with mixed depressive and manic symptoms
 - 6C46.70Z ... unspecified
- 6C47.70 Synthetic Cathinone-Induced Mood Disorder *Specify* clinical presentation: 6C47.700 ... with depressive symptoms 6C47.701 ... with manic symptoms

6C47.702 ... with mixed depressive and manic symptoms 6C47.70Z ... unspecified

- 6C49.60 Hallucinogen-Induced Mood Disorder
 Specify clinical presentation:
 6C49.700 ... with depressive symptoms
 6C49.701 ... with manic symptoms
 6C49.702 ... with mixed depressive and manic symptoms
 - 6C49.702 ... with mixed depressive and mame sympto
 - 6C49.70Z ... unspecified

6C4B.70 Volatile Inhalant-Induced Mood Disorder Specify clinical presentation:
6C4B.700 ... with depressive symptoms
6C4B.701 ... with manic symptoms
6C4B.702 ... with mixed depressive and manic symptoms
6C4B.70Z ... unspecified

6C4C.70 MDMA or Related Drug-Induced Mood Disorder, including MDA Specify clinical presentation:
6C4C.700 ... with depressive symptoms
6C4C.701 ... with manic symptoms
6C4C.702 ... with mixed depressive and manic symptoms
6C4C.70Z ... unspecified

- 6C4D.60 Dissociative Drug-Induced Mood Disorder including Ketamine or PCP Specify clinical presentation:
 6C4D.700 ... depressive symptoms
 6C4D.701 ... with manic symptoms
 - 6C4D.702 ... with mixed depressive and manic symptoms
 - 6C4D.70Z ... unspecified

6C4E.70 Mood Disorder Induced by Other Specified Psychoactive Substance Specify clinical presentation:
6C4E.700 ... with depressive symptoms
6C4E.701 ... with manic symptoms
6C4E.702 ... with mixed depressive and manic symptoms

- 6C4E.70Z ... unspecified
- 6C4F.70 Mood Disorder Induced by Multiple Specified Psychoactive Substances *Specify* clinical presentation: 6C4F.700 ... with depressive symptoms
 - 6C4F.701 ... with manic symptoms
 - 6C4F.702 ... with mixed depressive and manic symptoms
 - 6C4F.70Z ... unspecified
- 6C4G.70 Mood Disorder Induced by Unknown or Unspecified Psychoactive Substance *Specify* clinical presentation:
 6C4G.700 ... with depressive symptoms
 6C4G.701 ... with manic symptoms
 6C4G.702 ... with mixed depressive and manic symptoms
 - 6C4G.70Z ... unspecified

From Secondary Mental or Behavioural Syndromes Associated with Disorders or Diseases Classified Elsewhere:

- 6E62 Secondary Mood Syndrome
 - Specify clinical presentation:
 - 6E62.0 ... with depressive symptoms
 - 6E62.1 ... with manic symptoms

| 6C62.2 | with mixed symptoms |
|--------|---------------------------|
| 6C62.3 | with unspecified symptoms |

ANXIETY OR FEAR-RELATED DISORDERS

- 6B00 Generalized Anxiety Disorder *Specify* presence of panic attacks without co-occurring Panic Disorder diagnosis 6B00/MB23.H Generalized Anxiety Disorder with panic attacks
- 6B01 Panic Disorder
- 6B02 Agoraphobia *Specify* presence of panic attacks without co-occurring Panic Disorder diagnosis 6B01/MB23.H Agoraphobia with panic attacks
- 6B03 Specific Phobia Specify presence of panic attacks without co-occurring Panic Disorder diagnosis 6B03/MB23.H Specific Phobia with panic attacks
- 6B04 Social Anxiety Disorder *Specify* presence of panic attacks without co-occurring Panic Disorder diagnosis 6B04/MB23.H Social Anxiety Disorder with panic attacks
- 6B05 Separation Anxiety Disorder *Specify* presence of panic attacks without co-occurring Panic Disorder diagnosis 6B05/MB23.H Separation Anxiety Disorder with panic attacks
- 6B06 Selective Mutism
- 6B0Y Other Specified Anxiety or Fear-Related Disorders *Specify* presence of panic attacks without co-occurring Panic Disorder diagnosis 6B0Y/MB23.H Other Specified Anxiety or Fear-Related Disorders with panic attacks
- 6B0Z Anxiety or Fear-Related Disorders, Unspecified *Specify* presence of panic attacks without co-occurring Panic Disorder diagnosis 6B0Y/MB23.H Anxiety or Fear-Related Disorders, Unspecified with panic attacks

Secondary-Parented Categories

From Obsessive-Compulsive or Related Disorders:

- 6B23 Hypochondriasis (Health Anxiety Disorder) Specify level of insight:
 6B23.0 Hypochondriasis with fair to good insight
 6B23.1 Hypochondriasis with poor to absent insight
- From Disorders Due to Substance Use:

Substance-Induced Anxiety Disorders

Specify substance class:

- 6C40.71 Alcohol-Induced Anxiety Disorder
- 6C41.71 Cannabis-Induced Anxiety Disorder
- 6C42.71 Synthetic Cannabinoid-Induced Anxiety Disorder
- 6C43.71 Opioid-Induced Anxiety Disorder
- 6C44.71 Sedative, Hypnotic or Anxiolytic-Induced Anxiety Disorder
- 6C45.71 Cocaine-Induced Anxiety Disorder
- 6C46.71 Stimulant-Induced Anxiety Disorder Including Amphetamines, Methamphetamine or Methcathinone

- 6C47.71 Synthetic Cathinone-Induced Anxiety Syndrome
- 6C48.71 Caffeine-Induced Anxiety Disorder
- 6C49.71 Hallucinogen-Induced Anxiety Disorder
- 6C4B.71 Volatile Inhalant-Induced Anxiety Disorder
- 6C4C.71 MDMA or Related Drug-Induced Anxiety Disorder
- 6C4D.71 Dissociative Drug-Induced Anxiety Disorder Including Ketamine or PCP
- 6C4E.71 Anxiety Disorder Induced by Other Specified Psychoactive Substance
- 6C4F.71 Anxiety Disorder Induced by Multiple Specified Psychoactive Substances
- 6C4G.71 Anxiety Disorder Induced by Unknown or Unspecified Specified Psychoactive Substance

From Secondary Mental or Behavioural Syndromes Associated with Disorders or Diseases Classified Elsewhere:

6E63 Secondary Anxiety Syndrome

OBSESSIVE-COMPULSIVE OR RELATED DISORDERS

- 6B20 **Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder** Specify level of insight: 6B20.0 Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder with fair to good insight 6B20.1 Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder with poor to absent insight 6B21 Body Dysmorphic Disorder Specify level of insight: Body Dysmorphic Disorder with fair to good insight 6B21.0 6B21.1 Body Dysmorphic Disorder with poor to absent insight 6B22 Olfactory Reference Disorder Specify level of insight: 6B22.0 Olfactory Reference Disorder with fair to good insight 6B22.1 Olfactory Reference Disorder with poor to absent insight 6B23 Hypochondriasis (Health Anxiety Disorder) Specify level of insight: 6B23.0 Hypochondriasis with fair to good insight 6B23.1 Hypochondriasis with poor to absent insight Hoarding Disorder 6B24 Specify level of insight: 6B24.0 Hoarding Disorder with fair to good insight Hoarding Disorder with poor to absent insight 6B24.1 Body-Focused Repetitive Behaviour Disorders 6B25 Trichotillomania (Hair Pulling Disorder) 6B25.0 6B25.1 Excoriation (Skin Picking) Disorder Other Specified Body-Focused Repetitive Behaviour Disorders 6B25.Y 6B25.Z Body-Focused Repetitive Behaviour Disorders, Unspecified
- 6B2Y Other Specified Obsessive-Compulsive or Related Disorders
- 6B2Z Obsessive-Compulsive or Related Disorders, Unspecified

Secondary-Parented Categories

From Chapter on Diseases of the Nervous System:

8A05.00 Tourette Syndrome (Primary Parent: Diseases of the Nervous System, Tic Disorders)

From Disorders Due to Substance Use:

Substance-Induced Obsessive-Compulsive or Related Disorders *Specify* substance class:

- 6C45.72 Cocaine-Induced Obsessive-Compulsive or Related Disorder
- 6C46.72 Stimulant-Induced Obsessive-Compulsive or Related Disorder Including Amphetamines, Methamphetamine or Methcathinone
- 6C47.72 Synthetic Cathinone-Induced Obsessive-Compulsive or Related Syndrome
- 6C4E.72 Obsessive-Compulsive or Related Disorder Induced by Other Specified Psychoactive Substance
- 6C4F.72 Obsessive-Compulsive or Related Disorder Induced by Multiple Specified Psychoactive Substances
- 6C4G.72 Obsessive-Compulsive or Related Disorder Induced by Unknown or Unspecified Psychoactive Substance

From Secondary Mental or Behavioural Syndromes Associated with Disorders or Diseases Classified Elsewhere:

6E60 Secondary Obsessive-Compulsive or Related Syndrome

DISORDERS SPECIFICALLY ASSOCIATED WITH STRESS

- 6B40 Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder
- 6B41 Complex Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder
- 6B42 Prolonged Grief Disorder
- 6B43 Adjustment Disorder
- 6B44 Reactive Attachment Disorder
- 6B45 Disinhibited Social Engagement Disorder
- 6B4Y Other Specified Disorders Specifically Associated with Stress
- 6B4Z Disorders Specifically Associated with Stress, Unspecified
- QE84 Acute Stress Reaction (not classified as a mental disorder; listed here to assist in differential diagnosis)

DISSOCIATIVE DISORDERS

- 6B60 Dissociative Neurological Symptom Disorder
 - Specify clinical presentation:
 - 6B60.0 ... with visual disturbance
 - 6B60.1 ... with auditory disturbance
 - 6B60.2 ... with vertigo or dizziness
 - 6B60.3 ... with other sensory disturbance
 - 6B60.4 ... with non-epileptic seizures
 - 6B60.5 ... with speech disturbance
 - 6B60.6 ... with paresis or weakness
 - 6B60.7 ... with gait disturbance
 - 6B60.8 ... with movement disturbance
 - 6B60.80 ... with chorea

- 6B60.81 ... with myoclonus 6B60.82 ... with tremor 6B60.83 ... with dystonia ... with facial spasm 6B60.84 ... with Parkinsonism 6B60.85 6B60.8Y ... with other specified movement disturbance ... with unspecified movement disturbance 6B60.8Z ... with cognitive symptoms 6B60.9 6B60.Y ... with other specified symptoms 6B60.Z ... with unspecified symptoms 6B61 **Dissociative Amnesia** *Specify* presence of dissociative fugue: 6B61.0 ... with dissociative fugue 6B61.1 ... without dissociative fugue 6B61.Z ... unspecified 6B62 Trance Disorder Possession Trance Disorder 6B63 6B64 Dissociative Identity Disorder 6B65 Partial Dissociative Identity Disorder 6B66 Depersonalization-Derealization Disorder
- 6B6Y Other Specified Dissociative Disorders
- 6B6Z Dissociative Disorders, Unspecified

Secondary-Parented Categories

From Secondary Mental or Behavioural Syndromes Associated with Disorders or Diseases Classified Elsewhere:

6E65 Secondary Dissociative Syndrome

FEEDING OR EATING DISORDERS

| Specify | underweight status: |
|---------|---------------------|
| 1 57 | \mathcal{O} |

- 6B80.0 Anorexia Nervosa with significantly low body weight *Specify* pattern of weight-related behaviours:
 6B80.00 ... Restricting pattern
 6B80.01 ... Binge-Purge pattern
 6B80.0Z ... unspecified
 6B80.1 Anorexia Nervosa with dangerously low body weight *Specify* pattern of weight-related behaviours:
 6B80.10 ... Restricting pattern
 6B80.11 ... Binge-Purge pattern
 - 6B80.1Z ... unspecified
 - 6B80.2 Anorexia Nervosa in recovery with normal body weight
 - 6B80.Y Other Specified Anorexia Nervosa
 - 6B80.Z Anorexia Nervosa, Unspecified
- 6B81 Bulimia Nervosa
- 6B82 Binge Eating Disorder
- 6B83 Avoidant-Restrictive Food Intake Disorder

- 6B84 Pica
- 6B85 Rumination-Regurgitation Disorder
- 6B8Y Other Specified Feeding or Eating Disorders
- 6B8Z Feeding or Eating Disorders, Unspecified

ELIMINATION DISORDERS

6C00 Enuresis

Specify nighttime or daytime occurrence:

- 6C00.0 Nocturnal Enuresis
- 6C00.1 Diurnal Enuresis
- 6C00.2 Nocturnal and Diurnal Enuresis
- 6C00.Z Enuresis, Unspecified
- 6C01 Encopresis *Specify* pattern of fecal soiling:
 6C01.0 ... with constipation and overflow incontinence
 6C01.1 ... without constipation and overflow incontinence
 6C01.Z ... Unspecified
- 6B0Z Elimination Disorders, Unspecified

DISORDERS OF BODILY DISTRESS OR BODILY EXPERIENCE

6C20 Bodily Distress Disorder

Specify level of severity:

- 6C20.0 Mild Bodily Distress Disorder
- 6C20.1 Moderate Bodily Distress Disorder
- 6C20.2 Severe Bodily Distress Disorder
- 6C20.Z Bodily Distress Disorder, Unspecified
- 6C21 Body Integrity Dysphoria
- 6C2Y Other Specified Disorders of Bodily Distress or Bodily Experience
- 6C3Z Disorders of Bodily Distress or Bodily Experience, Unspecified

DISORDERS DUE TO SUBSTANCE USE OR ADDICTIVE BEHAVIOURS

DISORDERS DUE TO SUBSTANCE USE

- 6C40 Disorders Due to Use of Alcohol
 - 6C40.0 Episode of Harmful Use of Alcohol
 - 6C40.1Harmful Pattern of Use of AlcoholSpecify pattern:6C40.1... episodic6C40.11... continuous6C40.1Z... unspecified
 - 6C40.2Alcohol DependenceSpecify pattern of substance use or remission:6C40.206C40.21... current use, continuous6C40.226C40.22... early full remission6C40.23... sustained partial remission6C40.24... sustained full remission

6C40.2Z ... unspecified

| 6C40.3 | Alcohol IntoxicationSpecify severity:6C40.3&XS5W6C40.3&XS0TAlcohol Intoxication, Moderate6C40.3&XS25Alcohol Intoxication, Severe |
|-----------|--|
| 6C40.4 | Alcohol Withdrawal Specify clinical presentation: 6C40.40 uncomplicated 6C40.41 with perceptual disturbances 6C40.42 with seizures 6C40.43 with perceptual disturbances and seizures 6C40.4Z unspecified |
| 6C40.5 | Alcohol-Induced Delirium |
| 6C40.6 | Alcohol-Induced Psychotic Disorder Specify clinical presentation: 6C40.60 with hallucinations 6C40.61 with delusions 6C40.62 with mixed psychotic symptoms 6C40.6Z unspecified |
| 6C40.70 | Alcohol-Induced Mood Disorder Specify clinical presentation: 6C40.700 with depressive symptoms 6C40.701 with manic symptoms 6C40.702 with mixed depressive and manic symptoms 6C40.70Z unspecified |
| 6C40.71 | Alcohol-Induced Anxiety Disorder |
| 6C40.Y | Other Specified Disorders Due to Use of Alcohol |
| 6C40.Z | Disorders Due to Use of Alcohol, Unspecified |
| Disorders | Due to Use of Cannabis |
| 6C41.0 | Episode of Harmful Use of Cannabis |
| 6C41.1 | Harmful Pattern of Use of Cannabis Specify pattern: 6C41.1 episodic 6C41.11 continuous 6C41.1Z unspecified |
| 6C41.2 | Cannabis Dependence Specify pattern of substance use or remission: 6C41.20 current use 6C41.21 early full remission 6C41.22 sustained partial remission 6C41.23 sustained full remission 6C41.2Z unspecified |
| 6C41.3 | Cannabis IntoxicationSpecify severity:6C41.3&XS5W6C41.3&XS0T6C41.3&XS0T6C41.3&XS25Cannabis Intoxication, Moderate6C41.3&XS25Cannabis Intoxication, Severe |

6C41

- 6C41.4 Cannabis Withdrawal
- 6C41.5 Cannabis-Induced Delirium
- 6C41.6 Cannabis-Induced Psychotic Disorder
- 6C41.70 Cannabis-Induced Mood Disorder
 Specify clinical presentation:
 6C41.700 ... with depressive symptoms
 6C41.701 ... with manic symptoms
 6C41.702 ... with mixed depressive and manic symptoms
 6C41.70Z ... unspecified
- 6C41.71 Cannabis-Induced Anxiety Disorder
- 6C41.Y Other Specified Disorders Due to Use of Cannabis
- 6C41.Z Disorders Due to Use of Cannabis, Unspecified
- 6C42 Disorders Due to Use of Synthetic Cannabinoids
 - 6C42.0 Episode of Harmful Use of Synthetic Cannabinoids
 - 6C42.1 Harmful Pattern of Use of Synthetic Cannabinoids Specify pattern:
 6C42.1 ... episodic
 6C42.11 ... continuous
 6C42.1Z ... unspecified
 - 6C42.2 Synthetic Cannabinoid Dependence *Specify* pattern of substance use or remission: 6C42.20 ... current use 6C42.21 ... early full remission 6C42.22 ... sustained partial remission 6C42.23 ... sustained full remission 6C42.2Z ... unspecified
 - 6C42.3Synthetic Cannabinoid IntoxicationSpecify severity:6C42.3&XS5W6C42.3&XS0TSynthetic Cannabinoid Intoxication, Mild6C42.3&XS0TSynthetic Cannabinoid Intoxication, Moderate6C42.3&XS25Synthetic Cannabinoid Intoxication, Severe
 - 6C42.4 Synthetic Cannabinoid Withdrawal
 - 6C42.5 Synthetic Cannabinoid-Induced Delirium
 - 6C42.6 Synthetic Cannabinoid-Induced Psychotic Disorder
 - 6C42.70 Synthetic Cannabinoid-Induced Mood Disorder Specify clinical presentation:
 6C42.700 ... with depressive symptoms
 6C42.701 ... with manic symptoms
 6C42.702 ... with mixed depressive and manic symptoms
 6C42.70Z ... unspecified
 - 6C42.71 Synthetic Cannabinoid-Induced Anxiety Disorder
 - 6C42.Y Other Specified Disorders Due to Use of Synthetic Cannabinoids
 - 6C42.Z Disorders Due to Use of Synthetic Cannabinoids, Unspecified
- 6C43 Disorders Due to Use of Opioids
 - 6C43.0 Episode of Harmful Use of Opioids

| | 6C43.1 | Harmful Pattern of Use of Opioids Specify pattern: 6C43.1 episodic 6C43.11 continuous 6C43.1Z unspecified |
|------|-----------|--|
| | 6C43.2 | Opioid Dependence Specify pattern of substance use or remission: 6C43.20 current use 6C43.21 early full remission 6C43.22 sustained partial remission 6C43.23 sustained full remission 6C43.22 unspecified |
| | 6C43.3 | Opioid IntoxicationSpecify severity:6C43.3&XS5WOpioid Intoxication, Mild6C43.3&XS0TOpioid Intoxication, Moderate6C43.3&XS25Opioid Intoxication, Severe |
| | 6C43.4 | Opioid Withdrawal |
| | 6C43.5 | Opioid-Induced Delirium |
| | 6C43.6 | Opioid-Induced Psychotic Disorder |
| | 6C43.70 | Opioid-Induced Mood Disorder Specify clinical presentation: 6C43.700 with depressive symptoms 6C43.701 with manic symptoms 6C43.702 with mixed depressive and manic symptoms 6C43.70Z unspecified |
| | 6C43.71 | Opioid-Induced Anxiety Disorder |
| | 6C43.Y | Other Specified Disorders Due to Use of Opioids |
| | 6C43.Z | Disorders Due to Use of Opioids, Unspecified |
| 6C44 | Disorders | Due to Use of Sedatives, Hypnotics or Anxiolytics |
| | 6C44.0 | Episode of Harmful Use of Sedatives, Hypnotics or Anxiolytics |
| | 6C44.1 | Harmful Pattern of Use of Sedatives, Hypnotics or Anxiolytics Specify pattern: 6C44.1 episodic 6C44.11 continuous 6C44.1Z unspecified |
| | 6C44.2 | Sedative, Hypnotic or Anxiolytic Dependence Specify pattern of substance use or remission: 6C44.20 current use 6C44.21 early full remission 6C44.22 sustained partial remission 6C44.23 sustained full remission 6C44.22 unspecified |
| | 6C44.3 | Sedative, Hypnotic or Anxiolytic IntoxicationSpecify severity:6C44.3&XS5W6C44.3&XS0T6C44.3&XS0T6C44.3&XS25Sedative, Hypnotic or Anxiolytic Intoxication, Moderate6C44.3&XS25Sedative, Hypnotic or Anxiolytic Intoxication, Severe |

| | 6C44.4 | Sedative, Hypnotic or Anxiolytic Withdrawal Specify clinical presentation: 6C44.40 uncomplicated 6C44.41 with perceptual disturbances 6C44.42 with seizures 6C44.43 with perceptual disturbances and seizures 6C44.4Z unspecified |
|------|-----------|---|
| | 6C44.5 | Sedative, Hypnotic or Anxiolytic-Induced Delirium |
| | 6C44.6 | Sedative, Hypnotic or Anxiolytic-Induced Psychotic Disorder |
| | 6C44.70 | Sedative, Hypnotic or Anxiolytic-Induced Mood Disorder Specify clinical presentation: 6C44.700 with depressive symptoms 6C44.701 with manic symptoms 6C44.702 with mixed depressive and manic symptoms 6C44.70Z unspecified |
| | 6C44.71 | Sedative, Hypnotic or Anxiolytic-Induced Anxiety Disorder |
| | 6C44.Y | Other Specified Disorders Due to Use of Sedatives, Hypnotics or Anxiolytics |
| | 6C44.Z | Disorders Due to Use of Sedatives, Hypnotics, or Anxiolytics Unspecified |
| 6C45 | Disorders | Due to Use of Cocaine |
| | 6C45.0 | Episode of Harmful Use of Cocaine |
| | 6C45.1 | Harmful Pattern of Use of Cocaine Specify pattern: 6C45.1 episodic 6C45.11 continuous 6C45.1Z unspecified |
| | 6C45.2 | Cocaine Dependence Specify pattern of substance use or remission: 6C45.20 current use 6C45.21 early full remission 6C45.22 sustained partial remission 6C45.23 sustained full remission 6C45.2Z unspecified |
| | 6C45.3 | Cocaine IntoxicationSpecify severity:6C45.3&XS5WCocaine Intoxication, Mild6C45.3&XS0TCocaine Intoxication, Moderate6C45.3&XS25Cocaine Intoxication, Severe |
| | 6C45.4 | Cocaine Withdrawal |
| | 6C45.5 | Cocaine-Induced Delirium |
| | 6C45.6 | Cocaine-Induced Psychotic Disorder Specify clinical presentation: 6C45.60 with hallucinations 6C45.61 with delusions 6C45.62 with mixed psychotic symptoms 6C45.6Z unspecified |
| | 6C45.70 | Cocaine-Induced Mood Disorder Specify clinical presentation: |
| | | |

- 6C45.700 ... with depressive symptoms
 6C45.701 ... with manic symptoms
 6C45.702 ... with mixed depressive and manic symptoms
 6C45.70Z ... unspecified
- 6C45.71 Cocaine-Induced Anxiety Disorder
- 6C45.72 Cocaine-Induced Obsessive Compulsive or Related Disorder
- 6C45.73 Cocaine-Induced Impulse Control Disorder
- 6C45.Y Other Specified Disorders Due to Use of Cocaine
- 6C45.Z Disorders Due to Use of Cocaine, Unspecified
- 6C46 Disorders Due to Use of Stimulants including Amphetamines, Methamphetamine or Methcathinone
 - 6C46.0 Episode of Harmful Use of Stimulants including Amphetamines, Methamphetamine or Methcathinone
 - 6C46.1 Harmful Pattern of Use of Stimulants including Amphetamines, Methamphetamine or Methcathinone Specify pattern:
 6C46.1 ... episodic
 6C46.11 ... continuous
 6C46.1Z ... unspecified
 - 6C46.2 Stimulant Dependence including Amphetamines, Methamphetamine or Methcathinone
 Specify pattern of substance use or remission:
 6C46.20 ... current use
 6C46.21 ... early full remission
 6C46.22 ... sustained partial remission
 6C46.23 ... sustained full remission
 - 6C46.2Z ... unspecified
 - 6C46.3 Stimulant Intoxication including Amphetamines, Methamphetamine or Methcathinone *Specify* severity:
 - 6C46.3&XS5W
 6C46.3&XS0T
 6C46.3&XS0T
 Stimulant Intoxication including Amphetamines, Methamphetamine or Methcathinone, Mild
 6C46.3&XS0T
 Stimulant Intoxication including Amphetamines, Methamphetamine or Methcathinone, Moderate
 - 6C46.3&XS25 Stimulant Intoxication including Amphetamines, Methamphetamine or Methcathinone, Severe
 - 6C46.4 Stimulant Withdrawal including Amphetamines, Methamphetamine or Methcathinone
 - 6C46.5 Stimulant-Induced Delirium including Amphetamines, Methamphetamine or Methcathinone
 - 6C46.6 Stimulant-Induced Psychotic Disorder including Amphetamines, Methamphetamine or Methcathinone
 Specify clinical presentation:
 6C46.60 ... with hallucinations
 6C46.61 ... with delusions
 6C46.62 ... with mixed psychotic symptoms
 6C46.6Z ... unspecified

| | 6C46.70 | Stimulant-Induced Mood Disorder including Amphetamines, Methamphetamine or Methcathinone <i>Specify</i> clinical presentation: 6C46.700 with depressive symptoms 6C46.701 with manic symptoms 6C46.702 with mixed depressive and manic symptoms 6C46.70Z unspecified |
|------|-----------|--|
| | 6C46.71 | Stimulant-Induced Anxiety Disorder including Amphetamines, Methamphetamine or Methcathinone |
| | 6C46.72 | Stimulant-Induced Obsessive-Compulsive or Related Disorder including Amphetamines, Methamphetamine or Methcathinone |
| | 6C46.73 | Stimulant-Induced Impulse Control Disorder Including Amphetamines, Methamphetamine or Methcathinone |
| | 6C46.Y | Other Specified Disorders Due to Use of Stimulants including Amphetamines, Methamphetamine or Methcathinone |
| | 6C46.Z | Disorders Due to Use of Stimulants including Amphetamines, Methamphetamine or Methcathinone, Unspecified |
| 6C47 | Disorders | Due to Use of Synthetic Cathinones |
| | 6C47.0 | Episode of Harmful Use of Synthetic Cathinones |
| | 6C47.1 | Harmful Pattern of Use of Synthetic Cathinones Specify pattern: 6C47.1 episodic 6C47.11 continuous 6C47.1Z unspecified |
| | 6C47.2 | Synthetic Cathinone DependenceSpecify pattern of substance use or remission:6C47.206C47.216C47.216C47.22 sustained partial remission6C47.236C47.23 sustained full remission6C47.22 sustained full remission6C47.23 sustained full remission6C47.22 |
| | 6C47.3 | Synthetic Cathinone IntoxicationSpecify severity:6C47.3&XS5W6C47.3&XS0TSynthetic Cathinone Intoxication, Mild6C47.3&XS25Synthetic Cathinone Intoxication, Severe |
| | 6C47.4 | Synthetic Cathinone Withdrawal |
| | 6C47.5 | Synthetic Cathinone-Induced Delirium |
| | 6C47.6 | Synthetic Cathinone-Induced Psychotic DisorderSpecify clinical presentation:6C47.606C47.61 with hallucinations6C47.626C47.62 with mixed psychotic symptoms6C47.62 unspecified |
| | 6C47.70 | Synthetic Cathinone-Induced Mood Disorder Specify clinical presentation: 6C47.700 with depressive symptoms |

 $\ensuremath{\mathbb{C}}$ WHO Department of Mental Health and Substance Use 2022

| | 6C47.701 with manic symptoms 6C47.702 with mixed depressive and manic symptoms 6C47.70Z unspecified |
|---------|---|
| 6C47.71 | Synthetic Cathinone-Induced Anxiety Disorder |
| 6C47.72 | Synthetic Cathinone-Induced Obsessive-Compulsive or Related Syndrome |
| 6C47.73 | Synthetic Cathinone-Induced Impulse Control Disorder |

- 6C47.Y Other Specified Disorders Due to Use of Synthetic Cathinones
- 6C47.Z Disorders Due to Use of Synthetic Cathinones, Unspecified
- 6C48 Disorders Due to Use of Caffeine
 - 6C48.0 Episode of Harmful Use of Caffeine
 - 6C48.1 Harmful Pattern of Use of Caffeine Specify pattern: 6C48.1 ... episodic 6C48.11 ... continuous 6C48.1Z ... unspecified
 - 6C48.3Caffeine Intoxication
Specify severity:
6C48.3&XS5WCaffeine Intoxication, Mild
6C48.3&XS0T6C48.3&XS0TCaffeine Intoxication, Moderate
6C48.3&XS256C48.3&XS25Caffeine Intoxication, Severe
 - 6C48.4 Caffeine Withdrawal
 - 6C48.71 Caffeine-Induced Anxiety Disorder
 - 6C48.Y Other Specified Disorders Due to Use of Caffeine
 - 6C48.Z Disorders Due to Use of Caffeine, Unspecified
- 6C49 Disorders Due to Use of Hallucinogens
 - 6C49.0 Episode of Harmful Use of Hallucinogens
 - 6C49.1 Harmful Pattern of Use of Hallucinogens *Specify* pattern: 6C49.1 ... episodic 6C49.11 ... continuous 6C49.1Z ... unspecified
 - 6C49.2 Hallucinogen Dependence Specify pattern of substance use or remission: 6C49.20 ... current use 6C49.21 ... early full remission 6C49.22 ... sustained partial remission 6C49.23 ... sustained full remission 6C49.2Z ... unspecified
 6C49.3 Hallucinogen Intoxication
 - 5C49.3 Hallucinogen Intoxication Specify severity: 6C49.3&XS5W Hallucinogen Intoxication, Mild 6C49.3&XS0T Hallucinogen Intoxication, Moderate 6C49.3&XS25 Hallucinogen Intoxication, Severe
 - 6C49.5 Hallucinogen-Induced Delirium

| | 6C49.6 | Hallucinogen-Induced Psychotic Disorder | | |
|------|----------------------------------|--|--|--|
| | 6C49.60 | Hallucinogen-Induced Mood Disorder Specify clinical presentation: 6C49.600 with depressive symptoms 6C49.601 with manic symptoms 6C49.602 with mixed depressive and manic symptoms 6C49.60Z unspecified | | |
| | 6C49.61 | Hallucinogen-Induced Anxiety Disorder | | |
| | 6C49.Y | Other Specified Disorders Due to Use of Hallucinogens | | |
| | 6C49.Z | Disorders Due to Use of Hallucinogens, Unspecified | | |
| 6C4A | Disorders Due to Use of Nicotine | | | |
| | 6C4A.0 | Episode of Harmful Use of Nicotine | | |
| | 6C4A.1 | Harmful Pattern of Use of Nicotine Specify pattern: 6C4A.1 episodic 6C4A.11 continuous 6C4A.1Z unspecified | | |
| | 6C4A.2 | Nicotine Dependence Specify pattern of substance use or remission: 6C4A.20 current use 6C4A.21 early full remission 6C4A.22 sustained partial remission 6C4A.23 sustained full remission 6C4A.2Z unspecified | | |
| | 6C4A.3 | Nicotine IntoxicationSpecify severity:6C4A.3&XS5W6C4A.3&XS0T6C4A.3&XS25Nicotine Intoxication, Moderate6C4A.3&XS25Nicotine Intoxication, Severe | | |
| | 6C4A.4 | Nicotine Withdrawal | | |
| | 6C4A.Y | Other Specified Disorders Due to Use of Nicotine | | |

- 6C4A.Z Disorders Due to Use of Nicotine, Unspecified
- 6C4B Disorders Due to Use of Volatile Inhalants
 - 6C4B.0 Episode of Harmful Use of Volatile Inhalants
 - 6C4B.1 Harmful Pattern of Use of Volatile Inhalants Specify pattern:
 6C4B.10 ... episodic
 6C4B.11 ... continuous
 6C4B.1Z ... unspecified
 - 6C4B.2 Volatile Inhalant Dependence *Specify* pattern of substance use or remission: 6C4B.20 ... current use 6C4B.21 ... early full remission 6C4B.22 ... sustained partial remission 6C4B.23 ... sustained full remission 6C4B.22 ... unspecified
 - 6C4B.3 Volatile Inhalant Intoxication

© WHO Department of Mental Health and Substance Use 2022

| | | 6C4B.3&XS0T Volat | ile Inhalant Intoxication, Mild ile Inhalant Intoxication, Moderate ile Inhalant Intoxication, Severe |
|------|-----------|--|---|
| | 6C4B.4 | Volatile Inhalant Withd | rawal |
| | 6C4B.5 | Volatile Inhalant-Induce | ed Delirium |
| | 6C4B.6 | Volatile Inhalant-Induce | ed Psychotic Disorder |
| | 6C4B.70 | Volatile Inhalant-Induce Specify clinical presenta 6C4B.700 with depre 6C4B.701 with manie 6C4B.702 with mixed 6C4B.70Z unspecifie | tion: ssive symptoms c symptoms d depressive and manic symptoms |
| | 6C4B.71 | Volatile Inhalant-Induce | ed Anxiety Disorder |
| | 6C4B.Y | Other Specified Disorde | ers Due to Use of Volatile Inhalants |
| | 6C4B.Z | Disorders Due to Use of | f Volatile Inhalants, Unspecified |
| 6C4C | Disorders | Due to Use of MDMA of | r Related drugs, including MDA |
| | 6C4C.0 | Episode of Harmful Use | e of MDMA or Related Drugs, including MDA |
| | 6C4C.1 | Harmful Pattern of Use Specify pattern: 6C4C.1 episodic 6C4C.11 continuous 6C4C.1Z unspecifie | |
| | 6C4C.2 | MDMA or Related Drug Specify pattern of substa 6C4C.20 current use 6C4C.21 early full r 6C4C.22 sustained r 6C4C.23 sustained r 6C4C.22 unspecifie | e emission partial remission full remission |
| | 6C4C.3 | Specify severity:6C4C.3&XS5W6C4C.3&XS0TMDMMode | g Intoxication, including MDA IA or Related Drug Intoxication, including MDA, Mild IA or Related Drug Intoxication, including MDA, erate IA or Related Drug Intoxication, including MDA, Severe |
| | 6C4C.4 | MDMA or Related Drug | g Withdrawal, including MDA |
| | 6C4C.5 | MDMA or Related Drug | g-Induced Delirium, including MDA |
| | 6C4C.6 | MDMA or Related Drug | g-Induced Psychotic Disorder, including MDA |
| | 6C4C.70 | Specify clinical presenta 6C4C.700 with depre 6C4C.701 with manie | ssive symptoms c symptoms 1 depressive and manic symptoms |

6C4C.71 MDMA or Related Drug-Induced Anxiety Disorder, including MDA

- 6C4C.Y Other Specified Disorders Due to Use of MDMA or Related Drugs, including MDA
- 6C4C.Z Disorders Due to Use of MDMA or Related Drugs, including MDA, Unspecified
- 6C4D Disorders Due to Use of Dissociative Drugs including Ketamine and Phencyclidine (PCP)
 - 6C4D.0 Episode of Harmful Use of Dissociative Drugs including Ketamine and PCP
 - 6C4D.1 Harmful Pattern of Use of Dissociative Drugs including Ketamine and PCP Specify pattern:
 6C4D.1 ... episodic
 6C4D.11 ... continuous
 6C4D.1Z ... unspecified
 - 6C4D.2 Dissociative Drug Dependence, including Ketamine and PCP Specify pattern of substance use or remission:
 6C4D.20 ... current use
 6C4D.21 ... early full remission
 6C4D.22 ... sustained partial remission
 6C4D.23 ... sustained full remission
 6C4D.22 ... unspecified
 - 6C4D.3 Dissociative Drug Intoxication, including Ketamine and PCP Specify severity:
 6C4D.3&XS5W Dissociative Drug Intoxication, including Ketamine and PCP, Mild
 6C4D.3&XS0T Dissociative Drug Intoxication, including Ketamine and PCP, Moderate
 - 6C4D.3&XS25 Dissociative Drug Intoxication, including Ketamine and PCP, Severe
 - 6C4D.4 Dissociative Drug-Induced Delirium, including Ketamine and PCP
 - 6C4D.5 Dissociative Drug-Induced Psychotic Disorder, including Ketamine and PCP
 - 6C4D.60 Dissociative Drug-Induced Mood Disorder, including Ketamine and PCP Specify clinical presentation:
 6C4D.600 ... with depressive symptoms
 6C4D.601 ... with manic symptoms
 6C4D.602 ... with mixed depressive and manic symptoms
 6C4D.60Z ... unspecified
 - 6C4D.61 Dissociative Drug-Induced Anxiety Disorder, including Ketamine and PCP
 - 6C4D.Y Other Specified Disorders Due to Use of Dissociative Drugs including Ketamine and PCP
 - 6C4D.Z Disorders Due to Use of Dissociative Drugs including Ketamine and PCP, Unspecified
- 6C4E Disorders Due to Use of Other Specified Psychoactive Substances, including Medications
 - 6C4E.0 Episode of Harmful Use of Other Specified Psychoactive Substances, Including Medications
 - 6C4E.1 Harmful Pattern of Use of Other Specified Psychoactive Substances, Including Medications Specify pattern:
 - 6C4E.1 ... episodic
 - 6C4E.11 ... continuous
 - 6C4E.1Z ... unspecified

| | 6C4E.2 | Other Specified Psychoactive Substance Dependence Specify pattern of substance use or remission: 6C4E.20 current use 6C4E.21 early full remission 6C4E.22 sustained partial remission 6C4E.23 sustained full remission 6C4E.22 unspecified |
|------|-----------|---|
| | 6C4E.3 | Other Specified Psychoactive Substance IntoxicationSpecify severity:6C4E.3&XS5WOther Specified Psychoactive Substance Intoxication, Mild6C4E.3&XS0TOther Specified Psychoactive Substance Intoxication, Moderate6C4E.3&XS25Other Specified Psychoactive Substance Intoxication, Severe |
| | 6C4E.4 | Other Specified Psychoactive Substance Withdrawal Specify clinical presentation: 6C4E.40 uncomplicated 6C4E.41 with perceptual disturbances 6C4E.42 with seizures 6C4E.43 with perceptual disturbances and seizures 6C4E.4Z unspecified |
| | 6C4E.5 | Delirium Induced by Other Specified Psychoactive Substance Including Medications |
| | 6C4E.6 | Psychotic Disorder Induced by Other Specified Psychoactive Substance |
| | 6C4E.70 | Mood Disorder Induced by Other Specified Psychoactive Substance Specify clinical presentation: 6C4E.700 with depressive symptoms 6C4E.701 with manic symptoms 6C4E.702 with mixed depressive and manic symptoms 6C4E.70Z unspecified |
| | 6C4E.71 | Anxiety Disorder Induced by Other Specified Psychoactive Substance |
| | 6C4E.71 | Obsessive-Compulsive or Related Disorder Induced by Other |
| | | Specified Psychoactive Substance |
| | 6C4E.73 | Impulse Control Disorder Induced by Other Specified Psychoactive |
| | | Substance |
| | 6C4E.Y | Other Specified Disorders Due to Use of Other Specified Psychoactive Substances, Including Medications |
| | 6C4E.Z | Disorders Due to Use of Other Specified Psychoactive Substances, Including Medications, Unspecified |
| 6C4F | Disorders | Due to Use of Multiple Specified Psychoactive Substances, including Medications |
| | 6C4F.0 | Episode of Harmful Use of Multiple Specified Psychoactive Substances, Including Medications |
| | 6C4F.1 | Harmful Pattern of Use of Multiple Specified Psychoactive Substances, Including Medications Specify pattern: 6C4F.1 episodic 6C4F.11 continuous 6C4F.1Z unspecified |

6C4F.2 Multiple Specified Psychoactive Substances Dependence

Specify pattern of substance use or remission: 6C4F.20 ... current use 6C4F.21 ... early full remission 6C4F.22 ... sustained partial remission 6C4F.23 ... sustained full remission 6C4F.2Z Multiple Specified Psychoactive Substances Dependence, unspecified Intoxication Due to Multiple Specified Psychoactive Substances Specify severity: 6C4F.3&XS5W Intoxication Due to Multiple Specified Psychoactive

Substances, Mild 6C4F.3&XS0T Intoxication Due to Multiple Specified Psychoactive Substances, Moderate

6C4F.3&XS25 Intoxication Due to Multiple Specified Psychoactive Substances, Severe

6C4F.4 Multiple Specified Psychoactive Substances Withdrawal Specify clinical presentation: 6C4F.40 ... uncomplicated 6C4F.41 ... with perceptual disturbances

- 6C4F.42 ... with seizures
- 6C4F.43 ... with perceptual disturbances and seizures
- 6C4F.4Z ... unspecified

6C4F.3

- 6C4F.5 Delirium Induced by Multiple Specified Psychoactive Substances Including Medications
- 6C4F.6 Psychotic Disorder Induced by Multiple Specified Psychoactive Substances

6C4F.70 Mood Disorder Induced by Multiple Specified Psychoactive Substances Specify clinical presentation: 6C4F.700 ... with depressive symptoms 6C4F.701 ... with manic symptoms 6C4F.702 ... with mixed depressive and manic symptoms 6C4F.70Z ... unspecified

- 6C4F.71 Anxiety Disorder Induced by Multiple Specified Psychoactive Substances
- 6C4F.72 Obsessive-Compulsive or Related Disorder Induced by Multiple Specified **Psychoactive Substances**
- 6C4F.73 Impulse Control Disorder Induced by Multiple Specified Psychoactive Substances
- 6C4F.Y Other Specified Disorders Due to Use of Multiple Specified Psychoactive Substances, Including Medications
- 6C4F.Z Disorders Due to Use of Multiple Specified Psychoactive Substances, Including Medications, Unspecified
- 6C46 Disorders Due to Use of Unknown or Unspecified psychoactive Substances
 - 6C4G.0 Episode of Harmful Use of Unknown or Unspecified Psychoactive Substances
 - 6C4G.1 Harmful Pattern of Use of Unknown or Unspecified Psychoactive Substances *Specify* pattern: 6C4G.1 ... episodic
 - 6C4G.11 ... continuous 6C4G.1Z ... unspecified
 - 6C4G.2 Unknown or Unspecified Psychoactive Substance Dependence Specify pattern of substance use or remission:

| | 6C4G.20 current use 6C4G.21 early full remission 6C4G.22 sustained partial remission 6C4G.23 sustained full remission 6C4G.2Z unspecified | | |
|-----------|---|--|--|
| 6C4G.3 | Intoxication Due to Unknown or Unspecified Psychoactive Substance Specify severity: 6C4G.3&XS5W Intoxication Due to Unknown or Unspecified Psychoactive Substance, Mild | | |
| | 6C4G.3&XS0T Intoxication Due to Unknown or Unspecified Psychoactive Substance, Moderate | | |
| | 6C4G.3&XS25 Intoxication Due to Unknown or Unspecified Psychoactive Substance, Severe | | |
| 6C4G.4 | Withdrawal Due to Unknown or Unspecified Psychoactive Substance Specify clinical presentation: 6C4G.40 uncomplicated 6C4G.41 with perceptual disturbances 6C4G.42 with seizures 6C4G.43 with perceptual disturbances and seizures 6C4G.4Z unspecified | | |
| 6C4G.5 | Delirium Induced by Unknown or Unspecified Psychoactive Substance | | |
| 6C4G.6 | Psychotic Disorder Induced by Unknown or Unspecified Psychoactive Substance | | |
| 6C4G.70 | Mood Disorder Induced by Unknown or Unspecified Psychoactive Substance Specify clinical presentation: 6C4G.700 with depressive symptoms 6C4G.701 with manic symptoms 6C4G.702 with mixed depressive and manic symptoms 6C4G.70Z unspecified | | |
| 6C4G.71 | Anxiety Disorder Induced by Unknown or Unspecified Psychoactive Substance | | |
| 6C4G.72 | Obsessive-Compulsive or Related Disorder Induced by Unknown or Unspecified Psychoactive Substance | | |
| 6C4G.73 | Impulse Control Disorder Induced by Unknown or Unspecified Psychoactive Substance | | |
| 6C4G.Y | Other Specified Disorders Due to Use of Unknown or Unspecified Psychoactive Substances | | |
| 6C4G.Z | Disorders Due to Use of Unknown or Unspecified Psychoactive Substances, Unspecified | | |
| Disorders | Due to Use of Non-Psychoactive Substances | | |
| 6C4H.0 | Episode of Harmful Use of Non-Psychoactive Substances | | |
| 6C4H.1 | Harmful Pattern of Use of Non-Psychoactive Substances Specify pattern: 6C4H.10 episodic 6C4H.11 continuous 6C4H.1Z unspecified | | |
| 6C4H.Y | Other Specified Disorders Due to Use of Non-Psychoactive Substances | | |
| 6C4H.Z | Disorders Due to Use of Non-Psychoactive Substances, Unspecified | | |

6C4H

6C4Z Disorders Due to Substance Use, Unspecified

DISORDERS DUE TO ADDICTIVE BEHAVIOURS

- 6C50Gambling DisorderSpecify context:6C50.06C50.0... predominantly offline6C50.1... predominantly online6C50.Z... unspecified
- 6C51Gaming Disorder
Specify context:
6C51.06C51.0... predominantly online
6C51.16C51.1... predominantly offline
6C51.Z
- 6C7Y Other Specified Disorders Due to Addictive Behaviours
- 6C7Y Disorders Due to Addictive Behaviours, Unspecified

IMPULSE CONTROL DISORDERS

- 6C70 Pyromania
- 6C71 Kleptomania
- 6C72 Compulsive Sexual Behaviour Disorder
- 6C73 Intermittent Explosive Disorder
- 6C7Y Other Specified Impulse Control Disorders
- 6C7Z Impulse Control Disorders, Unspecified

Secondary-Parented Categories

From Obsessive-Compulsive or Related Disorders:

- 6B25 Body-Focused Repetitive Behaviour Disorders (Primary Parent:)
 - 6B25.0 Trichotillomania (Hair Pulling Disorder)
 - 6B25.1 Excoriation (Skin Picking) Disorder
 - 6B25.Y Other Specified Body-Focused Repetitive Behaviour Disorders
 - 6B25.Z Body-Focused Repetitive Behaviour Disorders, Unspecified

From Disorders Due to Addictive Behaviours:

```
6C50Gambling DisorderSpecify predominantly online or offline:6C50.0... predominantly offline6C50.1... predominantly online6C50.Z... unspecified
```

- 6C51 Gaming Disorder *Specify* predominantly online or offline: 6C51.0 ... predominantly online 6C51.1 ... predominantly offline
 - 6C51.Z ... unspecified

From Disorders Due to Substance Use:

Substance-Induced Impulse Control Disorders

Specify substance class:

- 6C45.73 Cocaine-Induced Impulse Control Disorder
- 6C46.73 Stimulant-Induced Impulse Control Disorder Including Amphetamines, Methamphetamine or Methcathinone
- 6C47.73 Synthetic Cathinone-Induced Impulse Control Disorder
- 6C4E.73 Impulse Control Disorder Induced by Other Specified Psychoactive Substance
- 6C4F.73 Impulse Control Disorder Induced by Multiple Specified Psychoactive Substances
- 6C4G.73 Impulse Control Disorder Induced by Unknown or Unspecified Psychoactive Substance

From Secondary Mental or Behavioural Syndromes Associated with Disorders or Diseases Classified Elsewhere:

6E66 Secondary Impulse Control Syndrome (Primary Parent:)

DISRUPTIVE BEHAVIOUR OR DISSOCIAL DISORDERS

6C90 Oppositional Defiant Disorder

Specify whether chronic irritability-anger is present:

| 6C90.0 | Oppositional Defiant Disorder, with chronic irritability-anger |
|--------|---|
| | Specify limited or typical prosocial emotions: |
| | 6C90.00 with limited prosocial emotions |
| | 6C90.01 with typical prosocial emotions |
| | 6C90.0Z unspecified |
| 6C90.1 | Oppositional Defiant Disorder, without chronic irritability-anger |
| | Specify limited or typical prosocial emotions: |
| | 6C90.10 with limited prosocial emotions |
| | 6C90.11 with typical prosocial emotions |
| | 6C90.1Z unspecified |
| 6C90.Z | Oppositional Defiant Disorder, Unspecified |
| | |

6C91 Conduct-Dissocial Disorder

Specify age of onset:

| | 6C91.0 | Conduct-Dissocial Disorder, childhood onset |
|------|-----------|--|
| | | Specify limited or typical prosocial emotions: |
| | | 6C91.00 childhood onset with limited prosocial emotions |
| | | 6C91.01 childhood onset with typical prosocial emotions |
| | | 6C91.0Z childhood onset, unspecified |
| | 6C91.1 | Conduct-Dissocial Disorder, adolescent onset |
| | | 6C91.10 adolescent onset with limited prosocial emotions |
| | | 6C91.11 adolescent onset with typical prosocial emotions |
| | | 6C91.1Z adolescent onset, unspecified |
| | 6C91.Z | Conduct-Dissocial Disorder, Unspecified |
| 6C9Y | Other Spe | cified Disruptive Behaviour or Dissocial Disorders |

6C9Z Disruptive Behaviour or Dissocial Disorders, Unspecified

PERSONALITY DISORDERS AND RELATED TRAITS

6D10 Personality Disorder

- Specify severity:
 - 6D10.0 Mild Personality Disorder
 - 6D10.1 Moderate Personality Disorder

- 6D10.2 Severe Personality Disorder
- 6D10.Z Personality Disorder, Severity Unspecified
- QE50.7 Personality Difficulty (not classified as a mental disorder; listed here to assist in differential diagnosis)

Postcoordination for Personality Disorders:

For all above Personality Disorder categories, *specify* Prominent Personality Traits or Patterns using additional code(s):

6D11.0 Negative Affectivity
6D11.1 Detachment
6D11.2 Dissociality
6D11.3 Disinhibition
6D11.4 Anankastia
6D11.5 Borderline Pattern

Secondary-Parented Categories

From Secondary Mental or Behavioural Syndromes Associated with Disorders or Diseases Classified Elsewhere:

6E61 Secondary Personality Change

PARAPHILIC DISORDERS

- 6D30 Exhibitionistic Disorder
- 6D31 Voyeuristic Disorder
- 6D32 Pedophilic Disorder
- 6D33 Coercive Sexual Sadism Disorder
- 6D34 Frotteuristic Disorder
- 6D35 Other Paraphilic Disorder Involving Non-Consenting Individuals
- 6D36 Other Paraphilic Disorder Involving Solitary Behaviour or Consenting Individuals
- 6D3Z Paraphilic Disorders, Unspecified

FACTITIOUS DISORDERS

- 6D50 Factitious Disorder Imposed on Self
- 6D51 Factitious Disorder Imposed on Another
- 6D5Z Factitious Disorders, Unspecified

NEUROCOGNITIVE DISORDERS

6D70 Delirium Specify identified cause:

- 6D70.0 Delirium Due to Disease Classified Elsewhere
- 6D70.1 Delirium Due to Psychoactive Substances Including Medications *Specify* substance class: (*Note:* The categories below are from the Disorders Due to Substance Use grouping.)

- 6C40.5 Alcohol-Induced Delirium
- 6C41.5 Cannabis-Induced Delirium
- 6C42.5 Synthetic Cannabinoid-Induced Delirium
- 6C43.5 Opioid-Induced Delirium
- 6C44.5 Sedative, Hypnotic or Anxiolytic-Induced Delirium
- 6C45.5 Cocaine-Induced Delirium
- 6C46.5 Stimulant-Induced Delirium Including Amphetamines, Methamphetamine or Methcathinone
- 6C47.5 Synthetic Cathinone-Induced Delirium
- 6C49.4 Hallucinogen-Induced Delirium
- 6C4B.5 Volatile Inhalant-Induced Delirium
- 6C4C.5 MDMA or Related Drug-Induced Delirium, Including MDA
- 6C4D.4 Dissociative Drug-Induced Delirium Including Ketamine or PCP
- 6C4E.5 Delirium Induced by Other Specified Psychoactive Substance Including Medications
- 6C4F.5 Delirium Induced by Multiple Specified Psychoactive Substances Including Medications
- 6C4G.5 Delirium Induced by Unknown or Unspecified Psychoactive Substance
- 6D70.2 Delirium Due to Multiple Etiological Factors
- 6D70.Y Delirium, Other Specified Cause
- 6D70.Z Delirium, Unspecified or Unknown Cause
- 6D71 Mild Neurocognitive Disorder
- 6D72 Amnestic Disorder

Specify identified cause:

- 6D72.0 Amnestic Disorder Due to Diseases Classified Elsewhere
- 6D72.1 Amnestic Disorder Due to Psychoactive Substances Including Medications *Specify* substance class:
 - 6D72.10 Amnestic Disorder Due to Use of Alcohol
 - 6D72.11 Amnestic Disorder Due to Use of Sedatives, Hypnotics, or Anxiolytics
 - 6D72.13 Amnestic Disorder Due to Use of Volatile Inhalants
 - 6D72.12 Amnestic Disorder Due to Other Specific Psychoactive Substance Including Medications
- 6D72.Y Amnestic Disorder, Other Specified Cause
- 6D72.Z Amnestic Disorder, Unknown or Unspecified Cause

DEMENTIA

Specify identified causal condition:

6D80 Dementia Due to Alzheimer Disease Specify subtype of Alzheimer Disease: 6D80.0 ... with Early Onset

- 6D80.1 ... with Late Onset
- 6D80.2 ... with Cerebrovascular Disease
- 6D80.3 ... with Other Nonvascular Etiologies
- 6D80.Z ... Onset Unknown or Unspecified
- 6D81 Dementia Due to Cerebrovascular Disease
- 6D82 Dementia Due to Lewy Body Disease
- 6D83 Frontotemporal Dementia
- 6D84 Dementia Due to Psychoactive Substances Including Medications *Specify* substance class:
 - 6D84.0 Dementia Due to Use of Alcohol
 - 6D84.1 Dementia Due to Use of Sedatives, Hypnotic or Anxiolytics
 - 6D84.2 Dementia Due to Use of Volatile Inhalants
 - 6D84.Y Dementia Due to Other Specified Psychoactive Substance
- 6D85 Dementia Due to Diseases Classified Elsewhere *Specify* identified causal condition:
 - 6D85.0 Dementia Due to Parkinson Disease
 - 6D85.1 Dementia Due to Huntington Disease
 - 6D85.2 Dementia Due to Exposure to Heavy Metals and Other Toxins
 - 6D85.3 Dementia Due to Human Immunodeficiency Virus
 - 6D85.4 Dementia Due to Multiple Sclerosis
 - 6D85.5 Dementia Due to Prion Disease
 - 6D85.6 Dementia Due to Normal Pressure Hydrocephalus
 - 6D85.7 Dementia Due to Injury to the Head
 - 6D85.8 Dementia Due to Pellagra
 - 6D85.9 Dementia Due to Down Syndrome
 - 6D85.Y Dementia Due to Other Specified Diseases Classified Elsewhere
- 6D8Y Dementia, Other Specified Cause
- 6D8Z Dementia, Unknown or Unspecified Cause

Postcoordination for Dementia:

For all above Dementia categories, *specify* severity of Dementia by using additional code:

- XS5W Mild
- XS0T Moderate
- XS25 Severe

For all above Dementia categories, *specify* Behavioural or Psychological Disturbances in Dementia by using additional code(s) if applicable:

- 6D86.0 Psychotic Symptoms in Dementia
- 6D86.1 Mood Symptoms in Dementia
- 6D86.2 Anxiety Symptoms in Dementia
- 6D86.3 Apathy in Dementia

- 6D86.4 Agitation or Aggression in Dementia
- 6D86.5 Disinhibition in Dementia
- 6D86.6 Wandering in Dementia
- 6D86.Y Other Specified Behavioural or Psychological Disturbances in Dementia
- 6D86.Z Behavioural or Psychological Disturbances in Dementia, Unspecified

MENTAL OR BEHAVIOURAL DISORDERS ASSOCIATED WITH PREGNANCY, CHILDBIRTH OR THE PUERPERIUM

- 6E20 Mental or Behavioural Disorders Associated with Pregnancy, Childbirth or the Puerperium, without psychotic symptoms
- 6E21 Mental or Behavioural Disorders Associated with Pregnancy, Childbirth or the Puerperium, with psychotic symptoms
- 6E2Z Mental or Behavioural Disorders Associated with Pregnancy, Childbirth or the Puerperium, Unspecified

PSYCHOLOGICAL OR BEHAVIOURAL FACTORS AFFECTING DISORDERS OR DISEASES CLASSIFIED ELSEWHERE

- 6E40.0 Mental Disorder Affecting Disorders or Diseases Classified Elsewhere
- 6E40.1 Psychological Symptoms Affecting Disorders or Diseases Classified Elsewhere
- 6E40.2 Personality Traits or Coping Style Affecting Disorders or Disease Classified Elsewhere
- 6E40.3 Maladaptive Health Behaviours Affecting Disorders or Diseases Classified Elsewhere
- 6E40.4 Stress-Related Physiological Response Affecting Disorders or Diseases Classified Elsewhere
- 6E40.Y Other Specified Psychological or Behavioural Factors Affecting Disorders or Diseases Classified Elsewhere
- 6E40.Z Psychological or Behavioural Factors Affecting Disorders or Diseases Classified Elsewhere, Unspecified

SECONDARY MENTAL OR BEHAVIOURAL SYNDROMES ASSOCIATED WITH DISORDERS OR DISEASES CLASSIFIED ELSEWHERE

- 6E60 Secondary Neurodevelopmental Syndrome
 - 6E60.0 Secondary Speech or Language Syndrome
 - 6E60.Y Other Specified Secondary Neurodevelopmental Syndrome
 - 6E60.Z Secondary Neurodevelopmental Syndrome, Unspecified
- 6E61 Secondary Psychotic Syndrome *Specify* clinical presentation:
 - 6E61.0 ... with hallucinations
 - 6E61.1 ... with delusions
 - 6E61.2 ... with hallucinations and delusions
 - 6E61.3 ... with unspecified symptoms

6E62 Secondary Mood Syndrome

Specify clinical presentation:

- 6E62.0 ... with depressive symptoms
- 6E62.1 ... with manic symptoms
- 6E62.2 ... with mixed symptoms

- 6E62.3 ... with unspecified symptoms
- 6E63 Secondary Anxiety Syndrome
- 6E64 Secondary Obsessive-Compulsive or Related Syndrome
- 6E65 Secondary Dissociative Syndrome
- 6E66 Secondary Impulse Control Syndrome
- 6E68 Secondary Personality Change
- 6E69 Secondary Catatonia Syndrome
- 6E6Y Other Specified Secondary Mental or Behavioural Syndrome
- 6E6Z Secondary Mental or Behavioural Syndrome, Unspecified

MENTAL, BEHAVIOURAL OR NEURODEVELOPMENTAL DISORDERS

Mental, behavioural and neurodevelopmental disorders are syndromes characterised by clinically significant disturbance in an individual's cognition, emotional regulation, or behaviour that reflects a dysfunction in the psychological, biological, or developmental processes that underlie mental and behavioural functioning. These disturbances are usually associated with distress or impairment in personal, family, social, educational, occupational, or other important areas of functioning.

NEURODEVELOPMENTAL DISORDERS

Neurodevelopmental Disorders are behavioural and cognitive disorders arising during the developmental period that involve significant difficulties in the acquisition and execution of specific intellectual, motor, language, or social functions. In this context, arising during the developmental period is typically considered to mean that these disorders have their onset prior to the age of 18, regardless of the age at which the individual first comes to clinical attention. Although behavioural and cognitive deficits are present in many mental and behavioural disorders that can arise during the developmental period (e.g., Schizophrenia, Bipolar Disorder), only disorders whose core features are neurodevelopmental are included in this grouping. The presumptive aetiology for Neurodevelopmental Disorders is complex, and in many individual cases is unknown, but they are presumed to be primarily due to genetic or other factors that are present from birth. However, lack of appropriate environmental stimulation or adequate learning opportunities and experiences may also be contributory factors in Neurodevelopmental Disorders may also arise from injury, disease, or other insult to the central nervous system, when this occurs during the developmental period.

Neurodevelopmental Disorders include the following:

- 6A00 Disorders of Intellectual Development
- 6A01 Developmental Speech or Language Disorders
 6A01.0 Developmental Speech Sound Disorder
 6A01.1 Developmental Speech Fluency Disorder
 6A01.2 Developmental Language Disorder
- 6A02 Autism Spectrum Disorder
- 6A03 Developmental Learning Disorder
- 6A04 Developmental Motor Coordination Disorder
- 6A05 Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder
- 6A06 Stereotyped Movement Disorder
- 6A0Y Other Specified Neurodevelopmental Disorders

In addition, three categories from the grouping of Primary Tics and Tic Disorders in the Chapter on Diseases of the Nervous System (Chapter 8) are cross-listed here, with diagnostic guidance provided, because of their high co-occurrence and familial association with Neurodevelopmental Disorders. These include:

8A05.00 Tourette Syndrome 8A05.01 Chronic Motor Tic Disorder 8A05.02 Chronic Phonic Tic Disorder

General Cultural Considerations for Neurodevelopmental Disorders

• The evaluation of the Essential Features of most of the disorders in this section either depend on or are informed by standardized assessments. The cultural appropriateness of tests and norms used to assess intellectual, motor, language, or social abilities should be considered for each individual. Test performance may be affected by cultural biases (e.g., reference in test items to terminology or objects not common to a culture) and limitations of translation. Language proficiency must also be considered when interpreting test results. Where appropriately normed and standardized tests are not

available, assessment of the Essential Features of these disorders requires greater reliance on clinical judgment based on appropriate evidence and assessment.

6A00 Disorders of Intellectual Development

Essential (Required) Features:

- The presence of significant limitations in intellectual functioning across various domains such as perceptual reasoning, working memory, processing speed, and verbal comprehension. There is often substantial variability in the extent to which any of these domains are affected in an individual. Whenever possible, performance should be measured using appropriately normed, standardized tests of intellectual functioning and found to be approximately 2 or more standard deviations below the mean (i.e., approximately less than the 2.3rd percentile). In situations where appropriately normed and standardized tests are not available, assessment of intellectual functioning requires greater reliance on clinical judgment based on appropriate evidence and assessment, which may include the use of behavioural indicators of intellectual functioning (see Table 6.1).
- The presence of significant limitations in adaptive behaviour, which refers to the set of conceptual, social, and practical skills that have been learned and are performed by people in their everyday lives. Conceptual skills are those that involve the application of knowledge (e.g., reading, writing, calculating, solving problems, and making decisions) and communication; social skills include managing interpersonal interactions and relationships, social responsibility, following rules and obeying laws, as well as avoiding victimization; and *practical skills* are involved in areas such as self-care, health and safety, occupational skills, recreation, use of money, mobility and transportation, as well as use of home appliances and technological devices. Expectations of adaptive functioning may change in response to environmental demands that change with age. Whenever possible, performance should be measured with appropriately normed, standardized tests of adaptive behaviour and the total score found to be approximately 2 or more standard deviations below the mean (i.e., approximately less than the 2.3rd percentile). In situations where appropriately normed and standardized tests are not available, assessment of adaptive behaviour functioning requires greater reliance on clinical judgment based on appropriate assessment, which may include the use of behavioural indicators of adaptive behaviour skills (see Tables 6.2 through 6.4).
- Onset occurs during the developmental period. Among adults with Disorders of Intellectual Development who come to clinical attention without a previous diagnosis, it is possible to establish developmental onset through the person's history, i.e., retrospective diagnosis.

Severity specifiers:

The severity of a Disorder of Intellectual Development is determined by considering both the individual's level of intellectual ability and level of adaptive behaviour, ideally assessed using appropriately normed, individually administered standardized tests. Where appropriately normed and standardized tests are not available, assessment of intellectual functioning and adaptive behaviour requires greater reliance on clinical judgment based on appropriate evidence and assessment, which may include the use of behavioural indicators of intellectual and adaptive functioning provided in Tables 6.1 through 6.4.

Generally, the level of severity should be assigned on the basis of the level at which the majority of the individual's intellectual ability and adaptive behaviour skills across all three domains (i.e., conceptual, social, and practical skills) fall. For example, if intellectual functioning and two of three adaptive behaviour domains are determined to be 3 to 4 standard deviations below the mean, Moderate Disorder of Intellectual Development would be the most appropriate diagnosis. However, this formulation may vary according to the nature and purpose of the assessment as well as the importance of the behaviour in question in relation to the individual's overall functioning.

6A00.0 Disorder of Intellectual Development, Mild

In Mild Disorder of Intellectual Development, intellectual functioning and adaptive behaviour are found to be approximately 2 to 3 standard deviations below the mean (approximately 0.1 – 2.3 percentile), based on appropriately normed, individually administered standardized tests. Where standardized tests are not available, assessment of intellectual functioning and adaptive behaviour requires greater reliance on clinical judgment, which may include the use of behavioural indicators provided in Tables 6.1 through 6.4. Persons with Mild Disorder of Intellectual Development often exhibit difficulties in the acquisition and comprehension of complex language concepts and academic skills. Most master basic self-care, domestic, and practical activities. Affected persons can generally achieve relatively independent living and employment as adults but may require appropriate support.

6A00.1 Disorder of Intellectual Development, Moderate

• In Moderate Disorder of Intellectual Development, intellectual functioning and adaptive behaviour are found to be approximately 3 to 4 standard deviations below the mean (approximately 0.003 – 0.1 percentile), based on appropriately normed, individually administered standardized tests. Where standardized tests are not available, assessment of intellectual functioning and adaptive behaviour requires greater reliance on clinical judgment, which may include the use of behavioural indicators provided in Tables 6.1 through 6.4. Language and capacity for acquisition of academic skills of persons affected by Moderate Disorder of Intellectual Development vary but are generally limited to basic skills. Some may master basic self-care, domestic, and practical activities. Most affected persons require considerable and consistent support in order to achieve independent living and employment as adults.

6A00.2 Disorder of Intellectual Development, Severe

• In Severe Disorder of Intellectual Development, intellectual functioning and adaptive behaviour are found to be approximately 4 or more standard deviations below the mean (less than approximately the 0.003rd percentile), based on appropriately normed, individually administered standardized tests. Where standardized tests are not available, assessment of intellectual functioning and adaptive behaviour requires greater reliance on clinical judgment, which may include the use of behavioural indicators provided in Tables 6.1 through 6.4. Persons affected by Severe Disorder of Intellectual Development exhibit very limited language and capacity for acquisition of

academic skills. They may also have motor impairments and typically require daily support in a supervised environment for adequate care, but may acquire basic selfcare skills with intensive training. Severe and Profound Disorders of Intellectual Development are differentiated exclusively on the basis of adaptive behaviour differences because existing standardized tests of intelligence cannot reliably or validly distinguish among individuals with intellectual functioning below the 0.003rd percentile.

6A00.3 Disorder of Intellectual Development, Profound

• In Profound Disorder of Intellectual Development, intellectual functioning and adaptive behaviour are found to be approximately 4 or more standard deviations below the mean (approximately less than the 0.003rd percentile), based on individually administered appropriately normed, standardized tests. Where standardized tests are not available, assessment of intellectual functioning and adaptive behaviour requires greater reliance on clinical judgment, which may include the use of behavioural indicators provided in Tables 6.1 through 6.4. Persons affected by Profound Disorder of Intellectual Development possess very limited communication abilities and capacity for acquisition of academic skills is restricted to basic concrete skills. They may also have co-occurring motor and sensory impairments and typically require daily support in a supervised environment for adequate care. Severe and Profound Disorders of Intellectual Development are differentiated exclusively on the basis of adaptive behaviour differences because existing standardized tests of intelligence cannot reliably or validly distinguish among individuals with intellectual functioning below the 0.003rd percentile.

6A00.4 Disorder of Intellectual Development, Provisional

• Disorder of Intellectual Development, Provisional is assigned when there is evidence of a Disorder of Intellectual Development but the individual is an infant or child under the age of four, making it difficult to ascertain whether the observed impairments represent a transient delay. Disorder of Intellectual Development, Provisional in this context is sometimes referred to as Global Developmental Delay. The diagnosis can also be assigned in individuals 4 years of age of older when evidence is suggestive of a Disorder of Intellectual Development but it is not possible to conduct a valid assessment of intellectual functioning and adaptive behaviour because of sensory or physical impairments (e.g., blindness, pre-lingual deafness), motor or communication impairments, severe problem behaviours, or symptoms of another Mental, Behavioural, or Neurodevelopmental Disorder that interfere with assessment.

6A00.Z Disorders of Intellectual Development, Unspecified

Additional Clinical Features:

• There is no single physical feature or personality type common to all individuals with Disorders of Intellectual Development, although specific aetiological groups may have common physical characteristics.

- Disorders of Intellectual Development are associated with a high rate of co-occurring Mental, Behavioural or Neurodevelopmental Disorders. However, clinical presentations may vary depending on the individual's age, level of severity of the Disorder of Intellectual Development, communication skills, and symptom complexity. Some disorders, such as Autism Spectrum Disorder, Depressive Disorders, Bipolar or Related Disorders, Schizophrenia, Dementia, and Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder, occur more commonly than in the general population. Individuals with a co-occurring Disorder of Intellectual Development and other Mental, Behavioural, or Neurodevelopmental Disorders are at similar risk for suicide as individuals with mental disorders who do not have a co-occurring Disorder of Intellectual Development.
- Problem or challenging behaviours such as aggression, self-injurious behaviour, attention-seeking behaviour, oppositional defiant behaviour, and sexually inappropriate behaviour are more frequent among those with Disorders of Intellectual Development than in the general population.
- Many individuals with Disorders of Intellectual Development are more gullible and naïve, easier to deceive, and more prone to acquiescence and confabulation than people in the general population. This can lead to various consequences including greater likelihood of victimization, becoming involved in criminal activities, and providing inaccurate statements to law enforcement.
- Significant life changes and traumatic experiences can be particularly difficult for a person with Disorders of Intellectual Development. Whereas the timing and type of life transitions vary across societies, it is generally the case that individuals with Disorders of Intellectual Development need additional support adapting to changes in routine, structure, or educational or living arrangements.
- There are many medical conditions that can cause Disorders of Intellectual Development and that are, in turn, associated with specific additional medical problems. A variety of prenatal (e.g., exposure to toxic substances or harmful medications), perinatal (e.g., labour and delivery problems), and postnatal (e.g., infectious encephalopathies) factors may contribute to the development of Disorders of Intellectual Development, and multiple aetiologies may interact. Early diagnosis of the aetiology of a Disorder of Intellectual Development, when possible, can assist in the prevention and management of related medical problems (e.g., frequent thyroid disease screening is recommended for individuals with Down Syndrome). If the aetiology of a Disorder of Intellectual Development in a particular individual has been established, the diagnosis corresponding to that aetiology should also be assigned.
- Individuals with Disorders of Intellectual Development are at greater risk for a variety of health (e.g., epilepsy) and social (e.g., poverty) problems across the lifespan.

Boundary with Normality (Threshold):

• In Disorders of Intellectual Development, a measure of intelligence quotient (IQ) is not an isolated diagnostic requirement to distinguish disorder from normality, but should be considered a proxy measure of the 'significant limitations in intellectual functioning' that partially characterize Disorders of Intellectual Development. IQ scores may vary as a result of the technical properties of the specific test being used, the testing conditions, and a variety of other variables and also can vary substantially over the individual's development and life course. The diagnosis of Disorders of Intellectual Development should not be made solely based on IQ scores but must also include a comprehensive evaluation of adaptive behaviour.

- Scores on individually administered standardized tests of intellectual and adaptive functioning may vary considerably over the course of an individual's development, and it is quite possible that during the developmental period, a child may meet the diagnostic requirements of Disorders of Intellectual Development on one occasion but not another. Multiple testing on different occasions during the developmental trajectory is necessary to establish a reliable estimate of functioning.
- Special care should be taken in differentiating Disorders of Intellectual Development from normality when evaluating persons with communication, sensory, or motor impairments as well as those exhibiting behavioural disturbances; immigrants; persons with low literacy levels; persons with mental disorders; persons undergoing health treatments (e.g., pharmacotherapy); and persons who have experienced severe social or sensory deprivation. If not adequately addressed during the evaluation, these factors may reduce the validity of scores obtained on standardized or behavioural measures of intellectual and adaptive functioning. For example, the reliable use of standardized measures of intellectual functioning and adaptive behaviour may pose particular challenges among individuals with motor coordination and communication impairments, and assessments must be selected that are appropriate to the individual's capacities.
- What is sometimes termed 'Borderline Intellectual Functioning', defined as intellectual functioning between approximately 1 and 2 standard deviations below the mean, is not a diagnosable disorder. Nonetheless, such individuals may present many needs for supports and interventions that are similar to those of persons with Disorders of Intellectual Development.

Course Features:

- Disorders of Intellectual Development are lifespan conditions that typically manifest during early childhood and require consideration of developmental phases and life transitions whereby periods of relatively greater need may alternate with those where less support may be necessary.
- Disorders of Intellectual Development may show individual as well as aetiology-specific variation in developmental trajectories (i.e., periods of relative decline or amelioration in functioning). Intellectual functioning and adaptive behaviour can vary substantially across the lifespan. Results from a single assessment, particularly those obtained during early childhood, may be of limited predictive use as later functioning will be influenced by the level and type of interventions and supports provided.
- People with Disorders of Intellectual Development typically need exceptional supports throughout the life span, although the types and intensities of required supports often changes over time depending age, development, environmental factors, and life circumstances. Most people with Disorders of Intellectual Development continue to acquire skills and competencies over time. Providing interventions and supports—including education—assists with this process and, if provided during the developmental period, may result in lower support needs in adulthood.

Developmental Presentations:

• There is wide variability in the developmental presentation and developmental trajectories of individuals with Disorders of Intellectual Development. Tables 6.2 through 6.4 provide clinicians with some of the key areas of strengths and weaknesses typically observed at different time points across development (i.e., early childhood,

childhood, adolescence, and adulthood) in individuals with Disorders of Intellectual Development.

- Conditions related to Disorders of Intellectual Development may be suspected during the first days and months of life due to the presence of certain physical signs such as facial dimorphisms, congenital malformation, micro- or macrocephalia, low weight, hypotonia, physical growth retardation, metabolic problems and failure to thrive, among others.
- In older children, Disorders of Intellectual Development may manifest as problems in acquiring academic knowledge and abilities such as reading, writing, arithmetic, etc. Many children with Mild Disorder of Intellectual Development may not be referred for evaluation until school-aged. Some individuals may remain undiagnosed until much later, during adolescence or adulthood.
- The manifestations of Disorders of Intellectual Development during late adolescence and the first years of adulthood may be strongly influenced by the presence of challenges related to assuming adult roles, such as postsecondary education, employment, independent living, and adult relationships.
- Older adults with Disorders of Intellectual Development may present with a more rapid onset of Dementia or declining skills than older adults in the general population. They also have significantly more difficulty gaining access to necessary supports and appropriate health care for medical problems.

Culture-Related Features:

- The cultural appropriateness of tests and norms used to assess intellectual and adaptive functioning should be considered for each individual. Test performance may be affected by cultural biases (e.g., reference in test items to terminology or objects not common to a culture) and limitations of translation.
- In evaluating adaptive functioning, i.e., the individual's conceptual, social, and practical skills, the expectations of the individual's culture and social environment should be considered.
- Language proficiency must also be considered when interpreting test results, both in terms of whether the individual understood the instructions as well as its impact on verbal performance.

Sex- and/or Gender-Related Features:

- The overall prevalence of Disorders of Intellectual Development is slightly higher in males. The prevalence of some aetiologies of Disorders of Intellectual Development differs between males and females (e.g., X-linked genetic conditions such as Fragile X Syndrome are predominantly diagnosed in males whereas Turner Syndrome occurs exclusively in females).
- A number of associated features of Disorders of Intellectual Development differ between males and females, for example in the expression of problem behaviours and co-occurring Mental, Behavioural, or Neurodevelopmental Disorders. Males are more likely to exhibit hyperactivity and conduct disturbances whereas females are more likely to exhibit mood and anxiety symptoms.
- Reduced social value and expectations placed on females as compared to males in some societies may negatively affect the accurate identification and provision of supports for females with Disorders of Intellectual Development.

Boundaries with Other Disorders and Conditions (Differential Diagnosis):

- **Boundary with Developmental Speech and Language Disorders:** In Developmental Speech and Language Disorders, individuals exhibit difficulties in understanding or producing speech and language or in using language in context for the purposes of communication that is markedly below what would be expected given the individual's age and level of intellectual functioning. If speech and language abilities are significantly below what would be expected based on intellectual and adaptive behaviour functioning in an individual with a Disorder of Intellectual Development, an additional diagnosis of Developmental Speech and Language Disorder may be assigned.
- Boundary with Autism Spectrum Disorder: Autism Spectrum Disorder is characterized by persistent deficits in reciprocal social interaction and social communication, and by a range of restricted, repetitive, inflexible patterns of behaviour and interests. Although many individuals with Autism Spectrum Disorder present with the significant limitations in intellectual functioning and adaptive behaviour observed in Disorders of Intellectual Development, Autism Spectrum Disorder can also present without general limitations in intellectual functioning. In cases of Autism Spectrum Disorder where there are significant limitations in intellectual functioning and adaptive behaviour (i.e., 2 or more standard deviations below the mean or approximately less than the 2.3rd percentile) both the diagnosis of Autism Spectrum Disorder using the 'with Disorder of Intellectual Development' specifier and the diagnosis of a Disorder of Intellectual Development at the corresponding level of severity should be assigned. The diagnosis of Autism Spectrum Disorder in individuals with Severe and Profound Disorders of Intellectual Development is particularly difficult, and requires in-depth and longitudinal assessments. Because Autism Spectrum Disorder inherently involves social deficits, assessment of adaptive behaviour as a part of the diagnosis of a co-occurring Disorder of Intellectual Development should place greater emphasis on the conceptual and practical domains of adaptive functioning than on social skills.
- **Boundary with Developmental Learning Disorders:** Developmental Learning Disorders are characterized by significant and persistent difficulties in learning academic skills including reading, writing and arithmetic, with performance in these areas markedly below what would be expected for chronological age or intellectual level. Individuals with Disorders of Intellectual Development often present with limitations in academic achievement by virtue of significant generalized deficits in intellectual functioning. It is therefore difficult to establish the co-occurring presence of a Developmental Learning Disorder in individuals with a Disorder of Intellectual Development. However, Developmental Learning Disorders can co-occur in some individuals with Disorders of Intellectual Development if, despite adequate opportunities, acquisition of learning is significantly below what is expected based on established intellectual functioning. In such cases, both disorders may be diagnosed.
- **Boundary with Developmental Motor Coordination Disorder:** In Developmental Motor Coordination Disorder, individuals exhibit significant delays during the developmental period in the acquisition of gross and fine motor skills and impairment in the execution of coordinated motor skills that manifest in clumsiness, slowness, or inaccuracy of motor performance. Individuals with Disorders of Intellectual Development may also display such motor coordination difficulties that impact adaptive behaviour functioning. In contrast to those with Development Motor Coordination Disorder, individuals with Disorders of Intellectual Development limitations in intellectual functioning. However, if coordinated motor skills are significantly below

what would be expected based on level of intellectual functioning and adaptive behaviour and represent a separate focus of clinical attention, both diagnoses may be assigned.

- **Boundary with Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder:** In Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder, individuals show a persistent and generalized pattern of inattention and/or hyperactivity-impulsivity that emerges during the developmental period. If all diagnostic requirements for a Disorder of Intellectual Development are met and inattention and/or hyperactivity-impulsivity are found to be outside normal expected limits based on age and level of intellectual functioning with significant interference in academic, occupational, or social functioning, both diagnoses of Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder and a Disorder of Intellectual Development may be assigned.
- **Boundary with Dementia:** In Dementia, affected individuals, usually older adults, exhibit a decline from a previous level of functioning in multiple cognitive domains that significantly interferes with performance of activities of daily living. Both disorders can co-occur, and some adults with Disorders of Intellectual Development are at greater and earlier risk of developing Dementia. For example, individuals with Down Syndrome who exhibit a marked decline in adaptive behaviour functioning should be evaluated for the emergence of Dementia. In cases in which the diagnostic requirements for both a Disorder of Intellectual Development are met, both diagnoses may be assigned.
- **Boundary with other Mental and Behavioural Disorders:** Other Mental and Behavioural Disorders such as Schizophrenia or Other Primary Psychotic Disorders may include symptoms that interfere with intellectual functioning and adaptive behaviour. A Disorder of Intellectual Development should not be diagnosed if the limitations are better accounted for by another Mental and Behavioural Disorder. However, other Mental and Behavioural Disorders are at least as prevalent in individuals with Disorders of Intellectual Development as in the general population, and co-occurring diagnoses should be assigned if warranted. In evaluating Mental and Behavioural Disorders in individuals with Disorders of Intellectual Development, signs and symptoms must be assessed using methods that are appropriate to the individual's level of development and intellectual functioning, and may require a greater reliance on observable signs and the reports of others who are familiar with the individual.
- **Boundary with sensory impairments:** If not addressed, sensory impairments (e.g., visual, auditory) can interfere with opportunities for learning, resulting in apparent limitations in intellectual functioning or adaptive behaviour. If the observed limitations are solely attributable to a sensory impairment, a Disorder of Intellectual Development should not be assigned. However, prolonged sensory impairment throughout the critical period of development may result in the persistence of limitations in intellectual functioning or adaptive behaviour, despite later intervention, and an additional diagnosis of a Disorder of Intellectual Development may be warranted in such cases.
- **Boundary with effects of psychosocial deprivation:** Extreme psychosocial deprivation in early childhood can produce severe and selective impairments in specific mental functions such as language, social interaction, and emotional expression. Depending on the onset, level of severity and duration of the deprivation, functioning in these areas may improve substantially after the child is moved to a more positive environment. However, some deficits may persist even after a sustained period in an environment that provides adequate stimulation for development, and a diagnosis of a Disorder of Intellectual Development may be appropriate in such cases if all diagnostic requirements are met.

- **Boundary with neurodegenerative diseases:** Neurodegenerative diseases can be associated with Disorders of Intellectual Development but only if they have their onset in the developmental period (e.g., mucolipidosis I, Gaucher's disease type III). If a neurodegenerative disease co-occurs with a Disorder of Intellectual Development, both diagnoses should be assigned.
- **Boundary with Secondary Neurodevelopmental Syndrome:** If the diagnostic requirements of a Disorder of Intellectual Development are met and the symptoms are attributed to medical conditions with onset during the prenatal or developmental period, both Disorder of Intellectual Development and the underlying medical conditions should be diagnosed. If the diagnostic requirements of a Disorder of Intellectual Development are not met (e.g., limitations in intellectual functioning without limitations in adaptive functioning) and the symptoms are attributed to medical conditions with onset during the prenatal or developmental period, a diagnosis of Secondary Neurodevelopmental Syndrome should be assigned, together with the diagnosis corresponding to the underlying medical condition.

Table 6.1: Behavioural Indicators of Intellectual Functioning

Note: The presence or absence of particular behavioural indicators listed in the chart below is not sufficient to assign or defer a diagnosis of Disorder of Intellectual Development. Clinical judgment is a necessary component in determining whether an individual has a Disorder of Intellectual Development, and diagnosis relies on the following key assumptions being met: (1) Limitations in present functioning have been considered within the context of <u>community</u> <u>environments</u> typical of the individual's age peers and culture; (2) Valid assessment considered <u>cultural and linguistic diversity</u> as well as differences in communication, sensory, motor and behavioural factors; (3) Within an individual, <u>limitations are recognized to often coexist alongside strengths</u> and both were considered during the assessment; (4) Limitations are described, in part, to develop a <u>profile of needed supports</u>; and (5) It is recognized that with <u>appropriate supports over a sustained period</u>, the life functioning of the affected person generally will improve. Please consult the Clinical Descriptions and Diagnostic Requirements for Disorders of Intellectual Development and if applicable, Autism Spectrum Disorder, for guidance on how to determine the severity level.

| SEVERITY LEVEL | Early Childhood (Determination of severity should be reassessed after appropriate educational services and supports are provided) | Childhood & Adolescence (Determination of severity should be reassessed after appropriate educational services and supports are provided) | Adulthood (Determination of severity should be reassessed after appropriate educational services and supports are provided) |
|-------------------|--|---|--|
| MILD | By the end of this developmental period: Most will develop language skills and be able to communicate needs. Delays in the acquisition of language skills are typical and once acquired are frequently less developed than typically- developing peers (e.g., more limited vocabulary). Most can tell or identify their gender and age. Most can attend to a simple cause- effect relationship. Most can attend to and follow up to 2-step instructions. Most can make one-to-one correspondence or match to sample | During this developmental period, there is evidence of the emergence of or presence of the abilities listed below. Most can communicate effectively. Most can tell or identify their age. Most can initiate/invite others to participate in an activity. Most can communicate about past, present and future events. Most can attend to and follow up to 3-step instructions. Most can identify different denominations of money (e.g., coins) and count small amounts of money. Most can cross street intersections safely (look in both directions, obey | Most can communicate fluently. Many can tell or identify their birth date. Most can initiate/invite others to participate in an activity. Most can communicate about past, present, and future events. Most can attend to and follow up to 3-step instructions. Most can identify different denominations of money (e.g., coins) and count money more or less accurately. Most can orient themselves in the community and learn to travel to new places using different modes of transportation with instruction / training. |

| | tueffin signals). In contents with set | 0 1 (1 11 1 1 |
|---|---|--|
| (e.g., organize or match items according to shape, size, colour). | traffic signals). In contexts without busy intersections, most can follow | • Some can learn the road laws and meet requirements to obtain a driver's license. |
| Most can communicate their | socially acceptable rules necessary to | Travel is mainly restricted to familiar |
| immediate future goals (e.g., | ensure personal safety. | environments. |
| desired activities for the day). | Most can communicate their future | Most can cross residential street |
| • Most can express their likes and | goals and participate in their health | intersections safely (look in both |
| dislikes in relationships (e.g., who | care. | directions, wait for traffic to clear before |
| they prefer to spend time with), | • Most can identify many of their | crossing, obey traffic signals). In contexts |
| activities, food, and dress. | relatives and their relationships. | without busy intersections, most can |
| | • Most can apply existing abilities in | follow socially acceptable rules necessary |
| Literacy / Numeracy | order to build skills for future semi- | to ensure personal safety. |
| | skilled employment (i.e., involving the | Most can communicate their decisions |
| Most will develop emergent | performance of routine operations) and | about their future goals, health care, and |
| reading and writing skills. | in some cases skilled employment (e.g., | relationships (e.g., who they prefer to |
| Most will be able to recognize | requiring some independent judgment | spend time with). |
| letters from their name and some | and responsibility). | • Most can apply existing abilities in the |
| can recognize their own name in | • Most are naive in anticipating full | context of semi-skilled employment (i.e., |
| print. | consequences of actions or recognizing | involving the performance of routine |
| | when someone is trying to exploit them. | operations) and in some cases skilled |
| | Some can orient themselves in the | employment (e.g., requiring some independent judgment and responsibility). |
| | • Some can orient memserves in the community and travel to new places | Most remain naive in anticipating full |
| | using familiar modes of transportation. | consequences of actions or recognizing |
| | using familiar modes of transportation. | when someone is trying to exploit them. |
| | Literacy / Numeracy | Most have difficulty in handling complex |
| | | situations such as managing bank accounts |
| | • Most can read sentences with five | and long-term money management. |
| | common words. | 5 5 5 |
| | Most can count and make simple | Literacy / Numeracy |
| | additions and subtractions. | |
| | | • Most can read and write up to |
| | | approximately a level expected for |
| | | someone who has attended 7 to 8 years of |
| | | schooling (i.e., start of middle school), |

| MODERATE | Most will develop language skills and be able to communicate needs. Delays in the acquisition of language skills are typical and once acquired are often less developed than typically-developing peers (e.g., more limited vocabulary). Most can follow one-step directions. Most can self-initiate activities and participate in parallel play. Some develop simple interactive play. Some can attend to a simple cause- effect relationship. Most can distinguish between "more" and "less." Some can make one-to-one correspondence or match to sample (e.g., organize or match items according to shape, size, colour). Many can express their likes and dislikes in relationships (e.g., who they prefer to spend time with), activities, food, and dress. | Most can communicate their needs effectively. Most can tell or identify their age and gender. Most can initiate/invite others to participate in an activity. Most can communicate immediate experiences. Most can attend to and follow up to 2-step instructions. Some can cross residential street intersections safely (look in both directions, waiting for traffic to clear before crossing, obey lights and signal signals). In contexts without busy intersections, some can follow socially acceptable rules necessary to ensure personal safety. Some can go independently to nearby familiar places. Most can express their likes and diclikes in relationships (e.g., who they | and read simple material for information and entertainment. Most can count, understand mathematical concepts, and make simple mathematical calculations. Most can communicate with reasonable fluency in short sentences. Most can tell or identify their age. Most can initiate/invite others to participate in an activity. Most can communicate immediate experiences. Most can attend to and follow up to 2-step instructions. Most can cross residential street intersections safely (look in both directions, wait for traffic to clear before crossing, obey lights and signal signals). In contexts without busy intersections, some can follow socially acceptable rules necessary to ensure personal safety. Some can travel independently to familiar places. Most can communicate their preferences about their future goals, health care, and relationships (e.g., who they prefer to spend time with) and will often act in accordance with these preferences. Some can apply existing abilities in the context of semi-skilled employment (i e |
|----------|--|---|---|
| | | | - |

| SEVERE • Most will develop various simple non-verbal strategies to communicate basic needs. • Some can self-initiate activities. • Most can attend to and respond to others. • Most can separate one object from a group upon request. • Most can stop an activity upon request. • Most can express their likes and dislikes in relationships (e.g., who they prefer to spend time with), activities, food, and dress when given concrete choices (e.g., with visual aids). Literacy / Numeracy | future semi-skilled employment (i.e., involving the performance of routine operations) Most are naive in anticipating full consequences of actions or recognizing when someone is trying to exploit them. <i>Literacy / Numeracy</i> Most will develop emergent reading and writing skills. Most can recognize their own name in print. Most can choose correct number of objects Some can learn to count up to 10. Most can self-initiate activities. Most can attend to and recognize familiar pictures. Most can distinguish between "more" and "less." Most can separate one object from a group upon request. Most can differentiate locations and associate meanings (car, kitchen, bathroom, school, doctor's office, etc.) Most can express their likes and dislikes in relationships (e.g., who they prefer to spend time with), activities, | Most remain naive in anticipating full consequences of actions or recognizing when someone is trying to exploit them. <i>Literacy / Numeracy</i> Most can read sentences with three common words and can achieve a reading and writing level up to that expected of someone who has attended 4 to 5 years of schooling (i.e., several years of primary/elementary school). Most can choose correct number of objects. Most can use communication strategies to indicate preferences. Most can attend to and recognize familiar pictures. Most can follow 1-step instructions and stop an activity upon request. Most can separate one object from a group upon request. Most can differentiate locations and associated meanings (car, kitchen, bathroom, school, doctor's office, etc.) Most can communicate their preferences about their future goals, health care, and relationships (e.g., who they prefer to |
|---|---|---|
|---|---|---|

| | • Most can make rudimentary marks that are pre-cursors to letters on page. | food, and dress when given concrete choices (e.g., with visual aids). With support, some may be able to apply existing abilities in order to build skills for future unskilled employment (i.e., involving performing simple duties) or semi-skilled employment (i.e., involving performing routine operations). | spend time with) when given concrete choices (e.g., with visual aids). Some can apply existing skills to obtain unskilled employment (i.e., involving performing simple duties) or semi-skilled employment (i.e., involving performing routine operations) with appropriate social and visual/verbal supports. |
|----------|---|--|--|
| | | Literacy / Numeracy | Literacy / Numeracy |
| | | Most can recognize symbols.Many can recognize own name in print. | Most can recognize common pictures (e.g., house, ball, flower). Many can recognize letters from an alphabet. |
| PROFOUND | Many will develop non-verbal strategies to communicate basic needs. Most can attend to and respond to others. Most can start or stop activities with prompts and aids. Many can express their likes and dislikes in relationships (e.g., who they prefer to spend time with), activities, food, and dress when given concrete choices (e.g., with visual aids). <i>Literacy / Numeracy</i> They will not learn to read or write. | Most will develop strategies to communicate basic needs and preferences. Most can recognize familiar people in person and in photographs. Most can perform very simple tasks with prompts and aids. Some can separate one object from a group upon request. Some can differentiate locations and associated meanings (car, kitchen, bathroom, school, doctor's office, etc.) Many can express their likes and dislikes in relationships (e.g., who they prefer to spend time with), activities, food, and dress when given concrete choices (e.g., with visual aids). | Most will develop non-verbal strategies and some utterances /occasional words to communicate basic needs and preferences. Most can attend to and recognize familiar pictures. Most can perform very simple tasks with prompts and aids. Some can separate one object from a group upon request. Some can differentiate locations and associated meanings (car, kitchen, bathroom, school, doctor's office, etc.) Many can communicate their preferences about their future goals, health care, and relationships (e.g., who they prefer to spend time with) when given concrete choices (e.g., with visual aids). |

Table 6.2: Behavioural Indicators of Adaptive BehaviourEarly Childhood (up to 6 years of age)

The behavioural indicators below are intended to be used by the clinician in determining the level of severity of the Disorder of Intellectual Development either as a complement to or when properly normed, standardized tests are unavailable or inappropriate given the individual's cultural and linguistic background. Use of these indicators is predicated on the clinician's knowledge of and experience with typically developing individuals of comparable age. Unless explicitly stated, the behavioural indicators of intellectual functioning and adaptive behaviour functioning for each severity level are what are typically expected to be mastered by the individual by 6 years of age. Please consult the Clinical Descriptions and Diagnostic Requirements for Disorders of Intellectual Development and if applicable, Autism Spectrum Disorder, for guidance on how to determine the severity level.

| SEVERITY LEVEL | Conceptual | Social | Practical |
|-------------------|--|--|---|
| | Reasoning, planning, organizing, reading, writing, memory, symbolic/internal representation, communication skills. | Interpersonal competency (e.g., relationships), social judgment, emotion regulation. | Self-care, recreation, employment (including domestic chores), health and safety, transportation. |
| MILD | Most can perform basic listening skills with a 15- minute attention span. Most need help to sustain their attention for 30 minutes. Most are able to follow simple 2-step instructions. They need help following a 3-step or "if-then" type of instruction. Most can state their age and name and identify close family members when asked. Many have a 100-word vocabulary. Most ask "wh" question (who, what, where, why) but most will need help using pronouns and tense verbs. Most are not able to give a detailed account of their experiences. | Most can perform independently basic skills related to social interaction such as imitation, showing affection to familiar persons as well as friend-seeking behaviour, expressing emotions, and answering basic questions. Most will need frequent encouragement and assistance in offering help to others, sharing interests, or perspective taking. They are able to engage in play with others, even with minimal supervision although they will need assistance taking turns, following rules, or sharing. Most are able to demonstrate polite behaviour (saying "please", "thank you") although they may need help | Most will learn the majority of basic eating, washing face and hands, toileting, and self-care skills. Most will acquire independence in dressing (may need help to button/fasten clothes) and nighttime continence. Most can use simple household devices. Most will need supports with bathing, using utensils, toileting such as cleaning after passing stools, and brushing teeth. Most can learn the concept of danger and avoid hot objects. Most will be able to independently help with simple household chores, but will often need assistance with more complex tasks such as putting away clothes or cleaning up their rooms. |

| | Most will understand the simple concepts of time, space, distance and spatial relationships. <i>Literacy</i> Many will not learn reading/writing skills. If present, reading skills will be limited to identifying some letters of the alphabet. Only some will be able to recognize their own name in print. | apologizing, demonstrating appropriate behaviour with strangers, or waiting for the appropriate moment to speak in a social context. Most will need help to modify their behaviour in accordance to changing social situations or when there is a change in their routines. | With some assistance, most can learn the concept of money (although will be unable to learn the value of the different denominations, e.g., coins), can count to 10, and follow basic rules around the home. Will be unable to learn days of the week, learn and remember phone numbers. |
|----------|--|---|--|
| MODERATE | Most will independently point to common objects when asked and follow 1-step instructions. Some will need supports to perform basic skills such as following simple 2-step instructions. Most can state their own name. Most will have basic communication skills such as: formulating one-word requests, using simple phrases, using other people's customary ways of addressing (mommy, papa, sister) but will need help with full names. Most speak at least 50 words and name/point at least 10 objects when asked. Most are not able (or will need considerable support) to use past tense verbs, pronouns or "wh" questions. | Most are able to perform independently some of the basic skills related to social interaction, although they might need some help making new friends, answering basic social questions, or expressing their emotions. Most are able to play with peers and show interest in play/interact with others, but may need more supervision/supports to play cooperatively with others, play symbolically, take turns, follow rules of a game and share objects. Most will not be able to perform more complex social skills involving interpersonal interactions such as offering help to others, empathy, sharing their interests with others or perspective taking. | Most can learn the majority of basic eating skills, may need more assistance than their same-age peers with toilet training and dressing themselves (some help needed to button/fasten). Most will learn to ask to use the toilet, drink from a cup, feed themselves with a spoon, and some may become toilet trained during daytime. Will often need supports with brushing teeth, bathing, and using utensils. With some supports, most can learn to use simple household devices and carry out simple chores such as putting away their footwear. Most can learn the concept of danger although some assistance will be needed when using sharp objects (e.g., scissors). Many will be able to help with very simple household chores such as cleaning fruits and vegetables. |

| | Most will not learn reading or writing skills, but know how to use pens and pencils and make marks on a page. Most can perform independently the | Most will need help to perform basic | Most will not acquire the understanding of the concept of money and time. Most can learn many of the basic eating |
|----------|---|--|---|
| SEVERE | most basic skills such as wave goodbye, identify parent/caregiver, point to a desired object and point or gesture to indicate their preference, and understanding the meaning of yes and no. Most will need supports to point to/identify common objects, follow 1-step instructions, and sustain their attention to listen to a story for at least 5 minutes. Most will not be able to state their age correctly and will speak less than 50 recognizable words. They may need help formulating 1-word requests and using first names or nicknames of familiar people, naming objects, answering when called upon, and using simple phrases. | Most will need help to perform basic social skills such as imitation or showing interest and preferences in social interactions with their peers. Most are able to show interest when someone else is playful and to play simple games. Most will need significant supports to play in a cooperative way, play symbolically or seek others for play/leisure activities. Most will need significant help with transitions - changing from one activity to another or an unexpected change in routine. Most will need significant help using polite social responses such as "please" and "thank you". Most will not be able to engage in turntaking, following rules or sharing objects. | Most can learn many of the basic eating skills but will need substantially more assistance than their same-age peers with toilet training, learning to use a cup and spoon, and putting on clothes. Most can learn to use simple household devices with consistent supports. Most will have difficulty learning to master many self-care skills, including using the toilet independently. Most will not be able to learn the concept of danger and will require close supervision in areas such as the kitchen. Some may learn basic cleaning skills such as washing hands but will consistently need assistance. Most will not learn the concept of money, time, or numbers. |
| | Most will not learn reading and writing skills. | | |
| PROFOUND | • Most will master only the most basic communication skills such as turning | • Most may be able to perform only the most basic social skills such as smiling, orienting their gaze, looking at | • Most will need help performing even the most basic eating, dressing, drinking, and bathing skills. |

| their eye gaze and head towards a sound. They will need prompting to orient towards people in their environment, respond when their name is called, and understand the meaning of yes and no. They are able to cry when hungry or wet, smile and make sounds of pleasure, but it may be difficult to get their attention. | others/objects, or showing basic emotions. Some might be able to perform other basic social skills with considerable support/prompting, such as showing preference for people or objects, imitating simple movements and expressions, or engaging in reciprocal social interactions. Some can show interest when someone else is playful, but will need | Most will be unable to learn to be independent using the toilet, being dry during the day, bathing or washing self at the sink, using a fork and knife. Most will need constant supervision around potentially dangerous situations in the home and community. Most will be unable to clean up after themselves; will need help with even basic chores, such as picking up belongings to put away. |
|---|---|--|
| <i>Literacy</i>They will not learn to read or write. | considerable support to play simple games. Will have difficulty adapting to changes and transitions in activity/location. Most will be unable to follow rules of a | • Most will not be able to learn to independently use the telephone or other simple devices around the home. |
| | | |

Table 6.3: Behavioural Indicators of Adaptive BehaviourChildhood and Adolescence (6 to 18 years of age)

The behavioural indicators below are intended to be used by the clinician in determining the level of severity of the Disorder of Intellectual Development either as a complement to or when properly normed, standardized tests are unavailable or inappropriate given the individual's cultural and linguistic background. Use of these indicators is predicated on the clinician's knowledge of and experience with typically developing individuals of comparable age. Unless explicitly stated, the behavioural indicators of intellectual functioning and adaptive behaviour functioning for each severity level are what are typically expected to be mastered by the individual by 18 years of age. Please consult the Clinical Descriptions and Diagnostic Requirements for Disorders of Intellectual Development and if applicable, Autism Spectrum Disorder, for guidance on how to determine the severity level.

| SEVERITY LEVEL | Conceptual | Social | Practical |
|-------------------|--|---|---|
| | Reasoning, planning, organizing, reading, writing, memory, symbolic/internal representation, communication skills. | Interpersonal competency (e.g., relationships), social judgment, emotion regulation. | Self-care, recreation, employment (including domestic chores), health and safety, transportation. |
| MILD | Most will need some help to sustain their attention for 30-minute period. Most can follow 3-step instructions. Most will acquire sufficient communication skills to use pronouns, possessives and regular tenses, as well as be able to ask "wh" question (e.g., who, what, where, when or why). Many will need support to tell a narrative story or to give someone simple directions. They also need assistance to explain their ideas using multiple examples, detail short-term goals and steps to achieve them, stay on the topic in group conversations and move from one topic to another. | Some may have more concrete understanding of social situations and may need supports understanding some types of humor (i.e., teasing others), making plans and knowing to let others know about these plans as needed, control their emotions when faced with disappointment, knowing to avoid dangerous activities or situations that may not be in their best interest (e.g., taken advantage of or exploited). Some may need some supports initiating conversation, organizing social activities with others or talking about shared interests with peers/friends. | Most will learn to perform independently most dressing, toileting, and eating skills. Most will learn to independently manage activities of daily living such as brushing teeth, bathing and showering. Most will need some support getting around the community and being safe (e.g., although they will know to stay to the side of routes with car traffic) may continue to need support to check for traffic before crossing a street. Many may be vulnerable to being taken advantage of in social situations. May continue to need some supports for telling time, identifying correct day/dates on calendar, making and |
| | Literacy | poors, monus. | |

| | • Most will have reading and writing skills that are limited to approximately up to that expected of someone who has attended 3 or 4 years of primary/elementary school. | Some may need substantial support to talk about personal things, emotions, or understanding social cues. Most are able to play outdoor sports or other social games in groups although they need help to play games with more complex rules (e.g., board games). | being independent with basic health- maintaining behaviours. If available, many can learn to use computers and cell phones for school and play. Will learn basic work skills at nearly the same pace as their same-age peers but will require greater repetition and structure for mastery. |
|----------|--|--|---|
| MODERATE | Most need help to perform skills such as following instructions containing "ifthen" as well as sustaining their attention to listen to a story for at least a 15-minute period. Most can say at least 100 words, use negatives, use simple sentences and state their first and last name and their locality / place of residence. Some may need help using pronouns, possessives, or past tense verbs. Some may need supports telling basic parts of a story or asking "wh" questions (e.g., when, where, why, who, etc.). Most will not learn complex conversation skills (i.e., express their ideas in abstract manner or in more than one way). Literacy Most will have reading and writing skills that will be limited to approximately up to that expected of | Some may need support expressing their emotions or concerns, knowing when others might need their help, showing emotions appropriate to the situation / context, or knowing what others like or want. Most need considerable help initiating a conversation, waiting for the appropriate moment to speak, meeting friends and going on social outings or talking about shared interests with others. Most will need help following rules when playing simple games or going out with friends. Some will need support when changing routines and transitioning between activities/places. Some will need support in behaving appropriately in accordance to social situations and knowing what to do in social situations involving strangers. Most individuals will not be able to share with others about their past day's events/activities, will need supports managing conflicts or challenging | Most can learn to feed themselves, use the toilet, and dress (including putting shoes / footwear on correct feet). Most will often continue to need supports to attain independence for bathing and showering, brushing teeth, selecting appropriate clothing, being independent and safe in the home and community. Most will continue to have difficulty using a knife to cut food, use the cooking appliances safely, use household products safely, and do household chores. Most will not acquire the understanding of taking care of their health. Most will learn basic work skills but later than same-age peers. |

| | someone who has attended 2 years of primary/elementary school. May need support with reading simple stories, writing simple sentences, and writing more than 20 words from memory. Most will be able to say the names of a few animals, fruits, and foods prepared in the home. | social interactions and recognizing/avoiding dangerous social situations. | |
|--------|---|---|--|
| SEVERE | Most will be able to independently make simple one-word requests, use first names of familiar individuals and name at least 10 familiar objects. Some may need help following instructions and will not be able to use pronouns, possessives, regular past tenses, or state their age. With help, some may be able to ask "wh" questions (e.g., when, why, what, where, etc.), use at least 100 recognizable words, use negatives, and relate their experiences in simple sentences. <i>Literacy</i> Most will have reading and writing skills that will be limited to identifying some letters of the alphabet. Most will be able to count up to 5. | Some may need support demonstrating friend-seeking behavior, or engaging in reciprocal social interactions. Most need help expressing their emotions or showing empathy. Most will not know that they should offer help to others without cues or prompting, show appropriate emotions in social situations, engage in conversations or query others about their interests. Most need support to play cooperatively. Most need help with transitions - changing from one activity to another or an unexpected change in routine. With considerable help, some might be able to start/end a conversation appropriate Most will have difficulty following social rules as well as rules associated with games such as turn-taking or sharing toys. Most will be unable to | Most can learn to independently put on and take off clothing, feed themselves with hand or a spoon, and use the toilet. They will often continue to need supports to attain independence for putting shoes or other footwear on the correct feet, buttoning and fastening clothing, bathing and showering. Most individuals will not learn the rules and safe behaviours in the home and community, doing household chores or checking for correct change when purchasing items. Some will learn basic work skills but later than same-age peers. |

| | | participate in social or other games with complex rules. | |
|----------|--|--|---|
| PROFOUND | Most will have basic communication skills such as orienting their eye gaze and turning their head to locate a sound, responding to their name, getting a parent/caregiver's attention, expressing their needs, and demonstrating an understanding of the meaning of yes and no. With significant supports, some will be able to wave "good-bye", use their parent/caregiver's name, and point to objects to express their preferences. Most indicate when there are hungry or wet by making a vocalization or crying, smile, and make sounds to indicate they are happy/sad. Some may not be able to effectively use communication to get the attention of others in their environment. | Most will need some help to perform basic social skills such as showing interest and affection for persons familiar to them, engage in social interactions, or discriminate between acquaintances. Some can perform certain social skills such as imitation, showing interest in peers, or empathy. For some, transitioning between social contexts and activities will elicit negative reactions if not done with supports. Most will not be able to engage in cooperative social play and will need a lot of help modulating their behavior to different social cues. | Most will need exceptional supports with basic hygiene and washing, picking up after themselves, clearing their place at the kitchen table, being safe in the kitchen, and using hot water. Most will be unable to learn to prepare foods or assist in the kitchen, use simple household devices (e.g., switches, stoves, microwave). Most individuals will not learn rules and safe behaviours in the home and community. Most will require a lot of supervision to remain on task and be engaged in basic vocational or pre-vocational skills. |

Table 6.4: Behavioural Indicators of Adaptive BehaviourAdulthood (18+ year of age)

The behavioural indicators below are intended to be used by the clinician in determining the level of severity of the Disorder of Intellectual Development either as a complement to or when properly normed, standardized tests are unavailable or inappropriate given the individual's cultural and linguistic background. Use of these indicators is predicated on the clinician's knowledge of and experience with typically developing individuals of comparable age. The behavioural indicators of intellectual functioning and adaptive behaviour functioning for each severity level are what are typically expected to be mastered by the individual as an adult. Please consult the Clinical Descriptions and Diagnostic Requirements for Disorders of Intellectual Development and if applicable, Autism Spectrum Disorder, for guidance on how to determine the severity level.

| SEVERITY LEVEL | Conceptual | Social | Practical |
|-------------------|--|---|--|
| | Reasoning, planning, organizing, reading, writing, memory, symbolic/internal representation, communication skills. | Interpersonal competency (e.g., relationships), social judgment, emotion regulation. | Self-care, recreation, employment (including domestic chores), health and safety, transportation. |
| MILD | Most will master listening and communication skills, although some may need help to stay on topic in group conversations, move from one topic to another, express ideas in more than one way or states complete home address. Most will probably not be able to give complex directions and describe long-term goals. <i>Literacy</i> Most can read and understand material up to that expected of someone who has attended 3 or 4 years of primary/elementary school and will master some writing skills, although | Most can independently meet others for the purpose of making new friends, can participate in social outings on a regular basis, and talk about personal feelings. Most can independently initiate a conversation and talk about shared interests with others. Most can understand social cues and are able to regulate their conversation based on their interpretation of other people's feelings. Most are able to play complex social games and team sports, although may need supports with understanding the rules. Most can learn to weigh the possible consequences of their actions before making a decision in familiar situations | Most will be independent in household chores, being safe around the home, and using the telephone and TV; some will learn operating the gas or electric stove. Most will often continue to need some supports to attain independence with more complex domestic skills (e.g., small household repairs), comparative shopping for consumer products, following a healthy diet and being engaged in health promoting behaviours, caring for themselves when sick or knowing what to do when they are sick/ill. Many can learn to live and work independently, work at a part-time or full-time job with competitive wages – support at work will depend on the |

| | they may have difficulty writing reports and long essays. | but not in new or complex situations, and know right from wrong. Most need help recognizing when a situation or relationship might pose dangers or someone might be manipulating them for their own gain. Most can initiate planning of a social activity with others. Some can be engaged in an intimate relationship, whereas others might need more supports to do so. | level of complexity of the work and may fluctuate with life transitions. Some can learn to drive a motor vehicle or a bicycle, manage simple aspects of a bank account, prepare simple meals, and if available, use a computer or other digital devices. Many will learn to use public transport with minimal help. Most will continue to need supports with more complex banking needs, paying bills, driving in busy roads, and parenting skills. |
|----------|---|--|--|
| MODERATE | Most will need considerable support to be able to attend to various tasks for more than a 15-minute period as well as following instructions or directions from memory (i.e., with a 5-minute delay). Most will master the following communication skills: simple descriptions, using "wh" questions (e.g., what, when, why, where, etc.) or relating their experiences using simple sentences. With help, most are able to follow 3-step instructions. Most will continue frequently needing help with using language containing past tenses and describing their experiences in detail. Most will not learn more complex conversation skills (e.g., expressing ideas in more than one way). | Some will need help learning how to share interests or engaging in perspective taking. Some may need supports initiating conversations and introducing themselves to unfamiliar people. Most need significant supports engaging in regular social activities, planning social activities with others, understanding social cues, and knowing what are appropriate/inappropriate conversation topics. Most will need significant supports engaging in social activities requiring transportation. Most are unable to be engaged in more social or other games with complex rules (e.g., board games). Most will need help providing socially polite responses such as "please", "thank you". | Some will learn to master dressing (may need some help selecting appropriate clothing to wear for weather), washing, eating and toileting needs. Most are able to be safe around the home, use the telephone, use the basic features of a TV and use simple appliances / household articles (e.g., switches, stoves, microwave). Some may continue to need supports with bathing and showering, using more complex household appliances (e.g., stove) safely, meal preparation, or using cleaning products safely. Many will understand the function of money but struggle with making change, budgeting and making purchases without being told what to buy. Most will need supports being safe in the community and living independently. They will need |

| | • Most will acquire some reading and writing skills such as: letters of the alphabet, writing at least three simple words from an example, and writing their own first and last name. They will need significant supports to write simple sentences or read simple stories at about that expected of someone who has attended 2 years of primary/elementary school. | • Most are unable to recognize when a social situation might pose some danger to them (e.g., potential for abuse or exploitation). | substantial supports for employment – finding and keeping a job. Most will not likely be able to travel independently to new places, have a developed concept of time sufficient to tell time independently and know when they are late. |
|--------|---|---|---|
| SEVERE | Will often need life-long supports to recall and comply with instructions given 5 minutes prior, sustain their attention to a story for a 15-minute period. Most are able to listen and attend to a story for a period of at least 5 minutes. Most can make sounds or gestures to get the attention of individuals in their environment and can make their needs known. They may need help using simple phrases, describing objects and relating their experiences to others, speaks at least 100 recognizable words, using negatives, possessives and pronouns, and asking "wh" questions. <i>Literacy</i> Reading and writing skills will be limited to: identifying some letters of the alphabet, copying simple words | All will need help in social situations, showing and expressing their emotions in an appropriate manner, and engaging in a reciprocal conversation with others. Most can play simple social games such as catching and throwing a ball, but may need help choosing friends to play with. They need considerable help to play symbolically, follow the rules while playing games such as turn-taking or sharing toys. Most will need help with transition - changing from one activity to the next or an unexpected change in routine. Most will not spontaneously use polite forms such as "please", "excuse me", "thank you", etc. or respectful / customary ways of addressing others. They will need significant support starting, maintaining and ending conversations with others. Most do not recognize when a social situation might pose a danger to them (e.g., potential for abuse or | Most will need some supports for even basic personal hygiene, domestic skills, home and community skills. Most will be able to drink independently from a cup and learn to use basic utensils for eating. Some may continue to need supports getting dressed. Many may learn independent toileting if provided an established routine. Most will be unable to care for their own belongings, perform household chores independently, cooking, or care for their health. Most will need substantial supports to travel independently, plan and do shopping and banking of any sort. Most will require significant supports to be engaged in paid employment. |

| PROFOUND | from an example and attempt to write their name. Most are able to turn their head and eye gaze toward sounds in their environment and respond to their name when called. Most will use sounds and gestures to get parent/caregiver's attention, express their wants, and some will have the understanding of the meaning of yes | exploitation) or discern dangers potentially associated with strangers. Most will not spontaneously show interest in peers or unfamiliar individuals. With significant supports, most are able to imitate simple actions/behaviors or show concern for others. Most will not engage in reciprocal/back-and-forth conversation. | Most will need supports performing even the most basic self-care, eating, washing, and domestic skills. Some may learn independent toileting during the day but nighttime continence will be more difficult. Most will have difficulty picking out appropriate clothing and zipping and |
|----------|---|--|--|
| | and no. Some are able with prompting to wave good-bye, use their parent's/caregiver's name /customary ways of addressing others, and point to objects to express their preferences. Most will cry or make vocalizations when hungry or wet, smile, and make sounds of pleasure. Most are not able to follow instructions or story being told. Most will have only rudimentary knowledge of moving around within their house. <i>Literacy</i> Most will not learn to read or write. | Most will not spontaneously use polite forms such as "please", "excuse me", "thank you", etc. Most are unable to anticipate changes in routines. Social interactions with others will be very basic and limited to essential wants and needs. Most are unable to recognize when a social situation might pose some danger to them (e.g., potential for abuse or exploitation). | appropriate clothing and 2pping and snapping clothes. Most will need supervision and supports for bathing, including safely adjusting water temperature and washing/drying. Most will be unable to independently clean or care for their living environment, including clothing and meal preparation. All will need substantial supports with health matters, being safe in the home and community, learning the concept of days of the week and time of day. Most will be extremely limited in their vocational skills and engagement in employment activities will necessitate structure and supports. |

6A01 Developmental Speech or Language Disorders

Developmental Speech or Language Disorders are characterized by difficulties in understanding or producing speech and language or in using language in context for the purposes of communication. Developmental Speech of Language Disorders include:

6A01.0 Developmental Speech Sound Disorder6A01.1 Developmental Speech Fluency Disorder6A01.2 Developmental Language Disorder6A01.Y Other Specified Developmental Speech or Language Disorders

Regional, social, or cultural/ethnic language variations (e.g., dialects) must be considered when an individual is being assessed for language abilities. For example, phonological memory tasks may offer a less biased assessment compared to lexical tasks. A language history documenting all the languages the child has been exposed to since birth can assist in determining whether individual language variations are better explained by exposure to multiple languages rather than a speech or language pathology *per se*.

6A01.0 Developmental Speech Sound Disorder

Essential (Required) Features:

- Persistent errors of pronunciation, articulation, or phonology (i.e., how language-based sounds are combined in culture-typical speech) that manifest as developmentally typical speech sound errors that persist substantially beyond the expected age or as atypical speech sound errors for the language spoken (e.g., word initial consonant deletion for English-speaking children).
- The onset of speech sound difficulties occurs during the early developmental period.
- Speech sound difficulties result in significant limitations in the ability to communicate due to reduced intelligibility of speech.
- The speech errors are not better accounted for by a Disease of the Nervous System affecting the brain, peripheral nerves, or neuromusculature (e.g., cerebral palsy, myasthenia gravis), a sensory impairment (e.g., sensory neural deafness), or a structural abnormality (e.g., cleft palate) or another medical condition.

Additional Clinical Features:

- Children with Developmental Speech Sound Disorder may exhibit delays in the acquisition, production and perception of spoken language.
- Phonological speech sound errors may be consistent or inconsistent. They often involve classes of sounds (e.g., incorrectly producing sounds in the same manner), a different place of articulation, or changes in syllable structure (e.g., deletion of final consonants or reducing consonant clusters to single consonants).
- If the speech errors are consistently produced, familiar listeners may be able to accommodate and decode the speech. However, when the rate of speech increases even familiar listeners may not be able to understand the individual.
- Developmental Speech Sound Disorder may be associated with imprecision and inconsistency of oral movements required for speech especially in young children (also

called childhood apraxia or dyspraxia of speech) resulting in difficulty producing sequences of speech sounds, specific consonants and vowels, and appropriate prosody (intonation and rhythm of speech). There may be some associated oral-motor dysfunction affecting early feeding, sucking and chewing, blowing, and imitating oral movements and speech sounds but not with the weakness, slowness, or incoordination found in Dysarthria.

• Developmental Speech Sound Disorder commonly co-occurs with other Neurodevelopmental Disorders, such as Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder, Developmental Speech Fluency Disorder, and Developmental Language Disorder.

Boundary with Normality (Threshold):

• Children vary widely in the sequence and age at which they acquire speech sounds. Such normal variation does not reflect the presence of Developmental Speech Sound Disorder. In contrast, children with Developmental Speech Sound Disorder exhibit persistent problems that cause significant limitations in the ability to communicate due to reduced intelligibility of speech. Up until the age of 4 years, various speech sound errors are common among children with typically developing speech sound acquisition, but communication remains relatively intact despite these errors relative to same-aged peers.

Course Features:

- Many young children with Developmental Speech Sound Disorder experience remission by school-age. Among young children diagnosed in early childhood, up to 50 70% will exhibit academic difficulties throughout their schooling, even if the speech sound difficulties themselves have remitted.
- As compared with children and adolescents with a sole diagnosis of Developmental Speech Sound Disorder, those with a co-occurring Developmental Language Disorder are more likely to develop other Mental, Behavioural or Neurodevelopmental Disorders such as Anxiety or Fear-Related Disorders or Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder. They also exhibit greater difficulties academically, socially, and adaptively by late childhood and adolescence.

Developmental Presentations:

- Prevalence rates vary but generally decrease with age such that prevalence can be as high as 16% at age three or four, approximately 4% at age six, and 3.6% by age eight. Therefore, many pre-school children diagnosed with Developmental Speech Sound Disorder exhibit typical speech sound development by the time they begin school.
- Some children with symptoms of Developmental Speech Sound Disorder early in life may only experience interference with functioning when they enter school when the demands of the learning environment exceed their current abilities.
- Co-occurrence of other Neurodevelopment Disorders is more likely among children with persistent Developmental Speech Sound Disorder (whose speech sound errors continue beyond age eight or nine). In particular, these children are more likely to develop language impairments and reading difficulties, and tend to experience worse outcomes.

Sex- and/or Gender-Related Features:

- Developmental Speech Sound Disorder is more common in boys, especially at younger ages. Early speech difficulties in girls appear more likely to resolve by school age. Gender differences decline with age; the ratio of boys affected compared to girls appears to be 2:1 or 3:1 in early childhood and to decline to 1.2:1 by age 6.
- Boys are more likely to experience co-occurring language impairments.

Boundaries with Other Disorders and Conditions (Differential Diagnosis):

- **Boundary with Disorders of Intellectual Development:** Individuals with a Disorder of Intellectual Development may exhibit impaired speech production. However, individuals with Developmental Speech Sound Disorder do not typically also have significant limitations in intellectual functioning and adaptive behaviour. If speech production difficulties require separate clinical attention in the context of a Disorder of Intellectual Development, an additional diagnosis of Developmental Speech Sound Disorder may be assigned.
- **Boundary with Developmental Speech Fluency Disorder and Developmental** Language Disorder: Like Developmental Speech Sound Disorder, Developmental Speech Fluency Disorder and Developmental Language Disorder can result in reduced intelligibility that significantly affects communication. Developmental Speech Fluency Disorder is characterized by disruption of the normal rhythmic flow and rate of speech. Developmental Language Disorder is characterized by persistent difficulties in the acquisition, understanding, production or use of language. In contrast, Developmental Speech Sound Disorder is characterized by errors of pronunciation that are outside the limits of normal variation for chronological or developmental age.
- **Boundary with Selective Mutism:** Selective Mutism is characterized by consistent selectivity in speaking, such that a child demonstrates adequate speech production in specific situations, typically at home, but predictably fails to speak in others, typically at school. Selective Mutism can occur in the presence of Developmental Speech Sound Disorder, and both diagnoses may be assigned if warranted.
- **Boundary with Dysphonia:** Dysphonia is characterized by abnormal voice production or absences of vocal quality, pitch, loudness, resonance, or duration. It can be caused by voice strain or overuse, by structural laryngeal anomalies or by Diseases of the Nervous System. It may result in the distortion of speech sounds due to the abnormal voice quality. In contrast, Developmental Speech Sound Disorder involves the omission or substitution of speech sounds and also includes distortion of speech sounds (e.g., due to incorrect tongue placement) rather than abnormal voice quality characteristic of Dysphonia.
- **Boundary with Dysarthria:** Dysarthria is a motor speech disorder directly attributable to a Disease of the Nervous System or to either congenital or acquired brain injury. Dysarthria is characterized by difficulties with the range, rate, force, coordination, and sustainability of movements throughout the vocal tract (i.e., trunk, larynx, palate, tongue, lips, jaw, and face) that are required for speech. These motor difficulties often also cause frank difficulties in eating, drinking, swallowing or saliva control. A diagnosis of Developmental Speech Sound Disorder should not be assigned in these cases. Rather, a diagnosis of Secondary Speech or Language Syndrome should be assigned in addition to the associated medical condition if the speech sound difficulties are a specific focus of clinical attention.
- **Boundary with Secondary Speech or Language Syndrome:** The diagnosis of Developmental Speech Sound Disorder should not be assigned in the presence of a Disease of the Nervous System affecting the brain, peripheral nerves, or

neuromusculature (e.g., cerebral palsy, myasthenia gravis), sensory impairment (e.g., sensory neural deafness), or structural impairment (e.g., cleft palate), although speech sound production difficulties may be a presenting feature of any of these conditions. In these cases, a diagnosis of Secondary Speech or Language Syndrome should be assigned in addition to the associated medical condition if the speech sound difficulties are a specific focus of clinical attention.

6A01.1 Developmental Speech Fluency Disorder

Essential (Required) Features:

- Frequent or pervasive disruption of the normal rhythmic flow and rate of speech characterized by repetitions and prolongations in sounds, syllables, words, and phrases, as well as blocking (inaudible or silent fixations or inability to initiate sounds) and word avoidance or substitutions.
- The speech dysfluency is persistent over time.
- The onset of speech dysfluency occurs during the developmental period and speech fluency is markedly below what would be expected for age.
- Speech dysfluency results in significant impairment in social communication or in personal, family, social, educational, occupational or other important areas of functioning.
- The speech dysfluency is not better accounted for by a Disorder of Intellectual Development, a Disease of the Nervous System, a sensory impairment, or a structural abnormality.

Additional Clinical Features:

- Developmental Speech Fluency Disorder includes cluttering, in which speech tends to be rapid, erratic and dysrhythmic, with breakdown in fluency and clarity, often with deletion or collapsing of syllables and omissions of word endings.
- Developmental Speech Fluency Disorder may be accompanied by physical tension in the speech musculature, as well as body tension, struggle behaviour, and secondary mannerisms, such as facial grimacing, eye blinking, head movements, and arm and leg movements such as leg tapping or fist clenching.
- Developmental Speech Fluency Disorder is often accompanied by anxiety in anticipation of speaking and avoidance of speaking.
- The extent of the problem varies across situations and can be more severe when there is pressure to communicate.
- Developmental Speech Fluency Disorder may be associated with a broader range of speech and language abnormalities.
- Occasionally, onset of dysfluency can be related to a significant psychological event such as bereavement and is sometimes referred to as 'psychogenic stammering'. When this occurs during the developmental period, it may be diagnosed as Developmental Speech Fluency Disorder.
- Approximately 60% of children with Developmental Speech Fluency Disorder exhibit co-occurring Developmental Speech and Language Disorders.

• Among adolescents and adults with chronic speech dysfluencies, social anxiety is common and may exacerbate dysfluency. As many as 40 – 60% of these individuals meet the diagnostic requirements for Social Anxiety Disorder.

Boundary with Normality (Threshold):

• Many typically developing children show minor dysfluencies during the preschool years.

Course Features:

- The course of Developmental Speech Fluency Disorder may be relatively brief in many cases with the majority of children (65 85%) remitting, without intervention, prior to puberty. Among these children, recovery is typically within the first two years after onset.
- The impact of Developmental Speech Fluency Disorder may be evident as early as age 3, with impairments in emotional, behavioural, and social domains compared to typically-developing peers.
- A more persistent course is associated with male gender, family history of Developmental Speech Fluency Disorder; age at onset of greater than 3 to 4 years of age; duration of more than 1 year; and co-occurring Developmental Language Disorder. More severe presentations of the disorder in childhood are more likely to persist into adolescence and adulthood.

Developmental Presentations:

- Developmental Speech Fluency Disorder emerges early in the developmental period, typically between ages two-and-a-half and four years. Five to 8% of preschool children exhibit stuttering. Eighty to 90% of cases develop by age six, and onset after age nine is rare. The lifetime incidence of stuttering is estimated at 5% whereas population prevalence is estimated at approximately 1%.
- Dysfluency tends to emerge gradually and may worsen as the individual becomes aware of their fluency difficulty. This may lead to development of mechanisms to avoid dysfluency or the associated emotional discomfort, further impairing speech (e.g., avoiding public speaking or limiting speech to simple and short phrases).

Sex- and/or Gender-Related Features:

• Across the developmental period, boys are more commonly affected. Among preschool children, the ratio of boys to girls with Developmental Speech Fluency Disorder is estimated at 1.5:1. However, females are more likely to remit. Throughout school age and into adulthood, males are estimated to outnumber females by ratio of 4:1.

Boundaries with Other Disorders and Conditions (Differential Diagnosis):

• **Boundary with Developmental Speech Sound Disorder and Developmental Language Disorder:** Like Developmental Speech Fluency Disorder, Developmental Speech Sound Disorder and Developmental Language Disorder can result in reduced intelligibility that significantly affects communication. Developmental Speech Sound Disorder is characterized by errors of pronunciation that are outside the limits of normal variation for chronological or developmental age. Developmental Language Disorder is characterized by persistent difficulties in the acquisition, understanding, production or use of language. In contrast, Developmental Speech Fluency Disorder is characterized by disruption of the normal rhythmic flow and rate of speech. If the diagnostic requirements for both Developmental Fluency Disorder and another Developmental Speech and Language Disorder are met, both diagnoses may be assigned.

- **Boundary with Primary Tics or Tic Disorders, including Tourette Syndrome:** Dysfluency associated with other movements of the face or body that coincide in time with repetitions, prolongations, or pauses in speech flow needs to be differentiated from complex tics. Tics do not involve the marked speech dysfluency that characterizes a Developmental Speech Fluency Disorder.
- **Boundary with Diseases of the Nervous System:** Diseases of the Nervous System affecting the anatomical and functional mechanisms for speech output can sometimes give rise to speech dysfluency but are distinguished on examination by the presence of positive neurological signs.

6A01.2 Developmental Language Disorder

Essential (Required) Features:

- Persistent deficits in the acquisition, understanding, production or use of language (spoken or signed). Any of the following specific components of language skill may be differentially impaired, with relative weaknesses in some and relative strengths in others, or impairment may be more consistent across the different component skills.
 - The ability to decompose words into constituent sounds and mentally manipulate those sounds (i.e., phonological awareness).
 - The ability to use language rules, for example regarding word endings and how words are combined to form sentences (i.e., syntax, morphology, or grammar).
 - The ability to learn, understand, and use language to convey the meaning of words and sentences (i.e., semantics).
 - The ability to tell a story or have a conversation (i.e., narrative or conversational discourse).
 - The ability to understand and use language in social contexts, for example making inferences, understanding verbal humour and resolving ambiguous meaning (i.e., pragmatics).
- Language abilities are markedly below what would be expected for age.
- The onset of language difficulties occurs during the developmental period, typically during early childhood.
- Language deficits result in significant limitations in communication, with functional impact in daily life at home, school, or work.
- The language deficits are not better accounted for by a Disorder of Intellectual Development, Autism Spectrum Disorder, another Neurodevelopmental Disorder, a sensory impairment, or a Disease of the Nervous System, including the effects of brain injury or infection (e.g., due to trauma, stroke, epilepsy, or meningitis).

Specifiers for areas of language impairment:

The *main areas* of language ability currently affected in Developmental Language Disorders should be characterized using one of the following specifiers, although these may vary over time:

6A01.20 Developmental Language Disorder with impairment of receptive and expressive language

• This specifier should be applied when the ability to learn and understand spoken or signed language (i.e., receptive language) is markedly below the expected level for the individual's age and is accompanied by persistent impairment in the ability to produce and use spoken or signed language (i.e., expressive language).

6A01.21 Developmental Language Disorder with impairment of mainly expressive language

• This specifier should be applied when the ability to produce and use spoken or signed language (i.e., expressive language) is markedly below the expected level for the individual's age, but the ability to understand spoken or signed language (i.e., receptive language) is relatively intact.

6A01.22 Developmental Language Disorder with impairment of mainly pragmatic language

• This specifier should be applied when the Developmental Language Disorder is characterized by persistent and substantial difficulties with the understanding and use of language in social contexts, for example making inferences, understanding verbal humour, and resolving ambiguous meaning. Receptive and expressive language skills are relatively unimpaired, but pragmatic language abilities are markedly below the expected level for the individual's age and interfere with functional communication to a greater degree than with other components of language (e.g., syntax, semantics). This specifier should not be used if the pragmatic language impairment occurs in the context of a diagnosis of Autism Spectrum Disorder.

6A01.23 Developmental Language Disorder with other specified language impairment

• This specifier should be applied if the Developmental Language Disorder meets all of the diagnostic requirements of the disorder but the pattern of deficits in language is not adequately characterized by one of the other available specifiers.

Additional Clinical Features:

- In typical development, understanding and production of the different components of language are tightly correlated and develop in tandem. In Developmental Language Disorder, this developmental relationship may be out of step, with differential impairment in any of the component language skills.
- Many children with Developmental Language Disorder exhibit a discrepancy between verbal and nonverbal ability, but this is not a requirement for diagnosis.

- Developmental Language Disorder frequently co-occurs with other Neurodevelopmental Disorders, such as Developmental Speech Sound Disorder, Developmental Learning Disorder, Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder, Autism Spectrum Disorder and Developmental Motor Coordination Disorder.
- Developmental Language Disorder is often associated with difficulties in peer relationships, emotional disturbance and disruptive behaviours, particularly in schoolage children.
- Developmental Language Disorder often runs in families.
- Developmental Language Disorder can be a presenting feature in some individuals with specific chromosomal anomalies, including sex chromosome anomalies. Where available, chromosome testing can assist in identifying other health risks associated with specific underlying chromosomal abnormalities. If a specific chromosomal or other developmental anomaly is identified, this should be diagnosed in addition to the Developmental Language Disorder.
- Regression of language skills once acquired is not a feature of Developmental Language Disorder. Reported loss of early first words in the second year of life associated with a decline in social and communication behaviours —and, more rarely, loss of language skills after 3 years of age—may be a presentation of Autism Spectrum Disorder. Language abilities may also be lost due to Diseases of the Nervous System including acquired brain injury from stroke, trauma, or encephalopathy with or without overt epilepsy. Concomitant loss of physical skills with language abilities may be indicative of a neurodegenerative condition. When an underlying neurological cause has been identified, the condition should not be diagnosed as Developmental Language Disorder but rather as Secondary Speech or Language Syndrome, which should be assigned in addition to the appropriate diagnosis for the underlying condition.

Boundary with Normality (Threshold):

- Children vary widely in the age at which they first acquire spoken language and in the pace at which language skills become firmly established. The majority of pre-school children who acquire speech later than expected go on to develop normal language abilities. Very early delays in language acquisition are therefore not indicative of Developmental Language Disorder. However, the absence of single words (or word approximations) by the age of 2 years, the failure to generate simple two-word phrases by 3 years of age, and language impairments that are persistent over time are more likely to indicate Developmental Language Disorder, especially in the context of a known family history of language or literacy learning problems. By age 4 years, individual differences in language ability are more stable.
- Pronunciation and language use may vary widely depending on the social, cultural, and other environmental context (e.g., regional dialects). However, within any typical cultural setting, a Developmental Language Disorders is characterized by significant deficits in language abilities relative to the person's same-aged peers in the community. A bilingual environment is not a cause of persistent language learning impairment.

Course Features:

• The course of Developmental Language Disorder may vary with the type and severity of symptom profile: impairment of receptive and expressive language (as compared to those with impairment of mainly expressive language) is more likely to be persistent and is associated with subsequent difficulties in reading comprehension.

- The particular pattern of language strengths and deficits may change over the course of development.
- Unlike Developmental Speech Sound and Speech Fluency disorders, Developmental Language Disorder is more likely to be maintained throughout development and into adulthood: approximately 75% of individuals diagnosed with Developmental Language Disorder in childhood continue to meet the diagnostic requirements for the disorder in late adolescence. The impact of these impairments continues to be evident into early adulthood as behavioural, social, adaptive, and communication problems, often with lifelong social consequences.

Developmental Presentations:

- Developmental Language Disorder emerges early in development, though it can be challenging to distinguish typical variations from impairments in language development prior to age four. Diagnosis from age four onwards tends to yield a more stable symptom presentation and is more likely to be persistent.
- The prevalence of Developmental Language Disorder among children is estimated at 6 15%, but is more common among children with other co-occurring Neurodevelopmental Disorders.

Sex- and/or Gender-Related Features:

- Developmental Language Disorder appears to affect more boys than girls, though this gender ratio varies across clinical samples (2:1 to 6:1) and population-based samples (1.3:1).
- Boys appear to be more likely than girls to experience co-occurring Developmental Language and Developmental Speech Sound Disorders.

Boundaries with Other Disorders and Conditions (Differential Diagnosis):

- **Boundary with Disorders of Intellectual Development:** Individuals with Disorders of Intellectual Development may exhibit delays in language onset, development, or impairment in language abilities, accompanied by generalized impairment in intellectual and adaptive behaviour functioning. Developmental Language Disorder can occur with varying levels of intellectual ability. If the diagnostic requirements of a Disorder of Intellectual Development are met and language abilities are significantly below what would be expected based on the general level of intellectual functioning and adaptive behaviour, both diagnoses may be assigned.
- Boundary with Developmental Speech Sound Disorder and Developmental Speech Fluency Disorder: Like Developmental Language Disorder with impairment in mainly expressive language, Developmental Speech Sound Disorder and Developmental Speech Fluency Disorder can result in reduced intelligibility that significantly affects communication. Developmental Speech Sound Disorder is characterized by errors of pronunciation that are outside the limits of normal variation for chronological developmental age. Developmental Speech Fluency Disorder is characterized by disruption of the normal rhythmic flow and rate of speech. In contrast, Developmental Language Disorder is characterized by persistent difficulties in the acquisition, understanding, production or use of language.

- Boundary with Autism Spectrum Disorder: Individuals with Autism Spectrum Disorder • often present with delayed language development. The extent of functional language impairment, which refers to the capacity of the individual to use language for instrumental purposes (e.g., to express personal needs and desires), should be coded using the Autism Spectrum Disorder specifier for functional language impairment rather than using a separate diagnosis of Developmental Language Disorder. Moreover, pragmatic language impairment is a characteristic feature of Autism Spectrum Disorder even when other aspects of receptive and expressive speech are intact. Autism Spectrum Disorder is differentiated from Developmental Language Disorder by the presence of additional impairments in social reciprocity as well as restricted, repetitive and stereotyped behaviours. Unlike individuals with Autism Spectrum Disorder, individuals with Developmental Language Disorder are usually able to initiate and respond appropriately to social and emotional cues and to share interests with others, and do not typically exhibit restricted, repetitive and stereotyped behaviours. An additional diagnosis of Developmental Language Disorder should not be assigned to individuals with Autism Spectrum Disorder based solely on pragmatic language impairment. However, both diagnoses may be assigned if there are additional specific impairments in semantic, syntactic and phonological development.
- **Boundary with Developmental Learning Disorder:** Persistent deficits in the acquisition, understanding, production or use of language in Developmental Language Disorder may lead to academic learning difficulties, especially in literacy, including word reading, comprehension, and written output. If all diagnostic requirements for both Developmental Language Disorder and Developmental Learning Disorder are met, both diagnoses may be assigned.
- **Boundary with Selective Mutism:** Selective Mutism is characterized by consistent selectivity in speaking, such that a child demonstrates adequate language competence in specific social situations, typically at home, but predictably fails to speak in others, typically at school. In contrast, language difficulties associated with Developmental Language Disorder are apparent in all settings. However, Selective Mutism and Developmental Language Disorder can co-occur, and both diagnoses may be assigned if warranted.
- Boundary with Diseases of the Nervous System and sequelae of brain injury or infection: Language impairment may result from brain damage due to stroke, trauma, infection (e.g., meningitis/encephalitis), developmental encephalopathy with or without overt epilepsy, or syndromes of regression (e.g., Landau-Kleffner Syndrome or acquired epileptic aphasia). When language difficulties are a specific focus of clinical attention, a diagnosis of Secondary Speech or Language Syndrome should be assigned in addition to the associated medical condition.
- **Boundary with oral language delay or impairment due to hearing impairment:** All children presenting with language impairment should have an assessment for hearing impairment because language delay may be better accounted for by hearing impairment. Very young children with hearing impairment usually compensate for lack of oral language by using nonverbal modes of communication (e.g., gestures, facial expressions, eye gaze). However, presence of hearing loss does not preclude a diagnosis of Developmental Language Disorder if the language problems are disproportionate relative to the severity of hearing loss. Developmental Language Disorder can be assigned to children whose primary communication modality is through signing if exposure to and opportunity to learn sign language has been adequate and the other features of the disorder are present as they apply to sign language.

• **Boundary with other medical conditions involving loss of acquired language skills:** When loss of acquired language skills occurs as a result of another medical condition (e.g., a stroke), and language difficulties are a specific focus of clinical attention, a diagnosis of Secondary Speech or Language Syndrome should be assigned in addition to the associated medical condition rather than a diagnosis of Developmental Language Disorder.

6A01.Y Other Specified Developmental Speech or Language Disorders

- Persistent difficulties in understanding or producing speech or language or in using language in context for the purposes of communication that are not better accounted for by Developmental Speech Sound Disorder, Developmental Speech Fluency Disorder, Developmental Language Disorder, or Autism Spectrum Disorder.
- The speech or language difficulties are persistent over time.
- The onset of the speech or language difficulties occurs during the developmental period and speech or language abilities in the affected areas are markedly below what would be expected for age.
- The speech or language difficulties result in significant impairment in social communication, or in personal, family, social, educational, occupational or other important areas of functioning.
- The speech or language difficulties are not better accounted for by a Disorder of Intellectual Development, a Disease of the Nervous System, a sensory impairment, or a structural abnormality.

6A01.Z Developmental Speech or Language Disorders, Unspecified

6A02 Autism Spectrum Disorder

Essential (Required) Features:

- Persistent deficits in initiating and sustaining social communication and reciprocal social interactions that are outside the expected range of typical functioning given the individual's age and level of intellectual development. Specific manifestations of these deficits vary according to chronological age, verbal and intellectual ability, and disorder severity. Manifestations may include limitations in the following:
 - Understanding of, interest in, or inappropriate responses to the verbal or nonverbal social communications of others.
 - Integration of spoken language with typical complimentary non-verbal cues, such as eye contact, gestures, facial expressions and body language. These non-verbal behaviours may also be reduced in frequency or intensity.
 - Understanding and use of language in social contexts and ability to initiate and sustain reciprocal social conversations.
 - Social awareness, leading to behaviour that is not appropriately modulated according to the social context.
 - Ability to imagine and respond to the feelings, emotional states, and attitudes of others.
 - Mutual sharing of interests.
 - Ability to make and sustain typical peer relationships.

- Persistent restricted, repetitive, and inflexible patterns of behaviour, interests, or activities that are clearly atypical or excessive for the individual's age and sociocultural context. These may include:
 - Lack of adaptability to new experiences and circumstances, with associated distress, that can be evoked by trivial changes to a familiar environment or in response to unanticipated events.
 - Inflexible adherence to particular routines; for example, these may be geographic such as following familiar routes, or may require precise timing such as mealtimes or transport.
 - Excessive adherence to rules (e.g., when playing games).
 - Excessive and persistent ritualized patterns of behaviour (e.g., preoccupation with lining up or sorting objects in a particular way) that serve no apparent external purpose.
 - Repetitive and stereotyped motor movements, such as whole body movements (e.g., rocking), atypical gait (e.g., walking on tiptoes), unusual hand or finger movements and posturing. These behaviours are particularly common during early childhood.
 - Persistent preoccupation with one or more special interests, parts of objects, or specific types of stimuli (including media) or an unusually strong attachment to particular objects (excluding typical comforters).
 - Lifelong excessive and persistent hypersensitivity or hyposensitivity to sensory stimuli or unusual interest in a sensory stimulus, which may include actual or anticipated sounds, light, textures (especially clothing and food), odors and tastes, heat, cold, or pain.
- The onset of the disorder occurs during the developmental period, typically in early childhood, but characteristic symptoms may not become fully manifest until later, when social demands exceed limited capacities.
- The symptoms result in significant impairment in personal, family, social, educational, occupational or other important areas of functioning. Some individuals with Autism Spectrum Disorder are able to function adequately in many contexts through exceptional effort, such that their deficits may not be apparent to others. A diagnosis of Autism Spectrum Disorder is still appropriate in such cases.

Specifiers for characterizing features within the Autism Spectrum:

These specifiers enable the identification of co-occurring limitations in intellectual and functional language abilities, which are important factors in the appropriate individualization of support, selection of interventions, and treatment planning for individuals with Autism Spectrum Disorder. A specifier is also provided for loss of previously acquired skills, which is a feature of the developmental history of a small proportion of individuals with Autism Spectrum Disorder.

Co-occurring Disorder of Intellectual Development

Individuals with Autism Spectrum Disorder may exhibit limitations in intellectual abilities. If present, a separate diagnosis of Disorder of Intellectual Development should be assigned, using the appropriate category to designate severity (i.e., Mild, Moderate, Severe, Profound, Provisional). Because social deficits are a core feature of Autism Spectrum Disorder, the assessment of adaptive behaviour as a part of the diagnosis of a co-occurring Disorder of Intellectual Development should place greater emphasis on the intellectual, conceptual, and practical domains of adaptive functioning than on social skills.

If no co-occurring diagnosis of Disorder of Intellectual Development is present, the following specifier for the Autism Spectrum Disorder diagnosis should be applied:

• without Disorder of Intellectual Development

If there is a co-occurring diagnosis of Disorder of Intellectual Development, the following specifier for the Autism Spectrum Disorder diagnosis should be applied, in addition to the appropriate diagnostic code for the co-occurring Disorder of Intellectual Development:

• with Disorder of Intellectual Development

Degree of Functional Language Impairment

The degree of impairment in functional language (spoken or signed) should be designated with a second specifier. Functional language refers to the capacity of the individual to use language for instrumental purposes (e.g., to express personal needs and desires). This specifier is intended to reflect primarily the verbal and non-verbal expressive language deficits present in some individuals with Autism Spectrum Disorder and not the pragmatic language deficits that are a core feature of Autism Spectrum Disorder.

The following specifier should be applied to indicate the extent of functional language impairment (spoken or signed) relative to the individual's age:

- with mild or no impairment of functional language
- with impaired functional language (i.e., not able to use more than single words or simple phrases)
- with complete, or almost complete, absence of functional language

| | with mild or no impairment of functional language | with impaired functional language | with complete, or almost complete, absence of functional language |
|---|---|--------------------------------------|---|
| without Disorder of Intellectual Development | 6A02.0 | 6A02.2 | |
| with Disorder of Intellectual Development | 6A02.1 | 6A02.3 | 6A02.5 |

Table 6.5: Diagnostic Codes for Autism Spectrum Disorder

Table 6.5 shows the diagnostic codes corresponding to the categories that result from the application of the specifiers for Co-occurring Disorder of Intellectual Development and Degree of Functional Language Impairment.

6A02.Y Other Specified Autism Spectrum Disorder can be used if the above parameters do not apply.

6A02.Z Autism Spectrum Disorder, Unspecified can be used if the above parameters are unknown.

Loss of Previously Acquired Skills

A small proportion of individuals with Autism Spectrum Disorder may present with a loss of previously acquired skills. This regression typically occurs during the second year of life and most often involves language use and social responsiveness. Loss of previously acquired skills is rarely observed after 3 years of age. If it occurs after age 3, it is more likely to involve loss of cognitive and adaptive skills (e.g., loss of bowel and bladder control, impaired sleep), regression of language and social abilities, as well as increasing emotional and behavioural disturbances.

There are two alternative specifiers, to denote whether or not loss of previously acquired skills is an aspect of the clinical history, where x corresponds to the final digit shown in Table 6.5:

- 6A02.x0 without loss of previously acquired skills
- 6A02.x1 with loss of previously acquired skills

Additional Clinical Features:

- Common symptom presentations of Autism Spectrum Disorder in young children are parental or caregiver concerns about intellectual or other developmental delays (e.g., problems in language and motor coordination). When there is no significant impairment of intellectual functioning, clinical services may only be sought later (e.g., due to behaviour or social problems when starting school). In middle childhood, there may be prominent symptoms of anxiety, including Social Anxiety Disorder, school refusal, and Specific Phobia. During adolescence and adulthood, Depressive Disorders are often a presenting feature.
- Co-occurrence of Autism Spectrum Disorder with other Mental, Behavioural or Neurodevelopmental Disorders is common across the lifespan. In a substantial proportion of cases, particularly in adolescence and adulthood, it is a co-occurring disorder that first brings an individual with Autism Spectrum Disorder to clinical attention.
- Pragmatic language difficulties may manifest as an overly literal understanding of others' speech, speech that lacks normal prosody and emotional tone and therefore appears monotonous, lack of awareness of the appropriateness of their choice of language in particular social contexts, or pedantic precision in the use of language.
- Social naiveté, especially during adolescence, can lead to exploitation by others, a risk that may be enhanced by the use of social media without adequate supervision.

- Profiles of specific cognitive skills in Autism Spectrum Disorder as measured by standardized assessments may show striking and unusual patterns of strengths and weaknesses that are highly variable from individual to individual. These deficits can affect learning and adaptive functioning to a greater extent than would be predicted from the overall scores on measures of verbal and non-verbal intelligence.
- Self-injurious behaviours (e.g., hitting one's face, head banging) occur more often in individuals with co-occurring Disorder of Intellectual Development.
- Some young individuals with Autism Spectrum Disorder, especially those with a cooccurring Disorder of Intellectual Development, develop epilepsy or seizures during early childhood with a second increase in prevalence during adolescence. Catatonic states have also been described. A number of medical disorders such as Tuberous Sclerosis, chromosomal abnormalities including Fragile X Syndrome, Cerebral Palsy, early onset epileptic encephalopathies, and Neurofibromatosis are associated with Autism Spectrum Disorder with or without a co-occurring Disorder of Intellectual Development. Genomic deletions, duplications and other genetic abnormalities are increasingly described in individuals with Autism Spectrum Disorder, some of which may be important for genetic counselling. Prenatal exposure to valproate is also associated with an increased risk of Autism Spectrum Disorder.
- Some individuals with Autism Spectrum Disorder are capable of functioning adequately by making an exceptional effort to compensate for their symptoms during childhood, adolescence or adulthood. Such sustained effort, which may be more typical of affected females, can have a deleterious impact on mental health and well-being.

Boundary with Normality (Threshold):

- Social interaction skills: Typically developing individuals vary in the pace and extent to which they acquire and master skills of reciprocal social interaction and social communication. A diagnosis of Autism Spectrum Disorder should only be considered if there is marked and persistent deviation from the expected range of abilities and behaviours in these domains given the individual's age, level of intellectual functioning, and sociocultural context. Some individuals may exhibit limited social interaction due to shyness (i.e., feelings of awkwardness or fear in new situations or with unfamiliar people) or behavioural inhibition (i.e., being slow to approach or to 'warm up' to new people and situations). Limited social interactions in shy or behaviourally inhibited children, adolescents, or adults are not indicative of Autism Spectrum Disorder. Shyness is differentiated from Autism Spectrum Disorder by evidence of adequate social communication behaviours in familiar situations.
- Social communication skills: Children vary widely in the age at which they first acquire spoken language and the pace at which their speech and language become firmly established. Most children with early language delay eventually acquire similar language skills as their same-age peers. Early language delay alone is not strongly indicative of Autism Spectrum Disorder unless there is also evidence of limited motivation for social communication and limited interaction skills. An essential feature of Autism Spectrum Disorder is persistent impairment in the ability to understand and use language appropriately for social communication.
- **Repetitive and stereotyped behaviours:** Many children go through phases of repetitive play and highly focused interests as a part of typical development. Unless there is also evidence of impaired reciprocal social interaction and social communication, patterns of behaviour characterized by repetition, routine, or restricted interests are not by themselves indicative of Autism Spectrum Disorder.

Course Features:

- Although Autism Spectrum Disorder can present clinically at all ages, including during adulthood, it is a lifelong disorder the manifestations and impact of which are likely to vary according to age, intellectual and language abilities, co-occurring conditions and environmental context.
- Restricted and repetitive behaviours persist over time. Specifically, repetitive sensorimotor behaviours appear to be common, consistent, and potentially severe. During the school age years and adolescence, these repetitive sensorimotor behaviours begin to lessen in intensity and number. Insistence on sameness, which is less prevalent, appears to develop during preschool and worsen over time.

Developmental Presentations:

- *Infancy:* Characteristic features may emerge during infancy although they may only be recognized as indicative of Autism Spectrum Disorder in retrospect. It is usually possible to make the diagnosis of Autism Spectrum Disorder during the preschool period (up to 4 years), especially in children exhibiting generalized developmental delay. Plateauing of social communication and language skills and failure to progress in their development is not uncommon. The loss of early words and social responsiveness, i.e., a true regression, with an onset between 1 and 2 years, is unusual but significant and rarely occurs after the third year of life. In these cases, the specifier 'with loss of previously acquired skills' should be applied.
- *Preschool:* In preschool children, indicators of an Autism Spectrum Disorder diagnosis often include avoidance of mutual eye contact, resistance to physical affection, a lack of social imaginary play, language that is delayed in onset or is precocious but not used for social conversation; social withdrawal, obsessive or repetitive preoccupations, and a lack of social interaction with peers characterized by parallel play or disinterest. Sensory sensitivities to everyday sounds, or to foods, may overshadow the underlying social communication deficits.
- *Middle Childhood:* In children with Autism Spectrum Disorder without a Disorder of Intellectual Development, social adjustment difficulties outside the home may not be detected until school entry or adolescence when social communication problems lead to social isolation from peers. Resistance to engage in unfamiliar experiences and marked reactions to even minor change in routines are typical. Furthermore, excessive focus on detail as well as rigidity of behaviour and thinking may be significant. Symptoms of anxiety may become evident at this stage of development.
- *Adolescence:* By adolescence, the capacity to cope with increasing social complexity in peer relationships at a time of increasingly demanding academic expectations is often overwhelmed. In some individuals with Autism Spectrum Disorder, the underlying social communication deficits may be overshadowed by the symptoms of co-occurring Mental and Behavioural Disorders. Depressive symptoms are often a presenting feature
- *Adulthood:* In adulthood, the capacity for those with Autism Spectrum Disorder to cope with social relationships can become increasingly challenged, and clinical presentation may occur when social demands overwhelm the capacity to compensate. Presenting problems in adulthood may represent reactions to social isolation or the social consequences of inappropriate behaviour. Compensation strategies may be sufficient to sustain dyadic relationships, but are usually inadequate in social groups. Special interests, and focused attention, may benefit some individuals in education and

employment. Work environments may have to be tailored to the capacities of the individual. A first diagnosis in adulthood may be precipitated by a breakdown in domestic or work relationships. In Autism Spectrum Disorder there is always a history of early childhood social communication and relationship difficulties, although this may only be apparent in retrospect.

Culture-Related Features:

• Cultural variation exists in norms of social communication, reciprocal social interactions, as well as interests and activities. Therefore, signs of impairment in functioning may differ depending on cultural context. For example, in some societies it may be normative for children may avoid direct eye contact out of deference, which should not be misinterpreted as impairment in social interaction.

Sex- and/or Gender-Related Features:

- Males are four times more likely than females to be diagnosed with Autism Spectrum Disorder.
- Females diagnosed with Autism Spectrum Disorder are more frequently diagnosed with co-occurring Disorders of Intellectual Development, suggesting that less severe presentations may go undetected as compared to males. Females tend to demonstrate fewer restricted, repetitive interests and behaviours than males.
- During middle-childhood, gender differences in presentation differentially affect functioning. Boys may act out with reactive aggression or other behavioural symptoms when challenged or frustrated. Girls tend to withdraw socially, and react with emotional changes to their social adjustment difficulties.

Boundaries with Other Disorders and Conditions (Differential Diagnosis):

- Boundary with Disorders of Intellectual Development: Autism Spectrum Disorder may • be diagnosed in individuals with Disorders of Intellectual Development if deficits in initiating and sustaining social communication and reciprocal social interactions are greater than would be expected based on the individual's level of intellectual functioning and if the other diagnostic requirements for Autism Spectrum Disorder are also met. In these circumstances, both Autism Spectrum Disorder and the Disorder of Intellectual Development should be assigned and the 'with Disorder of Intellectual Development' specifier should be applied with the Autism Spectrum Disorder diagnosis. Because Autism Spectrum Disorder inherently involves social deficits, assessment of adaptive behaviour as a part of the diagnosis of a co-occurring Disorder of Intellectual Development should place greater emphasis on intellectual functioning and the conceptual and practical domains of adaptive functioning rather than on social skills. The diagnosis of Autism Spectrum Disorder in individuals with Severe and Profound Disorders of Intellectual Development is particularly difficult, and requires in-depth and longitudinal assessments. However, the diagnosis may be assigned if skills in social reciprocity and communication are significantly impaired relative to the individual's general level of intellectual ability.
- Boundary with Developmental Language Disorder with impairment of mainly pragmatic language: Individuals with Developmental Language Disorder with impairment of mainly pragmatic language exhibit language deficits involving the ability

to understand and use language in social context (i.e., with pragmatic language impairment). Unlike individuals with Autism Spectrum Disorder, individuals with Developmental Language Disorder are usually able to initiate and respond appropriately to social and emotional cues and to share interests with others, and do not typically exhibit restricted, repetitive and stereotyped behaviours. An additional diagnosis of Developmental Language Disorder should not be assigned to individuals with Autism Spectrum Disorder based solely on pragmatic language impairment. The other forms of Developmental Language Disorder (i.e., with impairment of receptive and expressive language or with impairment of receptive and expressive language) may be assigned in conjunction with a diagnosis of Autism Spectrum Disorder if language abilities are markedly below what would be expected on the basis of age and level of intellectual functioning.

- **Boundary with Developmental Motor Coordination Disorder:** Individuals with Autism Spectrum Disorder may be reluctant to participate in tasks requiring complex motor coordination skills, such as ball sports, which is better accounted for by a lack of interest rather than any specific deficits in motor coordination. However, Developmental Motor Coordination Disorder and Autism Spectrum Disorder can co-occur and both diagnoses may be assigned if warranted.
- **Boundary with Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder:** Specific abnormalities in attention (e.g., being overly focused or easily distracted), impulsivity, and physical hyperactivity are often observed in individuals with Autism Spectrum Disorder. However, individuals with Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder do not exhibit the persistent deficits in initiating and sustaining social communication and reciprocal social interactions or the persistent restricted, repetitive, and inflexible patterns of behaviour, interests, or activities that are the defining features of Autism Spectrum Disorder. However, Autism Spectrum Disorder and Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder can co-occur and both diagnoses may be assigned if diagnostic requirements are met for each. Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder symptoms may sometimes dominate the clinical presentation such that some Autism Spectrum Disorder symptoms are less apparent.
- **Boundary with Stereotyped Movement Disorder:** Stereotyped Movement Disorder is characterized by voluntary, repetitive, stereotyped, apparently purposeless (and often rhythmic) movements that arise during the early developmental period. Although such stereotypies are typical in Autism Spectrum Disorder, if they are severe enough to require additional clinical attention, for example because of self-injury, a co-occurring diagnosis of Stereotyped Movement Disorder may be warranted.
- **Boundary with Schizophrenia:** The onset of Schizophrenia may be associated with prominent social withdrawal, which is either preceded by or results in social impairments that may resemble social deficits seen in Autism Spectrum Disorder. However, unlike Autism Spectrum Disorder, the onset of Schizophrenia is typically in adolescence or early adulthood and extremely rare prior to puberty. Schizophrenia is differentiated on the basis of the presence of psychotic symptoms (e.g., delusions, hallucinations) as well as a lack of restricted, repetitive and inflexible patterns of behaviour, interests or activities during early childhood typical of Autism Spectrum Disorder.
- **Boundary with Schizotypal Disorder:** Interpersonal difficulties seen in Autism Spectrum Disorder may share some features of Schizotypal Disorder, such as poor rapport with others and social withdrawal. However, Autism Spectrum Disorder is also characterized by restricted, repetitive and stereotyped patterns of behaviour, interests, or activities.

- **Boundary with Social Anxiety Disorder:** Social Anxiety Disorder is associated with limited engagement in social interaction due to marked and excessive fear or anxiety about negatively evaluated by others. Typically, when interacting with familiar others or in social situations that do not provoke significant anxiety, there is no evidence of impairment. Individuals with Autism Spectrum Disorder may experience social anxiety, but they also exhibit more pervasive deficits in initiating and sustaining social communication and reciprocal social interactions than are typically observed in Social Anxiety Disorder. Persistent restricted, repetitive, and inflexible patterns of behaviour, interests, or activities are not features of Social Anxiety Disorder.
- **Boundary with Selective Mutism:** Selective Mutism is characterized by normal use of language and patterns of social communication in specific environments, such as the home, but not in others, such as at school. In Autism Spectrum Disorder, a reluctance to communicate may be observed in some social circumstances, but deficits in initiating and sustaining social communication and reciprocal social interactions and persistent restricted, repetitive, and inflexible patterns of behaviour, interests, or activities are evident across all situations and contexts.
- *Boundary with Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder:* Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder is characterized by persistent repetitive thoughts, images, or impulses/urges (i.e., obsessions) and/or repetitive behaviours (i.e., compulsions) that the individual feels driven to perform in response to an obsession, according to rigid rules, to reduce anxiety or to achieve a sense of 'completeness'. These symptoms may be difficult to distinguish from restricted, repetitive, and inflexible patterns of behaviour, interests, or activities that are characteristic of Autism Spectrum Disorder. Unlike those with Autism Spectrum Disorder, it is more common for individuals with Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder to consciously resist their impulsive/urges to perform compulsive behaviours (e.g., by performing alternate tasks), though adolescents and adults with Autism Spectrum Disorder may also try to suppress specific behaviours that they realize are socially undesirable. Autism Spectrum Disorder can also be distinguished from Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder by its characteristic deficits in initiating and sustaining social communication and reciprocal social interactions, which are not features of Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder.
- Boundarv with Reactive Attachment Disorder: Reactive Attachment Disorder is • characterized by inhibited emotionally withdrawn behaviour exhibited toward adult caregivers, including a failure to approach a discriminated, preferred attachment figure for comfort, support, protection or nurturance. The diagnosis of Reactive Attachment Disorder requires evidence of a history of severe neglect or maltreatment by the primary caregiver or other forms of severe social deprivation (e.g., certain types of institutionalization). Some individuals reared under conditions of severe deprivation in institutional settings exhibit autistic-like features including difficulties in social reciprocity and restricted, repetitive, and inflexible patterns of behaviour, interests, or activities. Also referred to as 'quasi-autism', affected individuals are differentiated from those with Autism Spectrum Disorder based on significant improvement of autism-like features when the child is moved to a more nurturing environment. Differentiation between Reactive Attachment Disorder and Autism Spectrum Disorder is difficult when no reliable evidence is available of intact social and communicative development prior to the onset of abuse or neglect.
- **Boundary with Disinhibited Social Engagement Disorder:** Disinhibited Social Engagement Disorder is characterized by persistent indiscriminate social approaches to unfamiliar adults and peers, a pattern of behaviour that may also be seen in some children with Autism Spectrum Disorder. The diagnosis of Disinhibited Social

Engagement Disorder requires evidence of a history of severe neglect or maltreatment by the primary caregiver or other forms of severe social deprivation (e.g., certain types of institutionalization). As in Reactive Attachment Disorder, Disinhibited Social Engagement Disorder may be associated with generalized deficits in social understanding and social communication. Although they may occur, restricted, repetitive, and inflexible patterns of behaviour, interests, or activities are not typical features of Disinhibited Social Engagement Disorder. Evidence of a significant reduction in symptoms when the child is provided a more nurturing environment suggests that Disinhibited Social Engagement Disorder is the appropriate diagnosis.

- **Boundary with Avoidant-Restrictive Food Intake Disorder:** Individuals with Avoidant-Restrictive Food Intake Disorder sometimes restrict their food intake based on food's sensory characteristics such as smell, taste, temperature, texture or appearance. Individuals with Autism Spectrum Disorder may also restrict intake of certain foods because of their sensory characteristics or because of inflexible adherence to particular routines. However, Autism Spectrum Disorder is also characterized by persistent deficits in initiating and sustaining social communication and reciprocal social interactions and persistent restricted, repetitive, and inflexible patterns of behaviour, interests, or activities that are unrelated to food. If a pattern of restricted eating in an individual with Autism Spectrum Disorder has caused significant weight loss or other health consequences or is specifically associated with significant functional impairment, an additional diagnosis of Avoidant-Restrictive Food Intake Disorder may be assigned.
- Boundary with Oppositional Defiant Disorder: Oppositional Defiant Disorder is characterized by a pattern of markedly noncompliant, defiant, and disobedient disruptive behaviour that is not typical for individuals of comparable age and developmental level. Individuals with Oppositional Defiant Disorder do not exhibit the social communication deficits or restricted, repetitive, and inflexible patterns of behaviour, interests, or activities that are characteristic of Autism Spectrum Disorder. However, oppositional or 'demand avoidant' behaviour may be prominent in some children with Autism Spectrum Disorder, whether or not they have accompanying intellectual or functional language impairments and may sometimes be the presenting feature in school-aged children with Autism Spectrum Disorder. Disruptive behaviour with aggressive outbursts (explosive rages) may also be a prominent feature of Autism Spectrum Disorder. Among individuals with Autism Spectrum Disorder, such outbursts are often associated with a specific trigger (e.g., a change in routine, aversive sensory stimulation, anxiety, or rigidity when the individual's thoughts or behaviour sequences are interrupted), rather than reflecting an intention to be defiant, provocative, or spiteful, as is more typical of **Oppositional Defiant Disorder.**
- **Boundary with Personality Disorder:** Personality Disorder is a pervasive disturbance in how an individual experiences and thinks about the self, others, and the world, manifested in maladaptive patterns of cognition, emotional experience, emotional expression, and behaviour. The maladaptive patterns are relatively inflexible, manifest across a range of personal and social situations, relatively stable over time, and of long duration. They are associated with significant problems in psychosocial functioning that are particularly evident in interpersonal relationships. The difficulties some individuals with Autism Spectrum Disorder exhibit in initiating and maintaining relationships because of their limited skills in social communication and reciprocal social interactions may resemble those seen in some individuals with Personality Disorder. However, unlike Autism Spectrum Disorder, persistent restricted, repetitive, and inflexible patterns of behaviour, interests, or activities with onset in early childhood are not characteristic features of Personality Disorder.

- **Boundary with Primary Tics or Tic Disorders including Tourette Syndrome:** Sudden, rapid, non-rhythmic, and recurrent movements or vocalizations occur in Primary Tics and Tic Disorders, which may resemble repetitive and stereotyped motor movements in Autism Spectrum Disorder. Unlike Autism Spectrum Disorder, tics in Primary Tics and Tic Disorders tend to be less stereotyped, are often accompanied by premonitory sensory urges, last for a shorter period, tend to emerge later in life, and are not experienced by the individual as soothing.
- Boundary with Diseases of the Nervous System and other medical conditions classified elsewhere: Loss of previously acquired skills in language and social communication in the second year of life is reported in some children with Autism Spectrum Disorder, but this rarely occurs after the age of 3 years. Diseases of the Nervous System and other medical conditions associated with regression (e.g., acquired epileptic aphasia or Landau Kleffner Syndrome, autoimmune encephalitis, Rett Syndrome) are differentiated from Autism Spectrum Disorder with loss of previously acquired skills on the basis of an early history of relatively normal social and language development and by the characteristic neurological features of these disorders that are not typical of Autism Spectrum Disorder.
- **Boundary with Secondary Neurodevelopmental Syndrome:** Autistic features may become manifest in the context of acquired medical conditions, such as encephalitis. Identifying accurately whether the symptoms are secondary to another medical condition or represent the exacerbation of pre-existing Autism Spectrum Disorder may have implications for both immediate management and prognosis. When autistic symptoms are attributable to another medical condition, a diagnosis of Secondary Neurodevelopmental Syndrome rather than Autism Spectrum Disorder may be assigned.

6A03 Developmental Learning Disorder

Essential (Required) Features:

- The presence of significant limitations in learning academic skills of reading, writing, or arithmetic, resulting in a skill level markedly below what would be expected for age. Limitations in learning are manifest despite appropriate academic instruction in the relevant areas. The limitations may be restricted to a single component of a skill (e.g., an inability to master basic numeracy, or to decode single words accurately and fluently) or affect all of reading, writing and arithmetic. Ideally, limitations are measured using appropriately normed and standardized tests.
- Onset of the limitations typically occurs during the early school years, but in some individuals may not be identified until later in life, including into adulthood, when performance demands related to learning exceed limited capacities.
- The limitations are not attributable to external factors, such as economic or environmental disadvantage, or lack of access to educational opportunities.
- The learning difficulties are not better accounted for by a Disorder of Intellectual Development or another Neurodevelopmental Disorder or another condition such as a motor disorder or a sensory disorder of vision or hearing.
- The learning difficulties result in significant impairment in the individual's academic, occupational, or other important areas of functioning. If functioning is maintained, it is only through significant additional effort.

Specifiers for area of learning impairment:

Specifiers should be applied to indicate which academic skills are significantly impaired at time of assessment. Multiple specifiers may be used to reflect limitations in multiple skills.

6A03.0 Impairment in reading

• Learning difficulties are manifested in impairments in reading skills such as word reading accuracy, reading fluency, reading comprehension.

6A03.1 Impairment in written expression

• Learning difficulties are manifested in impairments in writing skills such as spelling accuracy, grammar and punctuation accuracy, organization and cohesion of ideas in writing.

6A03.2 Impairment in mathematics

• Learning difficulties are manifested in impairments in mathematical skills such as number sense, memorization of number facts, accurate calculation, fluent calculation, accurate mathematic reasoning.

6A03.3 Other specified impairment of learning

• Learning difficulties are manifested in impairments in learning and performance of specific academic skills that are not adequately characterized by one of the other available specifiers.

6A03.Z Developmental Learning Disorder, Unspecified

Additional Clinical Features:

- Individuals with Developmental Learning Disorder typically show impairments in various underlying psychological processes that may include phonological processing, orthographic processing, memory (including working memory), executive functions (including inhibitory control, set-shifting, planning), learning and automatizing symbols (e.g., visual, alphanumeric), perceptual-motor integration, and speed of processing information. Deficits in these psychological processes are presumed to underlie a child's ability to learn academic skills. However, the precise relationship between psychological processes and outcomes related to learning capacity is not yet sufficiently understood to allow an accurate and clinically useful classification based on these underlying processes.
- Developmental Learning Disorder commonly co-occurs with other Neurodevelopmental Disorders, such as Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder, Developmental Motor Coordination Disorder, Developmental Language Disorder, and Autism Spectrum Disorder.

- Many individuals with Developmental Learning Disorder have marked difficulties selfregulating attention that are not sufficiently severe to warrant a separate diagnosis. Persistent difficulties with self-regulated attention can have deleterious effects on academic outcomes and may impede response to intervention or supports.
- Some individuals with Developmental Learning Disorder may be able to sustain seemingly adequate levels of key academic skills by using compensatory strategies or through devoting extraordinarily high levels of effort or time, or through the provision of unusually high levels of support. However, as demands for efficiency in key academic skills increase and exceed capabilities (e.g., in timed tests, reading or writing lengthy detailed reports for a tight deadline, heavier academic coursework as in high school, post-secondary education or professional training), the underlying learning difficulties tend to become more fully apparent.
- Ideally, determination of the presence of Developmental Learning Disorder includes assessment of academic achievement using standardized, appropriately normed instruments. However, a child's score on a single test measuring a particular academic skill is not sufficient to distinguish disorder from normality. Achievement scores may vary as a result of the technical properties of the specific test being used, the testing conditions, and a variety of other variables and also can vary substantially over the individual's development and life course. Therefore, the diagnosis of Developmental Learning Disorder should also consider various sources of evidence regarding the child's capacity for learning outside the formal testing situation.

Boundary with Normality (Threshold):

• The age of acquisition of academic skills varies and later acquisition of a particular academic skill compared to same-age peers does not necessarily indicate the presence of a disorder. Developmental Learning Disorder is distinguished by persistent difficulty in learning the particular academic skill(s) over time in spite of adequate educational opportunities, and by the severity of the impairment caused by the learning difficulty.

Course Features:

- Deficits in reading, mathematics and written expression identified in childhood typically persist through adolescence and into adulthood. These deficits may negatively impact a child's academic achievement, increase the likelihood of school dropout, and contribute to unemployment (or under-employment), particularly if left untreated, in adulthood. Along with school dropout, significant co-occurring depressive symptoms increase the risk of poor mental health outcomes, including suicide.
- The specific impairments associated with Developmental Learning Disorder vary with developmental stage and learning abilities, severity of deficits, complexity of tasks, presence of co-occurring Mental, Behavioural or Neurodevelopmental Disorders, and the availability of supports.
- Developmental Learning Disorder is also associated with heightened risk of suicidal ideation and suicide attempts across the lifespan.

Developmental Presentations:

• Developmental Learning Disorder is most often diagnosed during elementary school years because difficulties in reading, mathematics and/or writing typically only become evident when these topics are taught formally. Some individuals, however, may not be

diagnosed until later in development, including in adulthood. Pre-morbid impairments, such as in language, counting or rhyming, or fine motor control tend to be evident in early childhood prior to the diagnosis of Developmental Learning Disorder.

- The prevalence of Developmental Learning Disorder across all areas of impairment (i.e., reading, written expression, and mathematics) is estimated at affecting between 5 15% of school-aged children. Prevalence among adults is unknown, but estimated at approximately 4%. The prevalence of Developmental Learning Disorder for specific academic areas among school-aged children is variable (reading is estimated at 5 17%; mathematics: 6 7%; written expression: 7 15%).
- Children with Developmental Learning Disorder frequently exhibit co-occurring symptoms of Depressive Disorders, Anxiety or Fear-Related Disorders, and externalizing behaviour disorders, which may make it more difficult to assess their learning impairments.
- Children with Developmental Learning Disorder with impairment in one academic area are more likely to have co-occurring impairments in other areas

Culture-Related Features:

• Developmental Leaning Disorder with impairment in reading can be manifested differently by language. For example, in English, the presentation involves inaccurate and slow reading of single words. In other languages with more direct mapping between sounds and letters (e.g., Spanish, German) and non-alphabetic languages (e.g., Chinese, Japanese), the typical presentation is slow but accurate reading.

Sex- and/or Gender-Related Features:

- Developmental Learning Disorder is more common among boys. Boys may be more likely to be clinically referred because of greater prevalence of co-occurring Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder or problematic externalizing behaviours.
- Among community samples, the gender ratio of males to females ranges from 1.5:1 to 3:1. This ratio appears greater in clinical samples (estimated at 6:1).

Boundaries with Other Disorders and Conditions (Differential Diagnosis):

- **Boundary with Disorders of Intellectual Development:** Individuals with Disorders of Intellectual Development often present with limitations in academic achievement by virtue of significant generalized deficits in intellectual functioning. It is therefore difficult to establish the co-occurring presence of a Developmental Learning Disorder in individuals with a Disorder of Intellectual Development. Developmental Learning Disorder should only be diagnosed in the presence of a Disorder of Intellectual Development when the limitations in learning are significantly in excess of those usually expected for the individual's level of intellectual functioning.
- **Boundary with Developmental Language Disorder:** Persistent deficits in the acquisition, understanding, production or use of language in Developmental Language Disorder may lead to academic learning difficulties, especially in literacy, including word reading and written output. If all diagnostic requirements for both Developmental Language Disorder and Developmental Learning Disorder are met, both diagnoses may be assigned.

- **Boundary with Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder:** Many individuals with Developmental Learning Disorder have marked difficulties in self-regulating attention. However, unlike in Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder, the limitations in acquisition of academic skills in Developmental Learning Disorder are not solely a function of a child's ability to sustain attention on academic tasks or appropriately modulate their activity level. The co-occurrence of Developmental Learning Disorder and Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder is common and both disorders may be diagnosed if diagnostic requirements are met.
- **Boundary with sensory impairments:** Developmental Learning Disorder must be differentiated from learning difficulties that arise because of sensory impairments in vision or hearing. However, individuals with vision and hearing problems for which appropriate accommodations have been made may also have co-occurring Developmental Learning Disorder.
- **Boundary with neurodegenerative diseases:** Developmental Learning Disorder is distinguished from learning difficulties that occur after the developmental period due to neurodegenerative diseases or to injury (e.g., traumatic brain injury) by the fact that in the latter conditions there is a loss of previously acquired academic skills and previous capacity for learning new skills.

6A04 Developmental Motor Coordination Disorder

Essential (Required) Features:

- Significant delay in the acquisition of gross or fine motor skills and impairment in the execution of coordinated motor skills manifesting as clumsiness, slowness, or inaccuracy of motor performance.
- Coordinated motor skills are markedly below that expected on the basis of age.
- Onset of coordinated motor skill difficulties occurs during the developmental period and is typically apparent from early childhood.
- Coordinated motor skills difficulties cause significant and persistent limitations in activities of daily living, school work, vocation and leisure activities, or other important areas of functioning.
- Difficulties with coordinated motor skills are not are not better accounted for by a Disease of the Nervous System, Disease of the Musculoskeletal System or Connective Tissue, sensory impairment, or a Disorder of Intellectual Development.

Additional Clinical Features:

- Young children with Developmental Motor Coordination Disorder may be delayed in achieving motor milestones (e.g., sitting, crawling, walking), although many achieve typical early motor milestones. Acquisition of skills such as negotiating stairs, pedalling, buttoning shirts, completing puzzles, tying shoes, and using zippers may be delayed or pose difficulties. Even when a given skill is achieved, movement execution may appear awkward, slow, or less precise than that of peers. Children may drop things, stumble, bump into obstacles, or fall more frequently than peers.
- Developmental Motor Coordination Disorder may affect primarily gross motor functioning, primarily fine motor functioning, or both aspects of motor functioning.

- Manifestations of Developmental Motor Coordination Disorder typically persist into adult life. Older children and adults with Developmental Motor Coordination Disorder may be slow or inaccurate in a variety of activities requiring fine or gross motor skills, such as team sports (especially ball sports), bicycling, handwriting, assembling models or other objects, or drawing maps.
- Other Neurodevelopmental Disorders commonly co-occur with Developmental Motor Coordination Disorder. In addition to Disorders of Intellectual Development, Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder, and Autism Spectrum Disorder (see above), this also includes Developmental Speech Sound Disorder (particularly difficulties with articulation), Developmental Language Disorder and Developmental Learning Disorder. Although the presence of other Neurodevelopmental Disorders does not preclude the diagnosis of Developmental Motor Coordination Disorder, these disorders may also interfere with the execution of activities of daily living, school work, and vocational and leisure activities that require coordinated motor skills. Co-occurrence therefore complicates assessment and requires clinical judgment in attributing limitations in activities that require coordinated motor skills to a specific diagnosis.

Boundary with Normality (Threshold):

- There is considerable variation in the age of acquisition of many motor skills and a lack of stability of measurement in early childhood. Onset of Developmental Motor Coordination Disorder typically occurs during the early developmental period, but differentiation from typical development before the age of 4 years is difficult due to the variability in motor development and skill acquisition throughout early childhood. Therefore, the diagnosis of Developmental Motor Coordination Disorder is usually not made before 5 years of age.
- Performance of motor skills should ideally be assessed using appropriately normed, individually administered, culturally appropriate standardized tests of gross and fine motor coordination, and should include evaluation of the impact of symptoms at home and at school (or, in adults, in the work place). Key features for assessment are persistence of motor skill impairment over time, severity of impairment, and pervasiveness of impact on functioning.
- Developmental Motor Coordination Disorder often co-occurs with other Neurodevelopmental Disorders. Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder is most common (an estimated 50% of cases), as well as Developmental Speech and Language Disorder, Developmental Learning Disorder (most often with impairments in reading and written expression), and Autism Spectrum Disorder.

Course Features:

- Though there may be improvement in symptoms over time with some children experiencing a complete remission of symptoms, the course of Developmental Motor Coordination Disorder is typically chronic, persisting into adolescence and adulthood in up to 50 – 70% of cases. The persistence of Developmental Motor Coordination Disorder into adulthood often impacts social and psychological functioning as well as physical health.
- The presence of other co-occurring Neurodevelopmental Disorders, such as Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder, may further complicate the course of Developmental Motor Coordination Disorder. Individuals with co-occurring disorders typically experience more impairment than individuals with a single diagnosis.

Developmental Presentations:

- The prevalence of Developmental Motor Coordination Disorder is approximately 5-6% of school-aged children (5–11 years), though up to 10% of children may have less severe difficulties with motor skills that still impact academic and social functioning.
- The manifestation of Developmental Motor Coordination Disorder symptoms varies with developmental stage:
 - *Preschool:* In preschool children, delays in meeting one or more motor milestones (e.g., sitting, crawling, walking) or in developing specific skills (e.g., climbing stairs, buttoning clothing, tying shoes) may be evident.
 - *Middle Childhood:* In middle childhood, symptoms may be evident in activities such as handwriting, playing with a ball, or building puzzles or models.
 - Adolescence and adulthood: By adolescence, difficulties in motor coordination may manifest in attempts to master new skills, such as driving, using tools, or note taking.
 - Across all developmental stages, even once a skill is acquired, the execution of movements tends to be more awkward and less precise than in typically developing peers.
- Children with Developmental Motor Coordination Disorder may also be at increased risk of co-occurring disruptive behaviour problems, anxiety, and depression. In addition, children with Developmental Motor Coordination Disorder tend to report lower levels of self-efficacy and competence in physical and social abilities, and are at heightened risk of becoming overweight or obese as compared to their typically developing peers.

Sex- and/or Gender-Related Features:

• Developmental Motor Coordination Disorder more frequently affects boys, with a ratio of between 2:1 to 7:1.

Boundaries with Other Disorders and Conditions (Differential Diagnosis):

- **Boundary with Disorders of Intellectual Development:** Individuals with Disorders of Intellectual Development may exhibit delays in acquisition and impairment in the execution of coordinated motor skills, along with decrements in general intellectual functioning and adaptive behaviour. If the diagnostic requirements of a Disorder of Intellectual Development are met and coordinated motor skills are significantly below what would be expected based on level of intellectual functioning and adaptive behaviour, both diagnoses may be assigned.
- **Boundary with Autism Spectrum Disorder:** In Autism Spectrum Disorder, there may be reluctance to participate in tasks requiring complex motor coordination skills, such as ball sports, which is better accounted for by a lack of interest rather than any specific deficits in motor coordination.
- **Boundary with Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder:** Co-occurrence of Developmental Motor Coordination Disorder and Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder is common. Both diagnoses may be assigned if the diagnostic requirements of both are met. However, some individuals with Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder may appear to be clumsy (e.g., bumping into obstacles, knocking things over) due to

distractibility and impulsiveness. Developmental Motor Coordination Disorder should not be diagnosed in such cases.

- Boundary with Diseases of the Nervous System, Diseases of the Musculoskeletal System or Connective Tissue, and sensory impairment: Motor skills may be affected by Diseases of the Nervous System (e.g., cerebral palsy, muscular dystrophy), Diseases of the Musculoskeletal System or Connective Tissue, sensory impairment (especially severe visual impairment), or joint hypermobility, which are established by appropriate physical and laboratory examination. A diagnosis of Developmental Motor Coordination Disorder should not be assigned when the difficulties with motor coordination are solely attributable to one of these conditions. Some children with Developmental Motor Coordination Disorder show atypical motor activity (usually suppressed), such as choreiform movements of unsupported limbs or mirror movements. These 'overflow' movements are not considered Diseases of the Nervous System *per se* and do not exclude the diagnosis of Developmental Motor Coordination Disorder.
- **Boundary with effects of psychosocial deprivation:** Extreme psychosocial deprivation in early childhood can produce impairments in motor functions. Depending on the onset, level of severity and duration of the deprivation, motor functioning may improve substantially after the child is moved to a more positive environment. However, some deficits may persist even after a sustained period in an environment that provides adequate stimulation for development, and a diagnosis of Developmental Motor Coordination Disorder may be appropriate in such cases if all diagnostic requirements are met.

6A05 Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder

Essential (Required) Features:

• A persistent pattern (e.g., at least 6 months) of inattention symptoms and/or a combination of hyperactivity and impulsivity symptoms that is outside the limits of normal variation expected for age and level of intellectual development. Symptoms vary according to chronological age and disorder severity.

<u>Inattention</u>

Several symptoms of inattention that are persistent, and sufficiently severe that they have a direct negative impact on academic, occupational, or social functioning. Symptoms are typically from the following clusters:

- Difficulty sustaining attention to tasks that do not provide a high level of stimulation or reward or require sustained mental effort; lacking attention to detail; making careless mistakes in school or work assignments; not completing tasks.
- Easily distracted by extraneous stimuli or thoughts not related to the task at hand; often does not seem to listen when spoken to directly; frequently appears to be daydreaming or to have mind elsewhere.
- Loses things; is forgetful in daily activities; has difficulty remembering to complete upcoming daily tasks or activities; difficulty planning, managing and organizing schoolwork, tasks and other activities.

Note: Inattention may not be evident when the individual is engaged in activities that provide intense stimulation and frequent rewards.

Hyperactivity-impulsivity

Several symptoms of hyperactivity/impulsivity that are persistent, and sufficiently severe that they have a direct negative impact on academic, occupational, or social functioning. These tend to be most evident in structured situations that require behavioural self-control. Symptoms are typically from the following clusters:

- Excessive motor activity; leaves seat when expected to sit still; often runs about; has difficulty sitting still without fidgeting (younger children); feelings of physical restlessness, a sense of discomfort with being quiet or sitting still (adolescents and adults).
- Difficulty engaging in activities quietly; talks too much.
- Blurts out answers in school, comments at work; difficulty waiting turn in conversation, games, or activities; interrupts or intrudes on others conversations or games.
- A tendency to act in response to immediate stimuli without deliberation or consideration of risks and consequences (e.g., engaging in behaviours with potential for physical injury; impulsive decisions; reckless driving).
- Evidence of significant inattention and/or hyperactivity-impulsivity symptoms prior to age 12, though some individuals may first come to clinical attention later in adolescence or as adults, often when demands exceed the individual's capacity to compensate for limitations.
- Manifestations of inattention and/or hyperactivity-impulsivity must be evident across multiple situations or settings (e.g., home, school, work, with friends or relatives), but are likely to vary according to the structure and demands of the setting.
- Symptoms are not better accounted for by another mental disorder (e.g., an Anxiety or Fear-Related Disorder, a Neurocognitive Disorder such as Delirium).
- Symptoms are not due to the effects of a substance (e.g., cocaine) or medication (e.g., bronchodilators, thyroid replacement medication) on the central nervous system, including and withdrawal effects, and are not due to a Disease of the Nervous System.

Specifiers to describe predominant characteristics of clinical presentation:

The characteristics of the current clinical presentation should be described using one of the following specifiers, which are meant to assist in recording the main reason for the current referral or services. Predominance of symptoms refers to the presence of several symptoms of either an inattentive or hyperactive/impulsive nature with few or no symptoms of the other type.

6A05.0 Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder, predominantly inattentive presentation

• All diagnostic requirements for Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder are met and inattentive symptoms predominate.

6A05.1 Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder, predominantly hyperactiveimpulsive presentation

• All diagnostic requirements for Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder are met and symptoms of hyperactivity-impulsivity predominate.

6A05.2 Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder, combined presentation

• All diagnostic requirements for Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder are met and both hyperactive-impulsive and inattentive symptoms are clinically significant aspects of the current clinical presentation, with neither clearly predominating.

6A05.Y Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder, other specified presentation

6A05.Z Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder, presentation unspecified

Additional Clinical Features:

- Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder usually manifests in early or middle childhood. In many cases, hyperactivity symptoms predominate in preschool and decrease with age such that they are no longer prominent beyond adolescence or may instead be reported as feelings of physical restlessness. Attentional problems may be more commonly observed beginning in later childhood, especially in school and in adults in occupational settings.
- The manifestations and severity of Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder often vary according to the characteristics and demands of the environment. Symptoms and behaviours should be evaluated across multiple types of environments as a part of clinical assessment.
- Where available, teacher and parent reports should be obtained to establish the diagnosis in children and adolescents. In adults, the report of a significant other, family member, or co-worker can provide important additional information.
- Some individuals with Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder may first present for services in adulthood. When making the diagnosis of Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder in adults, a history of inattention, hyperactivity, or impulsivity before age 12 is an important corroborating feature that can be best established from school or local records, or from informants who knew the individual during childhood. In the absence of such corroborating information, a diagnosis of Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder in older adolescents and adults should be made with caution.
- In a subset of individuals with Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder, especially in children, an exclusively inattentive presentation may occur. There is no hyperactivity and the presentation is characterized by daydreaming, mind-wandering, and a lack of focus. These children are sometimes referred to as exhibiting a restrictive inattentive pattern of symptoms or sluggish cognitive tempo.
- In a subset of individuals with Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder, combined presentation, severe inattentiveness and hyperactivity-impulsivity are both consistently present in most of the situations that an individual encounters, and are also evidenced by the clinician's own observations. This pattern is often referred to as hyperkinetic disorder and is considered a more severe form of the disorder.
- Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder symptoms often significantly limit academic achievement. Adults with Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder often find it difficult to hold down a demanding job and may be disproportionately underemployed or unemployed. Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder can also strain interpersonal relationships across the life span including those with family members, peers, and

romantic partners. Individuals with Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder often have greater difficulty regulating their behaviour in the context of groups than in one-on-one situations.

- Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder often co-occurs with other Neurodevelopmental Disorders, including Developmental Speech or Language Disorders, and Primary Tics or Tic Disorders, which are classified in the Chapter on Diseases of the Nervous System but cross-listed under Neurodevelopment Disorders. Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder is associated with an increased risk of Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder and with elevated rates of epilepsy. Emotional dysregulation, low frustration tolerance, and subtle clumsiness and other minor ('soft') neurological abnormalities in sensory and motor performance in the absence of any identifiable brain pathology are also common in Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder.
- Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder is associated with an increased risk for physical health problems including accidents.
- Acute onset of hyperactive behaviour in a school-age child or adolescent should raise the possibility that symptoms are better accounted for by another mental disorder or by a medical condition. For example, abrupt onset of hyperactivity in adolescence or adulthood may indicate an emergent Primary Psychotic or Bipolar Disorder.
- Although Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder tends to run in families with evidence of high heritability, the predominant symptom pattern in Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder in a given individual often changes over time and cannot be predicted based on the predominant symptoms of other family members.

Boundary with Normality (Threshold):

• Inattention, hyperactivity and impulsivity symptoms are present in many children, adolescents and adults, especially during certain developmental periods (e.g., early childhood). The diagnosis of Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder requires that these symptoms be persistent across time, pervasive across situations, significantly out of keeping with developmental level, and have a direct negative impact on academic, occupational, or social functioning.

Course Features:

- Nearly half of all children diagnosed with Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder will continue to exhibit symptoms into adolescence. Predictors of persistence into adolescence and adulthood include: co-occurring childhood onset Mental, Behavioural or Neurodevelopmental Disorders, lower intellectual functioning, poorer social functioning, and behavioural problems.
- Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder symptoms tend to remain stable throughout adolescence with approximately one third of individuals diagnosed in childhood continuing to experience impairment in adulthood.
- Although symptoms of hyperactivity become less overt during adolescence and adulthood, individuals may still experience difficulties with inattention, impulsivity, and restlessness.

Developmental Presentations:

• Adolescents and adults may only seek clinical services after age 12 once symptoms become more limiting with increasing social, emotional, and academic demands or in the context of an evolving co-occurring Mental, Behavioural, or Neurodevelopmental Disorders that results in an exacerbation of Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder symptoms.

Culture-Related Features:

- The symptoms of Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder consistently fall into two separate dimensions across cultures: inattention and hyperactivity/impulsivity. However, culture can influence acceptability of symptoms as well as how caregivers respond to them.
- The assessment of hyperactivity should take into account cultural norms of age and gender-appropriate behaviour. For example, in some countries hyperactive behaviour may be seen as a sign of strength in a boy (e.g., 'boiling blood') while being perceived very negatively in a girl.
- Symptoms of inattention or hyperactivity/impulsivity may occur in response to exposure to traumatic events and grief reactions during childhood particularly in highly vulnerable and disadvantaged populations, including in post-conflict areas. In these settings, clinicians should consider whether the diagnosis of Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder is warranted.

Sex- and/or Gender-Related Features:

- Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder is more common in males.
- Females are more likely to exhibit inattentive symptoms whereas males are more likely to exhibit symptoms of hyperactivity and impulsivity particularly at younger ages.

Boundaries with Other Disorders and Conditions (Differential Diagnosis):

- **Boundary with Disorders of Intellectual Development:** Co-occurrence of Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder and Disorders of Intellectual Development is common, and both diagnoses may be assigned if warranted. However, symptoms of inattention and hyperactivity (e.g., restlessness) are common in children without Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder who are placed in academic settings that are out of keeping with their intellectual abilities. A diagnosis of Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder in individuals with Disorders of Intellectual Development requires that Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder symptoms are disproportionate to the individual's level of intellectual functioning.
- **Boundary with Autism Spectrum Disorder:** Specific abnormalities in attention (e.g., being overly focused or easily distracted), impulsivity, and physical hyperactivity are often observed in individuals with Autism Spectrum Disorder and may sometimes dominate the clinical presentation. Unlike individuals with Autism Spectrum Disorder, those with Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder do not exhibit the persistent deficits in initiating and sustaining social communication and reciprocal social interactions or the persistent restricted, repetitive, and inflexible patterns of behaviour, interests, or activities that are the defining features of Autism Spectrum Disorder. However, Cooccurrence of these disorders is common.

- **Boundary with Developmental Learning Disorder:** Individuals with Developmental Learning Disorder without Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder may exhibit symptoms of inattention and hyperactivity when asked to focus on specific academic activities that correspond to their areas of difficulty (i.e., reading, mathematics, or writing). If difficulty in sustaining attention on academic tasks or appropriately modulating activity level occurs only in response to these tasks and there is evidence of limitations in acquisition of academic skills in the specific corresponding area, a diagnosis of Developmental Learning Disorder and not Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder should be assigned.
- **Boundary with Developmental Motor Coordination Disorder:** Co-occurrence of Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder and Developmental Motor Coordination Disorder is common, and both diagnoses may be assigned if warranted. However, apparent clumsiness in some individuals with Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder (e.g., bumping into obstacles, knocking things over) that is due to distractibility and impulsiveness should not be diagnosed as Developmental Motor Coordination Disorder.
- Boundary with Mood Disorders and Anxiety or Fear-Related Disorders: Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder can co-occur with Mood Disorders and Anxiety or Fear-Related Disorders, but inattention, hyperactivity, and impulsivity can also be features of these disorders in individuals without Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder. For example, symptoms such as restlessness, pacing, and impaired concentration can be features of a Depressive Episode, and should not be considered as part of the diagnosis of Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder unless they have been present since childhood and persist after the resolution of the Depressive Episode. Inattention, impulsivity, and hyperactivity are typical features of Manic and Hypomanic Episodes. At the same time, mood lability and irritability may be associated features of Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder. Late adolescent or adult onset, episodicity, and intensity of mood elevation characteristic of Bipolar Disorders are features that assist in differentiation from Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder. Fidgeting, restlessness, and tension in the context of Anxiety or Fear-Related Disorders may resemble hyperactivity. Furthermore, anxious preoccupations or reaction to anxiety-provoking stimuli in individuals with Anxiety or Fear-Related Disorders can be associated with difficulties concentrating. To qualify for an Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder diagnosis in the presence of a Mood Disorder or Anxiety or Fear-Related Disorder, inattention and/or hyperactivity should not be exclusively associated with Mood Episodes, be solely attributable to anxious preoccupations, or occur specifically in response to anxiety-provoking situations.
- **Boundary with Intermittent Explosive Disorder:** Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder and Intermittent Explosive Disorder are both characterized by impulsive behaviour. However, Intermittent Explosive Disorder is specifically characterized by intermittent severe impulsive outbursts or aggression rather than ongoing generalized behavioural impulsivity that may be seen in Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder.
- **Boundary with Oppositional Defiant Disorder:** Individuals with Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder often have difficulty following instructions, complying with rules, and getting along with others, but these difficulties are primarily accounted for by symptoms of inattention and/or hyperactivity-impulsivity (e.g., failure to follow long and complicated instructions, difficulty remaining seated or staying on task). In contrast, noncompliance in individuals with Oppositional Defiant Disorder is characterized by deliberate defiance or disobedience and not by problems with inattention or with controlling behavioural impulses or inhibiting inappropriate behaviours. However, Cooccurrence of these disorders is common.

- **Boundary with Conduct Dissocial Disorder:** In adolescents and adults with Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder, some behaviours that are manifestations of impulsivity such as grabbing objects, reckless driving, or impulsive decision making such as suddenly walking out of jobs or relationships may bring the individual in conflict with other people and the law. In contrast, individuals with Conduct Dissocial Disorder typically lack the symptoms of inattention and hyperactivity and exhibit a repetitive and persistent pattern of behaviour in which the basic rights of others or major age-appropriate societal norms, rules, or laws are violated. However, Co-occurrence of these disorders is common.
- **Boundary with Personality Disorder:** Individuals with Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder often experience problems with psychosocial functioning and interpersonal relationships, including regulation of emotions and negative emotionality. If Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder persists into adolescence and adulthood, it may be difficult to distinguish from Personality Disorder with prominent personality features of Disinhibition, which includes irresponsibility, impulsivity, distractibility, and recklessness, and Negative Emotionality, which refers to a habitual tendency to manifest a broad range of distressing emotions including anxiety, anger, self-loathing, irritability, and increased sensitivity to negative stimuli. The utility of assigning an additional diagnosis of Personality Disorder in situations where there is an established diagnosis of Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder depends on the specific clinical situation.
- Boundary with Disorders Due to Substance Use and the effects of certain prescribed • medications: Abuse of alcohol, nicotine, cannabis and stimulants is common among individuals with Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder, particularly adolescents and adults. However, the effects of these substances can also mimic the symptoms of Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder in individuals without the diagnosis. Symptoms of inattention, hyperactivity, or impulsivity are also associated with the effects of certain prescribed medications (e.g., anticonvulsants such as carbamazepine and valproate, antipsychotics such as risperidone, and somatic treatments such as bronchodilators and thyroid replacement medication). The temporal order of onset and the persistence of inattention, hyperactivity and impulsivity in the absence of intoxication or continued medication use are important in differentiating between Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder and Disorders Due to Substance Use or the effects of prescribed medications. A review of current medications and informants who knew the individual before they started using the substances or medications in question are critical in making this distinction.
- **Boundary with attentional symptoms due to other medical conditions:** A variety of other medical conditions may influence attentional processes (e.g., hypoglycemia, hyperthyroidism or hypothyroidism, exposure to toxins, Sleep-Wake Disorders), resulting in temporary or persistent symptoms that resemble or interact with those of Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder. As a basis for appropriate management, it is important to evaluate in such cases whether the symptoms are secondary to the medical condition or are more indicative of comorbid Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder.

6A06 Stereotyped Movement Disorder

Essential (Required) Features:

• Persistent (e.g., lasting several months) presence of voluntary, repetitive, stereotyped, apparently purposeless, and often rhythmic, movements (e.g., body rocking, hand

flapping, head banging, eye poking, and hand biting) that are not caused by the direct physiological effects of a substance or medication (including withdrawal).

- Stereotyped movements result in significant interference with the ability to engage in normal daily activities or result in self-inflicted bodily injury severe enough to be an independent focus of clinical attention or that would result in self-injury if protective measures were not taken.
- Onset occurs during the developmental period, typically at an early age.

Specifiers related to self-injury:

A specifier should be applied with the diagnosis of Stereotyped Movement Disorder to indicate whether involves movements that result in physical harm to the individual:

6A06.0 Stereotyped Movement Disorder without self-injury

• Stereotyped movements that do not result in physical harm to the affected individual even without the presence of protective measures. These behaviours typically include body rocking, head rocking, finger-flicking mannerisms, and hand flapping.

6A06.1 Stereotyped Movement Disorder with self-injury

• Stereotyped movements that result in harm to the affected individual that is severe enough to be an independent focus of clinical attention or that would result in self-injury if protective measures (e.g., helmet to prevent head injury) were not taken. These behaviours typically include head banging, face slapping, eye poking, and biting of the hands, lips, or other body parts.

6A06.Z Stereotyped Movement Disorder, unspecified

Additional Clinical Features:

• Co-occurrence of Stereotyped Movement Disorder and Disorders of Intellectual Development is common.

Boundary with Normality (Threshold):

• Many young children show stereotyped behaviours (e.g., thumb sucking). In older children and adults, repetitive behaviours such as leg shaking, finger drumming/tapping, or self-stimulatory behaviours (e.g., masturbation) may be seen in response to boredom. These behaviours are differentiated from Stereotyped Movement Disorder because they do not result in significant interference with normal daily activities nor do they result in self-inflicted bodily injury that is severe enough to be an independent focus of clinical attention.

Course Features:

• Among typically developing children, stereotypic movements remit over time (or become suppressed). Among individuals with a Disorder of Intellectual Development and Autism Spectrum Disorder with Disorder of Intellectual Development, however,

stereotyped (and self-injurious) behaviours may persist, though the presentation of these behaviours may change over time.

Developmental Presentations:

- Onset of Stereotyped Movement Disorder occurs early in the developmental period, with stereotypic movements often emerging before age three; up to 80% of children who exhibit complex motor stereotypies display them before age two.
- Stereotypic movements are common in typically developing children and often resolve with time, particularly simple stereotypic movements (such as rocking). The development of complex stereotypic movements is estimated to occur in 3 4% of children.
- Stereotyped Movement Disorder commonly co-occurs with Disorders of Intellectual Development and Autism Spectrum Disorder with Disorder of Intellectual Development.

Sex- and/or Gender-Related Features:

- To date, research has not systematically described differences across male and female presentations of Stereotyped Movement Disorder.
- Preschool-aged boys with Autism Spectrum Disorder with Disorder of Intellectual Development tend to have higher rates of co-occurring Stereotyped Movement Disorder.

Boundaries with Other Disorders and Conditions (Differential Diagnosis):

- **Boundary with Autism Spectrum Disorder:** Repetitive and stereotyped motor movements such as whole body movements (e.g., rocking), gait atypicalities (e.g., walking on tiptoes), and unusual hand or finger movements can be a characteristic feature of Autism Spectrum Disorder but are differentiated from Stereotyped Movement Disorder by the presence of additional significant limitations in the capacity for reciprocal social interactions and social communication. Assignment of both diagnoses may be warranted if the stereotyped motor movements constitute a separate focus of clinical attention (e.g., due to self-injury).
- **Boundary with Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder:** In contrast to Stereotyped Movement Disorder, repetitive behaviours (i.e., compulsions) observed in Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder are typically more complex and are aimed at neutralizing unwanted intrusive thoughts (i.e., obsessions) and reducing associated negative emotions (e.g., anxiety).
- **Boundary with Body-Focused Repetitive Behaviour Disorders:** Body-Focused Repetitive Behaviour Disorders (i.e., Trichotillomania and Excoriation Disorder) are characterized by recurrent and habitual behaviours directed at the integument (e.g., hair and skin). In contrast, stereotyped movements in Stereotyped Movement Disorder rarely include hair-pulling or skin-picking behaviour but if they do, the behaviour tends to be composed of coordinated movements that are patterned and predictable utilizing the same muscle groups in a particular sequence to produce the behaviour. In addition, stereotyped movements are more likely to present very early in life (i.e., <2 years of age), whereas Body-focused repetitive behaviour disorders typically have an onset in later childhood or early adolescence.
- **Boundary with Tourette Syndrome and other Tic Disorders:** In contrast to Tic Disorders including Tourette Syndrome, stereotyped movements in Stereotyped Movement Disorder tend to be composed of coordinated movements that are patterned

and predictable and can be interrupted with distraction. Stereotyped Movement Disorder is further differentiated from tics and Tourette Syndrome because the symptoms tend to emerge at a younger age, last longer than typical tics, lack a premonitory sensory urge, and may be experienced as enjoyable.

- **Boundary with extrapyramidal symptoms, including tardive dyskinesia:** Extrapyramidal symptoms are drug-induced movement disorders characterized by involuntary acute or tardive symptoms that are most frequently caused by antipsychotic medications. Tardive symptoms include tardive dyskinesia, which is characterized by involuntary oral or facial movements or, less commonly, irregular trunk or limb movements. A diagnosis of Stereotyped Movement Disorder is not appropriate in such cases.
- **Boundary with Diseases of the Nervous System:** Involuntary movements associated with Diseases of the Nervous System usually follow a typical pattern with the presence of pathognomonic signs and symptoms. If stereotyped movements are associated with Lesch-Nyhan Syndrome or another specific Disease of the Nervous System or neurodevelopmental disease, Stereotyped Movement Disorder should not be diagnosed unless the movements become a separate focus of clinical attention. In such cases, both diagnoses may be assigned.

6A0Y Other Specified Neurodevelopmental Disorders

Essential (Required) Features:

- The presentation is characterized by significant difficulties in the acquisition and execution of specific intellectual, motor, language, or social functions that arise during the developmental period and share primary clinical features with other Neurodevelopmental Disorders.
- The symptoms do not fulfil the diagnostic requirements for any other disorder in the Neurodevelopmental Disorders grouping.
- The symptoms are not better accounted for by another Mental, Behavioural or Neurodevelopmental Disorder (e.g., a Psychotic Disorder, a Mood Disorder, a Disorder Specifically Associated with Stress).
- The symptoms or behaviours are not developmentally typical and are not entirely attributable to external factors, such as economic or environmental disadvantage, or lack of access to educational opportunities.
- The symptoms or behaviours are not a manifestation of another medical condition that is not classified under Mental and Behavioural Disorders and are not due to the effects of a substance (e.g., alcohol) or medication (e.g., bronchodilators) on the central nervous system, including withdrawal effects.
- The difficulties result in significant impairment in personal, family, social, educational, occupational or other important areas of functioning.

6A0Z Neurodevelopmental Disorders, Unspecified

8A05.0 Primary Tics or Tic Disorders

The following categories—Tourette Syndrome, Chronic Motor Tic Disorder, and Chronic Phonic Tic Disorder—are classified in the grouping of Primary Tics and Tic Disorders in the

chapter on Diseases of the Nervous System (Chapter 8), but are cross-listed here because of their high co-occurrence and familial association with Neurodevelopmental Disorders.

8A05.00 Tourette Syndrome

Essential (Required) Features:

- The presence of both motor tic(s) and phonic tic(s) that may or may not manifest concurrently or continuously during the symptomatic course.
- Motor and phonic tics are defined as sudden, rapid, non-rhythmic, and recurrent movements or vocalizations, respectively.
- Motor and phonic tics have been present for at least 1 year with onset during the developmental period.
- The symptoms are not a manifestation of another medical condition (e.g., Huntington Disease) and are not due to the effects of a substance or medication on the central nervous system (e.g., amphetamine), including withdrawal effects (e.g., from benzodiazepines).

Additional Clinical Features:

- Tourette Syndrome frequently co-occurs with Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder, and impulsivity, disinhibition, anxiety, and immature behaviour may be associated features of both diagnoses.
- Motor and phonic tics in Tourette Syndrome may be voluntarily suppressed for short periods of time, may be exacerbated by stress, and may diminish during sleep or during periods of focused enjoyable activity.
- Tics are often highly suggestible, for example such that when an individual with Tourette Syndrome is asked about specific symptoms, old tics that have been absent for some time may transiently reappear.

Boundary with Normality (Threshold):

• Transient motor or phonic tics (e.g., eye blinking, throat clearing) are common during childhood and are differentiated from Tourette Syndrome by their transient nature.

Course Features:

- The onset of Tourette Syndrome commonly occurs during childhood (between the ages of 4 and 6), with peak symptom severity occurring between the ages of 8 and 12 years. Across adolescence, there is decreasing likelihood of onset. Onset during adulthood is rare and most often associated with severe psychosocial stressors, use of specific drugs (e.g., cocaine), or an insult to the central nervous system (e.g., post-viral encephalitis).
- The onset of Tourette Syndrome is typically characterized by transient bouts of simple motor tics such as eye blinking or head jerks. Phonic tics usually begin 1 2 years after the onset of motor symptoms and initially tend to be simple in character (e.g., throat clearing, grunting, or squeaking) but then may gradually develop into more complex vocal symptoms that include repetition of one's own or another person's speech or obscene utterances (i.e., coprolalia). Sometimes the latter is associated with gestural echopraxia, which also may be of an obscene nature (i.e., copropraxia).

- Vocal and/or motor tics may wax and wane in severity, with some individuals experiencing remission of symptoms for weeks or months at a time. Eventually the symptoms become more persistent and can be accompanied by detrimental effects to personal, family, social, educational, occupational, or other important areas of functioning.
- The majority of individuals with Tourette Syndrome will experience significantly diminished symptoms by early adulthood, with more than one third experiencing a full remission of symptoms.
- Evidence suggests a good long-term clinical course for individuals with a solitary diagnosis of Tourette Syndrome. Those with co-occurring conditions (e.g., Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder, Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder, Anxiety or Fear-Related Disorders, Depressive Disorders) tend to exhibit a poorer prognosis.

Developmental Presentations:

- The prevalence rate of Tourette Syndrome among school-aged children has been estimated at approximately 0.5%.
- Motor and phonic tics in Tourette Syndrome tend to be most severe between ages of 8 and 12, gradually diminishing throughout adolescence. By late childhood (approximately age 10), most children become aware of premonitory urges (bodily sensations) and increased discomfort preceding—and relief of tension following—motor and vocal tics.
- The vocal symptom of coprolalia (inappropriate swearing, experienced involuntarily) is uncommon, affecting only 10 to 15% of individuals with Tourette Syndrome, and tends to emerge in mid-adolescence.
- Many adults with childhood-onset Tourette Syndrome report attenuated symptoms, though a small number of adults will continue to experience severe tic symptoms.
- The pattern of co-occurring disorders appears to vary with developmental stage. Children with Tourette Syndrome are more likely to experience Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder, Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder, Autism Spectrum Disorder, and Separation Anxiety Disorder compared to adolescents and adults. Adolescents and adults are more likely than children to develop a Depressive Disorder, a Disorder due to Substance Use, or a Bipolar Disorder.

Culture-Related Features:

- Symptoms of Tourette Syndrome are consistent across cultural groups.
- If vocalizations or movements have a specific function or meaning in the context of an individual's culture and are used in ways that are consistent with that cultural function or meaning, they should not be considered evidence of Tourette Syndrome.

Sex- and/or Gender-Related Features:

- Tourette Syndrome is more common among males than females (gender ratio ranging from 2:1 to 4:1).
- Course and symptom presentation do not vary by gender.
- Women with persistent tic disorders may be more likely to experience co-occurring Anxiety or Fear-Related Disorders and Depressive Disorders.

Boundaries with Other Disorders and Conditions (Differential Diagnosis) for Tourette Syndrome:

- **Boundary with Autism Spectrum Disorder and Stereotyped Movement Disorder:** Repetitive and stereotyped motor movements such as whole body movements (e.g., rocking) and unusual hand or finger movements can be a characteristic feature of Autism Spectrum Disorder and of Stereotyped Movement Disorder. These behaviours can appear similar to tics but are differentiated because they tend to be more stereotyped, last longer than the duration of a typical tic, tend to emerge at a younger age, are not characterized by premonitory sensory urges, are often experienced by the individual as soothing or rewarding, and can generally be interrupted with distraction.
- **Boundary with Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder:** Repetitive, recurrent movements or vocalizations can also be symptomatic of Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder. Tics can be differentiated from Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder because they appear unintentional in nature and clearly utilize a discreet muscle group. However, it can be difficult to distinguish between complex tics and compulsions associated with Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder. Although tics (both complex and simple) are preceded by premonitory sensory urges, which may diminish over time, tics are not aimed at neutralizing antecedent cognitions (e.g., obsessions) or reducing physiological arousal (e.g., anxiety). Many individuals exhibit symptoms of both Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder and Tourette Syndrome, and both diagnoses may be assigned if the diagnostic requirements for each are met.
- **Boundary with self-injurious and self-mutilating behaviours:** With enough force and repetition, motor tics may lead to self-injury. However, unlike self-injurious and self-mutilating behaviour, Tourette Syndrome is not associated with an intention to cause self-injury.

8A05.01 Chronic Motor Tic Disorder

Essential (Required) Features:

- The persistent presence of motor tic(s).
- Motor tics are defined as sudden, rapid, non-rhythmic, and recurrent movements.
- Motor tics have been present for at least 1 year with onset during the developmental period.

Note: Other CDDR elements for Chronic Motor Tic Disorder are provided below, following the Essential Features for Chronic Phonic Tic Disorder.

8A05.02 Chronic Phonic Tic Disorder

Essential (Required) Features:

- The persistent presence of phonic tic(s).
- Phonic tics are defined as sudden, rapid, non-rhythmic, and recurrent vocalizations.
- Phonic tics have been present for at least 1 year with onset during the developmental period.

Additional Clinical Features for Chronic Motor Tic Disorder and Chronic Phonic Tic Disorder:

- Motor and phonic tics may be voluntarily suppressed for short periods of time, may be exacerbated by stress, and may diminish during sleep or during periods of focused enjoyable activity.
- Tics are often highly suggestible, for example such that when an individual with Chronic Motor Tic Disorder or Chronic Phonic Tic Disorder is asked about specific symptoms, old tics that have been absent for some time may transiently reappear.

Boundary with Normality (Threshold) for Chronic Motor Tic Disorder and Chronic Phonic Tic Disorder:

• Transient motor or phonic tics (e.g., eye blinking, throat clearing) are common during childhood and are differentiated from Chronic Motor Tic Disorder and Chronic Phonic Tic Disorder by their transient nature.

Developmental Presentations for Chronic Motor Tic Disorder and Chronic Phonic Tic Disorder:

- The prevalence of Chronic Motor Tic Disorder is estimated between 0.3 0.8% of school-aged children.
- Less is known about the prevalence of Chronic Phonic Tic Disorder.

Culture-Related Features for Chronic Motor Tic Disorder and Chronic Phonic Tic Disorder:

• If vocalizations or movements have a specific function or meaning in the context of an individual's culture and are used in ways that are consistent with that cultural function or meaning, they should not be considered evidence of Chronic Motor Tic Disorder or Chronic Phonic Tic Disorder.

Sex- and/or Gender-Related Features for Chronic Motor Tic Disorder and Chronic Phonic Tic Disorder:

• Women with persistent tic disorders may be more likely to experience co-occurring Anxiety or Fear-Related Disorders and Depressive Disorders.

Boundaries with Other Disorders and Conditions (Differential Diagnosis) for Chronic Motor Tic Disorder and Chronic Phonic Tic Disorder:

• **Boundary with Autism Spectrum Disorder and Stereotyped Movement Disorder:** Repetitive and stereotyped motor movements such as whole body movements (e.g., rocking) and unusual hand or finger movements can be a characteristic feature of Autism Spectrum Disorder and of Stereotyped Movement Disorder. These behaviours can appear similar to tics but are differentiated because they tend to be more stereotyped, last longer than the duration of a typical tic, tend to emerge at a younger age, are not characterized by premonitory sensory urges, are often experienced by the individual as soothing or rewarding, and can generally be interrupted with distraction.

- **Boundary with Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder:** Repetitive, recurrent movements or vocalizations can also be symptomatic of Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder. Tics can be differentiated from Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder because they appear unintentional in nature and clearly utilize a discreet muscle group. However, it can be difficult to distinguish between complex tics and compulsions associated with Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder. Although tics (both complex and simple) are preceded by premonitory sensory urges, which may diminish over time, tics are not aimed at neutralizing antecedent cognitions (e.g., obsessions) or reducing physiological arousal (e.g., anxiety). Many individuals exhibit symptoms of both Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder and Chronic Motor Tic Disorder or Chronic Phonic Tic Disorder, and both diagnoses may be assigned if the diagnostic requirements for each are met.
- **Boundary with self-injurious and self-mutilating behaviours:** With enough force and repetition, motor tics may lead to self-injury. However, unlike self-injurious and self-mutilating behaviour, Chronic Motor Tic Disorder is not associated with an intention to cause self-injury.

SCHIZOPHRENIA OR OTHER PRIMARY PSYCHOTIC DISORDERS

Schizophrenia or Other Primary Psychotic Disorders is a grouping of disorders characterized by significant impairments in reality testing and alterations in behaviour as manifested by symptoms such as delusions, hallucinations, formal thought disorder (typically manifested as disorganized speech), and disorganized behaviour. They may be accompanied by psychomotor disturbances and negative symptoms such as blunted or flat affect. These symptoms do not occur primarily as a result of substance use (e.g., Hallucinogen Intoxication) or another medical condition not classified under Mental, Behavioural or Neurodevelopmental Disorders (e.g., Huntington Disease). The disorders in this grouping are referred to as primary psychotic disorders because psychotic symptoms are their defining feature. Psychotic symptoms may also occur in the context of other mental disorders (e.g., in Mood Disorders or Dementia), but in these cases the symptoms occur alongside other characteristic features of those disorders. Whereas experiences of reality loss/distortion occur on a continuum and can be found throughout the population, disorders in this group represent patterns of symptoms and behaviours that occur with sufficient frequency and intensity to deviate from expected cultural or subcultural expectations.

Schizophrenia or Other Primary Psychotic Disorders include the following:

- 6A20 Schizophrenia
- 6A21 Schizoaffective Disorder
- 6A22 Schizotypal Disorder
- 6A23 Acute and Transient Psychotic Disorder
- 6A24 Delusional Disorder
- 6A2Y Other Specified Schizophrenia or Primary Psychotic Disorders

In the context of Schizotypal Disorder, symptoms may be substantially attenuated such that they may be characterized as eccentric or peculiar rather than overtly psychotic.

The categories in the grouping of Schizophrenia or Other Primary Psychotic Disorders should not be used to classify the expression of ideas, beliefs, or behaviours that are culturally sanctioned. Many religious or cultural practices worldwide incorporate experiences qualitatively similar in nature to the symptoms described for this grouping of disorders, and these should not be considered to be pathological.

General Cultural Considerations for Schizophrenia or Other Primary Psychotic Disorders

- Beliefs vary across cultures such that those considered odd or unusual in one culture may be normative in another. For example, belief in witchcraft or supernatural forces, or fears that transgressing cultural norms can lead to misfortune, are typical in many cultures. Distress may be expressed in ways that may be misinterpreted as evidence of psychotic symptoms, such as pseudo-hallucinations and overvalued ideas or dissociative experiences related to trauma.
- In some cultures, distress due to social circumstances may be expressed in ways that can be misinterpreted as psychotic symptoms (e.g., overvalued ideas and pseudo-hallucinations) but that instead are considered normal for the person's subgroup.
- Symptom presentation of Schizophrenia or Other Primary Psychotic Disorders may vary across cultures. For example, the content and form of hallucinations (e.g., visual hallucinations are more common in some cultural groups and in some countries) or

delusions may be culturally derived, making it difficult to differentiate among culturally normal experiences, overvalued ideas, ideas of reference, and transient psychosis. For instance, in several cultures (e.g., Southern China, Latin America) it is common to expect the spirit of a deceased relative to visit the homes of living relatives soon after they die. Hearing, seeing, or interacting with this spirit may be reported without notable pathological sequelae. Clarifying the cultural meaning of these experiences can aid in understanding the diagnostic significance of the symptom presentation.

- Cultural mismatch between the individual and the clinician may complicate the evaluation of Schizophrenia or Other Primary Psychotic Disorders. Collateral information from family, community, religious, or cultural reference groups may help clarify the diagnosis.
- Ethnic minorities and migrants are more likely than those in the general population to receive a diagnosis of Schizophrenia or Other Primary Psychotic Disorder. This may be due to misdiagnosis or to greater risk of psychosis resulting from migration traumas, social isolation, minority and acculturative stress, discrimination, and victimization.
- Caution is advised when assessing psychotic symptoms through interpreters or in a second or third language because of the risk of misconstruing unfamiliar metaphors as delusions and natural defensiveness as paranoia or emotional blunting.

6A20 Schizophrenia

Essential (Required) Features:

- At least two of the following symptoms must be present (by the individual's report or through observation by the clinician or other informants) most of the time for a period of 1 month or more. At least one of the qualifying symptoms should be from item a) through d) below:
 - a) Persistent delusions (e.g., grandiose delusions, delusions of reference, persecutory delusions).
 - b) Persistent hallucinations (most commonly auditory, although they may be in any sensory modality).
 - c) Disorganized thinking (formal thought disorder) (e.g., tangentiality and loose associations, irrelevant speech, neologisms). When severe, the person's speech may be so incoherent as to be incomprehensible ('word salad').
 - d) Experiences of influence, passivity or control (i.e., the experience that one's feelings, impulses, actions or thoughts are not generated by oneself, are being placed in one's mind or withdrawn from one's mind by others, or that one's thoughts are being broadcast to others).
 - e) Negative symptoms such as affective flattening, alogia or paucity of speech, avolition, asociality and anhedonia.
 - f) Grossly disorganized behaviour that impedes goal-directed activity (e.g., behaviour that appears bizarre or purposeless, unpredictable or inappropriate emotional responses that interferes with the ability to organize behaviour.)
 - g) Psychomotor disturbances such as catatonic restlessness or agitation, posturing, waxy flexibility, negativism, mutism, or stupor. *Note:* If the full syndrome of Catatonia (p. 213) is present in the context of Schizophrenia, the diagnosis of Catatonia Associated with Another Mental Disorder should also be assigned.

• The symptoms are not a manifestation of another medical condition (e.g., a brain tumour) and are not due to the effects of a substance or medication (e.g., corticosteroids) on the central nervous system, including withdrawal effects (e.g., from alcohol).

Course specifiers for Schizophrenia:

The following specifiers should be applied to identify the course of Schizophrenia, including whether the individual currently meets the diagnostic requirements of Schizophrenia or is in partial or full remission. Course specifiers are also used to indicate whether the current episode is the first episode of Schizophrenia, whether there have been multiple such episodes, or whether symptoms have been continuous over an extended period of time.

6A20.0 Schizophrenia, first episode

• The first episode specifier should be applied when the current or most recent episode is the first manifestation of Schizophrenia meeting all diagnostic requirements in terms of symptoms and duration. If there has been a previous episode of Schizophrenia or Schizoaffective Disorder, the 'multiple episodes' specifier should be applied.

6A20.00 Schizophrenia, first episode, currently symptomatic

- All diagnostic requirements for Schizophrenia in terms of symptoms and duration are currently met, or have been met within the past 1 month.
- There have been no previous episodes of Schizophrenia or Schizoaffective Disorder.

Note: If the duration of the episode is more than 1 year, the 'continuous' specifier may be used instead, depending on the clinical situation.

6A20.01 Schizophrenia, first episode, in partial remission

- The full diagnostic requirements for Schizophrenia have not been met within the past month, but some clinically significant symptoms remain, which may or may not be associated with functional impairment.
- There have been no previous episodes of Schizophrenia or Schizoaffective Disorder.

Note: This category may also be used to designate the re-emergence of subtreshold symptoms of Schizophrenia following an asymptomatic period in a person who has previously met the diagnostic requirements for Schizophrenia.

6A20.02 Schizophrenia, first episode, in full remission

- The full diagnostic requirements for Schizophrenia have not been met within the past month, and no clinically significant symptoms remain.
- There have been no previous episodes of Schizophrenia or Schizoaffective Disorder.

6A20.0Z Schizophrenia, first episode, unspecified

6A20.1 Schizophrenia, multiple episodes

• The multiple episodes specifier should be applied when there has been a minimum of two episodes meeting all diagnostic requirements of Schizophrenia or Schizoaffective Disorder in terms of symptoms, with a period of partial or full remission between episodes lasting at least 3 months, and the current or most recent episode is Schizophrenia. Note that the 1-month duration requirement for the first episode does not necessarily need to be met for subsequent episodes. During the period of remission, the diagnostic requirements of Schizophrenia are either only partially fulfilled or absent.

6A20.10 Schizophrenia, multiple episodes, currently symptomatic

- All symptom requirements for Schizophrenia are currently met, or have been met within the past month. Note that the 1-month duration requirement for the first episode does not necessarily need to be met for subsequent episodes.
- There have been a minimum of two episodes of Schizophrenia or a previous episode of Schizoaffective Disorder, with a period of partial or full remission between episodes lasting at least 3 months.

6A20.11 Schizophrenia, multiple episodes, in partial remission

- The full diagnostic requirements for Schizophrenia have not been met within the past month, but some clinically significant symptoms remain, which may or may not be associated with functional impairment.
- There have been a minimum of two episodes of Schizophrenia or a previous episode of Schizoaffective Disorder, with a period of partial or full remission between episodes lasting at least 3 months.

Note: This category may also be used to designate the re-emergence of subthreshold symptoms of Schizophrenia following an asymptomatic period.

6A20.12 Schizophrenia, multiple episodes, in full remission

- The full diagnostic requirements for Schizophrenia have not been met within the past month, and no clinically significant symptoms remain.
- There have been a minimum of two episodes of Schizophrenia or a previous episode of Schizoaffective Disorder, with a period of partial or full remission between episodes lasting at least 3 months.

6A20.1Z Schizophrenia, multiple episodes, unspecified

6A20.2 Schizophrenia, continuous

• The continuous specifier should be applied when symptoms fulfilling all diagnostic requirements of Schizophrenia have been present for almost all of the course of the

disorder during the person's lifetime since its first onset, with periods of subthreshold symptoms being very brief relative to the overall course. In order to apply this specifier to a first episode, the duration of Schizophrenia must be at least 1 year. In that case, the continuous specifier should be applied instead of the first episode specifier.

6A20.20 Schizophrenia, continuous, currently symptomatic

- All symptom requirements for Schizophrenia are currently met, or have been met within the past month.
- Symptoms meeting the diagnostic requirements for Schizophrenia have been present for almost all of the course of the disorder during the person's lifetime since its first onset.
- Periods of partial or full remission have been very brief relative to the overall course and none have lasted for three months or longer.
- To apply the continuous specifier to a first episode, symptoms meeting the diagnostic requirements for Schizophrenia must have been present for at least 1 year.

6A20.21 Schizophrenia, continuous, in partial remission

- The full diagnostic requirements for Schizophrenia, continuous were previously met but have not been met within the past month.
- Some clinically significant symptoms of Schizophrenia remain, which may or may not be associated with functional impairment.

Note: This category may also be used to designate the re-emergence of subthreshold symptoms of Schizophrenia following an asymptomatic period.

6A20.22 Schizophrenia, continuous, in full remission

- The full diagnostic requirements for Schizophrenia, continuous were previously met but have not been met within the past month.
- No clinically significant symptoms of Schizophrenia remain.

6A20.2Z Schizophrenia, continuous, unspecified

6A20.Y Other specified episode of Schizophrenia

6A20.Z Schizophrenia, episode unspecified

Additional Clinical Features:

- The onset of Schizophrenia may be acute, with serious disturbance apparent within a few days, or insidious, with a gradual development of signs and symptoms.
- A prodromal phase often precedes the onset of psychotic symptoms by weeks or months. The characteristic features of this phase often include loss of interest in work or social activities, neglect of personal appearance or hygiene, inversion of the sleep cycle and

attenuated psychotic symptoms, accompanied by negative symptoms, anxiety/agitation or varying degrees of depressive symptoms.

- Between acute episodes there may be residual phases, which are similar phenomenologically to the prodromal phase.
- Schizophrenia is frequently associated with significant distress and significant impairment in personal, family, social, educational, occupational or other important areas of functioning. However, distress and psychosocial impairment are not requirements for a diagnosis of Schizophrenia.

Boundary with Normality (Threshold):

• Psychotic-like symptoms or unusual subjective experiences may occur in the general population, but these are usually fleeting in nature and are not accompanied by other symptoms of Schizophrenia or a deterioration in psychosocial functioning. In Schizophrenia, multiple persistent symptoms are present and are typically accompanied by impairment in cognitive functioning and other psychosocial problems.

Course Features:

- The course and onset of Schizophrenia is variable. Some experience exacerbations and remission of symptoms periodically throughout their lives, others a gradual worsening of symptoms, and a smaller proportion experience complete remission of symptoms.
- Positive symptoms tend to diminish naturally over time, whereas negative symptoms often persist and are closely tied to poorer prognosis. Cognitive symptoms also tend to be more persistent and when present are associated with ongoing functional impairment.
- Early-onset Schizophrenia is typically associated with a poorer prognosis whereas affective and social functioning are more likely to be preserved with later onset.

Developmental Presentations:

- Onset of fully symptomatic Schizophrenia before puberty is extremely rare and when it occurs it is often preceded by a decline in social and academic functioning, odd behaviour, and a change in affect observable during the prodromal phase. Childhood onset is also associated with a greater prevalence of delays in social, language or motor development and co-occurring Disorder of Intellectual Development or Developmental Learning Disorder.
- In children and young adolescents, auditory hallucinations most commonly occur as a single voice commenting on or commanding behaviour whereas in adults such hallucinations are more typically experienced as multiple conversing voices.
- In children and adolescents, it may be challenging to differentiate delusions and hallucinations from more developmentally typical phenomena (e.g., a 'monster' under the child's bed, an imaginary friend), actual plausible life experiences (e.g., being teased or bullied at school), and irrational or magical thinking common in childhood (e.g., that thinking about something will make it happen).
- Among children with Schizophrenia, negative symptoms, hallucinations, and disorganized thinking—including loose associations, illogical thinking, and paucity of speech—tend to be prominent features of the clinical presentation. Disorganized thinking and behaviour occur in a variety of disorders that are common in childhood (e.g., Autism Spectrum Disorder, Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder), which should be

considered before attributing the symptoms to the much less common childhood Schizophrenia.

Culture-Related Features:

- Cultural factors may influence the onset, symptom pattern, course, and outcome of Schizophrenia. For example, among migrants and ethnic and cultural minorities, living in areas with a low proportion of their own ethnic, migrant or cultural group (low 'ethnic density') is associated with higher rates of Schizophrenia. In addition, etiological or course-related factors may be impacted by culture at the level of the family (e.g., level of family support, style of family interaction, such as expressed emotion) or at the societal level (e.g., industrialization, urbanization). For example, the prevalence of Schizophrenia is much higher in urban than rural settings.
- The risk of misdiagnosing the expression of distress as indicative of Schizophrenia or Other Primary Psychotic Disorder may be increased among ethnic minorities and immigrants, and in other situations in which the clinician is unfamiliar with culturally normative expressions of distress. These include situations involving spiritual or supernatural beliefs or resulting from migration trauma, social isolation, minority and acculturative stress, discrimination, and victimization.

Sex- and/or Gender-Related Features:

- Schizophrenia is more prevalent among males.
- The age of onset of the first psychotic episode differs by gender with a greater proportion of males experiencing onset in their early to mid 20s and females in their late 20s.
- Females with Schizophrenia tend to report more positive symptoms that increase in severity over the course of their lives. Females also tend to have greater mood disturbance and a greater prevalence of subsequent or co-occurring mental disorders (e.g., Schizoaffective Disorder, Depressive Disorders).
- Females with Schizophrenia are less likely to exhibit disorganized thinking, negative symptoms, and social impairment.

Boundaries with Other Disorders and Conditions (Differential Diagnosis):

Boundary with Schizoaffective Disorder: The diagnoses of Schizophrenia and • Schizoaffective Disorder are intended to apply to the current or most recent episode of the disorder. In other words, a previous diagnosis of Schizoaffective Disorder does not preclude a diagnosis of Schizophrenia, and vice versa. In both Schizophrenia and Schizoaffective Disorder, at least two the characteristic symptoms of Schizophrenia are present most of the time for a period of 1 month or more. In Schizoaffective Disorder, the symptoms of Schizophrenia are present concurrently with mood symptoms that meet the full diagnostic requirements of a Mood Episode and last for at least 1 month and the onset of the psychotic and mood symptoms is either simultaneous or occurs within a few days of one another. In Schizophrenia, co-occurring mood symptoms, if any, either do not persist for as long as 1 month or are not of sufficient severity to meet the requirements of a Moderate or Severe Depressive Episode, a Manic Episode, or a Mixed Episode. (See Mood Episode Descriptions, p. 222.) An episode that initially meets the diagnostic requirements for Schizoaffective Disorder in which only the mood symptoms remit, so that the duration of psychotic symptoms without mood symptoms is much

longer than the duration of concurrent symptoms, may be best characterized as an episode of Schizophrenia.

- **Boundary with Acute and Transient Psychotic Disorder:** The psychotic symptoms in Schizophrenia persist for at least 1 month in their full, florid form. In contrast, the symptoms in Acute and Transient Psychotic Disorder tend to fluctuate rapidly in intensity and type across time, such that the content and focus of delusions or hallucinations often shift, even on a daily basis. Such rapid shifts would be unusual in Schizophrenia. Negative symptoms are often present in Schizophrenia, but do not occur in Acute and Transient Psychotic Disorder. The duration of Acute and Transient Psychotic Disorder does not exceed 3 months, and most often lasts from a few days to 1 month, as compared to a much longer typical course for Schizophrenia. In cases that meet the diagnostic requirements for Schizophrenia except that they have lasted less than the duration required for a diagnosis (i.e., 1 month) in the absence of a previous history of Schizophrenia, a diagnosis of Other Specified Primary Psychotic Disorder and not Acute and Transient Psychotic Disorder should be assigned.
- **Boundary with Schizotypal Disorder:** Schizotypal Disorder is characterized by an enduring pattern of unusual speech, perceptions, beliefs and behaviours that resemble attenuated forms of the defining symptoms of Schizophrenia. Schizophrenia is differentiated from Schizotypal Disorder based entirely on the intensity of the symptoms; Schizophrenia is diagnosed if the symptoms are sufficiently intense to meet diagnostic requirements.
- Boundary with Delusional Disorder: Both Schizophrenia and Delusional Disorder may • be characterized by persistent delusions. If other features are present that meet the diagnostic requirements of Schizophrenia (i.e., persistent hallucinations; disorganized thinking; experiences of influence, passivity, or control; negative symptoms; disorganized or abnormal psychomotor behaviour), a diagnosis of Schizophrenia should be made instead of a diagnosis of Delusional Disorder. However, hallucinations that are consistent with the content of the delusions and do not occur persistently (i.e., with regular frequency for 1 month or longer) are consistent with a diagnosis of Delusional Disorder rather than Schizophrenia. Delusional Disorder is generally characterized by relatively preserved personality and less deterioration and impairment in social and occupational functioning in comparison with Schizophrenia, and individuals with Delusional Disorder tend to come to clinical attention for the first time at a later age. Individuals with symptom presentations consistent with Delusional Disorder (e.g., delusions and related, circumscribed hallucinations) but who have not met the minimum duration requirement of 3 months should not be assigned a diagnosis of Schizophrenia even though the combination of persistent delusions and related hallucinations technically meets diagnostic requirements for Schizophrenia. Instead, a diagnosis of Other Specified Primary Psychotic Disorder is more appropriate in such cases.
- Boundary with Moderate or Severe Depressive Episodes in Single Episode Depressive Disorder, Recurrent Depressive Disorder, Bipolar Type I Disorder, and Bipolar Type II Disorder: Psychotic symptoms may also occur during Moderate or Severe Depressive Episodes. Delusions during Depressive Episodes may resemble delusions observed in Schizophrenia and are commonly persecutory or self-referential (e.g., being pursued by authorities because of imaginary crimes). Delusions of guilt (e.g., falsely blaming oneself for wrongdoings), poverty (e.g., of being bankrupt) or impending disaster (perceived to have been brought on by the individual), as well as somatic delusions (e.g., of having contracted some serious disease) and nihilistic delusions (e.g., believing body organs do not exist) are also known to occur. Experiences of passivity, influence or control (e.g., thought insertion, thought withdrawal, or thought broadcasting) may also

occur in Moderate or Severe Depressive Episodes. Hallucinations are usually transient and rarely occur in the absence of delusions. Auditory hallucinations (e.g., derogatory or accusatory voices that berate the individual for imaginary weaknesses or sins) are more common than visual (e.g., visions of death or destruction) or olfactory hallucinations (e.g., the smell of rotting flesh). However, in a Moderate or Severe Depressive Episode with psychotic symptoms, the psychotic symptoms are confined to the Mood Episode. Schizophrenia is differentiated from Depressive Episodes in Mood Disorders by the occurrence of psychotic and other symptoms that meet the diagnostic requirements of Schizophrenia during periods without mood symptoms that meet the diagnostic requirements of a Moderate or Severe Depressive Episode. If the diagnostic requirements for both Schizophrenia and a Moderate or Severe Depressive Episode are met concurrently and both the psychotic and mood symptoms last for at least 1 month, Schizoaffective Disorder is the appropriate diagnosis.

- Boundary with Manic or Mixed Episodes in Bipolar Type I Disorder: Psychotic • symptoms may occur during Manic or Mixed Episodes in Bipolar Type I Disorder. Though all types of psychotic symptoms are known to occur in Manic or Mixed Episodes, grandiose delusions (e.g., being chosen by God, having special powers or abilities), and persecutory and self-referential delusions (e.g., being conspired against because of one's special identity or abilities) are among the most common. Experiences of influence, passivity or control (e.g., thought insertion, thought withdrawal, or thought broadcasting) may also occur during Manic or Mixed Episodes. Hallucinations are less frequent and commonly accompany delusions of persecution or reference. They are usually auditory (e.g., adulatory voices), and less commonly visual (e.g., visions of deities), somatic, or tactile. However, in a Manic or Mixed Episode with psychotic symptoms, the psychotic symptoms are confined to the Mood Episode. Schizophrenia is differentiated from Manic or Mixed Episodes in Bipolar Type I Disorder by the occurrence of psychotic and other symptoms that meet the diagnostic requirements of Schizophrenia during periods without mood symptoms that meet the diagnostic requirements of a Manic or Mixed Episode. If the diagnostic requirements for both Schizophrenia and Bipolar Type I Disorder are met concurrently and both psychotic and mood symptoms last for at least 1 month, Schizoaffective Disorder is the appropriate diagnosis.
- Boundary with Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder and Complex Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder: In Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder and Complex Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder, severe flashbacks that involve a complete loss of awareness of present surroundings may occur, intrusive images or memories may have a hallucinatory quality, and hypervigilance may reach proportions that appear to be paranoid. However, the diagnoses of Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder and Complex Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder require a history of exposure to an event or series of events (either short- or long-lasting) of an extremely threatening or horrific nature. These diagnoses also require re-experiencing of the traumatic event in the present, in which the event is not just remembered but rather experienced as occurring again in the here and now, and may include loss of awareness and hallucination-like experiences within this specific context. Re-experiencing of traumatic Stress Disorder and Schizophrenia frequently co-occur, and both diagnoses should be assigned when the diagnostic requirements for each are met.

6A21 Schizoaffective Disorder

Essential (Required) Features:

- All diagnostic requirements for Schizophrenia are met concurrently with mood symptoms that meet the diagnostic requirements of a Moderate or Severe Depressive Episode, a Manic Episode, or a Mixed Episode. *Note:* In making a diagnosis of Schizoaffective Disorder, Depressive Episodes must include depressed mood, not just diminished interest or pleasure.
- The onset of the psychotic and mood symptoms is either simultaneous or occurs within a few days of one another.
- The duration of symptomatic episodes is at least 1 month for both psychotic and mood symptoms.
- The symptoms or behaviours are not a manifestation of another medical condition (e.g., a brain tumour) and are not due to the effects of a substance or medication on the central nervous system (e.g., corticosteroids), including withdrawal effects (e.g., from alcohol).

Course specifiers for Schizoaffective Disorder:

The following specifiers should be applied to identify the course of Schizoaffective Disorder, including whether the individual currently meets the diagnostic requirements of Schizoaffective Disorder or is in partial or full remission. Course specifiers are also used to indicate whether the current episode is the first episode of Schizoaffective Disorder, whether there have been multiple such episodes, or whether symptoms have been continuous over an extended period of time.

6A21.0 Schizoaffective Disorder, first episode

• The first episode specifier should be applied when the current or most recent episode is the first manifestation of the Schizoaffective Disorder meeting all diagnostic requirements in terms of symptoms and duration. If there has been a previous episode of Schizoaffective Disorder or Schizophrenia, the 'multiple episodes' specifier should be applied.

6A21.00 Schizoaffective Disorder, first episode, currently symptomatic

- All diagnostic requirements for Schizoaffective Disorder in terms of symptoms and duration are currently met, or have been met within the past 1 month.
- There have been no previous episodes of Schizophrenia or Schizoaffective Disorder.

Note: If the duration of the episode is more than 1 year, the 'continuous' specifier may be used instead, depending on the clinical situation.

6A21.01 Schizoaffective Disorder, first episode, in partial remission

• The full diagnostic requirements for Schizoaffective Disorder have not been met within the past month, but some clinically significant symptoms remain, which may or may not be associated with functional impairment.

• There have been no previous episodes of Schizophrenia or Schizoaffective Disorder.

Note: This category may also be used to designate the re-emergence of subthreshold symptoms of Schizoaffective Disorder following an asymptomatic period in a person who has previously met the diagnostic requirements for Schizoaffective Disorder.

6A21.02 Schizoaffective Disorder, first episode, in full remission

- The full diagnostic requirements for Schizoaffective Disorder have not been met within the past month, and no clinically significant symptoms remain.
- There have been no previous episodes of Schizophrenia or Schizoaffective Disorder.

6A21.0Z Schizoaffective Disorder, first episode, unspecified

6A21.1 Schizoaffective Disorder, multiple episodes

• The multiple episodes specifier should be applied when there has been a minimum of two episodes meeting all diagnostic requirements of Schizoaffective Disorder or Schizophrenia in terms of symptoms, with a period of partial or full remission between episodes lasting at least 3 months, and the current or most recent episode is Schizoaffective Disorder. Note that the 1-month duration requirement for the first episode does not necessarily need to be met for subsequent episodes. During the period of remission, the diagnostic requirements of Schizoaffective Disorder are either only partially fulfilled or absent.

6A21.10 Schizoaffective Disorder, multiple episodes, currently symptomatic

- All symptom requirements for Schizoaffective Disorder are currently met, or have been met within the past 1 month. Note that the 1-month duration requirement for the first episode does not necessarily need to be met for subsequent episodes.
- There have been a minimum of two episodes of Schizoaffective Disorder or a previous episode of Schizophrenia, with a period of partial or full remission between episodes lasting at least 3 months.

6A21.11 Schizoaffective Disorder, multiple episodes, in partial remission

- The full diagnostic requirements for Schizoaffective Disorder have not been met within the past month, but some clinically significant symptoms remain, which may or may not be associated with functional impairment.
- There have been a minimum of two episodes of Schizoaffective Disorder or a previous episode of Schizophrenia, with a period of partial or full remission between episodes lasting at least 3 months.

Note: This category may also be used to designate the re-emergence of subthreshold symptoms of Schizoaffective Disorder following an asymptomatic period.

6A21.12 Schizoaffective Disorder, multiple episodes, in full remission

- The full diagnostic requirements for Schizoaffective Disorder have not been met within the past month, and no clinically significant symptoms remain.
- There have been a minimum of two episodes of Schizoaffective Disorder or a previous episode of Schizophrenia, with a period of partial or full remission between episodes lasting at least 3 months.

6A21.1Z Schizoaffective Disorder, multiple episodes, unspecified

6A21.2 Schizoaffective Disorder, continuous

• The continuous specifier should be applied when symptoms fulfilling all diagnostic requirements of Schizoaffective Disorder have been present for almost all of the course of the disorder during the person's lifetime since its first onset, with periods of subthreshold symptoms being very brief relative to the overall course. In order to apply this specifier to a first episode, the duration of Schizoaffective Disorder must be at least 1 year. In that case, the continuous specifier should be applied instead of the first episode specifier.

6A21.20 Schizoaffective Disorder, continuous, currently symptomatic

- All symptom requirements for Schizoaffective Disorder are currently met, or have been met within the past month.
- Symptoms meeting the diagnostic requirements for Schizoaffective Disorder or Schizophrenia have been present for almost all of the course of the disorder during the person's lifetime since its first onset.
- Periods of partial or full remission have been very brief relative to the overall course and none have lasted for three months or longer.
- To apply the continuous specifier to a first episode, symptoms meeting the diagnostic requirements for Schizoaffective Disorder must have been present for at least 1 year.

6A21.21 Schizoaffective Disorder, continuous, in partial remission

- The full diagnostic requirements for Schizoaffective Disorder, continuous were previously met but have not been met within the past month.
- Some clinically significant symptoms of Schizoaffective Disorder remain, which may or may not be associated with functional impairment.

Note: This category may also be used to designate the re-emergence of subthreshold symptoms of Schizoaffective Disorder following an asymptomatic period.

6A21.22 Schizoaffective Disorder, continuous, in full remission

- The full diagnostic requirements for Schizoaffective Disorder, continuous were previously met but have not been met within the past month.
- No clinically significant symptoms of Schizoaffective Disorder remain.

6A21.2Z Schizoaffective Disorder, continuous, unspecified

6A21.Y Other specified Schizoaffective Disorder

6A21.Z Schizoaffective Disorder, episode unspecified

Additional Clinical Features:

- The onset of Schizoaffective Disorder may be acute, with serious disturbance apparent within a few days, or insidious, with a gradual development of signs and symptoms.
- There is often a history of prior Mood Episodes and a previous diagnosis of a Depressive Disorder or a Bipolar Disorder in individuals with Schizoaffective Disorder.
- A prodromal phase often precedes the onset of psychotic symptoms by weeks or months. The characteristic features of this phase often include loss of interest in work or social activities, neglect of personal appearance or hygiene, inversion of the sleep cycle and attenuated psychotic symptoms, accompanied by negative symptoms, anxiety/agitation, and varying degrees of depressive symptoms.
- An episodic course with periods of remission is the most common pattern of progression of the disorder.
- Schizoaffective Disorder is frequently associated with significant distress and significant impairment in personal, family, social, educational, occupational or other important areas of functioning. However, distress and psychosocial impairment are not requirements for a diagnosis of Schizoaffective Disorder.

Boundary with Normality (Threshold):

• Psychotic-like symptoms or unusual subjective experiences may occur in the general population, but these are usually fleeting in nature and are not accompanied by other symptoms of Schizophrenia or a deterioration in psychosocial functioning. In Schizoaffective Disorder, multiple persistent symptoms are present and are typically accompanied by impairment in cognitive functioning and other psychosocial problems.

Course Features:

• Some people with Schizoaffective Disorder experience exacerbations and remission of symptoms periodically throughout the illness course, whereas others experience a full remission of symptoms between episodes.

Developmental Presentations:

- Diagnosis of Schizoaffective Disorder among children is challenging because the sequence of mood and psychotic symptoms may be difficult for children to accurately describe.
- Children who are diagnosed with Schizoaffective Disorder are the most severely impaired and have the poorest outcomes amongst all children diagnosed with psychotic disorders.
- Schizoaffective Disorder with Manic Episodes is more common among young adults whereas Schizoaffective Disorder with Depressive Episodes is more common among older adults.

Culture-Related Features:

- See Culture-Related Features section for Schizophrenia, all of which also applies to Schizoaffective Disorder.
- In addition. culture may affect the expression of mood symptoms, the use of idioms of distress and illness-related metaphors, and the prominence of certain patterns of mood-related symptoms. For example, religious or spiritual views about suicidal ideation or behaviour may decrease reporting and increase associated guilt; and shame may be more prominent than guilt in sociocentric societies. Norms for experiencing and articulating mood symptoms psychologically vary by culture, as does the attribution of distress to interpersonal, social, psychological, biological, supernatural or spiritual concerns.
- Bodily complaints as somatic expressions of depression may predominate over cognitive mood symptoms due to their greater cultural acceptability as indications of the need for clinical attention.

Sex- and/or Gender-Related Features:

• Schizoaffective Disorder is more prevalent among females than males, especially Schizoaffective Disorder with Depressive Episodes.

Boundaries with Other Disorders and Conditions (Differential Diagnosis):

Boundary with Schizophrenia: The diagnoses of Schizophrenia and Schizoaffective Disorder are intended to apply to the current or most recent episode of the disorder. In other words, a previous diagnosis of Schizoaffective Disorder does not preclude a diagnosis of Schizophrenia, and vice versa. In both Schizophrenia and Schizoaffective Disorder, at least two the characteristic symptoms of Schizophrenia are present most of the time for a period of 1 month or more. In Schizoaffective Disorder, the symptoms of Schizophrenia are present concurrently with mood symptoms that meet the full diagnostic requirements of a Mood Episode and last for at least 1 month and the onset of the psychotic and mood symptoms is either simultaneous or occurs within a few days of one another. In Schizophrenia, co-occurring mood symptoms, if any, either do not persist for as long as 1 month or are not of sufficient severity to meet the requirements of a Moderate or Severe Depressive Episode, a Manic Episode, or a Mixed Episode. (See Mood Episode Descriptions, p. 222.) An episode that initially meets the diagnostic requirements for Schizoaffective Disorder in which only the mood symptoms remit, so that the duration of psychotic symptoms without mood symptoms is much longer than the duration of concurrent symptoms, may be best characterized as an episode of Schizophrenia.

- **Boundary with Mood Episodes with psychotic symptoms:** Schizoaffective Disorder, Schizophrenia, Moderate or Severe Depressive Episodes, Manic Episodes, and Mixed Episodes are all intended to describe the current episode of the disorder. In Schizoaffective Disorder, the duration and symptom requirements for Schizophrenia are fully met during the Mood Episode. In a Depressive Disorder with psychotic symptoms or a Bipolar Type I Disorder with psychotic symptoms, psychotic symptoms occur simultaneously with the Mood Episodes but do not meet the diagnostic requirements for Schizophrenia (e.g., hallucinations without any other psychotic symptoms). It is possible for an individual to meet the diagnostic requirements for each during different periods.
- **Boundary with Acute and Transient Psychotic Disorder:** In Schizoaffective Disorder, the psychotic symptoms persist for at least 1 month in their full, florid form. In contrast, in Acute and Transient Psychotic Disorder, the symptom criteria for Schizophrenia or a Depressive, Manic or Mixed Episode are not met. Moreover, the symptoms in Acute and Transient Psychotic Disorder tend to fluctuate rapidly in intensity and type across time, such that the content and focus of delusions or hallucinations often shift, even on a daily basis. Negative symptoms may be present in Schizoaffective Disorder, but do not occur in Acute Transient Psychotic Disorder. The duration of Acute and Transient Psychotic Disorder does not exceed 3 months, and most often lasts from a few days to 1 month, as compared to a much longer typical course for Schizoaffective Disorder.

6A22 Schizotypal Disorder

Essential (Required) Features:

- An enduring pattern of unusual speech, perceptions, beliefs and behaviours that are not of sufficient intensity or duration to meet the diagnostic requirements of Schizophrenia, Schizoaffective Disorder, or Delusional Disorder. The pattern includes several of the following symptoms:
 - Constricted affect, such that the individual appears cold and aloof;
 - Behaviour or appearance that is odd, eccentric, unusual, or peculiar and is inconsistent with cultural or subcultural norms;
 - Poor rapport with others and a tendency towards social withdrawal;
 - Unusual beliefs or magical thinking influencing the person's behaviour in ways that are inconsistent with subcultural norms, but not reaching the diagnostic requirements for a delusion;
 - Unusual perceptual distortions such as intense illusions, depersonalization, derealization, or auditory or other hallucinations;
 - Suspiciousness or paranoid ideas;
 - Vague, circumstantial, metaphorical, overelaborate, or stereotyped thinking, manifest in odd speech without gross incoherence;
 - Obsessive ruminations without a sense that the obsession is foreign or unwanted, often with body dysmorphic, sexual, or aggressive content.
- The individual has never met the diagnostic requirements for Schizophrenia, Schizoaffective Disorder, or Delusional Disorder. That is, transient delusions, hallucinations, formal thought disorder, or experiences of influence, passivity or control may occur, but do not last for more than 1 month.
- Symptoms should have been present, continuously or episodically, for at least 2 years.
- The symptoms cause distress or impairment in personal, family, social, educational, occupational or other important areas of functioning.

• The symptoms are not a manifestation of another medical condition (e.g., a brain tumour), are not due to the effects of a substance or medication on the central nervous system (e.g., corticosteroids), including withdrawal effects (e.g., from alcohol), and are not better accounted for by another Mental, Behavioural, or Neurodevelopmental Disorder.

Additional Clinical Features:

• Schizotypal Disorder is more common in biological relatives of persons with a diagnosis of Schizophrenia and is considered to be a part of the spectrum of Schizophrenia-related psychopathology. Having a first-degree relative with Schizophrenia gives additional weight to a diagnosis of Schizotypal Disorder but is not a requirement if the individual is experiencing distress or impairment in psychosocial functioning related to their symptoms.

Boundary with Normality (Threshold):

• The threshold between symptoms of Schizotypal Disorder and extravagant, eccentric, or unusual behaviour and beliefs in individuals without a diagnosable disorder is sometimes difficult to determine, especially as some people in the general population show eccentric behaviour and report psychotic-like or unusual subjective experiences without any apparent impairment in functioning. Schizotypal Disorder should only be diagnosed if the individual is experiencing distress or impairment in personal, family, social, educational, occupational or other important areas of functioning related to their symptoms.

Course Features:

- The course of Schizotypal Disorder is relatively stable and chronic, with some fluctuation in symptom intensity. Individuals often have severe functional impairments in academic, occupational, and interpersonal domains.
- The symptoms of Schizotypal Disorder are typically present prior to full symptomatic onset:
 - Poor rapport with others and a tendency towards social withdrawal, suspiciousness or paranoid ideas; and
 - Vague, circumstantial, metaphorical, overelaborate, or stereotyped thinking, manifested in odd speech without gross incoherence.
- The disorder may persist over years with fluctuations of intensity and symptom expression but rarely evolves into Schizophrenia.
- Affected individuals typically seek treatment for co-occurring Depressive or Anxiety or Fear-Related Disorders. Although intervention has demonstrated some efficacy in improving mood and anxiety symptoms, suspicion and paranoia often persist.

Developmental Presentations:

- Schizotypal Disorder typically begins in late adolescence or early adulthood, without a definite age of onset.
- Some symptoms of Schizotypal Disorder may first appear in childhood and adolescence affecting peer relationships and academic performance.

Culture-Related Features:

- A person's behaviour, appearance, speech, or illness explanations may appear odd or unusual to clinicians who are unfamiliar with the person's culture, but in the context of the person's cultural group may be either normative or not be sufficiently severe as to reach the threshold of a mental disorder. Concepts and experiences that are common in some cultures include witchcraft or sorcery, speaking in tongues, life beyond death, shamanism, mind reading, sixth sense, evil eye, spirit possession, and magical beliefs related to health and illness.
- Reduced engagement in interpersonal relationships may be part of some cultural or religious practices (e.g., monastic isolation) and should not be considered pathological.

Sex- and/or Gender-Related Features:

• Schizotypal Disorder is slightly more common in males.

Boundaries with Other Disorders and Conditions (Differential Diagnosis):

- **Boundary with Schizophrenia:** In the prodromal and residual phases of Schizophrenia, the individual may experience extended periods of perceptual distortions, unusual beliefs, odd or digressive speech, social withdrawal, and other symptoms that are characteristic of Schizotypal Disorder. A diagnosis of Schizophrenia, however, requires a period of at least 1 month of psychotic symptoms, in contrast to Schizotypal Disorder, which requires that any psychotic-like symptoms not meet the diagnostic requirements for Schizophrenia in terms of severity or duration. Moreover, the pattern of unusual speech, perceptions, beliefs and behaviours tends to be stable over time—even over years—in individuals with Schizotypal Disorder, in contrast to an evolving symptom picture either in prodromal or residual phases of Schizophrenia.
- **Boundary with Autism Spectrum Disorder:** Interpersonal difficulties seen in Schizotypal Disorder may share some features of Autism Spectrum Disorder, including poor rapport with others and social withdrawal. However, individuals with Schizotypal Disorder do not exhibit restricted, repetitive and stereotyped patterns of behaviour, interests, or activities.
- **Boundary with Personality Disorder:** Personality Disorder is defined as an enduring disturbance in the individual's way of interpreting and experiencing himself or herself, others, and the world that result in maladaptive patterns of emotional expression and behaviour, and produce significant problems in functioning that are particularly evident in interpersonal relationships. Individuals with Schizotypal Disorder should not be given an additional diagnosis of Personality Disorder based on disturbances in functioning and interpersonal relationships that are entirely a consequence of the symptoms of Schizotypal Disorder. However, if additional personality features are present that are judged to produce significant problems in interpersonal functioning, an additional diagnosis of Personality Disorder may be appropriate.

6A23 Acute and Transient Psychotic Disorder

Essential (Required) Features:

- Acute onset of psychotic symptoms, which can include delusions, hallucinations, disorganized thinking, or experiences of influence, passivity or control, that emerge without a prodrome, progressing from a non-psychotic state to a clearly psychotic state within 2 weeks. Psychomotor disturbances may also be present, including catatonia.
- Symptoms change rapidly, both in nature and intensity. Such changes may occur from day to day, or even within a single day.
- Absence of negative symptoms (i.e., affective flattening, alogia or paucity of speech, avolition, asociality, anhedonia) during the psychotic episode.
- The duration of the symptoms does not exceed 3 months, and most commonly lasts from a few days to 1 month.
- The symptoms or behaviours are not a manifestation of another medical condition (e.g., a brain tumour), are not due to the effects of a substance or medication on the central nervous system (e.g., corticosteroids), including withdrawal effects (e.g., from alcohol), and are not better accounted for by Schizophrenia or Other Primary Psychotic Disorder.

Course specifiers for Acute and Transient Psychotic Disorder:

The following specifiers should be applied to identify the course of Acute and Transient Psychotic Disorder, including whether the individual currently meets the diagnostic requirements for the disorder or is in partial or full remission. If there have been no previous episodes of Acute and Transient Psychotic Disorder, the corresponding single episode specifier should be applied. If there have been multiple such episodes, the corresponding multiple episodes specifiers should be applied.

6A23.0 Acute and Transient Psychotic Disorder, first episode

• The first episode specifier should be applied when the current or most recent episode is the first manifestation of Acute and Transient Psychotic Disorder meeting all diagnostic requirements of the disorder.

6A23.00 Acute and Transient Psychotic Disorder, first episode, currently symptomatic

- All diagnostic requirements for Acute and Transient Psychotic Disorder in terms of symptoms and duration are currently met, or have been met within the past 1 month.
- There have been no previous episodes of Acute and Transient Psychotic Disorder.

6A23.01 Acute and Transient Psychotic Disorder, first episode, in partial remission

• The full diagnostic requirements for Acute and Transient Psychotic Disorder have not been met within the past month, but some clinically significant symptoms remain, which may or may not be associated with functional impairment. • There have been no previous episodes of Acute and Transient Psychotic Disorder.

Note: This category may also be used to designate the re-emergence of subthreshold symptoms of Acute and Transient Psychotic Disorder following an asymptomatic period in a person who has previously met the diagnostic requirements for Acute and Transient Psychotic Disorder.

6A23.02 Acute and Transient Psychotic Disorder, first episode, in full remission

- The full diagnostic requirements for Acute and Transient Psychotic Disorder have not been met within the past month, and no clinically significant symptoms remain.
- There have been no previous episodes of Acute and Transient Psychotic Disorder.

6A23.0Z Acute and Transient Psychotic Disorder, first episode, unspecified

6A23.1 Acute and Transient Psychotic Disorder, multiple episodes

The multiple episodes specifier should be applied when there has been a minimum of two episodes meeting all diagnostic requirements of Acute and Transient Psychotic Disorder in terms of symptoms and duration, with a period of full remission between episodes lasting at least 3 months.

6A23.10 Acute and Transient Psychotic Disorder, multiple episodes, currently symptomatic

- All diagnostic requirements for Acute and Transient Psychotic Disorder in terms of symptoms and duration are currently met, or have been met within the past 1 month.
- There has been a minimum of two episodes, with a period of full remission between episodes lasting at least 3 months.

6A23.11 Acute and Transient Psychotic Disorder, multiple episodes, in partial remission

- The full diagnostic requirements for Acute and Transient Psychotic Disorder have not been met within the past month, but some clinically significant symptoms remain, which may or may not be associated with functional impairment.
- There has been a minimum of two episodes, with a period full remission between episodes lasting at least 3 months.

Note: This category may also be used to designate the re-emergence of subthreshold symptoms of Acute and Transient Psychotic Disorder following an asymptomatic period.

6A23.12 Acute and Transient Psychotic Disorder, multiple episodes, in full remission

- The full diagnostic requirements for Acute and Transient Psychotic Disorder have not been met within the past month, and no clinically significant symptoms remain.
- There has been a minimum of two episodes, with a period of full remission between episodes lasting at least 3 months.

6A23.1Z Acute and Transient Psychotic Disorder, multiple episodes, unspecified

6A23.Y Other Specified Acute and Transient Psychotic Disorder

6A23.Z Acute and Transient Psychotic Disorder, Unspecified

Additional Clinical Features:

- The onset of the disorder is usually associated with a rapid deterioration in social and occupational functioning. Following remission, the person is generally able to regain the premorbid level of functioning.
- There are often other symptoms such as fluctuating disturbances of mood and affect, transient states of perplexity or confusion, or impairment of attention and concentration.
- An episode of acute stress preceding the onset of Acute and Transient Psychotic Disorder is commonly reported, but this is not a diagnostic requirement.
- If the symptoms last for more than 3 months, a different diagnosis should be considered, depending on the specific symptoms (e.g., Schizophrenia, Schizoaffective Disorder, Delusional Disorder, Other Primary Psychotic Disorder).

Boundary with Normality (Threshold):

• Isolated unusual subjective experiences, such as experiences resembling hallucinations and delusions, are reported in the general population. However, in Acute and Transient Psychotic Disorder, the symptoms rapidly progress to full psychosis, they are usually polymorphic, fluctuating in quality and intensity (e.g., having features come and go in relatively rapid succession, or having the nature of a feature change over time, such as the focus or nature of a delusional belief), and usually fully remit within several weeks.

Course Features:

- Symptoms are brief in nature lasting anywhere from a few days but not exceeding 3 months.
- Some individuals diagnosed with Acute and Transient Psychotic Disorder will go on to meet diagnostic requirements for another mental disorder, such as Schizophrenia, another Primary Psychotic Disorder, or a Mood Disorder.
- In general, favourable outcomes are associated with acute onset, short duration, good premorbid functioning, and female gender.

Developmental Presentations:

• Onset of Acute and Transient Psychotic Disorders typically occurs between early and middle adulthood. However, the disorder may occur during adolescence or later in the lifespan often following an episode of acute stress.

Culture-Related Features:

- Migrant populations may be more likely to report these experiences. This may be due to higher prevalence as a result of migration-related stress, misattribution of psychosis by clinicians unfamiliar with cultural expressions of distress, or a combination of the two.
- In some cultures, distress due to social and other environmental circumstances may be expressed in ways that can be misinterpreted as psychotic symptoms (e.g., overvalued ideas and pseudo-hallucinations) but that instead are normative to the person's subgroup.

Sex- and/or Gender-Related Features:

- Acute and Transient Psychotic Disorder is more common in females.
- Male gender and younger age of Acute and Transient Psychotic Disorder onset appear to be associated with greater risk of subsequent development of Schizophrenia.

Boundaries with Other Disorders and Conditions (Differential Diagnosis):

- Boundary with Schizophrenia and Schizoaffective Disorder: The psychotic symptoms in Schizophrenia and in Schizoaffective Disorder last for at least 1 month in their full, florid form and tend to be more stable or fixed (e.g., having the same delusion for a period of months). In contrast, the symptoms in Acute and Transient Psychotic Disorder tend to fluctuate rapidly in intensity and type across time, such that the content and focus of delusions or hallucinations often shift, even on a daily basis. Negative symptoms may be present in Schizophrenia and Schizoaffective Disorder, but do not occur in Acute and Transient Psychotic Disorder. The duration of Acute and Transient Psychotic Disorder does not exceed 3 months, and most often lasts from a few days to 1 month, as compared to a much longer typical course for Schizophrenia or Schizoaffective Disorder. Finally, in contrast to Schizophrenia where the onset is often preceded by a history of poor premorbid adjustment, in Acute and Transient Psychotic Disorder the person's symptoms progress rapidly without a prodromal period. In cases that meet both the diagnostic requirements for Acute and Transient Psychotic Disorder (i.e., fluctuating symptoms, acute onset, duration less than 3 months) and Schizophrenia (e.g., delusions and hallucinations for more than 1 month) in the absence of a previous history of Schizophrenia, a diagnosis of Acute and Transient Psychotic Disorder and not Schizophrenia should be assigned.
- **Boundary with Mood Disorders with psychotic symptoms:** Depressive and Bipolar Disorders are characterized by a predominant disturbance in mood that persists for at least several days and often much longer. Although mood symptoms may occur in Acute and Transient Psychotic Disorder, they are transient and do not meet the required duration or associated symptoms to qualify for a Depressive, Manic, or Mixed Episode.
- **Boundary with Acute Stress Reaction and Dissociative Disorders:** Like Acute and Transient Psychotic Disorder, Acute Stress Reaction and some Dissociative Disorders have an acute onset, often in response to a stressful life experience, and resolve in days to weeks. In contrast, by definition, Acute and Transient Psychotic Disorder includes

psychotic symptoms like hallucinations or delusions that do not occur in Disorders Specifically Associated with Stress or in Dissociative Disorders.

• **Boundary with Delirium:** In Delirium, the individual has a fluctuating clouding of consciousness (i.e., reduced ability to direct, focus, sustain, and shift attention) and awareness (i.e., reduced orientation to the environment). In contrast, in Acute and Transient Psychotic Disorder, the person maintains a regular level of alertness and relatively clear sense of consciousness, despite transient states of perplexity, confusion, and impairment of attention or concentration.

6A24 Delusional Disorder

Essential (Required) Features:

- Presence of a delusion or set of related delusions, typically persisting for at least 3 months and often much longer, in the absence of a Depressive, Manic or Mixed Episode.
- The delusions are variable in content across individuals, while showing remarkable stability within individuals, although they may evolve over time. Common forms of delusions include persecutory, somatic (e.g., a belief that organs are rotting or malfunctioning despite normal medical examination), grandiose (e.g., a belief that one has discovered an elixir that gives eternal life), jealous (e.g., the unjustified belief that one's spouse is unfaithful) and erotomania (i.e., the belief that another person, usually a famous or high-status stranger, is in love with the person experiencing the delusion).
- Absence of clear and persistent hallucinations, severely disorganized thinking (formal thought disorder), experiences of influence, passivity, or control or negative symptoms characteristic of Schizophrenia. However, in some cases, specific hallucinations typically related to the content of the delusions may be present (e.g., tactile hallucinations in delusions of being infected by parasites or insects).
- Apart from the actions and attitudes directly related to the delusional system, affect, speech, and behaviour are typically unaffected.
- The symptoms are not a manifestation of another medical condition (e.g., a brain tumour), are not due to the effects of a substance or medication on the central nervous system (e.g., corticosteroids), including withdrawal effects (e.g., from alcohol), and are not better accounted for by another mental disorder (e.g., another Primary Psychotic Disorder, a Mood Disorder, an Obsessive-Compulsive or Related Disorder, an Eating Disorder).

Course specifiers for Delusional Disorder:

The following specifiers should be applied to identify whether the individual currently meets the diagnostic requirements of Delusional Disorder or is in partial or full remission.

6A24.0 Delusional Disorder, currently symptomatic

• All diagnostic requirements for Delusional Disorder in terms of symptoms and duration are currently met, or have been met within the past 1 month.

6A24.1 Delusional Disorder, in partial remission

• The full diagnostic requirements for Delusional Disorder have not been met within the past month, but some clinically significant symptoms remain, which may or may not be associated with functional impairment.

Note: This category may also be used to designate the re-emergence of subthreshold symptoms of Delusional Disorder following an asymptomatic period in a person who has previously met the diagnostic requirements for Delusional Disorder.

6A24.2 Delusional Disorder, in full remission

• The full diagnostic requirements for Delusional Disorder have not been met within the past month, and no clinically significant symptoms remain.

6A24.Z Delusional Disorder, unspecified

Additional Clinical Features:

- Delusions may be accompanied by actions directly related to the content of the delusions, for example, stalking the loved person in the context of erotomania or filing lawsuits against those believed to be persecuting the person.
- Delusional Disorder typically has a later onset and greater stability of symptoms than other psychotic disorders with delusional symptoms.
- Rarely, Delusional Disorder may occur at the same time (or closely associated in time) in two persons who have a strong emotional or situational link. This condition is often referred to as shared or induced Delusional Disorder or 'folie-à-deux'. In such cases, one person typically adopts the delusional belief of the other person, and the delusions may remit in the less dominant person when the two individuals are separated.

Boundary with Normality (Threshold):

• A continuum of delusional beliefs, attenuated delusional beliefs, overvalued ideas, and unusual or eccentric beliefs has been observed in the general population. Such beliefs may be more common among people under conditions of adversity. People with Delusional Disorder may display greater psychological distress, greater preoccupation, and higher degree of conviction compared to people in the general population with beliefs that are similar in nature to beliefs that could be characterized as delusional.

Course Features:

- Delusional Disorder typically has a later onset and greater stability of symptoms than other psychotic disorders with delusional symptoms.
- Some individuals with Delusional Disorder will develop Schizophrenia.
- Individuals are more likely to have a premorbid Personality Disorder prior to the onset of Delusional Disorder.
- Levels of functioning are typically better among individuals with Delusional Disorder as compared to those with a diagnosis of Schizophrenia or Other Primary Psychotic disorder.

• Individuals with Delusional Disorder are less likely to require hospitalization in comparison to individuals with either Schizophrenia or Schizoaffective Disorder.

Developmental Presentations:

- Delusional disorder is more prevalent among older individuals.
- Individuals who experience Delusional Disorder in early adulthood are more likely to have a history of hallucinations and severe psychopathology during adolescence.

Culture-Related Features:

- Cultural factors may influence the presentation and diagnosis of Delusional Disorder. For example, spirit possession or witchcraft beliefs may be culturally normative in some but not other cultures.
- Individuals may present with a combination of delusions and overvalued ideas, both drawing on similar cultural idioms and beliefs.
- Diverse populations that experience persecution (e.g., torture, political violence, discrimination due to minority status) may report fears that may be misjudged as paranoid delusions; these may represent instead appropriate fears of recurrence of being persecuted or symptoms of co-occurring Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder. Accurate diagnosis relies on obtaining historical information and considering the cultural context to discern the veracity of persecutory beliefs.

Sex- and/or Gender-Related Features:

• There are no prominent gender differences in Delusional Disorder. However, men appear to have a younger age of onset and are more likely to have delusions of jealousy.

Boundaries with Other Disorders and Conditions (Differential Diagnosis):

Boundary with Schizophrenia: Both Schizophrenia and Delusional Disorder may be • characterized by persistent delusions. If other features are present that meet the diagnostic requirements for Schizophrenia (i.e., persistent hallucinations, disorganized thinking, negative symptoms, disorganized or abnormal psychomotor behaviour, or experiences of influence, passivity, or control), a diagnosis of Schizophrenia may be made instead of a diagnosis of Delusional Disorder. However, hallucinations that are consistent with the content of the delusions and do not occur persistently (i.e., with regular frequency for 1 month or longer) are consistent with a diagnosis of Delusional Disorder rather than Schizophrenia. Delusional Disorder is generally characterized by relatively preserved personality and less deterioration and impairment in social and occupational functioning in comparison with Schizophrenia, and individuals with Delusional Disorder tend to present for the first time at a later age. Individuals with symptom presentations consistent with Delusional Disorder (e.g., delusions and related, circumscribed hallucinations) but who have not met the minimum duration requirement of 3 months should not be assigned a diagnosis of Schizophrenia even though the combination of persistent delusions and related hallucinations technically meets diagnostic requirements for Schizophrenia. Instead a diagnosis of Other Specified Primary Psychotic Disorder is more appropriate in such cases.

- **Boundary with Mood Disorders with psychotic symptoms:** In Depressive Disorders with psychotic symptoms and Bipolar Disorders with psychotic symptoms, delusions may present during the course of the Mood Episodes. Although mood symptoms, especially depressed mood, can occur in Delusional Disorder, the diagnosis of Delusional Disorder requires that there are times when the person experiences the delusions in the absence of any mood disturbance.
- Boundary with Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder, Body Dysmorphic Disorder, Hypochondriasis (Health Anxiety Disorder), Olfactory Reference Disorder, and Anorexia Nervosa: A number of mental disorders (i.e., Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder, Body Dysmorphic Disorder, Hypochondriasis, Olfactory Reference Disorder, Anorexia Nervosa) may involve a recurrent preoccupation with a belief that is demonstrably untrue or that is not shared by others (e.g., that ritualistically washing one's hands prevents harm to loved ones, that a body part is defective, that one has a serious medical illness, that one emits a foul smell, that one is overweight) that may at times appear to be delusional in intensity, in the context of the other clinical features of that disorder. An additional diagnosis of Delusional Disorder should not be given if the belief occurs entirely in the context of symptomatic episodes of one of these other disorders and is fully consistent with its other clinical features.
- **Boundary with Dementia:** Delusions, especially persecutory delusions, may occur as a symptom of Dementia, particularly among older adults. Such delusions are differentiated from Delusional Disorder in that they have their onset during the Dementia and are, by definition, due to another medical condition or prolonged substance use. In contrast, the delusions in Delusional Disorder must have had their onset prior to the onset of Dementia. In cases where a Dementia has developed in someone with an established diagnosis of Delusional Disorder, both diagnoses may be assigned.
- **Boundary with Delirium:** Delusions may also be a prominent feature of Delirium. In Delirium, however, the individual also has a fluctuating clouding of consciousness (i.e., reduced ability to direct, focus, sustain, and shift attention) and awareness (i.e., reduced orientation to the environment). In contrast, in Delusional Disorder, there is no disturbance of attention or consciousness.

6A2Y Other Specified Primary Psychotic Disorder

Essential (Required) Features:

- The presentation is characterized by psychotic symptoms that share primary clinical features with disorders in the Schizophrenia or Other Primary Psychotic Disorders grouping (e.g., delusions, hallucinations, formal thought disorder, grossly disorganized or catatonic behaviour).
- The symptoms do not fulfil the diagnostic requirements (e.g., in severity, frequency, or duration) for any other disorder in the Schizophrenia or Other Primary Psychotic Disorders grouping.
- The symptoms are not better accounted for by another Mental, Behavioural or Neurodevelopmental Disorder (e.g., a Mood Disorder, a Disorder Specifically Associated with Stress, a Dissociative Disorder).
- The symptoms or behaviours are not developmentally appropriate or culturally sanctioned.

- The symptoms or behaviours are not a manifestation of another medical condition (e.g., a brain tumour) and are not due to the effects of a substance or medication on the central nervous system (e.g., corticosteroids), including withdrawal effects (e.g., from alcohol).
- The symptoms result in significant distress or significant impairment in personal, family, social, educational, occupational or other important areas of functioning.

6A2Z Schizophrenia or Other Specified Primary Psychotic Disorders, Unspecified

Specifier Scales for Symptomatic Manifestations of Primary Psychotic Disorders

ICD-11 includes the option of providing a specification of the level of severity for six symptom domains for the disorders included in Schizophrenia or Other Primary Psychotic Disorders. These domains are:

- 6A25.0 Positive Symptoms
- 6A25.1 Negative Symptoms
- 6A25.2 Depressive Mood Symptoms
- 6A25.3 Manic Mood Symptoms
- 6A25.4 Psychomotor Symptoms
- 6A25.5 Cognitive Symptoms

The contribution of each of these symptom domains can be recorded in the form of specifiers, which can be rated as not present (None), Mild, Moderate, or Severe, using the anchor points and descriptions provided in the table below. The ratings should be made based on the severity of the symptoms corresponding to that domain during the past week.

Each domain that contributes significantly to the individual clinical presentation should be rated. As many symptom specifiers should be applied as necessary to accurately describe the current clinical presentation. A symptom domain can also be recorded with unspecified severity, for example if symptoms corresponding to a particular domain are present but insufficient information is available in order to rate their severity.

In cases where multiple symptoms fall within a particular domain, the rating should reflect the *most* severe symptom within that domain. For example, hallucinations and delusions are both part of the Positive Symptoms domain. A person may experience hallucinations that result in minimal distress (indicative of Mild Positive Symptoms) and delusions that affect the person's behaviour but not to the point of impairing their functioning (indicative of Moderate Positive Symptoms). In that case, the person's positive symptoms should be rated as Moderate. Note that individuals with Primary Psychotic Disorders typically do not present with all of the symptoms that are part of a given specifier domain. For example, in the Positive Symptoms domain, a person may present with only hallucinations, only delusions, both, or neither. The descriptions corresponding to each rating in the table below are intended to convey examples of symptom presentations that would justify a rating at a particular level of severity; they are not intended to be used as required criteria.

Note that the Mild, Moderate, and Severe ratings for the Depressive Mood Symptoms specifier are not equivalent to the corresponding diagnostic requirements for a Mild, Moderate, or Severe Depressive Episode. In other words, a rating of mild for Depressive Mood Symptoms in the psychotic disorder specifiers does not indicate that the individual meets the requirements for a Mild Depressive Episode. The same is true of the Manic Mood Symptoms specifier. The rating of Depressive and Manic Mood Symptoms in these specifiers indicates the severity of depressed, elevated, or irritable *mood*, and does not include other symptoms (e.g., disrupted sleep, anhedonia, appetite change) that can occur as a part of Mood Episodes.

Symptom specifier ratings are intended to characterize the current clinical presentation among individuals diagnosed with Schizophrenia or Other Primary Psychotic Disorders, and should not be used in individuals without such a diagnosis. Symptoms attributable to the direct pathophysiological consequences of a comorbid medical condition or injury not classified under Mental, Behavioural or Neurodevelopmental Disorders (e.g., a brain tumour or traumatic brain injury), or to the direct physiological effects of substances or medications, including withdrawal effects, should not be included in the specifier ratings. However, in individuals with Schizophrenia or Other Primary Psychotic Disorders, the specific aetiology of symptoms is often unclear (e.g., whether a mood symptom is due to the psychotic disorder or a result of substance use). In these cases, the relevant symptom should be considered in making the specifier rating until it becomes clear that the pathogenesis of the symptom is unrelated to the Primary Psychotic Disorder.

| ~ . | |
|----------|--|
| Severity | Anchor points |
| None | No significant symptoms from the respective |
| XS8H | domain have been present during the past week. |
| Mild | Symptoms in the domain have been present during |
| XS5W | the past week, but these are minimal in number or |
| | do not have a substantial degree of impact. |
| | Everyday functioning is not affected by these |
| | symptoms, or is affected only minimally. No |
| | significant negative social or personal |
| | consequences have occurred as a consequence of |
| | the symptoms. The symptoms may be intermittent |
| | and show fluctuations in severity, and there may |
| | be periods during which the symptoms are absent. |
| | Compared to other individuals with similar |
| | symptoms, the severity of symptoms in the |
| | domain is in the mildest third. |
| Moderate | A greater number of symptoms in the domain |
| XS0T | have been present during the past week or a |
| | smaller number of symptoms that have a |
| | substantial degree of impact. Everyday |
| | functioning may be moderately affected by the |
| | symptoms. There are negative social or personal |
| | consequences of the symptoms, but these are not |
| | severe. Most of the symptoms are present the |
| | majority of the time. Compared to other |
| | individuals with similar symptoms, the severity of |
| | symptoms in the domain is in the middle third. |
| Severe | Many symptoms in the domain have been present |
| XS25 | during the past week, or a smaller number that |
| | have a severe or pervasive degree of impact (i.e., |
| | they are intense and frequent or constant). |
| | Everyday functioning is persistently impaired due |
| | to the symptoms. There are serious negative social |

or personal consequences. Compared to other individuals with similar symptoms, the severity of symptoms in the domain is in the most severe

Symptoms from the respective domain have been present during the past week, but it is not possible to make a severity rating based on the available

Table 6.6: Symptomatic Manifestations of Primary Psychotic Disorders: Anchor Points and Descriptions for Specifier Severity Ratings

third.

information.

Severity Unspecified

Table 6.7: Rating Scale for Positive Symptoms in Primary Psychotic Disorders

6A25.0 Positive Symptoms

This specifier may be used together with a diagnosis from the grouping of Schizophrenia or Other Primary Psychotic Disorders to indicate the degree to which positive psychotic symptoms are a prominent part of the current clinical presentation. Positive symptoms include delusions, hallucinations (most commonly verbal auditory hallucinations), disorganized thinking (formal thought disorder such as loose associations, thought derailment, or incoherence), disorganized behaviour (behaviour that appears bizarre, purposeless and not goal-directed) and experiences of passivity and control (the experience that one's feelings, impulses, or thoughts are under the control of an external force). Abnormal psychomotor behaviour (e.g., catatonic restlessness or agitation, waxy flexibility, negativism) is not included in this domain but instead would be rated in the Psychomotor Symptoms domain below.

The rating should be made based on the severity of positive symptoms during the past week.

| None | No significant positive symptoms have been |
|-------------|--|
| 6A25.0&XS8H | present during the past week. |
| Mild | Example symptoms (not all are required): |
| 6A25.0&XS5W | Delusions: The person believes the delusion (lack |
| | of reality testing), but does not feel pressure to act |
| | upon it and the delusion leads to minimal distress. |
| | Hallucinations: Hallucinations are recurrent but |
| | relatively infrequent, and the person expresses |
| | only minimal distress regarding their content. |
| | Experiences of Passivity and Control: Some |
| | distortions of self-experience, such as feeling that |
| | one's thoughts are not one's own, but these are |
| | relatively infrequent and there is only minimal associated distress. |
| | |
| | Disorganized Thinking: Some circumstantial or tangential thought process, but for the most part |
| | the individual is able to convey the point of the |
| | intended communication. |
| | Disorganized Behaviour: Infrequent episodes of |
| | purposeless behaviour that is not goal-directed and |
| | causes only minimal impairment in functioning. |
| Moderate | <i>Example symptoms (not all are required):</i> |
| 6A25.0&XS0T | Delusions: The person's behaviour is clearly |
| | affected by the delusional beliefs but the person's |
| | behavioural response does not significantly impair |
| | functioning (e.g., a person with persecutory |
| | delusions is watchful of his surroundings but |
| | continues to venture outside). |
| | Hallucinations: Hallucinations are relatively |
| | frequent and may be distressing at times but are |
| | tolerated at other times, and do not persistently |

| | preoccupy the person. The content of |
|----------------------|---|
| | hallucinations may prompt action, but the person |
| | only inconsistently or occasionally responds and |
| | these actions do not put the person or others at risk |
| | of harm. |
| | Experiences of Passivity and Control: |
| | Distortions of self-experience are relatively |
| | frequent and lead to some behaviours to ward |
| | against alteration of thoughts (e.g., superstitious |
| | rituals), or noticeable distress. |
| | Disorganized Thinking: Evidence of frequent |
| | circumstantial or tangential thought process that |
| | impairs the individual's ability to convey the point |
| | of the communication. |
| | Disorganized Behaviour: Frequent episodes of |
| | purposeless behaviour that is not goal-directed and |
| | that causes some impairment in functioning. |
| Severe | <i>Example symptoms (not all are required):</i> |
| 6A25.0&XS25 | Delusions: The person is preoccupied with |
| | delusional beliefs that dictate many of the person's |
| | actions and significantly impair functioning (e.g., |
| | a person with persecutory delusions refuses to eat |
| | most food because of a conviction that food has |
| | been poisoned). |
| | Hallucinations: The person is markedly distressed |
| | or preoccupied by frequent hallucinations or there |
| | are recurrent hallucinations that prompt potentially |
| | harmful behaviour to which the person feels |
| | compelled to respond. |
| | Experiences of Passivity and Control: |
| | Distortions of self-experience are markedly |
| | distressing, and significantly impact the |
| | individual's behaviour (e.g., wearing a hat made |
| | of aluminium foil to prevent thought |
| | broadcasting). |
| | Disorganized Thinking: Loose associations in |
| | thought processes that are so severe that speech is |
| | mostly incoherent. |
| | Disorganized Behaviour: Purposeless behaviour |
| | that is not goal-directed dominates the individual's |
| | behavioural repertoire and causes severe |
| | impairment in functioning. |
| Severity Unspecified | Positive symptoms have been present during the |
| 6A25.0 | past week, but it is not possible to make a severity |
| | rating based on the available information. |

Table 6.8: Rating Scale for Negative Symptoms in Primary Psychotic Disorders

6A25.1 Negative Symptoms

This specifier may be used together with a diagnosis from the grouping of Schizophrenia or Other Primary Psychotic Disorders to indicate the degree to which negative psychotic symptoms are a prominent part of the current clinical presentation. Negative symptoms include constricted, blunted, or flat affect; alogia or paucity of speech; avolition (general lack of drive, or lack of motivation to pursue meaningful goals); asociality (reduced or absent engagement with others and interest in social interaction) and anhedonia (inability to experience pleasure from normally pleasurable activities). To be considered negative psychotic symptoms, relevant symptoms should not be entirely attributable to depression or to an under-stimulating environment, be a direct consequence of a positive symptom (e.g., persecutory delusions causing a person to become socially isolated due to fear of harm), or be attributable to the direct physiological effects of substances or medications, including withdrawal effects. Catatonia, including catatonic mutism, should be considered as part of the rating of the Psychomotor Symptoms specifier, rather than here.

| None | No significant negative symptoms have been |
|----------------------|---|
| 6A25.1&XS8H | present during the past week. |
| Mild | Example symptoms (not all are required): |
| 6A25.1&XS5W | Blunted emotional experience or expression, with |
| | subtle but detectable affective changes. Limited |
| | initiation of speech, but is responsive to questions. |
| | Little interest in external events, but exhibits |
| | sufficient motivation to engage in basic activities |
| | of daily living or to complete a task when |
| | prompted. |
| Moderate | Example symptoms (not all are required): |
| 6A25.1&XS0T | Flat emotional expression. Minimal initiation of |
| | speech for purposes other than indicating |
| | immediate needs and desires, but is responsive to |
| | questions with terse phrases. Lack of volition |
| | leads to neglect of hygiene or required activities, |
| | but will complete them with significant prompting. |
| Severe | Example symptoms (not all are required): |
| 6A25.1&XS25 | Person reports feeling empty or robotic most of |
| | the time. Generally does not initiate speech, even |
| | to indicate immediate needs and desires. Person is |
| | not capable of initiating behaviour even with |
| | significant prompting, which may lead to serious |
| | neglect of self-care to the extent that it puts the |
| | person at risk of harm (e.g., infrequently taking |
| | life-sustaining medication). |
| Severity Unspecified | Negative symptoms have been present during the |
| 6A25.1 | past week, but it is not possible to make a severity |
| | rating based on the available information. |

The rating should be made based on the severity of negative symptoms during the past week.

Table 6.9: Rating Scale for Depressive Mood Symptoms in Primary Psychotic Disorders

6A25.2 Depressive Mood Symptoms

This specifier may be used together with a diagnosis from the grouping of Schizophrenia or Other Primary Psychotic Disorders to indicate the degree to which depressive mood symptoms are a prominent part of the current clinical presentation. The specifier refers only to depressive mood symptoms, as reported by the individual (feeling down, sad) or as observed by the clinician (e.g., tearful, defeated appearance). The severity of associated non-mood symptoms of a Depressive Episode (e.g., anhedonia or other negative symptoms, changes in sleep or appetite) should not be considered in making a rating for this specifier. In this regard, the Depressive Mood Symptoms specifier is different from the severity rating applied to a Depressive Episode (see page 222). If suicidal ideation is present, a rating of moderate or severe depressive mood symptoms should automatically be applied (see below). This specifier may be used regardless of whether the depressive symptoms meet the diagnostic requirements for a Depressive Episode.

The rating should be made based on the severity of depressive mood symptoms during the past week.

| None | No significant depressive mood symptoms have |
|----------------------|--|
| 6A25.2&XS8H | been present during the past week. |
| Mild | The person expresses significant depressed mood, |
| 6A25.2&XS5W | but there are intermittent periods of relief. The |
| | depressive symptoms have some, but not |
| | considerable, impact on personal, social, or |
| | occupational functioning. |
| Moderate | The depressed mood is present continually, |
| 6A25.2&XS0T | although its intensity may vary. Suicidal ideation |
| | may accompany the depressed mood when it is |
| | more intense. The depressive symptoms cause |
| | considerable difficulty with personal, social, or |
| | occupational functioning. |
| Severe | The intensity of the depressed mood is |
| 6A25.2&XS25 | overwhelming to the person. This level of severity |
| | may be indicated by intense suicidal ideation or |
| | suicide attempts. The depressive symptoms |
| | seriously affect personal, social, and occupational |
| | functioning to such an extent that the person is |
| | unable to function, except to a very limited degree. |
| Severity Unspecified | Depressive mood symptoms have been present |
| 6A25.2 | during the past week, but it is not possible to make |
| | a severity rating based on the available |
| | information. |

Table 6.10: Rating Scale for Manic Mood Symptoms in Primary Psychotic Disorders

6A25.3 Manic Mood Symptoms

This specifier may be used together with a diagnosis from the grouping of Schizophrenia or Other Primary Psychotic Disorders to indicate the extent to which manic mood symptoms are a prominent part of the clinical presentation. The specifier includes elevated, euphoric, irritable, or expansive mood states, including rapid changes among different mood states (i.e., mood lability). It also includes increased subjective experience of energy, which may be accompanied by increased goal-directed activity. The severity of associated non-mood symptoms of a Manic or Hypomanic Episode (e.g., decreased need for sleep, distractibility) should not be considered in making a rating for this specifier. Increased non-goal-directed psychomotor activity should be considered as part of the rating of the Psychomotor Symptoms specifier rather than here. This specifier may be used regardless of whether the manic symptoms meet the diagnostic requirements for a Manic Episode.

The rating should be made based on the severity of manic mood symptoms during the past week.

| NT. | |
|----------------------|--|
| None | No significant manic mood symptoms have been |
| 6A25.3&XS8H | present during the past week. |
| Mild | Hypomanic elevation of mood or increased |
| 6A25.3&XS5W | irritability. The hypomanic symptoms do not cause |
| | marked impairment in personal, social, or |
| | occupational functioning. |
| Moderate | Marked elevation of mood, irritability, or |
| 6A25.3&XS0T | subjective energy level. The manic symptoms |
| | cause considerable difficulty with personal, social, |
| | or occupational functioning. |
| Severe | Extreme elevation of mood or irritability that |
| 6A25.3&XS25 | results in hazardous, dangerous, or markedly |
| | inappropriate behaviour to a degree that intensive |
| | supervision is required. |
| Severity Unspecified | Manic mood symptoms have been present during |
| 6A25.3 | the past week, but it is not possible to make a |
| | severity rating based on the available information. |
| | |

Table 6.11: Table 6.X: Rating Scale for Psychomotor Symptoms in Primary PsychoticDisorders

6A25.4 Psychomotor Symptoms

This specifier may be used together with a diagnosis from the grouping of Schizophrenia or Other Primary Psychotic Disorders to indicate the degree to which psychomotor symptoms are a prominent part of the clinical presentation. Psychomotor symptoms include psychomotor agitation or increased motor activity, usually manifested by purposeless behaviours such as fidgeting, shifting, fiddling, inability to sit or stand still, wringing of the hands, stereotypy, and grimacing. Psychomotor symptoms also include psychomotor retardation (a visible generalized slowing of movements and speech), as well as catatonic symptoms such as extreme restlessness with purposeless motor activity to the point of exhaustion, posturing, waxy flexibility, negativism, mutism, or stupor. To be considered psychomotor symptoms for the purpose of this specifier rating, symptoms should not be attributable a Neurodevelopmental Disorder or Disease of the Nervous System or to the direct physiological effects of substances or medications, including withdrawal effects. If the full syndrome of Catatonia is present, the diagnosis of Catatonia Associated with Another Mental Disorder (p. 215) should also be assigned.

None No significant psychomotor symptoms have been 6A25.4&XS8H present during the past week. The majority of the time the person exhibits a Mild 6A25.4&XS5W normal level of activity, but there are occasional periods of psychomotor excitation or slowing. Psychomotor symptoms do not significantly interfere with important personal, social, or occupational functioning. Frequent periods of marked psychomotor agitation Moderate 6A25.4&XS0T or retardation, but psychomotor symptoms are not continuous. Psychomotor symptoms significantly interfere with important personal, social, or occupational functioning. Severe and nearly continuous psychomotor Severe 6A25.4&XS25 agitation or slowing, which may include the full syndrome of Catatonia (see p. 213). The psychomotor symptoms are sufficiently severe to be potentially harmful to the person or others (e.g., agitation to the point of severe physical exhaustion, stupor that prevents the person from feeding himself). Severity Unspecified Psychomotor symptoms have been present during 6A25.4 the past week, but it is not possible to make a severity rating based on the available information.

The rating should be made based on the severity of psychomotor symptoms during the past week.

Table 6.12: Rating Scale for Cognitive Symptoms in Primary Psychotic Disorders

6A25.5 Cognitive Symptoms

This specifier may be used together with a diagnosis from the grouping of Schizophrenia or Other Primary Psychotic Disorders to indicate the degree to which cognitive impairment is a prominent aspect of the clinical presentation. Deficits may appear in any of the following cognitive domains: *speed of processing, attention/concentration, orientation, judgment, abstraction, verbal or visual learning, or working memory.* The cognitive impairment is not attributable to a Neurodevelopmental Disorder or to Delirium or another Neurocognitive Disorder or to the direct effects of a substance or medication on the central nervous system, including withdrawal effects. When available, the severity rating for this domain should be based on the results of locally validated, standardized neuropsychological assessments, but such measures are not available in all settings and are not required to provide a rating.

| None | No significant cognitive symptoms have been |
|-------------|---|
| 6A25.5&XS8H | present during the past week. |
| Mild | |
| 6A25.5&XS5W | Person has minor difficulties in cognition (e.g., |
| 0A25.5&A55W | difficulty with recall during the interview, |
| | concentration may drift, shows some |
| | disorientation to time but not person or place). |
| | Everyday functioning is largely unimpaired by the difficulties. |
| | |
| Moderate | Person shows clear difficulties in cognition (e.g., |
| 6A25.5&XS0T | recall for some autobiographical information is |
| | impaired or inconsistent, cannot perform some |
| | basic operations that are expected of the person's |
| | educational attainment and level of intellectual |
| | functioning such as simple calculation tasks, |
| | orientation disrupted for time and place but intact |
| | for person, difficulty learning or retaining new |
| | information). Everyday functioning is impaired as |
| | a result but only some external assistance is |
| 2 | necessary. |
| Severe | Person shows pronounced difficulties in cognition |
| 6A25.5&XS25 | (e.g., severe deficits in verbal memory or other |
| | cognitive tasks relative to educational attainment |
| | and level of intellectual functioning, substantial |
| | difficulty with concentration and attention to what |
| | the rater asks during the interview, difficulty |
| | formulating plans to accomplish a specific |
| | objective, unable to consider alternative solutions |
| | to problems, orientation is grossly disturbed). The |
| | problems severely interfere with everyday |
| | functioning leading to the necessity of |
| | considerable external assistance. |

The rating should be made based on the severity of cognitive symptoms during the past week.

| Severity Unspecified | Cognitive symptoms have been present during the |
|----------------------|--|
| 6A25.5 | past week, but it is not possible to make a severity |
| | rating based on the available information. |

CATATONIA

Catatonia is a syndrome of primarily psychomotor disturbances, characterized by the cooccurrence of several symptoms of decreased, increased, or abnormal psychomotor activity. The assessment of Catatonia is complex and requires observation, interview and physical examination. Catatonia can occur in the context of another mental disorder, such as Schizophrenia or Other Primary Psychotic Disorders, Mood Disorders, and Neurodevelopmental Disorders, especially Autism Spectrum Disorder. Catatonia can also develop during or soon after intoxication or withdrawal from certain psychoactive substances, including phencyclidine (PCP), cannabis, hallucinogens such as mescaline or LSD, cocaine and MDMA or related drugs, or during the use of certain psychoactive and non-psychoactive medications (e.g., antipsychotic medications, benzodiazepines, steroids, disulfiram, ciprofloxacin). Finally, Catatonia can occur as a direct pathophysiological consequence of a medical condition not classified under Mental, Behavioural or Neurodevelopmental Disorders. Examples of medical conditions that may be associated with Catatonia include diabetic ketoacidosis, hypercalcemia, hepatic encephalopathy, homocystinuria, neoplasms, head trauma, cerebrovascular disease, and encephalitis.

Catatonia includes the following:

- 6A40 Catatonia Associated with Another Mental Disorder
- 6A41 Catatonia Induced by Substances or Medications
- 6E69 Secondary Catatonia Syndrome

Below are the general diagnostic requirements for Catatonia, which apply to all three Catatonia categories, followed by the Essential Features, Additional Clinical Features (if applicable), and Course Features for each of the three separate types of Catatonia listed above. After that, additional CDDR sections (Developmental Presentations, Culture-Related Features, and Boundaries with Other Disorders and Conditions) are provided for all types of Catatonia together.

General Diagnostic Requirements for Catatonia

Essential (Required) Features:

• The presence of three or more of the following symptoms of decreased, increased, or abnormal psychomotor activity. The three symptoms may come from one or any combination of the following three symptom clusters.

Note: Symptoms that require assessment by physical examination are indicated below.

Decreased Psychomotor Activity

- Staring: fixed gaze, decreased blinking, often with widely opened eyes.
- Ambitendency: appearance of being 'motorically stuck' in indecisive or hesitant movement.
- Negativism: opposing or behaving contrary to requests or instructions, which may lead to withdrawal from interaction with others (turning away) or refusal to take food or drink when offered.

- Stupor: immobility; no or markedly reduced psychomotor activity; minimally responsive to external stimuli.
- Mutism: no or very little verbal response; speech may be hushed or whispered to the point of being unintelligible. (*Note:* Do not count if speech symptoms are due to a Disease of the Nervous System, Developmental Speech or Language Disorder, or other disease or disorder affecting speech.)

Increased psychomotor activity

 Any of the following: extreme hyperactivity or agitation for no reason with nonpurposeful movements and/or uncontrollable, extreme emotional reactions; impulsivity (sudden engagement in inappropriate behaviour without provocation); combativeness (striking out against others usually in an undirected manner, with or without the potential for injury). (*Note:* Multiple manisfestations of increased psychomotor activity should only be counted as one of the required three symptoms in order to meet the requirements for Catatonia.)

Abnormal psychomotor activity

- Grimacing: odd or distorted facial expressions; often inappropriate and irrelevant to the situation.
- Mannerisms: odd, purposeful movements that are not appropriate to the individual's cultural context; exaggerated caricatures of mundane movements.
- Posturing: spontaneous and active maintenance of a posture against gravity; sitting or standing for long periods without reacting.
- Stereotypy: repetitive, non-goal-directed motor activity (e.g., finger-play, repeatedly touching, patting or rubbing self); the abnormality is not inherent in the action but relates to its frequency.
- Rigidity: resistance by way of increased muscle tone. May range in severity from mildly increased tone to severe 'lead pipe' rigidity. (Requires examination.)
- Echophenomena: mimicking examiner's speech (echolalia) or movements (echopraxia).
- Verbigeration: continuous and directionless repetition of words, phrases, or sentences.
- Waxy flexibility: slight and even resistance to positioning by examiner. (Requires examination.)
- Catalepsy: passive induction of a posture (typically examiner passively moves patient's extremity) which remains held against gravity. (Requires examination.)
- The symptoms typically last for at least several hours but can persist much longer. For some severe items (e.g., stupor, catalepsy, mutism, negativism) or if vital sign (autonomic) abnormality is present, a short duration (e.g., 15 minutes) may be sufficient to be considered as a qualifying symptom.
- The symptoms result in significant impairment in daily functioning or are severe enough to cause serious medical complications (e.g., contractures, exhaustion, dehydration, aspiration) or risk of death resulting from autonomic abnormalities or complications (e.g., rigidity leading to renal failure from rhabdomyolysis).
- The symptoms are not better accounted for by a primary Movement Disorder classified in the chapter on Diseases of the Nervous System.

Specifiers for autonomic abnormalities in Catatonia:

Catatonia may be accompanied by vital sign abnormalities not fully accounted for by a comorbid medical condition that may signal potentially life-threatening complications and therefore require immediate attention. These include tachycardia or bradycardia; hypertension or hypotension; and hyperthermia or hypothermia. In these cases, as many of the following symptom codes as applicable should be applied.

| MG26 | Fever of other or unknown origin |
|--------|--|
| MG28 | Hypothermia, not associated with low environmental temperature |
| MC80.0 | Elevated blood-pressure reading, without diagnosis of hypertension |
| MC80.1 | Nonspecific low blood-pressure reading |
| MC81.0 | Tachycardia, unspecified |
| MC81.1 | Bradycardia, unspecified |

6A40 Catatonia Associated with Another Mental Disorder

Essential (Required) Features:

- The general diagnostic requirements for Catatonia are met.
- The catatonic symptoms develop in the context of another mental disorder, such as Schizophrenia or Other Primary Psychotic Disorder, a Mood Disorder, Autism Spectrum Disorder.
- The symptoms are not fully accounted for by Delirium, the effects of a medication or substance, including withdrawal effects, or a primary Movement Disorder classified in the chapter on Diseases of the Nervous System (e.g., Parkinson Disease, Huntington Disease).
- The symptoms are sufficiently severe to be a specific focus of clinical attention.

Note: The associated mental disorder should be diagnosed separately.

Course Features for Catatonia Associated with Another Mental Disorder:

- Acute episodes of Catatonia Associated with Another Mental Disorder typically develop rapidly within hours or days from single symptoms to full presentation.
- In Catatonia Associated with Another Mental Disorder, symptoms most commonly resolve within 4 weeks, although some episodes (e.g., in the context of acute psychosis) may remit spontaneously within hours. However, symptoms may also persist for months or even years with little variation of the clinical presentation and severity.
- The individual may experience recurrent episodes of Catatonia of several weeks duration that remit and recur throughout the course of the associated disorder. Most commonly, these Catatonia episodes occur during some but not all of the episodes of the associated mental disorder (e.g., a Bipolar Disorder). Early signs of recurring episodes may include ambitendency or psychomotor slowing.
- Persistent Catatonia is most commonly associated with Neurodevelopmental Disorders or Schizophrenia or Other Primary Psychotic Disorders. Adolescent onset is more frequent in these cases. Disturbances of volition, such as negativism, mannerisms or stereotypies, are more common in persistent Catatonia, whereas stupor rarely persists

over weeks. In some severe cases, persistent Catatonia is characterized by severe, stable symptoms and massive global dysfunction for multiple years.

6A41 Catatonia Induced by Substances or Medications

Essential (Required) Features:

- The general diagnostic requirements for Catatonia are met.
- The catatonic symptoms develop during or soon after intoxication with or withdrawal from a specified psychoactive substance or the use of a medication. Substances that may be associated with Catatonia include opioids, phencyclidine (PCP), cannabis, cocaine, MDMA or related drugs, and hallucinogens such as mescaline or LSD. Catatonia may also be associated with certain psychoactive and non-psychoactive medications (e.g., antipsychotic medications, benzodiazepines, steroids, disulfiram, ciprofloxacin).
- The intensity or duration of the catatonic symptoms is substantially in excess of similar symptoms that are characteristic of intoxication or withdrawal due to the specified substance (e.g., stupor during Opioid Intoxication; psychomotor agitation and autonomic hyperactivity during Alcohol Withdrawal).
- The specified substance, as well as the amount and duration of its use, must be capable of producing catatonic symptoms.
- The symptoms are not fully accounted for by Delirium, another mental disorder (e.g., Schizophrenia or Other Primary Psychotic Disorder, a Mood Disorder, Autism Spectrum Disorder), or to be the direct pathophysiological consequence of a medical condition.
- The symptoms are sufficiently severe to be a specific focus of clinical attention.

Course Features for Catatonia Induced by Substances or Medication:

• The onset of Catatonia Induced by Substances or Medications is typically rapid, often with fast deterioration. The duration of Catatonia strongly depends on the inducing substance. Catatonia is more often induced by substance withdrawal than intoxication. Once the effects of the substance or medication (including a withdrawal syndrome) have subsided, Catatonia typically remits within days.

6E69 Secondary Catatonia Syndrome

Essential (Required) Features:

- The general diagnostic requirements for Catatonia are met.
- The symptoms are judged to be the direct pathophysiological consequence of a medical condition, based on evidence from the history, physical examination, or laboratory findings. This judgment depends on establishing that:
 - The medical condition is known to be capable of producing the symptoms of Catatonia;
 - The course of the catatonic symptoms (e.g., onset, remission, response of the symptoms to treatment of the etiological medical condition) is consistent with causation by the medical condition; and
 - The symptoms are not fully accounted for by Delirium, another mental disorder (e.g., Schizophrenia or Other Primary Psychotic Disorder, a Mood Disorder.

Autism Spectrum Disorder), the effects of a medication or substance, including withdrawal effects, or a primary Movement Disorder classified in the chapter on Diseases of the Nervous System (e.g., Parkinson Disease, Huntington Disease).

• The symptoms are sufficiently severe to be a specific focus of clinical attention.

Additional Clinical Features for Secondary Catatonia:

• Catatonia symptoms that often cluster together in critically ill adults with Secondary Catatonia include mutism, staring, and immobility.

Course Features for Secondary Catatonia:

- The onset of Secondary Catatonia Syndrome is related to the underlying medical condition and duration is also determined by the underlying medical condition and its treatment.
- In cases in which the underlying disease course is severe and progressive (e.g., Alzheimer disease), Secondary Catatonia Syndrome due to a Disease of the Nervous System or other medical condition may be chronic (lasting for weeks or months) and may fail to fully resolve with treatment of the underlying medical condition.

Potentially Explanatory Medical Conditions:

The identified etiological medical condition should be diagnosed separately.

Medical conditions that have been shown to be capable of producing Catatonia syndromes include:

Primary brain disorders (examples)

- Neoplasms
- Cerebrovascular lesions, including cortical venous thrombosis, subarachnoid hemorrhage, subdural hematoma, bacillar aneurysms
- Anoxias, including stroke
- Viral encephalitis, encephalitis lethargica
- Brain stem, diencephalic and basal ganglia disorders, as well as frontal lobe or parietal lobe lesions
- Epilepsy
- Traumatic brain injury
- Dystonia
- Multiple sclerosis
- Parkinson disease
- Lewy body disease
- Creutzfeldt-Jacob disease

General medical conditions affecting the brain (examples)

- Autoimmune conditions
 - Systemic lupus erythematosus
 - Hashimoto encephalopathy or autoimmune encephalitis
- Infectious diseases
 - Typhoid fever

- Infectious mononucleosis
- Pediatric autoimmune neuropsychiatric disorders associated with streptococcal infections (PANDAS)
- HIV/AIDS
- Genetic conditions
 - Prader-Willi syndrome
 - Fatal Familial Insomnia
 - Tay-Sachs disease
 - Wilson disease
- Metabolic conditions
 - Hypercalcemia from a parathyroid adenoma
 - Hepatic encephalopathy
 - Homocystinuria
 - Diabetic ketoacidosis
 - Acute intermittent porphyria
 - Membranous glomerulonephritis
 - Hyponatremia
 - Hypo- and hyperthyroidism
 - Hypo- and hyperadrenalism
- Nutritional deficiencies
 - Pellagra
 - Nicotinic acid deficiency
 - Wernicke's encephalopathy (Thiamine deficiency)
 - Vitamin B₁₂ deficiency

6A4Z Catatonia, Unspecified

Developmental Presentations:

- Catatonia may occur throughout the entire life span, but rarely develops before adolescence. However, severe cases in children aged 8 to 11 years have been reported.
- Early onset of Catatonia (before age 20) is associated with underlying medical conditions, particularly Diseases of the Nervous System, or Neurodevelopmental Disorders (e.g., Autism Spectrum Disorder).
- Secondary Catatonia Syndrome or Catatonia Induced by Substances or Medications is more likely to occur after age 40; risk increases considerably after age 65.
- In medically ill adults, the prevalence of Secondary Catatonia Syndrome increases with age and is strongly associated with co-occurring Delirium or coma.

Culture-Related Features:

• The incidence of Catatonia appears to vary across cultures, and may occur in some cases in reaction to an overwhelming traumatic experience. Catatonia may be more frequent in some immigrant minority communities (e.g., refugees), including in children, where it may be associated with Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder and Depressive Disorders.

Boundaries with Other Disorders and Conditions (Differential Diagnosis):

- **Boundary of Catatonia Induced by Substances or Medications with other types of Catatonia:** Evidence supporting a diagnosis of non-substance induced Catatonia would include catatonic symptoms preceding the onset of the substance use, the symptoms persisting for a substantial period of time after cessation of the substance or medication use or withdrawal (e.g., 1 month or more depending on the specific substance), or other evidence of a pre-existing mental disorder that may be associated with catatonic symptoms.
- Boundary of Catatonia Associated with Another Mental Disorder with psychomotor retardation in Depressive or Mixed Episodes: Psychomotor retardation in Depressive Episode and decreased psychomotor activity in Catatonia can manifest in similar ways. In the presence of a Depressive or Mixed Episode, an additional diagnosis of Catatonia Associated with Another Mental Disorder is appropriate if symptoms of increased psychomotor activity or abnormal psychomotor activity are also present. If all Catatonia symptoms are from the decreased psychomotor activity cluster, whether or not an additional diagnosis of Catatonia Associated with Another Mental Disorder activity cluster, whether or not an additional diagnosis of Catatonia Associated with Another Mental Disorder is assigned is a clinical judgment based on the severity of the symptoms and whether Catatonia is a specific focus of clinical attention.
- Boundary of Catatonia Associated with Another Mental Disorder with psychomotor agitation in Depressive, Manic or Mixed Episode: Psychomotor agitation in a Mood Episode and increased psychomotor activity in Catatonia can manifest in similar ways. In the presence of a Mood Episode, an additional diagnosis of Catatonia Associated with Another Mental Disorder is only appropriate if symptoms of decreased psychomotor activity or abnormal psychomotor activity, an additional diagnosis of Catatonia symptoms are aspects of increased psychomotor activity, an additional diagnosis of Catatonia is not warranted.
- Boundary of Catatonia Induced by Substances or Medications and Secondary Catatonia with Delirium due to Psychoactive Substances Including Medications with Delirium Due to Diseases Classified Elsewhere: Both Delirium and Catatonia may be characterized by increased or decreased psychomotor activity. They are distinguished primarily by the disturbance of attention, awareness and arousal, as well as impairment in other cognitive domains, that characterize Delirium and are not features of Catatonia and the impairment of volition (e.g., ambitendency, negativism, mannerisms) and abnormal muscle tone (rigidity, waxy flexibility, catalepsy) that may occur in Catatonia but not Delirium.
- **Boundary of Catatonia with autonomic abnormality with Neuroleptic Malignant Syndrome:** Symptoms of Neuroleptic Malignant Syndrome include high fever, muscle stiffness, altered mental status, and autonomic dysfunction (e.g., wide swings of blood pressure, excessive sweating, excessive secretion of saliva), most of which may also occur in Catatonia with autonomic abnormality. A diagnosis of Neuroleptic Malignant Syndrome is based on the clinical judgment that exposure to an antipsychotic medication or other dopamine receptor blocking agents is the cause of the symptoms. This distinction can be difficult because many individuals who develop Catatonia take antipsychotic medication. It is made based on the timing of the symptoms in relation to medication use, prior history of multiple episodes of Catatonia (in which case Neuroleptic Malignant Syndrome is less likely), and sometimes the presence of certain medical complications that are not characteristic of Catatonia, such as hyperkalemia or liver or kidney failure.

- **Boundary of Catatonia with Serotonin Syndrome:** Symptoms of Serotonin Syndrome include agitation or restlessness and muscle rigidity as well as autonomic disturbances such as high fever and tachycardia, which may also occur in Catatonia. A diagnosis of Serotonin syndrome involves the clinical judgment that exposure to a serotonergic medication or an interaction between serotonergic medications (e.g., when increasing the dose of a medication or adding a new medication) is the cause of the symptoms, based on the timing of the symptoms in relation to medication use. Serotonin Syndrome is more likely to present with tremor, hyperactive muscle reflexes (including clonus) and nystagmus than Catatonia. However, the presence of these symptoms does not exclude the possibility of co-occurring Catatonia.
- **Boundary of Catatonia with Malingering or Factitious Disorder:** Malingering and Factitious Disorder are both diagnosed based on evidence of feigning of symptoms, which may include catatonic symptoms. Evidence for feigning often includes the observation that the symptoms occur only when the person is being watched. However, disturbances of volition in Catatonia (e.g., negativism) may only become apparent during social interactions, which should not by itself be interpreted as evidence of feigning.

MOOD DISORDERS

Mood Disorders refers to a superordinate grouping of Depressive Disorders and Bipolar Disorders. Mood disorders are defined according to particular types of Mood Episodes and their pattern over time. The primary types of Mood Episodes are:

Depressive Episode Manic Episode Mixed Episode Hypomanic Episode

Mood Episodes are not independently diagnosable entities, and therefore do not have their own diagnostic codes. Rather, Mood Episodes are the components of Bipolar or Related Disorders and Depressive Disorders.

The sections that follow first describe the characteristics of Mood Episodes. This is followed by the CDDR for Mood Disorders.

Bipolar or Related Disorders include the following:

- 6A60 Bipolar Type I Disorder
- 6A61 Bipolar Type II Disorder
- 6A62 Cyclothymic Disorder
- 6A6Y Other Specified Bipolar or Related Disorders

Depressive Disorders include the following:

- 6A70 Single Episode Depressive Disorder
- 6A71 Recurrent Depressive Disorder
- 6A72 Dysthymic Disorder
- 6A7Y Other Specified Depressive Disorders

6A73 Mixed Depressive and Anxiety Disorder is also included in the section on Depressive Disorders, although it also shares features with Anxiety or Fear-Related Disorders.

CDDR are also provided for GA34.41 Premenstrual Dysphoric Disorder in the section on Depressive Disorders. Premenstrual Dysphoric Disorder is classified in the grouping of Premenstrual Disturbances in the ICD-11 chapter on Diseases of the Genitourinary System, but is cross-listed here for reference.

The following category for Mood Disorders that do not fit the descriptions for any of the above categories is also provided:

6A8Y Other Specified Mood Disorders

Mood Episode Descriptions

Depressive Episode

Essential (Required) Features:

• The concurrent presence of at least five of the following characteristic symptoms occurring most of the day, nearly every day during a period lasting at least 2 weeks. At least one symptom from the Affective cluster must be present. Assessment of the presence or absence of symptoms should be made relative to typical functioning of the individual.

Affective cluster:

- Depressed mood as reported by the individual (e.g., feeling down, sad) or as observed (e.g., tearful, defeated appearance). In children and adolescents depressed mood can manifest as irritability.
- Markedly diminished interest or pleasure in activities, especially those normally found to be enjoyable to the individual. The latter may include a reduction in sexual desire.

Cognitive-behavioural cluster:

- Reduced ability to concentrate and sustain attention to tasks, or marked indecisiveness.
- Beliefs of low self-worth or excessive and inappropriate guilt that may be manifestly delusional. This item should not be considered present if guilt or self-reproach is exclusively about being depressed.
- Hopelessness about the future.
- Recurrent thoughts of death (not just fear of dying), recurrent suicidal ideation (with or without a specific plan), or evidence of attempted suicide.

Neurovegetative cluster:

- Significantly disrupted sleep (delayed sleep onset, increased frequency of waking during the night, or early morning awakening) or excessive sleep.
- Significant change in appetite (diminished or increased) or significant weight change (gain or loss).
- Psychomotor agitation or retardation (observable by others, not merely subjective feelings of restlessness or being slowed down).
- Reduced energy, fatigue, or marked tiredness following the expenditure of only a minimum of effort.
- The symptoms are not better accounted for by bereavement.
- The symptoms are not a manifestation of another medical condition (e.g., a brain tumour) and are not due to the effects of a substance or medication on the central nervous system (e.g., benzodiazepines), including withdrawal effects (e.g., from stimulants).
- The clinical presentation does not fulfil the diagnostic requirements for a Mixed Episode.

• The mood disturbance results in significant impairment in personal, family, social, educational, occupational, or other important areas of functioning. If functioning is maintained, it is only through significant additional effort.

Additional Clinical Features:

- In some individuals, the affective component of a Depressive Episode may be primarily experienced and expressed as irritability, or as an absence of emotional experience (e.g., 'emptiness'). These variants in the expression of the affective component can be considered as meeting the depressed mood requirement for a Depressive Episode if they represent a significant change from the individual's typical functioning.
- In some individuals, particularly those experiencing a Severe Depressive Episode, there may be reluctance to describe certain experiences (e.g., psychotic symptoms) or inability to do so in detail (e.g., due to psychomotor agitation or retardation). In such cases, observations made by the clinician or reported by a collateral informant are important in determining diagnostic status and severity of the episode.
- Depressive Episodes may be associated with increased consumption of alcohol or other substances, exacerbation of pre-existing psychological symptoms (e.g., phobic or obsessional symptoms), or somatic preoccupations.

Boundary with Normality (Threshold):

- Some depression of mood is a normal reaction to severe adverse life events and problems (e.g., divorce, job loss), and is common in the community. A Depressive Episode is differentiated from this common experience by the severity, range, and duration of symptoms. If the diagnostic requirements for a Depressive Episode listed above are met, a Depressive Episode should still be considered present, even if there are identifiable life events that appear to have triggered the episode.
- A Depressive Episode should not be considered to be present if the individual is exhibiting normal grief symptoms, including some level of depressive symptoms, and the individual has experienced the death of a loved one within the past 6 months, or longer if a more extended period of bereavement is consistent with the normative response for grieving within the individual's religious and cultural context. Individuals with no history of Depressive Episodes may experience depressive symptoms during bereavement, but this does not appear to indicate an increased risk of subsequently developing a Mood Disorder. However, a Depressive Episode can be superimposed on normal grief. The presence of a Depressive Episode during a period of bereavement is suggested by persistence of constant depressive symptoms a month or more following the loss (i.e., there are no periods of positive mood or enjoyment of activities), severe depressive symptoms such as extreme beliefs of low self-worth and guilt not related to the lost loved one, presence of psychotic symptoms, suicidal ideation, or psychomotor retardation. A prior history of Depressive Disorder or Bipolar Disorder is important to consider in making this distinction.

Developmental Presentations:

• Depressive Episode is relatively rare in childhood and occurs with similar frequency among boys and girls. After puberty, rates increase significantly and girls are approximately twice as likely as boys to experience a Depressive Episode.

- All of the characteristic features of Depressive Episode can be observed in children and adolescents. As in adults, symptoms of Depressive Episode should represent a change from prior functioning. Assessment of Depressive Episode in younger children in particular is likely to rely on the report of other informants (e.g., parents) regarding signs and symptoms and the extent to which these represent a change from prior functioning.
- *Affective cluster:* In young children, depressed mood may present as somatic complaints (e.g., headaches, stomachaches), whining, increased separation anxiety, or excessive crying. Depressed mood may sometimes present in children and adolescents as pervasive irritability. However, the presence of irritability is not in and of itself indicative of a Depressive Episode and may indicate the presence of another Mental, Behavioural or Neurodevelopmental Disorder or be a normal reaction to frustration.
- *Cognitive-behavioural cluster:* As noted, reduced ability to concentrate or sustain attention may manifest as a decline in academic performance, increased time needed to complete school assignments, or an inability to complete assignments. These symptoms of Depressive Episode must be differentiated from problems with attention and concentration in Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder that are not temporally tied to changes in mood or energy.
- *Neurovegetative cluster:* Hypersomnia and hyperphagia are more common symptoms of a Depressive Episode in adolescents than in adults. Appetite disturbance in children and adolescents may manifest in failure to gain weight as expected for age and development rather than as weight loss.
- Similar to adults, children and adolescents experiencing a Depressive Episode are at increased risk for suicidality. In younger children, suicidality may manifest in passive statements (e.g., 'I don't want to be here anymore') or as themes of death during play, whereas adolescents may make more direct statements regarding their desire to die.
- Self-injurious behaviours that are not explicitly suicidal in terms of lethality or expressed intent may also occur in Depressive Episode in young children and adolescents. Examples include head banging or scratching in young children and cutting or burning in adolescents. If unaddressed, these types of behaviours tend to increase in frequency and intensity over time among children and adolescents with Depressive Disorders.

Boundaries with Other Disorders and Conditions (Differential Diagnosis):

- **Boundary with Mixed Episode:** Depressive symptoms in a Mixed Episode may be qualitatively similar to those of Depressive Episode, but in Mixed Episode several prominent depressive symptoms occur simultaneously or alternate rapidly with several prominent manic symptoms such as irritability, racing or crowded thoughts, increased talkativeness, or increased activity.
- **Boundary with Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder:** Problems with attention and concentration in Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder are persistent over time (i.e., are not episodic) and are not temporally tied to changes in mood or energy. However, Mood Disorders and Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder can co-occur, and both diagnoses may be assigned if the full diagnostic requirements for each are met.
- **Boundary with Prolonged Grief Disorder:** Prolonged Grief Disorder is a persistent and pervasive grief response following the death of a partner, parent, child, or other person close to the bereaved that persists for an abnormally long period of time following the loss (e.g., at least 6 months) and is characterized by longing for the deceased or persistent preoccupation with the deceased accompanied by intense emotional pain (e.g., sadness, guilt, anger, denial, blame, difficulty accepting the death, feeling one has lost a

part of one's self, an inability to experience positive mood, emotional numbness, difficulty in engaging with social or other activities). Some common symptoms of Prolonged Grief Disorder are similar to those observed in a Depressive Episode (e.g., sadness, loss of interest in activities, social withdrawal, feelings of guilt, suicidal ideation). However, Prolonged Grief Disorder is differentiated from Depressive Episode because symptoms are circumscribed and specifically focused on the loss of the loved one, whereas depressive thoughts and emotional reactions typically encompass multiple areas of life. Further, other common symptoms of Prolonged Grief Disorder (e.g., difficulty accepting the loss, difficulty trusting others, feeling bitter or angry about the loss, feeling as though a part of the individual has died) are not characteristic of a Depressive Episode. The timing of the onset of the symptoms in relation to the loss and whether there is a prior history of a Depressive Disorder or a Bipolar Disorder are important to consider in making this distinction.

Boundary with Dementia: Older adults experiencing a Depressive Episode may present • with memory difficulties and other cognitive symptoms, which can be severe, and it is important to distinguish these symptoms from Dementia. Dementia is an acquired chronic condition characterized by significant cognitive impairment or decline from a previous level of cognitive functioning in two or more cognitive domains (e.g., memory, attention, executive function, language, social cognition, psychomotor speed, visuoperceptual or visuospatial abilities) that is sufficiently severe to interfere with performance or independence in activities of daily living. If memory difficulties and other cognitive symptoms in older adults occur exclusively in the context of Depressive Episode, a diagnosis of Dementia is generally not appropriate. However, a Depressive Episode can be superimposed on Dementia (e.g., when memory difficulties and other cognitive symptoms substantially predate the onset of the Depressive Episode). The timing and rate of onset of the memory difficulties and other cognitive symptoms in relation to other depressive symptoms are important to consider in making this distinction.

Severity and psychotic symptoms specifiers:

The severity of all current Depressive Episodes should be rated based on the number and severity of the symptoms, as well as the impact that the mood disturbance has on the individual's functioning.

In addition, Moderate and Severe Depressive Episodes are described as 'without Psychotic Symptoms' (i.e., delusions or hallucinations) or 'with Psychotic Symptoms'. By definition, Mild Depressive Episodes do not include psychotic symptoms.

Delusions during Moderate or Severe Depressive Episodes are commonly persecutory or self-referential (e.g., being pursued by authorities because of imaginary crimes). In addition, delusions of guilt (e.g., falsely blaming oneself for wrongdoings), poverty (e.g., of being bankrupt) and impending disaster (perceived to have been brought on by the individual), as well as somatic (e.g., of having contracted some serious disease) or nihilistic delusions (e.g., believing body organs do not exist) are known to occur. Delusions related to experiences of influence, passivity or control (e.g., the experience that thoughts or actions are not generated by the person, are being placed in one's mind or withdrawn from one's mind by others, or that thoughts are being broadcast to others) can also occur, but less commonly than in Schizophrenia and Schizoaffective Disorder. Auditory hallucinations (e.g., derogatory or accusatory voices that berate the patient for

supposed weaknesses or sins) are more common than visual (e.g., visions of death or destruction) or olfactory hallucinations (e.g., the smell of rotting flesh).

Psychotic symptoms are often subtle, and the boundary between psychotic symptoms and persistent depressive ruminations or sustained preoccupations is not always clear. Psychotic symptoms may vary in intensity over the course of a Depressive Episode or even over the course of the day. Psychotic symptoms may be intentionally concealed by individuals experiencing a Depressive Episode.

- Mild Depressive Episode:
 - None of the symptoms of a Depressive Episode should be present to an intense degree.
 - The individual is usually distressed by the symptoms and has some difficulty in continuing to function in one of more domains (personal, family, social, educational, occupational, or other important domains).
 - There are no delusions or hallucinations during the episode.
- Moderate Depressive Episode without Psychotic Symptoms:
 - Several symptoms of a Depressive Episode are present to a marked degree, or a large number of depressive symptoms of lesser severity are present overall.
 - The individual typically has considerable difficulty functioning in multiple domains (personal, family, social, educational, occupational, or other important domains).
 - There are no delusions or hallucinations during the episode.
- Moderate Depressive Episode with Psychotic Symptoms:
 - Several symptoms of a Depressive Episode are present to a marked degree, or a large number of depressive symptoms of lesser severity are present overall.
 - The individual typically has considerable difficulty functioning in multiple domains (personal, family, social, educational, occupational, or other important domains).
 - There are delusions or hallucinations during the episode.
- Severe Depressive Episode without Psychotic Symptoms:
 - Many or most symptoms of a Depressive Episode are present to a marked degree, or a smaller number of symptoms are present and manifest to an intense degree.
 - The individual has serious difficulty continuing to function in most domains (personal, family, social, educational, occupational, or other important domains).
 - There are no delusions or hallucinations during the episode.
- Severe Depressive Episode with Psychotic Symptoms:
 - Many or most symptoms of a Depressive Episode are present to a marked degree, or a smaller number of symptoms are present and manifest to an intense degree.

- The individual has serious difficulty continuing to function in most domains (personal, family, social, educational, occupational, or other important domains).
- There are delusions or hallucinations during the episode.

Manic Episode

Essential (Required) Features:

- Both of the following features occurring concurrently and persisting for most of the day, nearly every day, during a period of at least 1 week, unless shortened by a treatment intervention.
 - An extreme mood state characterized by euphoria, irritability, or expansiveness that represents a significant change from the individual's typical mood. Individuals commonly exhibit rapid changes among different mood states (i.e., mood lability).
 - Increased activity or a subjective experience of increased energy that represents a significant change from the individual's typical level.
- Several of the following symptoms, representing a significant change from the individual's usual behaviour or subjective state:
 - Increased talkativeness or pressured speech (a feeling of internal pressure to be more talkative).
 - Flight of ideas or experience of rapid or racing thoughts (e.g., thoughts flow rapidly and, in some cases, illogically from one idea to the next; the person reports that their thoughts are rapid or even racing and has difficulty remaining on topic).
 - Increased self-esteem or grandiosity (e.g., the individual believes that he can accomplish tasks well beyond his skill level, or that he is about to become famous). In psychotic presentations of mania, this may be manifested as grandiose delusions.
 - Decreased need for sleep (e.g., the person reports being able to function with only 2 or 3 hours of sleep), as distinct from Insomnia, in which an individual wants to sleep but cannot.
 - Distractibility (e.g., the person cannot stay on task, because attention is drawn to irrelevant or minor environmental stimuli, such as being overly distracted by outside noise during a conversation).
 - Impulsive reckless behaviour (e.g., the individual impulsively pursues pleasurable activities without regard to their potential for negative consequences, or impulsively makes major decisions in the absence of adequate planning).
 - An increase in sexual drive, sociability, or goal-directed activity.
- The symptoms are not a manifestation of another medical condition (e.g., a brain tumour) and are not due to the effects of a substance or medication on the central nervous system (e.g., cocaine, amphetamines), including withdrawal effects.
- The clinical presentation does not fulfil the diagnostic requirements for a Mixed Episode.
- The mood disturbance results in significant impairment in personal, family, social, educational, occupational, or other important areas of functioning, requires intensive treatment (e.g., hospitalization) to prevent harm to self or others, or is accompanied by delusions or hallucinations.

Additional Clinical Features:

- Manic Episodes may or may not include psychotic symptoms. A wide variety of psychotic symptoms may occur in mania; among the most common are grandiose delusions (e.g., being chosen by God, having special powers or abilities), persecutory delusions, and self-referential delusions (e.g., being conspired against because of one's special identity or abilities). Delusions related to experiences of influence, passivity or control (e.g., the experience that thoughts or actions are not generated by the person, are being placed in one's mind or withdrawn from one's mind by others, or that thoughts are being broadcast to others) may also occur. Hallucinations are less frequent and commonly accompany delusions of persecution or reference. They are usually auditory (e.g., adulatory voices), and less commonly visual (e.g., visions of deities), somatic, or tactile.
- Some patients may exhibit symptoms or impairment in functioning that is sufficiently severe as to require immediate intervention (e.g., treatment with mood-stabilizing medications). As a result, their symptoms may not meet the full duration requirement of a Manic Episode. Episodes that meet the full symptom requirements but last for less than 1 week because they are shortened by a treatment intervention should still be considered Manic Episodes.
- A manic syndrome arising during antidepressant treatment (e.g., medication, electroconvulsive therapy, light therapy, transcranial magnetic stimulation) should be considered a Manic Episode if the syndrome persists after the treatment is discontinued and the full diagnostic requirements of a Manic Episode are met after the direct physiological effects of the treatment are likely to have receded.

Boundary with Normality (Threshold):

• Periods of euphoric or irritable mood that are entirely contextually appropriate (e.g., euphoria after winning a lottery) should not be considered as meeting the mood component of the diagnostic requirements for a Manic Episode.

Developmental Presentations:

- Manic Episode is rare in childhood and adolescence. It is normal for children to display over-excitement, exuberance, or silliness in contexts such as special occasions, celebrations, or some types of play. Manic Episode should only be considered when these behaviours are episodic and recurrent (or characterized by rapid onset if a first episode), are inappropriate for the context in which they arise, are in excess of what might be expected given the person's age or developmental level, represent a distinct change from previous functioning, and are associated with significant impairment in personal, family, social, educational, or other important areas of functioning.
- When a Manic Episode occurs in children or adolescents, all of the characteristic features can be observed. The reports of other informants (e.g., parents) are particularly important in the case of children in evaluating the nature of symptoms and the extent to which they represent a change from previous functioning. The extreme mood state characteristic of Manic Episode may manifest as extreme irritability in children and adolescents. Younger children may exhibit excessive or severe tantrums or increased physical aggression (e.g., throwing things, or hitting).

- In children and adolescents, increased distractibility may manifest as a decline in academic performance, increased time needed to complete school assignments, or inability to complete assignments.
- Increased self-esteem or grandiosity associated with a Manic Episode should be differentiated from children's normal tendency to overestimate their abilities and believe that they have special talents. Grandiose beliefs that are held with clear evidence to the contrary or acted on in such a way that they place the child in danger are more suggestive of Manic Episode. Examples of manifestations of grandiosity include magical or unrealistic ideas (e.g., thinking they can fly) in younger children or overestimation of abilities or talents based on current functioning (e.g., believing they should coach their high school sports team) in adolescents.
- Specific manifestations of increased goal-directed activities associated with Manic Episode may differ across ages. For example, a younger child might build elaborate projects with blocks, while an adolescent might disassemble electronics or appliances.
- As in adults, children and adolescents may engage in impulsive reckless behaviours during a Manic Episode, but these are likely to present differently in children and adolescents based on behavioural repertoire and access to specific activities. For example, a child may exhibit risky play, disregarding possible injury (e.g., running into a busy street, climbing a tall tree, trying to fly), whereas for adolescents, analogous behaviour may include driving fast, spending excessively, or engaging in risky sexual behaviour.

Boundaries with Other Disorders and Conditions (Differential Diagnosis):

- **Boundary with Hypomanic Episode:** The symptoms of Manic Episodes may be qualitatively similar to those of Hypomanic Episodes, but, unlike in a Hypomanic Episode, the mood disturbance is sufficiently severe to result in significant impairment in personal, family, social, educational, occupational, or other important areas of functioning or to require intensive treatment (e.g., hospitalization) to prevent harm to self or others, or is accompanied by delusions or hallucinations.
- **Boundary with Mixed Episode:** Manic symptoms in a Mixed Episode may be qualitatively similar to those of Manic Episode, but in Mixed Episode several prominent manic symptoms occur simultaneously or alternate rapidly with several prominent depressive symptoms such as dysphoric mood, expressed beliefs of worthlessness, hopelessness, or suicidal ideation.
- **Boundary with Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder:** Many features of Manic Episode such as increased activity, rapid speech and over-talkativeness, distractibility, and impulsivity can be observed in individuals with Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder. Differentiating between these disorders can be particularly challenging among children and adolescents. However, in Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder, symptoms have their onset before the age of 12, are persistent over time (i.e., are not episodic), and are not temporally tied to changes in mood or energy (e.g., are not accompanied by intense mood elevation). However, rates of Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder are substantially elevated as compared to the general population among children and adolescents diagnosed with Bipolar Disorders, and both diagnoses may be assigned if the full diagnostic requirements for each are met.

Mixed Episode

Essential (Required) Features:

- The presence of several prominent manic and several prominent depressive symptoms consistent with those observed in Manic Episodes and Depressive Episodes, which either occur simultaneously or alternate very rapidly (from day to day or within the same day). Symptoms must include an altered mood state consistent with a Manic and/or Depressive Episode (i.e., depressed, dysphoric, euphoric or expansive mood), and be present most of the day, nearly every day, during a period of at least 2 weeks, unless shortened by a treatment intervention.
- When manic symptoms predominate in a Mixed Episode, common depressive (contrapolar) symptoms are dysphoric mood, expressed beliefs of worthlessness, hopelessness, and suicidal ideation.
- When depressive symptoms predominate in a Mixed Episode, common manic (contrapolar) symptoms are irritability, racing or crowded thoughts, increased talkativeness, and increased activity.
- When depressive and manic symptoms alternate rapidly during a Mixed Episode, such fluctuations may be observed in mood (e.g., between euphoria and sadness or dysphoria), emotional reactivity (e.g., between flat affect and intense or exaggerated reactiveness to emotional stimuli), drive (e.g., alternating periods of increased and decreased activity, verbal expression, sexual desire, or appetite), and cognitive functioning (e.g., periods of activation and inhibition or slowing of thoughts, attention and memory).
- The symptoms are not a manifestation of another medical condition (e.g., a brain tumour) and are not due to the effects of a substance or medication on the central nervous system (e.g., benzodiazepines), including withdrawal effects (e.g., from cocaine).
- The mood disturbance results in significant impairment in personal, family, social, educational, occupational, or other important areas of functioning or is accompanied by delusions or hallucinations.

Additional Clinical Features:

- Delusions and hallucinations characteristic of both Depressive and Manic Episodes (see above) can occur in Mixed Episodes.
- A mixed syndrome arising during antidepressant treatment (e.g., medication, electroconvulsive therapy, light therapy, transcranial magnetic stimulation) should be considered a Mixed Episode if the syndrome persists after the treatment is discontinued and the full diagnostic requirements of a Mixed Episode are met after the direct physiological effects of the treatment are likely to have receded.

Developmental Presentations:

• There is limited research regarding Mixed Episodes in children and adolescents; however, there is some evidence to suggest that adolescents with Bipolar Disorders may be more likely than adults with Bipolar Disorders to experience Mixed Episodes.

Boundaries with Other Disorders and Conditions (Differential Diagnosis):

- **Boundary with Manic Episode:** Manic symptoms in a Mixed Episode may be qualitatively similar to those of Manic Episode, but in Mixed Episode several prominent manic symptoms occur simultaneously or alternate rapidly with several depressive symptoms such as dysphoric mood, expressed beliefs of worthlessness, hopelessness, or suicidal ideation.
- **Boundary with Depressive Episode:** Depressive symptoms in a Mixed Episode may be qualitatively similar to those of Depressive Episode, but in Mixed Episode several prominent depressive symptoms occur simultaneously or alternate rapidly with several prominent manic symptoms such as irritability, racing or crowded thoughts, increased talkativeness, or increased activity.
- **Boundary with Hypomanic Episode:** Manic symptoms in a Mixed Episode may be qualitatively similar to those of Hypomanic Episode, but, unlike in a Hypomanic Episode, the mood disturbance in Mixed Episode is sufficiently severe to result in significant impairment in personal, family, social, educational, occupational, or other important areas of functioning or to require intensive treatment (e.g., hospitalization) to prevent harm to self or others, or is accompanied by delusions or hallucinations. Moreover, in Mixed Episode several prominent manic symptoms occur simultaneously or alternate rapidly with several prominent depressive symptoms such as dysphoric mood, expressed beliefs of worthlessness, hopelessness, or suicidal ideation, which are not characteristic of Hypomanic Episode.

Hypomanic Episode

Essential (Required) Features:

- Both of the following symptoms occurring concurrently and persisting for most of the day, nearly every day, for at least several days:
 - Persistent elevation of mood or increased irritability that represents a significant change from the individual's usual range of moods (e.g., the change would be apparent to people who know the individual well). This does not include periods of elevated or irritable mood that are contextually appropriate (e.g., elevated mood after graduating from school or related to falling in love). Rapid shifts among different mood states commonly occur (i.e., mood lability).
 - Increased activity or a subjective experience of increased energy that represents a significant change from the individual's typical level.
- In addition, several of the following symptoms, representing a significant change from the individual's usual behaviour (e.g., the change would be apparent to others who know the individual well) or subjective state.
 - Increased talkativeness or pressured speech (a feeling of internal pressure to be more talkative).
 - Flight of ideas or experience of rapid or racing thoughts (e.g., thoughts flow rapidly from one idea to the next; the person reports that her thoughts are rapid or even racing and has difficulty remaining on a topic).
 - Increased self-esteem or grandiosity (e.g., individual is more self-confident than usual).
 - Decreased need for sleep (e.g., the person reports needing less sleep than usual and still feels well-rested). This differs from Insomnia, in which an individual wants to sleep but cannot.

- Distractibility (e.g., the person has difficulty staying on task, because attention is drawn to irrelevant or minor environmental stimuli, such as being overly distracted by outside noise during a conversation).
- Impulsive reckless behaviour (e.g., the individual pursues pleasurable activities with little regard to their potential for negative consequences, or makes decisions in the absence of adequate planning.).
- An increase in sexual drive, sociability or goal-directed activity.
- The symptoms are not a manifestation of another medical condition (e.g., a brain tumour) and are not due to the effects of a substance or medication on the central nervous system (e.g., cocaine, amphetamines), including withdrawal effects (e.g., from stimulants).
- The clinical presentation does not fulfil the diagnostic requirements for a Mixed Episode.
- The mood disturbance is not sufficiently severe as to cause marked impairment in occupational functioning or in usual social activities or relationships with others and is not accompanied by delusions or hallucinations.

Additional Clinical Features:

• A hypomanic syndrome arising during antidepressant treatment (medication, electroconvulsive therapy, light therapy, transcranial magnetic stimulation) should be considered a Hypomanic Episode if the syndrome persists after the treatment is discontinued and the full diagnostic requirements of a Hypomanic Episode are met after the direct physiological effects of the treatment are likely to have receded.

Boundary with Normality (Threshold):

- Hypomanic Episodes are often difficult to distinguish from normal periods of elevated mood, for example related to positive life events, particularly given that Hypomanic Episodes are not associated with significant functional impairment. In order to be considered a Hypomanic Episode, the symptoms must represent a significant and noticeable change from the individual's typical mood and behaviour.
- The occurrence of one or more Hypomanic Episodes in the absence of a history of other types of Mood Episodes (i.e., Manic, Depressive, or Mixed Episodes) is not a sufficient basis for a diagnosis of a Mood Disorder.

Developmental Presentations:

- As in adults, Hypomanic Episode in children and adolescents are similar to, but less severe than, Manic Episode and may present for a shorter period of time. The information in the section on *Developmental Presentations* for Manic Episode, above, is therefore also applicable to Hypomanic Episode.
- Hypomanic Episode may be difficult to distinguish from developmentally normative behaviours in children and adolescents (e.g., changes in sleep or irritability during adolescence). Factors to consider include the episodicity and a marked, co-occurring, change in cognitions (e.g., racing thoughts) or behaviours (e.g., increased activity level).
- Increased irritability in younger children may be manifest as excessive or more severe tantrums or increased physical aggression (e.g., throwing things, or hitting).

Boundaries with Other Disorders and Conditions (Differential Diagnosis):

- **Boundary with Manic Episode:** The symptoms of Hypomanic Episodes may be qualitatively similar to those of Manic Episodes, but the mood disturbance is not sufficiently severe to result in marked impairment in personal, family, social, educational, occupational, or other important areas of functioning or to require intensive treatment (e.g., hospitalization) to prevent harm to self or others, and is not accompanied by delusions or hallucinations.
- **Boundary with Mixed Episode:** Manic symptoms in a Mixed Episode may be qualitatively similar to those of Hypomanic Episode, but, unlike in a Hypomanic Episode, the mood disturbance in Mixed Episode is sufficiently severe to result in significant impairment in personal, family, social, educational, occupational, or other important areas of functioning or to require intensive treatment (e.g., hospitalization) to prevent harm to self or others, or is accompanied by delusions or hallucinations. Moreover, in Mixed Episode several prominent manic symptoms occur simultaneously or alternate rapidly with several prominent depressive symptoms such as dysphoric mood, expressed beliefs of worthlessness, hopelessness, or suicidal ideation, which are not characteristic of Hypomanic Episode.
- **Boundary with Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder:** Many features of Hypomanic Episode such as increased activity, rapid speech and over-talkativeness, distractibility, and impulsivity can be observed in individuals with Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder. Differentiating between these disorders can be particularly challenging among children and adolescents. However, in Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder, symptoms have their onset before the age of 12, are persistent over time (i.e., are not episodic), and are not temporally tied to changes in mood or energy (e.g., are not accompanied by mood elevation). However, rates of Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder are substantially elevated as compared to the general population among children and adolescents diagnosed with Bipolar Disorders, and both diagnoses may be assigned if the full diagnostic requirements for each are met.

Mood Disorder Descriptions

BIPOLAR OR RELATED DISORDERS:

Bipolar or Related Disorders are episodic mood disorders defined by the occurrence of Manic, Mixed or Hypomanic Episodes or symptoms. These typically alternate over the course of these disorders with Depressive Episodes or periods of depressive symptoms.

Because the symptoms of Bipolar Type I Disorder and Bipolar Type II Disorder are substantially similar apart from the occurrence of Manic or Mixed Episodes in Bipolar Type I Disorder and Hypomanic Episodes in Bipolar Type II Disorder, following a separate listing of the *Essential Features* for each of these disorders, the other CDDR sections (e.g., *Additional Clinical Features, Boundaries with Other Disorders and Conditions*) are provided for both disorders together.

6A60 Bipolar Type I Disorder

Essential (Required) Features:

• A history of at least one Manic or Mixed Episode (see above Essential Features for Mood Episodes). Although a single Manic or Mixed Episode is sufficient for a diagnosis of Bipolar Type I Disorder, the typical course of the disorder is characterized by recurrent Depressive and Manic or Mixed Episodes. Although some episodes may be Hypomanic, there must be a history of at least one Manic or Mixed Episode.

Type of current Mood Episode, psychotic symptoms, severity of current Depressive Episodes, and remission specifiers:

The type of current Mood Episode, the presence or absence of psychotic symptoms, the severity of current Depressive Episodes, and the degree of remission should be described in Bipolar Type I Disorder. (See descriptions of psychotic symptoms and Depressive Episode Severity in Mood Episode descriptions above.) Available categories are as follows:

| 6A60.0 | Bipolar Type I Disorder, Current Episode Manic, without psychotic symptoms |
|--------|---|
| 6A60.1 | Bipolar Type I Disorder, Current Episode Manic, with psychotic symptoms |
| 6A60.2 | Bipolar Type I Disorder, Current Episode Hypomanic |
| 6A60.3 | Bipolar Type I Disorder, Current Episode Depressive, Mild |
| 6A60.4 | Bipolar Type I Disorder, Current Episode Depressive, Moderate, without psychotic symptoms |
| 6A60.5 | Bipolar Type I Disorder, Current Episode Depressive, Moderate, with psychotic symptoms |
| 6A60.6 | Bipolar Type I Disorder, Current Episode Depressive, Severe, without psychotic symptoms |
| 6A60.7 | Bipolar Type I Disorder, Current Episode Depressive, Severe, with psychotic symptoms |
| 6A60.8 | Bipolar Type I Disorder, Current Episode Depressive, Unspecified Severity |
| 6A60.9 | Bipolar Type I Disorder, Current Episode Mixed, without psychotic symptoms |
| | |

| 6A60.A | Bipolar Type I Disorder, Current Episode Mixed, with psychotic symptoms |
|--------|--|
| 6A60.B | Bipolar Type I Disorder, currently in partial remission, most recent episode |
| | Manic or Hypomanic |
| 6A60.C | Bipolar Type I Disorder, currently in partial remission, most recent episode |
| | Depressive |
| 6A60.D | Bipolar Type I Disorder, currently in partial remission, most recent episode |
| | Mixed |
| 6A60.E | Bipolar Type I Disorder, currently in partial remission, most recent episode |
| | unspecified |
| 6A60.F | Bipolar Type I Disorder, currently in full remission |

6A60.0 Bipolar Type I Disorder, Current Episode Manic, without psychotic symptoms

- All diagnostic requirements for a Manic Episode (see page 227) are currently met.
- There are no delusions or hallucinations during the current Manic Episode.

Note: If the individual has experienced Manic or Mixed Episodes in the past, a duration of 1 week is not required in order to diagnose a current episode if all other diagnostic requirements are met.

6A60.1 Bipolar Type I Disorder, Current Episode Manic, with psychotic symptoms

- All diagnostic requirements for a Manic Episode (see page 227) are currently met.
- There are delusions or hallucinations during the current Manic Episode.

Note: If the individual has experienced Manic or Mixed Episodes in the past, a duration of 1 week is not required in order to diagnose a current episode if all other diagnostic requirements are met.

6A60.2 Bipolar Type I Disorder, Current Episode Hypomanic

• All diagnostic requirements for a Hypomanic Episode (see page 231) are currently met.

6A60.3 Bipolar Type I Disorder, Current Episode Depressive, Mild

• All diagnostic requirements for a Mild Depressive Episode (see page 226) are currently met.

6A60.4 Bipolar Type I Disorder, Current Episode Depressive, Moderate, without psychotic symptoms

- All diagnostic requirements for a Moderate Depressive Episode (see page 226) are currently met.
- There are no delusions or hallucinations during the current Depressive Episode.

6A60.5 Bipolar Type I Disorder, Current Episode Depressive, Moderate, with psychotic symptoms

- All diagnostic requirements for a Moderate Depressive Episode (see page 226) are currently met.
- There are delusions or hallucinations during the current Depressive Episode.

6A60.6 Bipolar Type I Disorder, Current Episode Depressive, Severe, without psychotic symptoms

- All diagnostic requirements for a Severe Depressive Episode (see page 226) are currently met.
- There are no delusions or hallucinations during the current Depressive Episode.

6A60.7 Bipolar Type I Disorder, Current Episode Depressive, Severe, with psychotic symptoms

- All diagnostic requirements for a Severe Depressive Episode (see page 226) are currently met.
- There are delusions or hallucinations during the current Depressive Episode.

6A60.8 Bipolar Type I Disorder, Current Episode Depressive, Unspecified Severity

- All diagnostic requirements for a Depressive Episode (see page 222) are currently met.
- There is insufficient information to determine the severity of the current Depressive Episode.

6A60.9 Bipolar Type I Disorder, Current Episode Mixed, without psychotic symptoms

- All diagnostic requirements for a Mixed Episode (see page 229) are currently met.
- There are no delusions or hallucinations during the current Mixed Episode.

Note: If the individual has experienced Manic or Mixed Episodes in the past, a duration of 2 weeks is not required in order to diagnose a current episode if all other diagnostic requirements are met.

6A60.A Bipolar Type I Disorder, Current Episode Mixed, with psychotic symptoms

- All diagnostic requirements for a Mixed Episode (see page 229) are currently met.
- There are delusions or hallucinations during the current Mixed Episode.

Note: If the individual has experienced Manic or Mixed Episodes in the past, a duration of 2 weeks is not required in order to diagnose a current episode if all other diagnostic requirements are met.

6A60.B Bipolar Type I Disorder, currently in partial remission, most recent episode Manic or Hypomanic

- The most recent Mood Episode was a Manic or Hypomanic Episode (see page 227 and 231 respectively).
- The full diagnostic requirements for a Manic or Hypomanic Episode are no longer met, but some significant manic or hypomanic symptoms remain. (Note that in some cases, residual mood symptoms may be of opposite polarity to the symptoms of the most recent episode.)

Note: This category may also be used to designate the re-emergence of subthreshold mood symptoms following an asymptomatic period in a person who has previously met the diagnostic requirements for Bipolar Type I Disorder.

6A60.C Bipolar Type I Disorder, currently in partial remission, most recent episode Depressive

- The most recent Mood Episode was a Depressive Episode (see page 226).
- The full diagnostic requirements for a Depressive Episode are no longer met, but some significant depressive symptoms remain. (Note that in some cases, residual mood symptoms may be of opposite polarity to the symptoms of the most recent episode.)

Note: This category may also be used to designate the re-emergence of subthreshold mood symptoms following an asymptomatic period in a person who has previously met the diagnostic requirements for Bipolar Type I Disorder.

6A60.D Bipolar Type I Disorder, currently in partial remission, most recent episode Mixed

- The most recent Mood Episode was a Mixed Episode (see page 229).
- The full diagnostic requirements for a Mixed Episode are no longer met, but some significant mood symptoms remain.

Note: This category may also be used to designate the re-emergence of subthreshold mood symptoms following an asymptomatic period in a person who has previously met the diagnostic requirements for Bipolar Type I Disorder.

6A60.E Bipolar Type I Disorder, currently in partial remission, most recent episode unspecified

- The full diagnostic requirements for a Mood Episode are no longer met, but some significant mood symptoms remain.
- There is insufficient information to determine the nature of the most recent mood episode.

Note: This category may also be used to designate the re-emergence of subthreshold mood symptoms following an asymptomatic period in a person who has previously met the diagnostic requirements for Bipolar Type I Disorder.

6A60.F Bipolar Type I Disorder, currently in full remission

• There are currently no longer any significant mood symptoms.

6A60.Y Other Specified Bipolar Type I Disorder

6A60.Z Bipolar Type I Disorder, Unspecified

Course Features:

- Although the onset of a first Manic, Hypomanic, or Depressive Episode most often occurs during the late teen years, onset of Bipolar Type I Disorder can occur at any time through the life cycle, including in older adulthood. Late-onset mood symptoms may be more likely to be caused by the effects of medications or substances or other medical conditions.
- The majority of individuals who experience a single Manic Episode will go on to develop recurrent Mood Episodes. More than half of Manic Episodes will be immediately followed by a Depressive Episode.
- The risk of recurrence of Mood Episodes in Bipolar Type I Disorder increases with the number of prior Mood Episodes.
- Individuals with Bipolar Type I Disorder are at increased lifetime risk of suicidality.

Sex- and/or Gender-Related Features:

- Prevalence rates for Bipolar Type I Disorder are similar between men and women with a tendency for men to exhibit earlier onset of symptoms.
- Manic Episodes occur more commonly in men and are typically more severe and impairing. In contrast, women are more likely to experience Depressive Episodes, Mixed Episodes, and rapid cycling.
- Disorders Due to Substance Use often co-occur with Bipolar Type I Disorder among men, whereas women are more likely to experience comorbid medical conditions including migraines, obesity, and thyroid disease as well as co-occurring mental disorders including Anxiety or Fear-Related Disorders and Eating Disorders.

6A61 Bipolar Type II Disorder

Essential (Required) Features:

- A history of at least one Hypomanic Episode *and* at least one Depressive Episode (see above Essential Features for Mood Episodes). The typical course of the disorder is characterized by recurrent Depressive and Hypomanic Episodes.
- There is no history of Manic or Mixed Episodes.

Type of current Mood Episode, severity and psychotic symptoms in current Depressive Episodes, and remission specifiers:

The type of current Mood Episode, the severity and presence or absence of psychotic symptoms in current Depressive Episodes, and the degree of remission should be described in Bipolar Type II Disorder. (See descriptions of psychotic symptoms and Depressive Episode Severity in Mood Episode descriptions above.) Available categories are as follows:

| 6A61.0 | Bipolar Type II Disorder, Current Episode Hypomanic |
|--------|--|
| 6A61.1 | Bipolar Type II Disorder, Current Episode Depressive, Mild |
| 6A61.2 | Bipolar Type II Disorder, Current Episode Depressive, Moderate, without psychotic symptoms |
| 6A61.3 | Bipolar Type II Disorder, Current Episode Depressive, Moderate, with psychotic symptoms |
| 6A61.4 | Bipolar Type II Disorder, Current Episode Depressive, Severe, without psychotic symptoms |
| 6A61.5 | Bipolar Type II Disorder, Current Episode Depressive, Severe, with psychotic symptoms |
| 6A61.6 | Bipolar Type II Disorder, Current Episode Depressive, Unspecified Severity |
| 6A61.7 | Bipolar Type II Disorder, currently in partial remission, most recent episode Hypomanic |
| 6A61.8 | Bipolar Type II Disorder, currently in partial remission, most recent episode Depressive |
| 6A61.9 | Bipolar Type II Disorder, currently in partial remission, most recent episode unspecified |
| 6A61.A | Bipolar Type II Disorder, currently in full remission |

6A61.0 Bipolar Type II Disorder, Current Episode Hypomanic

• All diagnostic requirements for a Hypomanic Episode (see page 231) are currently met.

6A61.1 Bipolar Type II Disorder, Current Episode Depressive, Mild

• All diagnostic requirements for a Mild Depressive Episode (see page 226) are currently met.

6A61.2 Bipolar Type II Disorder, Current Episode Depressive, Moderate, without psychotic symptoms

- All diagnostic requirements for a Moderate Depressive Episode (see page 226) are currently met.
- There are no delusions or hallucinations during the current Depressive Episode.

6A61.3 Bipolar Type II Disorder, Current Episode Depressive, Moderate, with psychotic symptoms

- All diagnostic requirements for a Moderate Depressive Episode (see page 226) are currently met.
- There are delusions or hallucinations during the current Depressive Episode.

6A61.4 Bipolar Type II Disorder, Current Episode Depressive, Severe, without psychotic symptoms

- All diagnostic requirements for a Severe Depressive Episode (see page 226) are currently met.
- There are no delusions or hallucinations during the current Depressive Episode.

6A61.5 Bipolar Type II Disorder, Current Episode Depressive, Severe, with psychotic symptoms

- All diagnostic requirements for a Severe Depressive Episode (see page 226) are currently met.
- There are delusions or hallucinations during the current Depressive Episode.

6A61.6 Bipolar Type II Disorder, Current Episode Depressive, Unspecified Severity

- All diagnostic requirements for a Depressive Episode (see page 222) are currently met.
- There is insufficient information to determine the severity of the current Depressive Episode.

6A61.7 Bipolar Type II Disorder, currently in partial remission, most recent episode Hypomanic

- The most recent Mood Episode was a Hypomanic Episode (see page 231).
- The full diagnostic requirements for a Hypomanic Episode are no longer met, but some significant hypomanic symptoms remain. (Note that in some cases, residual mood symptoms may be of opposite polarity to the symptoms of the most recent episode.)

Note: This category may also be used to designate the re-emergence of subthreshold mood symptoms following an asymptomatic period in a person who has previously met the diagnostic requirements for Bipolar Type II Disorder.

6A61.8 Bipolar Type II Disorder, currently in partial remission, most recent episode Depressive

- The most recent Mood Episode was a Depressive Episode (see page 222).
- The full diagnostic requirements for a Depressive Episode are no longer met, but some significant depressive symptoms remain. (Note that in some cases, residual mood symptoms may be of opposite polarity to the symptoms of the most recent episode.)

Note: This category may also be used to designate the re-emergence of subthreshold mood symptoms following an asymptomatic period in a person who has previously met the diagnostic requirements for Bipolar Type II Disorder.

6A61.9 Bipolar Type II Disorder, currently in partial remission, most recent episode unspecified

- The full diagnostic requirements for a Mood Episode are no longer met, but some significant mood symptoms remain.
- There is insufficient information to determine the nature of the most recent mood episode.

Note: This category may also be used to designate the re-emergence of subthreshold mood symptoms following an asymptomatic period in a person who has previously met the diagnostic requirements for Bipolar Type II Disorder.

6A61.A Bipolar Type II Disorder, currently in full remission

• There are currently no longer any significant mood symptoms.

6A61.Y Other Specified Bipolar Type II Disorder

6A61.Z Bipolar Type II Disorder, Unspecified

Course Features:

- Bipolar Type II Disorder has its onset most often during the mid-twenties; however, onset during late adolescence and throughout early and mid-adulthood may also occur. Initial onset of Bipolar Type II Disorder in older adults is rare.
- While onset typically begins following a single Depressive Episode, some individuals experience several Depressive Episodes before occurrence of a Hypomanic Episode.
- The presence of chronic and gradually worsening experiences of affective lability or mood swings, particularly during adolescence and early adulthood, has been associated with an increased risk of developing Bipolar Type II Disorder.
- Up to 15% of individuals with Bipolar Type II Disorder will subsequently develop a Manic Episode resulting in a change of diagnosis to Bipolar Type I Disorder.
- Spontaneous intra-episode shifts from a Depressive Episode to Hypomanic Episode are not uncommon.
- Risk of recurrence increases with each subsequent Mood Episode.

Sex- and/or Gender-Related Features:

• Women are more likely to experience Hypomanic Episodes, Mixed Episodes, and rapid cycling. The time of greatest risk for a Hypomanic Episode is during the early postpartum period following childbirth. A specifier of 'Current Episode Perinatal' should be assigned under these circumstances. Approximately half of those who experience postpartum hypomanic symptoms will later develop a Depressive Disorder. Differentiating between normal experiences of mood and sleep disturbances typically

associated with caring for a newborn and symptoms of Bipolar Type II disorder is challenging.

Symptomatic and Course Presentation Specifiers for Mood Episodes in Bipolar Type I and Bipolar Type II Disorders:

Additional specifiers may be applied to describe a current mood episode in the context of Bipolar Type I Disorder (Depressive, Manic, Mixed or Hypomanic Episodes) and Bipolar Type II Disorder (Depressive or Hypomanic Episodes). These specifiers indicate other important features of the clinical presentation or of the course, onset, and pattern of Mood Episodes. These specifiers are not mutually exclusive, and as many may be added as apply. (Note that these same specifiers, with the exception of Rapid Cycling, may also be applied to current Depressive Episodes in the context of Depressive Disorders. The specifier Rapid Cycling is specific to Bipolar Type I and Bipolar Type II Disorders.)

Available specifiers are as follows:

with prominent anxiety symptoms (6A80.0)

• This specifier can be applied if, in the context of a current Depressive, Manic, Mixed, or Hypomanic Episode, prominent and clinically significant anxiety symptoms (e.g., feeling nervous, anxious or on edge, not being able to control worrying thoughts, fear that something awful will happen, having trouble relaxing, muscle tension, autonomic symptoms) have been present for most of the time during the episode. If there have been panic attacks during the current Depressive or Mixed Episode, these should be recorded separately (see 'with panic attacks' specifier). This specifier may be used whether or not the diagnostic requirements for an Anxiety or Fear-Related Disorder are also met, in which case the Anxiety or Fear-Related Disorder should also be diagnosed.

with panic attacks (6A80.1)

• This specifier can be applied if, in the context of a current Episode, there have been panic attacks during the past month that occur specifically in response to depressive ruminations or other anxiety-provoking cognitions. If panic attacks occur exclusively in response to such thoughts, the 'with panic attacks' specifier should be applied rather than an additional co-occurring diagnosis of Panic Disorder. If some panic attacks over the course of the Depressive or Mixed Episode have been unexpected and not exclusively in response to depressive or anxiety-provoking thoughts and the full diagnostic requirements for Panic Disorder are met, a separate diagnosis of Panic Disorder should be assigned.

current Depressive Episode persistent (6A80.2)

• This specifier can be applied if the diagnostic requirements for Depressive Episode are currently met and have been met continuously (five or more characteristic symptoms occurring most of the day, nearly every day) for at least the past 2 years.

current Depressive Episode with melancholia (6A80.3)

- This specifier can be applied if, in the context of a current Depressive Episode, several of the following symptoms have been present during the worst period of the current episode:
 - Loss of interest or pleasure in most activities that are normally enjoyable to the individual (i.e., pervasive anhedonia).
 - Lack of emotional reactivity to normally pleasurable stimuli or circumstances (i.e., mood does not lift even transiently with exposure).
 - Terminal insomnia (i.e., waking in the morning 2 hours or more before the usual time).
 - Depressive symptoms are worse in the morning.
 - Marked psychomotor retardation or agitation.
 - Marked loss of appetite or loss of weight.

with seasonal pattern of mood episode onset(6A80.4)

- This specifier can be applied to Bipolar Type I or Bipolar Type II Disorder if there has been a regular seasonal pattern of onset and remission of at least one type of episode (i.e., Depressive, Manic, Mixed, or Hypomanic Episodes). The other types of Mood Episodes may not follow this pattern.
- A substantial majority of the relevant Mood Episodes should correspond with the seasonal pattern.
- A seasonal pattern should be differentiated from an episode that is coincidental with a particular season but predominantly related to a psychological stressor that regularly occurs at that time of the year (e.g., seasonal unemployment).

with rapid cycling (6A80.5)

- This specifier can be applied if the Bipolar Type I or Bipolar Type II Disorder is characterized by a high frequency of Mood Episodes (at least four) over the past 12 months. There may be a switch from one polarity of mood to the other, or the Mood Episodes may be demarcated by a period of remission.
- In individuals with a high frequency of Mood Episodes, some may have a shorter duration than those usually observed in Bipolar Type I or Bipolar Type II Disorder. In particular, depressive periods may only last several days. However, if depressive and manic symptoms alternate very rapidly (i.e., from day to day or within the same day), a Mixed Episode should be diagnosed rather than rapid cycling.

In the context of Bipolar Type I or Bipolar Type II Disorder, Mood Episodes that occur during pregnancy or commencing within about 6 weeks after delivery (referred to as the puerperium) can be identified using one of the following two additional diagnostic codes, depending on whether delusions, hallucinations, or other psychotic symptoms are present. These diagnoses should be assigned in addition to the relevant Bipolar Disorder diagnosis.

Mental or Behavioural Disorders Associated with Pregnancy, Childbirth or the Puerperium, without psychotic symptoms (6E20)

• This additional diagnostic code should be used for Mood Episodes that arise during pregnancy or commencing within about 6 weeks after delivery that do not include delusions, hallucinations, or other psychotic symptoms. This designation should not be used to describe mild and transient depressive symptoms that do not meet the diagnostic requirements for a Depressive Episode, which may occur soon after delivery (so-called postpartum blues). (See p. 571 for complete diagnostic requirements.)

Mental or Behavioural Disorders Associated with Pregnancy, Childbirth or the Puerperium, with psychotic symptoms (6E21)

• This additional diagnostic code should be used for Mood Episodes that arise during pregnancy or commencing within about 6 weeks after delivery that include delusions, hallucinations, or other psychotic symptoms. (See p. 572 for complete diagnostic requirements.)

Note: For the following sections, see also material under Depressive Episode (p. 222), Manic Episode (p. 227), Mixed Episode (p. 229) and Hypomanic Episode (p. 231). Material on Additional Clinical Features, Boundary with Normality (Threshold), Developmental Presentations, and Boundary with Other Disorders and Conditions (Differential Diagnosis) that relates specifically to the Mood Episodes is contained in these sections, whereas material focusing on Bipolar Type I Disorder and Bipolar Type II Disorder overall appears below.

Additional Clinical Features for Bipolar Type I Disorder and Bipolar Type II Disorder:

- In combination with a history of one or more Depressive Episodes, a Mixed, Manic or Hypomanic Episode arising during antidepressant treatment (e.g., medication, electroconvulsive therapy, light therapy, transcranial magnetic stimulation) is grounds for a diagnosis of Bipolar Type I or Bipolar Type II Disorder if the syndrome persists after the treatment is discontinued and the full diagnostic requirements of the Mood Episode are met after the direct physiological effects of the treatment are likely to have receded.
- Inter-episode periods may be characterized by complete remission of symptoms or by the presence of residual hypomanic, manic, mixed, or depressive symptoms, in which case the 'partial remission' specifier should be applied.
- Suicide risk is significantly higher among individuals diagnosed with Bipolar Type I and Bipolar Type II Disorder than among the general population, particularly during Depressive or Mixed Episodes and among individuals with rapid cycling.
- Recurrent panic attacks in Bipolar Type I Disorder and Bipolar Type II Disorder may be indicative of greater severity, poorer response to treatment, and greater risk for suicide.
- Family history is an important factor to consider because heritability of Bipolar Disorders is the highest of all mental disorders.
- When individuals with Bipolar Type II Disorder seek clinical services, they almost invariably do so during Depressive Episodes. Given that individuals experiencing a Hypomanic Episode often have a subjective experience of improved functioning (e.g., greater productivity and creativity at work), they rarely seek clinical care during such

episodes. Thus, Hypomanic Episodes usually must be assessed retrospectively in individuals presenting with depressive symptoms.

- Individuals initially diagnosed with Bipolar Type II Disorder are at high risk of experiencing a Manic or Mixed Episode during their lifetime. If this occurs, the diagnosis should be changed to Bipolar Type I Disorder.
- Patients diagnosed with Bipolar Type I Disorder and Bipolar Type II Disorder are at elevated risk for developing a variety of medical conditions affecting the cardiovascular system (e.g., hypertension) and metabolism (e.g., hyperglycemia), some of which may be due to the effects of the chronic use of medications used to treat Bipolar Disorders.
- Individuals with Bipolar Type I or Bipolar Type II Disorder exhibit high rates of cooccurring Mental, Behavioural or Neurodevelopmental Disorders, most commonly Anxiety or Fear-Related Disorders and Disorders Due to Substance Use.

Boundary with Normality (Threshold) for Bipolar Type I Disorder and Bipolar Type II Disorder:

• The presence or history of Hypomanic Episodes in the absence of a history of at least one Depressive Episode is not a sufficient basis for a presumptive diagnosis of Bipolar Type II Disorder.

Culture-Related Features for Bipolar Type I Disorder and Bipolar Type II Disorder:

- Studies indicate that the prevalence of Bipolar or Related Disorders varies across cultural, ethnic, and migrant groups, partly as a function of social stress. Symptom expression may also vary and be shaped by common cultural idioms, cultural histories or personal histories that are prominent in identity formation and expressed as grandiose ideas or beliefs. For example, grandiosity may be expressed in culturally specific ways such that a Muslim individual experiencing a Manic Episode may believe he is Muhammad, whereas a Christian individual may believe he is Jesus. Individuals from the person's cultural group may be helpful in distinguishing normative expressions of belief or ritual from manic or psychotic experiences and behaviours.
- In some cultural contexts, mood changes are more readily expressed in the form of bodily symptoms (e.g., pain, fatigue, weakness) rather than directly reported as psychological symptoms.
- Some types of symptoms may be considered more shameful or severe according to cultural norms, leading to reporting biases. For example, some cultures may emphasize shame more than guilt, whereas in others suicidal behaviour and thinking may be prohibited. In some cultural groups, features such as sadness and lack of productivity may be perceived as signs of personal weakness and therefore under-reported.
- The cultural salience of depressive symptoms may vary across social groups as a result of varying cultural 'scripts' for the disorder which make specific types of symptoms more prominent, for example: psychological (e.g., sadness, emotional numbness, rumination), moral (e.g., guilt, worthlessness), social/interpersonal (e.g., lack of productivity, conflictive relationships), hedonic (e.g., decreased pleasure), spiritual (e.g., dreams of dead relatives), or somatic symptoms (e.g., insomnia, pain, fatigue, dizziness).

Boundaries with Other Disorders and Conditions (Differential Diagnosis) for Bipolar Type I Disorder and Bipolar Type II Disorder:

- **Boundary with Cyclothymic Disorder:** In Cyclothymic Disorder, the number, severity and/or duration of depressive symptoms have never met the threshold required for a Depressive Episode and there is no evidence of a history of Mixed or Manic Episodes.
- **Boundary with Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder:** Although a Manic, Hypomanic, or Mixed Episode may include symptoms characteristic of Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder such as distractibility, hyperactivity, and impulsivity, Bipolar Type I and Bipolar Type II Disorder are differentiated from Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder by their episodic nature and the accompanying elevated, euphoric or irritable mood. However, Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder and Bipolar Type I and Bipolar Type II Disorder can co-occur. When they do, Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder symptoms tend to worsen during Hypomanic, Manic, or Mixed Episodes.
- Boundary with Schizophrenia or Other Primary Psychotic Disorders: The presentation is not better accounted for by a diagnosis of Schizophrenia or Other Primary Psychotic Disorder. Individuals with both Bipolar Type I Disorder and Bipolar Type II Disorder can exhibit psychotic symptoms during Depressive Episodes, and individuals with Bipolar Type I Disorder can exhibit psychotic symptoms during Manic or Mixed Episodes, but these symptoms occur only during Mood Episodes. Conversely, individuals with a diagnosis of Schizophrenia or Other Primary Psychotic Disorder may experience significant depressive or manic mood symptoms during psychotic episodes. In such cases, if the symptoms do not meet the diagnostic requirements for a Depressive, Manic, or Mixed Episode, their presence and severity in the context of a psychotic disorder diagnosis can be denoted by applying specifier scales from 'Symptomatic Manifestations of Primary Psychotic Disorders', i.e., 'with depressive mood symptoms in primary psychotic disorders (See page 208)' or 'with manic mood symptoms in primary psychotic disorders (See page 209).' If all diagnostic requirements for both a Depressive, Manic, or Mixed Episode and Schizophrenia are met concurrently or within a few days of each other and other diagnostic requirements are met, the diagnosis of Schizoaffective Disorder should be assigned rather than Bipolar Type I or Bipolar Type II Disorder. A Hypomanic Episode superimposed on Schizophrenia does not qualify for a diagnosis of Schizoaffective Disorder. However, a diagnosis of Bipolar Type I or Bipolar Type II Disorder can co-occur with a diagnosis of Schizophrenia or Other Primary Psychotic Disorder, and both diagnoses may be assigned if the full diagnostic requirements for both disorders are met and psychotic symptoms are present outside of Mood Episodes.
- **Boundary with Anxiety or Fear-Related Disorders:** Symptoms of anxiety, including panic attacks, are common in Bipolar Type I and Bipolar Type II Disorder, and in some individuals may be a prominent aspect of the clinical presentation. In such cases, the specifier 'with prominent anxiety symptoms' should be applied to the diagnosis for non-panic anxiety systems. If the anxiety symptoms meet the diagnostic requirements for an Anxiety or Fear-Related Disorder, the appropriate diagnosis from the Anxiety or Fear-Related Disorder, the appropriate diagnosis from the Anxiety or Fear-Related Disorder, the appropriate diagnosis from the Anxiety or Fear-Related Disorders grouping should also be assigned. For panic attacks, if these occur entirely in the context of anxiety associated with Depressive, Hypomanic, Manic, or Mixed Episodes in Bipolar Type I and Bipolar Type II Disorder, they are appropriately designated using the 'with panic attacks' specifier. However, if panic attacks also occur outside of symptomatic Mood Episodes and other diagnostic requirements are met, a separate diagnosis of Panic Disorder should be considered. Both specifiers may be assigned if warranted.
- **Boundary with Personality Disorder:** Individuals with a Personality Disorder may exhibit impulsivity or mood instability, but Personality Disorder does not include

Depressive, Hypomanic, Manic, or Mixed Episodes. However, co-occurrence of Personality Disorder and Bipolar Type I and Bipolar Type II Disorder is relatively common. Symptoms of Personality Disorder should be assessed outside the context of a Mood Episode to avoid conflating symptoms of a Mood Episode with personality traits, but both diagnoses may be assigned if the diagnostic requirements for both diagnoses are fulfilled.

- *Boundary with Oppositional Defiant Disorder:* It is common, particularly among children and adolescents, for patterns of noncompliance and symptoms of irritability/anger to arise as part of a Mood Disorder. For example, noncompliance may be a result of depressive symptoms (e.g., diminished interest or pleasure in activities, difficulty concentrating, hopelessness, psychomotor retardation, reduced energy). During Hypomanic or Manic episodes, individuals are less likely to follow rules and comply with directions. Oppositional Defiant Disorder often co-occurs with Mood Disorders, and irritability/anger can be a common symptom across these disorders. When the behaviour problems occur primarily in the context of Hypomanic, Manic, Depressive, or Mixed Episodes, a separate diagnosis of Oppositional Defiant Disorder should not be assigned. However, both diagnoses may be given if the full diagnostic requirements for both disorders are met and the behaviour problems associated with Oppositional Defiant Disorder specifier 'with chronic irritability-anger' may be used if appropriate.
- **Boundary with Substance-induced Mood Disorder:** A Depressive, Hypomanic, Manic, or Mixed syndrome due to the effects of a substance or medication other than antidepressant medication on the central nervous system (e.g., cocaine, amphetamines), including withdrawal effects, should be diagnosed as Substance-Induced Mood Disorder rather than Bipolar Type I or Bipolar Type II Disorder. The presence of continuing mood disturbance should be assessed once the physiological effects of the relevant substance subside.
- **Boundary with other Mental Disorders:** Irritability is a symptom that is also observed in other disorders (e.g., Depressive Disorders, Generalized Anxiety Disorder). In order to attribute this symptom to a Manic, Hypomanic, or Mixed Episode, the clinician should establish the episodicity of the symptom and its co-occurrence with other symptoms consistent with a Manic, Hypomanic, or Mixed Episode.
- **Boundary with Secondary Mood Syndrome:** A Depressive, Hypomanic, Manic, or Mixed syndrome that is a manifestation of another medical condition should be diagnosed as Secondary Mood Syndrome rather than Bipolar Type I or Bipolar Type II Disorder.

6A62 Cyclothymic Disorder

Essential (Required) Features:

- Mood instability over an extended period of time (i.e., 2 years or more) characterized by numerous hypomanic and depressive periods. (In children and adolescents depressed mood can manifest as pervasive irritability.) Hypomanic periods may or may not have been sufficiently severe or prolonged to meet the diagnostic requirements for a Hypomanic Episode.
- Mood symptoms are present for more days than not. While brief symptom-free intervals are consistent with the diagnosis, there have never been any prolonged symptom-free periods (e.g., lasting 2 months or more) since the onset of the disorder.

- There is no history of Manic or Mixed Episodes.
- During the first 2 years of the disorder, there has never been a 2-week period during which the number and duration of symptoms were sufficient to meet the diagnostic requirements for a Depressive Episode.
- The symptoms are not a manifestation of another medical condition (e.g., hyperthyroidism) and are not due to the effects of a substance or medication on the central nervous system (e.g., stimulants), including withdrawal effects.
- The symptoms result in significant distress about experiencing persistent mood instability or significant impairment in personal, family, social, educational, occupational, or other important areas of functioning. If functioning is maintained, it is only through significant additional effort.

Additional Clinical Features:

- In children, it may be appropriate to assign the diagnosis of Cyclothymic Disorder after a somewhat briefer period of initial symptoms (e.g., 1 year).
- Individuals initially diagnosed with Cyclothymic Disorder are at high risk for developing Bipolar Type I or Bipolar Type II Disorder during their lifetime.
- Individuals with Cyclothymic Disorder do not typically exhibit psychotic symptoms.

Boundary with Normality (Threshold):

• Cyclothymic Disorder is distinguished from normal variations in mood by a history of distress or difficulty functioning due to repeated occurrences of mood disturbance.

Course Features:

• The course of Cyclothymic Disorder is often gradual and persistent. Onset of Cyclothymic Disorder commonly occurs during adolescence or early adulthood and may be difficult to differentiate from normal mood instability associated with hormonal changes that accompany puberty.

Developmental Presentations:

- Onset of Cyclothymic Disorder in children typically occurs before the age of 10. Symptoms of irritability (particularly during periods of low mood) and sleep disturbance are often the prominent clinical features and reasons for consultation.
- Cyclothymic Disorder is underdiagnosed in children and adolescents despite evidence for greater prevalence of this disorder in this age group as compared to Bipolar Type I and Type II Disorders. However, the most common trajectory in children and adolescents is symptom remission; only a minority will maintain the diagnosis into adulthood or be at high risk for developing Bipolar Type I or Bipolar Type II Disorder.
- Co-occurrence with other Mental, Behavioural or Neurodevelopmental Disorders is common in children and adolescents with Cyclothymic Disorder, particularly with Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder.

Culture-Related Features:

• There is little information available about cultural influences on Cyclothymic Disorder. The information on Culture-Related Features for Bipolar Type I Disorder and Bipolar Type II Disorder (p. 245) may be relevant.

Sex- and/or Gender-Related Features:

• There are no known differences in prevalence rates between genders for Cyclothymic Disorder.

Boundaries with Other Disorders and Conditions (Differential Diagnosis):

- **Boundary with Single Episode Depressive Disorder and Recurrent Depressive Disorder:** During the first 2 years of the disorder, depressive periods in Cyclothymic Disorder should not be sufficient to meet the diagnostic requirements for a Depressive Episode. Outside of this 2-year period, there may be instances in which the symptoms are severe enough to constitute a Depressive Episode. In such cases, if there is no history of Hypomanic Episodes, Single Episode Depressive Disorder or Recurrent Depressive Disorder may be diagnosed along with Cyclothymic Disorder.
- **Boundary with Bipolar Type I Disorder:** If the number and severity of symptoms reaches the diagnostic threshold for a Manic Episode or a Mixed Episode in the context of an ongoing Cyclothymic Disorder, the diagnosis should be changed to Bipolar Type I Disorder.
- **Boundary with Bipolar Type II Disorder:** If the number and severity of symptoms reaches the diagnostic threshold for Single Episode Depressive Disorder or Recurrent Depressive Disorder in the context of an ongoing Cyclothymic Disorder and the individual has a history of Hypomanic Episodes but no history of Manic or Mixed Episodes, the diagnosis should be changed to Bipolar Type II disorder.
- **Boundary with Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder:** Although hypomanic symptoms overlap with symptoms of Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder such as distractibility, hyperactivity, and impulsivity, Hypomanic Episodes are differentiated from Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder by their episodic nature and the accompanying elevated, euphoric or irritable mood. Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder can co-occur and, when this occurs, Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder symptoms tend to worsen during Hypomanic Episodes.
- Boundary with Oppositional Defiant Disorder: It is common, particularly among • children and adolescents, for patterns of noncompliance and symptoms of irritability/anger to arise as part of a Mood Disorder. For example, noncompliance may be a result of depressive symptoms (e.g., diminished interest or pleasure in activities, difficulty concentrating, hopelessness, psychomotor retardation, reduced energy). Individuals may be less likely to follow rules and comply with directions when experiencing hypomanic symptoms. In contrast, individuals with Oppositional Defiant Disorder do not exhibit the episodicity characteristic of Cyclothymic Disorder. However, Oppositional Defiant Disorder often co-occurs with Mood Disorders, and irritability/anger can be a common symptom across these disorders. When the behaviour problems occur primarily in the context of mood disturbance, a separate diagnosis of Oppositional Defiant Disorder should not be assigned. However, both diagnoses may be given if the full diagnostic requirements for both disorders are met and the behaviour problems associated with Oppositional Defiant Disorder are observed outside of periods of mood disturbance. The Oppositional Defiant Disorder specifier 'with chronic irritability-anger' may be used if appropriate.

- **Boundary with Personality Disorder:** Individuals with Personality Disorder may exhibit impulsivity or mood instability, but Cyclothymic Disorder does not include persistent problems in self-functioning and interpersonal dysfunction that characterize Personality Disorder. Personality Disorder should be assessed outside the context of a Mood Episode to avoid conflating symptoms of a Mood Episode with personality traits, but both diagnoses may be assigned if the diagnostic requirements for both diagnoses are fulfilled.
- **Boundary with Secondary Mood Syndrome:** Chronic mood instability that is a manifestation of another medical condition should be diagnosed as Secondary Mood Syndrome rather than Cyclothymic Disorder.
- **Boundary with Substance-induced Mood Disorder:** Chronic mood instability due to the effects of a substance or medication on the central nervous system (e.g., benzodiazepines), including withdrawal effects (e.g., from stimulants), should be diagnosed as Substance-Induced Mood Disorder rather than Cyclothymic Disorder.

6A6Y Other Specified Bipolar or Related Disorders

Essential (Required) Features:

- The presentation is characterized by manic or hypomanic symptoms (with or without depressive symptoms) that share primary clinical features with other Bipolar or Related Disorders (e.g., persistent elevation of mood).
- The symptoms do not fulfil the diagnostic requirements for any other disorder in the Bipolar or Related Disorders grouping.
- The symptoms are not better accounted for by another Mental, Behavioural or Neurodevelopmental Disorder (e.g., Schizoaffective Disorder; a Disorder Due to Addictive Behaviours; a Personality Disorder).
- The symptoms and behaviours are not a manifestation of another medical condition and are not due to the effects of a substance or medication (e.g., alcohol, cocaine) on the central nervous system, including withdrawal effects.
- The symptoms result in significant distress or significant impairment in personal, family, social, educational, occupational or other important areas of functioning. If functioning is maintained, it is only through significant additional effort.

6A6Z Bipolar or Related Disorders, Unspecified

DEPRESSIVE DISORDERS:

Depressive Disorders are characterized by depressive mood (e.g., sad, irritable, empty) or loss of pleasure accompanied by other cognitive, behavioural, or neurovegetative symptoms that significantly affect the individual's ability to function. A Depressive Disorder should not be diagnosed in individuals who have ever experienced a Manic, Mixed or Hypomanic Episode, which would indicate the presence of a Bipolar Disorder.

Because the presentation of Single Episode Depressive Disorder is the same as that of Recurrent Depressive Disorder apart from a history of prior Depressive Episodes, following a separate listing of the *Essential Features* for each of these disorders, the other CDDR

sections (e.g., *Additional Clinical Features, Boundaries with Other Disorders and Conditions*) are provided for both disorders together.

6A70 Single Episode Depressive Disorder

Essential (Required) Features:

- Presence or history of a single Depressive Episode (see above Essential Features).
- There is no history of Manic, Mixed, or Hypomanic Episodes, which would indicate the presence of a Bipolar Disorder.

Severity, Psychotic Symptoms, and Remission Specifiers

The Depressive Episode in Single Episode Depressive Disorder should be classified according to the severity of the episode or the degree of remission. Moderate and Severe episodes should also be classified according to the presence or absence of psychotic symptoms. (See descriptions of episode severity and psychotic symptoms in Depressive Episodes above.) Available categories are as follows:

| 6A70.0 | Single Episode Depressive Disorder, Mild |
|--------|--|
| 6A70.1 | Single Episode Depressive Disorder, Moderate, without psychotic |
| | symptoms |
| 6A70.2 | Single Episode Depressive Disorder, Moderate, with psychotic symptoms |
| 6A70.3 | Single Episode Depressive Disorder, Severe, without psychotic symptoms |
| 6A70.4 | Single Episode Depressive Disorder, Severe, with psychotic symptoms |
| 6A70.5 | Single Episode Depressive Disorder, Unspecified Severity |
| 6A70.6 | Single Episode Depressive Disorder, currently in partial remission |
| 6A70.7 | Single Episode Depressive Disorder, currently in full remission |
| | |

6A70.0 Single Episode Depressive Disorder, Mild

- All diagnostic requirements for a Mild Depressive Episode (see page 226) are currently met.
- There are no delusions or hallucinations during the Depressive Episode.

6A70.1 Single Episode Depressive Disorder, Moderate, without psychotic symptoms

- All diagnostic requirements for a Moderate Depressive Episode (see page 226) are currently met.
- There are no delusions or hallucinations during the Depressive Episode.

6A70.2 Single Episode Depressive Disorder, Moderate, with psychotic symptoms

- All diagnostic requirements for a Moderate Depressive Episode (see page 226) are currently met.
- There are delusions or hallucinations during the Depressive Episode.

6A70.3 Single Episode Depressive Disorder, Severe, without psychotic symptoms

- All diagnostic requirements for a Severe Depressive Episode (see page 226) are currently met.
- There are no delusions or hallucinations during the Depressive Episode.

6A70.4 Single Episode Depressive Disorder, Severe, with psychotic symptoms

- All diagnostic requirements for a Severe Depressive Episode (see page 226) are currently met.
- There are delusions or hallucinations during the Depressive Episode.

6A70.5 Single Episode Depressive Disorder, Unspecified Severity

- All diagnostic requirements for a Depressive Episode (see page 222) are currently met.
- There is insufficient information to determine the severity of the Depressive Episode.

6A70.6 Single Episode Depressive Disorder, currently in partial remission

• The full diagnostic requirements for a Depressive Episode (see page 222) are no longer met, but some significant depressive symptoms remain.

Note: This category may also be used to designate the re-emergence of subthreshold depressive symptoms following an asymptomatic period.

6A70.7 Single Episode Depressive Disorder, currently in full remission

• There are currently no longer any significant depressive symptoms.

6A70.Y Other Specified Single Episode Depressive Disorder

6A70.Z Single Episode Depressive Disorder, Unspecified

6A71 Recurrent Depressive Disorder

Essential (Required) Features:

- A history of at least two Depressive Episodes (see above Essential Features), which may include a current episode, separated by several months without significant mood disturbance.
- There is no history of Manic, Mixed, or Hypomanic Episodes, which would indicate the presence of a Bipolar Disorder.

Note: If Depressive Episodes are superimposed on Dysthymic Disorder, the requirement for several months without significant mood disturbance between episodes would be satisfied by a return to the chronic dysthymic symptom picture that preceded the episode.

Severity, Psychotic Symptoms, and Remission Specifiers

The current Depressive Episode in the context of Recurrent Depressive Disorder should be classified according to the severity of the current episode or the degree of remission. Moderate and Severe current episodes should also be classified according to the presence or absence of psychotic symptoms. (See descriptions of episode severity and psychotic symptoms in Depressive Episodes above.) Available categories are as follows:

- 6A71.0 Recurrent Depressive Disorder, Current Episode Mild
- 6A71.1 Recurrent Depressive Disorder, Current Episode Moderate, without psychotic symptoms
- 6A71.2 Recurrent Depressive Disorder, Current Episode Moderate, with psychotic symptoms
- 6A71.3 Recurrent Depressive Disorder, Current Episode Severe, without psychotic symptoms
- 6A71.4 Recurrent Depressive Disorder, Current Episode Severe, with psychotic symptoms
- 6A71.5 Recurrent Depressive Disorder, Current Episode, Unspecified Severity
- 6A71.6 Recurrent Depressive Disorder, currently in partial remission
- 6A71.7 Recurrent Depressive Disorder, currently in full remission

6A71.0 Recurrent Depressive Disorder, Current Episode Mild

- All diagnostic requirements for a Mild Depressive Episode (see page 226) are currently met.
- There are no delusions or hallucinations during the current Depressive Episode.

6A71.1 Recurrent Depressive Disorder, Current Episode Moderate, without psychotic symptoms

- All diagnostic requirements for a Moderate Depressive Episode (see page 226) are currently met.
- There are no delusions or hallucinations during the current Depressive Episode.

6A71.2 Recurrent Depressive Disorder, Current Episode Moderate, with psychotic symptoms

- All diagnostic requirements for a Moderate Depressive Episode (see page 226) are currently met.
- There are delusions or hallucinations during the current Depressive Episode.

6A71.3 Recurrent Depressive Disorder, Current Episode Severe, without psychotic symptoms

- All diagnostic requirements for a Severe Depressive Episode (see page 226) are currently met.
- There are no delusions or hallucinations during the current Depressive Episode.

6A71.4 Recurrent Depressive Disorder, Current Episode Severe, with psychotic symptoms

- All diagnostic requirements for a Severe Depressive Episode (see page 226) are currently met.
- There are delusions or hallucinations during the current Depressive Episode.

6A71.5 Recurrent Depressive Disorder, Current Episode, Unspecified Severity

- All diagnostic requirements for a Depressive Episode (see page 222) are currently met.
- There is insufficient information to determine the severity of the current Depressive Episode.

6A71.6 Recurrent Depressive Disorder, currently in partial remission

• The full diagnostic requirements for a Depressive Episode (see page 222) are no longer met, but some significant depressive symptoms remain.

Note: This category may also be used to designate the re-emergence of subthreshold depressive symptoms following an asymptomatic period.

6A71.7 Recurrent Depressive Disorder, currently in full remission

• There are currently no longer any significant depressive symptoms.

6A71.Y Other Specified Recurrent Depressive Disorder

6A71.Z Recurrent Depressive Disorder, Unspecified

Symptomatic and Course Presentations for Mood Episodes in Single Episode and Recurrent Depressive Disorders

Additional specifiers may be applied to describe the presentation and characteristics of a current Depressive Episode in the context of Single Episode Depressive Disorder or Recurrent Depressive Disorder. These specifiers indicate other important features of the clinical presentation or of the course, onset, and pattern of Depressive Episodes. These specifiers are not mutually exclusive, and as many may be added as apply. (Note that these same specifiers may also be applied to current Depressive Episodes in the context of Bipolar Type I Disorder or Bipolar Type II Disorder.)

Available specifiers are as follows:

with prominent anxiety symptoms (6A80.0)

• This specifier can be applied if, in the context of a current Depressive Episode, prominent and clinically significant anxiety symptoms (e.g., feeling nervous, anxious or on edge, not being able to control worrying thoughts, fear that something awful will happen, having trouble relaxing, muscle tension, autonomic symptoms) have been present for most of the time during the episode. If there have been panic attacks during the current Depressive Episode, these should be recorded separately (see below). When the diagnostic requirements for both a Depressive Episode and an Anxiety or Fear-Related Disorder are met, the Anxiety or Fear-Related Disorder should also be diagnosed.

with panic attacks (6A80.1)

• This specifier can be applied if, in the context of a current Depressive Episode, there have been panic attacks during the past month that occur specifically in response to depressive ruminations or other anxiety-provoking cognitions. If panic attacks occur exclusively in response to such thoughts, the 'with panic attacks' specifier should be applied rather than an additional cooccurring diagnosis of Panic Disorder. If some panic attacks over the course of the Depressive Episode have been unexpected and not exclusively in response to depressive thoughts, a separate diagnosis of Panic Disorder should be assigned.

current Depressive Episode persistent (6A80.2)

• This specifier can be applied if the diagnostic requirements for Depressive Episode are currently met and have been met continuously (five or more characteristic symptoms occurring most of the day, nearly every day) for at least the past 2 years.

current Depressive Episode with melancholia (6A80.3)

- This specifier can be applied if, in the context of a current Depressive Episode, several of the following symptoms have been present during the worst period of the current episode:
 - Loss of interest or pleasure in most activities that are normally enjoyable to the individual (i.e., pervasive anhedonia).
 - Lack of emotional reactivity to normally pleasurable stimuli or circumstances (i.e., mood does not lift even transiently with exposure).
 - Terminal insomnia, i.e., waking in the morning 2 hours or more before the usual time.
 - Depressive symptoms are worse in the morning.
 - Marked psychomotor retardation or agitation.
 - Marked loss of appetite or loss of weight.

with seasonal pattern of mood episode onset (6A80.4)

- This specifier can be applied to Recurrent Depressive Disorder if there has been a regular seasonal pattern of onset and remission of Depressive Episodes.
- A substantial majority of Depressive Episodes should correspond with the seasonal pattern.
- A seasonal pattern should be differentiated from an episode that is coincidental with a particular season but predominantly related to a psychological stressor that regularly occurs at that time of the year (e.g., seasonal unemployment).

In the context of Single Episode Depressive Disorder or Recurrent Depressive Disorder, Depressive Episodes that occur during pregnancy or commencing within about 6 weeks after delivery (referred to as the puerperium) can be identified using one of the following two additional diagnostic codes, depending on whether delusions, hallucinations, or other psychotic symptoms are present. These diagnoses should be assigned in addition to the relevant Depressive Disorder diagnosis.

6E20 Mental or Behavioural Disorders Associated with Pregnancy, Childbirth or the Puerperium, without psychotic symptoms (6E20)

• This additional diagnostic code should be used for Mood Episodes that arise during pregnancy or commencing within about 6 weeks after delivery that do not include delusions, hallucinations, or other psychotic symptoms. This designation should not be used to describe mild and transient depressive symptoms that do not meet the diagnostic requirements for a Depressive Episode, which may occur soon after delivery (so-called postpartum blues). (See p. 571 for complete diagnostic requirements.)

Mental or Behavioural Disorders Associated with Pregnancy, Childbirth or the Puerperium, with psychotic symptoms (6E21)

• This additional diagnostic code should be used for Mood Episodes that arise during pregnancy or commencing within about 6 weeks after delivery that include delusions, hallucinations, or other psychotic symptoms. (See p. 572 for complete diagnostic requirements.)

Note: For the following sections, see also material under Depressive Episode (p. 222), Manic Episode (p. 227), Mixed Episode (p. 229) and Hypomanic Episode (p. 231). Material on Additional Clinical Features, Boundary with Normality (Threshold), Developmental Presentations, and Boundary with Other Disorders and Conditions (Differential Diagnosis) that relates specifically to the Mood Episodes is contained in these sections, whereas material focusing on Single Episode Depressive Disorder and Recurrent Depressive Disorder overall appears below.

Additional Clinical Features for Single Episode Depressive Disorder and Recurrent Depressive Disorder:

- Suicide risk is significantly higher among individuals diagnosed with Single Episode Depressive Disorder or Recurrent Depressive Disorder than among the general population.
- Recurrent panic attacks in Single Episode Depressive Disorder or Recurrent Depressive Disorder may be indicative of greater severity, poorer response to treatment, and greater risk for suicide.
- The presence of Dementia or Disorder of Intellectual Development does not rule out the diagnosis of Single Episode Depressive Disorder or Recurrent Depressive Disorder, but communication difficulties may make it necessary to rely more than usual on observations made by clinicians or knowledgeable collateral informants for making the diagnosis. Observable symptoms include psychomotor retardation, loss of appetite and weight, and sleep disturbance.
- There is a greater risk of Single Episode Depressive Disorder or Recurrent Depressive Disorder among individuals with a family history of Single Episode Depressive Disorder or Recurrent Depressive Disorder.
- Co-occurrence with other Mental, Behavioural or Neurodevelopmental Disorders is common, including Anxiety or Fear-Related Disorders, Bodily Distress Disorder, Obsessive-Compulsive or Related Disorders, Oppositional Defiant Disorder, Disorders Due to Substance Use, Eating Disorders, and Personality Disorder.

Course Features for Single Episode Depressive Disorder and Recurrent Depressive Disorder:

- The prevalence of Depressive Disorders significantly increases at puberty with the average age of onset occurring during the mid-20s.
- In the absence of intervention, Depressive Episodes typically last 3 to 4 months with nearly half of affected individuals experiencing symptom reduction within 3 months and the majority experiencing remission within 1 year. Remission and recurrence rates vary widely with most individuals experiencing an average of four Depressive Episodes over their lifetime, and approximately half experiencing a recurrence within the first 5 years. The risk of relapse increases with each subsequent Depressive Episode.
- It is common for depressive symptoms to persist between discrete episodes (i.e., partial remission), with some individuals never experiencing a complete remission of symptoms. This presentation warrants closer attention, because symptom persistence has been associated with shorter time to relapse as well as co-occurrence of other Mental, Behavioural or Neurodevelopmental Disorders including Personality Disorder, Anxiety or Fear-Related Disorders, and Disorders Due to Substance Use.
- Lower rates of recovery are associated with longer duration and severity of symptoms and the presence of psychotic features.
- Individuals with Bipolar Disorders often present initially with a Depressive Episode. Vulnerability factors associated with transition from a Depressive Disorder to a Bipolar Disorder include earlier age at onset, a family history of Bipolar Disorders, and the presence of psychotic symptoms.

Culture-Related Features for Single Episode Depressive Disorder and Recurrent Depressive Disorder:

• The cultural salience of depressive symptoms may vary across social groups as a result of varying cultural 'scripts' for the disorder. For example, psychological (e.g., sadness,

emotional numbness, rumination), moral (e.g., guilt, worthlessness), social/interpersonal (e.g., lack of productivity, conflictive relationships), hedonic (e.g., decreased pleasure), spiritual (e.g., dreams of dead relatives), or somatic symptoms (e.g., insomnia, pain, fatigue, dizziness) may systematically predominate.

- In some cultural contexts, mood changes are more readily expressed in the form of bodily symptoms (e.g., pain, fatigue, weakness) rather than directly reported as psychological symptoms.
- Some types of symptoms may be considered more shameful or severe according to cultural norms, leading to reporting biases. For example, some cultural groups may emphasize shame more than guilt, whereas in others suicidal behaviour and thinking may be prohibited or highly stigmatized, leading to reporting biases. Also, in some cultural groups, features such as sadness and lack of productivity may be perceived as signs of personal weakness and be under-reported.
- The perceived abnormality or acceptability of depressive symptoms may vary across cultures, affecting symptom detection and treatment acceptability. For example, some social groups or age cohorts may consider depressive symptoms to be normal reactions to adversity, depending on their tolerance of negative emotions or social withdrawal.
- Symptoms attributed to cultural concepts of distress may be evoked when querying about depressive symptomatology. Among Chinese, for example, symptoms of *shenjing shuairuo*, or weakness of the nervous system (e.g., weakness, headache, bodily aches, fatigue, feeling vexed, loss of face) may be commonly reported. Culturally related symptoms and idioms of distress may complicate detection of Depressive Disorders and assessment of severity, including whether psychotic symptoms are present. Examples include pain in heart, soul loss, aching heart, complaints related to 'nerves', and heat inside the body. In some other cultures, a focus on a particular observable behaviour (e.g., 'thinking too much') may be what is reported.

Sex- and/or Gender-Related Features for Single Episode Depressive Disorder and Recurrent Depressive Disorder:

- Lifetime prevalence of Depressive Disorders is approximately twice as high for women. Gender differences in prevalence coincide with onset of puberty.
- Although women are more likely to attempt suicide, men are more likely to die by suicide by virtue of using more lethal methods.
- Women with a diagnosis of a Depressive Disorder are more likely to experience cooccurring Anxiety or Fear-Related Disorders, disturbances in appetite, and weight gain whereas it is more common for men to experience co-occurring alcohol and other Disorders Due to Substance Use, poor impulse control, and increased risk-taking behaviour.

Boundaries with Other Disorders and Conditions for Single Episode Depressive Disorder and Recurrent Depressive Disorder:

• **Boundary with Dysthymic Disorder:** Single Episode Depressive Disorder and Recurrent Depressive Disorder are differentiated from Dysthymic Disorder by the number of symptoms and the course of the disorder. Dysthymic Disorder is a chronic and persistent condition, and during the initial period of 2 years necessary to establish the diagnosis, the number and duration of symptoms are not sufficient to meet the diagnostic requirements for a Depressive Episode as required for a diagnosis of Single Episode Depressive Disorder or Recurrent Depressive Disorder. After this initial period, if the

number and severity of symptoms reaches the diagnostic threshold for a Depressive Episode in the context of an ongoing Dysthymic Disorder, both Dysthymic Disorder and either Single Episode Depressive Disorder or Recurrent Depressive Disorder may be diagnosed. Unlike Dysthymic Disorder, Recurrent Depressive Disorder is episodic in nature. However, long periods of subthreshold depressive symptoms that occur following Depressive Episodes when there has not been an initial 2-year period of subthreshold symptoms are better diagnosed as Single Episode Depressive Disorder in partial remission or Recurrent Depressive Disorder in partial remission.

- **Boundary with Mixed Depressive and Anxiety Disorder:** Individuals who present with both depressive and anxiety symptoms more days than not for a period of 2 weeks or more, with neither set of symptoms, considered separately, being sufficiently severe, numerous, or lasting to justify a diagnosis of Single Episode Depressive Disorder or Recurrent Depressive Disorder or an Anxiety or Fear-Related Disorder may be diagnosed with Mixed Depressive and Anxiety Disorder.
- **Boundary with Cyclothymic Disorder:** Although in general, depressive periods in Cyclothymic Disorder are not sufficient to meet the diagnostic requirements for a Depressive Episode, there may be instances in which the symptoms are severe enough to constitute a Depressive Episode. In such cases, if there is no history of Hypomanic Episodes, Single Episode Depressive Disorder or Recurrent Depressive Disorder may be diagnosed, as appropriate, along with Cyclothymic Disorder.
- Boundary with Schizophrenia or Other Primary Psychotic Disorders: The presentation • is not better accounted for by a diagnosis of Schizophrenia or Other Primary Psychotic Disorder. Individuals with Single Episode Depressive Disorder or Recurrent Depressive Disorder can exhibit psychotic symptoms, but these occur only during Depressive Episodes. Conversely, individuals with a diagnosis of Schizophrenia or Other Primary Psychotic Disorder may experience significant depressive symptoms during psychotic episodes. In such cases, if the depressive symptoms do not meet the diagnostic requirements for a Depressive Episode, the specifier 'with prominent depressive symptoms' may be applied to the psychotic disorder diagnosis. If all diagnostic requirements for both a Depressive Episode and Schizophrenia are met concurrently or within a few days of each other, the diagnosis of Schizoaffective Disorder should be assigned rather than Single Episode Depressive Disorder or Recurrent Depressive Disorder. However, a diagnosis of Single Episode Depressive Disorder or Recurrent Depressive Disorder can co-occur with a diagnosis of Schizophrenia or Other Primary Psychotic Disorder, and both diagnoses may be assigned if the full diagnostic requirements for both disorders are met and psychotic symptoms are present outside of Depressive Episodes.
- **Boundary with Generalized Anxiety Disorder:** Generalized Anxiety Disorder and Depressive Episodes in Single Episode Depressive Disorder or Recurrent Depressive Disorder can share several features such as somatic symptoms of anxiety, difficulty with concentration, sleep disruption, and feelings of dread associated with pessimistic thoughts. Single Episode Depressive Disorder or Recurrent Depressive Disorder are differentiated by the presence of low mood or loss of pleasure in previously enjoyable activities and other characteristic symptoms of a Depressive Episode (e.g., appetite changes, feelings of worthlessness, recurrent thoughts of death). In Generalized Anxiety Disorder, individuals are focused on potential negative outcomes that might occur in a variety of everyday aspects of life (e.g., family, finances, work) rather than thoughts of worthlessness or hopelessness. Rumination often occurs in the context of Single Episode Depressive Disorder or Recurrent Depressive Disorder but, unlike in Generalized Anxiety Disorder, is not usually accompanied by persistent worry and apprehension

about various everyday aspects of life. Generalized Anxiety Disorder may co-occur with Single Episode Depressive Disorder or Recurrent Depressive Disorder, but should only be diagnosed if the diagnostic requirements for Generalized Anxiety Disorder were met prior to the onset of or following complete remission of a Depressive Episode.

- **Boundary with Other Anxiety or Fear-Related Disorders:** Symptoms of anxiety, including panic attacks, are common in Single Episode Depressive Disorder and Recurrent Depressive Disorder, and in some individuals may be a prominent aspect of the clinical presentation. In such cases, the specifier 'with prominent anxiety symptoms' should be applied to the diagnosis for non-panic anxiety symptoms. If the anxiety symptoms meet the diagnostic requirements for an Anxiety or Fear-Related Disorder, the appropriate diagnosis from the Anxiety or Fear-Related Disorders grouping should also be assigned. For panic attacks, if these occur entirely in the context of anxiety associated with Depressive Episodes in Single Episode Depressive Disorder or Recurrent Depressive Disorder, they are appropriately designated using the 'with panic attacks' specifier. However, if panic attacks also occur outside of symptomatic Mood Episodes and other diagnostic requirements are met, a separate diagnosis of Panic Disorder should be considered. Both specifiers may be assigned if warranted.
- **Boundary with Adjustment Disorder:** Adjustment Disorder is characterized by a maladaptive reaction to identifiable psychosocial stressors, and can include depressive symptoms (e.g., rumination) but does not include a sufficient number and severity of symptoms to meet the requirements for a Depressive Episode. If the adjustment reaction meets the diagnostic requirements for Single Episode Depressive Disorder or Recurrent Depressive Disorder, even in the presence of identifiable psychosocial stressors, Single Episode Depressive Disorder or Recurrent Depressive Disorder or Recurrent Depressive Disorder attent Disorder or Recurrent Depressive Disorder attent Disorder or Recurrent Disorder should be diagnosed rather than Adjustment Disorder.
- *Boundary with Oppositional Defiant Disorder:* It is common, particularly in children and adolescents, for patterns of noncompliance and symptoms of irritability/anger to arise as part of a Mood Disorder. Specifically, noncompliance may result from a number of depressive symptoms (e.g., diminished interest or pleasure in activities, difficulty concentrating, hopelessness, psychomotor retardation, reduced energy). Oppositional Defiant Disorder often co-occurs with Mood Disorders, and irritability/anger can be a common symptom across these disorders. When the behaviour problems occur primarily in the context of a Depressive Episode, a separate diagnosis of Oppositional Defiant Disorder should not be assigned. However, both diagnoses may be given if the full diagnostic requirements for both disorders are met and the behaviour problems associated with Oppositional Defiant Disorder are observed outside the occurrence of Depressive Episodes.
- **Boundary with Insomnia:** Individuals experiencing Insomnia may also report depressed mood and may develop other depressive symptoms. However, the breadth and severity of symptoms are generally not sufficient to meet the diagnostic requirements for Single Episode Depressive Disorder or Recurrent Depressive Disorder.
- **Boundary with Secondary Mood Syndrome:** A depressive syndrome that is a manifestation of another medical condition (e.g., hypothyroidism) should be diagnosed as Secondary Mood Syndrome rather than Single Episode Depressive Disorder or Recurrent Depressive Disorder.
- **Boundary with Substance-Induced Mood Disorder:** A depressive syndrome due to the effects of a substance or medication on the central nervous system (e.g., benzodiazepines), including withdrawal effects (e.g., from stimulants) should be diagnosed as Substance-Induced Mood Disorder rather than Single Episode Depressive Disorder or Recurrent Depressive Disorder. The presence of continuing mood

disturbance should be assessed once the physiological effects of the relevant substance subside.

6A72 Dysthymic Disorder

Essential (Required) Features:

- Persistent depressed mood (i.e., lasting 2 years or more), for most of the day, for more days than not, as reported by the individual (e.g., feeling down, sad) or as observed (e.g., tearful, defeated appearance). In children and adolescents depressed mood can manifest as pervasive irritability.
- The depressed mood is accompanied by additional symptoms typically seen in a Depressive Episode, though these may be milder in form. Examples include:
 - Markedly diminished interest or pleasure in activities
 - Reduced concentration and attention or indecisiveness
 - Low self-worth or excessive or inappropriate guilt
 - Hopelessness about the future
 - Disturbed sleep or increased sleep
 - Diminished or increased appetite
 - Low energy or fatigue
- During the first 2 years of the disorder, there has never been a 2-week period during which the number and duration of symptoms were sufficient to meet the diagnostic requirements for a Depressive Episode.
- While brief symptom-free intervals during the period of persistent depressed mood are consistent with the diagnosis, there have never been any prolonged symptom-free periods (e.g., lasting 2 months or more) since the onset of the disorder.
- There is no history of Manic, Mixed, or Hypomanic Episodes, which would indicate the presence of a Bipolar or Related Disorder.
- The symptoms are not a manifestation of another medical condition (e.g., hypothyroidism) and are not due to the effects of a substance or medication on the central nervous system (e.g., benzodiazepines), including withdrawal effects (e.g., from stimulants).
- The symptoms result in significant distress about experiencing persistent depressive symptoms or significant impairment in personal, family, social, educational, occupational, or other important areas of functioning. If functioning is maintained, it is only through significant additional effort.

Additional Clinical Features:

- In children, it may be appropriate to assign the diagnosis of Dysthymic Disorder after a briefer period of initial symptoms (e.g., 1 year).
- Suicide risk is significantly higher among individuals diagnosed with Dysthymic Disorder than among the general population.
- There is a greater risk of Dysthymic Disorder among individuals with a family history of Mood Disorders.
- Co-occurrence with other mental disorders is common, including Anxiety or Fear-Related Disorders, Bodily Distress Disorder, Obsessive-Compulsive or Related

Disorders, Oppositional Defiant Disorder, Disorders Due to Substance Use, Feeding or Eating Disorders, and Personality Disorder.

Boundary with Normality (Threshold):

• Some depressed mood is a normal reaction to severe adverse life events and problems, and is common in the community. Dysthymic Disorder is differentiated from this common experience by the severity, range, and duration of symptoms. Assessment of the presence or absence of signs or symptoms should be made relative to typical functioning of the individual.

Course Features:

- Dysthymic Disorder typically has a gradual onset beginning in childhood, adolescence, or early adulthood.
- The course of Dysthymic Disorder may fluctuate between dysthymia and symptoms of Single Episode Depressive Disorder or Recurrent Depressive Disorder.
- Early onset of Dysthymic Disorder is associated with increased likelihood of cooccurring Anxiety or Fear-Related Disorders, Personality Disorder, and Substance Use Disorders.
- In contrast to high rates of co-occurring Mental, Behavioural or Neurodevelopmental Disorders in young adults, Dysthymic Disorder in older adults typically occurs without co-occurrence.
- Greater symptom severity, higher levels of negative affectivity, poorer global functioning, and the presence of Anxiety or Fear-Related Disorders or Conduct-Dissocial Disorder have been associated with poorer long-term outcomes.

Developmental Presentations:

- In young children, Dysthymic Disorder may present as somatic complaints (e.g., headaches, stomachaches), whining, increased anxiety or fearfulness, or excessive crying.
- Adolescents with Dysthymic Disorder may demonstrate low self-esteem, and may be more reactive to negative (or perceived negative) feedback from others.
- Children and adolescents may present with pervasive irritability rather than depressed mood. However, the presence of irritability is not in and of itself indicative of Dysthymic Disorder and may indicate the presence of another Mental, Behavioural or Neurodevelopmental Disorder or be a normal reaction to frustration.
- In children and adolescents, reduced ability to concentrate or sustain attention may manifest as a decline in academic performance, increased time needed to complete school assignments, or an inability to complete assignments.

Culture-Related Features:

• There is little information available about cultural influences on Dysthymic Disorder. The information on Culture-Related Features for Single Episode Depressive Disorder and Recurrent Depressive Disorder (p. 252) may be relevant.

Sex- and/or Gender-Related Features:

• Although Dysthymic Disorder is more common among women in early life, there are no notable gender differences among older adults with late-onset Dysthymic Disorder.

Boundaries with Other Disorders and Conditions (Differential Diagnosis):

- Boundary with Single Episode Depressive Disorder and Recurrent Depressive **Disorder:** Dysthymic Disorder is differentiated from Single Episode Depressive Disorder and Recurrent Depressive Disorder by the number of symptoms and the course of the disorder. Dysthymic Disorder is a chronic and persistent condition, and during the initial period of 2 years necessary to establish the diagnosis, the number and duration of symptoms are not sufficient to meet the diagnostic requirements for a Depressive Episode as required for a diagnosis of Single Episode Depressive Disorder or Recurrent Depressive Disorder. After this initial period, if the number and severity of symptoms reaches the diagnostic threshold for a Depressive Episode in the context of an ongoing Dysthymic Disorder, both Dysthymic Disorder and either Single Episode Depressive Disorder or Recurrent Depressive Disorder may be diagnosed. Unlike Dysthymic Disorder, Recurrent Depressive Disorder is episodic in nature. However, long periods of subthreshold depressive symptoms that occur following Depressive Episodes when there has not been an initial 2-year period of subthreshold symptoms are better diagnosed as Single Episode Depressive Disorder in partial remission or Recurrent Depressive Disorder in partial remission.
- **Boundary with Bipolar or Related Disorders:** Individuals with a pattern of depressive symptoms that resembles Dysthymic Disorder who have a history of Manic or Mixed Episodes should be diagnosed as Bipolar Type I Disorder. A pattern of chronic mood instability that is characterized by periods of both depressive symptomatology that is not sufficiently severe or prolonged to meet the diagnostic requirements for a Depressive Episode and periods of hypomanic symptomatology should be diagnosed as Cyclothymic Disorder.
- **Boundary with Schizophrenia or Other Primary Psychotic Disorders:** The symptoms are not better accounted for by Schizophrenia, Schizoaffective Disorder, or Other Primary Psychotic Disorder. Depressive symptoms are common in Psychotic Disorders, and these should only be diagnosed as Dysthymic Disorder if they persist for several years after the full remission of psychotic symptoms.
- **Boundary with Generalized Anxiety Disorder:** Generalized Anxiety Disorder and Dysthymic Disorder can share several features such as somatic symptoms of anxiety, difficulty with concentration, sleep disruption, and feelings of dread associated with pessimistic thoughts. Dysthymic Disorder is differentiated by the presence of low mood or loss of pleasure in previously enjoyable activities and other characteristic symptoms of Dysthymic Disorder (e.g., appetite changes, feelings of worthlessness, recurrent thoughts of death). In Generalized Anxiety Disorder, individuals are focused on potential negative outcomes that might occur in a variety of everyday aspects of life (e.g., family, finances, work) rather than thoughts of worthlessness or hopelessness. Rumination often occurs in the context of Dysthymic Disorder but, unlike in Generalized Anxiety Disorder, is not usually accompanied by persistent worry and apprehension about various everyday aspects of life. Generalized Anxiety Disorder may co-occur with Dysthymic Disorder, but should only be diagnosed if the diagnostic requirements for Generalized Anxiety Disorder were met prior to the onset of Dysthymic Disorder.

- **Boundary with Oppositional Defiant Disorder:** It is common, particularly in children and adolescents, for patterns of noncompliance and symptoms of irritability/anger to arise as part of mood disturbance. Specifically, noncompliance may result from a number of depressive symptoms (e.g., diminished interest or pleasure in activities, difficulty concentrating, hopelessness, psychomotor retardation, reduced energy). When the behaviour problems occur primarily in the context of mood disturbance, a separate diagnosis of Oppositional Defiant Disorder should not be assigned.
- **Boundary with Secondary Mood Syndrome:** A chronic depressive syndrome that is a manifestation of another medical condition (e.g., hypothyroidism) should be diagnosed as Secondary Mood Syndrome rather than Dysthymic Disorder.
- **Boundary with Substance-induced Mood Disorder:** A chronic depressive syndrome due to the effects of a substance or medication on the central nervous system (e.g., benzodiazepines), including withdrawal effects (e.g., from stimulants), should be diagnosed as Substance-Induced Mood Disorder rather than Dysthymic Disorder.

6A73 Mixed Depressive and Anxiety Disorder

Essential (Required) Features:

- The presence of both depressive and anxiety symptoms for most of the time during a period of 2 weeks or more.
 - Depressive symptoms include depressed mood or markedly diminished interest or pleasure in activities.
 - There are multiple anxiety symptoms, which may include feeling nervous, anxious, or on edge, not being able to control worrying thoughts, fear that something awful will happen, having trouble relaxing, muscle tension, or sympathetic autonomic symptoms.
- Neither the depressive nor the anxiety symptoms, considered separately, are sufficiently severe, numerous, or lasting to meet the diagnostic requirements of another Depressive Disorder or an Anxiety or Fear-Related Disorder. There is no history of Manic or Mixed Episodes, which would indicate the presence of a Bipolar Disorder.
- The symptoms are not a manifestation of another medical condition (e.g., hypothyroidism, hyperthyroidism) and are not due to the effects of a substance or medication on the central nervous system, including withdrawal effects (e.g., from alcohol, benzodiazepines).
- The symptoms result in significant distress or significant impairment in personal, family, social, educational, occupational, or other important areas of functioning. If functioning is maintained, it is only through significant additional effort.

Additional Clinical Features:

• Individuals with this mixture of comparatively mild symptoms of depression and anxiety are frequently seen in primary care, but many more cases exist among the population at large, which never come to clinical attention.

Boundary with Normality (Threshold):

• If worry is the only anxiety symptom (i.e., no sympathetic autonomic or other anxiety symptoms are present), a diagnosis of Mixed Depressive and Anxiety Disorder diagnosis is not appropriate.

Course Features:

- Epidemiological studies have yielded varying results regarding the course and onset of Mixed Depressive and Anxiety Disorder.
- While there is some evidence to suggest that approximately half of individuals with Mixed Depressive and Anxiety Disorder will experience remission of symptoms within 1 year of onset, those who do not remit are at increased risk of developing a Mental, Behavioural, Neurodevelopmental Disorder that meets full diagnostic requirements, typically for a Depressive Disorder or an Anxiety or Fear-Related Disorder.

Culture-Related Features:

• There is little information available about cultural influences on Mixed Depressive and Anxiety Disorder. The information on Culture-Related Features for Single Episode Depressive Disorder and Recurrent Depressive Disorder (p. 257) and for Generalized Anxiety Disorder (p. 271) may be relevant.

Sex- and/or Gender-Related Features:

• It is unknown whether there are gender differences in prevalence rates of Mixed Depressive and Anxiety Disorder.

Boundaries with Other Disorders and Conditions (Differential Diagnosis):

- **Boundary with other Depressive Disorders and Anxiety or Fear-Related Disorders:** If the depressive symptoms or anxiety symptoms meet the diagnostic requirements for a Depressive Episode or an Anxiety or Fear-Related Disorder, then the Depressive or Anxiety or Fear-Related Disorder should be diagnosed rather than Mixed Depressive and Anxiety Disorder. If appropriate, the 'with prominent anxiety symptoms' specifier may be applied to Single Episode Depressive Disorder or Recurrent Depressive Disorder diagnoses.
- **Boundary with Bipolar or Related Disorders:** Mixed Depressive and Anxiety Disorder should not be diagnosed if there is a history of Manic or Mixed Episodes, which would indicate the presence of a Bipolar Disorder.
- **Boundary with Adjustment Disorder:** If the onset of the symptoms occurs in close association with significant life changes or stressful life events, a diagnosis of Adjustment Disorder is generally more appropriate than Mixed Depressive and Anxiety Disorder.

GA34.41 Premenstrual Dysphoric Disorder

Essential (Required) Features:

- During a majority of menstrual cycles within the past year, a pattern of mood, somatic, or cognitive symptoms is present that begins several days before the onset of menses, starts to improve within a few days after the onset of menses, and then becomes minimal or absent within approximately 1 week following the onset of menses. The temporal relationship of the symptoms and luteal and menstrual phases of the cycle should ideally be confirmed by a prospective symptom diary over at least two symptomatic menstrual cycles.
- The symptoms include:
 - At least one affective symptom such as mood lability, irritability, depressed mood, or anxiety, and
 - Additional somatic or cognitive symptom(s) such as lethargy, joint pain, overeating, hypersomnia, breast tenderness, swelling of extremities, concentration difficulties, or forgetfulness.
- The symptoms are not better accounted for by another mental disorder (e.g., a Mood Disorder, an Anxiety or Fear-Related Disorder).
- The symptoms are not a manifestation of another medical condition (e.g., endometriosis, polycystic ovary disease, adrenal system disorders and hyperprolactinemia) and are not due to the effects of a substance or medication on the central nervous system (e.g., hormone treatment, alcohol), including withdrawal effects (e.g., from stimulants).
- The symptoms result in significant distress or significant impairment in personal, family, social, educational, occupational or other important areas of functioning.

Boundary with Normality (Threshold):

• Mild mood changes (e.g., increased emotional lability, irritability, subjective tension) that occur during late luteal or menstrual phase of the cycle for many women should not be labelled as Premenstrual Dysphoric Disorder. In contrast to Premenstrual Dysphoric Disorder, these symptoms are less intense and do not typically result in significant distress or impairment.

Boundaries with Other Disorders and Conditions (Differential Diagnosis):

- **Boundary with Premenstrual Tension Syndrome:** Many women may experience cyclic emotional, physical, or behavioural symptoms that interfere with their lifestyles during the luteal phase of the menstrual cycle that are appropriately diagnosed and treated as Premenstrual Tension Syndrome. This is in contrast to Premenstrual Dysphoric Disorder, in which the symptoms are considerably more severe and cause significant distress or significant impairment in personal, family, social, educational, occupational or other important areas of functioning.
- Boundary with other Mental, Behavioural or Neurodevelopmental Disorders including Mood Disorders that are exacerbated premenstrually: Mood symptoms characteristic of Premenstrual Dysphoric Disorder including depressed mood, irritability, and anxiety can be present in other Mental, Behavioural or Neurodevelopmental Disorders (e.g., Depressive Disorders, Bipolar Disorders, Generalized Anxiety Disorder). Although symptoms of these disorders may be exacerbated during the late luteal and menstrual phases, Premenstrual Dysphoric Disorder is differentiated by the absence of symptoms 1 week post-menses. Because of the difficulty in accurate recall of the relationship between menstrual cycle and the course of symptoms, prospective mood ratings for two consecutive cycles should be considered.

- **Boundary with Dysmenorrhea:** Dysmenorrhea is characterized by cyclic pelvic pain or lower, umbilical, or suprapubic abdominal pain preceding or accompanying menstruation that interferes with daily activities. Unlike Premenstrual Dysphoric Disorder, the onset of Dysmenorrhea is coincident with the start of rather than prior to menses. Furthermore, mood symptoms are not typically associated with this condition.
- **Boundary with the effects of hormones and their synthetic substitutes and antagonists:** Use of hormone treatments, including for contraceptive purposes, may result in unwanted side effects that include mood, somatic, and cognitive symptoms. If symptoms do not persist after cessation of these medications beyond the period when their physiological effects should have subsided a diagnosis of Premenstrual Dysphoric Disorder should not be assigned.

6A7Y Other Specified Depressive Disorders

Essential (Required) Features:

- The presentation is characterized by depressive symptoms that share primary clinical features with other Depressive Disorders (e.g., depressed mood, decreased engagement in pleasurable activities, decreased energy levels, disruptions in sleep or eating).
- The symptoms do not fulfil the diagnostic requirements for any other disorder in the Depressive Disorders grouping.
- The symptoms are not better accounted for by another Mental, Behavioural or Neurodevelopmental Disorder (e.g., Schizophrenia or Other Primary Psychotic Disorder, an Anxiety or Fear-Related Disorder, a Disorder Specifically Associated with Stress).
- The symptoms and behaviours are not a manifestation of another medical condition and are not due to the effects of a substance or medication (e.g., alcohol, benzodiazepine) on the central nervous system, including withdrawal effects (e.g., from cocaine).
- The symptoms result in significant distress or significant impairment in personal, family, social, educational, occupational or other important areas of functioning. If functioning is maintained, it is only through significant additional effort.

6A7Z Depressive Disorders, Unspecified

6A8Y Other Specified Mood Disorders

Essential (Required) Features:

- The presentation is characterized by mood symptoms that cannot clearly be described as bipolar or depressive in nature (e.g., marked and persistent irritability in the absence of other clear manic or depressive symptoms).
- The symptoms do not fulfil the diagnostic requirements for any other disorder in the Mood Disorders grouping.
- The symptoms are not better accounted for by another Mental, Behavioural or Neurodevelopmental Disorder (e.g., Schizophrenia or Other Primary Psychotic Disorder, an Anxiety or Fear-Related Disorder, a Disorder Specifically Associated with Stress, Oppositional Defiant Disorder with chronic irritability-anger, Personality Disorder).

- The symptoms and behaviours are not a manifestation of another medical condition and are not due to the effects of a substance or medication (e.g., alcohol, benzodiazepine) on the central nervous system, including withdrawal effects (e.g., from cocaine).
- The symptoms result in significant distress or significant impairment in personal, family, social, educational, occupational or other important areas of functioning. If functioning is maintained, it is only through significant additional effort.

6A8Z Mood Disorders, Unspecified

ANXIETY OR FEAR-RELATED DISORDERS

Anxiety or Fear-Related Disorders are characterized by excessive fear and anxiety and related behavioural disturbances, with symptoms severe enough to result in significant distress or impairment in functioning. Fear and anxiety are closely related phenomena; fear represents a reaction to perceived imminent threat in the present, whereas anxiety is more future-oriented, referring to perceived anticipated threat. One of the major ways in which different Anxiety or Fear-Related Disorders are distinguished from one another is the focus of apprehension, that is, the stimuli or situations that trigger the fear or anxiety. The focus of apprehension may be highly specific as in Specific Phobia or relate to a broader class of situations as in Generalized Anxiety Disorder. The clinical presentation of Anxiety or Fear-Related Disorders typically includes specific associated cognitions that can assist in differentiating among the disorders by clarifying the focus of apprehension.

Anxiety or Fear-Related Disorders include the following:

- 6B00 Generalized Anxiety Disorder
- 6B01 Panic Disorder
- 6B02 Agoraphobia
- 6B03 Specific Phobia
- 6B04 Social Anxiety Disorder
- 6B05 Separation Anxiety Disorder
- 6B06 Selective Mutism
- 6B0Y Other Specified Anxiety or Fear-Related Disorders

General Cultural Considerations for Anxiety or Fear-Related Disorders

- For many cultural groups, somatic complaints rather than cognitive symptoms may predominate the clinical presentation.
- In some cultural contexts, symptoms of fear and anxiety may be described primarily in terms of external forces or factors (e.g., witchcraft, sorcery, malign magic or envy) and not as an internal experience or psychological state.

6B00 Generalized Anxiety Disorder

Essential (Required) Features:

- Marked symptoms of anxiety manifested by either:
 - General apprehensiveness that is not restricted to any particular environmental circumstance (i.e., 'free-floating anxiety'); or
 - Excessive worry (apprehensive expectation) about negative events occurring in several different aspects of everyday life (e.g., work, finances, health, family).
- Anxiety and general apprehensiveness or worry are accompanied by additional characteristic symptoms, such as:
 - Muscle tension or motor restlessness.
 - Sympathetic autonomic overactivity as evidenced by frequent gastrointestinal symptoms such as nausea and/or abdominal distress, heart palpitations, sweating, trembling, shaking, and/or dry mouth.
 - o Subjective experience of nervousness, restlessness, or being 'on edge'.
 - Difficulty concentrating.

- Irritability.
- Sleep disturbances (difficulty falling or staying asleep, or restless, unsatisfying sleep).
- The symptoms are not transient and persist for at least several months, for more days than not.
- The symptoms are not better accounted for by another mental disorder (e.g., a Depressive Disorder).
- The symptoms are not a manifestation of another medical condition (e.g., hyperthyroidism) and are not due to the effects of a substance or medication on the central nervous system (e.g., caffeine, cocaine), including withdrawal effects (e.g., alcohol, benzodiazepines).
- The symptoms result in significant distress about experiencing persistent anxiety symptoms or significant impairment in personal, family, social, educational, occupational, or other important areas of functioning. If functioning is maintained, it is only through significant additional effort.

Additional Clinical Features:

- Some individuals with Generalized Anxiety Disorder may only report general apprehensiveness accompanied by chronic somatic symptoms without being able to articulate specific worry content.
- Behavioural changes such as avoidance, frequent need for reassurance (especially in children), and procrastination may be seen. These behaviours typically represent an effort to reduce apprehension or prevent untoward events from occurring.

Boundary with Normality (Threshold):

• Anxiety and worry are normal emotional/cognitive states that commonly occur when people are under stress. At optimal levels, anxiety and worry may help to direct problemsolving efforts, focus attention adaptively, and increase alertness. Normal anxiety and worry are usually sufficiently self-regulated that they do not interfere with functioning or cause marked distress. In Generalized Anxiety Disorder, the anxiety or worry is excessive, persistent, and intense, and may have a significant negative impact on functioning. Individuals under extremely stressful circumstances (e.g., living in a war zone) may experience intense and impairing anxiety and worry that is appropriate to their environmental circumstances. These experiences should not be regarded as symptomatic of Generalized Anxiety Disorder if they occur only under such circumstances.

Course Features:

- Onset of Generalized Anxiety Disorder may occur at any age. However, the typical age of onset is during the early-to-mid 30s.
- Earlier onset of symptoms is associated with greater impairment of functioning and presence of co-occurring mental disorders.
- Severity of Generalized Anxiety Disorder symptoms often fluctuates between threshold and subthreshold forms of the disorder and full remission of symptoms is uncommon.
- Although the clinical features of Generalized Anxiety Disorder generally remain consistent across the lifespan, the content of the individual's worry may vary over time

and there are differences in worry content among different age groups. Children and adolescents tend to worry about the quality of academic and sports-related performance, whereas adults tend to worry more about their own well-being or that of their loved ones.

Developmental Presentations:

- Anxiety or Fear-Related Disorders are the most prevalent mental disorders of childhood and adolescence. Among these disorders, Generalized Anxiety Disorder is one of the most common in late childhood and adolescence.
- Occurrence of Generalized Anxiety Disorder increases across late childhood and adolescence with development of cognitive abilities that support the capacity for worry, which is a core feature of the disorder. As a result of their less developed cognitive abilities, Generalized Anxiety Disorder is uncommon in children younger than 5. Girls tend to have an earlier symptom onset than their same age male peers.
- While the Essential Features of Generalized Anxiety Disorder still apply to children and adolescents, specific manifestations of worry in children may include being overly concerned and compliant with rules as well as a strong desire to please others. Affected children may become upset when they perceive peers as acting out or being disobedient. Consequently, children and adolescents with Generalized Anxiety Disorder may be more likely to report excessively on their peers' misbehaviour or to act as an authority figure around peers, condemning misbehaviour. This may have a negative effect on affected individuals' interpersonal relationships.
- Children and adolescents with Generalized Anxiety Disorder may engage in excessive reassurance seeking from others, repeatedly asking questions, and may exhibit distress when faced with uncertainty. They may be overly perfectionistic, taking additional time to complete tasks, such as homework or classwork. Sensitivity to perceived criticism is common.
- When Generalized Anxiety Disorder does occur in children, somatic symptoms, particularly those related to sympathetic autonomic overactivity, may be prominent aspects of the clinical presentation. Common somatic symptoms in children with Generalized Anxiety Disorder include frequent headaches, abdominal pain, and gastrointestinal distress. Similar to adults, children and adolescents also experience sleep disturbances, including delayed sleep onset and night-time wakefulness.
- The number and content of worries typically manifests differently across childhood and adolescence. Younger children may endorse more concerns about their safety or their health or the health of others. Adolescents typically report a greater number of worries with content shifting to performance, perfectionism, and whether they will be able to meet the expectations of others.
- Adolescents with Generalized Anxiety Disorder may demonstrate excessive irritability and have an increased risk of co-occurring depressive symptoms.

Culture-Related Features:

- For many cultural groups, somatic complaints rather than excessive worry may predominate in the clinical presentation. These symptoms may involve a range of physical complaints not typically associated with Generalized Anxiety Disorder such as dizziness and heat in the head.
- Realistic worries may be misjudged as excessive without appropriate contextual information. For example, migrant workers may worry greatly about being deported, but

this may be related to actual deportation threats by their employer. On the other hand, evidence of worries across several different aspects of everyday life may be difficult to establish when an individual places emphasis on a single overwhelming source of worry (e.g., financial concerns).

• Worry content may vary by cultural group, related to topics that are salient in the milieu. For example, in societies where relationships with deceased relatives are important, worry may focus on their spiritual status in the afterlife. Worry in more individualistic cultures may emphasize personal achievement, fulfilment of expectations, or selfconfidence.

Sex- and/or Gender-Related Features:

- Lifetime prevalence of Generalized Anxiety Disorder is approximately twice as high among women.
- Although symptom presentation does not vary by gender including the common cooccurrence of Generalized Anxiety Disorder and Depressive Disorders, men are more likely to experience co-occurring Disorders due to Substance Use.

Boundaries with Other Disorders and Conditions (Differential Diagnosis):

- **Boundary with Panic Disorder:** Panic Disorder is characterized by recurrent, unexpected, self-limited episodes of intense fear or anxiety. Generalized Anxiety Disorder is differentiated by a more persistent and less circumscribed chronic feeling of apprehensiveness usually associated with worry about a variety of different everyday life events. Individuals with Generalized Anxiety Disorder may experience panic attacks that are triggered by specific worries. If an individual with Generalized Anxiety Disorder experiences panic attacks exclusively in the context of the worry about a variety of everyday life events or general apprehensiveness without the presence of unexpected panic attacks, an additional diagnosis of Panic Disorder is not warranted and the presence of panic attacks may be indicated using the 'with panic attacks' specifier. However, if unexpected panic attacks also occur, an additional diagnosis of Panic Disorder may be assigned.
- **Boundary with Social Anxiety Disorder:** In Social Anxiety Disorder, symptoms occur in response to feared social situations (e.g., speaking in public, initiating a conversation) and the primary focus of apprehension is being negatively evaluated by others. Individuals with Generalized Anxiety Disorder may worry about the implications of performing poorly or failing an examination but are not exclusively concerned about being negatively evaluated by others.
- **Boundary with Separation Anxiety Disorder:** Individuals with Generalized Anxiety Disorder may worry about the health and safety of attachment figures, as in Separation Anxiety Disorder, but their worry also extends to other aspects of everyday life.
- **Boundary with Depressive Disorders:** Generalized Anxiety Disorder and Depressive Disorders can share several features such as somatic symptoms of anxiety, difficulty with concentration, sleep disruption, and feelings of dread associated with pessimistic thoughts. Depressive Disorders are differentiated by the presence of low mood or loss of pleasure in previously enjoyable activities and other characteristic symptoms of Depressive Disorders (e.g., appetite changes, feelings of worthlessness, suicidal ideation). Generalized Anxiety Disorder may co-occur with Depressive Disorders, but should only be diagnosed if the diagnostic requirements for Generalized Anxiety

Disorder were met prior to the onset of or following complete remission of a Depressive Episode.

- **Boundary with Adjustment Disorder:** Adjustment Disorder involves maladaptive reactions to an identifiable psychosocial stressor or multiple stressors characterized by preoccupation with the stressor or its consequences. Reactions may include excessive worry, recurrent and distressing thoughts about the stressor, or constant rumination about its implications. Adjustment Disorder centres on the identifiable stressor or its consequences, whereas in Generalized Anxiety Disorder, worry typically encompasses multiple areas of daily life and may include hypothetical concerns (e.g., that a negative life event may occur). Unlike individuals with Generalized Anxiety Disorder, those with Adjustment Disorder typically have normal functioning prior to the onset of the stressor(s). Symptoms of Adjustment Disorder generally resolve within 6 months.
- **Boundary with Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder:** In Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder, the focus of apprehension is on intrusive and unwanted thoughts, urges, or images (obsessions), whereas in Generalized Anxiety Disorder the focus is on everyday life events. In contrast to obsessions in Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder, which are usually experienced as unwanted and intrusive, individuals with Generalized Anxiety Disorder may experience their worry as a helpful strategy in averting negative outcomes.
- **Boundary with Hypochondriasis (Health Anxiety Disorder) and Bodily Distress Disorder:** In Hypochondriasis and Bodily Distress Disorder, individuals worry about real or perceived physical symptoms and their potential significance to their health status. Individuals with Generalized Anxiety Disorder experience somatic symptoms associated with anxiety and may worry about their health but their worry extends to other aspects of everyday life.
- **Boundary with Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder:** Individuals with Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder develop hypervigilance as a consequence of exposure to the traumatic stressor and may become apprehensive that they or others close to them may be under immediate threat either in specific situations or more generally. Individuals with Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder may also experience anxiety triggered by reminders of the traumatic event (e.g., fear and avoidance of a place where an individual was assaulted). In contrast, the anxiety and worry in individuals with Generalized Anxiety Disorder is directed toward the possibility of untoward events in a variety of life domains (e.g., health, finances, work).

6B01 Panic Disorder

Essential (Required) Features:

- Recurrent panic attacks, which are discrete episodes of intense fear or apprehension characterized by the rapid and concurrent onset of several characteristic symptoms. These symptoms may include, but are not limited to, the following:
 - Palpitations or increased heart rate
 - o Sweating
 - Trembling
 - Sensations of shortness of breath
 - Feelings of choking
 - Chest pain
 - o Nausea or abdominal distress
 - Feelings of dizziness or light-headedness

- Chills or hot flushes
- Tingling or lack of sensation in extremities (i.e., paraesthesias)
- Depersonalization or derealization
- Fear of losing control or going mad
- Fear of imminent death
- At least some of the panic attacks are unexpected, that is they are not restricted to particular stimuli or situations but rather seem to arise 'out of the blue'.
- Panic attacks are followed by persistent concern or worry (e.g., for several weeks) about their recurrence or their perceived negative significance (e.g., that the physiological symptoms may be those of a myocardial infarction), or behaviours intended to avoid their recurrence (e.g., only leaving the home with a trusted companion).
- Panic attacks are not limited to anxiety-provoking situations in the context of another mental disorder.
- The symptoms are not a manifestation of another medical condition (e.g., pheochromocytoma) and are not due to the direct effects of a substance or medication on the central nervous system (e.g., coffee, cocaine), including withdrawal effects (e.g., alcohol, benzodiazepines).
- The symptoms result in significant impairment in personal, family, social, educational, occupational, or other important areas of functioning. If functioning is maintained, it is only through significant additional effort.

Note: Panic attacks can occur in other *Anxiety or Fear-Related Disorders* as well as other mental disorders and therefore the presence of panic attacks is not in itself sufficient to assign a diagnosis of Panic Disorder.

Additional Clinical Features:

- Individual panic attacks usually only last for minutes, though some may last longer. The frequency and severity of panic attacks varies widely (e.g., many times a day to a few per month) within and across individuals.
- In Panic Disorder, it is common for panic attacks to become more 'expected' over time as they become associated with particular stimuli or contexts, which may originally have been coincidental. (For example, an individual who has an unexpected panic attack when crossing a bridge may subsequently become anxious when crossing bridges, which could then lead to 'expected' panic attacks in response to bridges.)
- Limited-symptom attacks (i.e., attacks that are similar to panic attacks, except that they are accompanied by only a few symptoms characteristic of a panic attack without the characteristic intense peak of symptoms) are common in individuals with Panic Disorder, particularly as behavioural strategies (e.g., avoidance) are used to curtail anxiety symptoms. However, in order to qualify for a diagnosis of Panic Disorder, there must be a history of recurrent panic attacks that meet the full diagnostic requirements.
- Some individuals with Panic Disorder experience nocturnal panic attacks, that is, waking from sleep in a state of panic.
- Although the pattern of symptoms (e.g., mainly respiratory, nocturnal, etc.), the severity of the anxiety, and the extent of avoidance behaviours are variable, Panic Disorder is one of the most impairing of the Anxiety Disorders. Individuals often present repeatedly for emergency care and may undergo a range of unnecessary and costly special medical investigations despite repeated negative findings.

Boundary with Normality (Threshold):

- Panic attacks are common in the general population, particularly in response to anxietyprovoking life events. Panic attacks in response to real threats to an individual's physical or psychological integrity are considered part of the normative continuum of reactions, and a diagnosis is not warranted in such cases. Panic Disorder is differentiated from normal fear reactions by: frequent recurrence of panic attacks; persistent worry or concern about the panic attacks or their meaning or alterations in behaviour (e.g., avoidance); and associated significant impairment in functioning.
- The sudden onset, rapid peaking, unexpected nature, and intense severity of panic attacks differentiate them from normal situationally-bound anxiety that may be experienced in everyday life (e.g., during stressful life transitions such as moving to a new city).

Course Features:

- Onset of Panic Disorder typically occurs during the early 20s.
- Some individuals experience episodic symptom outbreaks with long periods of remission, while others experience persistent, severe symptoms.
- The presence of co-occurring disorders (e.g., other Anxiety or Fear-Related Disorders, Depressive Disorders, and Disorders Due to Substance Use) has been associated with poorer long-term course trajectory.
- A co-occurring diagnosis of Agoraphobia is generally associated with greater symptom severity and poorer long-term prognosis.

Developmental Presentations:

- Although some children report physical symptoms of panic attacks, Panic Disorder is very rare in younger children because cognitive capacity for catastrophizing about the significance of symptoms is not yet fully developed. The prevalence of Panic Disorder increases across adolescence and early adulthood.
- Adolescents with Panic Disorder are at greater risk for a co-occurring Depressive Disorder including suicidality as well as for Disorders Due to Substance Use.

Culture-Related Features;

- The symptom presentation of panic attacks may vary across cultures, influenced by cultural attributions about their aetiology. For example, individuals of Cambodian origin may emphasize panic symptoms attributed to dysregulation of *khyâl*, a wind-like substance in traditional Cambodian ethnophysiology (e.g., dizziness, tinnitus, neck soreness).
- There are several notable cultural concepts of distress related to panic disorder, which link panic, fear, or anxiety to etiological attributions regarding specific social and environmental influences. Examples include attributions related to interpersonal conflict (e.g., *ataque de nervios* among Latin American people), exertion or orthostasis (*khyâl cap* among Cambodians), and atmospheric wind (*trúng gió* among Vietnamese individuals). These cultural labels may be applied to symptom presentations other than panic (e.g., anger paroxysms, in the case of *ataque de nervios*) but they often constitute panic episodes or presentations with partial phenomenological overlap with panic attacks.

• Clarifying cultural attributions and the context of the experience of symptoms can inform whether panic attacks should be considered unexpected, as must be the case in Panic Disorder. For example, panic attacks may involve specific foci of apprehension that are better accounted for by another disorder (e.g., social situations in Social Anxiety Disorder). Moreover, the cultural linkage of the apprehension focus with specific exposures (e.g., wind or cold and *trúng gió* panic attacks) may suggest that acute anxiety is expected when considered within the individual's cultural framework.

Sex- and/or Gender-Related Features:

- Panic Disorder is twice as common in females than in males, with gender differences in prevalence rates beginning during puberty.
- Gender differences in clinical features or symptom presentation have not been observed.

Boundaries with Other Disorders and Conditions (Differential Diagnosis):

- **Boundary with Generalized Anxiety Disorder:** Some individuals with Panic Disorder may experience anxiety and worry between panic attacks. If the focus of the anxiety and worry is confined to fear of having a panic attack or the possible implications of panic attacks (e.g., that the individual may be suffering from a cardiovascular illness), an additional diagnosis of Generalized Anxiety Disorder is not warranted. If, however, the individual is more generally anxious about a number of life events in addition to experiencing unexpected panic attacks, an additional diagnosis of Generalized Anxiety Disorder may be appropriate.
- **Boundary with Agoraphobia:** The perceived unpredictability of panic attacks often reflects the early phase of the disorder. However, over time, with the recurrence of panic attacks in specific situations, individuals often develop anticipatory anxiety about having panic attacks in those situations or may experience panic attacks triggered by exposure to them. In particular, it is common for individuals to develop some degree of agoraphobic symptoms over time in the context of Panic Disorder. If the individual develops fears that panic attacks or other incapacitating or embarrassing symptoms will occur in multiple situations, and as a result actively avoids these situations, requires the presence of a companion, or endures them only with intense fear or anxiety and all other diagnostic requirements for Agoraphobia are met, an additional diagnosis of Agoraphobia may be assigned.
- **Boundary with Depressive Disorders:** Panic attacks can occur in Depressive Disorders, particularly in those with Prominent Anxiety Symptoms, including Mixed Depressive and Anxiety Disorder, and may be triggered by depressive ruminations. If unexpected panic attacks occur in the context of these disorders and the main concern is about recurrence of panic attacks or the significance of panic symptoms, an additional diagnosis of Panic Disorder may be appropriate.
- **Boundary with Hypochondriasis (Health Anxiety Disorder):** Individuals with Hypochondriasis often misinterpret bodily symptoms as evidence that they may have one or more life-threatening illnesses. Although individuals with Panic Disorder may also manifest concerns that physical manifestations of anxiety are indicative of life-threatening illnesses (e.g., myocardial infarction), these symptoms typically occur in the midst of a panic attack. Individuals with Panic Disorder are more concerned about the recurrence of panic attacks or the significance of panic symptoms, are less likely to report somatic concerns attributable to bodily symptoms other than those associated with anxiety, and are less likely to engage in repetitive and excessive health-related

behaviours. However, panic attacks can occur in Hypochondriasis and if they are exclusively associated with fears of having a life-threatening illness, an additional diagnosis of Panic Disorder is not warranted. In this situation, the 'with panic attacks' specifier can be applied to the diagnosis of Hypochondriasis. If there are persistent and repetitive panic attacks in the context of Hypochondriasis that are unexpected in the sense that they are not in response to illness-related concerns, both diagnoses should be assigned.

- **Boundary with Oppositional Defiant Disorder:** Irritability, anger, and noncompliance are sometimes associated with Panic Disorder in children and adolescents. For example, children may exhibit angry outbursts when presented with a task or situations that make them feel anxious (e.g., being asked to leave the home without a trusted companion such as a parent or caregiver). If the defiant behaviours only occur when triggered by a situation or stimulus that elicits anxiety, fear, or panic, a diagnosis of Oppositional Defiant Disorder is generally not appropriate.
- *Boundary with other Mental, Behavioural or Neurodevelopmental Disorders:* Panic attacks can occur in the context of a variety of other mental disorders, particularly other Anxiety or Fear-Related Disorders, Disorders Specifically Associated with Stress, and Obsessive-Compulsive or Related Disorders. When panic attacks occur in the context of these disorders, they are generally part of an intense anxiety response to a distressing internal or external stimulus that represents a focus of apprehension in that disorder (e.g., a particular object or situation in Specific Phobia, fear of negative social evaluation in Social Anxiety Disorder, fear of being contaminated by germs in Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder, fear of having a serious illness in Hypochondriasis, reminders of a traumatic event in Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder). If panic attacks are limited to such situations in the context of another disorder, a separate diagnosis of Panic Disorder is not warranted. If some panic attacks over the course of the disorder have been unexpected and not exclusively in response to stimuli associated with the focus of apprehension related to another disorder, an additional diagnosis of Panic Disorder may be assigned.

6B02 Agoraphobia

Essential (Required) Features:

- Marked and excessive fear or anxiety that occurs in, or in anticipation of, multiple situations where escape might be difficult or help might not be available, such as using public transportation, being in crowds, being outside the home alone, in shops, theatres, or standing in line.
- The individual is consistently fearful or anxious about these situations due to a fear of specific negative outcomes such as panic attacks, symptoms of panic, or other incapacitating (e.g., falling) or embarrassing physical symptoms (e.g., incontinence).
- The situations are actively avoided, are entered only under specific circumstances (e.g., in the presence of a companion), or else are endured with intense fear or anxiety.
- The symptoms are not transient, that is, they persist for an extended period of time (e.g., at least several months).
- The symptoms are not better accounted for by another mental disorder (e.g., paranoid ideation in Delusional Disorder; social withdrawal in Depressive Disorders).
- The symptoms result in significant distress about experiencing persistent anxiety symptoms or significant impairment in personal, family, social, educational,

occupational, or other important areas of functioning. If functioning is maintained, it is only through significant additional effort.

Additional Clinical Features:

- The experiences feared by individuals with Agoraphobia may include symptoms of a panic attack as described in Panic Disorder (e.g., palpitations or increased heart rate, chest pain, feelings of dizziness or light-headedness) or other symptoms that may be incapacitating, frightening, difficult to manage, or embarrassing (e.g., incontinence, changes in vision, vomiting). It is often important to establish quite specifically the nature of the feared outcome in Agoraphobia, as this may inform the specific choice of treatment strategies.
- It is common for individuals with Agoraphobia to have a history of panic attacks, although they may not currently meet the diagnostic requirements for Panic Disorder or indeed have panic attacks at all because they avoid situations in which panic attacks may occur. Establishing that an individual's focus of apprehension relates specifically to experiencing the bodily symptoms of a panic attack would be important in considering whether to add components of Panic Disorder treatment (e.g., interoceptive exposure) to the treatment of Agoraphobia, even when there is no current Panic Disorder diagnosis.
- Individuals with Agoraphobia may employ a variety of different behavioural strategies if required to enter feared situations. One such 'safety' behaviour is to require the presence of a companion. Other strategies may include going to certain places only at particular times of day or carrying specific materials (e.g., medications, towels) in case of the feared negative outcome. These strategies may change over the course of the disorder and from one occasion to the next. For example, on different occasions in the same situation an individual may insist on having a companion, endure the situation with distress, or use various safety behaviours to cope with their anxiety.
- Although the pattern of symptoms, the severity of the anxiety, and the extent of avoidance are variable, Agoraphobia is one of the most impairing of the Anxiety or Fear-Related Disorders to the extent that some individuals become completely housebound, which has an impact on opportunities for employment, seeking medical care, and the ability to form and maintain relationships.

Boundary with Normality (Threshold):

- Individuals may exhibit transient avoidance behaviours in the context of normal development or in periods of increased stress. These behaviours are differentiated from Agoraphobia because they are limited in duration and do not lead to significant impact on functioning.
- Individuals with disabilities or medical conditions may avoid certain situations because of reasonable concerns about being incapacitated or embarrassed (e.g., a person with a mobility limitation who is concerned that an unfamiliar location won't be accessible, a person with Crohn's disease who is concerned about experiencing sudden diarrhoea). Agoraphobia should only be diagnosed if the anxiety and avoidance result in functional impairment that is greater than expected given the disability or heath condition.

Course Features:

• The typical age of onset for Agoraphobia is in late adolescence, with the majority of individuals experiencing onset before age 35 years. However, age of onset is later

(during the mid to late 20s) for individuals without a history of panic attacks or preexisting diagnosis of Panic Disorder. Onset during childhood is considered rare.

- Agoraphobia is generally considered a chronic and persistent condition. The long-term course and outcome of Agoraphobia is associated with increased risk of developing Depressive Disorders, Dysthymic Disorder, and Disorders Due to Substance Use.
- Greater symptom severity (e.g., avoidance of most activities, being housebound) is associated with higher rates of relapse and chronicity, and poorer long-term prognosis.
- The presence of co-occurring disorders, particularly other Anxiety or Fear-Related Disorder, Depressive Disorders, Personality Disorder, and Disorders due to Substance Use has been associated with poorer long-term prognosis.

Developmental Presentations:

- Although the clinical features of Agoraphobia generally remain consistent across the lifespan, specific triggers and related cognitions can vary across age groups. For example, whereas fear of being outside of the home alone or becoming lost are common during childhood, adults are more likely to fear standing in line, being in crowded or open spaces, or experiencing a panic attack. Among older adults, fear of falling is common.
- Similar to adults, children and adolescents with Agoraphobia may demonstrate excessive avoidance of certain situations or locations, or require the presence of a close friend or family member to enter these situations. Children with Agoraphobia are likely to resist leaving the home without a parent or caregiver. A common focus of apprehension is becoming lost and not being able to obtain help. Soliciting information from collateral informants who know the child well can assist in clarifying the child's focus of apprehension.

Culture-Related Features:

• Assessment of Agoraphobia should incorporate information on cultural and gender norms. For example, fear of leaving the home among populations and contexts in which violence is common should not be assigned this diagnosis unless the fear is in excess of what is culturally normative. Likewise, for individuals in cultures who spend most of their time at home, anxiety when in open areas (e.g., markets) may be expected; the disorder should only be diagnosed when the fear exceeds cultural norms.

Sex- and/or Gender-Related Features:

- Lifetime prevalence of Agoraphobia is approximately twice as high in women. Among children, it is more frequently reported in girls, with symptom onset occurring earlier for girls than boys.
- Men with Agoraphobia are more likely to report co-occurring Disorders due to Substance Use.

Boundaries with Other Disorders and Conditions (Differential Diagnosis):

• **Boundary with Panic Disorder:** It is common for individuals with Panic Disorder to develop some degree of agoraphobic symptoms over time. If the individual experiences recurrent unexpected panic attacks that are not restricted to particular stimuli or

situations, and agoraphobic symptoms do not meet the full diagnostic requirements for Agoraphobia, then Panic Disorder is the appropriate diagnosis. Conversely, many individuals with Agoraphobia have experienced recurrent panic attacks. If an individual with Agoraphobia experiences panic attacks exclusively in the context of the multiple agoraphobic situations without the presence of unexpected panic attacks, an additional diagnosis of Panic Disorder is not warranted and the presence of panic attacks may be indicated using the 'with panic attacks' specifier. However, if unexpected panic attacks also occur, an additional diagnosis of Panic Disorder may be assigned.

- **Boundary with Specific Phobia:** Specific Phobia is differentiated from Agoraphobia because it involves fear of circumscribed situations or stimuli themselves (e.g., heights, animals, blood or injury) rather than fear or anxiety of imminent perceived dangerous outcomes (e.g., panic attacks, symptoms of panic, incapacitation, or embarrassing physical symptoms) that are anticipated to occur in multiple situations where obtaining help or escaping might be difficult.
- **Boundary with Social Anxiety Disorder:** In Social Anxiety Disorder, symptoms in response to feared social situations (e.g., speaking in public, initiating a conversation) and the primary focus of apprehension is on being negatively evaluated by others.
- **Boundary with Separation Anxiety Disorder:** Similar to Agoraphobia, individuals with Separation Anxiety Disorder avoid situations but, in contrast, they do so to prevent or limit being away from individuals to whom they are attached (e.g., parent, spouse, or child) for fear of losing them.
- **Boundary with Schizophrenia or Other Primary Psychotic Disorders:** Individuals with Schizophrenia or Other Primary Psychotic Disorders may avoid situations as a consequence of persecutory or paranoid delusions rather than because of fear or anxiety of imminent perceived dangerous outcomes (e.g., panic attacks, symptoms of panic, incapacitation, or embarrassing physical symptoms) that are anticipated to occur in multiple situations where obtaining help or escaping might be difficult.
- **Boundary with Depressive Disorders:** In Depressive Disorders, individuals may avoid multiple situations but do so because of loss of interest in previously pleasurable activities or due to lack of energy rather than because of fear or anxiety of imminent perceived dangerous outcomes (e.g., panic attacks, symptoms of panic, incapacitation, or embarrassing physical symptoms) that are anticipated to occur in multiple situations where obtaining help or escaping might be difficult.
- **Boundary with Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder:** In Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder, the individual deliberately avoids reminders likely to produce re-experiencing of the traumatic event(s). In contrast, situations are avoided in Agoraphobia because of fear or anxiety of imminent perceived dangerous outcomes (e.g., panic attacks, symptoms of panic, incapacitation, or embarrassing physical symptoms) that are anticipated to occur in multiple situations where obtaining help or escaping might be difficult.
- **Boundary with Oppositional Defiant Disorder:** Irritability, anger, and noncompliance are sometimes associated with anxiety in children and adolescents. For example, children may exhibit angry outbursts when asked to enter situations that make them feel anxious (e.g., being asked to leave the home without a trusted companion such as a parent or caregiver). If the defiant behaviours only occur when triggered by a situation or stimulus that elicits anxiety, fear, or panic, a diagnosis of Oppositional Defiant Disorder is generally not appropriate.

6B03 Specific Phobia

Essential (Required) Features:

- Marked and excessive fear or anxiety that consistently occurs upon exposure or anticipation of exposure to one or more specific objects or situations (e.g., proximity to certain kinds of animals, heights, enclosed spaces, sight of blood or injury) that is out of proportion to the actual danger posed by the specific object or situation.
- The phobic object or situation is actively avoided or else endured with intense fear or anxiety.
- A pattern of fear, anxiety, or avoidance related to specific objects or situations is not transient, that is, it persists for an extended period of time (e.g., at least several months).
- The symptoms are not better accounted for by another mental disorder (e.g., Social Anxiety Disorder, a primary psychotic disorder).
- The symptoms result in significant distress about experiencing persistent anxiety symptoms or significant impairment in personal, family, social, educational, occupational, or other important areas of functioning. If functioning is maintained, it is only through significant additional effort.

Additional Clinical Features:

- Specific Phobia encompasses fears of a broad and heterogeneous group of phobic stimuli. The most common are for particular animals (animal phobia), heights (acrophobia), enclosed spaces (claustrophobia), sight of blood or injury (blood-injury phobia), flying, driving, storms, darkness, and medical/dental procedures. Individuals' reactions to phobic stimuli can range from feelings of disgust and revulsion (often occurring in animal phobias or blood-injury phobia), anticipation of danger or harm (common across most types of Specific phobia), and physical symptoms such as fainting (most common in response to blood or injury).
- The majority of individuals diagnosed with Specific Phobia report fear of multiple objects or situations. A single diagnosis of Specific Phobia is assigned regardless of the number of feared objects or situations. Unlike most phobic stimuli, which upon presentation or anticipation typically result in significant physiological arousal, individuals who fear the sight of blood, invasive medical procedures, or injury, may experience a vasovagal response that can result in a fainting spell.
- Some individuals with Specific Phobia may report a history of having observed another person (e.g., caregiver) react with fear or anxiety when confronted by an object or situation, resulting in vicarious learning of a fear response to the object or situation. Others may have had direct negative experience with an object or situation (e.g., having been bitten by a dog). However, previous negative experiences (direct or vicarious) are not necessary for the development of the disorder.
- Some individuals report that their fear or anxiety for an object or situation is not excessive. As such, clinicians must consider whether the reported fear, anxiety, or avoidance behaviour is disproportionate to the reasonable risk of harm, taking into consideration both accepted cultural norms as well as the specific environmental conditions that the individual is normally subjected to (e.g., fear of darkness may be justified in a neighbourhood where assaults are common at night).

Boundary with Normality (Threshold):

281

• In children and adolescents, some fears may be part of normal development (e.g., a young child who is afraid of dogs). Specific Phobia should only be diagnosed if the fear or anxiety is excessive in comparison to that of other individuals at a similar developmental level.

Course Features:

- Onset of Specific Phobia can occur at any age; however, initial onset is most common during early childhood (between 7 and 10 years of age) typically as a result of witnessing or experiencing a fear-provoking situation or event (e.g., choking, being attacked by an animal, witnessing someone drown).
- Younger age of onset has been associated with phobias related to animal and natural phenomena (fear of still water/weather, closed spaces); whereas, fear of flying- and height-related phobias generally have an older age of onset.
- Younger age of onset is also associated with an increased number of feared situations or stimuli.
- Individuals with Specific Phobia report high lifetime rates of co-occurring disorders, particularly, Depressive Disorders and other Anxiety or Fear-Related Disorders. In the majority of cases, Specific Phobia precedes the onset of other mental disorders.
- Specific phobias that persist from childhood into adolescence and adulthood rarely remit spontaneously.

Developmental Presentations:

- Anxiety or Fear-Related Disorders are the most prevalent mental disorders of childhood and adolescence. Among these conditions, Specific Phobia is one of the most common in young children, and may present in children as young as 3 years of age.
- In children, the diagnosis of Specific Phobia should not be assigned when the fears are developmentally normative (e.g., fear of the dark in young children).
- In preschool age children, phobic responses may include freezing, tantrums, or crying. Duration, frequency, and intensity of these reactions may be used to distinguish between age-typical fears and anxiety responses in Specific Phobia.
- Specific Phobias related to tangible objects (e.g., animals) are more common in younger children whereas those relating to possible harm to oneself or others (e.g., environmental, blood/injection) are more common in adolescents and adults.
- Similar to adults, excessive avoidance is seen in both children and adolescents, and may be driven by both the actual presence of the phobic stimuli, or anticipatory anxiety (e.g., refusing to go outside because of the possible presence of bees).

Culture-Related Features:

- Culture may play a role in shaping the fear response to specific stimuli. A diagnosis of Specific Phobia should not be assigned if a stimulus is feared by most people in a cultural group, unless the fear exceeds cultural norms. For example, people from some cultural groups may avoid walking at night in certain areas where they fear ghosts or spirits may be present.
- The salience of specific feared stimuli may differ by cultural group and environmental context. Common threats in the environment (e.g., poisonous snakes) may account for some of the cultural variation in feared stimuli.

Sex- and/or Gender-Related Features:

- Lifetime prevalence of Specific Phobia is approximately twice as high in females.
- Whereas males and females are equally likely to experience phobias related to blood, injection, and injury, situationally specific phobias and those related to animals and natural environments are more common among females.

Boundaries with Other Disorders and Conditions (Differential Diagnosis):

- **Boundary with Panic Disorder:** If an individual with Specific Phobia experiences panic attacks exclusively in the context of actual or anticipated encounters with the specific object or situation that represents the focus of apprehension, an additional diagnosis of Panic Disorder is not warranted and the presence of panic attacks may be indicated using the 'with panic attacks' specifier. However, if unexpected panic attacks also occur, an additional diagnosis of Panic Disorder may be assigned.
- **Boundary with Agoraphobia:** Specific Phobia is differentiated from Agoraphobia because it involves fear of circumscribed situations or stimuli (e.g., heights, animals, blood-injury) rather than because of fear or anxiety of imminent perceived dangerous outcomes (e.g., panic attacks, symptoms of panic, incapacitation, or embarrassing physical symptoms) that are anticipated to occur in multiple situations where obtaining help or escaping might be difficult.
- **Boundary with Social Anxiety Disorder:** In Social Anxiety Disorder, the fear and avoidance is triggered by social situations (e.g., speaking in public, initiating a conversation) and the primary focus of apprehension is about being negatively evaluated by others, whereas in Specific Phobia, the fear and avoidance is in response to other specific objects or situations.
- **Boundary with Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder:** In Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder, individuals may avoid specific stimuli or situations related to obsessions or compulsions (e.g., avoiding 'contaminated' situations in someone with a hand-washing compulsion) whereas in Specific Phobia, objects or situations are avoided because of fear associated with them and not because of obsessions or compulsions.
- **Boundary with Hypochondriasis (Health Anxiety Disorder):** In Hypochondriasis, individuals may avoid medical consultations or hospitals because of a fear that it will exacerbate their preoccupation with having a serious disease. In contrast, in Specific Phobia the fear and avoidance are related to the specific object or situation itself.
- **Boundary with Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder and Complex Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder:** Both Specific Phobia and Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder involve avoidance of stimuli that cause anxiety, and both may arise following exposure to a traumatic event. Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder can be differentiated from Specific Phobia by the presence of the other core symptoms of Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder (i.e., reexperiencing the trauma and persistent perceptions of heightened current threat). They are further differentiated by the fact that, unlike Specific Phobia in which the memories of the related traumatic event are experienced as belonging to the past, in Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder and Complex Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder, the traumatic event is experienced as if it were occurring again in the here and now (i.e., re-experiencing).
- **Boundary with Feeding or Eating Disorders:** Individuals with Feeding or Eating Disorders exhibit abnormal eating behaviour and/or preoccupation with food as well as prominent body weight or shape concerns and may avoid food because they fear it will

lead to weight gain or because of its specific sensory qualities. In some Specific Phobias, individuals may avoid eating or food stimuli, but the avoidance is related to the anticipated direct effect of the phobic stimulus (e.g., eating may lead to choking or vomiting) rather than because of the caloric content or sensory qualities of the food itself.

• **Boundary with Oppositional Defiant Disorder:** Irritability, anger, and noncompliance are sometimes associated with anxiety in children and adolescents. For example, children may exhibit angry outbursts when asked to interact with a stimulus or enter situations that make them feel anxious (e.g., asking a child who fears dogs to go to the park where there might be dogs present). If the defiant behaviours only occur when triggered by a situation or stimulus that elicits anxiety, fear, or panic, a diagnosis of Oppositional Defiant Disorder is generally not appropriate.

6B04 Social Anxiety Disorder

Essential (Required) Features:

- Marked and excessive fear or anxiety that occurs consistently in one or more social situations such as social interactions (e.g., having a conversation), doing something while feeling observed (e.g., eating or drinking in the presence of others), or performing in front of others (e.g., giving a speech).
- The individual is concerned that he or she will act in a way, or show anxiety symptoms, that will be negatively evaluated by others (i.e., be humiliating, embarrassing, lead to rejection, or be offensive).
- Relevant social situations are consistently avoided or endured with intense fear or anxiety.
- The symptoms are not transient; that is, they persist for an extended period of time (e.g., at least several months).
- The symptoms are not better accounted for by another mental disorder (e.g., Agoraphobia, Body Dysmorphic Disorder, Olfactory Reference Disorder).
- The symptoms result in significant distress about experiencing persistent anxiety symptoms or significant impairment in personal, family, social, educational, occupational, or other important areas of functioning. If functioning is maintained, it is only through significant additional effort.

Additional Clinical Features:

- Individuals with Social Anxiety Disorder may report concerns about physical symptoms, such as blushing, sweating, or trembling rather than initially endorsing fears of negative evaluation.
- Social Anxiety Disorder frequently co-occurs with other Anxiety or Fear-Related Disorders as well as Depressive Disorders.
- Individuals with Social Anxiety Disorder are at higher risk for developing Disorders due to Substance Use, which may arise subsequent to use for the purposes of attenuating anxiety symptoms in social situations.
- Individuals with Social Anxiety Disorder may not view their fear or anxiety in response to social situations as excessive. As such, clinical judgment should be applied to determine whether the reported fear, anxiety, or avoidance behaviour is disproportionate

to what the social situation warrants, taking into consideration both accepted cultural norms and the specific environmental circumstances to which that the individual is subjected (e.g., fear of interacting with peers may be appropriate if the individual is being bullied).

Boundary with Normality (Threshold):

- Social Anxiety Disorder can be differentiated from normal developmental fears (e.g., a child's reluctance to interact with unfamiliar people in novel situations) by fear and anxiety reactions that are typically excessive, interfere with functioning, and persist over time (e.g., lasting more than several months).
- Many individuals experience fear in social situations (e.g., it is common for individuals to experience anxiety about speaking in public) or manifest the normal personality trait of shyness. Social Anxiety Disorder should only be considered in cases in which the individual reports social fear, anxiety, and avoidance that are clearly in excess of what is normative for the specific cultural context and result in significant distress or impairment.

Course Features:

- Although onset of Social Anxiety Disorder can occur during early childhood, onset typically occurs during childhood and adolescence, with a large majority of cases emerging between 8 and 15 years of age.
- Onset of Social Anxiety Disorder can be gradual or occur precipitously subsequent to a stressful or humiliating social experience.
- Social Anxiety Disorder is generally considered to be a chronic condition; however, later age of onset, less severe level of impairment, and absence of co-occurring disorders have been associated with spontaneous remission among individuals in the community.
- High rates of co-occurring mental disorders make it difficult to distinguish long-term prognosis attributable specifically to Social Anxiety Disorder. Poorer long-term prognosis has been associated with greater symptom severity, and co-occurring Disorders due to Use of Alcohol, Personality Disorder, Generalized Anxiety Disorder, Panic Disorder, and Agoraphobia.
- Remission rates for Social Anxiety Disorder vary widely with some individuals experiencing spontaneous remission of symptoms.

Developmental Presentations:

- Social Anxiety Disorder is less common in young children under the age of 10, with occurrence of the disorder increasing significantly during adolescence.
- In children, the diagnosis of Social Anxiety Disorder should not be used to describe developmentally normative stranger anxiety or shyness.
- Social Anxiety Disorder is associated with the temperamental trait of behavioural inhibition, that is, the tendency for some individuals to experience novel situations as distressing and to withdraw from or avoid unfamiliar contexts or people. Behaviourally inhibited children are 'slow to warm up' to new people and new situations. Behavioural inhibition is considered to be a normal variation in temperament, but is also a risk factor for the development of Social Anxiety Disorder.

- Similar to adults, children and adolescents may employ subtle avoidance strategies during social situations to manage their anxiety, including limiting speech or making poor eye contact with others. Children and adolescents with Social Anxiety Disorder may also evidence social skills deficits, such as difficulty with starting or maintaining conversations or asserting their wishes or opinions.
- Social Anxiety Disorder symptoms may only become evident with the start of school, with the onset of demands to interact socially with unfamiliar peers and teachers. The manifestations of Social Anxiety Disorder may also vary across age groups, with younger children more likely to exhibit social anxiety primarily with adults, and adolescents more likely to experience increased social anxiety with peers. There are also individual differences with respect to the degree of social anxiety experienced when interacting with members of the same or opposite sex. Soliciting information from collateral informants who know the child well about how they react in various situations and contexts can assist in making the diagnosis.
- Social Anxiety Disorder symptoms may become more evident with age as social demands exceed individuals' capabilities to cope with and manage their anxiety. Adolescents may exhibit various associated difficulties, including social withdrawal, school refusal, and reluctance to assert their needs. Some adolescents may participate in social situations for fear of the consequences to their social status if they do not, but do so with significant distress.

Culture-Related Features:

- Identification of Social Anxiety Disorder may depend on assessment of social situations relevant for the cultural group (e.g., being expected to dance in public among some Latin American cultures) that may be associated with excessive anxiety and whether the degree of anxiety is outside the cultural norms for the individual. To avoid stereotyping, individuals should be asked openly about social situations associated with excessive anxiety.
- Anxiety and avoidance of certain social situations may be considered normative in some cultural groups (e.g., public speaking or voicing dissent in some Asian cultures) and therefore may not indicate a disorder unless this fear or anxiety is out of proportion to the actual danger posed by the social situation when considering the sociocultural context.
- There are cultural concepts of distress that are related to Social Anxiety Disorder. For example, among Japanese *taijin kyofusho*, and related conditions among Koreans, may represent a form of Social Anxiety Disorder associated with the fear that others will be offended by one's own inappropriate social behaviour (e.g., inappropriate gaze or facial expression, blushing, body odour, loud bowel sounds). Other presentations of *taijin kyofusho* may be better captured by a diagnosis of Delusional Disorder, Body Dysmorphic Disorder, or Olfactory Reference Disorder.
- Prevalence rates of Social Anxiety Disorder may not follow self-reported social anxiety levels in the same culture; that is, societies with strong collectivistic orientations may report high levels of social anxiety but lower prevalence of Social Anxiety Disorder. This may be due to higher tolerance for socially reticent and withdrawn behaviours, resulting in better psychosocial functioning, or to lower recognition of Social Anxiety Disorder.

Sex- and/or Gender-Related Features:

- Whereas prevalence rates for Social Anxiety Disorder are higher for women in community samples, gender differences are not observed in clinical samples. The disparity in prevalence across settings has been attributed to gender role expectations such that men experiencing greater severity of symptoms are more willing to seek professional services.
- Women report greater symptom severity and a greater variety of social fears, whereas men are more likely to fear dating and urinating in public.
- Co-occurring Depressive, Bipolar, and Anxiety or Fear-Related Disorders are more common among women; whereas, men are more likely to experience co-occurring Oppositional Defiant Disorder, Conduct-Dissocial Disorder, and Disorders Due to Substance Use.
- The use of alcohol and illicit drugs to relieve symptoms of Social Anxiety Disorder is common among men.

Boundaries with Other Disorders and Conditions (Differential Diagnosis):

- **Boundary with Generalized Anxiety Disorder:** Generalized Anxiety Disorder can be differentiated from Social Anxiety Disorder because the main focus of worry is negative consequences that can occur in multiple everyday situations (e.g., work, relationships, finances) rather than being restricted to concerns about one's behaviour or appearance being negatively evaluated in social situations.
- **Boundary with Panic Disorder:** If an individual with Social Anxiety Disorder experiences panic attacks exclusively in the context of actual or anticipated social or performance situations, an additional diagnosis of Panic Disorder is not warranted and the presence of panic attacks may be indicated using the 'with panic attacks' specifier. However, if unexpected panic attacks also occur, an additional diagnosis of Panic Disorder may be assigned.
- **Boundary with Agoraphobia:** Fear or anxiety in Agoraphobia centres on imminent perceived dangerous outcomes (e.g., panic attacks, symptoms of panic, incapacitation, or embarrassing physical symptoms) that are anticipated to occur in multiple situations where obtaining help or escaping might be difficult rather than on concerns that others are negatively evaluating them. Unlike Social Anxiety Disorder, embarrassment in Agoraphobia is secondary to the concerns that escape or obtaining assistance may not be possible should symptoms (e.g., diarrhoea in a public place) occur.
- **Boundary with Specific Phobia:** Specific Phobia can be differentiated from Social Anxiety Disorder because, in general, fears are of specific situations or stimuli (e.g., heights, animals, blood-injury) and not of social situations.
- **Boundary with Selective Mutism:** Selective Mutism is characterized by a failure to speak in specific situations whereas in Social Anxiety Disorder fear and anxiety result in avoidance of multiple social contexts.
- **Boundary with Autism Spectrum Disorder:** Individuals with Autism Spectrum Disorder and Social Anxiety Disorder may both appear to be socially withdrawn. However, those with Autism Spectrum Disorder can be differentiated because of the presence of social communication deficits and typically a lack of interest in social interactions.
- **Boundary with Depressive Disorders:** Beliefs of social inadequacy, rejection, and failure are common in Depressive Disorders and may be associated with avoidance of social situations. However, unlike in Social Anxiety Disorder, these symptoms occur almost exclusively during a Depressive Episode.

- **Boundary with Body Dysmorphic Disorder:** In Body Dysmorphic Disorder, individuals worry about a perceived physical defect that is often undetectable or very minor from the point of view of others. These individuals may be concerned about others' negative judgment of the perceived defect. However, unlike in Social Anxiety Disorder, their concerns are restricted to how others will evaluate the perceived defect rather than other aspects of their behaviour or appearance across social contexts.
- **Boundary with Olfactory Reference Disorder:** In Social Anxiety Disorder, social situations are avoided because the individual is concerned that he or she will act in a way, or show anxiety symptoms, that will be negatively evaluated by others (i.e., be humiliating, embarrassing, lead to rejection, or be offensive). In contrast, individuals with Olfactory Reference Disorder may avoid social situations specifically because they believe they are emitting a foul odour.
- **Boundary with Oppositional Defiant Disorder:** Irritability, anger, and noncompliance are sometimes associated with anxiety in children and adolescents. For example, children may exhibit angry outbursts when asked to enter situations that make them feel anxious (e.g., being asked to attend a social gathering). If the defiant behaviours only occur when triggered by a situation or stimulus that elicits anxiety, fear, or panic, a diagnosis of Oppositional Defiant Disorder is generally not appropriate.
- Boundary with other Mental and Behavioural Syndromes due to another medical condition: Individuals with certain medical conditions (e.g., Parkinson Disease) as well as those with other Mental, Behavioural or Neurodevelopmental Disorders (e.g., Schizophrenia) may demonstrate avoidance of social situations because of concerns that others will negatively evaluate their symptoms (e.g., tremor, unusual behaviours). An additional diagnosis of Social Anxiety Disorder should only be assigned if all diagnostic requirements are met taking into consideration that it is normal for individuals with visible symptoms of a medical condition to experience some concerns about how others perceive their symptoms. Typically, individuals with medical conditions adapt to concerns related to their manifest symptoms and do not display persistent excessive fear or anxiety in social situations.

6B05 Separation Anxiety Disorder

Essential (Required) Features:

- Marked and excessive fear or anxiety about separation from those individuals to whom the person is attached (i.e., with whom the individual has a deep emotional bond). In children and adolescents, key attachment figures that are most commonly the focus of separation anxiety include parents, caregivers, and other family members, and the fear or anxiety is beyond what would be considered developmentally normative. In adults, separation anxiety most often involves a spouse, romantic partner, or children. Manifestations of fear or anxiety related to separation depend on the individual's developmental level, but may include:
 - Persistent thoughts that harm or some other untoward event (e.g., being kidnapped) will lead to separation.
 - Reluctance or refusal to go to school or work.
 - Recurrent excessive distress (e.g., tantrums, social withdrawal) related to being separated from the attachment figure.
 - Reluctance or refusal to go to sleep without being near the attachment figure.
 - Recurrent nightmares about separation.

- Physical symptoms such as nausea, vomiting, stomachache, headache, on occasions that involve separation from the attachment figure, such as leaving home to go to school or work.
- The symptoms are not transient, that is, they persist for an extended period of time (e.g., at least several months).
- The symptoms are not better accounted for by another mental disorder (e.g., Agoraphobia, Personality Disorder).
- The symptoms result in significant distress about experiencing persistent anxiety symptoms or significant impairment in personal, family, social, educational, occupational, or other important areas of functioning. If functioning is maintained, it is only through significant additional effort.

Additional Clinical Features:

- Separation Anxiety Disorder frequently co-occurs with other Mental, Behavioural or Neurodevelopmental Disorders. In children and youth, common co-occurring disorders include Generalized Anxiety Disorder and Specific Phobia. In adults, frequently cooccurring disorders include Mood Disorders and Anxiety or Fear-Related Disorders, Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder, and Personality Disorder.
- Although Separation Anxiety Disorder may exhibit a lifelong course with onset in childhood, a significant proportion of adults with Separation Anxiety Disorder do not recall a childhood onset.
- Separation Anxiety Disorder in childhood is frequently associated with a parenting style that interferes with the development of autonomy and self-mastery expected for that person's cultural context (e.g., parent does not permit child to independently engage in basic activities of daily living such as dressing and bathing).

Boundary with Normality (Threshold):

- Many situations involving separation are associated with other potential stressors or are normal sources of anxiety (e.g., leaving home to start a job or attend university in a new city). Separation Anxiety Disorder is differentiated based on the focus of apprehension being on separation from a key attachment figure rather than on other aspects of adjusting to novel circumstances.
- Strong attachment to loved ones is a normal and healthy part of life and separation from these individuals may be associated with transient sadness or anxiety. Preschool children may show a moderate or even greater degree of anxiety over real or threatened separation from people to whom they are attached. These reactions are considered developmentally appropriate and differentiated from Separation Anxiety Disorder on the basis of the persistence of the symptoms (e.g., lasting for several months) with repeated separations, evidence of excessive preoccupations about the well-being of attachment figures, persistent avoidance, and significant distress or impairment in functioning as a consequence of the symptoms.
- Among children and youth, school refusal is a common occurrence and may be based on transient anxiety about separation from a loved one or be symptomatic of Separation Anxiety Disorder. However, especially in adolescence, anxiety about school or school refusal is not typically related to fear of separation but rather to other factors such as truancy, peer rejection, or bullying.

Course Features:

- The typical onset of Separation Anxiety Disorder is during childhood and the disorder can persist into adulthood. Initial disorder onset during adolescence and adulthood may be less common.
- Separation Anxiety Disorder has been associated with elevated risk of developing a wide range of internalizing disorders including Depressive Disorders, and Bipolar Disorders, and Anxiety or Fear-Related Disorders. There is also evidence of elevated risk of Disruptive Behaviour or Dissocial Disorders, and Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder.

Developmental Presentations:

- Anxiety or Fear-Related Disorders are the most prevalent mental disorders of childhood and adolescence. Among these disorders, Separation Anxiety Disorder is one of the most common in young children.
- In children, the diagnosis of Separation Anxiety Disorder should not be used to describe developmentally normative phenomena.
- The focus of apprehension in Separation Anxiety Disorder may differ across age groups, such that younger children may demonstrate less credible fears (e.g., worrying about sleeping alone for fear they will be kidnapped in the middle of the night) whereas older children and adolescents may have more credible fears (e.g., parents getting into a car accident).
- Symptom presentation varies with age. In younger children, who are less able to express worries or fears, behavioural manifestations of recurrent excessive distress are typically more prominent, such as tantrums or crying when separated from parents and caregivers. When at home, younger children may insist on following caregivers closely, exhibiting distress even when in a different room or on a different floor from parents or caregivers. Older children are usually able to express their preoccupations about separation from attachment figures or fears related to specific dangers (e.g., accidents, kidnapping, mugging, death). Older children and adolescents may be more likely to demonstrate social withdrawal, insisting on staying at home with family members rather than spending time with peers.

Culture-Related Features:

- Cultural variation exists with regard to tolerating separation from attachment figures. In some cultural groups, it would be considered inappropriate to spend time apart from family or loved ones. Distress associated with separation in this sociocultural context should not be considered excessive if it is culturally normative.
- Children in some cultures remain in their parental home longer than in other cultures, and generally this trend is increasing globally, so the assignment of disorder should take into account cultural norms.

Sex- and/or Gender-Related Features:

• Although lifetime prevalence rates for Separation Anxiety Disorder is slightly higher among females (5.6% versus 4%), during childhood, school refusal is equally prevalent for both genders.

Boundaries with Other Disorders and Conditions (Differential Diagnosis):

- **Boundary with Generalized Anxiety Disorder:** Individuals with Generalized Anxiety Disorder experience chronic and excessive worry about a variety of everyday life events that can include preoccupation about the safety of key attachment figures. However, these concerns seldom occur without additional worries regarding other domains of everyday life.
- **Boundary with Panic Disorder:** If an individual with Separation Anxiety Disorder experiences panic attacks exclusively in the context of separation from key attachment figures, an additional diagnosis of Panic Disorder is not warranted and the presence of panic attacks may be indicated using the 'with panic attacks' specifier. However, if unexpected panic attacks also occur, an additional diagnosis of Panic Disorder may be assigned.
- **Boundary with Agoraphobia:** In Agoraphobia, individuals avoid a variety of situations including leaving home alone but the fear or anxiety is centred on the possibility that help will not be available in the event of a panic attack or other incapacitating or embarrassing symptoms rather than concerns about separation from key attachment figures.
- **Boundary with Social Anxiety Disorder:** In Social Anxiety Disorder, the avoidance of social situations is in response to fear or anxiety about being negatively evaluated by others rather than concerns about being separated from key attachment figures.
- **Boundary with Depressive Disorders:** Beliefs of social inadequacy, rejection, and failure are common in Depressive Disorders and may be associated with avoidance of leaving the home and being separated from loved ones. However, unlike in Separation Anxiety Disorder, these symptoms occur almost exclusively during a Depressive Episode.
- **Boundary with Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder:** In Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder, individuals have a history of exposure to a traumatic event that may have involved the loss of a key attachment figure. However, the focus of apprehension is on intrusive re-experiencing of the traumatic event from memory and avoidance of associated stimuli rather than concerns about future loss of or harm coming to the key attachment figure. However, Separation Anxiety Disorder rather than Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder may occur subsequent to the experience of a traumatic event and if all diagnostic requirements are met the diagnosis can be assigned.
- **Boundary with Disruptive Behaviour or Dissocial Disorders:** Individuals with Oppositional Defiant Disorder can exhibit similar behaviours as those observed in Separation Anxiety Disorder such as anger, irritability, and temper outbursts, or defiant and headstrong behaviour (e.g., refusal to leave home or go to school). However, in Separation Anxiety Disorder these occur exclusively as a result of anticipated or actual separation from a key attachment figure. School refusal or truancy may occur in the context of Conduct-Dissocial Disorder but the behaviour is not related to concerns for the well-being of a key attachment figure.
- **Boundary with Personality Disorder:** Fear of abandonment or dependency on others can occur as symptoms of an enduring maladaptive pattern of behaviour associated with Personality Disorder. These symptoms tend to occur with other broader disruptions to interpersonal functioning, emotion regulation, as well as identity formation and definition. Personality Disorder may co-occur with Separation Anxiety Disorder and if present, can be diagnosed separately.

6B06 Selective Mutism

Essential (Required) Features:

- Consistent selectivity in speaking, such that a child demonstrates adequate language competence in specific social situations, typically at home, but consistently fails to speak in others, typically at school.
- The duration of the disturbance is at least 1 month, not limited to the first month of school.
- The disturbance is not due to a lack of knowledge of, or comfort with, the spoken language demanded in the social situation.
- The symptoms are not better accounted for by another mental disorder (e.g., a Neurodevelopmental Disorder such as Autism Spectrum Disorder or Developmental Language Disorder).
- Selectivity of speech is sufficiently severe so as to interfere with educational achievement or with social communication or is associated with significant impairment in other important areas of functioning.

Additional Clinical Features:

- Symptoms of Selective Mutism may interfere with direct assessment of expressive language. However, many affected children cooperate with receptive language testing if communication is restricted to carrying out commands or pointing to pictures, which can provide valuable information about a child's general language levels. Furthermore, reports from informants who know the child well (e.g., parent or caregiver) may be necessary to establish that the child can speak in certain social situations.
- Selective Mutism is often regarded as a variant of Social Anxiety Disorder because affected individuals experience significant anxiety in social situations and when able to express themselves indicate that they fear negative evaluation, in particular of their speech. However, unlike Social Anxiety Disorder, children with Selective Mutism are more likely to display these difficulties at an earlier age of onset (in most cases before the age of 5 years but may only become apparent when starting school), be more likely to have associated subtle language impairments, and exhibit oppositional behaviour in response to being asked to speak in feared situations.
- Co-occurrence with other Anxiety or Fear-Related Disorders (particularly Social Anxiety Disorder, Separation Anxiety Disorder, and Specific Phobias) is very common among individuals with Selective Mutism.
- Selective Mutism is associated with severe impairment in academic and social functioning that can manifest as inability to complete expected school work, not getting personal needs met, inability to initiate or reciprocate social interactions with peers, or becoming the target of bullying.
- Social anxiety, withdrawal, and avoidance in Selective Mutism may be related to temperamental factors such as behavioural inhibition and negative affectivity.

Boundary with Normality (Threshold):

• Transient reluctance to speak at the time of first starting school is a common occurrence. Selective Mutism should only be diagnosed if symptoms persist beyond the first month of schooling. Immigrant children who are unfamiliar with or uncomfortable in the official language of their new host country may, for a discrete period of time, refuse to speak to strangers in their new environment. This may also occur with children from linguistic minorities. Selective Mutism should not be diagnosed in such cases.

Course Features:

- Although the onset of Selective Mutism typically occurs during early childhood (i.e., prior to age 5), significant impairment of functioning may not manifest until entry into school when children experience increased demands to speak publicly (e.g., reading aloud) and engage socially.
- A majority of children with Selective Mutism will present with symptoms of another Anxiety or Fear-Related Disorder, particularly, Social Anxiety Disorder.
- Children with Selective Mutism may also display signs of oppositionality, particularly in situations requiring speech. A co-occurring diagnosis of Oppositional Defiant Disorder should not be assigned if refusal to speak can be entirely accounted for by features of Selective Mutism.
- The course of Selective Mutism varies among individuals. Although the average duration of the disorder is 8 years, after which symptoms begin to dissipate or remit completely, some individuals may experience a persistence of symptoms or manifestation of another disorder, primarily Social Anxiety Disorder.
- Even after the core symptoms of Selective Mutism resolve, individuals often continue to experience difficulties related to social communication and anxiety.
- Prognosis is worse when there is a family history of Selective Mutism.

Culture-Related Features:

• People in cultures with a high level of shame-based emotions may avoid speaking about particular topics or in situations that would evoke shame for themselves or others. When this is culturally normative, it should not be considered to be reflective of Selective Mutism.

Boundaries with Other Disorders and Conditions (Differential Diagnosis):

- **Boundary with Developmental Speech and Language Disorders:** Selective Mutism is differentiated from the range of Developmental Speech and Language Disorders (i.e., Language Disorders or Speech Fluency Disorder) that involve impairments in expressive language across all social situations. Although some children with Selective Mutism exhibit expressive language difficulties or phonological problems, these are often subtle and functioning is usually found to be in the normal range. Selective Mutism may occur in the presence of Developmental Speech and Language Disorders and both can be diagnosed if warranted.
- **Boundary with Autism Spectrum Disorder and Disorders of Intellectual Development:** Some individuals affected by Autism Spectrum Disorder or Disorders of Intellectual Development exhibit impairments in language and social communication. However, unlike in Selective Mutism, when language and communication impairments are present in Autism Spectrum Disorder and Disorders of Intellectual Development, they are notable across environments and social situations.

- **Boundary with Schizophrenia or Other Primary Psychotic Disorders:** Individuals with Schizophrenia or Other Primary Psychotic Disorders may exhibit disruptions in speech and social communication as a function of symptoms of disordered thought. Unlike individuals with Selective Mutism, those with disrupted communication in the context of psychotic disorders display similar disruptions to speech across all social situations.
- **Boundary with Social Anxiety Disorder:** Selective Mutism is characterized by a failure to speak in specific situations whereas in Social Anxiety Disorder fear and anxiety result in avoidance of multiple social contexts.

6B0Y Other Specified Anxiety or Fear-Related Disorders

Essential (Required) Features:

- The presentation is characterized by anxiety symptoms that share primary clinical features with other Anxiety or Fear-Related Disorders (e.g., physiological symptoms of excessive arousal, apprehension, and avoidance behaviour).
- The symptoms do not fulfil the diagnostic requirements for any other disorder in the Anxiety or Fear-Related Disorders grouping.
- The symptoms are not better accounted for by another Mental, Behavioural or Neurodevelopmental Disorder (e.g., a Mood Disorder, an Obsessive-Compulsive or Related Disorder).
- The symptoms or behaviours are not developmentally appropriate or culturally sanctioned.
- The symptoms or behaviours are not a manifestation of another medical condition and are not due to the effects of a substance or medication on the central nervous system, including withdrawal effects.
- The symptoms result in significant distress or significant impairment in personal, family, social, educational, occupational or other important areas of functioning. If functioning is maintained, it is only through significant additional effort.

6B0Z Anxiety or Fear-Related Disorders, Unspecified

Specifier:

MB23.H with panic attacks

This specifier can be applied to indicate the presence of panic attacks within the past month that manifest in the context of Anxiety or Fear-Related Disorders, as well as other disorders such as Obsessive-Compulsive or Related Disorders. The 'with panic attacks' specifier should not be assigned when panic attacks can be entirely explained by a Panic Disorder diagnosis. Recurrent panic attacks that occur in the context of other mental disorders may be indicative of greater severity of psychopathology, poorer response to treatment, and greater risk for suicide in the context of Mood Disorders.

When panic attacks occur in the context of other *Anxiety or Fear-Related Disorders*, they are conceptualized as episodes of severe anxiety that occur specifically in response to exposure to or anticipation of exposure to the feared stimulus or stimuli (i.e., reflect the focus of apprehension specific to the disorder).

For example, panic attacks may occur in Separation Anxiety Disorder during separation from a caregiver or partner, when exposed to the phobic situation or stimulus in Specific Phobia, when entering social situations or speaking in public in Social Anxiety Disorder, etc. If panic attacks are limited to these types of situations, the 'with panic attacks' specifier should be applied rather than an additional co-occurring diagnosis of Panic Disorder. If some panic attacks over the course of the disorder have been unexpected and not exclusively in response to stimuli associated with the focus of apprehension related to the relevant disorder, a separate diagnosis of Panic Disorder should be assigned. In such cases, it is not necessary to apply the 'with panic attacks' specifier.

For Anxiety or Fear-Related Disorders, application of the 'with panic attacks' specifier produces the following combinations. (The 'with panic attacks' specifier is not generally applicable to Selective Mutism.)

| 6B00/MB23.H | Generalized Anxiety Disorder with panic attacks |
|-------------|--|
| 6B01/MB23.H | Agoraphobia with panic attacks |
| 6B03/MB23.H | Specific Phobia with panic attacks |
| 6B04/MB23.H | Social Anxiety Disorder with panic attacks |
| 6B05/MB23.H | Separation Anxiety Disorder with panic attacks |
| 6B0Y/MB23.H | Other Specified Anxiety or Fear-Related Disorders with panic |
| | attacks |

OBSESSIVE-COMPULSIVE OR RELATED DISORDERS

Obsessive-Compulsive or Related Disorders comprise a group of disorders characterized by repetitive thoughts and behaviours. Although these disorders also have some features in common with disorders in other groupings (e.g., Anxiety or Fear-Related Disorders), the disorders included in the grouping of Obsessive-Compulsive or Related Disorders have commonalities on key diagnostic validators and frequently co-occur, which may be partly related to shared genetic factors.

Cognitive phenomena such as obsessions, intrusive thoughts, and preoccupations are central to a subset of these conditions (i.e., Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder, Body Dysmorphic Disorder, Hypochondriasis, and Olfactory Reference Disorder) and are accompanied by related repetitive behaviours. Hoarding Disorder is not associated with intrusive unwanted thoughts but rather is characterized by a compulsive need to accumulate possessions and distress related to discarding them. Also included in the grouping are Body-Focused Repetitive Behaviour Disorders, which are primarily characterized by recurrent and habitual actions directed at the integument (e.g., hair pulling, skin picking) and lack a prominent cognitive aspect.

Obsessive-Compulsive or Related Disorders include the following:

- 6B20 Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder
- 6B21 Body Dysmorphic Disorder
- 6B22 Olfactory Reference Disorder
- 6B23 Hypochondriasis (Health Anxiety Disorder)
- 6B24 Hoarding Disorder
- 6B25 Body-Focused Repetitive Behaviour Disorders 6B25.0 Trichotillomania (Hair Pulling Disorder) 6B25.1 Excoriation (Skin Picking) Disorder
- 6B2Y Other Specified Obsessive-Compulsive or Related Disorders

The level of insight an individual has with respect to disorder-specific beliefs varies and can be specified for those Obsessive-Compulsive or Related Disorders in which cognitive phenomena are a key aspect of clinical phenomenology. These include: Obsessive Compulsive Disorder, Body Dysmorphic Disorder, Olfactory Reference Disorder, Hypochondriasis, and Hoarding Disorder. The level of insight may be specified as 'fair to good' or 'poor to absent', as described for each of these disorders.

In addition, Tourette Syndrome, classified under in the grouping Primary Tics and Tic Disorders in the Chapter on Diseases of the Nervous System, is cross-listed here because of its high co-occurrence, familial association, and analogous phenomenology (i.e., premonitory urges and repetitive behaviours) with Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder.

8A05.00 Tourette Syndrome

6B20 Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder

Essential (Required) Features:

- Presence of persistent obsessions and/or compulsions.
 - Obsessions are repetitive and persistent thoughts (e.g., of contamination), images (e.g., of violent scenes), or impulses/urges (e.g., to stab someone) that are experienced as intrusive and unwanted, and are commonly associated with anxiety. The individual typically attempts to ignore or suppress obsessions or to neutralize them by performing compulsions.
 - Compulsions are repetitive behaviours or rituals, including repetitive mental acts, that the individual feels driven to perform in response to an obsession, according to rigid rules, or to achieve a sense of 'completeness'. Examples of overt behaviours include repetitive washing, checking, and ordering of objects. Examples of analogous mental acts include mentally repeating specific phrases in order to prevent negative outcomes, reviewing a memory to make sure that one has caused no harm, and mentally counting objects. Compulsions are either not connected in a realistic way to the feared event (e.g., arranging items symmetrically to prevent harm to a loved one) or are clearly excessive (e.g., showering daily for hours to prevent illness).
- Obsessions and compulsions are time-consuming (e.g., take more than 1 hour per day) or result in significant distress or significant impairment in personal, family, social, educational, occupational, or other important areas of functioning. If functioning is maintained, it is only through significant additional effort.
- The symptoms or behaviours are not a manifestation of another medical condition (e.g., basal ganglia ischemic stroke) and are not due to the effects of a substance or medication on the central nervous system (e.g., amphetamine), including withdrawal effects.

Insight specifiers:

Individuals with Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder vary in the degree of insight they have about the accuracy of the beliefs that underlie their obsessive-compulsive symptoms. Although many can acknowledge that their thoughts or behaviours are untrue or excessive, some cannot, and the beliefs of a small minority of individuals with Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder may at times appear to be delusional in the degree of conviction or fixity with which these beliefs are held (e.g., an individual is convinced that she will become seriously ill if she does not maintain her washing rituals). Insight may vary substantially even over short periods of time, for example depending on the level of current anxiety or distress, and should be assessed with respect to a time period that is sufficient to allow for such fluctuation (e.g., a few days or a week). The degree of insight that an individual exhibits in the context of Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder can be specified as follows:

6B20.0 Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder with fair to good insight

• Much of the time, the individual is able to entertain the possibility that their disorderspecific beliefs may not be true and they are willing to accept an alternative explanation for their experience. This specifier level may still be applied if, at circumscribed times (e.g., when highly anxious), the individual demonstrates no insight.

6B20.1 Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder with poor to absent insight

• Most or all of the time, the individual is convinced that the disorder-specific beliefs are true and they cannot accept an alternative explanation for their experience. The lack of insight exhibited by the individual does not vary markedly as a function of anxiety level.

6B20.Z Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder, unspecified

Additional Clinical Features:

- The content of obsessions and compulsions varies among individuals and can be grouped into different themes or symptom dimensions, including: cleaning (i.e., contamination obsessions and cleaning compulsions); symmetry (i.e., symmetry obsessions and repeating, ordering, and counting compulsions); forbidden or taboo thoughts (e.g., aggressive, sexual, and religious obsessions) and related compulsions. Some individuals have difficulties discarding objects and accumulate (i.e., hoard) them as a consequence of typical obsessions, such as fears of harming others (see Boundary with Other Obsessive-Compulsive or Related Disorders, under Hoarding Disorder). Individuals usually manifest symptoms on more than one dimension.
- Although compulsions are not done for pleasure, their performance may result in temporary relief from anxiety or distress or a temporary sense of completeness.
- Individuals with Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder experience a range of affect when confronted with situations that trigger obsessions and compulsions. These affects can include marked anxiety or panic attacks, strong feelings of disgust, or a distressing sense of 'incompleteness' or uneasiness until things look, feel, or sound 'just right'.
- Individuals with Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder often avoid people, places, and things that trigger obsessions and compulsions.
- Common beliefs in Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder include an inflated sense of responsibility, overestimation of threat, perfectionism, intolerance of uncertainty, and overvaluation of the power of thoughts (e.g., believing that having a forbidden thought is as bad as acting on it).
- The severity of Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder symptomatology varies such that some individuals spend a few hours per day obsessing or engaging in compulsions, whereas others have near constant intrusive thoughts or compulsions that can be incapacitating.
- When both obsessions and compulsions are present there is typically a discernible relationship between them in content or temporal sequence. Compulsions are most often performed in response to obsessions (e.g., excessive hand washing due to fear of contamination). However, in some individuals with Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder, particularly during the initial phase of the disorder, compulsions may precede the manifestation of obsessions. For example, an individual begins to feel that he must be afraid of an accidental fire because he repeatedly checks the gas knob on the stove or an individual concludes that she must be afraid of contamination based on the evidence of her repeated hand washing. Understanding the relationship between obsessions and compulsions can assist in intervention selection and treatment planning.

Boundary with Normality (Threshold):

- Intrusive thoughts, images, and impulses/urges as well as repetitive behaviours are common in the general population (e.g., thoughts of harming a loved one, double-checking that the door is locked). Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder should only be diagnosed when obsessions and compulsions are time-consuming (e.g., take more than 1 hour per day) or cause significant distress or result in functional impairment.
- Developmentally normative preoccupations (e.g., worrying about interacting with strangers in young children) and rituals (e.g., skipping over cracks in a sidewalk) should not be attributed to a presumptive diagnosis of Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder and are differentiated from obsessions and compulsions characteristic of Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder because they are transient, age-appropriate, not time-consuming (e.g., taking more than hour per day), and do not result in significant distress or impairment.

Course Features:

- Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder typically has an age of onset in the late teens and early twenties, with late onset (i.e., after age 35) being less common. In cases of late onset, there is often a history of chronic sub-clinical symptoms.
- Onset of Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder symptoms is often gradual. Sudden or late onset, in particular, should prompt additional assessment to differentiate Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder from other medical conditions (e.g., basal ganglia ischemic stroke) that may better explain the symptoms.
- Many adults with Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder (30%-50%) report a childhood onset of symptoms. For those with onset during childhood or adolescence, 40% may experience a remission of symptoms by early adulthood.
- Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder in adults is generally considered a chronic condition with waxing and waning of symptoms. Some experience an episodic course and a minority experience a worsening course.

Developmental Presentations:

- Onset before age 10 is more common among males (approximately 25%), whereas adolescent onset is more likely among females. Younger age of onset is associated with greater genetic loading and poorer outcomes due to interference of symptoms with achieving developmental milestones (e.g., forming peer relationships, acquiring academic skills). Although childhood-onset Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder typically follows a chronic course, particularly if left untreated, symptoms tend to wax and wane and many (approximately 40%) experience full remission by early adulthood. Among the elderly, the prevalence of Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder is slightly higher among men than women.
- Although precipitous onset of Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder symptoms in children and adolescents has been reported, often attributed to Pediatric autoimmune neuropsychiatric disorders associated with streptococcal infections (PANDAS), development of symptoms is typically gradual.
- The content and type of obsessions and compulsions varies across the lifespan. Children and adolescents are more likely to report obsessions centred upon bad things happening to their loved ones (e.g., parents) whereas adolescents and adults are more likely to report religious or sexual obsessions. Among children and adolescents, females are more likely to report symptoms centred upon contamination or cleaning whereas males are more like those of a sexual-religious or aggressive nature. It may be easier to assess for

the presence of compulsions in children because their level of cognitive development may preclude verbalizing content of obsessions.

• Among children and adolescents, the course of Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder is frequently complicated by the co-occurrence of other mental disorders, the presence of which may affect identification of Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder among youth. Up to 30% of all individuals with Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder will also experience Tourette Syndrome or another primary tic disorder during their lifetime. Co-occurring tics are more common among males with childhood-onset Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder. Children and adolescents are also more likely than adults to present with a combination of Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder, a primary tic disorder and/or Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder. Body Dysmorphic Disorder or Hoarding Disorder often co-occur among adolescents with Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder. Approximately half of elderly patients with Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder exhibit ordering, hoarding and checking behaviours, which may also reflect symptoms of Personality Disorder with anankastic traits.

Culture-Related Features:

- Similar types of Obsessive-Compulsivity Disorder symptoms (e.g., concerns with contamination) are present cross-culturally, but cultural variation exists in the salience and prevalence of certain themes of content of obsessions and compulsions. For example, aggressive obsessions have been found to predominate in Brazil and religious/scrupulosity concerns in Middle Eastern settings. In addition, scrupulosity obsessions may be more distressing among individuals of certain faith groups that emphasize ritual exactitude or the sinful nature of certain kinds of thoughts. The influence of culture may lead to the adoption of specific themes, such as fear of contamination by HIV/AIDS, obsessions about *kashrut* (dietary restrictions) observances among Jews, or about being in a state of uncleanliness (*Napak*) among Muslims. Distinguishing religious compulsions from zealous but normative religious practice may require the help of religious experts aware of local norms.
- Etiological attributions may vary across social groups, including biological, psychological, social, and supernatural or spiritual explanations. These attributions may also shape the specific obsessions, such as concerns about being deserving of punishment as the result of a transgression or the object of sorcery, witchcraft, or the evil eye. In some cultural groups, compulsions may be reinforced by the belief that such acts ward off evil spirits or have another spiritual function.
- Help seeking and clinical disclosure are less likely when the obsessions or compulsions are considered by the individual to be culturally taboo.

Sex- and/or Gender-Related Features:

- Males are more likely to experience Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder during childhood, with approximately 25% experiencing onset before age 10. During adulthood, prevalence is higher for females.
- Males are more likely to experience co-occurring primary tic disorders.
- Gender differences in the specific content of obsessions and compulsions have been reported whereby females are more likely to report cleaning and contamination related themes and males are more likely to report symmetry related themes and taboo intrusive thoughts (e.g., violent impulses, sacrilegious images).

• Onset or exacerbation of Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder has been reported during the peripartum period.

Boundaries with Other Disorders and Conditions (Differential Diagnosis):

- **Boundary with Hypochondriasis (Health Anxiety Disorder):** Hypochondriasis is characterized by persistent preoccupation or fear about the possibility of having one or more serious, progressive or life-threatening illnesses. Although obsessions in Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder may be health-related, when these occur they tend to be focused more on potential contamination than on the undiagnosed symptoms of a particular illness and to be accompanied by a history of other obsessions that are not health-related.
- Boundary with other Obsessive-Compulsive or Related Disorders: Recurrent thoughts and repetitive behaviours occur in other Obsessive-Compulsive or Related Disorders but the foci of apprehension and form of repetitive behaviours are distinct for each diagnostic entity. In Body Dysmorphic Disorder, the intrusive thoughts and repetitive behaviours are limited to concerns about physical appearance. In Trichotillomania or Excoriation Disorder, the repetitive behaviours are limited to hair pulling or skin picking, respectively, in the absence of obsessions. Hoarding Disorder symptoms include excessive accumulation or difficulty discarding possessions and marked distress related to discarding items. Hoarding behaviour can be symptomatic of Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder, but in contrast to Hoarding Disorder it is undertaken with the goal of neutralizing or reducing concomitant distress and anxiety arising from obsessional content such as aggressive (e.g., fear of harming others), sexual/religious (e.g., fear of committing blasphemous or disrespectful acts), contamination (e.g., fear of spreading infectious diseases), or symmetry/ordering (e.g., feeling of incompleteness) themes. However, Obsessive-Compulsive or Related Disorders can co-occur, and multiple diagnoses from this grouping may be assigned if warranted.
- **Boundary with Autism Spectrum Disorder:** Persistent repetitive thoughts, images, or impulses/urges (i.e., obsessions) and/or repetitive behaviours (i.e., compulsions) characteristic of Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder may be difficult to distinguish from restricted, repetitive, and inflexible patterns of behaviour, interests, or activities that are characteristic of Autism Spectrum Disorder. However, unlike those with Autism Spectrum Disorder, individuals with Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder feel driven to perform repetitive behaviours in response to an obsession, according to rigid rules, to reduce anxiety, or to achieve a sense of 'completeness'. Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder can also be distinguished from Autism Spectrum Disorder because difficulties in initiating and sustaining social communication and reciprocal social interactions are not features of Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder.
- **Boundary with Stereotyped Movement Disorder:** A stereotyped movement is a repetitive, seemingly driven non-functional motor behaviour (e.g., head banging, body rocking, self-biting). These movements are typically less complex than compulsions and are not aimed at neutralizing obsessions.
- **Boundary with Delusional Disorder and other Primary Psychotic Disorders:** Some individuals with Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder lack insight about the irrationality of their thoughts and behaviours to such an extent that convictions of the veracity of their obsessions as well as the strength of beliefs regarding the connection between compulsions and obsessions may at times appear to be delusional in the degree of conviction and fixity with which these beliefs are held (see Insight specifiers, page 297). If these beliefs are restricted to fear or conviction that intrusive thoughts, images, or

impulses/urges are true or that compulsions are realistically connected to obsessional content in an individual without a history of other delusions, that is, these beliefs occur entirely in the context of symptomatic episodes of Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder and are fully consistent with the other clinical features of the disorder, Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder should be diagnosed instead of Delusional Disorder. Individuals with Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder do not exhibit other features of psychosis (e.g., hallucinations or formal thought disorder).

- *Boundary with Depressive Disorders:* Differentiating rumination that occurs in the context of Depressive Disorders from obsessions and compulsive mental acts characteristic of Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder is challenging. Nonetheless, it may be helpful to consider that ruminations are typically congruent with negative affect and reflect depressive cognition (e.g., self-criticism, guilt, failure, regret, pessimism, hopelessness). Unlike obsessions, ruminations are not typically experienced as intrusive, nor are they linked to compulsive behaviours. In contrast to ruminations, compulsive mental acts are typically performed with the intention of reducing distress or perceived risk of harm. Individuals with Depressive Disorders experience low mood or a lack of interest in pleasurable activities, which are not diagnostic features of Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder. However, Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder and Depressive Disorders often co-occur, and both diagnoses may be assigned if the full diagnostic requirements are met.
- Boundary with Anxiety or Fear-Related Disorders: Recurrent thoughts, avoidance • behaviours, and requests for reassurance commonly observed in Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder also occur in Anxiety or Fear-Related Disorders. In contrast to Anxiety or Fear-Related Disorders, however, obsessions in Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder are experienced as intrusive, can involve content that is odd or irrational (e.g., intrusive images of harming a friend), and are typically accompanied by compulsions. Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder is further differentiated by not being characterized by the same foci of apprehension that characterize Anxiety or Fear-Related Disorders. For example, in Generalized Anxiety Disorder, the recurrent thoughts or worries are focused on negative events that could possibly occur in different aspects of everyday life (e.g., work, finances, health, family). In Social Anxiety Disorder, symptoms are in response to feared social situations (e.g., speaking in public, initiating a conversation) and concerns about being negatively evaluated by others. In Specific Phobia, symptoms are limited to one or a few circumscribed phobic objects or situations (e.g., fear and avoidance of animals) and concerns are about the perceived harm that could arise if exposed to these stimuli (e.g., being bitten by an animal).
- **Boundary with Panic Disorder:** Panic Disorder is characterized by recurrent, unexpected panic attacks. Some individuals with Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder experience panic attacks that are triggered by feared stimuli associated with obsessions and compulsions or if the individual is prevented from enacting neutralizing compulsions. If an individual with Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder experiences panic attacks exclusively in relation to obsessions or compulsions without the presence of unexpected panic attacks, an additional diagnosis of Panic Disorder is not warranted. However, unexpected panic attacks are also present and all other diagnostic requirements are met, both diagnoses may be assigned.
- **Boundary with Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder:** In Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder, symptoms are limited to stimuli associated with or that serve as reminders of a traumatic event (e.g., fear and avoidance of a place where an individual was assaulted) and the intrusive thoughts and images are associated with the traumatic event.

- **Boundary with Eating Disorders:** Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder can be distinguished from Anorexia Nervosa, Bulimia Nervosa, and Binge-Eating Disorder because obsessions and compulsions are not limited to concerns about being or becoming overweight and are not accompanied by body image distortions.
- **Boundary with Disorders Due to Substance Use and Impulse Control Disorders:** A variety of behaviours may be described by lay people and sometimes by health professionals as 'compulsive', including sexual behaviour, gambling, and substance use. Compulsions characteristic of Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder, are differentiated from these behaviours in that they typically lack a rational motivation and are rarely reported to be pleasurable, though they may reduce anxiety or distress. Behaviours such as sexual behaviour, gambling, and substance abuse are also not typically preceded by intrusive unwanted thoughts characteristic of obsessions, although they are often preceded by thoughts about engaging in the relevant behaviour.
- **Boundary with Primary Tics or Tic Disorders including Tourette Syndrome:** A tic is a sudden, rapid, recurrent, non-rhythmic motor movement or vocalization (e.g., eye blinking, throat clearing). Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder can be differentiated from Tic Disorders because unlike compulsions, tics appear unintentional in nature and clearly utilize a discrete muscle group. However, it can be difficult to distinguish between complex tics and compulsions associated with Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder. Although tics (both complex and simple) are preceded by premonitory sensory urges, which diminish as tics occur, tics are not aimed at neutralizing antecedent cognitions (e.g., obsessions) or reducing anxiety. Many individuals exhibit symptoms of both Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder and primary tic disorders, in particular, Tourette Syndrome, and both diagnoses may be assigned if the diagnostic requirements for each are met.
- **Boundary with Personality Disorder with prominent anankastic features:** Personality Disorder with prominent anankastic features involves an enduring and pervasive maladaptive pattern of excessive perfectionism and rigid control. Individuals with Personality Disorder with prominent anankastic features do not experience intrusive thoughts, images, or impulses/urges characteristic of Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder or engage in repetitive behaviours response to these intrusive thoughts. If diagnostic requirements for both Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder and a Personality Disorder with prominent anankastic features are met, both diagnoses may be assigned.

6B21 Body Dysmorphic Disorder

Essential (Required) Features:

- Persistent preoccupation with one or more perceived defects or flaws in appearance, or ugliness in general, that is either unnoticeable or only slightly noticeable to others.
- Excessive self-consciousness about the perceived defect(s) or flaw(s), often including ideas of self-reference [i.e., the conviction that people are taking notice, judging, or talking about the perceived defect(s) or flaw(s)].
- The preoccupation or self-consciousness is accompanied by any of the following:
 - Repetitive and excessive behaviours, such as repeated examination of the appearance or severity of the perceived defect(s) or flaw(s) (e.g., by checking in reflective surfaces) or comparison of the relevant feature with that of others;
 - Excessive attempts to camouflage or alter the perceived defect (e.g., specific and elaborate forms of dress, undergoing ill-advised cosmetic surgical procedures);

- Marked avoidance of social or other situations or stimuli that increase distress about the perceived defect(s) or flaw(s) (e.g., reflective surfaces, changing rooms, swimming pools).
- The symptoms are not a manifestation of another medical condition and are not due to the effects of a substance or medication on the central nervous system, including withdrawal effects.
- The symptoms result in significant distress or significant impairment in personal, family, social, educational, occupational, or other important areas of functioning. If functioning is maintained, it is only through significant additional effort.

Insight specifiers:

Individuals with Body Dysmorphic Disorder vary in the degree of insight they have about the accuracy of the beliefs that underlie their symptoms. Although many can acknowledge that their thoughts or behaviours are untrue or excessive, some cannot, and the beliefs of some individuals with Body Dysmorphic Disorder may at times appear to be delusional in the degree of conviction or fixity with which these beliefs are held (e.g., an individual is convinced that others think he is hideously ugly). Insight may vary substantially even over short periods of time, for example depending on the level of current anxiety or distress, and should be assessed with respect to a time period that is sufficient to allow for such fluctuation (e.g., a few days or a week). The degree of insight that an individual exhibits in the context of Body Dysmorphic Disorder can be specified as follows:

6B21.0 Body Dysmorphic Disorder with fair to good insight

• Much of the time, the individual is able to entertain the possibility that their disorderspecific beliefs may not be true and they are willing to accept an alternative explanation for their experience. This specifier level may still be applied if, at circumscribed times (e.g., when highly anxious), the individual demonstrates no insight.

6B21.1 Body Dysmorphic Disorder with poor to absent insight

• Most or all of the time, the individual is convinced that the disorder-specific beliefs are true and they cannot accept an alternative explanation for their experience. The lack of insight exhibited by the individual does not vary markedly as a function of anxiety level.

6B21.Z Body Dysmorphic Disorder, unspecified

Additional Clinical Features:

• Any part of the body may be the focus of the perceived flaw(s) or defect(s), but the most common area is the face (especially the skin, nose, hair, eyes, teeth, lips, chin, or overall facial appearance). However, there are frequently multiple perceived defects. Usually the focal feature is regarded as flawed, defective, asymmetrical, too big/small or disproportionate, or the complaint may be of thinning hair, acne, wrinkles, scars,

vascular markings, pallor or ruddiness of complexion, or insufficient muscularity. Sometimes the preoccupation is vague or consists of a general perception of ugliness or being 'not right' or being too masculine/feminine.

- Muscle dysmorphia, a form of Body Dysmorphic Disorder, can place affected individuals, usually males, at increased risk for complications requiring medical attention (e.g., muscle tears, strains, side effects of steroid use).
- There is a high risk of suicide in adolescents and adults with Body Dysmorphic Disorder, particularly when depressive symptomatology co-occurs. Due to the low base rate occurrence of attempted and completed suicide, it is difficult to predict suicidal behaviours. Factors to consider in assessing risk include previous attempts, lack of perceived psychosocial supports, perception of burdensomeness, and hopelessness. It is also important to consider that identification of Body Dysmorphic Disorder may be especially challenging because the increased occurrence of shame and perceived stigma among affected individuals often leads them to conceal their difficulties or present with symptoms of Depressive Disorders, Social Anxiety Disorder, or Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder rather than Body Dysmorphic Disorder.
- The diagnosis of Body Dysmorphic Disorder is typically made based on direct observation or physical examination of the perceived body flaw(s) or defect(s). If this is not possible because it is inappropriate or the individual refuses to remove their camouflage, then it may be difficult to make a judgment about how noticeable or abnormal a perceived defect is. In such cases corroborative evidence may be required from a knowledgeable informant or physician who has conducted a physical examination of the individual.
- In some cases, individuals may be persistently preoccupied with one or more perceived defects or flaws in appearance, or ugliness in general, of another person, generally a child or a romantic partner, that is either unnoticeable or only slightly noticeable to others. This phenomenon is often referred to as Body Dysmorphic Disorder by proxy. If the other diagnostic requirements for the disorder are met with reference to the perceived bodily flaw(s) or defect(s) of the other person (e.g., excessive self-consciousness, repetitive and excessive examination or checking, marked camouflaging or alteration of the perceived defect, avoidance of relevant social situations or triggers, distress or functional impairment), a diagnosis of Body Dysmorphic Disorder may be assigned to the individual experiencing the preoccupation.

Boundary with Normality (Threshold):

• Body image concerns are common in many cultures, especially during adolescence. Body Dysmorphic Disorder is differentiated from body dissatisfaction or body image concerns by the degree of preoccupation, frequency of related recurrent behaviours performed, as well as the degree of distress or interference the individual experiences as a consequence of these symptoms.

Course Features:

- The onset of Body Dysmorphic Disorder commonly occurs during adolescence with two thirds of individuals reporting onset before age 18. Subclinical symptoms may appear during early adolescence (at 12 or 13 years of age).
- Although the typical course of Body Dysmorphic Disorder involves a gradual worsening of symptoms from subclinical to full symptomatic presentation, some individuals may experience an acute onset of symptoms.

305

- Among individuals with onset before age 18, Body Dysmorphic Disorder is associated with gradual onset of symptoms and co-occurring disorders. These individuals are also at greater risk of attempting suicide.
- Body Dysmorphic Disorder is generally considered a chronic disorder.

Developmental Presentations:

- Notwithstanding a relatively early age of onset of Body Dysmorphic Disorder, it typically takes 10-15 years before affected individuals seek help. New onset may occur among the elderly, though research with this age group is very limited.
- Onset of Body Dysmorphic Disorder symptoms tends to be gradual. The disorder is recurrent, chronic, and likely to persist without intervention.
- Prevalence of Body Dysmorphic Disorder among adolescents is estimated at approximately 2%, with higher prevalence among female adolescents. Prevalence rates are likely an underestimate because shame, embarrassment and stigma about symptoms frequently interfere with help-seeking behaviours.
- Symptom presentation is similar across all age groups. However, differentiating between normality and Body Dysmorphic Disorder in adolescence may be complicated by the emergence of developmentally-normative concerns about body image that occur during this stage.
- The course and severity of the disorder tends to be worse among individuals with an earlier onset (prior to age 18). Specifically, these individuals are at increased risk for suicide, present with more co-occurring mental disorders, have poorer insight, and are more likely to have experienced a gradual progression of symptom onset than individuals who develop Body Dysmorphic Disorder in adulthood. Youth with Body Dysmorphic Disorder are also at increased risk for school drop-out, potentially impacting their academic and social development.

Culture-Related Features:

- The symptoms of Body Dysmorphic Disorder are similar across cultures, but specific concerns are shaped by cultural standards regarding what is considered attractive, acceptable, normal, or desired. For example, populations in East Asia might be focused on epicanthal folds and concerns about skin colour may be associated with racialized conceptions of desirable body characteristics.
- Within more collectivistic cultures, or cultures that emphasize shame, the nature of the concern about bodily deformities may be focused on anxiety about causing offense to others.
- There are cultural concepts of distress that focus on perceptions of abnormal bodily features and may shape the symptoms of Body Dysmorphic Disorder. For example, the *shubo-kyofu* ('fear of a deformed body') subtype of *taijin kyofusho* has been reported primarily in Japan; it is characterized by intense fear of offending, embarrassing or hurting others through the person's appearance, which is perceived as deformed. Insight is typically poor to absent.

Sex- and/or Gender-Related Features:

• Although prevalence rates are similar for both genders, differences in presentation have been described. Women are more likely to experience co-occurring Eating Disorders;

whereas men are more likely to be concerned with the appearance of their genitalia and their overall physique (i.e., muscle dysmorphia).

Boundaries with Other Disorders and Conditions (Differential Diagnosis):

- **Boundary with Hypochondriasis (Health Anxiety Disorder):** Hypochondriasis is characterized by persistent preoccupation or fear about the possibility of having one or more serious, progressive or life-threatening illnesses, whereas in Body Dysmorphic Disorder the preoccupation is with perceived flaws or defects in the individual's appearance.
- **Boundary with Trichotillomania (Hair Pulling Disorder) and Excoriation (Skin Picking) Disorder:** Skin picking and hair pulling can occur as symptoms of Body Dysmorphic Disorder when there is a preoccupation with the skin or hair appearing defective and the intended aim is to improve its appearance. In contrast, when the behaviour is a body-focused repetitive behaviour with no clear relationship to a perceived defect on the skin or hair, then it is better classified as Trichotillomania or Excoriation Disorder.
- **Boundary with other Obsessive-Compulsive or Related Disorders:** Recurrent thoughts and repetitive behaviours occur in other Obsessive-Compulsive or Related Disorders but the foci of apprehension and form of repetitive behaviours are distinct for each diagnostic entity. In Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder, the intrusive thoughts and repetitive behaviours are not limited to concerns about appearance but rather encompass a variety of obsessions (e.g., of contamination, of causing harm) and compulsions (e.g., excessive washing, counting, checking) intended to neutralize these obsessions. In Olfactory Reference Disorder individuals are preoccupied exclusively with emitting a perceived foul or offensive body odour. However, Obsessive-Compulsive or Related Disorders can co-occur, and multiple diagnoses from this grouping may be assigned if warranted.
- **Boundary with Delusional Disorder and other Primary Psychotic Disorders:** Many individuals with Body Dysmorphic Disorder lack insight about the irrationality of their thoughts and behaviours to such an extent that convictions that their appearance is flawed may at times appear to be delusional in the degree of conviction or fixity with which these beliefs are held (see Insight specifiers, page 304). If these beliefs are restricted to the fear or conviction of having a flawed appearance or bodily defect in an individual without a history of other delusions, that is, these beliefs occur entirely in the context of symptomatic episodes of Body Dysmorphic Disorder and are fully consistent with the other clinical features of the disorder, Body Dysmorphic Disorder should be diagnosed instead of Delusional Disorder. Individuals with Body Dysmorphic Disorder do not exhibit other features of psychosis (e.g., hallucinations or formal thought disorder).
- **Boundary with Mood Disorders:** Individuals experiencing a Depressive Episode with psychotic symptoms may occasionally become preoccupied with perceived physical flaws or defects, which can be differentiated from Body Dysmorphic Disorder on the basis of the absence of such symptoms outside of the Mood Episode. However, individuals with a history of Body Dysmorphic Disorder commonly experience co-occurring depressive symptoms as a consequence of the distress and impairment of their Body Dysmorphic Disorder symptoms. If depressive symptoms consistent with a Mood Disorder are present in an individual with Body Dysmorphic Disorder, both disorders may be diagnosed.

- **Boundary with Generalized Anxiety Disorder:** In Generalized Anxiety Disorder, recurrent thoughts or worries are focused on potential negative outcomes that might occur in a variety of everyday aspects of life (e.g., family, finances, work). Although some individuals with Generalized Anxiety Disorder may worry excessively about their appearance, these preoccupations occur together with worries about other aspects of life, are rarely delusional, and are not typically accompanied by the recurrent checking behaviour associated with Body Dysmorphic Disorder.
- **Boundary with Social Anxiety Disorder:** In Social Anxiety Disorder, symptoms are in response to feared social situations and the primary concern is about the person's own behaviour or manifestations of anxiety (e.g., fear they may blush) being negatively evaluated by others. In contrast, individuals with Body Dysmorphic Disorder believe their appearance or a specific feature of their appearance (e.g., belief that skin appears permanently red) looks flawed. Some individuals with Body Dysmorphic Disorder experience significant anxiety in social situations and fear they will be seen as ugly and therefore be rejected. If their concerns are broader than the exclusive focus on their perceived flaws or defects in appearance and other symptoms of Social Anxiety Disorder are present, both conditions may be diagnosed.
- **Boundary with Eating Disorders:** Body Dysmorphic Disorder can be distinguished from Anorexia Nervosa, Bulimia Nervosa, and Binge-Eating Disorder because preoccupations in Body Dysmorphic Disorder are not limited to body image concerns (i.e., idealized low body weight). Rather, the preoccupations can encompass a variety of idealized aspects of appearance. Some individuals with Body Dysmorphic Disorder exhibit muscle dysmorphia such that they are preoccupied about being insufficiently muscular or lean and in response, may exhibit unusual eating behaviours (e.g., excessive protein consumption) or engage in excessive exercise (e.g., weight lifting). In these cases, behaviours related to diet and exercise are motivated by a desire to be more muscular rather than to attain or maintain a low body weight. However, if low body weight idealization is central to the clinical presentation and all other diagnostic requirements are met, a diagnosis of Anorexia Nervosa instead of Body Dysmorphic Disorder should be assigned.
- **Boundary with Body Integrity Dysphoria:** The persistent preoccupation and excessive self-consciousness experienced by individuals with Body Dysmorphic Disorder derives from their concerns that an aspect of their body or appearance is perceived by others to be ugly or deformed. In contrast, the persistent discomfort or intense negative feelings about a particular body part (most commonly one or both arms or legs) experienced by individuals with the rare condition of Body Integrity Dysphoria derives from their sense that a part of their body is alien or the way their body is configured is wrong or unnatural. This leads to a desire to amputate or be rid of the particular body part, rather than wishing to improve its appearance.
- Boundary with Gender Incongruence of Adolescence and Adulthood and Gender Incongruence of Childhood: Gender Incongruence of Adolescence and Adulthood as well as Gender Incongruence of Childhood differ from Body Dysmorphic Disorder in that in these conditions the preoccupation with aspects of bodily appearance centres exclusively on the individual's experience of a marked incongruence between their expressed or experienced gender and their biological sex. A common consequence is that individuals will clearly state a desire to alter their primary and secondary sex characteristics such that they align with their experienced gender.

6B22 Olfactory Reference Disorder

Essential (Required) Features:

- Persistent preoccupation about emitting a foul or offensive body odour or breath (i.e., halitosis) that is either unnoticeable or slightly noticeable to others such that the individual's concerns are markedly disproportionate to the smell, if any is perceptible.
- Excessive self-consciousness about the perceived odour, often including ideas of self-reference (i.e., the conviction that people are taking notice, judging, or talking about the odour).
- The preoccupation or self-consciousness is accompanied by any of the following:
 - Repetitive and excessive behaviours, such as repeatedly checking for body odour or checking the perceived source of the smell (e.g., clothing), or repeatedly seeking reassurance;
 - Excessive attempts to camouflage, alter, or prevent the perceived odour (e.g., using perfume or deodorant, repetitive bathing, brushing teeth, or changing clothing, avoidance of certain foods);
 - Marked avoidance of social or other situations or stimuli that increase distress about the perceived foul or offensive odour (e.g., public transportation or other situations of close proximity to other people).
- The symptoms are not a manifestation of another medical condition and are not due to the effects of a substance or medication on the central nervous system, including withdrawal effects.
- The symptoms result in significant distress or significant impairment in personal, family, social, educational, occupational, or other important areas of functioning. If functioning is maintained, it is only through significant additional effort.

Insight specifiers:

Individuals with Olfactory Reference Disorder vary in the degree of insight they have about the accuracy of the beliefs that underlie their symptoms. Although many can acknowledge that their thoughts or behaviours are untrue or excessive, some cannot, and the beliefs of some individuals with Olfactory Reference Disorder may at times appear to be delusional in the degree of conviction or fixity with which these beliefs are held (e.g., an individual is convinced that she is emitting a foul odour). Insight may vary substantially even over short periods of time, for example depending on the level of current anxiety or distress, and should be assessed with respect to a time period that is sufficient to allow for such fluctuation (e.g., a few days or a week). The degree of insight that an individual exhibits in the context of Olfactory Reference Disorder can be specified as follows:

6B22.0 Olfactory Reference Disorder with fair to good insight

• Much of the time, the individual is able to entertain the possibility that their disorderspecific beliefs may not be true and they are willing to accept an alternative explanation for their experience. This specifier level may still be applied if, at circumscribed times (e.g., when highly anxious), the individual demonstrates no insight.

6B22.1 Olfactory Reference Disorder with poor to absent insight

• Most or all of the time, the individual is convinced that the disorder-specific beliefs are true and they cannot accept an alternative explanation for their experience. The lack of insight exhibited by the individual does not vary markedly as a function of anxiety level.

6B22.Z Olfactory Reference Disorder, unspecified

Additional Clinical Features:

• The diagnosis of Olfactory Reference Disorder partly depends on determining whether there is evidence of the odour reported by the individual. A variety of other medical and dental conditions can be associated with unpleasant odours (e.g., periodontal disease, trimethylaminuria), and these underlying causes should be ruled out, particularly if the odour is detectable even if slight. However, the perceived odour may vary in intensity or the individual may be unable or unwilling to remove camouflaging odours (e.g., perfume), which may make it difficult to judge how noticeable the odour is. In such cases corroborative evidence may be required from a knowledgeable informant or physician who has conducted a physical examination of the individual.

Boundary with Normality (Threshold):

• Fear of emitting offensive odours is, to some extent, common in many cultures. However Olfactory Reference Disorder can be differentiated from normal concerns by the degree of preoccupation, frequency of related recurrent behaviours performed, as well as the degree of distress or interference the individual experiences as a consequence of these symptoms.

Course Features:

- Onset of Olfactory Reference Disorder is most often reported as occurring during the mid-twenties; however, onset during puberty or adolescence is also common.
- Olfactory Reference Disorder is generally considered a chronic and persistent disorder with a potential worsening over time.
- Embarrassment and shame, in conjunction with limited insight and false beliefs that may be delusional in intensity, may lead to underreporting of concerns related to perceived body odour in clinical settings.
- Individuals with Olfactory Reference Disorders often consult non-mental health services on multiple occasions (i.e., medical, surgical, dental specialists) about their perceived odour prior to receiving a diagnosis.

Developmental Presentations:

• Developmentally distinct presentations of Olfactory Reference Disorder for children, adolescents, or older adults have not been reported.

Culture-Related Features:

- Within more collectivistic cultures, or cultures that emphasize shame, the nature of the concern about bodily odour may be focused around fears of causing offense to others.
- Cultural concepts related to Olfactory Reference Disorder include *taijin kyofusho* in Japan and related conditions in Korea and other societies. They are characterized by intense fear of offending, embarrassing or hurting others through improper or awkward social behaviour, movements, or appearance. If the concerns focus specifically on body odour, Olfactory Reference Disorder is the appropriate ICD-11 diagnosis. In these cases, insight is typically poor to absent.

Boundaries with Other Disorders and Conditions (Differential Diagnosis):

- **Boundary with Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder:** Recurrent thoughts and repetitive behaviours occur in Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder. However, in Olfactory Reference Disorder, the intrusive thoughts and repetitive behaviours are limited to concerns about body or breath odour. If obsessive thoughts and compulsive behaviours are not restricted to concerns about emitting a smell, both disorders can be diagnosed.
- **Boundary with Delusional Disorder and other Primary Psychotic Disorders:** Many individuals with Olfactory Reference Disorder lack insight about the irrationality of their thoughts and behaviours to such an extent that convictions that they are emitting a foul odour may at times appear to be delusional in the degree of conviction or fixity with which these beliefs are held (see Insight specifiers, page 309). If these beliefs are restricted to the fear or conviction of emitting a foul odour in an individual without a history of other delusions, that is, these beliefs occur entirely in the context of symptomatic episodes of Olfactory Reference Disorder and are fully consistent with the other clinical features or the disorder, Olfactory Reference Disorder should be diagnosed instead of Delusional Disorder. Individuals with Olfactory Reference Disorder do not exhibit other features of psychosis (e.g., hallucinations or formal thought disorder).
- **Boundary with Mood Disorders:** In Depressive Disorders with psychotic symptoms, somatic delusions related to a perceived odour can occur (e.g., that their flesh is rotting and smells fetid), but typically are an integral part of a range of preoccupations or delusions (e.g., related to guilt, nihilism, poverty, etc.) and occur alongside other depressive symptoms (e.g., loss of interest in pleasurable activities, suicidality, sleep disturbances, weight loss or gain, etc.). However, both disorders may co-occur and both diagnoses may be assigned if warranted.
- **Boundary with Social Anxiety Disorder:** Individuals with Olfactory Reference Disorder may avoid social situations specifically because they believe they are emitting a foul odour. In contrast, in Social Anxiety Disorder, social situations are avoided because the individual is concerned that he or she will act in a way, or show anxiety symptoms, that will be negatively evaluated by others (i.e., be humiliating, embarrassing, lead to rejection, or be offensive).

6B23 Hypochondriasis (Health Anxiety Disorder)

Essential (Required) Features:

• Persistent preoccupation or fear about the possibility of having one or more serious, progressive or life-threatening illnesses.

- The preoccupation is accompanied by either:
 - Repetitive and excessive health-related behaviours, such as repeatedly checking of the body for evidence of illness, spending inordinate amounts of time searching for information about the feared illness, repeatedly seeking reassurance (e.g., arranging multiple medical consultations); or
 - Maladaptive avoidance behaviour related to health (e.g., avoids medical appointments).
- The symptoms result in significant distress or significant impairment in personal, family, social, educational, occupational or other important areas of functioning. If functioning is maintained, it is only through significant additional effort.

Insight specifiers:

Individuals with Hypochondriasis vary in the degree of insight they have about the accuracy of the beliefs that underlie their health concerns. Although many can acknowledge that their thoughts or behaviours are untrue or excessive, some cannot, and the beliefs of a small minority of individuals with Hypochondriasis may at times appear to be delusional in the degree of conviction or fixity with which these beliefs are held (e.g., an individual is convinced that he has a terminal illness). Insight may vary substantially even over short periods of time, for example depending on the level of current anxiety or distress, and should be assessed with respect to a time period that is sufficient to allow for such fluctuation (e.g., a few days or a week). The degree of insight that an individual exhibits in the context of Hypochondriasis can be specified as follows:

6B23.0 Hypochondriasis with fair to good insight

• Much of the time, the individual is able to entertain the possibility that their disorderspecific beliefs may not be true and they are willing to accept an alternative explanation for their experience. This specifier level may still be applied if, at circumscribed times (e.g., when highly anxious), the individual demonstrates no insight.

6B23.1 Hypochondriasis with poor to absent insight

• Most or all of the time, the individual is convinced that the disorder-specific beliefs are true and they cannot accept an alternative explanation for their experience. The lack of insight exhibited by the individual does not vary markedly as a function of anxiety level.

6B23.Z Hypochondriasis, unspecified

Additional Clinical Features:

- Individuals with Hypochondriasis often make catastrophic misinterpretations of bodily signs or symptoms, including normal or commonplace sensations (e.g., worrying that a tension headache is indicative of a brain tumour).
- Individuals with Hypochondriasis typically have a high level of anxiety about health, are often hypervigilant of bodily sensations and symptoms, and may become easily alarmed

about their personal health status, to the extent that the experience of anxiety, including panic attacks, may be a significant presenting feature. For this reason, Health Anxiety Disorder is included as an alternate name for the disorder.

- Individuals with Hypochondriasis may undergo repeated, unnecessary, medical examinations and diagnostic tests, with deterioration of the clinician-individual relationship, and frequent 'doctor-shopping'. They may also spend excessive time searching health and medical sites on the internet.
- Conversely, individuals with Hypochondriasis may respond to their anxiety about their health by avoiding contact with reminders of health status, including medical check-ups, health facilities, and health-related information.
- Individuals with Hypochondriasis may become alarmed about their health when someone they know becomes sick, when they read or hear about illness, or in response to life stressors. The preoccupation is often a central topic of their conversation with others.

Boundary with Normality (Threshold):

- The preoccupation is not simply a reasonable concern related to a circumscribed situation (e.g., awaiting results of testing for a serious illness) and persists or reoccurs despite appropriate medical evaluation and reassurance.
- If a chronic or acute medical condition is present, or the individual is at high risk for developing a medical condition (e.g., due to high genetic risk, a recent exposure to a communicable disease), preoccupations related to such conditions are common and a high threshold should be used for a diagnosis of Hypochondriasis. The diagnosis of Hypochondriasis should only be made if the degree of preoccupation and repetitive health-related behaviours or avoidance are clearly excessive and disproportionate.
- Health-related anxiety is common among the elderly. New onset of health concerns in later-life may reflect normal age-related concerns or, if excessive and impairing, the presence of a Depressive Disorder rather than Hypochondriasis.

Course Features:

- Hypochondriasis (Health Anxiety Disorder) is generally considered to be a chronic and relapsing condition leading to significant impairment.
- Individuals with Hypochondriasis are much more likely to seek medical services for somatic rather than mental health reasons, which often contributes to health-related anxiety due to the waiting for diagnostic testing or the belief that their concerns are not being taken seriously.

Developmental Presentations

- Hypochondriasis (Health Anxiety Disorder) tends to have its onset in early to midadulthood. Identification is often delayed because patients seek multiple consultations with health providers focusing on having a serious physical illness.
- Hypochondriasis is thought to be rare in childhood and adolescence. However, fears and beliefs focusing on health may emerge in early childhood with significant levels of symptoms persisting throughout childhood, potentially contributing to diagnostic requirements being met in adulthood.
- Hypochondriasis is common among the elderly—though often under-diagnosed—with symptoms frequently focusing on memory loss. Clinicians may fail to identify

Hypochondriasis due to the presence of comorbid medical conditions that emerge with aging and/or co-occurrence with depressive symptoms that overshadow hypochondriacal concerns. Preoccupations with bodily concerns increases with age such that determining the degree to which these concerns are manifestations of depressive symptoms, physical conditions, an accurate reflection of declining bodily functioning, or Hypochondriasis is challenging.

• Among younger children, differential diagnosis between Hypochondriasis and Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder is particularly challenging because health concerns can be prominent features of both disorders. Children may not be able to articulate the content of their fears or the focus of their apprehension making it is difficult to assess the difference between symptoms of Hypochondriasis and Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder.

Culture-Related Features:

• In Hypochondriasis (Health Anxiety Disorder), the focus of illness belief or conviction may be influenced by cultural beliefs about how the illness might have been acquired. For example, in some cultures, Hypochondriasis might arise as a result of perceived failure to follow prescribed cultural practices or rituals or as the effect of a curse, witchcraft or sorcery.

Sex- and/or Gender-Related Features:

• There are no known differences in prevalence rates between genders for Hypochondriasis.

Boundaries with Other Disorders and Conditions (Differential Diagnosis):

- **Boundary with Body Dysmorphic Disorder:** Body Dysmorphic Disorder is characterized by persistent preoccupation with perceived flaws or defects in the individual's appearance, whereas in Hypochondriasis the preoccupation is about the possibility of having one or more serious, progressive or life-threatening illnesses.
- **Boundary with other Obsessive-Compulsive or Related Disorders:** Recurrent thoughts and repetitive behaviours occur in other Obsessive-Compulsive or Related Disorders but the foci of apprehension and form of repetitive behaviours are distinct for each diagnostic entity. In Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder, the intrusive thoughts and repetitive behaviours are not limited to concerns about health but rather encompass a variety of obsessions (e.g., of contamination, of causing harm) and compulsions (e.g., excessive washing, counting, checking) intended to neutralize these obsessions. In Body Dysmorphic Disorder, the preoccupation is with perceived flaws in appearance or physical feature(s), whereas in Olfactory Reference Disorder, individuals are preoccupied exclusively with emitting a perceived foul or offensive body odour. However, Obsessive-Compulsive or Related Disorder can co-occur, and multiple diagnoses from this grouping may be assigned if warranted.
- **Boundary with Delusional Disorder and other Primary Psychotic Disorders:** Some individuals with Hypochondriasis lack insight about the irrationality of their thoughts and behaviours to such an extent that convictions of having a medical illness may at times appear to be delusional in the degree of conviction or fixity with which these beliefs are held (see Insight specifiers, page 312). If these beliefs are restricted to the fear or conviction of having a disease in an individual without a history of other delusions, that is, these beliefs occur entirely in the context of symptomatic episodes of Hypochondriasis and are fully consistent with the other clinical features of the disorder,

Hypochondriasis should be diagnosed instead of Delusional Disorder. Somatic delusions characteristic of some presentations of Delusional Disorder tend to be less medically plausible (e.g., that an organ is rotting) and are generally not focused on the belief that one has a specific disease. Individuals with Hypochondriasis do not exhibit other features of psychosis (e.g., hallucinations or formal thought disorder).

- **Boundary with Depressive Disorders:** In Depressive Disorders, hypochondriacal preoccupations or somatic delusions can occur, but typically are an integral part of a range of preoccupations or delusions (e.g., related to guilt, nihilism, poverty, etc.) and occur alongside other depressive symptoms (e.g., loss of interest in pleasurable activities, suicidality, sleep disturbances, weight loss or gain, etc.).
- **Boundary with Generalized Anxiety Disorder:** Individuals with Generalized Anxiety Disorder may have worries about their health, but they also harbour a range of other worries focused on negative events that could occur in several different aspects of everyday life (e.g., work, finances, health, family), and unlike Hypochondriasis there is typically not a persistent preoccupation with illness that persists despite medical evaluation and reassurance.
- **Boundary with Panic Disorder:** Panic Disorder is characterized by recurrent, unexpected panic attacks. Individuals with Panic Disorder often worry that the somatic symptoms they experience during panic attacks are evidence of serious medical condition (e.g., a heart attack or a stroke). An additional diagnosis of Hypochondriasis should not be assigned on that basis. Conversely, if an individual with Hypochondriasis experiences panic attacks exclusively in response to preoccupation or fear about the possibility of having one or more serious, progressive or life-threatening illnesses, an additional diagnosis of Panic Disorder is not warranted. However, if both unexpected panic attacks and persistent preoccupation or fear about the possibility of having one or more serious, progressive or life-threatening illnesses are present and all other diagnostic requirements are met, both diagnoses may be assigned.
- **Boundary with Bodily Distress Disorder:** Bodily Distress Disorder is characterized by the presence of bodily symptoms that are distressing to the individual and to which excessive attention is directed, such as dwelling on the severity of the symptoms and repeatedly visiting health care providers. While some individuals with Hypochondriasis may experience bodily symptoms that cause distress and for which they may seek medical attention, their main concern in doing so is the fear that the symptoms are indicative of having a serious, progressive or life-threatening illness. In contrast, individuals with Bodily Distress Disorder are typically preoccupied with the bodily symptoms themselves and the impact they have on their lives, and while they may seek out health care providers who can determine the cause of their symptoms, they do so in order to get relief from the symptoms, not to disconfirm the belief that they have a serious medical illness.

6B24 Hoarding Disorder

Essential (Required) Features:

• Accumulation of possessions that results in living spaces becoming cluttered to the point that their use or safety is compromised. *Note:* If living areas are uncluttered this is only due to the intervention of third parties (e.g., family members, cleaners, authorities). Accumulation occurs due to both:

- Repetitive urges or behaviours related to amassing items, which may be passive (e.g., accumulation of incoming flyers or mail) or active (e.g., excessive acquisition of free, purchased, or stolen items).
- Difficulty discarding possessions due to a perceived need to save items and distress associated with discarding them.
- The symptoms result in significant distress or significant impairment in personal, family, social, educational, occupational or other important areas of functioning.

Insight specifiers:

Individuals with Hoarding Disorder vary in the degree to which they recognize that hoarding-related beliefs and behaviours (pertaining to excessive acquisition, difficulty discarding, or clutter) are problematic. For example, some can acknowledge that their living space presents a hazard, that many of the items they save are without value and unlikely to be of future use, or that their distress associated with discarding items is not rational. Others are convinced that their hoarding-related beliefs and behaviours are not problematic, despite evidence to the contrary, and the beliefs of some may at times appear to be delusional in the degree of conviction or fixity with which these beliefs are held (e.g., an individual insists that items that objectively have little or no value are critically important to save or denies that there is any problem with their living space). Insight may vary substantially even over short periods of time, for example depending on the level of current anxiety or distress, such as when a family member or other person forces the individual to discard items. The degree of insight that an individual exhibits in the context of Hoarding Disorder can be specified as follows:

6B24.0 Hoarding Disorder with fair to good insight

• Much of the time, the individual recognizes that hoarding-related beliefs and behaviours (pertaining to excessive acquisition, difficulty discarding, or clutter) are problematic. This specifier level may still be applied if, at circumscribed times (e.g., when being forced to discard items), the individual demonstrates no insight.

6B24.1 Hoarding Disorder with poor to absent insight

• Most or all of the time, the individual is convinced that hoarding-related beliefs and behaviours (pertaining to excessive acquisition, difficulty discarding, or clutter) are not problematic, despite evidence to the contrary. The lack of insight exhibited by the individual does not vary markedly as a function of anxiety level.

6B24.Z Hoarding Disorder, unspecified

Additional Clinical Features:

• Assessment for the diagnosis of Hoarding Disorder may require obtaining additional information beyond self-report such as reports from collateral informants or visual inspection of clutter in the home.

- Generally, items are hoarded because of their emotional significance (e.g., association with a significant event, person, place, or time), instrumental characteristics (e.g., perceived usefulness), or intrinsic value (e.g., perceived aesthetic qualities).
- Individuals with Hoarding Disorder may be unable to find important items (e.g., bills, tax forms), circulate easily inside their home, or even exit their home in the event of an emergency. Ability to prepare food, use sinks or home appliances (e.g., refrigerator, stove, or washing machine) or furniture (e.g., sofas, chairs, beds, tables) may also be compromised.
- Individuals with Hoarding Disorder may experience a range of chronic medical problems, such as obesity, and are exposed to various environmental risks often caused by their hoarding behaviour, including fire hazards, injuries from falling, contamination by rotting perishable foods, and allergies from contact with dust pollen and bacteria.

Boundary with Normality (Threshold):

• Collectors acquire many items that they report being attached to and reluctant to discard. However, they are also more targeted in their acquisitions (e.g., confining their acquisitions to a narrow range of items), more selective (e.g., planning and purchasing only predetermined items), more likely to organize their possessions, and less likely to accumulate items in an excessive manner.

Course Features:

- Hoarding behaviours often begin during childhood or adolescence and persist into later life. Onset after age 40 is rare.
- Hoarding Disorder is typically chronic and progressive.
- The consequences of hoarding become more severe and impairing with age due to accumulation of objects over time or secondary to an increased inability to discard or organize possessions because of the onset of comorbid physical and co-occurring mental disorders.
- Among the elderly, Hoarding Disorder is associated with impairment in a range of lifedomains, including unsafe living conditions, social isolation, pathological self-neglect (i.e., poor hygiene), co-occurring mental disorders, and medical comorbidities.

Developmental Presentations

- Hoarding Disorder has its onset in childhood and adolescence (i.e., between the ages of 11 and 15) with prevalence rates reported as high as 2 to 3.7% by mid-adolescence. Later life onset may be a manifestation of the cognitive deficits and behavioural symptoms associated with Dementia (e.g., decreased inhibition or repetitive behaviour) rather than Hoarding Disorder.
- Excessive collecting and accumulation of clutter characteristic of Hoarding Disorder in adults may not be as evident among youth because caregivers may restrict excessive acquisition of objects. As such, hoarding is more likely to be restricted to particular areas (such as a child's bedroom) and types of materials (such as school-related objects, toys, and food) that the child can most easily access.
- Collecting and saving items is developmentally appropriate behaviour for young children up to the age of six making it more challenging for parents and clinicians to differentiate problematic hoarding from age-appropriate collecting and retaining objects.

- Individuals with Hoarding Disorder are more likely to experience co-occurring mental disorders or comorbid medical conditions, though this varies across developmental periods. Children and adolescents with hoarding symptoms are more likely to have co-occurring mental disorders, such as Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder or Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder. Hoarding symptoms are also more common among youth with Autism Spectrum Disorder or Prader-Willi Syndrome. However, an additional diagnosis of Hoarding Disorder may be appropriate if the symptoms of each disorder require independent clinical attention. Among the elderly with Hoarding Disorder, Depressive Disorders, Anxiety or Fear-Related Disorders, and Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder are the most common co-occurring mental disorders.
- Hoarding occurring later in life has also been correlated with decreased memory, attention, and executive functioning, though the increased rates of co-occurring disorders such as Dementia and Depressive Disorders may also be involved.

Culture-Related Features:

- The nature of what is collected and the meaning, emotional valence, and value that people with Hoarding Disorder assign to their possessions may have cultural significance.
- Cultural values of thriftiness and accumulation should not be mistaken as evidence of disorder. In some cultural environments, saving items for later use is encouraged. This may be especially true in contexts of scarcity or within groups who experienced protracted periods of scarcity. Unless the symptoms are beyond what is expected of the cultural norms, these behaviours should not be assigned a diagnosis of Hoarding Disorder.

Sex- and/or Gender-Related Features:

- Although prevalence rates for Hoarding Disorder are higher for women in clinical samples, some epidemiological studies have reported significantly higher prevalence rates among men.
- Men with Hoarding Disorder are more likely to have co-occurring Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder.
- Although the presenting features of Hoarding Disorder do not vary across gender, women tend to exhibit more excessive acquisition, particularly by means of compulsive buying.

Boundaries with Other Disorders and Conditions (Differential Diagnosis):

• **Boundary with Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder:** Individuals affected by Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder may accumulate excessive amounts of objects (i.e., compulsive hoarding). However, unlike Hoarding Disorder, the behaviour is undertaken with the goal of neutralizing or reducing concomitant distress and anxiety arising from obsessional content such as aggressive (e.g., fear of harming others), sexual/religious (e.g., fear of committing blasphemous or disrespectful acts), contamination (e.g., fear of spreading infectious diseases), or symmetry/ordering (e.g., feeling of incompleteness) themes. Furthermore, even in individuals affected by Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder who have poor or absent insight, the behaviour is generally unwanted and distressing, whereas in Hoarding Disorder it may be associated with pleasure or enjoyment.

However, if diagnostic requirements for both disorders are met, both diagnoses may be assigned.

- **Boundary with Autism Spectrum Disorder:** Autism Spectrum Disorder is characterized by restricted interests that may result in object accumulation and may also result in difficulty discarding objects due to distress associated with changes imposed on a familiar environment. However, individuals with Autism Spectrum Disorders display other symptoms that are typically lacking among individuals with Hoarding Disorder, including persistent deficits in social communication and reciprocal social interactions.
- **Boundary with Delusional Disorder and other Primary Psychotic Disorders:** In Schizophrenia or Other Primary Psychotic Disorders, object accumulation may occur but is typically driven by delusions. Some individuals with Hoarding Disorder lack insight about the irrationality of their thoughts and behaviours to such an extent that convictions of the importance of acquiring and retaining items may at times appear to be delusional in the degree of conviction or fixity with which these beliefs are held (see Insight specifiers, page 316). If these beliefs are restricted to the fear of discarding items or conviction that items have a special importance despite objective evidence to the contrary without a history of other delusions, that is, these beliefs occur entirely in the other clinical features of the disorder, Hoarding Disorder and are fully consistent with the other clinical features of the disorder, Hoarding Disorder do not exhibit other features of psychosis (e.g., hallucinations or formal thought disorder).
- **Boundary with Mood Disorders:** Unlike individuals with Hoarding Disorder, those with Mood Disorders may exhibit hoarding secondary to depressive or manic symptomatology. In the case of Depressive Disorders, decreased energy, lack of initiative or apathy may lead to object accumulation, which unlike Hoarding Disorder, is done without any intention or purpose. Furthermore, individuals with Depressive Disorders may be indifferent to hoarding objects and display no distress associated with discarding them. In the case of Bipolar Disorders, object accumulation may be secondary to excessive buying that can occur during Manic Episodes. However, those with Bipolar Disorders do not have difficulty discarding or parting with possessions and only very rarely are Manic Episodes of sufficient duration to allow for a substantial amount of clutter to develop in the home.
- **Boundary with Eating Disorders:** Some individuals diagnosed with Feeding or Eating Disorders may accumulate large quantities of food to allow for binge eating in specific situations (e.g., while at home alone). However, in contrast to Hoarding Disorder, the purpose of accumulation is restricted to the consumption of food. Concerns about being or becoming overweight as well as body image distortions are not present in Hoarding Disorder.
- **Boundary with Dementia:** The symptoms are not a manifestation of Dementia, in which some individuals accumulate objects as a result of progressive neurocognitive deficit. Unlike Hoarding Disorder, individuals with Dementia display little interest in accumulating objects or distress associated with discarding items. Furthermore, collecting behaviour in Dementia may be accompanied by severe personality and behavioural changes, such as apathy, sexual indiscretions, and motor stereotypies.
- **Boundary with Prader-Willi Syndrome:** Prader-Willi Syndrome is associated with an increased drive to eat and a range of compulsive symptoms, including food storing. The presence of short stature, hypogonadism, failure to thrive, hypotonia, and a history of feeding difficulty in the neonatal period are helpful for the differential diagnosis with Hoarding Disorder.

6B25 Body-Focused Repetitive Behaviour Disorders

Body focused repetitive behaviour disorders are characterized by recurrent and habitual actions directed at the integument (e.g., hair pulling, skin picking, lip-biting), typically accompanied by unsuccessful attempts to decrease or stop the behaviour involved, and which lead to dermatological sequelae (e.g., hair loss, skin lesions, lip abrasions). The behaviour may occur in brief episodes scattered throughout the day or in less frequent but more sustained periods. The symptoms result in significant distress or significant impairment in personal, family, social, educational, occupational or other important areas of functioning.

General Cultural Considerations for Body-Focused Repetitive Behaviour Disorders

• People who may inflict bodily harm to themselves (i.e., self-flagellation or self-cutting) as a part of religious ceremonies should not be assigned this diagnosis.

6B25.0 Trichotillomania (Hair Pulling Disorder)

Essential (Required) Features:

- Recurrent pulling of one's hair.
- Unsuccessful attempts to stop or decrease hair pulling.
- Significant hair loss results from pulling behaviour.
- The symptoms result in significant distress or significant impairment in personal, family, social, educational, occupational or other important areas of functioning.

Additional Clinical Features:

- Hair pulling may occur from any region of the body where hair grows. However, the most common sites are the scalp, eyebrows, and eyelids. Less frequently reported sites are axillary, facial, pubic, and peri-rectal regions. Patterns of hair loss are variable with some areas of complete alopecia and others with thinning hair density.
- Individuals with Trichotillomania (Hair Pulling Disorder) may pull hair in a widely distributed pattern (i.e., pulling single hairs from all over a site) such that hair loss may not be clearly visible. Alternately, individuals may attempt to conceal or camouflage hair loss (e.g., by using makeup, scarves, or wigs).
- The diagnosis of Trichotillomania is typically made based on direct observation or physical examination of the hair loss. If this is not possible (e.g., because of religious proscriptions), then it may be difficult to make a judgment about the extent of hair loss. In such cases corroborative evidence may be required from a knowledgeable informant or physician who has conducted a physical examination of the individual.
- Hair pulling may occur in brief episodes scattered throughout the day or in less frequent but more sustained periods that can continue for hours. Hair pulling may endure for months or years before coming to clinical attention.
- Trichotillomania often presents with rituals surrounding hair such as visually or tactilely examining the hair or orally manipulating the hair after it has been pulled. Individuals who commonly swallow or eat the hair that has been pulled (trichophagia) can experience serious and even life-threatening gastrointestinal symptoms, depending on the volume of hair consumed.

- Focused hair pulling often increases during periods of increased psychological distress.
- Hair pulling behaviour is associated with a variety of reported effects including regulation of affect and arousal, tension-reduction, and promotion of pleasure, which presumably reinforce these behaviours. However, in the aftermath of hair pulling, many individuals report a variety of negative affective states, such as a sense of loss of control or shame. Individuals with Trichotillomania report varying degrees of awareness of their hair pulling behaviour.
- Excoriation Disorder is a common co-occurring condition in individuals with Trichotillomania. Trichotillomania also commonly co-occurs with depressive and anxiety symptoms, Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder, and other body-focused repetitive behaviours (e.g., nail biting).

Boundary with Normality (Threshold):

• Occasional pulling of a grey or out-of-place hair is normal and done by most people at some time in their lives. Many individuals also twist and play with their hair, whereas others may bite or tear rather than pull their hair; these behaviours do not qualify for a diagnosis of Trichotillomania (Hair Pulling Disorder). Trichotillomania involves recurrent hair pulling and is associated with significant distress or impairment, which are not present in occasional, normal pulling.

Course Features:

- Trichotillomania (Hair Pulling Disorder) is generally considered a chronic condition; however, for some individuals, symptoms may wax and wane for weeks, months, or years at a time without intervention. Rates of remission decrease with increasing time since symptom onset.
- Patterns of hair pulling behaviour vary greatly and individual sites of hair pulling may change over time.

Developmental Presentations:

- Onset of Trichotillomania (Hair Pulling Disorder) is bimodal, with a peak during early childhood and one during early adolescence.
- Hair-pulling behaviour in infancy (i.e., before age of 2 years) is relatively common with most individuals ceasing to engage in the behaviour by early childhood. However, many adults reporting a chronic history of Trichotillomania describe early childhood onset. It is therefore unknown whether onset in early childhood (compared to adolescent-onset) presents as a distinct subtype of the disorder or what factors may contribute to persistence.
- Onset is most common in early adolescence, coinciding with puberty. Adolescent onset is associated with greater chronicity and impairment. Prevalence rates among adolescents are similar to adults (approximately 1 to 2% of the general population).
- Children and youth engage more frequently in automatic hair pulling, that is, they engage in the behaviour outside of awareness. Focused, intentional hair pulling is often preceded by intense urges and followed by relief is more common among adolescents and adults.
- The negative impact of hair pulling appears to become more severe across developmental periods. Children under age 10 appear to experience less academic

impact than older children and adolescents, who tend to report more difficulties in school attendance and academic performance as a result of hair pulling.

• Similar to adults, children and adolescents with Trichotillomania appear to have high rates of co-occurring mental health disorders including Generalized Anxiety Disorder, Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder, Excoriation (skin-picking) Disorder, other Body-Focused Repetitive Behaviour Disorders, and Depressive Disorders. Children and adolescents may also be more likely to present with co-occurring Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder.

Sex- and/or Gender-Related Features:

- Prevalence rates appear to be equal among girls and boys in childhood, though female adolescents and adults are more commonly diagnosed.
- Although there is no evidence for gender differences in course and symptom presentation, men are more likely to experience a co-occurring Anxiety or Fear-Related Disorder or Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder.
- Focused hair pulling in women often increases during puberty as well as at other times of hormonal fluctuations during adulthood (i.e., menstruation, perimenopause).

Boundaries with Other Disorders and Conditions (Differential Diagnosis):

- **Boundary with other Obsessive-Compulsive or Related Disorders:** Repetitive behaviours observed in Trichotillomania (Hair Pulling Disorder) occur in other Obsessive-Compulsive or Related Disorders but these are typically related to specific foci of apprehension and are associated with distinct intent for each diagnostic entity. Individuals diagnosed with Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder may engage in hair pulling behaviour (e.g., as a symmetry ritual meant to 'balance' their hair). Furthermore, individuals with Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder, often exhibit other symmetry rituals alongside identifiable obsessions and compulsions unrelated to hair pulling. Nonetheless, co-occurrence with Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder is common and if both disorders are present both may be diagnosed. Body Dysmorphic Disorder may be associated with removal of body hair that the individual perceives as ugly or as appearing abnormal.
- **Boundary with Stereotyped Movement Disorder:** A stereotyped movement is a repetitive, seemingly driven nonfunctional motor behaviour (e.g., head banging, body rocking, self-biting). These behaviours rarely include hair pulling behaviour but if they do, the behaviour tends to be composed of coordinated movements that are patterned and predictable. Furthermore, stereotyped movements are more likely to present very early in life (i.e., before 2 years of age), whereas Trichotillomania typically has an onset in early adolescence.
- **Boundary with Schizophrenia or Other Primary Psychotic Disorders:** Individuals with Schizophrenia or Other Primary Psychotic Disorder may remove hair in response to a delusion or hallucination. An additional diagnosis of Trichotillomania should not be assigned in such cases.
- Boundary with medical conditions classified elsewhere and Disorders Due to Substance Use: The symptoms are not a manifestation of another medical condition (e.g., inflammation of the hair follicles). Skin biopsy or dermoscopy are able to differentiate individuals with trichotillomania from those with dermatological disorders. Although hair pulling behaviour may be exacerbated by certain substances (e.g., amphetamine), there is no evidence that substances can be the primary cause of recurrent hair pulling.

6B25.1 Excoriation (Skin Picking) Disorder

Essential (Required) Features:

- Recurrent picking of one's skin.
- Unsuccessful attempts to stop or decrease skin picking.
- Significant skin lesions resulting from picking behaviour.
- The symptoms result in significant distress or significant impairment in personal, family, social, educational, occupational or other important areas of functioning.

Additional Clinical Features:

- Trichotillomania is a common comorbid condition in individuals with Excoriation Disorder. Furthermore, Excoriation (Skin Picking) Disorder commonly co-occurs with depressive and anxiety symptoms, Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder, and other body-focused repetitive behaviours (e.g., nail biting).
- The most commonly picked sites are the face, arms and hands, but many individuals pick from multiple body sites. Individuals may pick at healthy skin, at minor skin irregularities, at lesions such as pimples or calluses, or at scabs from previous picking. Most individuals pick with their fingernails, although a substantial minority use tweezers, knives, or other objects. The Essential Features emphasize that skin picking must lead to skin lesions. However, individuals with this disorder often attempt to conceal or camouflage evidence of skin picking (e.g., using make-up or clothing). Therefore, careful assessment including information from collateral sources may be required to ascertain the presence of Excoriation Disorder symptomatology.
- Individuals with Excoriation Disorder often spend significant amounts of time on their behaviour, sometimes several hours each day. Skin picking may endure for months or years before coming to clinical attention.
- Excoriation Disorder often presents with rituals surrounding the skin such as visually or tactilely examining the skin, orally manipulating, or eating the skin or scab after it has been picked.
- Skin picking behaviour is associated with a variety of reported effects including regulation of affect and arousal, tension-reduction, and promotion of pleasure, which presumably reinforce these behaviours. However, in the aftermath of skin picking, many individuals report a variety of negative affective states, such as a sense of loss of control or shame. Individuals with Excoriation Disorder report varying degrees of awareness of their skin picking behaviour.

Boundary with Normality (Threshold):

• Occasional picking of one's skin (e.g., scabs, cuticles or acne) is normal and done by most people at some time in their lives. Some individuals bite their cuticles or surrounding skin; these behaviours do not qualify for a diagnosis of Excoriation (Skin Picking) Disorder. Excoriation Disorder involves recurrent picking and is associated with significant distress or impairment, which are not present in occasional, normal skin picking.

Course Features:

- Onset can occur at any age but most often coincides with onset or shortly after onset of puberty.
- The onset of Excoriation (Skin Picking) Disorder commonly occurs in association with dermatological condition, but the skin picking persists after the dermatological condition resolves.
- For some individuals an urge to pick at their skin may be preceded by emotional triggers such as increasing feelings of anxiety and tension or boredom. Others may pick at their skin in response to tactile sensitivity (i.e., skin irregularities) or bothersome skin sensations. In such cases, skin picking often results in an alleviation of tension, relief or a sense of gratification.
- Excoriation Disorder is generally considered a chronic condition. Some individuals may experience a waxing and waning of symptoms over weeks, months, or years at a time.

Developmental Presentations:

- Excoriation (Skin Picking) Disorder most often has its onset during adolescence typically corresponding to puberty. However, the emergence of symptoms can occur across the lifespan.
- Childhood-onset Excoriation Disorder is more prevalent among females.
- Automatic skin picking, which tends to occur unintentionally, outside of awareness, appears more frequently among individuals with childhood-onset Excoriation Disorder. Skin picking then appears to shift in adolescence and adulthood, as picking becomes focused. This picking appears to be generally intentional, connected to intense urges to pick, and often results in a sense of relief.

Sex- and/or Gender-Related Features:

- Prevalence rates for Excoriation Disorder are significantly higher for women.
- Men have an earlier age of onset for the disorder.

Boundaries with Other Disorders and Conditions (Differential Diagnosis):

Boundary with other Obsessive-Compulsive or Related Disorders: Repetitive • behaviours observed in Excoriation Disorder occur in other Obsessive-Compulsive or Related Disorders but these are typically related to specific foci of apprehension and are associated with distinct intent for each diagnostic entity. Individuals diagnosed with Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder may engage in skin picking behaviour (e.g., when they experience contamination obsessions that are associated with behaviours intended to pick the skin to remove contamination). Obsessions do not precede skin picking in Excoriation Disorder, and individuals with Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder often exhibit other compulsions that are unrelated to skin picking. Nonetheless, co-occurrence with Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder is common and both disorders may be diagnosed if warranted. Body Dysmorphic Disorder may be associated with picking as a means of improving the individual's appearance by 'removing' acne or other perceived blemishes of the skin that the individual believes are ugly or that appear abnormal. Individuals with Excoriation Disorder do not pick skin with the sole purpose of correcting a perceived defect in appearance.

- **Boundary with Stereotyped Movement Disorder:** A stereotyped movement is a repetitive, seemingly driven nonfunctional motor behaviour (e.g., head banging, body rocking, self-biting). These behaviours rarely include skin picking behaviour but if they do, the behaviour tends to be composed of coordinated movements that are patterned and predictable. Furthermore, stereotyped movements are more likely to present very early in life (i.e., before 2 years of age), whereas Excoriation Disorder typically has a later onset.
- **Boundary with Schizophrenia or Other Primary Psychotic Disorders:** Individuals with Schizophrenia or Other primary psychotic disorders may pick at their skin in response to a delusion or hallucination. Individuals with Excoriation Disorder do not report skin picking secondary to delusions or hallucinations.
- **Boundary with Prader-Willi Syndrome:** Individuals with Prader-Willi Syndrome may have early onset of skin picking more consistent with a Stereotyped Movement Disorder. Prader-Willi Syndrome is usually associated with a constellation of other symptoms such as Mild to Moderate Disorder of Intellectual Development, neonatal and infantile hypotonia, feeding problems and poor weight gain in infancy followed by hyperphagia and morbid obesity in childhood.
- Boundary with medical conditions classified elsewhere and Disorders Due to Substance Use: The symptoms are not a manifestation of another medical condition (e.g., scabies). However, skin picking may emerge following or be worsened by the presence of another condition (e.g., acne) and a diagnosis of Excoriation Disorder may be applied in this circumstance if diagnostic requirements are met. Skin picking may also result from the use or misuse of stimulants (e.g., cocaine, methamphetamine, prescription stimulants), but Excoriation Disorder should not be diagnosed if the skin picking occurs exclusively in this context.
- **Boundary with self-injurious and self-mutilating behaviours:** Unlike self-injurious and self-mutilating behaviours, skin picking behaviours characteristic of Excoriation Disorder are not performed with the express purpose of self-injury though such injury may occur as a result.

6B25.Y Other Specified Body-Focused Repetitive Behaviour Disorders

Essential (Required) Features:

- Recurrent habitual actions directed at the integument other than hair pulling or skin picking (e.g., lip biting or nail biting),
- Unsuccessful attempts to stop or decrease the behaviour.
- Significant lesions or other impact on appearance resulting from the behaviour.
- The symptoms result in significant distress or significant impairment in personal, family, social, educational, occupational or other important areas of functioning.

6B25.Z Body-Focused Repetitive Behaviour Disorders, Unspecified

6B2Y Other Specified Obsessive-Compulsive or Related Disorders

Essential (Required) Features:

• The presentation is characterized by symptoms that share primary clinical features with other Obsessive-Compulsive or Related Disorders (e.g., obsessions, intrusive thoughts

and preoccupations; compulsions, recurrent and habitual actions directed at the integument).

- The symptoms do not fulfil the diagnostic requirements for any other disorder in the Obsessive-Compulsive or Related Disorders grouping.
- The symptoms are not better accounted for by another Mental, Behavioural or Neurodevelopmental Disorder (e.g., a Primary Psychotic Disorder, an Impulse Control Disorder, an Anxiety or Fear-Related Disorder).
- The symptoms or behaviours are not developmentally appropriate or culturally sanctioned.
- The symptoms or behaviours are not a manifestation of another medical condition and are not due to the effects of a substance or medication on the central nervous system, including withdrawal effects.
- The symptoms result in significant distress or significant impairment in personal, family, social, educational, occupational or other important areas of functioning. If functioning is maintained, it is only through significant additional effort.

6B2Z Obsessive-Compulsive or Related Disorders, Unspecified

Note: In addition, Tourette Syndrome, classified under in the grouping Primary Tics and Tic Disorders in the Chapter on Diseases of the Nervous System, is cross-listed in this grouping because of its high co-occurrence, familial association, and analogous phenomenology (i.e., premonitory urges and repetitive behaviours) with Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder. Tourette Syndrome, along with Chronic Motor Tic Disorder and Chronic Phonic Tic Disorder, is also cross-listed in the grouping of Neurodevelopmental Disorders because of its frequent onset during the developmental period and high co-occurrence and familial association with Neurodevelopmental Disorders. The full CDDR for these disorders are provided in the section on Neurodevelopmental Disorders.

8A05.00 Tourette Syndrome

(See page 171 in Neurodevelopmental Disorders for full CDDR)

DISORDERS SPECIFICALLY ASSOCIATED WITH STRESS

Disorders Specifically Associated with Stress are directly related to exposure to a stressful or traumatic event, or a series of such events or adverse experiences. For each of the disorders in this grouping, an identifiable stressor is a necessary, though not sufficient, causal factor. Most people who experience stressors do not develop a disorder. Stressful events for some disorders in this grouping are within the normal range of life experiences (e.g., divorce, socio-economic problems, bereavement). Other disorders require exposure to a stressor that is extremely threatening or horrific in nature (i.e., potentially traumatic events). With all disorders in this grouping, it is the nature, pattern, and duration of the symptoms that arise in response to the stressful events—together with associated functional impairment—that distinguishes the disorders.

Disorders Specifically Associated with Stress include the following:

- 6B40 Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder
- 6B41 Complex Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder
- 6B42 Prolonged Grief Disorder
- 6B43 Adjustment Disorder
- 6B44 Reactive Attachment Disorder
- 6B45 Disinhibited Social Engagement Disorder
- 6B4Y Other Specified Disorders Specifically Associated with Stress

The categories in the grouping of Disorders Specifically Associated with Stress should not be used to classify normal responses to recent stressful or traumatic events.

To assist in differential diagnosis, also listed here is:

QF74 Acute Stress Reaction

Normal responses to recent traumatic events may be classifiable under Acute Stress Reaction. Acute Stress Reaction is not considered to be a mental disorder, but rather appears in the section of the ICD-11 that lists reasons for clinical encounters that are not diseases or disorders.

General Cultural Considerations for Disorders Specifically Associated with Stress

- Culturally sanctioned and recognized concepts and means of expressing distress, such as local idioms of distress, explanations, and syndromes, may be a prominent part of the trauma response. Examples of these cultural concepts include possession states in many cultural groups, *susto* or *espanto* (fright) among Latin American populations, *ohkumlang* (tiredness) and bodily pain among tortured Bhutanese refugees, *ihahamuka* (lungs without breath) among Rwandan genocide survivors, and *kit chraen* (thinking too much) in Cambodia, among others. The symptoms of Disorders Specifically Associated with Stress may be described in terms of emotional, cognitive, behavioural and somatic elements of these cultural concepts. Idioms of distress may also influence the symptomatology and co-occurrence of other mental disorders.
- Individuals from collectivistic cultures may focus their concern on family and community relationships rather than personal reactions to trauma. The clinical presentation may include guilt or shame about perceived failures to assist others or fulfil

culturally important social roles. For example, survivors of sexual violence may be preoccupied with the shame their family may incur because of the event.

- Across cultures, traumatic events may be attributed to a variety of spiritual or supernatural causes, such as karma, fate, envy, witchcraft/sorcery, or vengeful spirits. These attributions influence the personal and social impact of stressors and the nature of the individual's response.
- Knowledge of cultural norms is necessary to assess the severity of the trauma response, in particular, whether psychotic symptoms should be considered consistent with certain cultural expressions of the disorder, a manifestation of another mental disorder (e.g., a psychotic disorder), or consistent with normal functioning within that cultural context.
- The traumatic impact of certain exposures may be strongly influenced by cultural interpretations. For example, for some cultural groups, exposure to the destruction of religious and holy sites or sacred artifacts may be more stressful than personal trauma. It is the characteristic syndromic response that determines whether a diagnosis of a particular disorder is appropriate.
- Migrant populations may experience higher levels of distress related to traumatic exposure as a function of concomitant social factors, including poverty, discrimination by the receiving community, and acculturative stressors.

6B40 Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder

Essential (Required) Features:

- Exposure to an event or situation (either short- or long-lasting) of an extremely threatening or horrific nature. Such events include, but are not limited to, directly experiencing natural or human-made disasters, combat, serious accidents, torture, sexual violence, terrorism, assault or acute life-threatening illness (e.g., a heart attack); witnessing the threatened or actual injury or death of others in a sudden, unexpected, or violent manner; and learning about the sudden, unexpected or violent death of a loved one.
- Following the traumatic event or situation, the development of a characteristic syndrome lasting for at least several weeks, consisting of all three core elements:
 - Re-experiencing the traumatic event in the present, in which the event(s) is not just remembered but is experienced as occurring again in the here and now. This typically occurs in the form of vivid intrusive memories or images; flashbacks, which can vary from mild (there is a transient sense of the event occurring again in the present) to severe (there is a complete loss of awareness of present surroundings), or repetitive dreams or nightmares that are thematically related to the traumatic event(s). Re-experiencing is typically accompanied by strong or overwhelming emotions, such as fear or horror, and strong physical sensations. Re-experiencing in the present can also involve feelings of being overwhelmed or immersed in the same intense emotions that were experienced during the traumatic event, without a prominent cognitive aspect, and may occur in response to reminders of the event. Reflecting on or ruminating about the event(s) and remembering the feelings that one experienced at that time are not sufficient to meet the re-experiencing requirement.
 - Deliberate avoidance of reminders likely to produce re-experiencing of the traumatic event(s). This may take the form either of active internal avoidance of thoughts and memories related to the event(s), or external avoidance of people,

conversations, activities, or situations reminiscent of the event(s). In extreme cases the person may change their environment (e.g., move to a different city or change jobs) to avoid reminders.

- Persistent perceptions of heightened current threat, for example as indicated by hypervigilance or an enhanced startle reaction to stimuli such as unexpected noises. Hypervigilant persons constantly guard themselves against danger and feel themselves or others close to them to be under immediate threat either in specific situations or more generally. They may adopt new behaviours designed to ensure safety (e.g., not sitting with ones' back to the door, repeated checking in vehicles' rear-view mirrors).
- The disturbance results in significant impairment in personal, family, social, educational, occupational or other important areas of functioning. If functioning is maintained, it is only through significant additional effort.

Additional Clinical Features:

- Common symptomatic presentations of Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder may also include general dysphoria, dissociative symptoms, somatic complaints, suicidal ideation and behaviour, social withdrawal, excessive alcohol or drug use to avoid re-experiencing or manage emotional reactions, anxiety symptoms including panic, and obsessions or compulsions in response to memories or reminders of the trauma.
- The emotional experience of individuals with Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder commonly includes anger, shame, sadness, humiliation, or guilt, including survivor guilt.

Boundary with Normality (Threshold):

• A history of exposure to an event or situation of an extremely threatening or horrific nature does not in itself indicate the presence of Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder. Many people experience such stressors without developing a disorder. Rather, the presentation must meet all diagnostic requirements for the disorder.

Course Features:

- Onset of Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder can occur at any time during the life span following exposure to a traumatic event.
- Onset of Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder symptoms typically occurs within three months following exposure to a traumatic event. However, delays in the expression of Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder symptomology can occur even years after exposure to a traumatic event.
- The symptoms and course of Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder can vary significantly over time and individuals. Recurrence of symptoms may occur after to exposure to reminders of the traumatic event or as a result of experiencing additional life stressors or traumatic events. Some individuals diagnosed with Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder can experience persistent symptoms for months or years without reprieve.
- Nearly one half of individuals diagnosed with Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder will experience complete recovery of symptoms within 3 months of onset.

Developmental Presentations:

- Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder can occur at all ages, but responses to a traumatic event—that is, the core elements of the characteristic syndrome—manifest differently depending on age and developmental stage.
- Emerging cognitive capacities and limited verbal abilities for self-report in young children (e.g., less than 6 years of age) makes it more difficult to assess for the presence of re-experiencing, active avoidance of internal states, and perceptions of heightened current threat. Assessments of symptoms should not be based exclusively on child-reported internal symptoms, but include caregiver reports of observable behavioural symptoms emerging after traumatic experiences.
- In younger children, evidence of the core symptoms supporting a diagnosis of Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder often manifests behaviourally, such as in trauma-specific reenactments that may occur during repetitive play or in drawings, frightening dreams without clear content or night terrors, or uncharacteristic impulsivity. However, children may not necessarily appear distressed when talking about or playing out their traumatic recollections, despite substantial impact on psychosocial functioning and development. Other manifestations of Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder in pre-school children may be less trauma-specific and include both inhibited and disinhibited behaviours. For example, hypervigilance may manifest as increased frequency and intensity of temper tantrums, separation anxiety, regression in skills (e.g., verbal skills, toileting), exaggerated age-associated fears, or excessive crying. External avoidance or expressions of recollection of traumatic experiences may be evidenced by a new onset of acting out, protective or rescue strategies, limited exploration or reluctance to engage in new activities, and excessive reassurance seeking from a trusted caregiver.
- Limited capacity to reflect on and report internal states may also be characteristic of some school-age children and adolescents. Furthermore, children and adolescents may be more reluctant than adults to report their reactions to traumatic events. In such cases, greater reliance on changes in behaviour such as increased trauma-specific reenactments or overt avoidance may be necessary.
- Children or adolescents may deny feelings of distress or horror associated with reexperiencing but rather report no affect or other types of strong or overwhelming emotions as a part of re-experiencing, including those that are non-distressing.
- In adolescence, reluctance to pursue developmental opportunities (e.g., to gain autonomy from caregivers) may be a sign of psychosocial impairment. Self-injurious or risky behaviours (e.g., substance use or unprotected sex) occur at elevated rates among adolescents and adults with Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder.
- Assessment can be complicated in children and adolescents when loss of a parent or caregiver is associated with a traumatic event or an intervention. For example, a chronically abused child who is removed from the home may place greater emphasis on the loss of a primary caregiver than on aspects of the experience that might objectively be considered more threatening or horrific.
- Among older adults with Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder, symptom severity may decline over the life course, especially re-experiencing. However, avoidance of situations, people, activities, or conversations about the event(s) as well as hypervigilance typically persist. Older persons may dismiss their symptoms as a normal part of life, which may be related to shame and fear of stigma.

Culture-Related Features:

- The salience of particular Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder symptoms may vary across cultures. For example, in some groups anger may be the most prominent symptom related to traumatic exposure, and the most culturally appropriate way of expressing distress. In other cultural contexts, nightmares may have elaborate cultural significance that increases their importance in assessing for the characteristic symptoms of Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder.
- Symptoms central to Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder in some cultures may not be included in descriptions of the disorder and may therefore be missed by clinicians unfamiliar with those cultural expressions. For example, somatic symptoms such as headaches (often with visual aura), dizziness, bodily heat, shortness of breath, gastrointestinal distress, trembling, and orthostatic hypotension may be prominent.
- Cultural variation may affect Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder onset and the meaning of traumatic stressors. For example, some cultural groups attribute greater risk of Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder to traumatic events affecting family members than the person him/herself; other societies may find it particularly traumatic to observe the desecration or destruction of religious symbols or to be denied the ability to perform funeral rites for deceased relatives.
- Certain trauma-related symptoms may be associated with intense fear in particular cultural contexts, due to their connection with specific catastrophic cognitions, and may precipitate panic attacks in the context of Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder. These catastrophic interpretations may impact the trajectory of the disorder and be associated with greater severity, chronicity or poorer response to treatment. For example, some Latin American patients may consider trauma-related trembling to be the precursor of a lifelong condition of severe *nervios* (nerves) and some Cambodians may interpret palpitations as signs of a 'weak heart.'
- Some Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder symptoms may not be viewed as pathological in some cultural groups. For example, intrusive thoughts may be considered normal rather than a symptom indicating illness. It is important to evaluate the presence of all required diagnostic elements including functional impairment rather than treating any one symptom as pathognomonic.

Sex- and/or Gender-Related Features:

- Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder is more common among females.
- Females diagnosed with Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder are more likely to experience a longer duration of impairment and higher levels of negative emotionality and somatic symptoms as a part of their clinical presentation.

Boundaries with Other Disorders and Conditions (Differential Diagnosis):

- **Boundary with Complex Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder:** Whereas the diagnostic requirements for Complex Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder include all Essential Features of Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder, the diagnosis of Complex Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder also requires the additional Essential Features of severe problems in affect regulation, persistent negative beliefs about oneself, and persistent difficulties in sustaining relationships.
- **Boundary with Prolonged Grief Disorder:** Similar to Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder, Prolonged Grief Disorder may occur in individuals who experience bereavement as a result of the death of a loved one occurring in traumatic circumstances. In Post-

Traumatic Stress Disorder, where the individual re-experiences the event or situation associated with the death, in Prolonged Grief Disorder the person may be preoccupied with memories of the circumstances surrounding the death but, unlike in Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder, does not re-experience them as occurring again in the here and now.

- **Boundary with Adjustment Disorder:** In Adjustment Disorder, the stressor can be of any severity or any type, and is not necessarily of an extremely threatening or horrific nature. A response to a less serious event or situation that otherwise meets the symptom requirements for Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder but that is beyond the duration appropriate for Acute Stress Reaction should be diagnosed as Adjustment Disorder. Moreover, many people who experience an extremely threatening or horrific event develop symptoms that do not meet the full diagnostic requirements for Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder as Adjustment Disorder.
- **Boundary with Acute Stress Reaction:** Normal acute reactions to traumatic events can include all the symptoms of Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder including re-experiencing, but these begin to subside fairly quickly (e.g., within 1 week after the event terminates or removal from the threatening situation, or 1 month in the case of ongoing stressors). If clinical intervention is warranted in these situations, a diagnosis of Acute Stress Reaction from the chapter on 'Factors Influencing Health Status or Contact with Health Services' (i.e., a non-disorder category) is generally most appropriate.
- **Boundary with Schizophrenia or Other Primary Psychotic Disorders:** Some individuals with Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder re-experience traumatic events in the form of severe flashbacks that may have a hallucinatory quality, or are hypervigilant to threat to the extent that they may appear to be paranoid. Auditory pseudo-hallucinations, recognized as being the person's own thoughts and of internal origin, can occur in Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder. Such symptoms should not be considered evidence of a psychotic disorder.
- **Boundary with Depressive Episode:** In a Depressive Episode, intrusive memories are not experienced as occurring again in the present, but as belonging to the past, and they are often accompanied by rumination. However, Depressive Episodes commonly co-occur with Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder, and an additional Mood Disorder diagnosis should be assigned if warranted.
- **Boundary with Panic Disorder:** In Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder, panic attacks can be triggered by reminders of the traumatic event(s) or in the context of re-experiencing. Panic attacks that occur entirely in these contexts do not warrant an additional, separate diagnosis of Panic Disorder. Instead, the 'with panic attacks' specifier (MB23.H) may be applied. However, if unexpected panic attacks (i.e., those that come on 'out of the blue') are also present and the other diagnostic requirements are met, an additional diagnosis of Panic Disorder is appropriate.
- **Boundary with Specific Phobia:** In some cases, a situational or conditioned Specific Phobia can arise after exposure to a traumatic event (e.g., being attacked by a dog). Specific Phobia can generally be differentiated from Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder by the absence of re-experiencing of the event in the present. Although phobic responses may include powerful memories of the event, in response to which the individual experiences anxiety, the memories are experienced as belonging to the past.
- **Boundary with Dissociative Disorders:** Following an experience of a traumatic event(s), a variety of dissociative symptoms can occur, including somatic symptoms, memory disturbances, flashbacks or other trance-like states, alterations in identity and sense of agency, and experiences of depersonalization, especially during the episodes of re-experiencing. If the dissociative symptoms are confined to episodes of re-experiencing in an individual with Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder or Complex Post-Traumatic Stress

Disorder, an additional diagnosis of a Dissociative Disorder should not be assigned. If significant dissociative symptoms are present outside of episodes of re-experiencing and the full diagnostic requirements are met, an additional Dissociative Disorder diagnosis may be assigned.

• **Boundary with other mental disorders:** It is common for other mental disorders other than or in addition to Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder to develop in the aftermath of an event or situation (either short- or long-lasting) of an extremely threatening or horrific nature. Thus, a history of exposure to a potentially traumatic event does not in itself indicate the presence of Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder. Depressive Disorders, Anxiety or Fear-Related Disorders, Disorders Due to Substance Use, and Dissociative Disorders can all occur in the aftermath of potentially traumatic experiences, often in the absence of Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder.

6B41 Complex Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder

Essential (Required) Features:

- Exposure to an event or series of events of an extremely threatening or horrific nature, most commonly prolonged or repetitive events from which escape is difficult or impossible. Such events include, but are not limited to, torture, concentration camps, slavery, genocide campaigns and other forms of organized violence, prolonged domestic violence, and repeated childhood sexual or physical abuse.
- Following the traumatic event, the development of all three core elements of Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder, lasting for at least several weeks:
 - Re-experiencing the traumatic event after the traumatic event has occurred, in which the event(s) is not just remembered but is experienced as occurring again in the here and now. This typically occurs in the form of vivid intrusive memories or images; flashbacks, which can vary from mild (there is a transient sense of the event occurring again in the present) to severe (there is a complete loss of awareness of present surroundings), or repetitive dreams or nightmares that are thematically related to the traumatic event(s). Re-experiencing is typically accompanied by strong or overwhelming emotions, such as fear or horror, and strong physical sensations. Re-experiencing in the present can also involve feelings of being overwhelmed or immersed in the same intense emotions that were experienced during the traumatic event, without a prominent cognitive aspect, and may occur in response to reminders of the event. Reflecting on or ruminating about the event(s) and remembering the feelings that one experienced at that time are not sufficient to meet the re-experiencing requirement.
 - Deliberate avoidance of reminders likely to produce re-experiencing of the traumatic event(s). This may take the form either of active internal avoidance of thoughts and memories related to the event(s), or external avoidance of people, conversations, activities, or situations reminiscent of the event(s). In extreme cases the person may change their environment (e.g., move house or change jobs) to avoid reminders.
 - Persistent perceptions of heightened current threat, for example as indicated by hypervigilance or an enhanced startle reaction to stimuli such as unexpected noises. Hypervigilant persons constantly guard themselves against danger and feel themselves or others close to them to be under immediate threat either in specific situations or more generally. They may adopt new behaviours designed

to ensure safety (not sitting with ones' back to the door, repeated checking in vehicles' rear-view mirror). In Complex Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder, unlike in Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder, the startle reaction may in some cases be diminished rather than enhanced.

- Severe and pervasive problems in affect regulation. Examples include heightened emotional reactivity to minor stressors, violent outbursts, reckless or self-destructive behaviour, dissociative symptoms when under stress, and emotional numbing, particularly the inability to experience pleasure or positive emotions.
- Persistent beliefs about oneself as diminished, defeated or worthless, accompanied by deep and pervasive feelings of shame, guilt or failure related to the stressor. For example, the individual may feel guilty about not having escaped from or succumbing to the adverse circumstance, or not having been able to prevent the suffering of others.
- Persistent difficulties in sustaining relationships and in feeling close to others. The person may consistently avoid, deride or have little interest in relationships and social engagement more generally. Alternatively, there may be occasional intense relationships, but the person has difficulty sustaining them.
- The disturbance results in significant impairment in personal, family, social, educational, occupational or other important areas of functioning. If functioning is maintained, it is only through significant additional effort.

Additional Clinical Features:

• Suicidal ideation and behaviour, substance abuse, depressive symptoms, psychotic symptoms, and somatic complaints may be present.

Boundary with Normality (Threshold):

• A history of exposure to a stressor of extreme and prolonged or repetitive nature from which escape is difficult or impossible does not in itself indicate the presence of Complex Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder. Many people experience such stressors without developing any disorder. Rather, the presentation must meet all diagnostic requirements for the disorder.

Course Features:

- The onset of Complex Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder symptoms can occur across the lifespan, typically after exposure to chronic, repeated traumatic events and/or victimization that have continued for a period of months or years at a time.
- Symptoms of Complex Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder are generally more severe and persistent in comparison to Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder.
- Exposure to repeated traumas, especially in early development, is associated with a greater risk of developing Complex Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder rather than Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder.

Developmental Presentations:

• Complex Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder can occur at all ages, but responses to a traumatic event—that is, the core elements of the characteristic syndrome—can manifest differently depending on age and developmental stage. Because Complex Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder and Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder both share these same

core elements, information provided in the *Developmental Presentations* section for Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder also applies to children and adolescents affected by Complex Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder.

- Children and adolescents are more vulnerable than adults to developing Complex Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder when exposed to severe, prolonged trauma such as chronic child abuse or participation in drug trafficking or as child soldiers. Many children and adolescents exposed to trauma have been exposed to multiple traumas, which increases the risk for developing Complex Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder.
- Children and adolescents with Complex Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder are more likely than their peers to demonstrate cognitive difficulties (e.g., problems with attention, planning, organizing) that may in turn interfere with academic and occupational functioning.
- In children, pervasive problems of affect regulation and persistent difficulties in sustaining relationships may manifest as regression, reckless behaviour, or aggressive behaviours towards self or others, and in difficulties relating to peers. Furthermore, problems of affect regulation may manifest as dissociation, suppression of emotional experience and expression, as well as avoidance of situations or experiences that may elicit emotions, including positive emotions.
- In adolescence, substance use, risk-taking behaviours (e.g., unsafe sex, unsafe driving, non-suicidal self-harm), and aggressive behaviours may be particularly evident as expressions of problems of affect dysregulation and interpersonal difficulties.
- When parents or caregivers are the source of the trauma (e.g., sexual abuse), children and adolescents often develop a disorganized attachment style that can manifest as unpredictable behaviours towards these individuals (e.g., alternating between neediness, rejection, and aggression). In children less than 5 years old, attachment disturbances related to maltreatment may also include Reactive Attachment Disorder or Disinhibited Social Engagement Disorder, which can co-occur with Complex Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder.
- Children and adolescents with Complex Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder often report symptoms consistent with Depressive Disorders, Eating and Feeding Disorders, Sleep-Wake Disorders, Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder, Oppositional Defiant Disorder, Conduct-Dissocial Disorder, and Separation Anxiety Disorder. The relationship of traumatic experiences to the onset of symptoms can be useful in establishing a differential diagnosis. At the same time, other mental disorders can also develop following extremely stressful or traumatic experiences. Additional co-occurring diagnoses should only be made if the symptoms are not fully accounted for by Complex Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder and all diagnostic requirements for each disorder are met.
- In older adults, Complex Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder may be dominated by anxious avoidance of thoughts, feelings, memories, and persons as well as physiological symptoms of anxiety (e.g., enhanced startle reaction, autonomic hyperreactivity). Affected individuals may experience intense regret related to the impact of traumatic experiences on their lives.

Culture-Related Features:

• Cultural variation exists in the expression of symptoms of Complex Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder. For example, somatic or dissociative symptoms may be more prominent in certain groups attributable to cultural interpretations of the psychological, physiological, and spiritual etiology of these symptoms and of high levels of arousal.

- Given the severe, prolonged, or recurrent nature of the traumatic events that precipitate Complex Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder, collective suffering and the destruction of social bonds, networks and communities may present as a focal concern or as important related features of the disorder.
- For migrant communities, especially refugees or asylum seekers, Complex Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder may be exacerbated by acculturative stressors and the social environment in the host country.

Sex- and/or Gender-Related Features:

- Females are at greater risk for developing Complex Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder than males.
- Females with Complex Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder are more likely to exhibit a greater level of psychological distress and functional impairment in comparison to males.

Boundaries with Other Disorders and Conditions (Differential Diagnosis):

- **Boundary with Personality Disorder:** Personality Disorder is a pervasive disturbance in how an individual experiences and thinks about the self, others, and the world, manifested in maladaptive patterns of cognition, emotional experience, emotional expression, and behaviour. The maladaptive patterns are relatively inflexible and are associated with significant problems in psychosocial functioning that are particularly evident in interpersonal relationships and are manifest across a range of personal and social situations (i.e., are not limited to specific relationships or situations), relatively stable over time, and of long duration. Given this broad definition and the requirement of persistent symptoms related to affect dysregulation, distorted view of the self, and difficulty maintaining relationships in Complex Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder, many individuals with Complex Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder may also meet the diagnostic requirements for Personality Disorder. The utility of assigning an additional diagnosis of Personality Disorder in such cases depends on the specific clinical situation.
- **Boundary with other Mental, Behavioural or Neurodevelopmental Disorders:** Because the diagnostic requirements for Complex Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder include all Essential Features of Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder, guidance provided in the section on 'Boundary with Normality' and 'Boundaries with Other Disorders and Conditions' for Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder also applies to Complex Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder.

6B42 Prolonged Grief Disorder

Essential (Required) Features:

- History of bereavement following the death of a partner, parent, child, or other person close to the bereaved.
- A persistent and pervasive grief response characterized by longing for the deceased or persistent preoccupation with the deceased accompanied by intense emotional pain. This may be manifested by experiences such as sadness, guilt, anger, denial, blame, difficulty accepting the death, feeling one has lost a part of one's self, an inability to experience

positive mood, emotional numbness, and difficulty in engaging with social or other activities.

- The pervasive grief response has persisted for an atypically long period of time following the loss, markedly exceeding expected social, cultural or religious norms for the individual's culture and context. Grief responses lasting for less than 6 months, and for longer periods in some cultural contexts, should not be regarded as meeting this requirement.
- The disturbance results in significant impairment in personal, family, social, educational, occupational or other important areas of functioning. If functioning is maintained, it is only through significant additional effort.

Additional Clinical Features:

- Persistent preoccupation may focus on the circumstances of the death or manifest as behaviours such as the preservation of all of the deceased person's belongings exactly as they were before their death. The individual may alternate between excessive preoccupation and avoidance of reminders of the deceased.
- Other features of Prolonged Grief Disorder may include problems coping without the loved one, difficulties in recalling positive memories of the deceased, difficulty trusting others, social withdrawal, and the feeling that life is meaningless.
- Increased tobacco, alcohol, and other substance use, as well as increased suicidal ideation and behaviour may be present.

Boundary with Normality (Threshold):

- An individual experiencing a grief reaction that is within a normative period given their cultural and religious context is considered to be experiencing normal bereavement and should not be assigned a diagnosis of Prolonged Grief Disorder. It is often important to consider whether other people who share the bereaved person's cultural or religious perspective (e.g., family, friends, community) regard the response to the loss or duration of the reaction as abnormal.
- Children and adolescents may respond to the loss of a primary attachment figure (e.g., a parent or caregiver) with an intense and sustained grief response (e.g., greater in intensity, symptomatology, duration) because of the role these individuals play in the child's life. Pre-school age children commonly have difficulty accepting the loss. Aspects of the grief response may be retriggered at various points during the individual's development, for example as new needs arise that would normally be supplied by the parent or caregiver. Generally, these reactions should be regarded as normal and the diagnosis of Prolonged Grief Disorder should be assigned with caution to children and adolescents in this situation.

Developmental Presentations:

- Prolonged Grief Disorder can occur at all ages, but the grief response can differ depending on the age and developmental stage and thus on age-specific concepts of death.
- Children often do not explicitly describe the experience of longing for the deceased or persistent preoccupation with the death of a loved one. These symptoms may be more likely to manifest behaviourally such as in play or in other behaviours involving themes

of separation or death. Other behavioural expressions of longing can include waiting for the deceased person to return or returning to places where they last saw the deceased. Some children may develop a fearful preoccupation that others may die, magical thinking, as well as separation anxiety centering on worries about their caregivers' welfare and safety.

- In younger children, intense sadness or emotional pain may emerge intermittently with seemingly appropriate moods. Anger related to the loss may be exhibited in children and adolescents as irritability, protest behaviour, tantrums, oppositional behaviour or conduct problems.
- Various contextual factors can influence symptoms related to the death of a loved one in children. For example, delayed onset or worsening of symptoms may occur in response to a change to a child or adolescent's social environment, degree of coping of parents or caregivers with the loss, and family communication.
- In older adults, Prolonged Grief Disorder may manifest as enduring depression with the feeling one has lost a part of one's self and accentuated feelings of emptiness. Feelings of being stunned and dazed over the loss are common. A preoccupation with somatic complaints is often found to be the primary sign of distress at this developmental stage.

Culture-Related Features:

- Cultural practices vary with regard to appropriate emotional expressions of bereavement, rituals and practices for managing the grieving process, modes of commemorating the deceased, concepts of an afterlife, stigma associated with certain types of death (e.g., suicide), or situations that may be especially traumatic (e.g., death of a child). This variation may contribute to the likelihood of experiencing prolonged grief reactions, and the range of symptoms and clinical presentations.
- Cultural groups vary regarding the normative duration of grief reactions. Among some groups, prescribed grief reactions may last for one year or even be postponed until the first anniversary. Among others, rituals or ceremonies are expected to prompt negative emotions related to loss, and formal grieving periods are relatively short. It is often important to consider whether other people who share the bereaved person's cultural or religious perspective (e.g., family, friends, community) regard the response to the loss or duration of the reaction as abnormal.
- In some cultural or religious traditions, death is not seen as the cessation of life, but as an important transition to another form of existence. Such cultural beliefs may focus on karma, rebirth, heaven/hell, purgatory, or other transitions into the afterlife. Prolonged grief may be caused by concern about the status of the deceased in the afterlife. Culturally specific rituals and yearly celebrations may aim to assure the auspicious spiritual status of the deceased. Prolonged grief may be associated with concern about the status of the deceased in the afterlife.
- Encounters with the deceased may vary greatly across cultures. For example, in some societies, any waking encounter with the deceased is considered abnormal. By contrast, it is common in many Southern European and Latin American societies to receive visitations from deceased relatives soon after their death, which may be comforting to the bereaved. Other groups (e.g., some American Indians) may encounter the deceased in dreams, with a variety of interpretations. Among Cambodians, for example, having dreams of the deceased may be highly upsetting, indicating that rebirth has not occurred.

Sex- and/or Gender-Related Features:

• Prolonged Grief Disorder is more prevalent in females.

Boundaries with Other Disorders and Conditions (Differential Diagnosis):

- **Boundary with Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder:** Similar to Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder, Prolonged Grief Disorder may occur in individuals who experience bereavement as a result of the death of a loved one occurring in traumatic circumstances. In Prolonged Grief Disorder the person may be preoccupied with memories of the circumstances surrounding the death but unlike Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder does not re-experience them as occurring again in the here and now.
- **Boundary with Depressive Episode:** Some common symptoms of Prolonged Grief Disorder are similar to those observed in a Depressive Episode (e.g., sadness, loss of interest in activities, social withdrawal, feelings of guilt, suicidal ideation). However, Prolonged Grief Disorder is differentiated from Depressive Episode because symptoms are specifically focused on the loss of the loved one, whereas depressive thoughts and emotional reactions typically encompass multiple areas of life. Further, other common symptoms of Prolonged Grief Disorder (e.g., difficulty accepting the loss, feeling angry about the loss, feeling as though a part of the individual has died) are not characteristic of a Depressive Episode. The timing of the onset of the symptoms in relation to the loss and whether there is a prior history of Depressive or Bipolar Disorder are important to consider in making this distinction. However, Prolonged Grief Disorder and Mood Disorders can co-occur, and both should be diagnosed if the full diagnostic requirements for each are met.

6B43 Adjustment Disorder

Essential (Required) Features:

- A maladaptive reaction to an identifiable psychosocial stressor or multiple stressors (e.g., single stressful event, ongoing psychosocial difficulty or a combination of stressful life situations) that usually emerges within a month of the stressor. Examples include divorce or loss of a relationship, loss of a job, diagnosis of an illness, recent onset of a disability, and conflicts at home or work.
- The reaction to the stressor is characterized by preoccupation with the stressor or its consequences, including excessive worry, recurrent and distressing thoughts about the stressor, or constant rumination about its implications.
- The symptoms are not better accounted for by another mental disorder (e.g., a Mood Disorder, another Disorder Specifically Associated with Stress).
- Once the stressor and its consequences have ended, the symptoms resolve within 6 months.
- Failure to adapt to the stressor results in significant impairment in personal, family, social, educational, occupational or other important areas of functioning. If functioning is maintained, it is only through significant additional effort.

Additional Clinical Features:

- Symptoms of preoccupation may worsen with reminders of the stressor(s), resulting in avoidance of stimuli, thoughts, feelings or discussions associated with the stressor(s) to prevent preoccupation or distress.
- Additional psychological symptoms of Adjustment Disorder may include depressive or anxiety symptoms as well as impulsive 'externalizing' symptoms, particularly increased tobacco, alcohol, or other substance use.
- Symptoms of Adjustment Disorders usually abate when the stressor is removed, when sufficient support is provided, or when the affected person develops additional coping mechanisms or strategies.

Boundary with Normality (Threshold):

- Adjustment Disorder represents a maladaptive reaction and failure to adapt to a stressor that is associated with significant preoccupation and results in significant impairment in personal, family, social, educational, occupational or other important areas of functioning. Emotional reactions to negative life events that do not meet these requirements should not be diagnosed as Adjustment Disorder.
- Symptoms that occur as transient responses and resolve within a few days do not typically warrant a diagnosis of Adjustment Disorder.
- In cases in which responses to traumatic events are considered normal given the severity of the stressor, Acute Stress Reaction may be assigned.

Course Features:

- Onset of Adjustment Disorder usually occurs within a month after exposure to a stressful life event (i.e., illness, marital distress). However, onset can occur after a longer delay (e.g., 3 months after exposure).
- Acute and intense stressful life events (e.g., sudden job loss) typically result in a correspondingly precipitous onset of symptoms that tend to have a shorter duration, whereas more persistent stressful life events (e.g., ongoing marital distress) typically result in delayed onset of symptoms and a longer duration.
- The intensity and duration of Adjustment Disorder varies widely.

Developmental Presentations:

- In children, the characteristic symptoms of preoccupation with a stressor or its consequences or constant rumination about the stressor are often not expressed directly but rather are manifested in somatic symptoms (e.g., stomach aches or headaches), disruptive or oppositional behaviour, hyperactivity, tantrums, concentration problems, irritability, and increased clinginess. Other reactions to stressors including regression, bedwetting, and sleep disturbances may be a manifestation of Adjustment Disorder if they are persistent (e.g., have been present for approximately 1 month).
- In adolescents, behavioural manifestations of Adjustment Disorder can include substance use and various forms of acting out or risk-taking.
- Because children and adolescents may not explicitly verbalize a connection between stressful events and their own symptoms and behaviours, in making the diagnosis it is important to consider the temporal relationship between the stressor and the onset of symptoms and the extent to which they constitute a change from prior functioning.

• Among older adults, preoccupation with somatic complaints is a common sign of distress related to stressors. Older adults who suffer from Adjustment Disorder tend to express greater anxiety about their health, report significant demoralization, and often display persistent somatization of psychological symptoms.

Culture-Related Features:

- Adjustment Disorder may be exacerbated in the context of limited family or community support, particularly in collectivistic or sociocentric cultures. In these societies, the focus of the preoccupation may extend to stressors affecting close relatives or friends.
- Symptoms of Adjustment Disorder may be influenced by local idioms (e.g., *susto* or *espanto* [fright] in Central America) that are associated with fear or subsequent preoccupation with a stressor with strong cultural connotations (e.g., experiencing intense fear when crossing an unpopulated area alone at night).

Boundaries with Other Disorders and Conditions (Differential Diagnosis):

- **Boundary with Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder:** In Adjustment Disorder, the stressor can be of any severity or any type, and is not necessarily of an extremely threatening or horrific nature. A response to a less serious event or situation that otherwise meets the symptom requirements for Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder should be diagnosed as Adjustment Disorder. Moreover, many people who have experienced an extremely threatening or horrific event develop Adjustment Disorder and not Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder in its aftermath. The distinction should be made based on whether the full diagnostic requirements for either disorder are met, not solely based on the type of stressor.
- Boundary with other mental disorders: It is common for mental disorders to be • triggered or exacerbated by stressful life experiences. Moreover, many mental disorders can involve symptoms including maladaptive reactions to stressors, preoccupation with stressors and excessive worry or rumination, and failure to adapt. In the presence of another mental disorder that can account for these symptoms (e.g., a Primary Psychotic Disorder, a Mood Disorder, another Disorder Specifically Associated with Stress, a Personality Disorder, an Obsessive-Compulsive or Related Disorder, Generalized Anxiety Disorder, Separation Anxiety Disorder, Autism Spectrum Disorder), a separate diagnosis of Adjustment Disorder should generally not be assigned, even if stressful life events or changing circumstances have led to an exacerbation of the symptoms. However, a diagnosis of Adjustment Disorder may be assigned in the presence of other mental disorders with substantially non-overlapping symptomatology (e.g., Specific Phobia. Panic Disorder. Bodily Distress Disorder) that do not fully account for the Adjustment Disorder symptoms, provided that the course of the two disorders is distinguishable and the full diagnostic requirements are met for each. If symptoms persist for longer than 6 months after a stressor has ended, it is generally appropriate to change the diagnosis to another relevant mental disorder.

6B44 Reactive Attachment Disorder

Essential (Required) Features:

• A history of grossly insufficient care that may include:

- Persistent disregard for the child's basic emotional needs for comfort, stimulation, and affection.
- Persistent disregard for the child's basic physical needs.
- Repeated changes of primary caregivers (e.g., frequent changes in foster care providers).
- Rearing in unusual settings (e.g., institutions) that prevent formation of stable selective attachments.
- o Maltreatment.
- Markedly abnormal attachment behaviours towards adult caregivers in a child, characterized by a persistent and pervasive pattern of inhibited, emotionally withdrawn behaviour including both of the following:
 - Minimal seeking of comfort when distressed.
 - Rare or minimal response to comfort when it is offered.
- The grossly insufficient care is presumed to be responsible for the persistent and pervasive pattern of inhibited, emotionally withdrawn behaviour.
- The symptoms are evident before the age of 5.
- The child has reached a developmental level by which the capacity to form selective attachments with caregivers normally develops, which typically occurs at a chronological age of 1 year or a developmental age of at least 9 months.
- The abnormal attachment behaviours are not better accounted for by Autism Spectrum Disorder.
- The abnormal attachment behaviours are not confined to a specific dyadic relationship.

Additional Clinical Features:

- Persistent disregard for the child's basic needs may meet the definition for neglect: Egregious acts or omissions by a caregiver that deprive a child of needed age-appropriate care and that result, or have reasonable potential to result, in physical or psychological harm. Reactive Attachment Disorder is associated with persistent neglect rather than isolated incidents.
- Maltreatment is characterized by one or more of the following: 1) non-accidental acts of physical force that result, or have reasonable potential to result, in physical harm or that evoke significant fear; 2) sexual acts involving a child that are intended to provide sexual gratification to an adult; or 3) non-accidental verbal or symbolic acts that results in significant psychological harm. Reactive Attachment Disorder is typically associated with persistent maltreatment rather than isolated incidents.
- Children with Reactive Attachment Disorder related to repetitive maltreatment (e.g., chronic physical or sexual abuse) are at risk for developing co-occurring Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder or Complex Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder.
- Children with Reactive Attachment Disorder often exhibit more generalized persistent social and emotional disturbances including a relative lack of social and emotional responsiveness to others and limited positive affect. There may be episodes of unexplained irritability, sadness, or fearfulness that are evident during non-threatening interactions with adult caregivers.
- Children with a history of grossly insufficient care but who have nonetheless formed selective attachments do not appear to develop Reactive Attachment Disorder but may still be at risk of developing Disinhibited Social Engagement Disorder.

Boundary with Normality (Threshold):

• Many children without a diagnosis of Reactive Attachment Disorder show transient reductions of attachment behaviours towards a parent or caregiver as a normal part of development. In contrast, children with Reactive Attachment Disorder exhibit markedly atypical social responses toward caregivers that persist over time, extend across all social situations, and are not confined to a dyadic relationship with a particular caregiver.

Course Features:

- With the provision of adequate care, children with Reactive Attachment Disorder often experience a near or complete remission of symptoms. If appropriate caregiving is not provided, the disorder can persist for several years.
- Children with Reactive Attachment Disorder are at higher risk for developing Depressive Disorders and other internalizing disorders during adolescence and adulthood. They may also experience problems in developing and maintaining healthy interpersonal relationships.
- There is limited information about the course features of Reactive Attachment Disorder beyond the childhood years.
- Some adults with a history of Reactive Attachment Disorder may experience difficulty in developing interpersonal relationships.

Developmental Presentations:

- Caregiver neglect during the first 9 months of life is often an associated precursor to the onset of the disorder.
- The features of this disorder become noticeable in a similar fashion up to 5 years of age.
- It is currently unknown whether clinical features of the disorder vary among children older than 5 years of age.

Boundaries with Other Disorders and Conditions (Differential Diagnosis):

- **Boundary with Autism Spectrum Disorder:** In contrast to individuals with Autism Spectrum Disorder, children with Reactive Attachment Disorder have the capacity for initiating and sustaining social communication and reciprocal social interactions. Although some children with Reactive Attachment Disorder may show delays in language development due to a history of social neglect, they do not exhibit social communication deficits or the persistently restrictive, repetitive, and stereotyped patterns of behaviour, interests and activities characteristics of Autism Spectrum Disorder. Some individuals reared under conditions of severe deprivation in institutional settings exhibit autistic-like features including difficulties in social reciprocity and restricted, repetitive, and inflexible patterns of behaviour, interests, or activities. Also referred to as 'quasiautism', affected individuals are differentiated from those with Autism Spectrum Disorder based on significant improvement of autism-like features when the child is moved to a more nurturing environment.
- **Boundary with Disorders of Intellectual Development:** Children with Disorders of Intellectual Development are able to form selective attachments to caregivers. Attachment usually develops consistent with the child's general developmental level, and are typically evident by the time the child has reached a developmental age of at

least 9 months. Reactive Attachment Disorder should only be diagnosed if it is clear that the characteristic problems in the formation of selective attachments are not a result of limitations in intellectual functioning.

- **Boundary with Social Anxiety Disorder:** Social Anxiety Disorder in children may include emotionally withdrawn behaviours in social situations or in anticipation of social encounters due to marked and excessive fear or anxiety. Unlike in Reactive Attachment Disorder, children with Social Anxiety Disorder exhibit appropriate attachment behaviours with parents or caregivers and seek comfort from them when distressed but are typically fearful of unfamiliar individuals. Children with Reactive Attachment Disorder exhibit emotionally withdrawn behaviours across all social contexts.
- **Boundary with Depressive Disorders:** Like Reactive Attachment Disorders, children with Depressive Disorders may exhibit emotionally withdrawn behaviour as well as associated features of lack of social and emotional responsiveness to others, limited positive affect, and/or episodes of unexplained irritability, sadness, or fearfulness. However, unlike Reactive Attachment Disorders, children with Depressive Disorders exhibit appropriate attachment behaviours with parents or caregivers and seek comfort from them when distressed.

6B45 Disinhibited Social Engagement Disorder

Essential (Required) Features:

- A history of grossly insufficient care of a child that may include:
 - Persistent disregard for the child's basic emotional needs for comfort, stimulation, and affection.
 - Persistent disregard for the child's basic physical needs.
 - Repeated changes of primary caregivers (e.g., frequent changes in foster care providers).
 - Rearing in unusual settings (e.g., institutions) that prevent formation of stable selective attachments.
 - Maltreatment.
- A persistent and pervasive pattern of markedly abnormal social behaviours in a child, in which the child displays reduced or absent reticence in approaching and interacting with unfamiliar adults, including one or more of the following:
 - Overly familiar behaviour with unfamiliar adults, including verbal or physical violation of socially appropriate physical and verbal boundaries (e.g., seeking comfort from unfamiliar adults, asking age-inappropriate questions to unfamiliar adults).
 - Diminished or absent checking back with an adult caregiver after venturing away even in unfamiliar settings.
 - A willingness to go off with an unfamiliar adult with minimal or no hesitation.
- The symptoms are evident before the age of 5.
- The child has reached a developmental level by which the capacity to form selective attachments with caregivers normally develops, which typically occurs at a chronological age of 1 year or a developmental age of at least 9 months.
- The disinhibited social engagement behaviour is not better accounted for by another mental disorder (e.g., Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder).

Additional Clinical Features:

- Persistent disregard for the child's basic needs may meet the definition for neglect: Egregious acts or omissions by a caregiver that deprive a child of needed age-appropriate care and that result, or have reasonable potential to result, in physical or psychological harm. Disinhibited Social Engagement Disorder is associated with persistent neglect rather than isolated incidents.
- Maltreatment is characterized by one or more of the following: 1) non-accidental acts of physical force that result, or have reasonable potential to result, in physical harm or that evoke significant fear; 2) sexual acts involving a child that are intended to provide sexual gratification to an adult; or 3) non-accidental verbal or symbolic acts that results in significant psychological harm. Disinhibited Social Engagement Disorder is typically associated with persistent maltreatment rather than isolated incidents.
- Children with a history of grossly insufficient care are at increased risk for developing Disinhibited Social Engagement Disorder, particularly when it occurs very early (e.g., prior to the age of 2). However, Disinhibited Social Engagement Disorder is rare, and most children with such a history do not develop the disorder.
- In contrast to Reactive Attachment Disorder, symptoms of Disinhibited Social Engagement Disorder tend to be more persistent following the provision of appropriate care, even with the development of selective attachments.
- Children with Disinhibited Social Engagement Disorder related to repetitive maltreatment (e.g., chronic physical or sexual abuse) are at risk for developing co-occurring Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder or Complex Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder.
- General impulsivity is commonly associated with Disinhibited Social Engagement Disorder, particularly among older children, and there is a high rate of co-occurrence with Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder.

Boundary with Normality (Threshold):

• Children vary greatly in their temperamental features, and Disinhibited Social Engagement Disorder should be distinguished from the ebullience associated with an outgoing temperamental style. Distinguishing features of the Disinhibited Social Engagement Disorder are the dysfunctional nature of the behaviour and its association with a history of grossly insufficient care.

Course Features:

- Disinhibited Social Engagement Disorder is moderately stable and symptoms may persist throughout childhood and adolescence. Overly friendly behaviour appears to be relatively resistant to change.
- Individuals with Disinhibited Social Engagement Disorder who lived in institutions for an extended period of time appear to be at greatest risk for persistent symptoms, even after adoption. Early removal from an adverse environment decreases the likelihood that indiscriminate social behaviours will persist.
- In adolescence, individuals with a history of Disinhibited Social Engagement Disorder demonstrate superficial peer relationships (e.g., identification of acquaintances as close friends) and other deficits in social functioning (e.g., increased conflict with peers).
- Evidence-based treatment for maltreated children and adolescents and for enhancing secure attachment is recommended for children and adolescents diagnosed with

Disinhibited Social Engagement Disorder. However, only some individuals with Disinhibited Social Engagement Disorder appear to respond to interventions targeting enhancement of caregiving.

• During childhood, Disinhibited Social Engagement Disorder often manifests in violation of socially appropriate physical (e.g., seeking comfort from unfamiliar adults) and verbal boundaries (e.g., asking inappropriate questions to unfamiliar adults).

Developmental Presentations:

- Children and adolescents are at greater risk for Disinhibited Social Engagement Disorder if they have experienced seriously neglectful caregiving and adverse environments, such as institutions, particularly if this occurred prior to the age of 2. However, Disinhibited Social Engagement Disorder is relatively rare and not all children or adolescents with a history of experiencing such environments go on to develop Disinhibited Social Engagement Disorder.
- Individuals with Disinhibited Social Engagement Disorder may or may not have developed selective attachment to caregivers.

Boundaries with Other Disorders and Conditions (Differential Diagnosis):

- **Boundary with Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder:** Similar to Disinhibited Social Engagement Disorder, children with Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder may display socially disinhibited behaviour. Disinhibited Social Engagement Disorder is distinguished by specific behaviours with unfamiliar adults and its association with a history of grossly insufficient care. However, children with Disinhibited Social Engagement Disorder do often exhibit inattention, general impulsivity, and hyperactivity. Rates of Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder are elevated among children with Disinhibited Social Engagement Disorder social Engagement Disorder for each are met.
- **Boundary with Disorders of Intellectual Development:** Children with a Disorder of Intellectual Development may exhibit atypical social behaviours. However, these are usually consistent with the child's general developmental level. Children with Disorders of Intellectual Development are able to form selective attachments to caregivers by the time the child has reached a developmental age of at least 9 months. Disinhibited Social Engagement Disorder should only be diagnosed if it is clear that the characteristic problems in social behaviour are not a result of limitations in intellectual functioning.
- Boundary with Diseases of the Nervous System, Developmental Anomalies and other conditions originating in the perinatal period: Indiscriminate social engagement may be a result of brain damage or a feature of neurological syndromes such as Williams syndrome or foetal alcohol syndrome. These conditions are differentiated from Disinhibited Social Engagement Disorder by confirmatory clinical features and laboratory investigations and typically by the absence of a history of grossly insufficient care.

6B4Y Other Specified Disorders Specifically Associated with Stress

Essential (Required) Features:

- The presentation is characterized by stress-related symptoms that share primary clinical features with other Disorders Specifically Associated with Stress (e.g., occurring in specific association with an identifiable stressor).
- The symptoms do not fulfil the diagnostic requirements for any other disorder in the grouping of Disorders Specifically Associated with Stress or for Acute Stress Reaction.
- The symptoms are not better accounted for by another mental disorder (e.g., a Mood Disorder or an Anxiety or Fear-Related Disorder).
- The symptoms are not a manifestation of another medical condition and are not due to the effects of a substance or medication on the central nervous system, including withdrawal effects.
- The symptoms result in significant distress or significant impairment in personal, family, social, educational, occupational or other important areas of functioning. If functioning is maintained, it is only through significant additional effort.

6B4Z Disorders Specifically Associated with Stress, Unspecified

QE84 Acute Stress Reaction

Note: Acute Stress Reaction is not considered to be a mental disorder, but rather appears in the section of the ICD-11 that lists reasons for clinical encounters that are not diseases or disorders. It is listed here to assist in differential diagnosis.

Essential (Required) Features:

- Exposure to an event or situation (either short- or long-lasting) of an extremely threatening or horrific nature. Such events include, but are not limited to, directly experiencing natural or human-made disasters, combat, serious accidents, torture, sexual violence, terrorism; assault, acute life-threatening illness (e.g., a heart attack); witnessing the threatened or actual injury or death of others in a sudden, unexpected, or violent manner; and learning about the sudden, unexpected or violent death of a loved one.
- The development of a response to the stressor that is considered to be normal given the severity of the stressor. The response to the stressor may include transient emotional, somatic, cognitive, or behavioural symptoms, such as being in a daze, confusion, sadness, anxiety, anger, despair, overactivity, inactivity, social withdrawal, amnesia, depersonalization, derealisation, or stupor. Autonomic signs of anxiety (e.g., tachycardia, sweating, flushing) are common and may be the presenting feature.
- Symptoms typically appear within hours to days following the stressful event, and usually begin to subside within a few days after the event or following removal from the threatening situation, when this is possible. In cases where the stressor is ongoing or removal is not possible, symptoms may persist but are usually greatly reduced within approximately 1 month as the person adapts to the changed situation.

Additional Clinical Features:

• Acute Stress Reaction in help-seeking individuals is usually, but not necessarily, accompanied by substantial subjective distress and/or interference with personal functioning.

Developmental Presentations:

• In children, responses to stressful events can include somatic symptoms (e.g., stomachaches or headaches), disruptive or oppositional behaviour, regression, hyperactivity, tantrums, concentration problems, irritability, withdrawal, excessive daydreaming, increased clinginess, bedwetting, and sleep disturbances. In adolescents, responses can include substance use and various forms of acting out or risk-taking.

Boundaries with Other Disorders and Conditions (Differential Diagnosis):

- **Boundary with Adjustment Disorder and Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder:** If symptoms have not begun to diminish within about 1 week of the stressor ceasing (or within about 1 month in the case of continuing stressors), a diagnosis such as Adjustment Disorder or Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder should be considered, depending on the nature of the symptoms.
- **Boundary with Acute and Transient Psychotic Disorder:** Acute and Transient Psychotic Disorder, like Acute Stress Reaction, has an acute onset and may occur in response to a traumatic experience. Acute Stress Reaction does not typically include psychotic symptoms such as hallucinations or delusions that are characteristic of Acute and Transient Psychotic Disorder.
- **Boundary with other mental disorders:** The symptoms do not meet the diagnostic requirements for another mental disorder, such as Acute and Transient Psychotic Disorder, a Depressive Disorder, an Anxiety or Fear-Related Disorder, or a Dissociative Disorder.

DISSOCIATIVE DISORDERS

Dissociative Disorders are characterized by involuntary disruption or discontinuity in the normal integration of one or more of the following: identity, sensations, perceptions, affects, thoughts, memories, control over bodily movements, or behaviour. Disruption or discontinuity may be complete, but is more commonly partial, and can vary from day to day or even from hour to hour. Experiences that are part of an accepted cultural, religious, or spiritual practice should not be viewed as symptoms of Dissociative Disorders.

Dissociative Disorders include the following:

- 6B60 Dissociative Neurological Symptom Disorder
- 6B61 Dissociative Amnesia
- 6B62 Trance Disorder
- 6B63 Possession Trance Disorder
- 6B64 Dissociative Identity Disorder
- 6B65 Partial Dissociative Identity Disorder
- 6B66 Depersonalization-Derealization Disorder
- 6B6Y Other Specified Dissociative Disorders

6B60 Dissociative Neurological Symptom Disorder

Essential (Required) Features:

- Involuntary disruption or discontinuity in the normal integration of motor, sensory, or cognitive functions, lasting at least several hours.
- Clinical findings are not consistent with a recognized Disease of the Nervous System (e.g., a stroke) or another medical condition (e.g., a head injury).
- The symptoms do not occur exclusively during episodes of Trance Disorder, Possession Trance Disorder, Dissociative Identity Disorder, or Partial Dissociative Identity Disorder.
- The symptoms are not due to the effects of a substance or medication on the central nervous system, including withdrawal effects, do not occur exclusively during hypnagogic or hypnopompic states, and are not due to a Sleep-Wake disorder (e.g., Sleep-Related Rhythmic Movement Disorder, Recurrent isolated sleep paralysis).
- The symptoms are not better accounted for by another mental disorder (e.g., Schizophrenia or Other Primary Psychotic Disorder, Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder).
- The symptoms result in significant impairment in personal, family, social, educational, occupational or other important areas of functioning.

Symptom specifiers:

Specific presenting symptoms in Dissociative Neurological Symptom Disorder may be identified using the following symptom specifiers. Multiple specifiers may be assigned as necessary to describe the clinical presentation.

6B60.0 with visual disturbance

Characterized by visual symptoms such as blindness, tunnel vision, diplopia, visual distortions or hallucinations that are not consistent with a recognized Disease of the Nervous System, other mental disorder, or another medical condition and do not occur exclusively during another Dissociative Disorder.

6B60.1 with auditory disturbance

Characterized by auditory symptoms such as loss of hearing or auditory hallucinations that are not consistent with a recognized Disease of the Nervous System, other mental disorder, or another medical condition and do not occur exclusively during another Dissociative Disorder.

6B60.2 with vertigo or dizziness

Characterized by a sensation of spinning while stationary (vertigo) or dizziness that is not consistent with a recognized Disease of the Nervous System, other mental disorder, or another medical condition and does not occur exclusively during another Dissociative Disorder.

6B60.3 with other sensory disturbance

Characterized by sensory symptoms not identified in other specific categories in this grouping such as numbness, tightness, tingling, burning, pain, or other symptoms related to touch, smell, taste, balance, proprioception, kinaesthesia, or thermoception. The symptoms are not consistent with a recognized Disease of the Nervous System, other mental disorder, or another medical condition and do not occur exclusively during another Dissociative Disorder.

6B60.4 with non-epileptic seizures

Characterized by a symptomatic presentation of seizures or convulsions that are not consistent with a recognized Disease of the Nervous System, other mental disorder, or another health condition and do not occur exclusively during another Dissociative Disorder.

6B60.5 with speech disturbance

Characterized by symptoms such as difficulty with speaking (dysphonia), loss of the ability to speak (aphonia) or difficult or unclear articulation of speech (dysarthria) that are not consistent with a recognized Disease of the Nervous System, a Neurodevelopmental or Neurocognitive Disorder, other mental disorder, or another medical condition and do not occur exclusively during another Dissociative Disorder.

6B60.6 with paresis or weakness

Characterized by a difficulty or inability to intentionally move parts of the body or to coordinate movements that is not consistent with a recognized Disease of the Nervous System, other mental disorder, or another medical condition and does not occur exclusively during another Dissociative Disorder.

6B60.7 with gait disturbance

Characterized by symptoms involving the individual's ability or manner of walking, including ataxia and the inability to stand unaided, that are not

consistent with a recognized Disease of the Nervous System, other mental disorder, or another medical condition and do not occur exclusively during another Dissociative Disorder.

6B60.8 with movement disturbance

Characterized by symptoms such as chorea, myoclonus, tremor, dystonia, facial spasm, parkinsonism, or dyskinesia that are not consistent with a recognized Disease of the Nervous System, other mental disorder, or another medical condition and do not occur exclusively during another Dissociative Disorder.

6B60.9 with cognitive symptoms

Characterized by impaired cognitive performance in memory, language or other cognitive domains that is internally inconsistent and not consistent with a recognized Disease of the Nervous System, a Neurodevelopmental or Neurocognitive Disorder, other mental disorder, or another medical condition and does not occur exclusively during another Dissociative Disorder.

| 6B60.Y | with other specified symptoms |
|--------|-------------------------------|
| 6B60.Z | with unspecified symptoms |

Boundary with Normality (Threshold):

- Transient alterations in sensory or cognitive functions that can accompany intense engagement in work or sports or intense emotional states and transient difficulties in coordinating movements (e.g., during situations of intense anxiety) are relatively common and do not result in significant impairment in personal, family, social, educational, occupational or other important areas of functioning. Such transient experiences should not be considered as symptomatic of Dissociative Neurological Symptom Disorder.
- Experiences resembling Dissociative Neurological Symptom Disorder can occur as a part of culturally sanctioned rituals and in some cases can persist for several months (e.g., following a death). If such presentations are not associated with impairment in functioning, a diagnosis of Dissociative Neurological Symptom Disorder should not be assigned. Depending on the nature of the circumstances preceding the onset of symptoms, as well as their duration, Acute Stress Reaction may be considered.

Course Features:

- Onset of Dissociative Neurological Symptom Disorder typically occurs between puberty and early adulthood; although onset in early childhood (as young as age 3) has been observed, it is extremely rare. Onset after age 35 is uncommon.
- The onset of Dissociative Neurological Symptom Disorder is usually acute and the disorder may follow either a transient or a persistent course. Symptoms are typically of brief duration (e.g., remission within 2 weeks) but commonly recur.
- Onset is often associated with a traumatic or adverse life event. Prior physical injury and a history of childhood abuse or neglect are risk factors for Dissociative Neurological Symptom Disorder. In addition, a prior Disease of the Nervous System is a risk factor for the disorder; for example, individuals with a history of epilepsy are more likely to exhibit non-epileptic seizures. Patients may also present with symptoms that closely

resemble the symptoms of physical illnesses experienced by their friends or family members.

- Non-epileptic seizures are more likely to have their onset earlier in the lifespan than motor symptoms.
- Positive prognostic factors include younger age, acute onset, onset associated with a clearly identifiable stressor, early diagnosis, monosymptomatic presentation, short duration of symptoms and short interval between symptom onset and initiation of treatment. Patients with good premorbid adjustment, above-average intelligence and those who accept the psychological nature of the disorder also have a better prognosis. Negative prognostic factors include non-transient symptoms, polysymptomatic presentation, the presence of comorbid medical conditions, and co-occurring mental disorders (e.g., Mood Disorders or Anxiety or Fear-Related Disorders). Patients with maladaptive personality traits, history of sexual abuse or poor physical functioning prior to diagnosis also have a poorer prognosis.
- Individuals with symptoms of paralysis, aphonia, blindness or deafness tend to have a better prognosis than those with symptoms of tremor or non-epileptic seizures.

Developmental Presentations:

- Onset of Dissociative Neurological Symptom Disorder in childhood is often associated with minor illness or physical injury.
- Gait disturbances and non-epileptic seizures are the most prominent and the most frequent symptoms of Dissociative Neurological Symptom Disorder in children and adolescents. The range and number of symptoms observed often expands with age and duration of the disorder.
- The most common psychosocial stressors associated with Dissociative Neurological Symptom Disorder in children include bullying or victimization, school-related stressors, family conflict or parental separation, and the death of a relative or friend.
- Individuals with Dissociative Neurological Symptom Disorder often grow up in families that are excessively preoccupied with illness.
- Adolescents with Dissociative Neurological Symptom Disorder frequently have cooccurring Mood Disorders, Anxiety or Fear-Related Disorders, as well as other medical symptoms. Mood and/or Anxiety or Fear-Related Disorders often persist even after remission of the symptoms of Dissociative Neurological Symptom Disorder. Among adolescents, Dissociative Neurological Symptom Disorder is more likely to be transient.

Culture-Related Features:

- Symptoms of Dissociative Neurological Symptom Disorder that are typical in one cultural context may be considered unusual in another, such as localized heat sensations, 'peppery' feelings on the skin, and sensations of being touched or pushed. These symptoms may be connected to local expressions of distress that reference cultural explanations of aetiology (e.g., spiritual origins) or pathophysiology (e.g., subtle energies). Alternatively, in some cultures dissociative symptoms may be attributed to an undiagnosed physical illness, such as occurs in Hypochondriasis (Health Anxiety Disorder); response to reassurance may suggest Hypochondriasis rather than a Dissociative Disorder.
- Dissociative seizures and convulsions tend to have higher prevalence in low- and middle-income countries and communities. Variations in prevalence may reflect greater

traumatic exposure, sanctions against verbal expressions of disagreement by persons with marginalized status, or cultures in which somatic expressions of distress are more common. Lower prevalence of dissociative symptoms may be related to negative cultural views of such 'out-of-control' behaviour.

Sex- and/or Gender-Related Features:

- Dissociative Neurological Symptom Disorder is two to three times more frequently diagnosed in females, who also have a younger age of onset.
- In men, Dissociative Neurological Symptom Disorder is associated with a history of industrial, military or other occupational accident. In women, symptoms are more often linked to stress caused by family or other interpersonal interactions.

Boundaries with Other Disorders and Conditions (Differential Diagnosis):

- **Boundary with Dissociative Amnesia:** Dissociative Amnesia involves memory deficits that are manifested as an inability to recall important autobiographical memories, typically of recent traumatic or stressful events. The memory deficits are inconsistent with ordinary forgetting and are not due to the direct effects of a substance or a Disease of the Nervous System. If cognitive symptoms are narrowly focused on autobiographical memory, Dissociative Amnesia is the more appropriate diagnosis. Cognitive symptoms presented in Dissociative Neurological Symptom Disorder involve other cognitive phenomena.
- **Boundary with other Dissociative Disorders:** Dissociative motor, sensory, or cognitive symptoms are commonly a part of the clinical presentation of Trance Disorder, Possession Trance Disorder, Dissociative Identity Disorder, or Partial Dissociative Identity Disorder. A separate diagnosis of Dissociative Neurological Symptom Disorder should not be assigned if the symptoms occur exclusively during symptomatic episodes of another Dissociative Disorder.
- **Boundary with Factitious Disorder and Malingering:** In Dissociative Neurological Symptom Disorder, despite the presented symptoms (e.g., seizures, paralysis) not being consistent with neurological findings or other pathophysiology, the symptoms are not feigned, falsified or intentionally induced as in Factitious Disorder or Malingering.
- **Boundary with other mental disorders:** Somatic symptoms that are not consistent with an identified medical condition also occur in Bodily Distress Disorder, and a variety of somatic symptoms may also occur in Schizophrenia or Other Primary Psychotic Disorders, Mood Disorders, Anxiety or Fear-Related Disorders, Obsessive-Compulsive or Related Disorders, and Disorders Specifically Associated with Stress. Dissociative Neurological Symptom Disorder should not be diagnosed if the symptoms are accounted for by another mental disorder.
- **Boundary with Diseases of the Nervous System and other medical conditions classified elsewhere:** The diagnosis of Dissociative Neurological Symptom Disorder requires a medical evaluation to rule out Diseases of the Nervous System and other medical conditions as the cause of the presenting motor, sensory, or cognitive symptoms. In Dissociative Neurological Symptom Disorder, clinical and laboratory findings are inconsistent with recognized symptoms of Diseases of the Nervous System or other medical conditions as indicated by an alternative examination method (e.g., normal simultaneous electroencephalogram [EEG] during an apparent seizure or convulsion).

6B61 Dissociative Amnesia

Essential (Required) Features:

- Inability to recall important autobiographical memories, typically of recent traumatic or stressful events, that is inconsistent with ordinary forgetting.
- The memory loss does not occur exclusively during episodes of Trance Disorder, Possession Trance Disorder, Dissociative Identity Disorder, or Partial Dissociative Identity Disorder and is not better accounted for by another mental disorder (e.g., Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder, Complex Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder, a Neurocognitive Disorder such as Dementia).
- The symptoms are not due to the effects of a substance or medication on the central nervous system (e.g., alcohol), including withdrawal effects, and are not due to a Disease of the Nervous System (e.g., temporal lobe epilepsy), another medical condition (e.g., a brain tumour) or to head trauma.
- The memory loss results in significant impairment in personal, family, social, educational, occupational or other important areas of functioning.

Presence or absence of dissociative fugue:

6B61.0 Dissociative Amnesia with dissociative fugue

• Dissociative amnesia with dissociative fugue is characterized by all of the features of Dissociative Amnesia, accompanied by dissociative fugue, i.e., a loss of a sense of personal identity and sudden travel away from home, work, or significant others for an extended period of time (days or weeks).

6B61.1 Dissociative Amnesia without dissociative fugue

• Dissociative amnesia without dissociative fugue is characterized by all of the features of Dissociative Amnesia occurring in the absence of symptoms of dissociative fugue.

6B61.Z Dissociative Amnesia, unspecified

Additional Clinical Features:

- In rare cases, amnesia may be generalized with regard to identity and life history. However, it is more commonly localized (i.e., failure to recall autobiographical events during a circumscribed period of time) or selective (i.e., failure to recall some but not all of the events during a circumscribed period of time). The extent of amnesia may vary over time.
- Individuals with Dissociative Amnesia may only be partly aware of their memory problems. Those who are aware of their memory problems may minimize the importance of these problems and may become uncomfortable when prompted to address them.
- Dissociative Amnesia is commonly associated with adverse life events, personal or interpersonal conflicts, or stress. The link between the disorder and these events, conflicts, and stressors may not be apparent to the individual. Repeated or long-lasting traumatization, trauma caused by multiple perpetrators, and a close relationship with the perpetrator are associated with more persistent and refractory amnesia.

• Dissociative Amnesia is commonly associated with chronic difficulty in forming and sustaining satisfying interpersonal relationships. The disorder may also be associated with self-harm, suicide attempts and other high-risk behaviours, depressive symptoms, dependence of the disorder may also be associated with self-harm, suicide attempts and other high-risk behaviours, depressive symptoms, dependence of the disorder may also be associated with self-harm, suicide attempts and other high-risk behaviours, depressive symptoms, dependence of the disorder may also be associated with self-harm, suicide attempts and other high-risk behaviours, depressive symptoms, dependence of the disorder may also be associated with self-harm, suicide attempts and other high-risk behaviours, depressive symptoms, dependence of the disorder may also be associated with self-harm, suicide attempts and other high-risk behaviours, depressive symptoms, dependence of the disorder may also be associated with self-harm, suicide attempts and other high-risk behaviours, depressive symptoms, dependence of the disorder may also be associated with self-harm, suicide attempts and other high-risk behaviours, depressive symptoms, dependence of the disorder may also be associated with self-harm, suicide attempts and other high-risk behaviours, depressive symptoms, dependence of the disorder may also be associated with self-harm, suicide attempts and other high-risk behaviours, depressive symptoms, dependence of the disorder may also be associated with self-harm, suicide attempts and other high-risk behaviours, depressive symptoms, dependence of the disorder may also be associated with self-harm, suicide attempts and other high-risk behaviours, depressive symptoms, dependence of the disorder may also be associated with self-harm, self-h

Boundary with Normality (Threshold):

• Mild difficulties remembering autobiographical events are common, especially as a result of normal aging. Forgetting early childhood events is also developmentally typical. However, in contrast to Dissociative Amnesia, normal forgetting: 1) does not typically involve sustained and extensive forgetting of substantial life episodes or significant personal facts; 2) is usually reversed following reminders of forgotten episodes and personal facts; 3) does not have its onset following stressful or traumatic events; and 4) does not result in significant impairment in functioning.

Course Features:

- Onset of Dissociative Amnesia is typically acute, occurring after traumatic or highly stressful events (e.g., war, natural disaster, maltreatment). Onset may occur immediately after the exposure or after a significant delay.
- Although Dissociative Amnesia has been observed across the lifespan, it is most commonly diagnosed in patients between 20 and 40 years of age.
- The interval affected by the memory loss and the duration of a given episode of Dissociative Amnesia are highly variable. In more acute cases, amnesia resolves spontaneously and rapidly (e.g., after a stressor is resolved), whereas in more chronic cases individuals either slowly regain the ability to recall the dissociated memories or never fully do. Dissociative Amnesia with dissociative fugue is associated with a more persistent course.
- Although single episodes of amnesia have been reported, individuals who have had a single episode of Dissociative Amnesia may be predisposed to develop subsequent episodes of amnesia. Most patients experience two or more episodes of Dissociative Amnesia.
- Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder may develop after memories are regained. In such cases, these memories may be experienced in the form of flashbacks.

Developmental Presentations:

- Dissociative Amnesia can be difficult to detect in young children whose symptoms may be misinterpreted as lying, denial, inattention, absorption or developmentally appropriate forgetting. Therefore, assessment of amnesia in children should be based on multiple observations or reports from several individuals and types of observers (e.g., parents, teachers, other caregivers).
- Adults are more likely to experience Dissociative Amnesia with dissociative fugue than children or adolescents.

Culture-Related Features:

• In cultures with strictly defined social role expectations, Dissociative Amnesia may be associated with severe psychological stresses or conflicts (e.g., marital conflict, other

family disturbances, attachment problems, conflicts due to restriction or oppression) rather than with traumatic exposures such as physical or sexual abuse.

• Amnesia reported after culturally accepted religious activities involving dissociative trance or possession should not be diagnosed as Dissociative Amnesia unless it is in excess of what is considered culturally normative and is associated with functional impairment.

Sex- and/or Gender-Related Features:

• The prevalence of Dissociative Amnesia is similar in males and females.

Boundaries with Other Disorders and Conditions (Differential Diagnosis):

- **Boundary with Acute Stress Reaction:** Acute Stress Reaction is a response to an event or situation of an extremely threatening or horrific nature that is considered to be normal given the severity of the stressor. Symptoms of Acute Stress Reaction may include transient amnesia for the immediate period and the event(s) of the stressor. Acute Stress Reaction begins to subside within a few days after the event or following removal from the threatening situation. Dissociative Amnesia should be considered as a diagnosis when the amnesia includes autobiographical information not directly related to the stressor or when the amnestic episode lasts longer than the immediate aftermath of the stressor (i.e., from several hours to several days).
- **Boundary with memory deficits in Dissociative Neurological Symptom Disorder:** Dissociative Neurological Symptom Disorder may include a variety of cognitive symptoms that are not due to the direct effects of a substance or a Disease of the Nervous System. If cognitive symptoms are focused exclusively on autobiographical memory, Dissociative Amnesia is the more appropriate diagnosis.
- **Boundary with Possession Trance Disorder:** Amnesia may occur in Possession Trance Disorder. However, amnesia in Possession Trance Disorder is related to episodes experienced as involving the intrusion of a new identity attributed to a spirit, power, deity, or other spiritual entity. Possession Trance Disorder also involves behaviours or movements that are experienced as being controlled by the possessing agent, symptoms that are not typically present in Dissociative Amnesia.
- Boundary with Dissociative Identity Disorder and Partial Dissociative Identity Disorder: Episodes of amnesia are common in Dissociative Identity Disorder and may also occur in Partial Dissociative Identity Disorder. However, amnesia in Partial Dissociative Identity Disorder is usually brief and restricted to extreme emotional states or episodes of self-harm. Moreover, Dissociative Amnesia is not characterized by the experience of two or more distinct, alternate personality states, as is the case in Dissociative Identity Disorder and Partial Dissociative Identity Disorder. In Dissociative Amnesia with dissociative fugue, the individual is typically confused about their identity. If two or more distinct personality states recurrently take executive control of the individual's consciousness and functioning, which may include episodes of amnesia, Dissociative Identity Disorder is the more appropriate diagnosis.
- **Boundary with Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder and Complex Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder:** In Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder and Complex Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder, memories of the traumatic event(s) may be fragmented, disorganized, or incomplete. When the amnesia is more pervasive and also involves autobiographical memories that are not related to the traumatic event(s) and the diagnostic requirements of

both disorders are met, an additional diagnosis of Dissociative Amnesia may be assigned.

- **Boundary with Disorders Due to Substance Use:** Amnesia is common in Disorders Due to Substance Use, particularly alcohol-related disorders (e.g., 'alcohol blackouts'). If amnesia occurs exclusively in the context of alcohol or drug use, a diagnosis of Dissociative Amnesia is not warranted. However, differential diagnosis may be complicated in cases in which an individual with a history of dissociative amnestic episodes also uses alcohol or other substances.
- Boundary with memory deficits in Neurocognitive Disorders, head trauma, and medical conditions classified elsewhere: Neurocognitive Disorders—including Delirium, Amnestic Disorder, and Dementia—are characterized by primary acquired clinical deficits in cognitive functioning, frequently including significant and pervasive memory impairment. In Neurocognitive Disorders, a specific aetiological factor or underlying disease process can often be identified. Memory loss may also occur as a result of a brain injury or as an effect of some Diseases of the Nervous System or medical conditions classified elsewhere (e.g., a brain tumour). In Dissociative Amnesia, memory loss is primarily for autobiographical memories, and no underlying disease process or injury that represents a potential aetiology for the memory impairment can be identified.

Trance Disorder and Possession Trance Disorder

Trance Disorder and Possession Trance Disorder are characterized by recurrent or single and prolonged involuntary marked alteration in an individual's state of consciousness involving either a trance state (without possession) or a possession trance state. The distinctive feature of Possession Trance Disorder is that the individual's normal sense of personal identity is replaced by an external 'possessing' identity attributed to the influence of a spirit, power, deity or other spiritual entity, which does not occur in Trance Disorder. In addition, in Possession Trance Disorder a greater range of more complex behaviours may be exhibited, which are experienced as being controlled by the possessing agent, whereas Trance Disorder typically involves the repetition of a small repertoire of behaviours.

Most trance or possession trance states are brief and transitory and are related to cultural and religious experiences. These experiences are not considered pathological and a diagnosis should not be assigned based on their occurrence. Trance and possession trance states should only be considered to be features of a mental disorder when they are involuntary and unwanted, not accepted as a part of a collective cultural or religious practice, and result in significant distress or significant impairment in personal, family, social, educational, occupational, or other important areas of functioning.

Because of the substantial similarity between these disorders, following a separate listing of the *Essential Features* of each of these disorders, the other CDDR elements are provided for the two categories together.

6B62 Trance Disorder

Essential (Required) Features:

- Occurrence of a trance state in which there is a marked alteration in the individual's state of consciousness or a loss of the individual's normal sense of personal identity, characterized by both of the following:
 - Narrowing of awareness of immediate surroundings or unusually narrow and selective focusing on specific environmental stimuli; and
 - Restriction of movements, postures, and speech to repetition of a small repertoire that is experienced as being outside of one's control.
- The trance state is not characterized by the experience of being replaced by an alternate identity.
- Trance episodes are recurrent or, if the diagnosis is based on a single episode, the episode has lasted for at least several days.
- The trance state is involuntary and unwanted and is not accepted as a part of a collective cultural or religious practice.
- The symptoms are not due to the effects of a substance or medication on the central nervous system (including withdrawal effects), exhaustion, or to hypnagogic or hypnopompic states, and are not due to a Disease of the Nervous System (e.g., complex partial seizures), head trauma, or a Sleep-Wake Disorder.
- The symptoms result in significant distress or significant impairment in personal, family, social, educational, occupational or other important areas of functioning. If functioning is maintained, it is only through significant additional effort.

6B63 Possession Trance Disorder

Essential (Required) Features:

- Occurrence of a trance state in which there is a marked alteration in the individual's state of consciousness and the individual's normal sense of personal identity is replaced by an external 'possessing' identity. The trance state is characterized by behaviours or movements that are experienced as being controlled by the possessing agent.
- Trance episodes are attributed to the influence of an external 'possessing' spirit, power, deity or other spiritual entity.
- Trance episodes are recurrent or, if the diagnosis is based on a single episode, the episode has lasted for at least several days.
- The possession trance state is involuntary and unwanted and is not accepted as a part of a collective cultural or religious practice.
- The symptoms are not due to the effects of a substance or medication on the central nervous system (including withdrawal effects), exhaustion, or to hypnagogic or hypnopompic states, and are not due to a Disease of the Nervous System (e.g., complex partial seizures) or a Sleep-Wake Disorder.
- The symptoms result in significant distress or impairment in personal, family, social, educational, occupational or other important areas of functioning. If functioning is maintained, it is only through significant additional effort.

Additional Clinical Features for Trance Disorder and Possession Trance Disorder:

• Trance and Possession Trance Disorders tend to involve recurrent episodes, rather than a persistent trance or possession trance state. To qualify for a diagnosis, a single, persistent trance or possession trance state must last for at least several days.

- Possession Trance Disorder is usually characterized by full or partial amnesia for the trance episode. Full or partial amnesia may also occur in Trance Disorder.
- The actions performed during a trance state (e.g., staring, falling), are generally not complex whereas during possession trance states, the activities performed are often more complex (e.g., coherent conversations, characteristic gestures, facial expressions, specific verbalizations) that are frequently culturally accepted as belonging to a particular possessing agent. These behaviours or movements are often stereotyped and may reflect cultural influences.
- Presumed possessing agents in Possession Trance Disorder are usually spiritual in nature (e.g., spirits of the dead, gods, demons, or other spiritual entities) and are often experienced as making demands or expressing animosity.

Boundary with Normality (Threshold) for Trance Disorder and Possession Trance Disorder:

- A diagnosis of Trance Disorder or Possession Trance Disorder should not be applied to experiences that are accepted in the individual's context as collective cultural phenomena or as a part of religious practices. Moreover, the diagnoses should not be applied to trance episodes when these do not result in significant distress or impairment in functioning.
- Single and transitory (minutes to hours) trance or possession trance experiences that are mildly distressing or impairing may occur under stressful circumstances, especially in the context of preexisting Mood Disorders or Anxiety or Fear-Related Disorders. These single, transitory states are not a sufficient basis for a diagnosis of Trance Disorder or Possession Trance Disorder.

Course Features for Trance Disorder and Possession Trance Disorder:

- Prevalence of Trance and Possession Trance Disorders is highest among young adults, with a mean age at onset of between 20 and 25 years.
- The long-term course of Trance and Possession Trance Disorders is variable, ranging from a single prolonged episode to multiple recurrences over years.
- Duration and intensity of trance episodes vary considerably. Most recurrent episodes are brief, and individuals may fall in and out of trance states multiple times within a given episode.
- Acute recurrent episodes of trance usually last minutes to hours and are followed by a period of exhaustion. Episodes of possession trance usually take longer to resolve, with many shifts over days or even weeks in and out of trance states.
- Trance states can be evoked by significant emotional stress, anger or enhanced frustration. Domestic disharmony, war-related trauma and interpersonal conflicts related to religious or cultural issues have also been shown to play a significant role in the precipitation of trance or possession trance states.
- Trance states can occur in clusters (i.e., multiple cases taking place in close temporal and/or spatial proximity) and may be associated with mass suggestibility.
- Individuals with prior exposure to trance states or who are spiritual healers are at higher risk of developing involuntary trance states themselves, outside of culturally sanctioned rituals.
- Patients with Trance Disorder and Possession Trance Disorder often report prodromal symptoms. Somatic complaints as well as a sense of presence (i.e., feeling that one is not

alone) are common. However, presence or absence of prodromal symptoms does not predict the number of trance episodes.

• Possession trance states are often characterized by involuntary motor movements, glossolalia, auditory hallucinations or amnesia. Possession trance states in which the individual's sense of identity is replaced are often preceded by a phase of other, more passive dissociative experiences (e.g., feeling influenced by forces or spirits from the outside, hearing voices, being unable to speak).

Developmental Presentations for Trance Disorder and Possession Trance Disorder:

- Trance-like states may manifest in children in various ways, including vacant staring or loudly talking to themselves in different voices.
- Adolescents characterized by nervousness, excitability and emotional instability are more likely to develop trance states.

Cultural Presentations for Trance Disorder and Possession Trance Disorder:

- Episodes of Trance Disorder and Possession Trance Disorder have been documented in a wide range of cultures. Prevalence may increase as part of a collective (mass) response to traumatic events affecting an entire community, such as a measles epidemic. Increases in prevalence have also been attributed to rapid social or cultural change in the affected communities, possibly as an expression of distress and opposition to changing values and circumstances.
- Specific local instances of Trance Disorder and Possession Trance Disorder show considerable variation cross-culturally regarding the behaviours during the altered state, the presence of dissociative sensory and motor alterations, and the identity assumed during these states. The identities of the possessing agents typically correspond to figures from the religious traditions in the society.
- Some individuals with Trance Disorder and Possession Trance Disorder may gradually develop control and acceptance of the trance experience based on participation in religious or cultural groups where these possession trance experiences are normative. Over time, these individuals do not have a higher prevalence of mental disorders than in the general population.

Sex- and/or Gender-Related Features for Trance Disorder and Possession Trance Disorder:

• The prevalence of Trance Disorder and Possession Trance Disorder appears to be comparable among males and females.

Boundaries with Other Disorders and Conditions (Differential Diagnosis) for Trance Disorder and Possession Trance Disorder:

• **Boundary with Dissociative Identity Disorder and Partial Dissociative Identity Disorder:** Possession Trance Disorder involves a marked alteration in the individual's normal sense of personal identity that is attributed to an external possessing agent. This is distinguished from Dissociative Identity Disorder and Partial Dissociative Identity Disorder, which are characterized by the experience of two or more distinct, alternate personality states that are not attributed to an external possessing agent. Individuals describing both internally and externally attributed alternate identities should receive a diagnosis of Dissociative Identity Disorder or Partial Dissociative Identity Disorder. In this situation, an additional diagnosis of Possession Trance Disorder should not be assigned.

- **Boundary with other Dissociative Disorders:** A variety of dissociative symptoms may occur as a part of Trance Disorder or Possession Trance Disorder, including dissociative amnesia, sensory or motor symptoms, depersonalization, and derealization. However, these should not be considered as a basis for a separate diagnosis of an additional Dissociative Disorder when they occur solely during the trance or possession trance state. Symptoms that persist after the trance or possession trance state has ended may be considered as a basis for a co-occurring diagnosis of the corresponding Dissociative Disorder.
- **Boundary with Schizophrenia or Other Primary Psychotic Disorders:** Intrusive symptoms of Possession Trance Disorder such as hearing voices, insertion of feelings and thoughts, or exhibiting behaviours attributed to the possessing agent are distinguished from symptoms of Schizophrenia or Other Primary Psychotic Disorders because they occur primarily during the possession trance state and are usually of brief duration. Possession Trance Disorder is also distinguished from Schizophrenia and Schizoaffective Disorder by the absence of other types of positive psychotic symptoms or of negative symptoms.
- **Boundary with Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder and Complex Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder:** Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder and Complex Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder may include flashbacks or other dissociative trance-like states characterized by narrowing of awareness of immediate surroundings and re-experiencing of the traumatic experience as though it were happening again in the here and now. These episodes are generally not experienced as under the person's voluntary control. If trance-like states are limited to episodes of re-experiencing in the context of Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder or Complex Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder, an additional diagnosis of Trance Disorder should not be assigned.
- **Boundary with Delirium:** Delirium and Trance Disorder may both present with transient and marked alteration in the individual's state of consciousness, but Delirium typically presents as significant confusion or global cognitive impairment. In contrast, Trance Disorder is characterized by a loss of a normal sense of personal identity, narrowing of awareness, and restriction of behaviour. Unlike Trance Disorder, Delirium is typically attributable to the direct physiological effects of a medical condition and/or a substance or medication, including withdrawal.
- **Boundary with Epilepsy:** Individuals with Trance Disorder may exhibit features resembling focal unaware (partial complex) seizures, but have normal EEGs even during trance episodes.

6B64 Dissociative Identity Disorder

Essential (Required) Features:

- Disruption of identity characterized by the presence of two or more distinct personality states (dissociative identities), involving marked discontinuities in the sense of self and agency. Each personality state includes its own pattern of experiencing, perceiving, conceiving, and relating to self, the body, and the environment.
- At least two distinct personality states recurrently take executive control of the individual's consciousness and functioning in interacting with others or with the

environment, such as in the performance of specific aspects of daily life (e.g., parenting, work), or in response to specific situations (e.g., those that are perceived as threatening).

- Changes in personality state are accompanied by related alterations in sensation, perception, affect, cognition, memory, motor control, and behaviour. There are typically episodes of amnesia inconsistent with ordinary forgetting, which may be severe.
- The symptoms are not better accounted for by another mental disorder (e.g., Schizophrenia or Other Primary Psychotic Disorder).
- The symptoms are not due to the effects of a substance or medication on the central nervous system, including withdrawal effects (e.g., blackouts or chaotic behaviour during substance intoxication), and are not due to a Disease of the Nervous System (e.g., complex partial seizures) or to a Sleep-Wake disorder (e.g., symptoms occur during hypnagogic or hypnopompic states).
- The symptoms result in significant impairment in personal, family, social, educational, occupational or other important areas of functioning. If functioning is maintained, it is only through significant additional effort.

Additional Clinical Features:

- Alternation between distinct personality states is not always associated with amnesia. That is, one personality state may have awareness and recollection of the activities of another personality state during a particular episode. However, substantial episodes of amnesia are typically present at some point during the course of the disorder.
- In individuals with Dissociative Identity Disorder, it is common for one personality state to be 'intruded upon' by aspects of other non-dominant, alternate personality states without their taking executive control, as in Partial Dissociative Identity Disorder. These intrusions may involve a range of features, including cognitive (intruding thoughts), affective (intruding affects such as fear, anger, or shame), perceptual (e.g., intruding voices or fleeting visual perceptions), sensory (e.g., intruding sensations such as being touched, pain, or altered perceived size of the body or of part of the body), motor (e.g., involuntary movements of an arm and hand), and behavioural (e.g., an action that lacks a sense of agency or ownership). The personality state that is intruded upon in this way commonly experiences the intrusions as aversive, and may or may not realize that the intrusions relate to features of other personality states.
- Dissociative Identity Disorder is commonly associated with serious or chronic traumatic life events, including physical, sexual, or emotional abuse.

Boundary with Normality (Threshold):

• The presence of two or more distinct personality states does not always indicate the presence of a mental disorder. In certain circumstances (e.g., as experienced by 'mediums' or other culturally accepted spiritual practitioners) the presence of multiple personality states is not experienced as aversive and is not associated with impairment in functioning. A diagnosis of Dissociative Identity Disorder should not be assigned in these cases.

Course Features:

• Onset of Dissociative Identity Disorder is most commonly associated with traumatic experiences, especially physical, sexual, and emotional abuse or childhood neglect. The

onset of identity changes can also be triggered by removal from ongoing traumatizing circumstances, death or serious illness of the perpetrator of abuse, or by other unrelated traumatic experiences later in life.

- Dissociative Identity Disorder usually has a recurrent and fluctuating clinical course.
- Some individuals remain highly impaired in most aspects of functioning, despite treatment. Individuals with Dissociative Identity Disorder are at high risk for self-injurious behaviour and suicide attempts.
- Although symptoms can spontaneously remit with age, recurrence may occur during periods of increased stress.
- Recurrent or chronic ongoing traumatic experiences are associated with poorer prognosis.
- Dissociative Identity Disorder often co-occurs with other mental disorders. In such cases, identity alternations can influence the symptom presentation of the co-occurring disorders.

Developmental Presentations:

- Onset of Dissociative Identity Disorder can occur across the lifespan. Initial identity changes usually appear at an early age, but dissociative identities are not typically fully developed. Instead, children present with discontinuities of experience and marked interference among mental states.
- Identification of Dissociative Identity Disorder in children can be difficult because symptoms manifest in a variety of ways that overlap with other mental disorders, including those involving conduct problems, mood and anxiety symptoms, learning difficulties, and auditory hallucinations. Young children often project their dissociated identities onto toys or other objects, so that abnormalities in their identity may only become detectable as children age and their behaviours become less developmentally appropriate. With adequate treatment, children with Dissociative Identity Disorder tend to have a better prognosis than adults.
- Early identity changes in adolescence characteristic of Dissociative Identity Disorder may be mistaken for developmentally typical difficulties with emotional and behavioural regulation.
- Older patients with Dissociative Identity Disorder may present with what appears to be late-life onset paranoia or cognitive impairment, or atypical mood, psychotic or obsessive-compulsive symptoms.

Culture-Related Features:

- Features of Dissociative Identity Disorder can be influenced by the individual's cultural background. For example, individuals may present with dissociative symptoms of movement, behaviour, or cognition such as non-epileptic seizures and convulsions, paralyses, or sensory loss in socio-cultural settings where such symptoms are common. These symptoms typically remain persistent and debilitating until the underlying Dissociative Identity Disorder is identified and treated.
- Acculturation or prolonged intercultural contact may shape the characteristics of the dissociative identities; for example, identities in India may speak English exclusively and wear Western clothes as a sign of their difference from the usual personality state.
- In some societies, presentations of Dissociative Identity Disorder may occur after stressful exposures (e.g., recurrent parental affect dysregulation), which may or may not

involve physical or sexual abuse. The tendency toward dissociative responses to stressors may be increased in cultures with less individualistic ('bounded') conceptions of the self or in circumstances of socioeconomic deprivation.

Sex- and/or Gender-Related Features:

- Prior to puberty, prevalence of Dissociative Identity Disorder does not appear to vary by gender. After puberty, prevalence appears to be higher in females.
- Significant gender differences have been observed in the symptoms of Dissociative Identity Disorder across the lifespan. Females with Dissociative Identity Disorder often present with more dissociative identities and tend to experience more acute dissociative states (e.g., amnesia, conversion symptoms, self-mutilation) than males. Males with Dissociative Identity Disorder are more likely to deny their symptoms or exhibit violent or criminal behaviours.

Boundaries with Other Disorders and Conditions (Differential Diagnosis):

- **Boundary with Trance Disorder and Possession Trance Disorder:** Trance Disorder is not characterized by the presence of two or more distinct personality states. In Possession Trance Disorder, the individual's customary sense of personal identity is replaced by an external 'possessing' identity, which is attributed to the influence of a spirit, power, deity or other spiritual entity. Behaviours or movements are experienced as being controlled by the possessing agent. Individuals who describe both internal distinct personality states that assume executive control as well as episodes of being controlled by an external possessing identity should receive a diagnosis of Dissociative Identity Disorder rather than Possession Trance Disorder.
- Boundary with Partial Dissociative Identity Disorder: In Dissociative Identity Disorder, discontinuities in agency and sense of self are marked (manifested in episodes of executive control, often including amnesia, and greater elaboration of the personality states), whereas in Partial Dissociative Identity Disorder these discontinuities are less pronounced. In Partial Dissociative Identity Disorder, one personality state is dominant and functions in daily life (e.g., parenting, work), but is intruded upon by non-dominant personality states (dissociative intrusions). Unlike in Dissociative Identity Disorder, the non-dominant personality states do not recurrently take executive control of the individual's consciousness and functioning to the extent that they perform in specific aspects of daily life (e.g., parenting, work). However, in Partial Dissociative Identity Disorder, there may be occasional, limited and transient episodes in which a distinct personality state assumes executive control to engage in circumscribed behaviours (e.g., in response to extreme emotional states, episodes of self-harm, or the reenactment of traumatic memories). In Partial Dissociative Identity Disorder, the non-dominant personality states are not elaborated to the extent observed in Dissociative Identity Disorder. For example, they may not be oriented to the present, may have the identity of a child, or may be mostly or exclusively involved in reenacting traumatic memories. In addition, there are typically (although not always) significant episodes of amnesia in Dissociative Identity Disorder, which may be severe. In contrast, episodes of amnesia in Partial Dissociative Identity Disorder, if present, are typically brief and restricted to extreme emotional states or episodes of self-harm.
- **Boundary with other Dissociative Disorders:** Dissociative Identity Disorder is distinguished from other Dissociative Disorders by the presence of two distinct personality states that recurrently take executive control of the individual's

consciousness and functioning. This does not occur in any other dissociative disorder (except possibly for limited circumstances in Partial Dissociative Identity Disorder, as described above). An additional Dissociative Disorder diagnosis should not be assigned based on phenomena that occur in specific relationship to changes in personality states (e.g., memory loss, changes in motor or sensory functioning, experiences of depersonalization and derealization).

- **Boundary with Schizophrenia or Other Primary Psychotic Disorders:** Individuals with Dissociative Identity Disorder may report experiencing symptoms such as hearing voices or intrusive thoughts that may also occur in Schizophrenia or Other Primary Psychotic Disorders. However, individuals with Dissociative Identity Disorder do not typically exhibit delusions, formal thought disorder, or negative symptoms (as in Schizophrenia or Schizoaffective Disorder) or rapid onset and rapidly fluctuating symptoms (as in Acute and Transient Psychotic Disorder). In the absence of other symptoms supporting a diagnosis of Schizophrenia or Other Primary Psychotic Disorder, intrusive phenomena such as hearing voices may suggest the presence of dissociative personality states.
- Boundary with Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder and Complex Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder: Individuals with Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder and Complex Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder may experience alterations in identity and sense of agency during episodes of re-experiencing of traumatic events (e.g., during flashbacks). For example, they may feel that they are unable to control their experiences or reactions during the reexperiencing episode or that they are in a different time in their own lives. However, these episodes are not characterized by a distinct personality state taking executive control of the individual's consciousness and functioning. Because Dissociative Identity Disorder is commonly associated with serious or chronic traumatic life events, it may cooccur with Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder or Complex Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder, and both diagnoses may be assigned if the full diagnostic requirements for both disorders are met.
- **Boundary with Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder:** Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder involves repetitive and persistent thoughts (e.g., of contamination), images (e.g., of violent scenes), or impulses/urges (e.g., to stab someone) that are experienced as intrusive and unwanted (obsessions) as well as repetitive behaviours, including repetitive mental acts, that the individual feels driven to perform (compulsions). However, Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder is not characterized by discontinuities in the sense of self and agency or the presence of two or more distinct personality states.
- **Boundary with Personality Disorder:** Personality Disorder, particularly with Borderline pattern, is characterized by persistent disturbances in sense of identity and self-direction, and often by problems with affect regulation. Personality Disorder does not involve the presence of two or more distinct personality states, but some individuals with Severe Personality Disorder exhibit transient dissociative experiences during times of stress or intense emotion.

6B65 Partial Dissociative Identity Disorder

Essential (Required) Features:

• Disruption of identity characterized by the experience of two or more distinct personality states (dissociative identities), involving discontinuities in the sense of self and agency. Each personality state includes its own pattern of experiencing, perceiving, conceiving, and relating to self, the body, and the environment.

- One personality state is dominant and functions in daily life (e.g., parenting, work), but is intruded upon by one or more non-dominant personality states (dissociative intrusions). These intrusions may be cognitive (intruding thoughts), affective (intruding affects such as fear, anger, or shame), perceptual (e.g., intruding voices fleeting visual perceptions, sensations such as being touched), motor (e.g., involuntary movements of an arm), or behavioural (e.g., an action that lacks a sense of agency or ownership). These experiences are experienced as interfering with the functioning of the dominant personality state and are typically aversive.
- The non-dominant personality states do not recurrently take executive control of the individual's consciousness and functioning to the extent that they perform in specific aspects of daily life (e.g., parenting, work). However, there may be occasional, limited and transient episodes in which a distinct personality state assumes executive control to engage in circumscribed behaviours (e.g., in response to extreme emotional states or during episodes of self-harm or the reenactment of traumatic memories).
- The symptoms are not better accounted for by another mental disorder (e.g., Schizophrenia or Other Primary Psychotic Disorder).
- The symptoms are not due to the effects of a substance or medication on the central nervous system, including withdrawal effects (e.g., blackouts or chaotic behaviour during substance intoxication), and are not due to a Disease of the Nervous System (e.g., complex partial seizures) or to a Sleep-Wake disorder (e.g., symptoms occur during hypnagogic or hypnopompic states).
- The symptoms result in significant impairment in personal, family, social, educational, occupational or other important areas of functioning. If functioning is maintained, it is only through significant additional effort.

Additional Clinical Features:

- The dissociative intrusions attributed to non-dominant personality states by individuals with Partial Dissociative Identity Disorder are experienced internally and may not be obvious to observers. Observable identity alteration is typically indicative of Dissociative Identity Disorder.
- Individuals with Partial Dissociative Identity Disorder often do not experience amnesia during episodes of dissociative intrusions. If amnesia does occur, it is usually brief and restricted to extreme emotional states or episodes of self-harm.
- Partial Dissociative Identity Disorder is commonly associated with serious or chronic traumatic life events, including physical, sexual, or emotional abuse.

Boundary with Normality (Threshold):

• The presence of distinct personality states or dissociative intrusions does not always indicate the presence of a mental disorder. In certain circumstances (e.g., as experienced by 'mediums' or other culturally accepted spiritual practitioners) the presence of multiple personality states is not experienced as aversive and is not associated with impairment in functioning. A diagnosis of Partial Dissociative Identity Disorder should not be assigned in these cases.

Course Features:

- Partial Dissociative Identity Disorder is strongly linked to traumatic experiences, especially physical, sexual, and emotional abuse or childhood neglect. The onset of identity changes can also be triggered by removal from ongoing traumatizing circumstances, death or serious illness of the perpetrator of abuse, or by other unrelated traumatic experiences later in life.
- Partial Dissociative Identity Disorder usually has a recurrent and fluctuating clinical course. Although symptoms might spontaneously reduce with age in older adults, periods of increased stress can cause recurrence of symptoms. Factors such as retraumatization or chronically ongoing abuse tend to predict a poorer prognosis.
- Partial Dissociative Identity Disorder often co-occurs with other mental disorders. In such cases, identity alternations can influence the symptom presentation of the co-occurring disorders.

Developmental Presentations:

- Disorganized attachment in childhood might put individuals at risk of developing Partial Dissociative Identity Disorder later in life.
- The onset of Partial Dissociative Identity Disorder may occur at any stage of life, from early childhood to late adulthood.
- Diagnosis in preadolescent children might be particularly challenging as Partial Dissociative Identity Disorder in children can manifest in a variety of ways, including conduct problems, mood and anxiety symptoms, learning difficulties, or what appear to be auditory hallucinations. Also, young children often project their dissociated identities onto toys or other objects, so that abnormalities in their identity may become detectable only as children age and their behaviours become less developmentally appropriate. Given adequate treatment, childhood cases of Partial Dissociative Identity Disorder tend to have a better prognosis than adult cases.
- Early identity changes in adolescence characteristic of Partial Dissociative Identity Disorder may be mistaken for developmentally typical difficulties with emotional and behavioural regulation.
- Older patients with Partial Dissociative Identity Disorder may present with what appears to be late-life paranoia, cognitive dysfunction, atypical mood, psychotic symptoms, or obsessive-compulsive symptoms.

Culture-Related Features:

- Features of Partial Dissociative Identity Disorder can be influenced by the individual's cultural background. For example, individuals may present with dissociative symptoms of movement, behaviour, or cognition such as non-epileptic seizures and convulsions, paralyses, or sensory loss in sociocultural settings where such symptoms are common.
- In some societies, presentations of Partial Dissociative Identity Disorder may occur after stressful exposures (e.g., recurrent parental affect dysregulation), which may or may not involve physical or sexual abuse. The tendency toward dissociative responses to stressors may be increased in cultures with less individualistic ('bounded') conceptions of the self or in circumstances of socioeconomic deprivation.

Sex- and/or Gender-Related Features:

• Females appear to be more likely than males to experience identity intrusions.

Boundaries with Other Disorders and Conditions (Differential Diagnosis):

- **Boundary with Trance Disorder and Possession Trance Disorder:** Some dissociative intrusions in Partial Dissociative Identity Disorder may resemble trance states, but Trance Disorder is not characterized by the presence of two or more distinct personality states. In Possession Trance Disorder, the individual's normal sense of personal identity is replaced by an external 'possessing' identity, which is attributed to the influence of a spirit, power, deity or other spiritual entity. Behaviours or movements are experienced as being controlled by the possessing agent. Individuals who experience dissociative intrusions attributed to both internal and external entities should receive a diagnosis of Partial Dissociative Identity Disorder rather than Possession Trance Disorder.
- Boundary with Dissociative Identity Disorder: In Dissociative Identity Disorder. discontinuities in agency and sense of self are marked (manifested in episodes of executive control, often including amnesia, and greater elaboration of the personality states), whereas in Partial Dissociative Identity Disorder, these discontinuities are less pronounced. In Dissociative Identity Disorder, two or more distinct personality states recurrently take executive control of the individual's consciousness and functioning to the extent that they function in daily life or engage in relatively elaborate patterns of behaviour in specific situations. In contrast, in Partial Dissociative Identity Disorder, the non-dominant, alternate personality states do not recurrently take executive control of the individual's consciousness and functioning to the extent that they perform in specific aspects of daily life, although there may be occasional, limited and transient episodes in which a distinct personality state assumes executive control to engage in circumscribed behaviours (e.g., in response to extreme emotional states, episodes of self-harm, or the reenactment of traumatic memories). In Partial Dissociative Identity Disorder, the nondominant alternate personality states are not elaborated to the extent observed in Dissociative Identity Disorder. For example, they may not be oriented to the present, may have the identity of a child, or may be mostly or exclusively involved in reenacting traumatic memories. Furthermore, in Dissociative Identity Disorder there are typically (although not always) significant episodes of amnesia, which may be severe. In Partial Dissociative Identity Disorder, amnesia, if present, is usually brief and restricted to extreme emotional states or episodes of self-harm.
- **Boundary with other Dissociative Disorders:** Partial Dissociative Identity Disorder is distinguished from other Dissociative Disorders by the presence of two or more distinct personality states. This does not occur in any other Dissociative Disorder (except Dissociative Identity Disorder, as described above). An additional Dissociative Disorder diagnosis should not be assigned based on phenomena that occur in specific relationship to intrusions by non-dominant personality states (e.g., memory loss, changes in motor or sensory functioning, experiences of depersonalization and derealization).
- **Boundary with Schizophrenia or Other Primary Psychotic Disorders:** Individuals with Partial Dissociative Identity Disorder may report experiencing symptoms such as hearing voices or intrusive thoughts that may also occur in Schizophrenia or Other Primary Psychotic Disorders. However, individuals with Partial Dissociative Identity Disorder do not typically exhibit delusions, formal thought disorder, or negative symptoms or rapid onset and rapidly fluctuating symptoms (as in Acute and Transient Psychotic Disorder). In the absence of other symptoms supporting a diagnosis of Schizophrenia and Other Primary Psychotic Disorder, intrusive phenomena such as hearing voices may suggest the presence of dissociative personality states.

- **Boundary with Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder:** Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder involves repetitive and persistent thoughts (e.g., of contamination), images (e.g., of violent scenes), or impulses/urges (e.g., to stab someone) that are experienced as intrusive and unwanted (obsessions) as well as repetitive behaviours, including repetitive mental acts, that the individual feels driven to perform (compulsions). However, Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder is not characterized by discontinuities in the sense of self and agency or the presence of two or more distinct personality states.
- Boundary with Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder and Complex Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder: Partial Dissociative Identity Disorder involves pervasive alterations in identity and sense of agency. In Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder and Complex Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder, such alterations can occur but are limited to episodes of re-experiencing traumatic events (e.g., during flashbacks). If symptoms consistent with dissociative intrusions occur exclusively during such episodes in the context of Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder or Complex Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder, an additional diagnosis of Partial Dissociative Identity Disorder is not warranted.
- **Boundary with Personality Disorder:** Personality Disorder, particularly with Borderline pattern, is characterized by persistent disturbances in sense of identity and self-direction, and often by problems with affect regulation. Personality Disorder does not involve the presence of two or more distinct personality states, but some individuals with Severe Personality Disorder exhibit transient dissociative experiences during times of stress or intense emotion.

6B66 Depersonalization-Derealization Disorder

Essential (Required) Features:

- Persistent or recurrent experiences of either or both depersonalization or derealization:
 - **Depersonalization** is characterized by experiencing the self as strange or unreal, or feeling detached from, or as though one were an outside observer of, one's thoughts, feelings, sensations, body, or actions. Depersonalization may take the form of emotional and/or physical numbing, a sense of watching oneself from a distance or 'being in a play', or perceptual alterations (e.g., a distorted sense of time).
 - **Derealization** is characterized by experiencing other persons, objects, or the world as strange or unreal (e.g., dreamlike, distant, foggy, lifeless, colourless, or visually distorted) or feeling detached from one's surroundings.
- During experiences of depersonalization or derealization, reality testing remains intact. The experiences are not associated with delusions or beliefs that the individual is being controlled by external persons or forces.
- The symptoms are not better accounted for by another mental disorder (e.g., Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder, an Anxiety or Fear-Related Disorder, another Dissociative Disorder, Personality Disorder).
- The symptoms are not due to the effects of a substance or medication on the central nervous system, including withdrawal effects, and are not due to a Disease of the Nervous System (e.g., temporal lobe epilepsy), head trauma, or another medical condition.
- The symptoms result in significant distress or significant impairment in personal, family, social, educational, occupational or other important areas of functioning. If functioning is maintained, it is only through significant additional effort.

Additional Clinical Features:

- A common associated symptom in Depersonalization-Derealization Disorder is an altered sense of time, such as the subjective experience of time slowing down or speeding up.
- Catastrophic cognitions (e.g., frequent fears of 'going crazy') may occur, along with a lack of vividness in autobiographical memories. Loss of the sense of 'ownership' of some memories or physiological hyporeactivity to emotional stimuli may also be present.
- Episodes of depersonalization and derealization in Depersonalization-Derealization Disorder may be associated with adverse life events or interpersonal conflicts.

Boundary with Normality (Threshold):

• Transient feelings of depersonalization or derealization may be experienced when under stress, during extreme emotional states or exhaustion, when physically ill, or under the influence of substances. Unlike Depersonalization-Derealization Disorder, such experiences typically remit when these emotional or physical states change.

Course Features:

- Onset of Depersonalization-Derealization Disorder can occur in childhood but more typically has its onset in mid-adolescence, with a mean age at onset of approximately 16 years of age. Onset after 25 years of age is very rare.
- The onset of Depersonalization-Derealization Disorder can vary from acute to gradual and insidious, with initial episodes of limited severity and frequency followed by those that are more extreme and persistent.
- Discrete episodes of Depersonalization-Derealization Disorder can vary in duration, ranging from brief (e.g., hours or days) to prolonged (e.g., weeks, months or years). The course of the disorder is typically chronic and persistent.
- Most patients experience either continuous symptoms or an initially episodic course that becomes continuous over time. A persistent episodic course is less common, affecting about one-third of cases. Intensity of symptoms may differ between episodes or remain constant for years or even decades.
- Internal and external factors such as emotional stress, anxiety or negative affect, sensory overstimulation, sleep deprivation or substance use can exacerbate symptom intensity. Some individuals with Depersonalization-Derealization Disorder report that physical stimulation (e.g., exercise, mild self-injury) or comforting interpersonal interactions can reduce symptom intensity.
- Depersonalization-Derealization Disorder often co-occurs with Mood Disorders, Anxiety or Fear-Related Disorders or Personality Disorder. However, co-occurrence of these diagnoses does not appear to alter the severity of depersonalization or derealization symptoms.
- Although a history of verbal or emotional abuse, neglect and other forms of childhood interpersonal trauma are associated with the development of Depersonalization-Derealization Disorder, the association is not as strong as for other Dissociative Disorders (e.g., Dissociative Amnesia, Dissociative Identity Disorder). Some cases of

Depersonalization-Derealization Disorder develop with what appears to be an out-of-theblue onset that cannot be linked to any identifiable triggers.

• Psychoactive substance use, especially of marijuana or hallucinogens, is a common precipitant of depersonalization and derealization symptoms. However, Depersonalization-Derealization Disorder diagnosis can only be assigned if the symptoms persist beyond the period of intoxication or withdrawal.

Developmental Presentations:

- Children often have significant difficulty verbalizing their subjective experiences of depersonalization or derealization. They are also less likely than adults to experience unease or distress caused by these symptoms.
- Depersonalization in adolescents may lead to poor academic achievement.

Culture-Related Features:

- Intentionally induced experiences of depersonalization and derealization can be desired objectives of spiritual or meditative practices that are common in many religions and cultures and should not be assigned a diagnosis of Depersonalization-Derealization Disorder. Transient distressing experiences of depersonalization and derealization may emerge initially during these practices but abate as the person acquires proficiency.
- However, some individuals who initially induce these states intentionally or experience them as part of their religious practice may lose control over them and develop persistent symptoms that warrant assigning the diagnosis.

Sex- and/or Gender-Related Features:

- Depersonalization-Derealization Disorder occurs with similar frequency among men and women.
- There are no significant gender differences in the clinical characteristics or the cooccurrence patterns of the disorder.

Boundaries with Other Disorders and Conditions (Differential Diagnosis):

- **Boundary with other Dissociative Disorders:** Experiences of depersonalization and derealization are common in other Dissociative Disorders, particularly Dissociative Identity Disorder, Partial Dissociative Identity Disorder, Trance Disorder, and Possession Trance Disorder. If the diagnostic requirements for another Dissociative Disorder are met, an additional diagnosis of Depersonalization-Derealization Disorder should not be assigned.
- **Boundary with Schizophrenia or Other Primary Psychotic Disorders:** In Schizophrenia or Other Primary Psychotic Disorders, non-transient experiences of depersonalization or derealization are common during psychotic episodes, and may be accompanied by delusional interpretations of this experience. If depersonalization and/or derealization are limited to periods of psychotic symptoms in an individual with Schizophrenia or Other Primary Psychotic Disorder, an additional diagnosis of Depersonalization-Derealization Disorder should not be assigned.
- *Boundary with Depressive Disorders:* Depersonalization and derealization are common during Depressive Episodes and may be persistent. An additional diagnosis of

Depersonalization-Derealization Disorder should not be assigned if the symptoms occur only during Depressive Episodes or are otherwise better accounted for by a Depressive Disorder.

- **Boundary with panic attacks:** Panic attacks in the context of Panic Disorder or other mental disorders may be associated with marked experiences of depersonalization-derealization, which may persist for a time after the panic episode subsides. If depersonalization-derealization symptoms occur exclusively during panic attacks or continue only for a brief period afterwards, a separate diagnosis of Depersonalization-Derealization Disorder is not warranted.
- **Boundary with other Anxiety or Fear-Related Disorders:** Transient experiences of depersonalization or derealization are also common in other Anxiety or Fear-Related Disorders such as Social Anxiety Disorder and Generalized Anxiety Disorder. If depersonalization and/or derealization is better accounted for by an Anxiety or Fear-Related Disorder (for example, these experiences occur only in the context of confrontation with the corresponding focus of apprehension), an additional diagnosis of Depersonalization-Derealization Disorder should not be assigned.
- Boundary with Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder and Complex Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder: Experiences of depersonalization and derealization are common in Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder, particularly during re-experiencing episodes such as flashbacks. If depersonalization or derealization is limited to episodes of re-experiencing in an individual with Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder or Complex Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder, an additional diagnosis of Depersonalization-Derealization Disorder should not be assigned. However, if clinically significant depersonalization and derealization occurs outside of or is persistent following re-experiencing episodes and the diagnostic requirements of both disorders are met, an additional diagnosis of Depersonalization-Derealization Disorder may be assigned.
- **Boundary with Personality Disorder:** Experiences of depersonalization or derealization may occur in Personality Disorder, especially when the person is under stress. If the symptoms are better accounted for by Personality Disorder, an additional diagnosis of Depersonalization-Derealization Disorder should not be assigned.

6B6Y Other Specified Dissociative Disorders

Essential (Required) Features:

- The presentation is characterized by symptoms that share primary clinical features with other Dissociative Disorders (i.e., involuntary disruption or discontinuity in the normal integration of one or more of the following: identity, sensations, perceptions, affects, thoughts, memories, control over bodily movements, or behaviour).
- The symptoms do not fulfil the diagnostic requirements of any of the other disorders in the grouping of Dissociative Disorders.
- The symptoms are not better accounted for by another mental disorder (e.g., Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder, Complex Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder, Schizophrenia, Bipolar Disorders).
- The symptoms are involuntary and unwanted and are not accepted as a part of a collective cultural or religious practice.
- The symptoms are not due to the effects of a substance or medication on the central nervous system, including withdrawal effects (e.g., blackouts or chaotic behaviour

during substance intoxication), and are not due to a Disease of the Nervous System (e.g., complex partial seizures), a Sleep-Wake disorder (e.g., symptoms occur during hypnagogic or hypnopompic states), head trauma, or another medical condition.

• The symptoms result in significant distress or significant impairment in personal, family, social, educational, occupational or other important areas of functioning. If functioning is maintained, it is only through significant additional effort.

6B6Z Dissociative Disorders, Unspecified

FEEDING OR EATING DISORDERS

Feeding or Eating Disorders involve abnormal eating or feeding behaviours that are not better accounted for by another medical condition and are not developmentally appropriate or culturally sanctioned. Feeding disorders involve behavioural disturbances that are not related to body weight or shape concerns, such as eating of non-edible substances or voluntary regurgitation of foods. Eating disorders involve abnormal eating behaviour and preoccupation with food accompanied in most instances by prominent body weight or shape concerns.

Feeding or Eating Disorders include the following:

6B80 Anorexia Nervosa
6B81 Bulimia Nervosa
6B82 Binge Eating Disorder
6B83 Avoidant-Restrictive Food Intake Disorder
6B84 Pica
6B85 Rumination-Regurgitation Disorder
6B8Y Other Specified Feeding or Eating Disorders

Feeding and Eating Disorders diagnoses should not be used to classify low-level concerns related to eating or behaviours that are common or culturally sanctioned.

General Cultural Considerations for Feeding and Eating Disorders

- Weight and shape concerns are prevalent in many societies and dieting to lose weight is common. Cultural preoccupation with body weight and shape, for example due to global dissemination of body ideals through mass media (typically low weight in women and muscular physique in men), has contributed to increased rates of Eating Disorders in many parts of the world. The global obesity epidemic has also contributed to social concerns about eating and weight.
- The prevalence of Feeding and Eating Disorders varies by region, including differences by gender. For example, weight concerns and eating disturbances are more prevalent among men in some Asian and Eastern Mediterranean societies than in the Americas.

6B80 Anorexia Nervosa

Essential (Required) Features:

- Significantly low body weight for the individual's height, age, developmental stage, or weight history. A commonly used threshold is body mass index (BMI) less than 18.5 kg/m² in adults and BMI-for-age under 5th percentile in children and adolescents. Rapid weight loss (e.g., more than 20% of total body weight within 6 months) may replace the low body weight essential feature as long as other diagnostic requirements are met. Children and adolescents may exhibit failure to gain weight as expected based on the individual developmental trajectory rather than weight loss.
- Low body weight is not better accounted for by another medical condition or the unavailability of food.

- A persistent pattern of restrictive eating or other behaviours aimed at establishing or maintaining abnormally low body weight, typically associated with extreme fear of weight gain. Behaviours may be aimed at reducing energy intake, by fasting, choosing low calorie food, excessively slow eating of small amounts of food, and hiding or spitting out food, as well as purging behaviours, such as self-induced vomiting and use of laxatives, diuretics, enemas, or omission of insulin doses in individuals with diabetes. Behaviours may also be aimed at increasing energy expenditure through excessive exercise, motor hyperactivity, deliberate exposure to cold, and use of medication that increases energy expenditure (e.g., stimulants, weight loss medication, herbal products for reducing weight, thyroid hormones).
- Excessive preoccupation with body weight or shape. Low body weight is overvalued and central to the person's self-evaluation, or the person's body weight or shape is inaccurately perceived to be normal or even excessive. Preoccupation with weight or shape, when not explicitly reported, may be manifested by behaviours such as repeatedly checking body weight using scales; repeatedly checking one's body shape using tape measures or reflection in mirrors; constantly monitoring the calorie content of food or searching for information on how to lose weight; or by extreme avoidant behaviours, such as refusal to have mirrors at home, avoidance of tight-fitting clothes, or refusal to know one's weight or purchase clothing with specified sizing.

Specifiers for underweight status

In the context of Anorexia Nervosa, severe underweight status is an important prognostic factor that is associated with high risk of physical complications and substantially increased mortality. In adults, very low BMI has been found to be associated with poorer long-term prognosis among individuals with Anorexia Nervosa, though it is not the sole determinant of medical risk.

6B80.0 Anorexia Nervosa with significantly low body weight

• Anorexia Nervosa with significantly low body weight meets all diagnostic requirements for Anorexia Nervosa, with BMI between 18.5 kg/m² and 14.0 kg/m² for adults or between the 5th percentile and the 0.3 percentile for BMI-for-age in children and adolescents.

6B80.1 Anorexia Nervosa with dangerously low body weight

• Anorexia Nervosa with dangerously low body weight meets all diagnostic requirements for Anorexia Nervosa, with BMI under 14.0 kg/m² in adults or under the 0.3 percentile (fewer than three in one thousand) for BMI-for-age in children and adolescents. In the context of Anorexia Nervosa, dangerously low body weight is an important prognostic factor that is associated with high risk of physical complications and substantially increased mortality.

6B80.2 Anorexia Nervosa in recovery with normal body weight

• Among individuals who are recovering from Anorexia Nervosa who have achieved a healthy body weight, the diagnosis should be retained until a full and lasting recovery is achieved. A full and lasting recovery includes maintenance of a healthy weight and

the cessation of behaviours aimed at reducing body weight for a sustained period (e.g., at least 1 year) following the termination of treatment.

6B80.Y Other Specified Anorexia Nervosa

6B80.Z Anorexia Nervosa, Unspecified

Specifiers for the pattern of weight-related behaviours:

Different patterns of weight-related behaviours among individuals with Anorexia Nervosa may be related to treatment selection and clinical management as well as the course and outcome of the disorder. The following specifiers may be applied to 6B80.0 Anorexia Nervosa with significantly low body weight and 6B80.1 Anorexia Nervosa with dangerously low body weight. (The 'x' below represents the digit, 0 or 1, indicating the individual's underweight status).

6B80.x0 Restricting pattern

The restricting pattern specifier should be assigned to individuals with Anorexia Nervosa who induce weight loss and maintain low body weight through restricted food intake or fasting alone or in combination with increased energy expenditure (e.g., through excessive exercise) but who do not engage in binge eating or purging behaviours.

6B80.x1 Binge-Purge pattern

The binge-purge pattern specifier should be assigned to individuals with Anorexia Nervosa who present with episodes of binge eating or purging behaviours aimed at getting rid of ingested food (e.g., self-induced vomiting, laxative abuse or enemas). This type of Anorexia Nervosa also includes individuals who exhibit binge eating episodes but do not purge.

6B80.xZ unspecified

Additional Clinical Features:

- Signs of low body weight may include visible or measurable signs of starvation, such as emaciation (lack of fat and muscle mass), extremities that feel cold to the touch or appear blue, hair loss, growth of fine 'lanugo' hair, oedema, proximal muscle weakness, amenorrhea, osteopenia or osteoporosis, slow heart rate, and low blood pressure.
- An explicitly stated fear of weight gain is not an absolute requirement for the diagnosis of Anorexia Nervosa provided that the behaviours maintaining underweight status appear to be intentional and there are other behavioural indicators of preoccupation with body weight or shape (e.g., repeated checking or monitoring or extreme avoidance behaviours).
- Individuals with Anorexia Nervosa often show a persistent lack of recognition that they are underweight or excessively thin and dismiss objective evidence regarding their actual weight or shape and the seriousness of their condition.

• Medical risk among individuals with Anorexia Nervosa is not solely dependent on weight status. Medical assessment should take into account other important medical risk factors as part of a comprehensive physical examination. Other risk factors include but are not limited to rapid weight loss (especially in children), orthostatic hypotension, bradycardia or postural tachycardia, hypothermia, cardiac arrhythmia, and biochemical disturbance.

Boundary with Normality (Threshold):

• Anorexia Nervosa must be associated with significantly low body weight for the individual's height, age, developmental stage, or weight history and with extreme attitudes and behaviours that distinguish it from normal dieting and 'normative discontent' with one's body shape and weight.

Course Features:

- Anorexia Nervosa often has its onset during adolescence or early adulthood (i.e., between the ages of 10 and 24) typically following a stressful life event. Early onset Anorexia Nervosa (prior to puberty) and late onset Anorexia Nervosa (after age 40) are relatively rare.
- Many individuals display a period of altered eating behaviours prior to meeting the full diagnostic requirements for Anorexia Nervosa.
- Although some individuals fully recover after a single episode of Anorexia Nervosa, many experience a chronic course of illness over many years.
- Individuals with severe symptoms of Anorexia Nervosa may require hospitalization to restore weight and address medical complications. These individuals are less likely to experience remission of symptoms.
- Most individuals diagnosed with Anorexia Nervosa experience remission within 5 years of onset. However, even after an individual no longer meets diagnostic requirements for Anorexia Nervosa, they are more likely to have a lower body weight and increased psychological features associated with Anorexia Nervosa (e.g., perfectionism) compared to the general population.
- Anorexia Nervosa is associated with premature death often due to medical complications of starvation or to suicide.

Developmental Presentations:

- Children with Anorexia Nervosa may not be able to articulate body image concerns and emotions related to restrictive eating. Presenting features among children may include avoidance of food intake with denial of the severity of malnutrition for reasons other than body image concerns (e.g., reporting they are 'not hungry' or have abdominal pain) as well as nonverbal forms of food refusal.
- Children with Anorexia Nervosa are less likely to engage in binge eating and purging or to engage in other compensatory behaviours.
- The prognosis for adolescents diagnosed with Anorexia Nervosa is better than the prognosis for adults with Anorexia Nervosa.
- Older individuals with Anorexia Nervosa who have had a longer duration of illness often exhibit chronic medical complications.

Culture-Related Features:

- Symptom presentation of Anorexia Nervosa varies across cultural groups. For example, in Asia, a subset of individuals with Anorexia Nervosa may not express fear of weight gain (sometimes referred to as 'fat phobia') as a rationale for reducing energy intake. Instead, dietary restriction may be attributed to gastrointestinal discomfort or to cultural or religious motives (fasting or dietary rules). Such cases should still be regarded as meeting the excessive preoccupation with body weight or shape essential feature if clinical observation or collateral history supports the conclusion that they are motivated by an intention to lose weight or to prevent weight gain.
- Anorexia Nervosa occurs in all cultures, but cross-cultural variations exist in prevalence and presentation. For example, the incidence of Anorexia Nervosa is greater in highincome countries and in populations with higher levels of globalization and related transformations in sociocultural values, gender roles, work, food supply, and lifestyle. The prevalence of Anorexia Nervosa is very low in Africa and Latin America and among Latinos and African Americans in the United States compared to the prevalence found in Europe and some Asian countries, such as China and Japan.
- The prevalence of Anorexia Nervosa among men is increasing globally, and more men are presenting for treatment of the disorder.

Sex- and/or Gender-Related Features:

- Anorexia Nervosa is much more commonly diagnosed in females (10:1 ratio) with a prevalence of 0.4%.
- Less is known about the true prevalence of Anorexia Nervosa in males. However, there is evidence that incidence and detection of Anorexia Nervosa in males is increasing.
- The onset of Anorexia Nervosa is earlier in females compared to males.
- Laxative abuse is more common among females, whereas excessive exercise is more common among males.
- Males with Anorexia Nervosa are more likely to be preoccupied with being insufficiently muscular or lean and, in response, may exhibit unusual eating behaviours (e.g., excessive protein consumption along with caloric restriction) or engage in excessive exercise for the purpose of attaining and maintaining low body weight or a low percentage of body fat. If low body weight and low body weight idealization are not part of the clinical presentation, a diagnosis of Body Dysmorphic Disorder may be considered (see *Boundaries* section below).

Boundaries with Other Disorders and Conditions (Differential Diagnosis):

- **Boundary with Bulimia Nervosa:** Individuals with Anorexia Nervosa may engage in binge eating and purging, but can be distinguished from individuals with Bulimia Nervosa by their very low body weight. A significant proportion of individuals with Anorexia Nervosa continue to exhibit binging and/or purging symptoms after they have regained a more normal weight. In such cases, the diagnosis may be changed to Bulimia Nervosa after 1 year during which body weight has not been sufficiently low to meet the diagnostic requirements of Anorexia Nervosa.
- **Boundary with Avoidant-Restrictive Food Intake Disorder:** Behaviours to establish or maintain an abnormally low body weight in Anorexia Nervosa are usually explicitly motivated by a desire for thinness or an intense fear of gaining weight. However, other

rationales for disturbances in eating behaviours or weight loss in Anorexia Nervosa may be given, such as fear of physical discomfort (e.g., stomach bloating), self-punishment, or religious or moral reasons. In cases in which the individual otherwise meets the diagnostic requirements of Anorexia Nervosa but weight or shape-related concerns are not explicitly endorsed, the altered eating behaviours should only be considered as diagnostic of Anorexia Nervosa if clinical observation or collateral history supports the conclusion that they are motivated by an intention to lose weight or to prevent weight gain. When such individuals begin to alter their eating behaviours and to gain weight, often as a result of treatment, it is common for more explicit weigh or shape-related concerns to emerge. In cases where concerns about body weight or shape continue to be absent in spite of alteration of eating behaviours and weight gain, it is generally more appropriate to change the diagnosis to Avoidant-Restrictive Food Intake Disorder.

- **Boundary with Schizophrenia or Other Primary Psychotic Disorders:** Beliefs that may be considered unusual, are demonstrably untrue, or even appear to be delusional in intensity or fixity may be present in individuals with Anorexia Nervosa, but these are generally restricted to issues of food, weight and shape and are otherwise consistent with the psychopathology of Anorexia Nervosa. Examples include a conviction that one is fat when one is demonstrably underweight or a belief that one's caloric intake is excessive when it is in fact insufficient to maintain a normal weight. Such beliefs are consistent with a diagnosis of Anorexia Nervosa, and an additional diagnosis of Delusional Disorder or other psychotic disorder is not warranted in such cases. However, if other delusional beliefs are present (e.g., persecutory delusions that are unrelated to weight, shape, or food intake) or there are other psychotic symptoms (e.g., thought disorder, hallucinations), a separate diagnosis of a primary psychotic disorder may be warranted.
- **Boundary with Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder:** Individuals with Anorexia Nervosa often experience repetitive and persistent thoughts about their weight or shape or about food, which can resemble obsessions. They may also engage in repetitive behaviours in response to these thoughts (e.g., exercise, purging). If repetitive thoughts and behaviours are limited to concerns about weight or shape or food, an additional diagnosis of Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder should not be assigned.
- *Boundary with Body Dysmorphic Disorder:* Body Dysmorphic Disorder is distinguished from Anorexia Nervosa such that preoccupations and body-image disturbance in Body Dysmorphic Disorder are focused on features other than overall weight, shape and size (e.g., preoccupation with the nose or skin), and are not accompanied by disturbance in eating behaviour or marked weight loss. Some individuals (primarily males) with Body Dysmorphic Disorder exhibit muscle dysmorphia such that they are preoccupied about being insufficiently muscular or lean and, in response, may exhibit unusual eating behaviours (e.g., excessive protein consumption) or engage in excessive exercise (e.g., weight lifting). In these cases, behaviours related to diet and exercise are motivated by a desire to be more muscular rather than to attain or maintain a low body weight. However, if low body weight idealization is central to the clinical presentation and body weight is sufficiently low, a diagnosis of Anorexia Nervosa instead of Body Dysmorphic Disorder should be assigned.

6B81 Bulimia Nervosa

Essential (Required) Features:

- Frequent, recurrent episodes of binge eating (e.g., once a week or more over a period of at least 1 month). Binge eating is defined as a discrete period of time (e.g., 2 hours) during which the individual experiences a loss of control over their eating behaviour and eats notably more or differently than usual. Loss of control over eating may be described by the individual as feeling like they cannot stop or limit the amount or type of food eaten; having difficulty stopping eating once they have started; or giving up even trying to control their eating because they know they will end up overeating.
- Repeated inappropriate compensatory behaviours to prevent weight gain (e.g., once a week or more over a period of at least 1 month). The most common compensatory behaviour is self-induced vomiting, which typically occurs within an hour of binge eating. Other inappropriate compensatory behaviours include fasting or using diuretics to induce weight loss, using laxatives or enemas to reduce the absorption of food, omission of insulin doses in individuals with diabetes, and strenuous exercise to greatly increase energy expenditure.
- Excessive preoccupation with body weight or shape. Preoccupation with weight or shape, when not explicitly reported, may be manifested by behaviours such as repeatedly checking body weight using scales; repeatedly checking one's body shape using tape measures or reflection in mirrors; constantly monitoring the calorie content of food or searching for information on how to lose weight; or by extreme avoidant behaviours, such as refusal to have mirrors at home, avoidance of tight-fitting clothes, or refusal to know one's weight or purchase clothing with specified sizing.
- There is marked distress about the pattern of binge eating and inappropriate compensatory behaviour or significant impairment in personal, family, social, educational, occupational or other important areas of functioning.
- The symptoms do not meet the diagnostic requirements for Anorexia Nervosa.

Additional Clinical Features:

- Binge eating episodes may be 'objective', in which the individual eats an amount of food that is larger than what most people would eat under similar circumstances, or 'subjective', which may involve eating amounts of food that might be objectively considered to be within normal limits but are subjectively experienced as large by the individual. In either case, the core feature of a binge eating episode is the experience of loss of control over eating.
- Additional characteristics of binge eating episodes may include eating much more rapidly than usual, eating until feeling uncomfortably full, eating large amounts of food when not feeling physically hungry, or eating alone because of embarrassment.
- Binge eating is typically experienced as very distressing. This is often manifested in negative emotions such as guilt, disgust, or shame, which also typically negatively affect the individual's self-evaluation.
- Bulimia Nervosa may be associated with weight gain over time. However, individuals with Bulimia Nervosa may be of normal weight or even low weight (though not sufficiently low to meet the diagnostic requirements for Anorexia Nervosa). The diagnosis of Bulimia Nervosa is based on the presence of regular binge eating and inappropriate compensatory behaviours, regardless of overweight status.

Boundary with Normality (Threshold):

• Infrequent overeating or feasting during culturally sanctioned holidays or occasional celebrations should not be characterized as binge eating for the purpose of assigning a diagnosis of Bulimia Nervosa. Similarly, exercise qualifies as inappropriate compensatory behaviour only if it is unusually intensive or prolonged, or is carried out to the exclusion of other activities or in spite of fatigue, pain or injury.

Course Features:

- Bulimia Nervosa is characterized by a variable course that can manifest as persistent symptoms or intermittent episodes of remission and exacerbation. Outcome appears to be related to course such that individuals whose symptoms remit for a period longer than one year tend not to experience relapse of the disorder.
- Individuals with Bulimia Nervosa are at a significantly increased risk for substance use, suicidality, and health complications (e.g., gastrointestinal problems) that can lead to premature death.
- Some individuals may cease purging or compensatory behaviours but continue to engage in binge eating. In this case, the diagnosis may be changed to Binge Eating Disorder if all diagnostic requirements are met.
- Stressful life events or a history of Anorexia Nervosa increase the likelihood of the onset of Bulimia Nervosa. A restricting pattern in Anorexia Nervosa may evolve over time into a pattern of binging and purging in Bulimia Nervosa. In such cases, the diagnosis may be changed to Bulimia Nervosa after 1 year during which body weight has not been sufficiently low to meet the diagnostic requirements of Anorexia Nervosa.

Developmental Presentations:

• Onset of Bulimia Nervosa typically occurs during or shortly after puberty. Young children do not commonly engage in binge-eating due to a lack of access and control of food availability.

Culture-Related Features:

- The prevalence of Bulimia Nervosa is higher in cultures characterized by an idealized thin body ideal. In addition, the prevalence of Bulimia Nervosa is increasing in countries that are industrializing and transitioning to more global and urbanized societies.
- The distribution of Bulimia Nervosa across cultural groups within a society can change over time. For example, in the United States, the incidence of the disorder appears to be decreasing among Euro-American females and increasing among ethnic minority groups, particularly Latinos and African-Americans.
- Purging methods may be locally specific, such as the use of herbal purgatives in Asia and the Pacific region (e.g., seaweed and herbal teas in Japan; indigenous tea in Fiji) and justified with medicinal or other rationales that may obscure their pathological significance.

Sex- and/or Gender-Related Features:

• Bulimia Nervosa is more common in females than males.

• Males are less likely than females to engage in purging behaviours and have a greater tendency to use excessive exercise or steroids as compensatory behaviours in response to binges. Males are also less likely to seek treatment.

Boundaries with Other Disorders and Conditions (Differential Diagnosis):

- **Boundary with Anorexia Nervosa:** Individuals with Anorexia Nervosa may engage in binge eating and purging, but can be distinguished from individuals with Bulimia Nervosa by their very low body weight. If binge eating and purging are associated with very low body weight (i.e., BMI of less than 18.5 kg/m² in adults and BMI-for-age under 5th percentile in children and adolescents) and all the other diagnostic requirements are met, a diagnosis of Anorexia Nervosa, Binge-Purge pattern rather Bulimia Nervosa should be assigned. Moreover, a significant proportion of individuals with Anorexia Nervosa continue to exhibit binging or purging behaviours after they have regained a more normal weight. In such cases, the diagnosis may be changed to Bulimia Nervosa after 1 year during which body weight has not been sufficiently low to meet the diagnostic requirements of Anorexia Nervosa.
- **Boundary with Binge Eating Disorder:** Binge eating that is not associated with regular compensatory behaviours should be diagnosed as Binge Eating Disorder rather than Bulimia Nervosa.

6B82 Binge Eating Disorder

Essential (Required) Features:

- Frequent, recurrent episodes of binge eating (e.g., once a week or more over a period of 3 months). Binge eating is defined as a discrete period of time (e.g., 2 hours) during which the individual experiences a loss of control over their eating behaviour and eats notably more or differently than usual. Loss of control over eating may be described by the individual as feeling like they cannot stop or limit the amount or type of food eaten; having difficulty stopping eating once they have started; or giving up even trying to control their eating because they know they will end up overeating.
- The binge eating episodes are not regularly accompanied by inappropriate compensatory behaviours aimed at preventing weight gain.
- The symptoms and behaviours are not better accounted for by another medical condition (e.g., Prader-Willi Syndrome) or mental disorder (e.g., a Depressive Disorder) and are not due to the effects of a substance or medication on the central nervous system, including withdrawal effects.
- There is marked distress about the pattern of binge eating or significant impairment in personal, family, social, educational, occupational or other important areas of functioning.

Additional Clinical Features:

• Binge eating episodes may be 'objective', in which the individual eats an amount of food that is larger than most people would eat under similar circumstances, or 'subjective', which may involve eating amounts of food that might be objectively considered to be within normal limits but are subjectively experienced as large by the individual. In either

case, the core feature of a binge eating episode is the experience of loss of control over eating.

- Additional characteristics of binge eating episodes may include eating much more rapidly than usual, eating until feeling uncomfortably full, eating large amounts of food when not feeling physically hungry, or eating alone because of embarrassment.
- Binge eating is typically experienced as very distressing. This is often manifested in negative emotions such as guilt, disgust, or shame, which also typically negatively affect the individual's self-evaluation.
- When there are multiple binge eating episodes per week and these are associated with significant distress, it may be appropriate to assign the diagnosis after a shorter period (e.g., 1 month).
- Binge Eating Disorder is often associated with weight gain over time and obesity. However, individuals with Binge Eating Disorder may be of normal weight or even low weight (though not sufficiently to meet the diagnostic requirements for Anorexia Nervosa). The diagnosis of Binge Eating Disorder is based on the presence of regular binge eating that is not accompanied by regular inappropriate compensatory behaviours, regardless of overweight status.
- Preoccupation with one's body weight or shape, frequent checking or avoidance of checking body weight or size, and strong influence of body weight or shape on self-evaluation are commonly present, though not required for a diagnosis of Binge Eating Disorder.

Boundary with Normality (Threshold):

- Infrequent overeating or feasting during culturally sanctioned holidays or occasional celebrations should not be characterized as binge eating for the purpose of assigning a diagnosis of Binge Eating Disorder.
- Individuals who report patterns of overeating that do not meet the definition of binge eating should not be diagnosed with Binge Eating Disorder. Examples include mindless eating that can be resisted or stopped (e.g., if there is a distraction or interruption) or eating more than originally intended without a sense of loss of control, even if this kind of eating is distressing.

Course Features:

- Onset of Binge Eating Disorder is typically during adolescence or young adulthood but can also begin in later adulthood.
- The experience of loss of control over eating or sporadic episodes of binge eating may occur prior to the onset of Binge Eating Disorder.
- Binge Eating Disorder is more common among individuals seeking weight-loss treatment. Typically, these individuals seek weight loss treatment after the onset of the disorder; binge eating does not typically arise as a consequence of treatment.
- Binge Eating Disorder occurs more often among overweight and obese individuals than those with normal body mass indices.
- Individuals who seek treatment for Binge Eating Disorder are typically older in age compared to individuals who seek treatment for other Feeding or Eating Disorders.
- Binge Eating Disorder, although often persistent, has a higher rate of remission than other Feeding or Eating Disorders, with remission sometimes occurring spontaneously or as a result of treatment.

• The features of Binge Eating Disorder may evolve over time, such that another Feeding or Eating Disorder may better characterize the current symptoms.

Developmental Presentations:

- In children, as in adults, Binge Eating Disorder is associated with weight gain, increased body fat, concealing one's eating, and use of binge eating to regulate emotions.
- Binge Eating Disorder is more difficult to diagnose in childhood due to normative difficulty engaging in introspection in order to articulate reasons for binge-eating behaviour. Children are likely to report feeling out of control while eating rather than indicating that the amount of food consumed was excessive.
- Children with Binge Eating Disorder may experience less frequent and briefer binges as compared to adults because they typically cannot gain access to food without the assistance of adults.
- Binge Eating Disorder is common among adolescents and young adults.

Culture-Related Features:

- Compared to other Feeding or Eating disorders, Binge Eating Disorder appears to be more equally distributed across countries, ethnic groups, and genders. The prevalence of Binge Eating Disorder is at least as high in low- and middle-income countries as across high-income countries and tends to correlate with rise of body mass index in the general population.
- The relationship between ideal body size, body satisfaction, and Binge Eating Disorder is complex. For example, women who report strong identification with African American or Black Caribbean culture also tend to report larger body ideals and higher body satisfaction, yet tend to have elevated rates of binge eating.

Sex- and/or Gender-Related Features:

- Binge Eating Disorder is more common in females.
- There are no significant gender-related differences in the symptoms or course of Binge Eating Disorder.

Boundaries with Other Disorders and Conditions (Differential Diagnosis):

- **Boundary with Bulimia Nervosa:** If an individual regularly engages in inappropriate compensatory behaviours following episodes of binge eating (e.g., self-induced vomiting, use of laxatives, enemas, diuretics, fasting, strenuous exercise or omitting insulin), the diagnosis of Bulimia Nervosa rather than Binge Eating Disorder should be assigned.
- **Boundary with obesity:** Obesity is a common consequence of Binge Eating Disorder and should be recorded separately. However, obese individuals who report overeating patterns that do not meet the definition of binge eating should not be diagnosed with Binge Eating Disorder.

6B83 Avoidant-Restrictive Food Intake Disorder

Essential (Required) Features:

- Avoidance or restriction of food intake that results in either or both of the following:
 - The intake of an insufficient quantity or variety of food to meet adequate energy or nutritional requirements that has resulted in significant weight loss, clinically significant nutritional deficiencies, dependence on oral nutritional supplements or tube feeding, or has otherwise negatively affected the physical health of the individual.
 - Significant impairment in personal, family, social, educational, occupational or other important areas of functioning (e.g., due to avoidance or distress related to participating in social experiences involving eating).
- The pattern of eating behaviour is not motivated by preoccupation with body weight or shape.
- Restricted food intake and consequent weight loss (or failure to gain weight), or other impact on physical health or related functional impairment, are not due to unavailability of food; are not a manifestation of another medical condition (e.g., food allergies, hyperthyroidism) or mental disorder; and are not due to the effects of a substance or medication, including withdrawal effects.

Additional Clinical Features:

- A variety of reasons may be given for restriction of food intake, such as lack of interest in eating, avoidance of foods with certain sensory characteristics (e.g., smell, taste, appearance, texture, colour, temperature) or concern about perceived aversive consequences of eating (e.g., choking, vomiting, health problems), which in some cases is related to a history of aversive food-related experience such as choking or vomiting after eating a particular type of food. In many cases, however, there is no identifiable event that preceded the onset of the disorder.
- Some individuals with Avoidant-Restrictive Food Intake Disorder present with a longstanding lack of interest in food or eating, chronically low appetite, or a poor ability to recognize hunger. In other cases, restriction of food intake may be more variable and significantly affected by emotional or psychological factors. This latter pattern may be associated with high levels of distractibility or with high levels of emotional arousal and extreme resistance in situations in which eating is expected. Individuals with this pattern, especially children, often require significant prompting and encouragement to eat.
- Individuals with Avoidant-Restrictive Food Intake Disorder generally do not experience any difficulties eating foods within their preferred range and may therefore not be underweight.
- Avoidant-Restrictive Food Intake Disorder can negatively impact family functioning, such that mealtimes may be associated with increased distress (e.g., infants may be more irritable during feedings, children may try to negotiate what food is present or how much they need to consume at mealtimes).

Boundary with Normality (Threshold):

• People with unusual patterns of eating behaviour or who are exceptionally 'picky eaters' should not be diagnosed with Avoidant-Restrictive Food Intake Disorder in the absence of significant weight loss or other health consequences (e.g., clinically significant nutritional deficiencies, increases in blood lipids due to selective eating of fatty foods) or impairment in psychosocial functioning (e.g., limited participation in social activities

where preferred foods are not available). Distress on the part of parents or other caregivers related to selective eating in the absence of identifiable health consequences or impairment in the individual's functioning is not a basis for assigning the diagnosis.

• Avoidance of specific foods or limitation of food intake due to religious or other culturally sanctioned practices does not meet the diagnostic requirements of Avoidant-Restrictive Food Intake Disorder unless the pattern of restricted food intake has negatively affected the physical health of the individual or resulted in significant impairment in personal, family, social, educational, occupational or other important areas of functioning.

Course Features:

- Avoidant-Restrictive Food Intake Disorder may be associated with delays in typical development (e.g., growth, learning), particularly if significant malnutrition is present.
- There is limited evidence to support an association between a diagnosis of Avoidant-Restrictive Food Intake Disorder and a later diagnosis of an Eating Disorder.

Developmental Presentations:

• Avoidant eating or feeding often starts in early childhood, but initial presentations in older children, adolescents and adults also occur.

Culture-Related Features:

• Avoidance of specific foods because of widely accepted food choice practices, such as vegetarianism or veganism, or due to religious observances (e.g., fasting, purification, or ritual proscription of foods), should not be diagnosed with the disorder unless the restricted eating behaviour exceeds the usual norms of the individual's cultural or religious group(s) and is associated with health or functional consequences that warrant clinical attention.

Sex- and/or Gender-Related Features:

• The prevalence of Avoidant-Restrictive Food Intake Disorder is similar among males and females. When Avoidant-Restrictive Food Intake Disorder co-occurs with Autism Spectrum Disorder, there is a higher prevalence in males.

Boundaries with Other Disorders and Conditions (Differential Diagnosis):

• **Boundary with Anorexia Nervosa:** Individuals with Anorexia Nervosa, like individuals with Avoidant-Restrictive Food Intake Disorder, present with a pattern of restricted eating and significantly low body weight, with similar health-related consequences. The difference is that in Anorexia Nervosa, behaviours to establish or maintain an abnormally low body weight are usually explicitly motivated by a desire for thinness or an intense fear of gaining weight. However, other rationales for disturbances in eating behaviours or weight loss in Anorexia Nervosa may be given, such as fear of physical discomfort (e.g., stomach bloating), self-punishment, or religious or moral reasons. In cases in which the individual otherwise meets the diagnostic requirements of Anorexia Nervosa but weight or shape-related concerns are not explicitly endorsed, the altered eating behaviours should only be considered as diagnostic of Anorexia Nervosa if

clinical observation or collateral history supports the conclusion that they are motivated by an intention to lose weight or to prevent weight gain. Some individuals initially diagnosed with Avoidant-Restrictive Food Intake Disorder may exhibit more explicit weigh or shape-related concerns over the course of treatment as they begin to alter their eating behaviours and to gain weight. In such cases, it may be appropriate to change the diagnosis to Anorexia Nervosa if all diagnostic requirements are met.

- Boundary with Autism Spectrum Disorder: In some individuals with Avoidant-• Restrictive Food Intake Disorder, the pattern of food avoidance stems from sensory sensitivities related to the smell, taste, temperature, texture or appearance of foods. For example, an individual may eat only foods of a particular colour or will refuse solids or will accept only a very narrow range of foods based on packaging or a particular brand. Some individuals with Autism Spectrum Disorder may also restrict intake of certain foods because of their sensory characteristics (e.g., hypersensitivity to food texture) or because of inflexible adherence to particular routines (e.g., eating the same foods at the same time in the same order or only eating specific brands of food with specific packaging). However, Autism Spectrum Disorder is also characterized by persistent deficits in initiating and sustaining social communication and reciprocal social interactions and persistent restricted, repetitive, and inflexible patterns of behaviour, interests, or activities that are unrelated to food. If a pattern of restricted eating in an individual with Autism Spectrum Disorder has caused significant weight loss or other health consequences or is specifically associated with significant functional impairment, an additional diagnosis of Avoidant-Restrictive Food Intake Disorder may be assigned.
- **Boundary with Specific Phobia and other Anxiety or Fear-Related Disorders:** In some individuals with Avoidant-Restrictive Food Intake Disorder, food avoidance may be related to perceived aversive consequences of eating (e.g., fear that swallowing particular foods may cause one to gag, choke or vomit, or concern about the development of health problems such as heart disease or cancer related to food intake). Avoidant-Restrictive Food Intake Disorder is commonly associated with anxiety symptoms in situations related to eating or food, which may become worse over time as the disorder evolves. If the pattern and intensity of anxiety symptoms in an individual with Avoidant-Restrictive Food Intake Disorder meet all diagnostic requirements of Specific Phobia or another Anxiety or Fear-Related Disorder, both diagnoses may be assigned.
- **Boundary with other mental disorders:** Individuals experiencing a Depressive Episode may present with lack of appetite or reduced interest in eating and weight loss associated with depressed mood and other cognitive-behavioural or neurovegetative symptoms of a Depressive Episode. Similarly, individuals experiencing Manic, Mixed, or Hypomanic Episodes may exhibit reduced interest in eating together with other features of a Bipolar Disorder. Avoidance or restriction of food intake with effects on weight and nutrition can also be present in Schizophrenia or Other Primary Psychotic Disorders due to loss of appetite or due to paranoid ideas (e.g., fear of being poisoned). Motivations for restricted eating should be investigated carefully as a part of a complete mental health assessment in order to distinguish among these conditions. An additional diagnosis of Avoidant-Restrictive Food Intake Disorder is generally not warranted if the restriction of food intake is fully accounted for by another mental disorder.
- **Boundary with other medical conditions:** Avoidant-Restrictive Food Intake Disorder should not be diagnosed if the eating disturbance is entirely accounted for by a gastrointestinal disorder or another medical condition that leads to reduced hunger, restricted eating, or weight loss (e.g., food allergies, infectious diseases, cancer, hyperthyroidism).

6B84 Pica

Essential (Required) Features:

- Regular consumption of non-nutritive substances, such as non-food objects and materials (e.g., clay, soil, chalk, plaster, plastic, metal and paper), or raw food ingredients (e.g., large quantities of salt or corn flour).
- The ingestion of non-nutritive substances is persistent or severe enough to require clinical attention. That is, the behaviour causes damage or significant risk to health or impairment in functioning due to the frequency, amount or nature of the substances or objects ingested.
- Based on age and level of intellectual functioning, the individual would be expected to distinguish between edible and non-edible substances. In typical development, this occurs at approximately 2 years of age.
- The symptoms or behaviours are not a manifestation of another medical condition (e.g., nutritional deficiency).

Boundary with Normality (Threshold):

- It is normal for infants and very young children to put non-food objects in their mouths as a means of sensory exploration. The diagnosis of Pica should not be applied to this phenomenon.
- Many pregnant women crave or eat non-nutritive substances (e.g., chalk or ice). In addition, the eating of non-nutritive substances is a culturally sanctioned practice among certain groups. A diagnosis of Pica should only be assigned to such behaviour if it is persistent or potentially dangerous enough to require specific clinical attention.

Course Features:

• Pica can be episodic and variable, or chronic and continuous. When variable, consumption of non-nutritive substances may be associated with increased levels of stress or anxiety.

Developmental Presentations:

• Onset of Pica can occur across the lifespan but is most commonly observed in childhood.

Culture-Related Features:

• In some cases, eating of non-nutritive substances may be a culturally sanctioned practice. In these cases, the consumption of the non-nutritive substance is thought to have some health, spiritual or social benefit. In parts of Africa and certain rural areas of the United States and India, for example, the eating of clay or earth (geophagia) can be a culturally accepted practice. Pica should not be diagnosed in such cases unless the quantities ingested are large enough to require clinical attention.

Sex- and/or Gender-Related Features:

- The prevalence of Pica is similar among males and females.
- Although females can be diagnosed with Pica during pregnancy and the postpartum period, a diagnosis should only be assigned if consumption of non-nutritive substances is persistent or potentially dangerous enough to require specific clinical attention.

Boundaries with Other Disorders and Conditions (Differential Diagnosis):

- **Boundary with nutritional deficiencies:** Individuals who ingest non-nutritive substances as a symptom of specific nutritional deficiencies should not be diagnosed with Pica unless the behaviour persists after the deficiency is corrected. For example, anaemia caused by vitamin B₁₂, folate, or iron deficiency can be associated with a craving to eat dirt.
- **Boundary with Disorders of Intellectual Development:** The ingestion of non-nutritive substances is common in children or adults with Disorders of Intellectual Development. An additional diagnosis of Pica may be given, provided that the individual is able to distinguish between edible and non-edible substances, if the behaviour is persistent or potentially dangerous enough to require specific clinical attention.
- **Boundary with Factitious Disorder and Malingering:** Individuals with Factitious Disorder or who are malingering may swallow harmful substances or objects in order to present themselves as ill. For example, prisoners may swallow harmful substances or objects in order to be transferred to hospital or to a setting that is less harsh or less restrictive. Pica should not be diagnosed in such cases.
- **Boundary with other Mental, Behavioural or Neurodevelopmental Disorders:** Individuals with Anorexia Nervosa may eat non-nutritive substances (e.g., tissues, paper) in order to suppress hunger. In Trichotillomania (Hair Pulling Disorder) or Excoriation (Skin Picking) Disorder, individuals sometimes eat hair or skin that they pull or pick from the body. Eating of non-nutritive substances may also occur in other Mental, Behavioural or Neurodevelopmental Disorders such as Autism Spectrum Disorder and Schizophrenia. In all such cases, an additional diagnosis of Pica should be assigned only if the behaviour is persistent or severe enough to require clinical attention. That is, the behaviour causes damage to health, impairment in functioning, or significant risk due to the frequency, amount or nature of the substances or objects ingested.

6B85 Rumination-Regurgitation Disorder

Essential (Required) Features:

- The intentional and repeated bringing up of previously swallowed food back to the mouth (i.e., regurgitation), which may be re-chewed and re-swallowed (i.e., rumination), or may be deliberately spat out (but not as in vomiting).
- The regurgitation behaviour is frequent (at least several times per week) and sustained over a period of at least several weeks.
- The diagnosis should only be assigned to individuals who have reached a developmental age of at least 2 years.

• The regurgitation behaviour is not a manifestation of another medical condition that directly causes regurgitation (e.g., esophageal strictures or neuromuscular disorders affecting esophageal functioning) or causes nausea or vomiting (e.g., pyloric stenosis).

Additional Clinical Features:

- In Rumination-Regurgitation Disorder, the regurgitation behaviour is intentional; for example, individuals may contract the tongue or abdominal muscles or cough in order to induce regurgitation. Individuals with Rumination-Regurgitation Disorder are able to regurgitate food with relative ease and may derive some reduction of anxiety or pleasure from the behaviour.
- Individuals with Rumination-Regurgitation Disorder often experience shame and embarrassment about the behaviour and try to keep the behaviour a secret because they recognize it as socially unacceptable.
- Individuals with Rumination-Regurgitation Disorder are often reluctant to seek treatment. The disorder may persist for a very long duration if left untreated.

Course Features:

- Rumination-Regurgitation Disorder is slightly more prevalent among individuals with Disorders of Intellectual Development and Autism Spectrum Disorder whereby it may serve a self-soothing or self-stimulating function.
- Rumination-Regurgitation Disorder may be chronic or continuous, or it may be episodic. In episodic cases, the behaviour may be associated with stress or anxiety.
- Adolescents and adults may be less likely to re-chew the regurgitated food and older adults may choose to shallow or spit out the material depending on the social situation.

Developmental Presentations:

- Onset of Rumination-Regurgitation Disorder may occur across early and later childhood, adolescence, and adulthood.
- Rumination-Regurgitation Disorder can create a substantial risk for choking in very young children due to their inability to control their swallowing.

Culture-Related Features:

- Some cases of what has been considered to be 'psychogenic vomiting' or vomiting as a somatoform expression of distress, particularly in South Asia, may be better diagnosed as cultural variants of Rumination-Regurgitation Disorder.
- Induced vomiting may be part of some yogic practices and should not be considered a sign of the disorder unless the vomiting exceeds cultural norms and is associated with distress or impairment.

Sex- and/or Gender-Related Features:

• There are no known differences in clinical features across genders.

Boundaries with Other Disorders and Conditions (Differential Diagnosis):

- **Boundary with Infant Rumination Syndrome:** Rumination-Regurgitation Disorder should not be diagnosed in infants. Similar phenomena in infants should be diagnosed as Infant Rumination Syndrome in the grouping of Functional digestive disorders of infants, toddlers or children in the ICD-11 chapter on Diseases of the Digestive System.
- **Boundary with self-induced vomiting:** Rumination-Regurgitation Disorder should be distinguished from self-induced vomiting. Self-induced vomiting may occur as a part of the presentation of Anorexia Nervosa, Binge-Purge Type or Bulimia Nervosa. Self-induced vomiting may also occur as a culturally sanctioned practice (e.g., among practitioners of yoga) that is not associated with a mental disorder.
- **Boundary with psychogenic vomiting:** The differentiation from 'psychogenic vomiting', or vomiting as a somatic expression of distress, particularly in South Asia, is based on the fact that regurgitation in Rumination-Regurgitation Disorder is typically volitional and intentional.

6B8Y Other Specified Feeding or Eating Disorders

Essential (Required) Features:

- The presentation is characterized by abnormal eating or feeding behaviours.
- The symptoms do not fulfil the diagnostic requirements for any other disorder in the Feeding or Eating Disorders grouping.
- The symptoms are not better accounted for by another Mental, Behavioural or Neurodevelopmental Disorder (e.g., a Primary Psychotic Disorder, a Mood Disorder, and Obsessive-Compulsive or Related Disorder).
- The symptoms or behaviours are not developmentally appropriate or culturally sanctioned.
- The symptoms or behaviours are not a manifestation of another medical condition that affects feeding or eating, not better accounted for by another mental disorder, and not due to the effects of a substance or medication on the central nervous system, including withdrawal effects.
- The symptoms or behaviours result in significant risk or damage to health, significant distress, or significant impairment in personal, family, social, educational, occupational or other important areas of functioning.

6B8Z Feeding or Eating Disorders, Unspecified

ELIMINATION DISORDERS

Elimination Disorders include the repeated voiding of urine into bed or clothes (Enuresis) and the repeated passage of faeces in inappropriate places (Encopresis). These conditions occur in individuals at a developmental age when urinary and faecal continence is ordinarily expected to have been achieved and may be voluntary or involuntary.

Elimination Disorders include the following:

6C00 Enuresis 6C01 Encopresis

6C00 Enuresis

Essential (Required) Features:

- Repeated and persistent voiding of urine into bed or clothes (e.g., several times per week over several months), which may occur during the day or at night.
- The individual has reached a developmental age when urinary continence is ordinarily expected (approximately equivalent to a chronological age of 5 years).
- The symptoms are not better accounted for by the physiological effects of a substance or medication or by another medical condition (e.g., a Disease of the Nervous System, a Disease of the Musculoskeletal System or Connective Tissue, or congenital or acquired abnormalities of the urinary tract).

Specifiers for nocturnal or diurnal occurrence:

6C00.0 Nocturnal Enuresis

• Inappropriate voiding of urine occurs only during the night. This is the most common form of enuresis and typically occurs during the first part of the night soon after the individual has gone to sleep.

6C00.1 Diurnal Enuresis

• Inappropriate voiding of urine occurs only during waking hours. This form of enuresis is also referred to as urinary incontinence.

6C00.2 Nocturnal and Diurnal Enuresis

• Inappropriate voiding of urine occurs both during the night and during waking hours.

6C00.Z Enuresis, Unspecified

Additional Clinical Features:

• Voiding of urine is typically involuntary but, in some cases, may appear to be voluntary. The diagnosis can be assigned in either case.

- Voiding of urine during sleep may take place during rapid eye movement (REM) sleep, leading some individuals to report having dreamt of urinating.
- Diurnal enuresis may occur in children who avoid urination due to social anxiety about using a public bathroom or due to refusal to cease an activity that is enjoyable (e.g., playing a game).
- Enuresis may lead to the development of psychological problems due to associated distress or stigma. Enuresis may be an aspect of another Mental, Behavioural, or Neurodevelopmental Disorder. Or, both Enuresis and another emotional/behavioural disturbance may arise in parallel due to related etiological factors. A diagnosis of Enuresis may be assigned together with other Mental, Behavioural, or Neurodevelopmental Disorder diagnoses if the Enuresis is a distinct focus of clinical attention.
- Enuresis is common among individuals with Disorders of Intellectual Development. The diagnosis should only be assigned if all diagnostic requirements of Enuresis are met and the individual's developmental age is equivalent to that of the age at which urinary continence in normally expected (approximately equivalent to a chronological age of 5 years).
- Enuresis can occur among individuals with Neurocognitive Disorders (e.g., Dementia). The additional diagnosis of Enuresis can be assigned if all diagnostic requirements are met and the condition requires separate clinical attention.
- Enuresis is more common among children with a parent who has a history of Enuresis.

Boundary with Normality (Threshold):

• It is not uncommon for children to experience occasional urinary incontinence up until middle childhood.

Course Features:

- Most children establish urinary control by adolescence with a small number of individuals continuing to experience Enuresis into adulthood.
- Enuresis that persists into adolescence is often associated with an increase in frequency of urinary voiding episodes.

Developmental Presentations:

- Enuresis may have been present from birth (i.e., an atypical extension of normal infantile incontinence) or it may have its onset following a period of acquired bladder control.
- The common age of onset for children who have previously acquired urinary continence, yet develop Enuresis, is between the ages of 5 to 8 years.
- Diurnal Enuresis is less common in children over the age of 9 years.

Culture-Related Features:

• Cultural variation exists with regard to toilet training. Expectations regarding the age when continence occurs and whether Enuresis is viewed as pathological varies by cultural group. Cultural norms may affect tolerance for the behaviours, expectations regarding their course, and the associated level of shame and stigma.

Sex- and/or Gender-Related Features:

• Nocturnal Enuresis is more common in males, whereas Diurnal Enuresis is more common in females.

Boundaries with Other Disorders and Conditions (Differential Diagnosis):

- **Boundary with the effects of substances including medications:** Enuresis may occur due to certain antipsychotic medications, diuretics, or other substances or medications that stimulate incontinence. In these cases, incontinence should be considered a side effect and a diagnosis of Enuresis is typically not warranted. If the enuresis was present before administration of medication, it may be appropriate to assign a diagnosis.
- **Boundary with other medical conditions:** Enuresis should not be diagnosed if the child has a urinary tract infection, a neurogenic bladder, or another medical condition that causes polyuria or urgency (e.g., untreated diabetes mellitus). A diagnosis may be warranted if the urinary incontinence was present before the other medical condition developed or persists after the child has received treatment.

6C01 Encopresis

Essential (Required) Features:

- Repeated and persistent passage of faeces in inappropriate places (e.g., at least once per month over a period of several months).
- The individual who has reached the developmental age when faecal continence is ordinarily expected (approximately equivalent to a chronological age of 4 years).
- Faecal soiling is not better accounted for by the physiological effects of a substance (e.g., excessive use of laxatives) or another medical condition (e.g., aganglionic megacolon, spina bifida, anal stenosis, chronic diarrhoea, congenital or acquired abnormalities of the bowel, or gastrointestinal infection).

Specifiers for the presence of constipation and overflow:

6C01.0 Encopresis with constipation and overflow incontinence

- Encopresis with constipation and overflow incontinence is the most common form of faecal soiling, and is characterized by retention and impaction of faeces. Stools are typically—but not always—poorly formed (loose or liquid) and leakage may range from occasional to continuous.
- There is often a history of toilet avoidance leading to constipation.

6C01.1 Encopresis without constipation and overflow incontinence

• Encopresis without constipation and overflow incontinence is not associated with retention and impaction of faeces, but rather is characterized by reluctance, resistance, or failure to conform to social norms in defecating in acceptable places in the context of normal physiological control over defecation.

• Stools are typically of normal consistency and inappropriate defecation is likely to be intermittent.

6C01.Z Encopresis, Unspecified

Additional Clinical Features:

- Encopresis is most often involuntary but, in some cases, may appear to be voluntary. The diagnosis can be assigned in either case. Involuntary passage of faeces is most often associated with Encopresis with constipation and overflow incontinence.
- Encopresis that is intentional may be associated with Oppositional Defiant Disorder or Conduct-Dissocial Disorder.
- Stool withholding, or retentive behaviours, may be the result of avoidance of bowel movements especially in those individuals with a history of difficulty or pain in passing stools. Individuals with chronic constipation and stool retention may go on to develop acquired megacolon.
- Specific Phobias or Social Anxiety Disorder (e.g., fear of using public bathrooms) may also contribute to retentive behaviours.
- Encopresis is common among individuals with Disorders of Intellectual Development. The diagnosis should only be assigned if all diagnostic requirements are met and the individual's developmental age is equivalent to that of the age at which faecal continence in normally expected (approximately equivalent to a chronological age of 4 years).
- Encopresis can occur among individuals with Neurocognitive Disorders (e.g., Dementia). The additional diagnosis of Encopresis can be assigned if all diagnostic requirements are met and the condition requires separate clinical attention.
- Individuals diagnosed with Encopresis may experience embarrassment and reduced selfesteem. Older children diagnosed with Encopresis may experience impairments in social functioning due to peer teasing and possible social isolation. Furthermore, individuals with Encopresis may avoid social situations for fear of passing faeces in the presence of other people.
- Individuals with Encopresis and chronic constipation may also experience co-occurring symptoms of Enuresis. If all diagnostic requirements are met for both disorders both can be diagnosed.

Boundary with Normality (Threshold):

• It is not uncommon for children to experience an occasional soiling accident during early childhood. Faecal incontinence must occur frequently and persistently to warrant a diagnosis.

Course Features:

• Encopresis can persist for years, with recurrent episodes of worsening symptoms.

Developmental Presentations:

• Faecal incontinence may have been present from birth (i.e., an atypical extension of normal infantile incontinence), or may have its onset following a period of acquired bowel control.

• Encopresis has a high prevalence (between 1.5 to 7.5%) among school-age children between the ages of 6 to 12 years.

Sex- and/or Gender-Related Features:

- Encopresis is more common in males.
- Females may be more likely to experience urinary tract infections co-occurring with Encopresis due to contamination of the urethra with faecal bacteria.

6C0Z Elimination disorders, unspecified

DISORDERS OF BODILY DISTRESS OR BODILY EXPERIENCE

Disorders of Bodily Distress or Bodily Experience are characterized by disturbances in the person's experience of their body. Bodily Distress Disorder involves bodily symptoms that the individual finds distressing and to which excessive attention is directed. Body Integrity Dysphoria involves a disturbance in the person's experience of the body manifested by the persistent desire to have a specific physical disability accompanied by persistent discomfort or intense feelings of inappropriateness concerning current non-disabled body configuration.

Disorders of Bodily Distress or Bodily Experience include the following:

- 6C20 Bodily Distress Disorder
 - 6C20.0 Mild Bodily Distress Disorder
 - 6C20.1 Moderate Bodily Distress Disorder
 - 6C20.2 Severe Bodily Distress Disorder
- 6C21 Body Integrity Dysphoria
- 6C2Y Other Specified Disorders of Bodily Distress or Bodily Experience

6C20 Bodily Distress Disorder

Essential (Required) Features:

- The presence of bodily symptoms that are distressing to the individual. Typically, this involves multiple bodily symptoms that may vary over time. Occasionally the focus is limited to a single symptom, usually pain or fatigue.
- Excessive attention is directed toward the symptoms, which may manifest in:
 - Persistent preoccupation with the severity of the symptoms or their negative consequences. In individuals who have an established medical condition that may be causing or contributing to the symptoms, the degree of attention related to the symptoms is clearly excessive in relation to the nature and severity of the medical condition.
 - Repeated contacts with health care providers related to the bodily symptoms that are substantially in excess of what would be considered medically necessary.
- Excessive attention to the bodily symptoms persists despite appropriate clinical examination and investigations or appropriate reassurance by health care providers.
- Bodily symptoms are persistent; that is, some symptoms are present (though not necessarily the same symptoms) on most days during a period of at least several months (e.g., 3 months or more).
- The bodily symptoms and related distress and preoccupation result in significant impairment in personal, family, social, educational, occupational or other important areas of functioning.
- The symptoms or the associated distress and preoccupation are not better accounted for by another mental disorder (e.g., Schizophrenia or Other Primary Psychotic Disorder, a Mood Disorder, or an Anxiety or Fear-Related Disorder).

Severity of Bodily Distress Disorder:

The severity of Bodily Distress Disorder should be classified based on the degree of distress or preoccupation with bodily symptoms, the persistence of the disorder, and the degree of impairment. The clinician should make a global determination of the appropriate rating of severity based on the overall clinical presentation, taking into account these various dimensions.

| 6C20.0 | Mild Bodily Distress Disorder |
|--------|-----------------------------------|
| 6C20.1 | Moderate Bodily Distress Disorder |
| 6C20.2 | Severe Bodily Distress Disorder |

6C20.0 Mild Bodily Distress Disorder

- All of the Essential Features of Bodily Distress Disorder are present.
- Although there is excessive attention to distressing symptoms and their consequences, which may result in frequent medical visits, the individual spends only a limited amount of time focusing on them (e.g., no more than one or two hours per day) and is able to focus on other unrelated topics.
- The bodily symptoms and related distress and preoccupation result in mild impairment in personal, family, social, educational, occupational, or other important areas of functioning (e.g., strain in relationships, less effective academic or occupational functioning, abandonment of specific leisure activities).

6C20.1 Moderate Bodily Distress Disorder

- All of the Essential Features of Bodily Distress Disorder are present.
- Persistent preoccupation with the distressing symptoms and their consequences are typically associated with frequent medical visits. The individual devotes a substantial amount of time and energy to focusing on the symptoms and their consequences (e.g., several hours per day).
- The bodily symptoms and related distress and preoccupation result in moderate impairment in personal, family, social, educational, occupational, or other important areas of functioning (e.g., relationship conflict, performance problems at work, abandonment of a range of social and leisure activities).

6C20.2 Severe Bodily Distress Disorder

- All of the Essential Features of Bodily Distress Disorder are present.
- Pervasive and persistent preoccupation with the distressing symptoms and their consequences and a narrowing of interests such that the bodily symptoms and their consequences become the nearly exclusive focus of the individual's life, typically resulting in extensive interactions with the health care system.
- The bodily symptoms and related distress and preoccupation result in severe impairment in personal, family, social, educational, occupational, or other important

areas of functioning (e.g., unable to work, alienation of friends and family, abandonment of nearly all social and leisure activities).

6C20.Z Bodily Distress Disorder, Unspecified

Additional Clinical Features:

- The most common bodily symptoms associated with Bodily Distress Disorder include pain (e.g., musculoskeletal pain, backache, headaches), fatigue, gastrointestinal and respiratory symptoms, although patients may be preoccupied with any bodily symptoms. The individual can generally provide a detailed description of the symptoms, but it may be difficult for clinicians to account for the symptoms in anatomical or physiological terms.
- Individuals with Bodily Distress Disorder often over-interpret or catastrophize about their bodily symptoms and dwell on their most extreme negative consequences. For example, in more severe cases, pain or fatigue may be perceived as being so intense that they prevent normal activities despite there being no medical basis for such a belief. This is often accompanied by fear of triggering pain or an exacerbation of other symptoms, which may lead to undue avoidance of activities, which may in turn lead to other symptoms associated with inactivity (e.g., stiffness and muscle weakness, muscle pain following minimal exertion).
- Individuals with Bodily Distress Disorder may hold a range of attributions regarding their symptoms, including psychological and physical explanations. As severity increases, affected individuals are more likely to reject psychological explanations for their symptoms. Some individuals with Bodily Distress Disorder believe that their bodily symptoms indicate underlying physical illness or injury (i.e., disease conviction), even though this has not been detected. Insistence that the symptoms are caused by an undiagnosed illness or injury may result in multiple medical tests and procedures. This pattern is most common in individuals with Severe Bodily Distress Disorder, who may have long and complicated histories of contact with both primary and specialist medical services, during which many negative investigations or fruitless operations across various body systems may have been carried out.
- Individuals with Bodily Distress Disorder most often present in general medical settings rather than for mental health services. They may be reluctant to agree that there is a psychological component to their experience and may react negatively to the suggestion of a referral to a mental health professional.
- Individuals with Bodily Distress Disorder often express dissatisfaction with the medical care they have received previously and may change health providers frequently.
- In communities with limited access to health care, individuals with Bodily Distress Disorder may not have extensive interactions with the formal health care system but may seek care from alternative sources.
- Bodily Distress Disorder often occurs in the context of comorbid medical conditions and co-occurring mental disorders, especially Depressive and Anxiety or Fear-Related Disorders.

Boundary with Normality (Threshold):

• The experience of bodily symptoms and occasional concern about them is normal. However, persons with Bodily Distress Disorder report greater distress about their bodily symptoms than would generally be regarded as proportional to the nature of the symptoms, and their excessive attention to their symptoms is not alleviated by appropriate clinical examination and investigations and reassurance by health care providers.

• Individuals with Bodily Distress Disorder who have a comorbid medical condition that may be causing or contributing to the bodily symptoms exhibit greater preoccupation with symptoms and greater functional impairment than those who have a medical condition that is similar in nature and severity without concurrent Bodily Distress Disorder. Furthermore, the number of bodily symptoms reported often exceeds that usually associated with the comorbid medical condition.

Course Features:

• In about half of individuals diagnosed with Bodily Distress Disorder seen in primary care settings, bodily symptoms resolve within 6 to 12 months. Individuals with severe disorder and those with multiple bodily symptoms tend to experience a more chronic and persistent course. The presence of multiple bodily symptoms is commonly associated with greater impairment in functioning as well as with poorer treatment response for any co-occurring mental or medical conditions.

Developmental Presentations:

- Bodily Distress Disorder can occur across the lifespan. The most common bodily symptoms in children and adolescents include recurrent gastrointestinal symptoms (e.g., abdominal pain, nausea), fatigue, headaches and musculoskeletal pain. Children are more likely to experience a single recurrent symptom rather than multiple bodily symptoms. School absences due to symptoms are common. In severe cases, children may display regression of behaviour and extreme impairment, for example affecting self-care and mobility.
- In children and adolescents, parental or caregiver responses to symptoms can affect the course and severity of Bodily Distress Disorder as well as whether medical attention is sought. For example, excessive parental or caregiver concern can worsen severity or prolong course of the disorder in children.
- Older adults with Bodily Distress Disorder are more likely than younger adults with the condition to have multiple bodily symptoms, and symptoms are more likely to be persistent. The diagnosis of Bodily Distress Disorder in older adults can be challenging due to the higher likelihood of medical conditions that may account for symptoms or are comorbid with Bodily Distress Disorder.

Culture-Related Features:

- Somatic symptoms are common in all cultural groups, especially among persons seeking health care. Differences in rates of bodily symptoms may be related to cultural reporting styles. Differences may also reflect the organizational culture of the health care system, with somatic complaints more likely where clinical encounters are brief and the delivery of services is less person-centred.
- Symptoms that are common in one cultural group may be less common in other groups. For example, whereas pain symptoms are common across cultures, symptoms such as heat in the body or in the head, crawling sensations, heaviness, or complaints of 'gas' or abdominal bloating are common in certain cultural group but not in others.

- Culture may influence explanatory models with symptoms variously attributed to forms of bodily energy, humours or other ethno-physiological concepts as well as religious, spiritual, personal, family or environmental stresses. Some specific attributions, such as symptoms being caused by semen loss or kidney weakness, are common in certain cultural group but not in others.
- Across cultural groups, persons with multiple distressing bodily symptoms are likely to seek health care, including from traditional or faith healers. However, help-seeking is also substantially influenced by access to health care services. Individual may not have extensive interactions with the formal health care system because of limited opportunities to access health care, which varies substantially by cultural group.

Sex- and/or Gender-Related Features:

- Prevalence rates do not appear to differ by gender prior to puberty, after which prevalence is higher in females.
- Symptom presentation may vary by gender with women more likely to report multiple bodily concerns.

Boundaries with Other Disorders and Conditions (Differential Diagnosis):

- **Boundary with Mood Disorders:** Among individuals with Mood Disorders, somatic symptoms may be the dominant aspects of the clinical presentation, particularly in primary care settings. In addition, some individuals with Mood Disorders may develop neurovegetative symptoms (e.g., weight loss, fatigue) or other associated physical symptoms (e.g., pain) about which they become preoccupied. Bodily Distress Disorder should be diagnosed only if the preoccupation with physical symptoms occurs outside of the context of Mood Episodes, for example if the preoccupation precedes a Depressive Episode or persists after the Depressive Episode has remitted.
- **Boundary with Generalized Anxiety Disorder:** Individuals with Generalized Anxiety Disorder may report somatic symptoms, about which they are concerned (e.g., palpitations or gastric distress) but they also report concerns about negative events occurring in several different aspects of everyday life (e.g., work, relationships, finance). Unlike individuals with Bodily Distress Disorder, individuals with Generalized Anxiety Disorder do not typically exhibit a persistent preoccupation with bodily symptoms that persists despite medical evaluation and reassurance. However, co-occurrence of Bodily Distress Disorder are less likely to endorse the psychological components of anxiety other than distress about their bothersome symptoms.
- **Boundary with Panic Disorder:** Panic Disorder is characterized by recurrent, unexpected, self-limited episodes of intense fear or apprehension with prominent somatic symptoms and feelings of an impending catastrophe (e.g., fainting, having a stroke, heart attack or dying) with a sense of immediacy of the threat. Individuals with Panic Disorder often become preoccupied with the transient somatic symptoms they experience during panic attacks, and may express concern that they are dangerous and suggestive of imminent harm. An additional diagnosis of Bodily Distress Disorder should not be assigned on the basis of concern about symptoms experienced during panic attacks. However, if individuals with Panic Disorder are excessively attentive to or preoccupied by persistent somatic symptoms that are distinct from those typically associated with panic attacks and all diagnostic requirements for both disorders are met, both diagnoses may be assigned.

- **Boundary with Hypochondriasis (Health Anxiety Disorder):** Unlike individuals with Hypochondriasis who are preoccupied with the possibility of having one or more serious, progressive, or life-threatening illnesses, individuals with Bodily Distress Disorder are typically preoccupied by the symptoms themselves and the impact of the symptoms on their lives. Individuals with Hypochondriasis may also seek medical attention, but their primary purpose is to obtain reassurance that they do not have the feared serious medical condition. Individuals with Bodily Distress Disorder typically seek medical attention in order to get relief from their symptoms, not to disconfirm the belief that they have a serious medical illness.
- **Boundary with Factitious Disorder Imposed on Self:** Individuals with Factitious Disorder Imposed on Self may also present bodily symptoms. If the presented symptoms have been feigned, falsified, or intentionally induced or aggravated, Factitious Disorder Imposed on Self rather than Bodily Distress Disorder is the appropriate diagnosis.

6C21 Body Integrity Dysphoria

Essential (Required) Features:

- An intense and persistent desire to become physically disabled in a significant way (e.g., a major limb amputation, paraplegia, blindness) accompanied by persistent discomfort or intense negative feelings about one's current body configuration or functioning.
- The desire to be disabled results in harmful consequences, manifested by either or both of the following:
 - Attempts to actually become disabled through self-injury have resulted in the person putting their health or life in significant jeopardy.
 - Preoccupation with the desire to be disabled results in significant impairment in personal, family, social, educational, occupational, or other important areas of functioning (e.g., avoidance of close relationships, interference with work productivity).
- Onset of the persistent desire to be disabled occurs by early adolescence.
- The disturbance is not better accounted for by another mental disorder (e.g., Schizophrenia or Other Primary Psychotic Disorder, in which, for example, a delusional conviction that the limb belongs to another person may be present, Factitious Disorder) or by Malingering.
- The symptoms or behaviours are not better accounted for by Gender Incongruence, by a Disease of the Nervous System, or by another medical condition.

Additional Clinical Features:

- It is common for individuals to describe their discomfort in terms of feeling like they should have been born with the desired disability (e.g., missing a leg).
- Most individuals with this condition exhibit associated 'pretending' or simulation behaviour (e.g., binding one's leg to simulate being a person with a limb amputation, or using a wheelchair or crutches), which is often the first manifestation of the condition. These behaviours are usually done in secret. The need for secrecy may result in avoidance or termination of intimate relationships that would interfere with opportunities for simulation.

- Some individuals who attempt to make themselves disabled through self-injury try to cover up the self-inflicted nature of the attempt by making it look like an accident.
- Many individuals with Body Integrity Dysphoria have a sexual component to their desire, either being sexually attracted to individuals with certain disabilities or being intensely sexually aroused at thought of being disabled.
- Shame about the desire to be disabled is common in individuals with Body Integrity Dysphoria and most individuals keep this desire a closely guarded secret because of a fear of being rejected or thought to be 'crazy' by others. It is common for the family, friends, co-workers, and even their partners or spouses of individuals with Body Integrity Dysphoria to be unaware of their desire. Some may seek treatment for associated depressive or other symptoms and yet not share their desire to be disabled with their health care provider.
- It is assumed that most individuals with Body Integrity Dysphoria never come to clinical attention. When they do, it is generally as adults, often when they seek the assistance of a health care professional to relieve their distress, to help them actualize their desired disability, or because they have injured themselves in an attempt to become disabled.

Boundary with Normality (Threshold):

• Some individuals, especially children and adolescents, may have time-limited periods in which they pretend to have a disability such as blindness out of curiosity about what it is like to live as a disabled person. Such individuals do not experience a persistent desire to become disabled or the harmful consequences associated with Body Integrity Dysphoria.

Course Features:

• The typical course is for the intensity of the desire to become disabled and consequent functional impairment to wax and wane. There may be periods of time where the intensity of the desire and the accompanying dysphoria is so great that the individual can think of nothing else and may make plans or take action to become disabled. At other times, the desire to become disabled and the associated intense negative feelings abate, although at no time does it completely cease to be present.

Developmental Presentations:

• The onset of Body Integrity Dysphoria is most commonly in early to mid-childhood, although some cases have their onset in adolescence. The first manifestation is typically the child pretending to have the desired disability, often in secret.

Culture-Related Features:

• Although apparently quite rare, cases have been reported in many different countries and cultures.

Sex- and/or Gender-Related Features:

• Among those who come to clinical attention, males appear to be more common than females.

Boundaries with Other Disorders and Conditions (Differential Diagnosis):

- Boundary with Schizophrenia, Other Primary Psychotic Disorders, and other mental disorders with psychotic symptoms: Somatic delusions may involve the conviction that a part of the person's body does not belong to them. In such cases, a diagnosis of Schizophrenia or Other Primary Psychotic Disorder or a Mood Disorder with psychotic symptoms should be considered. Individuals with Body Integrity Dysphoria do not harbour false beliefs about external reality related to their desire to be disabled and thus are not considered to be delusional. Instead, they experience an internal feeling that they would be 'right' only if they were disabled.
- **Boundary with Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder:** Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder is characterized by repetitive and persistent thoughts, images, or urges that are experienced as intrusive and unwanted (ego-dystonic). In contrast, the repetitive thoughts, images, and impulses related the desire to become disabled in Body Integrity Dysphoria (e.g., fantasies of being disabled) are ego-syntonic and are not experienced as intrusive, unwanted or distressing. Distress in Body Integrity Dysphoria is typically related to not being able to actualize the disability or to fear of the negative judgments of others.
- **Boundary with Body Dysmorphic Disorder:** Individuals with Body Dysmorphic Disorder have persistent preoccupations about a part of their body that they believe is defective or that their appearance overall is ugly. In contrast, individuals with Body Integrity Dysphoria are persistently preoccupied with a sense that the way their body is configured (e.g., for those who desire an amputation) or functions (e.g., for those who want to be paraplegic or blind) is wrong, unnatural, and not as it should be.
- Boundary with Paraphilic Disorder Involving Solitary Behaviour or Consenting Individual: Some individuals have a paraphilic focus of intense sexual arousal involving the fantasy of having a serious disability, which may be associated with transient periods of wanting to actually acquire the disability that is the source of arousal. If the desire to acquire a disability occurs solely in connection with sexual arousal, Body Integrity Dysphoria should not be diagnosed. A diagnosis of Paraphilic Disorder Involved Solitary Behaviour or Consenting Individuals may be appropriate in such cases if the individual is markedly distressed about this arousal pattern or has injured him or herself as a part of enacting sexual fantasies related to it.
- **Boundary with Factitious Disorder and Malingering:** Individuals with Body Integrity Disorder often simulate their desired disability as a way of reducing their negative feelings (e.g., a person who desires to be paraplegic may spend part or all of their time using a wheelchair). Moreover, they typically shun medical attention. In contrast, individuals with Factitious Disorder feign medical or psychological signs or symptoms in order to seek attention, especially from health providers and to assume the sick role. Malingering is characterized by feigning of medical or psychological signs or symptoms for obvious external incentives (e.g., disability payments).
- **Boundary with Diseases of the Nervous System:** Some Diseases of the Nervous System may cause symptoms that involve profound changes in the person's attitude towards and experience of their own bodies (e.g., somatoparaphrenia, in which a paralyzed body part is experienced as alien or as belonging to someone else.) If the persistent discomfort about one's body configuration is better accounted for by a Disease of the Nervous System, then Body Integrity Dysphoria should not be diagnosed.

6C2Y Other Specified Disorders of Bodily Distress or Bodily Experience

Essential (Required) Features:

- The presentation is characterized by disturbances in the person's experience of their body that share primary clinical features with other Disorders of Bodily Distress or Bodily Experience (e.g., distressing bodily symptoms to which excessive attention is directed or intense feelings of inappropriateness concerning one's body configuration or functioning).
- The symptoms do not fulfil the diagnostic requirements for any other disorder in the Disorders of Bodily Distress or Bodily Experience grouping.
- The symptoms are not better accounted for by another Mental, Behavioural, or Neurodevelopmental Disorder (e.g., a Mood Disorder, Schizophrenia or Other Primary Psychotic Disorder, an Eating Disorder).
- The symptoms have persisted for at least several months.
- The symptoms or behaviours are not developmentally appropriate (e.g., focused on bodily changes during puberty) or culturally sanctioned.
- The symptoms or behaviours are not accounted for by Gender Incongruence or by another medical condition.
- The symptoms result in significant distress or significant impairment in personal, family, social, educational, occupational or other important areas of functioning.

6C2Z Disorders of Bodily Distress or Bodily Experience, Unspecified

DISORDERS DUE TO SUBSTANCE USE OR ADDICTIVE BEHAVIOURS

DISORDERS DUE TO SUBSTANCE USE

Disorders Due to Substance Use include disorders that result from a single occasion or repeated use of substances that have psychoactive properties, including certain medications. Disorders related to fourteen classes or groups of psychoactive substances that have important clinical and public health consequences are included, and categories are also available for other specified substances.

Typically, initial use of these substances produces pleasant or appealing psychoactive effects that are rewarding and reinforcing with repeated use. With continued use, many of the included substances have the capacity to produce dependence. They also have the potential to cause numerous forms of harm, both to mental and physical health. Disorders due to harmful non-medical use of non-psychoactive substances (e.g., laxatives, growth hormone, erythropoietin, and non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs) are also included in this grouping.

General Cultural Considerations for Disorders Due to Substance Use

- Use of psychoactive substances is influenced by strong cultural meanings and traditions, which may impact the risk for development of a Disorder Due to Substance Use. The cultural milieu in which the substance is used should be considered when determining risk and the presence or absence of pathology. For example, substances may be used regularly as part of religious rituals, celebrations (e.g., New Year's Eve), culturally sanctioned mystical experiences, specific events (e.g., wakes preceding funerals), or healing activities without resulting in a Disorder Due to Substance Use.
- Cultural values and interpretations related to the use of psychoactive substances in specific communities, and cultural terms used to describe the substance and its effects, vary greatly across cultures. Knowledge of specific terms and interpretations will improve communication with patients and determination of possible disorder. For example, traditional American Indians who use peyote during worship ceremonies may consider the substance a sacrament rather than a drug.
- Local availability of a substance affects the prevalence of disorders associated with it. For example, prevalence of Alcohol Dependence is lower in predominantly Muslim countries due to the religious prohibitions against alcohol consumption.
- Immigration may affect the person's pattern of substance use due to culture change, including gender roles. This change can lead to higher or lower risk of Disorders Due to Substance Use depending on the characteristics of the sending and receiving societies, the circumstances of migration, and the relative social position in each setting. For example, immigrants moving from a society with high alcohol consumption to one with low alcohol consumption tend to assume the lower risk of disorder of the host country.

Substance Classes

Disorders Due to Substance Use are classified by first identifying the substance used. Available substance classes included are listed below with a brief description of their properties, typical preparations and methods of use, as well as associated harms and disorders:

6C40 Disorders Due to Use of Alcohol

Disorders Due to Use of Alcohol are characterized by the pattern and consequences of alcohol use. Alcohol—more specifically termed ethyl alcohol or ethanol—is an intoxicating compound produced by fermentation of sugars usually in agricultural products such as fruits, cereals, and vegetables with or without subsequent distillation. There are a wide variety of alcoholic drinks, with alcohol concentrations typically ranging from 1.5% to 60%. Alcohol is predominantly a central nervous system depressant. Unlike most other substances, elimination of alcohol from the body occurs at a constant rate, such that its clearance follows a linear rather than a logarithmic course. In addition to ability to produce Alcohol Intoxication, alcohol has dependence-producing properties, resulting in Alcohol Dependence in some people and Alcohol Withdrawal when alcohol use is reduced or discontinued.

Alcohol is implicated in a wide range of harms affecting most organs and systems of the body (e.g., cirrhosis of the liver, gastrointestinal cancers, pancreatitis). Harm to others resulting from behaviour during Alcohol Intoxication is well recognized and is included in the definitions of harmful use of alcohol (i.e., Episode of Harmful Use of Alcohol and Harmful Pattern of Use of Alcohol). Several alcohol-induced mental disorders (e.g., Alcohol-Induced Psychotic Disorder) and alcohol-related forms of neurocognitive impairment (e.g., Dementia Due to Use of Alcohol) are recognized.

Alcohol use is one of the most common causes of premature death and illness among men and is still a substantial, though less common, cause of premature death and illness among women. The use of alcohol is implicated in millions of deaths per year (e.g., due to motor vehicle accidents).

Although alcohol is used worldwide and its use is legal among adults in most countries, there are substantial differences in cultural and religious acceptability of its use. Consequently, prevalence of alcohol use disorders shows substantial regional variation; the highest prevalence is observed in Eastern Europe and the lowest in Africa. Low prevalence of alcohol use in some countries is related to lower rates of Disorders Due to Use of Alcohol.

Polymorphisms of the genes for the alcohol-metabolizing enzymes alcohol dehydrogenase (ADH1B) and aldehyde dehydrogenase are seen more frequently in East Asians than other groups and affect the response to alcohol. Individuals with certain polymorphisms may develop facial flushing and palpitations when consuming alcohol, which may be so severe as to preclude alcohol consumption and thus lower the risk of alcohol use disorder.

6C41 Disorders Due to Use of Cannabis

Disorders Due to Use of Cannabis are characterized by the pattern and consequences of cannabis use. Cannabis is the collective term for a range of psychoactive preparations of the cannabis plant, *Cannabis sativa*, and related species and hybrids. Cannabis contains cannabinoids, a class of diverse chemical compounds that act on endogenous cannabinoid receptors that modulate neurotransmitter release in the brain. The principal psychoactive cannabinoid is δ -9-tetrahydrocannabinol (THC). Cannabis

is typically smoked in the form of the flowering heads or leaves of the marijuana plant; tobacco is often mixed with cannabis when smoked. There are also cannabis oils that are prepared from these same sources. These preparations vary considerably in their THC potency. Cannabis has predominantly central nervous system depressant effects and produces a characteristic euphoria that may be part of the presenting features of Cannabis Intoxication, which may also include impairment in cognitive and psychomotor functioning. Cannabis has dependence-producing properties resulting in Cannabis Dependence in some people and Cannabis Withdrawal when use is reduced or discontinued. Cannabis is associated with a range of Cannabis-Induced Mental Disorders. Other medical conditions are also associated with cannabis use, including some respiratory and cardiovascular diseases.

Cannabis is the most commonly used illicit drug worldwide but its legal status varies considerably; in certain countries it is legally available for medicinal or personal use. Acceptance of cannabis use also for recreational or medical purposes also varies widely by culture. Variations in legal status and cultural acceptability are related to differential consequences for detection of use (e.g., arrest, school suspensions, or employment suspension), affecting the probability the person may seek treatment.

6C42 Disorders Due to Use of Synthetic Cannabinoids

Disorders Due to Use of Synthetic Cannabinoids are characterized by the pattern and consequences of synthetic cannabinoid use. Synthetic cannabinoids are synthesized diverse chemical compounds that are potent agonists for endogenous cannabinoid receptors. There are several hundred such compounds. The synthetic compound is typically sprayed onto a vehicle such as cannabis or tea leaves and then smoked. The effect of these compounds is distinctly different from smoking naturally cultivated cannabis in that the euphoric effects are typically accompanied or dominated by psychotic-like symptoms (e.g., paranoia, hallucinations, and disorganized behaviour). Synthetic Cannabinoid Intoxication may therefore present more frequently with psychotic symptoms in addition to the more typical effects of cannabis. Synthetic cannabinoid Withdrawal are recognized. Synthetic Cannabinoid-Induced Mental Disorders also occur; in particular Synthetic Cannabinoid-Induced Psychotic Disorder is recognized. Much less is known about the effects of these drugs on other body organs and systems than is the case for naturally cultivated cannabis.

6C43 Disorders Due to Use of Opioids

Disorders Due to Use of Opioids are characterized by the pattern and consequences of opioid use. Opioids is a generic term that encompasses the constituents or derivatives of the opium poppy *Papaver somniferum* as well as a range of synthetic and semisynthetic compounds, some related to morphine and others chemically distinct but all having their primary actions on the μ opioid receptor. Examples of opioids include morphine, diacetylmorphine (heroin), fentanyl, pethidine, oxycodone, hydromorphone, methadone, buprenorphine, codeine and d-propoxyphene. The opioids all have analgesic properties of different potencies and are primarily central nervous system depressants. They suppress respiration as well as other vital functions and are a common cause of overdose and related deaths. Certain opioids are used or administered parenterally, including heroin, a common and potent opioid that is

primarily used non-medically. Therapeutic opioids are prescribed for a range of indications worldwide, and are essential for pain management in cancer pain and palliative care, although they are also used for non-therapeutic reasons. In some countries morbidity and mortality related to therapeutic opioids is greater than that related to heroin. All opioids may result in Opioid Intoxication, Opioid Dependence and Opioid Withdrawal. A range of Opioid-Induced Disorders occur, some of which occur following Opioid Withdrawal. Because certain opioids are commonly injected illicitly, their use is a potent mechanism of transmission of blood borne viral infections such as hepatitis B, hepatitis C and HIV/AIDS, as well as bacterial infections. Not including alcohol and tobacco, opioids are the most common cause of death from psychoactive drug use worldwide.

6C44 Disorders Due to Use of Sedatives, Hypnotics or Anxiolytics

Disorders Due to Use of Sedatives, Hypnotics or Anxiolytics are characterized by the pattern and consequences of use of these substances. Sedatives, hypnotics, and anxiolytics are typically prescribed for the short-term treatment of anxiety or insomnia and are also employed to provide sedation for medical procedures. They include the benzodiazepines and the non-benzodiazepine positive allosteric modulators of GABA receptors (i.e., 'Z-drugs') as well as many other compounds. Sedatives, hypnotics, and anxiolytics include barbiturates, which are available much less commonly now than in previous decades. Sedatives, hypnotics, and anxiolytics have dependence-inducing properties that are related to the dose and duration of their use. They may cause intoxication, dependence and withdrawal. Several other mental disorders induced by sedatives, hypnotics, or anxiolytics are recognized.

6C45 Disorders Due to Use of Cocaine

Disorders Due to Use of Cocaine are characterized by the pattern and consequences of cocaine use. Cocaine is a compound found in the leaves of the coca plant, *Erythroxylum coca*, which is indigenous to countries in northern regions of South America. Cocaine has a limited place in medical treatment as an anaesthetic and vasoconstrictive agent. It is commonly used illicitly and widely available across the world, where it is found in two main forms: cocaine hydrochloride and cocaine freebase (also known as 'crack'). Cocaine is a central nervous system stimulant, and Cocaine Intoxication typically includes a state of euphoria and hyperactivity. Cocaine has potent dependence-producing properties and Cocaine Dependence is a common cause of morbidity and of clinical presentations. Cocaine Withdrawal has a characteristic course that includes lethargy and depressed mood. A range of Cocaine-Induced Mental Disorders is described. Cocaine is also associated with several health sequelae, including myocardial infarction and stroke arising from coronary and cerebral artery spasm, respectively.

6C46 Disorders Due to Use of Stimulants including Amphetamines, Methamphetamine or Methcathinone

Disorders Due to Use of Stimulants including Amphetamines, Methamphetamine or Methcathinone are characterized by the pattern and consequences of use of these substances. There is a wide array of naturally occurring and synthetically produced psychostimulants other than cocaine. The most numerous of this group are the amphetamine-type substances, including methamphetamine. Prescribed stimulants including dexamphetamine are indicated for a limited number of conditions such as for Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder. Methcathinone, known in many countries as ephedrone, is a synthetic potent stimulant that is a structural analogue of methamphetamine and is related to cathinone. All these drugs have primarily psychostimulant properties and are also vasoconstrictors to a varying degree. They induce euphoria and hyperactivity as may be seen in Stimulant Intoxication. They have potent dependence-producing properties, which may lead to the diagnosis of Stimulant Dependence and Stimulant Withdrawal following the cessation of use. Several Stimulant-Induced Mental Disorders are described. Stimulants are a widespread cause of hospitalization and clinic attendance, and significant causes of morbidity and mortality, often due to violence related to Stimulant-Induced Psychotic Disorder.

6C47 Disorders Due to Use of Synthetic Cathinones

Disorders Due to Use of Synthetic Cathinones are characterized by the pattern and consequences of synthetic cathinone use. Synthetic cathinones (also known as 'bath salts') are synthetic compounds with stimulant properties related to cathinone found in the khat plant, *Catha edulis*. The use of synthetic cathinones is common in young populations in many countries. They may produce a range of disorders including Synthetic Cathinone Intoxication, Synthetic Cathinone Dependence and Synthetic Cathinone Withdrawal. Several Synthetic Cathinone-Induced Mental Disorders are recognised.

6C48 Disorders Due to Use of Caffeine

Disorders Due to Use of Caffeine are characterized by the pattern and consequences of caffeine use. Caffeine is a mild psychostimulant and diuretic that is found in the beans of the coffee plant (*Coffea* species) and is a constituent of coffee, cola drinks, chocolate, a range of proprietary 'energy drinks' and weight-loss aids. It is the most commonly used psychoactive substance worldwide and several clinical conditions related to its use are described, although severe disorders are comparatively rare considering its ubiquity. Caffeine Intoxication related to consumption of relatively higher doses (i.e., > 1 g per day) is described. Caffeine Withdrawal is common upon cessation of use among individuals who have used caffeine for a prolonged period or in large amounts. Caffeine-Induced Anxiety Disorder has been described, often following intoxication or heavy use.

6C49 Disorders Due to Use of Hallucinogens

Disorders Due to Use of Hallucinogens are characterized by the pattern and consequences of hallucinogen use. Several thousand compounds have hallucinogenic properties, many of which are found in plants (e.g., mescaline) and fungi (e.g., psilocybin) or are chemically synthesized (e.g., lysergic acid diethylamide [LSD]). These compounds have primarily hallucinogenic properties, but some may also be stimulants. Much of the morbidity associated with these compounds arises from the acute effects related to Hallucinogen Intoxication. Hallucinogen Dependence is rare and Hallucinogen Withdrawal is not described. Among the mental disorders related to

hallucinogen use, Hallucinogen-Induced Psychotic Disorder is the most frequently seen, although worldwide it is still fairly uncommon.

6C4A Disorders Due to Use of Nicotine

Disorders Due to Use of Nicotine are characterized by the pattern and consequences of nicotine use. Nicotine is the active dependence-producing constituent of the tobacco plant, *Nicotiana tabacum*. Nicotine is used overwhelmingly through smoking cigarettes. Increasingly, it is also used in electronic cigarettes that vaporize nicotine dissolved in a carrier solvent for inhalation (i.e., 'vaping'). Pipe smoking, chewing tobacco and inhaling snuff are minor forms of use. Nicotine is a highly potent addictive compound and is the third most common psychoactive substance used worldwide after caffeine and alcohol. Nicotine Dependence and Nicotine Withdrawal are well described and Nicotine-Induced Mental Disorders are recognized. Tobacco, due to its addictive constituent nicotine, is by far the most important cause worldwide of morbidity and mortality of all the psychoactive substances and this is due in part to nicotine but more so to other constituents such as carcinogens and other hazardous and harmful compounds that are inhaled during smoking. Tobacco smoking is the leading cause of ill health and premature death among men and among the top ten causes in women.

6C4B Disorders Due to Use of Volatile Inhalants

Disorders Due to Use of Volatile Inhalants are characterized by the pattern and consequences of volatile inhalant use. Volatile inhalants include a range of compounds that are in the gaseous or vapour phase at ambient temperatures and include various organic solvents, glues, gasoline (petrol), nitrites and gases such as nitrous oxide, trichloroethane, butane, toluene, fluorocarbons, ether and halothane. They have a range of pharmacological properties but are predominantly central nervous system depressants, with many also having vasoactive effects. They tend to be used by younger persons and may be used when access to alternative psychoactive substances is difficult or impossible. Volatile Inhalant Intoxication is well recognized. Volatile inhalants have dependence-producing properties and Volatile Inhalant Dependence and Volatile Inhalant Withdrawal are recognized although comparatively uncommon worldwide. Volatile Inhalant-Induced Mental Disorders are described. They may also cause neurocognitive impairment, including Dementia.

6C4C Disorders Due to Use of MDMA or Related drugs, including MDA

Disorders Due to Use of MDMA or Related Drugs, including MDA are characterized by the pattern and consequences of MDMA or related drug use. MDMA is methylenedioxymethamphetamine and is a common drug of abuse in many countries especially among young people. It is predominantly available in tablet form known as 'ecstasy'. Pharmacologically, MDMA has stimulant and empathogenic properties and these encourage its use among young people for social and other interactions. Considering its wide prevalence in many countries and among many sub-groups of young people, MDMA and Related Drug Dependence and MDMA and Related Drug Withdrawal are comparatively uncommon. Substance-Induced Mental Disorders may arise from its use and health sequelae are recognized, including liver disease and hyponatraemia, which may be fatal. Several analogues of MDMA exist, including MDA (methylenedioxyamphetamine).

6C4D Disorders Due to Use of Dissociative Drugs including Ketamine and Phencyclidine (PCP)

Disorders Due to Use of Dissociative Drugs including Ketamine and Phencyclidine (PCP) are characterized by the pattern and consequences of dissociative drug use. Dissociative drugs include ketamine and phencyclidine (PCP) and their (comparatively rare) chemical analogues. Ketamine is an intravenous anaesthetic widely used in low- and middle-income countries, particularly in Africa, and in emergency situations. Ketamine is also undergoing evaluation for treatment of some mental disorders (e.g., treatment resistant Depressive Disorders). It is also a widespread drug of nonmedical use in many countries and may be taken by the oral or nasal routes or injected. It produces a sense of euphoria but depending on the dose, emergent hallucinations and dissociation are recognised as unpleasant side effects. Phencyclidine has a more restricted worldwide distribution and also has euphoric and dissociative effects. Its use may result in bizarre behaviour uncharacteristic for the individual, including self-harm. Dissociative Drug Dependence is described but a withdrawal syndrome is not recognized by most authorities. Several Dissociative Drug-Induced Mental Disorders are recognized.

<u>6C4E Disorders Due to Use of Other Specified Psychoactive Substances, including</u> <u>Medications</u>

Disorders Due to Use of Other Specified Psychoactive Substances, including Medications are characterized by the pattern and consequences of psychoactive substances that are not included among the major substance classes specifically identified above. Examples include khat, anabolic steroids, corticosteroids, antidepressants, medications with anticholinergic properties (e.g., benztropine), and some antihistamines.

<u>6C4F Disorders Due to Use of Multiple Specified Psychoactive Substances, including Medications</u>

The categories in this grouping are provided for coding purposes. However, in most clinical situations it is recommended that multiple categories from Disorders Due to Substance Use be assigned if these can be discerned rather than using categories from this grouping. Doing so will provide more useful information for both clinical and coding purposes.

6C4G Disorders Due to Use of Unknown or Unspecified Psychoactive Substances

These categories apply in clinical situations in which it is clear that the disturbance is due to substance use but the specific substance or class of substances is unknown. As more information becomes available (e.g., laboratory results, report from a collateral informant) the diagnosis should be changed to indicate the relevant substance or substance class.

6C4H Disorders Due to Use of Non-Psychoactive Substances

Disorders due to use of non-psychoactive substances are characterized by the pattern and consequences of non-medical use of non-psychoactive substances. Nonpsychoactive substances include laxatives, growth hormone, erythropoietin, and nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs. They may also include proprietary or over-thecounter medicines and folk remedies. Non-medical use of these substances may be associated with harm to the individual due to the direct or secondary toxic effects of the non-psychoactive substance on body organs and systems, or a harmful route of administration (e.g., infections due to intravenous self-administration). They are not associated with intoxication or with a dependence or withdrawal syndrome and are not recognized causes of Substance-Induced Mental Disorders.

Diagnostic Categories that Apply to the Various Classes of Psychoactive Substances

Following is a list of specific diagnostic categories of that apply to the classes of psychoactive substances listed above:

- Episode of Harmful Psychoactive Substance Use
- Harmful Pattern of Psychoactive Substance Use
- Substance Dependence
- Substance Intoxication
- Substance Withdrawal
- Substance-Induced Delirium
- Substance-Induced Psychotic Disorder
- Substance-Induced Mood Disorder
- Substance-Induced Anxiety Disorder
- Substance-Induced Obsessive-Compulsive or Related Disorder
- Substance-Induced Impulse Control Disorder
- Other Specified Disorder Due to Substance Use
- Disorder Due to Substance Use, Unspecified

Additional categories of disorders induced by psychoactive substances are included in other parts of the ICD-11 chapter on Mental, Behavioural, and Neurodevelopmental Disorders. These categories relate to substance-induced catatonia, substance-induced amnestic disorder, and substance-induced dementia. They are cross-listed in the section below on Substance-Induced Mental Disorders for reference.

Note that not all possible combinations of disorder and substance class are included in the classification. For example, there is no category for Substance Withdrawal Due to Dissociative Drugs including Ketamine and PCP and no category for Nicotine-Induced Psychotic Disorder. Allowable categories by substance class for Episode of Harmful Psychoactive Substance Use, Harmful Pattern of Psychoactive Substance Use, Substance Dependence, Substance Intoxication, and Substance Withdrawal are shown in Table 6.13 (p. 415). Allowable categories by substance class for Substance-Induced Mental Disorders (Substance-Induced Delirium, Substance-Induced Psychotic Disorder, Substance-In

Mood Disorder, Substance-Induced Anxiety Disorder, Substance-Induced Obsessive-Compulsive or Related Disorder, and Substance-Induced Impulse Control Disorder) are shown in Table 6.14 (p. 416).

CDDR are provided below for each type of disorder together with a list of applicable substance classes. Information specific to particular substance classes is also provided when applicable.

The first three diagnoses listed above (Episode of Harmful Psychoactive Substance Use, Harmful Pattern of Psychoactive Substance Use, and Substance Dependence) describe the use pattern of the substance. One of these three diagnoses, or Disorder Due to Substance Use, Unspecified, for cases in which the use pattern in unknown at the time of evaluation, is considered to be the primary diagnosis. That is, one of these four diagnoses should be assigned when making a diagnosis of a Disorder Due to Substance Use.

The remaining diagnoses reflect the impact of the substance use pattern and are thus considered to be associated with one of the primary use pattern diagnoses. These diagnoses should therefore be assigned together with the relevant primary diagnosis. For example, 6C49.1/ 6C49.5 is Harmful Pattern of Use of Hallucinogens associated with Hallucinogen-Induced Psychotic Disorder, 6C43.2/6C43.70 is Opioid Dependence associated with Opioid-Induced Mood Disorder, 6C4Z/6C40.3 is Disorders Due to Substance Use, Unspecified associated with Alcohol Intoxication (i.e., the pattern of use in this last case is unknown).

Also listed in this section of the manual are categories related to Hazardous Substance Use. These Hazardous Substance Use categories are not considered to be mental disorders, but may be used when the pattern of substance use appreciably increases the risk of harmful physical or mental health consequences to the user or to others to an extent that warrants attention and advice from health professionals, but no overt harm has yet occurred.

Table 6.13: Applicable Disorders Due to Substance Use by Substance Class

| | Episode of Harmful Psychoactive Substance Use | Harmful Pattern of Psychoactive Substance Use ¹ | Substance Dependence ² | Substance Intoxication | Substance Withdrawal ³ | |
|---|---|--|--|---------------------------------------|--|--|
| Alcohol | 6C40.0 | 6C40.10 E 6C40.11 C | 6C40.20 C 6C40.21 E 6C40.22 eF 6C40.23 sP 6C40.24 SF | 6C40.21 E 6C40.22 eF 6C40.23 sP | | |
| Cannabis | 6C41.0 | 6C41.10 E 6C41.11 C | 6C41.20 C 6C41.21 eF 6C41.22 SP 6C41.23 SF | 6C41.3 | 6C41.4 | |
| Synthetic Cannabinoids | 6C42.0 | 6C42.10 E 6C42.11 C | 6C42.20 C 6C42.21 eF 6C42.22 SP 6C42.23 SF | 6C42.3 | 6C41.4 | |
| Opioids | 6C43.0 | 6C43.10 E 6C43.11 C | 6C43.20 C 6C43.21 eF 6C43.22 SP 6C43.23 SF | 6C43.3 | 6C43.4 | |
| Sedatives, hypnotics or anxiolytics | 6C44.0 | 6C44.10 E 6C44.11 C | 6C44.20 C 6C44.21 eF 6C44.22 SP 6C44.23 SF | 6C44.3 | 6C44.40 U 6C44.41 PD 6C44.42 S 6C44.43 PD&S | |
| Cocaine | 6C45.0 | 6C45.10 E 6C45.11 C | 6C45.20 C 6C45.21 eF 6C45.22 SP 6C45.23 SF | 6C45.3 | 6C45.4 | |
| Stimulants including amphetamine, methamphetamine or methcathinone | 6C46.0 | 6C46.10 E 6C46.11 C | 6C46.20 C 6C46.21 eF 6C46.22 SP 6C46.23 SF | 6C46.3 | 6C46.4 | |
| Synthetic Cathinones | 6C47.0 | 6C47.10 E 6C47.11 C | 6C47.20 C 6C47.21 eF 6C47.22 SP 6C47.23 SF | 6C47.3 | 6C47.4 | |
| Caffeine | 6C48.0 | 6C48.10 E 6C48.11 C | N/A | 6C48.2 | 6C48.3 | |
| Hallucinogens | 6C49.0 | 6C49.10 E 6C49.11 C | 6C49.20 C 6C49.21 eF 6C49.22 SP 6C49.23 SF | 6C49.3 | N/A | |
| Nicotine | 6C4A.0 | 6C4A.10 E 6C4A.11 C | 6C4A.20 C 6C4A.21 eF 6C4A.22 SP 6C4A.23 SF | 6C4A.3 | 6C4A.4 | |
| Volatile inhalants | 6C4B.0 | 6C4B.10 E 6C4B.11 C | 6C4B.20 C 6C4B.21 eF 6C4B.22 SP 6C4B.23 SF | 6C4B.3 | 6C4B.4 | |

| | Episode of Harmful Psychoactive Substance Use | Harmful Pattern of Psychoactive Substance Use ¹ | Substance Dependence ² | Substance Intoxication | Substance Withdrawal ³ |
|---|---|--|---|---------------------------|--|
| MDMA or related drugs, including MDA | 6C4C.0 | 6C4C.10 E 6C4C.11 C | 6C4C.20 C 6C4C.21 eF 6C4C.22 SP 6C4C.23 SF | 6C4C.3 | 6C4C.4 |
| Dissociative drugs including ketamine and PCP | 6C4D.0 | 6C4D.10 E 6C4D.11 C | 6C4D.20 C 6C4D.21 eF 6C4D.22 SP 6C4D.23 SF | 6C4D.3 | N/A |
| Other specified | 6C4E.0 | 6C4E.10 E 6C4E.11 C | 6C4E.20 C 6C4E.21 eF 6C4E.22 SP 6C4E.23 SF | 6C4E.3 | 6C4E.40 U 6C4E.41 PD 6C4E.42 S 6C4E.43 PD&S |
| Multiple specified | 6C4F.0 | 6C4F.10 E 6C4F.11 C | 6C4F.20 C 6C4F.21 eF 6C4F.22 SP 6C4F.23 SF | 6C4F.3 | 6C4F.40 U 6C4F.41 PD 6C4F.42 S 6C4F.43 PD&S |
| Unknown or unspecified | 6C4G.0 | 6C4G.10 E 6C4G.11 C | 6C4G.20 C 6C4G.21 eF 6C4G.22 SP 6C4G.23 SF | 6C4G.3 | 6C4G.40 U 6C4G.41 PD 6C4G.42 S 6C4G.43 PD&S |
| Non-psychoactive | 6C4H.0 | 6C4H.10 E 6C4H.11 C | N/A | N/A | N/A |

 1 E = Episodic; C = Continuous

² E = Episodic; C = Continuous; eF = Early Full Remission; Sp = Sustained Partial Remission; SF = Sustained Full Remission

³ U = Uncomplicated; PD = with Perceptual Disturbances; S = with Seizures; PD&S = with Perceptual Disturbances and Seizures

| | | | | | Obsessive- | Impulse | | |
|--|----------|-------------------------------------|---------|---------|------------|---------|----------|----------|
| | Delirium | ¹ Psychotic | Mood | Anxiety | Compulsive | Control | Amnestic | Dementia |
| Alcohol | 6C40.5 | 6C40.60 H 6C40.61 D 6C40.62 M | 6C40.70 | 6C40.71 | N/A | N/A | 6D72.10 | 6D84.0 |
| Cannabis | 6C41.5 | 6C41.6 | 6C41.70 | 6C41.71 | N/A | N/A | N/A | N/A |
| Synthetic Cannabinoids | 6C42.5 | 6C42.6 | 6C42.70 | 6C42.71 | N/A | N/A | N/A | N/A |
| Opioids | 6C43.5 | 6C43.6 | 6C43.70 | 6C43.71 | N/A | N/A | N/A | N/A |
| Sedatives, hypnotics or anxiolytics | 6C44.5 | 6C44.6 | 6C44.70 | 6C44.71 | N/A | N/A | 6D72.11 | 6D84.1 |
| Cocaine | 6C45.5 | 6C45.60 H 6C45.61 D 6C45.62 M | 6C45.70 | 6C45.71 | 6C45.72 | 6C45.73 | N/A | N/A |
| Stimulants including amphetamine, methamphetamine or methcathinone | 6C46.5 | 6C46.60 H 6C46.61 D 6C46.62 M | 6C46.70 | 6C46.71 | 6C46.72 | 6C46.73 | N/A | N/A |
| Synthetic Cathinones | 6C47.5 | 6C47.60 H 6C47.61 D 6C47.62 M | 6C47.70 | 6C47.71 | 6C47.72 | 6C47.73 | N/A | N/A |
| Caffeine | N/A | N/A | N/A | 6C48.40 | N/A | N/A | N/A | N/A |
| Hallucinogens | 6C49.4 | 6C49.5 | 6C49.60 | 6C49.61 | N/A | N/A | N/A | N/A |
| Nicotine | N/A | N/A | N/A | N/A | N/A | N/A | N/A | N/A |
| Volatile inhalants | 6C4B.5 | 6C4B.6 | 6C4B.70 | 6C4B.71 | N/A | N/A | 6D72.13 | 6D84.2 |
| MDMA or related | 6C4C.5 | 6C4C.6 | 6C4C.70 | 6C4C.71 | N/A | N/A | N/A | N/A |
| drugs, including MDA | | | | | | | | |
| Dissociative drugs including ketamine and PCP | 6C4D.4 | 6C4D.5 | 6C4D.60 | 6C4D.61 | N/A | N/A | N/A | N/A |
| Other specified | 6C4E.5 | 6C4E.6 | 6C4E.70 | 6C4E.71 | 6C4E.72 | 6C4E.73 | 6D72.12 | 6D84.Y |
| Multiple specified | 6C4F.5 | 6C4F.6 | 6C4F.70 | 6C4F.71 | 6C4F.72 | 6C4F.73 | N/A | N/A |
| Unknown or unspecified | 6C4G.5 | 6C4G.6 | 6C4G.70 | 6C4G.71 | 6C4G.72 | 6C4G.73 | N/A | N/A |

 Table 6.14: Applicable Substance-Induced Mental Disorders by Substance Class

| | Delirium | ¹ Psychotic | Mood | Anxiety | Obsessive- Compulsive | Impulse Control | Amnestic | Dementia |
|------------------|----------|------------------------|------|---------|--------------------------|--------------------|----------|----------|
| Non-psychoactive | N/A | N/A | N/A | N/A | N/A | N/A | N/A | N/A |

 1 H = with Hallucinations, D = with Delusions, M = with Mixed psychotic symptoms

Clinical Descriptions and Diagnostic Requirements for Disorders Due to Psychoactive Substance Use

Episode of Harmful Psychoactive Substance Use

Available Categories by Substance Class:

- 6C40.0Episode of Harmful Use of Alcohol
- 6C41.0Episode of Harmful Use of Cannabis
- 6C42.0Episode of Harmful Use of Synthetic Cannabinoids
- 6C43.0Episode of Harmful Use of Opioids
- 6C44.0 Episode of Harmful Use of Sedatives, Hypnotics or Anxiolytics
- 6C45.0Episode of Harmful Use of Cocaine
- 6C46.0 Episode of Harmful Use of Stimulants including Amphetamines, Methamphetamine or Methcathinone
- 6C47.0Episode of Harmful Use of Synthetic Cathinones
- 6C48.0Episode of Harmful Use of Caffeine
- 6C49.0Episode of Harmful Use of Hallucinogens
- 6C4A.0 Episode of Harmful Use of Nicotine
- 6C4B.0 Episode of Harmful Use of Volatile Inhalants
- 6C4C.0 Episode of Harmful Use of MDMA or Related Drugs, including MDA
- 6C4D.0 Episode of Harmful Use of Dissociative Drugs including Ketamine or PCP
- 6C4E.0 Episode of Harmful Use of Other Specified Psychoactive Substance
- 6C4F.0Episode of Harmful Use of Multiple Specified Psychoactive Substances, including Medications
- 6C4G.0 Episode of Harmful Use of Unknown or Unspecified Psychoactive Substances

Essential (Required) Features:

- An episode of use of a psychoactive substance that has caused clinically significant damage to a person's physical health (e.g., blood-borne infection from intravenous self-administration) or mental health (e.g., Substance-Induced Mood Disorder), or has resulted in behaviour leading to harm to the health of others.
- Harm to health of the individual occurs due to one or more of the following: (1) behaviour related to intoxication (see Table 6.16, p. 436); (2) direct or secondary toxic effects on body organs and systems; or (3) a harmful route of administration.
- Harm to health of others includes any form of physical harm, including trauma, or mental disorder that is directly attributable to behaviour due to substance intoxication on the part of the person to whom the diagnosis of Episode of Harmful Psychoactive Substance Use applies.
- Harm to health is not better accounted for by another medical condition or another mental disorder, including another Disorder Due to Substance Use (e.g., Substance Withdrawal).

Note: Harm to the health of the person to whom the diagnosis applies includes injuries caused by behaviour related to intoxication (e.g., impulsive aggressive behaviour, psychomotor impairment leading to injury; see Table 6.16), acute health problems resulting from substance use (e.g., overdose, acute gastritis, the effects of hypoxia or prolonged hyperactivity or inactivity), and exacerbation or decompensation of pre-existing chronic health problems (e.g., hypertension, liver disease, or peptic ulceration). Harm may also result from a harmful route of administration (e.g., injecting drug use causing blood-borne virus infections, cocaine use causing a perforated nasal septum). The relevant diagnostic codes from other chapters of the ICD-11, including the chapter on Injury, Poisoning or Certain Other Consequences of External Causes, should be used to describe the specific health consequences of the harmful substance use.

Harm to the health of others includes any form of physical harm, including trauma (e.g., impaired driving causing a motor vehicle accident, assaultive behaviour leading to bodily harm to another person) or mental disorder (e.g., Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder arising from an assault by the intoxicated individual) that is directly attributable to behaviour due to substance intoxication on the part of the person to whom the diagnosis of Episode of Harmful Psychoactive Substance Use applies.

Additional Clinical Features:

- There must be explicit evidence of harm to the individual's physical or mental health, or of substance-related behaviour due to intoxication that has led to harm to the physical or mental health of others. There must also be a clear causal relationship between the harm to health and the episode of substance use in question.
- The likelihood of harm to self or others due behaviour related to intoxication varies substantially by substance (see Table 6.16). For example, such behaviour is unlikely to arise from caffeine or nicotine intoxication.
- Psychoactive substance use commonly occurs in the context of other mental disorders. An additional diagnosis of Episode of Harmful Psychoactive Substance Use can be made if the index episode of substance use has resulted in clinically significant harm to the individual's physical health or has exacerbated or triggered an episode of a pre-existing mental disorder (e.g., a Manic or Depressive Episode or a psychotic episode).
- A diagnosis of Episode of Harmful Psychoactive Substance Use often signals an opportunity for intervention, typically a low intensity intervention that can be implemented in a wide range of settings that is specifically aimed at reducing the likelihood of additional harmful episodes or of progression to Harmful Pattern of Use or Substance Dependence.
- A diagnosis of Episode of Harmful Psychoactive Substance Use of unknown or unspecified psychoactive substances can be assigned if the substance consumed is initially unknown. As more information becomes available (e.g., laboratory results, report from a collateral informant) the diagnosis should be changed to indicate the substance responsible for the episode of harm.
- As more information becomes available indicating that the episode is part of a continuous or recurrent pattern of substance use, or if additional harmful episodes occur, a diagnosis of Episode of Harmful Psychoactive Substance Use should be changed to Harmful Pattern of Psychoactive Substance Use or Substance Dependence, as appropriate.

Boundary with Normality (Threshold):

- The diagnosis of Episode of Harmful Psychoactive Substance Use requires clinically significant harm to the individual's physical or mental health or that of others. Examples of impact on physical or mental health that would not be considered clinically significant include mild hangover, brief episodes of vomiting, or transient depressed mood.
- A range of social problems may be associated with an episode of substance use that are not sufficiently severe to constitute clinically significant harm to physical or mental health (e.g., missed appointments, arguments with loved ones). Such problems are not a sufficient basis for a diagnosis of Episode of Harmful Psychoactive Substance Use.

Boundaries with Other Disorders and Conditions (Differential Diagnosis):

- **Boundary with Hazardous Substance Use:** Hazardous Substance Use is classified in the chapter on 'Factors Influencing Health Status or Contact with Health Services' in the ICD-11 and not in the chapter on Mental, Behavioural, and Neurodevelopmental Disorders. Hazardous Substance Use appreciably increases the risk of harmful physical or mental health consequences to the user or to others to an extent that warrants attention and advice from health professionals, but has not resulted in specific identifiable harm and therefore does not meet the diagnostic requirements for Episode of Harmful Psychoactive Substance Use.
- **Boundary with Harmful Pattern of Psychoactive Substance Use:** If the harm to health is a result of a known episodic or continuous pattern of substance use and all other diagnostic requirements are met, a diagnosis of Harmful Pattern of Psychoactive Substance Use should be assigned. Substance use is generally considered to be following a pattern if there has been at least episodic or intermittent use over a period of at least 12 months. If harm is caused by use of a substance but no information is available about the pattern or history of substance use, a diagnosis of Episode of Harmful Psychoactive Substance Use may be assigned until such time as evidence for a pattern of use is ascertained.
- **Boundary with Substance Dependence:** In Substance Dependence, individuals use a substance or substances persistently despite harm and adverse consequences. Harm caused by such use may be similar to that observed in Episode of Harmful Psychoactive Substance Use. However, Substance Dependence also includes additional features of impaired ability to control use and increasing priority given to the substance use over other activities. Physiological features (e.g., tolerance) may also be present for applicable substances. If all diagnostic requirements for Substance Dependence are met for a particular substance, Episode of Harmful Psychoactive Substance Use should not be assigned for that substance. *Note:* Substance Dependence is only applicable for some substances or substance classes (see Table 6.13).
- **Boundary with Substance Intoxication:** Substance Intoxication is defined by substance use that results in clinically significant transient substance-specific symptoms (see Table 6.16). Recovery from Substance Intoxication is generally complete and without physical or mental sequelae. If there is continuing damage or harm (e.g., the effects of hypoxia, the effects of prolonged hyperactivity or inactivity, tissue damage) due to an episode of Substance Intoxication, a diagnosis of Episode of Harmful Psychoactive Substance Use may be assigned. If relevant at the time of the clinical encounter (e.g., in emergency settings), Episode of Harmful Psychoactive Substance Use may be diagnosed with an associated diagnosis of Substance Intoxication.

- **Boundary with Substance-Induced Mental Disorders:** Substance-Induced Mental Disorders can be associated with a single episode of substance use. If a Substance-Induced Mental Disorder has occurred as a form of harm resulting from a single episode of substance use, both Episode of Harmful Psychoactive Substance Use and the relevant Substance-Induced Mental Disorder should be diagnosed (e.g., Episode of Harmful Cocaine Use with Cocaine-Induced Psychotic Disorder). *Note:* Specific Substance-Induced Mental Disorders are only applicable for some substances or substance classes (see Table 6.14).
- **Boundary with overdose:** When ingestion of psychoactive substances results in symptoms of overdose (e.g., coma; life-threatening cardiac or respiratory suppression), a diagnosis from the grouping of Harmful Effects of Substances in the chapter on Injury, Poisoning or Certain Other Consequences of External Causes should also be assigned.

Harmful Pattern of Psychoactive Substance Use

Available Categories by Substance Class:

- 6C40.1 Harmful Pattern of Use of Alcohol
- 6C41.1 Harmful Pattern of Use of Cannabis
- 6C42.1 Harmful Pattern of Use of Synthetic Cannabinoids
- 6C43.1 Harmful Pattern of Use of Opioids
- 6C44.1 Harmful Pattern of Use of Sedatives, Hypnotics or Anxiolytics
- 6C45.1 Harmful Pattern of Use of Cocaine
- 6C46.1 Harmful Pattern of Use of Stimulants including Amphetamines, Methamphetamine or Methcathinone
- 6C47.1 Harmful Pattern of Use of Synthetic Cathinones
- 6C48.1 Harmful Pattern of Use of Caffeine
- 6C49.1 Harmful Pattern of Use of Hallucinogens
- 6C4A.1 Harmful Pattern of Use of Nicotine
- 6C4B.1 Harmful Pattern of Use of Volatile Inhalants
- 6C4C.1 Harmful Pattern of Use of MDMA or Related Drugs, including MDA
- 6C4D.1 Harmful Pattern of Use of Dissociative Drugs including Ketamine or PCP
- 6C4E.1 Harmful Pattern of Use of Other Specified Psychoactive Substance
- 6C4F.1Harmful Pattern of Use of Multiple Specified Psychoactive Substances
- 6C4G.1 Harmful Pattern of Use of Unknown or Unspecified Psychoactive Substances

Essential (Required) Features:

- A pattern of continuous, recurrent, or sporadic use of a psychoactive substance that has caused clinically significant damage to a person's physical health (e.g., blood-borne infection from intravenous self-administration) or mental health (e.g., Substance-Induced Mood Disorder), or has resulted in behaviour leading to harm to the health of others.
- Harm to health of the individual occurs due to one or more of the following: (1) behaviour related to intoxication (see Table 6.16); (2) direct or secondary toxic effects on body organs and systems; or (3) a harmful route of administration.

- Harm to health of others includes any form of physical harm, including trauma, or mental disorder that is directly attributable to behaviour related to substance intoxication on the part of the person to whom the diagnosis of Harmful Pattern of Psychoactive Substance Use applies.
- The pattern of use of the relevant substance is evident over a period of at least 12 months if substance use is episodic or at least 1 month if use is continuous.
- Harm to health is not better accounted for by another medical condition or another mental disorder, including another Disorder Due to Substance Use (e.g., Substance Withdrawal).

Note: Harm to the health of the person to whom the diagnosis applies includes injuries caused by behaviour related to intoxication (e.g., impulsive aggressive behaviour, psychomotor impairment leading to injury (see Table 6.16); acute health problems resulting from substance use (e.g., overdose, acute gastritis, the effects of hypoxia or prolonged hyperactivity or inactivity), and exacerbation or decompensation of pre-existing chronic health problems (e.g., hypertension, liver disease, or peptic ulceration). Harm may also result from a harmful route of administration (e.g., injecting drug use causing blood-borne virus infections, cocaine use causing a perforated nasal septum). The relevant diagnostic codes from other chapters of the ICD-11, including the chapter on Injury, Poisoning or Certain Other Consequences of External Causes, should be used to describe the specific health consequences of the harmful substance use.

Harm to the health of others includes any form of physical harm, including trauma (e.g., impaired driving causing a motor vehicle accident, assaultive behaviour leading to bodily harm to another person) or mental disorder (e.g., Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder arising from an assault by the intoxicated individual) that is directly attributable to behaviour due to substance intoxication on the part of the person to whom the diagnosis of Harmful Pattern of Psychoactive Substance Use applies.

Course Specifiers:

A specifier is used to further describe the harmful pattern of substance use, using a fifthdigit code. The x below corresponds to the fourth-digit code indicating the substance class (e.g., 0 for alcohol, 1 for cannabis, 2 for synthetic cannabinoids, etc.).

6C4x.10 Harmful Pattern of Psychoactive Substance Use, episodic

This category is assigned when all the diagnostic requirements for Harmful Pattern of Psychoactive Substance Use are met and there is evidence of a pattern of recurrent episodic or intermittent use of the relevant psychoactive substance over a period of at least 12 months that has caused clinically significant harm to a person's physical or mental health or has resulted in behaviour leading to harm to the health of others.

6C4x.11 Harmful Pattern of Psychoactive Substance Use, continuous

This category is assigned when all the diagnostic requirements for Harmful Pattern of Psychoactive Substance Use are met and there is evidence of a pattern of continuous substance use (daily or almost daily) of the relevant psychoactive substance over a period of at least 1 month that has caused clinically significant harm to a person's physical or mental health or has resulted in behaviour leading to harm to the health of others.

424

6C4x.1Z Harmful Pattern of Psychoactive Substance Use, unspecified

Additional Clinical Features:

- There must be explicit evidence of harm to the individual's physical or mental health, or of behaviour due to Substance Intoxication that has led to harm to the physical or mental health of others. There must also be a clear causal relationship between the harm to health and the episodic or continuous use of a substance.
- The likelihood of harm to self or others due behaviour related to intoxication varies substantially by substance (see Table 6.16). For example, such behaviour is unlikely to arise from caffeine or nicotine intoxication.
- A diagnosis of Harmful Pattern of Use of Unknown or Unspecified Psychoactive Substances can be assigned if the substance consumed is initially unknown. As more information becomes available (e.g., laboratory results, report from a collateral informant) the diagnosis should be changed to indicate the substance(s) involved in the Harmful Pattern of Psychoactive Substance Use.
- As more information becomes available about symptoms and behaviours related to the pattern of substance use as well as physiological features indicative of neuroadaptation to the substance, the diagnosis may be changed to Substance Dependence if diagnostic requirements are met.

Boundary with Normality (Threshold):

- The diagnosis of Harmful Pattern of Psychoactive Substance Use requires clinically significant harm to the individual's physical or mental health or that of others. Examples of impact on physical or mental health that would not be considered clinically significant include mild hangovers, brief episodes of vomiting, or transient depressed mood.
- A pattern of psychoactive substance use may cause a range of problems in functioning (e.g., missed appointments, arguments with loved ones) that are not sufficiently severe to constitute clinically significant harm to physical or mental health. Such problems are not a sufficient basis for a diagnosis of Harmful Pattern of Psychoactive Substance Use.

Developmental Presentations:

- Harmful Pattern of Psychoactive Substance Use is often a characteristic of late adolescence and young adulthood, and injuries and the consequences of aggressive behaviour are particularly common in this age group.
- Harmful Pattern of Psychoactive Substance Use in older adults may cause injuries and fractures due to the combination of lowered tolerance, psychomotor impairment induced by a substance, and disorders associated with ageing such as osteoporosis and Dementia.

Sex- and/or Gender-Related Features:

• The prevalence of Harmful Pattern of Psychoactive Substance Use is higher in males than females, but the gender differential is smaller in countries where women play a

greater role in the workforce. Gender differences in injuries and other forms of harm due to substance use are recognized.

Boundaries with Other Disorders and Conditions (Differential Diagnosis):

- **Boundary with Hazardous Substance Use:** Hazardous Substance Use is classified in the chapter on 'Factors Influencing Health Status or Contact with Health Services' in the ICD-11 and not in the chapter on Mental, Behavioural, and Neurodevelopmental Disorders. Hazardous Substance Use appreciably increases the risk of harmful physical or mental health consequences to the user or to others to an extent that warrants attention and advice from health professionals, but has not resulted in specific identifiable harm and therefore does not meet the diagnostic requirements for Harmful Pattern of Psychoactive Substance Use.
- **Boundary with Episode of Harmful Psychoactive Substance Use:** If the harm to health is a result of a single episode of use rather than a pattern of substance use, whether episodic or continuous, a diagnosis of Episode of Harmful Psychoactive Substance Use should be assigned. Substance use is generally considered to be following a pattern if there has been at least episodic or intermittent use over a period of at least 12 months. If harm is caused by use of a substance but no information is available about the pattern or history of substance use, a diagnosis of Episode of Harmful Psychoactive Substance Use may be assigned until such time as evidence for a pattern of use is ascertained.
- **Boundary with Substance Dependence:** In Substance Dependence, individuals use a substance or substances persistently despite harm and adverse consequences. Harm caused by such use may be similar to that observed in Harmful Pattern of Psychoactive Substance Use. However, Substance Dependence also includes additional features of impaired ability to control use and increasing priority given to the substance use over other activities. Physiological features (e.g., tolerance) may also be present for applicable substances. If all diagnostic requirements for Substance Dependence are met for a particular substance, Harmful Pattern of Psychoactive Substance Use should not be assigned for that substance. *Note:* Substance Dependence is only applicable for some substances or substance classes (see Table 6.13).
- **Boundary with Substance Intoxication:** Substance Intoxication is defined by substance use that results in clinically significantly, transient substance-specific symptoms (see Table 6.16). Recovery from Substance Intoxication is generally complete and absent of physical or mental sequelae. A pattern or repeated intoxication may or may not result in harm to a person's physical or mental health or to the health of others. If there is continuing damage or harm (e.g., the effects of hypoxia, the effects of prolonged hyperactivity or inactivity, tissue damage) as a result of repeated or continuous use of a psychoactive substance, a diagnosis of Harmful Pattern of Psychoactive Substance Use may be assigned. If relevant at the time of the clinical encounter (e.g., in an emergency room), Harmful Pattern of Psychoactive Substance Use may be diagnosed with an associated diagnosis of Substance Intoxication.
- **Boundary with Substance Withdrawal:** Substance Withdrawal occurs upon cessation or reduction of a substance in the context of physiological dependence or when a substance has been taken for a prolonged period or in large amounts. Some features of substance withdrawal may include physical or mental harm (e.g., seizures, delusions, hallucinations, anxiety). If the symptoms are entirely explained by the withdrawal syndrome for the relevant substance (see Table 6.17, p. 446), an additional diagnosis of

Harmful Pattern of Psychoactive Substance Use is not warranted. However, if the symptoms substantially exceed the expected withdrawal syndrome in duration or type or severity and the diagnostic requirements for Substance Dependence are not met, Harmful Pattern of Psychoactive Substance Use can be assigned as the primary diagnosis, with an associated diagnosis of Substance Withdrawal (e.g., Harmful Pattern of Use of Opioids with Opioid Withdrawal). *Note:* Substance Withdrawal is only applicable for some substances or substance classes (see Table 6.13).

- **Boundary with Substance-Induced Mental Disorders:** If a Substance-Induced Mental Disorder has occurred as a form of harm resulting from a pattern of substance use, both Harmful Pattern of Psychoactive Substance Use and the relevant Substance-Induced Mental Disorder should be diagnosed (e.g., Harmful Pattern of Cocaine Use with Cocaine-Induced Anxiety Disorder). *Note:* Specific Substance-Induced Mental Disorders are only applicable for some substances or substance classes (see Table 6.14).
- **Boundary with other mental disorders and other medical conditions:** Numerous mental disorders as well as subthreshold symptoms may co-occur with episodic or continuous patterns of substance use. Similarly, continuous or episodic substance use increases the risk for mental disorders as well as other medical conditions. Co-occurring mental disorders and comorbid medical conditions should be diagnosed separately, along with a diagnosis of Harmful Pattern of Psychoactive Substance Use.

Substance Dependence

Available Categories by Substance Class:

- 6C40.2 Alcohol Dependence
- 6C41.2 Cannabis Dependence
- 6C42.2 Synthetic Cannabinoid Dependence
- 6C43.2 Opioid Dependence
- 6C44.2 Sedative, Hypnotic or Anxiolytic Dependence
- 6C45.2 Cocaine Dependence
- 6C46.2 Stimulant Dependence including Amphetamines, Methamphetamine or Methcathinone
- 6C47.2 Synthetic Cathinone Dependence
- 6C49.2 Hallucinogen Dependence
- 6C4A.2 Nicotine Dependence
- 6C4B.2 Volatile Inhalant Dependence
- 6C4C.2 MDMA or Related Drug Dependence, including MDA
- 6C4D.2 Dissociative Drug Dependence including Ketamine or PCP
- 6C4E.2 Other Specified Psychoactive Substance Dependence
- 6C4F.2 Multiple Specified Psychoactive Substance Dependence
- 6C4G.2 Unknown or Unspecified Psychoactive Substance Dependence

Essential (Required) Features:

• A pattern of recurrent episodic or continuous use of a psychoactive substance with evidence of impaired regulation of use of that substance that is manifested by two or more of the following:

- Impaired control over substance use (i.e., onset, frequency, intensity, duration, termination, context);
- Increasing precedence of substance use over other aspects of life, including maintenance of health, and daily activities and responsibilities, such that substance use continues or escalates despite the occurrence of harm or negative consequences (e.g., repeated relationship disruption, occupational or scholastic consequences, negative impact on health);
- Physiological features indicative of neuroadaptation to the substance, including:

 tolerance to the effects of the substance or a need to use increasing amounts of the substance to achieve the same effect; 2) withdrawal symptoms following cessation or reduction in use of that substance, or 3) repeated use of the substance or pharmacologically similar substances to prevent or alleviate withdrawal symptoms. Physiological features are only applicable for certain substances. Note: Substance-specific features of withdrawal are described in Table 6.17.
- The features of dependence are usually evident over a period of at least 12 months but the diagnosis may be made if use is continuous (daily or almost daily) for at least 3 months.

Course Specifiers for Alcohol Dependence:

For alcohol, a specifier is used to describe the pattern of substance use or remission. Unlike for other substances, a distinction is made between continuous and episodic use, as follows:

6C40.20 Alcohol Dependence, current use, continuous

Alcohol Dependence with continuous consumption of alcohol (daily or almost daily) during at least the past 1 month.

6C40.21 Alcohol Dependence, current use, episodic

Alcohol Dependence with use during the past month with a history of intermittent heavy drinking with periods of abstinence during the past 12 months.

6C40.22 Alcohol Dependence, early full remission

After a diagnosis of Alcohol Dependence, and often following a treatment episode or other intervention (including self-help intervention), the individual has been abstinent from alcohol during a period lasting from between 1 and 12 months.

6C40.23 Alcohol Dependence, sustained partial remission

After a diagnosis of Alcohol Dependence, and often following a treatment episode or other intervention (including self-help intervention), there is a significant reduction in alcohol consumption for more than 12 months, such that even though intermittent or continuing drinking has occurred during this period, the definitional requirements for dependence have not been met.

6C40.24 Alcohol Dependence, sustained full remission

After a diagnosis of Alcohol Dependence, and often following a treatment episode or other intervention (including self-intervention), the person has been abstinent from alcohol for 12 months or longer.

6C40.2Z Alcohol Dependence, unspecified

Course Specifiers for Substance Dependence for substances other than alcohol:

For all psychoactive substance classes other than alcohol (see list above and Table 6.13), a specifier is also used to further describe the pattern of substance use or remission in the context of Substance Dependence, using a fifth-digit code. Unlike alcohol, separate codes for continuous and episodic current use are not provided. The *x* below corresponds to the fourth-digit code indicating the substance class (e.g., 1 for cannabis, 2 for synthetic cannabinoids, etc.).

6C4x.20 Substance Dependence, current use

Current Substance Dependence with episodic or continuous use of the substance within the past month.

6C4x.21 Substance Dependence, early full remission

After a diagnosis of Substance Dependence and often following a treatment episode or other intervention (including self-help intervention), the individual has been abstinent from the substance during a period lasting from between 1 and 12 months.

6C4x.22 Substance Dependence, sustained partial remission

After a diagnosis of Substance Dependence, and often following a treatment episode or other intervention (including self-help intervention), there is a significant reduction in substance use for more than 12 months, such that even though intermittent or continuous use has occurred during this period, the diagnostic requirements for dependence have not been met.

6C4x.23 Substance Dependence, sustained full remission

After a diagnosis of Substance Dependence, and often following a treatment episode or other intervention (including self-intervention), the person has been abstinent from the substance for 12 months or longer.

6C4x.2Z Substance Dependence, unspecified

Additional Clinical Features for Substance Dependence:

- A subjective sensation of urge or craving to use the substance often, but not always, accompanies the Essential Features of Substance Dependence.
- When present as an aspect of Substance Dependence, withdrawal symptoms must be consistent with the known withdrawal state for that substance (see Table 6.17). Onset

and course of withdrawal are time-limited and are related to the type of substance and the dose used immediately before cessation or reduction in amount.

- Tolerance varies as a function of individual factors (e.g., substance use history, genetics) and should be differentiated from initial levels of response during intoxication, which also exhibit significant individual variability. Laboratory testing that reveals high levels of the substance in bodily fluids with no evidence of significant symptoms of intoxication may be suggestive of tolerance. Tolerance to the effects to substances as indicated by different psychophysiological responses can develop at varying rates (e.g., tolerance to respiratory depression caused by opioid intoxication may develop prior to tolerance to the sedating effects of the drug). With abstinence, tolerance effects diminish over time.
- Individuals with certain comorbid medical conditions (e.g., chronic liver disease) typically have reduced tolerances to substances.
- Physical or mental health consequences (beyond the Essential Features of Substance Dependence) typically occur in persons with Substance Dependence but are not required for the diagnosis. Similarly, functional impairment in one or several domains of life (e.g., work, domestic responsibilities, child-rearing) is commonly seen in persons with Substance Dependence, but is not required in order to assign the diagnosis.
- Individuals with Substance Dependence have elevated rates of many other mental disorders, including Conduct-Dissocial Disorder, Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder, Impulse Control Disorders, Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder, Social Anxiety Disorder, Generalized Anxiety Disorder, Mood Disorders, Psychotic Disorders, and Personality Disorder with prominent dissocial features, as well as subthreshold symptoms. The specific pattern of co-occurrence depends on the specific substance involved, and reflects common risk factors and common causal pathways. These are distinguished from Substance-Induced Mental Disorders, in which the symptoms are a result of the direct physiological effects of the substance on the central nervous system.
- A pattern of substance use that includes frequent or high dose administration occurs more often among certain subgroups (e.g., adolescents). In these cases, peer group dynamics may contribute to the maintenance of substance use. Regardless of the social contributions to the behaviour, a pattern of substance use that is consistent with subgroup norms should not be considered as presumptive evidence of Substance Dependence unless all diagnostic requirements for the disorder are met.

Boundary with Normality (Threshold):

- Frequent or even daily substance use of a substance does not automatically imply a diagnosis of Substance Dependence. There must also be evidence of the Essential Features of Substance Dependence such as impaired control over use, increasing precedence of use over other life priorities, or physiological features.
- The presence of physiological features such as tolerance and withdrawal is sometimes referred to as 'physiological dependence'. These features may occur, for example, in response to prolonged therapeutic use of certain medications, such as in patients who are appropriately prescribed opioid analgesics for cancer pain. By themselves, however, these features are not sufficient for a diagnosis of Substance Dependence, which also requires either impaired control over substance use or increasing precedence of substance use over other activities.

Course Features:

• The course of Substance Dependence varies by substance, frequency, intensity, and duration of use. The central features of the dependence syndrome may be overshadowed by the harms to physical and mental health that patients with dependence often experience and for which they frequently seek treatment. Numerous medical conditions can occur due to substance use in the course of Substance Dependence. These conditions tend to be specific for each substance, although some are shared across substances. Negative consequences to physical health reflect either the known pharmacological effects of the relevant substance, the toxic effects of the substance on tissues and organs, or the route of administration (e.g., intravenous self-administration). Examples include alcoholic cirrhosis, infective endocarditis, and HIV/AIDS. Medical conditions caused by substance use should be diagnosed separately.

Developmental Presentations:

- Substance Dependence may develop more rapidly during adolescence than is usual during adulthood, especially when there are familial or other risk factors for Substance Dependence.
- Tolerance to psychoactive substances may develop rapidly in adolescents and young adults, and decline equally rapidly when substance use ceases or is reduced in quantity or frequency.
- Withdrawal symptoms are well recognized in neonates born to women with Substance Dependence who have used psychoactive substances during pregnancy. However, the presence of a withdrawal state in a neonate should not be the sole basis for a diagnosis of Substance Dependence in the mother.
- Older adults often have reduced tolerance to substances.

Sex- and/or Gender-Related Features:

- Substance Dependence has similar features in men and women, although the intensity of substance use and duration of use necessary to result in dependence may differ by sex. For example, Alcohol Dependence may occur after a lower cumulative alcohol intake in women compared with men because of sex-related differences in body mass and composition.
- Women are less likely to be involved with the legal system in relation to substance use and therefore may be less likely to come to clinical attention than men. In clinical contexts, women may be reluctant to admit using substances due to prevailing social attitudes and proscriptions.
- In some societies it may be culturally unacceptable for women to admit to substance use. Specific probing may be necessary to elicit a history of substance use and dependence.

Boundaries with Other Disorders and with Normality:

• **Boundary with Substance Intoxication:** Episodic or continuous intoxication with substance(s) is a typical feature of Substance Dependence, but is not an Essential Feature. Conversely, even if frequent and severe, Substance Intoxication alone is not a basis for a diagnosis of Substance Dependence. If all diagnostic requirements of both conditions are met for the same episode of care, Substance Dependence should be assigned as the primary diagnosis, with an associated diagnosis of Substance

Intoxication (e.g., Opioid Dependence with Opioid Intoxication) if appropriate to the specific clinical situation (e.g., in emergency settings).

- **Boundary with Harmful Substance Use:** Substance Dependence is often associated with physical and mental health consequences, such as those seen in Harmful Pattern of Psychoactive Substance Use. In the absence of the Essential Features of Substance Dependence, a diagnosis of Harmful Substance Use can be given when there has been demonstrable harm to the individual's physical or mental health or that of others. Harmful Pattern of Psychoactive Substance Use and Substance Dependence should not be diagnosed together.
- **Boundary with Substance Withdrawal:** Depending on the substance, many individuals with Substance Dependence develop Substance Withdrawal upon cessation or reduction in the amount of a substance consumed. In such cases, both Substance Dependence and Substance Withdrawal should be diagnosed. However, Substance Withdrawal can be diagnosed in the absence of a diagnosis of Substance Dependence, for example in response to cessation of medically appropriate treatment with opioid analgesics that is not accompanied by the other Essential Features of Substance Dependence. *Note:* Substance Withdrawal is only applicable for some substances or substance classes (see Table 6.13).
- **Boundary with Substance-Induced Mental Disorders:** The impact of repeated or continuous use of substances characteristic of Substance Dependence may include Substance-Induced Mental Disorders, in which case both Substance Dependence and the relevant Substance-Induced Mental Disorder should be diagnosed (e.g., Alcohol Dependence with Alcohol-Induced Delirium). *Note:* Specific Substance-Induced Mental Disorders are only applicable for some substance classes (see Table 6.14).

Substance Intoxication

Available Categories by Substance Class:

- 6C40.3 Alcohol Intoxication
- 6C41.3 Cannabis Intoxication
- 6C42.3 Synthetic Cannabinoid Intoxication
- 6C43.3 Opioid Intoxication
- 6C44.3 Sedative, Hypnotic or Anxiolytic Intoxication
- 6C45.3 Cocaine Intoxication
- 6C46.3 Stimulant Intoxication including Amphetamines, Methamphetamine or Methcathinone
- 6C47.3 Synthetic Cathinone Intoxication
- 6C48.2 Caffeine Intoxication
- 6C49.3 Hallucinogen Intoxication
- 6C4A.3 Nicotine Intoxication
- 6C4B.3 Volatile Inhalant Intoxication
- 6C4C.3 MDMA or Related Drug Intoxication, including MDA
- 6C4D.3 Dissociative Drug Intoxication, including Ketamine or PCP
- 6C4E.3 Other Specified Psychoactive Substance Intoxication
- 6C4F.3 Intoxication Due to Multiple Specified Psychoactive Substances
- 6C4G.3 Intoxication Due to Unknown or Unspecified Psychoactive Substance

Essential (Required) Features:

- Transient and clinically significant disturbances in consciousness, cognition, perception, affect, behaviour, or coordination that develop during or shortly after the consumption or administration of a substance.
- The symptoms must be compatible with the known pharmacological effects of the substance, and their intensity is closely related to the amount of the substance consumed.
- The symptoms of intoxication are time-limited and abate as the substance is cleared from the body.
- Symptoms are not better accounted for by another medical condition (See Table 6.15, p. 432) or another mental disorder, including another Disorder Due to Substance Use (e.g., Substance Withdrawal).

Note: Table 6.16 (p. 436) lists clinically important presenting features of Substance Intoxication attributable to the pharmacological effects of each class of substance.

Table 6.15: Examples of Medical Conditions That May Present with Symptoms Similar to Substance Intoxication

- Head injury (with or without cerebral contusion or intracranial haemorrhage or haematoma)
- Meningitis and encephalitis
- Diabetic ketoacidosis or hypoglycaemia
- Hepatic or other metabolic encephalopathy
- Wernicke's encephalopathy
- Electrolyte disturbance
- Hypoxia or hypercapnia
- Systemic infection

Severity of Intoxication Specifier:

Depending on the specific clinical situation and the information available, Substance Intoxication may be classified according to the level of severity as mild, moderate, or severe. The level of intoxication is usually related to the dose, route of administration, half-life, and duration of action of the substance. Severity of intoxication is also affected by individual variability (e.g., differences in body weight, substance metabolism, or tolerance). Susceptibility to substance intoxication may also be greater in individuals with comorbid medical conditions affecting drug pharmacokinetics (e.g., renal or hepatic insufficiency).

For some substances, there are specific tests for detecting and determining the concentration of substances in bodily fluids (e.g., blood, urine), which can be important tools for clinical management. However, severity of intoxication should be determined on the basis of clinical assessment, as specified below, and not solely based on the presence and level of the substance in bodily fluids.

The level of medical attention that may be required in response to substance intoxication varies according to the severity of intoxication and the substance involved, and varies from precautionary observation to urgent intervention to prevent death or permanent harm (e.g., administration of antagonist treatment; intubation).

The severity of intoxication is classified using the following Extension (X) Codes in addition to the appropriate intoxication category.

XS5W Mild

Mild substance intoxication is a state in which there are clinically recognizable disturbances in psychophysiological functions and responses (e.g., motor coordination, attention and judgement) that vary by substance (see Table 6.16), but there is little or no disturbance in the level of consciousness.

XS0T Moderate

Moderate substance intoxication is a state in which there are marked disturbances in psychophysiological functions and responses (e.g., motor coordination, attention and judgement) that vary by substance (see Table 6.16), with substantial impairment on tasks that require these functions. There is some disturbance in level of consciousness.

XS25 Severe

Severe substance intoxication is a state in which there are obvious disturbances in psychophysiological functions and responses (e.g., motor coordination, attention and judgement) that vary by substance (see Table 6.16), with marked disturbance in level of consciousness. There is severe impairment to the extent that the person may not be capable of self-care or self-protection, and may be unable to communicate or cooperate with assessment and intervention.

Note: Extension codes are attached to the category to which they apply using an ampersand (&). For example, 6C40.3&XS0T is the code for Alcohol Intoxication, moderate and 6C41.3&XS5W is the code for Cannabis Intoxication, mild.

Additional Clinical Features for Substance Intoxication:

- Psychoactive substances, whether of the same or a different pharmacological class, may interact such that they exacerbate or modify the features of intoxication. In cases of multiple psychoactive substance use in which more than one specific substance can be identified as a cause of the intoxication, it is recommended that the corresponding specific Substance Intoxication categories for each relevant substance should be assigned (e.g., 6C40.3 Alcohol Intoxication and 6C41.3 Cannabis Intoxication) rather than 6C4F.3 Intoxication Due to Multiple Specified Psychoactive Substances.
- Substance Intoxication may occur in the presence of medical conditions that cause impairment of levels of consciousness, cognition, perception, affect, behaviour, or coordination, which should be diagnosed separately. Determination of the aetiology of the disturbances in psychophysiological functions or responses may require longitudinal assessment.

• A diagnosis of Intoxication Due to Unknown or Unspecified Psychoactive Substance can be assigned if the substance consumed is initially unknown to the clinician. As more information becomes available (e.g., laboratory results, report from a collateral informant) the diagnosis should be changed to indicate the substance responsible for intoxication.

Boundary with Normality (Threshold):

• Measurement of the presence or concentration of a substance in breath, blood, saliva, urine or other body fluids may be an important tool in the clinical management of Substance Intoxication. However, detection of a psychoactive substance in body fluids does not constitute a presumptive diagnosis of Substance Intoxication.

Course Features:

- The onset of Substance Intoxication varies according to the route of administration, the absorption of the substance and other pharmacokinetic factors. Generally, inhalation (smoking) and intravenous injecting routes lead to more rapid onset of intoxication, though oral ingestion may also lead to intoxication within minutes, depending on the substance.
- Substance Intoxication is a transient condition, with the duration of intoxication depending on multiple factors including: (1) the dose of the substance taken, (2) the half-life and duration of action of the particular substance, and (3) the formulation of the substance taken (e.g., for pharmaceutical preparations, whether a controlled-release drug has been taken). Intoxication may last from a few minutes up to several days following the episode of use. The intensity of intoxication lessens with time after reaching a peak of absorption, and the effects eventually disappear in the absence of further use of the substance.

Culture-Related Features:

- The degree and characteristics of intoxication displayed for a given amount of the substance varies considerably with circumstances, with beliefs and expectations about the effects of the substance, and with the cultural acceptability of displaying these effects. These factors result in cultural differences in the extent and manifestations of intoxication.
- There are also genetic differences in susceptibility to intoxication associated with certain ethnic groups. Cultural and ethnically linked genetic factors have been better documented for alcohol than for other substances.

Developmental Presentations:

- Naïve users including adolescents can show features of intoxication at lower levels of use, reflecting lower physical and learned tolerance.
- Older adults may have a lower tolerance than younger people to the effects of alcohol and other substances.

Sex- and/or Gender-Related Features:

- The amount of substance and duration of use necessary to cause intoxication differs by sex, reflecting differences in body weight and composition.
- Behaviour while intoxicated may vary by gender, reflecting not only physiological differences, but also cultural differences and role expectations.

Boundaries with Other Disorders and Conditions (Differential Diagnosis):

- Boundary with Episode of Harmful Psychoactive Substance Use and Harmful Pattern of Psychoactive Substance Use: In Episode of Harmful Psychoactive Substance Use and Harmful Pattern of Psychoactive Substance Use, consumption or administration of a substance results in damage to the person's physical or mental health (including a Substance-Induced Mental Disorder) or in behaviour leading to harm to the health of others. Recovery from Substance Intoxication is generally complete. Complications due to such effects of intoxication such as injury, the effects of hypoxia, the effects of prolonged hyperactivity or inactivity, or other tissue damage should be diagnosed as Episode of Harmful Psychoactive Substance Use or Harmful Pattern of Psychoactive Substance Use, as appropriate. If relevant at the time of the clinical encounter (e.g., in emergency settings), Substance Intoxication can be given as an associated diagnosis, with Episode of Harmful Psychoactive Substance Use or Harmful Pattern of Psychoactive Substance Use as the primary diagnosis.
- **Boundary with Substance Dependence:** Episodic or continuous intoxication with a substance or substances is a typical feature of Substance Dependence. If all diagnostic requirements of both conditions are met for the same episode of care, Substance Dependence should be assigned as the primary diagnosis, with an associated diagnosis of Substance Intoxication (e.g., Opioid Dependence with Opioid Intoxication).
- **Boundary with Substance Withdrawal:** Substance Withdrawal occurs upon cessation or reduction of a substance in the context of physiological dependence or when a substance has been taken for a prolonged period or in large amounts. In contrast, the onset of Substance Intoxication occurs immediately or shortly after the consumption of a substance. Moreover, for a particular substance, the intoxication and withdrawal syndromes are typically quite distinct. See Table 6.16 for a description of the substance-specific features of Substance Intoxication and Table 6.17 for a description of the substance-specific features of Substance Withdrawal.
- **Boundary with Substance-Induced Delirium:** Delirium is characterized by disturbances in attention, orientation, and awareness that develop within a short period of time with symptoms that are transient and may fluctuate depending on the underlying aetiology. Delirium often includes disturbance of behaviour and emotion, and may include impairment in multiple cognitive domains. Disturbance of the sleep-wake cycle may also be present. Delirium can be caused by intoxication or withdrawal from substances. When symptoms of Delirium are attributable to Substance Intoxication, an associated diagnosis of Substance-Induced Delirium should be assigned in addition to the diagnosis of Substance Intoxication. *Note:* Substance-Induced Delirium is only applicable for some substances or substance classes (see Table 6.14).
- **Boundary with other Substance-Induced Mental Disorders:** Mental or behavioural symptoms that arise during Substance Intoxication should only be used as a basis for diagnosing a Substance-Induced Mental Disorder if the intensity or duration of the symptoms is substantially in excess of those that are characteristic of Substance Intoxication due to the specified substance (see Table 6.16) and the symptoms are sufficiently severe to warrant specific clinical attention.

- **Boundary with other medical conditions:** A variety of medical conditions may produce symptoms that are similar to those of Substance Intoxication (see Table 6.15 for examples). Some of these medical conditions are life-threatening requiring immediate intervention. Evidence of substance use (e.g., positive laboratory results) does not rule out the possibility of a comorbid medical condition. These alternative diagnoses must be considered in assessing Substance Intoxication. Certain medical conditions may also augment or prolong the duration of intoxication. Symptoms of intoxication that persist after they can no longer be reasonably attributed to the pharmacological effects of the substance may suggest the presence of another medical condition. If it is determined that Substance Intoxication is comorbid with a medical condition, both diagnoses should be assigned.
- **Boundary with overdose:** When consumption or administration of psychoactive substances results in symptoms of overdose (e.g., coma; life-threatening cardiac or respiratory suppression), it is typically more appropriate to apply a diagnosis from the grouping of Harmful Effects of Substances in the chapter on Injury, Poisoning or Certain Other Consequences of External Causes rather than Substance Intoxication.

Table 6.16: Common substance-specific features of Substance Intoxication

Listed below are the disturbances in consciousness, cognition, perception, affect, behaviour, or coordination that are most characteristic of intoxication with each class of psychoactive substances in the grouping of Disorders Due to Substance Use. These features are caused by the known pharmacological effects of the substance. Their intensity is closely related to the amount of the substance consumed, as well as the route of administration, interaction of the substance with other substances, including medications, and the duration of action of the substance. They are time-limited and abate as the substance is cleared from the body.

| Substance | Common substance-specific features |
|-----------|--|
| Alcohol | Presenting features of Alcohol Intoxication may include impaired attention, inappropriate or aggressive behaviour, lability of mood and emotions, impaired judgment, poor coordination, unsteady gait, and slurred speech. At more severe levels of intoxication, stupor or coma may occur. <i>Additional Features:</i> |
| | Alcohol Intoxication may be associated with impaired social interaction. Impaired coordination and judgment due to Alcohol Intoxication even at low doses may be sufficiently severe to affect faculties necessary to safely operate motorized vehicles and is an important risk factor for road accidents. The disinhibiting effects of alcohol are associated with an increased risk of attempted and completed suicides. Higher blood levels of alcohol (e.g., > 150 mg/dL) are associated with stupor and coma. Blood levels of alcohol above 250 mg/dL can cause respiratory depression, cardiac arrhythmias and death. Stupor and coma are more likely to occur in individuals with low tolerance or comorbid medical conditions. |

| | The more severe the intoxication, the greater the likelihood of amnesia for events. Some symptoms of intoxication with other substances (e.g., sedatives, hypnotics or anxiolytics; opioids) may be similar to those of Alcohol Intoxication. Evidence of alcohol use (e.g., the smell of alcohol on the breath) does not rule out concomitant intoxication with other substances. |
|--|--|
| Cannabis or Synthetic cannabinoids | Presenting features of Cannabis Intoxication or Synthetic Cannabinoid Intoxication may include inappropriate euphoria, impaired attention, impaired judgment, perceptual alterations (such as the sensation of floating, altered perception of time), changes in sociability, increased appetite, anxiety, intensification of ordinary experiences, impaired short-term memory, and sluggishness. Physical signs include conjunctival injection (red or bloodshot eyes), dry mouth, and tachycardia. |
| | Additional Features: |
| | The principal psychoactive cannabinoid is cannabis is δ-9-tetrahydrocannabinol (THC). Disturbances in consciousness, cognition, perception, affect, behaviour, or coordination typical of Cannabis Intoxication are primarily attributable to levels of THC, although various other cannabinoids are also present in cannabis preparations (e.g., dried leaves and buds, hashish, cannabis oil). Synthetic Cannabinoid Intoxication may cause Delirium or acute psychosis. Regular intoxication with high potency cannabis or synthetic cannabinoids may be associated with increased long-term risk for |
| | psychosis. |
| | <i>Note:</i> Medicinal cannabinoids such as cannabidiol and cannabinol, for example those used as antispasmodics, anxiolytics, or analgesics, typically have no or minimal intoxicating effects. However, standard laboratory testing for cannabinoids may not be able to differentiate among these different types of cannabinoids. |
| Opioids | Presenting features of Opioid Intoxication may include somnolence, stupor, mood changes (e.g., euphoria followed by apathy and dysphoria), psychomotor retardation, impaired judgment, respiratory depression, slurred speech, and impairment of memory and attention. In severe intoxication, coma may ensue. A characteristic physical sign is pupillary constriction but this sign may be absent when intoxication is due to synthetic opioids. |
| | Additional Features: |
| | • Severe Opioid Intoxication can lead to death due to excessive respiratory depression. Overdose is more likely to occur with higher potency opioids (e.g., fentanyl), when the person has reduced tolerance (e.g., after detoxification) or when an individual who has developed tolerance uses the opioid in a novel environment. |

| | Opioid Intoxication shares certain features with Alcohol Intoxication and Sedative, Hypnotic or Anxiolytic Intoxication. Evidence of alcohol use (e.g., the smell of alcohol on the breath) does not rule out co- occurring Opioid Intoxication. Where available, laboratory testing for substances that may be contributing to the intoxication or their metabolites may be necessary to identify the intoxicating substance. Administration of an opioid antagonist (e.g., naloxone) may be used empirically in some settings (e.g., emergency settings) to differentiate Opioid Intoxication from intoxication with other substances. |
|---|--|
| Sedatives, hypnotics or anxiolytics | Presenting features of Sedative, Hypnotic or Anxiolytic Intoxication may include somnolence, impaired judgment, inappropriate behaviour (including sexual behaviour or aggression), slurred speech, impaired motor coordination, unsteady gait, mood changes, as well as impaired memory, attention and concentration. Nystagmus (repetitive, uncontrolled eye movements) is a common physical sign. In severe cases, stupor or coma may occur. |
| | Additional Features: Impaired memory in Sedative, Hypnotic or Anxiolytic Intoxication is characterized by anterograde amnesia for the period of intoxication. Sedatives, hypnotics or anxiolytics are commonly prescribed medications. They can cause intoxication even in therapeutic doses in older individuals as well as in those with medical comorbidities. Some features of Sedative, Hypnotic or Anxiolytic Intoxication may be similar to those of Opioid Intoxication or Alcohol Intoxication. Evidence of alcohol use (e.g., the smell of alcohol on the breath) does not rule out concomitant Sedative, Hypnotic or Anxiolytic Intoxication. Where available, laboratory testing for substances that may be contributing to the intoxication or their metabolites may be necessary to identify the intoxicating substance. |
| Cocaine | Presenting features of Cocaine Intoxication may include inappropriate euphoria, anxiety, anger, impaired attention, hypervigilance, psychomotor agitation, paranoid ideation (sometimes of delusional intensity), auditory hallucinations, confusion, and changes in sociability. Perspiration or chills, nausea or vomiting, and palpitations and chest pain may be experienced. Physical signs may include tachycardia, elevated blood pressure, and pupillary dilatation. Additional Features: |
| | • In rare instances, usually in severe intoxication, cocaine use can result in seizures, muscle weakness, dyskinesia and dystonia, and myocardial infarction or stroke arising from coronary or cerebral artery spasm, respectively. |

| Stimulants including amphetamines, methamphetamine and methcathinone | Presenting features of Stimulant Intoxication may include anxiety, anger, impaired attention, hypervigilance, psychomotor agitation, paranoid ideation (possibly of delusional intensity), transient auditory hallucinations, transient confusion, and changes in sociability. Perspiration or chills, nausea or vomiting, and palpitations may be experienced. Physical signs may include tachycardia, elevated blood pressure, pupillary dilatation, dyskinesia and dystonia, and skin sores. <i>Additional Features:</i> In rare instances, usually in severe intoxication, use of stimulants including amphetamines, methamphetamine and methcathinone can result in seizures. |
|--|---|
| Synthetic cathinones | Presenting features of Synthetic Cathinone Intoxication may include anxiety, anger, impaired attention, hypervigilance, psychomotor agitation, paranoid ideation (possibly of delusional intensity), transient auditory hallucinations, transient confusion, and changes in sociability. Perspiration or chills, nausea or vomiting, and palpitations may be experienced. Physical signs may include tachycardia, elevated blood pressure, pupillary dilatation, dyskinesia and dystonia, and skin sores. <i>Additional Features:</i> In rare instances, usually in severe intoxication, use of synthetic cathinones can result in seizures. |
| Caffeine | Presenting features of Caffeine Intoxication may include restlessness, anxiety, excitement, insomnia, flushed face, tachycardia, diuresis, gastrointestinal disturbances, muscle twitching, psychomotor agitation, perspiration or chills, and nausea or vomiting. Cardiac arrythmias may occur. Disturbances typical of Caffeine Intoxication tend to occur at relatively higher doses (e.g., > 1 g per day). <i>Additional Features:</i> Caffeine and related alkaloids (e.g., theobromine in tea) are present in a variety of foods (e.g., chocolate, kola nuts), beverages (e.g., sodas, guarana), and supplements (e.g., tablets, vitamins) that are consumed regularly and pervasively. Very high doses of caffeine (e.g., > 5 g) can result in respiratory distress or seizures and can be fatal. |
| Hallucinogens | Presenting features of Hallucinogen Intoxication may include hallucinations, illusions, perceptual changes such as depersonalization, derealization, synesthesias (blending of senses, such as a visual stimulus evoking a smell), anxiety, depressed or dysphoric mood, ideas of reference, paranoid ideation, impaired judgment, palpitations, sweating, blurred vision, tremors and lack of |

_

| | coordination. Physical signs may include tachycardia, elevated blood pressure, and pupillary dilatation. |
|--------------------|---|
| | Additional Features: |
| | • In rare instances, Hallucinogen Intoxication may increase suicidal behaviour. |
| Nicotine | Presenting features of Nicotine Intoxication may include restlessness, psychomotor agitation, anxiety, cold sweats, headache, insomnia, palpitations, paresthesias, nausea or vomiting, abdominal cramps, confusion, bizarre dreams, burning sensations in the mouth, and salivation. |
| | Additional Features: |
| | Nicotine Intoxication occurs more commonly in people who have recently started smoking or using other forms of nicotine (e.g., electronic cigarettes or 'vaping') and have therefore not developed tolerance. It may also occur in persons who receive nicotine therapeutically and take it in higher than recommended doses. In rare instances, paranoid ideation, perceptual disturbances, convulsions, or coma may occur. |
| Volatile inhalants | Presenting features of Volatile Inhalant Intoxication may include euphoria, impaired judgment, aggression, somnolence, stupor or coma, dizziness, tremor, lack of coordination, slurred speech, unsteady gait, lethargy and apathy, psychomotor retardation, and visual disturbance. Muscle weakness and diplopia may occur. |
| | Additional Features: |
| | • Intentional or unintentional exposure to a variety of volatile inhalant substances (e.g., glue, petrol, butane, paint) can cause the symptoms of Volatile Inhalant Intoxication. |
| | • Intentional Volatile Inhalant Intoxication typically involves 'sniffing' or 'huffing' the substances from closed containers, a practice which may lead to hypoxia and hypoxic brain damage and other long-lasting neurological sequelae. |
| | • Use of volatile inhalants may cause cardiac arrythmias, cardiac arrest, and death. |
| | • Inhalants containing lead (e.g., some forms of petrol/gasoline) may cause confusion, irritability, coma and seizures. |
| | • Use of volatile inhalants is more common among adolescents and young adults due to greater ease of access as compared to other psychoactive substances. |

| Presenting features of MDMA or Related Drug Intoxication may include increased or inappropriate sexual interest and activity, anxiety, restlessness, agitation, and sweating. |
|--|
| Additional Features: |
| • In rare instances, usually in severe intoxication, use of MDMA or related drugs, including MDA can result in dystonia and seizures. Sudden death is a rare but recognized complication. |
| Presenting features of Dissociative Drug Intoxication may include aggression, impulsiveness, unpredictable behaviour, anxiety, psychomotor agitation, impaired judgment, numbness or diminished responsiveness to pain, slurred speech, and dystonia. Physical signs include nystagmus (repetitive, uncontrolled eye movements), tachycardia, elevated blood pressure, numbness, ataxia, dysarthria, and muscle rigidity. Additional Features: |
| In rare instances, use of dissociative drugs including Ketamine and PCP can result in seizures. Laboratory tests to quantify PCP levels are only weakly correlated with disturbances in consciousness, cognition, perception, affect, behaviour, or coordination. |
| |

Substance Withdrawal

Available Categories by Substance Class:

- 6C40.4 Alcohol Withdrawal
- 6C41.4 Cannabis Withdrawal
- 6C42.4 Synthetic Cannabinoid Withdrawal
- 6C43.4 Opioid Withdrawal
- 6C44.4 Sedative, Hypnotic or Anxiolytic Withdrawal
- 6C45.4 Cocaine Withdrawal
- 6C46.4 Stimulant Withdrawal including Amphetamines, Methamphetamine or Methcathinone
- 6C47.4 Synthetic Cathinone Withdrawal
- 6C48.3 Caffeine Withdrawal
- 6C4A.4 Nicotine Withdrawal
- 6C4B.4 Volatile Inhalant Withdrawal
- 6C4C.4 MDMA or Related Drug Withdrawal, including MDA
- 6C4E.4 Other Specified Psychoactive Substance Withdrawal
- 6C4F.4 Multiple specified psychoactive substances Withdrawal
- 6C4G.4 Withdrawal Due to Unknown or Unspecified Psychoactive Substance

- The presence of a clinically significant cluster of symptoms, behaviours, and/or physiological features that occurs upon cessation or reduction in the use of a substance in individuals who have developed dependence on that substance or have used the substance for a prolonged period or in large amounts. *Note:* Substance Withdrawal can occur when prescribed psychoactive medications (e.g., opioids, anxiolytics, stimulants) have been used in standard therapeutic doses.
- The specific features of Substance Withdrawal depend on the pharmacological properties of the specified substance (see Table 6.17) and are consistent with those recognized as occurring upon cessation or reduction of the particular substance or other members of the same pharmacological group of substances. The symptoms also vary in degree of severity and duration depending on the substance and the amount and pattern of prior use.
- The symptoms are not better accounted for by another medical condition or another mental disorder.

Note: Substance Withdrawal is only applicable for some substances or substance classes (see list above and Table 6.13). Table 6.17 lists the most common symptoms, behaviours and/or physiological features for each substance class.

Specifiers for clinical presentation of Substance Withdrawal:

Because of clinically important variation in their withdrawal syndromes, the following specifiers can be applied to Alcohol Withdrawal (6C40.4) and Sedatives, Hypnotics or Anxiolytics Withdrawal (6C44.4), as well as the Withdrawal syndrome for Other Specified (6C4E.4), Multiple (6C4F.4), and Unspecified (6C4G.4) Psychoactive Substance Categories. The *x* below corresponds to the fourth-digit code indicating the substance class (e.g., 0 for alcohol).

6C4x.40 Substance Withdrawal, uncomplicated

All diagnostic requirements for Substance Withdrawal are met and the withdrawal state is not accompanied by perceptual disturbances or seizures.

6C4x.41 Substance Withdrawal, with perceptual disturbances

All diagnostic requirements for Substance Withdrawal are met and the withdrawal state is accompanied by perceptual disturbances (e.g., visual or tactile hallucinations or illusions) with intact reality testing. There is no evidence of confusion and other diagnostic requirements for Delirium are not met. The withdrawal state is not accompanied by seizures.

6C4x.42 Substance Withdrawal, with seizures

All diagnostic requirements for Substance Withdrawal are met and the withdrawal state is accompanied by seizures (i.e., generalized tonic-clonic seizures) but not by perceptual disturbances.

6C4x.43 Substance Withdrawal, with perceptual disturbances and seizures

All diagnostic requirements for Substance Withdrawal are met and the withdrawal state is accompanied by both seizures (i.e., generalized tonic-clonic seizures) and perceptual disturbances (e.g., visual or tactile hallucinations or illusions) with intact reality testing. Diagnostic requirements for Delirium are not met.

6C4x.4Z Substance Withdrawal, unspecified

Additional Clinical Features for Substance Withdrawal:

- For some substances, characteristic features of Substance Withdrawal are opposite to the acute pharmacological effects of that substance (see Tables 6.16 and 6.17).
- Substance Withdrawal symptoms become more severe with repeated episodes of withdrawal (termed 'kindling'), with aging, or in the presence of comorbid medical conditions.
- A diagnosis of Substance Withdrawal due to Unknown or Unspecified Psychoactive Substance can be assigned if the substance consumed is initially unknown. As more information becomes available (e.g., laboratory results, report from a collateral informant) the diagnosis should be changed to indicate the substance responsible for the withdrawal symptoms.

Boundary with Normality (Threshold):

- Substance Withdrawal should only be diagnosed when symptoms are consistent with those recognized as occurring upon cessation or reduction in use of the particular substance or pharmacologically-related group of substances (see Table 6.17). Recent cessation or reduction of use and the presence of various non-specific transient symptoms is not sufficient to make the diagnosis of Substance Withdrawal.
- Withdrawal symptoms should be differentiated from the transient physiological aftereffects of intoxication ('hangover effect'). For example, if low mood and reduction in energy are reported following use of alcohol; sedatives, hypnotics or anxiolytics; stimulants; or MDMA or related drugs and other characteristic features of Substance Withdrawal are not present, a diagnosis of Substance Withdrawal should not be assigned. Presence of a set of associated symptoms specific for different classes of psychoactive substances (see Table 6.17), as well as the frequency, amount, and duration of its use and presence of Substance Dependence should be considered in distinguishing Substance Withdrawal from a 'hangover effect'.
- Some individuals who have previously had Substance Dependence may experience symptoms similar to those of Substance Withdrawal months after the last use of the substance, particularly when the individual encounters stimuli (e.g., drug paraphernalia) and contexts (e.g., location where use was frequent) previously associated with past substance use. These symptoms are more transient than those observed during Substance Withdrawal and occur exclusively when in contact with associated stimuli and contexts. A diagnosis of Substance Withdrawal should not be assigned under these circumstances.

Course Features:

• Substance Withdrawal is time-limited. Factors that influence the features and time course of Substance Withdrawal include: (1) the severity of Substance Dependence, if

present, (2) the dose, frequency of use, and duration of use of the substance prior to cessation or reduction of that use, (3) the half-life and duration of action of the substance, and (4) the presence of comorbid medical conditions (e.g., metabolic disturbances).

Culture-Related Features:

• Symptoms of withdrawal depend largely on the psychotropic characteristics of the substance. However, specific cultures may emphasize certain symptoms of withdrawal over others, making it more difficult to conduct a differential diagnosis. In addition, vernacular terms for withdrawal vary greatly.

Boundaries with Other Disorders and Conditions (Differential Diagnosis):

- **Boundary with Substance Dependence:** Depending on the substance, many individuals with Substance Dependence develop Substance Withdrawal upon cessation or reduction in the amount of the substance. In such cases, both Substance Dependence and Substance Withdrawal should be diagnosed. However, Substance Withdrawal can be diagnosed in the absence of a diagnosis of Substance Dependence, for example in response to cessation of medically appropriate treatment with opioid analgesics that is not accompanied by the other Essential Features of Substance Dependence.
- **Boundary with Substance Intoxication:** The onset of Substance Intoxication occurs immediately or shortly after the consumption of a substance. In contrast, Substance Withdrawal occurs upon cessation or reduction in the amount of a substance in the context of Substance Dependence or when a substance has been taken for a prolonged period or in large amounts. For a particular substance, the intoxication and withdrawal syndromes are typically distinct. See Table 6.16 for a description of the substance-specific features of Substance Intoxication and Table 6.17 for a description of the substance-specific features of Substance Withdrawal.
- **Boundary with Substance-Induced Delirium:** Delirium is characterized by disturbances in attention, orientation, and awareness that develop within a short period of time with symptoms that are transient and may fluctuate depending on the underlying etiology. Delirium often includes disturbance of behaviour and emotion, and may include impairment in multiple cognitive domains. Disturbance of the sleep-wake cycle may also be present. Delirium may occur as an aspect of Substance Withdrawal, particularly during later stages of withdrawal. In such cases, diagnoses of both Substance Withdrawal and Substance-Induced Delirium should be assigned. *Note:* Substance-Induced Delirium is only applicable for some substances or substance classes (see Table 6.14).
- **Boundary with other Substance-Induced Mental Disorders:** Mental or behavioural symptoms that arise during Substance Withdrawal should only be used as a basis for diagnosing a Substance-Induced Mental Disorder if the intensity or duration of the symptoms is substantially in excess of those that are characteristic of the Substance Withdrawal due to the specified substance (see Table 6.17) and the symptoms are sufficiently severe to warrant specific clinical attention. In such cases, if the withdrawal syndrome is ongoing, diagnoses of both Substance Withdrawal and a Substance-Induced Mental Disorder may be assigned.
- **Boundary with other mental disorders:** Various symptoms associated with Substance Withdrawal overlap with those that are characteristic of other mental disorders (e.g., depressive and anxiety symptoms). Symptoms of Substance Withdrawal occur in

specific temporal relationship to the cessation of use of a specific substance and diminish with the passage of time. Evidence supporting a mental disorder diagnosis would include the symptoms preceding the onset of the substance use, the symptoms persisting for a substantial period of time after cessation of the substance or medication use or withdrawal (e.g., 1 month or more, depending on the substance), or other evidence of a pre-existing mental disorder (e.g., a history of prior episodes not associated with substance use).

- **Boundary with other medical conditions:** It may be difficult to distinguish between various symptoms associated with Substance Withdrawal (e.g., nausea, retching or vomiting, seizures, abdominal cramps, diarrhea, perspiration, postural hypotension, decreased or increased heart rate, cough, sleep disruption) and those that are characteristic of other medical conditions. Symptoms of Substance Withdrawal occur in specific temporal relationship to the cessation of use of a specific substance and diminish with the passage of time.
- Boundary with Foetus or Newborn Affected by Maternal Use of Tobacco, Alcohol, or Other Drugs of Addiction: The ICD-11 chapter on Certain Conditions Arising During the Perinatal Period contains categories for 'Foetus or newborn affected by maternal use of tobacco, alcohol, and other drugs.' A neonate exhibiting signs of Substance Withdrawal related to a specific substance may also be assigned the appropriate Substance Withdrawal diagnosis in order to guide treatment together with appropriate diagnosis from the chapter on Certain Conditions Originating in the Perinatal Period.

Table 6.17: Common Substance-specific features of Substance Withdrawal

Substance withdrawal is a cluster of symptoms, behaviours and physiological features, varying in degree of severity and duration, that occur upon cessation or reduction of use of a psychoactive substance in individuals who have developed dependence on that substance or have taken the substance for a prolonged period or in large amounts. The diagnosis of Substance Withdrawal is applicable only to certain substances and substance groups (see Table 6.13). Specific presenting features that may occur as a part of Substance Withdrawal for each applicable class of psychoactive substances in the grouping of Disorders Due to Substance Use are listed below.

| Substance | Substance-specific features of withdrawal |
|-----------|---|
| Alcohol | Presenting features of Alcohol Withdrawal may include autonomic hyperactivity (e.g., tachycardia, hypertension, perspiration), increased hand tremor, nausea, retching or vomiting, insomnia, anxiety, psychomotor agitation, depressed or dysphoric mood, transient visual, tactile or auditory illusions or hallucinations, and distractibility. Less commonly, Alcohol Withdrawal is complicated by seizures. |
| | Additional Features: |
| | Onset of Alcohol Withdrawal typically occurs within 6 to 12 hours after last use, as blood alcohol concentrations decline. Symptoms vary in type, severity, onset and duration according to the duration and intensity of alcohol use prior to cessation or reduction of use. Features of mild or moderate withdrawal typically last for 3 to 7 days after cessation of alcohol use and include autonomic hyperactivity, increased hand tremor, anxiety, insomnia, nausea, vomiting, and headache. Features of moderate withdrawal may also include transient visual, tactile or auditory illusions or hallucinations, distractibility and psychomotor agitation. In 1-3% of cases, Alcohol Withdrawal is complicated by seizures of a tonic-clonic type. When seizures occur, they are usually single seizures with onset within 6 to 48 hours after last use. Evidence of a premorbid seizure disorder, other intracranial pathology, or cooccurring use of other substances does not preclude a presumptive Alcohol Withdrawal diagnosis. Approximately 2% of cases of Alcohol Withdrawal progress to a very severe syndrome sometimes referred to as <i>delirium tremens</i> (DTs) characterized by confusion and disorientation, delusions, and prolonged visual, tactile or auditory hallucinations. When delirium is present, a separate diagnosis of Alcohol-Induced Delirium should also be assigned. Presence of seizures during withdrawal represents a risk factor for development of Delirium. If unrecognized or untreated, Delirium during Alcohol Withdrawal is associated with substantially increased mortality as compared to Alcohol Withdrawal without co-occurring Delirium. Some symptoms associated with Alcohol Withdrawal such as autonomic hyperactivity, anxiety, and insomnia can recur or persist for several months after absting. |
| | |

| Substance | Substance-specific features of withdrawal |
|------------------------|---|
| | state). The presence of such persisting symptoms is not sufficient to meet diagnostic requirements for Alcohol Withdrawal. |
| Cannabis | Presenting features of Cannabis Withdrawal may include irritability, anger or aggressive behaviour, shakiness, insomnia, restlessness, anxiety, depressed or dysphoric mood, decreased appetite and weight loss, headache, sweating or chills, abdominal cramps and muscle aches. |
| | Additional Features: |
| | • The occurrence, severity and duration of Cannabis Withdrawal vary according to the type and potency of the cannabis preparation, as well as the amount, frequency and duration of use before cessation or reduction of use. |
| | Onset of Cannabis Withdrawal typically occurs at some point between 12 hours and 3 days after cessation or reduction of use. Symptom severity typically peaks at 4 to 7 days and may last for 1 to 3 weeks after cessation of use. However, Cannabis Withdrawal may also be briefer, in some cases lasting only a few days. When Cannabis Withdrawal occurs in the context of a co-occurring mental disorder, the features of the other disorder (e.g., fluctuation of mood) may be exacerbated. |
| Synthetic cannabinoids | Presenting features of Synthetic Cannabinoid Withdrawal may include irritability, anger, aggression, shakiness, insomnia and disturbing dreams, restlessness, anxiety, depressed or dysphoric mood and appetite disturbance. In the early phase, Synthetic Cannabinoid Withdrawal may be accompanied by residual features of intoxication from the drug, such as paranoid ideation and auditory and visual hallucinations. |
| | Additional Features: |
| | The occurrence, severity and duration of Synthetic Cannabinoid Withdrawal vary according to the type and potency of the synthetic cannabinoid used, as well as the amount, frequency and duration of use before cessation or reduction of use. Synthetic Cannabinoid Withdrawal typically lasts for 1 to 3 weeks after cessation of use. |
| Opioids | Presenting features of Opioid Withdrawal may include depressed or dysphoric mood, craving for an opioid, anxiety, nausea or vomiting, abdominal cramps, muscle aches, yawning, perspiration, hot and cold flushes, hypersomnia (typically in the initial phase) or insomnia, diarrhoea, piloerection, and pupillary dilation. |
| | Additional Features: |
| | • The severity and time course of Opioid Withdrawal is influenced by many factors that include the type of opioid taken, its half-life and duration of action, the amount, frequency and duration of opioid |

| Substance | Substance-specific features of withdrawal |
|--|---|
| | use before cessation or reduction of use, prior experience of opioid withdrawal, and expectations of the severity of the syndrome. Opioid Withdrawal from short-acting opioids such as injected heroin or morphine typically begins within 4 to 12 hours of cessation of use and lasts for 4 to 10 days. Opioid Withdrawal from longer-acting opioids such as codeine and oxycodone and similar pharmaceutical agents may not be evident for 2 to 4 days and may last for 1 to 2 weeks. The withdrawal state from long-acting drugs such as methadone may persist for up to 2 months after cessation of use. Opioid Withdrawal occurs in phases. The early phase typically includes lacrimation, rhinorrhoea and yawning. This is followed by hot and cold flashes, muscle aching and abdominal cramps, nausea and vomiting and diarrhoea; piloerection and pupillary dilatation may also occur. The later phase is dominated by craving for opioids. Recurrence or worsening of pain may occur if the opioid was used to manage chronic pain. Serious medical complications of Opioid Withdrawal are rare. Fluid depletion may occasionally lead to renal impairment. Death during Opioid Withdrawal is very uncommon. |
| Sedatives, hypnotics or anxiolytics | Presenting features of Sedative, Hypnotic or Anxiolytic Withdrawal may include anxiety, psychomotor agitation, insomnia, increased hand tremor, nausea or vomiting, and transient visual, tactile or auditory illusions or hallucinations. There may be signs of autonomic hyperactivity (e.g., tachycardia, hypertension, perspiration), or postural hypotension. The withdrawal state may be complicated by seizures. <i>Additional Features:</i> |
| | The severity and time course of Sedative, Hypnotic or Anxiolytic Withdrawal is related to the particular substance taken, its half-life and duration of action, and the amount, frequency and duration of use before cessation or reduction of use. The withdrawal state associated with short-acting drugs typically has its onset within 12 to 24 hours after cessation of use and has a course of up to 14 days. Withdrawal onset may be delayed by 3 to 5 days with longer-acting drugs and may persist for several weeks. Sedative, Hypnotic or Anxiolytic Withdrawal may be complicated by seizures, which are of a tonic-clonic type and may be single or multiple. Sedative, Hypnotic or Anxiolytic Withdrawal, especially when untreated, may progress to a very severe form of Delirium, characterized by confusion and disorientation, delusions, and more prolonged visual, tactile or auditory hallucinations. In such cases, a separate diagnosis of Sedative, Hypnotic or Anxiolytic or Anxiolytic-induced Delirium should also be assigned. Medical sequelae of complicated withdrawal include status epilepticus, respiratory compromise, and renal failure. |

| Substance | Substance-specific features of withdrawal |
|---|---|
| | • Some features of Sedative, Hypnotic or Anxiolytic Withdrawal such as anxiety, transient illusions or hallucinations, and derealisation may persist for several months after cessation of use. |
| Cocaine | Presenting features of Cocaine Withdrawal may include depressed or dysphoric mood, irritability, fatigue, psychomotor agitation or retardation, vivid unpleasant dreams, insomnia or hypersomnia, increased appetite, anxiety, and craving for cocaine. |
| | Additional Features: |
| | • Initial symptoms of Cocaine Withdrawal include a dysphoric and low energy state manifested as depressed or dysphoric mood, irritability, fatigue, inertia and hypersomnia. This typically occurs within 6 to 24 hours of cessation of cocaine use. |
| | • The withdrawal state may last up to 7 days. Craving for cocaine is prominent in the later stages. |
| | Suicidal ideation may occur, especially when dysphoric mood is marked. |
| | • At the onset of Cocaine Withdrawal there may be features that persist from the intoxicating effects of cocaine such as hyperactivity, paranoid ideation and auditory hallucinations. |
| Stimulants including amphetamines, methamphetamine and methcathinone | Presenting features of Stimulant Withdrawal may include depressed or dysphoric mood, irritability, fatigue, insomnia or (more commonly) hypersomnia, vivid and unpleasant dreams, increased appetite, psychomotor agitation or retardation, and craving for amphetamine and related stimulants. |
| | Additional Features: |
| | • Stimulant Withdrawal typically occurs within 24 hours to 4 days of cessation of stimulant use and is characterized by a dysphoric and low energy state manifested by depressed or dysphoric mood, irritability, fatigue, inertia and hypersomnia. |
| | • The severity and duration of the withdrawal state is widely variable based on the type of stimulant taken and the amount, frequency and duration of such use prior to its cessation. |
| | • In the first phase of Stimulant Withdrawal, which typically lasts for 7 to 14 days, low mood, lethargy and hypersomnia predominate. After this phase, irritability and craving for stimulants are prominent and may persist for 6 to 8 weeks. |
| | • At the onset of Stimulant Withdrawal there may be features that persist from the intoxicating effects of the stimulant such as hyperactivity, paranoid ideation and auditory hallucinations. |
| Synthetic cathinones | Presenting features of Synthetic Cathinone Withdrawal may include depressed or dysphoric mood, irritability, fatigue, insomnia or (more commonly) hypersomnia, vivid and unpleasant dreams, increased appetite, psychomotor agitation or retardation, and craving for stimulants, including synthetic cathinones. |

| Substance | Substance-specific features of withdrawal |
|---|---|
| Caffeine | Presenting features of Caffeine Withdrawal may include headache, marked fatigue or drowsiness, irritability, depressed or dysphoric mood, nausea or vomiting, and difficulty concentrating. |
| | Additional Features: |
| | The severity and duration of Caffeine Withdrawal is related to the amount, frequency and duration of caffeine use prior to cessation of use. Onset of Caffeine Withdrawal is typically 12 to 48 hours after the last use and may last up to 7 days. |
| | last use and may last up to 7 days. |
| Nicotine | Presenting features of Nicotine Withdrawal may include depressed or dysphoric mood, insomnia, irritability, anger, anxiety, difficulty concentrating, restlessness, bradycardia, increased appetite, and craving for tobacco or other nicotine-containing products. Other physical symptoms may include increased cough and mouth ulceration. |
| | Additional Features: |
| | • The severity and duration of Nicotine Withdrawal is variable, related to the amount, frequency and duration of tobacco smoked (or otherwise consumed) or of nicotine products taken prior to cessation of use. |
| | • Onset of Nicotine Withdrawal is typically 6 to 24 hours after cessation or reduction of use. Psychological and physiological features typically last up to 10 days. Physical features such as increased cough and mouth ulceration may persist for 2 to 3 weeks. |
| | • Craving for tobacco (or other nicotine-containing products) is prominent throughout the duration of Nicotine Withdrawal. |
| Volatile inhalants | Presenting features of Volatile Inhalant Withdrawal may include insomnia, anxiety, irritability, depressed or dysphoric mood, shakiness, perspiration, nausea, and transient illusions. |
| | Additional Features: |
| | • The severity and duration of Volatile Inhalant Withdrawal is related to the type of inhalant used and to the amount, frequency and duration of use of the specific inhalant. |
| | • Volatile Inhalant Withdrawal may be accompanied by persisting features of Volatile Inhalant Intoxication or its medical complications such as encephalopathy, especially when the inhalant used is lead-containing petrol/gasoline. |
| MDMA or related drugs, including MDA | Presenting features of MDMA or Related Drug Withdrawal may include fatigue, lethargy, hypersomnia or insomnia, depressed mood, anxiety, irritability, craving, difficulty in concentrating, and appetite disturbance. |

| Substance | Substance-specific features of withdrawal |
|-----------|--|
| Substance | Additional Features: The above information primarily concerns withdrawal from MDMA. There is insufficient information on the features and course of the withdrawal state from drugs related to MDMA, including MDA, to fully characterize the associated withdrawal states. MDMA Withdrawal is uncommon, reflecting the comparative rarity of MDMA Dependence. Onset of MDMA Withdrawal typically occurs within 12-24 hours |
| | after last use, as blood concentrations decline. The features vary in type, severity, onset and duration according to the amount, frequency and duration of MDMA use prior to cessation of use. The duration of MDMA Withdrawal may be up to 10 days. Craving for MDMA may be prominent during the later stages. |

Substance-Induced Mental Disorders

Substance-Induced Mental Disorders are characterized by psychological, cognitive, or behavioural symptoms that develop during or soon after psychoactive substance intoxication or withdrawal or use or discontinuation of a psychoactive medication. The duration or severity of the symptoms is substantially in excess of the characteristic syndrome of Substance Intoxication or Substance Withdrawal due to the specified substance.

Substance-Induced Mental Disorders include:

- Substance-Induced Delirium
- Substance-Induced Psychotic Disorder
 - with hallucinations
 - with delusions
 - with mixed psychotic symptoms
- Substance-Induced Mood Disorder
 - with depressive symptoms
 - with manic symptoms
 - with mixed depressive and manic symptoms
- Substance-Induced Anxiety Disorder
- Substance-Induced Obsessive-Compulsive or Related Disorder
- Substance-Induced Impulse Control Disorder

Specific types of Substance-Induced Mental Disorders are only applicable for some substance classes, which are listed along with corresponding codes in the sections on specific Substance-Induced Mental Disorders below as well as in Table 6.14. Specific Substance-Induced Mental Disorders may characteristically have their onset during or soon after Substance Intoxication and/or Substance Withdrawal for specific substances or substance classes.

When making a diagnosis of Substance-Induced Mental Disorder, an additional diagnosis indicating the related pattern of substance use should also be assigned. These include Episode of Harmful Psychoactive Substance Use, Harmful Pattern of Psychoactive Substance Use, and Substance Dependence. A diagnosis of Substance Intoxication or Substance Withdrawal may also be assigned if applicable.

Additional categories of substance-induced disorders are included in other groupings of the ICD-11 chapter on Mental, Behavioural, and Neurodevelopmental Disorders and CDDR are provided in the corresponding sections. These categories are cross-listed in this section for reference. These categories include:

- 6A41 Catatonia Induced by Substances or Medications (p. 216)
- 6D70.1 Delirium Due to Psychoactive Substances Including Medications (p. 546)
- 6D72.1 Amnestic Disorder Due to Psychoactive Substances Including Medications (p. 555)
- 6D84 Dementia Due to Psychoactive Substances Including Medications (p. 564)

Essential Features for each Substance-Induced Mental Disorder category are provided below, as are any specifiers corresponding to specific disorders. Other CDDR elements—i.e., Additional Clinical Features, Boundary with Normality (Threshold) and Boundaries with Other Disorders and Conditions (Differential Diagnosis)—apply to all Substance-Induced Mental Disorder categories and are provided at the end of this section.

Substance-Induced Delirium

Available Categories by Substance Class:

Substance classes that may cause Substance-Induced Delirium include the following:

- 6C40.5 Alcohol-Induced Delirium
- 6C41.5 Cannabis-Induced Delirium
- 6C42.5 Synthetic Cannabinoid-Induced Delirium
- 6C43.5 Opioid-Induced Delirium
- 6C44.5 Sedative, Hypnotic or Anxiolytic-Induced Delirium
- 6C45.5 Cocaine-Induced Delirium
- 6C46.5 Stimulant-Induced Delirium including Amphetamines, Methamphetamine or Methcathinone
- 6C47.5 Synthetic Cathinone-Induced Delirium
- 6C49.4 Hallucinogen-Induced Delirium
- 6C4B.5 Volatile Inhalant-Induced Delirium
- 6C4C.5 MDMA or Related Drug-Induced Delirium, including MDA
- 6C4D.4 Dissociative Drug-Induced Delirium including Ketamine or PCP
- 6C4E.5 Delirium Induced by Other Specified Psychoactive Substance including Medications
- 6C4F.5 Delirium Induced by Multiple Specified Psychoactive Substances including Medications

• 6C4G.5 Delirium Induced by Unknown or Unspecified Psychoactive Substance

CDDR for Substance-Induced Delirium are provided as part of the grouping of Neurocognitive Disorders (Delirium Due to Psychoactive Substances including Medications, p. 547).

Substance-Induced Psychotic Disorders

Available Categories by Substance Class:

Substance classes that may cause Substance-Induced Psychotic Disorders include the following:

- 6C40.6 Alcohol-Induced Psychotic Disorder
- 6C41.6Cannabis-Induced Psychotic Disorder
- 6C42.6 Synthetic Cannabinoid-Induced Psychotic Disorder
- 6C43.6 Opioid-Induced Psychotic Disorder
- 6C44.6 Sedative, Hypnotic or Anxiolytic-Induced Psychotic Disorder
- 6C45.6 Cocaine-Induced Psychotic Disorder
- 6C46.6 Stimulant-Induced Psychotic Disorder Including Amphetamines, Methamphetamine or Methcathinone
- 6C47.6 Synthetic Cathinone-Induced Psychotic Disorder
- 6C49.5 Hallucinogen-Induced Psychotic Disorder
- 6C4B.6 Volatile Inhalant-Induced Psychotic Disorder
- 6C4C.6 MDMA or Related Drug-Induced Psychotic Disorder, Including MDA
- 6C4D.5 Dissociative Drug-Induced Psychotic Disorder Including Ketamine or PCP
- 6C4E.6 Psychotic Disorder Induced by Other Specified Psychoactive Substance
- 6C4F.6 Psychotic Disorder Induced by Multiple Specified Psychoactive Substances
- 6C4G.6 Psychotic Disorder Induced by Unknown or Unspecified Psychoactive Substance

Essential (Required) Features:

- The presentation is characterized by psychotic symptoms (e.g., delusions, hallucinations, or disorganized thinking or behaviour) that develop during or soon after intoxication with or withdrawal from a specified substance or use or discontinuation of a psychoactive medication.
- The intensity or duration of the psychotic symptoms is substantially in excess of psychotic-like disturbances of perception, cognition, or behaviour that are characteristic of intoxication or withdrawal due to the specified substance.
- The specified substance, as well as the amount and duration of its use, is known to be capable of producing psychotic symptoms. (See list above and Table 6.14.)
- The symptoms are not better accounted for by another mental disorder such as Schizophrenia or a Mood Disorder with psychotic symptoms. Evidence supporting a diagnosis of another mental disorder would include psychotic symptoms preceding the onset of the substance use, the symptoms persisting for a substantial period of time after

cessation of the substance or medication use or withdrawal (e.g., 1 month or more depending on the specific substance), or other evidence of a pre-existing mental disorder with psychotic symptoms (e.g., a history of prior episodes not associated with substance use).

- The symptoms are not a manifestation of another medical condition.
- The symptoms cause significant distress or significant impairment in personal, family, social, educational, occupational or other important areas of functioning.

Specifiers for substance-induced psychotic symptoms:

An additional specifier can be added to denote the presence of hallucinations, delusions, or mixed psychotic symptoms for Alcohol-Induced Psychotic Disorder (6C40.6), Cocaine-Induced Psychotic Disorder (6C45.6), Stimulant-Induced Psychotic Disorder including Amphetamines, Methamphetamine or Methcathinone (6C46.6), and Synthetic Cathinone-Induced Psychotic Disorder (6C47.6). The *x* below represents the fourth character in the code, which indicates the substance class (e.g., 0 for alcohol). (See list above and Table 6.14.)

6C4x.60 Substance-Induced Psychotic Disorder with hallucinations

- All diagnostic requirements for Substance-Induced Psychotic Disorder are met.
- The presentation is characterized by hallucinations that are judged to be the direct consequence of the use of or withdrawal from a specified substance or medication.
- Neither delusions nor other psychotic symptoms are present.
- The symptoms do not occur exclusively during hypnogogic or hypnopompic states.

6C4x.61 Substance-Induced Psychotic Disorder with delusions

- All diagnostic requirements for Substance-Induced Psychotic Disorder are met.
- The presentation is characterized by delusions that are judged to be the direct consequence of use of or withdrawal from a specified substance or medication.
- Neither hallucinations nor other psychotic symptoms are present.

6C4x.62 Substance-Induced Psychotic Disorder with mixed psychotic symptoms

- All diagnostic requirements for Substance-Induced Psychotic Disorder are met.
- The presentation is characterized by multiple psychotic symptoms, primarily hallucinations and delusions, when these are judged to be the direct consequence of the use of or withdrawal from a specified substance or medication.

6C4x.6Z Substance-Induced Psychotic Disorder, unspecified

Substance-Induced Mood Disorders

Available Categories by Substance Class:

Substance classes that may cause Substance-Induced Mood Disorders include the following:

- 6C40.70 Alcohol-Induced Mood Disorder
- 6C41.70 Cannabis-Induced Mood Disorder
- 6C42.70 Synthetic Cannabinoid-Induced Mood Disorder
- 6C43.70 Opioid-Induced Mood Disorder
- 6C44.70 Sedative, Hypnotic or Anxiolytic-Induced Mood Disorder
- 6C45.70 Cocaine-Induced Mood Disorder
- 6C46.70 Stimulant-Induced Mood Disorder including Amphetamines, Methamphetamine or Methcathinone
- 6C47.70 Synthetic Cathinone-Induced Mood Disorder
- 6C49.60 Hallucinogen-Induced Mood Disorder
- 6C4B.70 Volatile Inhalant-Induced Mood Disorder
- 6C4C.70 MDMA or Related Drug-Induced Mood Disorder, including MDA
- 6C4D.60 Dissociative Drug-Induced Mood Disorder including Ketamine or PCP
- 6C4E.70 Mood Disorder Induced by Other Specified Psychoactive Substance
- 6C4F.70 Mood Disorder Induced by Multiple Specified Psychoactive Substances
- 6C4G.70 Mood Disorder Induced by Unknown or Unspecified Psychoactive Substance

Essential (Required) Features:

- The presentation is characterized by mood symptoms (e.g., depressed or elevated mood, decreased engagement in pleasurable activities, increased or decreased energy levels) that develop during or soon after intoxication with or withdrawal from a specified substance or use or discontinuation of a psychoactive medication.
- The intensity or duration of the mood symptoms is substantially in excess of mood symptoms that are characteristic of intoxication or withdrawal due to the specified substance.
- The specified substance, as well as the amount and duration of its use, is known to be capable of producing mood symptoms. (See list above and Table 6.14.)
- The symptoms are not better accounted for by another mental disorder such as a Depressive Disorder, a Bipolar Disorder, or Schizophrenia or Other Primary Psychotic Disorder. Evidence supporting a diagnosis of another mental disorder would include mood symptoms preceding the onset of the substance use, the symptoms persisting for a substantial period of time after cessation of the substance or medication use or withdrawal (e.g., 1 month or more depending on the specific substance), or other evidence of a pre-existing mental disorder with mood symptoms (e.g., a history of prior episodes not associated with substance use).
- The symptoms are not a manifestation of another medical condition.

• The symptoms cause significant distress or significant impairment in personal, family, social, educational, occupational or other important areas of functioning.

Specifiers for substance-induced mood symptoms:

An additional specifier can be added to denote the presence of either depressive symptoms in the absence of manic symptoms, manic symptoms in the absence of depressive symptoms, or mixed manic and depressive symptoms. The *x* below represents the fourth character in the code, which indicates the substance class (e.g., 0 for alcohol, 1 for cannabis, etc.). The two *y*s represent the characters that corresponds to Substance-Induced Mood Disorder for that class of substances. (See list above and Table 6.14.)

6C4x.yy0 Substance-Induced Mood Disorder with depressive symptoms

- All diagnostic requirements for Substance-Induced Mood Disorder are met.
- The presentation is characterized by depressive symptoms judged to be the direct consequence of the use of or withdrawal from a specified substance or medication.
- Manic symptoms are not present.

6C4x.yy1 Substance-Induced Mood Disorder with manic symptoms

- All diagnostic requirements for Substance-Induced Mood Disorder are met.
- The presentation is characterized by manic symptoms judged to be the direct consequence of the use of or withdrawal from a specified substance or medication.
- Depressive symptoms are not present.

6C4*x.yy*2 Substance-Induced Mood Disorder with mixed depressive and manic symptoms

- All diagnostic requirements for Substance-Induced Mood Disorder are met.
- The presentation is characterized by both depressive and manic symptoms judged to be the direct consequence of the use of or withdrawal from a specified substance or medication.

6C4x.yyZ Substance-Induced Mood Disorder, unspecified

Substance-Induced Anxiety Disorders

Available Categories by Substance Class:

Substance classes that may cause Substance-Induced Anxiety Disorders include the following:

- 6C40.71 Alcohol-Induced Anxiety Disorder
- 6C41.71 Cannabis-Induced Anxiety Disorder
- 6C42.71 Synthetic Cannabinoid-Induced Anxiety Disorder

- 6C43.71 Opioid-Induced Anxiety Disorder
- 6C44.71 Sedative, Hypnotic or Anxiolytic-Induced Anxiety Disorder
- 6C45.71 Cocaine-Induced Anxiety Disorder
- 6C46.71 Stimulant-Induced Anxiety Disorder including Amphetamines, Methamphetamine or Methcathinone
- 6C47.71 Synthetic Cathinone-Induced Anxiety Disorder
- 6C48.40 Caffeine-Induced Anxiety Disorder
- 6C49.61 Hallucinogen-Induced Anxiety Disorder
- 6C4B.71 Volatile Inhalant-Induced Anxiety Disorder
- 6C4C.71 MDMA or Related Drug-Induced Anxiety Disorder, including MDA
- 6C4D.61 Dissociative-Induced Anxiety Disorder including Ketamine Or PCP
- 6C4E.71 Anxiety Disorder Induced by Other Specified Psychoactive Substance
- 6C4F.71 Anxiety Disorder Induced by Multiple Specified Psychoactive Substances
- 6C4G.71 Anxiety Disorder Induced by Unknown or Unspecified Psychoactive Substance

- The presentation is characterized by anxiety symptoms (e.g., apprehension or worry, fear, physiological symptoms of excessive autonomic arousal, panic attacks, avoidance behaviour) that develop during or soon after intoxication with or withdrawal from a specified substance or use or discontinuation of a psychoactive medication.
- The intensity or duration of the anxiety symptoms is substantially in excess of anxiety symptoms that are characteristic of intoxication or withdrawal due to the specified substance.
- The specified substance, as well as the amount and duration of its use, is known to be capable of producing anxiety symptoms. (See list above and Table 6.14.)
- The symptoms are not better accounted for by another mental disorder such as an Anxiety or Fear-Related Disorder, a Depressive Disorder with prominent anxiety symptoms, or Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder. Evidence supporting a diagnosis of another mental disorder would include anxiety symptoms preceding the onset of the substance use, the symptoms persisting for a substantial period of time after cessation of the substance or medication use or withdrawal (e.g., 1 month or more depending on the specific substance), or other evidence of a pre-existing mental disorder with anxiety symptoms (e.g., a history of prior episodes not associated with substance use).
- The symptoms are not a manifestation of another medical condition.
- The symptoms cause significant distress or significant impairment in personal, family, social, educational, occupational or other important areas of functioning.

Substance-Induced Obsessive-Compulsive or Related Disorders

Available Categories by Substance Class:

Substance classes that may cause Substance-Induced Obsessive-Compulsive or Related Disorders include the following:

- 6C45.72 Cocaine-Induced Obsessive-Compulsive or Related Disorder
- 6C46.72 Stimulant-Induced Obsessive-Compulsive or Related Disorder including Amphetamines, Methamphetamine or Methcathinone
- 6C47.72 Synthetic Cathinone-Induced Obsessive-Compulsive or Related Disorder
- 6C4E.72 Obsessive-Compulsive or Related Disorder Induced by Other Specified Psychoactive Substance
- 6C4F.72 Obsessive-Compulsive or Related Disorder Induced by Multiple Specified Psychoactive Substances
- 6C4G.72 Obsessive-Compulsive or Related Disorder Induced by Unknown or Unspecified Psychoactive Substance

- The presentation is characterized by symptoms that share primary clinical features with Obsessive-Compulsive or Related Disorders (e.g., obsessions, intrusive thoughts and preoccupations, compulsions, recurrent and habitual actions directed at the integument).
- The obsessive-compulsive or related symptoms develop during or soon after intoxication with or withdrawal from a specified substance or use or discontinuation of a psychoactive medication.
- The intensity or duration of the repetitive preoccupations and behaviours is substantially in excess of analogous disturbances that are characteristic of intoxication or withdrawal due to the specified substance.
- The specified substance, as well as the amount and duration of its use, is known to be capable of producing obsessive-compulsive or related symptoms. (See list above and Table 6.14.)
- The symptoms and behaviours are not better accounted for by another mental disorder, in particular an Obsessive-Compulsive or Related Disorder. Evidence supporting a diagnosis of another mental disorder would include obsessive-compulsive or related symptoms preceding the onset of the substance use, the symptoms persisting for a substantial period of time after cessation of the substance or medication use or withdrawal (e.g., 1 month or more depending on the specific substance), or other evidence of a pre-existing mental disorder with obsessive-compulsive or related symptoms (e.g., a history of prior episodes not associated with substance use).
- The symptoms and behaviours are not a manifestation of another medical condition.
- The symptoms cause significant distress or significant impairment in personal, family, social, educational, occupational or other important areas of functioning.

Substance-Induced Impulse Control Disorders

Available Categories by Substance Class:

Substance classes that may cause Substance-Induced Impulse Control Disorders include the following:

- 6C45.73 Cocaine-Induced Impulse Control Disorder
- 6C46.73 Stimulant-Induced Impulse Control Disorder including Amphetamines, Methamphetamine or Methcathinone

- 6C47.73 Synthetic Cathinone-Induced Impulse Control Disorder
- 6C4E.73 Impulse Control Disorder Induced by Other Specified Psychoactive Substance
- 6C4F.73 Impulse Control Disorder Induced by Multiple Specified Psychoactive Substances
- 6C4G.73 Impulse Control Disorder Induced by Unknown or Unspecified Psychoactive Substance

- The presentation is characterized by persistently repeated behaviours in which there is recurrent failure to resist an impulse, drive, or urge to perform an act that is rewarding to the person, at least in the short-term, despite longer-term harm either to the individual or to others (e.g., fire setting or stealing without apparent motive, repetitive sexual behaviour, aggressive outbursts), or by behaviours similar to those seen in Disorders Due to Addictive Behaviours (i.e., excessive gambling or gaming).
- The disturbance in impulse control develops during or soon after intoxication with or withdrawal from a specified substance or use or discontinuation of a psychoactive medication.
- The intensity or duration of the disturbance in impulse control is substantially in excess of impulse control disturbances that are characteristic of intoxication or withdrawal due to the specified substance.
- The specified substance, as well as the amount and duration of its use, is known to be capable of producing disturbances in impulse control. (See list above and Table 6.14.)
- The symptoms and behaviours are not better accounted for by another mental disorder such as an Impulse Control Disorder or a Disorder Due to Addictive Behaviours. Evidence supporting a diagnosis of another mental disorder would include an impulse control disturbance preceding the onset of the substance use, the disturbance persisting for a substantial period of time after cessation of the substance or medication use or withdrawal (e.g., 1 month or more depending on the specific substance), or other evidence of a pre-existing mental disorder with impulse control disturbance (e.g., a history of prior episodes not associated with substance use).
- The symptoms and behaviours are not a manifestation of another medical condition.
- The symptoms cause significant distress or significant impairment in personal, family, social, educational, occupational or other important areas of functioning.

Additional Clinical Features for Substance-Induced Mental Disorders:

- Substance-Induced Mental Disorders may present with varying patterns of symptoms, depending on the specific substance used as well as characteristics of the user (e.g., genetics, metabolism, personality factors). Substance use in higher amounts or over longer periods of time is more likely to be associated with the development of a Substance-Induced Mental Disorder.
- Symptoms of Substance-Induced Mental Disorder usually resolve or improve after sustained cessation of substance use. Longer lasting and in some cases permanent changes can occur in Amnestic Disorder Due to Psychoactive Substances, including Medications and Dementia Due to Psychoactive Substances, including Medications. Perceptual disturbances that last for weeks, months, or years (e.g., trails of images of moving objects, geometric illusions) can also occur as a result of hallucinogen use,

primarily LSD, and are referred to as posthallucinogen perception disorder or hallucinogen-induced persisting perception disorder.

- The duration of Substance Withdrawal for some substances can be protracted. For substances with more protracted withdrawal periods, the onset of symptoms of Substance-Induced Mental Disorder can occur up to several weeks after the cessation of substance use. Substance-Induced Mental Disorder symptoms related to substances with more protracted withdrawal periods may also last for correspondingly longer periods of time.
- In cases in which multiple psychoactive substance are used, it is often challenging to distinguish which substance is the cause of the Substance-Induced Mental Disorder. When the specific etiological substance cannot be determined, a diagnosis of Substance-Induced Mental Disorder Due to Multiple Specified Psychoactive Substances including Medications may assigned. In cases of multiple psychoactive substance use in which more than one specific substance can be identified as a cause of the Substance-Induced Mental Disorder, the corresponding specific Substance-Induced Mental Disorder diagnoses should be given instead.

Boundary with Normality (Threshold) for Substance-Induced Mental Disorders:

• Symptoms of Substance-Induced Mental Disorders should be differentiated from known side effects of psychoactive medication that are not significantly impairing or distressing and from transient physiological aftereffects of intoxication ('hangover effect'). The duration or severity of the symptoms in Substance-Induced Mental Disorders must be in excess of side effects (e.g., transient jitteriness as a side effect of methylphenidate) or 'hangover effects' (e.g., transient low mood following alcohol use) of the specified substance and result in significant distress or impairment of functioning.

Boundaries with Other Disorders and Conditions (Differential Diagnosis) for Substance-Induced Mental Disorders:

- **Boundary with Substance Intoxication and Substance Withdrawal:** Mental or behavioural symptoms that occur during Substance Intoxication or Substance Withdrawal should only be used as a basis for diagnosing a Substance-Induced Mental Disorder if the intensity or duration of the symptoms is substantially in excess of those that are characteristic of Substance Intoxication or Substance Withdrawal due to the specified substance (see Table 6.17) and the symptoms are sufficiently severe to warrant specific clinical attention.
- Boundary with Episode of Harmful Psychoactive Substance Use, Harmful Pattern of Psychoactive Substance Use, or Substance Dependence: The impact of repeated or continuous use of substances characteristic of Harmful Pattern of Substance Use and Substance Dependence may include Substance-Induced Mental Disorders. Substance-Induced Mental Disorders can also be associated with a single episode of substance use. In such cases, a Substance-Induced Mental Disorder should be diagnosed together with a primary diagnosis of Episode of Harmful Psychoactive Substance Use, Harmful Pattern of Psychoactive Substance Use, or Substance Dependence.
- **Boundary with mental disorders not induced by substances:** Substance-Induced Mental Disorders are differentiated from mental disorders with similar features that are not induced by substances on the basis of their onset, course and clinical features. A diagnosis of Substance-Induced Mental Disorder requires evidence from history,

physical or mental examination, or laboratory findings of recent substance use, intoxication or withdrawal. Most Substance-Induced Mental Disorders resolve or improve within several weeks of cessation of substance use. Mental disorders not induced by substances may precede the onset of substance use or may continue to be symptomatic during periods of sustained abstinence. The co-occurrence of substance use or withdrawal and onset of symptoms of mental disorders should not be taken as evidence for a presumptive diagnosis of a Substance-Induced Mental Disorder. Some people use substances to suppress symptoms of mental disorders (e.g., Schizophrenia and Other Primary Psychotic Disorders, Mood Disorders, Anxiety and Fear-Related Disorders, Personality Disorders) and full symptomatic presentations only emerge upon cessation or reduction in substance use. Furthermore, substance use can exacerbate symptoms or precipitate an episode of a pre-existing mental disorder. Finally, substance use may be associated with but not aetiologic for new onset of symptoms of a mental disorder. Although a diagnosis of a Substance-Induced Mental Disorder should not be assigned under these circumstances, an additional diagnosis of Episode of Harmful Psychoactive Substance Use, Harmful Pattern of Psychoactive Substance Use, or Substance Dependence may still be appropriate.

Substance-Induced Mental Disorders Listed in Other Groupings

The following categories are included in other mental disorder groupings and CDDR are provided in those sections, but they are cross-listed here for reference.

The following category is included in the ICD-11 grouping of Catatonia:

Substance-Induced Catatonia

• 6A41 Catatonia induced by substances or medications (p. 216)

The following categories are included in the ICD-11 grouping of Neurocognitive Disorders:

Substance-Induced Amnestic Disorder

- 6D72.1 Amnestic disorder due to psychoactive substances including medications (p. 555)
 - 6D72.10 Amnestic Disorder Due to Use of Alcohol
 - 6D72.11 Amnestic Disorder Due to Use of Sedatives, Hypnotics or Anxiolytics
 - 6D72.13 Amnestic Disorder Due to Use of Volatile Inhalants
 - 6D72.12 Amnestic Disorder Due to Other Specified Psychoactive Substance Including Medications

Substance-Induced Dementia

- 6D84 Dementia due to psychoactive substances including medications (p. 564)
 - 6D84.0 Dementia Due to Use of Alcohol
 - 6D84.1 Dementia Due to Use of Sedatives, Hypnotics or Anxiolytics
 - 6D84.2 Dementia Due to Use of Volatile Inhalants

• 6D84.Y Dementia Due to Other Specified Psychoactive Substance

Other Specified Disorders Due to Psychoactive Substance Use

Available Categories by Substance Class:

- 6C40.Y Other Specified Disorders Due to Use of Alcohol
- 6C41.Y Other Specified Disorders Due to Use of Cannabis
- 6C42.Y Other Specified Disorders Dues to Use of Synthetic Cannabinoids
- 6C43.Y Other Specified Disorders Due to Use of Opioids
- 6C44.Y Other Specified Disorders Due to Use of Sedatives, Hypnotics or Anxiolytics
- 6C45.Y Other Specified Disorders Due to Use of Cocaine
- 6C46.Y Other Specified Disorders Due to Use of Stimulants Including Amphetamines, Methamphetamine or Methcathinone
- 6C47.Y Other Specified Disorders Due to Use of Synthetic Cathinones
- 6C48.Y Other Specified Disorders Due to Use of Caffeine
- 6C49.Y Other Specified Disorders Due to Use of Hallucinogens
- 6C4A.Y Other Specified Disorders Due to Use of Nicotine
- 6C4B.Y Other Specified Disorders Due to Use of Volatile Inhalants
- 6C4C.Y Other Specified Disorders Due to Use of MDMA or Related Drugs, Including MDA
- 6C4D.Y Other Specified Disorders Due to Use of Dissociative Drugs Including Ketamine and PCP
- 6C4E.Y Other Specified Disorders Due to Use of Other Specified Psychoactive Substances, Including Medications
- 6C4F.Y Other Specified Disorders Due to Use of Multiple Specified Psychoactive Substances
- 6C4G.Y Other Specified Disorders Due to Use of Unknown or Unspecified Psychoactive Substance

Essential (Required) Features:

- The presentation is characterized by psychological, cognitive, or behavioural symptoms that develop during or soon after intoxication with or withdrawal from a specified substance or use or discontinuation of a psychoactive medication.
- The symptoms do not fulfil the diagnostic requirements for any other disorder in the Disorders Due to Substance Use grouping.
- The intensity or duration of the symptoms is substantially in excess of disturbances that are characteristic of intoxication or withdrawal due to the specified substance.
- The symptoms are not better accounted for by another mental disorder such as Schizophrenia or another Primary Psychotic Disorder or a Mood Disorder. Evidence supporting a diagnosis of another mental disorder would include the symptoms preceding the onset of the substance use, the symptoms persisting for a substantial period of time after cessation of the substance or medication use or withdrawal (e.g., 1 month or more depending on the specific substance), or other evidence of a pre-existing mental disorder (e.g., a prior history of the symptoms not associated with substance use).
- The symptoms are not a manifestation of another medical condition.

• The symptoms cause significant distress or significant impairment in personal, family, social, educational, occupational or other important areas of functioning.

Disorders Due to Psychoactive Substance Use, Unspecified

Available Categories by Substance Class:

- 6C40.Z Disorders Due to Use of Alcohol, Unspecified
- 6C41.Z Disorders Due to Use of Cannabis, Unspecified
- 6C42.Z Dues to Use of Synthetic Cannabinoids, Unspecified
- 6C43.Z Disorders Due to Use of Opioids, Unspecified
- 6C44.Z Disorders Due to Use of Sedatives, Hypnotics or Anxiolytics, Unspecified
- 6C45.Z Disorders Due to Use of Cocaine, Unspecified
- 6C46.Z Disorders Due to Use of Stimulants Including Amphetamines, Methamphetamine or Methcathinone, Unspecified
- 6C47.Z Disorders Due to Use of Synthetic Cathinones, Unspecified
- 6C48.Z Disorders Due to Use of Caffeine, Unspecified
- 6C49.Z Disorders Due to Use of Hallucinogens, Unspecified
- 6C4A.Z Disorders Due to Use of Nicotine, Unspecified
- 6C4B.Z Disorders Due to Use of Volatile Inhalants, Unspecified
- 6C4C.Z Disorders Due to Use of MDMA or Related Drugs, Including MDA, Unspecified
- 6C4D.Z Disorders Due to Use of Dissociative Drugs Including Ketamine and PCP, Unspecified
- 6C4E.Z Disorders Due to Use of Other Specified Psychoactive Substances, Including Medications, Unspecified
- 6C4F.Z Disorders Due to Use of Multiple Specified Psychoactive Substances, Unspecified
- 6C4G.Z Disorders Due to Use of Unknown or Unspecified Psychoactive Substance, Unspecified

6C4H Disorders Due to Use of Non-Psychoactive Substances

Disorders Due to Use of Non-Psychoactive Substances are characterized by the pattern and consequences of non-psychoactive substance use. Non-psychoactive substances include laxatives, growth hormone, erythropoietin, and non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs. They may also include proprietary or over-the-counter medicines and folk remedies. Non-medical use of these substances may be associated with harm to the individual due to the direct or secondary toxic effects of the non-psychoactive substance on body organs and systems, or a harmful route of administration (e.g., infections due to intravenous self-administration). They are not associated with intoxication or with a dependence or withdrawal syndrome and are not recognized causes of Substance-Induced Mental Disorders.

Disorders Due to Use of Non-Psychoactive Substances do not include disorders related to psychoactive substances such as anabolic steroids, corticosteroids, antidepressants, medications with anticholinergic properties (e.g., benztropine), and some antihistamines.

These should be classified under 6C4E Disorders Due to Use of Other Specified Psychoactive Substances, including Medications.

6C4H.0 Episode of Harmful Use of Non-Psychoactive Substances

Essential (Required) Features:

- An episode of use of a non-psychoactive substance that has caused clinically significant damage to a person's physical health or mental health.
- Harm to health of the individual occurs due to the direct or secondary toxic effects of the non-psychoactive substance on body organs and systems, or a harmful route of administration.
- Harm to health is not better accounted for by a medical condition not caused by the substance or by another mental disorder.

Note: Harm to physical health includes acute health problems resulting from nonpsychoactive substance use such as dehydration, dyslipidemia, and exacerbation or decompensation of pre-existing chronic health problems such as hypertension, liver disease, or peptic ulceration. Harm may also result from a harmful route of administration (e.g., nonsterile intravenous self-administration causing infections). Harm to mental health refers to psychological and behavioural symptoms following non-psychoactive substance use (e.g., severe depressive symptoms following dehydration and mineral loss from inappropriate use of laxatives).

Additional Clinical Features:

- There must be explicit evidence of harm to the individual's physical or mental health. There must also be a clear causal relationship between the harm to health and the episode of non-psychoactive substance use in question.
- Non-psychoactive substance use may occur in the context of other mental disorders (e.g., use of laxatives in Anorexia Nervosa to reduce body weight, use of anabolic steroids in Body Dysmorphic Disorder to increase muscle mass). An additional diagnosis of Episode of Harmful Psychoactive Substance Use can be made if the specific episode of non-psychoactive substance use in question has resulted in clinically significant harm to the individual's physical or mental health.
- A diagnosis of Episode of Harmful Use of Non-Psychoactive Substances often signals an opportunity for intervention, including lower-intensity interventions that can be implemented in a wide range of settings aimed at reducing the likelihood of additional harmful episodes or of progression to Harmful Pattern of Non-Psychoactive Substance Use.
- As more information becomes available indicating that an episode is part of a continuous or recurrent pattern of harmful non-psychoactive substance use, a diagnosis of Episode of Harmful Psychoactive Substance Use should be changed to Harmful Pattern of Non-Psychoactive Substance Use.

Boundary with Normality (Threshold):

464

- The diagnosis of Episode of Harmful Use of Non-Psychoactive Substances requires clinically significant harm to the individual's physical or mental health. Examples of impact on physical or mental health that would not be considered clinically significant include mild hangover, brief episodes of vomiting, or transient depressed mood.
- An episode of non-psychoactive substance use may also cause social problems that do not constitute clinically significant harm to physical or mental health (e.g., arguments with loved ones). A diagnosis of Episode of Harmful Use of Non-Psychoactive Substances should not be assigned in these circumstances.

Boundaries with Other Disorders and Conditions (Differential Diagnosis):

- **Boundary with Other Specified Hazardous Drug Use:** The category Other Specified Hazardous Drug Use from the chapter on 'Factors Influencing Health Status or Contact with Health Services' may be assigned if the episode of non-psychoactive substance use in question appreciably increases the risk of harmful physical or mental health consequences to an extent that warrants attention and advice from health professionals, but has not resulted in specific identifiable harm to the individual's physical or mental health.
- **Boundary with Harmful Pattern of Non-Psychoactive Substance Use:** If the harm to health is a result of a known episodic or continuous pattern of non-psychoactive substance use, Harmful Pattern of Non-Psychoactive Substance Use is the appropriate diagnosis rather than Episode of Harmful Use of Non-Psychoactive Substances. Substance use is generally considered to be following a pattern if there has been at least episodic or intermittent use over a period of at least 12 months, or continuous use over at least 1 month. If harm is caused by use of a non-psychoactive substance but no information is available about the pattern or history of substance use, a diagnosis of Episode of Harmful Use of Non-Psychoactive Substance use, a diagnosis of time as evidence for a pattern of use is ascertained.
- **Boundary with Injury, Poisoning, or Certain Other Consequences of External Causes:** When use of a non-psychoactive substance results in injury or life-threatening symptoms (e.g., coma, severe cardiac or respiratory symptoms), a diagnosis from the grouping of Harmful Effects of Substances in the chapter on Injury, Poisoning or Certain Other Consequences of External Causes should also be assigned.

6C4H.1 Harmful Pattern of Use of Non-Psychoactive Substances

Essential (Required) Features:

- A pattern of repeated or continuous use of a non-psychoactive substance that has caused clinically significant damage to a person's physical health or mental health.
- Harm to health of the individual occurs due to the direct or secondary toxic effects of the non-psychoactive substance on body organs and systems, or a harmful route of administration.
- The pattern of use of the relevant substance is evident over a period of at least 12 months if substance use is episodic or at least 1 month if use is continuous.
- Harm to health is not better accounted for by a medical condition not caused by the substance or by another mental disorder.

Note: Harm to physical health includes acute or chronic health problems resulting from a pattern of non-psychoactive substance use such as testicular atrophy, cardiomegaly, and exacerbation or decompensation of pre-existing chronic health problems such as hypertension, liver disease, or peptic ulceration. Harm may also result from a harmful route of administration (e.g., non-sterile intravenous self-administration causing infections). Harm to mental health refers to psychological and behavioural symptoms following non-psychoactive substance use (e.g., severe depressive symptoms due to dehydration and mineral loss from inappropriate use of laxatives).

Course Specifiers:

6C4H.10 Harmful Pattern of Use of Non-Psychoactive Substances, episodic

This category is assigned when all the diagnostic requirements for Harmful Pattern of Use of Non-Psychoactive Substances are met and there is evidence of a pattern of recurrent episodic or intermittent use of the relevant non-psychoactive substance over a period of at least 12 months that has caused clinically significant harm to a person's physical or mental health.

6C4H.11 Harmful Pattern of Use of Non-Psychoactive Substances, continuous

This category is assigned when all the diagnostic requirements for Harmful Pattern of Use of Non-Psychoactive Substances are met and there is evidence of a pattern of continuous substance use (daily or almost daily) of the relevant non-psychoactive substance over a period of at least 1 month that has caused clinically significant harm to a person's physical or mental health.

6C4H.1Z Harmful Pattern of Use of Non-Psychoactive Substances, unspecified

Additional Clinical Features for Harmful Pattern of Use of Non-Psychoactive Substances:

- There must be explicit evidence of harm to the individual's physical or mental health. There must also be a clear causal relationship between the harm to health and the episode of non-psychoactive substance use in question.
- Non-psychoactive substance use may occur in the context of other mental disorders (e.g., use of laxatives in Anorexia Nervosa to reduce body weight, use of anabolic steroids in Body Dysmorphic Disorder to increase muscle mass). An additional diagnosis of Harmful Pattern of Non-Psychoactive Substance Use can be made if the pattern of non-psychoactive substance use has resulted in clinically significant harm to the individual's physical or mental health.

Boundary with Normality (Threshold):

- The diagnosis of Harmful Pattern of Use of Non-Psychoactive Substances requires clinically significant harm to the individual's physical or mental health. Examples of impact on physical or mental health that would not be considered clinically significant include mild hangover, brief episodes of vomiting, or transient depressed mood.
- A pattern of non-psychoactive substance use may also cause social problems that do not constitute clinically significant harm to physical or mental health (e.g., arguments with

loved ones). A diagnosis of Harmful Pattern of Use of Non-Psychoactive Substances should not be assigned in these circumstances.

Boundaries with Other Disorders and Conditions (Differential Diagnosis):

- **Boundary with Episode of Harmful Non-Psychoactive Substance Use:** If the harm to health is a result of a single episode of non-psychoactive substance use rather than an episodic or continuous pattern of substance use, Episode of Harmful Use of Non-Psychoactive Substances is the appropriate diagnosis rather than Harmful Pattern of Non-Psychoactive Substance Use. Substance use is generally considered to be following a pattern if there has been at least episodic or intermittent use over a period of at least 12 months, or continuous use over at least 1 month. If harm is caused by use of a non-psychoactive substance but no information is available about the pattern or history of substance use, a diagnosis of Episode of Harmful Use of Non-Psychoactive Substances may be assigned until such time as evidence for a pattern of use is ascertained.
- **Boundary with Injury, Poisoning, or Certain Other Consequences of External Causes:** When use of a non-psychoactive substance results in injury or life-threatening symptoms (e.g., coma, severe cardiac or respiratory symptoms), a diagnosis from the grouping of Harmful Effects of Substances in the chapter on Injury, Poisoning or Certain Other Consequences of External Causes should also be assigned.

Hazardous Substance Use

The ICD-11 also includes a listing of Hazardous Substance Use categories. These are not considered to be mental disorders, but rather are included in the grouping 'Problems associated with health behaviours' in the chapter on Factors Influencing Health Status or Contact with Health Services. Available categories for Hazardous Substance Use due to specific substance classes are as follows:

QE10 Hazardous Alcohol Use

QE11 Hazardous Drug Use

- QE11.0 Hazardous Use of Opioids
- QE11.1 Hazardous Use of Cannabis
- QE11.2 Hazardous Use of Sedatives, Hypnotics or Anxiolytics
- o QE11.3 Hazardous Use of Cocaine
- QE11.4 Hazardous Use of Stimulants Including Amphetamines or Methamphetamine
- QE11.5 Hazardous Use of Caffeine
- QE11.6 Hazardous Use of MDMA or Related Drugs
- o QE11.7 Hazardous Use of Dissociative Drugs Including Ketamine or PCP
- o QE11.8 Hazardous Use of Other Specified Psychoactive Substances
- QE11.9 Hazardous Use of Unknown or Unspecified Psychoactive Substances
- QE11.Y Other Specified Hazardous Drug Use
- o QE11.Z Hazardous Drug Use, Unspecified

QE12 Hazardous Nicotine Use

Hazardous Substance Use categories may be used when the pattern of substance use appreciably increases the risk of harmful physical or mental health consequences to the user or to others to an extent that warrants attention and advice from health professionals, but no overt harm has yet occurred.

In Hazardous Substance Use, the increased risk may be related to the frequency of substance use, to the amount used on a given occasion, or to risky behaviours associated with substance use or the context of use, from a harmful route of administration, or from a combination of these. The risk may be related to short-term effects of the substance or to longer-term cumulative effects on physical or mental health or functioning. Hazardous substance use has not yet reached the level of having caused harm to physical or mental health of the user or others around the user. The pattern of substance use often persists in spite of awareness of increased risk of harm to the user or to others.

DISORDERS DUE TO ADDICTIVE BEHAVIOURS

Disorders Due to Addictive Behaviours are recognizable and clinically significant syndromes associated with distress or interference with personal functions that develop as a result of repetitive, rewarding behaviours other than the use of dependence-producing substances or sexual behaviours.

Disorders Due to Addictive Behaviours include the following:

| 6C50 | Gambling Disorder |
|------|---|
| | 6C50.1 Gambling Disorder, predominantly online |
| | 6C50.0 Gambling Disorder, predominantly offline |
| 6C51 | Gaming Disorder |
| | 6C51.0 Gaming Disorder, predominantly online |
| | 6C51.1 Gaming Disorder, predominantly offline |
| 6C7Y | Other Specified Disorders Due to Addictive Behaviours |

Also listed in this section of the manual are two categories that are not considered to be mental disorders, but may be used when the pattern of the relevant behaviour appreciably increases the risk of harmful physical or mental health consequences to the individual or to others around this individual to an extent that warrants attention and advice from health professionals but does not meet the diagnostic requirements for Gambling Disorder or Gaming Disorder.

QE21 Hazardous Gambling or Betting QE22 Hazardous Gaming

6C50 Gambling Disorder

Essential (Required) Features:

- A persistent pattern of gambling behaviour, which may be predominantly online (i.e., over the internet or similar electronic networks) or offline, manifested by all of the following:
 - Impaired control over gambling behaviour (e.g., onset, frequency, intensity, duration, termination, context);
 - Increasing priority given to gambling behaviour to the extent that gambling takes precedence over other life interests and daily activities; and
 - Continuation or escalation of gambling behaviour despite negative consequences (e.g., marital conflict due to gambling behaviour, repeated and substantial financial losses, negative impact on health).
- The pattern of gambling behaviour may be continuous or episodic and recurrent but is manifested over an extended period of time (e.g., 12 months). The gambling behaviour is not better accounted for by another mental disorder (e.g., Manic Episode) and is not due to the effects of a substance or medication.
- The pattern of gambling behaviour results in significant distress or impairment in personal, family, social, educational, occupational, or other important areas of functioning.

Specifiers for online or offline behaviour:

Note: Order of specifiers is different than for Gaming Disorder.

6C50.1 Gambling Disorder, predominantly online

• This refers to Gambling Disorder that predominantly involves gambling behaviour that is conducted over the internet or similar electronic networks (i.e., online).

6C50.0 Gambling Disorder, predominantly offline

• This refers to Gambling Disorder that predominantly involves gambling behaviour that is not conducted over the internet or similar electronic networks (i.e., offline).

6C50.Z Gambling Disorder, unspecified

Additional Clinical Features:

- If symptoms and consequences of gambling behaviour are severe (e.g., gambling behaviours persist for days at a time without respite or have major effects on functioning or health) and all other diagnostic requirements are met, it may be appropriate to assign a diagnosis of Gambling Disorder following a period that is briefer than 12 months (e.g., 6 months).
- Individuals with Gambling Disorder may make numerous unsuccessful efforts to control or significantly reduce gambling behaviour, whether self-initiated or imposed by others.
- Individuals with Gambling Disorder may increase the amount of money gambled over time to maintain or exceed previous levels of excitement or to avoid boredom. They may also engage in a pattern of increasing intensity of gambling behaviour, increasing the amount of their wagers, or otherwise altering their gambling strategies in order to try to compensate for significant monetary loses (i.e., 'chasing' their loses).
- Individuals with Gambling Disorder often experience urges or cravings to engage in gambling behaviour during other activities.
- Individuals with Gambling Disorder may exhibit substantial disruptions in diet, sleep, exercise and other health-related behaviours that can result in negative physical and mental health outcomes.
- Some individuals with Gambling Disorder may engage in deceitful behaviour to conceal the extent of their losses from loved ones or attempt to obtain money in order to repay their debts.
- Some individuals with Gambling Disorder may engage in gambling behaviour in response to feelings of depression, anxiety, boredom, loneliness, or other negative affective states. Although not diagnostically determinative, consideration of the relationship between emotional and behavioural cues and gambling behaviour can inform treatment planning.
- Gambling Disorder commonly co-occurs with Disorders Due to Substance Use, Mood Disorders, Anxiety or Fear-Related Disorders, and Personality Disorder. Among individuals seeking treatment for Gambling Disorder, suicidal ideation and suicide attempts are common.

• In adults, gambling behaviour is associated with chronic medical conditions, obesity, and poorer subjective health status.

Boundary with Normality (Threshold):

- Gambling Disorder should not be diagnosed merely on the basis of repeated or persistent gambling (online or offline), such as in the context of social or professional gambling. Typically, these forms of gambling are limited to discrete periods with monetary losses that are acceptable to the individual and occur in the absence of the other characteristic features of the disorder.
- Daily gambling behaviour (e.g., buying lottery tickets) as a part of a routine or the use of gambling for purposes such as changing mood, alleviating boredom, or facilitating social interaction in the absence of the other required features is not a sufficient basis for assigning a diagnosis of Gambling Disorder.

Course Features:

- The course of Gambling Disorder is variable with recovery a common outcome, even in the absence of intervention, especially for adolescents and young adults. However, for many, Gambling Disorder persists across the lifespan.
- Gambling behaviour can follow a continuous or episodic pattern. The intensity of gambling behaviour often fluctuates in relation to stress, depressive symptoms, and substance use.
- Gambling Disorder tends to develop gradually over the course of years as frequency of gambling behaviour and monetary value of wagers increase.

Developmental Presentations:

- Gambling Disorder typically has its onset in adolescence or young adulthood. Early onset is associated with higher levels of impulsivity. Prevalence of Gambling Disorder among adolescents tends to be higher than in adults.
- Onset of Gambling Disorder in older adulthood is uncommon.

Culture-Related Features:

- Prevalence of Gambling Disorder varies by socio-cultural background. For example, community-based prevalence in the United States is lower among immigrants than among US-born individuals. Indigenous populations in several counties (e.g., Canada, New Zealand, and the US) appear to have higher prevalence than other ethnic groups, possibly due to greater financial hardship, the hope that gambling may help advance social goals, and the location of casinos on tribal lands.
- Endorsement of specific symptoms of Gambling Disorder may also vary cross-culturally. For example, among individuals with gambling problems in the United States, Asian Americans may be less likely to describe being preoccupied with gambling, while Latinos and African Americans may be more likely to describe attempts to reduce gambling.

Sex- and/or Gender-Related Features:

- Lifetime prevalence of Gambling Disorder is higher among males. In adulthood, the ratio of men to women diagnosed with Gambling Disorder is approximately 2:1. This gap is wider during adolescence (ratio of 4:1), which may reflect boys' tendency to start gambling earlier.
- Due to earlier onset, the course of Gambling Disorder is typically more protracted among men. Men also appear more likely to recover without intervention than women. Though onset among women tends to be later, symptoms often intensify more quickly. Women are more likely to seek treatment sooner than men, though treatment-seeking is low (less than 10%) across both genders.
- Women with Gambling Disorder are more likely than men to have co-occurring Mood Disorders or Anxiety or Fear-Related Disorders, whereas men are more likely to exhibit problems with substance abuse and externalizing behaviours.

- **Boundary with Hazardous Gambling or Betting:** The category of Hazardous Gambling or Betting from the ICD-11 chapter on 'Factors Influencing Health Status or Contact with Health Services' may be assigned to individuals who exhibit problematic patterns of gambling without the other features of Gambling Disorder. Hazardous Gambling or Betting refers to a pattern of gambling that appreciably increases the risk of harmful physical or mental health consequences to the individual or to others around the individual that may require intervention or monitoring but is not considered a disorder.
- **Boundary with Gaming Disorder:** Unlike Gambling Disorder, Gaming Disorder does not involve the betting of money or other valuables with the hope of obtaining something of greater value. If gaming behaviour is focused on wagers (e.g., internet poker), Gambling Disorder is generally the more appropriate diagnosis.
- **Boundary with Bipolar or Related Disorders:** Increased goal-directed activity including impaired ability to control gambling behaviour can occur during Manic, Mixed, or Hypomanic Episodes. A diagnosis of Gambling Disorder should only be assigned if there is evidence of a persistent pattern of gambling behaviour that meets all diagnostic requirements for the disorder and occurs outside of Mood Episodes. Some individuals with Gambling Disorder may exhibit symptoms while gambling that appear similar to those observed during Manic Episodes (e.g., euphoric mood and increased energy level). However, in Mood Episodes, such symptoms are not limited to the gambling context.
- **Boundary with Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder:** Gambling behaviour can sometimes be described as 'compulsive' by lay people and also by some health professionals. Compulsions observed in Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder are almost never experienced as inherently pleasurable and typically occur in response to intrusive, unwanted, and generally anxiety-provoking obsessions, which is not the case with gambling behaviour in Gambling Disorder.
- **Boundary with Personality Disorder:** Some individuals with Personality Disorder with prominent dissocial features or prominent features of disinhibition may engage in problematic gambling behaviour. A diagnosis of Gambling Disorder can be assigned together with a Personality Disorder diagnosis if the diagnostic requirements for both are met.
- *Boundary with Disorders Due to Substance Use:* Co-occurrence of gambling and substance use, particularly alcohol, is common. Intoxication due to some substances, including alcohol, can cause disinhibition and impaired judgement, which may exacerbate problematic gambling behaviour. A diagnosis of Gambling Disorder can be

assigned together with a Disorder Due to Substance Use diagnosis if the requirements for both are met.

• **Boundary with the effects of psychoactive substances, including medications:** Use of specific prescribed medications or illicit substances (e.g., dopamine agonists such as pramipexole for Parkinson Disease or Restless Legs Syndrome or illicit substances such as methamphetamine) can sometimes cause impaired control over gambling behaviour due to their direct effects on the central nervous system, with onset corresponding to use of the substance or medication. Gambling Disorder should not be diagnosed in such cases.

6C51 Gaming Disorder

Essential (Required) Features:

- A persistent pattern of gaming behaviour ('digital gaming' or 'video-gaming'), which may be predominantly online (i.e., over the internet or similar electronic networks) or offline, manifested by all of the following:
 - Impaired control over gaming behaviour (e.g., onset, frequency, intensity, duration, termination, context);
 - Increasing priority given to gaming behaviour to the extent that gaming takes precedence over other life interests and daily activities; and
 - Continuation or escalation of gaming behaviour despite negative consequences (e.g., family conflict due to gaming behaviour, poor scholastic performance, negative impact on health).
- The pattern of gaming behaviour may be continuous or episodic and recurrent but is manifested over an extended period of time (e.g., 12 months).
- The gaming behaviour is not better accounted for by another mental disorder (e.g., Manic Episode) and is not due to the effects of a substance or medication.
- The pattern of gaming behaviour results in significant distress or impairment in personal, family, social, educational, occupational, or other important areas of functioning.

Specifiers for online or offline behaviour:

Note: Order of specifiers is different than for Gambling Disorder.

6C51.0 Gaming Disorder, predominantly online

• This refers to Gaming Disorder that predominantly involves gaming behaviour that is conducted over the internet or similar electronic networks (i.e., online).

6C51.1 Gaming Disorder, predominantly offline

• This refers to Gaming Disorder that predominantly involves gaming behaviour that is not conduced over the internet or similar electronic networks (i.e., offline).

6C51.Z Gaming Disorder, unspecified

Additional Clinical Features:

- If symptoms and consequences of gaming behaviour are severe (e.g., gaming behaviours persist for days at a time without respite or have major effects on functioning or health) and all other diagnostic requirements are met, it may be appropriate to assign a diagnosis of Gaming Disorder following a period that is briefer than 12 months (e.g., 6 months).
- Individuals with Gaming Disorder may make numerous unsuccessful efforts to control or significantly reduce gaming behaviour, whether self-initiated or imposed by others.
- Individuals with Gaming Disorder may increase the duration or frequency of gaming behaviour over time or experience a need to engage in games of increasing levels of complexity or requiring increasing skills or strategy in an effort to maintain or exceed previous levels of excitement or to avoid boredom.
- Individuals with Gaming Disorder often experience urges or cravings to engage in gaming during other activities.
- Upon cessation or reduction of gaming behaviour, often imposed by others, individuals with Gaming Disorder may experience dysphoria and exhibit adversarial behaviour or verbal or physical aggression.
- Individuals with Gaming Disorder may exhibit substantial disruptions in diet, sleep, exercise and other health-related behaviours that can result in negative physical and mental health outcomes, particularly if there are very extended periods of gaming.
- High-intensity gaming behaviour may occur as a part of online computer games that involve coordination among multiple users to accomplish complex tasks. In these cases, peer group dynamics may contribute to the maintenance of intensive gaming behaviours. Regardless of the social contributions to the behaviour, the diagnosis of Gaming Disorder may still be applied if all diagnostic requirements are met.
- Gaming Disorder commonly co-occurs with Disorders Due to Substance Use, Mood Disorders, Anxiety or Fear-Related Disorders, Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder, Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder, and Sleep-Wake Disorders.

Boundary with Normality (Threshold):

- Gaming Disorder should not be diagnosed merely on the basis of repeated or persistent gaming (online or offline) in the absence of the other characteristic features of the disorder.
- Daily gaming behaviour as a part of a routine or the use of gaming for purposes such as developing skills and proficiency in gaming, changing mood, alleviating boredom, or facilitating social interaction in the absence of the other required features is not a sufficient basis for assigning a diagnosis of Gaming Disorder.
- High rates and long durations of gaming behaviour (online or offline) occur more commonly among specific age and social groups (e.g., adolescent males), and in particular contexts such as during the holidays or as a part of organized gaming activities for entertainment in the absence of the other required features is also not indicative of a disorder. Cultural, subcultural, and peer-group norms should be considered when making a diagnosis.

Course Features:

The course of Gaming Disorder is typically progressive, as the individual increasingly prioritizes gaming at the expense of other activities.

Developmental Presentations:

- Gaming Disorder appears to be most prevalent among adolescent and young adult males aged 12 to 20 years. Available data suggest adults have lower prevalence rates.
- Among adolescents, Gaming Disorder has been associated with elevated levels of externalizing (e.g., antisocial behaviour, anger control) and internalizing (e.g., emotional distress, lower self-esteem) problems. Among adults, Gaming Disorder has been associated with greater levels of depressive and anxiety symptoms.
- Adolescents with Gaming Disorder may be at increased risk for academic underachievement, school failure/drop-out, and psychosocial and sleep problems.

Sex- and/or Gender-Related Features:

- Males appear to be more frequently affected by Gaming Disorder during both adolescence and adulthood.
- Though less frequently diagnosed with Gaming Disorder than adolescent boys, girls who meet the diagnostic requirements may be at greater risk of developing emotional or behavioural problems.

- **Boundary with Hazardous Gaming:** The category of Hazardous Gaming from the ICD-11 chapter on 'Factors Influencing Health Status or Contact with Health Services' may be assigned to individuals who exhibit problematic patterns of gaming behaviour without the other features of Gaming Disorder. Hazardous gaming refers to a pattern of gaming that appreciably increases the risk of harmful physical or mental health consequences to the individual or to others around the individual that may require some intervention or monitoring but is not considered to constitute a disorder.
- **Boundary with Gambling Disorder:** Unlike Gaming Disorder, Gambling Disorder necessitates the betting of money or other valuables in the hope of obtaining something of greater value. If gaming behaviour is focused on wagers (e.g., internet poker), Gambling Disorder may be a more appropriate diagnosis.
- **Boundary with Bipolar or Related Disorders:** Increased goal-directed activity including impaired ability to control gaming behaviour can occur during Manic, Mixed, or Hypomanic Episodes. A diagnosis of Gaming Disorder should only be assigned if there is evidence of a persistent pattern of gaming behaviour that meets all diagnostic requirements for the disorder and occurs outside of Mood Episodes.
- **Boundary with Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder:** Gaming behaviour can sometimes be described as 'compulsive' by lay people and also by some health professionals. Compulsions observed in Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder are almost never experienced as inherently pleasurable and typically occur in response to intrusive, unwanted, and generally anxiety-provoking obsessions, which is not the case with gaming behaviour in Gaming Disorder.
- **Boundary with Disorders Due to Substance Use:** Co-occurrence of gaming and substance use is common. Intoxication due to some substances may exacerbate problematic gaming behaviour. A diagnosis of Gaming Disorder can be assigned together with a Disorder Due to Substance Use diagnosis if the requirements for both are met.

• **Boundary with the effects of psychoactive substances, including medications:** Use of specific prescribed medications or illicit substances (e.g., dopamine agonists such as pramipexole for Parkinson Disease or Restless Legs Syndrome or illicit substances such as methamphetamine) can sometimes cause impaired control over gaming behaviour due to their direct effects on the central nervous system, with onset corresponding to use of the substance or medication. Gaming Disorder should not be diagnosed in such cases.

6C5Y Other Specified Disorders Due to Addictive Behaviours

Essential (Required) Features:

- The presentation is characterized by symptoms that share primary clinical features with other Disorders Due to Addictive Behaviours, including a persistent pattern of repetitive behaviour in which the individual exhibits impaired control over the behaviour (e.g., onset, frequency, intensity, duration, termination, context); increasing priority given to the behaviour to the extent that it takes precedence over other life interests and daily activities; and continuation or escalation of the behaviour despite negative consequences (e.g., family conflict, poor scholastic performance, negative impact on health). *Note:* Impaired control over substance use or sexual behaviour is not included in this category.
- The pattern of repetitive behaviour may be continuous or episodic and recurrent but is manifested over an extended period of time (e.g., 12 months).
- The symptoms are not better accounted for by another Mental, Behavioural, or Neurodevelopmental Disorder (e.g., Autism Spectrum Disorder, an Obsessive-Compulsive or Related Disorder, a Feeding or Eating Disorder, an Impulse Control Disorder), are not a manifestation of another medical condition, and are not due to the effects of a substance or medication on the central nervous system, including withdrawal effects.
- The symptoms result in significant distress or significant impairment in personal, family, social, educational, occupational or other important areas of functioning.

6C5Z Disorders Due to Addictive Behaviours, Unspecified

Hazardous Gambling or Betting and Hazardous Gaming

These categories are not considered to be mental disorders, but rather are included in the grouping 'Problems associated with health behaviours' in the chapter on Factors Influencing Health Status or Contact with Health Services.

QE21 Hazardous Gambling or Betting

Hazardous gambling or betting refers to a pattern of gambling or betting that appreciably increases the risk of harmful physical or mental health consequences to the individual or to others around the individual. The increased risk may be from the frequency of gambling or betting, the amount of time spent on these activities, the context of gambling or betting, the neglect of other activities and priorities, risky behaviours associated with gambling or betting or its context, the adverse consequences of gambling or betting, or from the combination of these factors. The pattern of gambling or betting often persists in spite of awareness of increased risk of harm to the individual or to others. This category may be used when the

pattern of gambling or betting warrants attention and advice from health professionals but does not meet the diagnostic requirements for Gambling Disorder.

OE22 Hazardous Gaming

Hazardous gaming refers to a pattern of gaming, either online or offline, that appreciably increases the risk of harmful physical or mental health consequences to the individual or to others around the individual. The increased risk may be from the frequency of gaming, the amount of time spent on these activities, the neglect of other activities and priorities, risky behaviours associated with gaming or its context, the adverse consequences of gaming, or from the combination of these factors. The pattern of gaming often persists in spite of awareness of increased risk of harm to the individual or to others. This category may be used when the pattern of gaming behaviour warrants attention and advice from health professionals but does not meet the diagnostic requirements for Gaming Disorder.

IMPULSE CONTROL DISORDERS

Impulse Control Disorders are characterized by the repeated failure to resist a strong impulse, drive, or urge to perform an act that is rewarding to the person, at least in the short-term, despite longer-term harm either to the individual or to others, marked distress about the behaviour pattern, or significant impairment in personal, family, social, educational, occupational, or other important areas of functioning. Impulse Control Disorders involve a range of specific behaviours, including fire-setting, stealing, sexual behaviour, and explosive aggressive outbursts.

The episodes of the behaviour involved in Impulse Control Disorders are often preceded by a rise in tension or affective arousal, which can also occur when attempting to resist the behaviour. The episodes of the behaviour are typically followed by pleasure, gratification, or relief of tension following the behaviour. However, over the course of the disorder, individuals may report less awareness of building tension or arousal prior to the behaviour or a reduction in pleasure or gratification following the behaviour. They may also experience feelings of guilt or shame following the behaviour. The behaviours involved in Impulse Control Disorders are not fully attributable to another mental disorder, the direct central nervous system effects of a medication or substance, including substance intoxication and withdrawal, or another medical condition not classified under Mental, Behavioural or Neurodevelopmental Disorders.

Impulse Control Disorders include the following:

- 6C70 Pyromania
- 6C71 Kleptomania
- 6C72 Compulsive Sexual Behaviour Disorder
- 6C73 Intermittent Explosive Disorder
- 6C7Y Other Specified Impulse Control Disorders

6C70 Pyromania

Essential (Required) Features:

- A recurrent failure to control strong impulses to set fires, resulting in multiple acts of, or attempts at, setting fire to property or other objects.
- Lack of an apparent motive for the acts of, or attempts at, fire setting (e.g., monetary gain, revenge, sabotage, political statement, attracting recognition).
- Persistent fascination or preoccupation with fire and related stimuli (e.g., watching fires, building fires, fascination with firefighting equipment).
- The individual experiences increased tension or affective arousal prior to instances of, or attempts at, fire setting.
- The individual experiences pleasure, excitement, relief or gratification during, and immediately following the act of setting the fire, witnessing its effects, or participating in its aftermath.
- Acts of, or attempts at, fire setting are not better accounted for by a Disorder of Intellectual Development, another mental disorder (e.g., a Manic Episode), or Substance Intoxication.

Additional Clinical Features:

- The impulse to set fires in individuals with Pyromania may involve a careful planning phase to determine how to commit the act with concomitant gradual increase of tension or affective arousal whereas in other instances fire setting can occur opportunistically without planning. In both cases, there is a lack of control over urges or impulses to set fires.
- In individuals with Pyromania, fire setting may occur in response to feelings of depressed mood, anxiety, boredom, loneliness, or other negative affective states. Although not diagnostically determinative, consideration of the relationship between emotional and behavioural cues and fire setting behaviour may be an important aspect of treatment planning.
- Many individuals with Pyromania exhibit impairments in social skills and a history of learning difficulties. Furthermore, individuals with Pyromania, particularly women, often report histories of exposure to trauma, including sexual abuse, and self-harm.
- Conduct-Dissocial Disorder, Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder, and Adjustment Disorder are frequently associated with fire setting. Furthermore, Pyromania appears to commonly co-occur with Disorders Due to Substance Use, Gambling Disorder, Mood Disorders, Impulse Control Disorders, and Disruptive Behaviour or Dissocial Disorders.

Boundary with Normality (Threshold):

• Intentional fire setting can occur for a variety of reasons. Individuals may set fires for profit or to conceal a crime, as an act of revenge, to commit sabotage or make a political statement, or to attract recognition (e.g., deliberately setting a fire to then be the first one to discover it and put it out). Moreover, interest in fires is typical during early childhood, and young children may accidentally or intentionally set fires as a part of developmental experimentation (e.g., playing with matches, lighters, or fire). A diagnosis of Pyromania is not appropriate in such cases.

Course Features:

- Although the longitudinal course is unknown, Pyromania appears to be chronic if untreated.
- Among individuals with Pyromania, fire-setting events tend to be episodic, wax and wane over time, and progressively become more frequent and intense.

Developmental Presentations:

- The typical age of onset has not yet been definitively established but current evidence suggests that most fire-setting behaviour begins during adolescence or early adulthood.
- Prevalence rates of Pyromania as distinct from fire-setting and arson suggest the disorder is rare, particularly in children. In contrast, interest in fires among young children is common, and children may accidentally set fires accidentally (e.g., playing with matches) or purposefully without having the additional required diagnostic features of Pyromania. A diagnosis of Pyromania is not appropriate under these circumstances. However, fire-setting behaviour among children and adolescents is a significant problem

as nearly half of arson arrests are among youth below age 18. Lifetime prevalence of fire-setting among adults is estimated at 1.13% and is lowest among older adults.

• Limited information about the presentation of Pyromania in adolescents is available, making it difficult to determine if it is similar to the adult presentation of the disorder. The rising tension and relief reported among adults has not been as clearly documented among youth.

Sex- and/or Gender-Related Features:

• Pyromania and fire-setting behaviour is more common among males.

- **Boundary with Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder:** Individuals with Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder, particularly children and youth, may set fires impulsively. However, impulsivity and disregard for consequences in Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder is typically observed across multiple contexts and situations. Furthermore, individuals with Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder do not exhibit the diagnostic features of preoccupation with fire, tension or affective arousal prior to fire setting, and gratification or relief once the act is committed that are characteristic of Pyromania.
- **Boundary with Bipolar Type I Disorder and Schizophrenia or Other Primary Psychotic Disorders:** Fire setting may, in rare instances, be associated with Manic or Mixed Episodes in individuals with Bipolar Type I Disorder. However, in such cases, fire setting does not continue once the mood episode has ended, whereas in individuals with Pyromania fire setting is not exclusively associated with Manic or Mixed Episodes. Some individuals with delusions or hallucinations may set fires in response to command hallucinations or in the context of a delusional system, and Pyromania should not be assigned in these cases.
- **Boundary with Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder:** Fire setting can sometimes be described as 'compulsive' by lay people and also by some health professionals. Compulsions observed in Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder are almost never experienced as inherently pleasurable and typically occur in response to intrusive, unwanted, and typically anxiety-provoking obsessions. In contrast, fire setting in Pyromania is preceded by an increasing sense of tension or affective arousal and is followed by an experience of pleasure, excitement, or gratification.
- **Boundary with Conduct Dissocial Disorder and Personality Disorder with Prominent Dissocial Features:** Individuals with Conduct-Dissocial Disorder and Personality Disorder with Prominent Dissocial Features may set fires as part of a more pervasive pattern of antisocial behaviour and often for discernible motives such as personal gain or revenge rather than to relieve tension or affective arousal. Individuals with Pyromania do not typically exhibit antisocial behaviour apart from their fire setting.
- **Boundary with the effects of psychoactive substances, including medications:** Fire setting may occur during substance intoxication. Pyromania should not be diagnosed if the fire setting is better accounted for by intoxication or the disinhibiting effects of alcohol, drugs, or medication. However, among individuals with Pyromania, alcohol and substance use may be associated with fire setting. The presence of features of Pyromania outside of episodes of intoxication is helpful in making this distinction.

- **Boundary with disinhibition in Dementia and Secondary Personality Change:** Some individuals with Dementia or Secondary Personality Change may set fires as a part of a more general pattern of disinhibition of impulse control due to brain damage. A separate diagnosis of Pyromania should not be assigned in such cases.
- **Boundary with disorders associated with impairment of cognitive or intellectual functioning:** Some individuals with Dementia, Disorders of Intellectual Development, or cognitive or intellectual impairment associated with other conditions may set fires due to their impaired judgment without exhibiting the other features of Pyromania.

6C71 Kleptomania

Essential (Required) Features:

- A recurrent failure to control strong impulses to steal objects.
- Lack of an apparent motive for stealing objects (e.g., objects are not acquired for personal use or monetary gain).
- The individual experiences increased tension or affective arousal prior to instances of theft or attempted theft.
- The individual experiences pleasure, excitement, relief, or gratification during and immediately following the act of stealing.
- Acts of theft or attempted theft are not better accounted for by a Disorder of Intellectual Development, another mental disorder (e.g., a Manic Episode), or Substance Intoxication.

Additional Clinical Features:

- Some individuals with Kleptomania report amnesia or experience other dissociative symptoms during the act of stealing and may have difficulty remembering their affective state prior to and immediately after the act, including whether they experienced mounting tension or arousal before and gratification or relief after stealing. Furthermore, over the course of the disorder, individuals may report less awareness of increased tension or arousal prior to incidents of stealing.
- In individuals with Kleptomania, stealing may occur in response to feelings of depressed mood, anxiety, boredom, loneliness, or other negative affective states. Although not diagnostically determinative, consideration of the relationship between emotional and behavioural cues and stealing behaviour may be an important aspect of treatment planning.
- After stealing items, many individuals with Kleptomania experience guilt or shame for having committed a theft but these feelings do not prevent recurrence of the behaviour. Although individuals with Kleptomania may desire the items they steal and have a practical use for such items, they do not need these items (e.g., they may have multiples of the same item, they have more than adequate financial resources to purchase the stolen item).
- Rates of co-occurrence of Mood Disorders, Anxiety or Fear-Related Disorders, other Impulse Control Disorders, Substance Use Disorders, and Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder among individual with Kleptomania are higher than in the general population.

Boundary with Normality (Threshold):

• Stealing behaviour is common and most individuals who steal do so because they need or want something they cannot afford, as an act of mischief, or as an expression of anger or vengeance. The diagnosis of Kleptomania requires that the individual does not need or could afford to buy the stolen items but cannot resist the urge to steal. Moreover, in Kleptomania, the theft is accompanied by a sense of tension before committing the act and a sense of gratification, pleasure, or relief during and immediately after the act. Individuals who steal for monetary gain due to the financial implications of their substance use or gambling should not be diagnosed with Kleptomania.

Course Features:

- The course of Kleptomania is variable and may take different forms: sporadic, with long periods of remission between brief episodes; episodic, with lengthy periods of stealing followed by periods of remission; and chronic, with fluctuations in intensity.
- Treatment-seeking individuals with Kleptomania commonly report a long history of shoplifting (e.g., for more than 10 years) prior to receiving services.

Developmental Presentations:

• Onset of Kleptomania may occur at any time, but it most commonly during late adolescence. Onset during late adulthood is rare.

Sex- and/or Gender-Related Features:

- Women are significantly more likely to be diagnosed with Kleptomania.
- Gender differences in clinical presentation or severity of symptoms has not been observed.

- **Boundary with Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder:** Individuals with Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder, particularly children and youth, may steal impulsively. However, impulsivity and disregard for consequences in Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder is typically observed across multiple contexts and situations. Furthermore, individuals with Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder do not exhibit tension or affective arousal prior to stealing and gratification or relief once the theft is committed.
- Boundary with Bipolar Type I Disorder and Schizophrenia or Other Primary Psychotic Disorders: Stealing may be associated with Manic or Mixed Episodes in individuals with Bipolar Type I Disorder. However, in such cases, stealing does not continue once the Mood Episode has ended, whereas in individuals with Kleptomania, stealing is not exclusively associated with Mood Episodes. Some individuals with delusions or hallucinations may steal in response to command hallucinations or in the context of a delusional system, and Kleptomania should not be diagnosed in such cases.
- **Boundary with Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder:** Stealing in Kleptomania can sometimes be described as 'compulsive' by lay people and also by some health professionals. Compulsions observed in Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder are almost never experienced as inherently pleasurable and typically occur in response to intrusive,

unwanted, and typically anxiety-provoking obsessions. In contrast, stealing in Kleptomania is preceded by an increasing sense of tension or affective arousal and is followed by an experience of pleasure, excitement, or gratification.

- **Boundary with Hoarding Disorder:** Some individuals with Hoarding Disorder steal objects as part of a pattern of excessive accumulation, and individuals with Kleptomania may hoard stolen objects. However, individuals with Hoarding Disorder accumulate possessions to the extent that living spaces becoming so cluttered that their use or safety is compromised.
- **Boundary with Conduct-Dissocial Disorder and Personality Disorder with Prominent Dissocial Traits:** Individuals with Conduct-Dissocial Disorder and Personality Disorder with Prominent Dissocial Features may commit theft as part of more pervasive pattern of antisocial behaviour and often for discernible motives such as personal gain or revenge rather than to relieve symptoms of tension. Individuals with Kleptomania do not exhibit antisocial behaviour other than stealing.
- **Boundary with the effects of psychoactive substances, including medications:** Episodes of stealing may occur during substance intoxication. Individuals taking prescribed dopamine agonists, for example for Parkinson Disease or Restless Legs Syndrome, may exhibit repetitive stealing behaviour with onset corresponding to use of the medication. Kleptomania should not be diagnosed if stealing is better accounted for by intoxication or the disinhibiting effects of alcohol, drugs, or medication. Kleptomania should not be diagnosed in these cases. However, among individuals with Kleptomania, alcohol and substance use may be associated with acts of theft or attempted theft. The presence of features of Kleptomania outside of episodes of intoxication is helpful in making this distinction.
- **Boundary with disinhibition in Dementia and Secondary Personality Change:** Some individuals with Dementia or Secondary Personality Change may steal objects as a part of a more general pattern of disinhibition of impulse control due to brain damage. A separate diagnosis of Kleptomania should not be assigned in such cases.
- **Boundary with disorders associated with impairment of cognitive or intellectual functioning:** Some individuals with Dementia, Disorders of Intellectual Development, or cognitive or intellectual impairment associated with other conditions may steal objects due to their impaired judgment without exhibiting the other features of Kleptomania.

6C72 Compulsive Sexual Behaviour Disorder

Essential (Required) Features:

- A persistent pattern of failure to control intense, repetitive sexual impulses or urges resulting in repetitive sexual behaviour, manifested in one or more of the following:
 - Engaging in repetitive sexual behaviour has become a central focus of the individual's life to the point of neglecting health and personal care or other interests, activities and responsibilities.
 - The individual has made numerous unsuccessful efforts to control or significantly reduce repetitive sexual behaviour.
 - The individual continues to engage in repetitive sexual behaviour despite adverse consequences (e.g., marital conflict due to sexual behaviour, financial or legal consequences, negative impact on health).
 - The person continues to engage in repetitive sexual behaviour even when the individual derives little or no satisfaction from it.

- The pattern of failure to control intense, repetitive sexual impulses or urges and resulting repetitive sexual behaviour is manifested over an extended period of time (e.g., 6 months or more).
- The pattern of failure to control intense, repetitive sexual impulses or urges and resulting repetitive sexual behaviour is not better accounted for by another mental disorder (e.g., Manic Episode) or other medical condition and is not due to the effects of a substance or medication.
- The pattern of repetitive sexual behaviour results in marked distress or significant impairment in personal, family, social, educational, occupational, or other important areas of functioning. Distress that is entirely related to moral judgments and disapproval about sexual impulses, urges, or behaviours is not sufficient to meet this requirement.

Additional Clinical Features:

- Compulsive Sexual Behaviour Disorder may be expressed in a variety of behaviours, including sexual behaviour with others, masturbation, use of pornography, cybersex (internet sex), telephone sex, and other forms of repetitive sexual behaviour.
- Individuals with Compulsive Sexual Behaviour Disorder often engage in sexual behaviour in response to feelings of depression, anxiety, boredom, loneliness, or other negative affective states. Although not diagnostically determinative, consideration of the relationship between emotional and behavioural cues and sexual behaviour may be an important aspect of treatment planning.
- Individuals who make religious or moral judgments about their own sexual behaviour or view it with disapproval, or who are concerned about the judgments and disapproval of others or about other potential consequences of their sexual behaviour, may describe themselves as 'sex addicts' or describe their sexual behaviour as 'compulsive' or using similar terms. In such cases, it is important to examine carefully whether such perceptions are only a result of internal or external judgments or potential consequences or whether there is evidence that impaired control over sexual impulses, urges, or behaviours and the other diagnostic requirements of Compulsive Sexual Behaviour Disorder are actually present.

Boundary with Normality (Threshold):

- There is wide variation in the nature and frequency of individuals' sexual thoughts, fantasies, impulses and behaviours. This diagnosis is only appropriate when the individual experiences intense, repetitive sexual impulses or urges that are experienced as irresistible or uncontrollable, leading to repetitive sexual behaviour, and the pattern of repetitive sexual behaviour results in marked distress or significant impairment in personal, family, social, educational, occupational, or other important areas of functioning. Individuals with high levels of sexual interest and behaviour (e.g., due to a high sex drive) who do not exhibit impaired control over their sexual behaviour and significant distress or impairment in functioning should not be diagnosed with Compulsive Sexual Behaviour Disorder. The diagnosis should also not be assigned to describe high levels of sexual interest and behaviour (e.g., masturbation) that are common among adolescents, even when this is associated with distress.
- Compulsive Sexual Behaviour Disorder should not be diagnosed based on distress related to moral judgements and disapproval about sexual impulses, urges, or behaviours that would otherwise not be considered to be indicative of psychopathology (e.g., a woman who believes that she should not have sexual impulses at all; a religious young

man who believes that he should never masturbate; a person who is distressed about his homosexual attraction or behaviour). Similarly, Compulsive Sexual Behaviour Disorder cannot be diagnosed based solely on distress related to real or feared social disapproval of sexual impulses or behaviours.

• Compulsive Sexual Behaviour Disorder should not be diagnosed based solely on relatively brief periods (e.g., up to several months) of increased sexual impulses, urges, and behaviours during transitions to contexts that involve increased availability of sexual outlets that previously did not exist (e.g., moving to a new city, a change in relationship status).

Course Features:

• Many individuals with Compulsive Sexual Behaviour Disorder report a history of sexually acting out during pre-adolescence or adolescence (i.e., risky sexual behaviour, masturbation to modulate negative affect, extensive use of pornography).

Developmental Presentations:

- Compulsive Sexual Behaviour Disorder in adulthood has been associated with high rates of childhood traumas including sexual abuse, with women reporting higher rates and severity of abuse.
- Adolescents and adults with Compulsive Sexual Behaviour Disorder commonly experience high rates of co-occurring Mental, Behavioural, or Neurodevelopmental Disorders, including Disorders Due to Substance Use.
- Assessing the presence of Compulsive Sexual Behaviour Disorder may be particularly challenging during adolescence due to divergent views regarding the appropriateness of sexual behaviour during this life stage. Increased frequency of sexual behaviour or uncontrolled sexual urges associated with rapidly changing hormonal levels during this developmental stage may be considered to reflect normal adolescent experiences. Conversely, frequent or risky sexual behaviour among adolescents may be considered abnormal due to the potential for the behaviour to interfere with social and emotional development.

Culture-Related Features:

- Cultural and subcultural variation may exist for compulsive sexual behaviour. Norms for what is considered appropriate sexual behaviour, activities judged unacceptable, and perceptions regarding gender roles influence sexual activity. These factors may affect norms regarding masturbation, use of pornography, having multiple sexual partners concurrently, and the number of lifetime sexual partners.
- Culture shapes the distress caused by engaging in sexual behaviour and whether sexual activity is viewed as disordered. For example, in cultures where masculine ideals are associated with sexual conquest, higher rates of sexual behaviour may be considered normative and should not be the primary basis for assigning a diagnosis.

Sex- and/or Gender-Related Features:

• Men are more likely to be diagnosed with Compulsive Sexual Behaviour Disorder.

• Women with Compulsive Sexual Behaviour Disorder are more likely than men to report a history of childhood sexual abuse.

- **Boundary with Bipolar or Related Disorders:** Increased sexual impulses, urges or behaviours and impaired ability to control them can occur during Manic, Mixed, or Hypomanic Episodes. A diagnosis of Compulsive Sexual Behaviour Disorder should only be assigned if there is evidence of persistent failure to control intense, repetitive sexual impulses, urges or behaviours and the presence of all other diagnostic requirements outside of Mood Episodes.
- **Boundary with Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder:** Although the word 'compulsive' is included in the name of this condition, sexual behaviour in Compulsive Sexual Behaviour Disorder is not considered to be a true compulsion. Compulsions in Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder are almost never experienced as inherently pleasurable and commonly occur in response to intrusive, unwanted, and typically anxiety-provoking thoughts, which is not the case with sexual behaviour in Compulsive Sexual Behaviour Disorder.
- **Boundary with Personality Disorder:** Some individuals with Personality Disorder may engage in repetitive sexual behaviour as a maladaptive regulation strategy (e.g., to prevent or reduce emotional distress or to stabilize their sense of self). Although both diagnoses can be assigned together, if the sexual behaviour is entirely accounted for by emotion dysregulation or other core features of Personality Disorder, an additional diagnosis of Compulsive Sexual Behaviour Disorder is not warranted.
- **Boundary with Paraphilic Disorders:** The core feature of Compulsive Sexual Behavioural Disorder is a persistent pattern of failure to control intense repetitive sexual impulses or urges resulting in repetitive sexual behaviour that results in marked distress or impairment in functioning. Paraphilic Disorders, on the other hand, are characterized by persistent and intense patterns of atypical sexual arousal manifested by sexual thoughts, fantasies, urges, or behaviours and have resulted in actions toward individuals whose age or status renders them unwilling or unable to consent or are associated with marked distress or significant risk of injury or death. If an individual with a Paraphilic Disorder is able to exercise some degree of control over the behavioural expressions of the arousal pattern, an additional diagnosis of Compulsive Sexual Behavioural Disorder is generally not warranted. If, however, the diagnostic requirements of both Compulsive Sexual Behavioural Disorder and a Paraphilic Disorder are met, both diagnoses may be assigned.
- **Boundary with the effects of psychoactive substances, including medications:** Use of specific prescribed medications or illicit substances (e.g., dopamine agonists such as pramipexole for Parkinson Disease or Restless Legs Syndrome or illicit substances such as methamphetamine) can sometimes cause impaired control over sexual impulses, urges or behaviours due to their direct effects on the central nervous system, with onset corresponding to use of the substance or medication. Compulsive Sexual Behaviour Disorder should not be diagnosed in such cases.
- **Boundary with Disorders Due to Substance Use:** Episodes of impulsive or disinhibited sexual behaviour may occur during substance intoxication. At the same time, co-occurrence of Compulsive Sexual Behaviour Disorder and substance use is common, and some individuals with Compulsive Sexual Behaviour Disorder use substances with the intention of engaging in sexual behaviour or to enhance pleasure from it. Distinguishing between Compulsive Sexual Behaviour Disorder and repetitive patterns of substance use

with associated sexual behaviour is therefore a complex clinical judgment based on an assessment of the sequencing, context, and motivations of the relevant behaviours. A diagnosis of Compulsive Sexual Behaviour Disorder may be assigned together with a Disorder Due to Substance Use if the diagnostic requirements for both disorders are met.

• Boundary with Dementia and medical conditions not classified under Mental, Behavioural or Neurodevelopmental Disorders: Some individuals with Dementia, Diseases of the Nervous System, or other medical conditions that have effects on the central nervous system may exhibit failure to control sexual impulses, urges or behaviours as a part of a more general pattern of disinhibition of impulse control due to neurocognitive impairment. A separate diagnosis of Compulsive Sexual Behaviour Disorder should not be assigned in such cases.

6C73 Intermittent Explosive Disorder

Essential (Required) Features:

- A pattern of recurrent, brief, explosive episodes involving verbal aggression (e.g., verbally attacking another person, temper outbursts, yelling) or physical aggression in an individual who is at least 6 years of age, when inhibition of angry outbursts is expected to have been attained, or equivalent developmental level. Episodes of physical aggression may result in significant damage or destruction of property or physical assault involving personal injury; however, such outcomes are not required for the diagnosis.
- The intensity of the outbursts or the degree of the aggressiveness is grossly out of proportion to the provocation or precipitating event or situation.
- The explosive outbursts must occur regularly over an extended period of time (e.g., at least 3 months), so as to represent a persistent pattern of aggressive behaviour. A lower frequency threshold (e.g., several times over the course of a year) may be used for high-intensity outbursts with serious negative consequences such as physically assaulting another person, whereas a higher frequency threshold (e.g., two or more times per week) should be used for episodes characterized by verbal aggression or non-assaultive and non-destructive physical aggression.
- The aggressive behaviours are clearly impulsive or reactive in nature, and represent a failure to control aggressive impulse. That is, the aggressive acts are not planned or instrumental in achieving a desired outcome.
- The frequency and intensity of explosive episodes is outside the limits of normal variation expected for age and developmental level.
- The explosive outbursts are not better accounted for by another Mental, Behavioural or Neurodevelopmental Disorder (e.g., Autism Spectrum Disorder, Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder, Oppositional Defiant Disorder with chronic irritability-anger, Conduct-Dissocial Disorder, Delirium).
- The explosive outbursts are not due to the effects of a substance or medication on the central nervous system (e.g., amphetamines), including substance intoxication and withdrawal, or due to a Disease of the Nervous System.
- The behaviour pattern results in significant distress for the individual with the disorder or significant impairment in personal, family, social, educational, occupational, or other important areas of functioning.

Additional Clinical Features:

- Explosive episodes may be associated with affective symptoms (anger, irritability, rage) during aggressive outbursts. Sometimes the aggressive episodes are preceded by premonitory symptoms such as tremor or chest tightness, or a more general feeling of tension or arousal.
- Explosive outbursts in Intermittent Explosive Disorder are typically triggered by perceived threats in social settings (even when there is no real threat but, for example, based on an inaccurate attribution of hostility to others) or by frustration when facing obstacles in the course of daily life.
- There is a wide array of aggressive behaviours that could fulfil the requirements for Intermittent Explosive Disorder, ranging from verbal aggression to physical assault and destruction of property.
- After the explosive episode, the individual often, but not always, experiences depressed mood or fatigue, or other negative emotions such as regret, remorse, guilt or shame.
- Some individuals with Intermittent Explosive Disorder exhibit nonspecific abnormalities on neurological examination (e.g., 'soft signs') and electroencephalographic testing that do not constitute a diagnosable Disease of the Nervous System. In the presence of such findings, Intermittent Explosive Disorder may still be diagnosed if the diagnostic requirements are met.
- Many individuals with Intermittent Explosive Disorder have a history of exposure to traumatic events, witnessing violence, or childhood physical abuse.
- Intermittent Explosive Disorder often co-occurs with Depressive Disorders, Anxiety or Fear-Related Disorders, Disorders Due to Substance Use, and Eating Disorders (especially those involving binge eating).

Boundary with Normality (Threshold):

• Aggressive outbursts, particularly verbal ones, are common, especially when the individual is under stress, and are not in themselves indicative of psychopathology. The mere occurrence of one or two isolated explosive episodes is not sufficient for the diagnosis, regardless of the severity or consequences of the behaviour. This diagnosis should only be considered when the intensity of the outbursts or the degree of the aggressiveness is grossly out of proportion to the provocation or precipitating event or situation and occur regularly over an extended period of time, so as to represent a persistent pattern of aggressive behaviour.

Course Features:

- The mean age of onset of Intermittent Explosive Disorder is between 10 and 16 years of age. Age of onset is typically earlier than common co-occurring disorders such as Depressive Disorders, Anxiety or Fear-Related Disorders, Eating Disorders, and Disorders Due to Substance Use.
- Intermittent Explosive Disorder tends to exhibit a persistent course over many years. Aggressive behaviour in general tends to diminish over time and the prevalence of Intermittent Explosive Disorder correspondingly diminishes over the lifespan.

Developmental Presentations:

- Early in the course of Intermittent Explosive Disorder, children typically display temper tantrums associated with verbal outbursts and aggression against objects, though typically without serious destruction of objects or assault against others.
- During adolescence, explosive outbursts often escalate to include destruction of objects or property or physical assault against others.

Culture-Related Features:

- Variation in prevalence of Intermittent Explosive Disorder may be related to cultural norms regarding emotion regulation. Some cultures emphasize emotional restraint, equanimity, interpersonal harmony, and social conformity such that individuals suppress or mute overt expressions of hostility or anger. In other cultures, freer expressions of negative affect are more typical. Whether or not a verbal expression is considered aggressive should be evaluated within the context of what is normative within the individual's culture.
- Societies vary in the degree to which they consider anger a harmful emotion, associated with substantial personal and social risk. Some cultural concepts of distress are attributed to pent-up anger, such as *ataque de nervios* (attack of nerves) in Latin America and *hwa-byung* (anger illness) in Korea. It may be appropriate to apply a diagnosis of Intermittent Explosive Disorder to some behavioural patterns of *ataque de nervios* involving paroxysmal violence and destruction of property.
- The typical level of expressed emotionality varies cross-culturally, including by gender and age. Cultural minorities, immigrants, or individuals in post-conflict settings may be at risk of being mislabelled as excessively angry because of this variation. Moreover, clinicians may misattribute anger to a single triggering event, when it is in reaction to the accumulation of multiple environmental stressors (e.g., discrimination, losses, displacement, limited social support, powerlessness, and injustice). Clinicians should consider the larger social context and how it may be related to the expression of anger before assigning a diagnosis.

Sex- and/or Gender-Related Features:

• Although it was originally believed that Intermittent Explosive Disorder was much more prevalent in males, recent community surveys suggest similar prevalence rates by gender. However, serious physical assault is a more common manifestation of the disorder in males, whereas less serious physical and verbal aggression is more characteristic of females.

- **Boundary with Autism Spectrum Disorder:** Explosive outbursts with aggressive behaviours may occur in some individuals with Autism Spectrum Disorder. These outbursts are usually associated with a specific trigger that is related to the core symptoms of Autism Spectrum Disorder (e.g., a change in routine, aversive sensory stimulation, anxiety, or rigidity when the individual's thoughts or behaviours are interrupted). Individuals with Intermittent Explosive Disorder do not exhibit other features of social communication difficulties and restricted or repetitive behaviours that are characteristic of Autism Spectrum Disorder.
- **Boundary with Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder:** Intermittent Explosive Disorder and Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder are both characterized by

impulsive behaviour. However, Intermittent Explosive Disorder is specifically characterized by intermittent severe aggressive outbursts rather than ongoing generalized behavioural impulsivity that may be seen in Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder. However, both diagnoses may be given if the full diagnostic requirements are met for each.

- **Boundary with Oppositional Defiant Disorder:** Regularly occurring severe temper outbursts that are grossly out of proportion in intensity or duration to the provocation may also occur in the context of Oppositional Defiant Disorder with chronic irritability-anger, particularly in response to demands by authority figures. In such cases, an additional diagnosis of Intermittent Explosive Disorder should not be assigned. Individuals with Oppositional Defiant Disorder, including defiant, headstrong, or vindictive behaviours, which are not characteristic of Intermittent Explosive Disorder are more likely to exhibit significant physical aggression.
- **Boundary with Conduct-Dissocial Disorder:** People with Intermittent Explosive Disorder may come into conflict with other people and with law enforcement because of their explosive outbursts, but these episodes do not constitute a more general pattern of antisocial behaviour characteristic of Conduct-Dissocial Disorder (e.g., rule violations, lying, theft). In addition, Intermittent Explosive Disorder is characterized by impulsive aggression, while aggression in Conduct-Dissocial Disorder is often premeditated and instrumental.
- **Boundary with Personality Disorder:** Due to interpersonal, occupational, and other consequences of a recurrent pattern of verbal and physical aggression, some individuals with Intermittent Explosive Disorder are likely to meet the diagnostic requirements for Personality Disorder with prominent features of disinhibition. Both diagnoses may be given if the full diagnostic requirements are met for each, but the utility of assigning an additional diagnosis of Personality Disorder in such cases depends on the specific clinical situation.
- **Boundary with other Mental, Behavioural or Neurodevelopmental Disorders:** Aggressive outbursts may occur as a part of a number of mental disorders (e.g., Disorders Specifically Associated with Stress, Mood Disorders, Schizophrenia or Other Primary Psychotic Disorders). In general, an additional diagnosis of Intermittent Explosive Disorder should not be given when the outbursts are better accounted for by another disorder.
- **Boundary with the effects of psychoactive substances, including medications:** Explosive aggressive behaviours may occur during substance intoxication or withdrawal. Intermittent Explosive Disorder should not be diagnosed if the outbursts are solely attributable to intoxication or the disinhibiting effects of alcohol, drugs, or medication. However, among individuals with Intermittent Explosive Disorder, alcohol and substance use are commonly associated with episodes of aggressive behaviour. In these situations, the distinction should be made based on the presence of features of Intermittent Explosive Disorder at times other than during episodes of intoxication.
- **Boundary with Malingering:** Some individuals who engage in recurrent acts of verbal or physical aggression may falsely report additional symptoms consistent with a diagnosis of Intermittent Explosive Disorder with the intent of obtaining a mental disorder diagnosis to avoid criminal charges or other negative consequences. Intermittent Explosive Disorder should not be diagnosed in such cases.
- **Boundary with Dementia and other medical conditions:** The diagnosis of Intermittent Explosive Disorder should not be assigned when the impulsive aggressive behaviours are

entirely explained by Dementia, a Disease of the Nervous System, including stroke, or another medical condition not classified under Mental, Behavioural, or Neurodevelopmental Disorders (e.g., a brain tumour).

6C7Y Other Specified Impulse Control Disorders

Essential (Required) Features:

- The presentation is characterized by symptoms that share primary clinical features with other Impulse Control Disorders; that is, persistently repeated behaviours in which there is failure to resist an impulse, drive, or urge to perform an act that is rewarding to the person, at least in the short-term, despite negative consequences such as longer-term harm either to the individual or to others.
- The symptoms do not fulfil the diagnostic requirements for any other disorder in the Impulse Control Disorders grouping.
- The symptoms are not characterized by recurrent and habitual actions directed at the integument (i.e., skin, hair), which should be classified under Body-Focused Repetitive Behaviour Disorders.
- The symptoms are not characterized by gambling, gaming, or other addictive behaviours.
- The symptoms are not better accounted for by another mental disorder (e.g., Dementia, a Disorder Due to Addictive Behaviours, an Obsessive-Compulsive or Related Disorder).
- The symptoms or behaviours are not developmentally appropriate or culturally sanctioned.
- The symptoms or behaviours are not a manifestation of another medical condition and are not due to the effects of a substance or medication on the central nervous system (e.g., methamphetamine or dopamine agonists such as pramipexole for Parkinson Disease or Restless Legs Syndrome), including substance intoxication and withdrawal effects.
- The symptoms result in significant distress or significant impairment in personal, family, social, educational, occupational or other important areas of functioning.

6C7Z Impulse Control Disorders, Unspecified

DISRUPTIVE BEHAVIOUR OR DISSOCIAL DISORDERS

Disruptive Behaviour or Dissocial Disorders are characterized by persistent behaviour problems across multiple settings with onset commonly, though not exclusively, during childhood. When present, these problems often persist into adulthood. These disorders are characterized by behaviours that range from those described as disruptive—that is, markedly and persistently defiant, disobedient, provocative or spiteful—to behaviours that are considered dissocial because they persistently violate the basic rights of others or major age-appropriate societal norms, rules, or laws.

A majority of individuals commit isolated acts of aggression or rule violation at some point in their lives, and this does not warrant the diagnosis of a Disruptive Behaviour or Dissocial Disorder. In all cases, the behaviours characteristic of the disorders in this grouping must clearly depart from the normal range for the individual's age and gender given their sociocultural context.

Disruptive Behaviour or Dissocial Disorders may co-occur with other Mental, Behavioural, or Neurodevelopmental Disorders. However, a separate diagnosis of a Disruptive Behaviour or Dissocial Disorder is not warranted if the disruptive behaviour is limited to symptomatic episodes of another mental disorder (e.g., defiant and noncompliant behaviour during a Depressive Episode), or if the behaviour is due to the effects of a substance or to another medical condition.

Disruptive Behaviour or Dissocial Disorders are frequently associated with psychosocial environments that include family dysfunction, problems with peers, coworkers, and romantic partners; and failure at school or work. Other psychosocial risk factors are common, such as peer rejection, deviant peer group influences, and parental mental disorder. Behaviours that are adaptive given the individual's environmental circumstances (e.g., running away from an abusive home; stealing in order to survive) should not be used as the sole basis for these diagnoses.

Disruptive Behaviour or Dissocial Disorders include the following:

| 6C90 | Oppositional Defiant Disorder |
|------|--|
| | 6C90.0 Oppositional Defiant Disorder, with chronic irritability-anger |
| | 6C90.1 Oppositional Defiant Disorder, without chronic irritability-anger |
| 6C91 | Conduct-Dissocial Disorder |
| | 6C91.0 Conduct-Dissocial Disorder, childhood onset |
| | 6C91.1 Conduct-Dissocial Disorder, adolescent onset |
| 6C9Y | Other Specified Disruptive Behaviour or Dissocial Disorders |

In addition, the following specifiers may be applied to all disorders in the Disruptive Behaviour or Dissocial Disorders grouping:

6C9x.x0 with limited prosocial emotions 6C9x.x1 with typical prosocial emotions

6C90 Oppositional Defiant Disorder

Essential (Required) Features:

- A pattern of markedly noncompliant, defiant, and disobedient behaviour that is atypical for individuals of comparable age, developmental level, gender, and sociocultural context. The pattern of behaviour may include:
 - Persistent difficulty getting along with others (e.g., arguing with authority figures, actively defying or refusing to comply with requests, directives, or rules, deliberately annoying others, blaming peers or co-workers for mistakes or misbehaviour).
 - Provocative, spiteful, or vindictive behaviour (e.g., antagonizing others; using social media to attack or mock others).
 - Extreme irritability or anger (e.g., being touchy or easily annoyed, losing temper, angry outbursts, being angry and resentful).
- The behaviour pattern has persisted for an extended period of time (e.g., 6 months or more).
- The oppositional behaviours are not better accounted for by relational problems between the individual and a particular authority figure toward whom the individual is behaving in a defiant manner. Examples may include parents, teachers, or supervisors who act antagonistically or place unreasonable demands on the individual.
- The behaviour pattern results in significant impairment in personal, family, social, educational or other important areas of functioning.

Specifiers for the presence or absence of chronic irritability-anger:

Two specifiers indicating the presence or absence of chronic irritability-anger can be assigned to the diagnosis of Oppositional Defiant Disorder.

6C90.0 Oppositional Defiant Disorder, with chronic irritability-anger

- All diagnostic requirements for Oppositional Defiant Disorder are met.
- Prevailing, persistent irritable mood or anger that is atypical for individuals of comparable age, developmental level, gender, and sociocultural context, including most of the following features:
 - Often feeling angry or resentful; showing bitterness toward others, or feeling as if things are unfair.
 - Often being touchy or easily annoyed; exhibiting oversensitivity or irritation to minimal or perceived provocations.
 - Often losing temper; exhibiting angry verbal or behavioural outbursts, which may include tantrums, destructive behaviours, or other forms of severe mood dysregulation.
- The anger or resentment, touchiness or annoyance, and loss of temper is out of proportion in intensity or duration to any provocation, and may be present independent of any apparent provocation.
- Chronic irritability and anger are characteristic of the individual's functioning nearly every day and are not limited to discrete periods, are observable across multiple settings or domains of functioning (e.g., home, school, social relationships), and are not restricted to the individual's relationship with their parents or guardians.
- The pattern of chronic irritability and anger is not better accounted for by another mental disorder (e.g., irritable mood in the context of Manic or Depressive Episodes).

• Individuals with this subtype usually also display other characteristic features of Oppositional Defiant Disorder, including defiant, headstrong, or vindictive behaviours.

6C90.1 Oppositional Defiant Disorder, without chronic irritability-anger

- All diagnostic requirements for Oppositional Defiant Disorder are met.
- Absence of prevailing, persistently angry or irritable mood. In these individuals, anger and irritability occur less frequently, and tend to be transitory, less severe, and less often out of proportion to the provocation as compared to individuals with chronic irritability-anger.

6C90.Z Oppositional Defiant Disorder, unspecified

Additional Clinical Features:

- Although often identified through parental report of noncompliant behaviour, the negative and antagonistic aspects of Oppositional Defiant Disorder also exert a broader negative influence on interactions with others outside the family. Oppositional Defiant Disorder is associated with peer rejection and interpersonal discord through the school years and into adulthood.
- Frequently, the oppositional defiant features have a provocative quality such that individuals initiate confrontations and may be seen as excessively rude and uncooperative.
- Younger children (e.g., 3 to 5 years of age), are typically more closely supervised and receive frequent instructions and limits imposed on them by authority figures (e.g., parents or other guardians, caregivers, teachers). As children grow older, direct demands by authority figures typically become less frequent. Moreover, others interacting with children or adolescents with Oppositional Defiant Disorder may come to avoid placing demands on them due to their negative response. Therefore, a diagnosis is not precluded because oppositional or defiant behaviours occur relatively infrequently, as long as they characterize most interactions with authority figures.
- Adults with Oppositional Defiant Disorder continue to experience conflictual relationships with parents and family members and have generally poorer social support networks. This affects the number and quality of their friendships and romantic relationships. They typically struggle to function in the workplace due to difficulties in their interactions with supervisors and co-workers.
- Features of irritability and anger (e.g., being touchy or easily annoyed, losing temper, being angry and resentful) are sometimes the predominant characteristics of the clinical presentation. However, irritability and anger alone are neither necessary nor sufficient for the diagnosis. These symptoms must be accompanied by a pattern of markedly noncompliant, defiant, and disobedient behaviour that is atypical for individuals of comparable age and developmental level. The presence of chronic irritability and anger is indicated by using the corresponding specifier.
- Oppositional Defiant Disorder with chronic irritability-anger is not necessarily more severe or rare than Oppositional Defiant Disorder without chronic irritability-anger. Rather, Oppositional Defiant Disorder with chronic irritability-anger identifies a pattern

of mood dysregulation that can range in severity from frequent and impairing tantrums to extreme presentations of the mood dysregulation.

- Individuals with Oppositional Defiant Disorder may present with limited prosocial emotions. When assessing for Oppositional Defiant Disorder, the clinician should also assess for limited prosocial emotions, and, if present, assign the appropriate specifier (see p. 502). Individuals with Oppositional Defiant Disorder with limited prosocial emotions are more likely to exhibit a more persistent and severe pattern of antisocial behaviour that may subsequently meet the diagnostic requirements for Conduct-Dissocial Disorder.
- Oppositional Defiant Disorder in childhood frequently co-occurs with Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder, Conduct-Dissocial Disorder, and internalizing disorders such as Depressive Disorders or Anxiety or Fear-Related Disorders.

Boundary with Normality (Threshold):

• Transient noncompliance, defiance, and disobedience including irritability or anger can occur within the normal range of behaviour as a part of typical development or in response to increased demands on the developing child, changes in the child's environment (e.g., transition to a new school or city), or as a manifestation of normative anxiety in the context of specific tasks or situations (e.g., going to school and separating from parents for the first time). The presence of such behaviours should not be taken as evidence for a presumptive diagnosis of Oppositional-Defiant Disorder. Oppositional-Defiant Disorder should only be diagnosed when there is a persistent pattern of markedly noncompliant, defiant, and disobedient behaviour that is atypical considering the individual's age, gender, and social-cultural context.

Course Features:

- The heterogeneity of presentations in Oppositional Defiant Disorder has meaningful clinical and prognostic implications. Oppositional Defiant Disorder can be a developmental precursor for the development of Conduct-Dissocial Disorder, especially when the presentation of Oppositional Defiant Disorder includes severely defiant or spiteful/vindictive behaviours. However, many children with Oppositional Defiant Disorder.
- A diagnosis of Oppositional Defiant Disorder with chronic irritability and anger is associated with the subsequent development of Depressive Disorders and Anxiety or Fear-Related Disorders.

Developmental Presentations:

- Typical age of onset of Oppositional Defiant Disorder is in middle childhood with initial symptoms typically appearing at preschool age. Symptoms rarely emerge for the first time later than early adolescence.
- Prevalence rates of Oppositional Defiant Disorder are estimated at 3.3% among children and adolescents (aged 6 18). Although rates are equivalent among preschool-aged boys and girls as well as adolescents and adults, higher rates are observed among school-aged boys (ratio of 1.4:1). Some evidence suggests that the overall prevalence of Oppositional Defiant Disorder decreases beginning in adolescence and young adulthood.

- Oppositional Defiant Disorder is more common among children and adolescents whose families have experienced substantial disruptions in care-giving relationships or in which parenting practices tend to be harsh, inconsistent, or neglectful.
- Although oppositional and argumentative behaviours are common in typically developing children, unlike in Oppositional Defiant Disorder, these behaviours tend to be transient and do not consistently negatively impact the child's functioning and development.
- Oppositional Defiant Disorder has been associated with greater peer rejection, heightened interpersonal conflict, and increased risk for co-occurring and subsequent difficulties in adjustment throughout childhood and adulthood.

Culture-Related Features:

- There is substantial variation in the prevalence of Oppositional Defiant Disorder across cultures. These differences may be related to cultural norms regarding uncooperative or defiant behaviour in children. For example, cultures that value obedience highly may have a lower threshold for considering a child's behaviour to be noncompliant, defiant, or disobedient. The behaviours relevant to assigning a diagnosis of Oppositional Defiant Disorder should be evaluated in relation to social, cultural and subgroup norms.
- Variation in the prevalence of Oppositional Defiant Disorder and Conduct-Dissocial Disorder across cultural groups may be related to differences in family structure and behaviour. Lower prevalence may be associated with stricter disciplinary practices at home, strong emphasis on educational or occupational attainment, and cultural values that disapprove of an antisocial lifestyle.

Sex- and/or Gender-Related Features:

• Prevalence of Oppositional Defiant Disorder is higher among school-aged boys than school-aged girls, but does not appear to differ by gender at other points across the lifespan.

- **Boundary with Conduct-Dissocial Disorder:** The behaviour problems associated with Oppositional Defiant Disorder are largely characterized by interpersonal conflict with authority figures and difficulty getting along with others. In contrast, Conduct-Dissocial Disorder is characterized by a repetitive and persistent pattern of more severe and dissocial behaviour in which the basic rights of others or major age-appropriate social or cultural norms, rules, or laws are violated (e.g., aggression toward people or animals, destruction of property, deceitfulness or theft, serious violations of rules). However, individuals with Conduct-Dissocial Disorder often demonstrate a range or history of behaviour problems that may include the interpersonal difficulties characteristic of Oppositional Defiant Disorder. Both diagnoses may be given if the full diagnostic requirements are met for each.
- **Boundary with Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder:** Individuals with Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder often have difficulty following directions, complying with rules, and getting along with others. When these disruptive behaviours are better accounted for by inattention or hyperactivity-impulsivity (e.g., failure to follow long and complicated directions, difficulty remaining seated or staying on-task when asked), Oppositional Defiant Disorder should not be diagnosed. In Oppositional Defiant

Disorder, the pattern of noncompliance is characterized by disobedience, beyond problems with attention and behavioural inhibition. However, Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder and Oppositional Defiant Disorder commonly co-occur and both diagnoses may be given if the full diagnostic requirements are met for both disorders.

- **Boundary with Autism Spectrum Disorder:** Noncompliant and other disruptive behaviours characteristic of Oppositional Defiant Disorder should be distinguished from behaviour problems that are common among individuals with Autism Spectrum Disorder. The key difference is that, in Autism Spectrum Disorder, disruptive behaviours are often associated with specific environmental factors (e.g., sudden change in routine, aversive sensory stimulation), or the noncompliance is a consequence of the core symptoms of that disorder (e.g., social communication deficits, restricted, repetitive, inflexible patterns of behaviour, sensory sensitivities) rather than reflecting an intention to be provocative or spiteful. Individuals with Oppositional Defiant Disorder do not typically exhibit the social communication deficits and restricted, repetitive, and inflexible patterns of behaviour, interests, or activities that are characteristic of Autism Spectrum Disorder.
- **Boundary with Mood Disorders:** It is common, particularly in children and adolescents, for patterns of noncompliance and symptoms of irritability/anger to occur as a feature of a Mood Episode. Specifically, noncompliance may result from a number of depressive symptoms (e.g., diminished interest or pleasure in activities, difficulty concentrating, hopelessness, psychomotor retardation, reduced energy). During Manic, Mixed or Hypomanic Episodes, individuals are less likely to follow rules and comply with directions. Moreover, in children and adolescents, depressive, manic, or hypomanic mood can manifest as irritability. When the behaviour problems occur entirely in the context of Mood Episodes, a separate diagnosis of Oppositional Defiant Disorder should not be assigned.
- **Boundary with Anxiety or Fear-Related Disorders:** In children and adolescents, symptoms of Anxiety or Fear-Related Disorders can sometimes manifest as noncompliance, defiance, and disobedience including irritability or anger. For example, children may exhibit angry outbursts and refuse to comply with requests when presented with a task or a situation that makes them feel anxious (e.g., when a child with Social Anxiety Disorder is asked to make a presentation in class). These behaviours are typically a manifestation of a desire on the part of the child or adolescent to avoid the feared situation or stimulus. Furthermore, children and adolescents with Anxiety or Fear-Related Disorders do not typically exhibit provocative, spiteful, or vindictive behaviour. If the defiant behaviour occurs only in response to situations or stimuli that elicit anxiety, fear, or panic, Oppositional Defiant Disorder should not be diagnosed.
- **Boundary with Intermittent Explosive Disorder:** Regularly occurring severe temper outbursts that are grossly out of proportion in intensity or duration to the provocation are the core symptom of Intermittent Explosive Disorder but may also occur in the context of Oppositional Defiant Disorder with chronic irritability-anger. Individuals with Oppositional Defiant Disorder with chronic irritability-anger typically display other features of Oppositional Defiant Disorder, including defiant, headstrong, or vindictive behaviours, which are not characteristic of Intermittent Explosive Disorder. In addition, individuals with Intermittent Explosive Disorder are more likely to exhibit significant physical aggression.

6C91 Conduct-Dissocial Disorder

Essential (Required) Features:

- A repetitive and persistent pattern of behaviour in which the basic rights of others or major age-appropriate social or cultural norms, rules, or laws are violated. Typically, there are multiple behaviours involved, including one or more of the following:
 - Aggression towards people or animals, such as bullying, threatening or intimidating others, instigating physical fights, using weapons that can cause serious physical harm to others (such as a brick, broken bottle, knife or gun), physical cruelty to people, physical cruelty to animals, aggressive forms of stealing (e.g., mugging, purse snatching, extortion), or forcing someone into sexual activity.
 - *Destruction of property,* such as deliberate fire setting with the intention of causing serious damage or deliberate destruction of others' property (e.g., purposely breaking other children's toys, breaking windows, scratching cars, slashing tires).
 - *Deceitfulness or theft,* such as stealing items of value (e.g., shoplifting, forgery), lying to obtain goods or favours or to avoid obligations (e.g., 'conning' others), or breaking into someone's house, building or car.
 - Serious violations of rules, such as children or adolescents repeatedly staying out all night despite parental prohibitions, repeatedly running away from home, or often skipping school or work without permission.
- The pattern of behaviour must be persistent and recurrent, including multiple incidents of the types of behaviours described above over an extended period of time (e.g., at least 1 year). The mere commission of one or more delinquent acts is not sufficient for the diagnosis.
- The behaviour pattern results in significant impairment in personal, family, social, educational, occupational or other important areas of functioning.

Specifiers for age of onset:

Two subtypes related to age of onset can be specified in individuals who meet the diagnostic requirements for Conduct-Dissocial Disorder.

6C91.0 Conduct-Dissocial Disorder, childhood onset

- All diagnostic requirements for Conduct-Dissocial Disorder are met.
- One or more features of the disorder have clearly been present and persistent during childhood prior to adolescence (e.g., before 10 years of age).

6C91.1 Conduct-Dissocial Disorder, adolescent onset

- All diagnostic requirements for Conduct-Dissocial Disorder are met.
- None of the features of the disorder were present prior to adolescence (e.g., before 10 years of age).

6C91.Z Conduct-Dissocial Disorder, unspecified

Additional Clinical Features:

- Individuals with Conduct-Dissocial Disorder may be part of a delinquent peer group where delinquent activities are often conducted in association with peers. This may be particularly common among those with adolescent onset.
- The relationship between Conduct-Dissocial Disorder and Oppositional Defiant Disorder has historically been conceptualized as hierarchical and developmental in nature, with Conduct-Dissocial Disorder being generally considered as more severe than, and commonly preceded by, Oppositional Defiant Disorder. However, Conduct-Dissocial Disorder frequently co-occurs and can be diagnosed with Oppositional Defiant Disorder, particularly among individuals with a more persistent history of behaviour problems.
- Individuals with Conduct-Dissocial Disorder with limited prosocial emotions (see p. 502) and individuals with Conduct-Dissocial Disorder, childhood onset are at greater risk for exhibiting a more persistent and severe pattern of antisocial behaviour over time. However, the subtypes for age of onset and the specifier for prosocial emotions are distinct characteristics that should be considered separately. In particular, childhood onset does not necessarily indicate that the individual will exhibit limited prosocial emotions.
- Conduct-Dissocial Disorder frequently co-occurs with Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder, Developmental Learning Disorder, Anxiety or Fear-Related Disorders, Mood Disorders, and Disorders Due to Substance Use.

Boundary with Normality (Threshold):

- Engaging in political protests should not be regarded as indicating the presence of Conduct-Dissocial Disorder.
- The behaviours that contribute to a diagnosis of Conduct-Dissocial Disorder can include criminal offenses and may entail legal or disciplinary repercussions, particularly for adolescents and adults. At the same time, many individuals who commit such criminal offenses do not exhibit a persistent and recurrent pattern of antisocial behaviour in which the basic rights of others or major age-appropriate social or cultural norms, rules, or laws are violated. Criminal behaviours may occur impulsively or opportunistically, or in relation to substance use or intoxication. Clinical assessment and diagnosis should focus on the broader pattern of behaviour rather than solely on the criminality of specific behaviours or incidents.

Course Features:

- Earlier age of onset and greater symptom severity are predictive of worse prognosis with these individuals being more likely to engage in criminal behaviour and substance abuse as well as experience additional co-occurring mental and behavioural disorder diagnoses during adulthood.
- The course of Conduct-Dissocial Disorder is highly variable with some individuals experiencing a full remission of symptoms by adulthood. Initial symptoms of Conduct-Dissocial Disorder are typically less severe in form (e.g., lying) but may progress in their severity over time (e.g., assault). There are significant individual differences in course features and progression of symptoms over time.
- When Conduct-Dissocial Disorder is present in adulthood it has generally been preceded by a history of serious behaviour problems during childhood and adolescence.

• The persistence of Conduct-Dissocial Disorder into adulthood is often marked by continuity in types of behaviour problems (e.g., property violations in contrast to theft). Individuals with Conduct-Dissocial Disorder who are violent during adolescence typically continue to engage in more frequent violence than their peers in adulthood. Status offenses (e.g., running away, truancy) are less relevant in adulthood but are a risk factor for continuing rule-breaking behaviour and criminal arrest.

Developmental Presentations:

• Although onset of Conduct-Dissocial Disorder can occur in early childhood during the preschool years, typical age of onset is during early to middle adolescence. Onset of Conduct-Dissocial Disorder is rare after the age of 16.

Culture-Related Features:

- Assessment of conduct problems should account for contextual factors to determine whether a diagnosis is appropriate. In some cultural settings, for example, school-age children may be away from school for long periods of seasonal employment, rather than for conduct reasons. Alternatively, in communities with high levels of organized violence (e.g., gangs) or in the midst of civil conflict or war (e.g., where children as recruited as soldiers), children may be coerced into participating in interpersonal violence or property theft, which they may carry out for their own survival. A diagnosis of Conduct-Dissocial Disorder should not be assigned in such cases.
- Conduct-Dissocial Disorder in adolescents often co-occurs with Disorders Due to Substance Use, especially those associated with use of alcohol. The rates of co-occurrence are influenced by sociocultural variation in availability of substances.

Sex- and/or Gender-Related Features:

- Conduct-Dissocial Disorder is more common among males.
- Males with Conduct-Dissocial Disorder are more likely to exhibit symptoms of stealing, vandalism, fighting, and school discipline problems, whereas females are more likely to exhibit lying, truancy, substance abuse, absconding, and prostitution.
- Males with Conduct-Dissocial Disorder more commonly exhibit both physical and relational aggression, whereas females are more likely to exclusively exhibit relational aggression.

- **Boundary with Oppositional Defiant Disorder:** For a diagnosis of Conduct-Dissocial Disorder to be assigned, the pattern of behaviour must be severe and dissocial (i.e., violating major rules, norms, or the rights of others), such that it extends beyond the noncompliant and defiant behaviours that are characteristic of Oppositional Defiant Disorder. However, Oppositional Defiant Disorder and Conduct-Dissocial Disorder frequently co-occur, particularly among adolescents and individuals with a more persistent history of behaviour problems, and may be diagnosed together if the full diagnostic requirements for both disorders are met.
- **Boundary with Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder:** Individuals with Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder may exhibit disruptive behaviours as a result of their

impulsivity or hyperactivity; however, these disruptive behaviours are not typically severe and dissocial in nature (i.e., they do not violate major rules, norms, or the rights of others), and therefore would not warrant an additional diagnosis of Conduct-Dissocial Disorder. However, Conduct-Dissocial Disorder and Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder can co-occur, and both may be diagnosed if the full diagnostic requirements for both disorders are met.

- **Boundary with Mood Disorders:** Conduct problems, aggressive behaviours, risky behaviours, and irritability/anger can occur in the context of Mood Episodes (Depressive, Manic, Mixed, or Hypomanic). Moreover, in children and adolescents, depressive, manic, or hypomanic mood can manifest as irritability. When the behaviour problems occur entirely in the context of Mood Episodes, a separate diagnosis of Conduct-Dissocial Disorder is generally not warranted.
- **Boundary with Intermittent Explosive Disorder:** Individuals with Intermittent Explosive Disorder may come into conflict with other people and the law because of their explosive outbursts, but these episodes do not constitute a more general pattern of antisocial behaviour characteristic of Conduct-Dissocial Disorder (e.g., rule violations, lying, theft). In addition, Intermittent Explosive Disorder is characterized by impulsive aggression, while aggression in Conduct-Dissocial Disorder is often premeditated and instrumental.
- **Boundary with Personality Disorder:** Conduct-Dissocial Disorder is not a Personality • Disorder, although it is related to specific Personality Disorder categories in the clinical and research nomenclature (i.e., Dissocial Personality Disorder, Antisocial Personality Disorder). Personality Disorder is characterized by a relatively enduring and pervasive disturbance in how individuals experience and interpret themselves, others, and the world that results in maladaptive patterns of cognition, emotional experience, emotional expression, and behaviour. These maladaptive patterns lead to significant problems in psychosocial functioning that are particularly evident in interpersonal relationships, manifested across a range of personal and social situations (i.e., not limited to specific relationships or situations). Individuals with Personality Disorder may have prominent dissocial features as an aspect of personality traits. The diagnosis of Conduct-Dissocial Disorder is made based on a recurrent pattern of antisocial behaviour that may range in duration from a discrete period lasting a number of months to a pattern that persists across the lifespan. Conduct-Dissocial Disorder and Personality Disorder can co-occur, and both may be diagnosed if the full diagnostic requirements for both disorders are met.
- **Boundary with Disorders Due to Substance Use:** If the pattern of dissocial behaviour is limited to obtaining or using illicit substances, or if the behaviour is exclusively related to the effects of intoxication, dependence, or withdrawal, Conduct-Dissocial Disorder should not be diagnosed and a Disorder Due to Substance Use should be considered instead. At the same time, co-occurrence of episodes of dissocial behaviour and substance use is common among individuals with Conduct-Dissocial Disorder. This distinction may therefore depend on a complex clinical judgment that takes into account the onset, sequencing, and context of the relevant behaviours. However, Conduct-Dissocial Disorder and Disorders Due to Substance Use frequently co-occur, and both may be diagnosed if the full diagnostic requirements are met.

Specifier Applicable to Oppositional Defiant Disorder and Conduct-Dissocial Disorder

Specifiers for limited or typical prosocial emotions:

The specifier 'with limited prosocial emotions' may be applied to individuals who meet the diagnostic requirements for Oppositional Defiant Disorder or Conduct-Dissocial Disorder and also exhibit a pattern of limited prosocial emotions sometimes referred to as 'callous and unemotional traits.' Individuals with these characteristics represent a minority of those with Disruptive Behaviour and Dissocial Disorders diagnoses. The 'with limited prosocial emotions' specifier represents a relatively more severe and less common presentation of Disruptive Behaviour or Dissocial Disorders, compared to those with these diagnoses and typical prosocial emotions.

In evaluating prosocial emotions, it is important to obtain information from others who have known the individual for an extended period of time, in addition to the individual's self-report of their own behaviours and experience.

Limited or typical prosocial emotions in individuals with Oppositional Defiant Disorder or Conduct-Dissocial Disorder can be specified as follows:

6C9x.y0 with limited prosocial emotions

- In the context of a diagnosis of Disruptive Behaviour or Dissocial Disorders, the presence of a characteristic social-emotional pattern in which several of the following features are repeatedly manifested:
 - *Limited or absent empathy or sensitivity* to others' feelings or concern for their distress; the individual is more concerned with how behaviours affect himself/herself rather than how they affect others, even if they cause harm.
 - *Limited or absent remorse, shame, or guilt* over one's own behaviour (unless prompted by being apprehended); lack of concern about the consequences of his/her actions on others and relative indifference toward the probability of punishment.
 - *Limited or absent concern over poor/problematic performance* in school, work, or other important activities; may put forth little effort and blame others for his/her poor performance.
 - *Limited or shallow expression of emotions,* particularly positive or loving feelings toward others; emotional expression may appear shallow, superficial, insincere, or instrumental.
- This pattern is pervasive across situations and relationships (i.e., the specifier should not be applied based on a single characteristic, a single relationship, or a single instance of behaviour).
- The pattern is persistent over time (e.g., at least 1 year).
- Among individuals with Oppositional Defiant Disorder, those with limited prosocial emotions tend to display a particularly extreme and stable pattern of oppositional behaviours. Among those with Conduct-Dissocial Disorder, those with limited prosocial emotions tend to display a particularly severe, aggressive and stable pattern of antisocial behaviours.

6C9x.y1 with typical prosocial emotions

- In the context of a diagnosis of Disruptive Behaviour or Dissocial Disorders, this specifier represents a more common pattern of Oppositional Defiant Disorder or Conduct-Dissocial Disorder that is not characterized by the features of limited prosocial emotions.
- Although some features similar to limited prosocial emotions (e.g., low concern, limited remorse) may be evident at times, they are generally infrequent, transitory, and less pronounced and do not represent a persistent pervasive pattern of social-emotional deficits.
- Most individuals with Disruptive Behaviour or Dissocial Disorders exhibit typical prosocial emotions.

6C9x.yZ unspecified

6C9Y Other Specified Disruptive Behaviour or Dissocial Disorders

Essential (Required) Features:

- The presentation is characterized by disruptive or dissocial symptoms that share primary clinical features with other Disruptive Behaviour or Dissocial Disorders (i.e., persistent behaviour problems across multiple settings that range from markedly and persistently defiant, disobedient, provocative or spiteful to those that persistently violate the basic rights of others or major age-appropriate societal norms, rules, or laws).
- The disruptive or dissocial symptoms do not fulfil the diagnostic requirements for Oppositional Defiant Disorder or Conduct-Dissocial Disorder.
- The symptoms are not better accounted for by another Mental, Behavioural, or Neurodevelopmental Disorder (e.g., Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder, a Mood Disorder, an Anxiety or Fear-Related Disorder).
- The behaviour pattern has persisted for an extended period of time (e.g., 6 months or more).
- The symptoms and behaviours are not developmentally appropriate or culturally sanctioned.
- The symptoms and behaviours are not a manifestation of another medical condition and are not due to the effects of a substance or medication on the central nervous system, including withdrawal effects.
- The symptoms result in significant impairment in personal, family, social, educational, occupational or other important areas of functioning.

6C9Z Disruptive Behaviour or Dissocial Disorders, Unspecified

PERSONALITY DISORDERS AND RELATED TRAITS

Personality refers to an individual's characteristic way of behaving, experiencing life, and of perceiving and interpreting themselves, other people, events, and situations. Personality Disorder is a marked disturbance in personality functioning, which is nearly always associated with considerable personal and social disruption. The central manifestations of Personality Disorder are impairments in functioning of aspects of the self (e.g., identity, self-worth, capacity for self-direction) and/or problems in interpersonal functioning (e.g., developing and maintaining close and mutually satisfying relationships, understanding others' perspectives, managing conflict in relationships). Impairments in self-functioning and/or interpersonal functioning are manifested in maladaptive (e.g., inflexible or poorly regulated) patterns of cognition, emotional experience, emotional expression, and behaviour.

The following diagnostic requirements for Personality Disorder first present a set of Essential Features, all of which must be present to diagnose a Personality Disorder. Once the diagnosis of a Personality Disorder has been established, it should be described in terms of its level of severity:

| 6D10.0 | Mild Personality Disorder |
|--------|-------------------------------|
| 6D10.1 | Moderate Personality Disorder |
| 6D10.2 | Severe Personality Disorder |

Also listed in this grouping is:

QE50.7 Personality Difficulty

Personality Difficulty is not classified as a mental disorder, but rather is listed in the grouping of Problems Associated with Interpersonal Interactions in the chapter on Factors Influencing Health Status or Contact with Health Services. Personality Difficulty refers to pronounced personality characteristics that may affect treatment or health services but do not rise to the level of severity to merit a diagnosis of Personality Disorder.

Personality Disorder and Personality Difficulty can be further described using five trait domain specifiers. These trait domains describe the characteristics of the individual's personality that are most prominent and that contribute to personality disturbance. As many as necessary to describe personality functioning should be applied.

Trait domain specifiers that may be recorded include the following:

6D11.0Negative Affectivity 6D11.1Detachment 6D11.2Dissociality 6D11.3Disinhibition 6D11.4Anankastia

More detailed guidance about the personality characteristics reflected in the trait domain specifiers is provided in the following sections.

Clinicians may also wish to add an additional specifier for 'Borderline pattern':

6D11.5Borderline pattern

The Borderline pattern specifier has been included to enhance the clinical utility of the classification of Personality Disorder. Specifically, use of this specifier may facilitate the identification of individuals who may respond to certain psychotherapeutic treatments.

A complete description of a particular case of Personality Disorder includes the rating of the severity level and the assignment of the applicable trait domain specifiers (e.g., Mild Personality Disorder with Negative Affectivity and Anankastia; Severe Personality Disorder with Dissociality and Disinhibition.) The Borderline pattern specifier is considered optional but, if used, should ideally be used in combination with the trait domain specifiers (e.g., Moderate Personality Disorder with Negative Affectivity, Dissociality, and Disinhibition, Borderline pattern).

6D10 General Diagnostic Requirements for Personality Disorder

Essential (Required) Features:

- An enduring disturbance characterized by problems in functioning of aspects of the self (e.g., identity, self-worth, accuracy of self-view, self-direction), and/or interpersonal dysfunction (e.g., ability to develop and maintain close and mutually satisfying relationships, ability to understand others' perspectives and to manage conflict in relationships).
- The disturbance has persisted over an extended period of time (e.g., lasting 2 years or more).
- The disturbance is manifest in patterns of cognition, emotional experience, emotional expression, and behaviour that are maladaptive (e.g., inflexible or poorly regulated).
- The disturbance is manifest across a range of personal and social situations (i.e., is not limited to specific relationships or social roles), though it may be consistently evoked by particular types of circumstances and not others.
- The symptoms are not due to the direct effects of a medication or substance, including withdrawal effects, and are not better accounted for by another mental disorder, a Disease of the Nervous System, or another medical condition.
- The disturbance is associated with substantial distress or significant impairment in personal, family, social, educational, occupational or other important areas of functioning.
- Personality Disorder should not be diagnosed if the patterns of behaviour characterizing the personality disturbance are developmentally appropriate (e.g., problems related to establishing an independent self-identity during adolescence) or can be explained primarily by social or cultural factors, including socio-political conflict.

Severity of Personality Disorder:

The areas of personality functioning shown in Table 6.18 should be considered in making a severity determination for individuals who meet the general diagnostic requirements for Personality Disorder.

Table 6.18. Aspects of Personality Functioning That Contribute to Severity Determination in Personality Disorder

- Degree and pervasiveness of disturbances in functioning of aspects of the self:
 - Stability and coherence of one's sense of identity (e.g., extent to which identity or sense of self is variable and inconsistent or overly rigid and fixed).
 - Ability to maintain an overall positive and stable sense of self-worth.
 - Accuracy of one's view of one's characteristics, strengths, limitations.
 - Capacity for self-direction (ability to plan, choose, and implement appropriate goals).
- Degree and pervasiveness of interpersonal dysfunction across various contexts and relationships (e.g., romantic relationships, school/work, parent-child, family, friendships, peer contexts):
 - Interest in engaging in relationships with others.
 - Ability to understand and appreciate others' perspectives.
 - Ability to develop and maintain close and mutually satisfying relationships.
 - Ability to manage conflict in relationships.
- Pervasiveness, severity, and chronicity of emotional, cognitive, and behavioural manifestations of the personality dysfunction:

Emotional manifestations:

- Range and appropriateness of emotional experience and expression.
- Tendency to be emotionally over- or underreactive.
- Ability to recognize and acknowledge emotions that are difficult or unwanted by the individual (e.g., anger, sadness).

Cognitive manifestations:

- o Accuracy of situational and interpersonal appraisals, especially under stress.
- Ability to make appropriate decisions in situations of uncertainty.
- Appropriate stability and flexibility of belief systems.

Behavioural manifestations:

- Flexibility in controlling impulses and modulating behaviour based on the situation and consideration of the consequences.
- Appropriateness of behavioural responses to intense emotions and stressful circumstances (e.g., propensity to self-harm or violence).
- The extent to which the dysfunctions in the above areas are associated with distress or impairment in personal, family, social, educational, occupational or other important areas of functioning.

6D10.0 Mild Personality Disorder

Essential (Required) Features:

- All general diagnostic requirements for Personality Disorder are met.
- Disturbances affect some areas of functioning of the self but not others (e.g., problems with self-direction in the absence of problems with stability and coherence of identity or self-worth; see Table 6.18), or affect all areas but are of mild severity, and may not be apparent in some contexts.

- There are problems in many interpersonal relationships or in performance of expected occupational and social roles, but some relationships are maintained and/or some roles fulfilled.
- Specific manifestations of personality disturbances are generally of mild severity (see below for examples).
- Mild Personality Disorder is typically not associated with substantial harm to self or others.
- Mild Personality Disorder may be associated with substantial distress or with impairment in personal, family, social, educational, occupational or other important areas of functioning that is either limited to circumscribed areas (e.g., romantic relationships; employment) or present in more areas but of milder severity.

Examples of specific personality disturbances in Mild Personality Disorder

Note: This list of examples is not exhaustive and not intended to suggest that all items will be present in any single individual.

- The individual's sense of self may be somewhat contradictory and inconsistent with how others view them.
- The individual has difficulty recovering from injuries to self-esteem.
- The individual's ability to set appropriate goals and to work towards them is compromised; the individual has difficulty handling even minor setbacks.
- The individual may have conflicts with supervisors and co-workers, but is generally able to sustain employment.
- The individual's limitations in the ability to understand and appreciate others' perspectives create difficulties in developing close and mutually satisfying relationships.
- There may be estrangement in some relationships, but relationships are more commonly characterized by intermittent or frequent, minor conflicts that are not so severe that they cause serious and long-standing disruption.
- Alternatively, relationships may be characterized by dependence and avoidance of conflict by giving in to others, even at some cost to themselves.
- Under stress, there may be some distortions in the individual's situational and interpersonal appraisals but reality testing typically remains intact.

6D10.1 Moderate Personality Disorder

Essential (Required) Features:

- All general diagnostic requirements for Personality Disorder are met.
- Disturbances affect multiple areas of functioning of the self (e.g., stability and coherence of identity, self-worth, self-direction; see Table 6.18) and are of moderate severity.
- There are marked problems in most interpersonal relationships and the performance of most expected social and occupational roles is compromised to some degree.
- Relationships are likely to be characterized by conflict, avoidance, withdrawal, or extreme dependency (e.g., few friendships maintained, persistent conflict in work relationships and consequent occupational problems, romantic relationships characterized by serious disruption or inappropriate submissiveness).

- Specific manifestations of personality disturbance are generally of moderate severity (see below for examples).
- Moderate Personality Disorder is sometimes associated with harm to self or others.
- Moderate Personality Disorder is associated with marked impairment in personal, family, social, educational, occupational or other important areas of functioning, although functioning in circumscribed areas may be maintained.

Examples of specific personality disturbances in Moderate Personality Disorder

Note: This list of examples is not exhaustive and not intended to suggest that all items will be present in any single individual.

- The individual's sense of self may become incoherent in times of crisis.
- The individual has considerable difficulty maintaining positive self-esteem or, alternatively, has an unrealistically positive self-view that is not modified by evidence to the contrary.
- The individual exhibits poor emotion regulation in the face of setbacks, often becoming highly upset and giving up easily. Alternatively, the individual may persist unreasonably in pursuit of goals that have no chance of success.
- The individual may exhibit little genuine interest in or efforts toward sustained employment.
- Major limitations in the ability to understand and appreciate others' perspectives hinder developing close and mutually satisfying relationships.
- There are persistent problems in those relationships that do exist. They may be characterized by frequent, serious, and volatile conflict, or be significantly unbalanced (e.g., the individual is highly dominant or highly submissive).
- Under stress there are marked distortions in the individual's situational and interpersonal appraisals. There may be mild dissociative states or psychotic-like beliefs or perceptions (e.g., paranoid ideas).

6D10.2 Severe Personality Disorder

Essential (Required) Features:

- All general diagnostic requirements for Personality Disorder are met.
- There are severe disturbances in multiple areas of functioning of the self (e.g., sense of self may be so unstable that individuals report not having a sense of who they are or so rigid that they refuse to participate in any but an extremely narrow range of situations; self view may be characterized by self-contempt or be grandiose or highly eccentric; See Table 6.18).
- Problems in interpersonal functioning seriously affect virtually all relationships and the ability and willingness to perform expected social and occupational roles is severely compromised or absent.
- Specific manifestations of personality disturbance are severe (see below for examples) and affect most, if not all, areas of personality functioning.
- Severe Personality Disorder is often associated with harm to self or others.

• Severe Personality Disorder is associated with severe impairment in all or nearly all areas of life, including personal, family, social, educational, occupational, and other important areas of functioning.

Examples of specific personality disturbances in Severe Personality Disorder

Note: This list of examples is not exhaustive and not intended to suggest that all items will be present in any single individual.

- The individual's self-view is very unrealistic and typically is highly unstable or contradictory.
- The individual has serious difficulty with regulation of self-esteem, emotional experience and expression, and impulses, as well as other aspects of behaviour (e.g., perseveration, indecision).
- The individual is largely unable to set and pursue realistic goals.
- The individual's interpersonal relationships, if any, lack mutuality; are shallow, extremely one-sided, unstable, or highly conflictual, often to the point of violence. Family relationships are absent (despite having living relatives) or marred by significant conflict.
- The individual has extreme difficulty acknowledging difficult or unwanted emotions (e.g., does not recognize or acknowledge experiencing anger, sadness, or other emotions).
- The individual is unwilling or unable to sustain regular work due to lack of interest or effort, poor performance (e.g., failure to complete assignments or perform expected roles, unreliability), interpersonal difficulties, or inappropriate behaviour (e.g., fits of temper, insubordination).
- Under stress, there are extreme distortions in the individual's situational and interpersonal appraisals. There are often dissociative states or psychotic-like beliefs or perceptions (e.g., extreme paranoid reactions).

6D10.Z Personality Disorder, Severity Unspecified

QE50.7 Personality Difficulty

As noted, Personality Difficulty is not considered a mental disorder, but rather is listed in the grouping of Problems Associated with Interpersonal Interactions in the chapter on Factors Influencing Health Status or Contact with Health Services. Personality Difficulty refers to pronounced personality characteristics that may affect treatment or health services but do not rise to the level of severity to merit a diagnosis of Personality disorder.

Personality Difficulty is characterized by long-standing difficulties (e.g., at least 2 years), in the individual's way of experiencing and thinking about the self, others and the world. In contrast to Personality Disorder, Personality Difficulty is manifested in cognitive and emotional experience and expression only intermittently (e.g., during times of stress) or at low intensity. Personality Difficulty is typically associated with some problems in functioning, but these are insufficiently severe to cause notable disruption in social, occupational, and interpersonal relationships or may be limited to specific relationships or situations.

Specifiers for Prominent Trait Domains in Personality Disorder

Trait domain specifiers may be applied to Personality Disorders or Personality Difficulty to describe the characteristics of the individual's personality that are most prominent and that contribute to personality disturbance.

Trait domains are continuous with normal personality characteristics in individuals who do not have Personality Disorder or Personality Difficulty. Trait domains are not diagnostic categories, but rather represent a set of dimensions that correspond to the underlying structure of personality.

As many trait domain specifiers may be applied as necessary to describe personality functioning. Individuals with more severe personality disturbance tend to have a greater number of prominent trait domains. However, a person may have a Severe Personality Disorder and manifest only one prominent trait domain (e.g., Detachment).

Trait domain specifiers that may be recorded include the following:

6D11.0 Negative Affectivity

The core feature of the Negative Affectivity trait domain (sometimes referred to as Neuroticism) is the tendency to experience a broad range of negative emotions. Common manifestations of Negative Affectivity, not all of which may be present in a given individual at a given time, include the following:

- Experiencing a broad range of negative emotions with a frequency and intensity out of proportion to the situation. Common negative emotions include but are not limited to anxiety, worry, depression, vulnerability, fear, anger, hostility, guilt, and shame. The particular negative emotions that are most characteristic of any particular person vary across individuals and are largely dependent on the presence or degree of other trait domains. For example, individuals high on Dissociality are more likely to experience 'externalizing' negative emotions (e.g., anger, hostility, contempt), whereas those high on Detachment are more likely to experience 'internalizing' negative, depression, pessimism, guilt).
- *Emotional lability and poor emotion regulation.* Individuals high on Negative Affectivity are overreactive to both their own negative cognitions and to external events. They can become overwrought through their own thought processes, such as by ruminating over their shortcomings or past mistakes, over real or perceived threats, slights, or insults; or over potential future problems. They are overreactive to external threats or criticism, problems, and setbacks. They have low frustration tolerance and easily become visibly upset over even minor issues. They often experience and display multiple emotions simultaneously or vacillate among a range of emotions in a short period of time. Once upset, they have difficulty regaining their composure and must rely on others or on leaving the situation to calm down.
- *Negativistic attitudes.* Individuals high on Negative Affectivity typically reject others' suggestions or advice, arguing that enacting others' ideas would be too complicated or difficult; or that the suggested actions would not lead to the desired outcomes or have a high likelihood of negative consequences. The manner of rejection is largely dependent on the individual's other traits. For example, those high on Detachment are most likely to blame themselves for the likely difficulties or poor

outcomes, whereas those high on Dissociality are most likely to blame others for offering such bad ideas.

- Low self-esteem and self-confidence. Individuals high on Negative Affectivity may exhibit low self-esteem and self-confidence in several different ways. These include: *avoidance of situations and activities* that either are judged to be too difficult (e.g., intellectually, physically, socially, interpersonally, emotionally, etc.), even despite evidence to the contrary; *dependency*, which may be manifested in frequent reliance on others for advice, direction, and other kinds of help; *envy* of others' abilities and indicators of success; and, in more severe cases of low self-esteem, believing themselves to be useless, to have lived a worthless less, to be incapable of accomplishing anything of value, which may be associated with *suicidal ideation or behaviours*.
- *Mistrustfulness.* Interpersonally, this is typically manifested as suspicion that others have ill intent, and that neutral or even benign remarks and positive behaviours are hidden threats, slights, or insults. Individuals high on Negative Affectivity tend to hold grudges and be unforgiving even over long time periods. In non-interpersonal situations, this mistrustfulness typically takes the form of bitterness and cynicism (e.g., the belief that the 'system is rigged').

6D11.1 Detachment

The core feature of the Detachment trait domain is the tendency to maintain interpersonal distance (social detachment) and emotional distance (emotional detachment). Common manifestations of Detachment, not all of which may be present in a given individual at a given time, include the following:

- Social detachment. Social detachment is characterized by avoidance of social interactions, lack of friendships, and avoidance of intimacy. Individuals high on Detachment do not enjoy social interactions and avoid all kinds of social contact and social situations to the extent possible. They engage in little to no 'small talk' even if initiated by others (e.g., at store check-out counters), seek out employment that does not involve interactions with others, and even refuse promotions if these would entail more interaction with others. They have few to no friends or even casual acquaintances. Their interactions with family members tend to be minimal and superficial. They rarely, if ever, engage in any intimate relationships and are not particularly interested in sexual relations.
- *Emotional detachment.* Emotional detachment is characterized by reserve, aloofness, and limited emotional expression and experience. Individuals high on Detachment keep to themselves to the extent possible, even in obligatory social situations. They are typically aloof and respond to direct attempts at social engagement only briefly and in ways that discourage further conversation. Emotional detachment also encompasses emotional inexpressiveness, both verbally and non-verbally. Individuals high on Detachment do not talk about their feelings and it is difficult to discern what they might be feeling from their behaviours. In extreme cases, there is a lack of emotional experience itself and they are non-reactive to either negative or positive events, with a limited capacity for enjoyment.

6D11.2 Dissociality

The core feature of the Dissociality trait domain is disregard for the rights and feelings of others, encompassing both self-centeredness and lack of empathy. Common manifestations of Dissociality, not all of which may be present in a given individual at a given time, include the following:

- Self-centeredness. Self-centeredness in individuals high on Dissociality is manifested in a sense of entitlement, believing and acting as if they deserve—without further justification—whatever they want, preferentially above what others may want or need, and that this 'fact' should be obvious to others. Self-centeredness can be manifested both actively/intentionally and passively/unintentionally. Active—and usually intentional—manifestations of self-centeredness include expectation of others' admiration, attention-seeking behaviours to ensure being the center of others' focus, and negative behaviours (e.g., anger, 'temper tantrums,' denigrating others) when the admiration and attention that the individual expects are not granted. Typically, such individuals believe that they have many admirable qualities, that their accomplishments are outstanding, that they have or will achieve greatness, and that others should admire them. Passive and unintentional manifestations of selfcenteredness reflect a kind of obliviousness that other individuals matter as much as oneself. In this aspect of Dissociality, the individuals' concern is with their own needs, desires, and comfort, and those of others simply are not considered.
- Lack of empathy. Lack of empathy is manifested as indifference to whether one's actions inconvenience others or hurt them in any way (e.g., emotionally, socially, financially, physically, etc.). As a result, individuals high on Dissociality are often deceptive and manipulative, exploiting people and situations to get what they want and think they deserve. This may include being mean and physically aggressive. In the extreme, this aspect of Dissociality can be manifested as callousness with regard to others' suffering, and ruthlessness in obtaining one's goals, such that these individuals may be physically violent with little to no provocation and may even take pleasure in inflicting pain and harm. Note that this aspect of Dissociality does not necessarily imply that individuals high on Dissociality do not cognitively understand the feelings of others, only that they are not concerned about them and instead are likely to use this understanding to exploit others.

6D11.3 Disinhibition

The core feature of the Disinhibition trait domain is the tendency to act rashly based on immediate external or internal stimuli (i.e., sensations, emotions, thoughts), without consideration of potential negative consequences. Common manifestations of Disinhibition, not all of which may be present in a given individual at a given time, include the following:

- *Impulsivity.* Individuals high on Disinhibition tend to act rashly based on whatever is compelling at the moment, without consideration of negative consequences for oneself or others, including putting oneself or others at physical risk. They have difficulty delaying reward or satisfaction and tend to pursue immediately available short-term pleasures or potential benefits. In this way, the trait is strongly associated with such behaviours as substance use, gambling, and impulsive sexual activity.
- **Distractibility.** Individuals high on Disinhibition also have difficulty staying focused on important and necessary tasks that require sustained effort. They quickly become bored or frustrated with difficult, routine, or tedious tasks, and are easily distracted by extraneous stimuli, such as others' conversations. Even in the absence of distractions,

they have difficulty keeping their attention focused and persisting on tasks, and tend to scan the environment for more enjoyable options.

- *Irresponsibility.* Individuals high on Disinhibition are unreliable and lack a sense of accountability for their actions. As a result, they often do not complete work assignments or perform expected duties; they fail to meet deadlines, do not follow through on commitments and promises, and are late to or miss formal and informal appointments and meetings because they allow themselves to become engaged in something more compelling that has caught their attention.
- **Recklessness.** Individuals high on Disinhibition lack an appropriate sense of caution. They tend to overestimate their abilities and thus frequently do things that are beyond their skill level, without considering potential safety risks. Individuals high on Disinhibition may engage in reckless driving or dangerous sports, or perform other activities that put them or others in physical danger without sufficient preparation or training.
- *Lack of planning.* Individuals high on Disinhibition prefer spontaneous over planned activities, leaving their options open should a more attractive opportunity arise. They tend to focus on immediate feelings, sensations, and thoughts, with relatively little attention paid to longer term or even short-term goals. When they do make plans, they often fail to follow through on them, thus they seldom are able to reach long-term goals and often fail to achieve even short-term goals.

6D11.4 Anankastia

The core feature of the Anankastia trait domain is a narrow focus on one's rigid standard of perfection and of right and wrong, and on controlling one's own and others' behaviour and controlling situations to ensure conformity to these standards. Common manifestations of Anankastia, not all of which may be present in a given individual at a given time, include:

- *Perfectionism.* Perfectionism is manifested in concern with social rules, obligations, norms of right and wrong; scrupulous attention to detail; rigid, systematic, day-to-day routines; excessive scheduling and planning; and an emphasis on organization, orderliness, and neatness. Individuals high on Anankastia have a very clear and detailed personal sense of perfection and imperfection that also extends beyond community standards to encompass the individual's idiosyncratic notions of what is perfect and right. They believe strongly that everyone should follow all rules exactly and meet all obligations. Individuals with high on Anankastia may redo the work of others because it does not meet their perfectionistic standards. They have difficulty in interpersonal relationships because they hold others to the same standards as themselves and are inflexible in their views.
- *Emotional and behavioural constraint.* Emotional and behavioural constraint is manifested in rigid control over emotional expression, stubbornness and inflexibility, risk-avoidance, perseveration, and deliberativeness. Individuals with prominent Anankastic traits tightly control their own emotional expression and disapprove of others' displays of emotion. They are inflexible and lack spontaneity, stubbornly insisting on following set schedules and adhering to plans. Their risk-avoidance includes both refusal to engage in obviously risky activities and a more general overconcern about avoiding potential negative consequences of any activity. They often perseverate and have difficulty disengaging from tasks because they are perceived as not yet perfect down to the last detail. They are highly deliberative and have difficulty

making decisions due to concern that they have not considered every aspect and all alternatives to ensure that the right decision is made.

6D11.5 Borderline pattern

Note: The Borderline pattern specifier has been included to enhance the clinical utility of the classification of Personality Disorder. There is considerable overlap between this pattern and information contained in the trait domain specifiers (most typically Negative Affectivity, Dissociality and Disinhibition). However, use of this specifier may facilitate the identification of individuals who may respond to certain psychotherapeutic treatments.

The Borderline pattern specifier may be applied to individuals whose pattern of personality disturbance is characterized by a pervasive pattern of instability of interpersonal relationships, self-image, and affects, and marked impulsivity, as indicated by five (or more) of the following:

- Frantic efforts to avoid real or imagined abandonment.
- A pattern of unstable and intense interpersonal relationships, which may be characterized by vacillations between idealization and devaluation, typically associated with both strong desire for and fear of closeness and intimacy.
- Identity disturbance, manifested in markedly and persistently unstable self-image or sense of self.
- A tendency to act rashly in states of high negative affect, leading to potentially selfdamaging behaviours (e.g., risky sexual behaviour, reckless driving, excessive alcohol or substance use, binge eating).
- Recurrent episodes of self-harm (e.g., suicide attempts or gestures, self-mutilation).
- Emotional instability due to marked reactivity of mood. Fluctuations of mood may be triggered either internally (e.g., by one's own thoughts) or by external events. As a consequence, the individual experiences intense dysphoric mood states, which typically last for a few hours but may last for up to several days.
- Chronic feelings of emptiness.
- Inappropriate intense anger or difficulty controlling anger manifested in frequent displays of temper (e.g., yelling or screaming, throwing or breaking things, getting into physical fights).
- Transient dissociative symptoms or psychotic-like features (e.g., brief hallucinations, paranoia) in situations of high affective arousal.

Other manifestations of Borderline pattern, not all of which may be present in a given individual at a given time, include the following:

- A view of the self as inadequate, bad, guilty, disgusting, and contemptible.
- An experience of the self as profoundly different and isolated from other people; a painful sense of alienation and pervasive loneliness.
- Proneness to rejection hypersensitivity; problems in establishing and maintaining consistent and appropriate levels of trust in interpersonal relationships; frequent misinterpretation of social signals.

Additional Clinical Features of Personality Disorder:

- Personality Disorder tends to arise when individuals' life experiences provide inadequate support for typical personality development, given the person's temperament (the aspect of personality that is considered to be innate, reflecting basic genetic and neurobiological processes). Thus, early life adversity is a risk factor for later development of Personality Disorder, as it is for many other mental disorders. However, it is not determinative. That is, some individuals' temperament allows typical personality development despite an extremely adverse early environment. Nonetheless, in the context of a history of early adversity, ongoing behavioural, emotional, or interpersonal difficulties suggest that a Personality Disorder diagnosis should be considered.
- Personality Disorder often complicates and lengthens treatment of other clinical syndromes. Thus, poor or incomplete response to standard treatments of, for example, Depressive Disorders and Anxiety or Fear-Related Disorders, may suggest the presence of Personality Disorder. Relatedly, persistent functional impairment after resolution of the clinical syndrome(s) being treated may suggest the presence of Personality Disorder,
- There is often considerable variability in the degree to which individuals and those around them agree that the individual's behaviours reflect a particular trait. If there is a marked discrepancy between an individual's self-description and the kinds of problematic behaviours exhibited, it often is helpful to interview someone who knows the person well. Marked differences between the individual's self-description and the informant's description may be suggestive of Personality Disorder.

Boundary with Normality (Threshold):

- Personality refers to an individual's characteristic way of behaving, experiencing life, and of perceiving and interpreting themselves, other people, events, and situations. Personality is manifested most directly in how individuals think and feel about themselves and their interpersonal relationships, how they behave in response to those thoughts and feelings and in response to others' behaviours, and how they react to events in their lives and changes in the environment. An important characteristic of non-disordered personality is sufficient flexibility to react appropriately and adapt to other people's behaviours, life events, and changes in the environment. In Personality Disorder, patterns of cognition, emotional experience, emotional expression, and behaviour are sufficiently maladaptive (e.g., inflexible or poorly regulated) that they result in substantial distress or significant impairment in personal, family, social, educational, occupational or other important areas of functioning.
- To warrant a diagnosis of Personality Disorder, personality disturbance must be manifest across a range of personal and social situations over an extended period of time (e.g., lasting 2 years or more). Behaviour patterns that are apparent only in the context of specific relationships, social roles, or environmental circumstances, or that have lasted for a shorter period of time, are not a sufficient basis for a diagnosis of Personality Disorder. Instead, the possibility that such behaviour patterns are a response to environmental circumstances must be considered. A focus on problems in the relevant relationship or in the environment (e.g., with family or school) may be more appropriate than a diagnosis of Personality Disorder in such cases.

Course Features:

• Manifestations of personality disturbance tend to appear first in childhood, increase during adolescence, and continue to be manifest into adulthood, although individuals

may not come to clinical attention until later in life. Caution should be exercised in applying the diagnosis to children because their personalities are still developing.

- Overt behavioural manifestations of certain traits (Dissociality, Disinhibition) tend to decline over the course of adulthood. Other traits (Detachment, Anankastia) are less likely to do so. In both cases, functional impairment in broad areas of life (e.g., employment, interpersonal relationships) among people with Personality Disorder is often persistent.
- Personality Disorder is relatively stable after young adulthood, but may change such that a person who had Personality Disorder during young adulthood no longer meets the diagnostic requirements by middle age.
- Much less commonly, a person who earlier did not have a diagnosable Personality Disorder develops one later in life. Emergence of Personality Disorder in older adults may be related to the loss of social supports that had previously helped to compensate for personality disturbance.
- When there is a change in personality during middle adulthood or later in life, in the absence of change in the individual's environment, the possibility that the change is due to an underlying medical condition (i.e., Secondary Personality Change) or to an unrecognized Disorder Due to Substance Use should be considered.

Developmental Presentations:

- Personality Disorder is not typically diagnosed in pre-adolescent children. Over the course of their development, children integrate knowledge and experience about themselves and other people into a coherent identity and sense of self, as well as into individual styles of interacting with others. Different children vary substantially in the rate at which this integration occurs, and there is also substantial variation in the rate of integration within individuals over time. Therefore, it is very difficult to determine whether a pre-adolescent child exhibits problems in functioning in aspects of the self, such as identity, self-worth, accuracy of self-view, or self-direction, because these functions are not fully developed in children. This is also true of interpersonal functions such as the ability to understand others' perspectives and to manage conflict in relationships.
- However, prominent maladaptive traits may be observable in pre-adolescent children and may be precursors to Personality Disorder in adolescence and adulthood. For example, individual differences in Negative Affectivity and Disinhibition, as well as more specific features such as lack of empathy (an aspect of Dissociality) and perfectionism (an aspect of Anankastia) may be observed in very young children. However, such traits are also associated with the development of other mental disorders (e.g., Mood Disorders, Anxiety or Fear-Related Disorders) and should not be interpreted as childhood forms of Personality Disorder.
- Features of Personality Disorder manifest in similar ways in adolescents and in adults. However, in evaluating adolescents, it is important to consider the developmental typicality of the relevant behaviour patterns. For example, risk-taking behaviour, selfharm, and moodiness are more common during adolescence than during adulthood. Therefore, thresholds for evaluating whether such behaviour patterns are indicative of Personality Disorder or of elevations in trait domains such as Disinhibition and Negative Affectivity among adolescents should be correspondingly higher. The wide variability in normal adolescent development that may affect the expression of these behaviours or characteristics should also be considered.

Culture-Related Features:

- Assessment of personality across cultures is challenging, requiring knowledge of normative personality function for the sociocultural context, variations in cultural concepts of the self, and evidence for consistent traits and behaviours across time and multiple social contexts.
- Culture shapes modes of self-construal, social presentation, and levels of insight about behaviours that are related to personality development, including what are considered normal and abnormal personality states in a given setting. For example, children reared in collectivist societies may develop attachment styles and traits that are viewed as dependent or avoidant related to the norms of more individualistic cultures. In turn, traits of self-involvement that are accepted or positively valued in individualistic cultures may be considered narcissistic in collectivist cultures.
- Diagnosis of Personality Disorder must take into account the person's cultural background. Collateral information may be needed to assess whether certain disruptive self-states and behaviours are considered culturally uncharacteristic and therefore consistent with Personality Disorder in a given culture. In general, a diagnosis of Personality Disorder should be assigned only when the symptoms exceed thresholds that are normative for the socio-cultural context.
- Among ethnic minority, immigrant, and refugee communities, responses to discrimination, social exclusion, and acculturative stress may be confused with Personality Disorder. For example, suspiciousness or mistrust may be common in situations of endemic racism and discrimination.
- Socio-cultural contexts of exclusion affecting marginal social groups can evoke repeated attempts at self-affirmation or acceptance by others that are based on ambiguous or troubled relationships with authority figures and limited adaptability. These reactions may be confounded with manifestations of Borderline pattern, such as impulsivity, instability, affective lability, explosive/aggressive behaviour or dissociative symptoms. However, a diagnosis should be assigned only when the symptoms exceed thresholds that are normative for the socio-cultural context.

Sex- and/or Gender-Related Features:

• Available evidence indicates that gender distribution of Personality Disorder is approximately equal. However, there are significant gender differences in the behavioural expression of Personality Disorder and in the associated trait domains. Specifically, elevations on Dissociality and Disinhibition are more common among men, and elevations on Negative Affectivity are more common among women.

Boundaries with Other Disorders and Conditions (Differential Diagnosis):

• **Boundary with Personality Difficulty:** Individuals with pronounced personality characteristics that do not rise to the level of severity to merit a diagnosis of Personality Disorder may be considered to have Personality Difficulty if they affect treatment or health services. In contrast to Personality Disorder, Personality Difficulty is manifested only intermittently (e.g., during times of stress) or at low intensity. The difficulties are associated with some problems in functioning but these are insufficiently severe to cause notable disruption in social, occupational, and interpersonal relationships and may be limited to specific relationships or situations.

- Boundary with persistent mental disorders: A number of persistent and enduring mental • disorders (e.g., Autism Spectrum Disorder, Schizotypal Disorder, Dysthymic Disorder, Cyclothymic Disorder, Separation Anxiety Disorder, Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder, Complex Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder, Dissociative Identity Disorder) are characterized by enduring disturbances in cognition, emotional experience, and behaviour that are maladaptive, manifest across a range of personal and social situations, and that are associated with significant impairment in problems in functioning of aspects of the self (e.g., self-esteem, self-direction), and/or interpersonal dysfunction (e.g., ability to develop and maintain close and mutually satisfying relationships, ability to understand others' perspectives and to manage conflict in relationships). Accordingly, individuals with these disorders may also meet the diagnostic requirements for Personality Disorder. Generally, individuals with such disorders should not be given an additional diagnosis of Personality Disorder unless additional personality features are present that contribute to significant problems in functioning of aspects of the self or interpersonal functioning. However, even in the absence of these additional features, there may be specific situations in which an additional diagnosis of Personality Disorder is warranted (e.g., entry into clinically indicated forms of treatment that are connected to a Personality Disorder diagnosis).
- Boundary with Conduct-Dissocial Disorder with limited prosocial emotions: Conduct-Dissocial Disorder is characterized by a recurrent pattern of behaviour in which the basic rights of others or major age-appropriate social or cultural norms, rules, or laws are violated that may range in duration from a discrete period lasting a number of months to a pattern that persists across the lifespan. Conduct-Dissocial Disorder with limited prosocial emotions is further characterized by limited or absent empathy or sensitivity to others' feelings and limited or absent remorse, shame, or guilt. Conduct-Dissocial Disorder with limited prosocial emotions has features in common with Personality Disorder with Dissociality, which is characterized by disregard for the rights and feelings of other, self-centeredness, and lack of empathy. Conduct-Dissocial Disorder may be diagnosed among pre-adolescent children and based on shorter duration of symptoms than Personality Disorder. Among individuals with Conduct-Dissocial Disorder, an additional diagnosis of Personality Disorder is warranted only if there are personality features in addition to Dissociality that contribute to significant impairments in functioning of aspects of the self or problems in interpersonal functioning.
- **Boundary with Secondary Personality Change:** Secondary Personality Change is a persistent personality disturbance that represents a change from the individual's previous characteristic personality pattern that is judged to be a direct pathophysiological consequence of a medical condition not classified under Mental, Behavioural or Neurodevelopmental Disorders, based on evidence from the history, physical examination, or laboratory findings. Personality Disorder is not diagnosed if the symptoms are due to another medical condition.
- **Boundary with Disorders Due to Substance Use:** Disorders Due to Substance Use often have pervasive effects on functioning of the self and interpersonal functioning. For example, they may exhibit problems with self-direction, self-esteem, difficulties and conflicts in relationship, dissocial behaviour related to obtaining or using drugs, and a wide range of other features that are commonly seen in individuals with Personality Disorder. If the personality disturbance is entirely accounted for by a Disorder Due to Substance Use, a diagnosis of Personality Disorder should not be given. However, if the personality disturbance is not entirely accounted for by the Disorder Due to Substance Use (e.g., if the personality disturbance preceded the onset of substance use) or if there

are features of a Personality Disorder that are not accounted for by substance use (e.g., perfectionism), an additional diagnosis of Personality Disorder may be assigned.

PARAPHILIC DISORDERS

Paraphilic Disorders are characterized by persistent and intense patterns of atypical sexual arousal, manifested by sexual thoughts, fantasies, urges, or behaviours, in which the focus of the arousal pattern involves others whose age or status renders them unwilling or unable to consent (e.g., pre-pubertal children, an unsuspecting individual being viewed through a window, an animal). Paraphilic Disorders may also involve other atypical sexual arousal patterns if they cause marked distress to the individual or involve significant risk of injury or death.

Paraphilic Disorders include the following:

- 6D30 Exhibitionistic Disorder
- 6D31 Voyeuristic Disorder
- 6D32 Pedophilic Disorder
- 6D33 Coercive Sexual Sadism Disorder
- 6D34 Frotteuristic Disorder
- 6D35 Other Paraphilic Disorder Involving Non-Consenting Individuals

In order for the above Paraphilic Disorders to be diagnosed, the individual must have acted on the arousal pattern or be markedly distressed by it.

In addition, the following diagnosis may be assigned to describe persistent and intense patterns of atypical sexual arousal—manifested by sexual thoughts, fantasies, urges, or behaviours—*that involve consenting adults or solitary behaviours*, as long as either: 1) the person is markedly distressed by the nature of the arousal pattern and the distress is not simply a consequence of rejection or feared rejection of the arousal pattern by others; or 2) the nature of the paraphilic behaviour involves significant risk of injury or death (e.g., asphyxophilia or achieving sexual arousal by restriction of breathing).

6D36 Other Paraphilic Disorder Involving Solitary Behaviour or Consenting Individuals

Atypical patterns of sexual arousal that do not involve actions towards others whose age or status renders them unwilling or unable to consent or that are not associated with marked distress or significant risk of injury or death are not considered to be Paraphilic Disorders.

Many sexual crimes involve actions or behaviours that are not associated with a sustained underlying paraphilic arousal pattern. Rather, these behaviours may be transient and occur impulsively or opportunistically, or in relation to substance use or intoxication. A diagnosis of a Paraphilic Disorder should not be assigned in such cases.

Paraphilic Disorders frequently co-occur with a number of other mental disorders, including Mood Disorders, Anxiety or Fear-Related Disorders, and Disorders Due to Substance Use. It is also common for an individual to meet the diagnostic requirements for more than one Paraphilic Disorder.

Paraphilic Disorders may be associated with arrest and incarceration or impairment in functioning (e.g., at work, in interpersonal relationships), but these are not diagnostic requirements.

Paraphilic Disorders should not be diagnosed among children and should be diagnosed only with utmost caution among adolescents. Sexual experimentation is typical during adolescence and sexual acts may occur impulsively or opportunistically rather than representing a recurrent pattern of sexual arousal.

General Cultural Considerations for Paraphilic Disorders

• Behavioural norms, thresholds of abnormality, and attitudes and interpretations regarding Paraphilic Disorders vary across cultures. Accurate assessment requires information about the etiology, function, and consequences of the symptoms across cultural groups.

6D30 Exhibitionistic Disorder

Essential (Required) Features:

- A sustained, focused and intense pattern of sexual arousal—as manifested by persistent sexual thoughts, fantasies, urges, or behaviours—that involves exposing one's genitals to an unsuspecting person in public places, usually without inviting or intending closer contact.
- The individual must have acted on these thoughts, fantasies or urges or be markedly distressed by them.

Additional Clinical Features:

- Exhibitionistic Disorder should not be diagnosed among children and should be diagnosed only with utmost caution among adolescents. Sexual experimentation is typical during adolescence and exhibitionistic acts may occur impulsively or opportunistically rather than representing a recurrent pattern of sexual arousal.
- The diagnosis of Exhibitionistic Disorder is generally not adequately supported when the evidence indicating a sustained, focused and intense pattern of sexual arousal consists solely of a single or very limited number of instances of exhibitionistic behaviour, as there may be other explanations for specific occurrences (e.g., intoxication, opportunity). In the absence of the individual's report of their sexual thoughts, fantasies, or urges indicating a sustained, focused and intense pattern of exhibitionistic sexual arousal, examples of other forms of evidence that may support the presence of an exhibitionistic arousal pattern include a preference for specific types of pornography; preference over other forms of sexual behaviour; or planning and repeatedly seeking out opportunities to engage in exhibitionistic behaviour.

Boundary with Normality (Threshold):

• By definition, Exhibitionistic Disorder specifically excludes consensual exhibitionistic behaviours that occur with the consent of the individuals involved. Moreover, in some cultures there are socially sanctioned forms of public nudity, which do not constitute Exhibitionistic Disorder.

Course Features:

- Individuals with Exhibitionistic Disorder often report the onset of exhibitionistic sexual interest during adolescence.
- Exhibitionistic Disorder is relatively stable after young adulthood, but sexual thoughts, fantasies, urges, and behaviours may change over time such that an individual who was previously assigned a diagnosis of Exhibitionistic Disorder no longer meets the diagnostic requirements.

Developmental Presentations:

• Advancing age may be associated with decreasing paraphilic sexual arousal and decreasing behavioural manifestations of Exhibitionistic Disorder due to increased impulse control and decreased sexual drive.

Culture-Related Features:

• Laws defining what is considered exhibitionistic behaviour may vary across cultures, including by gender. In addition, cultures vary regarding acceptance of the practice of nudity and its appropriateness in specific contexts (e.g., pornography, saunas, nudist settings). In these contexts, certain behaviours may not be considered exhibitionistic by the cultural group.

Sex- and/or Gender-Related Features:

• Exhibitionistic Disorder is much more common among men.

- **Boundary with Compulsive Sexual Behaviour Disorder:** Both Exhibitionistic Disorder and Compulsive Sexual Behaviour Disorder may involve repetitive sexual impulses, urges or behaviours that result in marked distress or impairment. Exhibitionistic Disorder is characterized by sexual impulses, urges, or behaviours that are manifestations of a sustained, focused and intense pattern of sexual arousal that involves exposing one's genitals to an unsuspecting person in public places. In contrast, Compulsive Sexual Behaviour Disorder is characterized by a persistent pattern of failure to control sexual impulses, urges, or behaviours, regardless of the focus of sexual arousal. If an individual with Exhibitionistic Disorder is able to exercise some degree of control over the behavioural expressions of the arousal pattern, an additional diagnosis of Compulsive Sexual Behavioural Disorder is generally not warranted.
- **Boundary with Disorders Due to Substance Use:** Episodes of impulsive or disinhibited sexual behaviour, including exhibitionistic behaviour, may occur during substance intoxication. Such episodes may not be a manifestation of a sustained, focused, and intense sexual arousal pattern. At the same time, some individuals with Exhibitionistic Disorder may use substances with the intention of engaging in exhibitionistic behaviour that does reflect an underlying paraphilic arousal pattern. A diagnosis of Exhibitionistic Disorder may be assigned together with a Disorder Due to Substance Use if the diagnostic requirements for both disorders are met.
- **Boundary with other mental disorders:** The occurrence or a history of behaviours involving exposing oneself to non-consenting individuals is not sufficient to establish a

diagnosis of Exhibitionistic Disorder. Rather, these behaviours must reflect a sustained, focused, and intense pattern of sexual arousal. When this is not the case, other causes of the behaviour need to be considered. For example, exhibitionistic behaviours that do not reflect an underlying, persistent pattern of sexual arousal may occur in the context of some mental disorders, such as Bipolar Type I Disorder during Manic or Mixed Episodes or Dementia.

• **Boundary with sexual crimes that do not involve a Paraphilic Disorder:** Sexual crimes involving exhibitionistic behaviour may consist of actions or behaviours that are not associated with a sustained underlying paraphilic arousal pattern. Rather, these behaviours may be transient and occur impulsively or opportunistically. The diagnosis of Exhibitionistic Disorder requires that these behaviours be a manifestation of a sustained, focused, and intense pattern of sexual arousal.

6D31 Voyeuristic Disorder

Essential (Required) Features:

- A sustained, focused and intense pattern of sexual arousal—as manifested by persistent sexual thoughts, fantasies, urges, or behaviours—that involves stimuli such as observing an unsuspecting person who is naked, in the process of disrobing, or engaging in sexual activity.
- The individual must have acted on these thoughts, fantasies or urges or be markedly distressed by them.

Additional Clinical Features:

- Voyeuristic Disorder should not be diagnosed among children and is not typically diagnosed among adolescents. Sexual curiosity is typical during adolescence and observation of others may occur impulsively or opportunistically rather than representing a recurrent pattern of sexual arousal.
- The act of observing in Voyeuristic Disorder is for the purpose of achieving sexual excitement and does not necessarily involve an attempt to initiate sexual activity with the person being observed. Orgasm by masturbation may occur during the voyeuristic activity or later in response to memories of what the individual has seen. More recently, so-called 'video voyeurs' have been described who use video equipment to record individuals in public or private places where there is an expectation of privacy.
- The diagnosis of Voyeuristic Disorder is generally not adequately supported when the evidence indicating a sustained, focused and intense pattern of sexual arousal consists solely of a single or very limited number of instances of voyeuristic behaviour, as there may be other explanations for specific occurrences (e.g., intoxication, opportunity). In the absence of a report of the individual's sexual thoughts, fantasies, or urges, examples of other forms of evidence supporting the presence of a voyeuristic arousal pattern include a preference for specific types of pornography; preference over other forms of sexual behaviour; or planning and repeatedly seeking out opportunities to engage in voyeuristic behaviour.

Boundary with Normality (Threshold):

• By definition, Voyeuristic Disorder specifically excludes consensual voyeuristic behaviours that occur with the consent of the individual being observed.

Course Features:

- Individuals with Voyeuristic Disorder often report the onset of voyeuristic sexual interest during adolescence.
- Voyeuristic Disorder is relatively stable after young adulthood, but sexual thoughts, fantasies, urges, and behaviours may change over time such that an individual who was assigned a diagnosis of Voyeuristic Disorder no longer meets the diagnostic requirements.

Developmental Presentations:

• Advancing age may be associated with decreasing paraphilic sexual arousal and decreasing behavioural manifestations of Voyeuristic Disorder due to increased impulse control and decreased sexual drive.

Sex- and/or Gender-Related Features:

• Voyeuristic Disorder is much more common in men.

- **Boundary with Compulsive Sexual Behaviour Disorder:** Both Voyeuristic Disorder and Compulsive Sexual Behaviour Disorder may involve repetitive sexual impulses, urges or behaviours that result in marked distress or impairment. Voyeuristic Disorder is characterized by sexual impulses, urges, or behaviours that are manifestations of a sustained, focused and intense pattern of sexual arousal that involves stimuli such as observing an unsuspecting person who is naked, in the process of disrobing, or engaging in sexual activity. In contrast, Compulsive Sexual Behaviour Disorder is characterized by a persistent pattern of failure to control sexual impulses, urges, or behaviours, regardless of the focus of sexual arousal. If an individual with Voyeuristic Disorder is able to exercise some degree of control over the behavioural expressions of the arousal pattern, an additional diagnosis of Compulsive Sexual Behavioural Disorder is generally not warranted.
- **Boundary with Disorders Due to Substance Use:** Episodes of impulsive or disinhibited sexual behaviour, including voyeuristic behaviour, may occur during substance intoxication. Such episodes may not be a manifestation of a sustained, focused, and intense sexual arousal pattern. At the same time, some individuals with Voyeuristic Disorder may use substances with the intention of engaging in voyeuristic behaviour that does reflect an underlying paraphilic arousal pattern. A diagnosis of Voyeuristic Disorder may be assigned together with a Disorder Due to Substance Use if the diagnostic requirements for both disorders are met.
- **Boundary with other mental disorders:** The occurrence or a history of behaviours involving observing an unsuspecting individual who is naked, in the process of disrobing, or engaging in sexual activity is insufficient to establish a diagnosis of Voyeuristic Disorder. Rather, these behaviours must reflect a sustained, focused, and intense pattern of sexual arousal. When this is not the case, other causes of the behaviour need to be considered. For example, voyeuristic behaviours that do not reflect an

underlying, persistent pattern of sexual arousal may occur in the context of some mental disorders, such as Bipolar Type I Disorder during Manic or Mixed Episodes or Dementia.

• **Boundary with sexual crimes that do not involve a Paraphilic Disorder:** Sexual crimes involving voyeuristic behaviour may consist of actions or behaviours that are not associated with a sustained underlying paraphilic arousal pattern. Rather, these behaviours may be transient and occur impulsively or opportunistically. The diagnosis of Voyeuristic Disorder requires that these behaviours be a manifestation of a sustained, focused, and intense pattern of sexual arousal.

6D32 Pedophilic Disorder

Essential (Required) Features:

- A sustained, focused, and intense pattern of sexual arousal—as manifested by persistent sexual thoughts, fantasies, urges, or behaviours—involving pre-pubertal children.
- The individual must have acted on these thoughts, fantasies or urges or be markedly distressed by them.
- The diagnosis does not apply to sexual arousal and accompanying behaviour between pre- or post-pubertal children who are close in age.

Additional Clinical Features:

- Pedophilic Disorder should not be diagnosed among children and should be diagnosed only with utmost caution among adolescents. Sexual experimentation is typical during adolescence and sexual acts may occur impulsively or opportunistically rather than representing a recurrent pattern of sexual arousal.
- The diagnosis of Pedophilic Disorder is generally not adequately supported when the evidence indicating a sustained, focused and intense pattern of sexual arousal consists solely of a single or very limited number of instances of pedophilic behaviour, as there may be other explanations for specific occurrences (e.g., intoxication, opportunity). In the absence of a report of the individual's sexual thoughts, fantasies, or urges, examples of other forms of evidence supporting the presence of a pedophilic arousal pattern include a preference for specific types of pornography; preference over other forms of sexual behaviour; planning and repeatedly seeking out opportunities to engage in pedophilic behaviour; or the results of viewing time measures and/or penile plethysmography.
- Some individuals with Pedophilic Disorder are attracted only to males, others only to females, and others to both.
- Some individuals act on their pedophilic urges only with family members, while others have victims outside their immediate family or both.

Boundary with Normality (Threshold):

• A broad range of sexual behaviour with peers may occur in children or adolescents. A diagnosis of Pedophilic Disorder should not be assigned on the basis of sexual behaviours among pre- or post-pubertal children or adolescents with peers who are close in age.

Course Features:

- Individuals with Pedophilic Disorder often report the onset of pedophilic sexual interest during adolescence.
- Pedophilic Disorder is relatively stable after young adulthood, but sexual thoughts, fantasies, urges, and behaviours may change over time such that an individual who was assigned a diagnosis of Pedophilic Disorder no longer meets the diagnostic requirements.

Developmental Presentations:

• Advancing age may be associated with decreasing paraphilic sexual arousal and decreasing behavioural manifestations of Pedophilic Disorder due to increased impulse control and decreased sexual drive.

Culture-Related Features:

- Cultures vary in their legal definition of what constitutes a child or adolescent. The Tanner stages, a scale of physical development including primary and secondary sexual characteristics across the lifespan, may provide a more objective basis than age on which to base a definition.
- Cultures vary regarding the forms of affection that are considered appropriate between children and adults. For example, it is normative in some cultures for parents to kiss their children on the mouth as a sign of affection. Culturally normative behaviour should not be misattributed as inappropriate sexual activity.

Sex- and/or Gender-Related Features:

• Pedophilic Disorder is much more common in men.

- **Boundary with Compulsive Sexual Behaviour Disorder:** Both Pedophilic Disorder and Compulsive Sexual Behaviour Disorder may involve repetitive sexual impulses, urges or behaviours that result in marked distress or impairment. Pedophilic Disorder is characterized by sexual impulses, urges, or behaviours that are manifestations of a sustained, focused and intense pattern of sexual arousal involving pre-pubertal children. In contrast, Compulsive Sexual Behaviour Disorder is characterized by a persistent pattern of failure to control sexual impulses, urges, or behaviours, regardless of the focus of sexual arousal. If an individual with Pedophilic Disorder is able to exercise some degree of control over the behavioural expressions of the arousal pattern, an additional diagnosis of Compulsive Sexual Behavioural Disorder is generally not warranted.
- **Boundary with Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder.** Some individuals with Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder experience intrusive thoughts and images about possible attraction or sexual abuse of children. These are typically highly distressing to the individual and are not accompanied by sexual arousal, so do not reflect an underlying paraphilic arousal pattern even though the individual may be concerned that they do. These individuals may also experience other ego-dystonic thoughts or images with sexual content that are not experienced as sexually arousing.

- **Boundary with Disorders Due to Substance Use:** Episodes of impulsive or disinhibited sexual behaviour, including pedophilic behaviour, may occur during substance intoxication. Such episodes may not be a manifestation of a sustained, focused, and intense sexual arousal pattern. At the same time, some individuals with Pedophilic Disorder may use substances with the intention of engaging in pedophilic behaviour that does reflect an underlying paraphilic arousal pattern. A diagnosis of Pedophilic Disorder may be assigned together with a Disorder Due to Substance Use if the diagnostic requirements for both disorders are met.
- **Boundary with other mental disorders:** The occurrence or a history of sexual behaviours involving pre-pubertal children is not sufficient to establish a diagnosis of Pedophilic Disorder. Rather, these behaviours must reflect a sustained, focused, and intense pattern of pedophilic sexual arousal. When this is not the case, other causes of the behaviour need to be considered. For example, sexual behaviours involving children that do not reflect an underlying, persistent pattern of pedophilic sexual arousal may occur in the context of some mental disorders, such as Bipolar Type I Disorder during Manic or Mixed Episodes or Dementia.
- **Boundary with sexual crimes that do not involve a Paraphilic Disorder:** Sexual crimes involving pedophilic behaviour may consist of actions or behaviours that are not associated with a sustained underlying paraphilic arousal pattern. Rather, these behaviours may be transient and occur impulsively or opportunistically. The diagnosis of Pedophilic Disorder requires that these behaviours be a manifestation of a sustained, focused, and intense pattern of sexual arousal.
- **Boundary with sexually aggressive behaviour in adolescents:** Some adolescents present with a history of sexually abusing younger children. The diagnosis of Pedophilic Disorder should be applied with caution to adolescents. Unless there is a persistent pattern of such behaviour, reflecting a sustained, focused, and intense pattern of sexual arousal focused on pre-pubertal children, the diagnosis of Pedophilic Disorder is not appropriate.

6D33 Coercive Sexual Sadism Disorder

Essential (Required) Features:

- A sustained, focused and intense pattern of sexual arousal—as manifested by persistent sexual thoughts, fantasies, urges or behaviours—that involves the infliction of physical or psychological suffering on a non-consenting person.
- The individual must have acted on these thoughts, fantasies or urges or be markedly distressed by them.

Additional Clinical Features:

- Coercive Sexual Sadism Disorder should not be diagnosed among children and should be diagnosed only with utmost caution among adolescents. Sexual acts may occur impulsively or opportunistically during adolescence rather than representing a recurrent pattern of sexual arousal.
- The diagnosis of Coercive Sexual Sadism Disorder is generally not adequately supported when the evidence indicating a sustained, focused and intense pattern of sexual arousal consists solely of a single or very limited number of instances of coercive sadistic sexual behaviour, as there may be other explanations for specific occurrences (e.g., intoxication,

opportunity). In the absence of a report of the individual's sexual thoughts, fantasies, or urges, examples of other forms of evidence supporting the presence of a coercive sadistic arousal pattern include a preference for specific types of pornography; preference over other forms of sexual behaviour; planning and repeatedly seeking out opportunities to engage in coercive sadistic sexual behaviour; or the results of viewing time measures and/or penile plethysmography.

Boundary with Normality (Threshold):

• By definition, Coercive Sexual Sadism Disorder specifically excludes consensual sexual sadism and consensual masochism.

Course Features:

- Individuals with Coercive Sexual Sadism Disorder often report the onset of coercive sadistic sexual interest during adolescence.
- Coercive Sexual Sadism Disorder is relatively stable after young adulthood, but sexual thoughts, fantasies, urges, and behaviours may change over time such that an individual who was assigned a diagnosis of Coercive Sexual Sadism Disorder no longer meets the diagnostic requirements.

Developmental Presentations:

• Advancing age may be associated with decreasing coercive sadistic sexual arousal and decreasing behavioural manifestations of Coercive Sexual Sadism Disorder due to increased impulse control and decreased sexual drive.

Sex- and/or Gender-Related Features:

• Coercive Sexual Sadism Disorder is much more common in men.

- **Boundary with Compulsive Sexual Behaviour Disorder:** Both Coercive Sexual Sadism Disorder and Compulsive Sexual Behaviour Disorder may involve repetitive sexual impulses, urges or behaviours that result in marked distress or impairment. Coercive Sexual Sadism Disorder is characterized by sexual impulses, urges, or behaviours that are manifestations of a sustained, focused and intense pattern of sexual arousal that involves the infliction of physical or psychological suffering on a non-consenting person. In contrast, Compulsive Sexual Behaviour Disorder is characterized by a persistent pattern of failure to control sexual impulses, urges, or behaviours, regardless of the focus of sexual arousal. If an individual with Coercive Sexual Sadism Disorder is able to exercise some degree of control over the behavioural expressions of the arousal pattern, an additional diagnosis of Compulsive Sexual Behavioural Disorder is generally not warranted.
- **Boundary with Conduct-Dissocial Disorder:** Conduct-Dissocial Disorder is characterized by a pervasive pattern of disregard for and violation of the rights of others. Coercive or sadistic sexual behaviours that occur in the context of Conduct-Dissocial Disorder but that do not reflect an underlying, persistent pattern of sexual arousal

involving the infliction of physical or psychological suffering should not be used as a basis for diagnosing Coercive Sexual Sadism Disorder.

- **Boundary with Disorders Due to Substance Use:** Episodes of impulsive or disinhibited sexual behaviour, including coercive sexual behaviour, may occur during substance intoxication. Such episodes may not be a manifestation of a sustained, focused, and intense sexual arousal pattern. At the same time, some individuals with Coercive Sexual Sadism Disorder may use substances with the intention of engaging in coercive sexual behaviour that does reflect an underlying paraphilic arousal pattern. A diagnosis of Coercive Sexual Sadism Disorder may be assigned together with a Disorder Due to Substance Use if the diagnostic requirements for both disorders are met.
- **Boundary with other mental disorders:** The occurrence or a history of sexual behaviours involving the infliction of physical or psychological suffering on nonconsenting individuals is not sufficient to establish a diagnosis of Coercive Sexual Sadism Disorder. Rather, these behaviours must reflect a sustained, focused, and intense pattern of coercive sexual sadistic arousal. When this is not the case, other causes of the behaviour need to be considered. For example, coercive sexual behaviour may occur in the context of some mental disorders, such as a Bipolar Type I Disorder during Manic or Mixed Episodes or Dementia.
- **Boundary with sexual crimes that do not involve a Paraphilic Disorder:** Sexual crimes involving coercive sexual behaviours may consist of actions or behaviours that are not associated with a sustained underlying paraphilic arousal pattern. Rather, these behaviours may be transient and occur impulsively or opportunistically. The diagnosis of Coercive Sexual Sadism Disorder requires that these behaviours be a manifestation of a sustained, focused, and intense pattern of sexual arousal.

6D34 Frotteuristic Disorder

Essential (Required) Features:

- A sustained, focused and intense pattern of sexual arousal—as manifested by persistent sexual thoughts, fantasies, urges, or behaviours—that involves touching or rubbing against a non-consenting person.
- The individual must have acted on these thoughts, fantasies or urges or be markedly distressed by them.

Additional Clinical Features:

- Frotteuristic Disorder should not be diagnosed among children and should be diagnosed only with utmost caution among adolescents. Sexual experimentation is typical during adolescence and sexual acts may occur impulsively or opportunistically rather than representing a recurrent pattern of sexual arousal.
- The diagnosis of Frotteuristic Disorder is generally not adequately supported when the evidence indicating a sustained, focused and intense pattern of sexual arousal consists solely of a single or very limited number of instances of frotteuristic behaviour, as there may be other explanations for specific occurrences (e.g., intoxication, opportunity). In the absence of a report of the individual's sexual thoughts, fantasies, or urges, examples of other forms of evidence supporting the presence of an frotteuristic arousal pattern include a preference for specific types of pornography; preference over other forms of

sexual behaviour; or planning and repeatedly seeking out opportunities to engage in frotteuristic behaviour.

Boundary with Normality (Threshold):

• By definition, Frotteuristic Disorder specifically excludes consensual touching or rubbing that occurs with the consent of the individual involved.

Course Features:

- Individuals with Frotteuristic Disorder often report the onset of frotteuristic sexual interest during adolescence.
- Frotteuristic Disorder is relatively stable after young adulthood, but sexual thoughts, fantasies, urges, and behaviours may change over time such that an individual who was assigned a diagnosis of Frotteuristic Disorder no longer meets the diagnostic requirements.

Developmental Presentations:

• Advancing age may be associated with decreasing paraphilic sexual arousal and decreasing behavioural manifestations of Frotteuristic Disorder due to increased impulse control and decreased sexual drive.

Sex- and/or Gender-Related Features:

• Frotteuristic Disorder is much more common in men.

- **Boundary with Compulsive Sexual Behaviour Disorder:** Both Frotteuristic Disorder and Compulsive Sexual Behaviour Disorder may involve repetitive sexual impulses, urges or behaviours that result in marked distress or impairment. Frotteuristic Disorder is characterized by sexual impulses, urges, or behaviours that are manifestations of a sustained, focused and intense pattern of sexual arousal that involves touching or rubbing against a non-consenting person. In contrast, Compulsive Sexual Behaviour Disorder is characterized by a persistent pattern of failure to control sexual impulses, urges, or behaviours, regardless of the focus of sexual arousal. If an individual with Frotteuristic Disorder is able to exercise some degree of control over the behavioural expressions of the arousal pattern, an additional diagnosis of Compulsive Sexual Behavioural Disorder is generally not warranted.
- **Boundary with Disorders Due to Substance Use:** Episodes of impulsive or disinhibited sexual behaviour, including frotteuristic behaviour, may occur during substance intoxication. Such episodes may not be a manifestation of a sustained, focused, and intense sexual arousal pattern. At the same time, some individuals with Frotteuristic Disorder may use substances with the intention of engaging in frotteuristic behaviour that does reflect an underlying paraphilic arousal pattern. A diagnosis of Frotteuristic Disorder may be assigned together with a Disorder Due to Substance Use if the diagnostic requirements for both disorders are met.
- *Boundary with other mental disorders:* The occurrence or a history of behaviours involving sexual touching or rubbing against non-consenting individuals is not sufficient

to establish a diagnosis of Frotteuristic Disorder. Rather, these behaviours must reflect a sustained, focused, and intense pattern of sexual arousal. When this is not the case, other causes of the behaviour need to be considered. For example, inappropriate touching or rubbing against others that does not reflect an underlying, persistent pattern of sexual arousal may occur in the context of some mental disorders, such as Bipolar Type I Disorder during Manic or Mixed Episodes or Dementia.

• **Boundary with sexual crimes that do not involve a Paraphilic Disorder:** Sexual crimes involving frotteuristic behaviour may consist of actions or behaviours that are not associated with a sustained underlying paraphilic arousal pattern. Rather, these behaviours may be transient and occur impulsively or opportunistically. The diagnosis of Frotteuristic Disorder requires that sexual touching or rubbing behaviours be a manifestation of a sustained, focused, and intense pattern of sexual arousal.

6D35 Other Paraphilic Disorder Involving Non-Consenting Individuals

Essential (Required) Features:

- A sustained, focused and intense pattern of atypical sexual arousal, as manifested by sexual thoughts, fantasies, urges, or behaviours, in which the focus of the arousal pattern involves others who are unwilling or unable to consent that is not specifically described in any of the other named Paraphilic Disorders categories (e.g., arousal patterns involving corpses or animals).
- The presentation does not fulfil the diagnostic requirements of Coercive Sexual Sadism Disorder, Pedophilic Disorder, Voyeuristic Disorder, Exhibitionistic Disorder, or Frotteuristic Disorder.
- The individual must have acted on these thoughts, fantasies or urges or be markedly distressed by them.

Additional Clinical Features:

- Other Paraphilic Disorder Involving Non-Consenting Individuals should not be diagnosed among children and should be diagnosed only with utmost caution among adolescents. Sexual experimentation is typical during adolescence and sexual acts may occur impulsively or opportunistically rather than representing a recurrent pattern of sexual arousal.
- A diagnosis of Other Paraphilic Disorder Involving Non-Consenting Individuals is generally not adequately supported when the evidence indicating a sustained, focused and intense pattern of sexual arousal consists solely of a single or very limited number of instances of specific forms of sexual behaviour, as there may be other explanations for specific occurrences (e.g., intoxication, opportunity). In the absence of a report of the individual's sexual thoughts, fantasies, or urges, examples of other forms of evidence supporting the presence of a paraphilic arousal pattern include a preference for specific types of pornography; preference over other forms of sexual behaviour; or planning and repeatedly seeking out opportunities to engage in the relevant paraphilic sexual behaviour.

Boundary with Normality (Threshold):

• Other Paraphilic Disorder Involving Non-Consenting Individuals specifically excludes sexual behaviours that occur with the consent of the person or persons involved, provided they are deemed to have the capacity to provide such consent.

Course Features:

- Individuals with Paraphilic Disorders often report the onset of paraphilic sexual interest during adolescence.
- Paraphilic Disorders are relatively stable after young adulthood, but sexual thoughts, fantasies, urges, and behaviours may change over time such that an individual who was assigned a diagnosis of a Paraphilic Disorder no longer meets the diagnostic requirements.

Developmental Presentations:

• Advancing age may be associated with decreasing paraphilic sexual arousal and decreasing behavioural manifestations of Paraphilic Disorders due to increased impulse control and decreased sexual drive.

Sex- and/or Gender-Related Features:

• Paraphilic Disorders are much more common in men.

- *Boundary with Compulsive Sexual Behaviour Disorder:* Both Other Paraphilic Disorder Involving Non-Consenting Individuals and Compulsive Sexual Behaviour Disorder may involve repetitive sexual impulses, urges or behaviours that result in marked distress or impairment. Other Paraphilic Disorder Involving Non-Consenting Individuals is characterized by sexual impulses, urges, or behaviours that are manifestations of a sustained, focused and intense pattern of sexual arousal in which the focus of the arousal pattern involves others who are unwilling or unable to consent that is not specifically described in any of the other named Paraphilic Disorders categories. In contrast, Compulsive Sexual Behaviour Disorder is characterized by a persistent pattern of failure to control sexual impulses, urges, or behaviours, regardless of the focus of sexual arousal. If an individual with Other Paraphilic Disorder Involving Non-Consenting Individuals is able to exercise some degree of control over the behavioural expressions of the arousal pattern, an additional diagnosis of Compulsive Sexual Behavioural Disorder is generally not warranted.
- **Boundary with Disorders Due to Substance Use:** Episodes of sexual behaviour involving others whose age or status renders them unwilling or unable to consent may occur during substance intoxication. Such episodes may not be a manifestation of a sustained, focused, and intense sexual arousal pattern. At the same time, some individuals with Paraphilic Disorders may use substances with the intention of engaging in sexual behaviour involving others whose age or status renders them unwilling or unable to consent that does reflect an underlying paraphilic arousal pattern. A diagnosis of Other Paraphilic Disorder Involving Non-Consenting Individuals may be assigned together with a Disorder Due to Substance Use if the diagnostic requirements for both disorders are met.

- **Boundary with other mental disorders:** The occurrence or a history of sexual behaviours involving others whose age or status renders them unwilling or unable to consent is not sufficient to establish a diagnosis of Other Paraphilic Disorder Involving Non-Consenting Individuals. Rather, these sexual behaviours must reflect a sustained, focused, and intense pattern of sexual arousal. When this is not the case, other causes of the sexual behaviour need to be considered. For example, sexual behaviours involving non-consenting individuals that do not reflect an underlying, persistent pattern of sexual arousal may occur in the context of some mental disorders, such as Bipolar Type I Disorder during Manic or Mixed Episodes or Dementia.
- **Boundary with sexual crimes that do not involve a Paraphilic Disorder:** Sexual crimes involving non-consenting individuals may consist of actions or behaviours that are not associated with a sustained underlying paraphilic arousal pattern. Rather, these behaviours may be transient and occur impulsively or opportunistically. The diagnosis of Other Paraphilic Disorder Involving Non-Consenting Individuals requires that these behaviours be a manifestation of a sustained, focused, and intense pattern of paraphilic sexual arousal.

6D36 Paraphilic Disorder Involving Solitary Behaviour or Consenting Individuals

Essential (Required) Features:

- A sustained, focused and intense pattern of atypical sexual arousal, as manifested by sexual thoughts, fantasies, urges, or behaviours that involves consenting adults or solitary behaviour.
- One of the following two elements must be present:
 - The individual is markedly distressed by the nature of the arousal pattern and the distress is not simply a consequence of rejection or feared rejection of the arousal pattern by others; or
 - The nature of the paraphilic behaviour involves significant risk of injury or death either to the individual (e.g., asphyxophilia or achieving sexual arousal by restriction of breathing) or to the individual's partner (e.g., consensual sadism that results in injuries requiring medical attention).
- If the diagnosis is assigned based on significant risk of injury or death, this risk should be directly and immediately connected to the paraphilic behaviour. For example, a presumed risk of increased exposure to sexually transmitted infections is not a sufficient basis for assigning this diagnosis.

Additional Clinical Features:

- Paraphilic Disorder Involving Solitary Behaviour or Consenting Individuals should not be diagnosed among children and should be diagnosed only with utmost caution among adolescents. Sexual experimentation is typical during adolescence and sexual acts may occur impulsively or opportunistically rather than representing a recurrent pattern of sexual arousal.
- Diagnosis of Paraphilic Disorder Involving Solitary Behaviour or Consenting Individuals generally requires a report of sexual thoughts, fantasies, urges, and behaviours directly from the individual in order to document a sustained, focused and intense pattern of atypical sexual arousal and the degree and sources of related distress.

Boundary with Normality (Threshold):

- The fact that an individual's pattern of sexual arousal deviates from social or cultural norms is not a basis for assigning a diagnosis of Paraphilic Disorder Involving Solitary Behaviour or Consenting Individuals. An arousal pattern that involves consenting adults or solitary behaviour and that is not associated with marked distress that is not simply a consequence of rejection or feared rejection of the arousal pattern by others or with a significant risk of injury or death is not considered a disorder.
- The occurrence or a history of atypical sexual behaviours is not sufficient to establish a diagnosis of Paraphilic Disorder Involving Solitary Behaviour or Consenting Individuals. Some atypical sexual behaviours may occur impulsively or opportunistically or as a means of personal and sexual exploration and are not associated with a sustained underlying arousal pattern. The diagnosis of Paraphilic Disorder Involving Solitary Behaviours be a manifestation of a sustained, focused, and intense pattern of paraphilic sexual arousal, in addition to distress or significant risk of injury or death.
- When distress related to an arousal pattern involving consenting adults or solitary behaviour is entirely attributable to rejection or feared rejection of the arousal pattern by others (e.g., a partner, family, society), a diagnosis of Paraphilic Disorder Involving Solitary Behaviour or Consenting Individuals should not be assigned. Instead, codes related to counselling interventions from the chapter on 'Factors Influencing Health Status or Contact with Health Services' may be considered. These include 'Counselling related to sexual knowledge and sexual attitude', 'Counselling related to sexual behaviour and sexual relationships of the patient', and 'Counselling related to sexual behaviour and sexual relationship of couple'.
- This diagnosis should not be applied to individuals who are distressed about homosexual or bisexual sexual orientation. If an individual is presenting for treatment based on such distress, codes related to counselling interventions from the chapter on 'Factors Influencing Health Status or Contact with Health Services' may be considered. These include 'Counselling related to sexual knowledge and sexual attitude', 'Counselling related to sexual behaviour and sexual relationships of the patient', and 'Counselling related to sexual behaviour and sexual relationship of couple'. If the pattern of distress-related symptoms meets the diagnostic requirements for another mental disorder (e.g., Adjustment Disorder, a Depressive Disorder, an Anxiety or Fear-Related Disorder), that diagnosis should be assigned.

Course Features:

- Individuals with paraphilic arousal patterns involving solitary behaviour or consenting individuals often report the onset of paraphilic sexual interest during adolescence.
- Paraphilic arousal patterns are relatively stable after young adulthood, but sexual thoughts, fantasies, urges, and behaviours, as well as any associated distress, may change over time such that an individual who was assigned a diagnosis of a Paraphilic Disorder Involving Solitary Behaviour or Consenting Individuals no longer meets the diagnostic requirements.

Developmental Presentations:

• Advancing age may be associated with decreasing paraphilic sexual arousal and decreasing related behavioural manifestations due to increased impulse control and decreased sexual drive.

Sex- and/or Gender-Related Features:

- Paraphilic arousal patterns involving solitary behaviour or consenting individuals are much more common in men.
- Paraphilic arousal patterns involving masochism are more common in women than other paraphilic arousal patterns. If other diagnostic requirements are met (i.e., marked distress or significant risk of injury or death), a masochistic paraphilic arousal pattern may be a part of the basis for diagnosis of Paraphilic Disorder Involving Solitary Behaviour or Consenting Individuals.

- **Boundary with Compulsive Sexual Behaviour Disorder:** Both Paraphilic Disorder Involving Solitary Behaviour or Consenting Individuals and Compulsive Sexual Behaviour Disorder may involve repetitive sexual impulses, urges or behaviours that result in marked distress or impairment. Paraphilic Disorder Involving Solitary Behaviour or Consenting Individuals is characterized by sexual impulses, urges, or behaviours that are manifestations of a sustained, focused and intense pattern of atypical sexual arousal that is associated with either marked distress or significant risk of injury or death. In contrast, Compulsive Sexual Behaviour Disorder is characterized by a persistent pattern of failure to control sexual impulses, urges, or behaviours, regardless of the focus of sexual arousal. If an individual with Paraphilic Disorder Involving Solitary Behaviour or Consenting Individuals is able to exercise some degree of control over the behavioural expressions of the arousal pattern, an additional diagnosis of Compulsive Sexual Behavioural Disorder is generally not warranted.
- **Boundary with Disorders Due to Substance Use:** Episodes of sexual behaviour that are atypical for the individual may occur during substance intoxication. Such episodes may not be a manifestation of a sustained, focused, and intense sexual arousal pattern. At the same time, some individuals with Paraphilic Disorders may use substances with the intention of engaging atypical sexual behaviour that does reflect an underlying paraphilic arousal pattern. A diagnosis of Paraphilic Disorder Involving Solitary Behaviour or Consenting Individuals may be assigned together with a Disorder Due to Substance Use if the diagnostic requirements for both disorders are met.
- **Boundary with other mental disorders in the context of rejection or feared rejection:** If distress related to rejection or feared rejection of the arousal pattern by others has reached a point that presenting symptoms meet the diagnostic requirements for another mental disorder (e.g., Adjustment Disorder, a Depressive Disorder, an Anxiety or Fear-Related Disorder), that diagnosis should be assigned rather than Paraphilic Disorder Involving Solitary Behaviour or Consenting Individuals.
- Boundary with other mental disorders in the context of sexual behaviours that are atypical for the individual: Sexual behaviours that are atypical for the individual: Sexual behaviours that are atypical for the individual that do not reflect an underlying, persistent pattern of sexual arousal may occur in the context of some mental disorders, such as Bipolar Type I Disorder during Manic or Mixed Episodes or Dementia. If the sexual behaviours involved do not reflect an underlying, persistent pattern of sexual arousal, a diagnosis of Paraphilic Disorder Involving Solitary Behaviour or Consenting Individuals should not be assigned.

• **Boundary with Gender Incongruence of Adolescence or Adulthood:** Individuals who have a focused and intense pattern of sexual arousal involving cross-dressing might qualify for the diagnosis of Paraphilic Disorder Involving Solitary Behaviour or Consenting Individuals if they are markedly distressed by having this pattern of arousal. A history of sexual excitement in association with cross-dressing can sometimes be a feature of Gender Incongruence that develops in adolescence or adulthood, but such a history is not a sufficient basis for diagnosing Paraphilic Disorder Involving Solitary Behaviour or Consenting Individuals.

6D3Z Paraphilic Disorders, Unspecified

FACTITIOUS DISORDERS

Factitious Disorders are characterized by feigning, falsifying, or intentionally inducing or aggravating medical, psychological, or behavioural signs and symptoms or injury in oneself or in another person associated with identified deception. A pre-existing disorder or disease may be present, but the individual intentionally aggravates existing symptoms or falsifies or induces additional symptoms. Individuals with Factitious Disorders seek treatment or otherwise present themselves or another person as ill, injured, or impaired based on the feigned, falsified, or self-induced signs, symptoms, or injuries. The deceptive behaviour is not solely motivated by obvious external rewards or incentives (e.g., obtaining disability payments or evading criminal prosecution). This is in contrast to Malingering, in which clear external rewards or incentives motivate the behaviour.

Factitious Disorders include:

6D50 Factitious Disorder Imposed on Self

6D51 Factitious Disorder Imposed on Another

6D50 Factitious Disorder Imposed on Self

Essential (Required) Features:

- Feigning, falsifying, or intentionally inducing medical, psychological, or behavioural signs and symptoms or injury associated with identified deception. If a pre-existing disorder or disease is present, the individual intentionally aggravates existing symptoms or falsifies or induces additional symptoms.
- The individual seeks treatment or otherwise presents themselves as ill, injured, or impaired based on the feigned, falsified, or self-induced signs, symptoms, or injuries.
- The deceptive behaviour is not solely motivated by obvious external rewards or incentives (e.g., obtaining disability payments or evading criminal prosecution).
- The behaviour is not better accounted for by another mental disorder (e.g., Schizophrenia or Other Primary Psychotic Disorder).

Additional Clinical Features:

- Examples of behaviours involved in Factitious Disorder Imposed on Self include falsely reporting or simulating episodes of neurological or mental symptoms (e.g., seizures, hearing voices); manipulating laboratory tests to falsely indicate an abnormality (e.g., adding sugar to urine); falsifying past or current medical records to indicate an illness; ingesting a substance (e.g., warfarin) to produce an abnormal laboratory result or illness; and physically injuring or intentionally inducing illness in oneself (e.g., intentional exposure to infectious or toxic agents).
- The simulation of illness, injury, or impairment and the insistence and intensity of its presentation may be so convincing and persistent that repeated investigations or even surgeries are performed, sometimes at many different hospitals or clinics, in spite of repeated negative or inconclusive findings.
- The motivation for the behaviour is presumed to be psychological. Factitious Disorder Imposed on Self can be understood as a disorder of illness behaviour and adoption of the

sick role. Seeking attention, especially from health care providers as a part of the sick role, often appears to be a motivation for the behaviour.

• There is evidence that Factitious Disorder Imposed on Self in adulthood may be associated with being the victim of Factitious Disorder Imposed on Another in childhood.

Boundary Normality (Threshold):

• Some individuals with medical conditions may exaggerate their symptoms in order to gain more attention from medical professionals, family members, or the community, or access to additional treatment. A diagnosis of Factitious Disorder Imposed on Self should only be considered if there is evidence that the person is feigning, falsifying, or intentionally inducing or aggravating the symptoms.

Course Features:

- The typical age at identification of individuals with Factitious Disorder Imposed on Self is 30 to 40 years, but at the time of first assessment it is often revealed that the disorder has been present without being detected for many years.
- There is some evidence that individuals with Factitious Disorder Imposed on Self typically progress from less to more extreme modes of medical deception, and from an episodic to a chronic pattern.
- Individuals with Factitious Disorder Imposed on Self often do not provide accurate histories or access to their past medical records. As a result, systematic data regarding the onset and development of their factitious illness behaviour and its long-term outcomes are extremely limited.

Developmental Presentations:

- Factitious Disorder Imposed on Self can occur in adolescents and has been identified in young children.
- Among children and adolescents, commonly reported falsified or induced conditions include fevers, ketoacidosis, rashes, and infections. Methods of fabrication may include false reporting of symptoms, self-bruising, ingestion of harmful substances, and self-injections.

Sex- and/or Gender-Related Features:

• A substantial majority of individuals identified with Factitious Disorder Imposed on Self are female.

Boundaries with Other Disorders and Conditions (Differential Diagnosis):

• **Boundary with Bodily Distress Disorder and Hypochondriasis (Health Anxiety Disorder):** Individuals with Bodily Distress Disorder or Hypochondriasis may exaggerate their symptoms at times to ensure that their care is prioritized or taken seriously, as a part of excessive attention and treatment seeking related to somatic symptoms. However, unlike Factitious Disorder Imposed on Self, there is no evidence

that the person is feigning, falsifying, or intentionally inducing or aggravating the symptoms.

- **Boundary with Dissociative Neurological Symptom Disorder:** In Dissociative Neurological Symptom Disorder, symptoms (e.g., seizures, paralysis) are presented that are not consistent with neurological findings or other pathophysiology. In contrast to Factitious Disorder Imposed on Self, however, individuals with Dissociative Neurological Symptom Disorder do not feign, falsify or intentionally induce their symptoms.
- **Boundary with Malingering:** In Malingering, individuals also deceptively report, feign, or induce symptoms in order to falsify or exaggerate the severity of an illness. However, in Malingering, primary external incentives are considered to be motivating the behaviour. The most common external motives for malingering include evading criminal prosecution, obtaining psychoactive medications (e.g., opioids), avoiding military conscription or dangerous military duty, and attempting to obtain sickness or disability benefits or improvements in living conditions such as housing. Malingering is not considered a mental disorder and is classified in the chapter on Factors Influencing Health Status or Contact with Health Services. In Factitious Disorder Imposed on Self, the deceptive behaviour is not solely motivated by obvious external incentives.
- **Boundary with other forms of self-injurious behaviour:** Individuals who exhibit selfinjurious behaviour, often in the context of another mental disorder, may intentionally provide false information to examiners regarding either the self-induced nature of the injuries or the presence of suicidal ideation or intent. The deception in these cases is typically intended to minimize rather than exaggerate the extent to which the individual is viewed as ill, injured, or impaired.

6D51 Factitious Disorder Imposed on Another

Essential (Required) Features:

- Feigning, falsifying, or intentionally inducing medical, psychological, or behavioural signs and symptoms or injury in another person, most commonly a child dependent, associated with identified deception. If a pre-existing disorder or disease is present in the other person, the individual intentionally exaggerates of aggravates existing symptoms or falsifies or induces additional symptoms.
- The individual seeks treatment for the other person or otherwise presents him or her as ill, injured, or impaired based on the feigned, falsified, or induced signs, symptoms, or injuries.
- The deceptive behaviour is not solely motivated by obvious external rewards or incentives (e.g., obtaining disability payments or avoiding criminal prosecution for child or elder abuse).
- The behaviour is not better accounted for by another mental disorder (e.g., Schizophrenia or Other Primary Psychotic Disorder).

Note: The diagnosis of Factitious Disorder Imposed on Another is assigned to the individual who is feigning, falsifying or inducing the symptoms in another person, not to the person who is presented as having the symptoms. Occasionally the individual induces or falsifies symptoms in a pet rather than in another person.

Additional Clinical Features:

- The range of behaviours involved in Factitious Disorder Imposed on Another is similar to those in Factitious Disorder Imposed on Self, and includes reporting episodes of neurological or mental symptoms in the other person; manipulating laboratory tests to falsely indicate an abnormality (e.g., adding sugar to urine); falsifying past or current medical records to indicate an illness; administering a substance (e.g., warfarin) to produce an abnormal laboratory result or illness; and physically injuring or intentionally inducing illness in the other person (e.g., intentional exposure to infectious or toxic agents).
- The simulation or induction of illness or injury in Factitious Disorder Imposed on Another may be quite dramatic, resulting in numerous medical investigations and interventions in spite of negative or inconclusive findings.
- The person presented as ill, injured, or impaired would in many cases be considered to be a victim of physical or psychological maltreatment (i.e., abuse), which should be classified separately using the appropriate code from the chapter on External Causes of Morbidity or Mortality.
- There is evidence that a significant proportion of perpetrators of Factitious Disorder Imposed on Another have a history of Factitious Disorder Imposed on Self.

Boundary with Normality (Threshold):

• Some individuals whose loved ones have medical conditions may exaggerate the reports of symptoms to medical professionals in order to get their loved one's care prioritized or to access additional treatments they perceive as necessary or potentially beneficial. Factitious Disorder Imposed on Another should only be considered if there is evidence that the person is feigning, falsifying, or intentionally inducing or aggravating the symptoms of the other person.

Sex- and/or Gender-Related Features:

• The most common presentation of Factitious Disorder Imposed on Another is a mother who fabricates symptoms in one or more of her children.

- **Boundary with motivated deception related to physical abuse:** Caregivers who lie about the cause of abuse injuries in their dependents (e.g., claiming that an injury was the result of an 'accident' rather than child or elder abuse) solely in order to avoid criminal prosecution or the intervention of child protective services should not be diagnosed with Factitious Disorder Imposed on Another. The diagnosis of Factitious Disorder Imposed on Another that there are additional motivations for the deceptive behaviour, such as obtaining the attention and admiration of health care providers.
- **Boundary with mental disorders with psychotic symptoms:** Individuals with other mental disorders (e.g., Schizophrenia or Other Primary Psychotic Disorders, Mood Disorders) may sometimes harm others, including their children, in response to a command hallucination or a delusion or as part of a suicide attempt. In such cases, there is typically no evidence of deception associated with the harmful behaviour other than to

avoid criminal prosecution for child abuse or other intervention (e.g., removal of a child by protective services).

6D5Z Factitious Disorders, Unspecified

NEUROCOGNITIVE DISORDERS

Neurocognitive Disorders are characterized by primary clinical deficits in neurocognitive functioning that are acquired rather than developmental. Neurocognitive functioning specifically refers to neurologically based cognitive skills and abilities believed to be directly related to brain functioning, including but not limited to attention/concentration, memory, language, visual spatial/perceptual skills, processing speed, and executive functioning (e.g., problem solving, judgement).

Neurocognitive Disorders represent a decline from a previously attained level of functioning. This grouping does not include disorders characterized by deficits in neurocognitive functioning that are present from birth or that typically arise during the developmental period, which are classified in the grouping of Neurodevelopmental Disorders. Although cognitive deficits are present in many mental disorders (e.g., Schizophrenia, Bipolar Disorders), only disorders whose core features are neurocognitive are included in the Neurocognitive Disorders grouping.

Neurocognitive Disorders include the following:

| 6D70 | Delirium |
|------|---|
| | 6D70.0Delirium Due to Disease Classified Elsewhere |
| | 6D70.1 Delirium Due to Psychoactive Substances Incl |

D70.1 Delirium Due to Psychoactive Substances Including Medications The following sub-categories are cross-listed from Disorders Due to Substance Use:

- 6C40.5 Alcohol-Induced Delirium
- 6C41.5 Cannabis-Induced Delirium
- 6C42.5 Synthetic Cannabinoid-Induced Delirium
- 6C43.5 Opioid-Induced Delirium
- 6C44.5 Sedative, Hypnotic or Anxiolytic-Induced Delirium
- 6C45.5 Cocaine-Induced Delirium
- 6C46.5 Stimulant-Induced Delirium, Including Amphetamines,

Methamphetamine or Methcathinone

- 6C47.5 Synthetic Cathinone-Induced Delirium
- 6C49.4 Hallucinogen-Induced Delirium
- 6C4B.5 Volatile Inhalant-Induced Delirium
- 6C4C.5 MDMA or Related Drug-Induced Delirium, Including MDA
- 6C4D.4 Dissociative Drug-Induced Delirium, Including Ketamine or PCP

6C4E.5 Delirium Induced by Other Specified Psychoactive Substance Including Medications

6C4F.5 Delirium Induced by Multiple Specified Psychoactive

- Substances Including Medications
- 6C4G.5 Delirium Induced by Unknown or Unspecified Psychoactive Substance

6D70.2 Delirium Due to Multiple Etiological Factors

- 6D70.Y Delirium, Other Specified Cause
- 6D70.Z Delirium, Unknown or Unspecified Cause
- 6D71 Mild Neurocognitive Disorder
- 6D72 Amnestic Disorder

⁶D72.0Amnestic Disorder Due to Diseases Classified Elsewhere

6D72.1Amnestic Disorder Due to Psychoactive Substances Including Medications Amnestic Disorder Due to Use of Alcohol 6D72.10 Amnestic Disorder Due to Use of Sedatives, Hypnotics or 6D72.11 Anxiolytics 6D72.12 Amnestic Disorder Due to Other Specified Psychoactive Substance Including Medications Amnestic Disorder Due to Use of Volatile Inhalants 6D72.13 6D72.Y Amnestic Disorder, Other Specified Cause 6D72.Z Amnestic Disorder, Unknown or Unspecified Cause Dementia 6D80 Dementia Due to Alzheimer Disease 6D80.0Dementia Due to Alzheimer Disease with early onset 6D80.1 Dementia Due to Alzheimer Disease with late onset 6D80.2 Alzheimer Disease Dementia, mixed type, with cerebrovascular disease 6D80.3 Alzheimer Disease Dementia, mixed type, with other nonvascular etiologies 6D80.Z Alzheimer Disease Dementia, onset unknown or unspecified 6D81 Dementia Due to Cerebrovascular Disease 6D82 Dementia Due to Lewy Body Disease 6D63 Frontotemporal Dementia 6D84 Dementia Due to Psychoactive Substances Including Medications 6C84.0Dementia Due to Use of Alcohol 6C84.1 Dementia Due to Use of Sedatives, Hypnotics or Anxiolytics 6C84.2Dementia Due to Use of Volatile Inhalants Dementia Due to Use of Other Specified Psychoactive 6C84.Y Substance 6D85 Dementia Due to Diseases Classified Elsewhere 6C85.0Dementia Due to Parkinson Disease 6C85.1 Dementia Due to Huntington Disease 6C85.2Dementia Due to Exposure to Heavy Metals and Other Toxins 6C85.3 Dementia Due to Human Immunodeficiency Virus 6C85.4Dementia Due to Multiple Sclerosis 6C85.5 Dementia Due to Prion Disease 6C85.6Dementia Due to Normal Pressure Hydrocephalus 6C85.7Dementia Due to Injury to the Head 6C85.8Dementia Due to Pellagra 6C85.9Dementia Due to Down Syndrome 6C85.Y Dementia Due to Other Specified Diseases Classified Elsewhere 6D8Y Dementia, Other Specified Cause 6D8Z Dementia, Unknown or Unspecified Cause

6E0Y Other Specified Neurocognitive Disorder

Additional categories for specific symptoms are provided in the grouping MB21 Symptoms, Signs or Clinical Findings Involving Cognition in the chapter on Symptoms, Signs or Clinical Findings, not elsewhere classified. These may be used to provide additional detail regarding a particular presentation or to describe more transient symptoms (e.g., symptoms that are closely tied to an underlying medical condition that are not a specific focus of intervention). In cases where the underlying pathology and etiology for Neurocognitive Disorders can be determined, the diagnosis corresponding to the identified etiology should also be assigned.

General Cultural Considerations for Neurocognitive Disorders

- Performance during clinical assessment may vary according to cultural and/or linguistic factors. When assessing impairment in neurocognitive functioning and activities of daily living, cultural and linguistic factors should be considered and accounted for when possible. For example:
 - Test performance may be affected by cultural biases (e.g., references in test items to terminology or objects not common to a culture) and limitations of translation and adaptation.
 - In evaluating functioning in important everyday skills, the expectations of the individual's culture and social environment should be considered.
 - Similarly, when determining the presence of perceived or observed cognitive change, it is important to consider cultural variations that may exist regarding expectations or tolerance for cognitive change. For example, some degree of memory loss or cognitive impairment might be seen as normal in some family or social systems and may not be fully recognized when existing support systems are available to compensate.
 - Linguistic and cultural proficiency must also be considered when interpreting test results, both in terms of whether the individual understood the instructions as well as its impact on test performance.
- When standardized testing is utilized for determination of neurocognitive impairment, it should be appropriately developed and normed for the population of which the individual being tested is a member. Where appropriately normed and standardized tests are not available, assessment of the Essential Features of these disorders requires greater reliance on clinical judgment based on appropriate evidence and other quantified clinical assessment.

General Considerations Related to Sex and/or Gender for Neurocognitive Disorders

• Performance on clinical assessment or standardized neuropsychological/cognitive testing may differ according to sex and/or gender-related factors. When clinical assessment or standardized neuropsychological/cognitive testing is utilized for determination of memory or other neurocognitive impairment, sex and/or gender-related factors should be considered and accounted for when possible.

6D70 Delirium

Delirium includes the following categories:

6D70 Delirium

6D70.0 Delirium Due to Disease Classified Elsewhere
6D70.1 Delirium Due to Psychoactive Substances Including Medications
6D70.2 Delirium Due to Multiple Etiological Factors
6D70.Y Delirium, Other Specified Cause
6D70.Z Delirium, Unspecified or Unknown Cause

6D70 General Diagnostic Requirements for Delirium

Essential (Required) Features:

- A disturbance of attention, orientation, and awareness developing within a short period of time (e.g., within hours or days), typically presenting as significant confusion or global neurocognitive impairment with transient symptoms that may fluctuate depending on the underlying causal condition or etiology.
- The disturbance represents a change from the individual's baseline functioning.
- Delirium may be caused by the direct physiological effects of a medical condition not classified under Mental, Behavioural or Neurodevelopmental Disorders, by the direct physiological effects of a substance or medication, including withdrawal, or by multiple or unknown etiological factors.
- The symptoms are not better accounted for by a pre-existing or evolving Neurocognitive Disorder (i.e., Amnestic Disorder, Mild Neurocognitive Disorder, or Dementia) or by another mental disorder (e.g., Schizophrenia or Other Primary Psychotic Disorder, a Mood Disorder, Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder, a Dissociative Disorder).
- The symptoms are not better accounted for by a typical syndrome of Substance Intoxication or Substance Withdrawal for a substance or medication that is known to be present, although Delirium can occur as a complication of intoxication or withdrawal states (see Delirium Due to Psychoactive Substances Including Medications, below).

Additional Clinical Features:

- In Delirium, cognition is typically impaired in a global manner, such that multiple areas of neurocognitive functioning are impaired upon assessment.
- Delirium may include impaired perception, which can manifest as illusions (i.e., misinterpretations of sensory inputs), delusions, or hallucinations.
- Delirium often includes disturbance of emotion, including anxiety symptoms, depressed mood, irritability, fear, anger, euphoria, or apathy.
- Behavioural symptoms may be present (e.g., agitation, restlessness, impulsivity). A disturbance of the sleep-wake cycle, including reduced arousal of acute onset or total sleep loss followed by reversal of the sleep-wake cycle, may also be present.
- The presence of a pre-existing Neurocognitive Disorder can increase the risk for Delirium and complicate its course.

Boundary with Normality (Threshold):

• Normal aging is typically associated with some degree of cognitive change. Delirium is differentiated from age-related cognitive changes by the sudden onset of symptoms (e.g., within hours or days), the presence of significant confusion and/or global neurocognitive impairment, and the transient and typically fluctuating symptom presentation.

Course Features:

- Onset of symptoms is typically sudden (e.g., within hours or days) with a transient and/or fluctuating course.
- Symptoms are generally expected to remit with treatment of the underlying etiology or the elimination of the causative substance from the body.

Developmental Presentations:

- Susceptibility to Delirium in infancy and childhood may be greater than in early and middle adulthood.
- In childhood, Delirium may be related to febrile illnesses and certain medications (e.g., anticholinergics).
- Older individuals are especially susceptible to Delirium compared with younger adults.

Culture-Related Features:

- Performance during clinical assessment may vary according to cultural and/or linguistic factors. When assessing impairment in neurocognitive functioning and activities of daily living, cultural and linguistic factors should be considered and accounted for when possible.
- When standardized neuropsychological/cognitive testing is utilized for determination of neurocognitive impairment, performance should be measured with appropriately normed, standardized tests. In situations where appropriately normed and standardized tests are not available, assessment of neurocognitive functioning requires greater reliance on clinical judgment. (See General Cultural Considerations for Neurocognitive Disorders for additional information and examples.)

Boundaries with Other Disorders and Conditions (Differential Diagnosis):

- Boundary with Dementia: Delirium is differentiated from other
- Neurocognitive Disorders in that the former is characterized by global neurocognitive impairment and confusion that have a precipitous onset, are transient, and fluctuate depending on the underlying causal condition or etiology. Dementia is more typically characterized by impairment in specific neurocognitive abilities and is often progressive and more gradual in onset. Individuals with Dementia are at increased risk for Delirium, and those who develop acute disturbances in attention, orientation, and awareness should be assigned an additional diagnosis of Delirium and evaluated to determine its specific etiology.
- **Boundary with neurocognitive impairment associated with acquired or traumatic brain injuries:** Delirium is differentiated from an acute confusional or agitated state related to acquired or traumatic brain injuries by the absence of evidence of a preceding neurological injury or event (e.g., traumatic brain injury, cerebral hemorrhage, stroke).
- **Boundary with Transient Global Amnesia:** Unlike Delirium, Transient Global Amnesia is characterized by the presence of isolated memory impairment alongside intact functioning in other cognitive areas (e.g., naming skills, self-identification). Although both disorders may present with memory impairment, Delirium is frequently characterized by additional symptoms including significant confusion, global neurocognitive impairment, and behavioural and emotional disturbance (e.g., hallucinations, agitation).
- **Boundary with Factitious Disorder and Malingering:** In Factitious Disorder and Malingering, the neurocognitive symptoms characteristic of Delirium are consciously feigned. Feigned or induced symptoms may be, though are not necessarily, atypical in pattern, magnitude, or course or may be medically implausible. Individuals with Factitious Disorder feign neurocognitive symptoms in order to seek attention, especially

from health providers and to assume the sick role. Malingering is characterized by intentional feigning of neurocognitive impairment for obvious external incentives (e.g., disability payments).

- **Boundary with Schizophrenia or Other Primary Psychotic Disorder:** Delirium accompanied by hallucinations and/or delusions is differentiated from Schizophrenia or Other Primary Psychotic Disorders by the absence of other characteristics of these disorders and by symptoms that are transient and fluctuate depending on the underlying causal condition or etiology.
- **Boundary with Dissociative Amnesia:** Selective memory deficits are present in Dissociative Amnesia and may be accompanied by confusion about identity if dissociative fugue is present. Dissociative Amnesia is not characterized by disturbances in attention or awareness, general confusion, or global neurocognitive impairment, which are features of Delirium.

6D70.0 Delirium Due to Disease Classified Elsewhere

Essential (Required) Features:

- All diagnostic requirements for Delirium are met.
- There is evidence from the history, physical examination, or laboratory findings that the neurocognitive disturbance is caused by the direct physiological consequences of a medical condition. This judgment depends on establishing that:
 - The medical condition is known to be capable of producing Delirium; and
 - The course of the Delirium (e.g., onset, trajectory of symptoms, response to treatment) is consistent with causation by the medical condition.

Note: When Delirium is due to a disease or condition classified elsewhere, the diagnostic code corresponding to that disease or condition should be assigned along with Delirium Due to Disease Classified Elsewhere. If the Delirium is attributed to multiple medical conditions or to a medical condition and a substance or medication, the category Delirium Due to Multiple Etiological Factors should be used instead. This may include medications being used to manage the medical condition.

Potentially Explanatory Medical Conditions (examples):

- Certain Infectious or Parasitic Diseases (e.g., meningitis, viral hepatitis, sepsis)
- Diseases of Liver (e.g., chronic hepatic failure, hepatic encephalopathy)
- Diseases of the Circulatory System (e.g., acute myocardial infarction)
- Diseases of the Nervous System (e.g., cerebral ischaemic stroke, epilepsy or seizures, hypertensive encephalopathy)
- Diseases of the Urinary System (e.g., kidney failure, urinary tract infection)
- Endocrine Disorders (e.g., diabetic ketoacidosis, hyperthyroidism, hypothyroidism)
- Metabolic Disorders (e.g., acidosis, disorders or urea cycle metabolism, hypoglycaemia, hypomagnesaemia, hypo-osmolality or hyponatraemia)
- Neoplasms of the brain or central nervous system
- Nutritional Disorders (e.g., vitamin B₁, B₃ or B₁₂ deficiency)

6D70.1 Delirium Due to Psychoactive Substances Including Medications

Essential (Required) Features:

- All diagnostic requirements for Delirium are met.
- There is evidence from history, physical examination, or laboratory findings that the neurocognitive disturbance is caused by the direct physiological consequences of use of a substance or medication. This judgment depends on establishing that:
 - The substance and the amount and duration of its use or withdrawal from the substance is known to be capable of producing Delirium; and
 - The course of the Delirium (e.g., onset, trajectory of symptoms, eventual remission with elimination of the substance from the body) is consistent with causation by the substance.
- The duration or severity of the symptoms is substantially in excess of the characteristic syndrome of Substance Intoxication or Substance Withdrawal due to the specified substance.

Note: Each specific substance that has been identified as contributing to the Delirium should be classified using the appropriate substance-specific category. If one or more of the categories appearing below is diagnosed, a separate diagnosis of 6D70.1 Delirium Due to Psychoactive Substance Including Medications should not be assigned.

- 6C40.5 Alcohol-Induced Delirium (See Table 6.17 for a description of Delirium Associated with Alcohol Withdrawal)
- 6C41.5 Cannabis-Induced Delirium
- 6C42.5 Synthetic Cannabinoid-Induced Delirium
- 6C43.5 Opioid-Induced Delirium
- 6C44.5 Sedative, Hypnotic or Anxiolytic-Induced Delirium (See Table 6.17 for a description of Delirium Associated with Sedative, Hypnotic or Anxiolytic Withdrawal)
- 6C45.5 Cocaine-Induced Delirium
- 6C46.5 Stimulant-Induced Delirium Including Amphetamines, Methamphetamine or Methcathinone
- 6C47.5 Synthetic Cathinone-Induced Delirium
- 6C49.4 Hallucinogen-Induced Delirium
- 6C4B.5 Volatile Inhalant-Induced Delirium
- 6C4C.5 MDMA or Related Drug-Induced Delirium, Including MDA
- 6C4D.4 Dissociative Drug-Induced Delirium Including Ketamine or PCP
- 6C4E.5 Delirium Induced by Other Specified Psychoactive Substance Including Medications
- 6C4F.5Delirium Induced by Multiple Specified Psychoactive Substances Including Medications
- 6C4G.5 Delirium Induced by Unknown or Unspecified Psychoactive Substance

A diagnosis corresponding to the pattern of use of the relevant psychoactive substance (i.e., Episode of Harmful Psychoactive Substance Use, Harmful Pattern of Psychoactive Substance Use, Substance Dependence) may also be assigned.

If the Delirium is attributed to a substance or medication together with one or more medical conditions, the category Delirium Due to Multiple Etiological Factors should be used instead. This may include medications being used to manage the medical condition.

6D70.2 Delirium Due to Multiple Etiological Factors

Essential (Required) Features:

- All diagnostic requirements for Delirium are met.
- There is evidence from the history, physical examination, or laboratory findings that the Delirium is caused by:
 - The direct physiological consequences of multiple diseases classified elsewhere; or
 - One or more diseases classified elsewhere and the direct effects of a substance or medication on the central nervous
- This judgment depends on establishing that:
 - The medical condition(s) are known to be capable of producing Delirium;
 - If applicable, the amount and duration of use of the substance or withdrawal from the substance is known to be capable of producing Delirium;
 - If applicable, the duration or severity of the symptoms is substantially in excess of the characteristic syndrome of Substance Intoxication or Substance Withdrawal due to the specified substance; and
 - The course of the Delirium (e.g., onset, trajectory of symptoms, eventual remission with elimination of the substance from the body) is consistent with causation by the medical condition(s) and, if applicable, the substance.

Note: When Delirium is due to a disease or condition classified elsewhere, the diagnostic code corresponding to that disease or condition should be assigned along with Delirium Due to Disease Classified Elsewhere.

6D70.Y Delirium, Other Specified Cause

Essential (Required) Features:

- All diagnostic requirements for Delirium are met.
- The Delirium is presumed to be attributable to an identified cause that is not adequately captured by any of the other available Delirium categories.
- This judgment depends on establishing that:
 - The specified cause is known to be capable of producing Delirium; and
 - The course of the Delirium (e.g., onset, trajectory of symptoms, response to treatment) is consistent with the specified cause.

Note: The ICD-11 diagnosis corresponding to the presumed etiology should also be assigned.

6D70.Z Delirium, Unknown or Unspecified Cause

Essential (Required) Features:

- All diagnostic requirements for Delirium are met.
- The cause of the Delirium is unknown or unspecified.

6D71 Mild Neurocognitive Disorder

Essential (Required) Features:

- Presence of mild impairment in one more or cognitive domains (e.g., attention, executive function, language, memory, perceptual-motor abilities, social cognition) relative to expectations for age and general premorbid level of neurocognitive functioning.
- Impairment represents a decline from the individual's previous level of functioning.
- Neurocognitive impairment is not severe enough to significantly interfere with an individual's ability to perform activities related to personal, family, social, educational, and/or occupational functioning or other important functional areas.
- Evidence of mild neurocognitive impairment is based on:
 - Information obtained from the individual, informant, or clinical observation; and
 - Objective evidence of impairment as demonstrated by standardized neuropsychological/cognitive testing or, in its absence, another quantified clinical assessment.
- Neurocognitive impairment is not attributable to normal aging.
- Neurocognitive impairment may be attributable to an underlying acquired Disease of the Nervous System, a trauma, an infection or other disease process affecting the brain, use of specific substances or medications, nutritional deficiency or exposure to toxins, or the etiology may be undetermined.
- The symptoms are not better explained by another Neurocognitive Disorder, Substance Intoxication or Substance Withdrawal, or another mental disorder (e.g., Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder or other Neurodevelopmental Disorder, Schizophrenia or Other Primary Psychotic Disorder, a Mood Disorder, Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder, a Dissociative Disorder).

Note: Cases referred to elsewhere as Mild Cognitive Impairment (MCI) are referred to in the ICD-11 as Mild Neurocognitive Disorder (MND). When Mild Neurocognitive Disorder is due to a disease, condition or injury classified elsewhere (including Disorders Due to Substance Use), the diagnostic code corresponding to that disease, condition or injury should assigned in addition to Mild Neurocognitive Disorder. When the etiological condition is unknown, the diagnosis **8A2Z Disorders with Neurocognitive Impairment as a Major Feature, Unspecified** may be assigned in addition to Mild Neurocognitive Disorder.

Potentially Explanatory Medical Conditions (examples):

In addition to any of the specified causes of Dementia, Mild Neurocognitive Disorder may be caused by:

- Anaemias or Other Erythrocyte Disorders
- Certain Infectious or Parasitic Diseases (e.g., meningitis)
- Diseases of the Circulatory System (e.g., coronary atherosclerosis)
- Diseases of the Nervous System (e.g., cerebral palsy, epilepsy or seizures, hypertensive encephalopathy, hypoxic-ischaemic encephalopathy)
- Endocrine Diseases (e.g., diabetes mellitus, hypothyroidism)
- Intracranial injury
- Metabolic Disorders (e.g., hypo-osmolality or hyponatraemia)

- Neoplasms of the brain or central nervous system
- Nutritional Disorders (e.g., vitamin B₁₂ deficiency)

Additional Clinical Features:

- Mild declines in complex activities may be typically present (e.g., using transportation, meal preparation), while basic activities of daily living (e.g., dressing, bathing) are preserved. The individual may engage in compensatory strategies to maintain independence in everyday functioning.
- Behavioural and psychological symptoms are commonly associated with Mild Neurocognitive Disorder (e.g., depressed mood, sleep disturbance, anxiety).

Boundary with Normality (Threshold):

• Normal aging is typically associated with some degree of cognitive change. A diagnosis of Mild Neurocognitive Disorder does not apply if performance is consistent with expectations for the individual's age, based on age-related norms for performance on standardized assessment.

Course Features:

- The course of neurocognitive impairment in Mild Neurocognitive Disorder may be static, progressive, or may resolve or improve depending on the specific etiology and available treatment options.
- In some cases, Mild Neurocognitive Disorder may represent an early presentation of an underlying Disease of the Nervous System that may later meets the diagnostic requirements for Dementia.

Developmental Presentations:

• Mild Neurocognitive Disorder can occur at any point across the lifespan with risk and prevalence depending on the underlying etiology. Overall risk for Mild Neurocognitive Disorder increases with age because of the increased prevalence of possible causal conditions.

Culture-Related Features:

- Performance during clinical assessment may vary according to cultural and/or linguistic factors. When assessing impairment in neurocognitive functioning and activities of daily living, cultural and linguistic factors should be considered and accounted for when possible.
- When standardized neuropsychological/cognitive testing is utilized for determination of neurocognitive impairment, performance should be measured with appropriately normed, standardized tests. In situations where appropriately normed and standardized tests are not available, assessment of neurocognitive functioning requires greater reliance on clinical judgment. (See General Cultural Considerations for Neurocognitive Disorders for additional information and examples.)

Boundaries with other Disorders and Conditions (Differential Diagnosis):

- **Boundary with Delirium:** Delirium is characterized by a disturbance of attention, orientation, and awareness with transient symptoms that may fluctuate depending on the underlying causal condition or etiology. Delirium typically presents with significant confusion or global neurocognitive impairment, in contrast to Mild Neurocognitive Disorder, in which there is mild impairment in one or more cognitive domains that does not significantly interfere with functioning.
- **Boundary with Amnestic Disorder:** Amnestic Disorder is characterized by prominent memory impairment relative to expectations for age and general premorbid level of neurocognitive functioning that is severe enough to result in significant impairment in personal, family, social, educational, occupational, or other important areas of functioning, in the absence of other significant neurocognitive impairment. While specific presentations of Mild Neurocognitive Disorder may primarily affect memory, the memory impairment is not severe enough to significantly interfere with functioning in everyday skills and tasks.
- **Boundary with Dementia:** Dementia is characterized by marked impairment in two or more cognitive domains that is severe enough to cause significant impairment in personal, family, social, educational, occupational, or other important areas of functioning. Neurocognitive deficits in Mild Neurocognitive Disorder may be in similar areas, but are not severe enough to cause significant impairment in functioning
- **Boundary with mild cognitive symptoms in other mental disorders:** Mild cognitive symptoms may be a characteristic or associated feature of a wide range of mental disorders (e.g., Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder, Schizophrenia or Other Primary Psychotic Disorders, Mood Disorders, Anxiety or Fear-Related Disorders, Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder, Dissociative Disorders). If the neurocognitive impairment is better explained by another mental disorder, an additional diagnosis of Mild Neurocognitive Disorder should not be assigned.
- **Boundary with Sleep-Wake Disorders:** Memory and other neurocognitive impairment is frequently reported by individuals with sleep disturbance or Sleep-Wake Disorders, such as insomnia and sleep apnea. If the neurocognitive impairment is better explained by a Sleep-Wake Disorder, an additional diagnosis of Mild Neurocognitive Disorder should not be assigned.

6D72 Amnestic Disorder

Amnestic Disorder includes the following categories:

6D72 Amnestic Disorder

6D72.0 Amnestic Disorder Due to Diseases Classified Elsewhere
6D72.1 Amnestic Disorder Due to Psychoactive Substances Including
Medications
6D72.10 Amnestic Disorder Due to Use of Alcohol
6D72.11 Amnestic Disorder Due to Use of Sedatives, Hypnotics, or
Anxiolytics
6D72.13 Amnestic Disorder Due to Use of Volatile Inhalants
6D72.12 Amnestic Disorder Due to Other Specific Psychoactive Substance Including Medications
6D72.Y Amnestic Disorder, Other Specified Cause
6D72.Z Amnestic Disorder, Unknown or Unspecified Cause

6D72 General Diagnostic Requirements for Amnestic Disorder

Essential (Required) Features:

- Prominent memory impairment relative to expectations for age and general level of premorbid neurocognitive functioning, in the absence of other significant neurocognitive impairment.
- The memory impairment represents a marked decline from previous levels of functioning.
- The memory impairment is characterized by reduced ability to acquire, learn, and/or retain new information.
- Evidence of memory impairment is based on:
 - Information obtained from the individual, an informant, or clinical observation; and
 - Substantial impairment in memory performance as demonstrated by standardized neuropsychological/cognitive testing or, in its absence, another quantified clinical assessment.
- The symptoms are not better accounted for by disturbance of consciousness, altered mental status, Transient Global Amnesia (i.e., memory impairment lasting no more than 48 hours with most cases resolving within 6 hours), Delirium, Dementia, Substance Intoxication, Substance Withdrawal or another mental disorder (e.g., Schizophrenia or Other Primary Psychotic Disorder, a Mood Disorder, Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder, a Dissociative Disorder).
- The symptoms result in significant impairment in personal, family, social, educational, occupational, or other important areas of functioning. If functioning is maintained, it is only through significant additional effort (e.g., compensatory strategies).

Note: When Amnestic Disorder is due to a disease, condition or injury classified elsewhere (including Disorders Due to Substance Use), the diagnostic code corresponding to that disease, condition or injury should assigned along with Amnestic Disorder. When the etiological condition is unknown, the diagnosis **8A2Z Disorders with Neurocognitive Impairment as a Major Feature, Unspecified** may be assigned in addition to Amnestic Disorder.

Additional Clinical Features:

- Amnestic Disorder may or may not include the inability to recall previously learned information. Recent memory is typically more impaired than remote memory, and the ability to immediately recall a limited amount of information is usually relatively preserved.
- Standardized neuropsychological/cognitive testing or quantified clinical assessment may be needed to determine the magnitude and pattern of other neurocognitive impairment(s) and to differentiate Amnestic Disorder from other Neurocognitive Disorders (e.g., Dementia).
- Subjective reports by the affected individual of impairments in learning, memory, or recall do not always correspond to objective or measurable impairment in these areas because of potential alteration in the individual's awareness, misperceptions of abilities, or misattribution of the cause/source of symptoms or problems. Similarly, it is possible

that individuals with altered awareness of deficits may not acknowledge or report memory impairments that are present.

• If standardized neuropsychological/cognitive testing or quantified clinical assessment is not available, the symptom code MB21.1Z Amnesia, Unspecified may be used provisionally until a quantified assessment can be conducted.

Boundary with Normality (Threshold):

- Normal aging is typically associated with some degree of memory change. A diagnosis of Amnestic Disorder does not apply if performance is consistent with expectations for the individual's age, based on age-related norms for performance on standardized assessment.
- When memory difficulties consistent with normal aging are present and clinically relevant, the symptom code MB21.0 Age-Associated Cognitive Decline may be used.

Course Features:

- Onset of symptoms can be sudden (e.g., when due to stroke or trauma) or gradual (e.g., when due to psychoactive substances or nutritional deficiencies).
- Symptoms may be relatively stable over time or progressive depending on the underlying causal condition or etiology. In some cases, symptoms may improve over time, depending on the specific etiology and available treatment options.
- When memory impairment worsens progressively over time (e.g., due to an underlying Disease of the Nervous System), Amnestic Disorder may represent a prodrome for Dementia.

Culture-Related Features:

- Performance during clinical assessment may vary according to cultural and/or linguistic factors. When assessing impairment in neurocognitive functioning and activities of daily living, cultural and linguistic factors should be considered and accounted for when possible.
- When standardized neuropsychological/cognitive testing is utilized for determination of neurocognitive impairment, performance should be measured with appropriately normed, standardized tests. In situations where appropriately normed and standardized tests are not available, assessment of neurocognitive functioning requires greater reliance on clinical judgment. (See General Cultural Considerations for Neurocognitive Disorders for additional information and examples.)

Boundaries with other Disorders and Conditions (Differential Diagnosis):

- **Boundary with Delirium:** Although Delirium often includes memory impairment, it is differentiated from Amnestic Disorder by the presence of disturbances in attention, orientation, and awareness and significant confusion or global neurocognitive impairment, in contrast to the specific and prominent memory impairment seen in Amnestic Disorder.
- **Boundary with Mild Neurocognitive Disorder:** Unlike Amnestic Disorder, Mild Neurocognitive Disorder is characterized by a *mild* level of neurocognitive decline with little or no impairment in functioning of everyday skills and tasks. In Mild Neurocognitive Disorder, symptoms are not typically restricted to memory impairment.

- **Boundary with Dementia:** Amnestic Disorder is characterized by prominent memory impairment relative to expectations for age and general level of premorbid neurocognitive functioning, in the absence of other significant neurocognitive impairment. In contrast, Dementia is characterized by impairment in two or more cognitive domains, which frequently but not always includes memory.
- **Boundary with Dissociative Amnesia:** Amnestic Disorder is characterized by selective and prominent impairment in the ability to learn and remember new information, usually with relative sparing of memory for previously learned information and past events and experiences. In contrast, Dissociative Amnesia is characterized by inability to recall important autobiographical memories, typically of recent traumatic or stressful events, that is inconsistent with ordinary forgetting and is often preceded by an emotional stressor, conflict, or trauma.
- **Boundary with memory symptoms in other mental disorders:** Memory impairment may be a presenting feature other mental disorders (e.g., Schizophrenia, Mood Disorders, Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder, Dissociative Disorders). If the memory impairment is better explained by another mental disorder, an additional diagnosis of Amnestic Disorder should not be assigned.
- **Boundary with Transient Global Amnesia:** In Transient Global Amnesia the memory impairment is temporary (i.e., lasting no longer than 48 hours with most cases resolving within 6 hours) whereas in Amnestic Disorder memory impairment is persistent, although in some cases it may improve with treatment, depending on the etiology.

6D72.0 Amnestic Disorder Due to Diseases Classified Elsewhere

Essential (Required) Features:

- All diagnostic requirements for Amnestic Disorder are met.
- There is evidence from history, physical examination, or laboratory findings that symptoms are caused by the direct physiological consequences of a medical condition (e.g., a Disease of the Nervous System, a traumatic brain injury, an infection, a tumour, or other disease process affecting areas of the brain involved in memory). This judgment depends on establishing that:
 - The medical condition is known to be capable of producing memory impairment;
 - The course of the memory impairment (e.g., onset, trajectory of symptoms, response to treatment) is consistent with causation by the medical condition.

Note: When Amnestic Disorder is due to a disease, condition or injury classified elsewhere (including Disorders Due to Substance Use), the diagnostic code corresponding to that disease, condition or injury should assigned along with Amnestic Disorder. When the etiological condition is unknown, the diagnosis **8A2Z Disorders with Neurocognitive Impairment as a Major Feature, Unspecified** may be assigned in addition to Amnestic Disorder.

Potentially Explanatory Medical Conditions (examples):

- Anaemias or Other Erythrocyte Disorders
- Certain Infectious or Parasitic Diseases (e.g., meningitis)
- Diseases of the Nervous System (e.g., cerebral ischaemic stroke, cerebral palsy, epilepsy or seizures, hypoxic-ischaemic encephalopathy)

- Endocrine Diseases (e.g., hypothyroidism)
- Intracranial injury
- Metabolic Disorders (e.g., hypo-osmolality or hyponatraemia)
- Neoplasms of the brain or central nervous system
- Nutritional Disorders (e.g., vitamin B₁ deficiency, vitamin B₁₂ deficiency)

6D72.1 Amnestic Disorder Due to Psychoactive Substances Including Medications

Essential (Required) Features:

- All diagnostic requirements for Amnestic disorder are met.
- There is evidence from history, physical examination, or laboratory findings that the disturbance is caused by the direct physiological consequences of use of a substance or medication that persists beyond the usual duration of Substance Intoxication or Substance Withdrawal. This judgment depends on establishing that:
 - The substance or medication and the amount and duration of its use is known to be capable of producing the memory disturbance; and
 - The course of the memory disturbance (e.g., onset, trajectory of symptoms, response to treatment) is consistent with causation by the substance or medication.

Note: If the specific substance inducing the Amnestic Disorder has been identified, it should be classified using the appropriate subcategory:

- 6D72.10 Amnestic Disorder Due to Use of Alcohol
- 6D72.11 Amnestic Disorder Due to Use of Sedatives, Hypnotics, or Anxiolytics
- 6D72.13 Amnestic Disorder Due to Use of Volatile Inhalants
- 6D72.12 Amnestic Disorder Due to Other Specific Psychoactive Substance Including Medications

A diagnosis corresponding to the pattern of use of the relevant psychoactive substance (i.e., Episode of Harmful Psychoactive Substance Use, Harmful Pattern of Psychoactive Substance Use, Substance Dependence) may also be assigned.

6D72.Y Amnestic Disorder, Other Specified Cause

Essential (Required) Features:

- All diagnostic requirements for Amnestic Disorder are met.
- The Amnestic Disorder is presumed to be attributable to an identified cause that is not adequately captured by any of the other available Amnestic Disorder categories.
- This judgment depends on establishing that:
 - The specified cause is known to be capable of producing Amnestic Disorder; and
 - The course of the Amnestic Disorder (e.g., onset, trajectory of symptoms, response to treatment) is consistent with the specified cause.

6D72.Z Amnestic Disorder, Unknown or Unspecified Cause

Essential (Required) Features:

- All diagnostic requirements for Amnestic Disorder are met.
- The cause of the Amnestic Disorder is unknown or unspecified.

Dementia

Dementia includes the following categories:

6D80 Dementia Due to Alzheimer Disease 6D80.0 Dementia Due to Alzheimer Disease with Early Onset 6D80.1 Dementia Due to Alzheimer Disease with Late Onset 6D80.2 Alzheimer Disease Dementia, Mixed Type, with Cerebrovascular Disease 6D80.3 Alzheimer Disease Dementia, Mixed Type, with Other Nonvascular Aetiologies 6D80.Z Dementia Due to Alzheimer Disease, Onset Unknown or Unspecified 6D81 Dementia Due to Cerebrovascular Disease 6D82 Dementia Due to Lewy Body Disease 6D83 Frontotemporal Dementia 6D84 Dementia Due to Psychoactive Substances Including Medications 6D84.0 Dementia Due to Use of Alcohol 6D84.1 Dementia Due to Use of Sedatives, Hypnotic or Anxiolytics 6D84.2 Dementia Due to Use of Volatile Inhalants 6D84.Y Dementia Due to Other Specified Psychoactive Substance 6D85 Dementia Due to Diseases Classified Elsewhere 6D85.0 Dementia Due to Parkinson Disease 6D85.1 Dementia Due to Huntington Disease 6D85.2 Dementia Due to Exposure to Heavy Metals and Other Toxins 6D85.3 Dementia Due to Human Immunodeficiency Virus 6D85.4 Dementia Due to Multiple Sclerosis 6D85.5 Dementia Due to Prion Disease 6D85.6 Dementia Due to Normal Pressure Hydrocephalus 6D85.7 Dementia Due to Injury to the Head 6D85.8 Dementia Due to Pellagra 6D85.9 Dementia Due to Down Syndrome 6D85.Y Dementia Due to Other Specified Diseases Classified Elsewhere 6D8Y Dementia, Other Specified Cause

6D8Z Dementia, Unknown or Unspecified Cause

This section begins by providing the general diagnostic requirements for Dementia, which are applicable to all forms of Dementia.

Each of the above Dementia categories may be described as Mild, Moderate, or Severe. The general CDDR for Dementia also provide guidance on applying each level of the severity specifier.

XS5W Mild XS0T Moderate XS25 Severe

Specifiers are also provided for Behavioural or Psychological Disturbances in Dementia that may be used when these are severe enough to represent a focus of clinical intervention. These specifiers are also described below as part of the general CDDR for Dementia. As many Behavioural or Psychological Disturbances specifiers may be applied as necessary to describe the current clinical picture. These specifiers may be applied to all Dementia categories. They include:

6D86.0 Psychotic Symptoms in Dementia 6D86.1 Mood Symptoms in Dementia 6D86.2 Anxiety Symptoms in Dementia 6D86.3 Apathy in Dementia 6D86.4 Agitation or Aggression in Dementia 6D86.5 Disinhibition in Dementia 6D86.6 Wandering in Dementia 6D86.7 Other Specified Behavioural or Psychological Disturbances in Dementia 6D86.Z Behavioural or Psychological Disturbances in Dementia

Following the description of the Behavioural or Psychological Disturbances in Dementia specifiers, additional information is provided about the diagnostic requirements for each of the specific types of Dementia.

General Diagnostic Requirements for Dementia

Essential (Required) Features:

- Marked impairment in two or more cognitive domains relative to that expected given the individual's age and general premorbid level of neurocognitive functioning, which represents a decline from the individual's previous level of functioning.
- Memory impairment is present in most forms of Dementia, but neurocognitive impairment is not restricted to memory and may be present in other cognitive domains such as executive functioning, attention, language, social cognition and judgment, psychomotor speed, and visuoperceptual or visuospatial functioning.
- Evidence of neurocognitive impairment is based on:
 - Information obtained from the individual, informant, or clinical observation; and
 - Substantial impairment in memory performance as demonstrated by standardized neuropsychological/cognitive testing or, in its absence, another quantified clinical assessment.
- Behavioural changes (e.g., changes in personality, disinhibition, agitation, irritability) may also be present and, in some forms of Dementia, may be the presenting symptom.
- The symptoms are not better accounted for by disturbance of consciousness or altered mental status (e.g., due to seizure, traumatic brain injury, stroke, or the effects of medication), Delirium, Substance Intoxication, Substance Withdrawal or another mental disorder (e.g., Schizophrenia or Other Primary Psychotic Disorder, a Mood Disorder, Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder, a Dissociative Disorder).
- The symptoms result in significant impairment in personal, family, social, educational, occupational, or other important areas of functioning.

Severity Specifier:

Severity of Dementia can be rated as Mild, Moderate or Severe, according to the degree of neurocognitive and functional impairment, and capacity for independence in activities of daily living. Severity is rated based on objective clinical examination and information provided by an informant who has sufficient contact with the patient, such as family member or a caregiver.

- Mild Dementia. Individuals with Mild Dementia may be able to live independently, but some supervision and/or support is often required. However, individuals with Mild Dementia can still take part in community or social activities without help and may appear unimpaired to those who do not know them well. Judgment and problem solving are typically impaired, but social judgment may be preserved, depending on Dementia etiology. The individual may have difficulty making complex decisions, making plans, and/or handling finances (e.g., calculating change, paying bills).
- **Moderate Dementia.** Individuals with Moderate Dementia require supports to function outside the home and only simple household tasks are maintained. Individuals with Moderate Dementia have difficulties with basic activities of daily living, such as dressing and personal hygiene. Moderate Dementia is often characterized by significant memory loss. Judgment and problem solving are typically significantly impaired, and social judgment is often compromised. The individual has increasing difficulty making complex or important decisions and is often easily confused. The individual may have difficulty communicating with individuals outside the home without caregiver assistance. Socializing is increasingly difficult as the individual may behave inappropriately (e.g., in disinhibited or aggressive ways), with associated behaviour changes (e.g., calling out, clinging, wandering, disturbed sleep, or hallucinations). The difficulties are often obvious to most individuals who have contact with the individual.
- Severe Dementia. Severe Dementia is typically characterized by severe memory impairment, but this varies according to the etiology. There is often total disorientation for time and place. The individual is often completely unable to make judgments or solve problems. Individuals may have difficulty understanding what is happening around them. Individuals are fully dependent on others for basic personal care in activities such as for bathing, toileting and feeding. Urinary and fecal incontinence may emerge at this stage.

Specifiers for Behavioural or Psychological Disturbances in Dementia

Behavioural and psychological disturbances are common in Dementia. Examples of such symptoms include apathy, mood disturbances, hallucinations, delusions, irritability, agitation, aggression and sleep changes. Typically, these symptoms are more frequent and impairing in moderate and severe forms of Dementia, although this varies by Dementia etiology. Behavioural and psychological disturbances may be present in early stages of Dementia (such as in Frontotemporal Dementia) and may be more prominent than neurocognitive symptoms.

Specifiers for Behavioural or Psychological Disturbances in Dementia should be used when, in addition to the neurocognitive and other disturbances characteristic of dementia,

the current clinical picture includes behavioural or psychological symptoms that are severe enough to represent a focus of clinical intervention. As many of the following specifiers may be added to the Dementia diagnosis as necessary to describe the relevant aspects of the current clinical picture.

6D86.0 Psychotic Symptoms in Dementia

The current clinical picture includes clinically significant delusions or hallucinations.

6D86.1 Mood Symptoms in Dementia

The current clinical picture includes clinically significant mood symptoms such as depressed mood, elevated mood, or irritable mood.

6D86.2 Anxiety Symptoms in Dementia

The current clinical picture includes clinically significant symptoms of anxiety or worry.

6D86.3 Apathy in Dementia

The current clinical picture includes clinically significant indifference or lack of interest.

6D86.4 Agitation or Aggression in Dementia

The current clinical picture includes 1) clinically significant excessive psychomotor activity accompanied by increased tension; and/or 2) hostile or violent behaviour.

6D86.5 Disinhibition in Dementia

The current clinical picture includes clinically significant lack of restraint manifested in disregard for social conventions, impulsivity, and poor risk assessment.

6D86.6 Wandering in Dementia

The current clinical picture includes clinically significant wandering that puts the person at risk of harm.

6D86.Y Other Specified Behavioural or Psychological Disturbances in Dementia

There are behavioural or psychological symptoms occurring as part of Dementia that are severe enough to represent a focus of clinical intervention and are not adequately captured by the above categories.

6D86.Z Behavioural or Psychological Disturbances in Dementia, Unspecified

Boundary with Normality (Threshold) for Dementia:

• Normal aging is typically associated with some degree of cognitive change. Dementia is differentiated from normal aging by the severity or magnitude of neurocognitive impairment relative to expectations for age, and by functional impairment in everyday

skills and tasks. Deviation from normal aging can be determined by standardized assessment using appropriately normed measures. When cognitive difficulties consistent with normal aging are present and clinically relevant, the symptom code MB21.0 Age-Associated Cognitive Decline may be used.

Course Features for Dementia:

• Onset and course of symptoms varies considerably by Dementia etiology. (See additional information provided below regarding symptom onset and course for Dementia due to specific etiologies.)

Developmental Presentations for Dementia:

- Dementia in children or young adults is rare, and often caused by neuronal ceroidlipofuscinoses (NCL), a group of lysosomal storage disorders.
- Dementia Due to Down Syndrome occurs in about 50% or more of individuals with Down's syndrome, and typically emerges after the fourth decade.
- Risk for Dementia increases in older adulthood.

Culture-Related Features for Dementia:

- Performance during clinical assessment may vary according to cultural and/or linguistic factors. When assessing impairment in neurocognitive functioning and activities of daily living, cultural and linguistic factors should be considered and accounted for when possible.
- When standardized neuropsychological/cognitive testing is utilized for determination of neurocognitive impairment, performance should be measured with appropriately normed, standardized tests. In situations where appropriately normed and standardized tests are not available, assessment of neurocognitive functioning requires greater reliance on clinical judgment. (See General Cultural Considerations for Neurocognitive Disorders for additional information and examples.)

Additional Clinical Features for Dementia:

• Symptom course may provide information about the etiology of Dementia (see descriptions below of Dementia due to specific etiologies). Most dementias are progressive (e.g., Dementia Due to Alzheimer Disease, Dementia Due to Lewy Body Disease, and Frontotemporal Dementia), whereas other forms are reversible (such as Dementia related to nutritional or metabolic abnormalities), stable (such as some cases of Dementia Due to Cerebrovascular Disease), or rapidly progressing (e.g., Dementia Due to Prion Disease).

Boundaries with other Disorders and Conditions (Differential Diagnosis) for Dementia:

• **Boundary with Delirium:** Delirium is differentiated from Dementia in that Delirium is characterized by global neurocognitive impairment and confusion that have a precipitous onset, are transient, and fluctuate depending on the underlying causal condition or etiology. Dementia is more typically characterized by impairment in specific cognitive skills, and is often progressive and more gradual in onset. Individuals with Dementia are at increased risk for Delirium, and those who develop acute disturbances in attention,

orientation, and awareness may be assigned an additional diagnosis of Delirium and should be evaluated to determine its specific etiology.

- **Boundary with Mild Neurocognitive Disorder:** Dementia is characterized by marked impairment in two or more cognitive domains that is severe enough to cause significant impairment in personal, family, social, educational, occupational, or other important areas of functioning. Neurocognitive deficits in Mild Neurocognitive Disorder may be in similar cognitive domains, but are not severe enough to cause significant impairment in functioning.
- **Boundary with Amnestic Disorder:** Amnestic Disorder is characterized by prominent memory impairment relative to expectations for age and general level of premorbid neurocognitive functioning, in the absence of other significant neurocognitive impairment. In contrast, Dementia is characterized by impairment in two or more cognitive domains, which often but not invariably includes memory.
- **Boundary with Disorders of Intellectual Development:** Disorders of Intellectual Development are characterized by significant limitations in both intellectual functioning and adaptive behaviour, with onset during the developmental period. By convention, cases that meet the diagnostic requirements for Disorders of Intellectual Development are diagnosed as such unless the neurocognitive impairments are known to be caused by an etiology that is specifically associated with Dementia, in which case the Dementia diagnosis may be considered. Both disorders can co-occur, and some adults with Disorders of Intellectual Development are at greater and earlier risk of developing Dementia. For example, individuals with Down syndrome who exhibit a marked decline in adaptive behaviour functioning should be evaluated for the emergence of Dementia. In cases in which the diagnostic requirements for both a Disorder of Intellectual Development are met and describe non-redundant aspects of the clinical presentation, both diagnoses may be assigned.
- **Boundary with Mood Disorders:** Cognitive concerns and mild measurable cognitive deficits may occur in the context of Mood Disorders. These typically improve with appropriate treatment of the corresponding Mood Disorder, as compared to Dementia in which neurocognitive impairment is not significantly affected by treatment of the Mood Disorder. Standardized assessment or quantified clinical assessment may be helpful in identifying the presence and objective severity of neurocognitive impairment, which may not correspond with an individual's subjective cognitive complaints.
- **Boundary with Factitious Disorder and Malingering:** In Factitious Disorder and Malingering, the neurocognitive symptoms characteristic of Dementia are consciously feigned. Feigned symptoms may be, though are not necessarily, atypical in pattern, magnitude, or course or may be medically implausible. Individuals with Factitious Disorder feign neurocognitive symptoms in order to seek attention, especially from health providers and to assume the sick role. Malingering is characterized by intentional feigning of neurocognitive impairment for obvious external incentives (e.g., disability payments).
- **Boundary with neurocognitive symptoms in other mental disorders:** Neurocognitive symptoms may be a characteristic or associated feature of a wide range of mental disorders (e.g., Schizophrenia or Other Primary Psychotic Disorders, Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder, Dissociative Disorders). If the neurocognitive impairment is better explained by another mental disorder, an additional diagnosis of Dementia should not be assigned.

6D80 Dementia Due to Alzheimer Disease

- All diagnostic requirements for Dementia are met.
- Dementia is presumed to be attributable to underlying Alzheimer Disease (8A20) based on quantified clinical assessment or standardized neuropsychological/cognitive testing, neuroimaging data, genetic testing, medical tests, family history, and/or clinical history.
- Early clinical history is typically characterized by gradual onset, progressive memory problems and word finding difficulties, as well as mild functional impairment. The most common form of Alzheimer Disease begins with neuronal impairment in the medial temporal lobes (the brain regions involved in memory formation). As Alzheimer Disease progresses and affects other brain regions, neurocognitive symptoms worsen. Atypical forms of Alzheimer Disease are also characterized by progressive neurocognitive and functional impairment, with initial neurocognitive symptoms often corresponding to the brain region(s) initially affected (e.g., visual processing impairment in posterior cortical atrophy, etc.).

Note: For all forms of Dementia due to Alzheimer Disease, the diagnosis **8A20** Alzheimer Disease should also be assigned.

6D80.0 Dementia Due to Alzheimer Disease with Early Onset

- All diagnostic requirements for Dementia Due to Alzheimer Disease are met.
- Neurocognitive, functional, and or behavioural symptoms associated with Alzheimer Disease were present prior to age 65, as evidenced by neuropsychological test data, neuroimaging data, genetic testing, medical tests, family history, and/or clinical history.

6D80.1 Dementia Due to Alzheimer Disease with Late Onset

- All diagnostic requirements for Dementia Due to Alzheimer Disease are met.
- Neurocognitive, functional, and or behavioural symptoms associated with Alzheimer Disease were present at or after age 65, as evidenced by neuropsychological test data, neuroimaging data, genetic testing, medical tests, family history, and/or clinical history.

6D80.2 Alzheimer Disease Dementia, Mixed Type, with Cerebrovascular Disease

- All diagnostic requirements for Dementia Due to Alzheimer Disease are met.
- Neurocognitive, functional, and/or behavioural symptoms of Dementia appear to be partially related to co-existing cerebrovascular disease, as demonstrated by neuroimaging, medical tests, and/or by clinical history of cerebrovascular disease.
- Clinical course of neurocognitive and functional impairment is progressive, and typically characterized by combined impairment in so-called cortical cognitive functions (e.g., memory, language, and/or visuospatial skills) and so-called subcortical cognitive functions (e.g., attention, processing speed, and executive/frontal lobe-related functioning).

6D80.3 Alzheimer Disease Dementia, Mixed Type, with Other Nonvascular Aetiologies

• All diagnostic requirements for Dementia Due to Alzheimer Disease are met.

• Neurocognitive, functional, and/or behavioural symptoms of Dementia appear to be partially related to a known co-morbid aetiology, as demonstrated by neuroimaging data, genetic testing, medical tests, family history, medical history, and/or clinical history.

6D80.Z Dementia Due to Alzheimer Disease, onset unknown or unspecified

- All diagnostic requirements for Dementia Due to Alzheimer Disease are met.
- The onset of neurocognitive, functional, and/or behavioural symptoms associated with Alzheimer Disease is unknown or unspecified.

6D81 Dementia Due to Cerebrovascular Disease

- All diagnostic requirements for Dementia are met.
- Dementia is presumed to be attributable to underlying cerebrovascular disease as demonstrated by neuroimaging, medical tests, and/or clinical history of cerebrovascular disease.
- Diagnostic requirements for Alzheimer Disease Dementia, Mixed Type, with Cerebrovascular Disease are not met.
- Neurocognitive symptoms often follow cerebrovascular compromise. In stroke, the type of neurocognitive impairment varies depending on the brain region(s) in which the stroke occurred. Stroke-related neurocognitive impairment typically begins abruptly after a stroke. Improvement in initial neurocognitive deficits is typically seen, with recovery reaching a plateau over time. Residual neurocognitive deficits often remain chronic over time. In contrast, in microvascular events, neurocognitive impairment typically affects so-called subcortical neurocognitive functions (e.g., attention, processing speed, and executive/frontal lobe-related functions). If microvascular events are attributed to progressing chronic conditions (e.g., hypertension, diabetes), as is common, clinical course of neurocognitive impairment may be slowly progressive.

Note: An appropriate diagnosis from the **Cerebrovascular Diseases** grouping in the chapter on Diseases of the Nervous System should also be assigned.

6D82 Dementia Due to Lewy Body Disease

- All diagnostic requirements for Dementia are met.
- Dementia is presumed to be attributable to underlying Lewy Body Disease as demonstrated by neuropsychological test data, neuroimaging data, genetic testing, medical tests, family history, and/or clinical history.
- Clinical history involves the presence of two or more of the following symptoms:
 - Recurrent visual hallucinations (typically well-formed)
 - Episodic confusion
 - REM sleep behaviour disorder
 - One or more features of Parkinsonism (e.g., resting tremor)
- Neurocognitive symptoms are progressive and often involve relatively greater impairment in visuospatial skills, attention, and executive functioning (as opposed to primary memory impairment, as is seen in Alzheimer Disease).
- Additional clinical features may include repeated falls, syncope, hallucinations in other sensory modalities, delusions, and autonomic dysfunction (e.g., constipation, urinary incontinence, etc.).

Note: A diagnosis of **8A22 Lewy Body Disease** should also be assigned.

6D83 Frontotemporal Dementia

- All diagnostic requirements for Dementia are met.
- Dementia is presumed to be attributable to underlying frontotemporal disease or atrophy, as demonstrated by neuropsychological test data, neuroimaging data, genetic testing, medical tests, family history, and/or clinical history.
- Frontotemporal Dementia variants include primary progressive aphasia (logopenic, semantic, and agrammatic subtypes), behavioural frontotemporal dementia, and motoric frontotemporal dementia (corticobasal degeneration, progressive supranuclear palsy, and amyotrophic lateral sclerosis).
- Frontotemporal Dementia is progressive, with variants identified based on initial symptoms.
 - Frontotemporal Dementia, behavioural variant is characterized by personality changes, often including apathy and progressively inappropriate social behaviour. Neurocognitive functioning may be preserved in the early stages, though may later involve deficits in executive functioning (e.g., planning, problem solving), with comparatively intact memory skills.
 - Another variant, **primary progressive aphasia**, is characterized by progressive impairment in language skills, initially in the absence of impairment in other cognitive skills. Subtypes of primary progressive aphasia are often determined based on neuropsychological/cognitive testing, clinical presentation, and sometimes neuroimaging, and are characterized by primary deficits in word finding (logopenic subtype), word meaning (semantic subtype), or word production (agrammatic subtype).
 - **Frontotemporal Dementia, motoric variant** involves progressive impairment in motor functioning, sometimes in the context of progressive neurocognitive impairment (typically characterized by impairment in attention, executive functioning, and visuospatial skills, with comparatively intact memory skills). Frontotemporal Dementia, motoric variant can include progressive supranuclear palsy (e.g., poor balance, frequent falls, and horizontal gaze palsy, etc.), corticobasal degeneration (e.g., limb apraxia, tripping, rigidity, and dystonia, etc.), and amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (e.g., muscle weakness, muscle atrophy, fasciculations, and spasticity, etc.).

Note: A diagnosis of **8A23 Frontotemporal Lobar Degeneration** should also be assigned.

6D84 Dementia Due to Psychoactive Substances Including Medications

- All diagnostic requirements for Dementia are met.
- There is evidence from history, physical examination, or laboratory findings that Dementia is caused by the direct physiological consequences of use of a substance or medication that persists beyond the usual duration of substance intoxication or withdrawal.
- This judgment depends on establishing that:
 - The substance or medication and the amount and duration of its use is known to be capable of producing Dementia; and

- The course of the Dementia (e.g., onset, trajectory of symptoms, response to treatment) is consistent with that caused by the substance or medication.
- Specific substances are known to be capable of producing Dementia. If the specific substance inducing the Dementia has been identified, the corresponding diagnostic category should be assigned:

6D84.0 Dementia Due to Use of Alcohol 6D84.1 Dementia Due to Use of Sedatives, Hypnotic or Anxiolytics 6D84.2 Dementia Due to Use of Volatile Inhalants 6D84.Y Dementia Due to Other Specified Psychoactive Substance

Note: A diagnosis corresponding to the pattern of use of the relevant psychoactive substance (i.e., Harmful Pattern of Psychoactive Substance Use, Substance Dependence) may also be assigned.

6D85 Dementia Due to Diseases Classified Elsewhere

The following categories for Dementia associated with other diseases or conditions known to cause Dementia are available:

- 6D85.0 Dementia due to Parkinson Disease
- 6D85.1 Dementia due to Huntington Disease
- 6D85.2 Dementia due to Exposure to Heavy Metals and Other Toxins
- 6D85.3 Dementia due to Human Immunodeficiency Virus
- 6D85.4 Dementia due to Multiple Sclerosis
- 6D85.5 Dementia due to Prion Disease
- 6D85.6 Dementia due to Normal Pressure Hydrocephalus
- 6D85.7 Dementia due to Injury to the Head
- 6D85.8 Dementia due to Pellagra
- 6D85.9 Dementia due to Down Syndrome
- 6D85.Y Dementia due to Other Specified Diseases Classified Elsewhere

6D85.0 Dementia Due to Parkinson Disease

- All diagnostic requirements for Dementia are met.
- Dementia is presumed to be attributable to underlying Parkinson Disease, as demonstrated by neuropsychological test data, neuroimaging data, medical tests, family history, and/or clinical history.
- Dementia Due to Parkinson Disease develops among individuals with idiopathic Parkinson disease and is often characterized by impairment in attention, memory, executive and visuo-spatial functions.
- Behavioural and psychiatric symptoms such as changes in affect, apathy and hallucinations may also be present.
- Onset is insidious and typically occurs one year of more after the development of parkinsonian motor symptoms. The course of dementia often follows that of underlying Parkinson's disease (e.g., if Parkinson's Disease gradually worsens, Dementia may gradually worsen).

Note: A diagnosis of **8A00.0 Parkinson Disease** should also be assigned.

6D85.1 Dementia Due to Huntington Disease

- All diagnostic requirements for Dementia are met.
- Dementia is presumed to be attributable to underlying Huntington Disease, as demonstrated by neuropsychological test data, neuroimaging data, genetic testing, medical tests, family history, and/or clinical history.
- Dementia Due to Huntington Disease occurs as part of a widespread degeneration of the brain due to a trinucleotide repeat expansion in the HTT gene, which is transmitted through autosomal dominance.
- Onset of symptoms is insidious typically in the third and fourth decade of life with gradual and slow progression.
- Initial symptoms typically include impairments in executive functions with relative sparing of memory, prior to the onset of motor deficits (bradykinesia and chorea) characteristic of Huntington Disease.

Note: A diagnosis of **8A01.10 Huntington Disease** should also be assigned.

6D85.2 Dementia Due to Exposure to Heavy Metals and Other Toxins

- All diagnostic requirements for Dementia are met.
- Dementia is presumed to be attributable to toxic exposure to specific heavy metals such as aluminum from dialysis water, lead, mercury or manganese, as demonstrated by neuropsychological test data, neuroimaging data, medical tests, and/or clinical history.
- The characteristic neurocognitive impairments in Dementia Due to Exposure to Heavy Metals and Other Toxins depend on the specific heavy metal or toxin that the individual has been exposed to but can affect any cognitive domain.
- Onset of symptoms is related to exposure and progression can be rapid especially with acute exposure.
- In some cases, symptoms are reversible when exposure is identified and ceases.

Note: An appropriate diagnosis from the grouping of NE61 Harmful Effects of or Exposure to Noxious Substances, Chiefly Nonmedicinal as to Source, Not Elsewhere Classified should also be assigned.

6D85.3 Dementia Due to Human Immunodeficiency Virus

- All diagnostic requirements for Dementia are met.
- Dementia is presumed to be attributable to underlying Human Immunodeficiency Virus (HIV) Disease, as demonstrated by neuropsychological test data, neuroimaging data, medical tests, and/or clinical history.
- Dementia Due to HIV may develop during the course of confirmed HIV disease, in the absence of a concurrent illness or condition other than HIV infection that could explain the clinical features.
- Although a variety of patterns of neurocognitive deficits are possible depending on where the HIV pathogenic processes have occurred, typically deficits follow a subcortical pattern with impairments in executive function, processing speed, attention, and learning new information.

- The course of Dementia Due to Human Immunodeficiency Virus varies and may involve gradual decline in functioning, improvement or resolution of symptoms, or fluctuation in symptoms over time.
- Rapid decline in neurocognitive functioning is rare with the advent of antiretroviral medications.

Note: An appropriate diagnosis from the **Human Immunodeficiency Virus Disease** grouping of the chapter on Certain Infectious or Parasitic Diseases should also be assigned.

6D85.4 Dementia Due to Multiple Sclerosis

- All diagnostic requirements for Dementia are met.
- Dementia is presumed to be attributable to the cerebral effects of underlying Multiple Sclerosis, a demyelinating disease, as demonstrated by neuropsychological test data, neuroimaging data, medical tests, and/or clinical history. Cognitive symptoms are not primarily due to associated physiological or functional effects of the underlying disease (e.g., fatigue, motoric limitations).
- Onset of symptoms is often insidious but may progress in a stepwise fashion in accordance with the underlying disease course.
- Neurocognitive impairments vary according to the location of demyelination but typically include deficits in processing speed, memory, attention, and aspects of executive functioning.

Note: A diagnosis of **8A40 Multiple Sclerosis** should also be assigned.

6D85.5 Dementia Due to Prion Disease

- All diagnostic requirements for Dementia are met.
- Dementia is presumed to be attributable to underlying Human Prion Disease, as demonstrated by neuropsychological test data, neuroimaging data, genetic testing, medical tests, and/or clinical history.
- Dementia Due to Prion Disease is caused by a group of spongiform encephalopathies resulting from abnormal prion protein accumulation in the brain. These can be sporadic, genetic (caused by mutations in the prion-protein gene), or transmissible (acquired from an infected individual).
- Onset is insidious and there is a rapid progression of symptoms and impairment often characterized by neurocognitive deficits, ataxia, and motor symptoms (e.g., myoclonus, chorea, or dystonia).
- Diagnosis is typically made on the basis of clinical presentation, brain imaging studies, presence of characteristic proteins in spinal fluid, EEG, and/or genetic testing.

Note: An appropriate diagnosis from the grouping of **Human Prion Diseases** in the chapter on Diseases of the Nervous System should also be assigned.

6D85.6 Dementia Due to Normal Pressure Hydrocephalus

• All diagnostic requirements for Dementia are met.

- Dementia is presumed to be attributable to underlying Normal Pressure Hydrocephalus, as demonstrated by neuropsychological test data, neuroimaging data, medical tests, and/or clinical history.
- Dementia Due to Normal Pressure Hydrocephalus results from excess accumulation of cerebrospinal fluid in the brain as a result of idiopathic, non-obstructive causes but can also be secondary to haemorrhage, infection or inflammation.
- Progression is gradual but intervention (e.g., shunt) may result in improvement of symptoms, especially if administered earlier in the course of the condition.
- Typically, neurocognitive impairments include reduced processing speed and deficits in executive functioning and attention. These symptoms are also typically accompanied by gait abnormalities and urinary incontinence.
- Brain imaging to reveal ventricular volume and characterize brain displacement is often necessary to confirm the diagnosis.

Note: A diagnosis of 8D64.04 Normal-Pressure Hydrocephalus should also be assigned.

6D85.7 Dementia Due to Injury to the Head

- All diagnostic requirements for Dementia are met.
- Dementia is presumed to be attributable to an injury to the head, as demonstrated by neuropsychological test data, neuroimaging data, medical tests, and/or clinical history.
- Dementia Due to Injury to the Head is caused by damage inflicted on the tissues of the brain as the direct or indirect result of an external force.
- Trauma to the brain is known to have resulted in loss of consciousness, amnesia, disorientation and confusion, and/or neurological signs.
- The symptoms characteristic of Dementia Due to Injury to the Head arise immediately following the trauma or after the individual gains consciousness and must include persistent cognitive impairments following any recovery of initial cognitive impairment that may be seen in the immediate post-injury period.
- Neurocognitive deficits vary depending on the specific brain areas affected and the severity of the injury but can include impairments in attention, memory, executive functioning, personality, processing speed, social cognition, and language abilities.

Note: A diagnosis of **NA07 Intracranial Injury** or one of its subcategories should also be assigned.

6D85.8 Dementia Due to Pellagra

- All diagnostic requirements for Dementia are met.
- Dementia is presumed to be attributable to Pellagra, as demonstrated by neuropsychological test data, medical tests, and/or clinical history.
- Dementia Due to Pellagra is caused by persistent lack of vitamin B₃ (niacin) or tryptophan either in the diet or due to poor absorption in the gastrointestinal tract due to disease (e.g., Crohn disease) or due to the effects of some medications (e.g., isoniazid).
- Core signs of Pellagra include dermatological changes (sensitivity to sunlight, lesions, alopecia, and edema) and diarrhea.
- With prolonged nutritional deficiency neurocognitive symptoms that include aggression, motor disturbances (ataxia and restlessness), confusion, and weakness may be observed.

• Treatment with nutritional supplementation (e.g., niacin) typically results in reversal of symptoms.

Note: A diagnosis of **5B5C.0 Pellagra** should also be assigned.

6D85.9 Dementia Due to Down Syndrome

- All diagnostic requirements for Dementia are met.
- Dementia is presumed to be attributable to Down syndrome, as demonstrated by neuropsychological test data, genetic testing, medical tests, and/or clinical history.
- Dementia Due to Down Syndrome is caused by abnormal increased production and accumulation of amyloid precursor protein (APP) leading to formation of beta-amyloid plaques and tau tangles. APP gene expression is increased due to its location on chromosome 21, which is abnormally triplicated in Down Syndrome. Dementia Due to Down Syndrome may affect 50% or more of individuals with Down Syndrome.
- Neurocognitive deficits and neuropathological features are similar to those observed in Alzheimer Disease.
- Onset is typically after the fourth decade of life and is often accompanied by a gradual decline in functioning.

Note: A diagnosis of **LD40.0 Complete Trisomy 21 (Down syndrome)** should also be assigned.

6D85.Y Dementia Due to Other Specified Diseases Classified Elsewhere

- All diagnostic requirements for Dementia are met.
- The Dementia is presumed to be attributable to an underlying Disease of the Nervous System, trauma, infection, tumour, or other disease process affecting specific areas of the brain that is listed in the ICD-11 but is not adequately captured by any of the other available Dementia categories, as demonstrated by neuropsychological test data, neuroimaging data, genetic testing, medical tests, family history, and/or clinical history.
- This judgment depends on establishing that:
 - The specified cause is known to be capable of producing the symptoms; and
 - The course of the impairment (e.g., onset, trajectory of symptoms, response to treatment) is consistent with that known to be associated with the specified cause.

Note: The ICD-11 diagnosis corresponding to the presumed etiology should also be assigned.

6D8Y Dementia, Other Specified Cause

- All diagnostic requirements for Dementia are met.
- The Dementia is presumed to be attributable to an identified and specified underlying cause affecting specific areas of the brain that is *not* listed elsewhere in the ICD-11 (and is therefore not classifiable using any of the other available Dementia categories, including Dementia Due to Other Specified Diseases Classified Elsewhere), as demonstrated by neuropsychological test data, neuroimaging data, genetic testing, medical tests, family history, and/or clinical history.
- This judgment depends on establishing that:
 - The specified cause is known to be capable of producing the symptoms; and

• The course of the impairment (e.g., onset, trajectory of symptoms, response to treatment) is consistent with that known to be associated with the specified cause.

6D8Z Dementia, Unknown or Unspecified Cause

- All diagnostic requirements for Dementia are met.
- The cause of Dementia is unknown or unspecified.

<u>6E0Y Other Specified Neurocognitive Disorders</u>

Essential (Required) Features:

- Presence of impairment in one more or cognitive domains (e.g., attention, executive function, language, memory, perceptual-motor abilities, social cognition) relative to that expected given the individual's age and general premorbid level of neurocognitive functioning that do not meet the diagnostic requirements for any other Neurocognitive Disorder.
- The neurocognitive impairment represents a decline from the individual's previous level of functioning.
- Evidence of neurocognitive impairment is based on information obtained from the individual, informant, or clinical observation, and is accompanied by objective evidence of impairment by quantified clinical assessment or standardized neuropsychological/cognitive testing.
- Neurocognitive impairment is not attributable to normal aging.
- Neurocognitive impairment may be attributable to an underlying acquired Disease of the Nervous System, a trauma, an infection or other disease process affecting the brain, use of specific substances or medications, nutritional deficiency or exposure to toxins, or the etiology may be undetermined.
- Neurocognitive impairment is not better accounted for by disturbance of consciousness or altered mental status (e.g., due to seizure, traumatic brain injury, stroke, or the effects of medication), a Neurodevelopmental Disorder, Substance Intoxication, Substance Withdrawal, or another mental disorder (e.g., Schizophrenia or Other Primary Psychotic Disorder, a Mood Disorder, Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder, a Dissociative Disorder).

Note: When the neurocognitive impairment is due to a disease, condition or injury classified elsewhere (including Disorders Due to Substance Use), the diagnostic code corresponding to that disease, condition or injury should also be assigned. When the etiological condition is unknown, the diagnosis **8A2Z Disorders with Neurocognitive Impairment as a Major Feature, Unspecified** may be assigned in addition to Other Specified Neurocognitive Disorders.

6E0Z Neurocognitive Disorders, Unspecified

MENTAL OR BEHAVIOURAL DISORDERS ASSOCIATED WITH PREGNANCY, CHILDBIRTH OR THE PUERPERIUM

Mental or Behavioural Disorders Associated with Pregnancy, Childbirth or the Puerperium are syndromes associated with pregnancy or the puerperium (commencing within about 6 weeks after delivery) that involve significant mental and behavioural features. These diagnoses may be assigned regardless of whether biological factors related pregnancy, childbirth or the puerperium are known to be etiologically related to the syndrome. If the symptoms meet the diagnostic requirements for another mental disorder, that diagnosis should also be assigned. These diagnoses may be assigned even if the syndrome represents a recurrence or exacerbation of a pre-existing disorder.

Mental or Behavioural Disorders Associated with Pregnancy, Childbirth or the Puerperium include the following:

6E20 Mental or Behavioural Disorders Associated with Pregnancy, Childbirth or the Puerperium, without psychotic symptoms

6E21 Mental or Behavioural Disorders Associated with Pregnancy, Childbirth or the Puerperium, with psychotic symptoms

6E20 Mental or Behavioural Disorders Associated with Pregnancy, Childbirth or the Puerperium, without psychotic symptoms

Essential Features:

- Onset of a syndrome involving significant mental and behavioural features occurring during pregnancy or the puerperium (i.e., up to about 6 weeks following delivery).
- The syndrome does not include delusions, hallucinations, or other psychotic symptoms.
- The symptoms are not a manifestation of another medical condition (e.g., a brain tumour) and are not due to the effects of a substance or medication on the central nervous system (e.g., benzodiazepines), including withdrawal effects (e.g., from stimulants).
- The disturbance results in significant impairment in personal, family, social, educational, occupational, or other important areas of functioning. If functioning is maintained, it is only through significant additional effort.

Note: If the symptoms meet the diagnostic requirements for a specific mental disorder (e.g., a Mood Disorder, an Anxiety or Fear-Related Disorder, Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder, Adjustment Disorder), that diagnosis should also be assigned. If the symptoms do not meet the diagnostic requirements for a specific mental disorder, the presentation can be described using codes from the section on Mental or Behavioural Symptoms, Signs or Clinical Findings (p. 598).

Additional Clinical Features:

• This diagnosis may be assigned regardless of whether biological factors related pregnancy, childbirth or the puerperium are known to be etiologically related to the syndrome.

- Common presentations of Mental or Behavioural Disorders Associated with Pregnancy, Childbirth or the Puerperium, without psychotic symptoms include:
 - Depressive symptoms: These may include depressed mood, excessive crying; difficulty bonding with the baby; withdrawing from family and friends; loss of appetite or eating much more than usual; inability to sleep (insomnia) or sleeping too much; overwhelming fatigue or loss of energy; reduced interest and pleasure in usually enjoyable activities, intense irritability and anger; fears of not being a good mother, feelings of worthlessness, shame, guilt or inadequacy; diminished ability to think clearly, concentrate or make decisions; thoughts of harming oneself or the baby.
 - *Anxiety symptoms:* These may include excessive worry, general apprehensiveness not restricted to any particular environmental stimulus, phobic responses (e.g., related to dirt or germs), and panic attacks.
 - Obsessions and compulsions: Obsessions are repetitive and persistent thoughts, images, or impulses/urges that are experienced as intrusive and unwanted and are commonly associated with anxiety. Compulsions are repetitive behaviours or rituals, including repetitive mental acts, that the individual feels driven to perform in response to an obsession. Obsessions and compulsions typically focus on the newborn (or unborn) infant, e.g., obsessions about the baby getting hurt, contaminated, or lost; compulsive rituals involving checking, mental rituals, and seeking-reassurance. Unwanted sexual obsessions may also be present. There may also be excessive avoidance, such as avoiding bathing or holding the baby, in response to the obsessions.

Boundary with Normality (Threshold):

- This diagnosis should not be used to describe mild and transient depressive symptoms that do not meet the diagnostic requirements for a Depressive Episode, which may occur soon after delivery (so-called 'postpartum blues' or 'baby blues').
- Postpartum depression may be mistaken for 'baby blues' at first, but the signs and symptoms are more intense, last longer, and interfere with functioning, including the ability to care for the baby. If the diagnostic requirements are met for a Depressive Episode, a diagnosis of Single Episode Depressive Disorder or Recurrent Depressive Disorder should also be assigned.
- Worries and fears about the baby during pregnancy and after childbirth and some degree of intrusive thoughts about possible harms are common and should not be diagnosed as Mental or Behavioural Disorders Associated with Pregnancy, Childbirth or the Puerperium unless they are persistent, associated with substantial distress, and interfere with functioning, including the ability to care for the baby.

Boundaries with Other Disorders and Conditions (Differential Diagnosis):

• This diagnosis may be assigned even if the syndrome represents a recurrence or exacerbation of a pre-existing disorder (e.g., a Mood Disorder).

<u>6E21 Mental or Behavioural Disorders Associated with Pregnancy, Childbirth or the</u> <u>Puerperium, with psychotic symptoms</u>

Essential Features:

- Onset of a syndrome involving significant mental and behavioural features occurring during pregnancy or the puerperium (i.e., up to about 6 weeks following delivery).
- The syndrome includes psychotic symptoms (i.e., delusions, hallucinations, or other psychotic symptoms). Depressive and/or manic mood symptoms are also typically present.
- The symptoms are not a manifestation of another medical condition (e.g., a brain tumour) and are not due to the effects of a substance or medication on the central nervous system (e.g., benzodiazepines), including withdrawal effects (e.g., from stimulants).
- The disturbance results in significant impairment in personal, family, social, educational, occupational, or other important areas of functioning. If functioning is maintained, it is only through significant additional effort.

Note: This diagnosis may be assigned regardless of whether biological factors related to pregnancy, childbirth or the puerperium are known to be etiologically related to the syndrome. If the symptoms meet the diagnostic requirements for a specific mental disorder (e.g., a Mood Disorder, Schizophrenia or Other Primary Psychotic Disorder), that diagnosis should also be assigned. If the symptoms do not meet the diagnostic requirements for a specific mental disorder, specific mental disorder, a specific mental disorder, the presentation can be described using codes from the section on Mental or Behavioural Symptoms, Signs or Clinical Findings (p. 598).

Additional Clinical Features:

- Psychotic symptoms in Mental or Behavioural Disorders Associated with Pregnancy, Childbirth or the Puerperium most commonly occur in the context of a Depressive, Manic, or Mixed Mood Episode, in which case a diagnosis of Single Episode Depressive Disorder, Recurrent Depressive Disorder, or Bipolar Type I Disorder should also be assigned.
- Additional symptoms may include confusion and disorientation; sleep disturbance; excessive energy and agitation; obsessions and compulsions; paranoid ideation; and attempts to harm oneself or the baby.

Boundary with Normality (Threshold):

• Psychotic-like symptoms or unusual subjective experiences may occur in the general population, but these are usually fleeting in nature, do not interfere with functioning, and the person is typically aware that they are illusions. Such phenomena should not be diagnosed as Mental or Behavioural Disorders Associated with Pregnancy, Childbirth or the Puerperium.

Boundaries with Other Disorders and Conditions (Differential Diagnosis):

• This diagnosis may be assigned even if the syndrome represents a recurrence or exacerbation of a pre-existing disorder (e.g., a Mood Disorder, Schizophrenia or Other Primary Psychotic Disorder).

<u>6E2Z Mental or Behavioural Disorders Associated with Pregnancy, Childbirth or the</u> <u>Puerperium, unspecified</u>

PSYCHOLOGICAL OR BEHAVIOURAL FACTORS AFFECTING DISORDERS OR DISEASES CLASSIFIED ELSEWHERE

6E40 General Diagnostic Requirements for Psychological or Behavioural Factors Affecting Disorders or Diseases Classified Elsewhere

Essential (Required) Features:

- Psychological or behavioural factors are present that adversely affect the manifestation, treatment, or course of a disorder or disease classified in another chapter in one or more of the following ways:
 - The factors interfere with the treatment of the disorder or disease by affecting treatment adherence or care seeking (e.g., avoidance of needed medical care in an individual with anxiety, non-adherence to a complex treatment regimen in an individual with Personality Disorder).
 - The factors constitute an additional health risk for the person with the disorder or disease classified elsewhere (e.g., binge eating in a person with diabetes).
 - The factors influence the underlying pathophysiology to precipitate or exacerbate symptoms or otherwise necessitate medical attention (e.g., stress response causing chest pain in an individual with coronary heart disease or anxiety causing bronchospasm in an individual with asthma).
- The factors increase the risk of suffering, disability, or death.
- The factors represent a focus of clinical attention.

Categories describing specific types of factors:

The following categories may be used to describe the specific types of psychological or behavioural factors that are adversely affecting the manifestation, treatment, or course of a disorder or disease classified in another chapter of the ICD. Multiple categories may be assigned as necessary to describe the clinical presentation.

6E40.0 Mental Disorder Affecting Disorders or Diseases Classified Elsewhere

• The presence of a Mental, Behavioural, or Neurodevelopmental Disorder that adversely affects the manifestation, treatment, or course of a disorder or disease classified in another chapter (e.g., a woman with Bulimia Nervosa and Type 1 diabetes mellitus who skips insulin doses as a way to avoid weight gain that would otherwise be caused by her binge eating).

6E40.1 Psychological Symptoms Affecting Disorders or Diseases Classified Elsewhere

• The presence of psychological symptoms that do not meet the diagnostic requirements for a Mental, Behavioural, or Neurodevelopmental Disorder that adversely affect the manifestation, treatment, or course of a disorder or disease classified in another chapter (e.g., depressive symptoms interfering with rehabilitation following surgery).

6E40.2 Personality Traits or Coping Style Affecting Disorders or Diseases Classified Elsewhere

• The presence of personality traits or coping styles that do not meet the diagnostic requirements for a Mental, Behavioural, or Neurodevelopmental Disorder that adversely affect the manifestation, treatment, or course of a disorder or disease classified in another chapter (e.g., pathological denial of the need for surgery in a patient with cancer; hostile, pressured behaviour contributing to heart disease).

6E40.3 Maladaptive Health Behaviours Affecting Disorders or Diseases Classified Elsewhere

• The presence of maladaptive health behaviours that adversely affect the manifestation, treatment, or course of a disorder or disease classified in another chapter (e.g., overeating, lack of exercise).

6E40.4 Stress-Related Physiological Response Affecting Disorders or Diseases Classified Elsewhere

• The presence of stress-related physiological responses that adversely affect the manifestation, treatment, or course of a disorder or disease classified in another chapter (e.g., stress-related exacerbation of ulcer, hypertension, arrhythmia, or tension headache).

6E40.Y Other Specified Psychological or Behavioural Factor Affecting Disorders or Diseases Classified Elsewhere

• The presence of other psychological or behavioural factors that adversely affect the manifestation, treatment, or course of a disorder or disease classified in another chapter (e.g., interpersonal, cultural, or religious factors).

6E40.Z Psychological or Behavioural Factors Affecting Disorders or Diseases Classified Elsewhere, Unspecified

Additional Clinical Features:

• The adverse effects can range from acute, with immediate medical consequences (e.g., anxiety precipitating a cardiac arrhythmia) to chronic, occurring over a long period of time (e.g., chronic occupational stress aggravating diabetes). The adverse effects may be time-limited, episodic, or chronic and persistent. The disorders or diseases potentially affected by psychological or behavioural factors include those with clear pathophysiology (e.g., hypertension, HIV infection, coronary disease), functional syndromes (e.g., chronic fatigue syndrome, irritable bowel syndrome, fibromyalgia), or idiopathic symptoms (e.g., dizziness, tinnitus).

Developmental Presentations:

• Psychological or Behavioural Factors Affecting Disorders or Diseases Classified Elsewhere can occur across the lifespan. Particularly with young children, collateral history from parents or school personnel can assist in diagnosis. Some psychological or behavioural factors are more prevalent at particular stages of life (e.g., body image concerns in adolescents).

Culture-Related Features:

• Differences between cultures may influence psychological or behavioural factors and their effects on other conditions, such as linguistic and verbal communication, explanatory models of illness, health care practices and delivery, provider-patient relationships, family and gender roles, and attitudes towards pain and death.

Boundaries with Other Disorders and Conditions (Differential Diagnosis):

- Boundary with Adjustment Disorder: Stress associated with having a medical condition can cause psychological or behavioural symptoms that may meet the diagnostic requirements for Adjustment Disorder, specifically preoccupation with the stressor or its consequences, including excessive worry, recurrent and distressing thoughts about the stressor, or constant rumination about its implications that results in significant impairment in personal, family, social, educational, occupational or other important areas of functioning. In Psychological or Behavioural Factors Affecting Disorders or Diseases Classified Elsewhere, the causality is in the opposite direction; that is, psychological or behavioural factors adversely affect an existing medical condition. For example, an individual who, in the weeks following a heart attack, develops severe anxiety whenever he leaves the house because he is afraid of experiencing cardiac symptoms when no help is available might be appropriately diagnosed as having Adjustment Disorder. In contrast, an individual with atherosclerotic heart disease who develops chest pain whenever she becomes anxious would be diagnosed with Psychological or Behavioural Factors Affecting Disorders or Diseases Classified Elsewhere. In clinical practice however, psychological factors and a medical condition are often mutually exacerbating, in which case both diagnoses may be assigned if it is clinically useful to do so.
- **Boundary with Hypochondriasis (Health Anxiety Disorder):** Hypochondriasis is characterized by persistent preoccupation with or fear about the possibility of having one or more serious, progressive or life-threatening diseases. The focus of clinical care is the individual's worry about having a disease; in most cases, no serious medical disease is present. In Psychological or Behavioural Factors Affecting Disorders or Diseases Classified Elsewhere, anxiety may be a relevant psychological factor affecting a medical condition, but the clinical concern is the adverse effects of the anxiety on the manifestations, course, or treatment of the medical condition.
- Boundary with Bodily Distress Disorder occurring in an individual with an established medical condition: Bodily Distress Disorder occurring in an individual with an established medical condition is characterized by a combination of distressing bodily symptoms and a degree of attention related to the symptoms that is clearly excessive in relation to the nature and severity of the medical condition. In contrast, in Psychological or Behavioural Factors Affecting Disorders or Diseases Classified Elsewhere, the psychological or behavioural factors themselves adversely affect the manifestations, course, or treatment of the medical condition. In cases where the excessive attention paid to the bodily symptoms does adversely affect the medical condition (e.g., repeated

contact with medical professionals that result in medically unwarranted investigative procedures that have made the medical condition worse), both diagnoses may be assigned if it is clinically useful to do so.

- Boundary with Secondary Mental or Behavioural Syndromes Associated with Disorders or Diseases Classified Elsewhere: In Secondary Mental or Behavioural Syndromes Associated with Disorders or Diseases Classified Elsewhere, a medical condition is judged to be causing mental or behavioural symptoms through a direct physiological mechanism. In contrast, in Psychological or Behavioural Factors Affecting Disorders or Diseases Classified Elsewhere, the psychological or behavioural factors are judged to affect the manifestations, course, or treatment of the medical condition. In both cases, there is a temporal relationship between the psychological and behavioural manifestations and the medical condition, but the presumed causal relationship is in the opposite direction.
- **Boundary with other co-occurring mental disorders and medical conditions:** Whereas co-occurrence of a Mental, Behavioural, or Neurodevelopmental Disorder and a medical condition may have an impact on the management of the medical condition (e.g., medications used in the treatment of the mental disorder interacting with medications used to treat the medical condition), Psychological or Behavioural Factors Affecting Disorders or Diseases Classified Elsewhere would only be diagnosed if the mental disorder itself is having a negative impact on the manifestations, course, or treatment of the medical condition.
- **Boundary with Personality Difficulty:** Personality Difficulty refers to pronounced, longstanding personality characteristics that may affect treatment or health services but do not rise to the level of severity to merit a diagnosis of Personality Disorder. In Personality Difficulty, there are difficulties in the individual's way of experiencing and thinking about the self, others and the world that may be intermittently manifested in maladaptive patterns of cognitive and emotional experience and expression. The stress associated with being diagnosed or living with a serious medical condition is one factor that could potentially precipitate an exacerbation of Personality Difficulty. The category Personality traits or coping style affecting disorders or diseases classified elsewhere, on the other hand, would describe the situation in which Personality Difficulty has an adverse effect on the manifestations, course, or treatment of a medical condition. In clinical practice, however, Personality Difficulty and a medical condition may be mutually exacerbating, in which case both diagnoses may be assigned if it is clinically useful to do so.

SECONDARY MENTAL OR BEHAVIOURAL SYNDROMES ASSOCIATED WITH DISORDERS OR DISEASES CLASSIFIED ELSEWHERE

This grouping includes syndromes characterized by the presence of prominent psychological or behavioural symptoms judged to be direct pathophysiological consequences of a medical condition not classified under Mental, Behavioural or Neurodevelopmental Disorders, based on evidence from the history, physical examination, or laboratory findings. The symptoms are not accounted for by Delirium or by another mental disorder, and are not a psychologically mediated response to a severe medical condition (e.g., Adjustment Disorder or anxiety symptoms in response to being diagnosed with a life-threatening illness). In the absence of evidence of a physiological link between the medical condition and the psychological or behavioural symptoms, a diagnosis of a Secondary Mental or Behavioural Syndrome is typically not warranted.

Secondary Mental or Behavioural Syndromes Associated with Disorders or Diseases Classified Elsewhere include the following:

6E60 Secondary Neurodevelopmental Syndrome 6E60.0 Secondary Speech or Language Syndrome 6E60.Y Other Specified Secondary Neurodevelopmental Syndrome 6E60.Z Secondary Neurodevelopmental Syndrome, Unspecified 6E61 Secondary Psychotic Syndrome 6E61.0 Secondary Psychotic Syndrome, with hallucinations 6E61.1 Secondary Psychotic Syndrome, with delusions 6E61.2 Secondary Psychotic Syndrome, with hallucinations and delusions 6E61.3 Secondary Psychotic Syndrome, with unspecified symptoms 6E62 Secondary Mood Syndrome 6E62.0 Secondary Mood Syndrome, with depressive symptoms 6E62.1 Secondary Mood Syndrome, with manic symptoms 6E62.2 Secondary Mood Syndrome, with mixed symptoms 6E62.3 Secondary Mood Syndrome, with unspecified symptoms 6E63 Secondary Anxiety Syndrome 6E64 Secondary Obsessive-Compulsive or Related Syndrome 6E65 Secondary Dissociative Syndrome 6E66 Secondary Impulse Control Syndrome 6E68 Secondary Personality Change 6E69 Secondary Catatonia Syndrome 6E6Y Other Specified Secondary Mental or Behavioural Syndrome

6E60 Secondary Neurodevelopmental Syndrome

Secondary Neurodevelopmental Syndromes involves significant neurodevelopmental features that do not fulfil the diagnostic requirements of any of the specific Neurodevelopmental Disorders that are judged to be a direct pathophysiological consequence of a medical condition not classified under mental and behavioural disorders, based on evidence from the history, physical examination, or laboratory findings.

6E60.0 Secondary Speech or Language Syndrome involves significant difficulties in the acquisition and execution of specific speech or language functions (e.g., errors of pronunciation, articulation, or phonology) that arise during the developmental period and persist substantially beyond the expected age. (See complete CDDR below.)

6E60.Y Other Specified Secondary Neurodevelopmental Syndrome should be used when the syndrome is characterized by the presence of significant difficulties in the acquisition and execution of specific intellectual, motor coordination, or social functions that persist substantially beyond the expected age. (See complete CDDR below.)

6E60.0 Secondary Speech or Language Syndrome

Essential (Required) Features:

- The presence of significant difficulties in the acquisition and execution of specific speech or language functions (e.g., errors of pronunciation, articulation, or phonology) that arise during the developmental period and persist substantially beyond the expected age.
- The symptoms are judged to be the direct pathophysiological consequence of a medical condition with onset during the prenatal or developmental period, based on evidence from history, physical examination, or laboratory findings. This judgment depends on establishing that:
 - The medical condition is known to be capable of producing the symptoms;
 - The course of developmental difficulties (e.g., onset, remission, response of the neurodevelopmental symptoms to treatment of the etiological medical condition) is consistent with causation by the medical condition; and
 - The symptoms are not better accounted for by a primary Neurodevelopmental Disorder (e.g., a Developmental Speech and Language Disorder, a Disorder of Intellectual Development).
- The symptoms are a specific focus of clinical attention.

Boundaries with Other Disorders and Conditions (Differential Diagnosis):

- **Boundary with Developmental Speech and Language Disorders:** In Developmental Speech and Language Disorders (e.g., Developmental Speech Sound Disorder, Developmental Speech Fluency Disorder, Developmental Language Disorder), the individual's ability to understand or produce speech and language or to use language in context for the purposes of communication is markedly below what would be expected given the individual's age and level of intellectual functioning. However, if the symptoms meet the diagnostic requirements of Developmental Speech and Language Disorders and are judged to be the direct pathophysiological consequence of a medical condition with onset during the prenatal or developmental period, a diagnosis of Secondary Speech or Language Syndrome should be assigned instead.
- **Boundary with Disorders of Intellectual Development:** Individuals with a Disorder of Intellectual Development may exhibit impaired speech production. If speech production difficulties require separate clinical attention in the context of a Disorder of Intellectual Development that is judged to be due to a medical condition, an additional diagnosis of a Secondary Speech or Language Syndrome may be assigned.

• **Boundary with Selective Mutism:** Selective Mutism is characterized by consistent selectivity in speaking, such that a child demonstrates adequate speech production in specific situations, typically at home, but predictably fails to speak in others, typically at school. Selective Mutism can occur in the presence of Secondary Speech or Language Syndrome, and both diagnoses may be assigned if warranted.

Potentially Explanatory Medical Conditions (examples):

Brain disorders and general medical conditions that have been shown to be capable of producing speech or language syndromes include:

- Diseases of the Nervous System (e.g., brain injury, cerebral palsy, encephalopathy, epilepsy or seizures, myasthenia gravis, stroke)
- Certain Infectious or Parasitic Diseases (e.g., encephalitis, meningitis)
- Developmental Anomalies (e.g., Joubert Syndrome, cleft palate, deafness)
- Injury, Poisoning or Certain Other Consequences of External Causes (e.g., brain injury, concussion, traumatic haemorrhage)

6E60.Y Other Specified Secondary Neurodevelopmental Syndrome

Essential (Required) Features:

Note: Presentations that meet the diagnostic requirements of Disorders of Intellectual Development, Autism Spectrum Disorder, or Stereotyped Movement Disorder and are judged to be the direct pathophysiological consequence of a medical condition are not diagnosed as Secondary Neurodevelopmental Syndrome because, by convention, these conditions are diagnosed regardless of whether or not they are caused by a medical condition classified elsewhere.

- The presence of significant difficulties arising during the developmental period in the acquisition and execution of specific intellectual, motor coordination, or social functions that do not fulfil the diagnostic requirements of Disorders of Intellectual Development, Autism Spectrum Disorder, or Stereotyped Movement Disorder and persist substantially beyond the expected age.
- The symptoms are judged to be the direct pathophysiological consequence of a medical condition with onset during the developmental period, based on evidence from history, physical examination, or laboratory findings. This judgment depends on establishing that:
 - The medical condition is known to be capable of producing the symptoms;
 - The course of developmental difficulties (e.g., onset, remission, response of the neurodevelopmental symptoms to treatment of the etiological medical condition) is consistent with causation by the medical condition; and
 - The symptoms are not better accounted for by a Neurodevelopmental Disorder (e.g., a Disorders of Intellectual Development, Autism Spectrum Disorder, Developmental Motor Coordination Disorder) or the effects of a medication or substance.
- The symptoms are a specific focus of clinical attention.

Boundaries with Other Disorders and Conditions (Differential Diagnosis):

- **Boundary with Dementia with onset during the developmental period:** Difficulties in the acquisition or execution of specific intellectual or social functions with onset during the developmental period (i.e., prior to age 18) that represent a decline from a previous level of functioning could be diagnosed as Dementia if all diagnostic requirements for Dementia are met and the impairments are known to be caused by an etiology that is specifically associated with Dementia. Otherwise, if the impairments are known to be due to a medical condition and diagnostic requirements for another Neurodevelopmental Disorder (e.g., Intellectual Developmental Disorder) are not met, a diagnosis of Other Specified Secondary Neurodevelopmental Disorder should be considered.
- *Boundary with Disorders of Intellectual Development or Autism Spectrum Disorder:* If the symptoms meet the diagnostic requirements of Disorders of Intellectual Development or Autism Spectrum Disorder and are judged to be the direct pathophysiological consequence of a medical condition with onset during the prenatal or developmental period (e.g., Fragile X Syndrome), both Disorder of Intellectual Development or Autism Spectrum Disorder and the underlying medical condition should be diagnosed, and a diagnosis of Other Specified Secondary Neurodevelopmental Syndrome is not assigned. However, if the diagnostic requirements of a Disorder of Intellectual Development or Autism Spectrum Disorder are not fully met (e.g., limitations in intellectual functioning without limitations in adaptive functioning) and the symptoms are attributed to a medical condition with onset during the prenatal or developmental period, a diagnosis of Other Specified Secondary Neurodevelopmental Syndrome may be assigned.
- **Boundary with Developmental Motor Coordination Disorder:** In Developmental Motor Coordination Disorder, individuals exhibit significant delays in the acquisition of gross and fine motor skills during the developmental period and impairment in the execution of coordinated motor skills that manifest in clumsiness, slowness, or inaccuracy of motor performance. If the difficulties with motor coordination are solely attributable to a Disease of Nervous System (e.g., cerebral palsy, muscular dystrophy), a Disease of the Musculoskeletal System or Connective Tissue, a sensory impairment (especially severe visual impairment), or joint hypermobility, a diagnosis of Other Specified Secondary Neurodevelopmental Syndrome should be assigned rather than Developmental Motor Coordination Disorder.
- **Boundary with Stereotyped Movement Disorder:** Stereotyped Movement Disorder is a Neurodevelopmental Disorder that is characterized by the presence of persistent voluntary, repetitive, stereotyped movements (e.g., body rocking, head banging) that result in significant interference with the ability to engage in normal daily activities or result in severe bodily injury. Stereotyped Movement Disorder is diagnosed even if it is judged to be caused by a medical condition classified elsewhere, and a diagnosis of Other Specified Secondary Neurodevelopmental Syndrome is not assigned.
- **Boundary with other Neurodevelopmental Disorders:** The diagnosis of Secondary Neurodevelopmental Disorder should be assigned instead of other Neurodevelopmental Disorders when the symptoms are judged to be due to an underlying medical condition. (This does not apply to Disorders of Intellectual Development, Autism Spectrum Disorder, or Stereotyped Movement Disorder.)
- **Boundary with developmental difficulties caused by substances or medications,** *including withdrawal effects:* When establishing a diagnosis of Other Specified Secondary Neurodevelopmental Syndrome, it is important to rule out the possibility that a medication or substance is causing difficulties in the acquisition or execution of

specific intellectual, motor, or social functions instead of or in addition to the etiological medical condition. This involves first considering whether any of the medications being used to treat the medical condition are known to cause developmental difficulties at the dose and duration at which it has been administered. Second, a temporal relationship between the medication use and the onset of the developmental difficulties should be established (i.e., the developmental difficulties began after administration of the medication).

Potentially Explanatory Medical Conditions (examples):

Brain disorders and general medical conditions that have been shown to be capable of producing long-lasting *intellectual impairment, poor social functioning, learning difficulties and disruptions in attentional processes* include:

- Diseases of the Nervous System (e.g., acquired epileptic aphasia [Landau Kleffner Syndrome], autoimmune encephalitis, encephalopathy)
- Developmental Anomalies (e.g., Rett Syndrome)
- Diseases of the Visual System (e.g., congenital blindness, vision impairment)
- Endocrine, Nutritional or Metabolic Diseases (e.g., diabetes mellitus, hyper- or hypothyroidism, Lesch-Nyhan Syndrome, Lysosomal Diseases such as neuronal ceroid, lipofuscinosis or sphingolipidosis, mucolipidosis, phenylketonuria)
- Injury, Poisoning or Certain Other Consequences of External Causes (e.g., brain injury, concussion, traumatic haemorrhage)
- Neoplasms (e.g., neoplasms of brain or meninges)

Brain disorders and general medical conditions that have been shown to be capable of producing long-lasting *movement dysfunction or motor impairment* include:

- Diseases of the Nervous System (e.g., cerebral palsy, Huntington disease, muscular dystrophy, Parkinson disease, tardive dyskinesia)
- Developmental Anomalies (e.g., Ehlers-Danlos Syndrome, Rett Syndrome)
- Endocrine, Nutritional or Metabolic Diseases (e.g., Lesch-Nyhan Syndrome)

6E61 Secondary Psychotic Syndrome

Essential (Required) Features:

- The presence of prominent hallucinations and/or delusions.
- The symptoms are judged to be the direct pathophysiological consequence of a medical condition, based on evidence from the history, physical examination, or laboratory findings. This judgment depends on establishing that:
 - The medical condition is known to be capable of producing the symptoms;
 - The course of the hallucinations and/or delusions (e.g., onset, remission, response of the psychotic symptoms to treatment of the etiological medical condition) is consistent with causation by the medical condition; and
 - The symptoms are not better accounted for by Delirium, Dementia, another mental disorder (e.g., Schizophrenia or Other Primary Psychotic Disorder, a

Mood Disorder) or the effects of a medication or substance, including withdrawal effects.

• The symptoms are sufficiently severe to be a specific focus of clinical attention.

6E61.0Secondary Psychotic Syndrome, with hallucinations

Essential (Required) Features:

- All diagnostic requirements for Secondary Psychotic Syndrome are met.
- The presentation is characterized by prominent hallucinations without prominent delusions.

6E61.1 Secondary Psychotic Syndrome, with delusions

Essential (Required) Features:

- All diagnostic requirements for Secondary Psychotic Syndrome are met.
- The presentation is characterized by prominent delusions without prominent hallucinations.

6E61.2 Secondary Psychotic Syndrome, with hallucinations and delusions

Essential (Required) Features:

- All diagnostic requirements for Secondary Psychotic Syndrome are met.
- The presentation is characterized by both prominent hallucinations and prominent delusions.

Boundary with other disorders and normality:

- Boundary with Schizophrenia or Other Primary Psychotic Disorders: Determining • whether psychotic symptoms are due to a medical condition as opposed to manifestations of a primary mental disorder is often difficult because the clinical presentations may be similar. Establishing the presence of a potentially explanatory medical condition that can cause hallucinations or delusions and the temporal relationship between the medical condition and the psychotic symptoms is critical in diagnosing Secondary Psychotic Syndrome. A list of medical conditions that have been reported to cause psychotic symptoms is included below (p. 587), but the strength of the association varies according to the medical condition. Secondary Psychotic Syndrome is often characterized by clinical features that would be atypical for a Primary Psychotic Disorder such as later age of onset, rapid occurrence of clouding of consciousness, and accompanying cognitive, neurological, or medical symptoms. In Secondary Psychotic Syndrome, disorganized thinking (formal thought disorder) is not typically present, delusions are more often simple and fragmented, and hallucinations are more often visual, tactile, olfactory or gustatory rather than auditory.
- Boundary with psychotic symptoms that are precipitated by the stress of being diagnosed with a medical condition: Depending on the nature of the medical condition (e.g., a life-threatening type of cancer, a potentially fatal infection) or its onset (e.g., a heart attack, a stroke, a severe injury), being diagnosed with a severe medical condition

can be experienced as a traumatic event, which could trigger the development of psychotic symptoms (e.g., hallucinations and delusions) in susceptible individuals (e.g., individuals with a pre-existing Psychotic Disorder, a Dissociative Disorder, or a Personality Disorder). If the psychotic symptoms are part of the presentation of a diagnosable mental disorder that is judged to be precipitated or exacerbated by the stress of being diagnosed or coping with a medical condition, the appropriate mental disorder (e.g., Acute and Transient Psychotic Disorder, Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder, Recurrent Depressive Disorder) should be diagnosed rather than Secondary Psychotic Syndrome.

- **Boundary with Delirium Due to Disease Classified Elsewhere:** Hallucinations or delusions can occur in the context of Delirium Due to Disease Classified Elsewhere. Delirium is characterized by disturbed attention (i.e., reduced ability to direct, focus, sustain, and shift attention) and awareness (i.e., reduced orientation to the environment) that develops over a short period of time and tends to fluctuate during the course of a day, accompanied by other cognitive impairments such as memory deficit, disorientation, or impairment in language, visuospatial ability, or perception. Disturbed attention and awareness and severe cognitive impairment are not features of Secondary Psychotic Syndrome. If the psychotic symptoms are judged to be better explained by Delirium Due to Disease Classified Elsewhere, an additional diagnosis of Secondary Psychotic Syndrome is not warranted.
- **Boundary with Dementia:** Hallucinations or delusions can occur in the context of Dementia, which is characterized by a decline from a previous level of cognitive functioning with impairment in two or more cognitive domains (such as memory, executive functions, attention, language, social cognition and judgment, psychomotor speed, visuoperceptual or visuospatial abilities). In contrast, Secondary Psychotic Syndrome is not accompanied by marked cognitive impairment. The presence of hallucinations or delusions in the context of Dementia can be recorded using the Behavioural or Psychological Disturbances in Dementia specifier for Psychotic Symptoms in Dementia. If the psychotic symptoms are judged to be due to the same medical condition as is causing the Dementia, an additional diagnosis of Secondary Psychotic Syndrome is not warranted.
- Boundary with psychotic symptoms caused by substances or medications, including withdrawal effects: When establishing a diagnosis of Secondary Psychotic Syndrome, it is important to rule out the possibility that a medication or substance is causing the hallucinations or delusions instead of or in addition to the etiological medical condition. This involves first considering whether any of the medications being used to treat the medical condition are known to cause psychotic symptoms at the dose and duration at which it has been administered. Second, a temporal relationship between the medication use and the onset of the psychotic symptoms should be established (i.e., the psychotic symptoms began after administration of the medication and/or remitted once the medication was discontinued). The same reasoning applies to individuals with a medical condition and psychotic symptoms who are also using a psychoactive substance known to cause hallucinations or delusions, either in the context of intoxication or withdrawal (e.g., visual hallucinations during Sedative, Hypnotic or Anxiolytic withdrawal; paranoid delusions during Cocaine Intoxication). In such cases, if the intensity or duration of the psychotic symptoms is substantially in excess of psychotic-like disturbances of perception, cognition, or behaviour that are characteristic of the substance-specific Intoxication or Withdrawal syndromes, then Substance-Induced Psychotic Disorder is the appropriate diagnosis, applying the appropriate category corresponding to the substance involved.

Potentially Explanatory Medical Conditions (examples):

Brain disorders and general medical conditions that have been shown to be capable of producing psychotic syndromes include:

- Diseases of the Nervous System (e.g., encephalitis, encephalopathy, genetic Creutzfeldt-Jakob disease, intracerebral hemorrhage, Lewy body disease, migraine, Movement Disorders such as Huntington disease or Friedreich ataxia, multiple sclerosis, seizures, stroke)
- Certain Infectious or Parasitic Diseases (e.g., neurosyphilis)
- Diseases of the Immune System (e.g., systemic lupus erythematosus)
- Endocrine, Nutritional or Metabolic Diseases (e.g., hyper- and hypoadrenalism, hyper- and hypoparathyroidism, hyper- and hypothyroidism, hypo-osmolality or hyponatraemia, hypoglycaemia, porphyrias, vitamin B₁ or vitamin B₁₂ deficiency, Wilson disease)
- Injury, Poisoning or Certain Other Consequences of External Causes (e.g., brain injury, concussion, traumatic haemorrhage, injury of optic or acoustic nerve)
- Neoplasms (e.g., neoplasms of brain or meninges)

6E62 Secondary Mood Syndrome

Essential (Required) Features:

- The presence of prominent depressive, manic, or mixed mood symptoms.
- The symptoms are judged to be the direct pathophysiological consequence of a medical condition, based on evidence from the history, physical examination, or laboratory findings. This judgment depends on establishing that:
 - The medical condition is known to be capable of producing the symptoms;
 - The course of the mood symptoms (e.g., onset, remission, response of the mood symptoms to treatment of the etiological medical condition) is consistent with causation by the medical condition; and
 - The symptoms are not better accounted for by Delirium, Dementia, another mental disorder (e.g., Depressive Disorder, Bipolar I Disorder, Bipolar II Disorder, Cyclothymic Disorder, or Catatonia) or the effects of a medication or substance, including withdrawal effects.
- The symptoms are sufficiently severe to be a specific focus of clinical attention.

6E62.0 Secondary Mood Syndrome, with depressive symptoms

Essential (Required) Features:

- All diagnostic requirements for Secondary Mood Syndrome are met.
- The presentation is characterized by prominent depressive symptoms without prominent manic symptoms.

6E62.1 Secondary Mood Syndrome, with manic symptoms

- All diagnostic requirements for Secondary Mood Syndrome are met.
- The presentation is characterized by prominent manic symptoms without prominent depressive symptoms.

6E62.2 Secondary Mood Syndrome, with mixed symptoms

Essential (Required) Features:

- All diagnostic requirements for Secondary Mood Syndrome are met.
- The presentation is characterized by both prominent depressive and prominent manic symptoms.

Boundary with other disorders and normality:

- **Boundary with Mood Disorders:** Determining whether mood symptoms are due to a medical condition as opposed to manifestations of a primary mental disorder is often difficult because the clinical presentations may be similar. Establishing the presence of a potentially explanatory medical condition that can cause mood symptoms and the temporal relationship between the medical condition and the mood symptoms is critical in diagnosing Secondary Mood Syndrome. If the clinical features are atypical for Mood Disorders (e.g., atypical age of onset or course or absence of family history), Secondary Mood Syndrome is more likely.
- Boundary with mood symptoms that are precipitated by the stress of being diagnosed with a medical condition: Depending on the nature of the medical condition (e.g., a life-threatening type of cancer, a potentially fatal infection) or its onset (e.g., a heart attack, a stroke, a severe injury), mood symptoms can occur as a part of a psychological response to being diagnosed and/or having to cope with a severe medical condition. In the absence of evidence of a physiological link between the medical condition and the mood symptoms, the appropriate mental disorder (e.g., Adjustment Disorder, a Mood Disorder) rather than Secondary Mood Syndrome should be diagnosed.
- **Boundary with Delirium Due to Disease Classified Elsewhere:** Mood symptoms can occur in the context of Delirium Due to Disease Classified Elsewhere. Delirium is characterized by disturbed attention (i.e., reduced ability to direct, focus, sustain, and shift attention) and awareness (i.e., reduced orientation to the environment) that develops over a short period of time and tends to fluctuate during the course of a day, accompanied by other cognitive impairment such as memory deficit, disorientation, or impairment in language, visuospatial ability, or perception. In contrast, mood symptoms in Secondary Mood Syndrome occur in the absence of disturbed attention or severe cognitive impairment. If mood symptoms are judged to be better explained by Delirium Due to Disease Classified Elsewhere, an additional diagnosis of Secondary Mood Syndrome is not warranted.
- **Boundary with Dementia:** Mood symptoms can occur in the context of Dementia, which is characterized by a decline from a previous level of cognitive functioning with impairment in two or more cognitive domains (such as memory, executive functions, attention, language, social cognition and judgment, psychomotor speed, visuoperceptual or visuospatial abilities). In contrast, Secondary Mood Syndrome is not accompanied by marked cognitive impairment. The presence of mood symptoms in the context of Dementia can be recorded using the Behavioural or Psychological Disturbances in

Dementia specifier for Mood Symptoms in Dementia. If the mood symptoms are judged to be due to the same medical condition as is causing the dementia, an additional diagnosis of Secondary Mood Syndrome is not warranted.

- **Boundary with Secondary Catatonia Syndrome:** Certain symptoms of Secondary Catatonia Syndrome are similar to those observed during Manic, Depressive, or Mixed Episodes (e.g., stupor or mutism in Secondary Catatonia is similar to psychomotor retardation in Depressive Episode; agitation or impulsivity in Secondary Catatonia Syndrome is similar to increased activity and impulsive reckless behaviour in Manic Episode). In Secondary Catatonia Syndrome, these symptoms occur in conjunction with other catatonic symptoms (e.g., abnormal psychomotor activity such as mannerisms, waxy flexibility or posturing), which are not characteristic of Secondary Mood Syndrome.
- Boundary with mood symptoms caused by substances or medications, including withdrawal effects: When establishing a diagnosis of Secondary Mood Syndrome, it is important to rule out the possibility that a medication or substance is causing the mood symptoms instead of or in addition to the etiological medical condition. This involves first considering whether any of the medications being used to treat the medical condition are known to cause depressive or manic symptoms (e.g., steroids or alphainterferon) at the dose and duration at which it has been administered. Second, a temporal relationship between the medication use and the onset of the mood symptoms should be established (i.e., the mood symptoms began after administration of the medication and/or remitted once the medication was discontinued). The same reasoning applies to individuals with a medical condition and mood symptoms who are also using a psychoactive substance known to cause mood symptoms, either in the context of intoxication or withdrawal (e.g., euphoric mood due to Stimulant Intoxication, dysphoric mood due to Cocaine Withdrawal). In such cases, if the intensity or duration of the mood symptoms is substantially in excess of mood disturbances that are characteristic of the substance-specific Intoxication or Withdrawal syndrome, then Substance-Induced Mood Disorder is the appropriate diagnosis, applying the appropriate category corresponding to the substance involved.

Potentially Explanatory Medical Conditions (examples):

Brain disorders and general medical conditions that have been shown to be capable of producing *depressive mood* syndromes include:

- Diseases of the Nervous System (e.g., cerebrovascular disease, Huntington disease, normal-pressure hydrocephalus, multiple sclerosis, Parkinson disease, stroke)
- Certain Infectious or Parasitic Diseases (candidosis, human immunodeficiency virus disease, Lyme borreliosis, toxoplasmosis)
- Diseases of the Immune System (e.g., systemic lupus erythematosus)
- Endocrine, Nutritional or Metabolic Diseases (e.g., Cushing disease, hypercalcemia, hyperglycaemia, hypermagneseamia, hypoadrenalism, hypothyroidism, iron deficiency)
- Injury, Poisoning or Certain Other Consequences of External Causes (e.g., brain injury, concussion, traumatic haemorrhage)
- Neoplasms (e.g., malignant neoplasm of pancreas leading to a paraneoplastic disorder of the nervous system, brain or spinal cord)

Brain disorders and general medical conditions that have been shown to be capable of producing *manic mood* syndromes include:

- Diseases of the Nervous System (e.g., Movement Disorders such as Huntington disease, multiple sclerosis, seizures, stroke)
- Certain Infectious or Parasitic Diseases (e.g., neurosyphilis)
- Diseases of the Immune System (e.g., systemic lupus erythematosus)
- Endocrine, Nutritional or Metabolic Diseases (e.g., hyperadrenalism, hypocalcemia, hypomagneseamia, thyrotoxicosis, Wilson disease)
- Injury, Poisoning or Certain Other Consequences of External Causes (e.g., brain injury, concussion, traumatic haemorrhage, injury of optic or acoustic nerve)
- Neoplasms (e.g., neoplasms of brain or meninges)

6E63 Secondary Anxiety Syndrome

Essential (Required) Features:

- The presence of prominent anxiety symptoms (e.g., excessive worry, intense fear that is out of proportion to actual danger, panic attacks).
- The symptoms are judged to be the direct pathophysiological consequence of a medical condition, based on evidence from the history, physical examination, or laboratory findings (as opposed to being a psychological reaction to having the medical condition). This judgment depends on establishing that:
 - The medical condition is known to be capable of producing the symptoms;
 - The course of the anxiety symptoms (e.g., onset, remission, response of the anxiety symptoms to treatment of the etiological medical condition) is consistent with causation by the medical condition; and
 - The symptoms are not better accounted for by Delirium, Dementia, another mental disorder (e.g., Anxiety or Fear-Related Disorders, Mood Disorders, Disorders Specifically Associated with Stress, and Obsessive-Compulsive or Related Disorders) or the effects of a medication or substance, including withdrawal effects.
- The symptoms are sufficiently severe to be a specific focus of clinical attention.

Boundary with other disorders and normality:

- **Boundary with Anxiety or Fear-Related Disorders:** Determining whether anxiety symptoms are due to a medical condition as opposed to manifestations of a mental disorder is often difficult because the clinical presentations may be similar. In some cases, the anxiety symptoms may reach the point of warranting a separate diagnosis of an Anxiety or Fear-Related Disorder, or a pre-existing Anxiety or Fear-Related Disorder may be exacerbated. Diagnosing Secondary Anxiety Syndrome depends on establishing the presence of a medical condition that can cause anxiety symptoms and a temporal relationship between the medical condition and the anxiety symptoms. If the clinical features are atypical for Anxiety or Fear-Related Disorders (e.g., a new onset of unexpected panic attacks in an older adult), Secondary Anxiety Syndrome is more likely.
- Boundary with anxiety symptoms that are precipitated by the stress of being diagnosed with or worrying about a medical condition: Depending on the nature of the medical condition (e.g., a life-threatening type of cancer, a potentially fatal infection) or its onset

(e.g., a heart attack, a stroke, a severe injury), anxiety symptoms can occur as a part of a psychological response to being diagnosed and/or having to cope with a severe medical condition. In the absence of evidence of a physiological link between the medical condition and the anxiety symptoms, a diagnosis of Secondary Anxiety Syndrome is not warranted. Instead, the appropriate mental disorder can be diagnosed (e.g., an Anxiety or Fear-Related Disorder, Adjustment Disorder, Hypochondriasis).

- **Boundary with Delirium Due to Disease Classified Elsewhere:** Anxiety symptoms can occur in the context of Delirium Due to Disease Classified Elsewhere. Delirium is characterized by disturbed attention (i.e., reduced ability to direct, focus, sustain, and shift attention) and awareness (i.e., reduced orientation to the environment) that develops over a short period of time and tends to fluctuate during the course of a day, accompanied by other cognitive impairment such as memory deficit, disorientation, or impairment in language, visuospatial ability, or perception. In contrast, panic attacks or other anxiety symptoms in Secondary Anxiety Syndrome occur in the absence of disturbed attention or severe cognitive impairment. If the anxiety symptoms are judged to be better explained by Delirium Due to Disease Classified Elsewhere, an additional diagnosis of Secondary Anxiety Syndrome is not warranted.
- **Boundary with Dementia:** Anxiety symptoms can occur in the context of Dementia, which is characterized by a decline from a previous level of cognitive functioning with impairment in two or more cognitive domains (such as memory, executive functions, attention, language, social cognition and judgment, psychomotor speed, visuoperceptual or visuospatial abilities). In contrast, Secondary Anxiety Syndrome is not accompanied by marked cognitive impairment. The presence of anxiety symptoms in the context of Dementia can be recorded using the Behavioural or Psychological Disturbances in Dementia specifier for Anxiety Symptoms in Dementia. If the anxiety symptoms are judged to be due to the same medical condition as is causing the dementia, an additional diagnosis of Secondary Anxiety Syndrome is not warranted.
- Boundary with anxiety symptoms caused by substances or medications, including withdrawal effects: When establishing a diagnosis of Secondary Anxiety Syndrome, it is important to rule out the possibility that a medication or substance is causing the anxiety symptoms instead of or in addition to the etiological medical condition. This involves first considering whether any of the medications being used to treat the medical condition are known to cause anxiety symptoms at the dose and duration at which it has been administered. Second, a temporal relationship between the medication use and the onset of the anxiety symptoms should be established (i.e., the anxiety symptoms began after administration of the medication and/or remitted once the medication was discontinued). The same reasoning applies to individuals with a medical condition and anxiety symptoms who are also using a psychoactive substance known to cause anxiety, either in the context of Intoxication or Withdrawal (e.g., panic attacks during Anxiolytic or Opioid Withdrawal, physiological symptoms of excessive autonomic arousal in Stimulant Intoxication). In such cases, if the intensity or duration of the anxiety symptoms is substantially in excess of anxiety symptoms that are characteristic of the substance-specific Intoxication or Withdrawal syndrome, then Substance-Induced Anxiety Disorder is the appropriate diagnosis, applying the appropriate category corresponding to the substance involved.

Potentially Explanatory Medical Conditions (examples):

Brain disorders and general medical conditions that have been shown to be capable of producing anxiety syndromes include:

- Diseases of the Nervous System (e.g., encephalitis, seizures)
- Diseases of the Circulatory System (e.g., cardiac arrhytmia, congestive heart failure, hyperkinetic heart syndrome, mitral valve prolapse, pulmonary thromboembolis)
- Diseases of the Ear or Mastoid Process (e.g., acute vestibular syndrome)
- Diseases of the Respiratory System (e.g., asthma, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease)
- Endocrine, Nutritional or Metabolic Diseases (e.g., hyperadrenalism, hypercalcemia, hypermagnesaemia, hyperthyroidism, hypoglycemia, hypoparathyroidism)
- Neoplasms (e.g., malignant phaeochromocytoma of adrenal gland, neoplasms of brain or meninges)

6E64 Secondary Obsessive-Compulsive or Related Syndrome

Essential (Required) Features:

- The presence of prominent symptoms that are characteristic of Obsessive-Compulsive or Related Disorders, such as obsessions, compulsions, skin picking, hair pulling, or other body-focused repetitive behaviours.
- The symptoms are judged to be the direct pathophysiological consequence of a medical condition, based on evidence from history, physical examination, or laboratory findings. This judgment depends on establishing that:
 - The medical condition is known to be capable of producing the symptoms;
 - The course of the symptoms (e.g., onset, remission, response to treatment of the etiological medical condition) is consistent with causation by the medical condition; and
 - The symptoms are not better accounted for by another mental disorder (e.g., an Obsessive-Compulsive or Related Disorder) or the effects of a medication or substance, including withdrawal effects.
- The symptoms do not meet the diagnostic requirements for Secondary Tics, classified in the grouping of Movement Disorders in the chapter on Diseases of the Nervous System.
- The symptoms are sufficiently severe to be a specific focus of clinical attention.

Boundary with other disorders and normality:

• **Boundary with Obsessive-Compulsive or Related Disorders:** Determining whether obsessive-compulsive or related symptoms are due to a medical condition as opposed to manifestations of a primary mental disorder is often difficult because the clinical presentations may be similar. Establishing the presence of a potentially explanatory medical condition that can cause obsessive-compulsive or related symptoms and the temporal relationship between the medical condition and the primary obsessive-compulsive or related symptoms is critical in diagnosing Secondary Obsessive-Compulsive or Related Syndrome. Secondary Obsessive-Compulsive or Related Syndrome is often characterized by clinical features that would be atypical for Obsessive-Compulsive or Related Disorders such as late age of onset, sudden appearance of symptoms, or accompanying cognitive impairment or focal neurological signs.

Boundary with obsessive-compulsive or related symptoms caused by substances or • *medications, including withdrawal effects:* When establishing a diagnosis of Secondary Obsessive-Compulsive or Related Syndrome, it is important to rule out the possibility that a medication or substance is causing the obsessive-compulsive or related symptoms. This involves first considering whether any of the medications being used to treat the medical condition are known to cause obsessive-compulsive or related symptoms at the dose and duration at which it has been administered. Second, a temporal relationship between the medication use and the onset of the obsessive-compulsive or related symptoms should be established (i.e., the obsessive-compulsive or related symptoms began after administration of the medication and/or remitted once the medication was discontinued). The same reasoning applies to individuals with a medical condition and obsessive-compulsive or related symptoms who are also using a psychoactive substance known to cause obsessive-compulsive or related symptoms either in the context of intoxication or withdrawal (e.g., cocaine-induced hair pulling, obsessions or compulsions due to amphetamine intoxication). In such cases, a diagnosis of a Substance-Induced Obsessive-Compulsive or Related Disorder should be assigned.

Potentially Explanatory Medical Conditions (examples):

Brain disorders and general medical conditions that have been shown to be capable of producing obsessive-compulsive or related syndromes include:

- Diseases of the Nervous System (e.g., epilepsy, Huntington disease, myoclonic disorders, Parkinson disease, paediatric autoimmune neuropsychiatric disorders associated with streptococcal infections [PANDAS], secondary chorea including chorea due to neuroacanthocytosis and McLeod syndrome, stroke)
- Certain Infectious or Parasitic Diseases (e.g., rheumatic chorea [Sydenham chorea])
- Endocrine, Nutritional or Metabolic Diseases (e.g., iron overload diseases such as pantothenate-kinase-associated neurodegeneration)
- Injury, Poisoning or Certain Other Consequences of External Causes (e.g., brain injury)
- Neoplasms (e.g., neoplasms of brain or meninges)

6E65 Secondary Dissociative Syndrome

Essential (Required) Features:

- The presence of prominent dissociative symptoms (e.g., depersonalization, derealization, dissociative amnesia, a marked alteration in the individual's normal sense of personal identity).
- The symptoms are judged to be the direct pathophysiological consequence of a medical condition, based on evidence from the history, physical examination, or laboratory findings. This judgment depends on establishing that:
 - The medical condition is known to be capable of producing the observed symptoms;
 - The course of dissociative symptoms (e.g., onset, remission, response of the dissociative symptoms to treatment of the etiological medical condition) is consistent with causation by the medical condition; and

- The symptoms are not better accounted for by Delirium, Dementia, another mental disorder (e.g., Dissociative Disorders, Disorders Specifically Associated with Stress, Schizophrenia or Other Primary Psychotic Disorders) or the effects of a medication or substance, including withdrawal effects.
- The symptoms are sufficiently severe to be a specific focus of clinical attention.

Boundary with other disorders and normality:

- **Boundary with Dissociative Disorders:** Determining whether dissociative symptoms are due to a medical condition as opposed to manifestations of a primary mental disorder is often difficult because the clinical presentations may be similar. Establishing the presence of a potentially explanatory medical condition that can cause dissociative symptoms and the temporal relationship between the medical condition and the dissociative symptoms is critical in diagnosing Secondary Dissociative Syndrome.
- **Boundary with dissociative symptoms caused by substances or medications, including withdrawal effects:** When establishing a diagnosis of Secondary Dissociative Syndrome, it is important to rule out the possibility that a medication or substance is causing the dissociative symptoms. This involves first considering whether any of the medications being used to treat the medical condition are known to cause dissociative symptoms at the dose and duration at which it has been administered. Second, a temporal relationship between the medication use and the onset of the dissociative symptoms should be established (i.e., the dissociative symptoms began after administration of the medication and/or remitted once the medication was discontinued). The same reasoning applies to individuals with a medical condition and dissociative symptoms who are also using a psychoactive substance known to cause dissociative symptoms, either in the context of intoxication or withdrawal (e.g., amnesia due to ketamine or phencyclidine intoxication, depersonalization due to dextromethorphan intoxication).
- Boundary with dissociative symptoms that are precipitated by the stress of being diagnosed with a medical condition: The stress of a medical diagnosis can precipitate dissociative symptoms (e.g., depersonalization, derealization). Depending on the nature of the medical condition (e.g., a life-threatening type of cancer, a potentially fatal infection) or its onset (e.g., a heart attack, a stroke, a severe injury), being diagnosed and/or having to cope with a severe medical condition can be experienced as a traumatic event, which may trigger dissociative symptoms. In the absence of evidence of a physiological link between the medical condition and the dissociative symptoms, a diagnosis of Secondary Dissociative Syndrome is not warranted. Instead, the appropriate mental disorder can be diagnosed (e.g., Adjustment Disorder, Depersonalization-Derealization Disorder).

Potentially Explanatory Medical Conditions (examples):

Brain disorders and general medical conditions that have been shown to be capable of producing dissociative syndromes include:

- Diseases of the Nervous System (e.g., encephalitis, migraine, seizures, stroke)
- Endocrine, Nutritional or Metabolic Diseases (e.g., hyperglycaemia)
- Injury, Poisoning or Certain Other Consequences of External Causes (e.g., intracranial injury)
- Neoplasms (e.g., neoplasms of brain)

6E66 Secondary Impulse Control Syndrome

Essential (Required) Features:

- The presence of prominent symptoms that are characteristic of Impulse Control Disorders or Disorders Due to Addictive Behaviours (e.g., stealing, fire-setting, aggressive outbursts, compulsive sexual behaviour, excessive gambling).
- The symptoms are judged to be the direct pathophysiological consequence of a medical condition, based on evidence from history, physical examination, or laboratory findings. This judgment depends on establishing that:
 - The medical condition is known to be capable of producing the symptoms;
 - The course of the symptoms (e.g., onset, remission, response to treatment of the etiological medical condition) is consistent with causation by the medical condition; and
 - The symptoms are not better accounted for by Delirium, Dementia, another mental disorder (e.g., an Impulse Control Disorder or a Disorder Due to Addictive Behaviours), or the effects of a medication or substance, including withdrawal effects.
- The symptoms are sufficiently severe to be a specific focus of clinical attention.

Boundary with other disorders and normality:

- **Boundary with primary Impulse Control Disorder or Disorders Due to Addictive Behaviours:** Determining whether disturbances of impulse control are due to medical conditions classified elsewhere or are manifestations of an Impulse Control Disorder or a Disorder Due to Addictive Behaviours is often difficult because the clinical presentations may be similar. Establishing the presence of a potentially explanatory medical condition that can cause disturbances of impulse control and the temporal relationship between the medical condition and the disturbances of impulse control is critical in diagnosing Secondary Impulse Control Syndrome. Compared to Impulse Control Disorders or Disorders Due to Addictive Behaviours, Secondary Impulse Control Syndrome is more likely to be associated with atypical clinical features, such as a later age of onset or presence of disturbances of impulse control in individuals who generally exhibit low levels of disinhibition or negative emotionality.
- **Boundary with Delirium and Dementia:** Disturbances of impulse control or addictive behaviour can occur in the context of Delirium or Dementia. Secondary Impulse Control Syndrome is characterized by disturbances of impulse control or addictive behaviours (e.g., aggressive outbursts, compulsive sexual behaviour) occurring in the absence of severe cognitive impairment. In contrast, Delirium is characterized by fluctuating levels of consciousness and autonomic disturbances while Dementia is characterized by severe memory impairment as well as impairments in other domains of cognitive functioning. Disturbances of impulse control or addictive behaviour in the context of Dementia may be recorded using one of the Behavioural or Psychological Disturbances in Dementia specifiers (e.g., Agitation or Aggression in Dementia, Disinhibition in Dementia), if applicable. If the symptoms are judged to be due to the same medical condition as is causing the dementia, an additional diagnosis of Secondary Impulse Control Syndrome is not warranted.
- *Boundary with Secondary Personality Change:* Disturbances of impulse control or addictive behaviour can occur as part of Secondary Personality Change. If the

disturbances of impulse control are accompanied by other features of personality disturbance that are also judged to be due to a medical condition classified elsewhere, a diagnosis of Secondary Personality Change should be assigned instead.

Boundary with disturbances of impulse control or addictive behaviour caused by • substances or medications, including withdrawal effects: When establishing a diagnosis of Secondary Impulse Control Syndrome, it is important to rule out the possibility that a medication or substance is causing the symptoms. This involves first considering whether any of the medications being used to treat the medical condition are known to cause disturbances of impulse control or addictive behaviour at the dose and duration at which it has been administered (e.g., dopamine agonists such as pramipexole for Parkinson Disease or Restless Legs Syndrome). Second, a temporal relationship between the medication use and the onset of the symptoms should be established (i.e., the symptoms began after administration of the medication and/or remitted once the medication was discontinued). The same reasoning applies to individuals with a medical condition and disturbances of impulse control who are also using a psychoactive substance known to cause disturbances of impulse control or addictive behaviour, either in the context of Intoxication or Withdrawal (e.g., compulsive sexual behaviour due to cocaine intoxication, aggressive outburst due to methamphetamine intoxication). In such cases, Substance-Induced Impulse Control Disorder is the appropriate diagnosis, applying the appropriate category corresponding to the substance involved.

Potentially Explanatory Medical Conditions (examples):

Brain disorders and general medical conditions that have been shown to be capable of producing impulse control syndromes include:

- Diseases of the Nervous System (e.g., encephalitis, seizures, stroke, Klüver–Bucy syndrome)
- Developmental Anomalies (e.g., male with double or multiple Y [xyy syndrome])
- Endocrine Diseases
- Injury, Poisoning or Certain Other Consequences of External Causes (e.g., intracranial injury)
- Neoplasms (e.g., neoplasms of brain)

6E68 Secondary Personality Change

Essential (Required) Features:

- The presence of personality disturbance (e.g., marked apathy, indifference, suspiciousness, paranoid ideation, disinhibition) that represents a change from the individual's previous characteristic personality pattern.
- The personality change is judged to be the direct pathophysiological consequence of a medical condition, based on evidence from the history, physical examination, or laboratory findings. This judgment depends on establishing that:
 - The medical condition is known to be capable of producing the observed symptoms;
 - The course of the personality change (e.g., onset, remission, response of the personality disturbance to treatment of the etiological medical condition is consistent with causation by the medical condition; and

- The symptoms are not better accounted for by Delirium, Dementia, another mental disorder (e.g., Personality Disorder, Impulse Control Disorders, Secondary Impulse Control or Addictive Behaviour Syndrome) or the effects of a medication or substance, including withdrawal effects.
- The symptoms are sufficiently severe to be a specific focus of clinical attention.

Boundary with other disorders and normality:

- **Boundary with Personality Disorder and Personality Difficulty:** Establishing the presence of a potentially explanatory medical condition that can cause personality change and the temporal relationship between the medical condition and the personality change is critical in diagnosing Secondary Personality Change. Personality is relatively stable over time, and Personality Disorder and Personality Difficulty are usually evident by early adulthood. In contrast, Secondary Personality Change has its onset following or coincident with the onset of a medical condition that is judged to be its direct pathophysiological cause, and is characterized by the emergence of personality traits that represent a change from the individual's previous characteristic personality pattern (e.g., marked apathy, indifference, suspiciousness, paranoid ideation, disinhibition).
- **Boundary with Dementia:** Personality change can occur in the context of Dementia, which is characterized by a decline from a previous level of cognitive functioning with impairment in two or more cognitive domains (such as memory, executive functions, attention, language, social cognition and judgment, psychomotor speed, visuoperceptual or visuospatial abilities). In Secondary Personality Change, the emergence of personality traits that represent a change from the individual's previous characteristic personality pattern is not accompanied by marked cognitive impairment. The emergence of problematic personality features in the context of Dementia may be recorded using one of the Behavioural or Psychological Disturbances in Dementia specifiers (e.g., Apathy in Dementia, Agitation or Aggression in Dementia, Disinhibition in Dementia), if applicable. If the personality changes are judged to be due to the same medical condition as is causing the dementia, an additional diagnosis of Secondary Personality Change is not warranted.
- Boundary with personality change caused by substances or medications, including withdrawal effects: When establishing a diagnosis of Secondary Personality Change, it is also important to rule out the possibility that a substance or medication is causing the personality disturbance. This involves first considering whether any of the medications being used to treat the medical condition are known to cause personality disturbance at the dose and duration at which it has been administered (e.g., apathy due to chronic cannabis use, paranoid ideation due to chronic stimulant use). Second, a temporal relationship between the medication use and the onset of the personality disturbance should be established (i.e., the personality change began after administration of the medication of the personality change is substantially in excess of symptoms that are characteristic of the substance-specific Intoxication or Withdrawal syndrome, then Other Disorder Due to Use of Substances is the appropriate diagnosis, applying the appropriate category corresponding to the substance involved.
- **Boundary with Secondary Impulse Control or Addictive Behaviour Syndrome:** Personality changes may include symptoms of disordered impulse control or addictive behaviours. If the personality changes judged to be the direct pathophysiological consequence of a medical condition are restricted to increased impulsivity or addictive

behaviours, then Secondary Impulse Control or Addictive Behaviour Syndrome is the appropriate diagnosis rather Secondary Personality Change.

Potentially Explanatory Medical Conditions (examples):

Brain disorders and general medical conditions that have been shown to be capable of producing personality change include:

- Diseases of the Nervous System (e.g., encephalitis, Huntington disease, multiple sclerosis, seizures, stroke)
- Certain Infectious or Parasitic Diseases (e.g., human immunodeficiency virus disease)
- Endocrine, Nutritional or Metabolic Diseases (e.g., hypo- and hyperadrenalism, hypo- and hyperthyroidism)
- Injury, Poisoning or Certain Other Consequences of External Causes (e.g., brain injury)

6E69 Secondary Catatonia Syndrome

See Catatonia (p. 213) for complete CDDR for Secondary Catatonia Syndrome.

6E6Y Other Specified Secondary Mental or Behavioural Syndrome

- The presence of prominent symptoms that are characteristic of those seen in mental disorders but are not adequately captured by any of the other available categories in the grouping of Secondary Mental or Behavioural Syndromes Associated with Disorders or Diseases Classified Elsewhere.
- The symptoms are judged to be the direct pathophysiological consequence of a medical condition, based on evidence from history, physical examination, or laboratory findings. This judgment depends on establishing that:
 - The medical condition is known to be capable of producing the symptoms;
 - The course of the symptoms (e.g., onset, remission, response to treatment of the etiological medical condition) is consistent with causation by the medical condition; and
 - The symptoms are not better accounted for by another mental disorder or the effects of a medication or substance, including withdrawal effects.
- The symptoms are sufficiently severe to be a specific focus of clinical attention.

6E6Z Secondary Mental or Behavioural Syndrome, Unspecified

MENTAL OR BEHAVIOURAL SYMPTOMS, SIGNS OR CLINICAL FINDINGS

This section comprises mental or behavioural symptoms that may be an important aspect of an individual's clinical presentation or may be a reason for a clinical encounter or for treatment. This is one section of ICD-11 Chapter 21, Symptoms, Signs or Clinical Findings, Not Elsewhere Classified.

These categories may be used when a more precise diagnosis has not been established for various reasons (e.g., they describe transient symptoms at the time of initial encounter whose causes could not be determined; the individual was referred for investigation or treatment before a diagnosis was made; the patient failed to return for further investigation or followup; a more specific diagnosis could not be determined even after investigation). In these cases, the categories from this section can be used to describe the clinical presentation in the absence of a diagnosis for the underlying disorder or condition.

These categories may also be used to describe clinically important aspects of the individual's presentation when a mental disorder diagnosis has been assigned. They may be especially useful when the symptom being described has implications for treatment but is not an essential feature of the disorder itself and does not meet the requirements for another diagnosable disorder (e.g., duration, severity, situational specificity). For example, an individual with Autism Spectrum Disorder may be experiencing significant anxiety related to a transition to an unfamiliar environment that does not by itself meet the diagnostic requirements for any Anxiety or Fear-Related Disorder. In this case, the symptom category MB24.3 Anxiety could be assigned together with the diagnosis 6A02 Autism Spectrum Disorder. (The resulting diagnostic code would be 6A02/MB24.3.) Thus, additional symptom codes may be used together with the underlying diagnosis if they convey clinically important additional information.

Symptom categories should not be applied in circumstances where they do not convey any additional meaningful information. For example, applying the symptom code MB24.3 Anxiety together with a diagnosis of 6B00 Generalized Anxiety Disorder would be redundant because anxiety is an essential feature of the disorder itself.

Mental or Behavioural Symptoms, Signs or Clinical Findings include the following groupings:

- MB20 Symptoms, signs or clinical findings involving consciousness •
- MB21 Symptoms, signs or clinical findings involving cognition
- MB22 Symptoms or signs involving motivation or energy •
- MB23 Symptoms or signs involving appearance or behaviour •
- MB24 Symptoms or signs involving mood or affect
- MB25 Symptoms or signs involving form of thought •
- MB26 Symptoms or signs involving content of thought •
- MB27 Symptoms or signs involving perceptual disturbance •
- MB28 Symptoms or signs related to personality features
- MB29 Symptoms or signs involving eating and related behaviour
- MB2A Symptoms or signs involving elimination

MB20 Symptoms, signs or clinical findings involving consciousness

Symptoms, signs, and clinical findings indicative of a disturbance in the state or quality of awareness of oneself and the environment, alertness, or clarity of the wakeful state.

MB20.0 Stupor

• Total or nearly total lack of spontaneous movement and marked decrease in reactivity to environment.

MB20.1 Coma

• Acute state lasting more than one hour and usually less than a month. The comatose patient is unresponsive, lying with their eyes closed and cannot be aroused even by vigorous and noxious stimuli. Motor responses to noxious stimulation are limited to reflexive behaviour. Etiologies include but are not limited to traumatic, anoxic, infectious, neoplastic, vascular, inflammatory and metabolic brain injuries.

MB20.2 Clouding of consciousness

• An impairment in the clarity of consciousness characterised by impaired ability to comprehend aspects of the environment or the self in relation to the environment, inattention, and abnormalities in thought processes, comprehension. It is typically accompanied by subjective experience of mental clouding described as feeling 'foggy'. Clouding of consciousness is a common form of cognitive disturbance in Delirium, but it is not synonymous with Delirium because Delirium includes additional diagnostic requirements.

MB20.Y Other specified symptoms, signs or clinical findings involving consciousness

MB21 Symptoms, signs or clinical findings involving cognition

Symptoms, signs, and clinical findings indicative of a disturbance in mental abilities and processes related to attention, memory, judgment, reasoning, problem solving, decision making, or comprehension, or the integration of these functions.

MB21.0 Age-associated cognitive decline

• A normative (non-pathological) deterioration of higher cortical functions such as thinking, reasoning, comprehension, calculation, learning, language, and judgment.

MB21.1 Amnesia

• An inability to recall past experiences, especially where recall is to be expected.

MB21.10 Anterograde amnesia

• An inability to recall past experiences, especially where recall is to be expected, occurring after an event (psychological or physical) presumed to be responsible for the amnesia.

MB21.11 Retrograde amnesia

• An inability to recall past experiences, especially where recall is to be expected, preceding an event (psychological or physical) presumed to be responsible for the amnesia.

MB21.12 Transient global amnesia

• A time-limited episode (lasting up to two days) of short-term memory loss without other signs or symptoms of neurological impairment.

MB21.1Y Other specified amnesia

MB21.1Z Amnesia, unspecified

MB21.2 Anosognosia

• A lack of awareness or failure to recognize one's own illness, symptoms, or functional deficits, considered to be an aspect of the illness.

MB21.3 Confabulation

• The filling of memory gaps with fabricated, distorted, or misinterpreted memories about oneself or the world, without the conscious intention to deceive.

MB21.4 Disorientation

• Impairment in or loss of awareness of the position of the self in relation to place, time, situation, or other persons. In severe cases, the sense of personal identity may also be lost.

MB21.5 Distractibility

• Difficulty focusing on tasks; attention is easily diverted by extraneous stimuli.

MB21.6 Impaired abstract thinking

• The inability to use concepts and to make and understand generalizations, such as the identifying the properties or pattern shared by a variety of specific items or events.

MB21.7 Impaired executive functioning

• Impairment in higher-level cognitive abilities, such as planning, sequencing, concept formation, abstracting, and decision-making.

MB21.8 Impaired judgment

• Deficit in the capacity to make sound, reasoned, and responsible decisions.

MB21.9 Perseveration

• Persistent repetition of previously used words, phrases, or details that are not responsive to the demands of the situation.

MB21.A Poor concentration

• Difficulty focusing attention and sustaining the mental energy necessary to accomplish a task or goal.

MB21.B Racing thoughts

• Subjective perception of accelerated thought processes.

MB4B.0 Dyslexia and alexia (Secondary-parented here; Primary Parent: MB4B Symbolic Dysfunctions in Symptoms, Signs or Clinical Findings of the Nervous System)

• Dyslexia and alexia refer to the loss, usually in adulthood, of a previous ability to read fluently and to accurately comprehend written material that is inconsistent with general level of intellectual functioning and is acquired after the developmental period in individuals who had previously attained these skills, such as due to a stroke or other brain injury.

<u>MB4B.1 Agnosia</u> (Secondary-parented here; Primary Parent: MB4B Symbolic Dysfunctions in Symptoms, Signs or Clinical Findings of the Nervous System)

• Agnosia refers to the inability to recognize objects, shapes, people, sounds, or smells, which occurs despite otherwise normal functioning of the specific sense and is not accounted for by memory impairment.

MB4B.2 Acalculia (Secondary-parented here; Primary Parent: MB4B Symbolic Dysfunctions in Symptoms, Signs or Clinical Findings of the Nervous System)

• Acalculia refers to the loss, usually in adulthood, of a previous ability to perform simple mathematical calculations that is inconsistent with general level of intellectual functioning and is acquired after the developmental period in individuals who had previously attained these skills, such as due to a stroke or other brain injury.

<u>MB4B.3 Agraphia</u> (Secondary-parented here; Primary Parent: MB4B Symbolic Dysfunctions in Symptoms, Signs or Clinical Findings of the Nervous System)

• Agraphia refers to the loss, usually in adulthood, of a previous ability to write that is inconsistent with general level of intellectual functioning and is acquired after the developmental period in individuals who had previously attained these skills, such as due to a stroke or other brain injury.

MB4B.4 Anomia (Secondary-parented here; Primary Parent: MB4B Symbolic Dysfunctions in Symptoms, Signs or Clinical Findings of the Nervous System)

• Acquired difficulty in retrieving previously used vocabulary, particularly nouns and verbs.

<u>MB4B.5 Dyscalculia</u> (Secondary-parented here; Primary Parent: MB4B Symbolic Dysfunctions in Symptoms, Signs or Clinical Findings of the Nervous System)

• Dyscalculia refers to acquired difficulty with performing simple mathematical calculations that is inconsistent with general level of intellectual functioning, with onset after the developmental period in individuals who had previously attained these skills, such as due to a stroke or other brain injury.

MB21.Y Other specified symptoms and signs involving cognition

MB21.Z Symptoms and signs involving cognition, unspecified

MB22 Symptoms or signs involving motivation or energy

Symptoms and signs involving motivation (the process that initiates, guides, and maintains goal-oriented behaviours) or energy (the strength and vitality required for sustained physical or mental activity).

MB22.0 Avolition

• A general lack of drive, or lack of motivation to pursue meaningful goals (e.g., as evidenced by limited participation in work, school, or socializing with others).

MB22.1 Decreased libido

• Decreased sexual desire or sexual activity compared with the patient's usual levels of sexual interest and functioning.

MB22.2 Demoralization

• Loss of confidence in one's ability to cope, with associated feelings of helplessness, hopelessness, and discouragement.

MB22.3 Hopelessness

• Little or no belief in a positive future.

MB22.4 Increased energy

• Increased physical or mental resources for activity, typically characterised by increased capacity for work and greater efficiency in responding to stimuli.

MB22.5 Increased goal-directed activity

• Increased planning of and participation in multiple activities (e.g., sexual, occupational, political, religious), compared to the individual's typical level of activity.

MB22.6 Increased libido

• Increased sexual desire or sexual activity compared with the patient's usual levels of sexual interest and functioning.

MB22.7 Tiredness

• Feeling of reduced alertness and an accompanying decrease in mental acuity, in some cases resulting in an impulse or tendency to fall asleep.

MB22.Y Other specified symptoms and signs involving motivation or energy

MB22.Z Symptoms or signs involving motivation or energy, unspecified

MB23 Symptoms or signs involving appearance or behaviour

MB23.0 Aggressive behaviour

• Actions intended to threaten or hurt another person or to damage property that may be physical, verbal, or symbolic (e.g., acting against the other person's interests). Aggressive behaviour may be appropriate and self-protective, or inappropriate, hostile, and destructive.

MB23.1 Antisocial behaviour

• Behaviour in which the basic rights of others or major age-appropriate societal norms, rules, or laws, are violated.

MB23.2 Avoidance behaviour

• The act of keeping away from circumstances, situations, or stimuli that cause anxiety or other negative emotions in the individual.

MB23.3 Bradyphrenia

• Slowness of thoughts or fatigability of initiative.

MB23.4 Compulsions

• Repetitive behaviours or rituals (e.g., washing, checking) or mental acts (e.g., repeating words silently) that the individual feels driven to perform in response to an obsession, according to rigid rules, or to achieve a sense of 'completeness'.

MB23.5 Coprolalia

• Involuntary swearing or the involuntary utterance of obscene words or socially inappropriate and derogatory remarks, often in Tourette Syndrome.

MB23.6 Disorganised behaviour

• Behaviour including posture, gait, and other activity that is unpredictable or not goaldirected (e.g., shouting at strangers on the street).

MB23.7 Disheveled appearance

• Untidy or unkempt appearance reflecting a lack of attention to one or more aspects of hygiene, grooming, or dress.

MB23.8 Disruptive behaviour

• Behaviour that causes disorder and turmoil in others or one's environment (e.g., angry outbursts, arguments, disobedience).

MB23.9 Echolalia

• The automatic repetition of vocalizations, words, or phrases uttered by another person, which may be immediate or delayed (e.g., repetition of phrases earlier heard on television), without meaningful communicative function. Echolalia is a common feature of communication abnormalities in Autism Spectrum Disorder, but may also occur in other Mental, Behavioural or Neurodevelopmental Disorders and certain neurological conditions, among children with severe visual impairment, and occasionally in typically developing children. Echolalia does not include repetition as a normal feature of language acquisition in early childhood development.

MB23.A Excessive crying of child, adolescent, or adult

• Episodes of crying for several hours a day for more than several days a week for several weeks in an otherwise healthy child, adolescent, or adult.

MB23.C Increased sociability

• Decrease or loss of normal social inhibitions manifested in increased impulses to be with and talk to other people, including overfamiliarity, compared to the individual's typical level of activity.

MB23.D Mutism

• A lack of verbal output that may be generalized or restricted to specific situations.

MB23.E Non-suicidal self-injury

• Intentional self-inflicted injury to the body, most commonly cutting, scraping, burning, biting, or hitting, with the expectation that the injury will lead to only minor physical harm.

MB23.F Odd or peculiar appearance

• Grooming, clothing, or other aspects of personal appearance that are eccentric, unusual, or peculiar, and inconsistent with cultural or subcultural norms.

MB23.G Odd or peculiar behaviour

• Behaviour including posture and gait that is eccentric, unusual, or peculiar, and is inconsistent with cultural or subcultural norms.

MB23.H Panic attack

• A discrete episode of intense fear or apprehension accompanied by the rapid and concurrent onset of a number of characteristic symptoms. These symptoms may include, but are not limited to, palpitations or increased heart rate, sweating, trembling, sensations of shortness of breath, feelings of choking, chest pain, nausea or abdominal distress, feelings of dizziness or lightheadedness, chills or hot flushes, tingling or lack of sensation in extremities (i.e., paresthesias), depersonalization or derealization, fear of losing control or going mad, and fear of imminent death. Panic attacks can appear out of the blue or can be triggered by particular situations.

MB23.J Poor personal hygiene

• Unwillingness or inability to maintain a level of personal cleanliness that is in keeping with the standards of the person's culture, society, or setting, such as not washing or brushing one's teeth.

MB23.K Poverty of speech

• A general lack of the unprompted content and elaboration normally seen in speech that is attributed to poverty of thought. It is one of the negative symptoms of Schizophrenia.

MB23.L Pressured speech

• Speech in which the person feels undue pressure to get the words out. The person's speech is usually rapid, loud, and emphatic and may be difficult or impossible to interrupt. Frequently, the person talks without any social stimulation and may continue to talk even though no one is listening.

MB23.M Psychomotor agitation

• Excessive motor activity, usually manifested by purposeless behaviours such as fidgeting, shifting, fiddling, inability to sit or stand still, wringing of the hands, etc.

MB23.N Psychomotor retardation

• A visible generalized slowing of movements and speech.

MB23.Q Social withdrawal

• Retreat from relationships and other social interactions.

MB23.R Suicide attempt

• A specific episode of self-harming behaviour undertaken with the conscious intention of ending one's life.

MB23.S Suicidal behaviour

• Concrete actions, such buying a gun or stockpiling medication, that are taken in preparation for fulfilling a wish to end one's life but that do not constitute an actual suicide attempt.

MB23.Y Other specified symptoms and signs involving appearance and behaviour

MB23.Z Symptoms and signs involving appearance and behaviour, unspecified

MB24 Symptoms or signs involving mood or affect

Symptoms and signs involving the regulation and expression of emotions or feeling states.

MB24.0 Ambivalence

• Conflicting ideas, wishes, or feelings toward a person, thing or situation that are distressing and may create difficulties in making decisions.

MB24.1 Anger

• An emotional state related to one's psychological interpretation of having been threatened that may range in intensity from mild irritation to intense fury and rage.

MB24.2 Anhedonia

• Inability to experience pleasure from normally pleasurable activities.

MB24.3 Anxiety

• Apprehensiveness or anticipation of future danger or misfortune accompanied by a feeling of worry, distress, or somatic symptoms of tension. The focus of anticipated danger may be internal or external.

MB24.4 Apathy

• A reduction or lack of feeling, emotion, interest, or concern; a state of indifference.

MB24.5 Depressed mood

• Negative affective state characterised by low mood, sadness, emptiness, hopelessness, or dejection

MB24.6 Disturbance of affect

• A disturbance in the expression or outward manifestation of mood.

MB24.60 Constricted affect

• A marked reduction in the expressive range and intensity of affect, but less than is observed in Blunted affect.

MB24.61 Blunted affect

• A severe reduction in the expressive range and intensity of affect, but less than is observed in Flat affect.

MB24.62 Flat affect

• Absence or near absence of any sign of affective expression.

MB24.63 Labile affect

• Marked variability in emotional expression, with repeated, rapid, and abrupt shifts.

MB24.64 Inappropriate affect

• Affective expression that is discordant with the content of the person's speech or ideation, or incompatible with the demands of a particular situation.

MB24.6Y Other specified disturbance of affect

MB24.6Z Disturbance of affect, unspecified

MB24.7 Dysphoria

• An unpleasant mood state, which can include feelings of depression, anxiety, discontent, irritability, and unhappiness

MB24.8 Elevated mood

• A positive mood state typically characterised by increased energy and self-esteem which may be out of proportion to the individual's life circumstances.

MB24.9 Euphoria

• An exaggerated feeling of physical and emotional well-being and vitality.

MB24.A Fear

• An emotional response to perceived imminent threat or danger associated with urges to flee or fight.

MB24.B Feelings of guilt

• Remorse related to past events or one's past actions (or inaction), thoughts, or desires.

MB24.C Irritability

• A mood state characterised by being easily annoyed and provoked to anger, out of proportion to the circumstances.

MB24.D Leaden paralysis

• A feeling that one's arms or legs are as heavy as lead, associated with a form of depression that also commonly includes overeating and oversleeping.

MB24.E Mental rumination

• Mental preoccupation with negative events, personal characteristics, or failures.

MB24.F Restlessness

• A feeling of being unable to keep still.

MB24.G Tantrum

• An emotional outburst, usually among children or those in emotional distress, that is typically characterised by stubbornness, crying, screaming, defiance, anger, a resistance to attempts at pacification, and in some cases hitting or other violent behaviour.

MB24.H Worry

• Unpleasant thoughts that are difficult to control, related to anticipated potential negative events.

MB24.Y Other specified symptoms and signs involving mood or affect

MB24.Z Symptoms and signs involving mood or affect, unspecified

MB25 Symptoms or signs involving form of thought

Symptoms and signs involving the logical sequence and coherence of thought, typically manifest in speech, including thought disorder (circumstantiality, tangentiality, disorganised thinking and incoherence), flight of ideas, neologisms, and thought blocking.

MB25.0 Symptoms and signs of thought disorder

• Disturbances in the associative thought process typically manifest in speech or writing that range from circumstantiality to incoherence. These may be indicative of Schizophrenia or other primary psychotic disorders but can also occur in other mental disorders (e.g., Delirium).

MB25.00 Circumstantiality

• A relatively mild disturbance in the associative thought process typically manifest in speech or writing characterised by delay in getting to the point because of the interpolation of unnecessary details and irrelevant parenthetical remarks.

MB25.01 Tangentiality

• A disturbance in the associative thought process typically manifest in speech in which the person tends to digress readily from the topic under discussion to other topics through associations without ever returning to the original topic.

MB25.02 Disorganised thinking

• A disturbance in the associative thought process typically manifested in speech in which the person shifts suddenly from one topic to another that is unrelated or minimally related to the first. The individual gives no indication of being aware of the disconnectedness or illogicality of their thinking.

MB25.03 Incoherence

• Speech or thinking that is so disorganised that it is essentially incomprehensible to others.

MB25.0Y Other specified symptoms and signs of thought disorder

MB25.0Z Symptoms and signs of thought disorder, unspecified

MB25.1 Flight of ideas

• A nearly continuous flow of thoughts, usually manifested in speech, with rapid changes from topic to topic that are often based on understandable associations, distracting stimuli, or plays on words. In severe cases, the changes may be so rapid that speech is disorganised and incoherent.

MB25.2 Neologisms

• The invention of new words that have meaning only to the person using them. May also include the use of existing words in ways that are inconsistent with their common meaning.

MB25.3 Thought blocking

• A phenomenon usually manifested by the person's speech being suddenly interrupted by silences, experienced as a quick and total emptying of the mind.

MB25.Y Other specified symptoms and signs of form of thought

MB25.Z Symptoms and signs of form of thought, unspecified

MB26 Symptoms or signs involving content of thought

Symptoms and signs involving content of thought include delusions, experiences of influence, passivity, and control, grandiosity, homicidal ideation, identity disturbance, obsessions, overvalued ideas, paranoid ideation, referential thinking, suspiciousness, and suicidal ideation.

MB26.0 Delusion

• A belief that is demonstrably untrue or not shared by others, usually based on incorrect inference about external reality. The belief is firmly held with conviction and is not, or is only briefly, susceptible to modification by experience or evidence that contradicts it. The belief is not ordinarily accepted by other members or the person's culture or subculture (i.e., it is not an article of religious faith).

MB26.00 Bizarre delusion

• A delusion that involves a phenomenon that would be regarded as physically impossible within the person's cultural context.

MB26.01 Delusion of being controlled

• A delusion that involves an external force or person controlling one's feelings, impulses, thoughts, or behaviour.

MB26.02 Delusion of guilt

• A delusion involving exaggerated or inappropriate responsibility, need for punishment or retribution, or disproportionate consequences of one's actions, such as that a minor error in the past will lead to disaster, that the person has committed a sin or horrible crime and should be punished severely, or that the person is responsible for a horrible outcome with which there can be no possible connection.

MB26.03 Delusion of reference

• A delusion that events, objects, or other people in the person's immediate environment have a particular and unusual personal significance, usually of a negative or pejorative nature.

MB26.04 Erotomanic delusion

• A delusion that another person, usually of higher status, is in love with the individual.

MB26.05 Grandiose delusion

• A delusion of inflated worth, power, knowledge, identity, or special relationship to a deity or famous person.

MB26.06 Jealous delusion

• A delusion that one's sexual partner is unfaithful.

MB26.07 Persecutory delusion

• A delusion in which the central theme is that one (or someone to whom one is close) is being attacked, mocked, harassed, cheated, conspired against, or persecuted.

MB26.08 Religious delusion

• A delusion involving religious or spiritual themes or subject matter that other members of the person's religious group do not accept as possible.

MB26.09 Somatic delusion

• A delusion involving the functioning or appearance of one's body, including of having a serious disease.

MB26.0A Nihilistic delusion

• A delusion that the self, part of the self, part of the body, other persons, or the whole world has ceased to exist.

MB26.0B Misidentification delusion

• A delusion that people in one's environment, which may include family members and loved ones, are imposters or actors or are otherwise not who they seem to be.

MB26.0C Delusion of impoverishment

• A delusional conviction that one is currently destitute or soon will be, or that one does not have the necessary financial resources to live on, in spite of evidence to the contrary.

MB26.0Y Other specified delusion

MB26.0Z Delusion, unspecified

MB26.1 Experiences of influence, passivity, and control

• The experience that one's feelings, impulses, thoughts, bodily functions, or behaviour are under the control of another person or other external force instead of under one's own control. These experiences may or may not be accompanied by a delusional belief that provides an explanation for the subjective experience.

MB26.10 Thought broadcasting

• The experience that one's thoughts are accessible by others so that others know what one is thinking.

MB26.11 Thought insertion

• The experience that certain thoughts are being placed in one's mind by others.

MB26.12 Thought withdrawal

• The experience that one's thoughts are being removed by an outside person or force.

MB26.1Y Other specified experiences of influence, passivity, and control

MB26.1Z Experiences of influence, passivity, and control, unspecified

MB26.2 Grandiosity

• Exaggerated self-esteem or an unrealistic belief in one's superiority, importance, capacities, or identity.

MB26.3 Homicidal ideation

• Thoughts, ideas, or ruminations about killing another person, which range from vague ideas of revenge to detailed and fully formulated plans but do not include actual homicidal attempts.

MB26.4 Identity disturbance

• Distortion or inconsistency in the sense or view of sameness and historical continuity of one's self.

MB26.5 Obsessions

• Repetitive and persistent thoughts (e.g., of contamination), images (e.g., of violent scenes), or impulses/urges (e.g., to stab someone) that are experienced as intrusive, unwanted, and are commonly associated with anxiety.

MB26.6 Overvalued ideas

• Unreasonable and sustained beliefs that are maintained with less than delusional intensity (i.e., the person is able to acknowledge the possibility that the belief may not be true). An alternative use of this term is to refer to conventional or plausible thoughts (e.g., religious concepts, political ideas, or excessively idealistic beliefs) that are held with such a level of intensity so that the person's life is taken up by them.

MB26.7 Paranoid ideation

• Ideation, not held with delusional intensity, involving suspiciousness or beliefs of being harassed, persecuted, or unfairly treated by others.

MB26.8 Referential thinking

• Ideation, not held with delusional intensity, that random or coincidental events are of particular and unusual significance to the person.

MB26.9 Suspiciousness

• The behaviour of others is viewed with anxiety, mistrust, or hostility and perceived as potentially threatening.

MB26.A Suicidal ideation

• Thoughts, ideas, or ruminations about the possibility of ending one's life, ranging from thinking that one would be better off dead to formulation of elaborate plans.

MB26.Y Other specified symptoms or signs involving content of thought

MB26.Z Symptoms or signs involving content of thought, unspecified

MB27 Symptoms or signs involving perceptual disturbance

Symptoms and signs involving a disruption in sensory perception, including depersonalization, derealization, and hallucinations in any modality.

MB27.0 Depersonalisation

• Experiencing the self as strange or unreal, or feeling detached from, or as though one were an outside observer of, one's thoughts, feelings, sensations, body, or actions. Depersonalization may take the form of emotional and/or physical numbing, a sense of

watching oneself from a distance or 'being in a play', or perceptual alterations (e.g., a distorted sense of time).

MB27.1 Derealisation

• Experiencing other persons, objects, or the world as strange or unreal (e.g., dreamlike, distant, foggy, lifeless, colourless, or visually distorted) or feeling detached from one's surroundings.

MB27.2 Hallucinations

• Sensory perceptions of any modality occurring in the absence of the appropriate (external) stimulus. The person may or may not have insight into the unreal nature of the perception.

MB27.20 Auditory hallucinations

• Hallucinations involving the perception of sound, most frequently of voices but sometimes of clicks or other noises, that are not restricted to the period of awakening or the onset of sleep.

MB27.21 Gustatory hallucinations

• Hallucinations of taste in the absence of an actual external stimulus.

MB27.22 Hypnopompic hallucinations

• Hallucinations that occur during the period of awakening, most commonly of the visual, tactile or auditory modality.

MB27.23 Hypnagogic hallucinations

• Hallucinations that occur at the onset of sleep, most commonly of the visual, tactile or auditory modality.

MB27.24 Olfactory hallucinations

• Hallucinations involving the perception of odour (e.g., of burning rubber, decaying fish, orange peel) in the absence of an actual external stimulus.

MB27.25 Somatic hallucinations

• Hallucinations involving the perception of an unusual physical state or event within the body, such as an electrical impulse running down one's arms or an object inside one's chest.

MB27.26 Tactile hallucinations

• Hallucinations involving the perception of being touched (e.g., feeling like bugs are crawling on the skin, pins being stuck into one's finger) that are not restricted to the period of awakening or the onset of sleep.

MB27.27 Visual hallucinations

• Hallucinations involving sight in the absence of an actual visual stimulus that are not restricted to the period of awakening or the onset of sleep. Visual hallucinations may involve formed images, such as of people, or unformed images, such as flashes of light. Visual hallucinations must be distinguished from illusions, which are visual misperceptions of real external stimuli.

MB27.2Y Other specified hallucinations

MB27.2Z Hallucinations, unspecified

MB27.3 Disturbance of body image

• Excessively negative, distorted, or inaccurate perception of one's own body or parts of it.

MB27.4 Illusions

• A misinterpretation of a true sensation (e.g., hearing voices in the sound of running water, the perception of figures in shadows).

MB27.Y Other specified symptoms and signs of perceptual disturbances

MB27.Z Symptoms and signs of perceptual disturbance, unspecified

MB28 Symptoms or signs related to personality features

Symptoms and signs involving the characteristics or qualities possessed by a person that uniquely influence his or her cognition, motivations, and behaviours in various situations.

MB28.0 Attention seeking

• A tendency to engage in behaviour designed to attract notice and to make oneself the focus of others' attention.

MB28.1 Callousness

• Lack of concern for the feelings or problems of others; a lack of guilt or remorse about the negative or harmful effects of one's actions on others.

MB28.2 Eccentricity

• A tendency toward appearance or behaviour that is odd, unusual, peculiar, or unconventional, and is inconsistent with cultural or subcultural norms.

MB28.3 Entitlement

• The belief that one is inherently deserving of privileges or special treatment.

MB28.4 Hostility

• A tendency to experience persistent or frequent angry feelings, especially in response to minor slights and insults, and to adopt an unfriendly or threatening attitude in interactions with others.

MB28.5 Impulsivity

• A tendency to act on the spur of the moment in response to immediate stimuli, characterised by lack of deliberation and failure to consider risks and consequences before acting. Impulsivity may reflect a desire for immediate rewards or an inability to delay gratification.

MB28.6 Indecisiveness

• A tendency to have difficulty making decisions or committing to a course of action.

MB28.7 Irresponsibility

• A pattern of disregard for and failure to honour obligations or commitments; a lack of respect for and follow-through on agreements or promises; carelessness with others' property.

MB28.8 Low frustration tolerance

• Diminished ability to regulate one's emotions and behaviour in response to frustrating circumstances.

MB28.9 Low self-esteem

• Low appraisal of one's self-worth.

MB28.A Negative affectivity

• A tendency to experience a broad range of distressing emotions, e.g., anxiety, anger irritability, depression, and other negative emotional states, often in response to even relatively minor actual or perceived stressors.

MB28.B Negativism

• A tendency to oppose or resist suggestions or advice, or to resist stubbornly for no apparent reason.

MB28.C Perfectionism

• An inclination to demand flawlessness of oneself or others and setting excessively high standards.

MB28.D Pessimism

• An inclination to emphasize adverse aspects, conditions, and possibilities, or to expect the worst possible outcome.

MB28.E Recklessness

• A tendency to engage in behaviour that potentially endangers a person's physical health, safety, or life.

MB28.F Sensation seeking

• An inclination to search for experiences and feelings that are varied, novel, complex, and intense.

MB28.G Stubbornness

• A steadfast adherence to an opinion, purpose, or course of action in spite of reason, arguments, or persuasion.

MB28.H Submissiveness

• A tendency to adapt one's behaviour to the actual or perceived interests and desires of others even when doing so is antithetical to one's own interests, needs, or desires.

MB28.Y Other specified symptoms and signs related to personality features

MB28.Z Symptoms and signs related to personality features, unspecified

MB29 Symptoms or signs involving eating and related behaviour

Symptoms and signs related to disturbances in the regulation or form of eating behaviour that are not developmentally appropriate or culturally sanctioned, including avoidant or restrictive eating, binge eating, decreased appetite, eating of non-nutritive substances, increased appetite, purging behaviour, and rumination-regurgitation.

MB29.0 Avoidant or restrictive eating

• Acceptance of only a limited diet, which may be defined in terms of a specific dietary composition or sensory features of food, that is inconsistent with cultural or subcultural norms.

MB29.1 Binge eating

• An episode in which an individual eats notably more than usual and feels that she or he is unable to stop or limit the amount or type of food eaten.

MB29.2 Eating of non-nutritive substances

• Consumption of non-food objects and materials (e.g., clay, soil, chalk, plaster, plastic, metal and paper) or raw food ingredients (e.g., large quantities of salt or corn flour).

MB29.3 Purging behaviour

• Behaviour aimed at the removal of ingested food from the body with the specific intention to lose weight or prevent weight gain (e.g., self-induced vomiting, laxative abuse, or the use of enemas).

MB29.4 Rumination-regurgitation

• Rechewing of previously swallowed food that has been brought back to the mouth through regurgitation, which may then be reswallowed or spat out.

<u>MG43.1 Overeating</u> (Secondary-parented here; Primary Parent: MG43 Symptoms and Signs Concerning Food and Fluid Intake in General Symptoms, Signs or Clinical Findings)

• The consumption of excess food in relation to energy and nutritional requirements.

MG43.6 Excessive weight gain (Secondary-parented here; Primary Parent: MG43 Symptoms and Signs Concerning Food and Fluid Intake in General Symptoms, Signs or Clinical Findings)

• An increase in total body mass, due to increase in fluid, fat or adipose tissue, or lean (muscle) mass that is outside the expected range for normal growth and development and is sufficient in quantity or rate to create risk to the individual's health.

MG43.5 Excessive weight loss (Secondary-parented here; Primary Parent: MG43 Symptoms and Signs Concerning Food and Fluid Intake in General Symptoms, Signs or Clinical Findings)

• A reduction of total body mass, due to loss of fluid, body fat or adipose tissue, or lean (muscle) mass that is sufficient in quantity or rate to create risk to the individual's health.

MG43.8 Decreased appetite (Secondary-parented here; Primary Parent: MG43 Symptoms and Signs Concerning Food and Fluid Intake in General Symptoms, Signs or Clinical Findings)

• Intermittent or persistent decreased motivation or desire to eat food as compared to what is typical for the individual.

<u>MG43.9 Increased appetite</u> (Secondary-parented here; Primary Parent: MG43 Symptoms and Signs Concerning Food and Fluid Intake in General Symptoms, Signs or Clinical Findings)

• Intermittent or persistent increased motivation or desire to eat food as compared to what is typical for the individual.

MB29.Y Other specified symptoms and signs involving eating and related behaviour

MB29.Z Symptoms and signs involving eating and related behaviour, unspecified

MB2A Symptoms or signs involving elimination

Symptoms and signs involving the behavioural components of defecation (soiling, faecal elimination) and urination.

MB2A.0 Soiling

• The passage of faeces in clothing, bed, or other inappropriate places in an individual who has reached a developmental age where faecal continence is ordinarily expected.

MB2A.1 Wetting

• The voiding of urine into clothes or bed, which may occur during the day or night in an individual who has reached a developmental age where urinary continence is ordinarily expected.

MB2A.Y Other specified symptoms and signs involving elimination

MB2A.Z Symptoms and signs involving elimination, unspecified

MB2Y Other specified mental or behavioural symptoms, signs or clinical findings

RELATIONSHIP PROBLEMS AND MALTREATMENT

Intimate partner and caregiver-child bonds are among the most important factors affecting human health. Threats to these bonds, through acts (e.g., physical maltreatment) or omissions (e.g., neglect) significantly affect physical, mental, and social well-being. Mental disorders and other medical conditions can cause, be caused by, exacerbate, or be exacerbated by relationship problems or maltreatment. Therefore, accurate diagnosis of relationship problems and maltreatment is important for appropriate treatment planning and care. The coding rules for relationship problems or maltreatment in the ICD-11 are complex and are therefore presented separately in this section.

Different categories from Chapter 23 External Causes of Morbidity or Mortality and Chapter 24 Factors Influencing Health Status or Contact with Health Services are used to indicate the presence of relationship problems or maltreatment depending on the purpose of the assessment and the point in time relative to the assessment that maltreatment has occurred or is suspected. Maltreatment is an umbrella term that comprises physical abuse, sexual abuse psychological abuse, and neglect. All categories are applied to the victim of the maltreatment, not to the perpetrator. In cases of mutual relationship distress or maltreatment where both parties in a dyad are being evaluated, the categories may be applied to both. Because relationship distress and different forms of maltreatment (physical, sexual, psychological, or neglect) can co-occur, as many of these categories may be assigned together as necessary to describe the relevant clinical phenomena.

The ICD-11 uses consistent definitions of maltreatment across these different sets of categories.

• *Physical abuse* (also called physical maltreatment) is defined as non-accidental acts of physical force that result, or have reasonable potential to result, in physical harm or that evoke significant fear.

- *Sexual abuse* (also called sexual maltreatment) is defined in adults as forced or coerced sexual acts or sexual acts with someone who is unable to consent. In children, it is defined as sexual acts involving a child that are intended to provide sexual gratification to an adult.
- *Psychological abuse* (also called psychological maltreatment) is defined as non-accidental verbal or symbolic acts that result in significant psychological harm.
- *Neglect* is defined as egregious acts or omissions by a caregiver that deprive a child of needed age-appropriate care or an adult who is incapable of self-care and that result, or have reasonable potential to result, in physical or psychological harm.

Maltreatment as a Cause of Injury or Death

Categories for Maltreatment from Chapter 23 External Causes of Morbidity or Mortality are used when the purpose is to document the cause of an injury being treated or the cause of death. These categories are used along with a classification of the associated physical injury (e.g., fracture of nasal bones; burns of external body surface). Available Maltreatment categories in Chapter 23 include:

- PJ20 Physical Maltreatment
- PJ21 Sexual Maltreatment
- PJ22 Psychological Maltreatment
- PJ2Y Other Specified Maltreatment
- PJ2Z Maltreatment, Unspecified
- PB5B Unintentional Neglect
- PF1B Assault by Neglect
- PH7B Neglect with Undetermined Intent

The associated injury from Chapter 22 Injury, Poisoning or Certain Other Consequences of External Causes is postcoordinated with the type of maltreatment presumed to have caused it. (See discussion of postcoordination in the chapter on Using the CDDR for ICD-11 Mental, Behavioural or Neurodevelopmental Disorders, p. 45). Mental, Behavioural or Neurodevelopmental Disorders such as Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder and Recurrent Depressive Disorder can clearly be the result of or exacerbated by maltreatment, but are not typically considered immediate causes of the types of injuries classified in Chapter 22. However, mental disorders are provided as postcoordination options for PJ22 Psychological Maltreatment. For other Maltreatment categories in Chapter 23, any applicable Mental, Behavioural or Neurodevelopmental Disorders diagnosis should be assigned separately.

Additional dimensions of the Maltreatment as a cause of injury can also be specified via postcoordination. These include activity when injured (e.g., paid work, educational activity), place of occurrence (e.g., home, school, education area), the perpetrator-victim relationship (e.g., spouse or partner, parent, stranger), and the gender of the perpetrator. (See https://icd.who.int/browse11/l-m/en#.)

As an illustration, below is a fully postcoordinated example of a Chapter 23 Maltreatment code:

- PJ20 Physical Maltreatment
 - Associated with: NA02.3 Fracture of skull or facial bones
 - Activity when injured: XE9ME Unpaid cleaning, cooking or maintenance at own place of residence
 - Place of occurrence: XE266 Home
 - Perpetrator-victim relationship: XE454 Spouse or partner
 - Gender of perpetrator, male: XE5YG
 - Context of assault and maltreatment: XE0UM Altercation

Fully postcoordinated code: PJ20&XE9ME&XE266&XE454&XE5YG&XE0UM/NA02.3 (See discussion of postcoordination and coding in the chapter on Using the CDDR for ICD-11 Mental, Behavioural or Neurodevelopmental Disorders, p. 45.)

Relationship Problems and Maltreatment as Factors Influencing Health Status or Contact with Health Services

Categories for relationship problems and maltreatment from Chapter 24 Factors Influencing Health Status or Contact with Health Services are used when the purpose is to record one of three types of clinically significant relationship phenomena. These are: 1) to document a pattern of clinically significant relationship conflict with an intimate partner, parent, or other caregiver; 2) to document a history over the individual's lifetime of maltreatment independent of a specific injury or other harm, which may refer to ongoing maltreatment or to past episodes, such as a history of child abuse, that are relevant to the individual's health status or encounters with the health system; or 3) to document a possible episode of maltreatment that is currently under clinical investigation.

Available categories for intimate partner or caregiver-child relationship distress or conflict in Chapter 24 are:

• QE51.0 Relationship Distress with Spouse or Partner

Relationship Distress with Spouse or Partner is defined as substantial and sustained dissatisfaction with a spouse or intimate partner associated with significant disturbance in functioning. This diagnosis can be assigned to one or both parties in a dyad, depending on the context of the evaluation or treatment.

QE52.0 Caregiver-Child Relationship Problem
 Caregiver-Child Relationship Problem is defined as substantial and sustained
 dissatisfaction within a caregiver-child relationship, including a parental relationship,
 associated with significant disturbance in functioning. This diagnosis can be assigned
 to one or both parties in a dyad, depending on the context of the evaluation or
 treatment.

Available categories for history of Maltreatment in Chapter 24 are:

• QE51.1 History of Spouse or Partner Violence

These diagnoses can be used to indicate ongoing or past episodes of maltreatment by a spouse or partner when the focus of the evaluation is not related to a specific injury or death.

- QE51.10 History of Spouse or Partner Violence, Physical
- QE51.11 History of Spouse or Partner Violence, Psychological
- QE51.12 History of Spouse or Partner Violence, Sexual
- QE51.13 History of Spouse or Partner Violence, Neglect

If the history of maltreatment is not related to a spouse or partner relationship, categories from QE82 Personal History of Maltreatment should be used instead.

• QE82 Personal History of Maltreatment

These diagnoses can be used to indicate ongoing or past episodes of maltreatment by someone other than a spouse or partner (e.g., a parent, another relative, a stranger), when the focus of the evaluation is not related to a specific injury or death. If the history of maltreatment is related to a spouse or partner relationship, categories from QE51.1 History of Spouse or Partner Violence should be used instead.

- QE82.0 Personal History of Physical Abuse
- QE82.1 Personal History of Sexual Abuse
- QE82.2 Personal History of Psychological Abuse
- QE82.3 Personal History of Neglect
- QE82.Y Other Specified Personal History of Maltreatment
- QE82.Z Personal History of Maltreatment, Unspecified

The time in life (e.g., child under 5, adolescent, late geriatric) should be indicated using postcoordinated Extension Codes. (See discussion of Extension Codes in the chapter on Using the CDDR for ICD-11 Mental, Behavioural or Neurodevelopmental Disorders, p. 45. Available categories for Examination or Observation for Suspected Maltreatment in Chapter 24 are:

- QA04.5 Examination or Observation for Suspected Maltreatment
 - QA04.50 Examination or Observation for Suspected Physical Maltreatment
 - QA04.51 Examination or Observation for Suspected Sexual Maltreatment
 - QA04.52 Examination or Observation for Suspected Psychological Maltreatment
 - QA04.53 Examination or Observation for Suspected Neglect or Abandonment
 - QA04.5Y Other Specified Examination or Observation for Suspected Maltreatment QA04.5Z Examination or Observation for Suspected Maltreatment, Unspecified

If maltreatment is confirmed based on the examination or observation, the diagnosis should generally be changed to one of the Maltreatment categories in Chapter 24, if the evaluation is in relation to a specific injury, or otherwise to the applicable History or Spouse or Partner Violence or Personal History of Maltreatment category in Chapter 24.

In some circumstances, categories from Chapter 23 and Chapter 24 can be used together, for example when there is an established history of maltreatment and an injury resulting from that maltreatment is the focus of a current episode of care. However, Examination or Observation Codes in Chapter 24 would typically not be assigned together with Maltreatment categories from Chapter 23 explaining the cause of a specific injury.

As an illustration, below is a postcoordinated example of a Chapter 23 Maltreatment code:

- QE82.1 Personal History of Sexual Abuse
- Time in life: XT7Q Early adolescence

Postcoordinated code: QE82.1&XT7Q (See discussion of postcoordination in the chapter on Using the CDDR for ICD-11 Mental, Behavioural or Neurodevelopmental Disorders, p. 45.)

CDDR for Common Forms of Relationship Problems and Maltreatment

Because of their importance and prevalence, CDDR have been developed for two sets of phenomena:

- 1. Relationship distress and current or past maltreatment by spouse or partner; and
- 2. Problems in relationship between child and current or former caregiver and current or past child maltreatment

These are among the most clinically important and impactful forms of relationship problems and maltreatment. The CDDR for these two groupings should be applied as appropriate in the context of the ICD-11 coding options for relationship problems and maltreatment. For example, physical abuse by an intimate partner could be classified as PJ20 Physical Maltreatment from Chapter 23 or QE51.1 History of Spouse or Partner Violence from Chapter 24 depending on the purpose of the assessment and nature of the situation.

Relationship Distress and Current or Past Maltreatment by Spouse or Partner

This section provides CDDR for the following categories:

To document the cause of an injury being treated or the cause of death:

- PJ20 Physical Maltreatment, Spouse or Partner
- PJ21 Sexual Maltreatment, Spouse or Partner
- PJ22 Psychological Maltreatment, Spouse of Partner
- PF1B Assault by Neglect

To document a pattern of 1) clinically significant relationship conflict with a spouse or intimate partner; or 2) a history of intimate partner maltreatment, including ongoing or past episodes, as factors that are relevant to the individual's health status and encounters with health services rather than in relationship to a specific injury or death:

- QE51.0 Relationship Distress with Spouse or Partner
- QE51.1 History of Spouse or Partner Violence
 - QE51.10 History of Spouse or Partner Violence, Physical
 - QE51.12 History of Spouse or Partner Violence, Sexual
 - QE51.11 History of Spouse or Partner Violence, Psychological
 - QE51.13 History of Spouse or Partner Violence, Neglect

Relationship Distress with Spouse or Partner and different forms of intimate partner maltreatment can co-occur. As many of the categories in this section may be assigned together as necessary to describe the relevant clinical phenomena.

General Cultural Considerations for Relationship Distress and Maltreatment by Spouse or Partner

- Presentations of relationship distress vary depending on cultural constraints on their expression. In some cultures, women may be more attentive to relationship problems and therefore more likely report relationship distress.
- The prevalence of the different forms of spouse or partner maltreatment (e.g., physical, sexual, psychological) vary widely by country based on the social acceptance, detection, and consequences of abusive behaviours.

General Sex- and/or Gender-Related Features for Relationship Distress and Maltreatment by Spouse or Partner

- Although men and women are both affected by relationship distress, women's health may be more influenced by relationship distress whereas men's health may be more influenced by relationship status (i.e., being in an intimate partner relationship or not).
- Gender differences are country- and culture-specific. Overall, women are at much higher risk of victimization by maltreatment by their spouses or intimate partners.

QE51.0 Relationship Distress with Spouse or Partner

Essential (Required) Features:

- Substantial and sustained dissatisfaction with the intimate relationship (e.g., pervasive unhappiness with the relationship, significant thoughts of divorce/separation).
- The dissatisfaction is associated with disturbance in at least one major area of functioning such as:
 - Behaviour (e.g., persistent and intense conflicts, pervasive withdrawal or neglect, lack of positive behaviours).
 - Cognition (e.g., pervasive negative attributions of partner's intent).
 - Emotion (e.g., persistent and intense anger, sadness, or apathy).
 - Physical health (e.g., pain and other physical symptoms not fully explained by a medical condition).
 - Interpersonal interaction (e.g., social isolation, decreased involvement in social activities).
 - Major life role activities (e.g., work, school, caregiving).

Note: This category is assigned to the individual being evaluated. In situations in which a couple is being evaluated, it may be assigned to both parties if applicable.

Additional Clinical Features:

• Relationship distress with spouse or partner is associated with increased risk for various mental disorders (e.g., Depressive Disorders, Anxiety or Fear-Related Disorders, Disorders Due to Substance Use) and for the exacerbation of existing medical conditions.

Boundary with Normality (Threshold):

• Occasional relationship dissatisfaction and disagreements occur in most relationships. Relationship distress with a spouse or partner should only be assigned when relationship dissatisfaction or conflict is a pervasive pattern affecting the individual's functioning in at least one major area.

Boundaries with Other Disorders and Conditions (Differential Diagnosis):

• **Boundary with spouse or partner maltreatment (physical, psychological, sexual, or neglect):** Relationship Distress with Spouse or Partner is not considered a form of maltreatment. However, if all diagnostic requirements are met for both Relationship Distress with Spouse or Partner and a Maltreatment category, both may be assigned.

PJ20 Physical Maltreatment, Spouse or Partner or QE51.10 History of Spouse <u>or Partner Violence, Physical</u>

Essential (Required) Features:

- At least one non-accidental act of physical force (e.g., pushing or shoving, scratching, slapping, throwing something that could cause injury, punching, biting).
- The act causes (or exacerbates) at least one of the following:
 - Any physical injury.
 - Significant fear.
 - Reasonable potential for significant physical injury.
- The act was not for physical protection of self (e.g., to ward off partner's punches) or partner (e.g., prevent partner from attempting suicide).

Note: These categories are assigned to the victim, not the perpetrator. In cases of mutual violence in which the couple is being evaluated, they may be assigned to both parties if applicable.

If PJ20 Physical Maltreatment is diagnosed, the perpetrator should be specified as a spouse or partner using the Extension Code XE454 (PJ20&XE454). On the ICD-11 platform, the option to specify the Perpetrator-Victim Relationship appears in the Context of the Assault field.

Additional Clinical Features:

- Intimate partner physical abuse is, by definition, associated with an increased risk for physical injury and need for medical attention.
- Intimate partner physical abuse is associated with an increased risk for poor physical health and the development of a chronic disease.
- Intimate partner physical abuse is associated with higher rates of Depressive Disorders, Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder, and Disorders Due to Substance Use, as well as suicidality.
- A pattern of recurrent acts, or the intent to assert control or power, are not required features for assigning a diagnosis of intimate partner physical abuse. The diagnosis only

requires at least one act of violence that causes or exacerbates at least one negative impact.

• Most children (i.e., approximately 75%) living in households with clinically significant intimate partner physical abuse witness it. Exposure to parental or caregiver intimate partner violence places children at significantly greater risk for a range of mental disorders, negative affect/distress, and negative cognitions, as well as social and academic difficulties.

Boundary with Normality (Threshold):

• Acts of physical aggression (e.g., grabbing partner's arm) that do not cause injury or significant fear are relatively common in intimate relationships. In contrast, the acts of physical violence and associated impacts characteristic of intimate partner physical abuse are not part of healthy functioning relationships.

Course Features:

- Intimate partner physical abuse may lessen and remit over time. However, for many affected relationships, intimate partner physical abuse reoccurs and sometimes increases in frequency or severity.
- The risk for intimate partner physical abuse increases in the context of external stressors (e.g., job loss) or disability.

Developmental Presentations:

• In general, adolescents or young adults are at greater risk for being victims of intimate partner physical abuse because the rate of physically violent acts against intimate partners among perpetrators tends to decrease across the lifespan.

Boundaries with Other Disorders and Conditions (Differential Diagnosis):

• **Boundary with Relationship Distress with Spouse or Partner:** Intimate partner physical abuse may be but is not always associated with Relationship Distress with Spouse or Partner. If all diagnostic requirements are met for both Relationship Distress with Spouse or Partner and Maltreatment or History of Spouse or Partner Violence, both may be assigned.

<u>PJ21 Sexual Maltreatment, Spouse or Partner or QE51.12 History of Spouse or</u> <u>Partner Violence, Sexual</u>

Essential (Required) Features:

- At least one of the following acts:
 - The use of physical force to compel participation in a sex act against the partner's will or when the partner is incapable of consent (whether or not the act is completed).
 - The use of physical or psychological aggression to coerce the partner to participate in a sex act.
- The act is against the expressed wishes of the partner.

• The act causes significant distress to the partner.

Note: These categories are assigned to the victim, not the perpetrator.

If PJ21 Sexual Maltreatment is diagnosed, the perpetrator should be specified as a spouse or partner using the Extension Code XE454 (PJ21&XE454). On the ICD-11 platform, the option to specify the Perpetrator-Victim Relationship appears in the Context of the Assault field.

Additional Clinical Features:

- Intimate partner sexual abuse is associated with an increased risk for physical injury and need for medical attention.
- Intimate partner sexual abuse is associated with an increased risk for poor physical health and the development of a chronic disease.
- Intimate partner sexual abuse is associated with increased risk for various mental disorders (e.g., Depressive Disorders, Anxiety or Fear-Related Disorders, Disorders Due to Substance Use) as well as suicidality.

Boundary with Normality (Threshold):

• Sexual violation and coercion are not part of healthy functioning relationships.

Developmental Presentations:

• In general, adolescents or young adults are at greater risk for being victims of intimate partner sexual abuse because the rate of sexually abusive acts among perpetrators tends to decrease across the lifespan.

Boundaries with Other Disorders and Conditions (Differential Diagnosis):

• **Boundary with Relationship Distress with Spouse or Partner:** Intimate partner sexual abuse may be but is not always associated with Relationship Distress with Spouse or Partner. If all diagnostic requirements are met for both Relationship Distress with Spouse or Partner and Maltreatment or History of Spouse or Partner Violence, both may be assigned.

PJ22 Psychological Maltreatment, Spouse of Partner or QE51.11 History of Spouse or Partner Violence, Psychological

Essential (Required) Features:

- Verbal or symbolic acts with the potential to cause psychological harm to the victim, for example:
 - Berating, disparaging, degrading, humiliating the partner.
 - Interrogating the partner.
 - Restricting the partner's ability to come and go freely.
 - Obstructing the partner's access to assistance (e.g., police aid, legal help, protective resources, medical resources, mental health resources).
 - Threatening the partner.

- Harming, or threatening to harm, people/things that the partner cares about.
- Restricting the partner's access to or use of economic resources.
- Isolating the partner from family, friends, or social support resources.
- Stalking the partner.
- Trying to make people think that the partner is 'crazy', including for suggesting that they are a victim of psychological maltreatment.
- The acts cause (or exacerbate) at least one of the following:
 - Significant fear.
 - Significant psychological distress.
 - Somatic symptoms that interfere with normal functioning.
 - Significant self-imposed restrictions in engaging in one or more major life activities (e.g., work, education, religion, medical or mental services, contact with family members) to avoid recurrence of the acts.

Note: These categories are assigned to the victim, not the perpetrator.

If PJ22 Psychological Maltreatment is diagnosed, the perpetrator should be specified as a spouse or partner using the Extension Code XE454 (PJ22&XE454). On the ICD-11 platform, the option to specify the Perpetrator-Victim Relationship appears in the Context of the Assault field.

Additional Clinical Features:

- Intimate partner psychological abuse typically represents a pattern of behaviours. However, it may be diagnosed based on a single episode if it is sufficiently impactful (e.g., harming a pet to punish the partner).
- Intimate partner psychological abuse at a clinically significant level is associated with increased risk for seeking medical attention as well as an increased risk for poor health and the development of a chronic disease.
- Intimate partner psychological abuse is associated with higher rates of Depressive Disorders, Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder, and Disorders Due to Substance Use as well as suicidality.

Boundary with Normality (Threshold):

• Acts of psychological aggression (e.g., disparaging one's partner) that do not cause significant distress are relatively common in intimate relationships. In contrast, the verbal and symbolic act sand their associated impacts that constitute intimate partner psychological abuse are not characteristic of healthy functioning relationships.

Course Features:

- Intimate partner psychological abuse commonly emerges in adolescence and early adulthood but is prevalent across the lifespan.
- The risk for intimate partner psychological abuse increases in the context of external stressors (e.g., job loss).

Boundaries with Other Disorders and Conditions (Differential Diagnosis):

• **Boundary with Relationship Distress with Spouse or Partner:** Intimate partner psychological abuse may be but is not always associated with Relationship Distress with Spouse or Partner. If all diagnostic requirements are met for both Relationship Distress with Spouse or Partner and Maltreatment or History of Spouse or Partner Violence, both may be assigned.

<u>PF1B Assault by Neglect or OE51.13 History of Spouse or Partner Violence,</u> <u>Neglect</u>

Essential (Required) Features:

- At least one egregious act or omission by an adult's caregiver that deprives an intimate partner who is incapable of self-care of needed or adequate food, shelter, hygiene, or necessary services. Examples of self-care incapacity include physical, psychological, intellectual, and cultural (e.g., inability to manage activities of rudimentary daily living due to living in a foreign culture) limitations.
- The act or omission causes significant physical injury or other significant negative consequences to health (e.g., development of an illness directly linked to the neglect, malnutrition) or reasonable potential for significant injury or negative consequences to health.

Note: This category is assigned to the victim, not the perpetrator.

If PF1B Assault by Neglect is diagnosed, the perpetrator should be specified as a spouse or partner using the Extension Code XE454 (PF1B&XE454). On the ICD-11 platform, the option to specify the Perpetrator-Victim Relationship appears in the Context of the Assault field. Depending on the specific situation, PB5B Unintentional Neglect or PH7B Neglect with Undetermined Intent may be diagnosed rather than PF1B Assault by Neglect.

Additional Clinical Features:

• Neglect at a clinically significant level is associated with increased risk for various mental disorders (e.g., Depressive Disorders, Anxiety or Fear-Related Disorders, Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder), suicidality, and various medical conditions (e.g., bed sores, malnutrition).

Boundary with Normality (Threshold):

• Small lapses in caregiving to partners who are incapable of self-care are common and a diagnosis of History of Spouse or Partner Violence, Neglect should not be assigned on this basis. In contrast, egregious acts or omissions that cause significant physical injury or reasonable potential for such injury much less common and, if all diagnostic requirements are met, warrant the diagnosis.

Problems in Relationship between Child and Current or Former Caregiver and Current or Past Child Maltreatment

This section provides CDDR for the following categories:

To document the cause of an injury being treated or the cause of death:

- PJ20 Physical Maltreatment of a child
- PJ21 Sexual Maltreatment of a child
- PJ22 Psychological Maltreatment of a child
- PF1B Assault by Neglect

To document a pattern of 1) clinically significant relationship conflict in the relationship of a child with a current or former caregiver; or 2) a history of child maltreatment, including ongoing or past episodes, as factors that are relevant to the individual's health status and encounters with health services rather than in relationship to a specific injury or death:

- QE52.0 Caregiver-Child Relationship Problem
- QE82.0 Personal History of Physical Abuse as a child
- QE82.1 Personal History of Sexual Abuse as a child
- QE82.2 Personal History of Psychological Abuse as a child
- QE82.3 Personal History of Neglect as a child

Caregiver-Child Relationship Problems and different forms of child Maltreatment may cooccur. As many of the categories in this section may be assigned together as necessary to describe the relevant clinical phenomena.

QE52.0 Caregiver-Child Relationship Problem

Essential (Required) Features:

- Substantial and sustained dissatisfaction with the caregiver-child relationship (including adolescents) which may be manifested by:
 - A pervasive sense of unhappiness with the relationship.
 - For the child, repeated running away, persistent thoughts of running away or fantasies of having another caregiver.
 - For the caregiver, wishing the child were totally different or had not been born, or thoughts of relinquishing care of the child.
 - The child allying themselves strongly with one parent and rejecting a relationship with the other parent, without evidence of maltreatment by the rejected parent. This primarily occurs in the context of a high-conflict relationship between two parents, including separation or divorce.
- The dissatisfaction is associated with disturbance in at least one major area of functioning, such as the following. (*Note:* Behaviours associated with each area will vary according to the developmental stage of the child or adolescent as well as the cultural context):
 - Behaviour (e.g., persistent and intense conflicts, pervasive withdrawal or neglect; lack of positive behaviours; failure to socialize child through nonexistent or poorly enforced limits; poor monitoring of the child's activities; over-

involvement in child's activities; child concealment of activities; child's persistent rejection, denigration, and criticism of the caregiver).

- Cognition (e.g., pervasive negative attributions of caregiver or child intent).
- Emotion (e.g., persistent and intense anger, contempt, sadness, or apathy).
- Physical health (i.e., exacerbation of medical or psychological symptoms or significant interference with provision of medical or psychological care).
- Interpersonal interaction (e.g., social isolation, decreased involvement in social activities).
- Major life role activities (e.g., work, school, caregiving).

Note: This category should only be considered as applicable within a child or adolescent's primary caregiving relationships, which may include relationships with parents, grandparents, or other significant long-term caregivers. This category may be assigned to either the child or the caregiver, depending on who is being evaluated. In situations in which a caregiver-child dyad is being evaluated, substantial and sustained relationship dissatisfaction, if present, is commonly though not always, experienced by both parties. The diagnosis may be assigned to both parties if applicable.

Additional Clinical Features:

• Problems in caregiver-child relationships are associated with the development of Oppositional Defiant Disorder and Conduct-Dissocial Disorder.

Boundary with Normality (Threshold):

• Temporary fluctuations in parenting behaviours due to stress or illness are common. For example, a parent undergoing serious medical treatment may be unable to appropriately meet a child's needs temporarily. Similarly, more focused conflicts with caregivers are common among adolescents. Caregiver-Child Relationship Problem should only be assigned if the relationship distress is substantial, sustained, and impacts functioning.

Course Features:

• Caregiver-Child Relationship Problem has a variable course. In some cases, relationship distress has a chronic course and in other cases may show substantial improvement over time.

Developmental Presentations:

- Young children are more likely to present with attachment problems (insecure or disorganized patterns), difficulty separating from parents or caregivers, or physical complaints than psychological symptoms. Psychological symptoms are more likely among older children and adolescents.
- In infants or young children, distress may be exhibited by persistent withdrawal from the caregiver, freezing behaviours, or heightened reactivity around the caregiver. Significant impact may be evidenced by a lack of appropriate developmental progression or even a loss of skills in an infant or young child.
- For children or teens, distress may be exhibited by physical aggression, poor cooperation, or oppositional behaviour with the affected caregiver; or by refusal to interact with the affected caregiver.

• Older caregivers, such as grandparents, may be more vulnerable to problems in their relationships with high-energy children.

Sex- and/or Gender-Related Features:

• Although both the nature of the parental acts and their impact can vary by gender, boys and girls are equally likely to experience a Caregiver-Child Relationship Problem.

Boundaries with Other Disorders and Conditions (Differential Diagnosis):

- Boundary with Child Maltreatment (physical abuse, sexual abuse, psychological abuse, neglect): Caregiver-Child Relationship Problem includes parenting behaviours that are within the normal range given the socio-cultural context but nonetheless have a negative impact on the child. Some caregiving behaviours may be appropriate for many children, but not for the specific child. These caregiver behaviours do not meet the diagnostic requirements for any child Maltreatment category. In contrast, in child Psychological Maltreatment, one or more verbal or symbolic acts of parenting are clearly outside of cultural norms, and are, or have reasonable potential to be, harmful to the child. If diagnostic requirements for both Caregiver-Child Relationship Problems and a form of child Maltreatment are met, both may be assigned.
- **Boundary with Oppositional Defiant Disorder:** Oppositional Defiant Disorder is characterized by a pattern of markedly noncompliant, defiant, and disobedient disruptive behaviour that is not typical for individuals of comparable age and developmental level. Similar behaviours may be observed in the context of a Caregiver-Child Relationship Problem, but these are often confined to the specific caregiver-child relationship. In addition, in Caregiver-Child Relationship Problem there is often evidence that caregiver behaviours are not optimal for the child. However, if diagnostic requirements for both Caregiver-Child Relationship Problem and Oppositional Defiant Disorder are met, both may be assigned.
- Boundary with Reactive Attachment Disorder and Disinhibited Social Engagement Disorder: Reactive Attachment Disorder and Disinhibited Social Engagement Disorder are characterized by a history of grossly insufficient care associated with markedly abnormal attachment behaviours exhibited toward adult caregivers with onset prior to age 5. Similar abnormal attachment behaviours may be observed in Caregiver-Child Relationship Problem. However, if all diagnostic requirements for Reactive Attachment Disorder or Disinhibited Social Engagement Disorder are met, a diagnosis of Caregiver-Child Relationship Problem is typically not warranted.

PJ20 Physical Maltreatment of child or QE82.0 Personal History of Physical <u>Abuse as a child</u>

Essential (Required) Features:

- At least one non-accidental act of physical force (e.g., pushing or shoving, slapping, punching, throwing something that could cause injury) toward a child or adolescent.
- The act causes (or exacerbates) at least one of the following:
 - Any physical injury (e.g., bruises, cuts, sprains, broken bones, loss of consciousness, pain that lasts for several hours).
 - Significant fear.
 - Reasonable potential for significant physical injury.

• The act was not committed for physical self-protection (e.g., to ward off an adolescent's punches) or to protect the child or adolescent (e.g., to prevent a small child from running into a busy street or to prevent an adolescent from attempting suicide).

Note: These categories are assigned to the victim, not the perpetrator.

If PJ20 Physical Maltreatment is diagnosed, the Perpetrator-Victim Relationship (e.g., parent, other relative, stranger) should be specified using the Extension Codes provided on the ICD-11 platform in the Context of the Assault field. Similarly, if QE82.0 Personal History of Physical Abuse is diagnosed, the time of life for current or past episodes (e.g., child under 5, early adolescence) can be specified using the Extension Codes provided.

Additional Clinical Features:

- Physical abuse of a child or adolescent can occur as an isolated incident. However, it can also occur as a pattern of parental or caregiver behaviour. If identified in a child or adolescent, it is important to evaluate whether past injuries were due to child Physical Abuse.
- There are numerous injury types that when presented in a child are likely to have been caused by physical abuse. These include: classic metaphyseal lesion (bucket handle fracture of the long bone); femur metaphyseal and spiral fractures; humerus metaphyseal and spiral fractures; rib fractures; spinous process fracture; skull diastatic, across suture lines; subdural/epidural injury; patterned burns; patterned bruising; retinal haemorrhage (bilateral, multilayer). Many other injuries may also be caused by physical abuse of a child.
- Child physical abuse is associated with a variety of mental disorders, including Depressive Disorders, Adjustment Disorder, Anxiety and Fear-Related Disorders, Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder, Oppositional Defiant Disorder, Conduct-Dissocial Disorder, as well as attentional problems, academic problems, and suicidality.
- Among younger children, disturbances in attachment, difficulty separating from parents or caregivers, and vague physical complaints (stomach pain, headache) are more common results of physical abuse than psychological symptoms.

Boundary with Normality (Threshold):

• Physical discipline (e.g., spanking following perceived negative behaviours of the child) does not necessarily meet the diagnostic requirements for child physical abuse. Physical discipline is differentiated from child physical abuse by its impact. If physical discipline results in injury, has a reasonable potential for causing physical injury, or elicits significant fear, a diagnosis of child physical abuse may be warranted.

Developmental Presentations:

• For infants or young children, distress associated with physical abuse may be exhibited by persistent withdrawal from the caregiver, freezing behaviours, or heightened reactivity around the caregiver. The child may also exhibit an insecure or disorganized pattern of attachment. A significant impact of physical abuse may be evidenced by lack of appropriate developmental progression or even a loss of skills in infant or young child. Vague physical complaints (stomach pain, headache) are also common.

• Symptoms of mental disorders are more likely among older children and adolescents who experience physical abuse. Distress may also be manifested by physical aggression, poor cooperation, or oppositional behaviour towards the relevant caregiver; refusal to interact with that caregiver; by thoughts of running away or fantasies of having another caregiver; inhibition, withdrawal, or low self-esteem.

Sex- and/or Gender-Related Features:

• Although the impact of physical abuse can be different for boys and girls (e.g., externalizing vs. internalizing symptoms), boys and girls are equally likely to be victims.

PJ21 Sexual Maltreatment of child or QE82.1 Personal History of Sexual Abuse as child

Essential (Required) Features:

- At least one of the following acts involving an adult and a child:
 - Physical contact of a sexual nature between child and an adult. For example, vaginal or anal penetration (or attempted penetration), oral-genital or oral-anal contact, fondling (directly or through clothing).
 - Non-contact exploitation, involving an adult forcing, tricking, enticing, threatening, or pressuring a child to participate in acts for anyone's sexual gratification without direct physical contact between the child and the perpetrator. For example, exposing child's genitals, anus, or breasts; having child masturbate or watch masturbation; having child participate in sexual activity with a third person (including child prostitution); having child pose, undress or perform in a sexual fashion (including child pornography).

Note: These categories are assigned to the victim, not the perpetrator.

If PJ21 Sexual Maltreatment is diagnosed, the Perpetrator-Victim Relationship (e.g., parent, other relative, stranger) should be specified using the Extension Codes provided on the ICD-11 platform in the Context of the Assault field. Similarly, if QE82.1 Personal History of Sexual Abuse is diagnosed, the time of life for current or past episodes (e.g., child under 5, early adolescence) can be specified using the Extension Codes provided.

Additional Clinical Features:

- Child sexual abuse is associated with a variety of mental disorders, including Depressive Disorders, Adjustment Disorder, Anxiety and Fear-Related Disorders, Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder, Oppositional Defiant Disorder, Conduct-Dissocial Disorder, as well as attentional problems, academic problems, and suicidality.
- Sexual abuse that includes physical contact and penetration can result in genital or anal injuries, sexually transmitted diseases, and pregnancy.

Boundary with Normality (Threshold):

• Mutual sex play between age mates is not considered sexual abuse. Sexual activity between adolescent partners should not be diagnosed as child sexual abuse.

Developmental Presentations:

- Among younger children who experience sexual abuse, disturbances in attachment (insecure or disorganized patterns, difficulty separating from parents or caregivers, and vague physical complaints (stomach pain, headache) are more common than psychological symptoms.
- Among older children and adolescents, psychological symptoms and externalizing behaviours are more common reactions to sexual abuse.

Sex- and/or Gender-Related Features:

• Sexual abuse of girls is generally more common than sexual abuse of boys, although this varies by country and culture.

PJ22 Psychological Maltreatment of Child or QE82.2 Personal History of Psychological Abuse as child

Essential (Required) Features:

- Verbal or symbolic acts with the potential to cause psychological harm to a child or adolescent. Examples include:
 - Berating, disparaging, degrading, humiliating the child.
 - Threatening the child (e.g., indicating or implying future physical harm, abandonment, sexual assault).
 - Harming or abandoning—or threatening to harm or abandon—people or things that the child cares about, such as pets, property, loved ones (e.g., exposing a child to spouse or partner Maltreatment).
 - Confining the child (e.g., typing a child's arms or legs together; binding a child to a chair, bed, or other object; or confining a child to an small enclosed area such as a closet).
 - Scapegoating the child (i.e., blaming child for things for which they cannot possibly be responsible).
 - Coercing the child to inflict pain on themselves.
 - Disciplining the child excessively through physical or non-physical means (e.g., extremely high frequency or duration), without necessarily meeting diagnostic requirements for Physical Maltreatment.
- The acts cause (or exacerbate) at least one of the following:
 - Significant fear.
 - Significant psychological distress.
 - Somatic symptoms that interfere with normal functioning.
 - Significant avoidance or reluctance to engage in one or more major life activities (e.g., work, education, religion, medical or mental services, contact with family members) to avoid recurrence of the acts.

Note: These categories are assigned to the victim, not the perpetrator.

If PJ22 Psychological Maltreatment is diagnosed, the Perpetrator-Victim Relationship (e.g., parent, other relative, stranger) should be specified using the Extension Codes provided on the ICD-11 platform in the Context of the Assault field. Similarly, if QE82.2 Personal History of Psychological Abuse is diagnosed, the time of life for current or past episodes

(e.g., child under 5, early adolescence) can be specified using the Extension Codes provided.

Additional Clinical Features:

- Child psychological abuse typically represents a pattern of parental or caregiver behaviours. However, it may be diagnosed based on single episode if it is sufficiently impactful (e.g., harming a pet to punish the child).
- Child psychological abuse is associated with a variety of mental disorders, including Depressive Disorders, Adjustment Disorder, Anxiety and Fear-Related Disorders, Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder, Oppositional Defiant Disorder, Conduct-Dissocial Disorder, as well as attentional problems, academic problems, and suicidality.

Boundary with Normality (Threshold):

• Child psychological abuse is characterized by one or more verbal or symbolic acts, generally outside of the sociocultural norms for parenting, that are, or have reasonable potential to be, harmful to the child. In contrast, whereas normal discipline may be upsetting to children, unlike psychological maltreatment it does not cause psychological harm, have the potential to cause psychological harm, result in somatic symptoms, or interfere with functioning.

Developmental Presentations:

- For infants or young children, distress associated with psychological abuse may be exhibited by persistent withdrawal from the caregiver, freezing behaviours, or heightened reactivity around the caregiver. The child may also exhibit an insecure or disorganized pattern of attachment. A significant impact of psychological abuse may be evidenced by lack of appropriate developmental progression or even a loss of skills in infant or young child. Vague physical complaints (stomach pain, headache) are also common.
- Symptoms of mental disorders are more likely among older children and adolescents who experience psychological abuse. Distress may also be manifested by physical aggression, poor cooperation, or oppositional behaviour towards the relevant caregiver; refusal to interact with that caregiver; by thoughts of running away or fantasies of having another caregiver; inhibition, withdrawal, or low self-esteem.

Sex- and/or Gender-Related Features:

• Although the nature of parental acts (e.g., restriction vs. humiliation) and the impact of psychological abuse can vary by gender, boys and girls are equally likely to be victims.

Boundaries with Other Disorders and Conditions (Differential Diagnosis):

• **Boundary with Caregiver-Child Relationship Problem:** Psychological Maltreatment should be distinguished from Caregiver-Child Relationship Problem, which unlike Psychological Maltreatment is characterized by parenting behaviours that are within the normal range for the sociocultural context but still may have a negative impact on the child.

PF1B Assault by Neglect or QE82.3 Personal History of Neglect as a child

Essential (Required) Features:

- At least one confirmed or suspected egregious act or omission by a child or adolescent's caregiver that deprives the child of needed age-appropriate care (e.g., abandonment, lack of appropriate supervision; exposure to physical hazard; failure to provide necessary education, health care, nourishment, shelter, clothing).
- The act or omission causes or exacerbates at least one of the following impacts:
 - Significant physical injury or reasonable potential for significant injury.
 - Other significant negative consequences to health (e.g., development of an illness directly linked to the neglect, malnutrition) or reasonable potential for significant negative consequences to health.
 - Significant fear or psychological distress.
 - Reasonable potential for significant psychological harm (e.g., development of a mental disorder) or for significant disruption of the child's physical, psychological, cognitive, or social development).
 - Somatic symptoms that interfere with normal functioning.

Note: This category is assigned to the victim, not the perpetrator.

If PF1B Assault by Neglect is diagnosed, the Perpetrator-Victim Relationship (e.g., parent, other relative, stranger) should be specified using the Extension Codes provided on the ICD-11 platform in the Context of the Assault field. Perpetrator should be specified as a spouse or partner using the Extension Code XE454 (PF1B&XE454). Depending on the specific situation, PB5B Unintentional Neglect or PH7B Neglect with Undetermined Intent may be diagnosed rather than PF1B Assault by Neglect. If QE82.3 Personal History of Neglect is diagnosed, the time of life for current or past episodes (e.g., child under 5, early adolescence) can be specified using the Extension Codes provided.

Additional Clinical Features:

- Victims of child neglect can present with severe (chronically untreated) dental caries, ear infections, or other typical childhood illnesses.
- Child neglect is associated with a variety of mental disorders, including Depressive Disorders, Adjustment Disorder, Anxiety and Fear-Related Disorders, Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder, Oppositional Defiant Disorder, Conduct-Dissocial Disorder, attentional problems, academic problems, and suicidality.

Boundary with Normality (Threshold):

• Parents or other caregivers may provide less than optimal care for their children for brief periods due to caregiver illness or stress. However, normal caregiving requires that they make other arrangements if their own caregiving will be compromised for more than a brief period. If a child is in danger, or is suffering significant harm as a result of inadequate caregiving, the omissions in caregiving should be diagnosed as neglect.

Developmental Presentations:

• Children of any age can experience neglect. Neglected children may appear mature for

their age but may also exhibit stunted growth due to lack of adequate nutrition or other developmental deficits.

• Failure to meet developmental milestones can be a marker of neglect, as can attachment problems (insecure or disorganized patterns), difficulty separating from parents or caregivers, social skills deficits, behaviour problems, and scholastic problems.

Course Features:

• Although one incident is sufficient to meet the diagnostic requirements, incidents of child neglect often occur as part of a persistent pattern, which substantially increases the risk for mental disorders, medical conditions, and disrupted development.

Sex- and/or Gender-Related Features:

• Although its impact can vary by gender, boys and girls are equally likely to be victims of neglect.

Boundaries with Other Disorders and Conditions (Differential Diagnosis):

- **Boundary with Caregiver-Child Relationship Problem:** Neglect is characterized by egregious acts or omissions that result in (or have significant potential to result in) negative impacts. A diagnosis of Caregiver-Child Relationship Problem is generally more appropriate for children of caregivers who are emotionally neglectful (e.g., not engaging in positive interactions with the child), but have not committed egregious acts or omissions that deprive the child or adolescent of age-appropriate care.
- Boundary with Reactive Attachment Disorder and Disinhibited Social Engagement • Disorder: Both Reactive Attachment Disorder and Disinhibited Social Engagement Disorder are considered to result from a history of grossly insufficient care in early childhood, including persistent disregard for the child's basic emotional or physical needs. They can occur in the context of repeated changes of foster care or rearing in institutional settings that prevent the formation of stable selective attachments as well as in dyadic caregiver relationships. The insufficient care would meet the diagnostic requirements for neglect and possibly also for other forms of maltreatment. Both Reactive Attachment Disorder and Disinhibited Social Engagement Disorder are characterized by markedly abnormal attachment behaviours towards adult caregivers that are evident by the age of 5. In Reactive Attachment Disorder, there is a persistent and pervasive pattern of inhibited, emotionally withdrawn behaviour including minimal seeking of comfort when distressed and rare or minimal response to comfort when it is offered. In Disinhibited Social Engagement Disorder, there is a persistent and pervasive pattern of markedly abnormal social behaviours, in which the child displays reduced or absent reticence in approaching and interacting with unfamiliar adults. If the diagnostic requirements are met for Reactive Attachment Disorder or Disinhibited Social Engagement Disorder, that diagnosis should be assigned. An additional diagnosis of Assault by Neglect or Personal History of Neglect may be assigned if it is relevant to the particular clinical situation.

FACTORS INFLUENCING HEALTH STATUS OR CONTACT WITH HEALTH SERVICES PARTICULARLY RELEVANT TO MENTAL HEALTH SERVICES

This section includes a selection of categories from ICD-11 Chapter 24, Factors Influencing Health Status or Contact with Health Services that may be especially relevant to mental health professionals and mental health services but that do not represent mental disorders or a disease or disorder classified elsewhere in the ICD-11. This listing is not comprehensive. Other available Chapter 24 categories may be relevant; a complete listing can be found at https://icd.who.int/browse11/l-m/en#/. This listing is not intended to suggest that these are the only categories from Chapter 24 that should be used by mental health professionals.

One set of categories in Chapter 24 makes it possible to record the reason for a particular health service encounter other than a disease, a disorder, or specific symptom. For example, OE51.0 Relationship Distress with Spouse or partner is included in this chapter and is discussed in the section on Relationship Problems and Maltreament (p. 620). Other examples include QE62 Uncomplicated bereavement and QD3Z Concern about body appearance that does not meet the diagnostic requirements for Body Dysmorphic Disorder or another mental disorder. These categories can be used on their own without an accompanying disorder diagnosis to describe the reason for a health encounter. For example, a person with no mental disorder diagnosis might present with QD85 Burnout, a syndrome resulting from chronic workplace stress that has not been successfully managed but that is not considered a mental disorder. These categories can also be used in conjunction with a diagnosis from the Mental, Behavioural or Neurodevelopmental Disorders chapter to highlight an issue for other health professionals or for the health system. For example, for an individual diagnosed with 6A20.10 Schizophrenia, multiple episodes, currently symptomatic, QE70.0 Inadequate family support could also be coded if it is relevant for discharge planning. Chapter 24 also includes problems related to health behaviours that do not represent diagnosable mental disorders, such as QE10 Hazardous Alcohol Use or QE23 Problems with Inappropriate Diet or Eating Habits.

A second set of categories in Chapter 24 are those that document health services involving different types of counselling that may be provided to individuals living with a mental disorder but also to individuals with no diagnosis. Examples include QA15 Counselling related to sexuality and QA18 Family counselling. These can also be considered interventions or procedures, but they are included in Chapter 24 because they may represent reasons for a particular health encounter.

A third set of categories in Chapter 24 represent broader factors that influence the person's health status and care but are not mental disorders (e.g., QD71.0 Homelessness). Inclusion of this type of category in addition to the diagnosis of a mental disorder can provide important contextual information to improve the personalization of care. For example, QE04 Target of perceived adverse discrimination or persecution could be coded when the experience of racial discrimination is deemed a contributory factor to a Depressive Disorder. Many of these categories relate to recognized social determinants of mental health, that is, risk factors for the development, maintenance, or moderation of symptoms of mental disorders across the lifespan.

The categories in this list are ordered in a way that is intended to make the list useful to mental health professionals and does not correspond entirely to their ordering in the ICD-11

(see <u>https://icd.who.int/browse11/l-m/en#/</u>). Not all of these ICD-11 categories include brief descriptions or definitions; where they are provided they are included in this section.

REASONS FOR CONTACT WITH MENTAL HEALTH SERVICES:

Problems Associated with Relationships

QE51 Problem associated with interactions with spouse or partner (see section on Relationship Distress and Current or Past Maltreatment by Spouse or Partner, p. 627)

QE51.0 Relationship distress with spouse or partner (p. 628)

QE51.1 History of spouse or partner violence (p. 629)

QE52 Problem associated with interpersonal interactions in childhood (see section on Problems in Relationahip between Child and Current or Former Caregiver and Current or Past Child Matreatment, p. 634)

QE52.0 Caregiver-child relationship problem (p. 634)

QE52.1 Loss of love relationship in childhood

• Loss of an emotionally close relationship, such as of a parent, a sibling, a very special friend or a loved pet, by death or permanent departure or rejection.

QE50 Problem associated with interpersonal interactions

Note: Relationship distress with spouse or partner and Caregiver child relationship problem should be documented using the categories provided above.

- QE50.0 Problem associated with relationship with friend
- QE50.1 Relationships with teachers or classmates
- QE50.2 Problem associated with relationships with people at work
- QE50.3 Relationships with neighbours, tenant or landlord
- QE50.4 Relationship with parents, in-laws or other family members
- QE50.5 Discord with counsellors

QE50.6 Inadequate social skills

- QE5Y Other specified problems associated with relationships
- QE5Z Problems associated with relationships, unspecified

Problems Associated with Absence, Loss or Death of Others

QE60 Absence of family member

QE61 Disappearance or death of family member

QE61.0 Loss or death of child

QE61.Y Disappearance or death of other family member

QE62 Uncomplicated bereavement *Note:* Uncomplicated bereavement refers to grief reactions experienced following the disappearance or death of a loved one. In contrast, QE61 Disappearance or death of family member and its subcategories refer to the event itself.

QE6Y Other specified problems associated with absence, loss or death of others

QE6Z Problems associated with absence, loss or death of others, unspecified

Problems Related to Primary Support Group, Including Family Circumstances

| QE70 | Problems related to primary support group, including family circumstances |
|------|--|
| | QE70.0 Inadequate family support |
| | QE70.1 Disruption of family by separation or divorce |
| | QE70.2 Dependent relative needing care at home |
| | QE70.Z Problems related to primary support group, including family circumstance, unspecified |

Problems Associated with Upbringing

QE90 Inadequate parental supervision or control

• Lack of parental knowledge of what the child is doing or where the child is; poor control; lack of concern, understanding or comprehension or lack of attempted intervention when the child is in risky situations.

QE91 Parental overprotection

QE92 Altered pattern of family relationships in childhood

• Departure of a family member or arrival of a new person into a family resulting in adverse change in child's relationships. May include new relationship or marriage by a parent, death or illness of a parent, illness or birth of a sibling.

QE93 Removal from home in childhood

QE94 Institutional upbringing

• Group foster care in which parenting responsibilities are largely taken over by some form of institution (such as residential nursery, orphanage, or children's home), or therapeutic care over a prolonged period in which the child is in a hospital, convalescent home or the like, without at least one parent living with the child.

QE95 Inappropriate parental pressure or other abnormal qualities of upbringing

• Parents forcing the child to be different from the local norm, either sex-inappropriate (e.g., dressing a boy in girl's clothes), age-inappropriate (e.g., forcing a child to take on responsibilities above her or his own age) or otherwise inappropriate (e.g., pressing the child to engage in unwanted or too difficult activities).

QE96 Events resulting in loss of self-esteem in childhood

• Events resulting in a negative self-reappraisal by the child such as failure in tasks with high personal investment; disclosure or discovery of a shameful or stigmatizing personal or family event; or other humiliating experiences.

QE9Y Other specified problems associated with upbringing

QE9Z Problems associated with upbringing, unspecified

Problems Associated with Harmful or Traumatic Events

- QE80 Victim of crime or terrorism
- QE81 Exposure to disaster, war or other hostilities
- **QE82 Personal history of maltreatment** (see section on Relationship Problem and Maltreatment, p. 625)
- QE83 Personal frightening experience in childhood
- **QE84** Acute Stress Reaction (see section on Disorders Specifically Associated with Stress, p. 346)
- Acute stress reaction refers to the development of transient emotional, somatic, cognitive, or behavioural symptoms as a result of exposure to an event or situation (either short- or long-lasting) of an extremely threatening or horrific nature (e.g., natural or human-made disasters, combat, serious accidents, sexual violence, assault). Symptoms may include autonomic signs of anxiety (e.g., tachycardia, sweating, flushing), being in a daze, confusion, sadness, anxiety, anger, despair, overactivity, inactivity, social withdrawal, or stupor. The response to the stressor is considered to be normal given the severity of the stressor, and usually begins to subside within a few days after the event or following removal from the threatening situation.

QE9Y Other specified problems associated with harmful or traumatic events

QE9Z Problems associated with harmful or traumatic events, unspecified

Problems Associated with Social or Cultural Environment

QE00 Acculturation difficulty

• Problems resulting from the inability to adjust to a different culture or environment.

QE02 Social role conflict

QE03 Social exclusion or rejection

• Exclusion and rejection on the basis of personal characteristics such as physical appearance, sexual orientation, gender identity and expression, illness or behaviour.

QE04 Target of perceived adverse discrimination or persecution

• Persecution or discrimination, perceived as reality by an individual or real, on the basis of membership in some group (such as defined by skin colour, religion, ethnic origin, sexual orientation, gender identity and expression, etc.) rather than personal characteristics.

QE0Y Other specified problems associated with social or cultural environment

QE0Z Problems associated with social or cultural environment, unspecified

Problems Associated with Employment or Unemployment

- QD80 Problem associated with unemployment
- QD81 Problem associated with change of job
- QD82 Problem associated with threat of job loss
- QD83 Problem with employment conditions

QD83.0 Problem associated with uncongenial work

QD83.1 Problem associated with stressful work schedule

QD83.Y Other specified problem with employment conditions

QD84 Occupational exposure to risk-factors

QD85 Burnout

• Burnout is a syndrome conceptualized as resulting from chronic workplace stress that has not been successfully managed. It is characterised by three dimensions: 1) feelings of energy depletion or exhaustion; 2) increased mental distance from one's job, or feelings of negativism or cynicism related to one's job; and 3) a sense of ineffectiveness and lack of accomplishment. Burn-out refers specifically to phenomena in the occupational context and should not be applied to describe experiences in other areas of life.

QD8Y Other specified problems associated with employment or unemployment

QD8Z Problems associated with employment or unemployment, unspecified

Problems Associated with Education

- QD90 Problem associated with illiteracy or low-level literacy
- QD91 Problem associated with education unavailable or unattainable
- QD92 Problem with educational progress
- QD9Y Other specified problems associated with education
- QD9Z Problems associated with education, unspecified

Other Reasons for Contact with Mental Health Services

- QE01 Stress, not elsewhere classified
- QA1A Discussion of issues surrounding impending death
- QA1B Concern about or fear of medical treatment
- QA1C Person with feared complaint in whom no diagnosis is made
- QD3Z Concern about body appearance, unspecified
- **QE50.7 Personality difficulty** (see section on Personality Disorders and Related Traits, p. 508)
- Personality difficulty refers to pronounced personality characteristics that may affect treatment or health services but do not rise to the level of severity to merit a diagnosis of Personality Disorder. Personality difficulty is characterised by long-standing difficulties (e.g., at least 2 years), in the individual's way of experiencing and thinking about the self, others and the world. In contrast to Personality Disorder, these difficulties are manifested in cognitive and emotional experience and expression only intermittently (e.g., during times of stress) or at low intensity. The difficulties are associated with some problems in functioning but these are insufficiently severe to cause notable disruption in social, occupational, and interpersonal relationships and may be limited to specific relationships or situations.

QC30 Malingering

• Malingering is the feigning, intentional production or significant exaggeration of physical or psychological symptoms, or intentional misattribution of genuine symptoms to an unrelated event or series of events when this is specifically motivated by external incentives or rewards such as escaping duty or work; mitigating punishment; obtaining medications or drugs; or receiving unmerited recompense such as disability compensation or personal injury damages award

Problems Associated with Health Behaviours

<u>Hazardous substance use</u> (see section on Disorders Due to Substance Use, p. 466)

QE10 Hazardous alcohol use

• A pattern of alcohol use that appreciably increases the risk of harmful physical or mental health consequences to the user or to others to an extent that warrants attention and advice from health professionals. The increased risk may be from the frequency of alcohol use, from the amount used on a given occasion, or from risky behaviours associated with alcohol use or the context of use, or from a combination of these. The risk may be related to short-term effects of alcohol or to longer-term cumulative effects on physical or mental health or functioning. Hazardous alcohol use has not yet reached the level of having caused harm to physical or mental health of the user or others around the user. The pattern of alcohol use often persists in spite of awareness of increased risk of harm to the user or to others.

QE11 Hazardous drug use

• A pattern of use of psychoactive substance(s) other than nicotine or alcohol that appreciably increases the risk of harmful physical or mental health consequences to the user or to others to an extent that warrants attention and advice from health professionals. The increased risk may be from the frequency of substance use, from the amount used on a given occasion, from risky behaviours associated with substance use or the context of use, from a harmful route of administration, or from a combination of these. The risk may be related to short-term effects of the substance or to longer-term cumulative effects on physical or mental health or functioning. Hazardous drug use has not yet reached the level of having caused harm to physical or mental health of the user or others around the user. The pattern of drug use often persists in spite of awareness of increased risk of harm to the user or to others.

Specify substance(s), if known:

QE11.0 Hazardous use of opioids

- QE11.1 Hazardous use of cannabis
- QE11.2 Hazardous use of sedatives, hypnotics or anxiolytics
- QE11.3 Hazardous use of cocaine
- QE11.4 Hazardous use of stimulants including amphetamines or methamphetamine
- QE11.5 Hazardous use of caffeine
- QE11.6 Hazardous use of MDMA or related drugs
- QE11.7 Hazardous use of dissociative drugs including ketamine or PCP
- QE11.8 Hazardous use of other specified psychoactive substances

QE11.9 Hazardous use of unknown or unspecified psychoactive substances

QE11.Y Other specified hazardous drug use

QE11.Z Hazardous drug use, unspecified

QE12 Hazardous nicotine use

• A pattern of nicotine use that appreciably increases the risk of harmful physical or mental health consequences to the user or to others to an extent that warrants attention and advice from health professionals. Most often nicotine is consumed in the form of tobacco, but there are also other forms of nicotine delivery (e.g., nicotine vapour). Hazardous nicotine use has not yet reached the level of having caused harm to physical or mental health of the user or others around the user. The pattern of nicotine use often persists in spite of awareness of increased risk of harm to the user or to others. This category is not intended to include the use of nicotine replacement therapies under medical supervision when these are used as part of attempts to stop or reduce smoking.

QE1Y Other specified hazardous substance use

Hazardous gambling or gaming

(see section on Disorders Due to Addictive Behaviours, p. 475)

QE21 Hazardous gambling or betting (see section on Disorders Due to Addictive Behaviours, p. 475)

• Hazardous gambling or betting refers to a pattern of gambling or betting that appreciably increases the risk of harmful physical or mental health consequences to the individual or to others around this individual. The increased risk may be from the frequency of gambling or betting, from the amount of time spent on these activities or the context of gambling or betting, from the neglect of other activities and priorities, from risky behaviours associated with gambling or betting or its context, from the adverse consequences of gambling or betting, or from the combination of these. The pattern of gambling or betting often persists in spite of awareness of increased risk of harm to the individual or to others.

QE22 Hazardous gaming (see section on Disorders Due to Addictive Behavours, p. 476)

• Hazardous gaming refers to a pattern of gaming, either online or offline that appreciably increases the risk of harmful physical or mental health consequences to the individual or to others around this individual. The increased risk may be from the frequency of gaming, from the amount of time spent on these activities, from the neglect of other activities and priorities, from risky behaviours associated with gaming or its context, from the adverse consequences of gaming, or from the combination of these. The pattern of gaming often persists in spite of awareness of increased risk of harm to the individual or to others.

Other problems associated with health behaviours

- QE20 Lack of physical exercise
- QE23 Problems with inappropriate diet or eating habits
- QE24 Problems with hygiene behaviours

- QE25 Problems with oral health behaviours
- QE26 Problem with sun exposure behaviour
- QE27 Problem with behaviours related to psychological health or wellbeing
- QE28 Problem with health literacy
- **QE2Y** Problems with other specified health-related behaviours
- QE2Z Problem with health-related behaviours, unspecified

MENTAL HEALTH SERVICES NOT EXCLUSIVELY DIRECTED TOWARDS MENTAL DISORDERS:

Contact with Health Services for Counselling

- QA10 Contact with health services for dietary counselling or surveillance
- QA11 Contact with health services for alcohol use counselling or surveillance
- QA12 Contact with health services for drug use counselling or surveillance
- QA13 Contact with health services for tobacco use counselling

QA14 Contact with health services for human immunodeficiency virus counselling

- Human immunodeficiency virus counselling can be defined as accessible HIV counselling services that meet the needs of clients and providers in an equitable and acceptable manner, within the resources available and in line with national guidelines. Counselling should increase knowledge of HIV prevention and help the client to focus on solutions to risk reduction.
- QA15 Counselling related to sexuality
 - QA15.0 Counselling related to sexual attitudes
 - QA15.1 Counselling related to sexual behaviour and orientation or sexual relationships of the person
 - QA15.2 Counselling related to sexual behaviour and orientation or sexual relationships of the person of third party
 - QA15.3 Counselling related to combined sexual attitudes, sexual behaviour and sexual relationships
 - QA15.Y Other specified counselling related to sexuality

QA15.Z Counselling related to sexuality, unspecified

QA16 Individual psychological or behavioural counselling

- QA17 Marital or couples counselling
- QA18 Family counselling
- QA19 Group counselling
- QA1Y Contact with health services for other specified counselling
- QA1Z Contact with health services for unspecified counselling

Contact with Health Services for Reasons Associated with Reproduction Note: See <u>https://icd.who.int/browse11/l-m/en#/</u> for a detailed listing of categories in this section)

- QA20 Contact with health services for concerns about pregnancy
- QA21 Contact with health services for contraceptive management
- QA30 Contact with health services for medically assisted reproduction

OTHER FACTORS INFLUENCING HEALTH STATUS:

Problems Associated with Social Insurance or Welfare

QE30 Insufficient social insurance support

QE30.0 Insufficient social insurance support, aged

- QE30.1 Insufficient social insurance support, disability
- QE30.2 Insufficient social insurance support, unemployment

QE30.4 Insufficient social insurance support, family support

- QE31 Insufficient social welfare support
 - QE31.0 Insufficient social welfare support, child protection
 - QE31.1 Insufficient social welfare support, protection against domestic violence
 - QE31.2 Insufficient social welfare support, protection against homelessness
 - QE31.3 Insufficient social welfare support, post prison services
- QE3Y Other specified problems associated with social insurance or welfare
- QE3Z Problems associated with social insurance or welfare, unspecified

Problems Associated with the Justice System

- QE40 Problem associated with conviction in civil or criminal proceedings without imprisonment
- QE41 Problem associated with imprisonment and other incarceration
- QE42 Problem associated with release from prison
- QE4Y Other specified problems associated with the justice system
- QE4Z Problems associated with the justice system, unspecified

Problems Associated with Finances

- **QD50** Poverty
- **QD51** Low income
- QD5Y Other specified problems associated with finances

QD5Z Problems associated with finances, unspecified

Problems Associated with Inadequate Drinking Water or Nutrition

- QD60 Problems associated with inadequate drinking-water
- **QD61** Inadequate food
- QD6Z Problems associated with drinking water or nutrition, unspecified

Problems Associated with the Environment

- QD70 Problems associated with the natural environment or human-made changes to the environment
 - QD70.0 Problems associated with exposure to noise
 - **QD70.1** Problems associated with exposure to air pollution
 - QD70.2 Problems associated with exposure to water pollution
 - QD70.3 Problems associated with exposure to soil pollution
 - **QD70.4** Problems associated with exposure to exposure to radiation

QD70.5 Problems associated with exposure to exposure to tobacco smoke

- QD70.6 Problems associated with inadequate access to electricity
- **QD70.Z** Problems associated with the natural environment or human-made changes to the environment, unspecified
- QD71 Problems associated with housing
 - **QD71.0** Homelessness
 - **QD71.1 Inadequate housing**
 - QD71.2 Problems related to living in a residential institution

QD71.Z Problems associated with housing, unspecified

- **QD7Y** Other specified problems associated with the environment
- QD7Z Problems associated with the environment, unspecified

CROSSWALK FROM ICD-11 MBND TO ICD-10 FOR CLINICIAN USE

This table provides a crosswalk or mapping specifically designed for use by clinicians from categories in the ICD-11 Mental, Behavioural or Neurodevelopmental Disorders chapter to the nearest equivalent ICD-10 category. This will be useful, for example, in settings where there has been a shift to use of the ICD-11 for clinical purposes, but where data or health reporting systems are still in transition and require the use of ICD-10 codes.

Use of this table assumes that the clinician has already made their diagnosis according to the ICD-11 CDDR. This table is not valid for mapping categories from ICD-10 Mental and Behavioural Disorders to the ICD-11 because it does not reflect the full content of ICD-10 Mental and Behavioural Disorders.

This crosswalk is not intended for use in health statistics or in the coding of medical records because, in a substantial number of instances, selecting among multiple possible ICD-10 categories depends on clinical information that will not be available in those contexts. Additional information to assist clinicians in making these distinctions are provided in the 'Notes' column on the right.

In the table that follows, the ICD-11 categories are listed in the left column in the order in which they appear in the classification. The closest available ICD-10 category to represent that ICD-11 disorder (i.e., the preferred code) is provided as the first entry in the middle column. Many of these are 4-digit ICD-10 codes (e.g., F80.1), but in other instances a 3-digit code (e.g., F20) or a 5-digit code (e.g., F10.24) best captures the ICD-11 category. Where ICD-10 5-digit codes appear, these are taken from the Clinical Descriptions and Diagnostic Guidelines for ICD-10 Mental and Behavioural Disorders, which in some cases include more detailed coding options than the statistical version of ICD-10.

Data systems and/or reporting requirements in some health systems and countries may require that 4digit ICD-10 codes be used if they are available, so that a 3-digit code is not accepted if a 4-digit subcategory exists. Similarly, many data systems do not accept 5-digit ICD-10 codes, allowing a maximum of 4 digits. In situations in which the nearest equivalent ICD-10 category is not a 4-digit code, a 4-digit coding option is also provided.

Additional coding or reporting requirements vary widely across settings and countries. The mappings provided here may therefore require adjustment based on the requirements of the specific clinical setting. This crosswalk is not intended to contravene any guidance that may be provided by the relevant health system or government.

In a couple of specific instances (e.g., ICD-11 Body Dysmorphic Disorder), coding information provided in the *Clinical Descriptions and Diagnostic Guidelines for ICD-10 Mental and Behavioural Disorders* is not consistent with current evidence. The mappings provided in the table are consistent with the ICD-11 conceptualizations in these cases, with such deviations described in the 'Notes' column.

| ICD-11 | ICD-10 | Notes |
|---|--|-------|
| NEURODEVELOPMENTAL DISORDERS | | |
| 6A00 Disorders of intellectual development | | |
| 6A00.0 Disorder of intellectual development, mild | F70 Mild mental retardation | |
| | 4-digit code: F70.9 Mild mental retardation without mention of impairment of behaviour | |

| 6A00.1 Disorder of intellectual | F71 Moderate mental retardation | |
|---|--|--|
| development, moderate | 4 digit and F71 0 Moderate montal | |
| | 4-digit code: F71.9 Moderate mental retardation without mention of | |
| | impairment of behaviour | |
| 6A00.2 Disorder of intellectual development, severe | F72 Severe mental retardation | |
| development, severe | 4-digit code: F72.9 Severe mental | |
| | retardation without mention of impairment of behaviour | |
| 6A00.3 Disorder of intellectual | F73 Profound mental retardation | |
| development, profound | 4-digit code: F73.9 Profound mental | |
| | retardation without mention of | |
| | impairment of behaviour | |
| 6A00.4 Disorder of intellectual development, provisional | F78 Other mental retardation | |
| | 4-digit code: F78.9 Other mental | |
| | retardation without mention of | |
| | impairment of behaviour | |
| 6A00.Z Disorders of intellectual development, unspecified | F79 Unspecified mental retardation | |
| | 4-digit code: F79.9 Unspecified mental | |
| | retardation without mention of | |
| 6A01 Developmental speech or language | impairment of behaviour F80 Specific developmental disorders of | |
| disorders | speech and language | |
| 6A01.0 Developmental speech | F80.0 Specific speech articulation disorder | |
| sound disorder 6A01.1 Developmental speech | F98.5 Stuttering [stammering] | Select appropriate category based on |
| fluency disorder | | clinical presentation. There is no |
| | AND/OR: | diagnostic distinction in the ICD-11 between the forms of speech dysfluency |
| | F98.6 Cluttering | described in the ICD-10 as stuttering and cluttering. |
| 6A01.2 Developmental language disorder | See below. | For clinical purposes, the type of language impairment (i.e., receptive, expressive, other) should be specified. If no information is available about the type of language impairment, F80.9 Developmental disorder of speech |
| 6A01.20 Developmental | F80.1 Expressive language disorder | and language, unspecified can be used, |
| language disorder with impairment of receptive and | And F80.2 Receptive language disorder | |
| expressive language 6A01.21 Developmental | F80.1 Expressive language disorder | |
| language disorder with impairment of mainly expressive language | 1 oort Expressive language disorder | |
| 6A01.22 Developmental | F80.8 Other developmental disorders of | |
| language disorder with impairment of mainly pragmatic language | speech and language | |
| | | 1 |
| 6A01.23 Developmental | F80.8 Other developmental disorders of | |
| 6A01.23 Developmental language disorder, with other specified language impairment | F80.8 Other developmental disorders of speech and language | |
| language disorder, with other specified language impairment | speech and language | |
| language disorder, with other specified language impairment 6A01.Y Other specified developmental speech or language | | |
| language disorder, with other specified language impairment 6A01.Y Other specified developmental speech or language disorders | speech and language F80.8 Other developmental disorders of speech and language | |
| language disorder, with other specified language impairment 6A01.Y Other specified developmental speech or language disorders 6A01.Z Developmental speech or | speech and language F80.8 Other developmental disorders of | |
| language disorder, with other specified language impairment 6A01.Y Other specified developmental speech or language disorders | speech and language F80.8 Other developmental disorders of speech and language F80.9 Developmental disorder of speech | Use F84.1 if unclear that onset was prior to the age of 3 (keeping in mind that |

| | F84.1 Atypical autism OR: | F84.5 if no general impairment in intellectual functioning or functional language. |
|---|--|--|
| 6A02.0 Autism spectrum disorder without disorder of intellectual development and with mild or no | F84.5 Asperger syndrome F84.5 Asperger syndrome | |
| impairment of functional language 6A02.1 Autism spectrum disorder with disorder of intellectual development and with mild or no impairment of functional language | F84.0 Childhood autism OR: | Use F84.1 if unclear that onset was prior to the age of 3 (keeping in mind that people may come to clinical attention much later). |
| 6A02.2 Autism spectrum disorder without disorder of intellectual development and with impaired functional language | F84.1 Atypical autism F84.0 Childhood autism OR: F84.1 Atypical autism | Use F84.1 if unclear that onset was prior to the age of 3 (keeping in mind that people may come to clinical attention much later). |
| 6A02.3 Autism spectrum disorder with disorder of intellectual development and with impaired functional language | F84.0 Childhood autism OR: F84.1 Atypical autism | Use F84.1 if unclear that onset was prior to the age of 3 (keeping in mind that people may come to clinical attention much later). |
| 6A02.5 Autism spectrum disorder with disorder of intellectual development and with absence of functional language | F84.0 Childhood autism OR: F84.1 Atypical autism | Use F84.1 if unclear that onset was prior to the age of 3 (keeping in mind that people may come to clinical attention much later). |
| 6A02.Y Other specified autism spectrum disorder | F84.0 Childhood autism OR: F84.1 Atypical autism OR: | Use F84.1 if unclear that onset was prior to the age of 3 (keeping in mind that people may come to clinical attention much later). Regardless of onset, use F84.5 if no general impairment in intellectual functioning or functional language. |
| 6A02.Z Autism spectrum disorder, unspecified | F84.5 Asperger syndrome F84.9 Pervasive developmental disorder, unspecified | |
| 6A03 Developmental learning disorder | F81 Specific developmental disorders of scholastic skills | |
| 6A03.0 Developmental learning disorder with impairment in reading | F81.0 Specific reading disorder | |
| 6A03.1 Developmental learning disorder with impairment in written expression | F81.1 Specific spelling disorder AND/OR: F81.8 Other developmental disorders of scholastic skills | ICD-11 6A03.1 also includes expressive writing impairment. If the impairment is in an area other than spelling, then F81.8 Other developmental disorders of scholastic skills may be used instead. Both ICD-10 diagnoses may be assigned if appropriate. |
| 6A03.2 Developmental learning disorder with impairment in mathematics | F81.2 Specific disorder of arithmetical skills | |
| 6A03.3 Developmental learning disorder with other specified impairment of learning | F81.8 Other developmental disorders of scholastic skills | |
| 6A03.Z Developmental learning disorder, unspecified | F81.9 Developmental disorder of scholastic skills, unspecified | |
| 6A04 Developmental motor coordination disorder | F82 Specific developmental disorder or motor function | 11 E09.9 : f 1 |
| 6A05 Attention deficit hyperactivity disorder | F90 Hyperkinetic disorders OR: | Use F98.8 if no hyperactive-impulsive symptoms. |

| | EQ9.9 Other aposition haber is used and | |
|--|--|---------------------------------------|
| | F98.8 Other specified behavioural and emotional disorders with onset usually | |
| | occurring in childhood and adolescence | |
| 6A05.0 Attention deficit | F90 Hyperkinetic disorders | Use F98.8 if no hyperactive-impulsive |
| hyperactivity disorder, | 1 50 Hyperkinetic disorders | symptoms. |
| predominantly inattentive | OR: | symptoms. |
| presentation | OR. | |
| presentation | F98.8 Other specified behavioural and | |
| | emotional disorders with onset usually | |
| | occurring in childhood and adolescence | |
| 6A05.1 Attention deficit | F90.8 Other hyperkinetic disorder | |
| hyperactivity disorder, | 1 90.0 Other Hyperkinetie disorder | |
| predominantly hyperactive- | | |
| impulsive presentation | | |
| 6A05.2 Attention deficit | F90.0 Hyperkinetic disorder with | |
| hyperactivity disorder, combined | disturbance of activity and attention | |
| presentation | disturbance of activity and attention | |
| 6A05.Y Attention deficit | F90.8 Other hyperkinetic disorders | Use F98.8 if no hyperactive-impulsive |
| | r 90.8 Other hyperkinetic disorders | |
| hyperactivity disorder, other | OB | symptoms. |
| specified presentation | OR: | |
| | FOR 8 Other specified behaviours1 and | |
| | F98.8 Other specified behavioural and emotional disorders with onset usually | |
| | | |
| | occurring in childhood and adolescence | |
| 6A05.Z Attention deficit | F98.9 Unspecified behavioural and | |
| hyperactivity disorder, presentation | emotional disorders with onset usually | |
| unspecified | occurring in childhood and adolescence | |
| 6A06 Stereotyped movement disorder | F98.4 Stereotyped movement disorders | |
| 6A06.0 Stereotyped movement | F98.4 Stereotyped movement disorders | |
| disorder without self-injury | 700 / 7 | |
| 6A06.1 Stereotyped movement | F98.4 Stereotyped movement disorders | |
| disorder with self-injury | | |
| 6A06.Z Stereotyped movement | F98.4 Stereotyped movement disorders | |
| disorder, unspecified | | |
| 8A05.0 Primary tics or tic disorders | F95 Tic disorders | |
| 8A05.00 Tourette syndrome | F95.2 Combined vocal and multiple | |
| | motor tic disorder [de la Tourette] | |
| 8A05.01 Chronic motor tic disorder | F95.1 Chronic motor or vocal tic disorder | |
| 8A05.02 Chronic phonic tic disorder | F95.1 Chronic motor or vocal tic disorder | |
| 8A05.0Y Other specified primary | F95.8 Other tic disorders | |
| tics or tic disorders | | |
| 8A05.0Z Primary tics or tic | F95.9 Tic disorder, unspecified | |
| disorders, unspecified | | |
| 6A0Y Other specified | F88 Other disorders of psychological | |
| neurodevelopmental disorders | development | |
| - | | |
| | No 4-digit code available | |
| 6A0Z Neurodevelopmental disorders, | F89 Unspecified disorder of | |
| unspecified | psychological development | |
| • | | |
| | No 4-digit code available | |
| SCHIZOPHRENIA OR OTHER | | |
| PRIMARY PSYCHOTIC | | |
| DISORDERS | | |
| 6A20 Schizophrenia | F20 Schizophrenia | |
| * | * | |
| | | 1 |
| | 4-digit code: F20.9 Schizophrenia, | |
| | unspecified | |
| 6A20.0 Schizophrenia, first episode | unspecified | |
| 6A20.0 Schizophrenia, first episode (Including all subcategories 6A20.00 | | |
| (Including all subcategories 6A20.00 | unspecified F20 Schizophrenia | |
| (Including all subcategories 6A20.00 - 6A20.0Z) | unspecified F20 Schizophrenia 4-digit code: F20.8 Other schizophrenia | |
| (Including all subcategories 6A20.00 - 6A20.0Z) 6A20.1 Schizophrenia, multiple | unspecified F20 Schizophrenia | |
| (Including all subcategories 6A20.00 - 6A20.0Z) 6A20.1 Schizophrenia, multiple episodes | unspecified F20 Schizophrenia 4-digit code: F20.8 Other schizophrenia F20 Schizophrenia | |
| (Including all subcategories 6A20.00 - 6A20.0Z) 6A20.1 Schizophrenia, multiple | unspecified F20 Schizophrenia 4-digit code: F20.8 Other schizophrenia | |

| (Including all subcategories 6A20.20 | | |
|---|--|---|
| - 6A20.2Z) 6A20.Y Other specified episode of | 4-digit code: F20.8 Other schizophrenia F20 Schizophrenia | |
| schizophrenia | rzo semzophrema | |
| bonnzopinienia | 4-digit code: F20.8 Other schizophrenia | |
| 6A20.Z Schizophrenia, episode | F20 Schizophrenia | |
| unspecified | 4 disit as day E20.8 Other schisserhausis | |
| 6A21 Schizoaffective disorder | 4-digit code: F20.8 Other schizophrenia F25 Schizoaffective disorders | |
| on 21 Semzouricenve disorder | | |
| | 4-digit code: F25.9 Schizoaffective | |
| | disorder, unspecified | |
| 6A21.0 Schizoaffective disorder, | F25 Schizoaffective disorders | |
| first episode (Including all subcategories 6A21.00 – 6A21.0Z) | 4-digit code: F25.8 Other schizoaffective disorders | |
| 6A21.1 Schizoaffective disorder, | F25 Schizoaffective disorders | |
| multiple episodes | | |
| (Including all subcategories 6A21.10 - 6A21.1Z) | 4-digit code: F25.8 Other schizoaffective disorders | |
| 6A21.2 Schizoaffective disorder, | F25 Schizoaffective disorders | |
| continuous (Including all subactogories 6A 21 20 | A digit and as E25.9 Other 1's ff i | |
| (Including all subcategories 6A21.20 – 6A21.2Z) | 4-digit code: F25.8 Other schizoaffective disorders | |
| 6A21.Y Other specified schizoaffective disorder | F25 Schizoaffective disorders | |
| | 4-digit code: F25.8 Other schizoaffective disorders | |
| 6A21.Z Schizoaffective disorder, | F25 Schizoaffective disorders | |
| unspecified | | |
| | 4-digit code: F25.8 Other schizoaffective disorders | |
| 6A22 Schizotypal disorder | F21 Schizotypal disorder | |
| or <u></u> Source, par account | | |
| | No 4-digit code available | |
| 6A23 Acute and transient psychotic | F23.0 Acute polymorphic psychotic disorder without symptoms of | |
| disorder | schizophrenia | |
| 6A23.0 Acute and transient | F23.0 Acute polymorphic psychotic | |
| psychotic disorder, first episode | disorder without symptoms of | |
| (Including all subcategories 6A23.00 | schizophrenia | |
| - 6A23.0Z) 6A23.1 Acute and transient | F23.0 Acute polymorphic psychotic | |
| psychotic disorder, multiple episodes | disorder without symptoms of | |
| (Including all subcategories 6A23.10 | schizophrenia | |
| -6A23.1Z) | | |
| 6A23.Y Other specified acute and transient psychotic disorder | F23.0 Acute polymorphic psychotic disorder without symptoms of schizophrenia | |
| 6A23.Z Acute and transient | F23.0 Acute polymorphic psychotic | |
| psychotic disorder, unspecified | disorder without symptoms of | |
| | schizophrenia | |
| 6A24 Delusional disorder | F22.0 Delusional disorder | |
| 6A24.0 Delusional disorder, currently symptomatic | F22.0 Delusional disorder | |
| 6A24.1 Delusional disorder, in | F22.0 Delusional disorder | |
| partial remission | | |
| 6A24.2 Delusional disorder, in full | F22.0 Delusional disorder | |
| remission | E22.0 Delugion -1 discustor | |
| 6A24.Z Delusional disorder, unspecified | F22.0 Delusional disorder | |
| 6A2Y Other specified primary psychotic disorders | F28 Other nonorganic psychotic disorders | |
| | No 4-digit code available | |
| L | 1.0 i aigit coac available | 1 |

| 6A2Z Schizophrenia or other primary | F29 Unspecified nonorganic psychosis | |
|--|--|--|
| psychotic disorders, unspecified | No 4-digit code available | |
| CATATONIA | | |
| 6A40 Catatonia associated with another mental disorder | F20.2 Catatonic schizophrenia OR: F99 Mental Disorder, not otherwise | F20.2 should only be used when the associated mental disorder is Schizophrenia. |
| | specified | |
| 6A41 Catatonia induced by substances or medications | F19.8 Other mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances | |
| 6A4Z Catatonia, unspecified | F99 Mental Disorder, not otherwise specified | |
| MOOD DISORDERS | | |
| BIPOLAR OR RELATED DISORDERS | | |
| 6A60 Bipolar type I disorder | F31 Bipolar affective disorder 4-digit code: F31.9 Bipolar affective | |
| | disorder, unspecified | |
| 6A60.0 Bipolar type I disorder, current episode manic, without psychotic symptoms | F31.1 Bipolar affective disorder, current episode manic without psychotic symptoms | |
| 6A60.1 Bipolar type I disorder, current episode manic, with psychotic symptoms | F31.2 Bipolar affective disorder, current episode manic with psychotic symptoms | |
| 6A60.2 Bipolar type I disorder, current episode hypomanic | F31.0 Bipolar affective disorder, current episode hypomanic | |
| 6A60.3 Bipolar type I disorder, current episode depressive, mild | F31.3 Bipolar affective disorder, current episode mild or moderate depression | |
| 6A60.4 Bipolar type I disorder, current episode depressive, moderate without psychotic symptoms | F31.3 Bipolar affective disorder, current episode mild or moderate depression | |
| 6A60.5 Bipolar type I disorder, current episode depressive, moderate with psychotic symptoms | F31.5 Bipolar affective disorder, current episode severe depression with psychotic symptoms | In the ICD-10, the presence of psychotic symptoms in the context of a depressive episode means that the episode is automatically rated as severe. |
| 6A60.6 Bipolar type I disorder, current episode depressive, severe without psychotic symptoms | F31.4 Bipolar affective disorder, current episode severe depression without psychotic symptoms | |
| 6A60.7 Bipolar type I disorder, current episode depressive, severe with psychotic symptoms | F31.5 Bipolar affective disorder, current episode severe depression with psychotic symptoms | |
| 6A60.8 Bipolar type I disorder, current episode depressive, unspecified severity | F31.9 Bipolar affective disorder, unspecified | |
| 6A60.9 Bipolar type I disorder, current episode mixed, without psychotic symptoms | F31.6 Bipolar affective disorder, current episode mixed | |
| 6A60.A Bipolar type I disorder, current episode mixed, with psychotic symptoms | F31.6 Bipolar affective disorder, current episode mixed | |
| 6A60.B Bipolar type I disorder, currently in partial remission, most recent episode manic or hypomanic | F31.8 Other bipolar affective disorders | |
| 6A60.C Bipolar type I disorder, currently in partial remission, most recent episode depressive | F31.8 Other bipolar affective disorders | |
| 6A60.D Bipolar type I disorder, currently in partial remission, most recent episode mixed | F31.8 Other bipolar affective disorders | |
| 6A60.E Bipolar type I disorder, currently in partial remission, most recent episode unspecified | F31.8 Other bipolar affective disorders | |

| | | 1 |
|--|--|--|
| 6A60.F Bipolar type I disorder, | F31.7 Bipolar affective disorder, | |
| currently in full remission | currently in remission | |
| 6A60.Y Other specified bipolar type | F31.8 Other bipolar affective disorders | |
| I disorder | E21 0 D' 1 (C (1 1 1 | |
| 6A60.Z Bipolar type I disorder, | F31.9 Bipolar affective disorder, | |
| unspecified | unspecified | |
| 6A61 Bipolar type II disorder | F31 Bipolar affective disorder | |
| 6A61.0 Bipolar type II disorder, | F31.0 Bipolar affective disorder, current | |
| current episode hypomanic | episode hypomanic | |
| 6A61.1 Bipolar type II disorder, | F31.3 Bipolar affective disorder, current | |
| current episode depressive, mild | episode mild or moderate depression | |
| 6A61.2 Bipolar type II disorder, | F31.3 Bipolar affective disorder, current | |
| current episode depressive, moderate | episode mild or moderate depression | |
| without psychotic symptoms | E215 D' 1 (C 4' 1' 1 4 | |
| 6A61.3 Bipolar type II disorder, | F31.5 Bipolar affective disorder, current | In the ICD-10, the presence of psychotic |
| current episode depressive, moderate | episode severe depression with psychotic | symptoms in the context of a depressive |
| with psychotic symptoms | symptoms | episode means that the episode is |
| | $E_{21,4,D}$, 1, 0, $(1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1$ | automatically rated as severe. |
| 6A61.4 Bipolar type II disorder, | F31.4 Bipolar affective disorder, current | |
| current episode depressive, severe | episode severe depression without | |
| without psychotic symptoms | psychotic symptoms F31.5 Bipolar affective disorder, current | |
| 6A61.5 Bipolar type II disorder, | | |
| current episode depressive, severe | episode severe depression with psychotic | |
| with psychotic symptoms | symptoms E21.0 Director offective disorder | |
| 6A61.6 Bipolar type II disorder, | F31.9 Bipolar affective disorder, | |
| current episode depressive, | unspecified | |
| unspecified severity | E21.8 Other him along for sting discustors | |
| 6A61.7 Bipolar type II disorder, | F31.8 Other bipolar affective disorders | |
| currently in partial remission, most | | |
| recent episode hypomanic | E21.9 Othership along for sting discustors | |
| 6A61.8 Bipolar type II disorder, | F31.8 Other bipolar affective disorders | |
| currently in partial remission, most | | |
| recent episode depressive | E21.9 Othership along for sting discustors | |
| 6A61.9 Bipolar type II disorder, | F31.8 Other bipolar affective disorders | |
| currently in partial remission, most | | |
| recent episode unspecified 6A61.A Bipolar type II disorder, | F31.7 Bipolar affective disorder, | |
| currently in full remission | currently in remission | |
| 6A61.Y Other specified bipolar type | F31.8 Other bipolar affective disorders | |
| II disorder | r 51.8 Other bipolar affective disorders | |
| 6A61.Z Bipolar type II disorder, | F31.9 Bipolar affective disorder, | |
| | unspecified | |
| unspecified | 1 | |
| 6A62 Cyclothymic disorder | F34.0 Cyclothymia | |
| 6A6Y Other specified bipolar or related | F31.8 Other bipolar affective disorders | |
| disorders 6A6Z Bipolar or related disorders, | F31.9 Bipolar affective disorder, | |
| | unspecified | |
| unspecified DEPRESSIVE DISORDERS | | |
| | E22 Depressive erizede | |
| 6A70 Single episode depressive disorder | F32 Depressive episode | |
| | 4 digit and a F22 0 Damagging ania-1- | |
| | 4-digit code: F32.9 Depressive episode, unspecified | |
| 6470 0 Single enigede demossion | | |
| 6A70.0 Single episode depressive disorder, mild | F32.0 Mild depressive episode | |
| 6A70.1 Single episode depressive | | 1 |
| disorder, moderate, without | F32.1 Moderate depressive episode | |
| psychotic symptoms | | |
| 6A70.2 Single episode depressive | F32.3 Severe depressive episode with | In the ICD-10, the presence of psychotic |
| disorder, moderate, with psychotic | psychotic symptoms | symptoms in the context of a depressive |
| symptoms | psycholic symptoms | episode means that the episode is |
| Symptoms | | automatically rated as severe. |
| 6A70.3 Single episode depressive | F32.2 Severe depressive episode without | |
| disorder, severe, without psychotic | psychotic symptoms | |
| symptoms | psycholic symptoms | |
| Sjinptonio | 1 | |

| 6A70.4 Single episode depressive | F32.3 Severe depressive episode with | |
|---|---|--|
| disorder, severe, with psychotic | psychotic symptoms | |
| symptoms | | |
| 6A70.5 Single episode depressive | F32.9 Depressive episode, unspecified | |
| disorder, unspecified severity | | |
| 6A70.6 Single episode depressive | F32.8 Other depressive episodes | |
| disorder, currently in partial | 1 1 | |
| remission | | |
| 6A70.7 Single episode depressive | No diagnosis | In the ICD-10, remission can only apply |
| disorder, currently in full remission | Ū. | to Recurrent Depressive Disorder. |
| • | | • |
| | | If an ICD-10 code must be provided, the |
| | | most appropriate option would be F32.9 |
| | | Depressive episode, unspecified. |
| 6A70.Y Other specified single | F32.8 Other depressive episodes | |
| episode depressive disorder | | |
| 6A70.Z Single episode depressive | F32.9 Depressive episode, unspecified | |
| disorder, unspecified | | |
| 6A71 Recurrent depressive disorder | F33.0 Recurrent depressive disorder | |
| | | |
| | OR: | |
| | | |
| | F33.9 Recurrent depressive disorder, | |
| | unspecified | |
| 6A71.0 Recurrent depressive | F33.0 Recurrent depressive disorder, | |
| disorder, current episode mild | current episode mild | |
| 6A71.1 Recurrent depressive | F33.1 Recurrent depressive disorder, | |
| disorder, current episode moderate, | current episode moderate | |
| without psychotic symptoms | | |
| 6A71.2 Recurrent depressive | F33.3 Recurrent depressive disorder, | In the ICD-10, the presence of psychotic |
| disorder, current episode moderate, | current episode severe with psychotic | symptoms in the context of a depressive |
| with psychotic symptoms | symptoms | episode means that the episode is |
| (1712) | | automatically rated as severe. |
| 6A71.3 Recurrent depressive | F33.2 Recurrent depressive disorder, | |
| disorder, current episode severe, | current episode severe without psychotic | |
| without psychotic symptoms | symptoms | |
| 6A71.4 Recurrent depressive | F33.3 Recurrent depressive disorder, | |
| disorder, current episode severe, | current episode severe with psychotic | |
| with psychotic symptoms 6A71.5 Recurrent depressive | symptoms | |
| | F33.9 Recurrent depressive disorder, | |
| disorder, current episode, | unspecified | |
| unspecified severity 6A71.6 Recurrent depressive | F33.8 Other recurrent depressive | |
| | disorders | |
| disorder, currently in partial remission | | |
| 6A71.7 Recurrent depressive | F33.4 Recurrent depressive disorder, | |
| disorder, currently in full remission | currently in remission | |
| 6A71.Y Other specified recurrent | F33.8 Other recurrent depressive | |
| depressive disorder | disorders | |
| 6A71.Z Recurrent depressive | F33.9 Recurrent depressive disorder, | |
| disorder, unspecified | unspecified | |
| 6A72 Dysthymic disorder | F34.1 Dysthymia | |
| 6A73 Mixed depressive and anxiety | F41.2 Mixed anxiety and depressive | 1 |
| disorder | disorder | |
| 6A7Y Other specified depressive | F38.8 Other specified mood [affective] | |
| disorders | disorder | |
| 6A7Z Depressive disorders, unspecified | | |
| | | |
| | F39 Unspecified mood [affective] disorder | |
| | F39 Unspecified mood [affective] | |
| | F39 Unspecified mood [affective] disorder | |
| | F39 Unspecified mood [affective] | |
| ANXIETY OR FEAR-RELATED DISORDERS | F39 Unspecified mood [affective] disorder | |
| ANXIETY OR FEAR-RELATED DISORDERS | F39 Unspecified mood [affective] disorder No 4-digit code available | |
| ANXIETY OR FEAR-RELATED DISORDERS 6B00 Generalized anxiety disorder | F39 Unspecified mood [affective] disorder No 4-digit code available F41.1 Generalized anxiety disorder | |
| ANXIETY OR FEAR-RELATED DISORDERS | F39 Unspecified mood [affective] disorder No 4-digit code available | |

| 6B03 Specific phobia | F40.2 Specific (isolated) phobias | Use F93.1 if individual is less than 18 |
|--|--|--|
| | OR: | years of age. |
| | F93.1 Phobic anxiety disorder of childhood | |
| 6B04 Social anxiety disorder | F40.1 Social phobias | Use F93.2 if individual is less than 6 years of age. |
| | OR: | , |
| | F93.2 Social anxiety disorder of childhood | |
| 6B05 Separation anxiety disorder | F41.8 Other specified anxiety disorders OR: | Use F93.0 if individual is less than 6 years of age. |
| | F93.0 Separation anxiety disorder of | |
| 6B06 Selective mutism | childhood F94.0 Elective mutism | |
| 6B0Y Other specified anxiety or fear- | F40.8 Other phobic anxiety disorders | Use 40.8 if there is a specific external |
| related disorders | OR: | stimulus or situation that triggers the anxiety symptoms; otherwise use 41.8. |
| | F41.8 Other specified anxiety disorders | |
| 6B0Z Anxiety or fear-related disorders, unspecified | F40.9 Phobic anxiety disorder, unspecified | Use 40.9 if there is a specific external stimulus or situation that triggers the |
| | OR: | anxiety symptoms; otherwise use 41.9. |
| | F41.9 Anxiety disorder, unspecified | |
| OBSESSIVE-COMPULSIVE OR RELATED DISORDERS | | |
| 6B20 Obsessive-compulsive disorder | F42 Obsessive-compulsive disorder | |
| | 4-digit code: F42.9 Obsessive- compulsive disorder, unspecified | |
| 6B20.0 Obsessive-compulsive disorder with fair to good insight | F42 Obsessive-compulsive disorder | |
| | 4-digit code: F42.9 Obsessive- compulsive disorder, unspecified | |
| 6B20.1 Obsessive-compulsive | F42 Obsessive-compulsive disorder | |
| disorder with poor to absent insight | | |
| | 4-digit code: F42.9 Obsessive- compulsive disorder, unspecified | |
| 6B20.Z Obsessive-compulsive | F42.9 Obsessive-compulsive disorder, | |
| disorder, unspecified 6B21 Body dysmorphic disorder | unspecified F42.8 Other obsessive-compulsive disorders | Mapping to F45.2 Hypochondriacal disorder is inconsistent with the ICD-11 conceptualization of Body Dysmorphic Disorder. |
| 6B21.0 Body dysmorphic disorder with fair to good insight | F42.8 Other obsessive-compulsive disorders | |
| 6B21.1 Body dysmorphic disorder with poor to absent insight | F42.8 Other obsessive-compulsive disorders | Mapping to F22.8 Other persistent delusional disorders is inconsistent with the ICD-11 conceptualization of Body Dysmorphic Disorder. |
| 6B21.Z Body dysmorphic disorder, unspecified | F42.8 Other obsessive-compulsive disorders | |
| 6B22 Olfactory reference disorder | F42.8 Other obsessive-compulsive | |
| 6B22.0 Olfactory reference disorder | disorders F42.8 Other obsessive-compulsive | |
| with fair to good insight 6B22.1 Olfactory reference disorder | disorders F42.8 Other obsessive-compulsive | |
| with poor to absent insight | disorders | |

| 6B22.Z Olfactory reference disorder, | F42.8 Other obsessive-compulsive | |
|---|---|--|
| unspecified | disorders | |
| 6B23 Hypochondriasis | F45.2 Hypochondriacal disorder | |
| 6B23.0 Hypochondriasis with fair to | F45.2 Hypochondriacal disorder | |
| good insight | | |
| 6B23.1 Hypochondriasis with poor to absent insight | F45.2 Hypochondriacal disorder | |
| 6B23.Z Hypochondriasis, unspecified | F45.2 Hypochondriacal disorder | |
| 6B24 Hoarding disorder | F42.8 Other obsessive-compulsive disorders | |
| 6B24.0 Hoarding disorder with fair | F42.8 Other obsessive-compulsive | |
| to good insight | disorders | |
| 6B24.1 Hoarding disorder with poor to absent insight | F42.8 Other obsessive-compulsive disorders | |
| 6B24.Z Hoarding disorder, | F42.8 Other obsessive-compulsive | |
| unspecified | disorders | |
| 6B25 Body-focused repetitive behaviour disorders | F63.8 Other habit and impulse disorders | |
| 6B25.0 Trichotillomania | F63.3 Trichotillomania | |
| 6B25.1 Excoriation disorder | F63.8 Other habit and impulse disorders | |
| 6B25.Y Other specified body- focused repetitive behaviour disorders | F63.8 Other habit and impulse disorders | |
| 6B25.Z Body-focused repetitive | F63.9 Habit and impulse disorder, | |
| behaviour disorders, unspecified | unspecified | |
| 6B2Y Other specified obsessive- compulsive or related disorders | F42.8 Other obsessive-compulsive disorders | |
| 6B2Z Obsessive-compulsive or related | F42.9 Obsessive-compulsive disorder, | |
| disorders, unspecified | unspecified | |
| DISORDERS SPECIFICALLY ASSOCIATED WITH STRESS | | |
| 6B40 Post-traumatic stress disorder | F43.1 Post-traumatic stress disorder | |
| 6B40 Post-traumatic stress disorder | F43.1 Post-traumatic stress disorder | |
| disorder | 143.1 Fost-traumatic stress disorder | |
| | AND: | |
| | F62.0 Enduring personality change after catastrophic experience | |
| 6B42 Prolonged grief disorder | F43.8 Other reactions to severe stress | Mapping to F43.2 Adjustment disorder is inconsistent with ICD-11 conceptualization of Prolonged Grief Disorder. |
| 6B43 Adjustment disorder | F43.2 Adjustment disorders | |
| 6B44 Reactive attachment disorder | F94.1 Reactive attachment disorder of childhood | |
| 6B45 Disinhibited social engagement disorder | F94.2 Disinhibited attachment disorder of childhood | |
| 6B4Y Other specified disorders specifically associated with stress | F43.8 Other reactions to severe stress | |
| 6B4Z Disorders specifically associated | F43.9 Reaction to severe stress, | |
| with stress, unspecified | unspecified | |
| DISSOCIATIVE DISORDERS | | |
| 6B60 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder | F44.9 Dissociative [conversion] disorder, unspecified | |
| 6B60.0 Dissociative neurological | F44.6 Dissociative anaesthesia and | |
| symptom disorder, with visual disturbance | sensory loss | |
| 6B60.1 Dissociative neurological | F44.6 Dissociative anaesthesia and | |
| symptom disorder, with auditory disturbance | sensory loss | |

| 6B00.2 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with other sensory loss F44.6 Dissociative anesthesia and sensory loss 6B00.3 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with other sensory loss F44.5 Dissociative convolutions 6B00.4 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with paresix or weakness F44.5 Dissociative metor disorders 6B00.5 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with paresix or weakness F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders 6B00.6 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with paresix or weakness F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders 6B00.7 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with paresix or weakness F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders 6B00.5 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with maxi disturbance F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders 6B00.5 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with maxi disturbance F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders 6B00.5 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with movement disturbance F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders 6B00.5 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with chara F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders 6B00.62 Dissociative F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders 6B00.70 Dissociative metor disorders F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders 6B00.80 Dissociative metor disorders F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders 6B00.81 Dissociative metor disorders F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders 6B00.82 Dissociative metorolisorders F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders< | | | - |
|---|-------------------------------------|---------------------------------------|----------|
| dizziness F44.6 Dissociative anaesthesia and sensory loss 6B60.4 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with one- cplicptic sizures F44.5 Dissociative convulsions 6B60.4 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with speech disturbance F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders 6B60.5 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with speech disturbance F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders 6B60.5 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with parties or weakness F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders 6B60.5 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with parties or weakness F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders 6B60.5 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with movement disturbance F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders 0B60.8 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with movement disturbance F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders 0B60.8 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with reveal F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders 0B60.8 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with reveal F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders 0B60.6 Structure F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders 0B60.6 Structure F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders 0B60.6 Structure F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders 0B60.7 Dissociative F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders 0B60.8 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with other reamological symptom disor | 6B60.2 Dissociative neurological | F44.6 Dissociative anaesthesia and | |
| 6R60.3 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with other sensory disturbance F44.5 Dissociative convulsions 6R60.4 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with processor F44.5 Dissociative motor disorders 6R60.5 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with processor F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders 6R60.6 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with processor F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders 6R60.6 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with processor F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders 6R60.8 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with gasi disturbance F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders 6R60.8 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with gasi disturbance F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders 6R60.8 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with movement disturbance F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders 6R60.8 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with choren F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders 6R60.8 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with facial spasm F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders 6R60.8 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with facial spasm F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders 6R60.8 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with dystonia F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders 6R60.87 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with dystonia F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders 6R60.87 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with dystonia F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders 6R | | sensory loss | |
| symptom disorder, with other sensory disknetwaves GP604 DF)ssociative neurological symptom disorder, with paresis GP604 DF)ssociative neurological symptom disorder, with speech disturbance GP604 DF)ssociative neurological symptom disorder, with speech disturbance GP604 DF)ssociative neurological symptom disorder, with gare GP604 DF)ssociative neurological symptom disorder, with movement disturbance GP604 DF)ssociative neurological symptom disorder, with movement disturbance GP604 DF)ssociative GP604 DF)ssociative motolisorders with movement disturbance GP604 DF)ssociative neurological symptom disorder, with movement disturbance GP604 DF)ssociative neurological symptom disorder, with remore neurological symptom disorder, with remore GP604 DF)ssociative neurological symptom disorder, with disturbance GP604 DF)ssociative neurological symptom disorder, with factural spasm GP604 DF)ssociative f44.4 Dissociative motor disorders neurological symptom disorder, with factural spasm GP604 DF)ssociative f44.4 Dissociative motor disorders f44.4 Dissociative motor disorders f44 | | | |
| sensory disturbance F44.5 Dissociative convulsions 6R60.4 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with paresis or verkness F44.5 Dissociative motor disorders 6R60.6 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with paresis or verkness F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders 6R60.6 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with gat F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders 6R60.6 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with gat F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders 6R60.6 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with worement distarbance F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders 6R60.8 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with neverent distarbance F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders 6R60.8 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with chrons F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders 6R60.8 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with mycolonus F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders 6R60.8 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with dystonia F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders 6R60.8 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with dystonia F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders 6R60.8 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with dystonia F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders 6R60.8 Dissociative motor disorders F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders 6R60.8 Dissociative motor disorders F44.4 Dissociative motor | | F44.6 Dissociative anaesthesia and | |
| GB00 4 Dissociative neurological sympton disorder, with non- epilepti seizures F44.5 Dissociative motor disorders GB00 5 Dissociative neurological sympton disorder, with paresis or weakness F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders GB00 7 Dissociative neurological sympton disorder, with paresis or weakness F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders GB00 7 Dissociative neurological sympton disorder, with gait disturbance F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders GB00 8 Dissociative neurological sympton disorder, with movement disturbance F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders GB00 8 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with chorea F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders GB00 8 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with revolutions F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders GB00 8 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with facial spasm F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders GB00 8 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with facial spasm F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders GB00 8 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with facial spasm F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders GB00 8 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with facial spasm F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders GB00 8 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with facial spasm F44 | symptom disorder, with other | sensory loss | |
| sympton disorder, with non- F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders sympton disorder, with speech F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders ofB60 6 Dissociative neurological F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders sympton disorder, with paresis or F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders orealized F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders sympton disorder, with neurological F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders sympton disorder, with novement F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders disturbance F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders ofB60.8 Dissociative F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders neurological symptom disorder, F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders neurological symptom disorder, F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders ofB60.8 Dissociative F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders neurological symptom disorder, F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders with movelonus F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders ofB60.8 Dissociative F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders neurological symptom disorder, F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders with dystonia F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders ofB60.8 Dissociative F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders neurological symptom disorder, F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders neurological symptom disorder, F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders | sensory disturbance | | |
| symptom disorder, with non- epileptic sciences F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders Symptom disorder, with speech disturbance F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders Symptom disorder, with parcis or weakness F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders Symptom disorder, with parcis Symptom disorder, with novement disturbance F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders Symptom disorder, with novement disturbance F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders Symptom disorder, with novement disturbance F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders Symptom disorder, with novement disturbance F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders Symptom disorder, with novement disturbance F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders Symptom disorder, with novement disturbance F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders Seconder Stative Seconder Seconder Stative Seconder Se | 6B60.4 Dissociative neurological | F44.5 Dissociative convulsions | |
| epileptic scizures F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders ofBe0.5 Dissociative neurological F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders symptom disorder, with paresis or F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders ofBe0.7 Dissociative neurological F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders symptom disorder, with gait F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders ofBe0.7 Dissociative neurological F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders symptom disorder, with norement f44.4 Dissociative motor disorders ofBe0.8 Dissociative F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders neurological symptom disorder, with norement f44.4 Dissociative motor disorders neurological symptom disorder, with noreclastive F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders neurological symptom disorder, with remor F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders neurological symptom disorder, with fuence F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders neurological symptom disorder, with facial spasm F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders neurological symptom disorder, with facial spasm F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders neurological symptom disorder, with facial spasm F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders neurological symptom disorder, with facial spasm F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders neur | | | |
| 6B60.5 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with speech disturbance F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders 6B60.6 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with paresis or weakness F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders 6B60.7 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with particle F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders 6B60.8 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with novement disturbance F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders 6B60.8 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with chorea F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders 6B60.8 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with mycoloms F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders 6B60.8 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with dystonia F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders 6B60.8 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with dystonia F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders 6B60.8 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with dystonia F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders 6B60.8 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with facial spasm F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders 6B60.8 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with other specified movement disturbance F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders 6B60.8 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with other specified movement disturbance F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders 6B60.8 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with other distorders F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> | | | |
| symptom disorder, with speech F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders orgen F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders with chorea F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders orgen F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders neurological symptom disorder, with remor F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders ofb60.82 Dissociative F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders neurological symptom disorder, with facial spasm F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders ofb60.82 Dissociative F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders neurological symptom disorder, with facial spasm F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders orgen F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders neurological symptom disorder, with brainism F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders ofb60.82 Dissociative F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders neurological symptom disorder, with prefixed F44.4 Diss | 6B60.5 Dissociative neurological | F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders | |
| distinhance F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders order F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders order 6B60.7 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with gait disturbance F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders ofB60.8 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with movement disturbance F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders ofB60.8 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with chorea F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders ofB60.8 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with mycelonus F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders ofB60.8 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with droma F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders ofB60.8 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with drystonia F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders ofB60.8 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with drystonia F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders ofB60.8 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with drystonia F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders ofB60.8 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with drystonia F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders ofB60.8 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with unspecified movement disturbance F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders ofB60.8 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with other specified movement disturbance F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders ofB60.8 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with organic symptom disorder, with organic symptom disorder, with organic symptom disorder, with cognitive symptoms F44.4 Dissociative (conve | | | |
| 6B60.6 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with gatt disturbance F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders 6B60.8 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with gatt disturbance F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders 6B60.8 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with movement disturbance F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders 6B60.8 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with chorea F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders 6B60.8 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with movement F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders 6B60.8 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with movelonus F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders 6B60.8 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with dystonia F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders 6B60.8 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with dystonia F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders 6B60.85 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with dystonia F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders 6B60.87 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with other specified movement disturbance F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders 6B60.87 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with unspecified movement disturbance F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders 6B60.87 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with oughites F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders 6B60.97 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with oughites F44.4 Dissociative (conversion] disorders 6B60.92 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with unspecified symptom disorder, with unspecified s | | | |
| symptom disorder, with paresis or weakness F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders 6B60.7 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with gait disturbance F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders 6B60.8 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with obsra F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders 6B60.8 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with obsra F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders 6B60.81 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with obsra F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders 6B60.82 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with tremor F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders 6B60.83 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with dystonia F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders 6B60.84 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with dystonia F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders 6B60.85 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with dystonia F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders 6B60.84 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with parkinsoniam F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders 6B60.84 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with parkinsoniam F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders 6B60.85 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with approximation disorder, with approximation disorder, with obsrce specified movement distributionce F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders 6B60.92 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with uspecified movement disorders F4 | | F44 4 Dissociative motor disorders | |
| weakness F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders 6B60.7 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with gait disturbance F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders 6B60.8 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with movement disturbance F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders 6B60.8 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with chorea F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders 6B60.81 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with movelonus F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders 6B60.82 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with movelonus F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders 6B60.82 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with dystonia F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders 6B60.82 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with dystonia F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders 6B60.83 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with Parkinsonism F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders 6B60.82 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with Darkinsonism F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders 6B60.82 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with uspecified movement disturbance F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders 6B60.9. Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with uspecified movement disorders F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders 6B60.9. Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with uspecified movement disorders F44.4 Dissociative [conversion] disorders | | 1 44.4 Dissociative motor disorders | |
| 6B60.7 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with overement disturbance F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders 6B60.8 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with novement disturbance F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders 6B60.8 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with chorea F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders 6B60.8 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with mycelonus F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders 6B60.8 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with mycelonus F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders 6B60.8 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with disordial symptom disorder, with distribution F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders 6B60.8 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with distribution F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders 6B60.8 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with distribution F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders 6B60.8 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with nearkinonism F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders 6B60.8 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with other specified movement disturbance F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders 6B60.9 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with other specified movement disorders F44.8 Other dissociative [conversion] disorders 6B60.9 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with other specified movement disorders F44.8 Other dissociative [conversion] disorders 6B60.9 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with other specified movement disorders F44.9 Dissociative annesia <t< td=""><td></td><td></td><td></td></t<> | | | |
| symptom disorder, with gait disturbance F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders 6B60.8 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with movement disturbance F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders 6B60.81 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with chorea F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders 6B60.82 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with myoclonus F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders 6B60.82 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with dystoria F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders 6B60.83 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with dystoria F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders 6B60.83 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with dystoria F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders 6B60.85 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with Parkinsonism F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders 6B60.87 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with orther specified movement disturbance F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders 6B60.90 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with unspecified movement disorders F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders 6B60.91 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with other specified symptoms F44.8 Other dissociative [conversion] disorders 6B60.92 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with other specified symptoms F44.9 Dissociative [conversion] disorders 6B60.92 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with other specified symptom F44.9 Dissociative [conversi | | | |
| distribunce F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders 6860.80 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with chorea F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders 6860.80 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with nyrelenaus F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders 6860.81 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with nyrelenaus F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders 6860.82 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with tremor F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders 6860.83 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with statistic space F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders 6860.82 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with facial spasm F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders 6860.82 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with facial spasm F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders 6860.82 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with parkinsonism F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders 6860.82 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with unspecified movement disturbance F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders 6860.92 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with unspecified movement disorder, with other specified movement disorder, with outper specified movement disorder specified symptom disorder, with outper specified movement disorder specified | | F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders | |
| 6860.8 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with movement disturbance F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders 6860.8 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with chorea F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders 6860.8 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with myoclonus F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders 6860.8 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with tremor F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders 6860.83 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with dystonia F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders 6860.85 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with facial spasm F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders 6860.85 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with facial spasm F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders 6860.85 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with ofter specified hovement disturbance F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders 6860.90 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with ofter specified hovement disturbance F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders 6860.90 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with ofter specified hovement disturbance F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders 6860.90 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with ofter symptom disorder, with ofter symptom disorder, with ofter symptom disorder, with ofter specified symptoms F44.8 Other dissociative [conversion] disorders 6860.7 Dissociative neurological symptom disociative neurological symptom disorder, with outper specified symptoms F44.0 Dissociative ann | | | |
| symptom disorder, with movement disturbance F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders 6B60.80 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with myoclonus F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders 6B60.81 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with myoclonus F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders 6B60.82 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with dystonia F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders 6B60.83 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with dystonia F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders 6B60.84 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with facial spasm F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders 6B60.85 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with Parkinsonism F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders 6B60.85 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with Parkinsonism F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders 6B60.87 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with other specified movement disturbance F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders 6B60.87 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with cognitive symptom disorder, with other specified symptom F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders 6B60.7 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with other specified symptoms F44.0 Dissociative [conversion] disorders 6B60.7 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with ouspecified symptoms F44.0 Dissociative annesia 6B60.7 Dissociative neurological symptom F44.0 Dissociative annes | | | |
| disturbance F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders 6B60.80 Dissociative F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders neurological symptom disorder, with myoclonus F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders 6B60.82 Dissociative F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders neurological symptom disorder, with remor F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders 6B60.82 Dissociative F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders neurological symptom disorder, with dystonia F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders 6B60.84 Dissociative F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders 6B60.85 Dissociative F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders neurological symptom disorder, with facial spasm F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders 6B60.85 Dissociative F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders neurological symptom disorder, with patkinsonism F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders 6B60.82 Dissociative F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders 6B60.82 Dissociative F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders with outer specified movement disturbance F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders 6B60.82 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with cognitive symptoms F44.8 Other dissociative [conversion] disorders 6B60.9 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with unspecified more disorder F44.9 Dissociative [conversion] disorders 6B61.0 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with unspecified more disorder F44.0 Disso | | F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders | |
| 6B60.80 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with chorea F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders 6B60.81 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with mycolonus F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders 6B60.82 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with dystomia F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders 6B60.83 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with dystomia F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders 6B60.83 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with dystomia F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders 6B60.84 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with facial spasm F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders 6B60.85 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with Parkinsonism F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders 6B60.85 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with other specified movement disturbance F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders 6B60.87 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with other specified movement disturbance F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders 6B60.70 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with other specified movement disorders F44.8 Other dissociative [conversion] 6B60.70 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with other specified movement disorders F44.9 Dissociative [conversion] 6B60.70 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with other specified workers F44.9 Dissociative [conversion] 6B60.70 Dissociative neurological symptom F44.9 Dissociative [conversion] | | | |
| neurological symptom disorder, with myoclonus F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders 6B60.81 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with proclonus F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders 6B60.82 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with tremor F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders 6B60.83 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with dystonia F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders 6B60.84 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with facial spasm F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders 6B60.85 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with facial spasm F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders 6B60.85 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with other specified movement disturbance F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders 6B60.82 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with unspecified movement disturbance F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders 6B60.82 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with unspecified movement disturbance F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders 6B60.92 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with cognitive symptoms F44.8 Other dissociative [conversion] disorders 6B60.1 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with unspecified symptom disorder, with unspecified symptom F44.9 Dissociative [conversion] disorders 6B61.0 Dissociative neurological symptom F44.9 Dissociative [conversion] disorder, unspecified symptom 6B61.0 Dissociative amnesia without dissociative fugue F44.0 | | | |
| with chorea F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders 6B60.81 Dissociative F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders 6B60.82 Dissociative F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders meurological symptom disorder, with tremor F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders with tremor F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders meurological symptom disorder, with dystonia F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders neurological symptom disorder, with draid spam F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders 6B60.85 Dissociative F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders neurological symptom disorder, with parkinsonim F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders 6B60.87 Dissociative F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders neurological symptom disorder, with other specified movement F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders oB60.82 Dissociative F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders neurological symptom disorder, with other specified movement F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders oB60.9 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with other specified movement F44.8 Other dissociative [conversion] symptom disorder, with other specified movement symptom disorder, with other F44.9 Dissociative [conversion] symptom disorder, with other specified symptomesia 6B61.0 Dissoci | | F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders | |
| with chorea F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders 6B60.81 Dissociative F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders 6B60.82 Dissociative F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders meurological symptom disorder, with tremor F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders with tremor F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders meurological symptom disorder, with dystonia F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders neurological symptom disorder, with draid spam F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders 6B60.85 Dissociative F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders neurological symptom disorder, with parkinsonim F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders 6B60.87 Dissociative F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders neurological symptom disorder, with other specified movement F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders oB60.82 Dissociative F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders neurological symptom disorder, with other specified movement F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders oB60.9 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with other specified movement F44.8 Other dissociative [conversion] symptom disorder, with other specified movement symptom disorder, with other F44.9 Dissociative [conversion] symptom disorder, with other specified symptomesia 6B61.0 Dissoci | neurological symptom disorder, | | |
| neurological symptom disorder, with myoclonus F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders 0B60.82 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with tremor F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders 0B60.83 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with dystonia F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders 6B60.84 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with facial spasm F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders 6B60.85 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with Parkinsonism F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders 6B60.85 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with other specified movement disturbance F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders 6B60.82 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with other specified movement disturbance F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders 6B60.92 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with unspecified movement disturbance F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders 6B60.9 Dissociative neurological symptom F44.8 Other dissociative [conversion] disorders 6B60.7 Dissociative neurological symptoms F44.9 Dissociative [conversion] disorders 6B61.0 Dissociative neurological symptoms F44.9 Dissociative [conversion] disorders 6B61.0 Dissociative amnesia F44.0 Dissociative amnesia 6B61.0 Dissociative amnesia F44.0 Dissociative amnesia 6B61.0 Dissociative amnesia F44.1 Dissociative amnesia 6B61.0 Dissociative amnesia | with chorea | | |
| neurological symptom disorder, with myoclonus F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders 0B60.82 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with tremor F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders 0B60.83 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with dystonia F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders 6B60.84 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with facial spasm F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders 6B60.85 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with Parkinsonism F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders 6B60.85 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with other specified movement disturbance F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders 6B60.82 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with other specified movement disturbance F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders 6B60.92 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with unspecified movement disturbance F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders 6B60.9 Dissociative neurological symptom F44.8 Other dissociative [conversion] disorders 6B60.7 Dissociative neurological symptoms F44.9 Dissociative [conversion] disorders 6B61.0 Dissociative neurological symptoms F44.9 Dissociative [conversion] disorders 6B61.0 Dissociative amnesia F44.0 Dissociative amnesia 6B61.0 Dissociative amnesia F44.0 Dissociative amnesia 6B61.0 Dissociative amnesia F44.1 Dissociative amnesia 6B61.0 Dissociative amnesia | | F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders | |
| with myocloms F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders 6B60.82 Dissociative F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders with tremor F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders 6B60.83 Dissociative F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders with dystonia F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders 6B60.84 Dissociative F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders meurological symptom disorder, with facial spasm F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders 6B60.85 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with Parkinsonism F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders 6B60.82 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with other specified movement disturbance F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders 6B60.92 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with cognitive aymptom disorder, with outper specified movement disturbance F44.8 Other dissociative [conversion] disorders 6B60.9 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with outper specified symptoms F44.8 Other dissociative [conversion] disorders 6B61.0 Dissociative neurological symptoms F44.9 Dissociative [conversion] disorders 6B61.0 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with unspecified symptoms F44.9 Dissociative [conversion] disorder, unspecified 6B61.0 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with unspecified symptoms F44.0 Dissociative annesia 6B61.0 Dissociative mensia F44.1 Dissociative annesia | neurological symptom disorder. | | |
| 6B60.82 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with tremor F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders 6B60.83 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with dystonia F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders 6B60.84 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with facial spasm F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders 6B60.85 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with Parkinsonism F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders 6B60.85 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with other specified movement disturbance F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders 6B60.82 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with other specified movement disturbance F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders 6B60.92 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with cognitive symptom disorder, with other specified ymptom F44.8 Other dissociative [conversion] disorders 6B60.7 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with other specified symptoms F44.9 Dissociative [conversion] disorders 6B60.7 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with other specified symptoms F44.9 Dissociative [conversion] disorders 6B61.0 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with other specified F44.0 Dissociative amnesia 6B61.0 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with other specified F44.0 Dissociative amnesia 6B61.0 Dissociative amnesia F44.1 Dissociative amnesia 6B61.0 Dissociative amnesia F44.1 Dissociative amnesia | | | |
| neurological symptom disorder, with tremor F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders 6B60.83 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with dystonia F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders 6B60.84 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with facial spasm F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders 6B60.85 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with Parkinsonism F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders 6B60.87 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with other specified movement disturbance F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders 6B60.87 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with unspecified movement disturbance F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders 6B60.87 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with cognitive symptom disorder, with cognitive symptom disorder, with cognitive symptom disorder, with other specified symptoms F44.8 Other dissociative [conversion] disorders 6B60.10 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with other specified symptoms F44.9 Dissociative [conversion] disorders 6B61.0 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with unspecified symptoms F44.0 Dissociative [conversion] disorder, unspecified 6B61.0 Dissociative neurological symptom F44.0 Dissociative [conversion] disorder, unspecified 6B61.0 Dissociative neurological symptom F44.0 Dissociative annesia 6B61.0 Dissociative annesia F44.0 Dissociative annesia 6B61.0 Dissociative annesia F44.0 Dissociative annesia <td></td> <td>F44 4 Dissociative motor disorders</td> <td></td> | | F44 4 Dissociative motor disorders | |
| with tremor F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders 6B60.83 Dissociative F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders with dystonia F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders 6B60.84 Dissociative F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders with facial spasm F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders 6B60.85 Dissociative F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders neurological symptom disorder, with Parkinsonism F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders 6B60.87 Dissociative F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders neurological symptom disorder, with other specified movement disturbance F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders 6B60.82 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with cognitive symptoms F44.8 Other dissociative [conversion] disorders 6B60.9 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with cognitive symptoms F44.8 Other dissociative [conversion] disorders 6B60.7 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with unspecified symptoms F44.8 Other dissociative [conversion] disorders 6B61.0 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with unspecified symptoms F44.0 Dissociative [conversion] disorder, unspecified 6B61.1 Dissociative amnesia F44.0 Dissociative amnesia F44.1 Dissociative fugue 6B61.1 Dissociative amnesia F44.0 Dissociative amnesia F44.1 Dissociative amnesia 6B62 Trance disorder | | | |
| 6B60.83 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with dystonia F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders 6B60.84 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with facial spasm F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders 6B60.85 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with Parkinsonism F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders 6B60.87 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with other specified movement disturbance F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders 6B60.82 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with other specified movement disturbance F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders 6B60.82 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with unspecified movement disturbance F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders 6B60.92 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with unspecified movement disorders F44.8 Other dissociative [conversion] symptoms F44.8 Other dissociative [conversion] disorders f44.9 Dissociative [conversion] symptoms F44.8 Other dissociative [conversion] 6B60.2 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with other specified symptoms F44.9 Dissociative [conversion] 6B61 Dissociative neurological symptom F44.9 Dissociative [conversion] disorder, unspecified 6B61 Dissociative amnesia F44.0 Dissociative fugue 6B61 Dissociative amnesia with dissociative fugue F44.1 Dissociative fugue 6B61 Dissociative fugue F4 | | | |
| neurological symptom disorder, with dystoniaF44.4 Dissociative motor disorders6B60.84 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with facial spasmF44.4 Dissociative motor disorders6B60.85 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with ParkinsonismF44.4 Dissociative motor disorders6B60.87 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with other specified movement disturbanceF44.4 Dissociative motor disorders6B60.82 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with other specified movement disturbanceF44.4 Dissociative motor disorders6B60.82 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with unspecified movement disturbanceF44.8 Other dissociative [conversion] disorders6B60.92 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with cognitive symptomsF44.8 Other dissociative [conversion] disorders6B60.72 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with unspecified symptomsF44.8 Other dissociative [conversion] disorders6B60.72 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with unspecifiedF44.9 Dissociative [conversion] disorders6B61.0 Dissociative neurological symptomF44.9 Dissociative [conversion] disorder, unspecified6B61.1 Dissociative amnesia without dissociative fugueF44.1 Dissociative amnesia6B61.1 Dissociative amnesia without dissociative fugueF44.3 Trance and possession disorders6B62 Trance disorderF44.3 Trance and possession disorders | | E44 4 Disconsisting works a discutor | - |
| with dystoniaF44.4 Dissociative motor disorders6B60.84 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with ParkinsonismF44.4 Dissociative motor disorders6B60.85 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with Other specified movement disturbanceF44.4 Dissociative motor disorders6B60.82 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with unspecified movement disturbanceF44.4 Dissociative motor disorders6B60.92 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with unspecified movement disorders, with unspecified movement disorders, with uspecified movement disordersF44.4 Dissociative motor disorders6B60.92 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with cognitive symptomsF44.8 Other dissociative [conversion] disorders6B60.92 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with cognitive symptomsF44.8 Other dissociative [conversion] disorders6B60.72 Dissociative neurological symptomsF44.9 Dissociative [conversion] disorders6B61.0 Dissociative neurological symptomsF44.9 Dissociative [conversion] disorders6B61.0 Dissociative neurological symptomsF44.0 Dissociative [conversion] disorders6B61.0 Dissociative amnesiaF44.1 Dissociative amnesia6B61.0 Dissociative amnesiaF44.1 Dissociative fugue6B61.1 Dissociative amnesiaF44.3 Trance and possession disorders6B62 Trance disorderF44.3 Trance and possession disorders | | F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders | |
| 6B60.84 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with facial spasm F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders 6B60.85 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with Parkinsonism F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders 6B60.87 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with other specified movement disturbance F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders 6B60.82 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with unspecified movement disturbance F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders 6B60.9 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with cognitive symptom F44.8 Other dissociative [conversion] disorders 6B60.9 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with cognitive symptom disorder, with other specified symptoms F44.8 Other dissociative [conversion] disorders 6B60.7 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with unspecified symptom disorder, with unspecified symptoms F44.8 Other dissociative [conversion] disorders 6B61.0 Dissociative neurological symptoms F44.9 Dissociative [conversion] disorders 6B61.0 Dissociative amnesia F44.0 Dissociative amnesia 6B61.1 Dissociative amnesia without dissociative fugue F44.1 Dissociative amnesia 6B61.1 Dissociative amnesia without dissociative fugue F44.3 Trance and possession disorders | | | |
| neurological symptom disorder, with facial spasmF44.4 Dissociative motor disorders6B60.85 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with ParkinsonismF44.4 Dissociative motor disorders6B60.87 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with other specified movement disturbanceF44.4 Dissociative motor disorders6B60.82 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with unspecified movement disturbanceF44.4 Dissociative motor disorders6B60.90 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with cognitive symptomF44.8 Other dissociative [conversion] disorders6B60.7 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with cognitive symptom disorder, with other specified symptomsF44.8 Other dissociative [conversion] disorders6B60.7 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with other specified symptomsF44.9 Dissociative [conversion] disorders6B60.7 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with unspecified symptomF44.9 Dissociative [conversion] disorders6B61.0 Dissociative neurological symptomF44.9 Dissociative amnesia6B61.0 Dissociative amnesiaF44.0 Dissociative amnesia6B61.0 Dissociative amnesiaF44.0 Dissociative fugue6B61.1 Dissociative amnesiaF44.0 Dissociative amnesia6B61.1 Dissociative fugueF44.3 Trance and possession disorders6B62 Trance disorderF44.3 Trance and possession disorders | | | |
| with facial spasmF44.4 Dissociative motor disorders6B60.85 DissociativeF44.4 Dissociative motor disorders6B60.8Y DissociativeF44.4 Dissociative motor disorders6B60.8Y DissociativeF44.4 Dissociative motor disordersneurological symptom disorder, with other specified movement disturbanceF44.4 Dissociative motor disorders6B60.8Z DissociativeF44.4 Dissociative motor disorders6B60.8Z Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with unspecified movement disturbanceF44.4 Dissociative motor disorders6B60.9 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with cognitive symptomsF44.8 Other dissociative [conversion] disorders6B60.9 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with other specified symptomsF44.8 Other dissociative [conversion] disorders6B60.2 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with unspecified symptom disorder, with unspecified symptom disorder, with unspecifiedF44.9 Dissociative [conversion] disorders6B61.0 Dissociative amnesia 6B61.0 Dissociative amnesiaF44.0 Dissociative amnesia6B61.1 Dissociative amnesia without dissociative fugueF44.0 Dissociative amnesia6B61.1 Dissociative amnesia without dissociative fugueF44.0 Dissociative amnesia6B61.1 Dissociative amnesia without dissociative fugueF44.3 Trance and possession disorders6B62 Trance disorderF44.3 Trance and possession disorders | | F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders | |
| 6B60.85 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with ParkinsonismF44.4 Dissociative motor disorders6B60.87 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with other specified movement disturbanceF44.4 Dissociative motor disorders6B60.8Z Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with unspecified movement disturbanceF44.4 Dissociative motor disorders6B60.8Z Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with unspecified movement disturbanceF44.8 Other dissociative [conversion] disorders6B60.9 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with cognitive symptom disorder, with cognitive symptom disorder, with other specified symptomsF44.8 Other dissociative [conversion] disorders6B60.7 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with other specified symptomsF44.9 Dissociative [conversion] disorders6B60.7 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with unspecified symptomF44.9 Dissociative [conversion] disorders6B60.7 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with unspecifiedF44.9 Dissociative [conversion] disorders6B60.7 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with unspecifiedF44.9 Dissociative [conversion] disorders6B61.0 Dissociative neurological symptomsF44.9 Dissociative [conversion] disorder, unspecified6B61.1 Dissociative amnesiaF44.0 Dissociative fugue6B61.1 Dissociative amnesia without dissociative fugueF44.3 Trance and possession disorders6B62 Trance disorderF44.3 Trance and possession disorders | | | |
| neurological symptom disorder, with ParkinsonismF44.4 Dissociative motor disorders6B60.8Y Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with other specified movement disturbanceF44.4 Dissociative motor disorders6B60.8Z Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with unspecified movement disturbanceF44.8 Other dissociative [conversion] disorders6B60.9 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with other symptomsF44.8 Other dissociative [conversion] disorders6B60.2 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with other specified symptomsF44.9 Dissociative [conversion] disorders6B60.2 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with other specified symptomsF44.9 Dissociative [conversion] disorders6B61.0 Dissociative annesiaF44.0 Dissociative [conversion] disorder, unspecified6B61.1 Dissociative annesiaF44.1 Dissociative fugue6B61.1 Dissociative annesiaF44.0 Dissociative fugue6B61.1 Dissociative annesiaF44.0 Dissociative fugue6B61.2 Dissociative annesiaF44.1 Dissociative fugue6B61.4 Dissociative annesiaF44.1 Dissociative fugue6B61.5 Dissociative annesiaF44.0 Dissociative fugue6B61.6 Dissociative annesiaF44.0 Dissociative fugue6B61.7 Dissociative annesiaF44.3 Trance and possession disorders6B62 Trance disorderF44.3 Trance and possession disorders | | | |
| with ParkinsonismF44.4 Dissociative motor disorders6B60.8Y Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with other specified movementF44.4 Dissociative motor disorders6B60.8Z Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with unspecified movement disturbanceF44.4 Dissociative motor disorders6B60.9 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with cognitive symptomsF44.8 Other dissociative [conversion] disorders6B60.9 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with cognitive symptomsF44.8 Other dissociative [conversion] disorders6B60.7 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with other specified symptomsF44.9 Dissociative [conversion] disorders6B60.2 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with unspecified symptomsF44.9 Dissociative [conversion] disorders6B61.0 Dissociative neurological symptomsF44.9 Dissociative [conversion] disorder, unspecified6B61.0 Dissociative amnesiaF44.0 Dissociative amnesia6B61.1 Dissociative amnesia without dissociative fugueF44.0 Dissociative fugue6B61.1 Dissociative amnesia without dissociative fugueF44.0 Dissociative amnesia6B61.2 Dissociative amnesia without dissociative amnesiaF44.0 Dissociative amnesia6B61.1 Dissociative amnesia without dissociative amnesiaF44.0 Dissociative amnesia6B62 Trance disorderF44.3 Trance and possession disorders6B63 Possession trance disorderF44.3 Trance and possession disorders | | F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders | |
| 6B60.8Y Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with other specified movement disturbanceF44.4 Dissociative motor disorders6B60.8Z Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with unspecified movement disturbanceF44.4 Dissociative motor disorders6B60.9 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with cognitive symptomF44.8 Other dissociative [conversion] disorders6B60.9 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with cognitive symptomsF44.8 Other dissociative [conversion] disorders6B60.7 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with other specified symptomsF44.9 Dissociative [conversion] disorders6B60.Z Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with unspecified symptomF44.9 Dissociative [conversion] disorders6B61.0 Dissociative amnesiaF44.0 Dissociative amnesia6B61.1 Dissociative amnesia with dissociative fugueF44.0 Dissociative amnesia6B61.1 Dissociative amnesia without dissociative fugueF44.0 Dissociative amnesia6B62 Trance disorder 6B63 Possession trance disorderF44.3 Trance and possession disorders | neurological symptom disorder, | | |
| neurological symptom disorder, with other specified movement disturbanceF44.4 Dissociative motor disorders6B60.8Z Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with unspecified movement disturbanceF44.4 Dissociative motor disorders6B60.9 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with cognitive symptom disorder, with cognitive symptom disorder, with cognitive symptom disorder, with other specified symptomsF44.8 Other dissociative [conversion] disorders6B60.7 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with other specified symptomsF44.8 Other dissociative [conversion] disorders6B60.7 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with other specified symptomsF44.9 Dissociative [conversion] disorders6B60.7 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with unspecified symptom disorder, with unspecified symptom disorder, with unspecifiedF44.9 Dissociative [conversion] disorder, unspecified6B61 Dissociative amnesiaF44.0 Dissociative amnesiaF44.0 Dissociative amnesia6B61.0 Dissociative amnesia without dissociative fugueF44.0 Dissociative amnesia6B61.1 Dissociative fugueF44.0 Dissociative amnesia6B62 Trance disorderF44.3 Trance and possession disorders6B63 Possession trance disorderF44.3 Trance and possession disorders | with Parkinsonism | | |
| with other specified movement disturbanceF44.4 Dissociative motor disorders6B60.8Z Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with unspecified movement disturbanceF44.4 Dissociative motor disorders6B60.9 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with cognitive symptom disorder, with cognitive symptom disorder, with other specified symptomsF44.8 Other dissociative [conversion] disorders6B60.7 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with other specified symptomsF44.8 Other dissociative [conversion] disorders6B60.7 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with other specified symptomsF44.9 Dissociative [conversion] disorders6B61.0 Dissociative annesia 6B61.0 Dissociative amnesia without dissociative fugueF44.0 Dissociative fugue6B61.1 Dissociative amnesia without dissociative fugueF44.0 Dissociative amnesia6B62 Trance disorderF44.3 Trance and possession disorders6B63 Possession trance disorderF44.3 Trance and possession disorders | 6B60.8Y Dissociative | F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders | |
| with other specified movement disturbanceF44.4 Dissociative motor disorders6B60.8Z Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with unspecified movement disturbanceF44.4 Dissociative motor disorders6B60.9 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with cognitive symptom disorder, with cognitive symptom disorder, with other specified symptomsF44.8 Other dissociative [conversion] disorders6B60.7 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with other specified symptomsF44.8 Other dissociative [conversion] disorders6B60.7 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with other specified symptomsF44.9 Dissociative [conversion] disorders6B61.0 Dissociative annesia 6B61.0 Dissociative amnesia without dissociative fugueF44.0 Dissociative fugue6B61.1 Dissociative amnesia without dissociative fugueF44.0 Dissociative amnesia6B62 Trance disorderF44.3 Trance and possession disorders6B63 Possession trance disorderF44.3 Trance and possession disorders | neurological symptom disorder, | | |
| disturbanceF44.4 Dissociative motor disorders6B60.8Z Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with unspecified movement disturbanceF44.4 Dissociative motor disorders6B60.9 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with cognitive symptom disorder, with cognitive symptom disorder, with other specified symptomsF44.8 Other dissociative [conversion] disorders6B60.7 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with other specified symptomsF44.8 Other dissociative [conversion] disorders6B60.Z Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with other specified symptomsF44.9 Dissociative [conversion] disorders6B60.2 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with unspecified symptom disorder, with unspecified symptomsF44.9 Dissociative [conversion] disorder, unspecified6B61.0 Dissociative amnesia 6B61.1 Dissociative amnesia without dissociative fugueF44.0 Dissociative amnesia6B62 Trance disorderF44.3 Trance and possession disorders6B63 Possession trance disorderF44.3 Trance and possession disorders | | | |
| 6B60.8Z Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with unspecified movement disturbanceF44.4 Dissociative motor disorders6B60.9 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with cognitive symptomsF44.8 Other dissociative [conversion] disorders6B60.7 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with other specified symptomsF44.8 Other dissociative [conversion] disorders6B60.7 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with other specified symptomsF44.9 Obsociative [conversion] disorders6B60.7 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with unspecified symptomsF44.0 Dissociative [conversion] disorder, unspecified6B61.0 Dissociative amnesia dissociative fugueF44.0 Dissociative amnesia6B61.1 Dissociative amnesia without dissociative fugueF44.0 Dissociative amnesia6B62 Trance disorderF44.3 Trance and possession disorders6B63 Possession trance disorderF44.3 Trance and possession disorders | 1 | | |
| neurological symptom disorder, with unspecified movement disturbanceF44.8 Other dissociative [conversion] disorders6B60.9 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with cognitive symptomsF44.8 Other dissociative [conversion] disorders6B60.7 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with other specified symptomsF44.8 Other dissociative [conversion] disorders6B60.7 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with other specified symptomsF44.9 Dissociative [conversion] disorders6B60.7 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with unspecified symptomsF44.9 Dissociative [conversion] disorder, unspecified6B61 Dissociative amnesia dissociative fugueF44.0 Dissociative amnesia6B61.0 Dissociative amnesia with dissociative fugueF44.0 Dissociative fugue6B61.1 Dissociative amnesia without dissociative fugueF44.0 Dissociative amnesia6B62 Trance disorderF44.3 Trance and possession disorders6B63 Possession trance disorderF44.3 Trance and possession disorders | | F44.4 Dissociative motor disorders | 1 |
| with unspecified movement disturbanceF44.8 Other dissociative [conversion] disorders6B60.9 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with cognitive symptomsF44.8 Other dissociative [conversion] disorders6B60.Y Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with other specified symptomsF44.8 Other dissociative [conversion] disorders6B60.Z Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with unspecified symptom disorder, with unspecified symptomsF44.9 Dissociative [conversion] disorder, unspecified6B61.D Dissociative amnesia 6B61.1 Dissociative amnesia with dissociative fugueF44.1 Dissociative fugue6B61.1 Dissociative amnesia without dissociative fugueF44.3 Trance and possession disorders6B62 Trance disorderF44.3 Trance and possession disorders | | | |
| disturbanceF44.8 Other dissociative [conversion] disorders6B60.9 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with cognitive symptomsF44.8 Other dissociative [conversion] disorders6B60.Y Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with other specified symptomsF44.8 Other dissociative [conversion] disorders6B60.Z Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with unspecified symptomsF44.9 Dissociative [conversion] disorder, unspecified6B61.Dissociative amnesiaF44.0 Dissociative amnesia6B61.0 Dissociative amnesia with dissociative fugueF44.0 Dissociative fugue6B61.1 Dissociative amnesiaF44.0 Dissociative amnesia6B61.1 Dissociative fugueF44.0 Dissociative amnesia6B62 Trance disorderF44.3 Trance and possession disorders6B63 Possession trance disorderF44.3 Trance and possession disorders | | | |
| 6B60.9 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with cognitive symptomsF44.8 Other dissociative [conversion] disorders6B60.Y Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with other specified symptomsF44.8 Other dissociative [conversion] disorders6B60.Z Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with unspecified symptomsF44.9 Dissociative [conversion] disorder, unspecified6B61.D Dissociative amnesiaF44.0 Dissociative amnesia6B61.0 Dissociative amnesiaF44.1 Dissociative fugue6B61.1 Dissociative amnesiaF44.0 Dissociative fugue6B62 Trance disorderF44.3 Trance and possession disorders6B63 Possession trance disorderF44.3 Trance and possession disorders | | | |
| symptom disorder, with cognitive symptomsdisorders6B60.Y Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with other specified symptomsF44.8 Other dissociative [conversion] disorders6B60.Z Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with unspecified symptomsF44.9 Dissociative [conversion] disorder, unspecified6B61.D Dissociative amnesiaF44.0 Dissociative amnesia6B61.0 Dissociative amnesia with dissociative fugueF44.1 Dissociative fugue6B61.1 Dissociative amnesia without dissociative fugueF44.0 Dissociative amnesia6B62 Trance disorderF44.3 Trance and possession disorders6B63 Possession trance disorderF44.3 Trance and possession disorders | | F44.8 Other dissociative [conversion] | |
| symptomsF44.8 Other dissociative [conversion] disorders6B60.2 Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with unspecified symptom disorder, with unspecified symptomsF44.9 Dissociative [conversion] disorder, unspecified6B61.2 Dissociative neurological symptomsF44.9 Dissociative [conversion] disorder, unspecified6B61.1 Dissociative amnesia without dissociative fugueF44.0 Dissociative fugue6B61.1 Dissociative amnesia without dissociative fugueF44.0 Dissociative amnesia6B61.2 Dissociative amnesia symptomsF44.0 Dissociative fugue6B61.2 Dissociative amnesia dissociative fugueF44.1 Dissociative fugue6B61.1 Dissociative amnesia without dissociative fugueF44.0 Dissociative amnesia6B62 Trance disorderF44.3 Trance and possession disorders6B63 Possession trance disorderF44.3 Trance and possession disorders | | | |
| 6B60.Y Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with other specified symptomsF44.8 Other dissociative [conversion] disorders6B60.Z Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with unspecified symptomsF44.9 Dissociative [conversion] disorder, unspecified6B61 Dissociative amnesiaF44.0 Dissociative amnesia6B61.0 Dissociative amnesia with dissociative fugueF44.1 Dissociative fugue6B61.1 Dissociative amnesia without dissociative fugueF44.0 Dissociative amnesia6B62 Trance disorderF44.3 Trance and possession disorders6B63 Possession trance disorderF44.3 Trance and possession disorders | | 415014615 | |
| symptom disorder, with other specified symptomsdisorders6B60.Z Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with unspecified symptomsF44.9 Dissociative [conversion] disorder, unspecified6B61 Dissociative amnesiaF44.0 Dissociative amnesia6B61.0 Dissociative amnesia with dissociative fugueF44.1 Dissociative fugue6B61.1 Dissociative amnesiaF44.0 Dissociative amnesia6B61.1 Dissociative amnesia without dissociative fugueF44.0 Dissociative amnesia6B61.2 Dissociative amnesiaF44.0 Dissociative fugue6B61.3 Dissociative amnesia without dissociative fugueF44.0 Dissociative amnesia6B62 Trance disorderF44.3 Trance and possession disorders6B63 Possession trance disorderF44.3 Trance and possession disorders | symptoms | | |
| specified symptomsF44.9 Dissociative [conversion] disorder, unspecified symptom disorder, with unspecified symptoms6B61 Dissociative amnesiaF44.0 Dissociative amnesia6B61.0 Dissociative amnesia with dissociative fugueF44.1 Dissociative fugue6B61.1 Dissociative amnesia without dissociative fugueF44.0 Dissociative amnesia6B61.2 Dissociative amnesia dissociative fugueF44.0 Dissociative fugue6B61.3 Dissociative amnesia without dissociative fugueF44.0 Dissociative amnesia6B62 Trance disorderF44.3 Trance and possession disorders6B63 Possession trance disorderF44.3 Trance and possession disorders | | | |
| 6B60.Z Dissociative neurological symptom disorder, with unspecified symptomsF44.9 Dissociative [conversion] disorder, unspecified6B61 Dissociative amnesiaF44.0 Dissociative amnesia6B61.0 Dissociative amnesia with dissociative fugueF44.1 Dissociative fugue6B61.1 Dissociative amnesia without dissociative fugueF44.0 Dissociative amnesia6B62 Trance disorderF44.3 Trance and possession disorders6B63 Possession trance disorderF44.3 Trance and possession disorders | | disorders | |
| symptom disorder, with unspecified symptomsunspecified unspecified6B61 Dissociative amnesiaF44.0 Dissociative amnesia6B61.0 Dissociative amnesia with dissociative fugueF44.1 Dissociative fugue6B61.1 Dissociative amnesia without dissociative fugueF44.0 Dissociative amnesia6B62 Trance disorderF44.3 Trance and possession disorders6B63 Possession trance disorderF44.3 Trance and possession disorders | specified symptoms | | |
| symptomsF44.0 Dissociative amnesia6B61 Dissociative amnesiaF44.0 Dissociative amnesia6B61.0 Dissociative amnesia with dissociative fugueF44.1 Dissociative fugue6B61.1 Dissociative amnesia without dissociative fugueF44.0 Dissociative amnesia6B62 Trance disorderF44.3 Trance and possession disorders6B63 Possession trance disorderF44.3 Trance and possession disorders | | | |
| 6B61 Dissociative amnesiaF44.0 Dissociative amnesia6B61.0 Dissociative amnesia with dissociative fugueF44.1 Dissociative fugue6B61.1 Dissociative amnesia without dissociative fugueF44.0 Dissociative amnesia6B62 Trance disorderF44.3 Trance and possession disorders6B63 Possession trance disorderF44.3 Trance and possession disorders | | unspecified | |
| 6B61.0 Dissociative amnesia with dissociative fugueF44.1 Dissociative fugue6B61.1 Dissociative amnesia without dissociative fugueF44.0 Dissociative amnesia6B62 Trance disorderF44.3 Trance and possession disorders6B63 Possession trance disorderF44.3 Trance and possession disorders | symptoms | | |
| 6B61.0 Dissociative amnesia with dissociative fugueF44.1 Dissociative fugue6B61.1 Dissociative amnesia without dissociative fugueF44.0 Dissociative amnesia6B62 Trance disorderF44.3 Trance and possession disorders6B63 Possession trance disorderF44.3 Trance and possession disorders | 6B61 Dissociative amnesia | F44.0 Dissociative amnesia | |
| dissociative fugue F44.0 Dissociative amnesia 6B61.1 Dissociative amnesia F44.0 Dissociative amnesia without dissociative fugue F44.3 Trance and possession disorders 6B63 Possession trance disorder F44.3 Trance and possession disorders | 6B61.0 Dissociative amnesia with | | |
| 6B61.1 Dissociative amnesia without dissociative fugueF44.0 Dissociative amnesia6B62 Trance disorderF44.3 Trance and possession disorders6B63 Possession trance disorderF44.3 Trance and possession disorders | | 6 | |
| without dissociative fugue6B62 Trance disorderF44.3 Trance and possession disorders6B63 Possession trance disorderF44.3 Trance and possession disorders | | F44.0 Dissociative amnesia | 1 |
| 6B62 Trance disorderF44.3 Trance and possession disorders6B63 Possession trance disorderF44.3 Trance and possession disorders | | | |
| 6B63 Possession trance disorder F44.3 Trance and possession disorders | | F44.3 Trance and possession disorders | 1 |
| | | | |
| 0B04 Dissociative identity disorder F44.81 Multiple personality disorder | | | |
| | obo4 Dissociative identity disorder | F44.01 Multiple personality disorder | |
| | | | 1 |

| | 4-digit code: F44.8 Other dissociative | |
|--|--|---|
| | [conversion] disorder | |
| 6B65 Partial dissociative identity disorder | F44.8 Other dissociative [conversion] disorder | |
| 6B66 Depersonalization-derealization disorder | F48.1 Depersonalization-derealization syndrome | |
| 6B6Y Other specified dissociative | F44.8 Other dissociative [conversion] | |
| disorders 6B6Z Dissociative disorders, unspecified | disorders F44.9 Dissociative [conversion] disorder, | |
| EFEDING OD EATING DIGODDEDG | unspecified | |
| FEEDING OR EATING DISORDERS 6B80 Anorexia Nervosa | F50.0 Anorexia nervosa | For ICD-10 F50.0, diagnostic |
| oboo Anorexia ivervosa | OR: | requirements include BMI less than 17.5 plus: amenorrhoea in women; loss of |
| | F50.1 Atypical anorexia nervosa | sexual interest and erectile dysfunction in men; or delayed puberty in adolescents. |
| 6B80.0 Anorexia Nervosa with | F50.0 Anorexia nervosa | Otherwise, use F50.1. See 6B80. |
| significantly low body weight | OR: | |
| | F50.1 Atypical anorexia nervosa | |
| 6B80.00 Anorexia Nervosa with | F50.0 Anorexia nervosa | See 6B80. |
| significantly low body weight, restricting pattern | OR: | |
| | F50.1 Atypical anorexia nervosa | |
| 6B80.01 Anorexia Nervosa with significantly low body weight, | F50.0 Anorexia nervosa | See 6B80. |
| binge-purge pattern | OR: | |
| | F50.1 Atypical anorexia nervosa | |
| 6B80.0Z Anorexia Nervosa with significantly low body weight, | F50.0 Anorexia nervosa | See 6B80. |
| unspecified | OR: | |
| | F50.1 Atypical anorexia nervosa | |
| 6B80.1 Anorexia Nervosa with dangerously low body weight | F50.0 Anorexia nervosa | |
| 6B80.10 Anorexia Nervosa with dangerously low body weight, restricting pattern | F50.0 Anorexia nervosa | |
| 6B80.11 Anorexia Nervosa with dangerously low body weight, binge-pure pattern | F50.0 Anorexia nervosa | |
| 6B80.1Z Anorexia Nervosa with dangerously low body weight, unspecified | F50.0 Anorexia nervosa | |
| 6B80.2 Anorexia Nervosa in recovery with normal body weight | F50.1 Atypical anorexia nervosa | |
| 6B80.Y Other specified anorexia Nervosa | F50.1 Atypical anorexia nervosa | |
| 6B80.Z Anorexia Nervosa, unspecified | F50.0 Anorexia nervosa | For ICD-10 F50.0, diagnostic requirements include BMI less than 17.5 |
| - | OR: | plus: amenorrhoea in women; loss of sexual interest and erectile dysfunction in |
| | F50.1 Atypical anorexia nervosa | men; or delayed puberty in adolescents. Otherwise, use F50.1. |
| 6B81 Bulimia Nervosa | F50.2 Bulimia nervosa | |
| 6B82 Binge Eating Disorder | F50.8 Other eating disorders | |
| 6B83 Avoidant-restrictive food intake disorder | F98.2 Feeding disorder of infancy or childhood | Use F98.2 if individual is less than 12 years of age, otherwise use F50.8 |
| | OR: | |
| | F50.8 Other eating disorders | |

| 6B84 Pica | F98.3 Pica of infancy and childhood | Use F98.3 if individual is less than 12 |
|---|---|---|
| 0004110a | 1 78.5 Thea of infancy and childhood | years of age, otherwise use F50.8 |
| | OR: | |
| | F50.8 Other eating disorders | |
| 6B85 Rumination-regurgitation disorder | F98.2 Feeding disorder of infancy and childhood | Use F98.2 if individual is less than 12 years of age, otherwise use F50.8 |
| | OR: | |
| | F50.8 Other eating disorders | |
| 6B8Y Other specified feeding or eating disorders | F50.8 Other eating disorders | |
| 6B8Z Feeding or eating disorders, unspecified | F50.9 Eating disorder, unspecified | |
| ELIMINATION DISORDERS | | |
| 6C00 Enuresis | F98.0 Nonorganic enuresis | |
| 6C00.0 Nocturnal enuresis | F98.0 Nonorganic enuresis | |
| 6C00.1 Diurnal enuresis | F98.0 Nonorganic enuresis | |
| 6C00.2 Nocturnal and diurnal enuresis | F98.0 Nonorganic enuresis | |
| 6C00.Z Enuresis, unspecified | F98.0 Nonorganic enuresis | |
| 6C01 Encopresis | F98.1 Nonorganic encopresis | |
| 6C01.0 Encopresis with constipation or overflow incontinence | F98.1 Nonorganic encopresis | |
| 6C01.1 Encopresis without constipation or overflow incontinence | F98.1 Nonorganic encopresis | |
| 6C01.Z Encopresis, unspecified | F98.1 Nonorganic encopresis | |
| 6C0Z Elimination disorders, unspecified | F98.1 Nonorganic encopresis | |
| DISORDERS OF BODILY DISTRESS OR BODILY EXPERIENCE | | |
| 6C20 Bodily distress disorder | F45.9 Somatoform disorder, unspecified | |
| 6C20.0 Mild bodily distress disorder | F45.4 Persistent somatoform pain disorder | Use 45.4 if primary symptom is pain. |
| | OR: | |
| | F45.9 Somatoform disorder, unspecified | |
| 6C20.1 Moderate bodily distress disorder | F45.4 Persistent somatoform pain disorder | Use 45.4 if primary symptom is pain. |
| | OR: | |
| | F45.9 Somatoform disorder, unspecified | |
| 6C20.2 Severe bodily distress | F45.9 Somatoronn disorder, unspectfied | Use 45.4 if primary symptom is pain. |
| disorder | OR: | Use F45.0 if there is a history of multiple |
| | | and variable bodily symptoms. |
| | F45.4 Persistent somatoform pain disorder | |
| | OR: | |
| | F45.9 Somatoform disorder, unspecified | |
| 6C20.Z Bodily distress disorder, unspecified | F45.9 Somatoform disorder, unspecified | |
| 6C21 Body integrity dysphoria | F99 Unspecified mental disorder | |
| 6C2Y Other specified disorders of bodily distress or bodily experience | F99 Unspecified mental disorder | |
| usuess or bouny experience | No 4-digit code available | |
| 6C2Z Disorders of bodily distress or | F99 Unspecified mental disorder | |
| bodily experience, unspecified | No 4-digit code available | |
| DISORDERS DUE TO SUBSTANCE | | |
| USE OR ADDICTIVE BEHAVIOURS | | |

| DISORDERS DUE TO SUBSTANCE USE | | |
|--|--|--|
| 6C40 Disorders due to use of alcohol | F10 Mental and behavioural disorders due to use of alcohol | |
| 6C40.0 Episode of harmful use of alcohol | F10.8 Mental and behavioural disorders due to use of alcohol: other mental and | |
| 6C40.1 Harmful pattern of use of | behavioural disorders F10.1 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| alcohol | due to use of alcohol: harmful use | |
| 6C40.10 Harmful pattern of use of alcohol, episodic | F10.1 Mental and behavioural disorders due to use of alcohol: harmful use | |
| 6C40.11 Harmful pattern of use of alcohol, continuous | F10.1 Mental and behavioural disorders due to use of alcohol: harmful use | |
| 6C40.1Z Harmful pattern of use of alcohol, unspecified | F10.1 Mental and behavioural disorders due to use of alcohol: harmful use | |
| 6C40.2 Alcohol dependence | F10.2 Mental and behavioural disorders due to use of alcohol: dependence | |
| 6C40.20 Alcohol dependence, current use, continuous | syndromeF10.25 Mental and behavioural disordersdue to use of alcohol: dependencesyndrome, continuous use | |
| | 4-digit code: F10.2 Mental and behavioural disorders due to use of alcohol: dependence syndrome | |
| 6C40.21 Alcohol dependence, current use, episodic | F10.26 Mental and behavioural disorders due to use of alcohol: dependence syndrome episodic use | |
| | 4-digit code: F10.2 Mental and behavioural disorders due to use of alcohol: dependence syndrome | |
| 6C40.22 Alcohol dependence, early full remission | F10.20 Mental and behavioural disorders due to use of alcohol: dependence syndrome, currently abstinent | Select appropriate category based on clinical context. |
| | OR: | |
| | F10.21 Mental and behavioural disorders due to use of alcohol: dependence syndrome, currently abstinent, but in a protected environment | |
| | OR: | |
| | F10.23 Mental and behavioural disorders due to use of alcohol: dependence syndrome, currently abstinent, but receiving treatment with aversive or blocking drugs (e.g., naltrexone or disulfiram) | |
| | 4-digit code: F10.2 Mental and behavioural disorders due to use of alcohol: dependence syndrome | |
| 6C40.23 Alcohol dependence, sustained partial remission | F10.24 Mental and behavioural disorders due to use of alcohol: dependence syndrome, currently using the substance [active dependence] | |
| | 4-digit code: F10.2 Mental and behavioural disorders due to use of alcohol: dependence syndrome | |

| 6C40.24 Alcohol dependence, | F10.20 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
|--|--|--------------------------------------|
| sustained full remission | due to use of alcohol: dependence | |
| | syndrome, currently abstinent | |
| | , , , | |
| | 4-digit code: F10.2 Mental and | |
| | | |
| | behavioural disorders due to use of | |
| | alcohol: dependence syndrome | |
| 6C40.2Z Alcohol dependence, | F10.2 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| unspecified | due to use of alcohol: dependence | |
| 1 | syndrome | |
| 6C40.3 Alcohol intoxication | F10.0 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| 0C40.5 Alcohol intoxication | | |
| | due to use of alcohol: acute intoxication | |
| 6C40.4 Alcohol withdrawal | F10.3 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| | due to use of alcohol withdrawal state | |
| 6C40.40 Alcohol withdrawal, | F10.30 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| uncomplicated | due to use of alcohol withdrawal state, | |
| uncomplicated | | |
| | uncomplicated | |
| | | |
| | 4-digit code: F10.3 Mental and | |
| | behavioural disorders due to use of | |
| | alcohol withdrawal state | |
| 6C40.41 Alcohol withdrawal | F10.3 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| | due to use of alcohol withdrawal state | |
| with perceptual disturbances | que to use of alconol withdrawal state | |
| | | |
| 6C40.42 Alcohol withdrawal | F10.31 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| with seizures | due to use of alcohol withdrawal state, | |
| | with convulsions | |
| | | |
| | | |
| | 4-digit code: F10.3 Mental and | |
| | behavioural disorders due to use of | |
| | alcohol withdrawal state | |
| 6C40.43 Alcohol withdrawal | F10.31 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| | | |
| with perceptual disturbances and | due to use of alcohol withdrawal state, | |
| seizures | with convulsions | |
| | | |
| | 4-digit code: F10.3 Mental and | |
| | behavioural disorders due to use of | |
| | alcohol withdrawal state | |
| 6C40.4Z Alcohol withdrawal, | F10.3 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · | | |
| unspecified | due to use of alcohol withdrawal state | |
| 6C40.5 Alcohol-induced delirium | F10.03 Mental and behavioural disorders | Use F10.8 if intoxication/withdrawal |
| | due to use of alcohol: acute intoxication | status unknown |
| | with delirium | |
| | | |
| | | |
| | 4-digit code: F10.0 Mental and | |
| | behavioural disorders due to use of | |
| | alcohol: acute intoxication | |
| | | |
| | | |
| | OR: | |
| | | |
| | F10.4 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| | due to use of alcohol withdrawal state | |
| | | |
| | with delirium | |
| | | |
| | OD. | |
| | OR: | 1 |
| | OK: | |
| | | |
| | F10.8 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| | F10.8 Mental and behavioural disorders due to use of alcohol: other mental and | |
| | F10.8 Mental and behavioural disorders due to use of alcohol: other mental and behavioural disorders | |
| 6C40.6 Alcohol-induced psychotic | F10.8 Mental and behavioural disorders due to use of alcohol: other mental and | |
| 6C40.6 Alcohol-induced psychotic | F10.8 Mental and behavioural disorders due to use of alcohol: other mental and behavioural disorders F10.5 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| disorder | F10.8 Mental and behavioural disorders due to use of alcohol: other mental and behavioural disorders F10.5 Mental and behavioural disorders due to use of alcohol: psychotic disorder | |
| disorder 6C40.60 Alcohol-induced | F10.8 Mental and behavioural disorders due to use of alcohol: other mental and behavioural disorders F10.5 Mental and behavioural disorders due to use of alcohol: psychotic disorder F10.52 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| disorder 6C40.60 Alcohol-induced psychotic disorder with | F10.8 Mental and behavioural disorders due to use of alcohol: other mental and behavioural disorders F10.5 Mental and behavioural disorders due to use of alcohol: psychotic disorder F10.52 Mental and behavioural disorders due to use of alcohol: psychotic disorder, | |
| disorder 6C40.60 Alcohol-induced | F10.8 Mental and behavioural disorders due to use of alcohol: other mental and behavioural disorders F10.5 Mental and behavioural disorders due to use of alcohol: psychotic disorder F10.52 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| disorder 6C40.60 Alcohol-induced psychotic disorder with | F10.8 Mental and behavioural disorders due to use of alcohol: other mental and behavioural disorders F10.5 Mental and behavioural disorders due to use of alcohol: psychotic disorder F10.52 Mental and behavioural disorders due to use of alcohol: psychotic disorder, | |

| | 4-digit code: F10.5 Mental and | |
|---------------------------------------|--|--------------------------------------|
| | behavioural disorders due to use of | |
| | alcohol: psychotic disorder | |
| 6C40.61 Alcohol-induced | F10.51 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| psychotic disorder with delusions | due to use of alcohol: psychotic disorder, | |
| | predominantly delusional | |
| | | |
| | 4-digit code: F10.5 Mental and | |
| | behavioural disorders due to use of | |
| | alcohol: psychotic disorder | |
| 6C40.62 Alcohol-induced | F10.56 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| psychotic disorder with mixed | | |
| | due to use of alcohol: psychotic disorder, | |
| psychotic symptoms | mixed | |
| | | |
| | 4-digit code: F10.5 Mental and | |
| | behavioural disorders due to use of | |
| | alcohol: psychotic disorder | |
| 6C40.6Z Alcohol-induced | F10.5 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| psychotic disorder, unspecified | due to use of alcohol: psychotic disorder | |
| 6C40.7 Certain specified alcohol- | | |
| induced mental or behavioural | | |
| disorders | | |
| 6C40.70 Alcohol-induced mood | F10.8 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| | due to use of alcohol: other mental and | |
| disorder | | |
| | behavioural disorders | |
| 6C40.71 Alcohol-induced | F10.8 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| anxiety disorder | due to use of alcohol: other mental and | |
| | behavioural disorders | |
| 6C40.Y Other specified disorders | F10.8 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| due to use of alcohol | due to use of alcohol: other mental and | |
| | behavioural disorders | |
| 6C40.Z Disorders due to use of | F10.9 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| | | |
| alcohol, unspecified | due to use of alcohol: unspecified mental | |
| | and behavioural disorder | |
| 6C41 Disorders due to use of cannabis | F12 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| | due to use of cannabinoids | |
| 6C41.0 Episode of harmful use of | F12.8 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| cannabis | due to use of cannabinoids: other mental | |
| | and behavioural disorders | |
| 6C41.1 Harmful pattern of use of | F12.1 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| cannabis | due to use of cannabinoids: harmful use | |
| 6C41.10 Harmful pattern of use | F12.1 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| 1 | | |
| of cannabis, episodic | due to use of cannabinoids: harmful use | |
| 6C41.11 Harmful pattern of use | F12.1 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| of cannabis, continuous | due to use of cannabinoids: harmful use | |
| 6C41.1Z Harmful pattern of use | F12.1 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| of cannabis, unspecified | due to use of cannabinoids: harmful use | |
| * | | |
| 6C41.2 Cannabis dependence | F12.2 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| | due to use of cannabinoids: dependence | |
| | syndrome | |
| 6C41 20 Complete 1 1 | F12.24 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| 6C41.20 Cannabis dependence, | | |
| current use | due to use of cannabinoids: dependence | |
| | syndrome, currently using the substance | |
| | [active dependence] | |
| | | |
| | 4-digit code: F12.2 Mental Behavioural | |
| | disorders due to use of cannabinoids: | |
| | dependence syndrome | |
| 6C41.21 Cannabis dependence, | F12.20 Mental and behavioural disorders | Select appropriate category based on |
| early full remission | due to use of cannabinoids: dependence | clinical context. |
| carry run rennission | | |
| | syndrome, currently abstinent | |
| | | |
| | OR: | |
| | | |

| | | 1 |
|------------------------------------|---|--------------------------------------|
| | F12.21 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| | due to use of cannabinoids: dependence | |
| | syndrome, currently abstinent but in a | |
| | protected environment | |
| | | |
| | 4-digit code: F12.2 Mental and | |
| | behavioural disorders due to use of | |
| | | |
| | cannabinoids: dependence syndrome | |
| 6C41.22 Cannabis dependence, | F12.24 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| sustained partial remission | due to use of cannabinoids: dependence | |
| | syndrome, currently using the substance | |
| | [active dependence] | |
| | | |
| | 4-digit code: F12.2 Mental and | |
| | behavioural disorders due to use of | |
| | cannabinoids: dependence syndrome | |
| 6C41.23 Cannabis dependence, | F12.20 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| sustained full remission | - | |
| sustained full remission | due to use of cannabinoids: dependence | |
| | syndrome, currently abstinent | |
| | | |
| | 4-digit code: F12.2 Mental and | |
| | behavioural disorders due to use of | |
| | cannabinoids: dependence syndrome | |
| 6C41.2Z Cannabis dependence, | F12.9 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| unspecified | due to use of cannabinoids: unspecified | |
| | mental and behavioural disorder | |
| 6C41.3 Cannabis intoxication | F12.0 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| 0C41.5 Califiables intoxication | due to use of cannabinoids: acute | |
| | | |
| | intoxication | |
| 6C41.4 Cannabis withdrawal | F12.3 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| | due to use of cannabinoids withdrawal | |
| | state | |
| 6C41.5 Cannabis-induced delirium | F12.03 Mental and behavioural disorders | Use F12.8 if intoxication/withdrawal |
| | due to use of cannabinoids: acute | status unknown. |
| | intoxication with delirium | |
| | | |
| | 4 digit and F12 0 Montal and | |
| | 4-digit code: F12.0 Mental and | |
| | behavioural disorders due to use of | |
| | cannabinoids: acute intoxication | |
| | | |
| | OR: | |
| | | |
| | F12.4 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| | due to use of cannabinoids withdrawal | |
| | state with delirium | |
| | | |
| | OP | |
| | OR: | |
| | | |
| | F12.8 Mental and behavioral disorders | |
| | due to use of cannabinoids: other mental | |
| | and behavioural disorders | |
| 6C41.6 Cannabis-induced psychotic | F12.5 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| disorder | due to use of cannabinoids: psychotic | |
| | disorder | |
| 6C41.7 Certain specified cannabis- | | |
| induced mental or behavioural | | |
| disorders | | |
| | $E_{12,0}M_{-n+1} = 11, 1, 2, 1, 1, 1, 1$ | |
| 6C41.70 Cannabis-induced mood | F12.8 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| disorder | due to use of cannabinoids: other mental | |
| | and behavioural disorders | |
| 6C41.71 Cannabis-induced | F12.8 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| anxiety disorder | due to use of cannabinoids: other mental | |
| | and behavioural disorders | |
| 6C41.Y Other specified disorders | F12.8 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| due to use of cannabis | due to use of cannabinoids: other mental | |
| due to use of calillabis | and behavioural disorders | |
| | and benavioural disorders | |
| | | |

| 6C41.Z Disorders due to use of cannabis, unspecified | F12.9 Mental and behavioural disorders due to use of cannabinoids: unspecified mental and behavioural disorder | |
|--|--|--------------------------------------|
| 6C42 Disorders due to use of synthetic cannabinoids | F19 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances | |
| 6C42.0 Episode of harmful use of synthetic cannabinoids | F19.8 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: other mental and behavioural disorders | |
| 6C42.1 Harmful pattern of use of synthetic cannabinoids | F19.1 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: harmful use | |
| 6C42.10 Harmful pattern of use of synthetic cannabinoids, episodic 6C42.11 Harmful pattern of use of synthetic cannabinoids, | F19.1 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: harmful use F19.1 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other | |
| continuous 6C42.1Z Harmful pattern of use of synthetic cannabinoids, unspecified | psychoactive substances: harmful use F19.1 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: harmful use | |
| 6C42.2 Synthetic cannabinoid dependence | F19.2 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: dependence syndrome | |
| 6C42.20 Synthetic cannabinoid dependence, current use | F19.24 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: dependence syndrome, currently using the substance [active dependence] | |
| 6C42.21 Synthetic cannabinoid | 4-digit code: F19.2 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: dependence syndrome F19.20 Mental and behavioural disorders | Select appropriate category based on |
| dependence, early full remission | due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: dependence syndrome, currently abstinent | clinical context. |
| | OR: F19.21 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: dependence syndrome, currently abstinent, but in a protected environment | |
| | 4-digit code: F19.2 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: dependence syndrome | |
| 6C42.22 Synthetic cannabinoid dependence, sustained partial remission | F19.24 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: dependence syndrome, currently using the substance [active dependence] | |
| | 4-digit code: F19.2 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: dependence syndrome | |
| 6C42.23 Synthetic cannabinoid dependence, sustained full remission | F19.20 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other | |

| sychoactive sublumese: dependence synchronic, currently abstituent 4-digit code: F19.2 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive expendence, unspecified dependence, unspecified 6C42.22 Synthetic camabinoid dependence, unspecified F19.2 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive sublumese: acute mitoxication 6C42.5 Synthetic camabinoid intoxication F19.0 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive sublumese: acute mitoxication 6C42.5 Synthetic camabinoid induced delirium F19.0 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive sublumese: acute mitoxication with delirium Use F19.8 if intoxication/withdrawal status is unknown. 6C42.5 Synthetic camabinoid induced delirium F19.0 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive sublumese withdrawal state behavioural disorders Use F19.8 if intoxication/withdrawal status is unknown. 6C42.6 Synthetic camabinoid induced psychoit disorders F19.4 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive sublumese withdrawal state with delirium 6C42.7 Certain specified synthetic camabinoid-induced mublipied drug use and use of other psychoactive sublumese; psychoit due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive sublumese; psychoit due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive sublumese; psychoit due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive sublumese; psychoit due to multiple drug use thene entall and behavioural disorders <t< th=""><th></th><th></th><th></th></t<> | | | |
|--|--------------------------------------|--|--------------------------------------|
| 6C42.2 Synthetic canabinoid dependence, unspecified gendence, unspecified expendence. Unspecified gendence, unspecified gendence, unspecified gendence. U | | psychoactive substances: dependence syndrome, currently abstinent | |
| 6C42.2 Synthetic canabinoid dependence, unspecified gendence, unspecified expendence. Unspecified gendence, unspecified gendence, unspecified gendence. U | | A-digit code: F19.2 Mental and | |
| drug use and use of other psychoactive 6C42.27. Synthetic camabinoid dependence, unspecified 90.72.3. Synthetic camabinoid intoxication 6C42.25. Synthetic camabinoid intoxication 6C42.25. Synthetic camabinoid intoxication 6C42.25. Synthetic camabinoid intoxication 6C42.25. Synthetic camabinoid induced delirium Psychoactive substances acute induced delirium Psychoactive substances withdrawal state 6C42.55. Synthetic camabinoid induced delirium Psychoactive substances withdrawal state friggi code: F19.0 Mential and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances withdrawal state vibitarium Psychoactive substances withdrawal state OR: F19.4 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances withdrawal state with delirium OR: F19.4 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances withdrawal state v | | - | |
| 6C42.2 ZS synthetic canabinoid P2 Mental and bahavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: dependence syndrome 6C42.3 Synthetic canabinoid F19.0 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: acute intoxication 6C42.4 Synthetic canabinoid withdrawal F19.0 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: acute intoxication Use F19.8 if intoxication/withdrawal due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: acute intoxication with delirium 6C42.5 Synthetic canabinoid- induced delirium F19.0 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: acute intoxication with delirium Status is unknown. 6C42.6 Synthetic canabinoid- induced delirium CR: F19.4 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: withdrawal state with delirium Status is unknown. OR: F19.4 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: other mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: psychotic disorder 6C42.7 Certain specified synthetic canabinoid- induced mood disorder F19.8 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: psychotic disorder 6C42.71 Synthetic cannabinoid- induced mood disorder F19.8 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and | | | |
| 6C42.2Z Synthetic cannabinoid F19.2 Mental and behavioural disorders 6C42.3 Synthetic cannabinoid F19.0 Mental and behavioural disorders 6C42.4 Synthetic cannabinoid F19.0 Mental and behavioural disorders 6C42.5 Synthetic cannabinoid F19.3 Mental and behavioural disorders 6C42.6 Synthetic cannabinoid F19.3 Mental and behavioural disorders 6C42.5 Synthetic cannabinoid F19.3 Mental and behavioural disorders 6C42.6 Synthetic cannabinoid F19.4 Mental and behavioural disorders 6C42.6 Synthetic cannabinoid F19.8 Mental and behavioural disorders 6C42.6 Synthetic cannabinoid CR: F19.4 Mental and behavioural disorders F19.8 Mental and behavioural disorders 6C42.6 Synthetic cannabinoid- CR: F19.5 Mental and behavioural disorders F19.5 Mental and behavioural disorders 6C42.7 Certain specified synthetic F19.8 Mental and behavioural disorders 6C42.7 Opyrthetic cannabinoid- E19.8 Mental and behavioural disorders 6C42.7 Opyrthetic cannabinoid- F19.8 Mental and beh | | | |
| 6C42.3 Synthetic cannabinoid intoxication F19.0 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: acute intoxication 6C42.4 Synthetic cannabinoid withdrawal F19.3 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: acute intoxication with definium Use F19.8 if intoxication/withdrawal status is unknown. 6C42.5 Synthetic cannabinoid- induced delinium 4-digit code: F19.0 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: acute intoxication with definium Use F19.8 if intoxication/withdrawal status is unknown. 719.4 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: acute intoxication Use F19.8 if intoxication/withdrawal status is unknown. 719.4 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: other mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: other mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: other mental and behavioural disorders 6C42.6 Synthetic cannabinoid- induced mood disorder F19.8 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: other mental and behavioural disorders 6C42.7 Osynthetic cannabinoid- induced mood disorder F19.8 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: other mental and behavioural disorders 6C42.7 Tysynthetic cannabinoid- induced anxi | 6C42.2Z Synthetic cannabinoid | | |
| 6C42.3 Synthetic canabinoid intoxication F19.0 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: acute intoxication Use F19.8 if intoxication/withdrawal status 6C42.4 Synthetic canabinoid induced delinium F19.3 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: acute intoxication with delinium Use F19.8 if intoxication/withdrawal status is unknown. 6C42.5 Synthetic canabinoid induced delinium F19.0 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: acute intoxication with delinium Use F19.8 if intoxication/withdrawal status is unknown. 6C42.6 Synthetic canabinoid induced psychotic disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: spechotic disorder 6C42.6 Synthetic cannabinoid induced psychotic disorder de to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: psychotic disorder F19.8 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: psychotic disorder 6C42.7 Certain specified synthetic cannabinoids-induced mental or behavioural disorders F19.8 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: other mental and behavioural disorders 6C42. | dependence, unspecified | | |
| 6C42.3 Synthetic cannabinoid intoxication F19.0 Mental and behavioural disorders withdrawal Use F19.8 if intoxication/withdrawal 6C42.4 Synthetic cannabinoid withdrawal F19.3 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances withdrawal state psychoactive substances withdrawal state induced delirium Use F19.8 if intoxication/withdrawal status is unknown. 6C42.5 Synthetic cannabinoid- induced delirium 4-digit code: F19.0 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: acute intoxication Use F19.8 if intoxication/withdrawal status is unknown. 70.8 F19.4 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: acute intoxication Use F19.8 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: withdrawal state with delirium 0R: F19.4 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: other mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances; other mental and behavioural disorders 6C42.7 Certain specified synthetic cannabinoid- induced meod disorder F19.8 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances; other mental and behavioural disorders 6C42.7 Tynthetic cannabinoid- induced anxiety disorder F19.8 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances; other mental and behavioural disorders 6C42.7 Tynthetic cannabi | | | |
| exception psychoactive substances: acute invisciation 6C42.4 Synthetic cannabinoid induced delirium F19.3 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances withdrawal state 6C42.5 Synthetic cannabinoid- induced delirium F19.03 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: acute intoxication with delirium Use F19.8 if intoxication/withdrawal status is unknown. 4-digit code: F19.0 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: acute intoxication Use F19.8 if intoxication/withdrawal status is unknown. 0R: F19.4 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: other mental and behavioural disorders 6C42.6 Synthetic cannabinoid- induced psychotic disorder due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: psychotic disorder F19.8 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: psychotic disorder 6C42.7 Certain specified synthetic cannabinoid- induced mend disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: psychotic disorder F19.8 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: cher mental and behavioural disorders 6C42.7 Dynthetic cannabinoid- induced mood disorder F19.8 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: cher mental and behavioural disorders 6C42.7 D | 6C42.3 Synthetic cannabinoid | | |
| intoxication 6C:22.4 Synthetic camabinoid withdrawal 6C:42.5 Synthetic camabinoid- induced delirium F19.03 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: acute intoxication with delirium 4-digit code: F19.0 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: acute intoxication OR: F19.4 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: withdrawal state with delirium OR: F19.4 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances withdrawal state with delirium OR: F19.4 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: other mental and behavioural disorders 6C42.6 Synthetic cannabinoid- induced psychotic disorder 6C42.7 Certain specified synthetic cannabinoids-induced mental or behavioural disorders 6C42.7 Osynthetic cannabinoid- induced mood disorder 6C42.7 Osynthetic cannabinoid- induced darkiet disorders 6C42.7 Osynthetic cannabinoid- induced anxiety disorder 6C42.7 Other specified disorders due to multiple dr | intoxication | | |
| 6C42.4 Synthetic camabinoid withdrawal F19.3 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances withdrawal state 6C42.5 Synthetic camabinoid- induced delirium F19.03 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: acute intoxication with delirium Use F19.8 if intoxication/withdrawal status is unknown. 4-digit code: F19.0 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: acute intoxication Use F19.8 if intoxication/withdrawal status is unknown. 0R: F19.4 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: other mental and behavioural disorders 6C42.6 Synthetic cannabinoid- induced psychotic disorder due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: other mental and behavioural disorders 6C42.7 Certain specified synthetic cannabinoid- induced mental or behavioural disorders F19.5 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: psychotic disorder 6C42.7 I Synthetic cannabinoid- induced mental or behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: other mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: other mental and behavioural disorders 6C42.7 I Synthetic cannabinoid- induced mental or behavioural disorders F19.8 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: other mental and behavioural disorders 6C42.7 Other s | | | |
| withdrawal due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: induced with definition 6C42.2 S Synthetic camabinoid- induced delirium F19.03 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: acute intoxication with definitan Use F19.8 if intoxication/withdrawal status is unknown. 4-digit code: F19.0 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: acute intoxication Status is unknown. OR: F19.4 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: withdrawal state with delirium OR: F19.4 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: withdrawal state with delirium OR: 6C42.6 Synthetic camabinoid- induced psychotic disorders F19.5 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: psychotic disorder F19.5 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: psychotic disorder 6C42.7 Certain specified synthetic cannabinoids-induced mental or behavioural disorders F19.8 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: other mental and behavioural disorders 6C42.7.1 Synthetic cannabinoid- induced anxiety disorder F19.8 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: other mental and behavioural disorders 6C42.7 Other sp | | | |
| induced delirium psychoactive substances withdrawal state Use F19.8 if intoxication/withdrawal state induced delirium F19.03 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: acute intoxication with delirium Use F19.8 if intoxication/withdrawal state status is unknown. 4-digit code: F19.0 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: acute intoxication Use F19.8 if intoxication with delirium 0R: F19.4 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances withdrawal state with delirium OR: F19.8 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: other mental and behavioural disorders F19.8 Mental and behavioural disorders 6C42.6 Synthetic cannabinoid-induced psychotic disorder F19.5 Mental and behavioural disorders F19.5 Mental and behavioural disorders 6C42.7 Certain specified synthetic cannabinoid-induced mental or behavioural disorders F19.8 Mental and behavioural disorders F19.8 Mental and behavioural disorders 6C42.7.0 Synthetic cannabinoid-induced mental or behavioural disorders F19.8 Mental and behavioural disorders F19.8 Mental and behavioural disorders 6C42.7.1 Synthetic cannabinoid-induced more disorders F19.8 Mental and behavioural disorders F19.8 Mental and behavioural disorders 6C42.2.7 Other speci | | | |
| 6C42.5 Synthetic cannabinoid- induced delirium F19.03 Mental and behavioural disorders bychoactive substances: acute intoxication with delirium Use F19.8 if intoxication/withdrawal status is unknown. 4-digit code: F19.0 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: acute intoxication Use F19.8 if intoxication/withdrawal status is unknown. 0R: F19.4 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: other mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: other mental and behavioural disorders 6C42.6 Synthetic cannabinoid- induced psychotic disorder due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: other mental and behavioural disorders 6C42.7 Certain specified synthetic cannabinoids-induced mental or behavioural disorders F19.8 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: other mental and behavioural disorders 6C42.7.1 Synthetic cannabinoid- induced mood disorder F19.8 Mental and behavioural disorders 6C42.7.1 Synthetic cannabinoid- induced anxiety disorder F19.8 Mental and behavioural disorders 6C42.7 Other specified synthetic cannabinoids-induced mental or behavioural disorders F19.8 Mental and behavioural disorders 6C42.7 Ubstructic cannabinoid- induced anxiety disorder F19.8 Mental and behavioural disorders 6C42.7 Ubstructic cannabinoid- induced anxiety disorder F19.8 Mental and behavioural disorders | wiindrawai | | |
| induced delirium due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: acute intoxication with delirium status is unknown. 4-digit code: F19.0 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: acute intoxication oR: F19.4 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: withdrawal state with delirium oR: F19.4 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: other mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: other mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: psychotic 6C42.6 Synthetic camabinoid-induced psychotic disorder F19.8 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: psychotic 6C42.7.0 Synthetic camabinoid-induced mental or behavioural disorders F19.8 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: other mental and behavioural disorders 6C42.7.1 Synthetic cannabinoid-induced mood disorder F19.8 Mental and behavioural disorders 6C42.7.0 Synthetic cannabinoid-induced anxiery disorders F19.8 Mental and behavioural disorders 6C42.7.1 Synthetic cannabinoid-induced mood disorder F19.8 Mental and behavioural disorders 6C42.7.1 Synthetic cannabinoid-induced anxiery disorders F19.8 Mental and behavioural disorders 6C42.7.2 Disord | 6C42 5 Synthetic cannabinoid- | | Use F19.8 if intoxication/withdrawal |
| psychoactive substances: acute intoxication with delirium 4-digit code: F19.0 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: acute intoxication OR: F19.4 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances withdrawal state with delirium OR: F19.8 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: other mental and behavioural disorders 6C42.6 Synthetic cannabinoid- induced psychotic disorder F19.8 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: other mental and behavioural disorders 6C42.7 Certain specified synthetic cannabinoids-induced mental or behavioural disorders F19.8 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: other mental and behavioural disorders 6C42.70 Synthetic cannabinoid- induced anxiety disorder F19.8 Mental and behavioural disorders 6C42.71 Synthetic cannabinoid- induced anxiety disorder F19.8 Mental and behavioural disorders 6C42.2 Other specified disorders: due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: other mental and behavioural disorders 6C42.2 Disorders due to use of synthetic cannabinoid, due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: other mental and behavioural disorders 6C42.2 Disorders due to use of synthetic cannabinoid, mental and behavioural disorders | | | |
| intoxication with delirium 4-digit code: F19.0 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: acute intoxication OR: F19.4 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: withdrawal state with delirium OR: F19.8 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: other mental and behavioural disorders 6C42.6 Synthetic cannabinoid- induced psychotic disorder F19.5 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: psychotic disorder 6C42.7 Certain specified synthetic cannabinoid- induced mod disorder 6C42.70 Synthetic cannabinoid- induced mod disorder 6C42.71 Synthetic cannabinoid- induced anxiety disorder 6C42.70 Synthetic cannabinoid- induced anxiety disorder 6C42.71 Synthetic cannabinoid- induced anxiety disorder 6C42.70 Disorders due to use of synthetic cannabinoid- induced anxiety disorder 6C42.20 Disorders due to use of synthetic cannabinoid- inctual and behavioural dis | | | |
| behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: acute intoxication OR: F19.4 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances withdrawal state with delirium OR: F19.8 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: other mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: other mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: psychotic disorder 6C42.7 Certain specified synthetic canabinoids-induced mental or behavioural disorders 6C42.71 Synthetic cannabinoid- induced mood disorder psychoactive substances: other mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: other mental and behavioural disorders file.8 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other | | | |
| behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: acute intoxication OR: F19.4 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances withdrawal state with delirium OR: F19.8 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: other mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: other mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: psychotic disorder 6C42.7 Certain specified synthetic canabinoid- induced mood disorder 6C42.71 Synthetic cannabinoid- induced mood disorder psychoactive substances: other mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: other mental and behavioural disorders file.8 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other <t< td=""><td></td><td></td><td></td></t<> | | | |
| drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: acute intoxication OR: F19.4 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances withdrawal state with delirium OR: F19.8 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: other mental and behavioural disorders 6C42.6 Synthetic cannabinoid- induced psychotic disorder F19.5 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: psychotic disorder 6C42.7 Certain specified synthetic cannabinoid-induced mental or behavioural disorders 6C42.70 Synthetic cannabinoid- induced mood disorder F19.8 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: psychotic disorders 6C42.71 Synthetic cannabinoid- induced anxiety disorder F19.8 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: other mental and behavioural disorders 6C42.71 Synthetic cannabinoid- induced anxiety disorder F19.8 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: other mental and behavioural disorders 6C42.20 Disorders due to use of synthetic cannabinoids- mutetipe drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: other mental and behavioural disorders 6C42.20 Disorders due to use of opioids F19.9 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: | | | |
| substances: acute intoxication OR: F19.4 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances withdrawal state with delirium OR: F19.8 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: other mental and behavioural disorders 6C42.6 Synthetic cannabinoid- induced psychotic disorder F19.8 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: psychotic disorder 6C42.7 Certain specified synthetic cannabinoids-induced mental or behavioural disorders F19.8 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: other mental and behavioural disorders 6C42.7 Certain specified synthetic cannabinoid- induced mood disorder F19.8 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: other mental and behavioural disorders 6C42.7 I Synthetic cannabinoid- induced anxiety disorder F19.8 Mental and behavioural disorders 6C42.7 VOther specified disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: other mental and behavioural disorders 6C42.7 Disorders due to use of synthetic cannabinoid- induced anxiety disorder F19.8 Mental and behavioural disorders 6C42.7 Disorders due to use of synthetic cannabinoids F19.8 Mental and behavioural disorders 6C42.7 Disorders due to use of synthetic cannabinoids F19.8 Mental and behavioural disorders <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> | | | |
| OR: F19.4 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances withdrawal state with delirium OR: F19.8 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: other mental and behavioural disorders 6C42.6 Synthetic cannabinoid-induced psychotic disorder F19.5 Mental and behavioural disorders 6C42.7 Certain specified synthetic cannabinoid-induced mental or behavioural disorders F19.8 Mental and behavioural disorders 6C42.70 Synthetic cannabinoid-induced mental or behavioural disorders F19.8 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: other mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: other mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: other mental and behavioural disorders 6C42.71 Synthetic cannabinoid-induced anxiety disorder F19.8 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: other mental and behavioural disorders 6C42.71 Synthetic cannabinoid-induced anxiety disorder F19.8 Mental and behavioural disorders 6C42.72 Other specified disorders F19.8 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: other mental and behavioural disorders 6C42.72 Disorders due to use of synthetic cannabinoids F19.8 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: oth | | | |
| F19.4 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances withdrawal state with delirium OR: F19.8 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: other mental and behavioural disorders f19.5 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: psychotic disorder 6C42.7 Certain specified synthetic cannabinoids-induced mental or behavioural disorders 6C42.70 Synthetic cannabinoid- induced mood disorder 6C42.71 Synthetic cannabinoid- induced amout disorders f19.8 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: other mental and behavioural disorders f19.8 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: other mental and behavioural disorders f19.8 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive subst | | substances: acute intoxication | |
| due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances withdrawal state with delirium OR: F19.8 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: other mental and behavioural disorders 6C42.6 Synthetic cannabinoid- induced psychotic disorder F19.5 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: other mental and behavioural disorders 6C42.7 Certain specified synthetic cannabinoids-induced mental or behavioural disorders F19.8 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: other mental and behavioural disorders 6C42.70 Synthetic cannabinoid- induced mood disorder F19.8 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: other mental and behavioural disorders 6C42.71 Synthetic cannabinoid- induced anxiety disorder F19.8 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: other mental and behavioural disorders 6C42.Y Other specified disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: other mental and behavioural disorders 6C42.Z Disorders due to use of synthetic cannabinoids, unspecified synthetic cannabinoids, unspecified ue to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: other mental and behavioural disorders 6C42.Z Disorders due to use of opioids F19.9 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: unspecified mental and behavioural disorders | | OR: | |
| psychoactive substances withdrawal state with delirium OR: F19.8 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: other mental and behavioural disorders 6C42.6 Synthetic cannabinoid- induced psychotic disorder F19.5 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: psychotic disorder 6C42.7 Certain specified synthetic cannabinoids-induced mental or behavioural disorders 6C42.70 Synthetic cannabinoid- induced mood disorder F19.8 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: other mental and behavioural disorders 6C42.71 Synthetic cannabinoid- induced anxiety disorder F19.8 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: other mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: other mental and behavioural disorders | | F19.4 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| psychoactive substances withdrawal state with delirium OR: F19.8 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: other mental and behavioural disorders 6C42.6 Synthetic cannabinoid- induced psychotic disorder F19.5 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: psychotic 6C42.7 Certain specified synthetic cannabinoids-induced mental or behavioural disorders 6C42.70 Synthetic cannabinoid- induced mood disorder 6C42.71 Synthetic cannabinoid- induced anxiety disorder F19.8 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: other mental and behavioural disorders 6C42.71 Synthetic cannabinoid- induced anxiety disorder F19.8 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: other mental and behavioural disorders due to use of synthetic cannabinoids induce of synthetic cannabinoids | | due to multiple drug use and use of other | |
| OR: F19.8 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: other mental and behavioural disorders 6C42.6 Synthetic cannabinoid- induced psychotic disorder 6C42.7 Certain specified synthetic cannabinoids-induced mental or behavioural disorders 6C42.70 Synthetic cannabinoid- induced mood disorder 6C42.70 Synthetic cannabinoid- induced mood disorder F19.8 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: other mental and behavioural disorders 6C42.71 Synthetic cannabinoid- induced anxiety disorder F19.8 Mental and behavioural disorders 6C42.71 Synthetic cannabinoid- induced anxiety disorder F19.8 Mental and behavioural disorders 6C42.70 Synthetic cannabinoid- induced anxiety disorder F19.8 Mental and behavioural disorders 6C42.70 Synthetic cannabinoid- induced anxiety disorder F19.8 Mental and behavioural disorders 6C42.70 Synthetic cannabinoid- induced anxiety disorders F19.8 Mental and behavioural disorders 6C42.70 Synthetic cannabinoid- induced anxiety disorders F19.8 Mental and behavioural disorders 6C42.70 Synthetic cannabinoid- induced anxiety disorders F19.8 Mental and behavioural disorders 6C42.70 Synthetic cannabinoid- induced anxiety disorders GC42.70 Synthetic cannabinoid- due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: other mental and behavioural disorders <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> | | | |
| F19.8 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: other mental and behavioural disorders 6C42.6 Synthetic cannabinoid- induced psychotic disorder F19.5 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: psychotic disorders 6C42.70 Certain specified synthetic canabinoids-induced mental or behavioural disorders 6C42.70 Synthetic cannabinoid- induced mood disorder Psychoactive substances: other mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: other mental and behavioural disorders fue to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: other mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: other mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: other mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other | | with delirium | |
| due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: other mental and behavioural disorders 6C42.6 Synthetic cannabinoid- induced psychotic disorder F19.5 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: psychotic disorder 6C42.7 Certain specified synthetic cannabinoids-induced mental or behavioural disorders F19.8 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: other mental and behavioural disorders 6C42.70 Synthetic cannabinoid- induced mood disorder F19.8 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: other mental and behavioural disorders 6C42.71 Synthetic cannabinoid- induced anxiety disorder F19.8 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: other mental and behavioural disorders 6C42.Y Other specified disorders due to use of synthetic cannabinoids F19.8 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: other mental and behavioural disorders 6C42.Z Disorders due to use of synthetic cannabinoids, unspecified mental and behavioural disorders F19.9 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: unspecified mental and behavioural disorders 6C43 Disorders due to use of opioids F11 Mental and behavioural disorders | | OR: | |
| due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: other mental and behavioural disorders 6C42.6 Synthetic cannabinoid- induced psychotic disorder F19.5 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: psychotic disorder 6C42.7 Certain specified synthetic cannabinoids-induced mental or behavioural disorders F19.8 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: other mental and behavioural disorders 6C42.70 Synthetic cannabinoid- induced mood disorder F19.8 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: other mental and behavioural disorders 6C42.71 Synthetic cannabinoid- induced anxiety disorder F19.8 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: other mental and behavioural disorders 6C42.Y Other specified disorders due to use of synthetic cannabinoids F19.8 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: other mental and behavioural disorders 6C42.Z Disorders due to use of synthetic cannabinoids, unspecified mental and behavioural disorders F19.9 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: unspecified mental and behavioural disorders 6C43 Disorders due to use of opioids F11 Mental and behavioural disorders | | F10.8 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| psychoactive substances: other mental and behavioural disorders6C42.6 Synthetic cannabinoid- induced psychotic disorderF19.5 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: psychotic disorder6C42.7 Certain specified synthetic cannabinoids-induced mental or behavioural disordersF19.8 Mental and behavioural disorders6C42.70 Synthetic cannabinoid- induced mood disorderF19.8 Mental and behavioural disorders6C42.71 Synthetic cannabinoid- induced anxiety disorderF19.8 Mental and behavioural disorders6C42.71 Synthetic cannabinoid- induced anxiety disorderF19.8 Mental and behavioural disorders6C42.70 Other specified disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: other mental and behavioural disorders6C42.71 Synthetic cannabinoid- induced anxiety disorderF19.8 Mental and behavioural disorders6C42.Y Other specified disorders due to use of synthetic cannabinoidsF19.8 Mental and behavioural disorders6C42.Z Disorders due to use of synthetic cannabinoids, unspecified mental and behavioural disordersF19.8 Mental and behavioural disorders6C42.Z Disorders due to use of synthetic cannabinoidsF19.9 Mental and behavioural disorders6C42.Z Disorders due to use of synthetic cannabinoidsF19.9 Mental and behavioural disorders6C43 Disorders due to use of synthetic cannabinoidsF19.9 Mental and behavioural disorders6C43 Disorders due to use of opioidsF11 Mental and behavioural disorders | | | |
| and behavioural disorders 6C42.6 Synthetic cannabinoid- induced psychotic disorder 6C42.7 Certain specified synthetic cannabinoids-induced mental or behavioural disorders 6C42.70 Synthetic cannabinoid- induced mood disorder 6C42.70 Synthetic cannabinoid- induced mood disorder 6C42.71 Synthetic cannabinoid- induced anxiety disorder 6C42.71 Synthetic cannabinoid- induced anxiety disorder F19.8 Mental and behavioural disorders GC42.70 Synthetic cannabinoid- induced anxiety disorder F19.8 Mental and behavioural disorders GC42.71 Synthetic cannabinoid- induced anxiety disorder F19.8 Mental and behavioural disorders GC42.70 Other specified disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: other mental and behavioural disorders 6C42.Y Other specified disorders due to use of synthetic cannabinoids, and behavioural disorders 6C42.Z Disorders due to use of synthetic cannabinoids, unspecified F19.9 Mental and behavioural disorders F19.9 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: unspecified mental and behavioural disorders 6C42.Z Disorders due to use of synthetic cannabinoids, unspecified F19.9 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: unspecified mental and behavioural disorders | | | |
| induced psychotic disorder due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: psychotic disorder 6C42.7 Certain specified synthetic cannabinoids-induced mental or behavioural disorders fill 6C42.70 Synthetic cannabinoid-induced mental or F19.8 Mental and behavioural disorders 6C42.70 Synthetic cannabinoid-induced mood disorder F19.8 Mental and behavioural disorders 6C42.71 Synthetic cannabinoid-induced anxiety disorder F19.8 Mental and behavioural disorders 6C42.71 Synthetic cannabinoid-induced anxiety disorder F19.8 Mental and behavioural disorders 6C42.71 Synthetic cannabinoid-induced anxiety disorder F19.8 Mental and behavioural disorders 6C42.Y Other specified disorders F19.8 Mental and behavioural disorders 6C42.Y Other specified disorders F19.8 Mental and behavioural disorders due to use of synthetic cannabinoids F19.8 Mental and behavioural disorders 6C42.Z Disorders due to use of synthetic cannabinoids F19.9 Mental and behavioural disorders 6C42.Z Disorders due to use of synthetic cannabinoids F19.9 Mental and behavioural disorders 6C42.Z Disorders due to use of synthetic cannabinoids F19.9 Mental and behavioural disorders 6C43 Disorders due to use of opioids F19.1 Mental and behavioural disorders | | | |
| induced psychotic disorder due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: psychotic disorder 6C42.7 Certain specified synthetic cannabinoids-induced mental or behavioural disorders file 6C42.70 Synthetic cannabinoid-induced mood disorder F19.8 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: other mental and behavioural disorders 6C42.71 Synthetic cannabinoid-induced anxiety disorder F19.8 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: other mental and behavioural disorders 6C42.71 Synthetic cannabinoid-induced anxiety disorder F19.8 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: other mental and behavioural disorders 6C42.Y Other specified disorders F19.8 Mental and behavioural disorders due to use of synthetic cannabinoids F19.8 Mental and behavioural disorders 6C42.Z Disorders due to use of synthetic cannabinoids, unspecified F19.9 Mental and behavioural disorders 6C42.Z Disorders due to use of synthetic cannabinoids, unspecified F19.9 Mental and behavioural disorders 6C43 Disorders due to use of opioids F19.1 Mental and behavioural disorders | 6C42.6 Synthetic cannabinoid- | F19.5 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| 6C42.7 Certain specified synthetic cannabinoids-induced mental or behavioural disorders 6C42.70 Synthetic cannabinoid- induced mood disorder psychoactive substances: other mental and behavioural disorders 6C42.71 Synthetic cannabinoid- induced anxiety disorder F19.8 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: other mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: other mental and behavioural disorders due to use of synthetic cannabinoids F19.8 Mental and behavioural disorders due to use of synthetic cannabinoids 6C42.Y Other specified disorders due to use of synthetic cannabinoids F19.8 Mental and behavioural disorders due to use of synthetic cannabinoids f19.9 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: other mental and behavioural disorders GC42.Z Disorders due to use of synthetic cannabinoids, unspecified mental and behavioural disorders <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> | | | |
| 6C42.7 Certain specified synthetic cannabinoids-induced mental or behavioural disorders F19.8 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: other mental and behavioural disorders 6C42.71 Synthetic cannabinoid- induced anxiety disorder F19.8 Mental and behavioural disorders 6C42.71 Synthetic cannabinoid- induced anxiety disorder F19.8 Mental and behavioural disorders 6C42.72 Other specified disorders due to use of synthetic cannabinoids F19.8 Mental and behavioural disorders 6C42.Y Other specified disorders due to use of synthetic cannabinoids F19.8 Mental and behavioural disorders 6C42.Y Other specified disorders due to use of synthetic cannabinoids F19.8 Mental and behavioural disorders 6C42.Z Disorders due to use of synthetic cannabinoids, unspecified F19.9 Mental and behavioural disorders 6C43 Disorders due to use of opioids F11 Mental and behavioural disorders | | | |
| cannabinoids-induced mental or behavioural disordersF19.8 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: other mental and behavioural disorders6C42.70 Synthetic cannabinoid- induced mood disorderF19.8 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: other mental and behavioural disorders6C42.71 Synthetic cannabinoid- induced anxiety disorderF19.8 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: other mental and behavioural disorders6C42.Y Other specified disorders due to use of synthetic cannabinoidsF19.8 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: other mental and behavioural disorders6C42.Z Disorders due to use of synthetic cannabinoids, unspecifiedF19.9 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: unspecified mental and behavioural disorders6C43 Disorders due to use of opioidsF11 Mental and behavioural disorders | 6C127 Certain specified synthetic | disorder | |
| 6C42.70 Synthetic cannabinoid- induced mood disorder F19.8 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: other mental and behavioural disorders 6C42.71 Synthetic cannabinoid- induced anxiety disorder F19.8 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: other mental and behavioural disorders 6C42.Y Other specified disorders due to use of synthetic cannabinoids F19.8 Mental and behavioural disorders 6C42.Y Other specified disorders due to use of synthetic cannabinoids F19.8 Mental and behavioural disorders 6C42.Z Disorders due to use of synthetic cannabinoids, unspecified F19.9 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: other mental and behavioural disorders 6C43 Disorders due to use of opioids F11 Mental and behavioural disorders | cannabinoids-induced mental or | | |
| induced mood disorderdue to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: other mental and behavioural disorders6C42.71 Synthetic cannabinoid- induced anxiety disorderF19.8 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: other mental and behavioural disorders6C42.Y Other specified disorders due to use of synthetic cannabinoidsF19.8 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: other mental and behavioural disorders6C42.Y Other specified disorders due to use of synthetic cannabinoidsF19.8 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: other mental and behavioural disorders6C42.Z Disorders due to use of synthetic cannabinoids, unspecifiedF19.9 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: unspecified mental and behavioural disorders6C43 Disorders due to use of opioidsF11 Mental and behavioural disorders | | F19.8 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| psychoactive substances: other mental and behavioural disorders6C42.71 Synthetic cannabinoid- induced anxiety disorderF19.8 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: other mental and behavioural disorders6C42.Y Other specified disorders due to use of synthetic cannabinoidsF19.8 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: other mental and behavioural disorders6C42.Z Disorders due to use of synthetic cannabinoids, unspecifiedF19.9 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: other mental and behavioural disorders6C43 Disorders due to use of opioidsF11 Mental and behavioural disorders | | , -, -, -, -, -, -, -, -, -, -, -, -, | |
| and behavioural disorders6C42.71 Synthetic cannabinoid- induced anxiety disorderF19.8 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: other mental and behavioural disorders6C42.Y Other specified disorders due to use of synthetic cannabinoidsF19.8 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: other mental and behavioural disorders6C42.Y Other specified disorders due to use of synthetic cannabinoidsF19.8 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: other mental and behavioural disorders6C42.Z Disorders due to use of synthetic cannabinoids, unspecifiedF19.9 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: unspecified mental and behavioural disorders6C43 Disorders due to use of opioidsF11 Mental and behavioural disorders | | | |
| 6C42.71 Synthetic cannabinoid- induced anxiety disorder F19.8 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: other mental and behavioural disorders 6C42.Y Other specified disorders due to use of synthetic cannabinoids F19.8 Mental and behavioural disorders 6C42.Y Other specified disorders due to use of synthetic cannabinoids F19.8 Mental and behavioural disorders 6C42.Z Disorders due to use of synthetic cannabinoids, unspecified F19.9 Mental and behavioural disorders 6C43 Disorders due to use of opioids F11 Mental and behavioural disorders | | | |
| induced anxiety disorderdue to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: other mental and behavioural disorders6C42.Y Other specified disordersF19.8 Mental and behavioural disordersdue to use of synthetic cannabinoidsF19.8 Mental and behavioural disordersdue to use of synthetic cannabinoidsdue to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: other mental and behavioural disorders6C42.Z Disorders due to use of synthetic cannabinoids, unspecifiedF19.9 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: unspecified mental and behavioural disorder6C43 Disorders due to use of opioidsF11 Mental and behavioural disorders | 6C42.71 Synthetic cannabinoid- | | |
| and behavioural disorders 6C42.Y Other specified disorders due to use of synthetic cannabinoids behavioural disorders due to use of synthetic cannabinoids 6C42.Z Disorders due to use of synthetic cannabinoids, unspecified F19.9 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: other mental and behavioural disorders 6C42.Z Disorders due to use of synthetic cannabinoids, unspecified due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: unspecified mental and behavioural disorders 6C43 Disorders due to use of opioids | | | |
| 6C42.Y Other specified disorders due to use of synthetic cannabinoids F19.8 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: other mental and behavioural disorders 6C42.Z Disorders due to use of synthetic cannabinoids, unspecified F19.9 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: unspecified mental and behavioural disorder 6C43 Disorders due to use of opioids F11 Mental and behavioural disorders | | | |
| due to use of synthetic cannabinoids due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: other mental and behavioural disorders 6C42.Z Disorders due to use of synthetic cannabinoids, unspecified F19.9 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: unspecified F19.9 Mental and behavioural disorders 6C43 Disorders due to use of opioids F11 Mental and behavioural disorders | | | |
| behavioural disorders 6C42.Z Disorders due to use of synthetic cannabinoids, unspecified F19.9 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: unspecified mental and behavioural disorder 6C43 Disorders due to use of opioids | | | |
| and behavioural disorders 6C42.Z Disorders due to use of synthetic cannabinoids, unspecified F19.9 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: unspecified mental and behavioural disorder 6C43 Disorders due to use of opioids F11 Mental and behavioural disorders | due to use of synthetic cannabinoids | | |
| 6C42.Z Disorders due to use of synthetic cannabinoids, unspecified F19.9 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: unspecified mental and behavioural disorder 6C43 Disorders due to use of opioids F11 Mental and behavioural disorders | | | |
| synthetic cannabinoids, unspecified due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: unspecified mental and behavioural disorder 6C43 Disorders due to use of opioids F11 Mental and behavioural disorders | 6C42 7 Disorders due to use of | | |
| by psychoactive substances: unspecified mental and behavioural disorder 6C43 Disorders due to use of opioids F11 Mental and behavioural disorders | | | |
| mental and behavioural disorder 6C43 Disorders due to use of opioids F11 Mental and behavioural disorders | synaneue cumuomoras, unspecifica | | |
| 6C43 Disorders due to use of opioids F11 Mental and behavioural disorders | | | |
| | 6C43 Disorders due to use of opioids | | |
| | - | due to use of opioids | |

| 6C43.0 Episode of harmful use of | F11.8 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
|---|--|--|
| opioids | due to use of opioids: other mental and | |
| 1 | behavioural disorders | |
| 6C43.1 Harmful pattern of use of | F11.1 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| opioids | due to use of opioids: harmful use | |
| 6C43.10 Harmful pattern of use | F11.1 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| of opioids, episodic | due to use of opioids: harmful use | |
| 6C43.11 Harmful pattern of use | F11.1 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| of opioids, continuous | due to use of opioids: harmful use | |
| 6C43.1Z Harmful pattern of use | F11.1 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| of opioids, unspecified | due to use of opioids: harmful use | |
| | | |
| 6C43.2 Opioid dependence | F11.2 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| | due to use of opioids: dependence | |
| | syndrome | |
| 6C43.20 Opioid dependence, | F11.24 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| current use | due to use of opioids: dependence | |
| | syndrome, currently using the substance | |
| | [active dependence] | |
| | | |
| | 4-digit code: F11.2 Mental and behavioural disorders due to use of | |
| | | |
| 6C43.21 Opioid dependence, | opioids: dependence syndrome F11.20 Mental and behavioural disorders | Salaat annuanista aatagam; bagad an |
| early full remission | due to use of opioids: dependence | Select appropriate category based on clinical context. |
| early full remission | syndrome, currently abstinent | chinical context. |
| | syndrome, currentry abstinent | |
| | OR: | |
| | OK. | |
| | F11.21 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| | due to use of opioids: dependence | |
| | syndrome, currently abstinent, but in a | |
| | protected environment | |
| | protected environment | |
| | OR: | |
| | | |
| | F11.23 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| | due to use of opioids: dependence | |
| | syndrome, currently abstinent, but | |
| | receiving treatment with aversive or | |
| | blocking drugs (e.g., naltrexone or | |
| | disulfiram) | |
| | | |
| | 4-digit code: F11.2 Mental and | |
| | behavioural disorders due to use of | |
| (C42.22.0.1.1.1.1.1 | opioids: dependence syndrome | |
| 6C43.22 Opioid dependence, | F11.24 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| sustained partial remission | due to use of opioids: dependence | |
| | syndrome, currently using the substance | |
| | [active dependence] | |
| | 4-digit code: F11.2 Mental and | |
| | behavioural disorders due to use of | |
| | opioids: dependence syndrome | |
| 6C43.23 Opioid dependence, | F11.20 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| sustained full remission | due to use of opioids: dependence | |
| susumed full fellission | syndrome, currently abstinent | |
| | Synarome, currently abstitlent | |
| | 4-digit code: F11.2 Mental and | |
| | behavioural disorders due to use of | |
| | opioids: dependence syndrome | |
| | | |
| 6C43.2Z Opioid dependence | | |
| 6C43.2Z Opioid dependence, unspecified | F11.2 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| 6C43.2Z Opioid dependence, unspecified | F11.2 Mental and behavioural disorders due to use of opioids: dependence | |
| | F11.2 Mental and behavioural disorders | |

| 6C43.4 Opioid withdrawal | F11.3 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
|---|---|---|
| 6C43.5 Opioid-induced delirium | due to use of opioids withdrawal state F11.03 Mental and behavioural disorders due to use of opioids: acute intoxication with delirium | Use F11.8 if intoxication/withdrawal status is unknown. |
| | 4-digit code: F11.0 Mental and behavioural disorders due to use of opioids: acute intoxication | |
| | OR: | |
| | F11.4 Mental and behavioural disorders due to use of opioids withdrawal state with delirium | |
| | OR: | |
| | F11.8 Mental and behavioural disorders due to use of opioids: other mental and behavioural disorders | |
| 6C43.6 Opioid-induced psychotic | F11.5 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| disorder 6C43.7 Certain specified opioid- | due to use of opioids: psychotic disorder | |
| induced mental or behavioural disorders | | |
| 6C43.70 Opioid-induced mood | F11.8 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| disorder | due to use of opioids: other mental and behavioural disorders | |
| 6C43.71 Opioid-induced anxiety | F11.8 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| disorder | due to use of opioids: other mental and | |
| 6C43.Y Other specified disorders | behavioural disorders F11.8 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| due to use of opioids | due to use of opioids: other mental and behavioural disorders | |
| 6C43.Z Disorders due to use of | F11.9 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| opioids, unspecified | due to use of opioids: unspecified mental and behavioural disorder | |
| 6C44 Disorders due to use of sedatives, hypnotics or anxiolytics | F13 Mental and behavioural disorders due to use of sedatives or hypnotics | |
| 6C44.0 Episode of harmful use of | F13.8 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| sedatives, hypnotics or anxiolytics | due to use of sedatives or hypnotics: other mental and behavioural disorders | |
| 6C44.1 Harmful pattern of use of | F13.1 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| sedatives, hypnotics or anxiolytics | due to use of sedatives or hypnotics: harmful use | |
| 6C44.10 Harmful pattern of use | F13.1 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| of sedatives, hypnotics or anxiolytics, episodic | due to use of sedatives or hypnotics: harmful use | |
| 6C44.11 Harmful pattern of use | F13.1 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| of sedatives, hypnotics or anxiolytics, continuous | due to use of sedatives or hypnotics: harmful use | |
| 6C44.1Z Harmful pattern of use | F13.1 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| of sedatives, hypnotics or anxiolytics, unspecified | due to use of sedatives or hypnotics: harmful use | |
| 6C44.2 Sedative, hypnotic or | F13.2 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| anxiolytic dependence | due to use of sedatives or hypnotics: dependence syndrome | |
| 6C44.20 Sedative, hypnotic or | F13.24 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| anxiolytic dependence, current | due to use of sedatives or hypnotics: | |
| use | dependence syndrome, currently using | |
| | the substance [active dependence] | |
| | 4-digit code: F13.2 Mental and behavioural disorders due to use of | |

| | sedatives or hypnotics: dependence syndrome | |
|---|---|--|
| 6C44.21 Sedative, hypnotic or anxiolytic dependence, early full remission | F13.20 Mental and behavioural disorders due to use of sedatives or hypnotics: dependence syndrome, currently abstinent | Select appropriate category based on clinical context. |
| | OR: | |
| | F13.21 Mental and behavioural disorders due to use of sedatives or hypnotics: | |
| | dependence syndrome, currently abstinent, but in a protected environment | |
| | 4-digit code: F13.2 Mental and behavioural disorders due to use of sedatives or hypnotics: dependence syndrome | |
| 6C44.22 Sedative, hypnotic or anxiolytic dependence, sustained | F13.24 Mental and behavioural disorders due to use of sedatives or hypnotics: | |
| partial remission | dependence syndrome, currently using the substance [active dependence] | |
| | 4-digit code: F13.2 Mental and behavioural disorders due to use of | |
| | sedatives or hypnotics: dependence | |
| 6C44.23 Sedative, hypnotic or | syndrome F13.20 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| anxiolytic dependence, sustained full remission | due to use of sedatives or hypnotics: dependence syndrome, currently abstinent | |
| | 4-digit code: F13.2 Mental and behavioural disorders due to use of sedatives or hypnotics: dependence | |
| 6C44.2Z Sedative, hypnotic or anxiolytic dependence, | syndrome F13.2 Mental and behavioural disorders due to use of sedatives or hypnotics: | |
| unspecified | dependence syndrome | |
| 6C44.3 Sedative, hypnotic or anxiolytic intoxication | F13.0 Mental and behavioural disorders due to use of sedatives or hypnotics: acute intoxication | |
| 6C44.4 Sedative, hypnotic or anxiolytic withdrawal | F13.3 Mental and behavioural disorders due to use of sedatives or hypnotics withdrawal state | |
| 6C44.40 Sedative, hypnotic or anxiolytic withdrawal, uncomplicated | F13.30 Mental and behavioural disorders due to use of sedatives or hypnotics withdrawal state, uncomplicated | |
| | 4-digit code: F13.3 Mental and behavioural disorders due to use of sedatives or hypnotics withdrawal state | |
| 6C44.41 Sedative, hypnotic or anxiolytic withdrawal, with perceptual disturbances | F13.3 Mental and behavioural disorders due to use of sedatives or hypnotics withdrawal state | |
| 6C44.42 Sedative, hypnotic or | F13.31 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| anxiolytic withdrawal, with seizures | due to use of sedatives or hypnotics withdrawal state, with convulsions | |
| | 4-digit code: F13.3 Mental and behavioural disorders due to use of sedatives or hypnotics withdrawal state | |
| 6C44.43 Sedative, hypnotic or | F13.31 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| anxiolytic withdrawal, with perceptual disturbances and seizures | due to use of sedatives or hypnotics withdrawal state, with convulsions | |

| | 4-digit code: F13.3 Mental and behavioural disorders due to use of sedatives or hypnotics withdrawal state | |
|---|--|---|
| 6C44.4Z Sedative, hypnotic or anxiolytic withdrawal, unspecified | F13.3 Mental and behavioural disorders due to use of sedatives or hypnotics withdrawal state | |
| 6C44.5 Sedative, hypnotic or anxiolytic-induced delirium | F13.03 Mental and behavioural disorders due to use of sedatives or hypnotics: acute intoxication with delirium | Use F13.8 if intoxication/withdrawal status is unknown. |
| | 4-digit code: F13.0 Mental and behavioural disorders due to use of sedatives or hypnotics: acute intoxication | |
| | OR: | |
| | F13.4 Mental and behavioural disorders due to use of sedatives or hypnotics withdrawal state with delirium | |
| | OR: | |
| | F13.8 Mental or behavioural disorders due to use of sedatives or hypnotics: other mental and behavioural disorders | |
| 6C44.6 Sedative, hypnotic or anxiolytic-induced psychotic disorder | F13.5 Mental and behavioural disorders due to use of sedatives or hypnotics: psychotic disorder | |
| 6C44.7 Certain specified sedatives, hypnotics or anxiolytic-induced mental or behavioural disorders | | |
| 6C44.70 Sedative, hypnotic or anxiolytic-induced mood disorder | F13.8 Mental and behavioural disorders due to use of sedatives or hypnotics: other mental and behavioural disorders | |
| 6C44.71 Sedative, hypnotic or anxiolytic-induced anxiety disorder | F13.8 Mental and behavioural disorders due to use of sedatives or hypnotics: other mental and behavioural disorders | |
| 6C44.Y Other specified disorders due to use of sedatives, hypnotics or anxiolytics | F13.8 Mental and behavioural disorders due to use of sedatives or hypnotics: other mental and behavioural disorders | |
| 6C44.Z Disorders due to use of sedatives, hypnotics or anxiolytics, unspecified | F13.9 Mental and behavioural disorders due to use of sedatives or hypnotics: unspecified mental and behavioural | |
| 6C45 Disorders due to use of cocaine | disorder F14 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| 6C45.0 Episode of harmful use of cocaine | due to use of cocaine F14.8 Mental and behavioural disorders due to use of cocaine: other mental and | |
| 6C45.1 Harmful pattern of use of cocaine | behavioural disorders F14.1 Mental and behavioural disorders due to use of cocaine: harmful use | |
| 6C45.10 Harmful pattern of use of cocaine, episodic | F14.1 Mental and behavioural disorders due to use of cocaine: harmful use | |
| 6C45.11 Harmful pattern of use of cocaine, continuous | F14.1 Mental and behavioural disorders due to use of cocaine: harmful use | |
| 6C45.1Z Harmful pattern of use of cocaine, unspecified | F 14.1 Mental and behavioural disorders due to use of cocaine: harmful use | |
| 6C45.2 Cocaine dependence | F14.2 Mental and behavioural disorders due to use of cocaine: dependence syndrome | |
| 6C45.20 Cocaine dependence, current use | F14.24 Mental and behavioural disorders due to use of cocaine: dependence syndrome, currently using the substance [active dependence] | |

| | 4-digit code: F14.2 Mental and behavioural disorders due to use of cocaine: dependence syndrome | |
|--|---|--|
| 6C45.21 Cocaine dependence, early full remission | F14.20 Mental and behavioural disorders due to use of cocaine: dependence syndrome, currently abstinent | Select appropriate category based on clinical context. |
| | OR: | |
| | F14.21 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| | due to use of cocaine: dependence syndrome, currently abstinent, but in a protected environment | |
| | 4-digit code: F14.2 Mental and | |
| | behavioural disorders due to use of cocaine: dependence syndrome | |
| 6C45.22 Cocaine dependence, | F14.23 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| sustained partial remission | due to use of cocaine: dependence syndrome, currently using the substance | |
| | [active dependence] | |
| | 4-digit code: F14.2 Mental and | |
| | behavioural disorders due to use of cocaine: dependence syndrome | |
| 6C45.23 Cocaine dependence, | F14.20 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| sustained full remission | due to use of cocaine: dependence syndrome, currently abstinent | |
| | 4-digit code: F14.2 Mental and | |
| | behavioural disorders due to use of | |
| 6C45.2Z Cocaine dependence, | cocaine: dependence syndrome F14.2 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| unspecified | due to use of cocaine: dependence syndrome | |
| 6C45.3 Cocaine intoxication | F14.0 Mental and behavioural disorders due to use of cocaine: acute intoxication | |
| 6C45.4 Cocaine withdrawal | F14.3 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| 6C45.5 Cocaine-induced delirium | due to use of cocaine withdrawal state F14.03 Mental and behavioural disorders | Use F14.8 if intoxication/withdrawal |
| | due to use of cocaine: acute intoxication with delirium | status unknown. |
| | 4-digit code: F14.0 Mental and behavioural disorders due to use of cocaine: acute intoxication | |
| | OR: | |
| | F14.4 Mental and behavioural disorders due to use of cocaine withdrawal state with delirium | |
| | OR: | |
| | F14.8 Mental and behavioural disorders due to use of cocaine: other mental and | |
| 6C45.6 Cocaine-induced psychotic | behavioural disorders F14.5 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| disorder | due to use of cocaine: psychotic disorder | |
| 6C45.60 Cocaine-induced psychotic disorder with | F14.52 Mental and behavioural disorders due to use of cocaine: psychotic disorder, | |
| hallucinations | predominantly hallucinatory | |

| | | |
|---|--|--|
| | 4-digit code: F14.5 Mental and | |
| | behavioural disorders due to use of | |
| | cocaine: psychotic disorder | |
| 6C45.61 Cocaine-induced | F14.51 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| psychotic disorder with delusions | due to use of cocaine: psychotic disorder, | |
| psycholic disorder with defusions | | |
| | predominantly delusional | |
| | | |
| | 4-digit code: F14.5 Mental and | |
| | behavioural disorders due to use of | |
| | cocaine: psychotic disorder | |
| 6C45.62 Cocaine-induced | F14.56 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| | | |
| psychotic disorder with mixed | due to use of cocaine: psychotic disorder, | |
| psychotic symptoms | mixed | |
| | | |
| | 4-digit code: F14.5 Mental and | |
| | behavioural disorders due to use of | |
| | cocaine: psychotic disorder | |
| | | |
| 6C45.6Z Cocaine-induced | F14.5 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| psychotic disorder, unspecified | due to use of cocaine: psychotic disorder | |
| 6C45.7 Certain specified cocaine- | | |
| induced mental or behavioural | | |
| disorders | | |
| | $E14.9 M_{ent-1} = 11.1 = 1.11 = 1.11$ | |
| 6C45.70 Cocaine-induced mood | F14.8 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| disorder | due to use of cocaine: other mental and | |
| | behavioural disorders | |
| 6C45.71 Cocaine-induced | F14.8 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| anxiety disorder | due to use of cocaine: other mental and | |
| anxiety disorder | | |
| | behavioural disorders | |
| 6C45.72 Cocaine-induced | F14.8 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| obsessive-compulsive or related | due to use of cocaine: other mental and | |
| disorder | behavioural disorders | |
| 6C45.73 Cocaine-induced | F14.8 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| | due to use of cocaine: other mental and | |
| impulse control disorder | | |
| | behavioural disorders | |
| 6C45.Y Other specified disorders | F14.8 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| due to use of cocaine | due to use of cocaine: other mental and | |
| | behavioural disorders | |
| 6C45.Z Disorders due to use of | F14.9 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| | | |
| cocaine, unspecified | due to use of cocaine: unspecified mental | |
| | and behavioural disorder | |
| 6C46 Disorders due to use of stimulants | F15 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| including amphetamines, | due to use of other stimulants, including | |
| methamphetamine or methcathinone | caffeine | |
| 6C46.0 Episode of harmful use of | F15.8 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| | | |
| stimulants including amphetamines, | due to use of other stimulants, including | |
| methamphetamine or methcathinone | caffeine: other mental and behavioural | |
| | disorders | |
| 6C46.1 Harmful pattern of use of | F15.1 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| stimulants including amphetamines, | due to use of other stimulants, including | |
| | , E | |
| methamphetamine or methcathinone | caffeine: harmful use | |
| 6C46.10 Harmful pattern of use | F15.1 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| of stimulants including | due to use of other stimulants, including | |
| amphetamines, | caffeine: harmful use | |
| methamphetamine or | | |
| | | |
| methcathinone, episodic | | |
| 6C46.11 Harmful pattern of use | F15.1 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| of stimulants including | due to use of other stimulants, including | |
| amphetamines, | caffeine: harmful use | |
| methamphetamine or | | |
| methcathinone, continuous | | |
| | F151M (1 11 1 1 1 1 1 | |
| 6C46.1Z Harmful pattern of use | F15.1 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| of stimulants including | due to use of other stimulants, including | |
| amphetamines, | caffeine: harmful use | |
| methamphetamine and | | |
| | | |
| methcathinone, unspecified | | |

| 6C46.2 Stimulant dependence including amphetamines, methamphetamine or methacabhione, current use F15.2 Mental and behavioural disorders due to use of other stimulants, including caffeine: dependence syndrome, currently using the substance [active substance] 6C46.21 Stimulant dependence including amphetamines, methamphetamine or methacabhione, current use F15.2 Mental and behavioural disorders due to use of other stimulants, including caffeine: dependence syndrome. 6C46.21 Stimulant dependence including amphetamines, methamphetamine or methamphetamine or methacabhione, early full remission F15.2 Mental and behavioural disorders due to use of other stimulants, including caffeine: dependence syndrome, currently abstinent Select appropriate category based of clinical context. 6C46.22 Stimulant dependence including amphetamines, methamphetamine or methamphetamine or methamphetamine, methamphetamine, methamphetamine or methamphetamine or methamphetamine, methamphetamine or methamphetamine or methamphetamine or methamphetamine or methamphetamine or m | <u></u> |
|--|-----------|
| methamphetamine or methcathinone caffeine: dependence syndrome 6C46.20 Stimulant dependence including amphetamines, methamphetamine or methcathinone, current use F15.24 Mental and behavioural disorders due to use of other stimulants, including caffeine: dependence syndrome, currently using the substance [active substance] 6C46.21 Stimulant dependence including amphetamines, methamphetamine or methcathinone, early full remission Select appropriate category based of clinical context. 6C46.21 Stimulant dependence including amphetamines, methamphetamine or methcathinone, early full remission F15.20 Mental and behavioural disorders due to use of other stimulants, including caffeine: dependence syndrome, currently abstinent Select appropriate category based of clinical context. 0R: F15.21 Mental and behavioural disorders due to use of other stimulants, including caffeine: dependence syndrome, currently abstinent, but in a protected environment Select appropriate category based of clinical context. 6C46.22 Stimulant dependence including amphetamines, methamphetamine or methcathinone, sustained partial F15.24 Mental and behavioural disorders due to use of other stimulants, including caffeine: dependence syndrome 6C46.22 Stimulant dependence including amphetamines, methamphetamine or methcathinone, sustained partial F15.24 Mental and behavioural disorders due to use of other stimulants, including caffeine: dependence syndrome, currently using the substance [active dependence] | <u>)n</u> |
| 6C46.20 Stimulant dependence F15.24 Mental and behavioural disorders including amphetamines, caffeine: dependence syndrome, currently methamphetamine or caffeine: dependence syndrome, currently using the substance [active substance] 4-digit code: F15.2 Mental and behavioural disorders due to use of other stimulants, including caffeine: dependence syndrome F15.20 Mental and behavioural disorders 6C46.21 Stimulant dependence F15.20 Mental and behavioural disorders methamphetamine or refisite: dependence syndrome, currently methamphetamine, caffeine: dependence syndrome, currently abstinent OR: F15.21 Mental and behavioural disorders clinical context. OR: F15.21 Mental and behavioural disorders due to use of other stimulants, including caffeine: dependence syndrome, currently abstinent OR: F15.21 Mental and behavioural disorders clinical context. edue to use of other stimulants, including caffeine: dependence syndrome caffeine: dependence syndrome F15.24 Mental and behavioural disorders due to use of other stimulants, including caffeine: dependence syndrome 6C46.22 Stimulant dependence F15.24 Mental and | <u>)n</u> |
| including amphetamines, methamphetamine or metheathinone, current usedue to use of other stimulants, including caffeine: dependence syndrome, currently using the substance [active substance]select appropriate category based of clinical context.6C46.21 Stimulant dependence including amphetamines, metheathinone, early full remissionF15.20 Mental and behavioural disorders due to use of other stimulants, including caffeine: dependence syndrome, currently abstinentSelect appropriate category based of clinical context.0R:F15.21 Mental and behavioural disorders due to use of other stimulants, including caffeine: dependence syndrome, currently abstinentSelect appropriate category based of clinical context.4-digit code:F15.21 Mental and behavioural disorders due to use of other stimulants, including caffeine: dependence syndrome, currently abstinent, but in a protected environmentSelect appropriate category based of clinical context.6C46.22 Stimulant dependence including amphetamines, methamphetamine, methamphetamine, methamphetamine, methamphetamine, methamphetamine, methamphetamine, methamphetamine, methamphetamine, methamphetamine, methamphetamine, methamphetamine, methamphetamine, methamphetamine, methamphetamine, methamphetamine, sustained partialF15.24 Mental and behavioural disorders due to use of other stimulants, including caffeine: dependence syndrome, currently using the substance [active dependence]Select appropriate category based of clinical context.6C46.22 Stimulant dependence including amphetamine, methamphetamine or methamphetamine or methamphetamine or methamphetamine or methamphetamine, methamphetamine, methamphe | <u>)n</u> |
| methamphetamine or methcathinone, current usecaffeine: dependence syndrome, currently using the substance [active substance]4-digit code: F15.2 Mental and behavioural disorders due to use of other stimulants, including caffeine: dependence syndrome, currently abstinentSelect appropriate category based of clinical context.6C46.21 Stimulant dependence including amphetamines, methamphetamine or methcathinone, early full remissionF15.20 Mental and behavioural disorders due to use of other stimulants, including caffeine: dependence syndrome, currently abstinentSelect appropriate category based of clinical context.0R:F15.21 Mental and behavioural disorders due to use of other stimulants, including caffeine: dependence syndrome, currently abstinentSelect appropriate category based of clinical context.4-digit code: F15.2 Mental and behavioural disorders due to use of other stimulants, including caffeine: dependence syndrome, currently abstinent, but in a protected environmentSelect appropriate category based of clinical context.6C46.22 Stimulant dependence including amphetamines, methamphetamine or methcathinone, sustained partialF15.24 Mental and behavioural disorders due to use of other stimulants, including caffeine: dependence syndrome6C46.22 Stimulant dependence including amphetamines, methamphetamine or methcathinone, sustained partialF15.24 Mental and behavioural disorders due to use of other stimulants, including caffeine: dependence syndrome, currently using the substance [active dependence] | <u>)n</u> |
| methcathinone, current use using the substance [active substance] 4-digit code: F15.2 Mental and behavioural disorders due to use of other stimulants, including caffeine: dependence syndrome Select appropriate category based of clinical context. 6C46.21 Stimulant dependence including amphetamines, methamphetamine or methcathinone, early full remission F15.20 Mental and behavioural disorders due to use of other stimulants, including caffeine: dependence syndrome, currently abstinent Select appropriate category based of clinical context. OR: F15.21 Mental and behavioural disorders due to use of other stimulants, including caffeine: dependence syndrome, currently abstinent Select appropriate category based of clinical context. OR: F15.21 Mental and behavioural disorders due to use of other stimulants, including caffeine: dependence syndrome, currently abstinent, but in a protected environment 4-digit code: F15.2 Mental and behavioural disorders due to use of other stimulants, including caffeine: dependence syndrome 6C46.22 Stimulant dependence including amphetamines, methamphetamine, methamphetamine or methcathinone, sustained partial F15.24 Mental and behavioural disorders due to use of other stimulants, including caffeine: dependence syndrome, currently using the substance [active dependence] | <u>)n</u> |
| 6C46.21 Stimulant dependence including amphetamines, methamphetamine or methcathinone, early full remission F15.20 Mental and behavioural disorders due to use of other stimulants, including caffeine: dependence syndrome, currently abstinent Select appropriate category based of clinical context. 0R: F15.21 Mental and behavioural disorders due to use of other stimulants, including caffeine: dependence syndrome, currently abstinent Select appropriate category based of clinical context. 6C46.22 Stimulant dependence including amphetamines, methamphetamines, methamphetamin | <u>)n</u> |
| behavioural disorders due to use of other stimulants, including caffeine: dependence syndromeSelect appropriate category based of clinical context.6C46.21 Stimulant dependence including amphetamines, methamphetamine or methcathinone, early full remissionF15.20 Mental and behavioural disorders due to use of other stimulants, including caffeine: dependence syndrome, currently abstinentSelect appropriate category based of clinical context.OR:F15.21 Mental and behavioural disorders due to use of other stimulants, including caffeine: dependence syndrome, currently abstinent, but in a protected environmentSelect appropriate category based of clinical context.4-digit code: F15.2 Mental and behavioural disorders due to use of other stimulants, including caffeine: dependence syndrome, currently abstinent, but in a protected environment4-digit code: F15.2 Mental and behavioural disorders due to use of other stimulants, including caffeine: dependence syndrome6C46.22 Stimulant dependence including amphetamines, methamphetamine or methcathinone, sustained partialF15.24 Mental and behavioural disorders due to use of other stimulants, including caffeine: dependence syndrome yndromeincluding amphetamines, methamphetamine or methcathinone, sustained partialF15.24 Mental and behavioural disorders due to use of other stimulants, including caffeine: dependence syndrome, currently using the substance [active dependence] | on |
| behavioural disorders due to use of other stimulants, including caffeine: dependence syndromeSelect appropriate category based of clinical context.6C46.21 Stimulant dependence including amphetamines, methamphetamine or methcathinone, early full remissionF15.20 Mental and behavioural disorders due to use of other stimulants, including caffeine: dependence syndrome, currently abstinentSelect appropriate category based of clinical context.OR:F15.21 Mental and behavioural disorders due to use of other stimulants, including caffeine: dependence syndrome, currently abstinent, but in a protected environmentSelect appropriate category based of clinical context.4-digit code: F15.2 Mental and behavioural disorders due to use of other stimulants, including caffeine: dependence syndrome, currently abstinent, but in a protected environment4-digit code: F15.2 Mental and behavioural disorders due to use of other stimulants, including caffeine: dependence syndrome6C46.22 Stimulant dependence including amphetamines, methamphetamine or methcathinone, sustained partialF15.24 Mental and behavioural disorders due to use of other stimulants, including caffeine: dependence syndrome currently using the substance [active dependence] | on |
| behavioural disorders due to use of other stimulants, including caffeine: dependence syndromeSelect appropriate category based of clinical context.6C46.21 Stimulant dependence including amphetamines, methamphetamine or methcathinone, early full remissionF15.20 Mental and behavioural disorders due to use of other stimulants, including caffeine: dependence syndrome, currently abstinentSelect appropriate category based of clinical context.OR:F15.21 Mental and behavioural disorders due to use of other stimulants, including caffeine: dependence syndrome, currently abstinent, but in a protected environmentSelect appropriate category based of clinical context.4-digit code: F15.2 Mental and behavioural disorders due to use of other stimulants, including caffeine: dependence syndrome, currently abstinent, but in a protected environment4-digit code: F15.2 Mental and behavioural disorders due to use of other stimulants, including caffeine: dependence syndrome6C46.22 Stimulant dependence including amphetamines, methamphetamine or methcathinone, sustained partialF15.24 Mental and behavioural disorders due to use of other stimulants, including caffeine: dependence syndrome, currently using the substance [active dependence] | on |
| dependence syndrome 6C46.21 Stimulant dependence including amphetamines, methamphetamine or methcathinone, carly full remission F15.20 Mental and behavioural disorders due to use of other stimulants, including caffeine: dependence syndrome, currently abstinent Select appropriate category based of clinical context. OR: F15.21 Mental and behavioural disorders due to use of other stimulants, including caffeine: dependence syndrome, currently abstinent, but in a protected environment F15.21 Mental and behavioural disorders due to use of other stimulants, including caffeine: dependence syndrome, currently abstinent, but in a protected environment 4-digit code: F15.2 Mental and behavioural disorders due to use of other stimulants, including caffeine: dependence syndrome F15.24 Mental and behavioural disorders due to use of other stimulants, including caffeine: dependence syndrome 6C46.22 Stimulant dependence including amphetamines, methamphetamine or methcathinone, sustained partial F15.24 Mental and behavioural disorders due to use of other stimulants, including caffeine: dependence syndrome, currently using the substance [active dependence] | on |
| dependence syndrome 6C46.21 Stimulant dependence including amphetamines, methamphetamine or methcathinone, early full remission F15.20 Mental and behavioural disorders due to use of other stimulants, including caffeine: dependence syndrome, currently abstinent Select appropriate category based of clinical context. OR: F15.21 Mental and behavioural disorders due to use of other stimulants, including caffeine: dependence syndrome, currently abstinent, but in a protected environment F15.21 Mental and behavioural disorders due to use of other stimulants, including caffeine: dependence syndrome, currently abstinent, but in a protected environment 4-digit code: F15.2 Mental and behavioural disorders due to use of other stimulants, including caffeine: dependence syndrome F15.24 Mental and behavioural disorders due to use of other stimulants, including caffeine: dependence syndrome 6C46.22 Stimulant dependence including amphetamines, methamphetamine or methcathinone, sustained partial F15.24 Mental and behavioural disorders due to use of other stimulants, including caffeine: dependence syndrome, currently using the substance [active dependence] | on |
| 6C46.21 Stimulant dependence including amphetamines, methamphetamine or methcathinone, early full remission F15.20 Mental and behavioural disorders due to use of other stimulants, including caffeine: dependence syndrome, currently abstinent Select appropriate category based of clinical context. OR: F15.21 Mental and behavioural disorders due to use of other stimulants, including caffeine: dependence syndrome, currently abstinent, but in a protected environment Select appropriate category based of clinical context. OR: F15.21 Mental and behavioural disorders due to use of other stimulants, including caffeine: dependence syndrome, currently abstinent, but in a protected environment A-digit code: F15.2 Mental and behavioural disorders due to use of other stimulants, including caffeine: dependence syndrome 6C46.22 Stimulant dependence including amphetamines, methamphetamine or methcathinone, sustained partial F15.24 Mental and behavioural disorders due to use of other stimulants, including caffeine: dependence syndrome, currently using the substance [active dependence] | on |
| including amphetamines, methamphetamine or methcathinone, early full remission due to use of other stimulants, including caffeine: dependence syndrome, currently abstinent clinical context. OR: F15.21 Mental and behavioural disorders due to use of other stimulants, including caffeine: dependence syndrome, currently abstinent, but in a protected environment clinical context. 4-digit code: F15.2 Mental and behavioural disorders due to use of other stimulants, including caffeine: dependence syndrome f15.24 Mental and behavioural disorders due to use of other stimulants, including caffeine: dependence syndrome 6C46.22 Stimulant dependence including amphetamines, methamphetamine or methcathinone, sustained partial F15.24 Mental and behavioural disorders due to use of other stimulants, including caffeine: dependence syndrome | |
| methamphetamine or caffeine: dependence syndrome, currently methcathinone, early full oR: Signal F15.21 Mental and behavioural disorders due to use of other stimulants, including caffeine: dependence syndrome, currently abstinent oR: F15.21 Mental and behavioural disorders due to use of other stimulants, including caffeine: dependence syndrome, currently abstinent, but in a protected environment 4-digit code: F15.2 Mental and behavioural disorders due to use of other stimulants, including caffeine: dependence syndrome F15.24 Mental and behavioural disorders due to use of other stimulants, including caffeine: dependence syndrome F15.24 Mental and behavioural disorders due to use of other stimulants, including caffeine: dependence syndrome, currently using the substance [active dependence] | |
| methcathinone, early full abstinent remission OR: F15.21 Mental and behavioural disorders GR: F15.21 Mental and behavioural disorders Gue to use of other stimulants, including caffeine: dependence syndrome, currently abstinent 4-digit code: F15.2 Mental and behavioural disorders due to use of other stimulants, including caffeine: dependence syndrome 6C46.22 Stimulant dependence F15.24 Mental and behavioural disorders including amphetamines, F15.24 Mental and behavioural disorders due to use of other stimulants, including caffeine: dependence syndrome F15.24 Mental and behavioural disorders due to use of other stimulants, including caffeine: dependence syndrome guartial | |
| remission OR: F15.21 Mental and behavioural disorders due to use of other stimulants, including caffeine: dependence syndrome, currently abstinent, but in a protected environment 4-digit code: F15.2 Mental and behavioural disorders due to use of other stimulants, including caffeine: dependence syndrome 6C46.22 Stimulant dependence including amphetamines, methamphetamine or methcathinone, sustained partial F15.24 Mental and behavioural disorders due to use of other stimulants, including caffeine: dependence syndrome | |
| OR: F15.21 Mental and behavioural disorders due to use of other stimulants, including caffeine: dependence syndrome, currently abstinent, but in a protected environment 4-digit code: F15.2 Mental and behavioural disorders due to use of other stimulants, including caffeine: dependence syndrome 6C46.22 Stimulant dependence including amphetamines, methamphetamine or methcathinone, sustained partial F15.24 Mental and behavioural disorders due to use of other stimulants, including caffeine: dependence syndrome, currently using the substance [active dependence] | |
| F15.21 Mental and behavioural disorders due to use of other stimulants, including caffeine: dependence syndrome, currently abstinent, but in a protected environment 4-digit code: F15.2 Mental and behavioural disorders due to use of other stimulants, including caffeine: dependence syndrome 6C46.22 Stimulant dependence including amphetamines, methamphetamine or methamp | |
| due to use of other stimulants, including caffeine: dependence syndrome, currently abstinent, but in a protected environment 4-digit code: F15.2 Mental and behavioural disorders due to use of other stimulants, including caffeine: dependence syndrome 6C46.22 Stimulant dependence including amphetamines, methamphetamine or methcathinone, sustained partial F15.24 Mental and behavioural disorders due to use of other stimulants, including caffeine: dependence syndrome, currently using the substance [active dependence] | |
| due to use of other stimulants, including caffeine: dependence syndrome, currently abstinent, but in a protected environment 4-digit code: F15.2 Mental and behavioural disorders due to use of other stimulants, including caffeine: dependence syndrome 6C46.22 Stimulant dependence including amphetamines, methamphetamine or methcathinone, sustained partial F15.24 Mental and behavioural disorders due to use of other stimulants, including caffeine: dependence syndrome, currently using the substance [active dependence] | |
| 6C46.22 Stimulant dependence including amphetamines, methamphetamine or methamphetamine or methamphetamine, subtraction F15.2 Mental and behavioural disorders due to use of other stimulants, including caffeine: dependence syndrome 6C46.22 Stimulant dependence including amphetamines, methamphetamine or methamphetamine or methamphet | |
| 6C46.22 Stimulant dependence including amphetamines, methamphetamine or methamphetamine or methamphetamine, subtraction F15.2 Mental and behavioural disorders due to use of other stimulants, including caffeine: dependence syndrome 6C46.22 Stimulant dependence including amphetamines, methamphetamine or methamphetamine or methamphet | |
| abstinent, but in a protected environment 4-digit code: F15.2 Mental and behavioural disorders due to use of other stimulants, including caffeine: dependence including amphetamines, methamphetamine or methamphetamine, methamphetamine or caffeine: dependence syndrome, currently using the substance [active dependence] | |
| 4-digit code: F15.2 Mental and behavioural disorders due to use of other stimulants, including caffeine: dependence syndrome 6C46.22 Stimulant dependence including amphetamines, methamphetamine or methcathinone, sustained partial F15.24 Mental and behavioural disorders due to use of other stimulants, including caffeine: dependence syndrome, currently using the substance [active dependence] | |
| behavioural disorders due to use of other stimulants, including caffeine: dependence syndrome 6C46.22 Stimulant dependence including amphetamines, methamphetamine or caffeine: dependence syndrome, currently using the substance [active dependence] | |
| behavioural disorders due to use of other stimulants, including caffeine: dependence syndrome 6C46.22 Stimulant dependence including amphetamines, methamphetamine or caffeine: dependence syndrome, currently using the substance [active dependence] | |
| stimulants, including caffeine: dependence syndrome 6C46.22 Stimulant dependence including amphetamines, methamphetamine or caffeine: dependence syndrome, currently methcathinone, sustained partial | |
| dependence syndrome 6C46.22 Stimulant dependence including amphetamines, methamphetamine or methcathinone, sustained partial F15.24 Mental and behavioural disorders due to use of other stimulants, including caffeine: dependence syndrome, currently using the substance [active dependence] | |
| 6C46.22 Stimulant dependence including amphetamines, methamphetamine or methcathinone, sustained partialF15.24 Mental and behavioural disorders due to use of other stimulants, including caffeine: dependence syndrome, currently using the substance [active dependence] | |
| including amphetamines, methamphetamine or methcathinone, sustained partialdue to use of other stimulants, including caffeine: dependence syndrome, currently using the substance [active dependence] | |
| methamphetamine or methcathinone, sustained partialcaffeine: dependence syndrome, currently using the substance [active dependence] | |
| methamphetamine or methcathinone, sustained partialcaffeine: dependence syndrome, currently using the substance [active dependence] | |
| methcathinone, sustained partial using the substance [active dependence] | |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| 4-digit code: F15.2 Mental and | |
| behavioural disorders due to use of other | |
| stimulants, including caffeine: | |
| dependence syndrome | |
| 6C46.23 Stimulant dependence F15.20 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| including amphetamines, due to use of other stimulants, including | |
| methamphetamine or caffeine: dependence syndrome, currently | |
| methcathinone, sustained full abstinent | |
| remission | |
| 4-digit code: F15.2 Mental and | |
| | |
| behavioural disorders due to use of other | |
| stimulants, including caffeine: | |
| dependence syndrome | |
| 6C46.2Z Stimulant dependence F15.9 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| including amphetamines, due to use of other stimulants, including | |
| methamphetamine or caffeine: unspecified mental and | |
| methcathinone, unspecified behavioural disorder | |
| 6C46.3 Stimulant intoxication F15.0 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| including amphetamines, due to use of other stimulants, including | |
| methamphetamine or methcathinone caffeine: acute intoxication | |
| | |
| 6C46.4 Stimulant withdrawal F15.3 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| including amphetamines, due to use of other stimulants, including | |
| methamphetamine or methcathinone caffeine withdrawal state | |
| 6C46.5 Stimulant-induced delirium F15.03 Mental and behavioural disorders Use F15.8 if intoxication/withdraw | al |
| including amphetamines, due to use of other stimulants, including status unknown. | |
| methamphetamine or methcathinone caffeine: acute intoxication with delirium | |
| | |
| 4-digit code: F15.0 Mental and | |
| behavioural disorders due to use of other | |
| | |
| stimulants, including caffeine: acute | |
| intoxication | |
| | |
| OR: | |

| | F15.4 Mental and behavioural disorders due to use of other stimulants, including caffeine withdrawal state with delirium | |
|---|--|----------|
| | OR: | |
| | F15.8 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| | due to use of other stimulants, including caffeine: other mental and behavioural disorders | |
| 6C46.6 Stimulant-induced psychotic | F15.5 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| disorder including amphetamines, | due to use of other stimulants, including | |
| methamphetamine or methcathinone | caffeine: psychotic disorder | |
| 6C46.60 Stimulant-induced | F15.52 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| psychotic disorder including | due to use of other stimulants, including | |
| amphetamines, | caffeine: psychotic disorder, | |
| methamphetamine or | predominantly hallucinatory | |
| methcathinone with | | |
| hallucinations | 4-digit code: F15.5 Mental and | |
| | behavioural disorders due to use of other | |
| | stimulants, including caffeine: other | |
| 6C46 61 Stimulant in June 1 | mental and behavioural disorders | |
| 6C46.61 Stimulant-induced psychotic disorder including | F15.51 Mental and behavioural disorders due to use of other stimulants, including | |
| amphetamines, | caffeine: psychotic disorder, | |
| methamphetamine or | predominantly delusional | |
| methcathinone with delusions | 4-digit code: F15.5 Mental and | |
| | behavioural disorders due to use of other | |
| | stimulants, including caffeine: other | |
| | mental and behavioural disorders | |
| 6C46.62 Stimulant-induced | F15.56 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| psychotic disorder including | due to use of other stimulants, including | |
| amphetamines with mixed | caffeine: psychotic disorder, mixed | |
| psychotic symptoms | | |
| | 4-digit code: F15.5 Mental and | |
| | behavioural disorders due to use of other | |
| | stimulants, including caffeine: other | |
| | mental and behavioural disorders | |
| 6C46.6Z Stimulant-induced | F15.5 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| psychotic disorder including | due to use of other stimulants, including | |
| amphetamines, methamphetamine or | caffeine: psychotic disorder | |
| methcathinone, unspecified | | |
| 6C46.7 Certain specified stimulant- | | |
| induced mental or behavioural | | |
| disorders including amphetamines, | | |
| methamphetamine or methcathinone | | |
| 6C46.70 Stimulant-induced | F15.8 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| mood disorder including | due to use of other stimulants, including | |
| amphetamines, | caffeine: other mental and behavioural | |
| methamphetamine or | disorders | |
| methcathinone | | |
| 6C46.71 Stimulant-induced | F15.8 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| anxiety disorder including | due to use of other stimulants, including | |
| amphetamines, | caffeine: other mental and behavioural | |
| methamphetamine or methcathinone | disorders | |
| 6C46.72 Stimulant-induced | F15.8 Mental and behavioural disorders | <u> </u> |
| obsessive-compulsive or related | due to use of other stimulants, including | |
| disorder including | caffeine: other mental and behavioural | |
| amphetamines, | disorders | |
| methamphetamine or | | |
| methcathinone | | |
| | • | |

| 6C46.73 Stimulant-induced | F15.8 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
|---|---|--------------------------------------|
| impulse control disorder | due to use of other stimulants, including | |
| including amphetamines, | caffeine: other mental and behavioural | |
| methamphetamine or | disorders | |
| methcathinone | | |
| 6C46.Y Other specified disorders | F15.8 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| due to use of stimulants including | due to use of other stimulants, including | |
| amphetamines, methamphetamine or | caffeine: other mental and behavioural | |
| methcathinone | disorders | |
| 6C46.Z Disorders due to use of | F15.9 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| stimulants including amphetamines, | due to use of other stimulants, including | |
| methamphetamine or methcathinone, | caffeine: unspecified mental and | |
| unspecified | behavioural disorder | |
| 6C47 Disorders due to use of synthetic | F19 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| cathinones | due to multiple drug use and use of other | |
| | psychoactive substances | |
| 6C47.0 Episode of harmful use of | F19.8 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| synthetic cathinones | due to multiple drug use and use of other | |
| | psychoactive substances: other mental | |
| | and behavioural disorders | |
| 6C47.1 Harmful pattern of use of | F19.1 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| synthetic cathinones | due to multiple drug use and use of other | |
| | psychoactive substances: harmful use | |
| 6C47.10 Harmful pattern of use | F19.1 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| of synthetic cathinones, episodic | due to multiple drug use and use of other | |
| | psychoactive substances: harmful use | |
| 6C47.11 Harmful use of | F19.1 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| synthetic cathinones, continuous | due to multiple drug use and use of other | |
| | psychoactive substances: harmful use | |
| 6C47.1Z Harmful pattern of use | F19.1 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| of synthetic cathinones, | due to multiple drug use and use of other | |
| unspecified | psychoactive substances: harmful use | |
| 6C47.2 Synthetic cathinone | F19.2 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| dependence | due to multiple drug use and use of other | |
| * | psychoactive substances: dependence | |
| | syndrome | |
| 6C47.20 Synthetic cathinone | F19.24 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| dependence, current use | due to multiple drug use and use of other | |
| | psychoactive substances: dependence | |
| | syndrome, currently using the substance | |
| | [active dependence] | |
| | | |
| | 4-digit code: F19.2 Mental and | |
| | behavioural disorders due to multiple | |
| | drug use and use of other psychoactive | |
| | substances: dependence syndrome | |
| 6C47.21 Synthetic cathinone | F19.20 Mental and behavioural disorders | Select appropriate category based on |
| dependence, early full remission | due to multiple drug use and use of other | clinical context. |
| | psychoactive substances: dependence | |
| | syndrome, currently abstinent | |
| | | |
| | OR: | |
| | | |
| | F19.21 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| | due to multiple drug use and use of other | |
| | psychoactive substances: dependence | |
| | syndrome, currently abstinent, but in a | |
| | protected environment | |
| | 1 digit and FIO 2 Mantal and | |
| | 4-digit code: F19.2 Mental and | |
| | behavioural disorders due to multiple | |
| | drug use and use of other psychoactive | |
| 6C47 22 S | substances: dependence syndrome | |
| 6C47.22 Synthetic cathinone | F19.24 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| dependence, sustained partial remission | due to multiple drug use and use of other | |
| 101111551011 | psychoactive substances: dependence | |

| | syndrome, currently using the substance | |
|---|---|--------------------------------------|
| | [active dependence] | |
| | 4-digit code: F19.2 Mental and | |
| | behavioural disorders due to multiple | |
| | drug use and use of other psychoactive | |
| | substances: dependence syndrome | |
| 6C47.23 Synthetic cathinone dependence, sustained full | F19.20 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other | |
| remission | psychoactive substances: dependence | |
| | syndrome, currently abstinent | |
| | | |
| | 4-digit code: F19.2 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple | |
| | drug use and use of other psychoactive | |
| | substances: dependence syndrome | |
| 6C47.2Z Synthetic cathinone | F19.2 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| dependence, unspecified | due to multiple drug use and use of other | |
| | psychoactive substances: dependence syndrome | |
| 6C47.3 Synthetic cathinone | F19.0 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| intoxication | due to multiple drug use and use of other | |
| | psychoactive substances: acute | |
| | intoxication | |
| 6C47.4 Synthetic cathinone | F19.3 Mental and behavioural disorders | Use F19.8 if intoxication/withdrawal |
| withdrawal | due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances withdrawal state | status unknown. |
| 6C47.5 Synthetic cathinone-induced | F19.03 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| delirium | due to multiple drug use and use of other | |
| | psychoactive substances: acute | |
| | intoxication with delirium | |
| | 4-digit code: F19.0 Mental and | |
| | behavioural disorders due to multiple | |
| | drug use and use of other psychoactive | |
| | substances: acute intoxication | |
| | OR: | |
| | F19.4 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| | due to multiple drug use and use of other | |
| | psychoactive substances withdrawal state | |
| | with delirium | |
| | OR: | |
| | F19.8 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| | due to multiple drug use and use of other | |
| | psychoactive substances: other mental | |
| | and behavioural disorders | |
| 6C47.6 Synthetic cathinone-induced | F19.5 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| psychotic disorder | due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: psychotic | |
| | disorder | |
| 6C47.60 Synthetic cathinone- | F19.52 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| induced psychotic disorder with | due to multiple drug use and use of other | |
| hallucinations | psychoactive substances: psychotic disorder, predominantly hallucinatory | |
| | disorder, predominantiy nanucinatory | |
| | 4-digit code: F19.5 Mental and | |
| | behavioural disorders due to multiple | |
| | drug use and use of other psychoactive | |
| 6047 61 Symthetic anthing | substances: psychotic disorder F19.51 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| 6C47.61 Synthetic cathinone- induced psychotic disorder with | due to multiple drug use and use of other | |
| | and to manaple and use and use of other | |

| | | 1 |
|---|--|---|
| | psychoactive substances: psychotic disorder, predominantly delusional | |
| | 4 digit and F10 5 Montal and | |
| | 4-digit code: F19.5 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple | |
| | drug use and use of other psychoactive | |
| | substances: psychotic disorder | |
| 6C47.62 Synthetic cathinone- | F19.56 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| induced psychotic disorder with | due to multiple drug use and use of other | |
| mixed psychotic symptoms | psychoactive substances: psychotic disorder, mixed | |
| | disorder, mixed | |
| | 4-digit code: F19.5 Mental and | |
| | behavioural disorders due to multiple | |
| | drug use and use of other psychoactive | |
| (CA7 (7 Santhatia anthing a | substances: psychotic disorder F19.5 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| 6C47.6Z Synthetic cathinone- induced psychotic disorder, | due to multiple drug use and use of other | |
| unspecified | psychoactive substances: psychotic | |
| L | disorder | |
| 6C47.7 Certain specified synthetic | | |
| cathinone-induced mental or | | |
| behavioural disorders 6C47.70 Synthetic cathinone- | F19.8 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| induced mood disorder | due to multiple drug use and use of other | |
| | psychoactive substances: other mental | |
| | and behavioural disorders | |
| 6C47.71 Synthetic cathinone- | F19.8 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| induced anxiety disorder | due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: other mental | |
| | and behavioural disorders | |
| 6C47.72 Synthetic cathinone- | F19.8 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| induced obsessive-compulsive or | due to multiple drug use and use of other | |
| related syndrome | psychoactive substances: other mental | |
| 6C47.73 Synthetic cathinone- | and behavioural disorders F19.8 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| induced impulse control disorder | due to multiple drug use and use of other | |
| | psychoactive substances: other mental | |
| | and behavioural disorders | |
| 6C47.Y Other specified disorders | F19.8 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| due to use of synthetic cathinones | due to multiple drug use and use of other | |
| | psychoactive substances: other mental and behavioural disorders | |
| 6C47.Z Disorders due to use of | F19.9 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| synthetic cathinones, unspecified | due to multiple drug use and use of other | |
| | psychoactive substances: unspecified | |
| | mental and behavioural disorder | |
| 6C48 Disorders due to use of caffeine | F15 Mental and behavioural disorders due to use of other stimulants, including | |
| | caffeine | |
| 6C48.0 Episode of harmful use of | F15.1 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| caffeine | due to use of other stimulants, including | |
| 6C48 1 Hormful notton of use of | caffeine: harmful use F15.8 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| 6C48.1 Harmful pattern of use of caffeine | due to use of other stimulants, including | |
| | caffeine: other mental and behavioural | |
| | disorders | |
| 6C48.10 Harmful pattern of use | F15.1 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| of caffeine, episodic | due to use of other stimulants, including caffeine: harmful use | |
| 6C48.11 Harmful pattern of use | F15.1 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| of caffeine, continuous | due to use of other stimulants, including | |
| | caffeine: harmful use | |
| 6C48.1Z Harmful pattern of use | F15.1 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| of caffeine, unspecified | due to use of other stimulants, including caffeine: harmful use | |
| l | | I |

| 6C48.2 Caffeine intoxication | F15.0 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
|------------------------------------|---|--------------------------------------|
| | due to use of other stimulants, including | |
| | caffeine: acute intoxication F15.3 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| 6C48.3 Caffeine withdrawal | | |
| | due to use of other stimulants, including caffeine withdrawal state | |
| 6C48.4 Certain specified caffeine- | | |
| induced mental or behavioural | | |
| disorders | | |
| 6C48.40 Caffeine-induced | F15.8 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| anxiety disorder | due to use of other stimulants, including | |
| unitiety ansoraer | caffeine: other mental and behavioural | |
| | disorders | |
| 6C48.Y Other specified disorders | F15.8 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| due to use of caffeine | due to use of other stimulants, including | |
| | caffeine: other mental and behavioural | |
| | disorders | |
| 6C48.Z Disorders due to use of | F15.9 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| caffeine, unspecified | due to use of other stimulants, including | |
| · 1 | caffeine: unspecified mental and | |
| | behavioural disorder | |
| 6C49 Disorders due to use of | F16 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| hallucinogens | due to use of hallucinogens | |
| 6C49.0 Episode of harmful use of | F16.8 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| hallucinogens | due to use of hallucinogens: other mental | |
| - | and behavioural disorders | |
| 6C49.1 Harmful pattern of use of | F16.1 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| hallucinogens | due to use of hallucinogens: harmful use | |
| 6C49.10 Harmful pattern of use | F16.1 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| of hallucinogens, episodic | due to use of hallucinogens: harmful use | |
| 6C49.11 Harmful pattern of use | F16.1 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| of hallucinogens, continuous | due to use of hallucinogens: harmful use | |
| 6C49.1Z Harmful pattern of use | F16.1 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| of hallucinogens, unspecified | due to use of hallucinogens: harmful use | |
| 6C49.2 Hallucinogen dependence | F16.2 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| | due to use of hallucinogens: dependence | |
| | syndrome | |
| 6C49.20 Hallucinogen | F16.24 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| dependence, current use | due to use of hallucinogens: dependence | |
| | syndrome, currently using the substance [active dependence] | |
| | [active dependence] | |
| | 4-digit code: F16.2 Mental and | |
| | behavioural disorders due to use of | |
| | hallucinogens: dependence syndrome | |
| 6C49.21 Hallucinogen | F16.20 Mental and behavioural disorders | Select appropriate category based on |
| dependence, early full remission | due to use of hallucinogens: dependence | clinical context. |
| 1 , 5 | syndrome, currently abstinent | |
| | | |
| | OR: | |
| | | |
| | F16.21 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| | due to use of hallucinogens: dependence | |
| | syndrome, currently abstinent, but in a | |
| | protected environment | |
| | | |
| | 4-digit code: F16.2 Mental and | |
| | behavioural disorders due to use of | |
| | | |
| | hallucinogens: dependence syndrome | |
| 6C49.22 Hallucinogen | F16.24 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| dependence, sustained partial | F16.24 Mental and behavioural disorders due to use of hallucinogens: dependence | |
| | F16.24 Mental and behavioural disorders | |

| | 4-digit code: F16.2 Mental and | |
|---|--|---|
| | behavioural disorders due to use of | |
| | hallucinogens: dependence syndrome | |
| 6C49.23 Hallucinogen | F16.20 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| dependence, sustained full | due to use of hallucinogens: dependence | |
| remission | syndrome, currently abstinent | |
| | | |
| | 4-digit code: F16.2 Mental and | |
| | behavioural disorders due to use of | |
| | hallucinogens: dependence syndrome | |
| 6C49.2Z Hallucinogen | F16.2 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| dependence, unspecified | due to use of hallucinogens: dependence | |
| 1 7 1 | syndrome | |
| 6C49.3 Hallucinogen intoxication | F16.0 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| • - • • • - • • • • • • • • • • • • • • | due to use of hallucinogens: acute | |
| | intoxication | |
| 6C49.4 Hallucinogen-induced | F16.03 Mental and behavioural disorders | Use F16.8 if intoxication status unknown. |
| delirium | due to use of hallucinogens: acute | Cise i 10.0 ii intoxication status anknown. |
| deminum | intoxication with delirium | |
| | intoxication with demitdin | |
| | 4 digit and a F16 0 Montal and | |
| | 4-digit code: F16.0 Mental and | |
| | behavioural disorders due to use of | |
| | hallucinogens: acute intoxication | |
| | OD | |
| | OR: | |
| | | |
| | F16.8 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| | due to use of hallucinogens: other mental | |
| | and behavioural disorders | |
| 6C49.5 Hallucinogen-induced | F16.5 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| psychotic disorder | due to use of hallucinogens: psychotic | |
| | disorder | |
| 6C49.6 Certain specified | | |
| hallucinogen-induced mental or | | |
| behavioural disorders | | |
| 6C49.60 Hallucinogen-induced | F16.8 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| mood disorder | due to use of hallucinogens: other mental | |
| | and behavioural disorders | |
| 6C49.61 Hallucinogen-induced | F16.8 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| anxiety disorder | due to use of hallucinogens: other mental | |
| unkiety uisorder | and behavioural disorders | |
| 6C49.Y Other specified disorders | F16.8 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| - | due to use of hallucinogens: other mental | |
| due to use of hallucinogens | | |
| 6C40 7 Di | and behavioural disorders F16.9 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| 6C49.Z Disorders due to use of | | |
| hallucinogens, unspecified | due to use of hallucinogens: unspecified | |
| | mental and behavioural disorder | |
| 6C4A Disorders due to use of nicotine | F17 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| | due to use of tobacco | |
| 6C4A.0 Episode of harmful use of | F17.8 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| nicotine | due to use of tobacco: other mental and | |
| | behavioural disorders | |
| 6C4A.1 Harmful pattern of use of | F17.1 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| nicotine | due to use of tobacco: harmful use | |
| 6C4A.10 Harmful pattern of use | F17.1 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| of nicotine, episodic | due to use of tobacco: harmful use | |
| 6C4A.11 Harmful pattern of use | F17.1 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| of nicotine, continuous | due to use of tobacco: harmful use | |
| 6C4A.1Z Harmful pattern of use | F17.1 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| | | |
| of nicotine, unspecified | due to use of tobacco: harmful use | |
| 6C4A.2 Nicotine dependence | F17.2 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| | due to use of tobacco: dependence | |
| | syndrome | |
| | | |
| 6C4A.20 Nicotine dependence, | F17.24 Mental and behavioural disorders due to use of tobacco: dependence | |

| | syndrome, currently using the substance [active dependence] | |
|---|--|--------------------------------------|
| | | |
| | 4-digit code: F17.2 Mental and behavioural disorders due to use of | |
| | tobacco: dependence syndrome | |
| 6C4A.21 Nicotine dependence, | F17.20 Mental and behavioural disorders | Select appropriate category based on |
| early full remission | due to use of tobacco: dependence | clinical context. |
| | syndrome, currently abstinent | |
| | OR: | |
| | | |
| | F17.21 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| | due to use of tobacco: dependence syndrome, currently abstinent, but in a | |
| | protected environment | |
| | | |
| | 4-digit code: F17.2 Mental and | |
| | behavioural disorders due to use of tobacco: dependence syndrome | |
| 6C4A 22 Nigoting dependence | F17.24 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| 6C4A.22 Nicotine dependence, sustained partial remission | due to use of tobacco: dependence | |
| sustanted partial refilission | syndrome, currently using the substance | |
| | [active dependence] | |
| | | |
| | 4-digit code: F17.2 Mental and | |
| | behavioural disorders due to use of | |
| | tobacco: dependence syndrome | |
| 6C4A.23 Nicotine dependence, | F17.20 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| sustained full remission | due to use of tobacco: dependence | |
| | syndrome, currently abstinent | |
| | 4-digit code: F17.2 Mental and | |
| | behavioural disorders due to use of | |
| | tobacco: dependence syndrome | |
| 6C4A.2Z Nicotine dependence, | F17.2 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| unspecified | due to use of tobacco: dependence | |
| | syndrome | |
| 6C4A.3 Nicotine intoxication | F17.0 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| | due to use of tobacco: acute intoxication | |
| 6C4A.4 Nicotine withdrawal | F17.3 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| | due to use of tobacco withdrawal state | |
| 6C4A.Y Other specified disorders | F17.3 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| due to use of nicotine | due to use of tobacco withdrawal state | |
| 6C4A.Z Disorders due to use of | F17.3 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| nicotine, unspecified 6C4B Disorders due to use of volatile | due to use of tobacco withdrawal state | |
| inhalants | F18 Mental and behavioural disorders due to use of volatile solvents | |
| 6C4B.0 Episode of harmful use of | F18.8 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| volatile inhalants | due to use of volatile solvents: other | |
| volutile initialanto | mental and behavioural disorders | |
| 6C4B.1 Harmful pattern of use of | F18.1 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| volatile inhalants | due to use of volatile solvents: harmful | |
| | use | |
| 6C4B.10 Harmful pattern of use | F18.1 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| of volatile inhalants, episodic | due to use of volatile solvents: harmful | |
| | use | |
| | 1 + 10 + 10 + 10 + 11 + 11 + 11 + 11 + | |
| 6C4B.11 Harmful pattern of use | F18.1 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| of volatile inhalants, continuous | due to use of volatile solvents: harmful | |
| of volatile inhalants, continuous | due to use of volatile solvents: harmful use | |
| of volatile inhalants, continuous 6C4B.1Z Harmful pattern of use | due to use of volatile solvents: harmful use F18.1 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| of volatile inhalants, continuous | due to use of volatile solvents: harmful use F18.1 Mental and behavioural disorders due to use of volatile solvents: harmful | |
| of volatile inhalants, continuous 6C4B.1Z Harmful pattern of use of volatile inhalants, unspecified | due to use of volatile solvents: harmful use F18.1 Mental and behavioural disorders due to use of volatile solvents: harmful use | |
| of volatile inhalants, continuous 6C4B.1Z Harmful pattern of use | due to use of volatile solvents: harmful use F18.1 Mental and behavioural disorders due to use of volatile solvents: harmful | |

| 6CAD ON Valatila in 1-1 | | |
|---|---|--------------------------------------|
| | F18.24 Mental and behavioural disorders due to use of volatile solvents: | |
| dependence, current use | | |
| | dependence syndrome, currently using the substance [active dependence] | |
| | the substance [active dependence] | |
| | 4-digit code: F18.2 Mental and | |
| | behavioural disorders due to use of | |
| | volatile solvents: dependence syndrome | |
| | F18.20 Mental and behavioural disorders | Select appropriate category based on |
| dependence, early full remission | due to use of volatile solvents: | clinical context. |
| | dependence syndrome, currently | |
| | abstinent | |
| | | |
| | OR: | |
| | | |
| | F18.21 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| | due to use of volatile solvents: | |
| | dependence syndrome, currently | |
| | abstinent, but in a protected environment | |
| | 4 di - it d-, E19 2 M (1 1 | |
| | 4-digit code: F18.2 Mental and | |
| | behavioural disorders due to use of | |
| | volatile solvents: dependence syndrome F18.24 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| | due to use of volatile solvents: | |
| dependence, sustained partial remission | due to use of volatile solvents: dependence syndrome, currently using | |
| Termission | the substance [active dependence] | |
| | the substance [active dependence] | |
| | 4-digit code: F18.2 Mental and | |
| | behavioural disorders due to use of | |
| | volatile solvents: dependence syndrome | |
| | F18.20 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| dependence, sustained full | due to use of volatile solvents: | |
| | dependence syndrome, currently | |
| | abstinent | |
| | | |
| | 4-digit code: F18.2 Mental and | |
| | behavioural disorders due to use of | |
| | volatile solvents: dependence syndrome | |
| | F18.2 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| dependence, unspecified | due to use of volatile solvents: | |
| | dependence syndrome | |
| 6C4B.3 Volatile inhalant | F18.0 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| intoxication | due to use of volatile solvents: acute | |
| | intoxication | |
| 6C4B.4 Volatile inhalant withdrawal | F18.3 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| | due to use of volatile solvents withdrawal | |
| 6C4B.5 Volatile inhalant-induced | state F18.03 Mental and behavioural disorders | Use F18.8 if intoxication/withdrawal |
| | | |
| delirium | due to use of volatile solvents: acute intoxication with delirium | status unknown. |
| | | |
| | 4-digit code: F18.0 Mental and | |
| | behavioural disorders due to use of | |
| | volatile solvents: acute intoxication | |
| | | |
| | OR: | |
| | | |
| | F18.4 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| | due to use of volatile solvents withdrawal | |
| ۱ | | |
| | state with delirium | |
| | | |
| | oR: | |

| F18.8 Mental and behavioural disorders 6C4B.6 Volutile inhalant-induced psychotic disorder mental and behavioural disorders 6C4B.7 Certain specified volutile inhalants-induced mental or behavioural disorders 6C4B.7 Volutile inhalant- induced mental or behavioural disorders 6C4B.7 Volutile inhalant- induced mental disorders 6C4B.7 Volutile inhalant- induced maxiety disorder 6C4B.7 Volutile inhalant- induced maxiety disorder 0 to use of volutile solvents: other mental and behavioural disorders 6C4B.7 Volutie inhalant- induced maxiety disorders 6C4B.7 Other specified disarders due to use of volatile inhalants 6C4B.2 Disorders due to use of volatile inhalants, unspecified disorders 6C4C Disorders due to use of MDMA or related drugs, including MDA 6C4C.1 Disorders due to sus of MDMA or related drugs, including MDA 6C4C.1 Harmful use of MDMA or related drugs, including MDA 6C4C.1 Harmful use of MDMA re related drugs, including MDA 6C4C.1 Harmful use of MDMA er related drugs, including MDA 6C4C.1 Harmful use of MDMA re related drugs, including MDA 6C4C.1 Harmful use of MDMA re related drugs, including MDA 6C4C.2 Harmful aus of MDMA re related drugs, including MDA 6C4C.2 Harmful aus of MDMA re related drugs, including MDA, errelated drugs, including MDA, | | | |
|---|-----------------------------------|---|--------------------------------------|
| mental and behavioural disorders 6C4B.6 Volatile inhalmat-induced FIS.8 Mental and behavioural disorders due to use of volatile solvents: psychotic disorder 6C4B.7 Certain specified volatile inhaltati-bidnecal mental or behavioural disorders FIS.8 Mental and behavioural disorders 6C4B.7 O Volatile inhaltati- induced mood disorder FIS.8 Mental and behavioural disorders 6C4B.7 O Volatile inhaltati- induced anxiety disorder FIS.8 Mental and behavioural disorders 6C4B.7 I Volatile inhaltati- induced anxiety disorder FIS.8 Mental and behavioural disorders 6C4B.7 Disorders due to use of volatile solvents: other mental and behavioural disorders FIS.8 Mental and behavioural disorders due to use of volatile inhaltati- due to use of volatile solvents: other mental and behavioural disorders FIS.8 Mental and behavioural disorders 6C4B.2 Disorders due to use of MDMA or volatile inhaltati, unspecified FIS.8 Mental and behavioural disorders 6C4C Disorders due to use of MDMA or volatile inhaltation use of MDMA or volatile inhaltation use of MDMA or related drugs, including MDA expective substances: other mental and behavioural disorders 6C4C.1 I Harmful pattern of use of MDMA or related drugs, including MDA, errelated drugs, including MDA, erelat | | F18.8 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| 6C4B & Volatile inhalant-induced psychotic disorder F18.5 Mental and behavioural disorders disorder 6C4B / Certain specified volatile inhalants-induced mental or behavioural disorders F18.8 Mental and behavioural disorders 6C4B / TO Volatile inhalant- induced mood disorder F18.8 Mental and behavioural disorders 6C4B / TO Volatile inhalant- induced anxiety disorder F18.8 Mental and behavioural disorders 6C4B / TO Volatile inhalant- induced anxiety disorder F18.8 Mental and behavioural disorders 6C4B / TO ber specified disorders F18.8 Mental and behavioural disorders 6C4B / TO ber specified disorders F18.8 Mental and behavioural disorders 6C4B / Disorders due to use of volatile inhalants, unspecified F18.9 Mental and behavioural 6C4C Disorders due to use of MDMA or related drugs, including MDA due to matoright drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: due to matoright drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: due to matoright drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: due to matoright drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: due to matoright drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: durantil and behavioural disorders due to matoright drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: durantil use 6C4C.11 Harmful use of MDMA or related drugs, including MDA, eral MDA or related drugs, including MDA, eral MDA or related drugs, including MDA, eral MDA or related drugs, including MDA, eventee the antipic drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: dependence sydrome, currently usig and use of other psychoactive substances: depen | | due to use of volatile solvents: other | |
| 6C4B & Volatile inhalant-induced psychotic disorder F18.5 Mental and behavioural disorders disorder 6C4B / Certain specified volatile inhalants-induced mental or behavioural disorders F18.8 Mental and behavioural disorders 6C4B / TO Volatile inhalant- induced mood disorder F18.8 Mental and behavioural disorders 6C4B / TO Volatile inhalant- induced anxiety disorder F18.8 Mental and behavioural disorders 6C4B / TO Volatile inhalant- induced anxiety disorder F18.8 Mental and behavioural disorders 6C4B / TO ber specified disorders F18.8 Mental and behavioural disorders 6C4B / TO ber specified disorders F18.8 Mental and behavioural disorders 6C4B / Disorders due to use of volatile inhalants, unspecified F18.9 Mental and behavioural 6C4C Disorders due to use of MDMA or related drugs, including MDA due to matoright drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: due to matoright drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: due to matoright drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: due to matoright drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: due to matoright drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: durantil and behavioural disorders due to matoright drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: durantil use 6C4C.11 Harmful use of MDMA or related drugs, including MDA, eral MDA or related drugs, including MDA, eral MDA or related drugs, including MDA, eral MDA or related drugs, including MDA, eventee the antipic drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: dependence sydrome, currently usig and use of other psychoactive substances: depen | | mental and behavioural disorders | |
| psychotic disorder due to use of volatile solvents: psychotic disorder 6C4B.7 Certain specified volatile inblants-induced mental or behavioural disorders F18.8 Mental and behavioural disorders due to use of volatile solvents: other mental and behavioural disorders 6C4B.71 Volatile inhalant- induced anxiety disorder F18.8 Mental and behavioural disorders due to use of volatile solvents: other mental and behavioural disorders 6C4B.70 tors specified disorder F18.8 Mental and behavioural disorders 6C4B.20 Loss of volatile inhalant- induced maxiety disorder F18.8 Mental and behavioural disorders 6C4B.20 Loss of volatile inhalant- induced maxiety disorder F18.8 Mental and behavioural disorders 6C4B.20 Loss of volatile inhalants, unspecified F18.8 Mental and behavioural disorders 6C4C Disorders due to use of MDMA or related drugs, including MDA F19.8 Mental and behavioural disorders 6C4C.10 Farmful use of MDMA or related drugs, including MDA F19.8 Mental and behavioural disorders 6C4C.11 Harmful pattern of use of MDMA or related drugs, including MDA, erychoactive substances: harmful use F19.1 Mental and behavioural disorders 6C4C.10 Harmful use of MDMA or related drugs, including MDA, exploaetive substances: harmful use F19.1 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: harmful use 6C4C.21 Harmful pattern of use of MDMA or related drugs, including MDA, exploaetive subst | 6C4B 6 Volatile inhalant induced | | |
| GC4B.7 Certain specified volatile inhalants-induced mental or behavioural disorders F18.8 Mental and behavioural disorders 6C4B.70 Volatile inhalant- induced mood disorder F18.8 Mental and behavioural disorders 6C4B.71 Volatile inhalant- induced moviety disorder F18.8 Mental and behavioural disorders 6C4B.70 Volatile inhalant- induced mixety disorder F18.8 Mental and behavioural disorders 6C4B.70 Uber specified disorders F18.8 Mental and behavioural disorders due to use of volatile inhalants ental and behavioural disorders due to use of volatile inhalants, unspecified to use of volatile solvents: unspecified mental and behavioural 6C4B.70 Lisorders due to use of volatile inhalants, unspecified F18.9 Mental and behavioural disorder F18.9 Mental and behavioural 6C4C Disorders due to use of Volatile solvents: unspecified mental and behavioural fissorder F19.9 Mental and behavioural fissorder GC4C Disorders due to use of MDMA or related drugs, including F19.1 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: farmful use fisorders GC4C.1 Harmful pattern of twe of MDA or related drugs, including F19.1 Mental and behavioural disorders de to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: farmful use | | | |
| 6C4B.7 Certain specified volatile inhalant-induced montal or behavioural disorders F18.8 Mentual and behavioural disorders due to use of volatile solvents: other mental and behavioural disorders 6C4B.71 Volatile inhalant- induced unxety disorder F18.8 Mentual and behavioural disorders due to use of volatile inhalant- induced unxety disorder 6C4B.70 Uber specified disorders F18.8 Mental and behavioural disorders 6C4B.70 Uber specified disorders F18.8 Mental and behavioural disorders 6C4B.20 Disorders due to use of volatile inhalants, unspecified due to use of volatile solvents: coller mental and behavioural disorders F18.8 Mental and behavioural disorders 6C4C.0 Episode of harmful use of MDA or related drugs, including MDA F19.8 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: other mental and behavioural disorders 6C4C.1 Harmful pattern of use of MDA or related drugs, including MDA F19.1 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: harmful use fC4C.11 Harmful use of MDMA 6C4C.2.1 Harmful use of MDMA or related drugs, including MDA, evenative drugs, including MDA, evenative substances: harmful use of MDMA or related drugs, including MDA, evenative substances: harmful use of MDMA or related drug, including MDA, eurent use F19.1 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: harmful use 6C4C.2 MDMA or related drug, including MDA, eurent use F19.2 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoac | psycnotic aisoraer | | |
| inhulants-induced mental or behavioural disorders F18.8 Mental and behavioural disorders 6C4B.70 Volatik inhalant- induced mood disorder F18.8 Mental and behavioural disorders 6C4B.71 Volatik inhalant- induced mood disorder F18.8 Mental and behavioural disorders 6C4B.71 Volatik inhalants- induced mod disorder F18.8 Mental and behavioural disorders 6C4B.71 Disorders due to use of volatile solvenis: other mental and behavioural disorders F18.9 Mental and behavioural disorders 6C4D.71 Disorders due to use of MDMA or related drugs, including MDA F18.9 Mental and behavioural disorders 6C4C Disorders due to use of MDMA or related drugs, including MDA F19.9 Mental and behavioural disorders 6C4C.0 Episode of harmful use of MDA or related drugs, including MDA F19.1 Mental and behavioural disorders 6C4C.1 Harmful use of MDMA or related drugs, including MDA F19.1 Mental and behavioural disorders 6C4C.1 Harmful use of MDMA or related drugs, including MDA, episodic F19.1 Mental and behavioural disorders 6C4C.2.1 Harmful use of MDMA or related drugs, including MDA, episodic F19.1 Mental and behavioural disorders 6C4C.2.1 Harmful use of MDMA or related drugs, including MDA, episodic F19.1 Mental and behavioural disorders 6C4C.2.2 MDMA or related drugs, including MDA, episodic F19.1 Mental and behavioural disorders 6C4C.2.2 MDMA or related drugs, including MDA, episodic </td <td></td> <td>disorder</td> <td></td> | | disorder | |
| behavioural disorders F18.8 Mental and behavioural disorders 6C4B.71 Volatile inhalant- induced anxiety disorder F18.8 Mental and behavioural disorders 6C4B.71 Volatile inhalant- induced anxiety disorder F18.8 Mental and behavioural disorders 6C4B.71 Volatile inhalant- induced anxiety disorder F18.8 Mental and behavioural disorders 6C4B.71 Other specified disorders F18.8 Mental and behavioural disorders 6C4B.71 Other specified disorders F18.8 Mental and behavioural disorders due to use of volatile inhalants teo use of volatile inhalants use to suce of volatile inhalants use to suce of volatile solvents: other mental and behavioural disorders due to use of volatile inhalants use of volatile inhalants, unspecified mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: MDA related drugs, including MDA psychoactive substances: harmful use 6C4C.10 Harmful use of MDMA or related drugs, including MDA, erychoactive substances: harmful use f19.1 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: harmful use 6C4C.10 Harmful use of MDMA or related drugs, including MDA, erychoactive substances: harmful use f19.1 Mental and behavioural disorders <td>6C4B.7 Certain specified volatile</td> <td></td> <td></td> | 6C4B.7 Certain specified volatile | | |
| behavioural disorders F18.8 Mental and behavioural disorders 6C4B.71 Volatile inhalant- induced anxiety disorder F18.8 Mental and behavioural disorders 6C4B.71 Volatile inhalant- induced anxiety disorder F18.8 Mental and behavioural disorders 6C4B.71 Volatile inhalant- induced anxiety disorder F18.8 Mental and behavioural disorders 6C4B.71 Other specified disorders F18.8 Mental and behavioural disorders 6C4B.71 Other specified disorders F18.8 Mental and behavioural disorders due to use of volatile inhalants teo use of volatile inhalants use to suce of volatile inhalants use to suce of volatile solvents: other mental and behavioural disorders due to use of volatile inhalants use of volatile inhalants, unspecified mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: MDA related drugs, including MDA psychoactive substances: harmful use 6C4C.10 Harmful use of MDMA or related drugs, including MDA, erychoactive substances: harmful use f19.1 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: harmful use 6C4C.10 Harmful use of MDMA or related drugs, including MDA, erychoactive substances: harmful use f19.1 Mental and behavioural disorders <td>inhalants-induced mental or</td> <td></td> <td></td> | inhalants-induced mental or | | |
| 6C4B.70 Volatile inhalant: F18.8 Mental and behavioural disorders 6C4B.71 Volatile inhalant: F18.8 Mental and behavioural disorders 6C4B.71 Volatile inhalants F18.8 Mental and behavioural disorders 6C4B.71 Volatile inhalants F18.8 Mental and behavioural disorders 6C4B.72 Volatile inhalants F18.8 Mental and behavioural disorders due to use of volatile solvents: other mental and behavioural disorders due to use of volatile solvents: other mental and behavioural disorders due to use of volatile solvents: other mental and behavioural disorders due to use of volatile solvents: other mental and behavioural disorders due to use of volatile solvents: uspecified mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: 6C4C.0 Episode of harmful use of F19.8 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: harmful use 6C4C.1 Harmful pattern of use of F19.1 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: harmful use 6C4C.1 Harmful pattern of use of F19.1 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of oth | | | |
| induced mod disorder due to use of volatile solvents: other 6C4B,71 Volatile inhalant- induced anxiety disorder F18.8 Mental and behavioural disorders 6C4B,Y Other specified disorders F18.8 Mental and behavioural disorders due to use of volatile inhalants F18.8 Mental and behavioural disorders due to use of volatile inhalants F18.8 Mental and behavioural disorders 6C4B,Z Disorders due to use of volatile solvents: other mental and behavioural disorders 6C4C.D Disorders due to use of MDMA or F19.9 Mental and behavioural disorders flated drugs, including MDA F19 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: 6C4C.0 Episode of harmful use of F19.1 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: harmful use 6C4C.1 Harmful use of MDMA or related drugs, including MDA, episodic F19.1 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: harmful use 6C4C.1 Harmful use of MDMA or related drugs, including MDA, episodic F19.1 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: harmful use 6C4C.1 Harmful use of MDMA or related | | F18.8 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| mental and behavioural disorders 6C4B,71 Volatile inhalant- induced anxiety disorder F18.8 Mental and behavioural disorders 6C4B,Y1 Other specified disorders F18.8 Mental and behavioural disorders 6C4B,ZD Disorders due to use of volatile solvents: other mental and behavioural disorders F18.8 Mental and behavioural disorders 6C4B,ZD Disorders due to use of volatile solvents: unspecified mental and behavioural disorders F18.9 Mental and behavioural disorders 6C4C.0 Disorders due to use of MDMA or related drugs, including MDA F19 Mental and behavioural disorders 6C4C.0 Farmful use of MDMA or related drugs, including MDA F19.8 Mental and behavioural disorders 6C4C.1 Harmful pattern of use of MDMA or related drugs, including MDA, or related drugs, including MDA, or related drugs, including MDA, or related drugs, including MDA, or related drugs, including MDA, episodic F19.1 Mental and behavioural disorders 6C4C.1 Harmful use of MDMA or related drugs, including MDA, eortimuous F19.1 Mental and behavioural disorders 6C4C.2 DubMA or related drugs, including MDA, eortimuous F19.1 Mental and behavioural disorders 6C4C.2 DubMA or related drugs, including MDA, eortimuous F19.1 Mental and behavioural disorders 6C4C.2 DubMA or related drugs, including MDA, eurrent use F19.1 Mental and behavioural disorders 6C4C.2 DubMA or related drugs, including MDA, unspecified F19.2 Mental an | | | |
| 6C4B.71 Voltatile inhalant- induced anxiety disorder due to use of volatile inhalants due to use of volatile inhalants F18.8 Mental and behavioural disorders due to use of volatile inhalants 6C4B.27 Disorders due to use of volatile inhalants, uspecified mental and behavioural disorders F18.9 Mental and behavioural disorders 6C4C.Disorders due to use of volatile inhalants, uspecified mental and behavioural disorders due to use of volatile solvents: uspecified mental and behavioural disorder Image: Colore to the total disorder 6C4C.D Episode of harmful use of MDMA or related drugs, including MDA F19.8 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: 6C4C.10 Episode of harmful use of MDMA or related drugs, including MDA F19.1 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: harmful use f19.1 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: harmful use f19.1 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: harmful use f19.1 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: harmful use f19.1 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: harmful use f19.2 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: harmful use f19.2 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: dependence syndrome 6C4C.21 MDMA or related drugs, including MDA, dependence, including MDA, early full remission F19.2 Mental and behavioural disorders due to mul | induced mood disorder | | |
| induced anxiety disorder mental and behavioural disorders due to use of Volatile solvents: other 6C4B,Y Other specified disorders due to use of Volatile inhalants F18.8 Mental and behavioural disorders 6C4B,Z Disorders due to use of MDMA or volatile inhalants, unspecified F18.9 Mental and behavioural disorders 6C4C Disorders due to use of MDMA or related drugs, including MDA F19.9 Mental and behavioural disorders 6C4C.0 Episode of harmful use of MDMA or related drugs, including MDA F19.8 Mental and behavioural disorders 6C4C.1 Harmful use of MDMA or related drugs, including MDA, or related drugs, including MDA F19.1 Mental and behavioural disorders 6C4C.10 Harmful use of MDMA or related drugs, including MDA, erpisodic F19.1 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: harmful use of C4C.10 Harmful use of MDMA 6C4C.10 Harmful use of MDMA or related drugs, including MDA, erpisodic F19.1 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: harmful use of MDMA or related drugs, including MDA, evertaset drugs, | | | |
| mental and behavioural disorders 6C4B Y Other specified disorders due to use of volatile inhalants 6C4B.Z Disorders due to use of volatile inhalants, unspecified mental and behavioural disorders 6C4C.D Episode of harmful use of MDMA or related drugs, including MDA F19 Mental and behavioural disorders 6C4C.1 Episode of harmful use of MDMA or related drugs, including MDA 6C4C.1 Episode of harmful use of MDMA or related drugs, including MDA 6C4C.1 Harmful pattern of use of MDMA or related drugs, including MDA 6C4C.10 Harmful use of MDMA or related drugs, including MDA 6C4C.10 Harmful use of MDMA or related drugs, including MDA 6C4C.10 Harmful use of MDMA or related drugs, including MDA, episodie 6C4C.10 Harmful use of MDMA or related drugs, including MDA, episodie 6C4C.10 Harmful use of MDMA or related drugs, including MDA, episodie 6C4C.10 Harmful use of MDMA or related drugs, including MDA, episodie 6C4C.10 Harmful use of MDMA or related drugs, including MDA, episodie 6C4C.10 Harmful use of MDMA or related drugs, including MDA, equisodie 6C4C.21 MDMA or related drug including MDA, unspecified drug dependence, including MDA, current use 6C4C.21 MDMA or related drug dependence, including MDA, early full remission 6C4C.21 MDMA or related drug dependence, including MDA, early full remiss | 6C4B.71 Volatile inhalant- | F18.8 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| mental and behavioural disorders 6C4B Y Other specified disorders due to use of volatile inhalants 6C4B.Z Disorders due to use of volatile inhalants, unspecified mental and behavioural disorders 6C4C.D Episode of harmful use of MDMA or related drugs, including MDA F19 Mental and behavioural disorders 6C4C.1 Episode of harmful use of MDMA or related drugs, including MDA 6C4C.1 Episode of harmful use of MDMA or related drugs, including MDA 6C4C.1 Harmful pattern of use of MDMA or related drugs, including MDA 6C4C.10 Harmful use of MDMA or related drugs, including MDA 6C4C.10 Harmful use of MDMA or related drugs, including MDA 6C4C.10 Harmful use of MDMA or related drugs, including MDA, episodie 6C4C.10 Harmful use of MDMA or related drugs, including MDA, episodie 6C4C.10 Harmful use of MDMA or related drugs, including MDA, episodie 6C4C.10 Harmful use of MDMA or related drugs, including MDA, episodie 6C4C.10 Harmful use of MDMA or related drugs, including MDA, episodie 6C4C.10 Harmful use of MDMA or related drugs, including MDA, equisodie 6C4C.21 MDMA or related drug including MDA, unspecified drug dependence, including MDA, current use 6C4C.21 MDMA or related drug dependence, including MDA, early full remission 6C4C.21 MDMA or related drug dependence, including MDA, early full remiss | induced anxiety disorder | due to use of volatile solvents: other | |
| 6C4B.Y Other specified disorders due to use of volatile inhalants F18.8 Mental and behavioural disorders mental and behavioural disorders 6C4B.Z Disorders due to use of volatile inhalants, unspecified F18.9 Mental and behavioural disorders 6C4C Disorders due to use of MDMA or related drugs, including MDA F19.8 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances 6C4C.10 Episode of harmful use of MDMA or related drugs, including MDA F19.8 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: other mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances 6C4C.10 Harmful pattern of use of MDMA or related drugs, including MDA, episodic F19.1 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: harmful use 6C4C.10 Harmful use of MDMA or related drugs, including MDA, episodic F19.1 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: harmful use 6C4C.12 Harmful pattern of use of MDMA or related drugs, fincluding MDA, continuous F19.1 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: harmful use F19.2 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: idependence syndrome 6C4C.21 MDMA or related drug dependence, including MDA, current use F19.2 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: dependence syndrome F19.2 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: d | 2 | mental and behavioural disorders | |
| due to use of volatile inhalants due to use of volatile solvents: other mental and behavioural disorders 6C4B.Z Disorders due to use of volatile inhalants, unspecified F18.9 Mental and behavioural disorders due to use of volatile solvents: unspecified mental and behavioural disorder 6C4C.D Disorders due to use of MDMA or related drugs, including MDA F19 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: other mental and behavioural disorders 6C4C.1 Harmful pattern of use of MDMA or related drugs, including MDA F19.1 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: other mental and behavioural disorders 6C4C.10 Harmful use of MDMA, or related drugs, including MDA, episodie F19.1 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: harmful use 6C4C.11 Harmful use of MDMA, or related drugs, including MDA, eortinuous F19.1 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: harmful use 6C4C.21 MDMA or related drug including MDA, unspecified F19.2 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: harmful use 6C4C.20 MDMA or related drug dependence, including MDA, current use F19.2 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: dependence syndrome, currently using the substance [active dependence] 6C4C.21 MDMA or related drug dependence, including MDA, early full remission | 6C4B V Other specified disorders | | |
| mental and behavioural disorders 6C4B.Z Disorders due to use of volatile inhalants, unspecified F18.9 Mental and behavioural disorders due to use of volatile solvents: unspecified mental and behavioural disorder 6C4C Disorders due to use of MDMA or related drugs, including MDA F19 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances 6C4C.10 Episode of harmful use of MDMA or related drugs, including MDA F19.8 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: other mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: harmful use 6C4C.10 Harmful use of MDMA or related drugs, including MDA, episodic F19.1 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: harmful use 6C4C.10 Harmful use of MDMA or related drugs, including MDA, episodic F19.1 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: harmful use 6C4C.12 Harmful pattern of use of MDMA or related drugs, including MDA, unspecified dependence, including MDA, current use F19.1 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: dependence syndrome, currently using the substance lative dependence syndrome, currently using the substance lative dependence syndrome, currently using the substance lative dependence syndrome, currently abstinent 6C4C.21 MDMA or related drug dependence, including MDA, early full remission F19.2 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of othe | | | |
| 6C4B Z Disorders due to use of volatile inhalants, unspecified FI 8 9 Mental and behavioural disorders due to use of volatile solvents: umspecified mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances 6C4C Disorders due to use of MDMA or related drugs, including MDA FI 9 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances 6C4C.10 Episode of harmful use of MDMA or related drugs, including MDA FI 9.1 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: harmful use 6C4C.10 Harmful use of MDMA or related drugs, including MDA, episodic FI 9.1 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: harmful use 6C4C.10 Harmful use of MDMA or related drugs, including MDA, episodic FI 9.1 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: harmful use 6C4C.11 Harmful use of MDMA or related drugs, including MDA, eontinuous FI 9.1 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: harmful use 6C4C.21 XDMA or related drug dependence, including MDA, current use FI 9.2 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: dependence syndrome, currently using the substance lactive dependence syndrome, currently using the substance lactive dependence syndrome, currently using the substance lactive dependence syndrome, currently abstinent | due to use of volatile innatants | | |
| volatile inhalants, unspecified due to use of volatile solvents: unspecified mental and behavioural disorders 6C4C Disorders due to use of MDMA or related drugs, including MDA F19 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: other mental and behavioural disorders 6C4C.10 Episode of harmful use of MDMA or related drugs, including MDA F19.8 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: other mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: harmful use 6C4C.11 Harmful use of MDMA or related drugs, including MDA, episodic F19.1 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: harmful use 6C4C.11 Harmful use of MDMA or related drugs, including MDA, episodic F19.1 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: harmful use 6C4C.20 MDMA or related drugs, including MDA, er lated drugs, including MDA, erelated drugs, including MDA, er lated dru | | | |
| 6C4C Disorders due to use of MDMA or related drugs, including MDA F19 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances other mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances other mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances. 6C4C.1 Harmful pattern of use of MDMA or related drugs, including MDA F19.1 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: harmful use 6C4C.10 Harmful pattern of use of MDMA or related drugs, including MDA, or related drugs, including MDA, episodic F19.1 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: harmful use 6C4C.10 Harmful pattern of use of MDMA or related drugs, including MDA, unspecified F19.1 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: harmful use 6C4C.2 MDMA or related drugs, including MDA, unspecified F19.1 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: dependence syndrome, currently using the substance lactive dependence, including MDA, current use 6C4C.20 MDMA or related drug dependence, including MDA, current use F19.2 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: dependence syndrome, currently using the substance lactive dependence syndrome, currently and use of other psychoactive substances: dependence syndrome, currently abstinent | | | |
| unspecified mental and behavioural disorder 6C4C Disorders due to use of MDMA or related drugs, including MDA F19 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: other mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: other mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: harmful use 6C4C.1 Harmful pattern of use of MDMA or related drugs, including MDA F19.1 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: harmful use 6C4C.10 Harmful use of MDMA, or related drugs, including MDA, episodic F19.1 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: harmful use 6C4C.11 Harmful pattern of use of MDMA or related drugs, including MDA, unspecified F19.1 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: harmful use 6C4C.2 MDMA or related drugs, mincluding MDA, unspecified F19.2 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: dependence syndrome, currently use and use of other psychoactive substances: dependence syndrome, currently use and use of other psychoactive substances: dependence syndrome and use of other psychoactive substances: dependence syndrome and use of other psychoactive substances: dependence syndrome, currently using the substance lactive dependence; subtances: dependence syndrome, currently abstinent Select appropriate category based on clinical context. | volatile inhalants, unspecified | due to use of volatile solvents: | |
| disorder 6C4C Disorders due to use of MDMA or related drugs, including MDA 6C4C.00 Episode of harmful use of MDMA or related drugs, including MDA F19.8 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: other mental and behavioural disorders 6C4C.11 Harmful pattern of use of MDMA or related drugs, including MDA F19.8 Mental and behavioural disorders 6C4C.10 Harmful use of MDMA, or related drugs, including MDA F19.1 Mental and behavioural disorders 6C4C.10 Harmful use of MDMA, or related drugs, including MDA, episodic F19.1 Mental and behavioural disorders 6C4C.11 Harmful use of MDMA, or related drugs, including MDA, episodic F19.1 Mental and behavioural disorders 6C4C.12 Harmful pattern of use of MDMA or related drugs, including MDA, unspecified F19.1 Mental and behavioural disorders 6C4C.20 MDM or related drugs, including MDA, unspecified F19.1 Mental and behavioural disorders 6C4C.20 MDMA or related drugs, including MDA, unspecified F19.2 Mental and behavioural disorders 6C4C.20 MDMA or related drug dependence, including MDA, current use F19.2 Mental and behavioural disorders 6C4C.21 MDMA or related drug dependence, including MDA, current use F19.2 Mental and behavioural disorders 6C4C.21 MDMA or related drug dependence, including MDA, carly full remission F19.2 Mental and behavioural disorders 6C4C.21 MDMA or rela | , F | | |
| 6C4C Disorders due to use of MDMA or related drugs, including MDA F19 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances 6C4C.0 Episode of harmful use of MDMA or related drugs, including MDA F19.8 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: other mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: harmful use 6C4C.1 Harmful use of MDMA or related drugs, including MDA, episodic F19.1 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: harmful use 6C4C.1 Harmful use of MDMA or related drugs, including MDA, episodic F19.1 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: harmful use 6C4C.12 Harmful use of MDMA or related drugs, including MDA, continuous F19.1 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: harmful use 6C4C.2 MDMA or related drug dependence, including MDA, current use F19.1 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: dependence syndrome 6C4C.20 MDMA or related drug dependence, including MDA, early full remission F19.2 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: dependence syndrome 6C4C.21 MDMA or related drug dependence, including MDA, early full remission F19.20 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: dependence syndrome | | | |
| related drugs, including MDA due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances 6C4C.0 Episode of harmful use of MDMA or related drugs, including MDA F19.8 Mental and behavioural disorders 6C4C.1 Harmful pattern of use of MDMA or related drugs, including MDA, entited at drugs, including MDA, entited drug, and use of other psychoactive substances: harmful use F19.1 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: harmful use 6C4C.2.2 MDMA or related drug dependence, including MDA, current use F19.2 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: dependence syndrome 6C4C.2.1 MDMA or related drug dependence, including MDA, early full remission F19.2 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: dependence syndrome 6C4C.2.1 MDMA or related drug dependence, including MDA, early full remission F19.2 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: dependence syndrome 6C4C.2.1 MDMA or related drug dependenc | $(040 \mathbf{p}; 1, 1, 4)$ | | |
| Bysychoactive substances 6C4C.0 Episode of harmful use of MDMA or related drugs, including MDA F19.8 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: harmful use 6C4C.1 Harmful pattern of use of MDMA or related drugs, including MDA F19.1 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: harmful use 6C4C.10 Harmful use of MDMA or related drugs, including MDA, episodic F19.1 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: harmful use 6C4C.11 Harmful use of MDMA or related drugs, including MDA, continuous F19.1 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: harmful use 6C4C.21 Harmful pattern of use of MDMA or related drugs, including MDA, unspecified F19.1 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: harmful use 6C4C.22 MDMA or related drug dependence, including MDA, current use F19.2 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: dependence syndrome 6C4C.21 MDMA or related drug dependence, including MDA, current use F19.2 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: dependence syndrome, currently using the substance factive dependence] Select appropriate category based on clinical context. 6C4C.21 MDMA or related drug dependence, including MDA, early full remission F19.20 Mental and behavioural | | | |
| 6C4C.0 Episode of harmful use of MDMA or related drugs, including MDA F19.8 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: other mental and behavioural disorders 6C4C.1 Harmful pattern of use of MDMA or related drugs, including MDA F19.1 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: harmful use or related drugs, including MDA, episodic 6C4C.10 Harmful use of MDMA F19.1 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: harmful use of C4C.11 Harmful use of MDMA or related drugs, including MDA, eortinuous F19.1 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: harmful use of MDMA or related drugs, including MDA, unspecified 6C4C.2 MDMA or related drug dependence, including MDA, current use F19.2 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: dependence syndrome 6C4C.21 MDMA or related drug dependence, including MDA, current use F19.24 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: dependence syndrome 6C4C.21 MDMA or related drug dependence, including MDA, current use F19.24 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: dependence syndrome, currently using the substance factive dependence] Select appropriate category based on clinical context. 6C4C.21 MDMA or related drug dependence, including MDA, early full remission F19.20 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use o | related drugs, including MDA | | |
| 6C4C.0 Episode of harmful use of MDMA or related drugs, including MDA F19.8 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: other mental and behavioural disorders 6C4C.1 Harmful pattern of use of MDMA or related drugs, including MDA F19.1 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: harmful use or related drugs, including MDA, episodic 6C4C.10 Harmful use of MDMA F19.1 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: harmful use of C4C.11 Harmful use of MDMA or related drugs, including MDA, eortinuous F19.1 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: harmful use of MDMA or related drugs, including MDA, unspecified 6C4C.2 MDMA or related drug dependence, including MDA, current use F19.2 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: dependence syndrome 6C4C.21 MDMA or related drug dependence, including MDA, current use F19.24 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: dependence syndrome 6C4C.21 MDMA or related drug dependence, including MDA, current use F19.24 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: dependence syndrome, currently using the substance factive dependence] Select appropriate category based on clinical context. 6C4C.21 MDMA or related drug dependence, including MDA, early full remission F19.20 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use o | | psychoactive substances | |
| MDMA or related drugs, including MDA due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: other mental and behavioural disorders 6C4C.1 Harmful pattern of use of MDMA or related drugs, including F19.1 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: harmful use 6C4C.10 Harmful use of MDMA or related drugs, including MDA, episodic F19.1 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other 6C4C.11 Harmful use of MDMA or related drugs, including MDA, continuous F19.1 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other 6C4C.12 Harmful pattern of use of MDMA or related drugs, including MDA, or related drug dependence, including MDA F19.1 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other 6C4C.20 MDMA or related drug dependence, including MDA, current use F19.2 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: dependence syndrome F19.2 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: dependence syndrome, currently using the substance [active dependence] F19.2 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: dependence syndrome, currently using the substance [active dependence] Select appropriate category based on clinical context. 6C4C.21 MDMA or related drug dependence, including MDA, early full remission F19.2 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: dependence syndrome, currently abstinent | 6C4C 0 Episode of harmful use of | | |
| MDA psychoactive substances: other mental and behavioural disorders 6C4C.1 Harmful pattern of use of MDA or related drugs, including MDA F19.1 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: harmful use 6C4C.10 Harmful use of MDMA or related drugs, including MDA, episodic F19.1 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: harmful use 6C4C.12 Harmful use of MDMA or related drugs, including MDA, continuous F19.1 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: harmful use 6C4C.22 MDMA or related drug, including MDA, current use F19.2 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: dependence syndrome 6C4C.20 MDMA or related drug dependence, including MDA, current use F19.2 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: dependence syndrome 6C4C.21 MDMA or related drug dependence, including MDA, current use F19.2 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: dependence syndrome, currently using the substance lactive dependence] Select appropriate category based on clinical context. 6C4C.21 MDMA or related drug dependence, including MDA, early full remission F19.20 Mental and behavioural alisorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: dependence syndrome, currently abstinent Select appropriate category based on clinical context. <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> | | | |
| ind behavioural disorders 6C4C.1 Harmful pattern of use of MDMA or related drugs, including MDA F19.1 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: harmful use 6C4C.10 Harmful use of MDMA or related drugs, including MDA, episodic F19.1 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: harmful use 6C4C.11 Harmful use of MDMA or related drugs, including MDA, continuous F19.1 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: harmful use 6C4C.21 Harmful pattern of use of MDMA or related drug, including MDA, unspecified F19.1 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug us and use of other psychoactive substances: harmful use 6C4C.2.2 MDMA or related drug dependence, including MDA, current use F19.2 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: dependence syndrome. 6C4C.20 MDMA or related drug dependence, including MDA, current use F19.24 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: dependence syndrome, currently using the substance [active dependence] 6C4C.21 MDMA or related drug dependence, including MDA, early full remission F19.20 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: dependence syndrome, currently using the substance substances: dependence syndrome, currently abstinent Select appropriate category based on clinical context. | | | |
| 6C4C.1 Harmful pattern of use of MDMA or related drugs, including MDA F19.1 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: harmful use 6C4C.10 Harmful use of MDMA or related drugs, including MDA, episodic F19.1 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: harmful use 6C4C.11 Harmful use of MDMA or related drugs, including MDA, continuous F19.1 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: harmful use 6C4C.12 Harmful pattern of use of MDMA or related drugs, including MDA, unspecified F19.1 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug us and use of other psychoactive substances: harmful use 6C4C.2 MDMA or related drug dependence, including MDA, current use F19.2 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: dependence syndrome 6C4C.21 MDMA or related drug dependence, including MDA, current use F19.2 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: dependence syndrome. 6C4C.21 MDMA or related drug dependence, including MDA, carly full remission F19.2 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: dependence syndrome, currently abstinent Select appropriate category based on clinical context. | MDA | | |
| MDMA or related drugs, including MDA due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: harmful use 6C4C.10 Harmful use of MDMA or related drugs, including MDA, episodic F19.1 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: harmful use 6C4C.11 Harmful use of MDMA or related drugs, including MDA, continuous F19.1 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: harmful use 6C4C.12 Harmful pattern of use of MDMA or related drugs, including MDA, unspecified F19.1 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: harmful use 6C4C.2 MDMA or related drug dependence, including MDA current use F19.2 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: dependence syndrome 6C4C.20 MDMA or related drug dependence, including MDA, current use F19.24 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: dependence syndrome, currently using the substance [active dependence] 4-digit code: F19.2 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: dependence syndrome, currently abstinent Select appropriate category based on clinical context. | | | |
| MDA psychoactive substances: harmful use 6C4C.10 Harmful use of MDMA, or related drugs, including MDA, episodic F19.1 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: harmful use 6C4C.11 Harmful use of MDMA or related drugs, including MDA, continuous F19.1 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: harmful use 6C4C.12 Harmful pattern of use of MDMA or related drugs, including MDA, unspecified F19.1 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug us and use of other psychoactive substances: harmful use 6C4C.2 MDMA or related drug dependence, including MDA, current use F19.2 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: dependence syndrome, currently using the substance [active dependence] 6C4C.21 MDMA or related drug dependence, including MDA, current use F19.24 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: dependence syndrome, currently using the substance [active dependence] 6C4C.21 MDMA or related drug dependence, including MDA, current use F19.24 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: dependence syndrome, currently using the substance [active dependence] Select appropriate category based on clinical context. 6C4C.21 MDMA or related drug dependence, including MDA, early full remission F19.20 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: dependence syndrome, c | 6C4C.1 Harmful pattern of use of | F19.1 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| MDA psychoactive substances: harmful use 6C4C.10 Harmful use of MDMA, or related drugs, including MDA, episodic F19.1 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: harmful use 6C4C.11 Harmful use of MDMA or related drugs, including MDA, continuous F19.1 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: harmful use 6C4C.12 Harmful pattern of use of MDMA or related drugs, including MDA, unspecified F19.1 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug us and use of other psychoactive substances: harmful use 6C4C.2 MDMA or related drug dependence, including MDA, current use F19.2 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: dependence syndrome, currently using the substance [active dependence] 6C4C.21 MDMA or related drug dependence, including MDA, current use F19.24 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: dependence syndrome, currently using the substance [active dependence] 6C4C.21 MDMA or related drug dependence, including MDA, current use F19.24 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: dependence syndrome, currently using the substance [active dependence] Select appropriate category based on clinical context. 6C4C.21 MDMA or related drug dependence, including MDA, early full remission F19.20 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: dependence syndrome, c | MDMA or related drugs, including | due to multiple drug use and use of other | |
| 6C4C.10 Harmful use of MDMA or related drugs, including MDA, episodic F19.1 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: harmful use 6C4C.11 Harmful use of MDMA or related drugs, including MDA, continuous F19.1 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: harmful use 6C4C.12 Harmful pattern of use of MDMA or related drugs, including MDA, unspecified F19.1 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug us and use of other psychoactive substances: harmful use 6C4C.2 MDMA or related drug dependence, including MDA, current use F19.2 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: dependence syndrome 6C4C.20 MDMA or related drug dependence, including MDA, current use F19.24 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: dependence syndrome, currently using the substance [active dependence] 4-digit code: F19.2 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: dependence 6C4C.21 MDMA or related drug dependence, including MDA, carly full remission F19.20 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: dependence syndrome Select appropriate category based on clinical context. | | | |
| or related drugs, including MDA, episodic due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: harmful use 6C4C.11 Harmful use of MDMA or related drugs, including MDA, continuous F19.1 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: harmful use 6C4C.12 Harmful pattern of use of MDMA or related drugs, including MDA, unspecified F19.1 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: harmful use 6C4C.2 MDMA or related drug dependence, including MDA current use F19.2 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: dependence syndrome 6C4C.20 MDMA or related drug dependence, including MDA, current use F19.24 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: dependence syndrome 6C4C.21 MDMA or related drug dependence, including MDA, current use F19.24 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: dependence syndrome, currently using the substance [active dependence] 6C4C.21 MDMA or related drug dependence, including MDA, early full remission F19.20 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: dependence syndrome, currently abstinent Select appropriate category based on clinical context. | | | |
| episodicpsychoactive substances: harmful use6C4C.11 Harmful use of MDMA or related drugs, including MDA, continuousF19.1 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: harmful use6C4C.1Z Harmful pattern of use of MDMA or related drugs, including MDA, unspecifiedF19.1 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug us and use of other psychoactive substances: harmful use6C4C.2 MDMA or related drug dependence, including MDAF19.2 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug us and use of other psychoactive substances: dependence syndrome6C4C.20 MDMA or related drug dependence, including MDA, current useF19.24 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: dependence syndrome6C4C.21 MDMA or related drug dependence, including MDA, current useF19.22 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: dependence syndrome, currently using the substance [active dependence]6C4C.21 MDMA or related drug dependence, including MDA, carly full remissionF19.20 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: dependence syndrome6C4C.21 MDMA or related drug dependence, including MDA, carly full remissionF19.20 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: dependence syndrome6C4C.21 MDMA or related drug dependence, including MDA, carly full remissionF19.20 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: dependence sy | | | |
| 6C4C.11 Harmful use of MDMA or related drugs, including MDA, continuous F19.1 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: harmful use 6C4C.1Z Harmful pattern of use of MDMA or related drugs, including MDA, unspecified F19.1 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug us and use of other psychoactive substances: harmful use 6C4C.2 MDMA or related drug dependence, including MDA F19.2 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: dependence syndrome 6C4C.20 MDMA or related drug dependence, including MDA, current use F19.2 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: dependence syndrome 6C4C.21 MDMA or related drug dependence, including MDA, current use F19.24 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: dependence syndrome 6C4C.21 MDMA or related drug dependence, including MDA, carly full remission F19.20 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: dependence syndrome 6C4C.21 MDMA or related drug dependence, including MDA, early full remission F19.20 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: dependence syndrome 6C4C.21 MDMA or related drug dependence, including MDA, early full remission F19.20 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: dependence syndrome 6C4C.21 MDMA or related drug dependence, including | | | |
| or related drugs, including MDA, continuousdue to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: harmful use6C4C.1Z Harmful pattern of use of MDMA or related drugs, including MDA, unspecifiedF19.1 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug us and use of other psychoactive substances: harmful use6C4C.2 MDMA or related drug dependence, including MDAF19.2 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: dependence syndrome6C4C.20 MDMA or related drug dependence, including MDA, current useF19.2 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: dependence syndrome6C4C.20 MDMA or related drug dependence, including MDA, current useF19.24 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: dependence syndrome6C4C.21 MDMA or related drug dependence, including MDA, current useF19.20 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: dependence]6C4C.21 MDMA or related drug dependence, including MDA, early full remissionF19.20 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: dependence syndrome6C4C.21 MDMA or related drug dependence, including MDA, early full remissionF19.20 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: dependence syndrome6C4C.21 MDMA or related drug dependence, including MDA, early full remissionF19.20 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive su | | | |
| continuous psychoactive substances: harmful use 6C4C.1Z Harmful pattern of use of MDMA or related drugs, including MDA, unspecified F19.1 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug us and use of other psychoactive substances: harmful use 6C4C.2 MDMA or related drug dependence, including MDA F19.2 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: dependence syndrome 6C4C.20 MDMA or related drug dependence, including MDA, current use F19.24 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: dependence syndrome, currently using the substance [active dependence] 4-digit code: F19.2 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: dependence syndrome, currently using the substance [active dependence] 6C4C.21 MDMA or related drug dependence, including MDA, early full remission F19.20 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: dependence syndrome, currently abstinent Select appropriate category based on clinical context. | 6C4C.11 Harmful use of MDMA | F19.1 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| continuous psychoactive substances: harmful use 6C4C.1Z Harmful pattern of use of MDMA or related drugs, including MDA, unspecified F19.1 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug us and use of other psychoactive substances: harmful use 6C4C.2 MDMA or related drug dependence, including MDA F19.2 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: dependence syndrome 6C4C.20 MDMA or related drug dependence, including MDA, current use F19.24 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: dependence syndrome, currently using the substance [active dependence] 4-digit code: F19.2 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: dependence syndrome, currently using the substance [active dependence] 6C4C.21 MDMA or related drug dependence, including MDA, early full remission F19.20 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: dependence syndrome, currently abstinent Select appropriate category based on clinical context. | or related drugs, including MDA, | due to multiple drug use and use of other | |
| 6C4C.1Z Harmful pattern of use of MDMA or related drugs, including MDA, unspecified F19.1 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug us and use of other psychoactive substances: harmful use 6C4C.2 MDMA or related drug dependence, including MDA F19.2 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: dependence syndrome 6C4C.20 MDMA or related drug dependence, including MDA, current use F19.2 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: dependence syndrome, currently using the substance [active dependence] 4-digit code: F19.2 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: dependence Select appropriate category based on clinical context. 6C4C.21 MDMA or related drug dependence, including MDA, early full remission F19.20 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: dependence syndrome Select appropriate category based on clinical context. | | | |
| of MDMA or related drugs, including MDA, unspecifieddue to multiple drug us and use of other psychoactive substances: harmful use6C4C.2 MDMA or related drug dependence, including MDAF19.2 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: dependence syndrome6C4C.20 MDMA or related drug dependence, including MDA, current useF19.24 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: dependence syndrome, currently using the substance [active dependence]6C4C.21 MDMA or related drug dependence, including MDA, current useF19.2 Mental and behavioural and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: dependence syndrome, currently using the substance [active dependence]6C4C.21 MDMA or related drug dependence, including MDA, early full remissionF19.20 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: dependence syndrome6C4C.21 MDMA or related drug dependence, including MDA, early full remissionF19.20 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: dependence syndromeSelect appropriate category based on clinical context. | | | |
| including MDA, unspecifiedpsychoactive substances: harmful use6C4C.2 MDMA or related drug dependence, including MDAF19.2 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: dependence syndrome6C4C.20 MDMA or related drug dependence, including MDA, current useF19.24 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: dependence syndrome, currently using the substance [active dependence]6C4C.21 MDMA or related drug dependence, including MDA, current use4-digit code: F19.2 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: dependence [active dependence]]6C4C.21 MDMA or related drug dependence, including MDA, early full remissionF19.20 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: dependence syndrome6C4C.21 MDMA or related drug dependence, including MDA, early full remissionF19.20 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: dependence syndrome6C4C.21 MDMA or related drug dependence, including MDA, early full remissionF19.20 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: dependence syndrome, currently abstinent | | | |
| 6C4C.2 MDMA or related drug dependence, including MDA F19.2 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: dependence syndrome 6C4C.20 MDMA or related drug dependence, including MDA, current use F19.24 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: dependence syndrome, currently using the substance [active dependence] 4-digit code: F19.2 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: dependence 6C4C.21 MDMA or related drug dependence, including MDA, early full remission F19.20 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: dependence syndrome 6C4C.21 MDMA or related drug dependence, including MDA, early full remission F19.20 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: dependence syndrome, currently abstinent Select appropriate category based on clinical context. | | | |
| dependence, including MDAdue to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: dependence syndrome6C4C.20 MDMA or related drug dependence, including MDA, current useF19.24 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: dependence syndrome, currently using the substance [active dependence]4-digit code: F19.2 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: dependence]6C4C.21 MDMA or related drug dependence, including MDA, early full remissionF19.20 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: dependence syndrome6C4C.21 MDMA or related drug dependence, including MDA, early full remissionF19.20 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: dependence syndromeSelect appropriate category based on clinical context. | | | |
| dependence, including MDAdue to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: dependence syndrome6C4C.20 MDMA or related drug dependence, including MDA, current useF19.24 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: dependence syndrome, currently using the substance [active dependence]4-digit code: F19.2 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: dependence]6C4C.21 MDMA or related drug dependence, including MDA, early full remissionF19.20 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: dependence syndrome6C4C.21 MDMA or related drug dependence, including MDA, early full remissionF19.20 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: dependence syndromeSelect appropriate category based on clinical context. | 6C4C.2 MDMA or related drug | F19.2 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| by psychoactive substances: dependence syndrome6C4C.20 MDMA or related drug dependence, including MDA, current useF19.24 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: dependence syndrome, currently using the substance [active dependence]4-digit code: F19.2 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: dependence]6C4C.21 MDMA or related drug dependence, including MDA, early full remissionF19.20 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: dependence syndrome6C4C.21 MDMA or related drug dependence, including MDA, early full remissionF19.20 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: dependence syndrome, currently abstinentSelect appropriate category based on clinical context. | | | |
| 6C4C.20 MDMA or related drug dependence, including MDA, current use F19.24 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: dependence syndrome, currently using the substance [active dependence] 4-digit code: F19.2 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: dependence syndrome 6C4C.21 MDMA or related drug dependence, including MDA, early full remission F19.20 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: dependence syndrome, currently abstinent Select appropriate category based on clinical context. | -r,g | | |
| 6C4C.20 MDMA or related drug dependence, including MDA, current use F19.24 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: dependence syndrome, currently using the substance [active dependence] 4-digit code: F19.2 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: dependence syndrome Select appropriate category based on clinical context. 6C4C.21 MDMA or related drug dependence, including MDA, early full remission F19.20 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: dependence syndrome, currently abstinent Select appropriate category based on clinical context. | | | |
| dependence, including MDA, current usedue to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: dependence syndrome, currently using the substance [active dependence]4-digit code: F19.2 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: dependence syndrome6C4C.21 MDMA or related drug dependence, including MDA, early full remissionF19.20 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: dependence syndrome, currently abstinentSelect appropriate category based on clinical context. | | | |
| current usepsychoactive substances: dependence syndrome, currently using the substance [active dependence]4-digit code: F19.2 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: dependence syndrome6C4C.21 MDMA or related drug dependence, including MDA, early full remissionF19.20 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: dependence syndrome, currently abstinentSelect appropriate category based on clinical context. | | | |
| current usepsychoactive substances: dependence syndrome, currently using the substance [active dependence]4-digit code: F19.2 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: dependence syndrome6C4C.21 MDMA or related drug dependence, including MDA, early full remissionF19.20 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: dependence syndrome, currently abstinentSelect appropriate category based on clinical context. | dependence, including MDA, | | |
| syndrome, currently using the substance [active dependence]4-digit code: F19.2 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: dependence syndrome6C4C.21 MDMA or related drug dependence, including MDA, early full remissionF19.20 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: dependence substances: dependence syndrome, currently abstinentSelect appropriate category based on clinical context. | | psychoactive substances: dependence | |
| [active dependence]4-digit code: F19.2 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: dependence syndrome6C4C.21 MDMA or related drug dependence, including MDA, early full remissionF19.20 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: dependence syndrome, currently abstinentSelect appropriate category based on clinical context. | | | |
| 4-digit code: F19.2 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: dependence syndrome Select appropriate category based on clinical context. 6C4C.21 MDMA or related drug dependence, including MDA, early full remission F19.20 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: dependence syndrome, currently abstinent Select appropriate category based on clinical context. | | [active dependence] | |
| behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: dependence syndrome 6C4C.21 MDMA or related drug dependence, including MDA, early full remission syndrome, currently abstinent Select appropriate category based on clinical context. | | | |
| behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: dependence syndrome 6C4C.21 MDMA or related drug dependence, including MDA, early full remission syndrome, currently abstinent Select appropriate category based on clinical context. | | | |
| drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: dependence syndrome 6C4C.21 MDMA or related drug dependence, including MDA, early full remission F19.20 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: dependence syndrome, currently abstinent Select appropriate category based on clinical context. | | | |
| substances: dependence syndrome 6C4C.21 MDMA or related drug dependence, including MDA, early full remission F19.20 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: dependence syndrome, currently abstinent Select appropriate category based on clinical context. | | | |
| substances: dependence syndrome 6C4C.21 MDMA or related drug dependence, including MDA, early full remission F19.20 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: dependence syndrome, currently abstinent Select appropriate category based on clinical context. | | drug use and use of other psychoactive | |
| 6C4C.21 MDMA or related drug dependence, including MDA, early full remissionF19.20 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: dependence syndrome, currently abstinentSelect appropriate category based on clinical context. | | | |
| dependence, including MDA, early full remission due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: dependence syndrome, currently abstinent clinical context. | 6CAC 21 MDMA or valated days | | Select appropriate enterory based on |
| early full remission psychoactive substances: dependence syndrome, currently abstinent | | | |
| syndrome, currently abstinent | | | chincal context. |
| | early tull remission | | |
| | | syndrome, currently abstinent | |
| OR: | | - | |
| | | OR: | |
| | | 010 | |
| | | E10.21 M (1 11 1 1 1 1 1 1 | |
| F19.21 Mental and behavioural disorders | | | |
| due to multiple drug use and use of other | | | |
| psychoactive substances: dependence | | psychoactive substances: dependence | |

| | syndrome, currently abstinent, but in a protected environment | |
|--|---|--------------------------------------|
| | 4-digit code: F19.2 Mental and | |
| | behavioural disorders due to multiple | |
| | drug use and use of other psychoactive | |
| | substances: dependence syndrome | |
| 6C4C.22 MDMA or related drug | F19.24 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| dependence, including MDA, | due to multiple drug use and use of other | |
| sustained partial remission | psychoactive substances: dependence | |
| 1 | syndrome, currently using the substance | |
| | [active dependence] | |
| | | |
| | 4-digit code: F19.2 Mental and | |
| | behavioural disorders due to multiple | |
| | drug use and use of other psychoactive | |
| | substances: dependence syndrome | |
| 6C4C.23 MDMA or related drug | F19.20 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| dependence, including MDA, | due to multiple drug use and use of other | |
| sustained full remission | psychoactive substances: dependence | |
| | syndrome, currently abstinent | |
| | | |
| | 4-digit code: F19.2 Mental and | |
| | behavioural disorders due to multiple | |
| | drug use and use of other psychoactive | |
| | substances: dependence syndrome | |
| 6C4C.2Z MDMA or related drug | F19.2 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| dependence, including MDA, | due to multiple drug use and use of other | |
| unspecified | psychoactive substances: dependence | |
| | syndrome | |
| 6C4C.3 MDMA or related drug | F19.0 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| intoxication, including MDA | due to multiple drug use and use of other | |
| | psychoactive substances: acute | |
| | intoxication | |
| 6C4C.4 MDMA or related drug | F19.3 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| withdrawal, including MDA | due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances withdrawal state | |
| 6C4C.5 MDMA or related drug- | F19.03 Mental and behavioural disorders | Use F19.8 if intoxication/withdrawal |
| induced delirium, including MDA | due to multiple drug use and use of other | status unknown. |
| induced definition, including 1010/1 | psychoactive substances: acute | Status unknown. |
| | intoxication with delirium | |
| | | |
| | 4-digit code: F19.0 Mental and | |
| | behavioural disorders due to multiple | |
| | drug use and use of other psychoactive | |
| | substances: acute intoxication | |
| | | |
| | OR: | |
| | | |
| | F19.4 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| | due to multiple drug use and use of other | |
| | psychoactive substances withdrawal state | |
| | with delirium | |
| | | |
| | OR: | |
| | F10.9 M (1 11 1 1 1 1 1 1 | |
| | F19.8 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| | | |
| | due to multiple drug use and use of other | |
| | psychoactive substances: other mental | |
| | psychoactive substances: other mental and behavioural disorders | |
| 6C4C.6 MDMA or related drug- | psychoactive substances: other mental and behavioural disorders F19.5 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| induced psychotic disorder, | psychoactive substances: other mental and behavioural disorders F19.5 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other | |
| _ | psychoactive substances: other mental and behavioural disorders F19.5 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: psychotic | |
| induced psychotic disorder, including MDA | psychoactive substances: other mental and behavioural disorders F19.5 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other | |
| induced psychotic disorder, | psychoactive substances: other mental and behavioural disorders F19.5 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: psychotic | |

| behavioural disorders, including MDA | | |
|--|---|--|
| 6C4C.70 MDMA or related drug-induced mood disorder, including MDA | F19.8 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: other mental and behavioural disorders | |
| 6C4C.71 MDMA or related drug-induced anxiety disorder | F19.8 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: other mental and behavioural disorders | |
| 6C4C.Y Other specified disorders due to use of MDMA or related drugs, including MDA | F19.8 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: other mental and behavioural disorders | |
| 6C4C.Z Disorders due to use of MDMA or related drugs, including MDA, unspecified | F19.9 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: unspecified mental and behavioural disorder | |
| 6C4D Disorders due to use of dissociative drugs including ketamine and phencyclidine [PCP] 6C4D.0 Episode of harmful use of | F19 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances F19.8 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| dissociative drugs including ketamine or PCP 6C4D.1 Harmful pattern of use of | due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: other mental and behavioural disorders F19.1 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| dissociative drugs, including ketamine or PCP 6C4D.10 Harmful pattern of use | due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: harmful use F19.1 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| of dissociative drugs including ketamine or PCP, episodic 6C4D.11 Harmful pattern of use of dissociative drugs including | due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: harmful use F19.1 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other | |
| ketamine or PCP, continuous 6C4D.1Z Harmful pattern of use of dissociative drugs, including ketamine or PCP, unspecified | psychoactive substances: harmful use F19.1 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: harmful use | |
| 6C4D.2 Dissociative drug dependence including ketamine or PCP | F19.2 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: dependence syndrome | |
| 6C4D.20 Dissociative drug dependence including Ketamine or PCP, current use | F19.24 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: dependence syndrome, currently using the substance [active dependence] | |
| | 4-digit code: F19.2 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: dependence syndrome | |
| 6C4D.21 Dissociative drug dependence including Ketamine or PCP, early full remission | F19.20 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: dependence syndrome, currently abstinent | Select appropriate category based on clinical context. |
| | OR: | |
| | F19.21 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: dependence syndrome, currently abstinent, but in a protected environment | |
| | 4-digit code: F19.2 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple | |

| | 1 1 0 1 1 | [|
|-------------------------------------|---|---|
| | drug use and use of other psychoactive | |
| | substances: dependence syndrome | |
| 6C4D.22 Dissociative drug | F19.24 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| dependence including Ketamine | due to multiple drug use and use of other | |
| or PCP, sustained partial | psychoactive substances: dependence | |
| remission | syndrome, currently using the substance | |
| | [active dependence] | |
| | | |
| | 4-digit code: F19.2 Mental and | |
| | behavioural disorders due to multiple | |
| | drug use and use of other psychoactive | |
| | substances: dependence syndrome | |
| 6C4D.23 Dissociative drug | F19.20 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| dependence including Ketamine | due to multiple drug use and use of other | |
| or PCP, sustained full remission | psychoactive substances: dependence | |
| | syndrome, currently abstinent | |
| | | |
| | 4-digit code: F19.2 Mental and | |
| | behavioural disorders due to multiple | |
| | drug use and use of other psychoactive | |
| | substances: dependence syndrome | |
| 6C4D.2Z Dissociative drug | F19.2 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| dependence including ketamine | due to multiple drug use and use of other | |
| or PCP, unspecified | psychoactive substances: dependence | |
| | syndrome | |
| 6C4D.3 Dissociative drug | F19.0 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| intoxication including Ketamine or | due to multiple drug use and use of other | |
| PCP | psychoactive substances: acute | |
| | intoxication | |
| 6C4D.4 Dissociative drug-induced | F19.03 Mental and behavioural disorders | Use F19.8 if intoxication status unknown. |
| delirium including ketamine or PCP | due to multiple drug use and use of other | |
| | psychoactive substances: acute | |
| | intoxication with delirium | |
| | | |
| | 4-digit code: F19.0 Mental and | |
| | behavioural disorders due to multiple | |
| | drug use and use of other psychoactive | |
| | substances: acute intoxication | |
| | | |
| | OR: | |
| | | |
| | F19.8 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| | due to multiple drug use and use of other | |
| | psychoactive substances: other mental | |
| | and behavioural disorders | |
| 6C4D.5 Dissociative drug-induced | F19.5 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| psychotic disorder including | due to multiple drug use and use of other | |
| Ketamine or PCP | psychoactive substances: psychotic | |
| | disorder | |
| 6C4D.6 Certain specified | | |
| dissociative drugs -induced mental | | |
| or behavioural disorders, including | | |
| ketamine and phencyclidine [PCP] | | |
| 6C4D.60 Dissociative drug- | F19.8 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| induced mood disorder including | due to multiple drug use and use of other | |
| Ketamine or PCP | psychoactive substances: other mental | |
| | and behavioural disorders | |
| 6C4D.61 Dissociative drug- | F19.8 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| induced anxiety disorder | due to multiple drug use and use of other | |
| including Ketamine or PCP | psychoactive substances: other mental | |
| | and behavioural disorders | |
| 6C4D.Y Other specified disorders | F19.8 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| due to use of dissociative drugs | due to multiple drug use and use of other | |
| including ketamine and | psychoactive substances: other mental | |
| phencyclidine [PCP] | and behavioural disorders | |
| | | |

| 6C4D.Z Disorders due to use of | F19.9 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
|--|--|--------------------------------------|
| dissociative drugs including | due to multiple drug use and use of other | |
| ketamine and phencyclidine [PCP], | psychoactive substances: unspecified | |
| unspecified | mental and behavioural disorder | |
| 6C4E Disorders due to use of other | F19 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| specified psychoactive substances, | due to multiple drug use and use of other | |
| including medications | psychoactive substances | |
| 6C4E.0 Episode of harmful use of | F19.8 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| | | |
| other specified psychoactive | due to multiple drug use and use of other | |
| substance | psychoactive substances: other mental | |
| | and behavioural disorders | |
| 6C4E.1 Harmful pattern of use of | F19.1 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| other specified psychoactive | due to multiple drug use and use of other | |
| substance | psychoactive substances: harmful use | |
| 6C4E.10 Harmful pattern of use | F19.1 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| of other specified psychoactive | due to multiple drug use and use of other | |
| substance, episodic | psychoactive substances: harmful use | |
| | | |
| 6C4E.11 Harmful pattern of use | F19.1 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| of other specified psychoactive | due to multiple drug use and use of other | |
| substance, continuous | psychoactive substances: harmful use | |
| 6C4E.1Z Harmful pattern of use | F19.1 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| of other specified psychoactive | due to multiple drug use and use of other | |
| substance, unspecified | psychoactive substances: harmful use | |
| 6C4E.2 Other specified psychoactive | F19.2 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| | due to multiple drug use and use of other | |
| substance dependence | | |
| | psychoactive substances: dependence | |
| | syndrome | |
| 6C4E.20 Other specified | F19.24 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| psychoactive substance | due to multiple drug use and use of other | |
| dependence, current use | psychoactive substances: dependence | |
| 1 | syndrome, currently using the substance | |
| | [active dependence] | |
| | [active dependence] | |
| | 4 disit as day E10.2 Mantal and | |
| | 4-digit code: F19.2 Mental and | |
| | behavioural disorders due to multiple | |
| | drug use and use of other psychoactive | |
| | substances: dependence syndrome | |
| 6C4E.21 Other specified | F19.20 Mental and behavioural disorders | Select appropriate category based on |
| psychoactive substance | due to multiple drug use and use of other | clinical context. |
| dependence, early full remission | psychoactive substances: dependence | |
| dependence, early full fernission | | |
| | syndrome, currently abstinent | |
| | | |
| | OR: | |
| | | |
| | F19.21 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| | due to multiple drug use and use of other | |
| | psychoactive substances: dependence | |
| | syndrome, currently abstinent, but in a | |
| | | |
| | protected environment | |
| | OR: | |
| | | |
| | F19.23 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| | due to multiple drug use and use of other | |
| | psychoactive substances: dependence | |
| | | |
| | syndrome, currently abstinent, but | |
| | receiving treatment with aversive or | |
| | blocking drugs (e.g. naltrexone or | |
| | disulfiram) | |
| | | |
| | 4-digit code: F19.2 Mental and | |
| | | |
| | | |
| | behavioural disorders due to multiple | |
| | behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive | |
| | behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: dependence syndrome | |
| 6C4E.22 Other specified psychoactive substance | behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive | |

| dependence, sustained partial | psychoactive substances: dependence | |
|-------------------------------------|---|--------------------------------------|
| remission | syndrome, currently using the substance | |
| | [active dependence] | |
| | | |
| | 4-digit code: F19.2 Mental and | |
| | behavioural disorders due to multiple | |
| | drug use and use of other psychoactive | |
| | substances: dependence syndrome | |
| (C4E 22 Od | | |
| 6C4E.23 Other specified | F19.20 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| psychoactive substance | due to multiple drug use and use of other | |
| dependence, sustained full | psychoactive substances: dependence | |
| remission | syndrome, currently abstinent | |
| | | |
| | 4-digit code: F19.2 Mental and | |
| | behavioural disorders due to multiple | |
| | drug use and use of other psychoactive | |
| | substances: dependence syndrome | |
| 6C4E.2Z Other specified | F19.2 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| psychoactive substance | due to multiple drug use and use of other | |
| dependence, unspecified | psychoactive substances: dependence | |
| dependence, unspecifica | syndrome | |
| (CAE 2 0/1 - C - 1 - 1 | F19.0 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| 6C4E.3 Other specified psychoactive | | |
| substance intoxication | due to multiple drug use and use of other | |
| | psychoactive substances: acute | |
| | intoxication | |
| 6C4E.4 Other specified psychoactive | F19.3 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| substance withdrawal | due to multiple drug use and use of other | |
| | psychoactive substances withdrawal state | |
| 6C4E.40 Other specified | F19.30 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| psychoactive substance | due to multiple drug use and use of other | |
| withdrawal, uncomplicated | psychoactive substances withdrawal | |
| windrawai, uncomplicated | state, uncomplicated | |
| | state, uncomplicated | |
| | 4 1 × 1 F10 2 M + 1 1 | |
| | 4-digit code: F19.3 Mental and | |
| | behavioural disorders due to multiple | |
| | drug use and use of other psychoactive | |
| | substances withdrawal state | |
| 6C4E.41 Other specified | F19.3 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| psychoactive substance | due to multiple drug use and use of other | |
| withdrawal, with perceptual | psychoactive substances withdrawal state | |
| disturbances | | |
| 6C4E.42 Other specified | F19.31 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| psychoactive substance | due to multiple drug use and use of other | |
| withdrawal, with seizures | psychoactive substances withdrawal | |
| withdrawal, with scizures | state, with convulsions | |
| | state, with convuisions | |
| | 4 digit godo: F10 2 Montal | |
| | 4-digit code: F19.3 Mental and | |
| | behavioural disorders due to multiple | |
| | drug use and use of other psychoactive | |
| | substances withdrawal state | |
| 6C4E.43 Other specified | F19.31 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| psychoactive substance | due to multiple drug use and use of other | |
| withdrawal, with perceptual | psychoactive substances withdrawal | |
| disturbances and seizures | state, with convulsions | |
| | | |
| | 4-digit code: F19.3 Mental and | |
| | behavioural disorders due to multiple | |
| | drug use and use of other psychoactive | |
| | substances withdrawal state | |
| 6CAE 47 Od 'C 1 | | |
| 6C4E.4Z Other specified | F19.3 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| psychoactive substance | due to multiple drug use and use of other | |
| withdrawal, unspecified | psychoactive substances withdrawal state | |
| 6C4E.5 Delirium induced by other | F19.03 Mental and behavioural disorders | Use F19.8 if intoxication/withdrawal |
| specified psychoactive substance | due to multiple drug use and use of other | status unknown. |
| including medications | psychoactive substances: acute | |
| | intoxication with delirium | |
| | | |

| | 4-digit code: F19.0 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: acute intoxication | |
|--|---|--|
| | OR: | |
| | F19.4 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances withdrawal state with delirium | |
| | OR: | |
| | F19.8 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: other mental and behavioural disorders | |
| 6C4E.6 Psychotic disorder induced by other specified psychoactive substance | F19.5 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: psychotic disorder | |
| 6C4E.7 Certain other specified psychoactive substance-induced mental or behavioural disorders | | |
| 6C4E.70 Mood disorder induced by other specified psychoactive substance | F19.8 Mental and behavioural disorder due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: other mental and behavioural disorders | |
| 6C4E.71 Anxiety disorder induced by other specified psychoactive substance | F19.8 Mental and behavioural disorder due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: other mental and behavioural disorders | |
| 6C4E.72 Obsessive-compulsive or related disorder induced by other specified psychoactive substance | F19.8 Mental and behavioural disorder due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: other mental and behavioural disorders | |
| 6C4E.73 Impulse control disorder induced by other specified psychoactive substance | F19.8 Mental and behavioural disorder due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: other mental and behavioural disorders | |
| 6C4E.Y Other specified disorders due to use of other specified psychoactive substances, including medications | F19.8 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: other mental and behavioural disorders | |
| 6C4E.Z Disorders due to use of other specified psychoactive substances, including medications, unspecified | F19.9 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: unspecified mental and behavioural disorder | |
| 6C4F Disorders due to use of multiple specified psychoactive substances, including medications | F19 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances | |
| 6C4F.0 Episode of harmful use of multiple specified psychoactive substances | F19.8 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: other mental and behavioural disorders | |
| 6C4F.1 Harmful pattern of use of multiple specified psychoactive substances 6C4F.10 Harmful pattern of use | F19.1 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: harmful use F19.1 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| of multiple specified psychoactive substances, episodic | due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: harmful use | |

| | 1 | |
|---|---|--------------------------------------|
| 6C4F.11 Harmful pattern of use | F19.1 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| of multiple specified psychoactive substances, | due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: harmful use | |
| continuous | psycholocitve substances, nammur use | |
| 6C4F.1Z Harmful pattern of use | F19.1 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| of multiple specified | due to multiple drug use and use of other | |
| psychoactive substances, | psychoactive substances: harmful use | |
| unspecified | | |
| 6C4F.2 Multiple specified | F19.2 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| psychoactive substances dependence | due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: dependence | |
| | syndrome | |
| 6C4F.20 Multiple specified | F19.24 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| psychoactive substances | due to multiple drug use and use of other | |
| dependence, current use | psychoactive substances: dependence | |
| | syndrome, currently using the substance | |
| | [active dependence] | |
| | 4-digit code: F19.2 Mental and | |
| | behavioural disorders due to multiple | |
| | drug use and use of other psychoactive | |
| | substances: dependence syndrome | |
| 6C4F.21 Multiple specified | F19.20 Mental and behavioural disorders | Select appropriate category based on |
| psychoactive substances dependence, early full remission | due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: dependence | clinical context. |
| dependence, early full remission | syndrome, currently abstinent | |
| | syndrome, currentry ubstillent | |
| | OR: | |
| | F19.21 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| | due to multiple drug use and use of other | |
| | psychoactive substances: dependence | |
| | syndrome, currently abstinent, but in a | |
| | protected environment | |
| | OR: | |
| | F19.23 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| | due to multiple drug use and use of other | |
| | psychoactive substances: dependence | |
| | syndrome, currently abstinent, but | |
| | receiving treatment with aversive or | |
| | blocking drugs (e.g. naltrexone or | |
| | disulfiram) | |
| | 4-digit code: F19.2 Mental and | |
| | behavioural disorders due to multiple | |
| | drug use and use of other psychoactive | |
| 6CAE 22 Multiple specified | substances: dependence syndrome F19.24 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| 6C4F.22 Multiple specified psychoactive substances | due to multiple drug use and use of other | |
| dependence, sustained partial | psychoactive substances: dependence | |
| remission | syndrome, currently using the substance | |
| | [active dependence] | |
| | 4 digit godo: E10 2 Montal | |
| | 4-digit code: F19.2 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple | |
| | drug use and use of other psychoactive | |
| | substances: dependence syndrome | |
| 6C4F.23 Multiple specified | F19.20 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| psychoactive substances | due to multiple drug use and use of other | |
| dependence, sustained full | psychoactive substances: dependence | |
| remission | syndrome, currently abstinent | |
| | 4-digit code: F19.2 Mental and | |
| | behavioural disorders due to multiple | |
| L | | 1 |

| | drug use and use of other psychoactive | |
|---|---|--|
| 6C4F.2Z Multiple specified psychoactive substances dependence, unspecified | substances: dependence syndrome F19.2 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: dependence | |
| 6C4F.3 Intoxication due to multiple specified psychoactive substances | syndrome F19.0 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other | |
| 6C4F.4 Multiple specified | psychoactive substances: acute intoxication F19.3 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| psychoactive substances withdrawal | due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances withdrawal state | |
| 6C4F.40 Multiple specified psychoactive substances withdrawal, uncomplicated | F19.30 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances withdrawal state, uncomplicated | |
| | 4-digit code: F19.3 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances withdrawal state | |
| 6C4F.41 Multiple specified psychoactive substances withdrawal, with perceptual disturbances | F19.3 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances withdrawal state | |
| 6C4F.42 Multiple specified psychoactive substances withdrawal, with seizures | F19.31 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances withdrawal state, with convulsions | |
| | 4-digit code: F19.3 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances withdrawal state | |
| 6C4F.43 Multiple specified psychoactive substances withdrawal, with perceptual disturbances and seizures | F19.31 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances withdrawal state, with convulsions | |
| | 4-digit code: F19.3 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances withdrawal state | |
| 6C4F.4Y Other specified multiple specified psychoactive substances withdrawal | F19.3 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances withdrawal state | |
| 6C4F.4Z Multiple specified psychoactive substances withdrawal, unspecified | F19.3 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances withdrawal state | |
| 6C4F.5 Delirium induced by multiple specified psychoactive substances including medications | F19.03 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: acute intoxication with delirium | Use F19.8 if intoxication/withdrawal status unknown. |
| | 4-digit code: F19.0 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: acute intoxication | |
| | OR: | |
| | F19.4 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances withdrawal state with delirium | |

| | OR: | |
|--|--|--|
| | | |
| | F19.8 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| | due to multiple drug use and use of other | |
| | psychoactive substances: other mental | |
| | and behavioural disorders | |
| 6C4F.6 Psychotic disorder induced | F19.5 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| by multiple specified psychoactive | due to multiple drug use and use of other | |
| substances | psychoactive substances: psychotic | |
| | disorder | |
| 6C4F.7 Certain multiple specified | | |
| psychoactive substances-induced | | |
| mental or behavioural disorders 6C4F.70 Mood disorder induced | F19.8 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| by multiple specified | due to multiple drug use and use of other | |
| psychoactive substances | psychoactive substances: other mental | |
| psycholective substances | and behavioural disorders | |
| 6C4F.71 Anxiety disorder | F19.8 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| induced by multiple specified | due to multiple drug use and use of other | |
| psychoactive substances | psychoactive substances: other mental | |
| | and behavioural disorders | |
| 6C4F.72 Obsessive-compulsive | F19.8 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| or related disorder induced by | due to multiple drug use and use of other | |
| multiple specified psychoactive | psychoactive substances: other mental | |
| substances | and behavioural disorders | |
| 6C4F.73 Impulse control | F19.8 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| syndrome induced by multiple | due to multiple drug use and use of other | |
| specified psychoactive | psychoactive substances: other mental | |
| substances | and behavioural disorders | |
| 6C4F.Y Other specified disorders | F19.8 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| due to use of multiple specified psychoactive substances, including | due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: other mental | |
| medications | and behavioural disorders | |
| 6C4F.Z Disorders due to use of | F19.9 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| multiple specified psychoactive | due to multiple drug use and use of other | |
| substances, including medications, | psychoactive substances: unspecified | |
| unspecified | mental and behavioural disorder | |
| 6C4G Disorders due to use of unknown | F19 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| or unspecified psychoactive substances | due to multiple drug use and use of other | |
| | psychoactive substances | |
| 6C4G.0 Episode of harmful use of | F19.8 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| unknown or unspecified | due to multiple drug use and use of other | |
| psychoactive substances | psychoactive substances: other mental | |
| 6CAC 1 Harris £ 1 | and behavioural disorders | |
| 6C4G.1 Harmful pattern of use of | F19.1 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| unknown or unspecified psychoactive substance | due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: harmful use | |
| 6C4G.10 Harmful pattern of use | F19.1 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| of unknown or unspecified | due to multiple drug use and use of other | |
| psychoactive substance, episodic | psychoactive substances: harmful use | |
| 6C4G.11 Harmful pattern of use | F19.1 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| of unknown or unspecified | due to multiple drug use and use of other | |
| psychoactive substance, | psychoactive substances: harmful use | |
| continuous | | |
| 6C4G.1Z Harmful pattern of use | F19.1 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| of unknown or unspecified | due to multiple drug us and use of other | |
| psychoactive substance, | psychoactive substances: harmful use | |
| unspecified | | |
| 6C4G.2 Unknown or unspecified | F19.2 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| psychoactive substance dependence | due to multiple drug use and use of other | |
| | psychoactive substances: dependence | |
| 6C4C 20 Unimovin on | syndrome F19.24 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| 6C4G.20 Unknown or unspecified psychoactive | due to multiple drug use and use of other | |
| unspectica psychoaetive | psychoactive substances: dependence | |
| | psychologity substances, dependence | |

| | | I |
|---|--|--------------------------------------|
| substance dependence, current use | syndrome, currently using the substance [active dependence] | |
| | 4 divit as lay E10.2 Mantal and | |
| | 4-digit code: F19.2 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple | |
| | | |
| | drug use and use of other psychoactive | |
| | substances: dependence syndrome | |
| 6C4G.21 Unknown or | F19.20 Mental and behavioural disorders | Select appropriate category based on |
| unspecified psychoactive | due to multiple drug use and use of other | clinical context. |
| substance dependence, early full | psychoactive substances: dependence | |
| remission | syndrome, currently abstinent | |
| | OR: | |
| | F19.21 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| | due to multiple drug use and use of other | |
| | psychoactive substances: dependence | |
| | syndrome, currently abstinent, but in a | |
| | protected environment | |
| | 4-digit code: F19.2 Mental and | |
| | behavioural disorders due to multiple | |
| | drug use and use of other psychoactive | |
| | substances: dependence syndrome | |
| 6C4G.22 Unknown or | F19.24 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| unspecified psychoactive | due to multiple drug use and use of other | |
| substance dependence, sustained | psychoactive substances: dependence | |
| partial remission | syndrome, currently using the substance | |
| | [active dependence] | |
| | 4-digit code: F19.2 Mental and | |
| | behavioural disorders due to multiple | |
| | drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: dependence syndrome | |
| 6C4G.23 Unknown or | F19.20 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| unspecified psychoactive | due to multiple drug use and use of other | |
| substance dependence, sustained | psychoactive substances: dependence | |
| full remission | syndrome, currently abstinent | |
| | 4-digit code: F19.2 Mental and | |
| | behavioural disorders due to multiple | |
| | drug use and use of other psychoactive | |
| | substances: dependence syndrome | |
| 6C4G.2Z Unknown or | F19.2 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| unspecified psychoactive | due to multiple drug use and use of other | |
| substance dependence, | psychoactive substances: dependence | |
| unspecified | syndrome | |
| 6C4G.3 Intoxication due to | F19.0 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| unknown or unspecified | due to multiple drug use and use of other | |
| psychoactive substance | psychoactive substances: acute | |
| | intoxication | |
| 6C4G.4 Withdrawal due to unknown | F19.3 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| or unspecified psychoactive | due to multiple drug use and use of other | |
| | | |
| substance | psychoactive substances withdrawal state | |
| 6C4G.40 Withdrawal due to | F19.30 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| 6C4G.40 Withdrawal due to unknown or unspecified | F19.30 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other | |
| 6C4G.40 Withdrawal due to unknown or unspecified psychoactive substance, | F19.30 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances withdrawal | |
| 6C4G.40 Withdrawal due to unknown or unspecified | F19.30 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other | |
| 6C4G.40 Withdrawal due to unknown or unspecified psychoactive substance, | F19.30 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances withdrawal state, uncomplicated 4-digit code: F19.3 Mental and | |
| 6C4G.40 Withdrawal due to unknown or unspecified psychoactive substance, | F19.30 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances withdrawal state, uncomplicated 4-digit code: F19.3 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple | |
| 6C4G.40 Withdrawal due to unknown or unspecified psychoactive substance, | F19.30 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances withdrawal state, uncomplicated 4-digit code: F19.3 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive | |
| 6C4G.40 Withdrawal due to unknown or unspecified psychoactive substance, uncomplicated | F19.30 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances withdrawal state, uncomplicated 4-digit code: F19.3 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances withdrawal state | |
| 6C4G.40 Withdrawal due to unknown or unspecified psychoactive substance, | F19.30 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances withdrawal state, uncomplicated 4-digit code: F19.3 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive | |

| psychoactive substance, with perceptual disturbances | | |
|--|---|--|
| 6C4G.42 Withdrawal due to unknown or unspecified psychoactive substance, with seizures | F19.31 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances withdrawal state, with convulsions | |
| | 4-digit code: F19.3 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances withdrawal state | |
| 6C4G.43 Withdrawal due to unknown or unspecified psychoactive substance, with perceptual disturbances and seizures | F19.31 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances withdrawal state, with convulsions | |
| | 4-digit code: F19.3 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances withdrawal state | |
| 6C4G.4Z Withdrawal due to unknown or unspecified psychoactive substance, unspecified | F19.3 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug us and use of other psychoactive substances withdrawal state | |
| 6C4G.5 Delirium induced by unknown or unspecified psychoactive substance | F19.03 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: acute intoxication with delirium | Use F19.8 if intoxication/withdrawal status unknown. |
| | 4-digit code: F19.0 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: acute intoxication | |
| | OR: | |
| | F19.4 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances withdrawal state with delirium | |
| | OR: | |
| | F19.8 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: Other mental and behavioural disorders | |
| 6C4G.6 Psychotic disorder induced by unknown or unspecified psychoactive substance | F19.5 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: psychotic disorder | |
| 6C4G.7 Certain unknown or unspecified psychoactive substance- induced mental or behavioural disorders | | |
| 6C4G.70 Mood disorder induced by unknown or unspecified psychoactive substance | F19.8 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: other mental and behavioural disorders | |
| 6C4G.71 Anxiety disorder induced by unknown or unspecified psychoactive substance | F19.8 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: other mental and behavioural disorders | |
| 6C4G.72 Obsessive-compulsive or related disorder induced by | F19.8 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other | |

| unknown or unspecified | psychoactive substances: other mental | |
|--------------------------------------|---|---------------------------------------|
| psychoactive substance | and behavioural disorders | |
| 6C4G.73 Impulse control disorder | F19.8 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| induced by unknown or unspecified | due to multiple drug use and use of other | |
| psychoactive substance | psychoactive substances: other mental | |
| | and behavioural disorders | |
| 6C4G.Y Other specified disorders | F19.8 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| due to use of unknown or | due to multiple drug use and use of other | |
| unspecified psychoactive substances | psychoactive substances: other mental | |
| | and behavioural disorders | |
| 6C4G.Z Disorders due to use of | F19.9 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| unknown or unspecified | due to multiple drug use and use of other | |
| psychoactive substances, unspecified | psychoactive substances: unspecified | |
| | mental and behavioural disorder | |
| 6C4H Disorders due to use of non- | F55 Abuse of non-dependence-producing | |
| psychoactive substance | substances | |
| | | |
| | No 4-digit code available | |
| H.0 Episode of harmful use of non- | F55 Abuse of non-dependence-producing | |
| psychoactive substances | substances | |
| | | |
| | No 4-digit code available | |
| 6C4H.1 Harmful pattern of use of | F55 Abuse of non-dependence-producing | |
| non-psychoactive substances | substances | |
| | | |
| | No 4-digit code available | |
| 6C4H.10 Harmful pattern of use | F55 Abuse of non-dependence-producing | |
| of non-psychoactive substances, | substances | |
| episodic | | |
| | No 4-digit code available | |
| 6C4H.11 Harmful pattern of use | F55 Abuse of non-dependence-producing | |
| of non-psychoactive substances, | substances | |
| continuous | | |
| | No 4-digit code available | |
| 6C4H.1Z Harmful pattern of use | F55 Abuse of non-dependence-producing | |
| of non-psychoactive substances, | substances | |
| unspecified | | |
| * | No 4-digit code available | |
| 6C4H.Y Other specified disorders | F55 Abuse of non-dependence-producing | |
| due to use of non-psychoactive | substances | |
| substances | | |
| | No 4-digit code available | |
| 6C4H.Z Disorders due to use of non- | F55 Abuse of non-dependence-producing | |
| psychoactive substances, unspecified | substances | |
| | | |
| | No 4-digit code available | |
| 6C4Z Disorders due to substance use, | F19.9 Mental and behavioural disorders | For non-psychoactive (i.e., non- |
| unspecified | due to multiple drug use and use of other | dependence-producing) substances, use |
| F | psychoactive substances: unspecified | F55. |
| | mental and behavioural disorder | |
| | | |
| | OR: | |
| | | |
| | F55 Abuse of non-dependence-producing | |
| | substance | |
| DISORDERS DUE TO ADDICTIVE | | |
| BEHAVIOURS | | |
| 6C50 Gambling disorder | F63.0 Pathological gambling | |
| | F63.0 Pathological gambling | |
| 6C50.0 Gambling disorder, | ros.o ramoiogical gambiing | |
| predominantly offline | E(20D d) 1 1 1 11 | |
| 6C50.1 Gambling disorder, | F63.0 Pathological gambling | |
| predominantly online | | |
| 6C50.Z Gambling disorder, | F63.0 Pathological gambling | |
| unspecified | | |
| 6C51 Gaming disorder | F63.8 Other habit and impulse disorders | |

| 6C51.0 Gaming disorder, | F63.8 Other habit and impulse disorders | |
|--|---|---|
| predominantly online | | |
| 6C51.1 Gaming disorder, | F63.8 Other habit and impulse disorders | |
| predominantly offline | | |
| 6C51.Z Gaming disorder, unspecified | F63.8 Other habit and impulse disorders | |
| 6C5Y Other specified disorders due to | F63.8 Other habit and impulse disorders | |
| addictive behaviours | 1 05.8 Other habit and impulse disorders | |
| 6C5Z Disorders due to addictive | F63.9 Habit and impulse disorder, | |
| behaviours, unspecified | unspecified | |
| IMPULSE CONTROL DISORDERS | | |
| 6C70 Pyromania | F63.1 Pathological fire-setting | |
| | [pyromania] | |
| 6C71 Kleptomania | F63.2 Pathological stealing [kleptomania] | |
| 6C72 Compulsive sexual behaviour | F63.8 Other habit and impulse disorders | |
| disorder | * | |
| 6C73 Intermittent explosive disorder | F63.8 Other habit and impulse disorders | |
| 6C7Y Other specified impulse control | F63.8 Other habit and impulse disorders | |
| disorders | | |
| 6C7Z Impulse control disorders, | F63.9 Habit and impulse disorder, | |
| unspecified | unspecified | |
| DISRUPTIVE BEHAVIOUR OR | | |
| DISSOCIAL DISORDERS | | |
| 6C90 Oppositional defiant disorder | F91.3 Oppositional defiant disorder | |
| 6C90.0 Oppositional defiant disorder | F91.3 Oppositional defiant disorder | |
| with chronic irritability-anger | | |
| 6C90.00 Oppositional defiant | F91.3 Oppositional defiant disorder | |
| disorder with chronic irritability- | | |
| anger with limited prosocial | | |
| emotions | | |
| 6C90.01 Oppositional defiant | F91.3 Oppositional defiant disorder | |
| disorder with chronic irritability- | | |
| anger with typical prosocial | | |
| emotions | | |
| 6C90.0Z Oppositional defiant | F91.3 Oppositional defiant disorder | |
| disorder with chronic irritability- | | |
| anger, unspecified | | |
| 6C90.1 Oppositional defiant disorder | F91.3 Oppositional defiant disorder | |
| without chronic irritability-anger | | |
| C90.10 Oppositional defiant | F91.3 Oppositional defiant disorder | |
| disorder without chronic | | |
| irritability-anger with limited | | |
| prosocial emotions | | |
| 6C90.11 Oppositional defiant | F91.3 Oppositional defiant disorder | |
| disorder without chronic | - 11 | |
| irritability-anger with typical | | |
| prosocial emotions | | |
| 6C90.1Z Oppositional defiant | F91.3 Oppositional defiant disorder | |
| disorder without chronic | | |
| irritability-anger, unspecified | | |
| 6C90.Z Oppositional defiant | F91.3 Oppositional defiant disorder | |
| disorder, unspecified | | |
| 6C91 Conduct-dissocial disorder | F91 Conduct disorders | |
| | | |
| | 4-digit code: F91.9 Conduct disorder, | |
| | unspecified | |
| 6C91.0 Conduct-dissocial disorder, | F91 Conduct disorders | |
| childhood onset | | |
| | 4-digit code: F91.8 Other conduct | |
| | disorders | |
| 6C91.00 Conduct-dissocial | F91 Conduct disorders | |
| disorder, childhood onset with | | |
| limited prosocial emotions | 4-digit code: F91.8 Other conduct | |
| prosocial emotions | disorders | |
| L | | 1 |

| 6C91.01 Conduct-dissocial | F91 Conduct disorders | |
|--|---|---|
| disorder, childhood onset with typical prosocial emotions | 4-digit code: F91.8 Other conduct | |
| | disorders | |
| 6C91.0Z Conduct-dissocial disorder, childhood onset, | F91 Conduct disorders | |
| unspecified | 4-digit code: F91.8 Other conduct disorders | |
| 6C91.1 Conduct-dissocial disorder, adolescent onset | F91 Conduct disorders 4-digit code: F91.8 Other conduct | |
| 6C91.10 Conduct-dissocial | disorders F91 Conduct disorder s | |
| disorder, adolescent onset with limited prosocial emotions | 4-digit code: F91.8 Other conduct disorders | |
| 6C91.11 Conduct-dissocial disorder, adolescent onset with typical prosocial emotions | F91 Conduct disorder s 4-digit code: F91.8 Other conduct disorders | |
| 6C91.1Z Conduct-dissocial disorder, adolescent onset, | F91 Conduct disorders | |
| unspecified | 4-digit code: F91.8 Other conduct disorders | |
| 6C91.Z Conduct-dissocial disorder, unspecified | F91.9 Conduct disorder, unspecified | |
| 6C9Y Other specified disruptive behaviour or dissocial disorders | F91.8 Other conduct disorders | |
| 6C9Z Disruptive behaviour or dissocial disorders, unspecified | F91.9 Conduct disorder, unspecified | |
| PERSONALITY DISORDERS AND RELATED TRAITS | | This ICD-11 grouping first requires the diagnosis and severity of a personality disorder using the following categories: 6D10.0 Mild personality disorder 6D10.1 Moderate personality disorder 6D10.2 Severe personality disorder, severity unspecified The 6D10.<i>x</i> category above can then be described by indicating the presence of one or more of the following trait domains included in 6D11 Prominent Personality disorder or personality difficulty 6D11.1 Detachment in personality difficulty 6D11.2 Dissociality in personality disorder or personality difficulty 6D11.3 Disinhibition in personality disorder or personality difficulty 6D11.4 Anankastia in personality difficulty 6D11.5 Borderline pattern |
| 6D10 Personality Disorder | F60 Specific Personality Disorders | |
| | 4-digit code; F60.9 Personality disorder, unspecified | |
| 6D10.0 Mild personality disorder | F60.9 Personality disorder, unspecified | Use if categories from 6D11 Prominent Personality Traits or Patterns are not available. |

| 6D10.1 Moderate personality disorder | F60.9 Personality disorder, unspecified | Use if categories from 6D11 Prominent Personality Traits or Patterns are not available. |
|---|---|---|
| 6D10.2 Severe personality disorder | F60.9 Personality disorder, unspecified | Use if categories from 6D11 Prominent Personality Traits or Patterns are not available. |
| 6D10.Z Personality disorder, severity unspecified | F60.9 Personality disorder, unspecified | Use if categories from 6D11 Prominent Personality Traits or Patterns are not available. |
| 6D10.x AND: 6D11.0 Negative affectivity 6D11.1 Detachment 6D11.2 Dissociality (6D10.x/6D11.0/6D11.1/6D11.2) | F60.0 Paranoid personality disorder | The x in the left column is a placeholder for the digit indicating the severity level of the personality disorder: 0 = Mild 1 = Moderate 2 = Severe Z = Severity unspecified |
| 6D10.x AND: • 6D11.1 Detachment (6D10.x/6D11.1) | F60.1 Schizoid personality disorder | The x in the left column is a placeholder for the digit indicating the severity level of the personality disorder: 0 = Mild 1 = Moderate 2 = Severe Z = Severity unspecified |
| 6D10.x AND: • 6D11.2 Dissociality • 6D11.3 Disinhibition (6D10.x/6D11.2/6D11.3) | F60.2 Dissocial personality disorder | The x in the left column is a placeholder for the digit indicating the severity level of the personality disorder: 0 = Mild 1 = Moderate 2 = Severe Z = Severity unspecified |
| 6D10.x AND: 6D11.0 Negative affectivity 6D11.3 Disinhibition (6D10.x/6D11.0/6D11.3) OR: 6D10.x AND: 6D11.5 Borderline pattern, with or without any other combination of Prominent Personality Traits or Patterns (6D10.x/6D11.5/) | F60.31 Emotionally unstable personality disorder, borderline type4-digit code: F60.3 Emotionally unstable personality disorder | The <i>x</i> in the left column is a placeholder for the digit indicating the severity level of the personality disorder: 0 = Mild 1 = Moderate 2 = Severe Z = Severity unspecified |
| 6D10.x AND: 6D11.0 Negative affectivity 6D11.2 Dissociality 6D11.3 Disinhibition ((6D10.x/6D11.0/6D11.2/6D11.3) | F60.4 Histrionic personality disorder | The x in the left column is a placeholder for the digit indicating the severity level of the personality disorder: 0 = Mild 1 = Moderate 2 = Severe Z = Severity unspecified |
| 6D10.x AND: 6D11.0 Negative affectivity 6D11.4 Anankastia (6D10.x/6D11.0/6D11.4) | F60.5 Anankastic personality disorder | The x in the left column is a placeholder for the digit indicating the severity level of the personality disorder: 0 = Mild 1 = Moderate 2 = Severe Z = Severity unspecified |
| 6D10.x AND: 6D11.0 Negative affectivity 6D11.1 Detachment (6D10.x/6D11.0/6D11.1) | F60.6 Anxious [avoidant] personality disorder | The x in the left column is a placeholder for the digit indicating the severity level of the personality disorder: 0 = Mild 1 = Moderate 2 = Severe Z = Severity unspecified |

| 6D10.x AND: • 6D11.0 Negative affectivity (6D10.x/6D11.0) | F60.7 Dependent personality disorder | The x in the left column is a placeholder for the digit indicating the severity level of the personality disorder: 0 = Mild 1 = Moderate 2 = Severe Z = Severity unspecified |
|---|--|---|
| 6D10.x AND any combination of Prominent Personality Traits or Patterns not listed above | F60.8 Other specific personality disorders | The <i>x</i> in the left column is a placeholder for the digit indicating the severity level of the personality disorder: 0 = Mild 1 = Moderate 2 = Severe Z = Severity unspecified |
| PARAPHILIC DISORDERS | | |
| 6D30 Exhibitionistic disorder | F65.2 Exhibitionism | |
| 6D31 Voyeuristic disorder | F65.3 Voyeurism | |
| 6D32 Pedophilic disorder | F65.4 Paedophilia | |
| 6D33 Coercive sexual sadism disorder | F65.8 Other disorders of sexual | |
| | preference | |
| 6D34 Frotteuristic disorder | F65.8 Other disorders of sexual | |
| | preference F65.8 Other disorders of sexual | |
| 6D35 Other paraphilic disorder involving non-consenting individuals | preference | |
| 6D36 Paraphilic disorder involving solitary behaviour or consenting individuals | F65.8 Other disorders of sexual preference | |
| 6D3Z Paraphilic disorders, unspecified | F65.9 Disorder of sexual preference, unspecified | |
| FACTITIOUS DISORDERS | | |
| 6D50 Factitious disorder imposed on self | F68.1 Intentional production or feigning of symptoms or disabilities, either physical or psychological [factitious disorder] | |
| 6D51 Factitious disorder imposed on another | F68.1 Intentional production or feigning of symptoms or disabilities, either physical or psychological [factitious disorder] | |
| 6D5Z Factitious disorders, unspecified | F68.1 Intentional production or feigning of symptoms or disabilities, either physical or psychological [factitious disorder] | |
| NEUROCOGNITIVE DISORDERS | | |
| 6D70 Delirium | Etiology must be specified (see below). | |
| 6D70.0 Delirium due to disease classified elsewhere | F05 Delirium, not induced by alcohol and other psychoactive substances | |
| | 4-digit code: F05.8 Other delirium | |
| 6D70.1 Delirium due to psychoactive substances including medications | F1x.03 Mental and behavioural disorders due to psychoactive substance use: acute intoxication with delirium | The x in the alphanumeric codes in the middle column is a placeholder for the digit indicating the substance class in ICD-10: |
| | 4-digit code: F1x.0 Mental and behavioural disorders due to psychoactive substance use: acute intoxication OR: F1x.4 Mental and behavioural disorders due to psychoactive substance use: withdrawal state with delirium OR: | 0 = alcohol 1 = opioids 2 = cannabinoids 3 = sedatives or hypnotics 4 = cocaine 5 = stimulants, including caffeine 6 = hallucinogens 7 = tobacco 8 = volatile solvents 9 = multiple or other psychoactive substances |

| | F1 <i>x</i> .8 Mental and behavioural disorders due to psychoactive substance use: other mental and behavioural disorders | Use F1 <i>x</i> .8 if intoxication/withdrawal status unknown |
|---|---|---|
| 6D70.2 Delirium due to multiple etiological factors | F05 Delirium, not induced by alcohol and other psychoactive substances | Use F05 or F05.8 unless multiple etiological factors refer entirely to multiple psychoactive substances, in |
| | 4-digit code: F05.8 Other delirium | which case F19.4 should be used. |
| | OR: | |
| | F19.4 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| | due to multiple drug use and use of other | |
| | psychoactive substances withdrawal state with delirium | |
| 6D70.Y Delirium, other specified cause | F05.8 Other delirium | |
| 6D70.Z Delirium, unspecified or unknown cause | F05.9 Delirium, unspecified | |
| 6D71 Mild neurocognitive disorder | F06.7 Mild cognitive disorder | |
| 6D72 Amnestic disorder | Etiology must be specified (see below). | |
| 6D72.0 Amnestic disorder due to diseases classified elsewhere | F04 Organic amnesic syndrome, not induced by alcohol and other psychoactive substances | |
| | No 4-digit code available | |
| 6D72.1 Amnestic disorder due to psychoactive substances including medications | Substance must be specified (see below). | |
| 6D72.10 Amnestic disorder due | F10.6 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| to use of alcohol | due to use of alcohol: amnesic syndrome | |
| 6D72.11 Amnestic disorder due | F13.6 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| to use of sedatives, hypnotics or anxiolytics | due to use of sedatives or hypnotics: amnesic syndrome | |
| 6D72.12 Amnestic disorder due | F19.6 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| to other specified psychoactive | due to multiple drug use and use of other | |
| substance including medications | psychoactive substances: amnesic | |
| | syndrome | |
| 6D72.13 Amnestic disorder due to use of volatile inhalants | F18.6 Mental and behavioural disorders due to use of volatile solvents: amnesic syndrome | |
| 6D72.Y Amnestic disorder, other | F04 Organic amnesic syndrome, not | |
| specified cause | induced by alcohol and other psychoactive substances | |
| | No 4-digit code available | |
| 6D72.Z Amnestic disorder, | F04 Organic amnesic syndrome, not | If insufficient information is available to |
| unknown or unspecified cause | induced by alcohol and other psychoactive substances | make a general etiological determination, use F04. |
| | No 4-digit code available | |
| | OR: | |
| | F19.6 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| | due to multiple drug use and use of other | |
| | psychoactive substance uses: amnesic syndrome | |
| Dementia | Etiology must be specified (see below). | |
| 6D80 Dementia due to Alzheimer disease | F00 Dementia in Alzheimer disease | |
| | 4-digit code: F00.9 Dementia in Alzheimer disease, unspecified | |
| 6D80.0 Dementia due to Alzheimer | F00.0 Dementia in Alzheimer disease | |
| disease with early onset | with early onset | |
| 6D80.1 Dementia due to Alzheimer | F00.1 Dementia in Alzheimer disease | |
| disease with late onset | with late onset | l |

| 6D80.2 Alzheimer disease dementia, | F00.2 Dementia in Alzheimer disease, | |
|---|--|--|
| mixed type, with cerebrovascular disease | atypical or mixed type | |
| 6D80.3 Alzheimer disease dementia, mixed type, with other nonvascular aetiologies | F00.2 Dementia in Alzheimer disease, atypical or mixed type | |
| 6D80.Z Dementia due to Alzheimer disease, onset unknown or unspecified | F00.9 Dementia in Alzheimer disease, unspecified | |
| 6D81 Dementia due to cerebrovascular disease | F01 Vascular dementia | |
| (Der Dementie des te Levres he de | 4-digit code: F01.9 Vascular dementia, unspecified F02.8 Dementia in other diseases | |
| 6D82 Dementia due to Lewy body disease | classified elsewhere | |
| 6D83 Frontotemporal dementia | F02 Dementia in other diseases classified elsewhere | |
| | No 4-digit code available | |
| | OR: | |
| 6D84 Dementia due to psychoactive | F02.0 Dementia in Pick disease Substance must be specified (see below). | |
| substances including medications | | |
| 6D84.0 Dementia due to use of | F10.73 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| alcohol | due to use of alcohol: residual and late- onset psychotic disorder, dementia | |
| | 4-digit code: F10.7 Mental and | |
| | behavioural disorders due to use of alcohol: residual and late-onset psychotic disorder | |
| 6D84.1 Dementia due to use of | F13.73 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| sedatives, hypnotics or anxiolytics | due to use of sedatives or hypnotics: residual and late-onset psychotic disorder, dementia | |
| | 4-digit code: F13.7 Mental and behavioural disorders due to use of sedatives or hypnotics: residual and late- | |
| 6D84.2 Dementia due to use of | onset psychotic disorder F18.73 Mental and behavioural disorders | |
| volatile inhalants | due to use of volatile solvents: residual and late-onset psychotic disorder, dementia | |
| | 4-digit code: F18.7 Mental and behavioural disorders due to use of volatile solvents: residual and late-onset psychotic disorder | |
| 6D84.Y Dementia due to other specified psychoactive substance | F19.73 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: residual and late-onset psychotic disorder, dementia | |
| | 4-digit code: F19.7 Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of other psychoactive substances: residual and late-onset psychotic disorder | |
| 6D85 Dementia due to diseases classified elsewhere | F02 Dementia in other diseases classified elsewhere | |
| | No 4-digit code available | |

| 6D85.0 Dementia due to Parkinson disease | F02.3 Dementia in Parkinson disease | |
|--|---|--|
| 6D85.1 Dementia due to Huntington disease | F02.2 Dementia in Huntington disease | |
| 6D85.2 Dementia due to exposure to | F02.8 Dementia in other diseases | |
| heavy metals and other toxins | classified elsewhere | |
| 6D85.3 Dementia due to human | F02.4 Dementia in human | |
| immunodeficiency virus | immunodeficiency virus [HIV] disease | |
| 6D85.4 Dementia due to multiple sclerosis | F02.8 Dementia in other diseases classified elsewhere | |
| 6D85.5 Dementia due to prion | F02.1 Dementia in Creutzfeldt-Jakob | |
| disease | disease | |
| | OR: | |
| | F02.8 Dementia in other specified | |
| | diseases classified elsewhere | |
| 6D85.6 Dementia due to normal | F02.8 Dementia in other diseases | |
| pressure hydrocephalus | classified elsewhere | |
| 6D85.7 Dementia due to injury to the head | F02.8 Dementia in other diseases classified elsewhere | |
| 6D85.8 Dementia due to pellagra | F02.8 Dementia in other diseases classified elsewhere | |
| 6D85.9 Dementia due to Down | F02.8 Dementia in other diseases | |
| syndrome | classified elsewhere | |
| 6D85.Y Dementia due to other | F02.8 Dementia in other diseases | |
| specified diseases classified | classified elsewhere | |
| elsewhere | | |
| 6D8Y Dementia, other specified cause | F02.8 Dementia in other specified | |
| | diseases classified elsewhere | |
| 6D8Z Dementia, unknown or unspecified | F03 Unspecified dementia | |
| cause | | |
| MENTAL OD DEHAVIOUDAL | No 4-digit code available | |
| MENTAL OR BEHAVIOURAL | | |
| DISORDERS ASSOCIATED WITH | | |
| PREGNANCY, CHILDBIRTH OR THE PUERPERIUM | | |
| 6E20 Mental or behavioural disorders | O99.3 Mental disorders and diseases of | |
| associated with pregnancy, childbirth or | the nervous system complicating | |
| the puerperium, without psychotic | pregnancy, childbirth and the puerperium | |
| symptoms | pregnancy, childon un and the puerperfum | |
| 6E21 Mental or behavioural disorders | O99.3 Mental disorders and diseases of | |
| associated with pregnancy, childbirth or | the nervous system complicating | |
| the puerperium, with psychotic | pregnancy, childbirth and the puerperium | |
| symptoms | regioner, enhantin und the puerpertuin | |
| 6E2Z Mental or behavioural disorders | O99.3 Mental disorders and diseases of | |
| associated with pregnancy, childbirth or | the nervous system complicating | |
| the puerperium, unspecified | pregnancy, childbirth and the puerperium | |
| 6E40 PSYCHOLOGICAL OR | F54 Psychological and behavioural | |
| BEHAVIOURAL FACTORS | factors associated with disorders or | |
| AFFECTING DISORDERS OR | diseases classified elsewhere | |
| | 1 | |
| DISEASES CLASSIFIED | | |
| DISEASES CLASSIFIED ELSEWHERE | No 4-digit code available | |
| ELSEWHERE 6E40.0 Mental disorder affecting | F54 Psychological and behavioural | |
| ELSEWHERE | F54 Psychological and behavioural factors associated with disorders or | |
| ELSEWHERE 6E40.0 Mental disorder affecting | F54 Psychological and behavioural | |
| ELSEWHERE 6E40.0 Mental disorder affecting | F54 Psychological and behavioural factors associated with disorders or diseases classified elsewhere | |
| ELSEWHERE 6E40.0 Mental disorder affecting disorders or diseases classified elsewhere | F54 Psychological and behavioural factors associated with disorders or diseases classified elsewhere No 4-digit code available | |
| ELSEWHERE 6E40.0 Mental disorder affecting disorders or diseases classified elsewhere 6E40.1 Psychological symptoms | F54 Psychological and behavioural factors associated with disorders or diseases classified elsewhere No 4-digit code available F54 Psychological and behavioural | |
| ELSEWHERE 6E40.0 Mental disorder affecting disorders or diseases classified elsewhere 6E40.1 Psychological symptoms affecting disorders or diseases classified | F54 Psychological and behavioural factors associated with disorders or diseases classified elsewhere No 4-digit code available F54 Psychological and behavioural factors associated with disorders or | |
| ELSEWHERE 6E40.0 Mental disorder affecting disorders or diseases classified elsewhere 6E40.1 Psychological symptoms | F54 Psychological and behavioural factors associated with disorders or diseases classified elsewhere No 4-digit code available F54 Psychological and behavioural | |
| ELSEWHERE 6E40.0 Mental disorder affecting disorders or diseases classified elsewhere 6E40.1 Psychological symptoms affecting disorders or diseases classified elsewhere | F54 Psychological and behavioural factors associated with disorders or diseases classified elsewhere No 4-digit code available F54 Psychological and behavioural factors associated with disorders or diseases classified elsewhere No 4-digit code available | |
| ELSEWHERE 6E40.0 Mental disorder affecting disorders or diseases classified elsewhere 6E40.1 Psychological symptoms affecting disorders or diseases classified elsewhere 6E40.2 Personality traits or coping style | F54 Psychological and behavioural factors associated with disorders or diseases classified elsewhere No 4-digit code available F54 Psychological and behavioural factors associated with disorders or diseases classified elsewhere No 4-digit code available F54 Psychological and behavioural | |
| ELSEWHERE 6E40.0 Mental disorder affecting disorders or diseases classified elsewhere 6E40.1 Psychological symptoms affecting disorders or diseases classified elsewhere | F54 Psychological and behavioural factors associated with disorders or diseases classified elsewhere No 4-digit code available F54 Psychological and behavioural factors associated with disorders or diseases classified elsewhere No 4-digit code available | |

| | No 4-digit code available | |
|--|--|---|
| 6E40.3 Maladaptive health behaviours | No 4-digit code available F54 Psychological and behavioural | |
| affecting disorders or diseases classified | factors associated with disorders or | |
| elsewhere | diseases classified elsewhere | |
| | No 4-digit code available | |
| 6E40.4 Stress-related physiological | F54 Psychological and behavioural | |
| response affecting disorders or diseases classified elsewhere | factors associated with disorders or diseases classified elsewhere | |
| (E40 V Others and if a large half a signal and | No 4-digit code available F54 Psychological and behavioural | |
| 6E40.Y Other specified psychological or behavioural factors affecting disorders or diseases classified elsewhere | factors associated with disorders or diseases classified elsewhere | |
| | No 4-digit code available | |
| 6E40.Z Psychological or behavioural | F54 Psychological and behavioural | |
| factors affecting disorders or diseases classified elsewhere, unspecified | factors associated with disorders or diseases classified elsewhere | |
| | No 4-digit code available | |
| SECONDARY MENTAL OR BEHAVIOURAL SYNDROMES ASSOCIATED WITH DISORDERS OR DISEASES CLASSIFIED ELSEWHERE | | |
| 6E60 Secondary neurodevelopmental | F06.8 Other specified mental disorders | |
| syndrome | due to brain damage and dysfunction and to physical disease | |
| 6E60.0 Secondary speech or language | F06.8 Other specified mental disorders | |
| syndrome | due to brain damage and dysfunction and to physical disease | |
| 6E60.Y Other specified secondary | F06.8 Other specified mental disorders | |
| neurodevelopmental syndrome | due to brain damage and dysfunction and to physical disease | |
| 6E60.Z Secondary neurodevelopmental | F06.8 Other specified mental disorders | |
| syndrome, unspecified | due to brain damage and dysfunction and to physical disease | |
| 6E61 Secondary psychotic syndrome | F06.0 Organic hallucinosis | Select F06.0 or F06.2 based on whether hallucinations or delusions predominate, although both may occur in either |
| | OR: | category. |
| | F06.2 Organic delusional [schizophrenia- like] disorder | |
| 6E61.0 Secondary psychotic syndrome, with hallucinations | F06.0 Organic hallucinosis | |
| 6E61.1 Secondary psychotic syndrome, with delusions | F06.2 Organic delusional [schizophrenia- like] disorder | |
| 6E61.2 Secondary psychotic syndrome, with hallucinations and delusions | F06.2 Organic delusional [schizophrenia- like] disorder | |
| 6E61.3 Secondary psychotic syndrome, | F09 Unspecified organic or symptomatic | |
| with unspecified symptoms | mental disorder | |
| 6E62 Secondary mood syndrome 6E62.0 Secondary mood syndrome, with depressive symptoms | F06.3 Organic mood [affective] disorders F06.32 Organic depressive disorder | |
| | 4-digit code: F06.3 Organic mood [affective] disorders | |
| 6E62.1 Secondary mood syndrome, with manic symptoms | F06.30 Organic manic disorder | |
| | 4-digit code: F06.3 Organic mood [affective] disorders | |
| 6E62.2 Secondary mood syndrome, with mixed symptoms | F06.33 Organic mixed affective disorder | |

| | 4-digit code: F06.3 Organic mood [affective] disorders | |
|--|--|--|
| 6E62.3 Secondary mood syndrome, with unspecified symptoms | F06.3 Organic mood [affective] disorders | |
| 6E63 Secondary anxiety syndrome | F06.4 Organic anxiety disorder | |
| 6E64 Secondary obsessive-compulsive or related syndrome | F06.8 Other specified mental disorders due to brain damage and dysfunction and to physical disease | |
| 6E65 Secondary dissociative syndrome | F06.5 Organic dissociative disorder | |
| 6E66 Secondary impulse control | F06.8 Other specified mental disorders | |
| syndrome | due to brain damage and dysfunction and to physical disease | |
| 6E68 Secondary personality change | F07.0 Organic personality disorder | |
| 6E69 Secondary catatonia syndrome | F06.1 Organic catatonic disorder | |
| 6E6Y Other specified secondary mental or behavioural syndrome | F06.8 Other specified mental disorders due to brain damage and dysfunction and to physical disease | |
| 6E6Z Secondary mental or behavioural syndrome, unspecified | F06.9 Unspecified mental disorder due to brain damage and dysfunction and to physical disease | |

CONTRIBUTORS

Clinical Descriptions and Diagnostic Requirements for ICD-11 Mental, Behavioural or Neurodevelopmental Disorders

Project Direction

Geoffrey M. Reed, Project Director Shekhar Saxena

International Advisory Group for the Revision of ICD-10 Mental and Behavioural Disorders

Steven E. Hyman, Chair Gavin Andrews (2007-2008) José L. Ayuso-Mateos Wolfgang Gaebel David P. Goldberg (2007-2008) Oye Gureje Assen Jablensky **Brigitte Khoury** Anne M. Lovell María Elena Medina-Mora Afarin Rahimi-Movaghar Karen Ritchie (2007-2008) Khaled Saeed (2007-2010) Norman Sartorius (2007-2008) Pratap Sharan Rangaswamy Thara (2007-2008) Pichet Udomratn Zeping Xiao (2009-2010) Yu Xin (2007-2008) Min Zhao **Organizational Representatives:** International Association for Child and Adolescent Psychiatry and Allied Professions: Per-Anders Rydelius International Federation of Social Workers: Rolf Blickle-Ritter (2007-2008) Sabine Bährer-Kohler

International Council of Nurses: Amy Coenen (2007-2008) Tesfamicael Ghebrehiwet (2009-2013) International Union of Psychological Science: Geoffrey M. Reed (2007-2008) Ann D. Watts WONCA: Michael Klinkman (2007-2014) World Psychiatric Association: Juan Mezzich (2007-2008) Mario Maj **Country Representatives:** Kimmo Kuoppasalmi, Finland (2007-2008) Toshimasa Maruta, Japan Graham Mellsop, New Zealand Yu Xin, China **Special Invitees:** Michael B. First Ronald C. Kessler **DSM-5** Representatives: David J. Kupfer Darrel A. Regier William E. Narrow National Institute of Mental Health (US) **Representative:** Bruce N. Cuthbert National Institute on Drug Abuse (US) Representative Wilson M. Compton

Field Studies Coordination Group for ICD-11 Mental, Behavioural or Neurodevelopmental Disorders

María Elena Medina-Mora, Chair Ove Gureje, Vice Chair José L. Ayuso-Mateos Wolfgang Gaebel Shigenobu Kanba **Brigitte Khoury** Valery N. Krasnov Anne M. Lovell Jair de Jesus Mari Toshimasa Maruta Kathleen M. Pike Michael C. Roberts Pratap Sharan Dan J. Stein Min Zhao **Additional Contributors:** Tsuyoshi Akiyama

Howard F. Andrews Michael B. First Jingjing Huang Jared W. Keeley Cary S. Kogan Maya Kulygina Chihiro Matsumoto Tahilia Rebello **Rebeca** Robles Anne-Claire Stona Zhen Wang National Institute of Mental Health (US) **Representatives:** Bruce N. Cuthbert Sarah E. Morris Ishmael Amarreh

ICD-DSM Harmonization Group

WHO Representatives:

Steven E. Hyman Oye Gureje María Elena Medina-Mora Michael Rutter Norman Sartorius Peter Tyrer **WHO Secretariat:** Benedetto Saraceno Shekhar Saxena Geoffrey M. Reed

APA Representatives:

David J. Kupfer Darrel A. Regier William E. Narrow James H. Scully Dilip V. Jeste Wilson M. Compton David Shaffer National Institute of Mental Health (US) Representative: Bruce N. Cuthbert

International Advisory Group for Training and Implementation for ICD-11 Mental, Behavioural and Neurodevelopmental Disorders

Min Zhao, Chair José L. Ayuso-Mateos Keith Denny Michael B. First Wolfgang Gaebel Cécile Hanon Matías Irarrázaval Shigenobu Kanba Brigitte Khoury Cary S. Kogan Maya Kulygina Mario Maj María Elena Medina-Mora John Mitchell Kathleen M. Pike Rebeca Robles Pratap Sharan Dan J. Stein Ulrich Vögel Additional Contributors: Chihiro Matsumoto Jingjing Huang Tahilia J. Rebello Zhen Wang

WORKING GROUPS FOR ICD-11 MENTAL, BEHAVIOURAL OR NEURODEVELOPMENTAL DISORDERS:

ICD-11 Working Group on the Classification of Disorders of Intellectual Development

Luis Salvador-Carulla, Chair Colleen Adnams Marco Bertelli Sally-Ann Cooper Shoumitro Deb Leyla Akoury Dirani Satish Girimaji Gregorio Katz Henry Kwok Ruth Luckasson Rune Simeonsson **Additional Contributors:** Jake Burack Sab Bhaumik Sherva Coorav Santo F. DiNuovo

Maurizio Elia Judith Hollenweger Cary S. Kogan Rafael Martínez-Leal Kerim Munir Ashok Roy Per-Anders Rydelius Peter Tyrer **AAIDD Consultation Group:** Margaret A. Nygren Marc Tassé Marty Ford George S. Jesien Diane Morin J. Gregory Olley Michael L. Wehmeyer

ICD-11 Working Group on the Classification of Mental and Behavioural Disorders in Children and Adolescents

Michael Rutter, Chair (2010-2013) M. Elena Garralda, Chair Sue Bailev Gillian Baird Wenhong Cheng Francisco R. de la Peña John Fayyad Malavika Kapur John E. Lochman Olavinka Omigbodun Daniel S. Pine Per-Anders Rydelius David Shaffer Tuula Tamminen **Additional Contributor:** Rudolf Uher **DSM-5** Representative: David Shaffer

Subgroup on Neurodevelopmental Disorders: M. Elena Garralda. Chair Gillian Baird David H. Skuse Subgroup on Disruptive Behaviour and **Dissocial Disorders:** John E. Lochman, Chair Jeffrey D. Burke Spencer C. Evans Lourdes Ezpeleta Paula F. Fite Walter Matthys Francisco R. de la Peña Michael C. Roberts Salma Siddiqui Eric A. Youngstrom

ICD-11 Working Group on the Classification of Schizophrenia and Other Primary Psychotic Disorders

| Wolfgang Gaebel, Chair | Michael F. Green |
|------------------------|-------------------------|
| Jonathan Burns | Assen Jablensky |
| Peter Falkai | Toshimasa Maruta |
| Saeed Farooq | Pichet Udomratn |
| Silvana Galderisi | Veronica Larach Walters |
| Philippa Garety | Jürgen Zielasek |

ICD-11 Working Group on the Classification of Mood and Anxiety Disorders

| Mario Maj, Chair | David J. Miklowitz |
|----------------------|-----------------------|
| Laura Andrade | Driss Moussaoui |
| Jules Angst | Frank Njenga |
| José L. Ayuso-Mateos | Eugene Paykel |
| Carlos Berlanga | Michael R. Phillips |
| Subho Chakrabarti | Katherine Shear |
| Paul M. G. Emmelkamp | Dan J. Stein |
| Maria Luisa Figueria | Stephen M. Strakowski |
| Ellen Leibenluft | |

ICD-11 Working Group on the Classification of Obsessive-Compulsive and Related Disorders and Impulse Control Disorders

| Dan J. Stein, Chair | Douglas W. Woods |
|-------------------------|---------------------------------------|
| Murad Atmaca | Additional Contributors on Compulsive |
| Naomi A. Fineberg | Sexual Behaviour Disorder: |
| Leonardo F. Fontenelle | Richard B. Krueger |
| Jon E. Grant | Peer Briken |
| Hisato Matsunaga | Shane W. Kraus |
| Y.C. Janardhan Reddy | Carmita H.N. Abdo |
| H. Blair Simpson | Elham Atalla |
| Per Hove Thomsen | Meg S. Kaplan |
| Odile A. van den Heuvel | Cary S. Kogan |
| David Veale | Valerie Voon |

ICD-11 Working Group on the Classification of Disorders Specifically Associated with Stress

Andreas Maercker, Chair Chris R. Brewin Richard A. Bryant Marylène Cloitre Asma Humayun Lynne M. Jones Ashraf Kagee Augusto E. Llosa Cécile Rousseau Daya J. Somasundaram Renato Souza Yuriko Suzuki Inka Weissbecker Simon C. Wessely Additional Contributor: Axel Perkonigg

ICD-11 Working Group on the Classification of Somatic Distress and Dissociative Disorders

Oye Gureje, Chair Abdulbari Bener Antonio Bulbena Vilarrasa Santosh K. Chaturvedi Francis Creed M. Elena Garralda Yanling He Aleksandar Janca Athula Sumathipala

Luís F. Tófoli Subgroup on Dissociative Disorders: Oye Gureje, Co-Chair Roberto Lewis-Fernández, Co-Chair Alexander Moreira-Almeida Andrew Moskowitz Ellert Nijenhuis Luís F. Tófoli

ICD-11 Working Group on the Classification of Feeding and Eating Disorders

Angélica M. Claudino, ChairClaes NorringSamir Al-AdawiKathleen M. PikeBrigita BaksDavid J. PilonRachel Bryant-WaughPer-Anders RydeliusPhillipa HayPratap SharanCecile Rausch HerscoviciCornelia ThielsPalmiero MonteleoneRudolf Uher

ICD-11 Working Group on the Classification of Substance-Related and Addictive Disorders (see separate section on Disorders Due to Substance Use or Addictive Behaviours)

| Rajat Ray, Chair | Marina Piazza |
|--------------------------|--------------------------------|
| Sawitri Assanangkornchai | Afarin Rahimi-Movaghar |
| Thomas Babor | John B. Saunders |
| Miguel Casas | Ambros Uchtenhagen |
| Wei Hao | Additional Contributor: |
| Karl Mann | Mira Fauth-Bühler |
| Neo Morojele | Robin Room |

ICD-11 Working Group on the Classification of Personality Disorders

| Peter Tyrer, Chair | David Ndetei |
|-----------------------|---------------------------------|
| Roger Blashfield | Michaela Swales |
| Lee Anna Clark | ISPPD/ESPPD/NASPPD Consultation |
| Michael Crawford | Group: |
| Alireza Farnam | Sabine C. Herpertz, Chair |
| Andrea Fossati | Martin Bohus |
| Youl-Ri Kim | Steven K. Huprich |
| Nestor Koldobsky | Carla Sharp |
| Dusica Lecic-Tosevski | Additional Contributor: |
| Roger Mulder | Bo Sayyad Bach |

ICD-11 Working Group on Neurocognitive Disorders

Paulo Caramelli. Chair Celeste de Jager Lutz Froelich Michael Kopelman Ennapadam Krishnamoorthy Facundo Manes Adesola Ogunniyi Perminder Sachdev Vorapun Senanarong Armin von Gunten Subgroup on the Classification of **Behavioural and Psychological Symptoms in Neurocognitive Disorders:** Armin von Gunten, Chair Sabine Bährer-Kohler Henry Brodaty Paulo Caramelli Helen F.K. Chiu Jiska Cohen-Mansfield Manabu Ikeda Deepti Kukreja Michael Kopelman

Wendy Moyle Adesola Ogunniyi Ann D. Watts **Additional Contributors:** Tresa Roebuck Spencer Michelle Braun Jennifer Morgan Antonio E. Puente Stephen R. Gillaspy Murat Emre Hiral G. Shah **Consultation Group, Dementia** Laboratory, National Institute of **Neurology and Neurosurgery Manuel** Velasco Suarez, Mexico: Ana Luisa Sosa-Ortiz Juan Francisco Flores-Vásquez Erika Mariana Longoria-Ibarrola Marisol Ramírez-Abascal José Alberto Téllez-Martínez Raúl Alejandro Basante-Avendaño

ICD-11 Working Group on Cultural Considerations

Oye Gureje, Co-Chair Roberto Lewis-Fernández, Co-Chair Kamaldeep Bhui

Guilherme L. G. Borges Brian J. Hall Laurence J. Kirmayer

ICD-11 Working Group on the Classification of Mental and Behavioural Disorders in **Older Adults**

Armin von Gunten, Chair Vincent Camus Gerard J.A. Byrne Brian M. Draper Farbod Fadai Sanford Finkel Horácio A.J. Firmino

Murad M. Khan Deepti Kukreja Carlos A.M. Lima Raimundo Mateos-Alvarez Nancy A. Pachana Richard Uwakwe

716

ICD-11 Primary Care Working Group

David P. Goldberg, Chair Michael Klinkman, Vice Chair Sally W.C. Chan C. Anthony Dowell Sandra Fortes Linda Gask K.S. Jacob Tai-Pong Lam Elizabeth H.B. Lin Joseph K. Mbatia Fareed Minhas Marianne Rosendal Eileen Y.Y. Tse Gloria Thupayagale-Tshweneagae Additional Contributor: Chris Dowrick

ICD-11 Working Group on Sexual Disorders and Sexual Health

Jane C. Cottingham, Chair Elham Atalla **Rosemary Coates** Susan D. Cochran Peggy T. Cohen-Kettenis Jack Drescher Alain Giami Sudhakar Krishnamurti Richard B. Krueger Adele Marais Elisabeth M. Vieira Sam Winter **Additional Contributors:** Iván Arango-de Montis Walter P. Bouman Peer Briken Megan M. Campbell Sara Casanova-Cottler Eli Coleman Griet De Cuypere Annelou L.C. de Vries Cecilia Dhejne **Reinhard Eher** Amr El-Meliegy Kerstin Fugl-Meyer

Donald Grubin Swati K. Gupta **Brigitte Khoury** Baudewijntje Kreukels Anne M. Lovell D. Narayana Reddy Michael Tan Andrey A. Tkachenko Marleen Wasserman Kevan R Wylie **WAS/ISSWSH Consultation Group:** Sharon J. Parish. Co-Chair Eli Coleman, Co-Chair Iván Arango-de Montis Elham Atalla Anita H. Clavton Annamaria Giraldi Irwin Goldstein Susan Kellogg Marita P. McCabe **Eusebio Rubio-Aurioles** Taylor T. Segraves Ashley H. Tapscott Kevan R Wylie

Additional Contributors

Marc D. Feldman Heather M. Foran Stephan H. Heckers Richard E. Hayman James Levenson Pierre L.-J. Ritchie Michael Sharpe Amy M. Smith Slep Sebastian Walther Jo E. Wilson

Editorial Group

Geoffrey M. Reed, Managing Editor Michael B. First, Chief Editorial and Technical Consultant Cary S. Kogan, Additional Editorial Contributions John B. Saunders, Additional Editorial Contributions, Disorders Due to Substance Use Chihiro Matsumoto

Document Management

Chihiro Matsumoto, Lead Emiko Kakimoto Radhika Kadakia Anna Kresse

Cross-Cutting Literature Review Team

Christina M. Amaro Brandon Aylward Jennifer Blossom Samantha Burns Kimberly Canter Jacky Chan Andrea M. Garcia Jessica D. Guler Kyle Lemay Sang-Hee Min Madeline Montoya Alexandra D. Monzon Amy NoserAngela Priede Karolina Sadowska Marilyn Sampilo Dana Sheshko Cathleen C. Stough Yelena Wu

WHO Secretariat

José Bertolote Lindy Best Somnath Chatterji Nicolas Clark Sara Casanova-Cottler Tarun Dua Dévora Kestel Claudia Garcia Moreno Robert Jakob Eszter Kismodi Christopher Mikton Lori Moskol Vladimir Poznyak Khaled Saeed Benedetto Saraceno Shekhar Saxena Chiara Servili Mark van Ommeren Meri Robinson Nicol Bedirhan Ustun Taghi Yasamy

FIELD STUDIES:

Note: See separate section on Disorders Due to Substance Use or Addictive Behaviours.

International Case-Controlled (Internet-Based) Field Studies

Overall Direction: Geoffrey M. Reed Project Coordination: Tahilia J. Rebello Lead for Protocol Design and Data Analysis: Jared W. Keeley Additional Design and Analysis: José Ángel García, Rebeca Robles, Johannes Fuss, Samantha Burns, Laura Berner Data Platform Development, Data Collection, and Data Management: Tahilia J. Rebello, Howard F. Andrews, Samantha Burns, Jacky Chan, Anna Kresse, Radhika Kadakia, Johannes Fuss, Laura Berner, Karolina Sadowska, Nicole Khauli, Sherin Asiimwe, Julia Brechbiel, Reuben Robbins, Mariangels dePlanell Saguer Translation Coordination: Japanese: Chihiro Matsumoto, Emiko Kakimoto; Spanish: Rebeca Robles, Tecelli Domínguez, Ana Ortíz-Tallo; José Luis Ayuso-Mateos; Russian: Valery N. Krasnov, Maya Kulygina; Chinese: Jingjing Huang, Na Zhong, Huajian Ma, Yunfei Dai;

French: Cary Kogan, Jean Grenier, Anne-Claire Stona, Brigitte Khoury, Jean-Luc Roelandt

Internet-Based Coding and Case-Controlled Study

Countries: Germany, Switzerland, United States

Study Sites: Department of Psychiatry, Medical Faculty, LVR-Klinikum Düsseldorf, Heinrich-Heine-University; WHO Collaborating Centre DEU-131 for Quality Assurance and Empowerment in Mental Health, LVR-Klinikum; LVR-Institute for Healthcare Research; Department of Psychosomatic Medicine, Rehabilitation Center Seehof, Federal German Pension Agency, Berlin; Center for Internal Medicine and Dermatology, Department of Psychosomatic Medicine, Charité – Universitätsmedizin Berlin, corporate member of Freie Universität Berlin, Humboldt-Universität zu Berlin, and Berlin Institute of Health; Department of Psychiatry and Psychotherapy, University Medical Center Hamburg-Eppendorf; Institute for Sex Research, Sexual Medicine and Forensic Psychiatry, University Medical Center Hamburg-Eppendorf; German Institute of Medical Documentation and Information, Cologne; Department of Psychiatry and Psychotherapy, University Hospital LMU Munich; Department of Information, Evidence and Research, WHO, Geneva; Department of Psychology, Virginia Commonwealth University, Richmond; Columbia University Department of Psychiatry and Research Foundation for Mental Hygiene, New York.

Overall Direction: Wolfgang Gaebel

Site Directors: Wolfgang Gaebel, Eva Meisenzahl-Lechner, Volker Köllner, Matthias Rose, Tobias Hofmann, Ingo Schäfer, Peer Briken, Jared W. Keeley, Ulrich Vogel, Peter Falkai, Nenad F.I. Kostanjsek

Site Coordinators: Johannes Stricker, Mathias Riesbeck, Jürgen Zielasek, Ariane Kerst, Annett Lotzin, Verena Klein, Franziska Brunner, Julia Brechbiel, Alkomiet Hasan Other Contributors: Stefanie Weber, Maria Lange, Arno Deister, Julie Holzhausen, Gabriel Gerlinger, Sebastian Semler, Annette Pollex-Krüger, Holger Reinecke, Jürgen Stausberg, Thomas Pollmächer, Dietrich Munz, Tina Wessels, Sabine Köhler, Christa Roth-Sackenheim

Ecological-Implementation (Clinic-Based) Field Studies

Overall Direction: Geoffrey M. Reed
Project Coordination: Tahilia J. Rebello
Protocol Development: Pratap Sharan, Oye Gureje, Geoffrey M. Reed, Tahilia J. Rebello,
María-Elena Medina Mora, Rebeca Robles, Jared Keeley, Scott Stroup,
Protocol Training: Tahilia J. Rebello, Jared Keeley, Cary Kogan, Michael B. First, Geoffrey M. Reed
Data Platform Development, Data Collection, and Management: Tahilia J. Rebello, Howard
Andrews, Tecelli Domínguez
Translations: Japanese: Chihiro Matsumoto; Spanish: Rebeca Robles, Tecelli Dominguez;
Chinese: Jingjing Huang, Na Zhong; Russian: Maya Kulygina

Collaborators at Study Sites:

Brazil:

Site: Universidade Federal de São Paulo *Site Director:* Jair de Jesus Mari *Site Coordinator:* Elson Asevedo

Canada:

Site: The Royal Ottawa Mental Health Centre; University of Ottawa Institute of Mental Health Research

Site Directors: Sabrina Paterniti and Cary S. Kogan

Site Coordinator: Christine Caldwell

China:

Site: Shanghai Mental Health Center, Shanghai Jiao Tong University School of Medicine, WHO Collaborating Center for Research and Training in Mental Health

Site Director: Min Zhao

Site Coordinators: Yifeng Xu, Zhen Wang, Jingjing Huang, Na Zhong, Jiang Long *Egypt:*

Site: Behman Psychiatric Hospital, Cairo, Egypt

Site Director: Nasser Loza

Site Coordinator: Nayla Grace

India:

Sites: All India Institute of Medical Sciences; National Institute of Mental Health and Neurosciences; Government Medical College Hospital, Chandigarh; Pandit Jawaharlal Nehru Memorial Medical College, Raipur

Site Directors: Pratap Sharan, Prabha Chandra, Shekhar Seshadri, Nitin Gupta, Manoj K. Sahu

Site Coordinators: Shivani Purnima, Mona Sharma, N. Manjunath, Somnath KM, Eesha Sharma, Nidhi Malhotra, Huma Kamal

Italy:

Site: WHO Collaborating Centre for Research and Training in Mental Health, University of Campania "L. Vanvitelli"

Site Director: Mario Maj

Site Coordinators: Mario Luciano, Gaia Sampogna

Other Research Staff: Silvana Galderisi, Francesco Catapano, Armida Mucci, Andrea Fiorillo, Paola Bucci, Umberto Volpe, Francesco Perris, Giuseppe Piegari, Eleonora Merlotti

Japan:

Sites: Centers associated with the Japanese Society of Psychiatry and Neurology (Kyushu University, Hokkaido University, University of Occupational & Environmental Health, Tokyo Medical Dental University, Tokyo Metropolitan Matsuzawa Hospital, Nihon University School of Medicine, Nagoya University, Hizen National Psychiatric Center, NTT Medical Center Tokyo, The University of Tokyo, Tokushima University, Niigata University, Keio University, Tokyo Medical University, Tokyo Metropolitan Children's Medical Center, Kyoto University, Okayama University, Nagasaki University, University of the Ryukyus, Japan Young Psychiatrists Organization)

National Director: Shigenobu Kanba

Deputy National Directors: Tsuyoshi Akiyama, Toshimasa Maruta

National Coordinator: Chihiro Matsumoto

Site Coordinators: Itta Nakamura, Tomofumi Miura, Yuki Kako, Takuro Sugai, Shinsuke Kondo, Akeo Kurumaji, Hitoshi Sakurai, Michihiko Koeda, Jun Ishikawa, Ayako Endo, Shinichi Kishi, Futoshi Suzuki, Masaaki Hazama, Seishi Terada, Shusuke Numata, Kiyokazu Atake, Hirohisa Kinoshita, Kazuo Mihara, Naoya Oribe, Masashi Yagi, Yuriko Morino,

Yukako Nakagami

Other Research Staff: Emiko Kakimoto

Lebanon:

Sites: American University of Beirut; Hôpital Psychiatrique De La Croix

Regional Director: Brigitte Khoury

Site Directors: Joseph El-Khoury, Francois Kazour

Site Coordinators: Sariah Daouk, Chadia Haddad

Other Research Staff: Nicole Khauli

Mexico:

Sites: Instituto Nacional de Psiquiatría Ramón de la Fuente Muñiz, WHO Collaborating Center on Mental Health and Addictions; Hospital Psiquiátrico Infantil Juan N Navarro; Instituto Nacional de Neurología y Neurocirugía Manuel Velasco Suárez

Site Directors: María Elena Medina-Mora, Eduardo Arroyo García, Miguel Ángel Celis López

National Coordinator: Rebeca Robles García

Site Coordinators: Nicolás Iván Martínez López, Francisco de la Peña Olvera, Elena de los Dolores Márquez Caraveo, Verónica Pérez Barrón, Lucía Arciniega Buenrostro, Ana Luisa Sosa Ortíz

Nigeria:

Sites: University College Hospital, Ibadan; Federal Neuropsychiatric Hospital, Aro, Abeokuta

Site Director: Oye Gureje

Site Coordinators: Lola Kola, Lucky Onofa

Other Research Staff: Mayokun Odunleye

Russian Federation:

Sites: Moscow Research Institute of Psychiatry, a branch of the V. Serbsky Federal Medical Research Centre of Psychiatry and Narcology of the Ministry of Health of the Russian Federation and Saint Petersburg City Mental Hospital №1

Site Directors: Valery Krasnov, Oleg Limankin

National Coordinator: Maya Kulygina

Site Coordinators: Pavel Ponizovsky, Tatiana Kiska

Other Research Staff: Olga Karpenko, Andrey Otmakhov

South Africa:

Site: Valkenberg Psychiatric Hospital, Cape Town Site Director: Dan Stein Site Coordinators: Bulumko Lusu, Goodman Sibeko Spain: Site: Department of Psychiatry, Hospital Universitario de la Princesa Site Director: Jose Luis Ayuso-Mateos National Coordinator: Itziar Leal Site Coordinators: Carolina C. Avila, Ana Izquierdo Other Research Staff: Beatriz Vicario, Cora Fernandez, Julian Gomez Peñalver, Ruben Vicente Muñoz Tunisia: Site: Razi Psychiatric Hospital Site Director: Majda Cheour Site Coordinator: Rahma Damak **United States:** Site: Department of Psychiatry, Columbia University Site Directors: T. Scott Stroup, Kathleen M. Pike Site Coordinator: Samantha Sawyer

Clinic-Based Study on Behavioral Indicators for Disorders of Intellectual Development

Overall Direction: Cary S. Kogan Project Coordination: Kyle R. Lemay

Collaborators at Study Sites:

India:

Sites: National Institute of Mental Health and Neurosciences; All India Institute of Medical Sciences Direction and Coordination: Rachna Bhargava, Pratap Sharan, Megha Sharma, Shivani Purnima, John V. S. Kommu, M. Thomas Kishor, Feba Philip Italy: Site: Oasi Research Institute-IRCCS Direction and Coordination: Serafino Buono, Marilena Recupero, Marinella Zingale, Tommasa Zagaria Sri Lanka: Site: Teaching Hospital Peradeniya Direction and Coordination: Pabasari Ginige **Brazil**: Site: Universidade Federal de São Paulo Direction and Coordination: Graccielle Rodrigues da Cunha, Jair de Jesus Mari **United Kingdom:** Site: Royal College of Psychiatrists Direction and Coordination: Sherva Cooray, Ashok Roy

Clinic-Based Study on Obsessive-Compulsive and Related Disorders

Overall Direction and Project Coordination: Christine Lochner, Tahilia J. Rebello

Collaborators at Study Sites:

Brazil:

Site: Obsessive-Compulsive Spectrum Disorders Program, University of São Paolo School of Medicine
Site Director: Roseli Gedanke Shavitt
India:
Site: OCD Clinic, Department of Psychiatry, National Institute of Mental Health and Neurosciences
Site Director: Y.C. Janardhan Reddy
South Africa:
Site: MRC Unit on Risk and Resilience in Mental Disorders
Site Directors: Christine Lochner, Dan Stein
United States:
Site: Center for OCD and Related Disorders, New York State Psychiatric Institute
Site Director: H. Blair Simpson

SUPPORT:

Note: See separate section on Disorders Due to Substance Use or Addictive Behaviours.

WHO gratefully acknowledges the financial and/or organizational support provided for the development, field testing and other technical activities related to the Eleventh Revision of the ICD for Mental, Behavioural or Neurodevelopmental Disorders by the International Union of Psychological Science; the World Psychiatric Association; the WHO Collaborating Centre for Capacity Building and Training in Global Mental Health and its International Advisory Board; the President's Global Innovation Fund, Columbia University, and the New York State Psychiatric Institute, USA: the Japanese Society of Psychiatry and Neurology and the Japan Agency for Medical Research and Development, Japan; the National Institute of Mental Health, USA; the National Council for Science and Technology (CONACyT), the National Institute of Psychiatry Ramón de la Fuente WHO Collaborating Centre on Addictions and Mental Health, and the Department of Psychiatry, National Autonomous University of Mexico, Mexico; the Shanghai Mental Health Center and the WHO Collaborating Centre for Research and Training in Mental Health, People's Republic of China; the Department of Psychiatry, Autonomous University of Madrid, the WHO Collaborating Centre for Mental Health Services Research and Training, and the Spanish Foundation of Psychiatry and Mental Health, Spain; the Royal College of Psychiatrists, UK; the Clinical Child Psychology Program, University of Kansas, USA; the National Council for Scientific and Technological Development (CNPq) and the Department of Psychiatry, Federal University of São Paulo, Brazil; the School of Psychology, University of Ottawa and the University Medical Research Fund, Royal Institute of Mental Health Research and the Azrieli Foundation, Canada; the German Federal Ministry of Health, Germany; the Department of Psychiatry and Psychotherapy, LVR-Klinikum, Heinrich-Heine University, Düsseldorf and WHO Collaborating Centre DEU-131 for Quality Assurance and Empowerment in Mental Health, Germany; the Mental Health Directorate of the Scottish Government, Scotland; the Department of Psychiatry; the Department of Psychiatry, All

India Institute of Medical Sciences, India; the Department of Psychiatry and Mental Health, University of Cape Town, South Africa; the Faculty of Arts and Social Sciences and the Department of Psychology, University of Zurich, Switzerland; the Department of Psychiatry and WHO Collaborating Centre for Research and Training in Mental Health, Neurosciences and Drug and Alcohol Abuse, University of Ibadan, Nigeria; the Moscow Research Institute of Psychiatry, a branch of the V. Serbsky Federal Medical Research Centre of Psychiatry and Narcology of the Ministry of Health, and the Training and Research Centre, Mental Health Clinic № 1 names after N.A. Alekseev, Moscow, and the Russian Society of Psychiatrists, Russian Federation; the Department of Psychiatry and the Arab Regional Center for Research and Training in Mental Health, American University of Beirut Medical Center, Lebanon; and the Department of Psychiatry, University of Campania 'L. Vanvitelli' and WHO Collaborating Centre for Research and Training in Mental Health, Italy.

Support was provided to the following individuals for work related to ICD-11 Mental, Behavioural or Neurodevelopmental Disorders through the Global Mental Health Scholars Program, WHO Collaborating Centre for Capacity Building and Training in Global Mental Health, Columbia University: Elson Asevedo (Brazil), Yatan Pal Singh Balhara (India), Rachna Bhargava (India), Joseph El-Khoury (Lebanon), José Ángel García (Mexico), Lola Kola (Nigeria), Bulumko Lusu (South Africa), Karen Maré (South Africa), Lucky Onofa Umukoro (Nigeria), Ravindra Rao (India), Reuben Robbins (USA), Hiral Shah (USA), Goodman Sibeko (South Africa), Scott Stroup (USA), and Robyn Sysko (USA).

DISORDERS DUE TO SUBSTANCE USE OR ADDICTIVE BEHAVIOURS

International Field Testing

Overall Direction: Vladimir Poznyak Project Coordination: Dzmitry Krupchanka

Participants at the planning meeting for field testing of ICD-11 Disorders Due to Substance Use or Addictive Behaviours hosted by National Rehabilitation Center, Abu Dhabi (Hamad Al Ghaferi, Director-General): Mahmoud Al Abri, Sharifa Al Emadi, Hamad Al Ghaferi, Abdulla Omar Aljohi, Samya Almamary, Mohamed bin Ali Al Zahrani, Adel Alzayed, Atul Ambekar, Jamal Younes Anani, Sawitri Assanangkornchai, Linda Cottler, Hans Dharma, Ahmed El Kashef, Tarek Abdel Gawad, Susumu Higuchi, Sang Kyu Lee, Min Zhao, Fareed Minhas, Neo Morojele, David Ndetei, Dzianis Padruchny, Marina Piazza, Afarin Rahimi-Movaghar, Hisham Ramy, Marcelo Ribeiro, Robin Room, John B. Saunders, Catherine Woodstock Striley, Sergey Utkin, Shamil Wanagratni, Abigail Zulich, Carolyn Edmonds, Phunnapa Kittirattanapaiboon, Zhong Na, Saito Satoko, Riaz Khan, Nenad Kostanjsek (WHO), Vladimir Poznyak (WHO).

Collaborators at Study Sites:

Australia:

Site: Drug and Alcohol Services South Australia Site Directors: Mike McDonough, Danica Liu Other Contributors: Ann Roache, Michael Baigent, Adrian Dunlop, Jacquie Bowden, John Saunders, Michelle Spudic, Robert Ali

Brazil:

Site: Botucatu Medical School, São Paulo State University

Site Director: José Manoel Bertolote

Other Contributors: Alberto Araújo, Arthur Guerra de Andrade, Alessandra Diehl, Ana Cecília Marques, Analice Gigliotti, Antonio Zuardi, Clarice Madruga, Daniel Spritzer, Flavio Pechanski, Guilherme Messas, Marcelo Cruz, Marcelo Ribeiro Mauricio Fiore, Pablo

Kurlander, Renata Brasil, Sabrina Presman, Sérgio de Paula Ramos, Stella Regina Martins *China:*

Site: Shanghai Mental Health Center, WHO Collaborating Centre for Research and Training in Mental Health

Site Director: Min Zhao

Site Coordinators: Na Zhong, Wei Hao, Yi Li, Jing Li, Ruiling Zhang

Other Contributors: Haifeng Jiang, Jiang Du, Na Zhong, Yanhui Liao, Chenyi Ma, Ruyan Luo, Yajuan Niu, Kebing Yang, Lina Yang, Jiajun Xu, Chuansheng Wang, Xuebing Liu **France:**

Site: Centre Hospitalier Universitaire (CHU) de Nantes

Site Director: Marie Grall-Bronnec

Other Contributors: G. Challet-Bouju, J. Caillon, N. Ballon, M. Guillou-Landreat, O.

Cottencin, M. Fatseas, G. Brousse, A. Chaslerie, B. Falissard, N. Prisse, I. Obradovic, C.

Bernard, N. Joannard, A. Benyamina, F. Vorspan, C. Victorri-Vigneau, O. Giron, H.

Vergnaux, V. Pinaud.

Indonesia:

Sites: School of Medicine and Health Sciences, Atma Jaya Catholic University of Indonesia; Faculty of Medicine, University of Indonesia

Site Director: Eva Suryani

Other Contributors: Kristiana Siste, Gina Anandyajati, Felicia Kurniawan, Yunisa Astiarani, Durrotul Ikrimah, Eveline Widjaja, Yuki Ruchimat, Yuniar, Enjeline Hanafi, Mahaputra, Satya Joewana, Dharmady Agus, Shelly Iskandar, Diah Setia Utami, Syahrial, Ratna Mardiati, Imelda Indriyani, Prasetiyawan, Soetjipto, Tribowo Tuahta Ginting, Yunita Eka Sary, Erie Dharma Irawan, Gemala Rabi'ah Hatta, Indah Deviyanti, Herfina Nababan, Lina Regina Mangaweang, Herbert Sidabutar, Riris Dian Hardiani, Elvina Katerin Sahusilawane, Hari Nugroho, Eunike Sri Tyas Suci, Aep Saepullah, Yudy, Taufiq Abdullah, Asmin Fransiska, Ignatius Prapto Raharjo. Parulian Sandy Noveria, Yuniar Pukuk Kesuma, Luh Nyoman Alit Aryani, Fika Ekayanti, Soetjipto, Frilya Rachma Putri, A. Jayalangkara Tanra, Sonny T. Lisal, Shelly Iskandar, Achmad, Erma Antasari, Ns. Riris, S. Kep, M. Kep Jiwa *India:*

Sites: National Drug Dependence Treatment Centre and Department of Psychiatry, All India Institute of Medical Sciences

Site Director: Atul Ambekar

Other Contributors: Rakesh K Chadda, Rachana Bhargava, Ravindra Rao, Alok Agrawal, Siddharth Sarkar, Roshan Bhad, Rajat Ray, PK Dalal, Prathima Murthy, Debasish Basu, Anirudha Basu, Shalini Achra, Preethy Kathiresan, Siddharth Arya, Udit Panda, Narsimha GVL, Jaikrishnan Menon, Jatin Tarwani, Gayatri Bhatia, Amit Singh, Saumya Mishra, Fazle Roub, Dheeraj Kattula

Iran:

Site: Iranian National Center for Addiction Studies

Site Director: Afarin Rahimi-Movaghar

Other Contributors: Behrang Shadloo, Arghavan Fakhrian, Maral Mardaneh, Yasna Rostamabadi, Alireza Noroozi, Rabert Farnam, Akram Vahedi, Tina-Sadat Madani, Saeedeh

Hoseini, Zhaleh Gholami, Mohammad-Bagher Saberi-Zafarghandi, Vandad Sharifi, Farid Barati, Bita Vahdani, Hamid Yousefi, Farbod Fadaei, Maryam Abbasnejad Malaysia:

Site: Hospital Selayang, Ministry of Health

Site Director: Norharlina Bahar

Other Contributors: Zulkarnain Abd Karim, Norliza Chemi, Norni Abdullah, Sim Su Tein, Anne Nik Ismaliza Ishak, Nik Nasyrah Nek, Nurul Iman Jamalul-lail, Nur Azmiah Zainuddin, Nurul Svarbani Eliana Musa, Masrol Hafizal Ismail, Roslinda Abu Sapian, Nur Aliyah Sodri, Mohd Fadzli Bin Mohamad Isa, Mohammad Firdaus Bin Abdul Aziz

Mexico:

Site: National Institute of Psychiatry Ramón de la Fuente Muñiz

Site Director: María Elena Medina-Mora

Site Coordinator: María Elena Medina-Mora, Rebeca Robles

Other Contributors: Martha Cordero, Tania Real, Itzel Sámano, Luis Solís Rojas, Hugo González Cantú, Martha Cordero Oropeza, Manuel Yañez Hernández, Mario González Zavala, Lydia Barragán Torrez, Patricia Reves del Olmo, Ana Luisa Sosa, Ricardo Sánchez Huesca, Héctor Francisco Gómez Estrada, Ricardo Orozco, Claudia Rafful

Switzerland:

Site: Department of Psychiatry, University of Geneva

Site Director: Sophia Achab

Focus Groups Coordinator: Joël Billieux

Other Contributors: Y. Khazaal, G. Gmel, M.P. Schaub, N. Weber, M. Flayelle, A. Cornil, B. Gueorguiev, M. Muller, L. Mukud, L. Suppan, T. Carlevaro, S. Rothen, O. Simon, I. De Carlo, F. Poret, A. Vangopoulou, K. Abawi, L. Rochat, E. Khatcherian

Thailand:

Site: Centre for Alcohol Studies, Faculty of Medicine, Prince of Songkla University Site Director: Sawitri Assanangkornchai

Other Contributors: Rasmon Kalayasiri, Suwanna Aroonpongpaisal, Phunnapa Kittirattanapaiboon, Woraphat Ratta-apha, Nopporn Tantirangse, Athip Tanaree, Apisak Wittayanookulluk, Tawanchai Jirapramukpitak, Mathurada Suwannapho, Pornjira Pariwatcharakul, Chanvit Pornnoppadol, Wachiraporn Arunothong, Surinporn Likhitsathian, Chanchai Tongpanich, Boonsiri Jansirimongkol, Vira Khuangsirikul, Apinun Aramrattana, Pichet Udomratn, Komsan Kiatrungrit, Patanon Kwansanit, Aungkul Pattarakorn, Apichat Renuwattananont, Siriluck Lodton, Korawit Chanachai, Nuttaporn Apisirideth

Other Contributors to Disorders Due to Addictive Behaviours

Max Abbott, Osman Tolga Aricak, Henrietta Bowden-Jones, Alexey Bobrov, Varoth Chotpitayasunondh, Thomas Chung, Zsolt Demetrovics, Jeffrey Derevensky, Mehmeet Dinç, Eugenia Fadeeva, Michel Farrell, Young-Chul Jung, Seon-Wan Ki, Dai Jin Kim, Daniel King, Hervé Kuendig, Daria Kuss, Hae Kook Lee, Yoneatsu Osaki, Ronnie PAO Sze Yuan, Masaki Maezono, Satoko Mihara, Hideki Nakayam, Nancy Petry, Marc Potenza, Jürgen Rehm, Hans-Jürgen Rumpf, Emanuele Scafato, Manoj Sharma, Hiroshi Sakuma, Xiaoping Wang, Xiaojun Xiang, Daniele Zullino, Natacha Carragher

Support

WHO gratefully acknowledges the financial and/or organizational support provided for the development, field testing and other technical activities related to the Eleventh Revision of the ICD for Disorders Due to Substance Use or Addictive Behaviours by the National Rehabilitation Centre in Abu Dhabi (WHO Collaborating Centre for Substance Use Prevention and Treatment of Substance Use Disorders), UAE; the Ministry of Health and Social Affairs, Norway; the Kurihama Medical and Addiction Centre (WHO Collaborating Centre for Research and Training on Alcohol-Related Problems), Japan; Korean Association of Addiction Psychiatry (KAAP), South Korea; Department of Health, Hong Kong SAR, China; Turkish Green Crescent Society, Turkey; Mental Health Institute, Second Xiangya Hospital, Central South University (WHO Collaborating Centre for Psychosocial Factors, Substance Abuse and Health), China.